

H.U.Zollinger M.J.Mihatsch

Renal Pathology in Biopsy

Light, Electron and Immunofluorescent Microscopy and Clinical Aspects

With the Collaboration of F. Gudat U. Riede G. Thiel J. Torhorst

Translated by E. Castagnoli

With 949 Figures

Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York 1978 Professor Dr. Hans Ulrich Zollinger Dr. Michael Jörg Mihatsch

PD Dr. Fred Gudat PD Dr. Jochen Torhorst

Institut für Pathologie der Universität Basel Schönbeinstraße 40, CH-4056 Basel/Switzerland

PD Dr. Urs Riede Pathologisches Institut der Universität Freiburg Albertstraße 19, D-7800 Freiburg/Germany

Professor Dr. Gilbert Thiel Departement für Innere Medizin, Universität Basel Spitalstraße 21, CH-4056 Basel/Switzerland

Dr. Eugene Castagnoli c/o Hoffmann-La Roche & Co., Pharmaceuticals MM CH-4002 Basel/Switzerland

ISBN-13: 978-3-642-66733-6 e-ISBN-13: 978-3-642-66731-2 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-66731-2

Library of Congress Cataloging in Publication Data. Zollinger, Hans Ulrich, 1912–. Renal pathology in biopsy. Bibliography: p. Includes index. 1. Kidneys-Biopsy. I. Mihatsch, Michael Jörg, 1943–, joint author. II. Title. RC904.Z64 616.6'1'0758 77-23922.

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically those of translation, reprinting, re-use of illustrations, broadcasting, reproduction by photocopying machine or similar means, and storage in data banks. Under § 54 of the German Copyright Law where copies are made for other than private use, a fee is payable to the publisher, the amount of the fee to be determined by agreement with the publisher.

© by Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1978 Softcover reprint of the hardcover 1st edition 1978

The use of registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Type face: Monophoto-Times 10/11, 9/10. Paper: Papierfabrik Scheufelen, Oberlenningen Reproduction of the figures: Gustav Dreher, Württemb. Graphische Kunstanstalt GmbH, Stuttgart Layout of the cover: W. Eisenschink, Heidelberg. Production managing: I. Oppelt, Heidelberg. 2121/3140-543210

Preface

Vor die Therapie setzten die Götter die Diagnose. Otto Nägeli

Renal biopsy has decisively enriched renal diagnostics. Kidney diseases may be monitored during their entire course, and new techniques—such as immunofluorescence and electron microscopy—may be systematically applied, resulting in novel insights into the morphogenesis, pathogenesis, and etiology of kidney lesions. These insights, in turn, have served as new starting points, in the spirit of the quotation above, for the institution of causal therapy by the clinician.

This work presents our findings based on 20 years of experience in evaluating renal biopsies. As of the end of 1974, our computer-supported, systematic clinical, morphologic, and follow-up evaluation of case material consisted of over 2000 biopsies, including 679 examined by electron microscopy and 400 by immunofluorescence microscopy. The subsequent 500 biopsies (400 studied by electron microscopy and 300 by immunofluorescence) were considered qualitatively only. In order to enhance qualitative findings with quantitative data, it was necessary to devise new methods for quantifying electron-microscopic findings. Additionally, we attempted to correlate cytologic and immunofluorescent observations to integrate the isolated findings of electron microscopy into a vital cytologic pattern of reactions. We also attempted to evaluate the almost overwhelming flood of publications, especially those appearing within the last 10 years.

The idea for this book was conceived a decade ago. At that time, however, our own experience in renal biopsy diagnostics seemed insufficient to support such a major undertaking. In the following years, renal biopsy diagnostics developed so rapidly that evaluation of case material very quickly became out of date. Even though progress is still being made, it now appears, that by and large, the purely descriptive histopathologic evaluation of renal biopsy for the more important lesions, e.g., glomerulonephritis, transplants, and familial diseases, has matured. This is reflected by the increased attention in the literature to the pathogenesis and etiology of kidney diseases. We believe, therefore, that the time is ripe for the present work. Our objectives are:

- 1. To present the current status of knowledge of the bioptically determinable aspects of kidney diseases. In order to fulfill this goal, we have considered as many of the findings in the latest literature as possible (about 2000 references) mindful of the difficulties this poses to the reader.
- 2. To set up a frame of reference for the use of on-going work of renal pathologists for whom the section on general pathology is chiefly intended.
- 3. To enable the nonspecialized pathologist to arrive at a correct diagnosis and to recognize which cases merit the attention of specialists. The section

on special pathology is included especially for this purpose and accordingly, light-microscopic findings have been used as the main basis for disease classification. We feel that this nosologic approach is justified since we are convinced that the majority of renal biopsies can be evaluated appropriately and reliably with light microscopy only. However, both routine immunofluorescent and electron-microscopic examinations are indispensable for the specialist.

4. To further the histopathologic interest of clinicians involved in nephrology and thus to promote the often diagnostically significant role of renal biopsy.

Our collaborators helped us in the fields of immunology (F. Gudat), electronmicroscopy of the blood vessels (U. Riede), clinical findings and basic knowledge of transplantation (G. Thiel) and pathology of tubules (J. Torhorst).

We would very much appreciate the help of our readers in calling our attention to omissions and errors which may occur in this book. We thank you in advance for your courteous cooperation.

Acknowledgements

The present book would not have been possible without the courteous and friendly support of numerous clinicians in Switzerland, Germany, and Italy who kindly sent us renal biopsies and case history material for study and evaluation. Our thanks are due to the following collegues:

Prof. M. Allgöwer (Basel) Prof. R. Amgwerd (St. Gallen) Prof. H. Affolter (Basel) Prof. A. Blumberg (Aarau) PD F. Brunner (Basel) Prof. A.U. Buff (Zürich) Dr. A. Colombi (Luzern) Prof. U. Dubach (Basel) Dr. K.D. Ebbinghaus (Lüdenscheid) Dr. A. Edefonti (Mailand) Dr. F. Egli (Basel) Dr. W. Freislederer (Augsburg) Prof. F.K. Friederiszick (Dortmund) Prof. P. Frick (Zürich) Dr. F. Gaboardi (Mailand) Prof. W. Gerock (Freiburg) Prof. H. Herzog (Basel) Prof. H. Helge (Berlin) Dr. E. Imbasciati (Mailand) Dr. T. Lennert (Berlin) Prof. F. Koller (Basel) Dr. F. Kesselring (Glarus) Prof. R. Kluthe (Freiburg)

Prof. W. Künzer (Freiburg) Prof. G.W. Loehr (Freiburg) Prof. C. Moeller (Hildesheim) Prof. A.L. Meier (Basel) Prof. S. Moeschlin (Solothurn) Prof. R. Nicole (Basel) Dr. F.W. Reuter (St. Gallen) Prof. G. Rutishauser (Basel) Prof. G. Stalder (Basel) Prof. O. Stamm (St. Gallen) Prof. O. Spühler (Zürich) Prof. H. Sarre (Freiburg) Prof. M. Schwaiger (Freiburg) Prof. W. Stauffacher (Basel) Dr. H. Schmitz (Lüdenscheid) Prof. W. Siegenthaler (Zürich) Prof. M. Schmid (Zürich) Prof. H. Thölen (Basel) Prof. A. Thelen (Freiburg) Prof. B. Truninger (Luzern) Dr. D. Weingard (Freiburg) Dr.T. Wegmann (St. Gallen) Prof. H. Willenegger (Liestal)

We are further indebted to the directors of the following institutes of pathology for their appreciated cooperation in providing us with autopsy material from patients who succumbed sometime after biopsy: Prof. F. Gloor (St. Gallen), Prof. Ch. Hedinger (Zürich) and Prof. W. Sandritter (Freiburg). Our thanks are also extended to Prof. M. Bardare (Milan) for making available to us immunofluorescent data from children biopsied in Milan. Among my co-workers who merit our special gratitude and with whom I have worked together for many years are Dr. J. Moppert, who developed our immunofluorescent department seven years ago, and PD Dr. W. Lessauer, who managed our electronic data processing program. We wish to express our appreciation to Dr. P. Schmid (Zurich) in charge of the Department of Medical Statistics of the Basle University for his invaluable advice on statistical problems.

Without the unstinting and engaged work of our technical assistants who, with much care and love, prepared our electron micrographs-Mrs. B. Amsler, Miss B. Baumgartner, Mrs. I. Bremer, Miss C. Nyffeler, Miss G. Haberkorn, Mrs. S. Bowald, Miss M. Wacker and Miss G. Krey-the present work would hardly have been possible, and we thank them all. The same gratitude is due to Miss M. Nebiker and Mr. H. R. Zysset for their outstanding skill in preparing schematic drawings and photographs. The above-instanced colleagues and fellow workers are only a pars pro toto of the many people who have contributed to this book. We do not wish to omit extending our acknowledgement to all the archivists who spared no effort in providing us with findings from case histories, some of which were decades old. Similar appreciation is due to all of the practicing physicians and hospital physicians in Switzerland, Germany, and Italy who were considerate enough to provide us with follow-up data on many of our patients. In this connection, we wish to express our whole-hearted gratitude to the directors of the registration offices and death registers in Germany and Switzerland who, by using "detective" methods, were able to trace many of our patients who, subsequent to our contact with them, became scattered throughout the world.

Our very special thanks are due to our publisher, Dr. h.c. H. Goetze, and his coworkers for his and their understanding help and generous cooperation in assuring publication of the great number of figures presented in this book.

Last but not least, we wish to express our great appreciation to the Swiss National Science Foundation (Grant 3.013.73) whose idealized encouragement and financial support over the years has, in the final analysis, made this work possible.

Table of Contents

Part I. Technique and General Pathology

1.	Clinical and Procedural Aspects					1
	Clinical Aspects			•	•	1 1
2.	Clinician's Role in Renal Biopsy Management and Processing		•	•	•	5
	Biopsy Planning	•		•	•	5 5
3.	Renal Biopsy Management and Processing by the Pathologist					8
	Light Microscopy Procedures <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>8 12 14 19 19</td>					8 12 14 19 19
4.	Histology of Normal Kidney Tissue	•	•	•		21
	Glomerulus		· · · · · ·		· · ·	21 28 30 33 39 44 44
5.	Introduction to Renal Histopathology					46
	Guidelines for Evaluation of Renal Biopsy Definitions			•		46 48 48
6.	Histopathology of the Glomerulus Under High Power Magnification	ı				54
	Glomerular Size	• • • • •	• • • • • •	• • • • • •	· · · ·	54 56 56 58 62 77 96 100
	Glomerular Obsolescence				•	107

X Table of Contents

7.	Histopathology of the Juxtaglomerular Apparatus	s (JG	A)								116
	Limiting Factors Imposed by Biopsy		 	•				•	 		•	116 116 117
	Decrease in JGA Size					•					•	117
8.	Histopathology of the Renal Tubules	•			•	•	·					118
	Problems in Evaluation	•	•••		•	•	•	•				118 118
	Cytoplasmic Changes of the Tubular Epithelium	n	· ·	•		•	•	• •	· ·	•	•	125
	EM Pathology of the Renal Tubules		 				• •		 	•	•	129
	Casts				•	•	•	•				134
9.	Histopathology of the Renal Interstitium	•		•	•	•	•	•		•	•	139
	Edema	•	 	•	•	•	•	•	 	•	•	139 139
	Fibrosis	•	• •	•		•	•	•		•	•	139
	Foam Cells	•	•••	•	•			•	· ·	•	•	142
		•	• •	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	142
10.	Histopathology of the Renal Vessels	• •		•	•	•	•	•		•	·	147
	Ultrastructural Elements in Vascular Changes . Specific Vascular Lesions	 	 						 	• •		147 149
	Arteriolar Lesions	• •		•	•	•	•	•		•		152
11.	Immunohistopathologic Parameters		• •	•	•	•	•	•	• •	•	•	155
	Definitions			• •	• •	•		• •		•	•	155 155
	Quantification of IF Findings	 	•	•	• •	•		•	•••	•		156 157
	Significance of Immunoglobulins and Other Pro Additional Glomerular IF Findings IF Findings in Nonglomerular Structures	ote	ins	in	G	lo:	me	ru	lop	atl	ny	160 164 166
	Cryoglobulins and Kidney			•	•	•	•			•	•	169
12.	General Differential Diagnosis Between Non-Glon Nephropathies and Glomerulonephritis	nei 	rulo	nep	ohr	iti	с	• •		•	•	173

Part II. Histopathology of Specific Renal Disease States

13.	General Aspects of Glomerulonephritis	7
	Nosology	7
	Basic Morphologic Parameters of Glomerulonephritis	8
	Special Clinical Courses of Glomerulonephritis	2
	General Pathogenesis of Glomerulonephritis	3
	Immunocomplex Glomerulonephritis	4
	General Etiology of Glomerulonephritis	7

.

14.	The Diffuse Forms of Glomerulonephritis	188
	Diffuse Endotheliomesangial Glomerulonephritis	188
	Extracapillary Accentuated Glomerulonephritis.	218
	Membranoproliferative Glomerulonephritis	231
	Intramembranous Glomerulonephritis	252
	Epimembranous Glomerulonephritis	261
	Mixed Form of Epimembranous and Membranoproliferative Glomerulonephritis	279
		2.7
15.	Focally Accentuated Glomerulonephritis	282
	Embolic, Purulent Focal Glomerulitis, and Thrombotic-Induced Glomerulonenhritis	282
	Embolic Purulent Focal Glomerulitis	282
	Segmental-Focal Glomerulonephritis in Subacute Bacterial	202
	Endocarditis	283
	Segmental-Focal Glomerulonephritis Associated With Generalized	
	Intravasal Coagulation	287
	Segmental-Focal Proliferative and Sclerosing Glomerulonephritis, Focal-	
	Global Sclerosing Glomerulonephritis and Overload Glomerulitis	289
	Segmental-Focal Proliferative Glomerulonephritis (Proliferative FGN)	289
	Segmental-Focal Sclerosing Glomerulonephritis (Sclerosing FGN).	296
	Focal-Global Sclerosing Glomerulonephritis	307
	Overload Glomerulitis	308
17.	Special Forms of Glomerulonenhritis	317
	Diffuse and Focally Accentuated Glomerulonenhritis Associated With	
	Systemic Disease	317
	Glomerular Disease in Schönlein-Henoch's Purnura	317
	Glomerular Disease in Systemic Lunus Erythematosus	326
	Bengl Changes in Goodpasture's Sundrome	320
	Panul Changes in Waganar's Syndrome	247
	Clamerulanonhritis in Hunersensitivity Angitis (Microform of	342
	Derierteritis Nodese)	240
	renancinis Nouosa)	349
	IgA Mesangial Giomerulonepiiritis	350
	Oligonephronia)	357
10		267
18.	Glomerular Minimal Change	367
<i>19</i> .	Glomerulonephrosis and Glomerulosclerosis	380
	Idiopathic Unspecific Glomerulonephrosis and Glomerulosclerosis	380
	Amyloid Nephrosis	382
	Diabetic Glomerulosclerosis	391
	Hepatic Glomerulosclerosis	400
	Glomerulopathy of Pregnancy	401
	Kidney in Plasmocytoma	404
	Glomerulosclerosis in Waldenström's Disease	406

XII Table of Contents

20.	Inflammatory Interstitial Renal Lesions				407
	Acute. Nondestructive Interstitial Nephritis				407
	Chronic Interstitial Nephritis				411
	Pathogenesis of Acute Reversible Renal Failure				419
	Weil's Jaundice. The Kidney in Leptospirosis Ictero-Hemorrhagica	1			
	Infection	-			420
	Pyelonenbritis (Destructive Interstitial Nenbritis)	•	·	•	474
	Pyelonephritis (Destructive interstitial replinitis)	•••	•	•	437
	Montaldo's Puelonenhritis	••	·	·	440
	Dalken Nenhronathy	•••	•	•	140
	Balkan Nephropathy	• •	·	·	440
	Renal Changes in Phenacetin Addiction	• •	·	·	440
	Combination of Pyelonephritis and Glomerulonephritis	•••	•	·	441
21.	Kidney Tuberculosis and Rare Kidney Infections				443
	Danal Tubaroulagia				112
		• •	•	•	443
		•••	•	٠	443
		• •	٠	·	443
			·	·	444
	Tuberculoid Granuloma of Uncertain Etiology		·	٠	446
	Actinomycosis		•	·	447
	Aspergillosis		·	٠	447
	Cytomegalovirus Infection		•	•	447
22.	Hydronephrosis and Nephrohydrosis		•	•	448
23.	Enzymopathic, Metabolic Renal Diseases				453
	Fabry's Disease				453
	Cystinosis				455
	Renal Oxalosis				460
	Kidney in Gout				464
	Alport's Syndrome	•••	·	•	466
	Idionathic and Benjan Familial Hematuria	•••	•	•	476
	Noil Potallo Syndrome	•••	•	•	476
	Primary Tubulanathy	•••	·	•	478
	Secondary Economi Syndrome	• •	·	•	478
	Secondary Fancom Syndrome	•••	·	•	470
	Nephronophinisis.	•••	·	·	4/0
	The second Matchelia Typhylanonhungia	• •	٠	·	405
		•••	•	•	407
24.	Renal Changes Caused by Impairment of the Circulatory System .		•		489
	Anoxic Glomerular Lesions				489
	Hemorrhage				489
	Fat Embolism				490
	Kidney in Shock				490
	Disseminated Intravasal Coagulation Including Cortical Necrosis		•	•	493
	1 Acute Disseminated Intravasal Coagulation	• •	•	·	493
	2. Subscute and Chronic (Relansing) Disceminated Intravasal	•••	•	•	.75
	2. Subacute and Chrome (Relapsing) Disseminated inflavasar				400
	2 The Hamelutic Hremie Sundrome		•	•	400
	5. The memory ne-oremic syndrome	• •	•	•	<u>⊿00</u>
	4. Infombotic Microangiopatily	•••	٠	٠	777 502
	Kellar velli 1 III UIII UUSIS	• •	٠	٠	503
	Numey infarct	• •	·	•	500
		• •	٠	•	200

25.	Renal Changes Caused by Vascular Disease							514
	Arteriolosclerosis							514
	Arteriolonecrosis	·					·	520
	Fibroelastosis	÷			•		÷	526
	Scleroderma	·	•	•••	·	·	·	528
	Arterial Intimal Proliferation Associated With Female Ho	· rm	on	 Ас	·	·	·	533
	Neurofibromatosis		on		•	·	·	533
	Inflammatory Vascular Diseases	·	•	•••	·	•	٠	533
	Inflammatory vascular Diseases	·	•	• •	·	·	·	522
	2. Devierteritie Medeen	·	·	• •	·	·	·	533
	2. Pertarteritis Nouosa	·	·	• •	٠	·	·	535
	3. Hypersensitivity Angitis.	·	·		•	·	·	536
	4. Other Inflammatory Diseases of the Renal Arteries.	·	·	• •	•	·	٠	538
26.	Unilateral Contracted Kidney and Renal Hypertension							541
-s.	The Videou in Padiation Inium	•	•		•	·	·	517
27.	The Klaney in Radiation Injury	·	·		·	·	·	543
28.	Malformations of the Kidney	•	•		·	·	·	547
	Primary Hypoplasia.							547
	Secondary Hypoplasia.							547
	Dyplasia							547
	Kidney Cysts and Cystic Kidneys	ċ			•		ċ	547
		·	•	•••	•	·	·	011
<i>29</i> .	Kidney Tumors	•	•			•		553
	Mesenchymal Tumors							553
	1. Benign and of Questionable Malignancy							553
	2. Malignant Tumors (Sarcomas).							554
	3. Renal Capsule Sarcoma							554
	Epithelial Tumors					÷	÷	554
	1. Benign and of Ouestionable Malignancy					÷	÷	554
	2 Renal Cell Carcinoma	·	•	•••	·	·	·	556
	3 Renal Pelvic Carcinoma	•	·	• •	•	·	·	563
	Mixed Tumor: Nenbroblastoma	·	•	•••	·	•	·	563
	Matastasas	·	·	• •	·	·	·	563
		·	·	• •	·	·	·	505
30.	Kidney Transplantation							564
	Immunogenetics							564
	Indications for Bionsy	·	·	•••	·	·	·	565
	Acutaly Imminent Renal Injury (So-Called Conservation I	nin	• 1 • • • •	•••	·	·	·	565
	Percente (Hypercente) Transplant Rejection	ŋι	пy,	, .	·	٠	·	566
	A outo Transplant Rejection	·	·	•••	·	·	·	566
	Acute Induspiant Rejection	·	·	• •	•	·	·	560
	1. Acute Interstitian Transplant Rejection	·	·		·	·	·	509
	2. Acute vascular Transplant Rejection	•	·	• •	٠	·	·	5/5
	3. Differential Diagnosis of Peracute and Acute Transpi	an	τ					c0.c
		·	•	• •	·	·	·	586
	Chronic Transplant Rejection	·	·	• •	٠	·	٠	587
	1. Chronic Transplant Glomerulopathy	·	•		٠	·	·	589
	2. Chronic Transplant Vasculopathy	•	•		•	•	•	596
	3. Interstitial and Tubular Changes		•		•	•	•	604
	4. Differential Diagnosis of Chronic Transplant Rejection	m						605
	Pathogenesis of Transplant Rejection							607
	Complications							608
_								
Ref	erences	•	•		•	·	·	615
Sub	ject Index	•	•	• •	•	·	•	671

General Abbreviations

LM	Lightmicroscopy, lightmicroscopical
EM	Electronmicroscopy, electronmicroscopical
IF	Immunofluorescence, immunohistology
GN	Glomerulonephritis
FGN	Focally accentuated glomerulonephritis, segmental-focal glomeru- lonephritis
non-GN	Non-glomerulonephritic nephropathies
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus
AG	Antigen
AB	Antibody
BM	Basement membrane
C1, C2, etc.	Complement components
Ig	Immunoglobulin
EvG	Elastin (Weigert's resorcin)-van Gieson stain
Z	Data of the authors summarized for the present publication
Frequency in:	If not otherwise specified,
autopsy	the overall autopsy series comprises 25,000 autopsies,
biopsy	the overall biopsy series comprises 2080 biopsies
a>b	a more than b
a < b	a less than b

Part I

Technique and General Pathology

1. Clinical and Procedural Aspects

Although a few scattered reports on surgical biopsy and needle biopsy go back quite some time, it was the pioneering serial examinations of Castleman and Smithwick (1943) on renal material obtained during surgery and those of Alwall (1952) and Iverson and Brun (1951) on tissue obtained by renal needle puncture which opened the way for bioptic kidney evaluation [195].

Clinical Aspects

Value of Biopsy

Histopathologic diagnosis is indispensable if the accuracy of clinical (pre-bioptic) diagnosis is to be assured. The validity of the above statement is clearly illustrated in Table 1.1 which compares and contrasts clinical and histopathologic diagnosis from our own case material. Consideration of this table shows that the percentage of cases correctly diagnosed clinically ranged from 40–90%. Renal biopsy, accordingly, was required for correct diagnosis in 10–60% of all cases within a given diagnosis.

Indications and Contraindications

Following thorough assessment of a patient's medical problems, the clinician must decide whether or not the case requires renal biopsy. Although the listings of absolute and relative indications and contraindications vary slightly in extent and emphasis from author to author, they do reveal good general agreement with respect to the major ones included. These consensuses are given in Table 1.2 [517, 705, 1325, 1449].

Procedural Aspects

Biopsy Technique

Two principal procedures have been developed to obtain kidney tissue:

- 1. Needle biopsy which may be done:
 - a) Blindly by percutaneous puncture
 - b) Percutaneous puncture under direct radiologic control after visualization of the kidney with radiopaque media
 - c) Openly, under direct visual control by means of a small transmural incision.

Table 1.1. Clinicopathological index of diagnostic agreement in our material (material obtained by both needle and surgical biopsy)

Histopathological diagnosis	Clinical diagnosis										
	Glomerulo- nephritis (n=716)	Pyelo- nephritis $(n=329)$	Acute int. nephritis (n=25)	Benign/ malignant nephro- sclerosis (n=70)	Diabetic glomerulo- sclerosis (n=10)	Amy- loidosis (n=19)	Other diagnoses (n=89)				
Glomerulonephritis	645=90%	30	3	13	5	1	40				
Pyelonephritis	20	248 = 75%	3	15		1	18				
Acute interstitial nephritis Benign/malignant	4	5	10=40%	—	-		_				
nephrosclerosis	10	12	_	42 = 60%	1		31				
Diabetic glomerulosclerosis	_	3	_	_	4 = 40%	_	_				
Amyloidosis	4	_	_	-	_	16=84%	_				
Other diagnosis	33	36	9	_	-	1	Not examined				

2 Clinical and Procedural Aspects

2. Surgical biopsy, which calls for full-scale surgical intervention. In order to prevent artifacts due to squeezing and pressing, we recommend that tiss removed with a biopsy needle even when the is exposed. Wedge excisions with the scalpel ar ertheless, useful when special indications are p Forceps should not be used for biopsy since cause squeeze and pressure artifacts and, mo do not reach into the medulla.

Table 1.3. Advantages and disadvantages of needle and surgical biopsy procedures

Biopsy technique	Advantages	Disadvantages
Percutaneous (blind) needle biopsy [1449]	 Realization in local anesthesia Simplification of effort for serial biopsy programs Minimal demands on patient and medical personnel 	 Little control over biopsy site Lack of direct hemostatic control Limited tissue yield Relatively high risk of complications
Percutaneous needle biopsy with radiologic control [67, 413, 639, 807]	 Good control over biopsy site (especially lower kidney pole) Low bleeding complication due to lack of major blood vessels 	 Lack of direct hemostatic control Greater demands on patient and medical personnel Limited tissue
	3. In case of massive bleeding only pole resection is necessary	yield
	 Realization in local anesthesia Simplification of effort for serial biopsy programs 	
Open (visual) needle biopsy [654]	 Control over biopsy site Hemostatic control Increased time for procedure Rclatively low risk of complications 	 Requires general anesthesia Greater demands on patient and medical personne Limited tissue yield
Surgical biopsy	 Absolute control over biopsy site Assured hemostatic control Assured adequate tissue yield Direct visualiza- tion of kidney and renal vessels Low risk of complications 	 Requires general anesthesia More demanding on patient and medical personnei Use dependent or patient operability

Table 1.2. Absolute and relative indications and contra tions for renal biopsy (includes our own experience)^a

Indications	Contraindications		
 Ab. For diagnosis and differential diagnosis of Diabetic glomerulosclerosis, Amyloidosis Gout, Nephrocalcinosis (in absence of radiologically demonstrable calcification) Unclarified, persistent proteinuria or nephrotic syndrome Unclarified, persistent renal hematuria Differentiation between pyelonephritis and glomerulonephritis Systemic disease with renal involvement Acute renal failure of unknown etiology Familial nephropathies Hypertension of unknown etiology 	 Presence or suspicion of kidney abscess or tubercu- losis Pyonephrosis Perinephritis Polycystic disease of the kidneys Kidney tumors Bilaterally contracted kid- neys and advanced renal insufficiency Anatomical or functional presence of only one kid- ney (except kidney trans- plant) Malignant, intractable hy- pertension Hemorrhagic disorders Patient unwillingness High risk patient for oper- ation, i.e., should biopsy complication require sur- gery 	Percutaneous needle biopsy with radiologic control [67, 413, 639, 807] Open (visual) needle biopsy [654]	 Good contro over biopsy s (especially low kidney pole) Low bleeding complication to lack of ma blood vessels In case of ma bleeding only resection is necessary Realization in local anesthe Simplification effort for ser biopsy programe Control over biopsy site Hemostatic control Increased tim for procedure Relatively low risk of complication
 <i>Rela</i> 1. Monitoring of disease progression 2. Monitoring treatment response (follow-up) 3. Need to determine prognosis 4. Appropriate and justifiable scientific purposes 	 Pregnancy Inadequate patient co- operativeness as in neuro- logic and psychiatric dis- orders and debility Senescence 	Surgical biopsy	 Absolute con- over biopsy s Assured hemostatic control Assured adea tissue yield Direct visual tion of kidney renal vessels Low risk of complication

Table 1.3 (continued)

Biopsy technique	Advantages	Disadvantages
Surgical biopsy	6. Possible in patients when other techniques are not allowed: e.g. obesity, danger of bleeding	
	7. If no experience with other techniques	

Tissue Yield

The term 'tissue yield' refers to the actual amount of cortical renal tissue—assessed by the number of glome-ruli present—obtained by biopsy (Fig. 1.1 + 1.2).

For most renal lesions, at least five glomeruli must be present in the biopsy material for its proper evaluation, diagnosis and classification. For purely diagnostic purposes, in severe, diffuse lesions such as amyloidosis and epimembranous glomerulonephritis, only one glomerulus may prove sufficient.

Percutaneous (Blind) Needle Biopsy. The amount of renal material obtained by this procedure depends, to a great extent, on the skill and experience of the operator. A summarization of results from the literature on 8081 closed needle biopsies shows that renal tissue was obtained in 93.5% of biopsies on patients under 14 years of age and 89.8% on older patients ([1450]; 91%: [806]; 94.9%: [370]; but 29%: [764]).

In 500 biopsies examined only by light microscopy (LM) which came to our attention for study between 1950 and 1967, 11% contained no glomeruli and 7.2% less than 5, i.e. in 18.2% of the biopsies evaluation was either impossible or was severely handicapped. There was an average of 13 glomeruli in those needle biopsies containing more than 5, and the best yield, of 105, was obtained in the biopsy from a 3-year-old child. Since 1967, we have noticed that the tissue yields in the needle biopsies we have studied have improved such that 92% of them contain more than 5 glomeruli.



Fig. 1.1. Very well preserved needle biopsy of diffuse membranoproliferative GN; left, cortical tissue; right, medullary tissue. Female: 10 years. PAS (× 50)



Fig. 1.2. Arteriovenous aneurysm following open needle puncture. Artery (A), vein (V), aneurysmal canal (\rightarrow). EvG (×10)

Open (Visual) Needle and Surgical Biopsy. These practically always supply a sufficient amount of renal tissue. As every experienced pathologist knows, however, even these procedures are not foolproof and, on rare occasions, the investigator may find himself confronting scar tissue instead of renal parenchyma.

Diagnostic Reliability of Minimal Tissue Yield

The reliability of diagnoses based on needle biopsy material (containing a minimum of five glomeruli) depends, of course, on the nature of the disease process. Thus, needle biopsy diagnosis on a series of patients suffering from diffuse renal disease such as glomerulonephritis (GN) showed an 84–100% agreement with diagnoses from autopsy material of the same patients [821]. This correspondence is sharply curtailed in the case of focal lesions such as pyelonephritis which, for example, only amounted to 51-86% in a similar comparison with patients presenting with this disease [821]. Open surgical biopsy should assure 100% diagnostic accuracy for such focal lesions.

Complications

The constant improvement in the quality of biopsy technique has been paralleled by a steady decline in the number of complications. The procedure itself is well tolerated by the kidney as evidenced by animal experimentation, which has shown that the tissue defect caused by biopsy heals uneventfully and rapidly [375].

The principal danger associated with renal biopsy is bleeding which can become serious; this is especially true for hypertensive patients and those having a tendeny to bleed as well as chronic renal insufficiency [370, 375]. The overall frequency of fatal complications is about 0.1% (i.e., 0.07%: [806]; 0.1%: [519]; [370]; 0.09%: Z).

Our own experience has shown us that bioptic penetration at the corticomedullary junction is especially prone to cause dangerous hemorrhage since the arcuate arteries at this region are very vulnerable to injury. We have observed two deaths due to postbioptic hemorrhage as well as two incidents of perirenal hematoma of such magnitude as to require nephrectomy. In one further case from this series, open biopsy led to massive perirenal hematoma, the management of which required numerous blood transfusions and, finally, operative correction. In addition to acute or subacute hemorrhage, needle puncture of an artery may result in arterial or arteriovenous aneurysm [359a], which becomes less frequent if Travenol instead of Vim-Silvermann needles are used. In our own two cases requiring nephrectomy mentioned above, one kidney, removed on the ninth postbiopsy day, had a thrombosed arterial aneurysm and the other kidney, removed on the twelfth postbiopsy day following surgical biopsy, had a ruptured arterial aneurysm (Fig. 1.2, see also review in [1199]).

An analysis of the literature relating to complications arising from needle biopsy [375] on 15,135 cases is given below in Table 1.4 (see also for rate of complications: 8.1%: [370]; [519]).

Table 1.4. Complications from needle renal biopsy [375] in 15,135 cases

Complication	Incidence (%)	
1. Macrohematuria	3.40	
2. Perirenal hematoma	0.56	
3. Oliguria/anuria	0.08	
4. Circulatory shock	0.11	

A few cases with sepsis or bleeding leading to vascular obstruction from coagula have been reported [505, 1407].

Finally, it should be noted that a biopsy procedure aimed at obtaining renal tissue may completely miss its intended target and end up with gastric mucosa or tissue from the spleen, liver (as in three of our own cases without complications), pancreas or a suprarenal gland [1449].

We have personally received one pretended kidney biopsy containing only intestinal mucosa. On the other hand, 0.14% of our biopsies to date contained kidney tissue which was obtained during liver biopsy.

2. Clinician's Role in Renal Biopsy Management and Processing

Biopsy Planning

Clinicopathologic Cooperation

Coordinated prebiopsy planning between clinician and pathologist significantly contributes to the success of biopsy in a given case. Before carrying out renal biopsy, a clinician should, accordingly, consult the responsible pathologist and inform him of the diagnostic and procedural aspects of the case in question so that they can choose the appropriate biopsy technique.

Microscopy Method Priorities

Priority decision—making by the pathologist with respect to type and sequence of techniques of microscopy— EM, IF, LM—to be used is largely dictated by the prebiopsy diagnosis. For example, with disease states such as Goodpasture's syndrome and SLE. IF is given priority over EM. On the other hand, for the diagnosis of suspected familial renal disease such as Alport's syndrome, EM takes precedence over IF. With rare diseases, such as Bartter's syndrome, LM (requiring Helly's fixative solution) is the initial choice for examination.

Tissue Processing by Clinicians

Guidelines¹

Once the renal tissue has been obtained, the proper equipment and solutions for its further processing must be readily available.

The type of tissue processing chosen will chiefly depend on the amount of tissue obtained which will more or less dictate the type and sequence of microscopy investigations that can be undertaken. IF examination, for example, is only possible when two tissue cylinders are present.

A suggested priority allocation of tissue for EM, IF and LM study with reference to the tissue amount present is given in Figure 2.1.

Cylinder 1		
If cylinder 1 cont then allocate som	tains tissue > 1 cm long ne pieces→EM.	g
(Place biopsy or keep in covered l	n filter paper moiste Petri dish.)	ened with NaCl and
Cylinder 2		
If cylinder 2 cont	ains:	
No tissue	Tissue < 1 cm long	Tissue > 1 cm long
then allocate rest of cylinder 1→LM	then allocate rest of cylinder 1→IF or LM; cylinder 2→LM or EM (allocation choice depends on the diagnostic problem)	then allocate parts of cylinder 2 imme- diately→EM; cylinder 1→LM; cylinder 2 remnant →IF

Fig. 2.1. Allocation of renal tissue for LM, EM and IF

Examination of this table indicates the advantages which are obtained when two tissue cylinders (referred to in Fig. 2.1 as cylinders 1 and 2) are obtained on routine biopsy.

EM Processing

Preparation

1. A stock solution of glutaraldehyde¹ (25% strength and stabilized with amberlyst) should be readily available.

¹ Although this discussion has been formulated with needle biopsy in mind, its tenets are broadly applicable to tissue obtained with open biopsy.

¹ In Europe, glutaraldehyde may be obtained from Serva Feinbiochemica, Heidelberg, Merck (No. 4239), Darmstadt (both West Germany); and Brunschwig Chemie, Basel, Switzerland.



Fig. 2.2. Complete set for preservation of kidney biopsy material:

- 1. Block-holder with cover and depot of a supporting substance, e.g., tragant for IF material
- 2. Dubosq-Brazil or other fixative solution for LM
- 3. Glutaraldehyde solution in ice for EM
- 4. Teflon plate with drop of glutaraldehyde containing tissue pieces for EM
- 5. Separate set of teflon plate and pincers for trimming and storing material in moist chambers



Fig. 2.3. Cooling of IF material:

- 1. Cooling fluid (CO_2 + acetone or liquid nitrogen)
- 2. Filter paper with tissue fragment
- 3. Block-holder with tissue fragment in situ

- 2. Shortly before needed, prepare sufficient standard solution (for biopsy use) by adding 5 ml of sodium phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.2) to each 0.45 ml of the 25% glutaraldehyde stock solution used; the standard glutaraldehyde solution is now 2%.
- 3. Prior to biopsy, pour 5 ml of the 2% standard glutaraldehyde solution into an appropriate glass container for subsequent tissue delivery.
- 4. Immediately before biopsy cool down enough 2% standard glutaraldehyde solution with ice and pour onto a wax or teflon plate to a depth of 0.5 ml.

Procedure

Within seconds after biopsy completion, place tissue intended for EM on the wax or teflon plate layered with glutaraldehyde and with a razor blade using cutting strokes (do not crush tissue!), cut the tissue into the smallest possible pieces (< 1 mm).

Then, very gently transfer the cut pieces using fine pincers or, even better, a Pasteur pipette, into the delivery glass containing 2% standard glutaraldehyde solution.

This glass must then be kept for at least 4-6 h (at the most 3-4 days) in a refrigerator at $+4^{\circ}$ C prior to delivery, and may be sent by express mail along with LM material. No special cooling is required.

IF Processing

Preparation

Fill a tall 50 ml open-mouthed glass flask with isopentane¹ (2-methylbutane) and cool to -70° C with either an acetone-dry ice mixture or with liquid nitrogen.

Procedure

Unlike EM processing, a 10-15-min interval after biopsy is tolerated for IF tissue before further processing if the tissue is kept cool during this period.

- 1. The biopsy tissue (resting on NaCl-moistened filter paper) may be put directly onto a block holder (Fig. 2.2). The tissue should be placed there on a supporting substance (such as tissue tec or tragant both treated with physiological NaCl solution) to permit its proper positioning to assure cutting of plane parallel sections on the cryostat later.
- 2. After support is assured, immerse the tissue in the pre-cooled (-70° C) isopentane for 5-30 min (Fig. 2.3).

¹ Available at Fluka AG, (No. 59080) Buchs, Switzerland; and Merck (No. 6056), Darmstadt, West Germany.

- 3. Remove the frozen specimen which now may be: a) Sectioned on the cryostat immediately
 - b) Stored in an air-tight jacket at -30° C in a deep-freeze or
 - c) Delivered quickly elsewhere for further investigation in an airtight jacket surrounding dry ice.

We have found freezing in a jet of CO_2 gives less favorable results than in isopentane. Slow freezing in deepfreezing devices leads to tissue destruction which is due to ice crystal formation.

LM Processing

Fixation is a well-known process and is achieved in 4% or 10% neutral formalin, Dubosq Brazil or in various other special media (p. 8).

We have found it very helpful to provide those clinical centers dependent on us for their pathology work with an instruction leaflet summarizing the steps to be taken—as indicated in this chapter—for handling renal biopsies prior to their arrival at our institute. When resident pathologists are available, they should personally secure tissue immediately following biopsy.

3. Renal Biopsy Management and Processing by the Pathologist

Light and Electron Microscopic Procedures

Light Microscopy Procedures

Fixation and Embedding

Table 3.1 details our suggestions regarding renal biopsy fixation and embedding. We prefer nonresident suppliers to use formalin for fixation since it is more stable and durable than Dubosq-Brazil. Embedding in paraplast has the advantage of permitting sections to be cut at a uniform thickness of $2 \mu m$.

We put 2–5 sections on each slide. It is recommended that:

- 1. The slides of a given series be numbered sequentially to permit tracking of an individual glomerulus throughout the series.
- 2. The section thickness be indicated on the slides in the event of subsequent histometric and semiquantitative work-up of the tissue being desired.

If no glomeruli are found by routine processing of a renal biopsy cylinder, the material must be prepared again in serial sections. In 16 such cases of our own, we encountered glomeruli in 8 (more than five glomeruli in two needle biopsies and less than five in six).

Rapid Embedding

We are frequently requested by centers engaged in kidney transplantation to perform frozen section diagnosis on needle biopsies obtained from acutely deteriorating transplanted kidneys. Our experience has shown the frozen section technique to be inadequate for this purpose. Therefore, we use — and recommend — the rapid embedding procedure given in Table 3.1 which allows completion of sections stained with HE, EvG, and PAS within 4 h.

The methyl metacrylate (MMA) embedding procedure given in Table 3.1 is not suited and too expensive for routine use. Its use is best restricted to centers which do histometric work regularly or for preparation of material for educational purposes. It should be noted that MMA with LM is no substitute for EM. If smaller institutes are confronted with the choice of either introducing the MMA procedure or acquiring the apparatus essential for IF work, we recommend the latter alternative.

Fixatives. A brief profile of the fixation media mentioned in this text is given below.

1. Neutral formalin (4 or 10%).

2.	Dubosq-Brazil (required	for Masson's trichrome stain)
	80% alcohol	150 ml
	Periodic acid	1 g
	Formalin (40%)	60 ml
	Glacial acetic acid	15 ml
	Durability of use: about	l week.
3.	Helly's solution (only need	cessary for Bowie's stain):
	Müller's solution: Forma	lin sublimate = $10:1$
	Müller's solution:	
	Potassium bichromate	25 g
	Sodium sulfate	10 g
	Aqua bidest	1000 ml
	Formalin sublimate:	
	Sublimate	20 g

Staining

Formalin (40%)

The most important staining procedures are given below.

10 ml.

PAS Stain (Periodic Acid+Schiff's Reagent)

Solution

- 1. Periodic acid as 0.5% aqueous solution.
- 2. Schiff's reagent: preparation:
 - a) Pour 200 ml of boiling aqua dest. over 1 g of pulverized parafuchsin; shake for about 5 min and cool to 50° C, then filter.
 - b) Add 20 ml of 2n sulfuric acid and cool to 25° C by irrigation (water coat).
 - c) Add 2 g of water-free potassium metabisulfite.
 - d) Let stand at room temperature for 24 h (until solution devoid of color).
 - e) Store well covered in the dark. The solution cannot be used if it starts to turn red; in this case, add 2 g of charcoal and filter to clear solution.

Supplier	Resident supplier		Resident supplier	Nonresident supplier
Embedding procedure	Routine embedding		Rapid embedding	Routine embedding
Fixative	Dubosq-Brazil		Neutral formalin 10%	Neutral formalin 4%
Duration of fixation	6–24 h: Room tempe Needle biopsy < 12 h Open biopsy > 12 h	rature	15 min at 37° C (needle biopsy only)	Unlimited at room temperature
Past fixation	4% neutral formalin 6–24 h: Room tempe Needle biopsy <12 h Open biopsy >12 h	rature	_	Dubosq-Brazil 6–24 h: Room temperature Needle biopsy <12 h Open biopsy >12 h
Embedding	Paraplast	MMA (methyl metacrylate)	Paraplast	Paraplast
Dehydration Alcohol 70% Alcohol 70% Alcohol 96% Alcohol 96% Alcohol 100% Alcohol 100% Xylol 100% Alcohol: Chloroform (3:1) Chloroform	30 min 30 min 20 min 20 min 20 min 20 min 20 min 	2 h 12 h 1 h 1 h 1 h 1-12 h 	10 min 10 min 10 min 10 min 10 min 10 min 10 min	See paraplast embedding procedure for resident supplier
Embedding media	^a Paraplast: 30 min, change to fresh paraplast: 60 min	^b MMA 1 h using pill glass with plastic cover MMA 2 h MMA + ^c BPO: 6–12 h covered ^c MMA + BPO + ^d P-N, 3–4 days at 40° C ^f	Paraplast: 30 min change to fresh para- plast: 30 min	
Cutting	Rotating Minot microtome C-profile knife	Jung microtome 1130 D-knife	As paraplast, routine embedding	
Section thickness Stain (after drying)	Constant 2 μm Routine (HE, EvG, PAS, PASM, Masson's trichrome/ AFOG)	0.5–1 μm HE, PASM, CAB	HE, EvG, PAS	
Duration of processing	About 24–36 h	l week	About 4 h	

Table 3.1. Fixation and embedding procedures for light microscopy

^a Paraplast obtainable at Sherwood Medical Industries Inc. 1831 Olive St., St. Louis 63163, MI/USA. ^b Methyl metacrylate (MMA) obtainable at Bender and Hobein, Zürich, Switzerland.

^c Benzoyl peroxide (BPO) obtainable at Bender and Hobein, Zürich, Switzerland.

^e MMA+BPO: 10 ml MMA+0.2 g BPO. ^f MMA+BPO+P-N: 10 ml MMA+0.4 g BPO+25 ml P-N.

^d Plastoid-N (P-N) obtainable at Roehm and Haas, Pharma GmbH, Darmstadt, West Germany.

3. Sulfur dioxide-containing water:

Mix 10 ml of a 10% solution of water-free sodium bisulfite (furosum) and 10 ml of the 2n sulfuric acid with 200 ml of tap water.

Staining Procedure

- 1. Periodic acid for 5 min.
- 2. Wash with aqua dest.
- 3. Schiff's reagent for 20 min.
- 4. SO_2 -containing water three times for 2 min each.
- 5. Place in water for 15-30 min.
- 6. Hemalum for 1 min (nuclear stain).
- 7. Wash, then place in an alcohol series of increasing concentrations.
- 8. Clear in xylol and mount.

Result: PAS-positive substances (basement membranes, mesangial matrix): intense red-violet; nuclei: blue.

PASM Stain (Periodic Acid+Silver Methenamine)

Solution

1.	Silver solution		
	Silver nitrate (5%)	5 ml	
	Borax (2%)	5 ml	
	Hexamethylentetramine (3%)	40 ml (store in refrigerato	r)
2.	Periodic acid (1%).		

- 2. Feriodic acid (176).
- 3. Sodium thiosulfate (3%).

4. Gold chloride (0.25%).

Note: 1. Prepare all solutions with aqua bidest. 2. Prepare silver solutions shortly before use.

Staining Procedure

- 1. Immerse in chloroform for 15 min, then in the alcohol series of decreasing concentrations, then in aqua bidest.
- 2. Periodic acid (1%) for 10 min.
- 3. Flush in aqua bidest for several seconds.
- 4. Silver solution for $1^{1}/_{2}$ -2 h at 60° C.

Note: Before proceeding, by microscopic control, the glomeruli should be deep black.

- 4. Flush in aqua bidest for several seconds.
- 5. Gold chloride (0.25%) for up to 30 s.

Note: Slide now blue-grey.

- 6. Flush in aqua bidest for several seconds.
- 7. Sodium thiosulfate (3%) for 2 min.
- 8. Wash in tap water 2 min.
- 9. Series of increasing concentration of alcohol as above.
- 10. Clear in xylol and mount as above.

Result: Basement membrane and mesangial matrix black; immune deposits: usually slightly brown.

Masson's Trichrome Stain

(Fixation is Dubosq-Brazil solution, see p. 8)

Solution

Preparation of light-green stain:Light-greenl gDistilled water50 mlAcetid acid0.5 ml

Staining Procedure

- 1. Pass section through increasing alcohol series to 96%.
- 2. Refix in Bouin solutin at 60° C for at least 1 h.
- 3. Wash away yellow color with water.
- 4. Stain nuclei in Weigert's iron hematoxylin for 10 min.
- 5. Wash in tap water.
- 6. Flush with aqua dest.
- 7. Stain with Biebricht scarlet red and fuchsin acid¹ in the ratio and times as follows:

Biebricht scarlet red: Fuchsin acid	Duration
7:3	1 min
1:1	3 min
1:9	15 min

8. Flush briefly with aqua dest.

- 9. Stain with phosphotungstic acid (5%) for 15 min.
- 10. Pour Masson's light-green stain directly on slide and mix with phosphotungstic acid for 15 min.

Note: microscopy control at this point reveals connective tissue stained green.

- 11. Flush briefly in water.
- 12. Flush briefly in 1% acetic acid.
- 13. Immerse in 96% alcohol, then absolute alcohol and then clear in xylol, and mount.

Result: Nuclei: black; cytoplasm, collagen fibers, mucus: bluegreen; protein (immune) deposits (fibrinoid): orange-red (if results unsatisfactory, use longer dried sections, 24 h).

AFOG Stain (Acid Fuchsin Orange G)

Solution

Anilin blue² – 1 g. Boil in 200 ml of distilled water then cool. Add orange G^3 – 2 g and acid fuchsin⁴ – 3 g. Adjust the pH with HCl to pH 1.09.

¹ Fuchsin acid available at Chroma (No. 10765) Stuttgart, West Germany.

² Chroma-Gesellschaft, Stuttgart, West Germany (Chroma No. 1B501).

- ³ Chroma No. 1B221.
- ⁴ Chroma No. 1B525.

Staining Procedure

- 1. Fix with formalin or Dubosq-Brazil.
- 2. Deparaffinize.
- 3. Refix in Bouin for 24 h, the first 2 h at 60° C.
- 4. Water (until slide white).
- 5. Nuclear stain with Weigert iron hematoxylin for 1 min.
- 6. Differentiate in 1% HCl-alcohol.
- 7. Blue, then place in warm alkali tap water.
- 8. Phosphoromolybdic acid (1%) for 5 min.
- 9. Rinse with distilled water.
- 10. AFOG solution for 5 min.
- 11. Rinse briefly in water.
- 12. Alcohol series, twice 96%, twice absolute alcohol, xylol.

Results: Protein droplet: lively red; BM and connective tissue: blue; erythrocytes: yellow-yellowish green.

Bowie's Stain

(For staining the granula of the juxtaglomerular apparatus)

Fixation Procedure

- 1. Fix in Helly's solution for 48 h.
- 2. Wash in running water for 24 h.
- 3. Embed in paraplast.

Solution

- 1. Dissolve 1 g of Biebricht scarlet red in 250 ml of distilled water (solution 1).
- 2. Filter (filtrate 1).
- 3. Dissolve 2 g of ethyl violet in 500 ml of distilled water (solution 2).
- 4. With constant stirring, filter solution 2 into filtrate 1 until neutralization of solution 3 is achieved (when a little of the solution dripped on filter paper shows no color except for the precipitate itself).
- 5. Filter solution 3 once more and dry the precipitate.
- 6. The stock solution is then prepared by dissolving 0.2 g of the precipitate from solution 3 in 20 ml of 96% alcohol.

Preparation of Bowie's Solution for Use

Place 15-20 drops of Bowie's stock solution in 100 ml of 20% ethyl alcohol.

Staining Procedure

- 1. Dehydrate as usual.
- 2. Fix section in Helly's solution (if not done primarily).
- 3. Resublimate (determine time required in advance).
- 4. Place in running water for 5 min.
- 5. Place in potassium chromate solution (2.5%) and keep at about 40° C overnight.

- 6. Flush in distilled water.
- 7. Place in Bowie's solution for use for 24 h.
- 8. Blot the slide dry.
- 9. Immerse quickly two or three times in fresh clear acetone until excessive color is washed away.
- 10. Differentiate in xylol-carnation oil mixture (1:1) until the section appears red to reddish purple.
- 11. Clear twice with fresh xylol and twice with fresh benzol, mount.

Result: Renal parenchyme: red; elastic fibers and juxtaglomerular granules: purple-blue; red blood cells: amber.

Cresyl Violet Stain for Bacteria

Staining Procedure

- 1. Color the sections in a 1% solution of cresyl violet for 20 min.
- 2. Differentiate in 70% alcohol until no more color is given off. In case of strong overcoloring, differentiate in acetic acid (1:500 or 1:100) until only the nuclei remain colored.
- 3. Quickly dehydrate in absolute alcohol, clear with xylol, cover.

Result: Bacteria and all nuclei: deep violet; fibrin: greenish.

Lepehne's Peroxidase Reaction for Hemoglobin

Fix in formalin (not too long!); use thick sections $> 5 \,\mu m$.

Staining Procedure

- 1. Add a mixture of 0.5 ml of Perhydrol¹ and 4.5 ml of 70% alcohol to 2 ml of a 0.6% solution of benzidine in 96% alcohol. Let it work for 10 min on section.
- 2. Place section in 50% alcohol, then water.
- 3. Stain with hemalum for 30 s.

Result: hemoglobin: dark brown.

Thioflavin T Stain for Amyloid

[1656] for phlorwhite BBU see: [1817]

Solution

Add 0.5 g of a 0.5% Thioflavin T solution² to 100 ml aqua bidest.

Stir, warm to 50 60° C, let cool, then filter.

¹ Merck, Darmstadt, West Germany.

² Thioflavin T available at Fluka (No. 88630) Buchs, Switzerland.

Procedure

- 1. Stain nuclei with hemalum or Weigert's hematoxylin for 8 min, flush with distilled water and blue with tap water, then again flush with distilled water.
- 2. Stain section with freshly prepared Thioflavin T solution for 7 min.
- 3. Wash off briefly with water.
- 4. Differentiate in a 1% aqueous hydrochloric acid solution (20 ml 1 n HCl+52 ml distilled water) for 15 min.
- 5. Wash in water.
- 6. Carefully blot up the water with filter paper (sections should be as dry as possible).
- 7. Dehydrate twice, both for 30 s; then, 1 min in absolute alcohol. Clear in xylol, cover with eukitt.
- 8. Read slides with blue or UV fluorescence.

Result: Amyloid: under blue fluorescence: bright yellow to green; under UV fluorescence: dark green to blue green with whitish undertone.

Special Technique for Methyl Metacrylate Embedded Tissue

(see Table 3.1)

Stretch Method With Butyl Glycol

- 1. Place sections directly from the microtome in a mixture of 10 parts of absolute alcohol to 2 parts alcoholic butyl glycol and boil for 5–10 min.
- 2. Transfer to distilled water (avoid tension!).
- 3. Before stretching, place sections in alcoholic butyl glycol for about 1 min (section will become soft).
- 4. Lay sections on slide with pincers.
- 5. Moisten a small soft brush with alcoholic butyl glycol and gently stretch out and press section onto slide.
- 6. Dry with two or three pieces of soft tissue paper by pressing gently.
- 7. Dry directly in chloroform and stain.

Staining of Methyl Metacrylate Embedded Tissue

Hemalum – Eosin Stain

Staining Procedure

- 1. Remove methyl metacrylate from sections in chloroform for 20 min and then place in series of decreasing alcohol concentrations.
- 2. Stain with hemalum for 15 min.
- 3. Blue in tap water.
- 4. 1% erythrosin stain for about 2 min (stronger stain than eosin).
- 5. Place sections in series of increasing concentrations of alcohol; clear in xylol.

PAS Stain (Periodic Acid+Schiff's Reagent)

Staining Procedure

- 1. Remove methyl metacrylate from sections in chloroform for 20 min and then place in a series of decreasing alcohol concentrations.
- 2. Place sections in 1% periodic acid for 2 h.
- 3. Flush well in distilled water.
- 4. Stain in Schiff's reagent (see p. 8) for 3 h.
- 5. Wash for 15 min in running water.
- 6. Stain with hemalum for 1 min.
- 7. Blue in tap water, then series of increasing alcohol concentrations, then xylol.

PASM [PAS-methenamine Silver Stain (after Movat)]

Staining Procedure

- 1. Remove methyl metacrylate, place sections in a series of decreasing concentration of alcohol, then aqua bidest.
- 2. Stain with 1% periodic acid for 10 min.
- 3. Flush in aqua bidest.
- 4. Stain with silver solution (see p. 10) at 60° C for $1^{1}/_{2}$ -2 h until glomeruli deep black.
- 5. Flush in aqua bidest.
- 6. Place sections in 3% sodium thiosulfate solution for 2 min.
- 7. Flush in water, then place sections in a series of increasing alcohol concentrations, then clear in xylol.

Electron Microscopy Procedures

Fixation and Embedding

Fixation (see p. 5)

2% glutaraldehyde in sodium phosphate buffer.

Preparation of Sodium Phosphate Buffer

Solution A	Solution B
$0.2 \text{ mol NaH}_2 PO_4 H_2 O =$	$0.2 \text{ mol Na}_2 \text{HPO}_4 \cdot 12 \text{ H}_2 \text{O} =$
6.9 g in 250 ml aqua dest.	71.6 g in 1000 ml aqua dest.

Buffer Mixture

Mix 103.5 ml solution A, 346.5 ml solution B and 465.0 ml of aqua bidest. together. Then, with constant shaking add 5 ml of 7% solution of $CaCl_2$ dropwise. The pH should now be 7.4. Correction to this value may be done with 0.2 mol NaOH or HCl.

Osmolarity ca 360 mosm.

Store at 4°C; viable for 2 months.

Shortly before use, add 0.45 ml of a 25% solution of glutaraldehyde (see p. 5) to 5 ml of the sodium phosphate buffer. The tissue should be fixed at 4° C at least for 4h especially if mail delivery is foreseen. The maximal duration for fixation is about 7 days.

Wash Buffer

Following fixation, place tissue in the sodium phosphate buffer for 1/2 h to several days at 4° C. Change the buffer during this time at least twice.

Osmium Fixation

Work with osmium must be carried out under a flue. The osmium solution is made by dissolving 1 g OsO_4 in 50 ml aqua bidest (=2% solution). Let this solution stand in a brown flask, which should be closed with a polished-down stopper for at least 24 h at room temperature or until the OsO_4 is dissolved. Shake well before use.

S-Collidin Buffer¹

Preparation:

S-collidin	2.67 ml
Aqua bidest	50 ml
HCL ln	9 ml

Dilute to 100 ml with aqua bidest. (pH 7.4–7.45, osmolarity: 220–240 mosm).

Fixation Solution:

2 ml of 2% OsO₄ 1 ml of 0.2 mol s-collidin buffer Final OsO₄ concentration: 1.33%=67 mosm. Fix tissue in above solution for 1 h at room temperature.

Wash Solution

Wash tissue in S-collidin buffer for 15-30 min during which the buffer should be changed twice.

Dehydration and Embedding in Epon

Preparation of Epon

Stock solution A	Stock solution B
Epikote ^a 812: 72 ml	Epikote 812: 100 ml
DDSA (dodecenyl succinate	NMA (nadic methyl an-
anhydrate) ^b : 100 ml	hydride) ^b : 76.5 ml
Stir for ¹ / ₂ h	Stir for ¹ / ₂ h

^a Shell, Zürich, Switzerland (Art. No. 1300).

^b Acima, Buchs, Switzerland.

¹ Obtainable at Fluka AG, Buchs, Switzerland, as S-Collidin puriss. No. 27690/A 52379.

At 4° C, the stock solutions can be kept for several months. Before preparation of the final solution, the stock solutions must be brought to room temperature.

Preparation of Final Solution

Mix four parts of solution A and six parts of solution B and stir thoroughly with a glass rod for at least 5 min.

A 2% solution of DMP- 30^1 can be used for acceleration and catalyzation (DMP-2,4,6-dimethylamino phenol, caution: light sensitive!).

Dehydrate the tissue as follows:

Increasing alcohol series for 15 min each $(70\% \rightarrow 95\% \rightarrow 100\%$ alcohol); in 100% alcohol, two immersions of 15 min each. Then twice in propylenoxide² for 20 min each then handle tissue as follows:

- 1. Propylenoxide Epon final solution (1:1) for 1–3 h.
- 2. Propylenoxide-Epon final solution (1:3) overnight.
- 3. Put 2 drops of the Epon final solution in a gelatin capsule and then put in tissue.
- 4. Place gelatin capsule in incubator at 37° C for 2 h, if kept overnight, at 45° C (in the presence of high humidity, add an exsicant).
- 5. Then warm to 60° C for 3 days.
- 6. On the fifth day, completely fill gelatin capsule with Epon and keep at 60° C for 48 h for hardening.

Cutting and Staining

- A. Semi-Thin Sections
 - Prepare 1 μ m sections on the ultra microtome. Fix onto slide by laying on a hot plate at 60° C for 2–3 h.
- B. Azure Methylene Blue Stain (for other status: [1818]) Preparation
 - A = 1% Azur II³ in aqua dest.

B=1% methylene blue⁴ in a 1% borax solution

Mix equal parts of A and B together.

Staining procedure: Drop the stain onto the slide, then draw the slide quickly through an open flame until the stain begins to evaporate. Wash off with water.

- C. Ultra-Thin Sections Prepare sections on ultra microtome with interference colors in the silver spectrum.
- D. Contrasting: uranyl acetate and lead citrate.

Uranyl acetate: Dissolve 0.8 g of uranyl acetate in 20 ml of 50% alcohol, shake well and then filter and contrast in dark room for 15 min. Wash with 50% alcohol and aqua bidest.

Lead citrate: Dissolve 0.03 g of lead citrate in 10 ml of freshly prepared aqua bidest. Add 0.1 ml of a 10n NaOH solution dropwise and centrifuge at 2000 RPM for 5 min.

Contrast for 5 min, wash with aqua bidest and dry thoroughly with filter paper.

¹ Christ AG, Aesch, Switzerland.

- ² Merck, Darmstadt, West Germany (Art. No. 12492).
- ³ Merck, Darmstadt, West Germany (Art No. 9211).
- ⁴ Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland (Art No. 66720).

Immunohistologic Procedures, Morphometry and Clinically Related Topics

Topics in Immunohistology

Immunohistology permits localization of numerous substances with antigenic (AG) sites in tissue preparations. This is achieved by means of specific antibodies (AB) provided with tracer substances which can be rendered visible at the AG-AB tissue binding site.

Of chief importance for renal biopsy diagnosis is the demonstration of immunoglobulins, complement components, fibrin and other serum proteins which—mainly but not exclusively—can be part of pathogenetic immunocomplexes. Other components which can be demonstrated in these complexes may be endogenous, e.g., DNA, or exogenous, e.g., bacteria, viruses, drugs. The latter-mentioned components may also act directly to cause injury i.e., independent of AG-AB reactions.

The following discussion is primarily restricted to a presentation of practical guidelines for the utilization of FITC (fluorscein-iso-thiocyanate) which is the most popular tracer currently in use for immunofluorescent work. For individual, ad hoc preparation of specific antisera and/or fractionating and labeling methods, the reader is referred to appropriate, specialized texts [580, 1180, 1714, 1735].

Finally, a short discussion of the immunoperoxidase method (IP) which used chemically stably bound active enzymes instead of fluorochrome as tracer is given; it is used mainly as an alternative to the FITC method.

Tissue Processing

Two factors determine the successful outcome of immunofluorescence:

- 1. The quality of the antisera
- 2. The efficiency of AG preservation. This assumes that the tissue preparation be done as quickly and carefully as possible.

It is noted that autopsy material obtained later than 12 h after death will not, in general, yield satisfactory results (for contrary experimental evidence, see [1477]).

Fixation

Chemical fixation is mainly suitable for bacteria, viruses and protozoa unless their antigenic properties after fixation have been individually confirmed; it is less suitable for soluble proteins ([580]; for IF after formalin fixation Fig. 3.1. Device for storing IF material in the deep freezer:

- 1. Socle
- 2. Airtight cover
- 3. Block-holder with
- 4. Supporting mass, e.g., tissue tec
- 5. Tissue fragment



of kidneys, see [365a, 722a]). In general practice it is advisable to use unfixed and frozen material, especially if antigens of different quality are to be studied at the same time. For freezing and delivery of biopsy material (see p. 6).

Storage

Frozen material, when placed in airtight containers at -30° C to -70° C, can be kept safely for months (with long storage, however, the quality of IF suffers). A rational method for storing deep-frozen material is given in Figure 3.1. An absolute requirement for optimal IF examination is that the tissue cylinder never be warmed above -30° C. Damage ascribable to tissue warming is manifested as fragile sections, extensive loss of structural preservation and excessive background staining. Alternatively, cryostat sections may be stored with a

Alternatively, cryostat sections may be stored with a dessicant (e.g., $CaCl_2$, Drierite) in airtight containers placed in a deep freezer.

In order to avoid formation of condensed water on warming the tissue, the containers should only be opened when they are at room temperature. Tissue treated in this way can also be used for delivery.

Cryostat Sections

Two slides, each provided with 4-6 serial sections should be prepared for each AG to be demonstrated. This means that an optimal IF program will require 10-20 slides and at least 40 serial sections. It is recommended that an occasional section be taken randomly during the cutting to determine if—and how many—glomeruli are present.

Immunohistologic Incubation

Methods

Two methods, direct and indirect, are principally available (Figs. 3.2, 3.3).

1. Direct Method

Single step-antigen demonstration with specific, FITC-labeled antiserum.

Advantages:

- 1. Requires less effort
- 2. Is less prone to give problems.

Disadvantages :

1. Less sensitive

2. More expensive since each antigen requires its specific antiserum labeled with FITC.



Fig. 3.2. Complete set for IF incubation:

- 1. Magnetic stirrer with "wash buffer" (PBS)
- 2. Wash buffer and reservoir for rinsing slides
- 3. Glycerine-PBS mixture (embedding medium)
- 4. Cover glasses
- 5. Pasteur pipettes and cups containing antisera to be used
- 6. Moist chamber for incubation of slides



Fig. 3.3. Schematic comparison between direct and indirect IF methods. Note multiplier effect for fluorescence in the indirect method by increase of labeled antibody per antigen. FITC ($\dot{x} \dot{x}$)

2. Indirect Method (Sandwich Method, Antiglobulin Method)

The tissue section is covered with nonlabeled antiserum (e.g., of rabbit) which is specific for the AG in question.

This specifically bound, heterologous gamma globulin is rendered visible in a second step by a labeled, species-specific antiglobulin (e.g., goat antirabbit gamma globulin). Advantages:

- 1. Greater sensitivity through amplification of binding sites
- 2. More economical since one single-labeled, species-specific antiserum can be combined with as many antisera of the corresponding animal species as desired.

Disadvantages:

- 1. Requires more time
- 2. Is more susceptible to nonspecific fluorescence since undesired binding in the first step will be amplified by the final incubation.

Because of its greater sensitivity, the indirect method is indicated whenever possible.

Antisera

The following firms, among others, have relevant labeled and unlabeled antisera commercially available:

Firm	Address
 Hoechst-Behring AG Cappel Hyland Meloy Miles-Seravac Nederation 	Marburg, West Germany. Downington, Pennsylvania, USA Costa Mesa, California, USA Springfield, Virginia, USA Kankakee, Illinois, USA Tilhurg, Usiland

The selection of antisera is based upon:

1. The incubation method chosen (direct or indirect)

2. The spectrum of the investigation envisaged.

Antisera should be monospecific and evidence a high precipitation titer (hyperimmune sera). For FITC-labeled sera an optimal molar FITC: protein ratio of 1.5–4.0 should be achieved.

Antisera for Testing in Renal Biopsy Examination. The following antisera are recommended:

Antiserum	Specific for	
 Anti-IgG Anti-IgM Anti-IgA Anti-IgE Anti-C3 (= beta-1C/beta-1A) Anti-C4 Anti-Clq Antifibrin(ogen) 	gamma chains μ chains alpha chains epsilon chains	

The identification of complement components C4 and/or Clq renders additional evidence for complement activation via the classical AG-AB-mediated pathway, whereas the demonstration of C3 alone may be the result of activation via the alternative pathway as well.

Optimally, the following specificities may also be tested: 1. Anti-D

- 2. Anti-Australian antigen (anti-HBs Ag) and other antiviral and antibacterial antisera
- 3. Anti-DNA: for the demonstration of nuclear factors in SLE, the FITC-labeled gamma globulin fraction of human lupus sera with anti-DNA activity may be used.

Sera Testing. Before histologic testing, the antisera are tested against the specific AG and against possible crossreacting AG by means of immunodiffusion (Ouchterlony test) or, preferably, through immunoelectrophoresis in order to confirm their monospecificity. Then, the immunohistologic specificity and the optimal dilution on known positive test tissue is determined for the antisera. Subsequently, a dilution series (1:10, 1:20 ... 1:100) is set up and that dilution is sought which, with a negative background, results in an undiminished, brilliant fluorescence (usually 1:30, 1:40 or 1:50). Both the labeled and unlabeled sera are diluted stepwise for use in the indirect method. In a checkerboard titration assay, each dilution of the unlabeled serum is set up against the conjugate in a dilution range which, by itself, does not give background staining of the test tissue. Portions of the serum of 0.3-0.5 ml are frozen at the selected dilution, stored in a deep freezer and thawed for immediate testing.

Incubation. The following setup is required for incubation (Fig. 3.2):

- 1. Moist chamber
- 2. Phosphate buffered physiological NaCl solution (PBS)
- 3. Pasteur pipettes
- 4. Magnetic stirrer.

The stock solution for PBS is

$Na_{2}HPO_{4} \cdot 2H_{2}O$	29,25 g
KH ₂ PO ₄	4,90 g
NaCl	160,00 g
Aqua bidest.	1000,00 ml

Before use, dilute the PBS stock solution with aqua bidest. in the ratio of 1:20.

Figure 3.4 presents the procedure and Figure 3.5 control possibilities for immunohistologic incubation. All incubations take place at room temperature and in a moist chamber. The sections are covered with diluted antisera (ca 0.3–0.5 ml). Following each incubation, the antisera are carefully flushed off with PBS and washed twice in a fresh bath of PBS, most profitably on a magnetic stirrer. The sections must not be allowed to dry out (intensified background staining).



Fig. 3.4. IF-incubation scheme (all steps at room temperature)

Direct method	Indirect method
 Incubation with FITC- labeled nonspecific anti- serum (excludes non- specific tissue affinity) 	 Replacement of the first layer through a) PBS and b) nonspecific serum of the same species (excludes non- specific binding of the sera and cross-reactions of the conjugate with tissue components)
2. Absorption of the antiger gen (loss of fluorescence	n-specific antiserum with desired anti-
3. Blockage of the desired a	ntigen in the section by preincubation

Fig. 3.5. Control possibilities for specificity

of fluorescence).

The preparations are finally covered with a PBS/glycerine mixture (1:9 at pH 7.4–8.0). Drying out may be prevented by sealing on the cover-slips with a layer of nail polish or wax. We believe that storage of the sections—at 4° C—should not exceed 2–3 days.

Therefore, photographic documentation of the characteristic findings should be done as quickly as possible.

FITC-Immunofluorescence

Microscopy Equipment. A fluorescent microscope provided with an appropriate light source (high pressure mercury lamp or the considerably cheaper halogen lamps) and special filters are necessary for FITC-immunofluorescence.

Incident lighting, which achieves illumination and focusing of the exciting light through the objective lens from above, is a decided improvement over conventional builtin lamps for bright or dark field illumination. Incident illumination assures optimal excitation of the fluorochrome and greater resolution especially under high power magnification.

Since FITC is unstable, permanent preparations cannot be made. Therefore the preparations require immediate photographic documentation which represents a significant disadvantage of FITC-immunofluorescence. This disadvantage is counterbalanced by the great specificity and sensitivity which characterizes immunofluorescence (e.g., in experimental GN, a concentration of 0.25 ml of bovine serum albumin per gram kidney tissue was found to be the sensitivity threshold [1746]). Additionally, IF is a multifaceted, economical and relativity rapid method which may lead to quick results i.e. on the same day as biopsy.

Photography. For black and white photos, we use Ilford HP4, an exposure time of 30–60 s and fine-grain developer with about a 30% increase in developing time. For color photos, we use Kodak High-Speed-Ektachrome 22 DIN with intensified developing.

Undesired Fluorescence. Table 3.2 gives suggestions for the recognition and abolition of fluorescence which is in no way related to the antigen under study (undesired fluorescence). Such fluorescence can be caused by specific AG-AB reactions as a consequence of cross-reactions of the specific antiserum with other AG or as

Table 3.2. E	rrors in	fluorescence, t	their source	and remedial	action	(compare also	[580,	1180])
--------------	----------	-----------------	--------------	--------------	--------	---------------	-------	--------

Error	Source	Control	Remedial action		
Diffuse background staining	1. Free FITC in conjugate	1. Dialysis against PBS chromatography with Stephadex G-25			
	2. Overlabeling of the conjugate	2. Determination of FITC: protein ratio	2. DEAE cellulose chromatography		
	3. Insufficient serum dilution	3. Test out higher dilution stag			
	 Electrostatic binding on negatively charged tissue 	4. Control No. 1 in Fig. 3.5	4. None		
	5. Electrostatic binding on negatively charged AB	5. Absorption with DEAE cell	ulose		
Patchy background staining on the cylinder surface	1. Tissue contact with glutar- aldehyde or other fixative during preparation	_	1. Use of pincers reserved exclusively for IF work		
	2. Crushing of tissue				
False positive fluorescence	1. Antiserum monospecific, but cross-reacting with other antigens	1. Identity reaction by immunodiffusion with cross-reacting antigen	1. None. Try antiserum from other species		
	2. Antiserum polyvalent (not monospecific)	2. Immunodiffusion Immuno-electrophoresis Control Nos. 2 and 3 in Fig. 3.5	2. Absorption with nondesired antigen		
	3. Cross-reaction of the labeled AG	3. Immunodiffusion Immuno-electrophoresis Control Nos. 2 and 3 in Fig. 3.5	3. Absorption with antigen, possibly kidney tissue, insolubilized human serum		
Insufficiently positive or false	1. Antiserum overdiluted	1. Test sections	1. Concentrate antiserum		
negative fluores- cence	2. Precipitation titer too low	2. Determine titer	2. None: discard serum		
	3. Poor technique	3. –	3. Repeat incubation		
	4. Underlabeling of the conjugate	4. Determine FITC: protein ratio (not lower than 1.5)	4. DEAE cellulose chromato- graphy		

a consequence of the presence of other AB in the serum used which lead to false positive reactions.

Therefore, it is recommended that several antisera of the same specificity be compared if there is any question of the correctness of interpretation of results (also in cases of probable false negative results). It should also be borne in mind that fluorescence can occur by nonimmunologically related, i.e., nonspecific, fluorescence of the tissue itself. If this is ascribable to the conjugate (overlabeling, nonbound FITC), chromatographic fractionation of the conjugate [580], absorption with powdered tissue (lyophilized mouse liver) or with normal homogenized and washed tissue for correction may be tried. If tissue is used, 1 volumetric unit of tissue is mixed with 2 units of serum for 30–60 min at room temperature; then the serum is recovered by high speed centrifugation.

These absorption methods do cause losses of AB, however, these may be avoided by using higher dilution of antisera which give the same results.

Immunoperoxidase (IP) Technique

The range of use for IP-sera is similar to that of FITClabeled sera in IF. The difference is that an enzymohistochemic demonstration of the coupled peroxidase follows the incubation with the immune sera. In general, the results with IF- and IP-methods are analogous [348]. However, both methods have advantages and disadvantages which must be taken into consideration (for a review see [1566]).

Several methods for chemical coupling between peroxidase and immunoglobulins are described in the literature [58, 290, 1182, 1183].

Peroxidase labeled sera have also recently become commercially available (e.g., Cappel Laboratoires, Downington, Pennsylvania, USA). The coupling procedure with difluoro-dinitrophenyl sulfone [1183], which entails roughly equivalent expenditure as FITC labeling, yields peroxidase-labeled sera which can be used with good results in cryostat sections for LM (Fig. 3.6).

Reliable demonstration of peroxidase can be made with diamino-benzidine [589]. Stain-contrast can be enhanced through additional treatment with osmium.

Stain-intensity with IP, in contrast to IF, is determined not only by the amount of antigen and titer of the immune sera but also by the kinetic properties of the enzyme and the concentration of the enzyme substrate. Therefore, the IP-method is easily controlled, even if an optimum between intensity and resolution of the



Fig. 3.6. Demonstration of C3 with immune peroxidase (left) and the IF method (right) in frozen sections

staining must be found. The sections stained by the IPmethod, especially after osmium treatment, provide a permanent record. Furthermore, they can be studied with a standard light microscope.

The disadvantage of the IP-method in LM is that more incubation steps are needed than in IF. In principle, IP-methods can also be used for electron microscopic demonstration of antigens, since the reaction product of diamino-benzidine is osmiophilic [1482]. Here, the main technical problem is poor tissue penetration of the coupled sera which may be overcome by using lower molecular weight fragments of immunoglobulins and enzymes or by pretreatment of the tissue [882, 901, 945].

The incubations with immune sera and peroxidaselabeled sera are analogous to IF-methods. The following procedure for the IP-technique after incubation with the peroxidase-labeled sera has given reliable results:

1. Wash 2×15 min in PBS.

2. Cover with diamino-benzidine solution and incubate for 10-20 min in the dark.

Preparation of Diamino-Benzidine Solution

Dissolve 5 mg 3,3'-diamino-benzidine tetrahydrochloride (Sigma Chemical Co. St. Louis, Missouri, USA) in 10 ml of 0.05 mol Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.4) and add 0.1 ml of a 1% H_2O_2 solution.

- 3. Wash for 15 min in PBS.
- 4. Layer with an aqueous 1% OsO₄ solution and incubate for 30-45 min.
- 5. Wash 15 min in PBS.
- 6. Wash briefly with aqua dest., dehydrate in the alcohol series, clear briefly in xylol and mount.

(The usual immunologic and histochemical control incubations must be carried out regularly. See also Table 3.2.

Morphometry Technique

A great deal of effort has been expended to find reproducible objective methods which can correlate changes in individual renal elements (glomeruli, tubules, etc.) and their structures (mesangium, BM etc.) with clinical symptomatology and functional parameters [450, 1274, 1579].

Results obtained with the + grading scale (0–4) are modest in comparison to the effort involved; its use requires very extensive experience. Easily reproducible results are obtained with morphometry, a technique rigorously limited to purely scientific investigation [404, 1624, 1705]. Nevertheless, morphometric methods can be used for renal biopsy evaluations when 7–10 glomeruli are present. Semiquantitative data agree well, in general, with those obtained quantitatively.

The following conditions must be fulfilled for morphometric examination:

- 1. Absolutely standardized preparation of material from fixation to embedding
- 2. Uniform section thickness (inscription of section thickness on slides desirable)
- 3. Evaluation on identically stained sections (PAS/ PASM).

Clinically Related Topics

Normal Laboratory Values

[367, 538]

The clinically most important laboratory values [367, 538] are listed below. Some of the values are age-related, (for correlation to age, please refer to references given).

Normal Blood (B) and Serum (S) Values

Potassium (S)	3.4-5.2 mEq/l
Sodium (S)	138151 mEq/l
Calcium (S)	4.7–5.5 mEq/l
Chloride (S)	101-111 mEq/l
Phosphate (S)	2.5–4.1 mEq/1
Glucose (B)	50-100 mg/100 ml
Cholesterine (S)	120–250 mg/100 ml
Triglyceride (S)	$123 \pm 49 \text{ mg}/100 \text{ ml}$
Beta-lipoprotein (S)	210–400 mg/100 ml
Urea (S)	10–40 mg/100 ml
Creatinine (S)	0.8 - 129 mg/100 ml
Uric acid (S)	2.9–6.9 mg/100 ml
Inulin clearance (Cin)	
φ	$109 + 13.5 \text{ ml/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$) body
3	$124 \pm 25.8 \text{ ml/min/1.73 m}^2$ surface
PAH clearance (C _{PAH})	
Ŷ	592±153 ml/min/1.73 m ²) body
3	$654 \pm 163 \text{ ml/min/1.73 m}^2 \int \text{surface}$
Creatinine clearance (C _{CR})	> 80–90 ml
Protein (S)	
Total	6.6–7.9 g/100 ml
Albumin	3.7–4.5 g/100 ml
Globulin (total)	2.5–3.6 g/100 ml
Alpha ₁ -globulin	0.25-0.46 g/100 ml
Alpha ₂ -globulin	0.60–0.81 g/100 ml
Beta-globulin	0.76–0.97 g/100 ml
Gamma-globulin	1.2–1.42 g/100 ml
IgG	1143 ± 235 mg/100 ml
IgA	$204 \pm 85 \text{ mg}/100 \text{ ml}$
IgM	$72 \pm 23 \text{ mg}/100 \text{ ml}$
Fibrinogen	$440 \pm 150 \text{ mg}/100 \text{ ml}$
Complement Fractions	
[1397]	
Clq	19 mg/100 ml
C2	3 mg/100 ml
C3	130 mg/100 ml
C4	43 mg/100 ml

Normal Blood (B) and Serum (S) Values

Normal Urine Values

Volume	500–2000 ml/24 h
Osmolarity	33-1300 mosm/kg/water
Specific gravity	1005–1035
Protein	250 mg/24 h
(Biuret/Kjeldahl method)	
Blood cells (visualfield [VF] using $40 \times $ objective)	
Erythrocytes	100–2000/min (≦2 per VF)
Leukocytes	$500-4000/min (\le 4 \text{ per VF})$
Casts:	
hyaline casts	No pathologic significance,
	also found in healthy individuals
granular, wax and	
cell casts	pathologic, disease of renal
	parenchyma
Bacteria	0 (<100,000/ml=contamination possible,
	> 100,000/ml, pathologic; atten-
	tion with female patients as spon-

sible)

taneous urine contamination pos-

All values obtained from laboratories should be accompanied by the laboratories' normal values which tend to vary from laboratory to laboratory [655, 1325].

Collecting, Summarizing and Processing of Data [101, 1381]

To assure optimal scientific evaluation as well as maximally accurate diagnosis, the most comprehensive anamnestic, clinical and laboratory biopsy information should be available to the pathologist. For data collection, we use appropriate coding sheets developed from extensive system analysis which allow registration of 170 anamnestic, clinical and laboratory items which can be used for preparing the corresponding punch cards for ultimate electronic data processing.

Appropriate coding sheets are also available for pathologic and follow-up data (90 parameters for LM, 110 for EM, 200 for IF and 50 for therapy and follow-up). These procedures guarantee complete coverage of a case, i.e., from the familial history to pathological findings to follow-up of the patient.

4. Histology of Normal Kidney Tissue

[1575]

Definition. Normal kidney tissue consists of unchanged nephrons (glomeruli and tubules), vessels and interstitium, reveals unchanged BM and mesangium upon examination with EM and is IF-negative.

Since the trajectory of a needle biopsy is not exactly parallel to the renal segments, cylinders of kidney tissue often contain elements of the medullary rays and collecting ducts in addition to cortical structures (glomeruli, proximal and distal, convoluted tubules) (Fig. 4.1, [317]).

Glomerulus (Figs. 4.2, 4.3, 4.13)

Upon entering Bowman's capsule, the vas afferens divides into two to five (rarely more) branches which form a network of anastomizing capillary loops which are arranged in lobuli. The mesangium is a supporting structure for the capillary loops and is spread out between them (Figs. 4.5, 4.6). The loops are covered externally by flat podocytes (visceral epithelium). The podocytes of infants and small children are cubic (Fig. 4.4).

The convolute of capillary loops is enveloped by Bowman's capsule which consists of a thick BM and a parietal (capsular) epithelium. In male children, the epithelium of the proximal convoluted tubules often projects into the capsular space (fetal glomerular development: [1662]).

Capillary Loop Content

Normally, only a few erythrocytes are found in the capillary loops since glomeruli generally loose their blood during needle biopsy. No more than six leukocytes per glomerulus are encountered in thin sections $(2 \,\mu m)$ of normal kidney tissue. Under EM, we have observed fibrin fibers in the loops of one normal biopsy obtained by surgery.

Basement Membrane

The BM is morphologically the most important element of the glomerulus. It is chiefly studied with the PAS or PASM stain (Figs. 4.2, 4.13). In tangential sections only, the BM appears to completely envelop the loop lumens. Actually, the lumen of each loop borders in the region of the glomerular stalk on a mesangial cell which is covered by endothelium (Fig. 4.2). In some instances, mesangial matrix bars may be interposed between the endothelium and mesangial cell which, however, do not become entirely separated by the bars.

The mesangial cell is covered externally by the BM itself which procedes to the next loop. In the region of contact between mesangium and BM, the BM is irregular (Fig. 4.7) and the lamina rara interna merges gradually with the mesangial matrix (the basement membrane-like substance of the mesangium), while the lamina densa and lamina rara externa remain intact [926].

The BM appears five times wider in LM than in EM. This means that LM stains cause staining of cytoplasmic elements of endothelial and epithelial cells, a fact which would explain the BM thickness observed under LM [1508]. Fusion of podocyte foot processes does not lead to discernable BM thickening under LM. As viewed with EM, the total thickness of the vertically cut BM amounts to about 1100 Å (0.11 μ m) for children and 2700–3500 Å (0.27–0.35 μ m) for adults [341, 1108, 1154, 1536].

The electron opaque lamina densa (Figs. 4.7, 4.8) is bordered subendothelially by the neutral polysacchariderich lamina rara interna, (ca. 300 Å) and subepithelially by the predominantly acid mucopolysaccharide-containing lamina rara externa (ca. 600 Å) [1119]. The lamina rara interna along the mesangium is usually loosened (Fig. 4.11). Chemically, the BM consists of 90% protein (58% collagenous and 42% noncollagenous protein); the amino acid composition of BM protein is strikingly similar in various animal species. BM collagen differs from tendon collagen in its high content of hydroxylysine, in the presence of cystine which is absent in tendon collagen and in its lower content of glycine [1575]. The other constituents of BM are carbohydrates (8%) and lipids (2%) [132, 204, 925, 1108, 1376, 1575].

From the physico-chemical point of view, the BM represents a thixotropic gel, a state allowing cell passage through the BM and its subsequent immediate closure. A crystalloid structure of the lamina densa has been postulated but not proven [1658].

Changes in chemical structure of the BM in GN have been shown but the relevant reports have not been



Fig. 4.1. Normal renal cortical tissue. Male, 62 years. PAS $(\times 146)$

Fig. 4.2. Normal glomerulus obtained at liver biopsy. Male, 62 years. PAS (\times 440)

uniform [996, 1108]. They especially involve the collagen⁻ and lipid constituents. In chronic GN, a decrease in the disaccharide content of BM has also been reported [996].

Within a week after transplantation, the BM evidences a considerable increase in lipids and a slight change in carbohydrates. No changes in BM chemical structure have so far been detected in diabetes mellitus [1108].

In fetal life, both the podocyte and endothelium appear to participate in formation of the BM [154] while in later life it is chiefly the podocyte [1108, 1680, 1681], although minor components may be formed by the endothelium at this time too [1681]. A participation in BM formation by the mesangium is probable [1577] especially in the presence of inflammatory reactions [1226]. The endothelium clearly participates in the formation of the BM in pathologic processes [154, 1108, 1109, 1805].

The turnover of the BM in adulthood is unknown. It is reported to be 60 days for the rat [1382] and longer than 145 days for the mouse BM [212]; these values cannot be adopted for man. Mesangial cells, endothelium and epithelium probably participate in a permanent breakdown of BM [1681].

Function. The BM is an essential component of the glomerular filter. It has been possible to show with different tracer techniques (dextrans of various molecular weights, ferritin, peroxidase etc.) that low-weight molecules (<60,000 Daltons) pass unimpeded through the BM. Permeability decreases with increasing molecular weight. The BM filtering process may be due either to rigid pores of various sizes or to a fibrillar network embedded in a gel (pore equivalents of 20–80 Å: [259, 459 a, 1320, 1442, 1575]).

Podocytes

The podocytes (visceral epithelium, Figs. 4.6, 4.9, 4.10) appear as cells with multiple pseudopod-like processes under EM; their nuclei are larger than those of the endothelium and their chromatin structure is looser [1065]. In thin LM sections, the foot processes so clearly seen with EM are just discernable. The interdigitating foot processes appear very prominently with scanning EM (Figs. 4.9, 4.10). The spaces between two foot processes measure about 550 Å (filtrating slit pores:
[1633]). These are covered by a 50 Å-thick slit membrane [1536]. The fine granular cytoplasm contains moderate amounts of endoplasmatic reticulum, a well-developed Golgi apparatus, few mitochondria and occassionally lysosomes, microtubuli and pinocytic vacuoles. Further, bundles of fibrils with a diameter of 50-80 Å are found diffusely distributed under the cytoplasmic membrane (the so-called osmiophilic substance). These bundles are usually accumulated in the foot processes (Fig. 4.8) and are especially prominent in cellular edema. They are reminiscent of myofibrils [925, 1633, 1777] and are, perhaps, the morphological substrate of cellular motility, a notion supported by the demonstration of spontaneous glomerular contraction in vitro [137]. The possibility of podocytic contraction acting as a fluid pump has also been advanced [454]. The fibrils (osmophilic substance) of the podocytes near the BM are strongly increased in proliferative processes (possible increased BM formation: [1109]).

In the cysterns of the endoplasmatic reticulum, PAS positive condensates have been demonstrated and have

been interpreted as condensation products and precursors of BM substance [1610, 1231].

Rarely, podocytes also contain cylindrical structures (max. $4.5 \times 0.5 \,\mu$ m) which consist of up to 20 parallel lamella. Their significance is not known [1664].

Function. Podocytes are responsible for the synthesis and possibly partly for the catabolism of peripheral BM (see p. 22). By incorporation of H³-labeled proline in cell cultures, they have been shown to form extracellular basal lamellae within 24 h. They are also thought to be involved in the reabsorption of macromolecular material [259]. Podocytes are considered to act as a barrier to passage of molecules of 160,000–180,000 Daltons; they are easily permeable to molecules of 40,000 Daltons [1575]. Smaller molecular compounds are supposed to pass through the foot processes [1536]. The slit pores appear to partially restrain passage of smaller molecules and immunocomplexes [809, 819, 1628]. The role of the glycocalix (glycoprotein layer over the slit pore) in this process is unknown [1481].



Fig. 4.3. Schematic representation of a glomerular capillary loop and adjacent mesangium. Mesangial cell (M), endothelium (E) podocyte with foot processes (FP), capillary lumen (CL) capillary protuberance (X), mesangial matrix (MM), basement membrane (BM)



4.4 4.5



Fig. 4.7. The three glomerular cell types: Endothelial cell (E), mesangial cell (M) separated from endothelium by BM-like material, and podocyte (P) with foot processes. Female, 16 years. EM (×9000)

Endothelium

Endothelial cells (Figs. 4.6, 4.7; see also p. 30) are about as numerous as the podocytes [745]. They cover the inner aspect of capillary loops by a flat cytoplasmic, often fenestrated layer (diameter of fenestrae: 1000 Å). The cytoplasm contains only a few organelles and a very scanty endoplasmatic reticulum; the nuclei are a little smaller and more compact than those of the podocytes.

 \triangleleft Fig. 4.4. Normal glomerulus with characteristic cubic podocytes of 1-year-old boy. Semi-thin section, toluidine blue (\times 300)

Fig. 4.5. Mesangium and capillary loops of a normal glomerulus. Note very scanty amount of argyrophilic matrix in mesangium. Semi-thin section. Male, 25 years. PASM (\times 1200)

Fig. 4.6. Part of a normal glomerulus with almost empty capillary loops. Endothelium (*E*) and mesangial cells (*M*) are not hypertrophied. Podocytes (*P*) are not swollen and the foot processes are very well preserved. Female, 20 years. EM (\times 2700)

Function. The endothelial cells form a barrier to other cells and large-sized particles [1575].

Large molecules can reach the BM cytopemtically through the endothelial cells [1077]. The significance of the protective role of the endothelium in preventing direct contact between thrombocytes and BM—and thus hindering thrombus formation—is controversial. Some authors accept the concept [723] and others reject it [723].

Endothelial cells are also important for fibrinolysis [1690] as attested by the extensive reduction of fibrinolysis and formation of fibrin deposits in the presence of endothelial injury. For additional details see p. 502.

Mesangium

The significance of the fourth structural element of the glomerulus, the mesangium [1476], is still the least understood (Figs. 4.6, 4.7). It consists of stellate cells (stalk cells, intercapillary cells [1665]) and of a net of matrix formed by them (Fig. 4.11). The matrix is a BM-like substance and, according to others, also contains acto-





Fig. 4.11. Normal glomerulus with capillary protuberance (\rightarrow) projecting into capillary lumen. Mesangial matrix (*MM*) and BM along mesangium ($\rightarrow at \ bottom$) are loosened, and the mesangial matrix evidences scattered degenerative granules. Male, 38 years. EM (×10,800)

⊲ Fig. 4.8. Part of normal peripheral glomerular loop. Endothelium (*E*), podocyte (*P*), foot processes (*FP*) of a podocyte with moderately rich fibrillar osmiophilic substance (→). The three layers of the BM are clearly discernible: narrow subendothelial lamina rara interna, wide osmiophilic lamina densa, and narrow lamina rara externa immediately under foot processes. Slit-membrane is evident between the foot processes. Male, 8 years. EM (×28,000)

Fig. 4.9. Compare Figure 4.10; podocytes with interdigitating foot processes of different order. Scanning EM (×9150)

Fig. 4.10. Scanning EM micrograph of glomerulus with clearly recognizable loops covered with podocytes and their foot processes of different order ($\times 2400$). We are indebted to Dr. Spinelli, Basle, for this photograph

myosin [1434]. Mesangial cells constitute ${}^{1}/_{4}-{}^{1}/_{3}$ of all glomerular cells (see p. 28 and [745]).

As observed in LM, the mesangial cells are enveloped with PAS- and PASM-stainable matrix and BM except in the region of the capillary protuberances where they lay directly on the endothelium or even project into the capillary lumen (Figs. 4.6, 4.11). Their darker cytoplasm sets them off from endothelial cells.

Under EM, microfilaments are distinguishable both in the perinuclear cytoplasm and cell processes of the mesangial cells. These microfilaments are thought to consist of actomyosin [104], other cellular microtubuli, and a large amount of ribosomes [1093]. The endoplasmatic reticulum is considerably more developed than that of the endothelial cells. Unfortunately, however, this feature hardly simplifies the problem of differentiating the two cell types in the presence of proliferative reactions in which all differences can disappear.

The Golgi apparatus is also well developed, but lysosomes are scarce. A few of the pseudopod-like cell processes can extend as far as into the loop lumen (Fig. 4.11). Capillary protuberances are possibly osmoreceptors (see also [1080, 1093]. The mesangial nuclei are slightly notched. We feel that significant notching of the nuclei indicates activation (see also [213, 1284, 1620]).

The mesangial matrix can be rendered visible for LM work with the PAS and PASM stain. The total surface of the mesangium (i.e., of the cells and matrix) is a very important diagnostic parameter and it can only be reliably evaluated on tissue embedded in paraplast or synthetics impregnated with PASM and sectioned to $2-3 \mu m$. In evaluating total surface, it is important to bear in mind that the mesangium becomes substantially wider with increasing age. Thus, even in the small glomeruli of the newborn, the total mesangial surface amounts to 6.2% of glomerular sectional area and to 10.4% in the elderly [1702], (for an opposing view, see [404]; see also Table 4.2, p. 22). The mesangial matrix makes up 48% of the total mesangial surface area [1230]. In evaluating the mesangium, it is important to acertain that the wall of the ampulla glomeruli (infundibulum), which is located at the point of entrance of the vas afferens into the glomerulus, is wider than the mesangium usually is at the periphery.

Another important mesangial diagnostic parameter has proven to be the number of mesangial cells per mesangial area. We have found with LM that not more than 10% of the glomeruli have more than three mesangial cells per mesangial area.

Function. In addition to the purely supportive role of the mesangium (cells and matrix), the clearance of filtration residues is of great functional importance [259]. Mesangial cells are viewed by many workers as macrophages since they can contain phagolysosomes [1093] and it is a well-documented fact that isolated lipid and protein droplets are found in the mesangium of 'normal' kidneys in individuals over 30 years of age [111].

The matrix is also characterized as a "mesangial space" [1476] communicating with the subendothelial space and especially so in the region not covered by BM. Large molecular substances, e.g., ferritin [461], thorotrast [926] and small molecular substances, e.g., horseradish-peroxidase [589], aggregated gamma globulin [1027, 1028], dextranes [259], proteins [1077] and immunocomplexes can, following their experimental administration, pass within a few minutes into the mesangium where they are either passed on through intercellular channels or phagocytized by mesangial cells.

A transmitter function (possibly via pressure or electrolyte concentration) between the capillary lumen and the juxtaglomerular apparatus has also been ascribed to the mesangium [1089].

Interpretation of intracellular fibrils as myofibrils [101] and the occurrence of glomerular contraction in vitro [1575] has led some workers to regard mesangial cells as myogenous elements [1434a].

Finally, the mesangial cells form the BM continguous with them (Fig. 4.11) as well as the surrounding matrix which, due to its chemical structure [1575] and antigenicity [1476], seem to differ from the matrix of the peripheral glomerular BM.

Bowman's Capsule

Capsular epithelium (parietal epithelium) is normally single layered. Capsular epithelial cells are rich in organelles. The tubular epithelium can extend into the capsule especially so in young males under 15 years of age ($\mathcal{J}: \mathcal{Q} = 2.5:1$). Capsular BM of normal kidneys is not infrequently unevenly thick and occasionally split (4 out of 12:Z). Additionally, BM thickness increases with age [341]. We have rarely observed deposits in the capsular BM of normal kidneys.

Obsolescent Glomeruli

A few scattered obsolescent (hyaline) glomeruli with associated atrophy of their tubules, interstitial fibrosis and sporadic lymphocytic infiltrates are present in almost every kidney, especially in those of small children and the aged [341] (Table 4.1). Obsolescent glomeruli are more frequently found in the subcapsular areas than in the juxtamedullary (contra: [802]). The percentage of incidence varies between 3.6% and 0.35%.

Except in infants below 2 years of age, we did not find more than two obsolescent glomeruli per visual field containing 10 glomeruli each in the normal kidney. Anything exceeding this in individuals > 2, < 70 years of age must be considered pathologic [802]. It is reasonable to assume, therefore, that glomeruli which become obsolescent during childhood ultimately disappear.

The reason for such obsolescence is obscure; it may be attributable to physiologic involution or to the result of summated minimal injuries incurred during life [508].

Glomerular Morphometry

Average values obtained by morphometric study of the glomerulus in homogenous material [1624] are given in Table 4.2. These values were obtained on $1-2 \mu m$ thick sections of autopsy material; they are comparable to thin (3 μ m) paraplast sections obtained from biopsy material.

Values for the glomerular diameter slightly different from those given in Table 4.2 have been reported by other investigators: e.g. a glomerular diameter of

Table 4.1. Frequency of obsolescent giomerun in the normal kidney						
Age group (years)	<2	3–10	20-30	60–70		
Number of cases investigated	4	4	4	4		
Number of glomeruli per case (\bar{x}, SD)	622 <u>+</u> 118	731 <u>+</u> 144	422 <u>+</u> 151	291 ± 82		
Total number of glomeruli	2489	2927	1521	1164		
Obsolescent glomeruli in % of total glomeruli/case (\hat{x} , SD)	3.6 ± 6.8	0.35 ± 0.24	0.92 ± 0.63	3.57 <u>+</u> 2.88		
Number of glomeruli per visual field (x, SD)	10.5 ± 2.2	9.5±1.7	10.8 ± 2.5	7.7 ± 1.6		
% visual fields with obsolescent glomeruli Subcapsular Juxtamedullary	23ª 9.4	4.5 ^b 0.7	7.9 ^b 11.3	31.9ª 13.6		
% visual fields without obsolescent glomeruli	82.4	97.2	90.5	77.0		
% visual fields with: One obsolescent glomerulus Two obsolescent glomeruli Three or more obsolescent glomeruli	9.2 4.6 3.8	2.1 0.7	7.8 1.7	21.6 1.4		
Number of glomeruli per visual field with three or more obsolescent glomeruli	~ 10	>65	>65	>15		

Table 4.1. Frequency of obsolescent glomeruli in the normal kidney

VF = visual field.

^a Indicates significant difference between subcapsular and juxtamedullary zone (χ^2 -Test).

^b Not significant.

Table 4.2. Average values for morphometric parameters determined on human kidneys [140, 675, 1624]

	Autopsy material Methyl metacrylate. Section thickness: 1–2 μm Fixation in 4% formalin. CAB ^a /PASM stains			Biopsy material Paraplast. Section thickness: 2–3 μm. Fixation in 4% formalin. PAS stain		
Age (years)	Children $5-10 (n=5)$	Adults $20-30 \ (n=5)$	Adults $65-80 \ (n=5)$	Children $3-9 (n=5)$	Adults $17-30 \ (n=5)$	Adults $51-55 (n=3)$
Number of glomerular sections per mm ² of renal cortex	6.6	2.6	2.5	_	_	_
Glomerular diameter in µm (in three dimensions)	161 SD 22	217 SD 17	218 SD 30	_	_	_
Mesangial area per glomerular unit area in %	13	16	15	13	14	16
Number of nuclei per glomerular section area (diameter 150 µm)	80	48	44	147	102	107
Glomerular capillary lenght for kidney (km)	8.7	14.4	9.9		-	-
Glomerular basement membrane surface area for one kidney (m ²)	0.46	0.64	0.43	-	_	—
Capillary area per glomerular unit surface area (%)	33	36	33			

^a Chromotrope anilin blue stain.

 $205-255 \,\mu\text{m}$ for adults and $150 \,\mu\text{m}$ for children [1494] and $160 \,\mu\text{m}$ for adults and $116 \,\mu\text{m}$ for children [738]. These relatively slight differences are ascribable to the considerable variation in glomerular size in the various age groups [418, 1624].

Capillary length of all glomeruli in a kidney shows a very high degree of variation which is a direct function of age (Table 4.2). The surface area of glomerular BM amounts to $0.43-0.64 \text{ m}^2$ per kidney (see also [404]). Podocytes account for 36-43% of glomerular cells, endothe-

lial cells for 32–34% and mesangial cells for 25–30% [745, 1494, 1533]. For different values: [1705], children: [1341], note that differentiation between endothelial and mesangial cells is problematic and, in the presence of pathologic processes, scarcely possible.

Juxtaglomerular Apparatus [1217, 1616]

The juxtaglomerular apparatus (JGA, Figs. 4.12, 4.13, 4.14, 4.15, 4.16) is the structure of contact between the vessels and tubules. It plays an essential role in the regulation of hemodynamics.

The histologic elements of the JGA are vas afferens, vas efferens, Goormaghtigh's cell group and macula densa. Capillaries are regularly found in close proximity of these JGA elements [448, 1089, 1383].

Vas Afferens

The vas afferens demonstrates epitheloid cells=modified smooth muscle cells (Fig. 4.16)—as well as smooth muscle cells themselves. The epitheloid cells are larger, polymorphic, and possess larger nuclei than the other myocytes of the arteriolar tunica media. They are characterized by cytoplasmic granules (Fig. 4.16) in which renin activity has been demonstrated [305, 1437]. The cytoplasm is richly endowed with cellular organelles, which is characteristic of active secretory cells i.e. rough endoplasmatic reticulum and Golgi complexes with protosecretion granules and specific secretion granules which often display crystalline structure. Additionally, lipofuscin granules-due to their irregular form and inhomogenous contents-are clearly differentiable ultrastructurally from secretion granules (Fig. 4.16). Transitional forms between the two have been described [1383]. Using special LM staining techniques, granules containing renin cannot be differentiated with certainty from lipofuscin. Immunohistologic procedures are also problematical since highly purified renin preparations for antibody production are not available. Because of this problem, most workers use cell number or surface size of the JGA as parameters for evaluating diseased tissue (for literature on morphometry of the JGA see [1089]).

Vas Efferens

The vas efferens usually has a wider lumen and thinner wall than the vas afferens. In addition to smooth muscle cells, an occasional epitheloid cell is encountered in its wall.

Goormaghtigh's Cell Group

Goormaghtigh's cell group is found in the wedge between the vas afferens, vas efferens, and the macula densa. This structure consists of small cells with extensively branching cytoplasmic processes which are embedded in a BM-like substance (Fig. 4.13). The cytoplasm contains the same organelles encountered in epithelioid cells; secretion granules, however, are rarely found. The cell group merges imperceptibly with the glomerular mesangium. As in the wall of the vas afferens, unmyelinated nerve fibers are regularly observed.

Macula Densa

The macula densa is a specialized structure of the distal tubule. It is in (contiguous) contact with the vas afferens, Goormaghtigh's cell group and vas efferens. At this point of contact, the tubular BM merges with the BM-like substance which forms the common interstitium for both vessels and for the Goormaghtigh cell group (Figs. 4.13, 4.14). Here and there, basal tubular epithelial processes come into direct contact with Goormaghtigh's cells. The cells of the macula densa differ from neighboring cells of the distal tubule in having less cytoplasm, a less pronouncedly developed basal labyrinth, and smaller and less regularly arranged mitochondria. Other cell organelles do not have any special characteristics. The size of the nuclei is equal to that of neighboring tubular cells.

Despite very extensive research devoted to discovering the immediate stimulus which activates the JGA, the problem has remained unsolved. Pressure, volume and ionic composition of the blood in the vas afferens and the ionic composition in the cells of the macula densa have been proposed as triggering mechanisms for JGA activation [170, 368, 1089, 1616].

Fig. 4.12. Schematic presentation of juxtaglomerular apparatus. \triangleright Macula densa (*MD*), vas afferens (*VA*) with granulated myoepithelial cells, vas efferens (*VE*), Goormaghtigh cell group (*X*), capillary loop lumen (*CL*), Bowman's capsule (*B*) with BM and capsular epithelium

Fig. 4.13. Juxtaglomerular apparatus of normal kidney. For abbreviations see Figure 4.12. Male, 21 years. Semi-thin section, PASM (\times 330)

Fig. 4.14. Part of juxtaglomerular apparatus of a normal kidney: macula densa (*MD*), Goormaghtigh cells (X) and myoepithelial cells (*MY*) with lipofuscin granules. Female, 29 years. EM (\times 5100)





Renal Tubules¹

Cortical tissue with glomeruli and proximal and distal convoluted tubules are found in general in a kidney biopsy (Fig. 4.1). The cortical tissue is arranged mantlelike about the medullary rays (Figs. 4.17, 4.18). In this latter region the straight parts of proximal and distal tubules as well as collecting ducts of the juxtamedullary glomeruli are found. Henle's loops and collecting ducts are found in the outer zone of the medulla and collecting ducts and Henle's loops of the juxtamedullary nephrons in the inner zone (papilla).

The juxtamedullary nephrons, which constitute about 10-20% of all nephrons, have long loops of Henle which extend as far as the papilla. Henle's loops of the other nephrons are shorter and extend only to the outer zone of the medulla. Functionally, the two nephron populations are different in that the juxtamedullary population is more susceptible to disease than the subcapsular [544, 763].

Proximal Tubules

The brush border, the most important characteristic for identifying the proximal tubules, is clearly visible with the PAS stain.

Mitochondria can be seen at the cell base in the proximal convoluted tubules in thin paraplast embedded sections and semi-thin (epon-embedded) sections. The mitochondria are arranged vertically to the BM in the folds of the basal labyrinth (Fig. 4.28). Since the basal labyrinth is nearly absent in the straight proximal tubule, the mitochondria are not arranged very regularly. Optically,

- ¹ Morphology: [214, 218, 927, 1172, 1382, 1617, 1618, 1624]; physiology: [180, 1134, 1220, 1439, 1488, 1581, 1752].
- ⊲ Fig. 4.15. Juxtaglomerular apparatus of the contra lateral kidney in early childhood pyelonephritis from a 27-year-old hypertensive woman. Between vas afferens (VA) and macula densa (MD), Goormaghtigh and myoepithelial cells can be seen. EM (×1900)

Fig. 4.16. Myoepithelial cells with numerous renin granules (X) which occasionally evidence a rhomboid crystalloid form. Myocyte (\rightarrow). Male, 38 years. EM (\times 7200)

Fig. 4.17. Normal renal cortical tissue: Transversely sectioned medullary ray (X) between the proximal tubules. PAS ($\times 100$)

Fig. 4.18. Longitudinal section of medullary ray (X) from normal kidney. PAS ($\times 100$)

empty resorption vacuoles are often seen under the brush border. The nuclei of the entire proximal tubule are located basally. Identification of other cytoplasmic organelles with LM requires special procedures.

Proximal Tubule, Convoluted Part. The cell membrane of the proximal convoluted tubules (Figs. 4.19a, 4.20a) facing the lumen consists of densely packed microvilli (brush border). On the base of the brush border, the cell membrane forms tubular infoldings (plicae) which are partially coated with moderately electron-opaque material (glycocalyx). Under these tubular infoldings, larger usually optically empty resorption vacuoles are found (Figs. 4.21, 4.24, 4.27). The basal labyrinth is formed by interdigitating neighboring cells. The infoldings of the basal labyrinth extend to the apical third of the cell. The cigar-shaped mitochondria are arranged in rays parallel to the cell membrane of basal labyrinth infoldings which are perpendicular to BM. Following glutaraldehyde immersion fixation, the mitochondria evidence an electron-opaque matrix so that the cristae mitochondriales are not always clearly recognizable.

Further cellular organelles reguarly encountered are:

- 1. Various types of lysosomes:
 - a) Phagosomes and phagolysosomes (heterolysosomes) with partially electron-opaque, inhomogeneous contents (hyaline-protein-droplets: Fig. 8.22, p. 128).
 - b) Cytosomes and cytolysosomes (autolysosomes) which surround and degrade cytoplasmic particles (Fig. 4.22).
 - c) Telolysosomes (lipofuscin residual bodies) which contain indigestible material (Fig. 4.23).
- 2. Multivesicular bodies, consisting of several vesicles of about the same size surrounded by a membrane, are probably lysosomal cell organelles (Fig. 6.74, p. 93).
- 3. Microbodies with homogeneous, moderately electron-opaque matrices frequently exhibit crystal-like condensations under the membrane (possibly nucleoid equivalents Fig. 4.25).
- 4. Smooth endoplasmic reticulum, which is often in close spacial contact with microbodies. The paramembranous tubular system along the lateral cell membrane is a special form of the smooth endoplasmic reticulum (Fig. 4.24).
- 5. Rough endoplasmic reticulum.
- 6. Golgi fields (Fig. 4.26).

Proximal Tubule, Straight Part. The basal labyrinth is mostly absent in the straight proximal tubules (Figs. 4.20, 4.24). Accordingly, the mitochondria in this region are not regularly arranged and cigar-shaped forms are only rarely observed. In the straight part, there are fewer lysosomes but more microbodies and smooth endoplasmic reticulum than in the convoluted part. Fibrils





Fig. 4.20. Schematic presentation of the different tubular segments of normal kidney: (a) convoluted part of proximal tubule; (b) straight part of proximal tubule; (c) straight part of distal tubule; (d) collecting duct with light and dark cells. Basement membrane (BM), mitochondria (M) Golgi field (GF), cilia (C), resorption vacuoles (V), lysosome (Ly), smooth endoplasmic reticulum (SER), microbody (MB), fibrils (F), brush border (BB), multivesicular body (MVB), lipofuscin granules (LIP)

- (a) proximal convoluted tubules with potocytosis (X); brush border is distinctly recognizable as a thin, grey border (\rightarrow)
- (b) proximal convoluted tubules (P), collecting ducts (CD)
- (c) distal convoluted tubules (*DC*) with diverticulum (\rightarrow)
- (d) collecting ducts (CD) with light and dark cells. Semi-thin section, toluidine blue ($\times 400$)



arranged in bundles lie on the cell bases of the proximal and distal tubules. The fibrils probably contain actomyosin and are thus indicative of a contractile system [663, 1776].

Thin Limb of Henle's Loop

The epithelial cells of the thin limb of the descending and ascending loop of Henle are considerably lower than those of the proximal tubule. The scanty cytoplasm of the epithelial cells is bulged towards the lumen by the nuclei. The diameter of the thin limb of Henle is about $1/2^{-2}/3$ of that of the proximal tubule. No other identifying characteristics can be observed by LM (Fig. 4.20b).

The low cells contain few organelles, and the apical membrane has only isolated microvilli. The mitochondria are essentially smaller than those of the proximal tubules and there are no microbodies.

Distal Tubule

The distal tubule has no brush border. The straight parts of the distal tubule shown in Figs. 4.19b, 4.20c (ascending, thick limb of Henle's loop) is characterized by parallelly arranged mitochondria which, in the compartments of the basal labyrinth, stand perpendicularly on the BM (Fig. 4.28), an arrangement which is less pronounced in the convoluted part. Lipofuscin granules are regularly observed in the straight part.

 \triangleleft Fig. 4.21. Straight part of proximal tubule with brush border (*BB*) and apical resorption vacuoles (*X*). Tubular basement membrane (*BM*). Male, 53 years. EM (\times 7480)

Fig. 4.22. Cytolysosome (autolysosome) (\rightarrow) in proximal tubular cell. A mitochondrium with cristae can be seen within the cytolysosome. Female, 22 years. EM (×24,500)

Fig. 4.23. Telolysosome (\rightarrow) in a proximal tubular cell. Male, 33 years. EM (\times 7330)

Fig. 4.24. Perimembranous tubular system between two cells of the proximal tubule. Brush border (*BB*), tubular basement membrane (*BM*). Cell border (\rightarrow) with tight jonction at apical cell border. EM (\times 11,220)

Fig. 4.25. Microbody with marginal crystalloid (\rightarrow) condensation (possibly nucleoid equivalent) in a proximal tubular cell. Mitochondrium (*MI*). Fanconi's syndrome without cystinosis. Male, 2.5 years. EM (\times 70,000)

Fig. 4.26. Golgi apparatus (\rightarrow) in a cell of the straight part of the proximal tubule. Long stretched mitochondrium (*MI*). Female, 17 years. EM (×13,000)

Nuclei are situated apically in both straight and convoluted parts. By micro-dissection techniques, diverticula (Fig. 4.20c) can be regularly demonstrated in the convoluted parts—especially in the aged [341].

In contrast to the proximal tubule, no brush border covers the apical cell membrane of the distal tubule which demonstrates only a few stunted microvilli. The concentration of small vesicles in apical cell regions is striking. The distal tubule is devoid of microbodies as opposed to the proximal tubule. Phagosomes, phagolysosomes, multivesicular bodies, smooth endoplasmatic reticulum as well as Golgi fields are, however, always encountered. Rough endoplasmatic reticulum and lipofuscin granules are abundant.

The basal labyrinth is as markedly developed in the straight parts of the distal tubule as it is in the proximal convoluted tubule (Fig. 4.28). Cigar-shaped mitochondrial sections, due to the arrangement of the basal labyrinth, are present, but the basal labyrinth is less developed in the distal convoluted tubules than in their straight parts and the mitochondria are often oval.

The macula densa (see p. 30) is a part of the distal tubule which touches the vascular pole of the glomerulus. Its cells have little cytoplasm and their nuclei, therefore, lie very densely next to each other. The same organelles occur in the scanty cytoplasm as are found in the neighboring distal tubular cells. There is no basal labyrinth.

Collecting Ducts

Two cell types (Figs. 4.19c, d; 4.20d) can be identified by LM or EM in the collecting ducts (Fig. 4.29):

- 1. Light cells with loose cytoplasmic ground substance and few cell organelles are frequently observed.
- 2. Dark cells with opaque cytoplasmic ground substance and densely concentrated cell organelles are occasionally encountered (Fig. 4.19d, 4.29). They are more frequent in the proximal part of collecting ducts [1172].

Stunted microvilli are present in the apical cell membrane. Cilia are uniformly present and short infoldings of the plasma membrane are seen at the cell bases. The mitochondria are generally oval or irregularly shaped and somewhat smaller as those of the proximal renal tubules. Phagosomes, phagolysosomes, multivesicular bodies, rough endoplasmatic reticulum and lipofuscin granules are also present.

Tubular Basement Membrane

The thickness of the BM (Fig. 4.30) varies considerably in the different sections of the tubules (distal tubule-> proximal tubule > collecting duct). The BM thickness increases with age [341]. Thin BM usually have a homo-



geneous structure while the thicker ones are lamellated and contain granular and/or vesicular inclusions (Fig. 4.31). Upon chemical analysis, little difference is noted between tubular and glomerular BM [999]. Tubular BM is said to contain less glucose, galactose, hydroxyproline and glycine. The amino acid content of tubular BM is more similar to that of collagen, the corresponding content of glomerular BM. There is still disagreement as to which cells form tubular BM: tubular epithelium [1268] or interstitial fibroblasts [1663].

Blood Vessels [1382]

The renal vessels consist of endothelium, smooth muscle cells (myocytes) and connective tissue. All of these structures—or a combination thereof—are arranged in a certain sequence to form the tunica intima, media and adventitia.

Middle-Sized Arteries

Middle-sized renal arteries (e.g., arcuate) have an intima consisting of endothelial cells and a BM bordering on a lamina elastica interna. Between the endothelial BM and l. elastica interna normally a cell-free layer—designated as the subendothelial space [1311a]—is found. The media is formed by at least three to five layers of myocytes which are embedded in a framework of elastic and collagen fibers. A l. elastica externa separates the media from the adventitia which consists chiefly of fibroblasts with scattered myocytes.

✓ Fig. 4.27. Straight part of a proximal tubule showing two neighboring tubular cells with varyingly numerous resorption vacuoles (heterolysosomes). Due to glutaraldehyde fixation, mitochondria appear homogeneous and dark. Brush border is clearly evident, but almost no basal labyrinth is recognizable. Male, 22 years. EM (×11,500)

Fig. 4.28. Tubular cells of straight part of distal tubule without brush border. Basal labyrinth is evident. There is parallel arrangement of the mitochondria. Female, 32 years. EM ($\times 10,000$)

Fig. 4.29. Clear and dark cell of collecting duct. Note the abundance of organelles in the dark cell. Desmosome (tight junction) (\rightarrow) . Female, 32 years. EM (×16,000)

Small Arteries

The small renal arteries, e.g., the interlobular arteries, have an outer diameter of $60 \pm 9.9 \ \mu m$ [1133]. The media consists more or less of three layers of myocytes and elastic as well as collagen fibers. There is no l. elastica externa. The adventitia consists of a few fibroblasts. With increasing age the BM and l. elastica interna of the small arteries—as is true for the entire vascular system—undergo splitting and lamellation which is accompanied by broadening and fibrosis of the intima [341].

Arterioles

The arterioles (vas afferens and vas efferens) have a diameter of $29.8 \pm 2.8 \ \mu m$ [1133]. The l. elastica interna is usually absent so that the endothelial cells and their BM border directly on the media which generally consists of one layer—rarely two—of myocytes. Nevertheless, lumpy aggregates of elastic fiber material do occur between the myocytes. No adventitia is present, and surrounding fibrocytes are a part of the interstitial connective tissue (Fig. 4.32).

Intertubular Capillaries

The intertubular capillaries demonstrate a continuous BM and an endothelium provided with pores (Fig. 4.33). Cytoplasmic processes of pericytes entwine the endothelial tube.

Renal Veins

The morphology of the renal veins corresponds to that of the arteries. Grossly, the lumen of veins is larger than that of corresponding arteries.

Microscopically, the wall of the small veins consists of an endothelium and its BM and a single—seldom two layered media. Rich accumulations of elastic and collagen fiber material are found in the relatively large subendothelial space. Collagen fibers and fibrocytes are arranged externally on the myocytes of the media.

EM of Components of the Vascular Wall

Endothelium. The endothelial cells of the larger renal vessels form a poreless coating [1311a]. Towards the vessel lumen, scattered villus-like cytoplasmic protusions are often observed.

The quantity of endothelial cells is age dependent: more in the young and the old and less in the middle-aged [545 a].



In addition to cytoplasmic microfibrils (myofibrils) the endothelial cells also contain lysosomes as well as tubular dense bodies [1713 a] which are in structural contact with the Golgi apparatus.

The BM consists of a microfibrillar network as well as of acid and neutral glycosamino glycanes. The cytoplasm of the endothelial cells is condensed by accumulation of basal microfilaments (Fig. 4.34). These condensations represent areas of anchoring with the microfibrillar network of the BM [1638a]. The thickness of the BM increases with age and often appears fibrous following glutaraldehyde fixation.

Elastic and Collagen Elements. The multiplicity of elastic structures (fibrils, membranes) is explicable by their morphogenesis. The initial structural units of elastic tissue are the granules which subsequently coalesce to form microfibrils. The microfibrils go on to form a dense network which, with progressing maturation, becomes invested by an amorphous ground substance (=proteoglycanes) such that the fibrillar pattern is no longer recognizable. Continual maturation of the fibrils leads to homogeneous elastin structures in the form of fibers which are ultimately transformed into membranes [791 a, 791 b].

With decreasing caliber of the blood vessels, the continuity of the l. elastica interna gradually disappears. In the arterioles only lumpy aggregates of microfibrils are observed.

The collagen fibrils in the vascular wall typically exhibit axial periodicity (cross-striation). Arteriolar walls have a few delicate collagen fibrils while those of the arteries are broader and those of the adventitia are very abundant.

✓ Fig. 4.30. Tubular basement membrane with slight lamellation. Male, 38 years. EM (×8800)

Fig. 4.31. Reticulation of tubular BM with nests of granular and vesicular degradation particles (inset). Male, 38 years. EM ($\times 8800$; inset $\times 24,750$)

Fig. 4.32. Normal arteriole with one myocyte layer only from a 16-year-old boy. Endothelial cell (*E*), elastic lamella (*EL*), myocyte (*MC*), adventitial cell (*AD*). External elastic membrane is absent. EM (\times 5790)

Fig. 4.33. Normal intertubular capillaries. Isolated phagocytes and small lymphocytes are seen in interstitium. Male, 45 years. EM (\times 3450)

The subendothelial space is bordered by the endothelial BM above and the plasma membrane of the media myocytes below. It is absent in the arterioles in childhood and is only narrowly developed in the small arteries. It is more spacious in adulthood and filled with granulovesicular cell debris [545 a].

Myocytes. The myocytes of the media are spindle-shaped cells with numerous cytoplasmic processes forming an arcade-like cell surface.

The myocytes are covered by BM-like substance which, together with the cytoplasmic membrane, forms the sar-colemma.

Numerous micropinocytotic vesicles are found on the myocyte surface. The smaller the vessel and the younger the individual, the closer together the myocytes are concentrated.

The myocyte nucleus, depending on the state of contraction, is either spindle- or wave-shaped. The cell organelles, numerous free ribosomes, scanty rough endoplasmatic reticulum, mitochondria and a small Golgi apparatus are located at both nuclear poles. With increasing age, large lipid-containing vacuoles of various opacities (lipofuscin) are found in the polar cell regions.

Myofibrils make up the main volume of the myocytes. They insert on the cell membrane and are arranged longitudinally in the myocytes. Patch-like focal condensations in the sarcoplasma—usually encountered at the cell periphery—are considered to be anchoring sites for myofibrils [1311a].

There are so-called cytoplasmic granules—other than those mentioned above—in the myocytes (Fig. 4.35) termed telolysosomes, which differ from lipofuscin granules of other cell types by the presence of crystalloid inclusion of lipoprotein material [149a]. Telolysosomes occur sporadically also in renal vessels under normal conditions but they increase with age, following kidney transplantation, and in hypertension and diabetes mellitus [149a]. It has been proposed that telolysosomes originate from plasma proteins filtered through the blood vessel or from phagocytized immunocomplexes [149a].

The Adventitia. Fibrocytes of the adventitia of the larger vessels (Fig. 4.36) are spindle-shaped and exhibit numerous cytoplasmic processes. Additional constant structural characteristics are the presence of a well-developed rough endoplasmatic reticulum, a prominent Golgi field and mitochondria. The fibrillar elements of the adventitia consist of collagen fibrils of various sizes, some of which demonstrate 640 Å periodicity.

Function of the Vascular Cell Elements. The endothelial cells (see also p. 25) form a barrier against the blood-stream. They are very active in the uptake of both solid (phagocytosis) and fluid (pinocytosis) elements from the bloodstream [704b, 1564a, 1568c, 1568b].





They synthesize—at least to some extent—the subendothelial BM [1311a, 1675a]. They contain actomyosin [101] and are contractile which permits loosening of the endothelial cover at cell boundaries, with resulting increase in permeability of the vessels [788a]. It is noted that endothelial cells demonstrate considerable powers of regeneration [1565a].

Myocytes assure active contractibility of the vascular wall and passive elasticity through synthesis of elastic and collagenous fibers as well as of BM-like ground substance [861 a, 1336]. Endothelial repair is in part accomplished by the myocytes of the media [666a]. The myocytes are also the source of the cellular elements observed in the subendothelial space of the larger vessels [704 b].

The fibrocytes and fibroblasts of the adventitita produce and also phagocytize elements of the connective tissue ground substance [1602 a]. They also possess—to a slight extent—a contractile apparatus which corresponds to that of the myocytes [520 a].

Interstitium: Connective Tissue, Lymph Vessels and Nerves [739, 914, 1169, 1382]

Initially, the *interstitial tissue* of the normal renal cortex is extremely delicate but with increasing age does undergo progressive fibrosis extending as far as the papilla [341]. The tissue is composed of a few collagen fibers – especially in the region of the vessels and glomeruli – and of reticulin fibers which merge with the BM of the tubules and glomerular capsule.

Fibrocytes are extremely scanty. Some scattered lymphocytes and histiocytes are nearly always encountered. A small number of lymphocytes commute back and forth in the tubule reaching the inter-epithelial spaces by traversing the tubular BM [162].

Interstitial fibers, which are argyrophilic, have a diameter of about 200 Å which is less than that for collagen ("reticular microfibrils": [914]). The cortical fibers are arranged in a network while the somewhat thicker medullary fibers run parallel to the tubules and vessels. Unique to the medulla are stellate cells found adhering to both tubules and vessels [571]. As viewed with EM, these cells are seen to have a strongly developed Golgi apparatus and numerous osmiophilic droplets [1232] which are probably involved with the formation of prostaglandin (medullin) and/or other vasodepressive lipoid substances [694, 960a, 1191].

Lymph vessels are also found in the interstitium where they are hard to recognize with LM. The larger vessels run parallel with the blood vessels, especially with the arcuate and interlobular arteries. The smaller branches and the lymph capillaries are chiefly found in the periglomerular area and again perivascularly.

In the medulla, they occur in close contact with the blood capillaries as viewed in EM. Under LM they cannot be demonstrated unless contrast media are used [739] (contra: [107a]; no lymphatics in the medulla or the periglomerular area [885]).

Interstitial lymph vessels can be differentiated from blood vessels by the absence of the following elements [1354]: continuous BM, erythrocytes in their lumens, pericytes, fenestration of the endothelium.

Functionally [1219] the lymph vessels play an essential role in regulating the appropriate intrarenal osmotic and hydrodynamic pressure and appear to serve as a sort of safety-valve [815]. In cases such as ureter ligation, hydronephrosis and venous congestion, a considerable increase in the cortical lymph flow develops. Ligation of the larger lymph vessels leads to swelling of the kidney and impairment of sodium transport resulting in severe polyuria [1219].

Renal nerves [1169, 1382] are predominantly unmyelinated. They arise form the coeliac, mesenteric and aorticrenal plexuses. Within the kidney, they accompany the renal arteries and veins and terminate in the juxtaglomerular apparatus, in the cortical interstitium [80] and in Bowman's capsule [1465] respectively.

Histological Artifacts

Artificial influences on histologic findings must be considered in all post-mortem biopsies. The most important artifacts result from inadequate fixation, freezing, drying out, and squeezing.

The proximal renal tubule is the most sensitive element (Fig. 4.37) as is clearly indicated by investigation of freshly infarcted renal tissue. Typical histologic changes include:

- 1. Detachment of proximal tubular cells from each other and from the BM
- 2. Increased eosinophilia of the cytoplasm
- 3. Nuclear pycnosis and, later
- 4. Poor nuclear staining.

In such biopsy material, masses of protein are always found in tubular lumens and capsular spaces [371]. It is important to note that intravital changes such as necrosis always include inflammatory and regenerative responses. In inadequately fixed tissue, bacterial colonies may develop; these are easily identified as artifacts by the complete lack of inflammatory response.

In larger completely normal blood vessels, the lumen may be occluded by bars of smooth muscle (Fig. 4.39). Serial sections demonstrate that this condition is ascribable to invagination of the vascular wall arising from extreme vasoconstriction.



Fig. 4.42. Desiccation artifacts of renal tissue evidenced by shrinkage of glomeruli and tubules and by poor nuclear staining. PAS ($\times 200$)

We have observed a peculiar gross vacuolar or vesicular transformation of the entire kidney tissue (Fig. 4.38), when placed in refrigerators while in fixatives or when delivered in dry ice along with IF material [1791]. Consequences of inadequate immersion fixation, specially noted under EM [1029] may be:

- 1. Tubular luminal collapse caused by epithelial swelling [762]
- 2. Protrusion of apical cytoplasmic material into the lumen with loss of the brush border, i.e., potocytosis (Fig. 4.41)
- 3. Cell membrane rupture

- 4. Mitochondrial swelling
- 5. Lysis of matrix (Fig. 4.40)
- 6. Interstitial edema.

HE (×200)

Effects of drying, which occur with extraordinary rapidity in warm operating rooms, are recognizable by the high degree of cytoplasmic shrinkage and by the loss of nuclear staining (Fig. 4.42).

Fig. 4.43. Bruise effect in biopsy tissue (especially prominent

in the interstitium). Spindly deformation of nuclei and condensa-

tion of the chromatin. Glomeruli and vessels are little affected.

The effects from tissue squeezing and crushing, which usually occur at the edges of the biopsy specimen especially in open knife or forceps biopsies, are evidenced by spindle shape transformation and over-staining of nuclei (found almost exclusively in interstitial cells, Fig. 4.43). For details on artifacts with IF, see p. 17.

5. Introduction to Renal Histopathology

Guidelines for Evaluation of Renal Biopsy

Prior to the actual study of a biopsy, it is absolutely essential that the pathologist has detailed knowledge of the patient's personal particulars (age, sex etc.), case history, clinical symtomatology and hitherto administered therapy. Comprehensive clinical information can considerably facilitate biopsy examination provided that the pathologist is sufficiently versed in clinical medicine.



N.B. If major discrepancy between clinical and pathologic diagnosis \rightarrow appropriate discussion of morphologic findings is necessary

Fig. 5.1. Stepwise evaluation of kidney biopsy

The pathologist is also responsible for assuring that any discrepancy present between the clinical diagnosis and morphologic findings be appropriately resolved (coordinated reexamination of both clinical and pathologic findings and their interpretation). To facilitate pathoclinical cooperation and understanding we use standardized reply forms requesting relevant information from clinicians of mutually pertinent data.

The investigation of biopsy preparations is initiated with study of the material under low-power magnification. This approach is especially rewarding for open biopsy material since it provides sufficient tissue for examination which occasionally permits formulation of a presumptive diagnosis, especially in the presence of focal processes. The evaluation process leading from biopsy to diagnosis is given schematically in Figure 5.1.

Fig. 5.2. Acute anemic renal cortical infarct occurring 4 days \triangleright after surgery. Necrosis (*N*), dark zone caused by accumulation of leucocytes (*X*), perifocal ischemic zone (*PI*), normal kidney tissue with slight dilatation of tubular lumens (*NO*). Female, 26 years. HE (×12)

Fig. 5.3. Infarct scar with retraction of the surface. Glomeruli transformed into solid spheres. Heart surgery 4 years previously with intravasal coagulation. Female, 64 years. PAS (\times 18)

Fig. 5.4. Subinfarct in malignant nephrosclerosis. Glomeruli are relatively well preserved but are densely packed next to each other. Width of cortex is markedly reduced. Large arteries demonstrate severe adaptive intimal fibrosis. Arteriolosclerosis (\rightarrow) . Male, 45 years. PAS (×13)

Fig. 5.5. "Central arterial contracted kidney" (due to stenosis of renal artery), weight: 60 g. Glomeruli are well preserved but extremely densely packed. Tubules are severely atrophic, and interstitium exhibits isolated inflammatory infiltrates. Nephrectomy because of hypertension. Male, 51 years. HE ($\times 40$)



Definitions

Diffuse: A pathologic change exhibited by more than 80% of all glomeruli.

Focal: A pathologic change exhibited by less than 80% of all glomeruli.

Global: A pathologic change of an entire glomerular capillary convolute.

Segmental: A pathologic change restricted to one segment (lobule) of the glomerulus.

Hypercellularity: Accumulation of white blood cells (leukocytes, monocytes) and/or proliferation of in situ tissue cells.

Exudation: Leukocytosis of the capillary loops along with escape of plasma and possibly of leukocytes and erythrocytes into the capsular space.

Proliferation: Multiplication of in situ tissue cells (for the mesangium, in relation to the total mesangial surface).

Mesangial/glomerular sclerosis: Increase in the amount of BM-like substance=mesangial matrix without demonstrable collagen fibrils.

Mesangial glomerular fibrosis: Demonstrable collagen fibrils.

Fibrinoid and hyalin are two entirely descriptive terms used in LM. In renal histopathology, they are often used indescriminably and lead, accordingly, to frequent misunderstanding. Neither term permits conclusions regarding the chemical nature of the substances or of their origin (Table 5.1). Since the terms are purely descriptive and their use strongly entrenched in the literature, they cannot usually be avoided. We advocate that they be rigorously defined according to their response to stains and EM and IF as noted in Table 5.1. It would be even better to describe hyalin and fibrinoid substances respectively by their true chemical term, i.e., instead of fibrinoid/ hyalin droplets in tubules = protein droplets etc. Please

Table 5.1. LM, EM and IF characteristics of hyalin and fibrinoid

Method	Reaction	
LM stains	Fibrinoid	Hyalin
v.G.	Yellow-orange	Lively red
HE	Lively red	Lively red
PAS	Carmine red	Pale blue (variable)
Masson trichrome	Bright red	Greenish (variable)
OFOG	Bright red	Blue
PASM	Negative	Brownish (variable)
IF	Plasma proteins often immuno- globulins	Negative (practically without exception)
EM	Osmiophilic and finely granular	Variable

note that according to our definition, both hyalin casts and tubular droplets are fibrinoid.

Typical Renal Lesions Under Low Power Magnification

Infarct

Acute infarcts present no diagnostic difficulties since tubular necrosis of noninfarct origin is never so clearly demarcated and always exhibits some change in neighboring elements (Fig. 5.2). So, the close proximity of freshly necrotic, regenerating and unchanged tubuli to each other is never observed in infarcts. A striking feature of infarcts, on the other hand, is the presence of a clearly defined bordering zone of reactive hyperemia and inflammation (Fig. 5.2).

Old renal infarcts are charcterized for months by the presence of necrotic glomeruli and tubules whose architecture is preserved (Fig. 5.3). Even in very old infarct scars, completely collapsed and 'hyalinized' tubuli can be identified.

Traumatic lacerations of parenchyma exhibit the features of infarcts along the edge of the tears. The cleft defect of the tear is initially filled in with fibrin and blood, then organizing tissue ultimately form a scar which can be differentiated from that of an infarct by the absence of identifiable parenchymal elements.

Fig. 5.6. Radiate scars of the renal cortex in arteriolosclerosis \triangleright and severe arteriosclerosis (\rightarrow). Female, 39 years. Van Gieson ($\times 27$)

Fig. 5.7. Metastatic, embolic purulent focal nephritis in *Candida* albicans septicemia. Multiple glomerular abscesses (\rightarrow) and so-called medullary excretory foci (\rightarrow) Male, 69 years. PAS (×16)

Fig. 5.8. Acute purulent pyelonephritis in stone obstruction of ureter: dark areas representing polymorphonuclear leukocytic infiltrates. Fibrous kidney capsule (\rightarrow) . Male, 54 years. HE (× 31)

Fig. 5.9. Cortical focus in chronic pyelonephritis due to stenosis of ureteral ostium: wedge-shaped destruction of tubules accompanied by interstitial infiltration. Glomeruli are partly preserved. Male, 4 years. PAS ($\times 28$)



Massive Subinfarct

The massive subinfarct (incomplete infarct, vascular scar) is recognizable by the increased number of glomeruli per surface unit which is due to atrophy of the tubules (Figs. 5.4, 5.5; [1808], see also p. 508). A focal, interstitial inflammatory reaction can be present (Fig. 5.5). The smaller the subinfarct, the better the chance of finding the occluded vessel.

Small Subinfarct

The small subinfarct is the substrate for the so-called arteriosclerotic scars of the renal cortex due to lesions of small and middle-sized arteries. Even smaller subinfarcts are found in association with lesions of the arterioles as occurs in arteriolosclerosis, arteriolonecrosis and nodular glomerulosclerosis (Fig. 5.6).

Acute Purulent Pyelonephritis

This form of pyelonephritis cannot be differentiated from medullary and cortical nephritis due to purulent embolism (Fig. 5.7, see p. 426). The predominantly vascular character (glomerular/intertubular capillaries) of the disease disappears quickly and a severe inflammatory infiltration of the parenchyma is found which still retains its focal character and consists mainly of polynuclear neutrophilic leukocytes (Fig. 5.8).

Chronic Pyelonephritis

So-Called Destructive Interstitial Nephritis

This renal change can be readily differentiated from vascular scars by the presence of focal inflammation of the interstitium and by tubular destruction (Fig. 5.9). A striking feature of the lesion is the relatively good preservation of the glomeruli (Figs. 5.9, 5.10). Although in cases of coalescence of foci the differential diagnosis under low-power magnification is difficult, it can usually be resolved under higher power.

The occurrence of so-called thyroid-like foci in scarred areas (Fig. 5.11, see p. 437) is highly characteristic for pyelonephritis; they usually do not occur in vascular or glomerular processes nor—with the exception of kidney tuberculosis (Fig. 5.12)—in other interstitial lesions. A typical feature of early childhood PN is the poverty of intact glomeruli and the difficulty in recognizing obsolescent glomeruli. Dysplastic foci, which are never wedge-shaped and which usually evidence large and small cysts, are easily differentiable (Fig. 5.13, see p. 51).

Nondestructive Interstitial Nephritis

Acute nondestructive interstitial nephritis (see p. 407) is characterized in the acute phase by the hypercellularity of the interstitium and its broadening by edema, both especially marked at the corticomedullary junction. The parenchymal architecture is, on the whole, preserved, i.e., there is no actual destruction of the renal elements. The very rare chronic form is characterized by the uniformity of the tissue as viewed under low-power magnification (Fig. 5.14). One encounters the diffuse but now sclerotic/fibrotic broadening of the interstitium and the prominence of papillary necrosis. Many glomeruli are ultimately obsolescent, and the tubuli are always severely atrophic. Here too, the fundamental renal structure is preserved. Differential diagnosis with respect to nephronophthisis is done by identification of cysts situated at the corticomedullary junction Fig. 5.15) which are mostly present in nephronophthisis. Such identification is only possible on slides with a complete kidney or large sections thereof.

Fig. 5.10. Xanthomatous pyelonephritis associated with nephrolithiasis: Massive inflammatory infiltration in the cortex and, above all, in the medulla (*ME*). Renal pelvis has been replaced by granulation tissue with numerous foam cells (*F*). Glomeruli in inflamed cortex are fairly well preserved, but densely packed. Female, 34 years. HE (\times 23)

Fig. 5.11. So-called thyroid-like focus, i.e., widened tubules with atrophic epithelium and compact colloid-like contents in hydrocalicosis. Focal, marked narrowing of the cortex (\rightarrow) . Surgical biopsy. Female, 84 years. PAS (×62)

Fig. 5.12. Tuberculous putty kidney with thyroid-like transformation of overlying parenchyma. Caseous focus encapsulated by connective tissue (X). HE ($\times 10$)

Fig. 5.13. Dysplastic focus in the renal cortex: numerous thinwalled cysts surrounded by fibrous tissue. Male, 68 years. HE $(\times 14)$



5.12 5.13



5.14 5.15

5.16 5.17

Diffuse Glomerulonephritis

Diffuse glomerulonephritis is not difficult to identify under low-power magnification. It is typically characterized by involvement of almost all glomeruli and the absence of destructive foci. Changes in the blood vessels cannot be differentiated from those found in other diseases (Fig. 5.16).

Contracted Kidney (End Stage Kidney)

The actual contracted kidney often eludes further etiologic classification (Fig. 5.17); this is especially true after prolonged hemodialysis. Thus, all arteries evidence severe adaptive intimal fibrosis (Fig. 5.17), which is most pronounced today subsequent to prolonged dialysis or to kidney transplantation.

✓ Fig. 5.14. Chronic interstitial nondestructive nephritis. Overall renal structure is preserved. Surface is smooth. Glomeruli and tubules are intact; interstitium is widened and inflammatorily infiltrated. Male, 60 years. HE (×23)

Fig. 5.15. Nephronophthisis: Near the corticomedullary junction numerous small cysts and dark areas indicating inflammatory infiltrates are present. Cortex is severely atrophic, vessels are unchanged. Surface is humpy. Male, 12 years. HE (\times 9.5)

Fig. 5.16. Glomerulonephritic contracted kidney: Cortical tissue is very atrophic. Glomeruli are mostly obsolescent. Tubules are atrophic and, in rare cases, show cystoid widening. Surface is finely humpy. Male, 37 years. PAS $(\times 31)$

Fig. 5.17. End-stage kidney. Scattered secondary cortical cysts and intense adaptive intimal fibrosis of arcuate arteries and their branches. Male, 44 years. Van Gieson elastin ($\times 18$)

6. Histopathology of the Glomerulus Under High Power Magnification

Following low-power study, the next step involves the determination under high power LM and EM of the structural element(s) most intensely—and, presumably primarily—affected. Conventionally, the study sequence of structures in this process is glomeruli \rightarrow tubules \rightarrow vessels \rightarrow interstitium.

If one is dealing with material obtained by open, surgical biopsy, portions for microscopic study are best suited from edges of pathologic lesions (if the lesion is not diffuse). This manner of evaluation generally yields satisfactory results, but is not so rewarding in advanced processes, especially in contracted kidneys.

In glomerular minimal change, the predominant feature is often that of lipoid nephrosis—lipid deposition in tubular epithelium and interstitial cells—instead of glomerular changes (see p. 367).

A very frequent error in this stage of biopsy evaluation is the misinterpretation of the very obvious adaptive intimal change of the arteries (Fig. 5.17) as a primary vascular disease, an error which can be avoided (study with relatively high-power magnification) by rigorous analysis of the individual structural elements.

For purposes of coherence, LM and EM findings are presented together. In agreement with the sequence of study used by histopathologists, the glomerular parameters will be discussed in the following order:

- 1. Glomerular size
- 2. Hypercellularity
- 3. Changes in the capillary loop lumens
- 4. Capillary loop necrosis
- 5. Pathological capillary loop contents
- 6. Changes of the capillary loop wall.
- 7. Changes of other glomerular capillary wall constituents
- 8. Changes of the mesangium
- 9. Changes of the glomerular capsule
- 10. Glomerular obsolescence.

Glomerular Size

Glomerular size varies considerably from individual to individual (see p. 28). Therefore, a table of normal values (see p. 29) must be consulted before a pathologically relevant deviation in size can be diagnosed. Abnormally large glomeruli are found in association with chronic hypoxemia such as occurs in congenital cyanotic cardiovascular malformations, primary pulmonary hypertension, Indians living in the Andes [1164, 1175, 1542], polycythemia vera [314], and in chronic alcoholism [928], early infantile uretral obstruction [1164], different forms of GN [738], as well as in so-called oligomeganephronias [1394]. An especially pronounced enlargement is observed in the intact glomeruli of contracted kidneys of all etiologies and represents hypertrophy due to excessive load (Fig. 15.39; p. 306; [738]).

We are not aware of any disease in which abnormally small gomeruli occur. Even the fetal glomeruli occurring with the Alport syndrome (Fig. 6.1) do not constitute a special order of size [521].

Fetal glomeruli are, normally, encountered only in children under 6 months of age. However, they do occur in Alport's syndrome and cystinosis beyond this age (36) as well as in congenital nephrotic synchrome see p. 357.

Hypercellularity

Glomerular hypercellularity is present when, in a thin paraffin section, the normal number of nuclei in a glomerulus (children 80, adults: 44–48) is considerably exceeded (Fig. 6.2).

Fig. 6.1. Abnormally small fetal—like glomerulus with cubic \triangleright podocytes in Alport's syndrome. Capsular BM is partially thickened. Male, 3.5 years. PAS (×750)

Fig. 6.2. Mesangial hypercellularity in endotheliomesangial glomerulonephritis, proliferative phase. Male, 15 years. PAS (× 500)

Fig. 6.3. Capillary loop aneurysm in diabetic glomerulosclerosis. Male, 14 years. PAS (×700)

Fig. 6.4. Collapse glomerulus in malignant nephrosclerosis. Very severe wrinkling of capillary loop BM and loop collapse are present. Capsular space is widened. Female, 35 years. PAS $(\times 600)$



6.1 6.2 It will be scarcely possible during daily kidney biopsy study to count nuclei on glomeruli sectioned equatorially. Day-to-day work depends much more on a practical estimate of the number of nuclei as judged by comparison to normal renal tissue. Slides for such comparison must be of equal thickness $(2-3 \ \mu m)$.

If hypercellularity is encountered, the nature of the cells-local=structural, intravasal, or both-must be established. This differentiation is often only possible under oil immersion, for which the PAS stain, which clearly presents the BM, is indispensible.

Increase in intravasal cells may be due to an exudative phase of GN, leukemia or to severe systemic leukocytosis. Cases of structural hypercellularity are generally attributable to glomerulonephritic reactions.

Changes in Capillary Loop Lumens

Aneurysms of the Capillary Loops, i.e., widening of the entire peripheral glomerular capillary walls, are observed after radiation therapy (Fig. 27.2; p. 545), with diabetes mellitus (Fig. 6.3) and with nephropathies of pregnancy [1494].

Pseudoneurysms with very marked widening of the very translucent l. rara interna occur with transplantation glomerulopathy. In these cases, the l. rara interna can contain a few extruded red blood cells as well as fibrin fibers, the presence of which can very easily lead to the false diagnosis of true loop aneurysms (Figs. 30.47, 30.55; p. 590, 594). The original lumen is severely narrowed in this situation and is easily overlooked.

A further condition which may give rise to incorrect diagnosis of loop aneurysm is the severe loop dilatation found in blood stasis, e.g., in fresh renal infarct and in the intact area adjacent to an old infarct. In both situations, however, all cross-sections of the loops are widened and filled with sludged poorly stained erythrocytes (Figs. 24.29, 30.28; [1068]). Such dilated capillary loops are observed more rarely with chronic right heart insufficiency, renal vein thrombosis and GN.

Narrowing of Capillary Loops may be the result of capillary loop collapse or proliferation, e.g., ingrowth of local cells. Capillary loop collapse is easily recognizable in the PAS/PASM stain by the extensive wrinkling of the BM (Figs. 6.4, 6.9). With EM, it is especially frequently observed in vascular nephropathies or those with vascular involvement, e.g., pyelonephritis (22.9%). We have observed collapse less frequently in transplanted kidneys (12.6%) and in GN (1.6%). As noted in EM, 42.4% of all cases of GN, narrowing of the capillary lumen is predominantly caused by proliferation of in situ structural cells (mesangial and endothelial cells). In

pyelonephritic diseases and in arteriolosclerosis (Figs. 6.5, 6.9) we noted proliferative capillary loop narrowing in only 15% of our cases and in 11.5% in transplanted kidneys. We have only once observed the occurrence of collagen fibers in completely obsolescent capillary loops.

Capillary Loop Necrosis

These necroses (Fig. 6.6) which are often accompanied by so-called hyaline thrombi (better fibrinoid) occur above all in SLE, extracapillary accentuated GN, ischemic states and, with greater frequency, in malignant nephrosclerosis. Partly, they may be caused by increased intracapillary pressure [1090]. Loop necroses are also encountered in some forms of focally accentuated GN, e.g., GN in subacute bacterial endocarditis, Goodpasture syndrome, Wegener syndrome.

Since necrotic material and thrombi stain yellow with the van Gieson stain, they are usually termed fibrinoid. Fibrin can occassionally be clearly demonstrated with fibrin stains (Fig. 6.7). However, wall necroses can be secondarily impregnated with fibrin/fibrinogen. Strong dimming with the light microscope helps in recognizing the fibrillar structure of fibrin in thrombi. Loop necroses are often accompanied by inflammatory glomerular reactions.

Fig. 6.5. Severe arteriolosclerosis in diabetes mellitus with obsolescent glomerular loop segments (\rightarrow). Male, 59 years. PASM (\times 310)

Fig. 6.6. Capillary loop necroses (\rightarrow) in membranoproliferative GN associated with SLE. Female, 27 years. HE (\times 350)

Fig. 6.7. Extracapillary accentuated GN with extensive fibrin (\rightarrow) deposits between glomerular capillary loops. Interstitial inflammation is severe. Male, 46 years. Picro-Mallory (×275)

Fig. 6.8. Thrombocytes (\rightarrow) in glomerular capillary loop (chance finding in latent diabetes mellitus and laxative abuse). Female, 41 years. EM (×650)







Fig. 6.9. Histogram: Change in glomerular capillary loops and their contents. (n: number of cases/total number of glomeruli investigated)

- 1. Normal kidney (17/26)
- 2. Glomerulonephrosis/glomerulosclerosis (28/48)
- 3. Acute interstitial nephritis (14/26)
- 4. Chronic pyelonephritis (26/57)
- 5. Arteriolosclerosis (21/36)
- 6. Alport's syndrome (17/35)
- 7. Proliferative endotheliomesangial GN (18/33)
- 8. Proliferative sclerosing endotheliomesangial GN (48/94)
- Proliferative sclerosing endotheliomesangial GN with < 50% crescents (13/24)
- 10. Total cases of endotheliomesangial GN (87/168)
- 11. Membranoproliferative GN (19/42)
- 12. Epimembranous GN stage I and II (15/31)
- 13. Epimembranous GN stage III and IV (13/24)

- 14. Total cases of epimembranous GN (28/55)
- 15. Proliferative FGN without crescents (40/78)
- 16. Proliferative FGN with < 50% crescents (14/29)
- 17. Sclerosing FGN (20/39)
- 18. Total cases of FGN (74/146)
- 19. Glomerular minimal change IF-negative (17/33)
- 20. Glomerular minimal change IF-positive (24/40)
- 21. Total cases of glomerular minimal change (96/177)
- 22. Transplant glomerulopathy degree 0 and 1 (41/73)
- 23. Transplant glomerulopathy degree 2 and 3 (21/46)
- 24. Total cases of non-GN diseases (n = 140)
- 25. Total cases of GN (n=363, including glomerular minimal changes)
- 26. Total cases of kidney transplants (n=95)

Total height of column represents percentage of positive cases, and black part that of cases with moderately severe to severe findings. Obsolescence refers to glomerular capillary loop occlusion due to proliferation only.

Pathological Capillary Loop Contents (see Fig. 6.9)

Erythrocytes

A moderate number of erythrocytes is found in the capillary loops in practically all biopsies. Massive glomerular hyperemia is observed in chronic right heart insufficiency, in the region of infarcts, in the early stage of vascular transplant rejection and of GN as well as in renal vein thrombosis. Rarely do all glomeruli evidence the same degree of hyperemia. **Fig. 6.10.** Extracapillary accentuated GN. In the glomerular capillary loops two polymorphonuclear leukocytes can be seen (X), note subendothelial, osmiophilic deposits (*D*). Female, 40 years. EM (\times 10,000)

Fig. 6.11. Endotheliomesangial GN, proliferative phase. Severe ballon formation (X) and pronounced foot process fusion (\rightarrow). Male, 48 years. EM (×26,000)


Polynuclear Leukocytes

Glomeruli in biopsies normally contain less than 6 leukocytes (in EM, rarely more than 2). More than 20 leukocytes per glomerulus (postmortal more than 12) are certainly pathologic (Figs. 6.10, 14.4; p. 197). An increase in the glomerular leukocytes leads to the picture of hypercellularity (see p. 54). Differentiation between hypercellularity due to increased numbers of leukocytes or to proliferation of structural cells can readily be realized with frozen sections with the perioxidase reaction or, as previously indicated, by study under oil immersion. A glomerular increase in leukocytes occurs in severe systemic leukocytosis, leukemia, acute pyelonephritis and during the exudative stage of GN.

In GN, the increase in glomerular leukocytes is due to the release of leukotaxic substances, especially of complement factors [229].

In our EM material, we found an increase of leukocytes in 7.1% of our GN cases, in 8.6% of kidney transplants and only in 1.4% of other renal diseases.

Monocytes

Although a few scattered glomerular polymorphonuclear leukocytes need not be the expression of a pathologic condition, accumulations of monocytic elements with their large, spongy nuclei in the glomerulus are always a sign of a pathologic process [875] (Fig. 14.20; p. 204). To be sure, they are rarely observed and are very difficult to differentiate from endothelial or mesangial cells. We found monocytes in 0.9% of GN cases and in 7.6% of our transplants but never in other renal lesions.

Thrombocytes

A few glomerular thrombocytes do not necessarily indicate disease [1508]. Thus, we found in 1 out of 17 of our so-called normal kidneys a few isolated, intact thrombocytes (Fig. 6.8). However, the simultaneous occurrence of thrombocytes and fibrin is always indicative of a pathologic process. Thrombocytes can only rarely be identified since, following their degranulation, it is very difficult—or even impossible—to differentiate them from so-called "balloons" (Fig. 6.11). We have observed thrombocytes in 4.3% of our transplant cases as well as in intravasal coagulation, but not in other renal lesions (Fig. 6.9).

Balloons

As viewed with EM, capillary loops often contain large blebs (called balloons) which are free from organelles and are surrounded by membrane (Fig. 6.11). Balloons can arise by evagination of endothelial cells [1470] or mesangial cells [1760], and their formation—which can be induced by any type of noxious agent and especially under hypoxia—probably occurs rapidly [1508].

Presence of balloons in the capillary lumen along with free cell organelles and cell fragments indicates an artifact [1508].

Fibrin

Isolated strands of fibrin without accompanying leucocytes, thrombocytes or monocytes have occassionally been observed even in so-called normal kidneys (1 out of 17 of our cases, see Figures 6.9, 6.12). In these cases, material was usually from open, surgical biopsies which were taken following clamping of renal vessels.

In general, however, fibrin is an indication of a pathologic process. We have, in EM, observed fibrin in 5.4% of our transplant cases (especially in the acute rejection stage), in 1.3% of our GN cases, and in 2.9% of our cases of other renal diseases, especially pyelonephritis and acute interstitial nephritis (Fig. 6.9).

Thrombi

In general, fibrin-thrombi are easily recognizable in HE stain by their oval or sausage-like form as well as by their fibrillar structure. Loop thrombi are characteristic of general intravasal coagulation and of GN in subacute bacterial endocarditis which is accompanied by a glome-rular inflammatory reaction. They are infrequently observed in severe, diffuse GN (Figs. 6.7, 6.13, 6.14).

Fig. 6.12. Chance finding of fibrin strands (\rightarrow) and thrombocytes \triangleright in needle biopsy of an otherwise normal kidney in the presence of an adrenal cortical tumor. Female, 20 years. EM (×6000)

Fig. 6.13. Multiple glomerular capillary loop thrombi (\rightarrow) in exudative and severely necrotizing extracapillary accentuated GN. Male, 5 years. PAS (×150)

Fig. 6.14. Extensive glomerular capillary loop necroses with secondary fibrin thrombi in extracapillary accentuated GN. Female, 46 years. EM (\times 4000)



Giant Deposits

Loop thrombi must be differentiated from giant deposits (Fig. 6.15) which can fill up the entire capillary loop. These deposits are especially found in SLE (Fig. 17.21, p. 330) [280, 454], in macroglobulinemias [1136], cryo-globulinemias (Figs. 11.22, 11.23; see p. 169) [1138; 1075, 1291], as well as in partially or completely obsolescent glomeruli, e.g., in sclerosing FGN. The fibrinoid loop caps of diabetic glomerulosclerosis of Kimmelstiel-Wilson belong to this category (Fig. 6.19). In HE stains, the deposits appear homogeneous, shining and bright red, while in PAS stains they appear uniformly violet, and in v. Gieson stain yellow. Under LM, they always appear to lie extracellularly but under EM, they can be demonstrated in cryoglobulinemia to lie intracellularly (Fig. 11.22, p. 171).

Other Findings

As observed under LM, completely empty strikingly oval or sausage-like spaces in dilated capillary loops point to fat embolism (Fig. 24.4).

Bacteria, fungi and tumor cells are rarely found in capillary loops.

Megakaryocytes are found in post-mortem biopsy tissue and especially in patients succumbing to prolonged shock. Interpretation of the presence of free mitochondria and stereocilia (Figs. 6.16, 6.17) is clouded with uncertainty; these findings are probably artifacts.

Changes of the Capillary Loop Wall

Wall Thickening Due to BM Changes

Thickening of the glomerular capillary loop wall is also referred to as 'membranous change' [1068] a designation which appears to us unfortunate. For judging the capillary loop wall only loops in the periphery of the glomerular tuft are suitable since in the center of the convolute, small segments of the mesangium can lead to incorrect interpretations. Fundamentally, there are three causes for wall thickening of which each is usually clearly identifiable under LM with the PAS/PASM and Masson trichrome/AFOG stains.

1. Homogeneous Thickening of the BM. The homogeneous form of BM thickening is observed in most cases of GN, in transplanted kidneys, Alport's syndrome, diabetes mellitus and in collapsed glomeruli. It is often difficult to diagnose in LM where it may be assumed present when the BM appears as a completely uniformly thickened membrane without any nodularity or splitting.

2. Doubling of the BM. A doubled membrane (tram-track picture, Fig. 6.18) is clearly recognizable with PAS and PASM stains. It is due to formation of a new BM either by interposition of mesangial cells or, much more rarely, to BM formation by endothelial cells or podocytes.

3. Appositional Thickening of the BM. This thickening occurs by deposition of fibrinoid material on the outer or inner surface of the BM or within the BM (Fig. 6.19) as well as by the deposition of amyloid (Fig. 19.13) under the endothelium and/or epithelium. When using PAS and PASM stains, swelling of cells alone (endothelial cells, podocytes and even fusion of foot processes) will not lead to its misinterpretation as BM thickening. These three basic phenomena of BM thickening as observed under LM can be resolved into a wide spectrum of individual changes with EM. These changes are presented schematically in Figures 6.21 and their quantitative distribution is indicated in Figures 6.22, 6.23. The three types of BM widening will now be discussed in greater detail.

1. Homogeneous Thickening of the BM

Thickening of the Total Peripheral Glomerular Lamina (1.) Densa of the BM. This type of thickening is very frequently observed (Fig. 6.20). It is limited partially to a more or less nodular form occuring in short segments in the neighbourhood of the mesangium but, in other cases, the change may encompass the entire circumference of the BM. This mode of BM thickening is frequently encountered in GN [275, 454]; (Fig. 6.22) and is frequently observed in diseases associated with pathologic disturbances of metabolism, e.g., diabetes mellitus (Fig. 19.24) and in ischemia ([1154, 1675]; Fig. 6.22).

Fig. 6.15. Extensive fibrinoid giant deposits in severe membranoproliferative GN (exudative stage) which are reminiscent of glomerular capillary loop necroses. Male, 64 years. Masson's trichrome (\times 1000)

Fig. 6.16. Numerous stereocilia and scattered mitochondria (*M1*) in a glomerular capillary loop in GN. Male, 24 years. EM $(\times 16,700)$

Fig. 6.17. Glomerular minimal change: Free mitochondria (*MI*), phago-(hetero-)lysosomes, i.e., protein droplets (*PD*), stereocilia (\rightarrow), endothelium (*E*). Female, 24 years. EM (\times 10,000)



In ischemia, the usually present simultaneous loop collapse with severe wrinkling of the BM (Fig. 6.20) facilitates the diagnosis. Under EM, one must be careful to avoid false interpretations of tangential sections.

Lamellation of the Lamina Densa. One special form of BM thickening is accompanied by splitting or, rather, lamellation of the l. densa (Figs. 6.21, 6.24). Together with fragmentation and reticulation, it is found regularly in Alport's disease and can, accordingly, be considered pathognomonic for this entity (see Fig. 6.22 and p. 469).

Focal splitting of the l. densa – with some reticulation but without fragmentation—has been found in 14.9%of our GN cases and in 6.5% of our kidney transplants but in only 0.7% of other nephropathies (Figs. 6.22, 6.25).

Thickening of the Lamina Rara Interna. This form occurs very frequently but, except for extremely severe disease, is only demonstrable under EM (Figs. 6.21, 6.22, 6.23, 6.26). The widening of the l. rara interna has been incorrectly referred to as "translucent deposits" [842]. The thickening of the l. rara usually does not exceed the thickness of the l. densa itself and is often limited to BM segments in the neighbourhood of the mesangium.

We have found this change in 50% of all GN (Fig. 6.22) and transplants and in 30% of all nonglomerulonephritic renal diseases. In glomerular minimal change it is rarely missed (Fig. 6.22). We encountered an especially severe form in scleroderma (Fig. 6.27). The occurrence of pad-like widening of the l. rara interna in Weil's disease [1800] as well as its frequent presence in kidney transplants [1805] indicates a pathogenetically primary endothelial lesion (see also [1675]).

When the l. rara interna is much widened—especially in transplants—a very thin newly formed subendothelial densa lamella is formed (Figs. 6.21, 6.22, 6.23, 6.26). The suggestion that this change occurs regularly upon permeation of the l. rara interna with plasma proteins and fibrinogen [841, 1654] appears questionable to us since EM osmiophilic deposits and fibrin are usually absent (no correlation with deposits: Fig. 6.23). The change seems to disappear following restitution of the endothelial lesion (contra, see [1081]).

Thickening of the Lamina Rara Externa. Irregular widening (Fig. 6.21) is, in contradistinction to that of the l. interna, rarely seen, and never under LM. We have observed it only eight times, and exclusively in GN and kidney transplants (Fig. 6.22).

2. Doubling of the BM

We always consider a doubling of the BM (tram-track picture) to be present if we find newly formed densa lamellae separated from the original l. densa (Fig. 6.21). Accordingly, two basic forms of BM doubling can be distinguished:

- 1. BM doubling without cellular interposition in which one or more newly formed l. densa lamellae are separated from the original l. densa by l. rara-like material,
- 2. BM-doubling in which newly formed l. densa lamellae are separated by mesangial interposition from the original l. densa.

BM Doubling Without Cellular Interposition. In the overwhelming majority of cases, this form of BM doubling cannot be perceived under LM, since the newly formed l. densa lamellae are extremely thin and hardly separated from the original l. densa.

a) Subendothelial BM Doubling. In our material, we have encountered subendothelial formation of 1. densa material without mesangial interposition (see p. 595; Figs. 6.21, 6.26) in 16.4% of our GN cases, in 5% of non-GN cases and in 25.9% of our kidney transplant cases (Fig. 6.22). This form is more characteristic for transplants than for GN (see Fig. 6.23). The new formation of 1. densa is not necessarily associated with the concomitant presence of peripheral BM deposits (see Figs. 6.23, 6.39) since—under EM—such deposits, in the region of peripheral glomerular BM, are present in only one in three of transplant and non-GN cases but absent in one out of five of the GN cases.

So new formation of l. densa material may depend chiefly on the duration and extent of endothelial injury for which deposits might be one of the instigating factors. This form of BM doubling thus correlates in IF with the presence of glomerular IgG, C3 and fibrin(-ogen) (see Fig. 6.23).

Fig. 6.18. Typical 'tram-track' picture consisting of doubling \triangleright of the peripheral BM with partial transverse connections as seen in a case of membranoproliferative GN. Semi-thin section. Male, 76 years. PASM (\times 770)

Fig. 6.19. Extensive fibrinoid deposits (\rightarrow) in glomerular capillary loops in diabetes mellitus with arteriolosclerosis. Male, 59 years. PAS ($\times 400$)

Fig. 6.20. Severe wrinkling of glomerular capillary loop BM in collapse as occurring in malignant nephrosclerosis. Male, 43 years. EM (\times 7100)







Fig. 6.23. Reaction pattern of BM parameters as seen with EM, and its correlation to glomerular IF findings. Based on correlation coefficient (r > +0.25). Size of columns in EM reaction pattern give a relative index for strength of relationship.

(+) presence of immunoglobulin independent of further specification

An analogous BM doubling has been described as characteristic for "accelerated obsolescence" in arteriolonecrosis [783]. We have not been able to confirm this finding.

b) Subepithelial BM Doubling. Two forms by which densa material is newly generated subepithelially can be distinguished: (a) lamellar new formation which corresponds to the subendothelial form, and (b) new formation concomitant with epimembranous GN.

Lamellar New Formation. This form (p. 322, Figs. 6.21, 6.28) occurs exclusively in GN (14.7% of our cases) with increased frequency in Schönlein-Henoch's syndrome, and in kidney transplants (6.5% of our cases) (Fig. 6.22).

A further noteworthy finding is the occurrence of viruslike particles (see p. 92) in 37.8% of glomerulonephritic cases with subepithelial new densa formation and in only 5.8% in the rest of the GN cases. It appears reasonable

- 1. All nephropathies (EM n=663, IF n=410)
- 2. Non-GN diseases (EM n=159, IF n=84)
- 3. GN (EM n=399, IF n=229)
- 4. Transplants (EM n = 105, IF n = 97)

to conclude from these findings that pathogenetically, subepithelial new densa formation can be viewed as a reaction to deposits (Fig. 6.23) which may be relatively frequently associated with viral glomerular lesions.

Concomitant New Formation in Epimembranous GN. This begins in stage II of epimembranous GN (Figs. 6.21, 6.30). Characteristic spikes appear between subepithelial deposits, which become completely walled-off in stage III (Fig. 6.21) to finally dissolve away in stage IV (Fig. 6.31).

A terminal stage—after a long duration of illness—is characterized by a very pronounced thickening of the BM (Fig. 6.32) with irregular thread-or whorl-like structures occasionally arranged concentrically with cross striations (see p. 71).

BM Doubling With Mesangial Interposition. This form of BM doubling (Figs. 6.21, 6.33) which is also referred



to as circumferential interposition or intussusception [40, 275, 454] is clearly recognizable with the PAS, or even better, the PASM stain because of the typical presence of the tram-track picture. Mesangial cells which have wandered out to the periphery form a new BM between the endothelium and their own cell bodies. The new BM, which consists mainly of l. densa material, can encompass the entire circumference of the peripheral glomerular capillary loop or only a part of it; this state often leads to obsolescence of the affected glomerular capillary loops (Fig. 6.39).

Subendothelial deposits consisting of C3, fibrin(-ogen), and the main immunoglobulins (IgG, A; Fig. 6.39)—in addition to mesangial cell elements (Fig. 6.39)—are frequently found between the original, somewhat collapsed and wrinkled BM and the new BM irrespective of the underlying disease (see Figs. 6.23, 6.34, 6.39). Although there is a close correlation between subendothelial deposits and mesangial interposition (Fig. 6.39), these deposits were absent in 29.7% of 91 cases where mesangial interposition was demonstrated.

BM doubling with mesangial interposition correlates best with GN (see Fig. 6.23) where it was found in 21.5% of our cases but only in 5.7% in non-GN and in 8.6% of kidney transplants (Fig. 6.22). The doubling is characteristic for membranoproliferative GN but it is also encountered frequently in proliferative and sclerosing FGN (Fig. 6.34).

Pathogenetically, it can be assumed that mesangial interposition represents an attempt to break down large immunocomplexes which have not permeated the BM and which cannot rapidly be removed by and via the mesangium.

✓ Fig. 6.24. Severe lamellation and reticulation of peripheral glomerular BM in Alport's disease. Note isolated thinning of BM (→) and severe foot process fusion. Male, 6 years. EM (×11,500)

Fig. 6.25. Coarse splitting and suggestive ladder form of lamina densa of glomerular capillary loop BM without deposits in endotheliomesangial GN (proliferative sclerosing stage). Subsequent clinical study excluded Alport's syndrome. Eight months before the present biopsy, a purely proliferative stage was present. Male, 9.5 years. EM (\times 23,1000)

Fig. 6.26. Loosening and severe thickening of lamina rara interna with slight new formation of a narrow subendothelial lamina densa (\rightarrow). Residual changes 5 years after membranoproliferative GN. Male, 45 years. EM ($\times 27,000$)

3. Appositional BM Thickening

Protein, usually as immunoglobulin deposits in the region of the BM-designated as fibrinoid in LM and as osmiophilic deposits in EM-are a significant feature of numerous glomerular lesions. Their demonstration requires appropriate microscopic and staining techniques.

The deposits are usually poorly identifiable with LM. Silver impregnation of semi-thin sections is of little help since the deposits are not impregnable. They can, however, (except dense deposits in intramembranous GN after overstaining) be suspected in severe cases of epimembranous GN by the presence of negative spaces between the impregnated spikes. If the deposits are sufficiently large, they can be rendered visible with the following stains:

Stain	Color of deposits
Masson's trichrome/AFOG	Orange-red Lively red
van Gieson PAS	Yellow-orange Reddish violet

We wish to caution, however, that Masson's trichrome/ AFOG and similar staining methods render some—but by no means all—of the deposits visible and as such, in contrast to IF, do not permit conclusions relating to the amount and occurrence of deposits. Nevertheless, Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain is the procedure of choice for initial orientation and especially so for those workers who do not have EM or IF at their disposal. Thus, assured recognition of deposits is only guaranteed with EM and IF.

With EM, the deposits are osmiophilic, very electrondense and all finely granular. They are not sharply delineated, while the cytoplasmic processes of the mesangial cells (also frequently electron-opaque) are very sharply circumscribed. The deposits are not fibrillar as those of amyloid and fibrin.

Deposits consist of immunoglobulins (IgG, IgM, IgA, IgE, IgD), complement, and, on occasion, other serum proteins such as lipoprotein and albumin. Fibrin(-ogen) is not uncommonly demonstrable with IF (17.5% in GN) but its demonstration with EM is exceptional (1.3% in GN). Subendothelial fibrin and its degradation products are especially found in generalized intravasal coagulation [1653]; these deposits are ultimately enveloped and "organized" by BM substance.

Fibrinoid/osmiophilic deposits do not, with certainty, consist exclusively of degraded fibrin residues (contra: [1508]). Giant deposits, as occur in glomerular capillary loop obsolescence, usually contain only IgM and/or C3 as shown with IF. They are—like the analogous arteri-



olar deposits associated with hypertension and the tubular deposits in tubular atrophy—to be interpreted as *insudation deposits*. Similarly, deposits of trapped immunoglobulins, i.e., those not arising directly from immunologic reaction, have been reported subendothelially in 7% of post mortem material from "normal" kidneys [1590]; we have not been able to confirm this finding. Finally, deposits are progressively degraded leaving local erosions of the BM or empty lacunae which often still contain immunoglobulins under IF (Figs. 6.25, 6.26, 6.29, 6.30, 6.31, 6.32, 6.35, 6.41, 6.42, 6.43, 6.44, 6.47, 6.48, 6.49, 6.50).

Fundamentally, four different localizations (subepithelial, subendothelial, intramembranous and mesangial either within the matrix or along the mesangial BM (Fig. 6.34, see p. 178) of osmiophilic deposits have been identified. Not too rarely, all four may occur in the same glomerulus. For frequency and distribution of deposits, see Fig. 6.34.

Subepithelial Deposits. Subepithelial deposits (for frequency see Fig. 6.34 and correlation with other glomerular findings Fig. 6.39) in the form of spherical nodules are termed humps (Fig. 6.35; [832, 834]). Humps are characteristic of the acute serum nephritis produced in animal experimentation and of the poststreptococcal type of GN in humans. They are also encountered in fresh attacks of membranoproliferative GN, in proliferative FGN (Fig. 6.34) as well as in epimembranous GN. The deposits result from the deposition of circulating immunocomplexes and are generally thought to be the expression of an immunocomplex GN. Humps correlate in IF with the presence of C3 and IgG (Fig. 6.39).

⊲ Fig. 6.27. Glomerular capillary loop in scleroderma. Severe thickening of the electron-lucent lamina rara interna (→←) which contains scattered erythrocytes (*). Lamina densa is very wrinkled, and podocytes evidence focal foot process fusion (*FP*). Capillary lumen (*CL*). Female, 62 years. EM (×4320)

Fig. 6.28. Severe thickening and humpiness of lamina rara externa (\rightarrow) in peripheral glomerular BM with new formation of a uniformly thin densa layer in proliferative FGN in Schönlein-Henoch purpura. Lamina rara interna is also partially thickened (X) and suggests new formation of a densa lamella. Podocytes show severe foot process fusion. Endothelium (*E*) is hypertrophied. Male, 6 years. EM (×13,300)

Fig. 6.29. Irregular thickening of lamina rara externa (\rightarrow) in peripheral glomerular BM and occasional osmiophilic granular deposits (*D*) in proliferative FGN. Lamina densa is partly considerably narrowed. Male, 60 years. EM (×21,400)

They can be seen in semi-thin sections under favorable conditions and in paraplast sections. They appear as isolated subepithelial red nodules with Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain. They are shown to be up to 5 μ m in size and with EM to be sharply demarcated by the podocytic cell membrane. Very fresh, small humps lie between the podocyte foot processes and are covered by the fine slit membrane. The deposits are also usually sharply marked off from the l. densa but in later phases this demarcation may become less clear. Oval intramembranous deposits are occasionally found beneath the humps (Figs. 6.36, 6.39).

During their degradation, the humps appear to be perforated, i.e., moth-eaten (Fig. 6.35) and they ultimately become translucent [1628a]. Humps are said to disappear after 6 weeks. In our own material (Fig. 6.38) we found humps in clinically acute GN still present averagely 9 weeks after disease onset, a finding which suggests that the humps may be deposited episodically. If they are found years after the clinical onset of GN, however, their presence indicates a new acute attack of the disease (Fig. 6.38). In 30 cases demonstrating humps, the antistreptolysin titer was normal in 15 cases, slightly increased in 7 and massively increased in 8. This finding possibly indicates that humps are not invariably associated with streptococcal infection.

Humps, as described above, must be differentiated from other subepithelial deposits as found in membranoproliferative or epimembranous GN.

Subepithelial deposits—not infrequently—observed in fresh attacks of membranoproliferative GN are considerably wider, less high and are less sharply delimited from the l. densa than are humps (Figs. 6.34, 6.37).

The deposits encountered in epimembranous GN are more lamelliform or round and are far more numerous than humps (Fig. 6.40). They appear to be degraded far more slowly and they can coalesce. A striking feature associated with the deposits is the formation of so-called spikes (brush-like radial densa processes) which originate from the l. densa and grow out between the individual deposits. There, together with newly formed subepithelial BM, they envelop the deposits which ultimately become completely incorporated into the l. densa (Fig. 6.41). The epithelial cover over these deposits shows very pronounced foot process fusion as well as an increase in osmiophilic fibrils (Figs. 6.39, 6.41).

During deposit degradation, surrounding BM material becomes reticular and granular, lacunae develop and the entire BM becomes considerably thicker (Figs. 6.39, 6.41, 6.42). During this process, virus-like particles are frequently observed (Fig. 6.42) as well as thread-like-structures of about 200 Å thickness (Fig. 6.43) corresponding to striated membranous structures [86] and, very rarely, myelin figures (Fig. 6.44).



6.30

Subendothelial Deposits. These deposits are often quite large and widespread. They occur in the widened l. rara interna and are mainly found in GN (28.2%) less frequently in transplants (11.9%) and even in non-GN (4.3%). For frequency and general occurrence, see Fig. 6.34; for correlation with other glomerular findings, Fig. 6.39. In GN, they are typically found in membrano-proliferative GN as well as in proliferative or sclerosing FGN (Fig. 6.45) and in SLE nephritis (wire-loops) where they may be confused with hyaline thrombi (Fig. 6.46).

Fingerprint-like configurations within the deposits are observed in SLE; they are said to originate from crystallization of lipoprotein molecules [280, 841]. Peculiar crystalloid structures may be found in cryoglobulinemia (see p. 169).

Since these extremely coarse deposits are very often positive for fibrin(-ogen) besides other immunoglobulins and C3 (Fig. 6.39) in IF, it is conjectured that residues of fibrin degradation participate in their formation (see also [454]). In general, the subendothelial deposits encroach upon the mesangial matrix (Fig. 6.45) and are often associated with deposits along mesangial BM as well as mesangial matrix (Figs. 6.39, 6.45).

During the course of their degradation, lighter areas with fine granules appear at their borders (Fig. 6.47) as well as relatively frequent lipid inclusions (Fig. 6.49). A new, thin l. densa is formed under the endothelium and the total capillary loop wall accordingly becomes considerably thicker (Figs. 6.23, 6.48).

Giant deposits (identifiable as hyaline lumps even with LM) frequently develop in association with capillary loop obsolescence (Fig. 6.50). We believe that insudation is far more involved in this development than is the deposition of immunocomplexes. Genuine capillary loop

✓ Fig. 6.30. Epimembranous GN (stage II). Extensive subepithelial osmiophilic deposits (D), between which spikes (S) are formed. Focal transition to stage III (X), i.e., covering of a deposit by coalescence of spikes. Scattered thread-like structures (FI) are present in the deposits. Complete fusion of foot processes has occurred. Male, 60 years. EM (×11,500)

Fig. 6.31. Epimembranous GN, stage IV; stage I was present bioptically 5 years previously. BM evidences severe thickening and irregularity with degradation granules (\rightarrow) , while at other sites empty deposit lacunae (D) may still be recognized. Male, 46 years. EM (\times 10,700)

occlusion by very large subendothelial deposits is not infrequently observed in SLE (Fig. 17.21, p. 330) and membranoproliferative GN. In this situation, the deposits are riddled with degenerative vacuoles which contain very scanty electron-lucent material and lipids. Additionally, foam cells, assumedly endothelial, are often encountered.

In anti-BM (Masugi) nephritis and the corresponding human diseases (Goodpasture's syndrome and scattered cases of extracapillary accentuated GN), very thin, slightly electron-opaque deposits—which are formed subendothelially—may be found in the loose l. rara interna (Fig. 14.59, p. 229; [280, 1154]). But EM study is usually negative even though linear deposits are seen with IF. Information relating to coarse nodular subendothelial deposits in hepatic glomerulonephrosis is given on p. 400.

Two possibilities for subendothelial deposit formation can be considered: they are formed either independently of mesangial changes even though partly removed via the mesangium due to their size or as a consequence of overloading of the mesangium with immunocomplexes [401, 544]. Statistical analysis (Fig. 6.39) accordingly, does not permit a conclusion as to the initial site of deposit formation.

Intramembranous Deposits. We distinguish between primary and secondary intramembranous deposits. We consider those deposits as secondary which have become incorporated into the BM by restructuring activities as is observed in epimembranous and membranoproliferative GN (Fig. 6.36; for frequency and distribution of primary deposits, see Fig. 6.34). Primary intramembranous deposits are found in all forms of GN (Figs. 6.34, 6.51) especially with the irrefutable presence of humps (Figs. 6.36, 6.39) as well as in other nephropathies, e.g. diabetes mellitus, arteriolosclerosis, Alport's syndrome where they probably arise from insudation (contra: [1628a]).

A second form of primary intramembranous deposits, which are more massive, i.e., longer and thicker than those mentioned above, is better termed dense osmiophilic material. Their size is such that only a narrow remnant of the original densa remains intact on both sides under the l. rara (Figs. 6.51, 14.103, 14.107). With LM, they are recognizable by the presence of the homogeneously thickened BM associated with extensive mesangial proliferation with deposit formation (Fig. 6.52). Intramembranous GN (see p. 252) is often considered to be a special form of membranoproliferative GN [35, 1136]. More recent study [524] has challenged the assumption that the dense material consists of genuine immune deposits.



6.32



Fig. 6.34. Histogram: Glomcrular deposits (D). For detailed legend see Figure 6.9. In considering intramembranous deposits, dense material as seen in intramembranous GN was excluded

Further BM Changes

- 1. Local translucent areas in the l. densa, which are not usually clearly demarcated can be observed after dissolution of deposits (Fig. 6.31) and, above all, in conjunction with epimembranous GN (Fig. 6.41).
- 2. We have observed *collagen* in the BM in one instance of circulatory collapse and in two of GN (Fig. 6.53).
- 3. Circumscript interruptions (Figs. 6.54, 6.55, 17.10) of the entire BM have been observed by us in 13 out of 700 biopsies (12 times in GN and once in a kidney transplant). Local destruction of the BM occurring in GN can be suspected with LM in the presence of a massive filling of the capsular space with erythrocytes and fibrin. In GN, these interruptions occur chiefly in focally accentuated forms (Fig. 6.55) and almost exclusively in the region of subendothelial de-
- ✓ Fig. 6.32. Epimembranous GN, stage V; glomerular capillary loop lumens have completely disappeared. BM is highly thickened (→←) and is riddled with degradation granules as well as with thread-like structures demonstrating periodicity (*striated membranes*) shown in inset. Male, 24 years. EM (×11,600; inset × 36,000)

Fig. 6.33. Membranoproliferative GN. Doubling of peripheral glomerular capillary loop BM by interposition of a mesangial cell (M). 1. Original BM. 2. Newly formed BM. Male, 66 years. EM (\times 5900)

posits. They are also encountered occasionally in glomerular minimal change (Figs. 6.54, 6.55). The defects heal by cell proliferation with formation of a new BM (Fig. 6.54; [1565]).

- 4. Also with EM, a superficial, very slight erosion of the l. densa (Fig. 15.34, 18.15) can occasionally be observed under the humps. Larger partial defects are rare (Fig. 15.31) and result in local attenuation of the BM (see also [1595a]). For loop necrosis see p. 56. It is a remarkable fact that even in severe proteinuria and/or hematuria, the BM is by and large structurally intact (no interruptions are present). Analogously, proteinuria is not necessarily a consequence of a severely altered BM. Underlying causes decisively involved in these functional disturbances are probably related to factors in the polymerization of the ground substance, in the thickness of the (possibly) crystalloid network (as yet not clearly demonstrable with EM) and in the kind of foreign substances deposited (amyloid, immuno-deposits, etc.). Even though chemical study has shown an increase of the insoluble collagen fraction and a decrease of substances soluble in 0.5 m NaCl in the BM [1110], much more data must be generated before a molecular explanation for functional BM changes can be given (p. 22).
- 5. *BM thinning* is usually seen in Alport's disease (Fig. 6.24, p. 466); it is supposedly typical for benign familial hematuria (Fig. 6.56, p. 476).





Fig. 6.38. Relationship between EM-demonstrated humps and disease duration; average duration of illness is 8.7 weeks (n=23). Cases with duration of illness longer than 100 weeks were not considered

Changes in Other Glomerular Capillary Wall Constituents

Podocytes (Visceral Epithelium, Pericytes) (Figs. 6.57, 6.58)

LM-discernible podocyte changes are usually limited to detection of diffuse cyloplasmic and nuclear swelling and of scattered hyaline droplets.

✓ Fig. 6.35. Hump (H) with signs of incipient dissolution (→). Lamina rara externa is preserved. BM, glomerular capillary loop BM. Note increased osmiophilic substance in covering podocyte (X). Endotheliomesangial GN (proliferative stage); clinically acute onset 8 weeks before biopsy. Male, 6 years. EM (×17,000)

Fig. 6.36. Osmiophilic desposits (D) in thickened lamina densa below hump (H). Increased osmiophilic substance in covering podocyte (X). Endotheliomesangial GN with isolated crescents and clinical onset 10 weeks prior to biopsy. Male, 5.5 years. EM (\times 24,000)

Fig. 6.37. Extensive subendothelial deposits in peripheral glomerular capillary loops (\rightarrow) . Irregularly structured subepithelial deposits (\rightarrow) covered by podocytes, mesangial deposits (X). Mixed epimembranous and membranoproliferative GN in SLE. Female, 15 years. EM (×9270) Diffuse and global occurrence of podocytic foam cells are observed in storage diseases (mucopolysaccharidoses and GM gangliosidoses, Fig. 23.1). Very exceptionally, a few isolated foam cells displaying focal-segmental distribution are encountered in GN and transplant kidneys (3 out of 700 of our biopsies).

With the advent of EM, it became possible for the first time to gather and analyse information relating to the nature and extent of podocyte reactions. EM study soon made it apparent that podocytes react quickly and strongly to various injuries and stresses [1154] as can be seen by the frequency of their changes and reaction pattern (Fig. 6.57, 6.58). The typical reaction pattern of podocytes in all types of nephropathies consists. of cellular edema (contra: [1508]) accompanied by nuclear swelling, microvilli (pseudovilli) formation and foot process fusion (see Fig. 6.58). The most well-known change is fusion of foot processes (Fig. 6.59). Whereby slit pores at sites of close apposition between adjacent epithelial cell membranes are suppressed by podocyte swelling [785].

Today, fusion is viewed as the consequence and no longer as the cause of proteinuria [454, 1538]; it is considered to be a reaction to the flowing through of large molecules. Upon remission of the proteinuria, fusion of the foot processes disappears [275].

A slight degree of fusion of the foot processes is very frequent in all nephropathies (Fig. 6.57). Severe and extensive fusion is found predominantly in GN.

The significance of localized, unsharply delimited osmiophilic cytoplasmic condensations (osmiophilic sub-



Fig. 6.39. Correlation of glomerular deposits in various locations (as seen with EM) with other EM and IF glomerular findings. (+) presence of immunoglobulin independent of distribution pattern; peripheral (p), mesangial (m), global (g), segmental (s), fine granular (f), coarse granular (c). Mesangial cell/matrix refers only to increase. Osmiophilic fibrils used synonymously with substance. Obsolescence of glomerular capillary loops (xx) due to proliferation (see also legend of Fig. 6.23)

stance = fibrils) in podocytes remains unknown (Figs. 6.56, 6.60). Morphologically, they appear in two forms:

- Condensations with a very pronounced fibrillar character which indicate an increase of actomyosin fibrils [925, 1633]
- 2. Condensations which are finely granular or amorphous point to their origin from residues of degraded immunodeposits [205, 1801].

The significant increase of osmiophilic granular/ amorphous condensations (Figs. 14.21, 14.22)—especially over subepithelial deposits (Fig. 6.39)—supports the pathogenetic significance of podocytes in the degradation of immunocomplexes (see also [454, 1628a]). Further evidence in support of this view is the fact that the cytoplasmic condensations are expecially frequent in GN (40%) and strongly increased in 15% thereof (see Fig. 6.57) but usually only present in slight amount in nonglomerulonephritic disease and kidney transplants. **Fig. 6.40.** Extensive osmiophilic deposits in epimembranous GN, \triangleright stage I–II. Note beginning spike formation between the deposits. Clinical duration of illness 12 weeks. Lumen of glomerular capillary loop (*CL*); capsular space (*CS*). Male, 62 years. EM (×23,100)

Fig. 6.41. Osmiophilic deposits (D) in dissolution in epimembranous GN, stage III. Empty lacunae arising from complete dissolution of deposits with thread-like structures (FI). Complete foot process fusion is present. Glomerular capillary loop lumen (CL). Clinical duration of illness 75 weeks. Male, 33 years. EM (\times 22,600)



Page 81

Fig. 6.42. Severe, irregular thickening of lamina rara externa in epimembranous GN; stage III with acute relapse. New formation of a thin lamina densa immediately under the podocytes (\rightarrow) . Numerous large, fine-granular residual osmiophilic deposits (D) are usually surrounded by virus-like oval structures (\rightarrow) . Lamina densa (LD), podocyte (P). Tangential section. Duration of illness 50 weeks. Male, 58 years. EM ($\times 15,800$)

Fig. 6.43. Same case as in Figure 6.42. A deposit in dissolution is seen with laminated structures, as are virus-like oval particles in which a central osmiophilic zone can be recognized (\rightarrow) and thread-like structures in the center of the deposit. (Compare Fig. 6.32, inset). Fine-granular osmiophilic deposit (D), endothelium (E), podocyte (P), lamina densa (LD). Newly formed subepithelial 1. densa (\rightarrow) Male, 58 years. EM (\times 29,388)

Fig. 6.44. Same case as in Figure 6.42. A myelin structure is present in a large subepithelial deposit (D). Wide spikes (S), podocyte (P), endothelium (E). Male, 58 years. EM $(\times 21,000)$

Page 82

Fig. 6.45. Extensive subendothelial osmiophilic deposits in the glomerular capillary loop periphery in a case of membranoproliferative GN associated with hepatitis B virus. Male, 82 years. Autopsy material. Formalin fixation EM (\times 5100)

Fig. 6.46. The same case as in Figure 6.45. Large deposits in glomerular capillary loop periphery can easily be mistaken for thrombi. Male, 82 years. PAS ($\times 200$)

Fig. 6.47. Dissolution of subendothelial osmiophilic deposits in a case of membranoproliferative GN with beginning new formation of a thin subendothelial lamina densa (\rightarrow). Female, 17 years. EM (×16,500)

Fig. 6.48. End stage of deposit dissolution in a case of membranoproliferative GN. Lamina rara interna is nodularly thickened. Residues of a deposit undergoing dissolution (*D*). Newly formed subendothelial layer of lamina densa (\rightarrow) is very thick. Foot processes of podocytes are completely fused. Male, 8 years. EM (×6700)

Page 83

Fig. 6.49. Extensive lipid vacuoles (X) in subendothelial deposits of membranoproliferative GN in contracted kidney. Male, 23 years. EM (\times 10,700)

Fig. 6.50. Isolated obsolescent peripheral glomerular capillary loops in a case of sclerosing FGN. Glomerular capillary loops are completely adherent to capsular BM (*CBM*). Loops are full of osmiophilic deposits which contain lipid vacuoles. Male, 18 years. EM (\times 5640)

Page 84

Fig. 6.51. Intramembranous GN. Very dense, ribbon-like osmiophilic material is embedded in lamina densa. Lamina rara interna and externa are partly preserved as narrow strips. Mesangial matrix (MM) is frankly increased. Female, 25 years. EM (× 5200)

Fig. 6.52. Massive mesangial deposits (*D*) in membranoproliferative GN (lobular variant). Scattered peripheral subendothelial deposits ($D \rightarrow$). Female, 10 years. EM (×10,200)

Page 85

Fig. 6.53. Collagen fibers in a thickened and loosened BM (an extremely rare finding!) in sclerosing stage of endotheliomesangial GN. Podocyte (P). Male, 6.75 years. EM (\times 33,000)

Fig. 6.54. Total BM interruption with secondary reconstruction in glomerular minimal change. Endothelium (E). Female, 23 years. EM (\times 35,000)

Fig. 6.55. BM defect in sclerosing FGN. Endothelium (*E*). Male, 10 years. EM (\times 35,000)

Fig. 6.56. Focal thinning and slight splitting of BM (\rightarrow) in a case of persistent hematuria of 2 years. Clinically, no evidence for familial renal disease, in particular Alport's disease. Female, 4 years. EM (×11,000)

Page 86

Fig. 6.57. Histogram. Podocyte changes (for details see Fig. 6.9). Vacuoles were not semiquantitatively evaluated. Osmiophilic fibrils synonymous with substance

Fig. 6.58. Reaction pattern of podocyte parameters as seen with EM and their correlation to IF findings (for details, see Fig. 6.22). Osmiophilic fibrils synonymaous with substance

Page 87

Fig. 6.59. Complete fusion of podocyte foot processes which evidence accumulation of osmiophilic substance (\rightarrow) in glomerular minimal change. Male, 18 years. EM (×18,400)

Fig. 6.60. Extensively increased osmiophilic substance in podocytes (P) which is partly fibrillar in character. Endotheliomesangial GN. Endothelium (E). Female, 16.5 years. EM (\times 46,000)

Fig. 6.61. Severe vacuolar degeneration and hypertrophy of podocytes and formation of microvilli (\rightarrow) in membranoproliferative GN. Very pronounced widening of endoplasmatic reticulum is also present. Female, 31 years. EM (\times 3000)

Fig. 6.62. Fibrin (\rightarrow) and very large phagolysosomes (protein droplets, *PD*) in an edematous podocyte during clinically acute attack in membranoproliferative GN known for 6 months. Male, 60 years. EM (×8600)





6.45 6.46













Fig. 6.63. Histogram. Endothelial changes in glomerular capillary loops (for details, see Fig. 6.9)



Correlation of Endothelial Changes Seen with EM to Glomerular

Fig. 6.65. Unusual massive accumulation of myelin figures in a podocyte in pyelonephritic contracted kidney. Male, 61 years. EM (\times 4600)

Fig. 6.66. Highly swollen (hypertrophied) endothelial cell with increase of organelles and severe nuclear swelling in endotheliomesangial GN of 6 weeks' duration. Male, 3.5 years. EM ($\times 12,700$)

Fig. 6.67. Endothelial foam cells in a glomerular capillary loop \triangleright in GN contracted kidney. Beginning subepithelial deposition of fibrillar material (X) indicating obliteration. Male, 34 years. EM (× 5900)

Fig. 6.68. Endothelial cell with pronounced swelling and lobulation of nucleus as well as increase of organelles. Glomerular minimal change 7.5 months after clinically acute GN. Male, 4.5 years. EM (\times 14,400)



Other investigators consider this podocytic osmiophilic substance to be characteristic for lipoid nephrosis [111]—which we cannot confirm (Fig. 6.57)—or a precursor for BM [1109, 1154].

Hypertrophy of podocytes characterized by increase of endoplasmatic reticulum, Golgi complexes and ribosomes is far more rare (see Figs. 6.57, 6.61). Hypertrophy can also be associated with the formation of microvilli (Figs. 6.61, 6.58). Microvilli formation and foot process fusion do not exclude each other (Figs. 6.57, 6.58).

Protein (Fig. 6.62) and, less frequently, lipid droplets or myelin figures (Fig. 6.65) are observed as cellular inclusions with approximately the same frequency in all nephropathies; cytoloysosomes occur only in severe changes [454]. Finally, heterolysomes with a granular or amorphous content—possibly representing degraded immunocomplexes—are observed in the presence of subepithelial deposits [1628a], a finding which additionally supports the contention mentioned above.

A further change seen in glomerular proteinuria is manifested as a weakening of the colloidal iron stain for sialic acid in podocyte membrances [152].

Cellular necrobioses and necroses (3 out of 700 of our EM biopsies) were found exclusively in glomerular obsolescence. Such cells are very electron-opaque and shrunken and contain strongly dilated endoplasmatic reticulum (Fig. 6.92).

Stereocilia (Figs. 6.16, 6.17; p. 62) are an extremely rare finding (1 out of 700 of our cases) and their significance has eluded explanation. For virus-suspect findings, see p. 92; for podocytic giant cells see Table 8.1, p. 129.

Endothelium

(Figs. 6.63, 6.64)

Endothelial changes noted with LM are, as made evident in the histogram (Fig. 6.63), usually far more pronounced than are those of podocytes. Thus, for example, severe swelling of the endothelial cells (Fig. 6.66) accompanied by nuclear swelling which leads to apparent occlusion of the capillary lumen can occur during the exudative stage of GN. An especially marked form of endothelial swelling is seen in toxemia of pregnancy, i.e., simple glomerular endotheliosis [1494, 1540].

It should be borne in mind that what appears to be endothelium with LM can, with EM, be shown to be monocytes, mesangial or endothelial cells. Even with EM, categorical identification of different cell types may often be beset with difficulties.

Endothelial foam cells (Fig. 6.67) are encountered in hyperlipemia, diabetes mellitus, nephrotic syndrome [75a, 1564a, 1568a, b, c] and in storage diseases (Fig. 23.1, [1365]). In the first three diseases, the foam cells demonstrate a focal-segmental distribution while in storage diseases they occur more globally and diffusely. Among

the glomerulonephritic diseases, especially in proliferative/ sclerosing FGN, we have found isolated foam cells in 3% of our cases and in 1.4% of our non-GN biopsies exclusively in diabetes mellitus with hyperlipemia. We also noted foam cells in 2% of our renal transplant material (Fig. 6.43).

The typical reaction pattern in EM (Fig. 6.64)—irrespective of the type of nephropathy—usually consists of hypertrophy (Fig. 6.68) characterized by an increase in endoplasmatic reticulum (see also [275]) accompanied by nuclear swelling and notching (Fig. 6.68) and by arcade formation (cytofolds, pseudopod-like processes, Fig. 6.69; [454]). Endothelial hypertrophy is the result of various longer acting stimuli, e.g., the presence of IgG in cases of pronounced changes.

Cellular hypertrophy was present in about 50% of our cases of GN and renal transplants. More rarely we have observed it in nonglomerulonephritic lesions (Fig. 6.63) Endothelial hypertrophy may persist for months subsequent to GN [65a, 446a, 901a, 1010a, 1068, 1436a, 1797, 1718a, 1131a]. It also occurs during regenerative activity in the region of the endothelium, during intensified cellular work and also during aging [8a, 545a, 1549a]. In hypertrophy, endothelial gaps appear whose consequence is an increase in vascular permeability.

Endothelial edema—with or without nuclear swelling, but without concomitant organelle increase—is an unspecific reaction form which probably can rapidly set in as a response to a wide range of injurious agents and especially to hypoxia [1470]. The edema is usually accompanied by the formation of so-called balloons, i.e., organelle-free evaginations or amputations of cytoplasmic components (see p. 60).

Fig. 6.69. Pronounced arcade formation as a sign of endothelial \triangleright cell hypertrophy and activation in glomerular minimal change. Female, 8 years. EM (×13,700)

Fig. 6.70. Necrobiotic endothelial cell (X) in membranoproliferative GN with severe extracapillary involvement. Podocytes (P) and the nucleus of a mesangial cell (M) are highly degenerated. Male, 46 years. EM (\times 5500)

Fig. 6.71. Severe endothelial proliferation in membranoproliferative GN. Endothelial cells are poor in organelles and lie directly on the BM; this latter finding excludes the presence of mesangial cells. Polymorphonuclear leukocytes (*PL*) are seen in the severely narrowed residual glomerular capillary loop lumen. No deposits are present in this micrograph. Male, 57 years. EM (\times 4700)



6.69 6.70 Lipid and protein droplets are the most common cellular inclusions. They are, however, relatively infrequent (contra: [1508]) but can be occasionally encountered in all nephropathies. In our biopsies from renal transplants alone (see Fig. 6.63), we have observed these inclusions — in relevant amounts — in more than 20% of the cases. However, development to the stage of foam cells (see above) is exceptional.

We observed cellular ferritin three times (Fig. 17.42) and degraded fibrin residues once in GN.

Necrotic endothelial cells are extremely rare (1 out of 700 of our cases). These cells are recognizable by their condensed cytoplasm (coagulation necrosis) with or-ganelle debris (Fig. 6.70). They become detached from the BM and their fenestrated cytoplasmic processes disappear [454]. Pinocytotic vesicles exhibit a remarkable resistence towards cytotoxic phenomena [1010a]. Following endothelial cell detachment, the BM lies freely exposed to the bloodstream and, accordingly, thrombocyte deposition may occur.

Endothelial cell proliferation, to a certain degree, follows endothelial destruction but terminates once the defect has been repaired [454a, 1565a].

This proliferation never results in a multilayered covering of the arteries, arterioles and glomerular capillaries even under the most diverse conditions with regeneration of other vessel-wall constituents [8a, 667a, 831a, b, 901a, 1594a]. There has still not been a clear-cut answer to the question as to whether or not endothelial capillary loop cells can, above and beyond simple replacement, actually proliferate. The problem continues unsolved chiefly because of the almost insurmountable problem even with EM — of differentiating endothelial from mesangial cells or monocytes (Fig. 6.71).

The presence of PASM- and PAS-positive or osmiophilic material (visible in EM) between proliferated cells may point rather to the mesangial nature of the cells in question.

However, the occurrence of mitoses (2 out of 700: Z, 1 GN, 1 transplant) of endothelial cells in capillary loops as well as the presence of endothelial mitoses in capillaries at other inflammatory body sites (e.g., in wound healing), scarcely leaves room for doubting the proliferative capacity of endothelial cells [1797]. In such cases, we have observed interdigitation of the cytoplasmic processes.

In collapse, occlusion of capillary loops by endothelial proliferation has been clearly demonstrated (Fig. 6.72).

Virus-Like Particles

Both clinical and serologic data categorically demonstrate that viruses can lead to inflammatory glomerular changes. EM study rather frequently shows virus-like particles especially in inflammatory glomerular processes. But it is not certain whether the particles under observation are effectively viruses or merely degraded, nonviral substances. If serum and biopsy material have not been appropriately maintained by deep-freezing, retrospective demonstration of virus usually proves to be well-nigh impossible.

It is therefore prudent in any case to maintain serum and biopsy material for investigations. Otherwise, a second biopsy with appropriate plans for correct tissue processing should be realized. When the above suggestions are followed, virus—if present—can clearly be demonstrated serologically and with IF [299, 722, 1173, 1531].

In describing such particles with EM, it is advantageous to rely on a purely descriptive nomenclature. We differentiate between round, tubular (filamentous), textile-like, and thread-like structures amongst others. In the absence of unquestionable identification of virus with IF, the term "virus-like particles" should be exclusively used together with the descriptive nomenclature [86].

Round Virus-Like Particles. The operative definition of these forms is that they are round, very dark (Fig. 6.73) or provided with a light center or with a dark nucleus-like central body (Fig. 6.75). Under high resolution, a three-layered membrane can clearly be recognized [230].

The size varies between 200 and 1800 Å. Considering this parameter only, a particle of about 200 Å could correspond to the hepatitis-B surface antigen (Fig. 6.75), one of 400–450 Å to Dane particles, one of 800–1200 Å to the Barr-Epstein virus (Fig. 6.75) and one of 1500 Å to myxovirus (mumps) [1523]. For further special problems on virus and its morphology see [336].

Round virus-like particles are always extracellular. As a rule, they are found in intimate association with the BM, usually intramembranously, often subepithelially, and more rarely subendothelially (see also [230]). In part, they are also found in relation to osmiophilic deposits [230].

Fig. 6.72. Glomerular capillary loop occlusion in slight loop \triangleright collapse (BM wrinkling) caused by endothelial proliferation (*E*). Severely pyknotic mesangial cell (M). Fusion of foot processes (\rightarrow). Chronic pyelonephritis with overload glomerulitis. Male, 61 years. EM (×4200)

Fig. 6.73. Virus-like granular particles in place of podocytes are seen in membranoproliferative GN of 5 years' duration. Male, 43 years. EM ($\times 15,500$)

Fig. 6.74. A multivesicular body (\rightarrow) in a hypertrophied podocyte in congenital nephrotic syndrome. Male, 4 months. EM $(\times 54,000)$





Fig. 6.75. Membranoproliferative GN with demonstration of hepatitis B and Epstein-Barr-virus

- (a) Part of a glomerular capillary loop wall showing coarse, granular osmiophilic deposit. K 1, large Epstein-Barr-virus particle clearly discernible in deposits (core indicated at \rightarrow), K 2, deposit without particle. Basement membrane (*BM*), podocyte foot process (*P*), endothelium (*E*), capillary lumen (*CL*). Male, 41 years. EM (\times 36,000)
- (b) Complex with small particles (K 3) thought to be hepatitis B surface material. EM (\times 115,000)
- (c) Complex with large particles with core. K 1, Epstein-Barrvirus, K 2 granular osmiophilic deposit without particles. EM (× 50,000). From [1531]

Epimembranous GN is especially often the underlying disease in which the particles are found. They also occur in kidney transplants and, exceptionally, they are found in non-GN. In a careful study of well-kept renal transplant material, the round particles were found in 55 out of 476 cases [230] and in 86 out of 190 [86] respectively.

They are found in over 50% of advanced cases of epimembranous GN [787], in gold nephropathy [1628] and in relevant numbers in heroin addicts [357]. The common consensus is that the particles in question usually represent nonviral degradation products [357] and that they are only rarely viruses [230]. Unequivocal demonstration of virus has been exceptional and was usually restricted **Fig. 6.76.** Part of a peripheral glomerular capillary loop in mixed \triangleright epimembranous and membranoproliferative lupus GN. Tubular virus-like structures (\rightarrow). Subendothelial osmiophilic deposits (D), podocyte (P). Female, 21 years. EM (\times 46,000)

Fig. 6.77. Fingerprint-like structure in a podocyte in Goodpasture's syndrome. Female, 67 years. EM (×76,000)

Fig. 6.78. Textile-like structure in a podocyte in sclerosing FGN. Female, 5 years. EM (×51,000)

Fig. 6.79. Severe increase and thickening of mesangial matrix bars in a glomerulus of a 2.5 month-old transplant. Foot processes are sometimes absent (\rightarrow) or sometimes fused $(-\triangleright)$. Massive protein droplets and vacuoles are present in the podocytes. Male, 57 years. EM (×4220)


to hepatitis-B antigen [299, 722, 1531]. In one case, Barr-Epstein virus was found in addition to the hepatitis-B surface antigen [1531].

Nonviral particles may represent either extruded cell products or a crystal formation of lipoprotein in immunodeposits [230, 1757]. These particles must not be confused with multivesicular bodies which are enveloped groupwise by a membrane (Fig. 6.74).

Tubular (Filamentous) Virus-Like Particles. These long, up to 1000 Å [615] tubular forms with a cross-sectional diameter of about 220 Å [105] are mainly found in endothelial cells (Fig. 6.76) and less frequently in podocytes or in endothelial cells of intertubular capillaries. They have been described essentially in SLE (Figs. 17.33, 17.34) and initially considered as myxo- and paramyxovirus. Systematic examination [1 523] revealed a wide range of primary diseases in which these particles occurred: SLE (98%), renal transplants more than 1 year old (73%), in biopsies of other nephropathies (24.5%). We found tubular virus-like particles in Alport's disease and congenital nephrotic synchrome (see also [346]). They have also been described in scleroderma, synovitis, rheumatoid arteritis, Sjögren's syndrome, polymyositis, gold nephropathy [1628] as well as in normal tissues. In autoimmune disease, the particles have been found in lymphocytes [1431].

The viral nature of the tubular particles is currently regarded as extremely questionable [498]. They are considered to be viral-induced abnormal products of endoplasmic reticulum [852]. Even this latter concept, however, includes recognition of the presence of virus without, of course, relating it to the basic disease.

Other Virus-Like Particles. Textile structures or fingerprint-like forms (Figs. 6.77, 6.78) are occasionally observed in endothelial cells. These forms may consist of cristallized lipoproteins or, moreover, of aggregated crystallized textile-like virus.

We encountered this finding once in a case of chronic lymphatic leukemia associated with epimembranous GN. We are not aware of any extensive studies devoted to the significance of the above-instanced structures.

Thred-Like Structures (Striated Membranes, Collagen-Like Fibers). Finely, uncoiled, thread-like structures which are 200–400 Å wide and up to 2 μ m long should be mentioned. We have found them mainly in older deposit in epimembranous GN (Figs. 6.32, 6.42, 6.43). Other investigators have reported them in normal renal tissue as well as in GN and renal transplants [1464]. The thread-like structures exhibit a 100 Å periodicity and, in the surroundings of these structures, round to oval, 800–1000 Å-sized virus-like particles (Fig. 6.43) can be seen. We consider these structures to be degradation products but not viruses.

Concerning cytomegaly, see p. 323.

Changes of the Mesangium (Figs. 6.80, 6.81)

In contrast to some of the glomerular structures described in previous sections, extensive and diagnostically significant findings can be obtained in the mesangium using solely LM. To be sure, evaluation of the mesangium with LM alone is extremely difficult. Reference slides cut at the same thickness as the biopsy, taken from healthy individuals of the same age will be found useful to the less experienced.

Factors decisive for correct understanding and classification of mesangial changes are (1) the relationship of the mesangial cell number to the mesangial surface and (2) concordance or discordance between the PAS and PASM stains.

If purely subjective evaluation shows an increase in the quotient mesangial cell number/mesangial surface (morphometric evaluation is hardly feasible for routine work) we speak of mesangial cell proliferation. If the quotient is decreased, we refer to mesangial sclerosis (=matrix increase).

With the above operative definitions in mind, the following four forms of mesangial change can be distinguished:

Mesangial Changes Without Cell Increase

1. Mesangial widening without mesangial matrix increase

in PAS stain: considerable widening of mesangial surface

in PASM stain: no (or scanty) increase of silver impregnable matrix (=PAS/PASM-discordance).

In these cases, the widening of the mesangial surface is due to swelling of mesangial cells.

2. Mesangial sclerosis: concordant widening in PAS and PASM stain of mesangial surface.

Mesangial Changes With Cell Increase

1. Without mesangial sclerosis:

Discordance between the PAS and PASM stains (due, in this instance, to mesangial cell proliferation and swelling).

2. With mesangial sclerosis:

Concordant stain results with PAS and PASM.

Reduction of the mesangial surface, mesangiolysis, has been observed in the experimental setting using Habu snake poison [275, 740] and, in humans, in echovirus infection in immune deficiency [1816], in Wegner's Syndrome [1498] and in Schönlein Henoch's purpura (see p. 323, Fig. 17.8).



Fig. 6.80. Histogram. Mesangial changes (for details, see Fig. 6.9)



Fig. 6.81. Reaction pattern of mesangial parameters as seen with EM and its correlation to glomerular IF findings (for details, see Fig. 6.22)

Mesangial Widening Without Cell Increase

Mesangial widening without cell increase and with or without mesangial sclerosis corresponds, for the most part, to the picture of glomerulonephrosis and glomerulosclerosis (Figs. 19.1, 19.2, 19.3) respectively and is especially characteristic for mesangial changes in transplant glomerulopathy (Figs. 6.80, 6.81, 6.79). In acute, toxic glomerulonephrosis-as seen in EM-the mesangium is much loosened [1154] and in mesangial cells, an increase in cytoplasmic organelles, nuclear swelling and polymorphism and lipid/protein inclusions is observed (Fig. 6.81). No relevant mesangial matrix increase can be demonstrated with EM. Sometimes, an obvious discordant staining result – considerable widening of the mesangium in PAS stain, no relevant increase of silver-impregnable matrix-may be seen in IgA-nephritis due to mesangial deposits not stained in PASM.

In glomerulosclerosis, on the other hand, there occurs an increase of the mesangial matrix as is seen in hepatic glomerulosclerosis, diabetes mellitus (Fig. 19.18), plasmocytoma (Fig. 19.32), amyloidosis (Fig. 19.7; [275, 1624]) and kidney transplants (Figs. 6.80, 6.81). In amyloidosis, the deposition of amyloid fibrils contributes to the picture of mesangial sclerosis. Rarely, typical collagen is found in old cases of glomerulosclerosis (Fig. 6.82). In this event the diagnosis of glomerulosclerosis with fibrosis is appropriate. In the late stages of GN ('burned-out' GN) the picture of pure mesangial sclerosis may, exceptionally, also occur (Fig. 6.83). Accordingly, infantile mesangial sclerosis [625] may belong to the late-stage GN type of mesangial change (see p. 366).

Mesangial Widening With Cell Increase

Mesangial widening with cell increase is the most characteristic reaction of the mesangium (Fig. 14.15). The reaction pattern and the associated IF-findings are given in Figures 6.80 and 6.81.

Mesangial widening with cell increase without concomitant matrix increase is seen in exudative and exudativeproliferative GN. During the exudative stage of GN, a few leukocytes or monocytes can be found between mesangial cells [1145]. Mesangial matrix bars are pushed apart from each other by the strongly proliferated and swollen mesangial cells; the bars are not significantly broadened (Fig. 14.19).

Mesangial cells show signs of hypertrophy with an increase of cytoplasmic organelles (Figs. 6.84, 6.85). Simultaneously, a striking swelling and polymorphy of the nuclei is also often present (Figs. 6.80, 6.81). In later stages of GN, for example during the proliferative-sclerosing stage, there occurs a progressive loosening (Fig. 6.86) and an increase of the mesangial matrix accompanied concurrently by a decrease in cellular swelling and proliferation.

The subdivision of mesangial changes presented above and based primarily on LM is not as obvious under EM. This is so because under EM, cell increase—also in non-GN cases—is frequently more evident than it is with LM (Fig. 6.80). This explains why the EM reaction pattern encompasses both a cell and matrix increase not only in GN, but also in non-GN diseases. However, the EM reaction pattern also demonstrates that cell and matrix increase are not necessarily dependent upon the presence of deposits. On the other hand, cell and matrix increase as well as nuclear polymorphism—as seen under EM—correlate with the IF-demonstrated immunoglobulins and complement factors, thus indicating that these factors are the most important triggers of mesangial reaction (Fig. 6.81).

From a quantitative point of view, we differentiate panmesangial widening if the entire mesangium is widened and axial widening if the mesangial islands as seen in cut sections merge to form an axis from the periphery to the vascular pole and 'minimal change' if the widening is slight, insular, 'spotty' and discontinuous, (see p. 180). The occurrence of no more than 3-5 mesangial nuclei embedded closely together in a PAS-positive mesangial matrix in often hardly more than 10% of glomeruli is characteristic for glomerular minimal change. This form of mesangial widening may be found in Alport's disease with, however, specific BM changes demonstrable with EM. Foci of this kind of mesangial widening are also observed in severe cases of hypertension [1090] as well as in a wide variety of other non-GN diseases (Figs. 6.80, 6.81).

With EM, lipid and protein droplets (heterolysomes) can often be demonstrated in mesangial change (Fig. 6.80). We have observed them in GN in 39.3%, in nonglomerulonephritic disease in 25.9% and in renal transplants in 51.2% of our cases. Mesangial foam cells (Fig. 6.87), on the other hand, are very rarely observed. Their differentiation from endothelial foam cells is usually difficult even with EM. We encountered mesangial foam cells in 0.6% of GN and 2.8% of renal transplants. They occur diffusely and globally in storage diseases only (e.g., GM l-gangliosidosis; Figs. 23.1, 23.2).

Fig. 6.82. Collagen fibers in the mesangium (an extremely rare \triangleright finding) from a 4.5 month-old transplant. Male, 37 years. EM (×23,000)

Fig. 6.83. Thickening of mesangium without cell increase in sclerosing stage of endotheliomesangial GN. Female, 36 years. EM $(\times 10,000)$



6.83

It is not yet possible to determine reliably whether or not mesangial changes are active, i.e., progressive (see p. 173). Indicative of activity are cell increase, nuclear swelling and, with EM, marked emphasis of nuclear lobulation and endoplasmatic reticulum increase.

Some investigators [1284] differentiate three types of mesangial cells: resting, active and dark. The dark ones are reported to be characterized by being shrunken, degenerated and by having dense, notched nuclei. They have been described as occurring in a scattered fashion in normal kidneys and in considerable numbers in the region of large immunodeposits. We have not been able to identify these dark cells in any of our biopsies.

A characteristic property of mesangial cells is their tendency to wander between BM and endothelium in the capillary loop periphery in chronic inflammation. This behavior is termed mesangial interposition (circumferential interposition or intussusception Figs. 6.18, 6.33; [40, 275, 454]. This change is best recognizable in thin PASMstained sections by the presence of a double BM (socalled tram-track picture, see p. 62). Massive mesangial interposition is found in the region of subendothelial deposits and, accordingly, almost exclusively in membranoproliferative GN and focally accentuated GN.

Massive mesangial deposits are found in a special form of GN, namely, mesangial IgA-GN (Fig. 17.62, see p. 350; [123, 128]). Scattered mesangial deposits are also encountered in almost all of the other forms of GN and even non-GN (Figs. 6.34) and are usually associated with mesangial matrix and cell increase (Fig. 6.39). They are, however, scanty and usually too small to be demonstrable with LM. Fairly frequently, mesangial deposits can be massively present in membranoproliferative GN (Fig. 6.52, p. 231). A deposite-like mesangial widening is also observed in association with amyloid deposition (see p. 382).

Changes of the Glomerular Capsule (Figs. 6.88, 6.89)

Parietal Epithelium (Capsular Epithelium)

It is noted that parietal epithelial cells respond considerably less markedly than the visceral ones (see histogram Figs. 6.88, 6.57).

Epithelial hypertrophy and lipid or protein droplet inclusion (Fig. 6.93) can occur in all nephropathies (Figs. 6.88, 6.89). Lipid and protein droplets (Fig. 6.93) are occassionally seen in cases with normal urinary findings in different nephropathies but are usually found in GN (Fig. 6.89). Epithelial necroses are rare and occur mainly in non-GN (Fig. 6.88). Cylindrical or papillary metaplasia of the parietal epithelium is only observed with tumors and above all with those of the liver [1068, 1314].

Crescents: Proliferation of capsular epithelium globally, respectively totally (encompassing the entire circumference of the glomerular capsule, Fig. 6.90) or segmentally, respectively partially (parietal crescents involving only a segment of the capsule space, Fig. 6.91) represents a requisite condition for subsequent development of synechia. Both correlate with the presence of fibrin (-ogen) in the glomerulus (Fig. 6.89). Moreover, fibrin within the capsular space is considered as a prerequisite condition for crescent formation. True capsular epithelial proliferation is to be differentiated from pericapsular connective tissue proliferation with LM. The majority of the proliferating cells constituting crescents are of capsular epithelial origin. These cells appear light with EM (Fig. 6.92), can phagocytize and transform into fibroblasts. Between the proliferating cells, isolated dark podocytes exhibiting markedly cystoidally widened endoplasmatic reticulum -- as seen with EM-can always be found (Fig. 6.92). A few capsular epithelial cells may undergo destruction or become transformed into foam cells (Fig. 6.92). It is assumed, exceptionally, that hematogenous monocytoid cells are significantly involved in the proliferative process [876]. We have not been able to convince ourselves about this even though monocytoid elements—in addition to neutrophilic leukocytes—can be observed in the glomerular capillaries in the exudative stage of GN [229]. These cells are assumed to wander into the capsular space through defects in the BM [1146] and to proliferate and transform there into 'epitheloid' cells as in a tubercle. We have never encountered this type of cell and do not believe that this is the regular course of events. A coarse granular exudation, occassionally with fibrin fibers, is always found between the cells of the crescent relatively early (Fig. 6.94; [1653]). Both elements are replaced quickly by BM-like substance initially (Fig. 6.95) and by collagen subsequently (Fig. 6.96; [789, 1064]).

Fig. 6.84. Normal mesangial cell with very scanty cytoplasm \triangleright (for comparison with Fig. 6.85). Male, 62 years. EM (×12,700)

Fig. 6.85. Hypertrophied activated mesangial cell with nuclear polymorphism, increased cytoplasm and organelles in sclerosing FGN (poor fixation of material). Male, 40 years. EM (\times 12,700)

Fig. 6.86. Severely loosened mesangial matrix in acute transplant rejection (27 days after transplantation). Male, 44 years. EM (\times 18,000)

Fig. 6.87. Mesangial foam cells with numerous lipid-containing vacuoles in IgA mesangial GN. Female, 31 years. EM (×13,000)









Fig. 6.89. Reaction pattern of parameters of Bowman's capsule as seen in EM and its correlation to glomerular IF findings (for details, see Fig. 6.22, for number of cases see Fig. 6.88).

Proliferation of capsular epithelium is thought to be by and large reversible and at least so in the absence of a heavy fibrin network. Coring of proliferated epithelium leads to so-called pseudotubule formation (=adenomatoid structures, Fig. 6.97). Pseudotubuli lumens are frequently covered with podocytes under which a thin BM is formed. In the final phase, the cells disappear and a coarse collagenous fiber network with a few fibrocytes remains behind.

Synechiae (Figs. 6.98, 6.99) arise by fusion of capillary loop BM and capsule BM [1508] (Fig. 6.100). During this process, it appears that fibrin extravasated into the capsular space is a precondition (see Fig. 6.94) and template for the BM substance [779]. Indications of forthcoming synechia formation have been reported on the twelfth day of exudative GN [206]. Such formations, however, are more likely adhesions than true synechiae. Occurrence of synechiae point very strongly to a primary inflammatory glomerular disease. It is recalled, however, that they can, on occasion, occur following capillary loop thrombosis and necrosis, e.g., at the edge of infarcts, in malignant nephrosclerosis and other lesions.

Capsular Basement Membrane

Capsular BM, in both LM and EM, is often thickened (Fig. 6.88) and always so in glomerular collapse. It may also be fragmented (Fig. 6.101) in the diseased as well as in the normal kidney. BM is severely fragmented in pyelonephritic obsolescence and often infiltrated with connective tissue cells. It is destroyed in Wegener's disease (see p. 348) and less pronouncedly in Goodpasture's disease (see p. 339) but rarely in other forms of GN. With EM, the BM occassionally has a network-like appearence and demonstrates vacuoles and lipid droplets (Fig. 6.101); these findings cannot be regularly associated with other renal changes.

Fibrinoid, coarse spindle-like or ovoid thickenings—the so-called capsular drops (Fig. 19.27)—are considered characteristic for diabetes mellitus (see p. 393). They are rarely found in a variety of other nephropathies.

Dense intramembranous capsular BM deposits are usually present in intramembranous GN. A few osmiophilic deposits are also found in other forms of GN (Fig. 6.88) and slightly more frequently in transplants, chronic pyelonephritis and an isolated few even occur in the normal kidney (Figs. 6.88, 6.89, 6.102). Their significance is unknown.

Capsular Space

Material from a needle biopsy viewed with EM frequently contains in the capsular space cell elements encompassing mitochondria, protein droplets, and parts of the brush border of proximal tubules (Fig. 6.103) which must be considered as artifacts. The presence of erythrocytes, leukocytes, and fibrin in the capsular space is unquestionably pathologic; they are found mainly in GN and renal transplants (5% of our cases; see histogram, Fig. 6.88).

Bowman's capsular space, which accounts for 30-50% of the glomerular cross-sectional area in the normal kidney, is almost totally filled with loop convolutes in severe GN.

In glomerular collapse, on the other hand, the capsular space is often enormously expanded; it is especially prominent in pyelonephritis of Montaldo's type (Fig. 20.54; see p. 340).

Page 104

Fig. 6.90. Global (total) crescent with preserved capsule BM (\rightarrow) in extracapillary accentuated GN of 6 weeks' duration. In the center, glomerular capillary loops are completely collapsed. Female, 62 years. PAS (× 500)

Fig. 6.91. Segmental (partial) crescents in Goodpasture's syndrome. Proliferated capsular epithelial cells (\rightarrow) evidence numerous (hyaline) protein droplets. Note glomerular capillary loop synechiae (SY). Female, 70 years. PAS (× 525)

Fig. 6.92. Crescent in extracapillary accentuated GN in anti-BMtype GN (Masugi type). Foam cells of capsular epithelium (F), podocyte with cystoid-widened endoplasmatic reticulum and marked osmiophilic cytoplasm (P), osmiophilic deposits (D) in capsular BM. Remaining cells are proliferated capsular epithelial cells. Female 60 years. EM (\times 3900)

Page 105

Fig. 6.93. Numerous protein droplets in capsular epithelium in congenital nephrotic syndrome. Female, 6 months. EM (\times 2400)

Fig. 6.94. Coarse fibrin strands (\rightarrow) between proliferated capsular epithelial cells in extracapillary accentuated GN of the anti-BM-type (Masugi type). Glomerular capillary loop BM ($\leftarrow BM$) is unchanged in this section. Female, 60 years. EM (\times 3700)

Fig. 6.95. Formation of BM-like material (\rightarrow) is seen between proliferated capsular epithelial cells in endotheliomesangial GN with some crescents. Clinically, 4 months' duration. Male, 63 years. EM (\times 7800)

Fig. 6.96. Same case as in Figure 6.94. Collagen fiber formation (C) between proliferated capsular epithelial cells and podocytes in late phase of crescent formation. Female, 60 years. EM ($\times 8900$)



6.90 6.91





Glomerular Obsolescence

A few isolated completely (globally) obsolescent glomeruli are consistently encountered in normal kidneys (see Table 4.1). With glomerular obsolescence, it is important to determine whether it is diffuse or focal and whether the involvement is segmental or global.

The focal segmental form of glomerular obsolescence is especially found in all forms of GN associated with and due to crescents and in sclerosing FGN.

Three different types of obsolescence can be differentiated with LM [216]:

- 1. Glomerulonephritic proliferative type
- 2. Ischemic, vascular (collapse/infarct) type
- 3. Pyelonephritic destructive type.

In general, however, analysis will be based more on the study of neighboring regions and attendant changes than on that of a single obsolescent glomerulus since differentiation as to type of obsolescence on a single glomerulus is very often impossible, and especially so with EM (see also [1179]). IF is of no significant help in the differentiation, since the predominant immunoglobulins found in obsolescent glomeruli of different types and in different nephropathies are IgM and C3 (see Fig. 11.17). The matter is further complicated by the fact that the three types can occur simultaneously and in close proximity in the same case. Frequency of distribution of the three types in relation to renal disease is given in Table 6.1.

Fig. 6.98. Sclerosing stage of membranoproliferative GN. Both glomeruli show synechiae (Sy) and considerable loop obsolescence. Extensive inflammatory infiltration in interstitium and atrophy of tubules are present. Female, 26 years. PAS ($\times 175$)

Fig. 6.99. Synechia (\rightarrow) over isolated, parially obsolescent glomerular capillary loops in proliferative FGN. Male, 34 years. PASM (× 350) Table 6.1. Relative frequency of the various types of obsolescent (hyalinized) glomeruli in our material

Nephropathy	Type of obsolescence				
	GN- type (%)°	Pyelo- type (%)	Col- lapse- type (%)	Non- differ- entiable (%)	
Glomerulonephritic contracted kidney $(n=30^{a}/318^{b})$	9.6 <u>+</u> 19.4	_	53.4 ±43.9	26.9 ±43.1	
Pyelonephritic contracted kidney (n=10/290)	3.0 ±4.8	15.9 ±14.8	61.1 ±29.2	19.0 ±19.3	
Ischemic, vascular contracted kidney (n=11/600)	2.3 ±4.1	$1.4 \\ \pm 3.2$	74.9 ± 20.1	21.7 ±16.1	

^a No. of cases.

^b No. of obsolescent glomeruli.

^c % of obsolescent glomeruli (\bar{x} , SD).

Glomerulonephritic Type of Glomerular Obsolescence

This type of obsolescence (centrifugal: [1127]) is often only recognizable by the confused arrangement of both the capillary loop BM and mesangium in the completely coalesced capillary loops.

Two forms are recognizable: obsolescence without crescent formation and collapse (Fig. 6.104) and obsolescence with both (Fig. 6.105). In the more or less intact glomeruli—at least in diffuse GN—synechiae and pseudotubuli are occassionally encountered in the region of old crescents (see p. 100; Fig. 6.109). Capsular BM is sometimes well preserved but is usually fragmented and less strongly collagenized than in the pyelonephritic destructive type.

De novo formation of shunt vessels through transformation of individual capillary loops leading to formation of arteriolae rectae verae is quite common (Fig. 6.104). Their presence is thought to explain the absence of necrosis in surrounding parenchyma which is supplied by the vasa efferentia.

With EM, the original capillary loops are usually still recognizable by their coarse, wrinkled, electron-opaque BM (Fig. 6.106). They can be filled in with osmiophilic masses. On the inner aspect, BM exhibits marked osmiophilic finely granular deposits (Fig. 6.106) which probably arise by insudative processes. These deposits now and again contain extensive lipoid vacuoles and degeneration granules. Analogous changes are demonstrable in pure collapse glomeruli.

We have repeatedly found a tenuously fibrillar or granular electron-loose material on the capillary loop surface

[⊲] Fig. 6.97. Same case as in Figure 6.94. Adenomatoid structure (pseudotubule: X) in a crescent containing fibrin strands. Clear cells are proliferated capsular epithelial cells between which BM-like material (→) is seen. Degenerated podocytes (P). Female, 60 years. EM (×1500)



resting directly on the BM. This material bridges the spaces between the individual capillary loops; it is covered by degenerated podocytes (Fig. 6.109; see also [597]).

Directly under the podocytes in this situation there is frequently found a very thin, new l. densa which appears to have the same finely fibrous structure as the previously mentioned material.

The remnant capsular space is rarely filled out with proliferating epithelium which undergoes secondary changes (see p. 100). Far more frequently, the space is occupied by finely granular masses with numerous, unequally large amorphic particles (Figs. 6.107, 6.108). Peripherally, this material often demonstrates a thin, newly formed l. densa upon which are found the degenerated podocytes towards the exterior (Fig. 6.108).

The granular exudative masses in the capsular space are partially permeated with BM-like substance originating in part from capsular BM and in part from podocytes. Later, collagen fibers appear (Fig. 6.109; [779, 1179]).

Only rarely there is a complete loss of capsular BM with replacement by connective tissue and attendant severe periglomerular fibrosis. The capsular BM may also be found completely intact (Fig. 6.107).

In the capsular BM, we rarely observed osmiophilic deposits which we suppose to be of insudative origin.

The cause of the glomerulonephritic type of obsolescence is inflammatory glomerular loop destruction. Analogous obsolescence is also present in Alport's syndrome, occasionally in pyelonephritis (hematogeneous foci), in diabetes mellitus as well as in ischemic contracted kidney.

Page 110

Fig. 6.103. Free contents in the capsular space in endotheliomesangial GN. Free mitochondria (*MI*), epithelial fragments with mitochondria (X), stereocilia (\rightarrow), capsular epithelium (*CE*), basement membrane of a peripheral glomerular capillary loop with preserved foot processes (*BM*). Male, 10 years. EM (\times 4620)

Fig. 6.104. Glomerular obsolescence in GN contracted kidney. No residues of capsular epithelial proliferation are recognizable. Tubules are highly atrophic, and their BM is not particularly thickened. Shunt vessel (SV). Male, 37 years. PAS (\times 160)

Fig. 6.105. Type of collapse obsolescence of glomerulus with severely thickened capsular BM. PAS (\times 480)

Fig. 6.106. Obsolescent glomerular capillary loop in so-called overload glomerulitis in a case of chronic pyelonephritis. There are extensive osmiophilic deposits with vacuoles and lipids in the subendothelial space. Podocyte (P), fibrillar subepithelial thickening (*). Original lamina densa ($\rightarrow \leftarrow$). Male, 32 years. EM (×8970)

Page 111

✓ Fig. 6.100. Synechiae in sclerosing FGN. There is fusion of the dark peripheral glomerular capillary loop BM with that of the capsule (*CBM*) which is much loosened. Capillary loop obsolescence is noted under synechiae. Podocytes (*P*) and their nuclei are considerably swollen as is the neighboring capsular epithelium (*CE*). Male, 27 years. EM (× 3500)

Fig. 6.101. High degree of splitting, thickening and vacuolization of the capsular BM which shows numerous lipid-containing vacuoles and severe foot process fusion of a neighboring glomerular capillary loop in a case of endotheliomesangial GN. Female, 36 years. EM (\times 8700)

Fig. 6.102. Thickening of the capsular BM by extensive osmiophilic deposits (D) in an otherwise unchanged kidney. Female, 25 years. EM (\times 4290) Fig. 6.107. Obliteration of capsular space in GN contracted kidney. Capsular basement membrane (CBM) is not thickened. The capsular space is filled up with collagen-containing masses in which an adenomatoid-like lacuna is seen (*), lined by endothe-lial-like cells attached to a typical BM. Male, 40 years. EM (\times 3500)

Fig. 6.108. Same case as in Figure 6.107. Granular material with isolated collagen fibers and irregularly formed particles in the former capsular space are in evidence. Podocyte (P), thickened basement membrane of an obliterated glomerular capillary loop (BM). Male, 40 years. EM (×17,000)

Fig. 6.109. Obliterated capsular space is rich in collagen fibers. Adenomatoid spaces (*) surrounded by a rather thick BM are lined by podocytes demonstrating formation of microvilli. Male, 40 years. EM (\times 5600)







Fig. 6.110. Collapse glomerulus in chronic pyelonephritis. Glomerular capillary loops are completely collapsed, which is clearly evident in the center. Podocyte increase and edematous swelling is obvious. Male, 1 year. EM (\times 2400)

The Ischemic Type of Glomerular Obsolescence

Collapse Type. This type is the most frequent of those of vascular origin. It develops slowly. Its most striking characteristics are: the thickening and, above all, the wrinkling of capillary loop BM (Figs. 6.110, 6.111). Additionally, mesangial cells disappear and there occurs a simplification of the entire glomerulus. Podocyte proliferation is clearly apparent in infants and small children; these podocytes are especially large and almost cubic (Fig. 6.110).

The capsular space is progressively filled by masses which are van Gieson yellow and PAS negative or slightly positive and which quite often contain collagen fibers. Due to their van Gieson yellow staining, they are variously designated as fibrinoid or as hyaline and are said to be rich in 5-nucleotidases [1064].

Fibrin stains are negative. It is assumed that the masses are of exudative origin arising from increased capillary loop permeability caused by ischemia. An exudation through capsular epithelial cells is held to be unlikely [1179].

Shunt vessels are very rarely encountered. Nevertheless, cortical parenchyma in these areas is usually not necrotic since its requirement for blood is probably low due to severe ischemic injury. The capsular BM is usually homogeneously thickened and fragmented (Fig. 6.111). Additionally, a slight, perifocal interstitial fibrosis scantily infiltrated with lymphocytes is usually found.

With EM, large fibrinoid osmiophilic masses containing lipid vacuoles are often demonstrable in the capillary loops, a finding we believe to be indicative of secondary insudation into the original capillary loop lumen. The finely fibrillar and granular material between BM and podocytes with formation of a new thin l. densa (Fig. 6.108) is encountered now and again. We once observed a very old capillary loop obsolescence underneath a very fresh partial crescent. Such changes must not be taken as proof of glomerulonephritis.

The capsular BM is always prominently thickened, often fragmented, and displays, in part, lipid-containing degeneration vacuoles. It can be interspersed with fibrocytes or even—as seen in one case—be completely missing. The capsular space shows far richer collagen formation in the finely granular masses than is the case in GN obsolescence. With LM, the masses are initially seen at the glomerular hilus (Fig. 6.112).

The direct cause of collapse obsolescence is hypoxic injury of the capillary loops. Indirectly, it is attributable to severe proximal vascular stenosis involving arteries of every caliber but especially arterioles (arteriolosclerosis). A more frequent cause of collapse is primary pyelonephritis with secondary vascular disease whereby, along with the collapse glomerulus, pyelonephritic obsolescence is also observed. Collapse-type obsolescent glomeruli constitute the bulk of obsolescent glomeruli not only in ischemic contracted kidney and pyelonephritis but also in GN and other nephropathies (e.g., chronic interstitial nephritis/hydronephrosis) (Table 6.1).

Accelerated obsolescence, reported as characteristic and almost pathognomonic for malignant nephrosclerosis [783], shows, in addition to capillary loop collapse and fragmentation of capsular BM, a simplification of the vascular bed in which, nevertheless, the loops contain erythrocytes. With EM, a peculiar, irregular thickening of the l. rara interna can be recognized. Between this lamina and the endothelium, a second, very thin layer of l. densa is present. Corresponding pictures of this finding [783] (Fig. 6.27) concur exactly with ours in scleroderma. This investigator also observed the finding in scleroderma, and he considers it similar to that found in severe transplant glomerulopathy, in which we also found l. rara thickening-of greater degree-as well as new formation of a l. densa layer. In our material, the described so-called accelerated obsolescence could not be found in malignant nephrosclerosis.

Infarct Type. A second form of ischemic glomerular obsolescence is encountered in renal infarct. In this form, in contrast to the collapse type, the glomerular capillary loops are dilated and filled with erythrocytes and thus come to occupy the entire capsular space. It is in this way that ball glomeruli arise. Initially, they are granular and later PAS positive. Collagenous fibers are not formed for a considerable length of time in the postinfarct period. These glomeruli are yellow or orange with van Gieson staining (Fig. 6.113).

Pathogenetically important factors in this type of glomerular obsolescence include instantaneous and complete ischemia due to complete vascular occlusion, as well as capillary loop blood stasis.

Pyelonepritic or Destructive Type of Glomerular Obsolescence

In this form, Bowman's capsule (proceeding from the interstitium) is loosened and infiltrated with collagen (Fig. 6.114; see [779, 1154]). As a rule, a very pronounced periglomerular fibrosis with numerous small lymphocytes is present.

The original capsular space may be rich in van Giesonyellow amorphic masses. In infantile pyelonephritis as in early infantile glomerulonephritic contracted kidney (see p. 356), completely torn down glomeruli, in the form of so-called spider scars are easily overlooked. In both pyelonephritis and chronic interstitial nephritis, doubling of the capsular BM with exudation between the layers with an empty capsular space—is fairly frequently observed (Fig. 6.114). An exudate may arise from the interstitium and pass through the capsular BM. The find-





Fig. 6.115. Glomerular obsolescence in chronic pyelonephritis. Glomerular capillary loop collapse and splitting of capsular BM permeated by connective tissue (X). Capsular space is filled with amorphous material (\rightarrow). Female, 25 years. EM (×1000)

✓ Fig. 6.111. Glomerular obsolescence of collapse type in chronic interstitial nondestructive nephritis after mushroom poisoning (*Amanita phalloides*) 5 years previously. Glomerular capillary loops are completely collapsed and their BM is severely wrinkled. Capsular space is totally filled with a homogeneous mass which is very poor in nuclei. Capsular BM is splintered. Male, 51 years. PAS (×230)

Fig. 6.112. Incipient collapse obsolescence of a glomerulus in arteriolosclerosis associated with hypertension. Very fine-granular, LM homogenous and, occasionally, coarse clumpy masses are discernable in the split capsular BM at the glomerular hilus. Entire capsular BM is clearly thickened and, at times, already doubled. Female, 62 years. PAS (\times 550)

Fig. 6.113. Completely obsolescent (van Gieson yellow-orange stained) glomeruli (appearing-pale in micrograph) in an infarct scar. No tubular residues are present. Interstitium is very shrunken and, accordingly, the glomeruli are densely packed. Van Gieson ($\times 230$)

Fig. 6.114. Glomerular obsolescence in chronic pyelonephritis. With the van Gieson stain as used here, the glomerulus (G) appears yellow-orange and the splintered and thickened capsular BM (CBM) red. Female, 42 years. Van Gieson (×480)

ings with EM are by and large consistent with those already described (Fig. 6.115).

Pathogenetically, a centripetal mechanism seems to be operating [836, 1127]. The inflammatory process encroaches on the glomerulus from the interstitium. The capillary loops collapse secondarily due to the exudation.

Glomerular Destruction

Complete glomerular destruction occurs in embolic purulent hematogenous FGN (Fig. 5.7), miliary tuberculosis (Fig. 20.53) and in the pyelonephritis of early childhood as noted above. It is also encountered in Wegener's syndrome—in this case caused by granulomatous periglomerulitis (Fig. 17.46)—and, more rarely, in Goodpasture's syndrome. Finally, complete glomerular destruction is observed in the glomerulonephritic contracted kidney of early childhood (so-called oligonephronia). The consequence of the destruction is scar formation or coiled BM remnants in the form of socalled spider scars (Fig. 17.65).

7. Histopathology of the Juxtaglomerular Apparatus (JGA)

Limiting Factors Imposed by Biopsy

Diagnostic possibilities for interpreting JGA changes in renal biopsy are limited by the small number of glomeruli obtained by biopsy procedure. At least 25 JGA sections are said to be required for meaningful quantitative determination of cell number or JGA surface with LM [1089]. However, other data have shown that evaluation of 10 JGA sections will give the same results as obtained when 25 are studied [174, 330]. If only 10 JGA sections are studied, diagnostically relevant conclusions are only possible in the presence of very pronounced pathologic changes (100% of the control value); otherwise, the variability of findings is too extensive to be of diagnostic significance. From 10 to 40 sections through glomeruli are required to obtain sections through 6 JGAs (if serial sections which encompass all JGAs are not made). A further limiting factor is the fact that significant differences are present in JGAs taken from different parts of the kidney [1245, 1529].

Prognostic Value in Renal Hypertension

A few centers use results from the quantitative evaluation of the JGA (also with frozen sections) to predict the success of surgery in renal hypertension.



Fig. 7.1. Hyperplasia of the juxtaglomerular apparatus (J) in Addison's disease. PAS (\times 500)

Fig. 7.2. Hyperplasia of the juxtaglomerular apparatus (J) in Bartter's syndrome. PASM ($\times 800$)

If biopsies from both kidneys are compared with each other, the influence of a surgical procedure on blood pressure can be predicted with a measurable degree of certitude, i.e., decrease in blood pressure associated with an obvious difference in JGA size between the two kidneys [330, 448]. Preoperative measurement of renin from each renal vein separately gives the same magnitude of prognostic assurance [81, 175]. We have not been able to confirm a correlation between semiquantitative study of JGA morphology in biopsies and of success prediction of surgical procedures in renal hypertension.

Renin granules are clearly identifiable with ultrastructural techniques (Fig. 4.16) (see p. 32). Therefore, in the presence of cytologic findings characteristic of increased synthetic activity, e.g., enlargement of rough endoplasmatic reticulum and Golgi fields and an increase in granules, hypertrophy of individual JGAs can be diagnosed [487, 1089, 1383]. central renal artery stenosis. Other conditions resulting in decreased renal blood flow include contracted kidneys of various etiology, kidney in shock, liver cirrhosis, eclampsia and Addison's disease (Figs. 7.1, 4.12, 4.13, 4.14, 4.15, 4.16); enlarged JGA due to impaired blood flow is also seen in renal transplants (Fig. 30.74, p. 606) and in tissue bordering kidney scars [21, 240, 270, 436a, 449, 1089, 1808]. Since central renal artery stenosis is often associated with hypertension, it is assumed, with the support of experimental evidence as well, that activation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system is the cause of renal hypertension [601a].

In Addison's disease (Fig. 7.1) and in Bartter's syndrome (Fig. 7.2), both of which evidence intense stimulation of the renin-angiotension-aldosterone system in the face of normal blood pressure, it is noted, however, that JGA activation and size increase are not necessarily accompanied by hypertension [919].

Increase in JGA Size

Decrease in JGA Size

Increase in JGA cell number and size, and, accordingly in overall JGA size, is regularly observed in conditions of acute or chronic decreased renal blood flow. A classic example of a chronic decrease in renal blood flow is

In Conn's syndrome (primary hyperaldosteronism with hypertension and hypervolemia) the JGA is atrophic [270, 1084, 1090, 1698].

8. Histopathology of the Renal Tubules

[103, 263, 655, 1068, 1156, 1571a]

Problems in Evaluation

The evaluation of renal tubular lesions from biopsy material—especially with respect to specific disease states—is not easy. Some of the factors responsible for difficulties encountered in renal tubular study are given below.

- 1. Under normal conditions, immersion fixation can lead to tubular collapse with reduction in the size of the lumen which, in turn, causes a change in the surface component of the various cell compartments due to cellular swelling. This change is not found regularly in man as it is in experimental animals (rat) and it may indicate that the time required for development of tubular collapse in man is longer that it is in the rat.
- 2. Even under physiologic conditions, neighboring nephrons do not function identically, so that findings vary from nephron to nephron. This is also true for diseased kidneys. For example, in shock kidney, a few nephrons with collapsed tubules are always present among those with typically dilated tubules.
- 3. Morphologic findings in a single nephron show that functional differences among the individual tubular cells of the nephron exist. An example of this is the physiologic cell turnover which, as measured by the urinary excretion of tubular epithelium, is slight when the subject is at rest, but considerably increased with physical stress or after administration of diuretics [748].

Degenerative and regenerative tubular epithelial changes are also regularly demonstrable under controlled conditions. Therefore, differences in disease states are, accordingly, quantitative and not qualitative.

4. Atrophy is the most frequent tubular change. It is due to primary vascular, glomerular or interstitial kidney disease. No specific morphologic changes permitting correlation to underlying disease processes can be evaluated from the atrophic tubules.

Mindful of the above, it is readily seen that tubular changes seldom assume diagnostic significance except, for example, in shock kidney, in cytomegalovirus infections, or in specific storage diseases. Histopathology of Complex Tubular Changes

Necrosis

Tubular necrosis (Fig. 8.1) is characterized by eosinophilia, loss of nuclei, cytoplasmic degeneration, and, ultimately, detachment and removal of necrotic epithelial cells which are flushed out in the urine. Regeneration of the tubular epithelium occurs in a proximal to distal sequence, i.e., in the direction of urine flow.

With EM, necrobiosis becomes perceptible in the form of cellular shrinkage and nuclear pyknosis (Fig. 8.2). Organelles often exhibit vacuolar degeneration (Figs. 8.3, 8.6) which is particularly evident for the basal labyrinth (Fig. 8.4). In anoxia, there first occurs a flattening of the epithelium as is seen in shock (Fig. 8.5).

In toxic tubular injury this change is less clearly pronounced (Fig. 8.6). Necrotic cells are partially or completely detached into the lumen (Fig. 8.7) with signs of ballooning (Fig. 8.6).

For proper regeneration to occur, the BM must be intact since it functions as a growth template [1674]. Data from animal experimentation indicate that tubular regeneration is at its maximum 3 days after a single injury with necrotic sequelae [213].

Fig. 8.1. Fresh tubulonecrosis in head injury. Autopsy specimen. \triangleright Female, 38 years. HE (×600)

Fig. 8.2. Necrobiotic cell in a collecting duct (N) shows nuclear shrinkage and severe condensation of the cytoplasm. Male, 22 years. EM (\times 3500)

Fig. 8.3. Kidney 1 h after transplantation with severe tubular cell injury: Necrotic tubular cell in situ (N); detritus in tubular lumen and desquamated necrotic epithelial cell (*); denuded tubular basement membrane (*BM*). Vacuolar transformation of organelles and cell detachment form BM (\rightarrow). Female, 48 years. EM (×2800)

Fig. 8.4. Severe anoxic injury of the proximal tubular epithelium in a 21-day-old transplant with acute interstitial rejection. Basal labyrinth is much widened and the epithelium is slightly flattened. Male, 34 years. EM ($\times 2080$)



Regenerating cells are low, have basophilic cytoplasm, large nuclei and numerous mitoses (Fig. 8.8). The brush border is at first absent from the proximal convoluted tubules but reappears following completed regeneration.

Ischemic injury, such as occurs in renal infarction or extensive intravasal coagulation, is the main cause of tubular necrosis. A few isolated necrotic cells are found in acute renal failure of various etiology (see p. 419). Accordingly, the designation, 'acute tubular necrosis' used to characterize acute renal failure is not appropriate from the morphologic point of view [403, 1213, 1453]. The extensively studied tubular necrosis observed in animals following experimental poisoning with heavy metals is only rarely observed today in humans [502].

Atrophy

Two morphologically different forms of tubular atrophy can be discerned. The first form (Figs. 8.9, 8.10) consists of atrophy with a decrease in the outer diameter, lumen, and size of the tubular cells with water-clear transformation of the cytoplasm (Figs. 8.9, 8.11). When atrophy is extensive, the resulting finding is referred to as an "endocrine kidney" (see p. 508). In this condition, the tubular BM is partially thickened by deposition of new BM substance on the inner aspect of the original BM (Fig. 8.10). This thickening is often accompanied by thinning of the BM at other sites [1808] (Fig. 8.11). In the second form of atrophy, the outer diameter of the tubules is not changed, the epithelial cells are flattened (Figs. 8.12, 8.13) and often demonstrate ischemic injury (Figs. 8.13, 8.14). The tubular lumen, which is widened due to cellular atrophy, is stopped up with urinary mucoid (Fig. 8.12). When many neighboring nephrons are implicated in the process, the atrophy is referred to as a pseudostruma configuration or thyroid-like picture (Fig. 8.12, see p. 50).

As mentioned previously, the first form is attributable to ischemic injury such as occurs with stenosis of the renal artery or thrombosis of the renal vein [1808]. A similar form of atrophy is also encountered in primary and secondary Fanconi syndrome in which tubular microdissection techniques have brought to light a swan neck-like transformation of the proximal convoluted tubules [343].

The second form of atrophy characteristically occurs in chronic pyelonephritis [1492a]; it is, however, also encountered in conditions associated with impairment of blood flow.

Hypertrophy

Hypertrophy of a few isolated nephrons characterized by an enormous increase in the outer diamter of the tubules, but with a normal cellular complement does occur and almost exclusively in the contracted kidney (Fig. 8.15). It is obviously an expression of a compensatory effort of the few remaining intact renal tubules. Similar findings are also found in advanced stages of so-called oligomeganephronia; see p. 356; [5, 428, 593, 626].

Dilatation

Tubular dilatation is defined as an increase in the inner and outer tubular diameter. In this condition — as in postnecrotic regeneration — some of the tubular cells dedifferentiate, while others show no LM characteristics distinguishing them from the normal state (Figs. 8.14, 22.1, 22.2, 22.3). The cause of tubular dilatation is to be found

Page 121

Fig. 8.5. Severe flattening of tubular epithelium and interstitial \triangleright edema in anoxia. Proximal tubule (*PC*), distal tubule (*DC*). Same case as Figure 8.4. Male, 34 years. EM (× 2200)

Fig. 8.6. Acute tubulonecrosis following therapy with gentamicin and keflin. Marked flattening of the epithelium (\rightarrow) and ballooning of cytoplasmic elements (*B*). Mitochondria are severely swollen in preserved tubular cells. Male, 66 years. EM (\times 3480)

Page 122

Fig. 8.7. Same case as in Figure 8.6. There is obvious desquamation of necrotic masses with complete denudation of tubular BM (\rightarrow) . Vacuolar transformation of cytoplasm in better preserved cells due to swelling of the organelles is present. Interstitium (*) is practically unchanged. Male, 66 years. EM (×1288)

Fig. 8.8. Regenerating tubular epithelium with mitoses (\rightarrow) in tubulonecroses following formic acid poisoning. Desquamated detritus from necrotic tubular cells (*). There is coarse vacuolar degeneration of the tubular cells. Female, 68 years. HE (×600)

Fig. 8.9. So-called endocrine kidney (contracted kidney due to renal artery stenosis). Dedifferentiation of tubular epithelium, which evidences clear cytoplasm and almost complete disappearance of the tubular lumen, are present. Tubular BM is usually somewhat variably thickened. PASM (\times 530)

Page 123

Fig. 8.10. Severe tubular atrophy with dedifferentiation of epithelium and pronounced thickening of tubular BM in pyelonephritic contracted kidney. Two phagocytes are lying between the layers of split tubular BM. New formation of a second BM subepithelially (\rightarrow) . Interstitium is severely fibrosed and demonstrates lymphohistiocytic infiltrates. Male, 52 years. EM (× 3500)

Fig. 8.11. High degree of dedifferentiation of a proximal tubule of the so-called endocrine type in contracted kidney due to stenosis of renal artery. Tubular lumen no longer discernible. Tubular BM is thinned and in several places completely missing (\rightarrow) . Numerous residual bodies (pigment) are present in the tubular cells. Male, 51 years. EM (\times 5500)





8.7



8.11



in an increased intratubular pressure such as is present in hydronephrosis (due to tubular obstruction) or in the polyuric stage of acute renal failure [378, 726, 1453].

Diverticulae

The occurrence of diverticulae in the distal convoluted tubule has been conclusively demonstrated using microdissection techniques (Fig. 4.19c, see p. 34). The number of diverticulae increase linearly with age. The pathogenesis and significance of tubular diverticulae are unknown [347].

Cytoplasmic Changes of the Tubular Epithelium

Vacuolar Changes

Fine Vacuolar Form (Osmotic Nephrosis, Carbohydrate or Sugar Storage Nephrosis, Fally Degeneration). This form is mostly observed in extreme storage of glomerularly filtered carbohydrates such as glucose, dextran, mannitol etc. (Figs. 8.16, 8.17).

Fine vacuolar change arises if (a) the amount of a carbohydrate in the tubular lumen or capillaries is increased or (b) in the presence of cellular insufficiency. The cause of cellular insufficiency may be associated with ischemic injury in cardiovascular collapse or with lysosomal enzymatic insufficiency which occurs in certain storage diseases [313, 568, 692, 918].

The frequently observed concomitant appearance of severely changed nephrons—together with completely normal ones—(Fig. 8.16) indicates circumscript vascular impairment to be an important co-factor in the change. With EM, highly engorged lysosomes are observed (Fig. 8.18) in which the stored carbohydrate can be identified autoradiographically [1352].

⊲ Fig. 8.12. Thyroid-like foci in early childhood pyelonephritis. Tubular epithelium is severely flattened and dedifferentiated. In the lumen, intensely osmiophilic, uniformly compact (hyalin) casts (*) are present. Tubular basement membrane (*BM*) is obviously thickened. Coarse-fibered fibrosis of the interstitium is seen with scattered fibroblasts and small lymphocytes. Female, 27 years. EM (×21,500)

Fig. 8.13. Hypoxic tubular damage showing severe flattening of the proximal tubular epithelium in GN contracted kidney. Autopsy specimen. Female, 67 years. PAS (× 340)

Fig. 8.14. Severe atrophy of proximal tubular epithelium with cystoid widening of the lumen in GN contracted kidney. Numerous vacuoles arising from cystic widening of endoplasmatic reticulum and mitochondria are present. Male, 34 years. EM $(\times 1500)$

Fine or middle-sized vacuolar transformation of the cytoplasm is also demonstrable in paraffin sections in cases of neutral fat storage arising from phosphorus or chloroform poisoning and in cases of liver dystrophy (Figs. 8.19, 8.20) or lipid storage in nephrotic syndrome. Toxic injury to the tubular cells by poisons is the cause of neutral fat storage and hyperlipemia is involved in the lipid storage associated with so-called lipoid nephrosis.

Lipid-containing foam cells are occasionally observed in a variety of disparate nephropathies. We found foam cells in 5.6% of 200 unselected biopsies of GN and glomerular minimal change (Fig. 18.3), but they occur in about 40% of cases of Alport's syndrome ([521] see p. 466).

Coarse Vacuolar Form. Coarse cytoplasmic vacuoles are observed in association with long-lasting hypokalemia in which they are very prominent in the proximal convoluted tubules (Fig. 8.21). They may persist for some time after normalization of serum values.

Findings with EM indicate that the condition is attributable to either intracellular vacuoles surrounded by membrane or to an extracellular widening of the basal labyrinth [275, 684, 1537]. Similar vacuolization of the convoluted tubules is observed in diethylene glycol poisoning in which extensive oxalate crystal precipitation is also encountered [1068, 1492a].

A further cause of vacuolar degeneration is the extensive storage of glycogen in proximal convoluted tubules as occurs in van Gierke's disease [684, 1068] and in the straight segments of the proximal tubules in long-lasting diabetic hyperglycemia (Armanni-Epstein cells, [1492a, 1625]).

Protein (Hyaline) Droplet Storage

This change depends on a massive increase of proteinstoring phago-(hetero-)lysosomes (Fig. 8.22). The protein storage is observed almost exclusively in the proximal convoluted tubules. Increased availability of tubular (luminal) protein as occurs, for example, in GN, is the cause of the increased number of these cellular organelles. For frequency and composition of protein storage in IF-material, see Fig. 11.17.

Peritubular capillaries are said to contribute to the tubular pool of protein [259]. Disturbances of intracellular protein turnover and transport may also be involved as indicated in the Chediak-Higashi syndrome [446, 692].

Pigments

Intracellular pigment deposition (hemoglobin, myoglobin, melanin, bilirubin, lipofuscin) occurs by two mecha-





Fig. 8.19. Vacuolar degeneration of proximal tubular epithelium due to massive fat accumulation in liver dystrophy. Male, 75 years. PAS (\times 200)

Fig. 8.20. Sudan stain of same material shown in Figure 8.19. Male, 75 years (×200)

✓ Fig. 8.15. Compensatory hypertrophy and cystoid widening of proximal tubules in GN contracted kidney. Male, 52 years. PAS (×130)

Fig. 8.16. Carbohydrate storage in proximal tubules characterized by fine vacuolar transformation of their epithelium. Severely changed and unchanged nephrons lie side by side. Autopsy specimen. Male, 77 years. PAS (\times 130)

Fig. 8.17. Higher magnification than preceding figure, showing an extremely fine vacuolar change of proximal tubules caused by carbohydrate storage with secondary water uptake. Autopsy specimen. Male, 77 years. PAS (\times 520)

Fig. 8.18. Carbohydrate storage in proximal tubules in acute interstitial nephritis showing bulky, cystic expanded lysosomes of somewhat unequal size. Analogous change is also present in the endothelium of an interstitial capillary (*IC*). Female, 48 years. EM (\times 1100)

nisms. One mechanism is based on an excess of glomerularly filtered pigments in tubules (possibly excessive pigment concentrations in peritubular capillaries) which become resorbed and stored by the proximal tubules [1791] and partially transformed intracellularly, e.g., hemoglobin \rightarrow hemosiderin [1318].

The second mechanism depends on a primarily intracellular process. There occurs an increase in the number of cytolysosomes attending an increased breakdown of cellular organelles, e.g., in age, and in phenacetin addiction [607, 1791], see p. 440). Lipofuscin is the chief pigment arising from this wear and tear of cellular constituents. Intracellular processes are relevantly involved in the deposition of pigment occurring in hemochromatosis. The thick limbs of Henle's loop are the sites of hemosiderin deposition in hemochromatosis , whereas the convoluted tubules are chiefly involved in hemosiderosis [1318].



Associated with granuloma Multinuclear Tuberculosis Old transplants Sarcoidosis Interstitial nephritis Brucellosis Congenital nephropathy Aspergillosis Fanconi's syndrome Actinomycosis with and without Toxoplasmosis cystinosis Echinococcus Plasmocytoma Plasmocytoma Contracted kidney Foreign body giant cells Senescence (bleeding, cholesteatoma, sutures, etc.) Allergic granulomatous arteritis		Glomerular giant cells		
	Multinuclear	Mononuclear		
	Old transplants Interstitial nephritis Congenital nephropathy Fanconi's syndrome	With cytoplasmic/ intranuclear inclusion bodies:	Without inclusion bodies:	Glomerular capillary loop necroses in GN Goodpasture's syndrome Other nephropathies
	Lead Bismuth Gold Cytomegalovirus Other viral in- fections possible (varicella, herpes, poliomyelitis, measles, adenovirus infections [774])	Busufane® therapy Transplants Contracted kidney (esp. pyelonephritis) Kidney in X-ray injury Liver cirrhosis Hepatoma Idiopathic	Other nephropathies extremely rare: Plasmocytoma Fanconi's syndrome with and without cystinosis Amyloidosis Nail patella syndrome	

Table 8.1. Giant cells

Nuclear Changes of the Tubular Epithelium

Three different types of tubular nuclear changes can be recognized:

(1) Multinuclear giant cells, (2) mononuclear giant cells and (3) nuclear inclusion bodies (see Table 8.1).

1. Multinuclear Giant Cells. Independent of any underlying disease process, multinuclear giant cells are present in the convoluted tubules and with greater frequency with increasing age, e.g., in 2% of material from patients up to 40 years of age and in 3% of 60–80-year-olds [662]. They are also found in significant numbers in conditions associated with increased regeneration as, for example, in older renal transplants (Fig. 8.23) as well

✓ Fig. 8.21. Coarse vacuolar degeneration (→) of proximal tubular epithelium in hypokalemia associated with laxative abuse. Female, 58 years. HE (× 520)

Fig. 8.22. So-called hyaline (protein) droplet (*PD*) storage of the proximal tubular epithelium in glomerulonephritis. Isolated lipid-containing vacuoles (\rightarrow) at the cell base are also present. Necrobiotic cell (*N*), brush border (*BB*). Male, 60 years. EM ($\times 21,000$)

Fig. 8.23. Tubular multinuclear giant cells as sign of regeneration in a case of chronic pyelonephritis. HE $(\times 690)$

Fig. 8.24. Idiopathic renal karyomegaly. Numerous predominantly mononuclear cell giants are seen in the proximal tubules. Male, 32 years. HE (\times 310)

as in a few cases of cystinosis (own observation; [1459, 1573]). Multinuclear giant cells arising as a reaction to protein casts—especially in plasmocytoma—are observed in the distal tubules [60, 1457, 1791].

2. Mononuclear Giant Cells (Cells Giants). These cells are far less frequently encountered than the multinuclear variety of giant cell. They are characterized by marked karyomegaly and nuclear polymorphy. These cells are found now and again in pyelo- and glomerulonephritic contracted kidneys and are an expression of impaired regeneration (see also [1068]).

The mononuclear giant cell is frequently found in kidneys which have received radiation therapy (see p. 543) as well as in those of patients who have received cytostatics, especially Busulfane[®]. In one case of ours in which a cytostatic was used, we also observed these cells in the pancreas, uterus and lungs (see also [1685]). Many of these giant nuclei are found occassionally associated with liver cirrhosis and hepatoma [234, 1774].

In three of our own patients (two of whom were brothers) we have observed, in 20% of the tubular cells in all parts of the nephron, mononuclear giant cells with nuclear diameters of up to 30 μ m. In these cases, none of the mentioned causes could be found for this tubular karyomegaly (Fig. 8.24). All three patients suffered from chronic interstitial nephritis and came to terminal renal insufficiency during the fourth decade of life (gold, bismuth, lead or other metal poisoning was excluded by microradiographic and/or neutron activation analysis).

3. Nuclear Inclusion Bodies. Nuclear inclusion bodies are of great diagnostic value in such diseases as cytomegalovirus infection (Fig. 21.7, p. 446) or lead and bismuth poisoning (Table 8.1).


EM Pathology of the Renal Tubules

Tubular BM

It appears reasonable to assume that tubular BM also is subjected to turnover as is known to occur with the BM of the glomerulus. Interstitial fibroblasts and tubular epithelial cells may be involved in the synthesis of tubular BM [263] as indicated from morphologic studies.

In tubular atrophy, there may be massive thickening of the BM through external lamellar deposition or through formation of new BM within the original BM which has become too wide (Fig. 8.25). In addition to thickening, there may also occur a thinning of the BM (Fig. 8.11) and even its complete loss with the result that tubular epithelial cells wander out into the intersitium [1808].

The cause of BM narrowing and loss is to be found either in insufficiency in epithelial or fibroblastic synthetic capability or in acceleration of tissue breakdown by collagenases released from lysosomes [1649].

In addition to thickening and thinning, the BM also demonstrates granular or vesicular inclusions (Figs. 8.25, 8.26).

These findings, as well as lamellation of tubular BM, are unspecific and independent of the underlying disease and they cannot in any way be used in the diagnosis e.g. of Alport's syndrome [521, 695].

Osmiophilic deposits, which are similar to glomerular deposits, are rarely found. But exceptionally and equally rarely very pronounced deposits (Figs. 8.27, 17.34) may be present in SLE [194]. In intramembranous GN far more massive, partly sausage-like material of high electron density is encounterd (Fig. 14.109, p. 257) which is more rare than similar material in Bowman's capsule BM, but more frequent than vascular deposits of the

✓ Fig. 8.25. Severe thickening of tubular BM by osmiophilic deposits with massive degradation particles in membranoproliferative GN. Male, 61 years. EM (×4700)

Fig. 8.26. Irregular thickening of the inner aspect of tubular BM with occasional wood chip-like structure of thickened BM and degradation granules. Endotheliomesangial GN. Male, 17 years. EM ($\times 10,000$)

Fig. 8.27. Extensive nodular osmiophilic deposits in an extremely thickened—and partly loosened—tubular BM in membranoproliferative GN (intramembranous GN was excluded with certainty). Male, 35 years. EM (\times 3000)

Fig. 8.28. Ischemic injury of mitochondria of proximal tubular cell. Swelling and partial dissolution of the mitochondrial cristae and matrix (\rightarrow) . Microbody (*). Nephroptosis. Female, 32 years. EM (×10,000)

same character. No correlation exists between immunoglobulin deposits (usually IgM) and complement (demonstrated with IF) and the morphology of tubular BM. The only striking feature is that IF findings are especially marked in atrophic tubules and in tubules of kidney transplants (see p. 167).

Basal Labyrinth

The pronounced interdigitation between tubular cells, which is especially marked in the proximal convoluted tubule and in the straight part of the distal tubule, becomes very obvious when cells next to each other exhibit different degrees of hydration. Dilatation of the extracellular space between the labyrinth folds is found in hypokalemia and in ischemic injury [275, 684, 1537]. But this finding requires careful interpretation since a similar phenomenon is encountered in the center of a tissue block which has been inadequately fixed during processing.

In regenerating cells following tubular necrosis, the basal labyrinth is by and large absent (Figs. 22.6, 22.7), a finding which represents the morphologic correlate of the loss of specific tubular transport function. Because of a decrease in surface area, amongst other factors, appropriate transpithelial fluid transport is no longer assured. Cells of the dilatated tubules in nephrohydrosis complicated by flow impairment or acute renal failure are also characterized by this dedifferentiation [378, 1156, 1213].

Apical Cell Membrane

The apical cell membrane is especially prone to changes in configuration. For example, during immersion fixation, fluid flows into the cell which is not removed to the peritubular capillaries. The resulting swelling is particularly pronounced in the apical region of the cell where the cytoplasm bulges bleb-like into the lumen accompanied by loss of the brush border (Fig. 8.6, p. 121). Constriction of rather large apical cell segments results in their amputation and sheding into the lumen. This condition is frequently observed in childrens' kidneys even with optimal fixation procedure.

The brush border is practically absent from regenerating cells. Reconstruction of the brush border appears to be initiated from the lateral cell borders. The loss of brush border is regularly observed experimentally in acute disturbance of transepithelial fluid transport such as occurs with acute ischemia [1608]. Ischemic injury due to handling of the biopsy material may also be the cause for this phenomenon in renal biopsies.

Mitochondria

Corresponding to the physiologic turn-over of cells and organelles, all stages of mitochondrial degeneration culminating in their uptake into cytolysosomes (Fig. 4.22)—have been observed even in normal kidney tissue. In shock kidneys and in the early post-transplant stage (depending on the severity of ischemia) mitochondria exhibit extensive reversible or irreversible ischemic injury ([1608, 1636, 1637]; Fig. 8.28). Giant mitochondria are a rare finding in the nephrotic syndrome and their functional significance is obscure [263, 1463, 1609].

It is important to note that mitochondria are very prone to fixation artifacts for which the patchy dissolution of the matrix represents a characteristic finding (Fig. 8.28).

Lysosomes

Lysosomes in the proximal tubule, straight segment of distal tubule and collecting ducts display a great variety of configurations [442, 1030].

Corresponding to their resorptive function, phagolysosomes are abundantly present in the proximal tubules and especially in the convoluted segment.

They contain, for example, proteins or carbohydrates (e.g., glucose, mannitol and dextran) along with water (Figs. 8.18, 8.29).

Massive increase of phagolysosomes indicates—in addition to an increased luminal supply of material—tubular injury such that extrusion or degradation of material supplied can no longer be performed adequately by the cells [313, 692].

Another reason for phagolysosome increase is its uptake of nondigestible material such as polyvinyl-pyrolidon. Additionally, a lysosomal enzyme defect resulting in a storage disease can lead to a corresponding generalized increase of lysosomes [692].

In cytolysosomes, cell constituents (e.g., rough endoplasmatic reticulum, mitochondria) are degraded (Fig. 8.29). Cytolysosomes can thus remove noncompetent structural elements from the cell. This mechanism is also operative under unfavorable environmental conditions to maintain cell viability.

Lipofuscin granules are regularly encountered in all tubular sections, and above all in collecting ducts in old patients. These granules are reportedly increased in subjects addicted to phenacetin, a statement supported by experimental findings in the rat [607, 932, 1626]. However, we could not confirm this in an autopsy series of age and sex matched groups of patients with and without phenacetin addiction. The lipofuscin granules are telolysosomes (Fig. 4.23, see p. 36) in which nondigestible material from phago- and cytolysosomes is stored.

Lipid Droplets

Fine lipid droplets are often seen in atrophic tubules and are much more pronounced in so-called lipoid nephrosis and lead to the formation of foam cells (see Fig. 8.30). In addition to hyperlipidemia, cell injury with concomitant lipid phanerosis may be responsible for the condition (see p. 132). The lipid droplets lay in the ground cytoplasm, are sharply delineated and are not enveloped by membrane (for lipid droplets see Figs. 8.19, 8.20, 8.31, p. 132).

Endoplasmatic Reticulum

Vacuolization of rough endoplasmatic reticulum is the earliest sign of ischemic injury [1537, 1635] (Fig. 8.32). Later on, the characteristic mitochondrial changes develop. Regenerating cells are characterized by an increase in rough endoplasmatic reticulum and, mainly, in polyribosomes (Fig. 24.9, p. 492). Increase in smooth endoplasmatic reticulum, seldom encountered in human renal tubules, probably represents cellular adaptive activity whose functional significance has even eluded experimentation [1334, 1639].

Nucleus

The most frequent EM nuclear change is degeneration attendant on cell death, which progresses from initial chromatin clumping to karyolysis or karyorrhexis (Figs. 8.2, 8.3). As contrasted to the oval form of the nucleus at rest, the nucleus in regenerating tubules demonstrates pronounced increase in surface area which is achieved by lobulation (Fig. 8.31).

For nuclear inclusion bodies and giant cells with one or more nuclei, see Table 8.1.

Fig. 8.29. Proximal tubular cell with very numerous auto-(cyto-) \triangleright and hetero-(phago-)lysosomes in a 5-month-old kidney transplant with pyelonephritis. Male, 47 years. EM (× 6500)

Fig. 8.30. 'Interstitial' foam cells in renal amyloidosis. Foam cells are partly surrounded by a clearly recognizable BM (\rightarrow) . Male, 22 years. PASM (×800)

Fig. 8.31. Tubular foam cell with numerous cytoplasmic lipid vacuoles, which are occasionally surrounded by a membrane, in a case of membranoproliferative GN. Male, 57 years. EM $(\times 8200)$



8.30 8.31

Casts

The diagnostic value of casts in renal biopsy is rather small since their morphology tends to be the same irrespective of the underlying disease. The majority of casts are located in the distal tubules and collecting ducts of the medulla.

'Hyaline' Casts

The above-mentioned limiting factors are especially valid for hyaline casts which are also-rarely-found in normal kidney. IF examination indicates that hyaline casts – the frequency of which is similar in all nephropathies-(see for frequency in IF material Fig. 11.17) are composed of plasma proteins (see p. 167) and/or tubular mucoprotein [1062, 1403]. The latter may be especially, but not always, true for the hyaline casts in pseudostruma foci in chronic pyelopnephritis (Fig. 8.12) since the involved glomeruli are obsolescent. An example of the contrary are casts in plasmocytoma (see p. 404).

Granular Casts/Chromoprotein Casts

With the exception of chromoprotein casts, granular casts do not throw any light on the nature of the underlying disease. With the HE stain, chromoprotein casts have a unique brown color and are positive to the peroxidase test (benzidine reaction). With EM, they appear as clumped, very electron-dense material (Fig. 8.33). The tubular lumen often simultaneously contains granular (lysosomal) chromoprotein masses (Fig. 8.34). Their occurrence points to hemolysis or myolysis in connection with shock or transplant rejection [1791].

Cell Casts

In tubular necrosis, the detached necrotic tubular cells are pushed together in the distal tubule and are usually recognizable as such. In advanced necrosis, the decaying tubular cells cannot be differentiated from the granular casts consisting of aggregated proteins. With EM, however cellular origin can still be discerned from the presence of organelle fragments (Fig. 8.34).

Leukocyte casts are most frequently found in acute pyelonephritis. After immigration from peritubular capillaries, the neutrophilic leukocytes aggregate into casts in the distal regions of the nephrons. Leukocyte casts also are formed in severe glomerular injury, e.g., extracapillary accentuated GN with severe necrosis. Thus, they are not of pathognomonic significance for the diagnosis of pyelonephritis in the absence of significant bacteriuria.

Erythrocyte casts are usually indicative of severe glomerular injury and they are often accompanied by fibrin, especially so in acute renal transplant rejection (Fig. 8.35). It is noted that only an occassional erythrocyte is ever seen actually wandering through the glomerular BM [229]. This discrepancy is explicable in terms of the rapid passing of erythrocytes through the BM gel as well as in terms of probability-which is very small-of seeing the passage since a large BM surface area exists per glomerulus (ca. 0.5 mm²) compared with the maximal surface area of an erythrocyte (ca. 50 μ m²). Furthermore, the erythrocyte is deformed as it passes the capillary loop wall. This means that the required area for erythrocyte transit through the BM becomes correspondingly smaller and the probability of viewing the actual passage even less.

Other Casts

Calcium casts arise either by intratubular precipitation of calcium salts or by agglomeration of detached metastatic or dystrophic calcified tubular epithelial cells into casts (see p. 484).

Endogenous metabolic products (e.g., bilirubin, uric acid, oxalate, cystine) or exogenous substances (e.g., sulfonamides administered therapeutically) can precipitate intratubularly and go on to cast formation which may give rise to tubular obstruction. Such precipitation can only occur when the solubility product is exceeded. It may occur either in the presence of high concentration or of pH changes which reduce the solubility of the substance in question. Since urine concentration and pH change occur in the renal medulla, the distal tubules and collecting ducts are the structures of predilection for cast formation and it is from these structures that the casts are flushed out with the urine to become accessible for clinical examination. Crystalline and plasmocytoma casts, however, may remain in the tubules and, with continuous renal filtration, lead to nephrohydrosis in the proximal part of the implicated nephron.

Addendum: Lymph Vessel Casts

Especially in urine retention (hydronephrosis), the kidneys frequently exhibit fibrillar masses in the perivascular lymph vessels which are strongly PAS positive and which can fully obstruct the vessel lumen (Fig. 8.36). Additionally, analogous masses may be found in the slightly infiltrated interstitium where they are only partially surrounded by endothelial cells (Fig. 8.37).







Fig. 8.35. Fibrin strands (\rightarrow) in tubular lumen in a 20-month-old transplant without signs of acute rejection. Erythrocytes in lumen probably represent an artifact from needle puncture. Male, 32 years. EM (\times 5950)

Fig. 8.36. Extensive periarterial lymph vessel casts (Ly) in nephrohydrosis due to occlusion of the ureter. Female, 52 years. PAS ($\times 27$)

8.36



8.39



Fig. 8.40. Lymph vessel cast (*) probably covered with endothelium (E) in the wall of an interstitial lymph vessel (Ly); 18-monthold transplant. Female, 47 years. EM (\times 1300). Inset: fibrillar structure of lymph vessel cast EM (\times 32,000)

This latter situation is often observed in nondestructive acute interstitial nephritis and occassionally in pyelonephritis. The fibrillar masses push into the tubular lumen initially by separating the tubular epithelial cells (Figs. 8.38) and later after their total anoxic destruction so that ultimately the majority of the lymph vessel casts appear to lie within the tubular lumen (Fig. 8.39).

We do not feel that sufficient information is available to determine whether or not true venous thrombi also penetrate the tubuli in this manner (tubulovenous anastomosis). In any case, our EM studies always reveal that only lymph vessels are in contact with the fibrillar masses where severe injury of the tubular epithelium is strikingly apparent.

With high magnification, a very finely fibrillar fretwork is clearly recognizable in the masses (Fig. 8.40). The fibrils certainly do not consist of collagen nor of typical fibrin.

The significance of these still highly controversial masses is, most likely, that they indicate extra- or intrarenal urine retention during which there occurs retrograde lymph flow (to the cortex instead of the hilus). It can be assumed that retrograde flow leads to overloading of the extremely widened lymph vessels, and probably to stasis.

Although lymph vessel casts may be encountered in intra- as well as in extrarenal urine retention and are rare in kidney biopsy, their presence should however always give rise to consideration of extrarenal urinary retention. In our experience, lymph casts were the only sign of clinically unknown cases of ureteral obstruction (e.g., retroperitoneal fibrosis, ureteral necrosis in kidney transplants).

9. Histopathology of the Renal Interstitium

Interstitial changes are often treated in a cursory fashion in renal biopsy evaluation. This is to be discouraged since findings in the interstitium such as edema, fibrosis, and inflammatory infiltration often provide important information.

In more or less diffuse widening of the interstitium, edema, sclerosis and fibrosis must be rigorously differentiated from each other. In EM study, it is important to bear in mind that, depending on the osmolarity of the fixation media, edema may be simulated or disappear [1029]. It is also noted that the interstitial connective tissue increases with age and in amount towards the papilla. Finally, we wish to recall that tubules and glomeruli are found to lie further apart in all forms of interstitial widening.

Edema

Edema (Fig. 9.1a) is characterized by the pale staining of the interstitium and by the extremely loose arrangement of very tenuous, usually argyrophilic fibers. Edema occurs in acute interstitial nephritis, anoxemia (shock, acute infarcts), acute interstitial transplant rejection, thrombosis of the renal veins, and in the immediate vicinity of acute inflammatory pyelonephritic foci.

Sclerosis

As contrasted to edema, the fiber network in sclerosis is exceedingly coarse, although the number of fibrocyte nuclei is scarcely increased (Fig. 9.1b). The fibers stain red with van Gieson and consist, accordingly, of collagen (note difference in designation with respect to mesangial changes, see p. 48). In most cases, tubular BM becomes associatedly thickened.

Interstitial sclerosis may be viewed as a sequel to chronic edema. It occurs chiefly with persistent anoxia but is rather infrequent in the anoxemia occurring with partial ischemic contracted kidney (subinfarct; [1808]). We have noted slight interstitial sclerosis in the chronically congested kidney. Severe interstitial sclerosis is a highly characteristic finding in chronic urinary edema and in nondestructive chronic interstitial nephritis sui generis or accompanying GN [1782]. Very small intertubular sectors of such severe sclerosis are now and again encountered in idiopathic glomerular minimal change, and they may be the result of prior glomerular inflammation.

Fibrosis

Fibrosis (Fig. 9.1 c) is the terminal phase of a destructive, e.g., granulomatous inflammation. Tubuli in the implicated area are always destroyed. Occassionally, residues of broken-down tubular BM can be seen (especially with PASM stain and EM).

The interstitial fiber network stains very strongly red with van Gieson and the number of fibers and fibrocyte nuclei is considerably increased with respect to normal and sclerotic states. The majority of fibrotic foci evidence lymphohistiocytic infiltrates.

Inflammatory Infiltrates

The character and composition of interstitial inflammatory infiltrates are governed by the primary disease and its phase. For frequency and composition see Figure 9.2, and for individual cellular constituents of the infiltrates, see Figures 9.3, to 9.6.

In acute pyelonephritis, polymorphonuclear leukocytes usually predominate, while in the chronic cases as well as in renal scar tissue, small lymphocytes constitute the major cellular element (Fig. 9.7).

In acute nondestructive interstitial nephritis there occurs a mixture of histiocytes, plasma cells, large and small lymphocytes and immunoblasts all with about the same frequency (Figs. 9.8, 9.2). In renal transplants, on the other hand (Fig. 9.9), the infiltrate consists chiefly of large lymphocytes and immunoblasts with only a few scattered small lymphocytes and plasma cells (Fig. 9.2). The two conditions cannot, however, be differentiated



Fig. 9.1 a-c. Histological comparison of (a) interstitial edema, (b) interstitial sclerosis and (c) interstitial fibrosis. In (a) considerable amount of edema fluid is present in the interstitium which demonstrates a uniformly loose, delicate fiber network. In (b) the fiber network is coarse and irregular and evidences very few nuclei. In (c) coarse, parallel-oriented fibers with numerous nuclei are seen. PAS (\times 532)



⊲ Fig. 9.2. Histogram: Composition of inflammatory infiltrates in various renal diseases as seen with EM. (1) acute interstitial nephritis (n=10); (2) kidney transplant (n=43); (3) chronic pyelonephritis (n=21); (4) concomitant interstitial inflammation in GN (n=81). Total height of the columns gives relative number of positive cases, while black columns indicate moderately severe to severe findings. Under the designation "immunoblasts", activated large lymphocytes are also included

9.1a 9.1b 9.1c

Fig. 9.3. Twelve-day-old transplant undergoing acute rejection. \triangleright Foam cell of histiocytic origin in the interstitium (*PH*); small lymphocyte (*SL*); polymorphonuclear leucocyte (*PL*); activated lymphocyte (*AL*). Male, 34 years. EM (× 6300)

Fig. 9.4. Seven-day-old transplant undergoing acute rejection. Interstitial edema and infiltrates: phagocyte (*PH*); activated lymphocyte (*AL*); obvious interstitial edema is present. Male, 42 years. EM (\times 11,200)



on the basis of the cellular composition of the infiltrates alone.

The accompanying interstitial nephritis in "active" GN which demonstrates very polymorphic infiltrates is not clearly differentiable from chronic nondestructive interstitial nephritis (Figs. 9.2, 9.10) except by the smaller amount of plasma cells in GN.

In general, the presence of large lymphocytes as well as immunoblasts and plasma cells strongly suggests the existence of an active inflammatory immunologic process while the occurrence of mainly small lymphocytes is usually suggestive that they are components of residual infiltrates of a 'dormant' inflammation.

Pyelonephiritis in infants and small children often leads to large-scale development of lymph follicles which must not be falsely interpreted as a malformation even if one is confronted with a dysplastic kidney with secondary pyelonephritis (Fig. 9.11). Follicular centers are characterized by dividing germinocytes and germinoblasts which have a broad cytoplasm rich in polyribosomes, mitochondria and Golgi organelles (Figs. 9.13, 9.14).

Foam Cells

Interstitial foam cells are found in transplants (Fig. 9.9), in xanthomatous pyelonephritis, and, more rarely, in the various forms of chronic GN (Fig. 9.12) and in Alport's syndrome. With EM or PASM staining, it can often be demonstrated that the foam cells arranged in clusters are not of histiocytic but often of epithelial (tubular) origin as shown by the presence of a surronding BM (Figs. 9.12, 8.30, 8.31; [1353], see p. 125).

Deposits

We have observed massive interstitial fibrin deposits in two cases of Wegener's disease, in one case each of acute pyelonephritis and acute interstitial nephritis (Fig. 20.10) as well as in two cases of severe hypertension, one of which was malignant nephrosclerosis. With IF, fibrin (-ogen) can be often demonstrated and especially in transplants (for the frequency of fibrin (-ogen) and immunoglobulin deposits see Fig. 11.15).

More rarely occurring interstitial deposits such as urate crystals, calcium, amyloid and cystine crystals are treated in other sections of the text.



Fig. 9.6. Part of activated histiocyte with strikingly prominent organelles. Same case as in Figure 9.4. Male, 42 years. EM $(\times 14,000)$

Fig. 9.7. Interstitial infiltrate in chronic pyelonephritis consisting mainly of small and middle-sized lymphocytes and a few scattered phagocytes (*PH*) but no immunoblasts. Severe edema is present. Female, 42 years. EM (\times 4700)

Page 144

Fig. 9.8. Acute interstitial nephritis. Activated lymphocyte (AL); small and middle-sized lymphocyte (SL); phagocyte (PH). Female, 59 years. EM (×6500)

Fig. 9.9. Twelve-day-old transplant with acute interstitial rejection; small lymphocyte (SL); plasmoblast (*); plasma cell (PS); phagocyte (PH); foam cell of histiocytic origin (F). Same case as in Figure 9.3. Male, 34 years. EM (\times 5500)

Page 145

Fig. 9.10. Interstitial accompanying nephritis in membranoproliferative GN consisting of a mixture of numerous activated lymphocytes, isolated plasma cells and moderately numerous phagocytes. This is not a specific finding. Female, 42 years. EM $(\times 3700)$

Fig. 9.11. Dysplastic focus with secondary pyelonephritis in nephrectomy specimen : cartilage (*); lymph follicle (LY); glome-ruli (G). Male, 13 years. HE (×130)

Fig. 9.12. 'Interstitial' foam cell under LM which, under EM is seen to be of tubular origin as indicated by the surrounding BM. Proliferative FGN in SLE. Male, 48 years. EM (\times 3100)



9.7







Fig. 9.13. Part of a lymph follicle in Figure 9.11. Germinal center (GC): germinocytes with cleaved electron-opaque nuclei and germinoblasts with noncleaved electron-lucent nuclei. Lymphatic tissue (LY); mitotic figure (\rightarrow) . Male, 13 years. EM (×1400)

Fig. 9.14. Part of a germinal center in Figure 9.11: predominance of germinocytes with cleaved nuclei and germinoblasts with noncleaved nuclei (*). Very few isolated small lymphocytes (*SL*); mitotic figure (\rightarrow). Male, 13 years. EM (×2500)



9.14

10. Histopathology of the Renal Vessels

The diagnostic evaluation of vascular changes can prove to be extremely difficult, especially in relation to their causal significance, since the lesions may be primary and as such, the cause of other tissue changes; or secondary, i.e., the consequence of nonvascular tissue processes; or they may arise concomitantly with changes of the other tissue elements.

Very often these three possibilities overlap, and present the investigator with an almost insoluble problem. Only the most precise analysis and meticulous consideration of the changes in the vascular elements (e.g., study with van Gieson-elastin stain, EM, etc.) are suitable for solving the inherent difficulties posed by vascular changes.

In needle biopsies, usually only small arteries (the interlobulars) and arterioles are present for morphologic investigation. In case of the rare occurrence of parts or even cross-sections of the arcuate artery, the clinician should be informed immediately, since the probability of serious hemorrhage with subsequent shock is very great. In contrast to the previous chapters, EM changes of the vascular wall are discussed first, since the EM reaction pattern in the different specific vascular lesions is very similar.

Ultrastructural Elements in Vascular Changes

The essential endothelial cellular changes have been discussed on p. 90.

Basement Membrane

The endothelial BM may be thickened either homogeneously or by lamellar stratification.

In homogeneous BM changes, the thickness of the BM is at most twice that of the normal value [1241, 1675].

It is observed in association with aging, but also occurs in the early stages of vascular diseases. It is not known whether the thickening is due to increased BM production from endothelial cells stimulated by noxious substances [1261] or to a swelling of the BM only [517a].

BM thickening by lamellar stratification (Fig. 10.1) is thought to be the morphologic result arising in conjunc-



Fig. 10.1. Intima in adaptive intimal fibrosis. Endothelial cell (E), split, loosened and thickened basement membrane (BM), cytoplasmic projections of an undifferentiated cell which has migrated into the intima (*). Male, 62 years. EM ($\times 29,300$)

tion with repeated or chronic endothelial (possibly lethal) injury. In this process, each new endothelial generation produces its own BM layer (reminiscent of the annual tree rings) between which vesiculo-granular debris is found [1675, 1675a]. This change, accordingly, is the morphologic correlate of persistent or repeated vascular injury and repair [1591a, 1675].

Subendothelial Space

The subendothelial space may be viewed as a gully for the vessel. In young individuals, the subendothelial space



is hardly discernible, but becomes more and more expanded with age and filled by a loose amorphous matrix and cellular debris [545a]. Blood plasma and cellular constituents appear in the subendothelial space in the presence of increased blood pressure and/or of increased endothelial permeability [723a, 873a, 1565a, 1568a]. These insudates manifest themselves either as osmiophilic, finely granular, rather massive deposits with maplike contours of plasma proteins and/or immunocomplexes [28a, 1287] or as strip-shaped fibrin derivatives [723a].

Myocytes

The functional spectrum of the myocytes of the vascular wall is in harmony with their mesenchymal character [1752a]. They react in a monotonous way to the numerous vascular noxae, in that they become oval, develop many vacuoles and occassionally nuclear and cytoplasmic signs of necrobiosis (Figs. 10.2, 10.3). During this response, the organelles seem to disappear, the sarcoplasm becomes granular or homogenous [1336, 1591a] and the myocytes ultimately disintegrate, leaving behind vesiculo-tubular osmiophilic debris (Fig. 10.5).

Myocyte regeneration is still possible in the stage prior to condensation of the cytoplasm [1602 b]. The regeneration of myocytes is characterized by their morphologic and functional transformation as shown by (1) the increase in volume of cellular organelles participating in synthesis and secretion (rough endoplasmatic reticulum, Golgi apparatus, mitochondria); (2) the displacement of sarcoplasm peripherally; (3) the disappearence of myofibrils, and (4) by the appearence of numerous, large cytoplasmic processes (Fig. 10.2). Finally, the myocytes come to look like fibrocytes (Figs. 10.4, 10.5).

GN Fig. 10.2. Adaptive intimal fibrosis (early phase) in GN contracted kidney. Myocytes (MC) show vacuolar changes, lamina elastica interna (EL) and BM are severely split and, in subendothelial space, undifferentiated cells (*)-probably transformed myocytes-are present. Endothelium (E). Male, 22 years. EM (× 2600)

Fig. 10.3. Part of the media seen in Figure 10.2. Numerous vacuoles are present in the myocytes. Between the myocytes, an increased amount of ground substance-like material is present. Male, 22 years. EM (\times 5600)

The factor triggering transformation appears to be either the decreased tension to which the elastic vascular structures are exposed by the reduced blood flow (see p. 151), during which an increased production of collagen fibers leads to a narrowing of the vascular lumen or the loss of vascular elasticity [1336] brought about by physicochemical, hypoxic, or inflammatory injury to the cells of the vascular wall [861a]. This gives rise to copious production of elastic lamellae, and leads to passive maintenance of elasticity otherwise actively assured by myocytic responses. The transformation of the myocytes — especially in the larger vessels—is initiated in the subintimal layer of myocytes (Fig. 10.2).

Specific Vascular Lesions

Idiopathic Fibroelastosis

Apart from atrophy attendant on severe intimal thickening, media changes are infrequent. The finding of idiopathic fibroelastosis with patchy media thickening, spotty fibrosis and a dense elastin fiber network in needle biopsies is very rare [1336]. We have never observed it. Idiopathic fibroelastosis has no relationship to hypertension. It is encountered chiefly in the older age groups. Its cause is unknown. Pathogenetically, it is based on degeneration and functional change of the myocytes which are recognizable with EM (see above). Except for scattered cases with aneurysma disecans of a major artery, the change is completely insignificant.

Arteriosclerosis

Coarse fibers, stained a bright red with van Gieson stain (Fig. 10.6), and a mild to severe fragmentation and lamellar new formation of the internal elastic membrane are observed in this condition. Our observations have shown that true atheromatous formation occurs mainly in diabetes mellitus with increased incidence in peripheral vessels. Hypertension may play a primary or secondary role in the genesis of arteriosclerosis, but it is not an absolute prerequisite.

Arterial Elastosis

This change, also referred to as hyperplastic sclerosis [13] is most frequently—but not always—found in association with arteriosclerosis. It is characterized by thickening and increase of the elastic fibers (Fig. 10.7) between which only transformed myocytes and very scanty connective tissue are found in cases uncomplicated by other



10.4

diseases (Fig. 10.8). We have observed this change exclusively in severe hypertension. The lesion apparently has no significant consequence for renal function.

Adaptive Intimal Fibrosis

Adaptive intimal fibrosis (Figs. 10.9, 10.10; [1794]) features a dense, rather fine-fibered collagenous tissue in the intima which is relatively poor in cells. Myocytes are definitely present, whereas no significant increase of elastin is encountered.

The lesion arises as an adaptive response to decreased blood flow which may be due either to severe reduction of the peripheral vascular bed, as in contracted kidney of any etiology, or to proximal, usually arteriosclerotic artery stenosis, with or without thrombosis [1794]. Myocytes lying on the internal elastic membrane transform first and most vigorously. Experimental findings [494] indicate that endothelial injury may be involved in producing the lesion (see p. 149). Accordingly, adaptive intimal fibrosis, as the term itself indicates, is never the cause but always the consequence of parenchymal shrinkage or of proximal arterial stenosis. It is accordingly, absent in congenital renal hypoplasia and dysplasia.

As seen with EM, the change appears to be initiated by injury to the media-myocytes (Figs. 10.2, 10.3).

They pass through the elastic membrane into the subendothelial space, where they are characterized by their extensive cytoplasmic extensions. In this early stage of the lesion, the subendothelial space is considerably widened and edematous (Fig. 10.2). Later, the transformed myocytes assume the morphologic characteristics of fibrocytes and fibroblasts (Figs. 10.3, 10.4) and form a fine-fibered network filled occasionally with degradation granules (Fig. 10.5). It appears to us very unlikely that adventitial fibroblasts migrate into the endothelial space as has been proposed [8a].

In the late phase of the process, the media of the smaller arteries is frequently atrophic and in EM the myocytes reassume their original form (Fig. 10.4). Medial atrophy in larger arteries is scarcely apparent (Fig. 10.9).

Fig. 10.5. Part of the media seen in Figure 10.4. Increased newly formed ground substance (*) rich in degradation granules (\rightarrow) is present between myocytes (*MC*) in adaptive intimal fibrosis. Male, 59 years. EM (×12,000)

A change similar to that detailed above for arteries, can be observed in the arterioles (Fig. 10.10). In addition to obvious increase in elastic membrane material, the arterioles demonstrate a loosely organized increase of cells in the region of the intima resulting in partial or complete displacement of the lumen. The media is mostly atrophic, and inflammatory changes as well as necrosis are absent. This lesion is mainly found in severely contracted kidneys and is most pronounced after longterm dialysis.

Arteritis

Lympho-plasmocytic infiltrates of the vascular wall, together with histiocytes and proliferation of mural cells, are encountered in acute transplant vasculopathy, periarteritis nodosa and other rarer forms of arteritis such as Horton's giant cell arteritis [1791], Takayasu's disease, etc. Periarteritis nodosa (macroform) (see p. 533) is characterized in the acute phase usually by the sector-like occurrence of medial necrosis, as seen especially in the arcuate and interlobular arteries. The necroses are often infiltrated with numerous eosinophilic leukocytes. Formation of a pronounced perivascular mantle of infiltrates is also a feature of the acute phase (it is noted parenthetically that in general, various stages of the disease are present simultaneously). Treatment with steroids leads to scar formation and the medial defects are replaced by scar tissue.

The hypersensitivity angitis (periarteritis nodosa, microform, see p. 536) runs its course in one attack, involves smaller arteries and arterioles, and can be scarcely differentiated histologically from the changes observed in the interlobular arteries as they occur in Wegener's granulomatosis and SLE. An unspecific chronic inflammatory constellation with secondary thrombosis and small medial and intimal fibrinoid necrosis indicates Winiwater-Buerger thrombangitis (see p. 540) and especially so when different stages of the process occur simultaneously, a finding hardly to be encountered in needle biopsy, however [1791].

Thrombosis

Fresh, often hyaline (better: fibrinoid) thrombi with slight or no secondary inflammation indicate severe, generalized intravasal coagulation which occurs above all in gram-negative septicemia and also subsequent to shock (see p. 490). The same finding is present in the hemolytic-uremic syndrome (see p. 499), and in microangiopathy (see p. 499) for which the concomitant occurrence of thrombi of different ages is characteristic. Glomerular thrombi are always present in these three conditions for which they are diagnostically confirmatory.

[✓] Fig. 10.4. Late phase of adaptive intimal fibrosis evidences numerous fibrocytes (FC) in the relatively loose intima. Media (MC), intima (I). Pyelonephritic contracted kidney. Male, 59 years. EM (×1700)

Onion Bulb-Like Arteries

Changes in scleroderma exhibit an onion bulb-like fragmentation and lamellation of intimal elements with loosely organized increase of reticulin and collagenous fibers (Fig. 10.11) as well as an increase of a mucoid, alcian-blue staining substance in the vessels wall. These findings are restricted to the small arteries and especially to the interlobular arteries. A nearly identical change in the interlobular arteries also occurs in severe malignant nephrosclerosis (see p. 520) and in older intravasal coagulation (see p. 499; [1068]). In both instances, however, the mucoid substance is somewhat less pronounced. Overlapping does occur since sclerodermic lesions tend to lead to renal hypertension, which in turn results in hypertensive vasculopathy. The morphologic similarities are interpreted as the expression of a common pathogenetic mechanism [1068].

Transplantation Vasculopathy

The histopathology of this lesion is presented on p. 573 and 596.

Arteriolar Lesions

Arteriolitis

Arteriolitis—with or without fibrinoid necrosis—can be found, albeit exceptionally, in various immunopathologic conditions such as hypersensitivity angitis, purpura Schönlein-Henoch, SLE, Wegener's granulomatosis, Goodpasture's syndrome, cryoglobulinemia, and in acute transplant rejection.

Except in transplants, an accompanying glomerular inflammation is almost uniformly present, and its form is diagnostically decisive.

The formation of glomeruloid structures from endothelial and medial proliferation is, according to our findings, a rare change in diffuse GN. These structures may become as large as 200 μ m [1641].

Arteriolosclerosis

Arteriolosclerosis is characterized by bright red, starkly sudanophilic fibrinoid deposits (red with Masson trichrome/AFOG, yellow with van Gieson, and PAS-positive) which occur between the atrophic media and compressed intima without the presence of necrosis (Fig. 10.12, see also p. 520). The deposits are also not infrequently seen in normotensive subjects (Fig. 25.1) where, moreover, they are rather scanty and only encountered in a few vessels. Arteriolosclerosis occurs primarily and secondarily in the kidney, and is a frequent finding in the contracted kidney and more frequent in non-GN than in GN (for EM findings, see p. 517, for frequency in our material see Fig. 25.1). If many arterioles are severely involved, the change is usually the consequence of generalized hypertension or diabetes mellitus (Fig. 25.1). In the latter vasa efferentia are also afflicted.

Arteriolonecrosis

Arteriolonecrosis with fibrinoid deposits and slight or absent inflammatory reaction (Fig. 10.13) is characteristic for the severe form of hypertensive arteriolopathy [1790]. The deposits exhibit the same staining characteristics as in arteriolosclerosis. They are, however, more granular and less sudanophilic.

Arteriolonecrosis may occur primarily, i.e., independent of prior renal disease leading to hypertension. The primary form usually occurs in young individuals, and results in parenchymal injury in the form of small subinfarcts. The lesion may also be secondary to severe essential or renal hypertension in pyelonephritis, GN, etc.

Therefore, the differentiation between the primary and secondary form of arteriolonecrosis depends on parenchymal and not vascular findings.

The intertubular capillaries, veins and lymph vessles do not exhibit changes of diagnostic significance.

Fig. 10.6. Arteriosclerosis of a middle-sized renal artery. Severe \triangleright coarse, bulky, cell-poor thickening of intima (*I*), media (*MC*). Male, 62 years. PAS (×270)

Fig. 10.7. Severe elastosis with multilayered elastic lamellae in small and middle-sized arteries in association with hypertension. Male, 34 years. Van Giesson-elastin (\times 133)

Fig. 10.8. Elastosis of a small artery. Same case as in Figure 10.7. Media is loosened, and severely thickened intima exhibits numerous elastic lamellac. Male, 34 years. EM ($\times 850$)

Fig. 10.9. Adaptive intimal fibrosis in pyelonephritic contracted kidney. Media (MC) is unchanged, intima (I) is very severely thickened with few nuclei and rather delicate fibers. Endothelium is unchanged. Male, 58 years. HE ($\times 8$)





11. Immunohistopathologic Parameters

Definitions

- Intrarenal distribution pattern This may be diffuse, focal, segmental or global (see p. 48).
- 2. Intraglomerular distribution pattern
 - a) Purely peripheral (membranous) deposits = deposits along the glomerular BM
 - b) Purely mesangial deposits = deposits exclusively within the mesangial matrix including mesangial BM
 - c) Mesangial and peripheral deposits = combination of both depositional patterns (arbitrary subdivision according to predominant type possible).
- 3. IF Character
 - a) Linear = deposits along the peripheral glomerular BM which evidence no granular structure even under high magnification
 - b) Pseudolinear=coalescence of extremely fine granular or abnormally coarse deposits to form a pseudolinear pattern. Under high magnification, the granular character of the deposits is usually recognizable
- ✓ Fig. 10.10. Adaptive intimal fibrosis in small arteries in GN contracted kidney. Lumen severely narrowed by loose, fibrous tissue. Lamina elastica interna (*EL*) thickened but not split. Female, 62 years. Van Gieson-elastin (×276)

Fig. 10.11. Onion-bulb-like split and thickened intima of a small renal artery in scleroderma. Lamina elastica (*EL*). Male, 34 years. Van Gieson ($\times 400$)

Fig. 10.12. Arteriolosclerosis in hypertension. Arterioles have a homogeneous thick wall (\rightarrow) . Lumens are almost occluded, endothelial cells are well preserved and adventitia is sharply delimited. HE (×120)

Fig. 10.13. Arteriolonecrosis (malignant nephrosclerosis). Fibrinoid necrosis (N) in the vas afferens surrounded by an almost circular granuloma (*). Glomerular loops are slightly collapsed, and tubules are frankly atrophic. HE ($\times 200$) c) Granular=deposits which are sharply demarcated from each other (arbitrary subdivision into fineand coarse-granular is possible).

Diagnostic Significance of IF

IF processing of tissue permits specific staining of immunoglobulins and other proteins which is not necessarily tantamount to the demonstration of immunocomplexes (see also [128]). The interpretation of findings such as immunocomplexes or anti-BM antibodies is often possible only in conjunction with LM and EM studies.

The diagnostic domain of IF is GN. In most cases, it is used as a complementary investigation which, together with LM and EM studies, corroborates the diagnosis of GN and which, above all, allows conclusions regarding the composition and amount of immune deposits and their persistence in sequence biopsies.

EM has not proven to be a substitute for IF study of GN! In 250 of our own biopsies which were IF positive, no deposits were found in 42% with EM (only 0.6% of the cases positive under EM were falsely negative under IF). Additionally, EM does not provide informations as to the protein composition of the deposits unless the technically problematic immuno-EM is used (this does not imply that immuno-EM and LM-immuno-histology are mutually interchangeable).

IF is of unequivocal diagnostic value with respect to the disease states given below.

- 1. Recognition of anti BM-type GN (Masugi-type GN) (e.g., Goodpasture's Syndrome, ALG-nephropathy in renal transplant recipients)
- 2. Mesangial IgA GN
- 3. Diagnosis of epimembranous GN, especially of stage I without LM changes
- 4. Differentiation of idiopathic glomerular minimal change from symptomatic forms
- 5. Differential diagnostic delineation between GN and eclampsia (eclampsia is IF negative except for fibrin)
- The identification of AG, i.e.: DNA in SLE-GN (Fig. 11.1), hepatitits-B virus (Fig. 11.2; [1531, 1171, 307, 615]); plasmodium malaria antigen [1689], streptococcal antigens [28, 1766], staphylococcal antigens [813], measles antigens [359], thyroglobulin [1744, 1271 a], and rubella antigen [Z].



Fig. 11.1. DNA demonstration in proliferative FGN in SLE. Note also the normal staining of tubular nuclei. Female, 24 years. IF $(\times 430)$

Fig. 11.2. Hepatitis B surface antigen in renal transplant in a patient with chronic persistant hepatitis. Male, 44 years. IF $(\times 500)$

Quantification of IF Findings

The quantification of IF findings is extremely problematic as long as the factor(s) relevant to the functional impairment is (are) unknown [128]. Decisive factors in this respect include the extension of the process—(with corresponding functional impairment of the implicated glomeruli)—as well as the local concentration of deposited immunocomplexes—with resulting local structural lesions—which may be reflected in the labeling intensity unless there is no mutual blocking between the complex components.

Both type and concentration of the individual components of deposited complex may be subject to considerable variation. Thus, for example, in the late phase of GN, we have frequently observed only a weak patchy fluorescence for IgG, but a clear-cut and more extensive presence of complement. This may reflect the true relations within the immunocomplex, but it could be caused by steric or immunologic blockage of a given component by another. Finally, sensitivity of IF depends on so many various factors such as AG preservation, section thickness, quality of sera, illumination and filter systems of the microscope, etc., that quantitative data must be taken as very arbitrary if appropriate standardization procedures are not empolyed [786a].

In spite of all reservations, in our material investigated semiquantitatively, there is a statistically significant correlation between the amount of EM demonstrable deposits and the intensity of fluorescence if the AG with the strongest fluorescence is considered. One can, accordingly, conclude that IF examination of sequential biopsy permits measured judgement with respect to an increase or decrease in the amount of immunocomplex under investigation. IF is especially useful for prognostic deductions on material studied during the course of the disease, as well as on therapeutic efficacy, since LM and, conditionally, EM do not permit reliable conclusions relating to the persistence of the underlying immune reaction in a given case.



Fig. 11.3. Linear BM staining for IgG in Goodpasture's syndrome. Female, 62 years. IF $(\times 500)$

Fig. 11.4. Purely peripheral granular deposits positive for IgG in epimembranous GN. Female, 61 years. IF (\times 500)

IF Deposition Character

Linear Deposition

Anti-BM-AB (Masugi, Specific) Type. In the clinical setting—analogously to the experimental Masugi-GN—a diffuse and global linear deposition of immunoglobulins and complement is present exclusively along the glomerular BM due to the fixing of anti-BM antibodies.

A condition most closely resembling Masugi-GN is the ALG nephropathy of renal transplant recipients which is generated by use of heterologous ALG preparations (usually from the horse) with cross-specificity against BM antigens [1132, 1805]. In this process, there occurs an immediate heterologous phase with binding of horse gamma globulin on the BM, which can be demonstrated with appropriate species-specific antibody.

According to the degree of immunosuppression, an autologous phase with binding of newly formed host AB against the BM-bound heterologous immunoglobulins can, facultatively, occur subsequently. The spontaneous occurrence of linear deposits in GN (Fig. 11.3) as seen in Goodpasture's syndrome and extracapillary accentuated GN, for example, is related to primary autologous anti-BM antibodies of unknown origin, usually also with concomitant activity against pulmonary BM. In this condition, complement may be absent in one third of the cases [1744]. Cross-reactions between BM-antigens and bacterial and other exogens are currently being discussed [1377, 943, 1131].

We found anti-BM type GN in 2 of 227 cases of GN examined with IF. A frequency of 1-5% corresponds to that in the literature [1744, 544, 1136, 1035, 1747].

From the differential diagnostic standpoint, nonspecific linear depositions without GN of the anti-BM-AB-type and pseudolinear depositions in complex GN must be recognized.

Non-GN (Nonspecific) Type. Linear IgG deposition without either complement participation or GN has been observed in SLE [869] and in diabetic glomerulosclerosis

Diagnosis	Depositional character			
	Linear	Granular		
Glomerular minimal change $(n=1)$	IgG, IgM, IgA	_		
Endotheliomesangial GN without crescents $(n = 1)$	IgA	_		
Unspecific glomerulosclerosis $(n=1)$	IgG	IgM		
Acute interstitial nephritis $(n=1)$	IgG	IgM, IgA, C3		
Acute transplant rejection $(n=7)$	C3 IgM, Fi IgG Fi IgG, Fi IgG, IgA	Fi C3 IgM, C3 IgM, C3 IgM		
Shock kidney in renal transplant $(n=1)$	IgG	IgM, C3		

Table 11.1. Nonspecific linear deposits of immunoglobulins, C3 and fibrin(-ogen)

[1035, 525] without being able to demonstrate AB with anti-BM activity in eluates. Linear deposits in renal transplants treated with and without ALG were demonstrable subendothelially but not in the BM with immunoelectron microscopy [28].

In our own material, we found 12 cases with nonspecific linear immunofluorescence (7 in acute renal transplant rejection and five others in a variety of other nephropathies, see Table 11.1) which were not always diffuse. Rebiopsy was carried out in 3 of the cases: in 1 case after 19 days with identical IF findings; in the other 2 it was performed after 4–5 weeks with negative findings. These observations indicate that linear deposition may be a temporary phenomenon without nephritiogenic activity. It is conceivable—as in our cases—that anoxic or other endothelial damage may be significant pathogenetically.

Granular Deposition

GN (Specific) Type. Specific granular deposition (immunocomplex glomerulopathy) is chiefly characterized by granular deposition of immunoglobulins (especially IgG) and complement. The identical localization of these components is generally interpreted as the expression of immunocomplex formation.

The presence of immunocomplex is assured by microscopic demonstration of inflammation and above all in the rate cases in which AG is also demonstrable (e.g., DNA in SLE-GN, hepatitis B surface antigen in viral hepatitis B). The isolated demonstration of IgM and/or C3 may be the manifestation of an immunocomplex process. It also may occur, however, in nonglomeru-lonephritic lesions (see below).

The size of the complex varies between fine-granular and just resolvable to coalescing coarse-granular such that pseudolinear configurations not infrequently arise in BM. Three types of intraglomerular distributional patterns can be recognized:

- 1. Purely peripheral (membranous) type: involvement of BM exclusively, as in epimembranous GN (Fig. 11.4)
- 2. Purely mesangial type (Fig. 11.5): involvement exclusively of the mesangium, as in IgA mesangial GN
- 3. Mixed mesangial peripheral type (Fig. 11.6): involvement of both regions to the same or different degrees as in endotheliomesangial GN. A typical finding in mesangial component predominance is the encroachment of fine-granular deposits upon BM sectors near the mesangium.

Non-GN (Nonspecific) Type. Nonspecific granular depositions occur in non-GN lesions such as chronic pyelonephritis, hydronephrosis, etc. (Fig. 11.7) and they preferentially occur in the mesangium near the vascular pole (Fig. 11.8) and often with similar IF findings in the wall of the afferent arteriole. These deposits are usually focally or segmentally distributed in contrast to the deposits in GN, which are usually diffusely and globally distributed (Fig. 11.11) and are composed of IgM and/or C3 only. IgG is not present. They can, however, evidence the same intraglomerular and intrarenal distribution pattern as nephritogenic deposits so that in some cases, differentiation from an immunocomplex glomerulopathy is practically impossible. In these cases, LM or EM findings are essential for deciding whether or not the demonstrated components have a nephritogenic effect.

Fig. 11.5. Pure mesangial deposits positive for IgA in a case \triangleright of IgA mesangial GN. Note IgA positivity of tubular epithelial surface. Male, 4 years. IF (\times 350)

Fig. 11.6. Mesangial and peripheral C3 positive deposits in glomerulus of a 3.5-year-old transplant. There are heavy deposits in the vas afferens. Male, 41 years. IF $(\times 700)$

Fig. 11.7. C3-positive, coarse-granular deposits in the glomerular capillary loop periphery in pyelonephritic contracted kidney associated with so-called overload glomerulitis. Deposits in the vas afferens are also present. Male, 32 years. IF (\times 220)

Fig. 11.8. IgM deposits in a glomerulus which are especially evident at the vascular pole in arteriolosclerosis due to hypertension. Female, 42 years. IF ($\times 400$)



Significance of Immunoglobulins and Other Proteins in Glomerulopathy

An overview of the relative frequency of occurrence of the various immunoglobulin classes and other proteins in a selection of nephropathies is given in Figure 11.9. A similar tabularization in relation to the basic disease: GN (including glomerular minimal change), non-GN and transplants is given in Figure 11.10.

IgG (mol wt 160,000), with a serum concentration of 1143 ± 235 mg/100 ml, constitutes the predominant constituent of the immunoglobulins. It is formed as the AB of the anamnestic immune response and is chiefly directed against bacteria, viruses, toxins and most soluble proteins. The subclasses G1, G2 and G3-but not G4-can activate complement via the classical activation pathway. Thus, the lack of C3 in cases of anti-BM-type GN can be explained by the presence of IgG4 [954].

The physiologic half-life in serum is 25 days. This value, however, does not give information on the turnover of a specific AB during the immune response. In the human, nothing is known about the turnover of IgG in immunocomplexes. Experimental work has shown that AG size and the relative AG and AB concentration exert an influence on the size, solubility and persistence of immunodeposits [544].

It is conceivable that enzymatic degradation procedes differently in BM than elsewhere. In this connection, for example, we noted in one instance of ALG nephropathy persistence of horse gamma globulin in BM of up to 36 months after withdrawal of ALG therapy.

10 of cases

50

Ig M

n:362

C'3

367

lg G

362

IgG is encountered—with varying frequency—in practically all forms of GN (see Table 11.2). Accordingly, IgG demonstration is one of the most certain immunohistologic indications of the presence of GN (Fig. 12.1). IgG is rarely found in non-GN lesions, and then usually with a focal-segmental distribution. The biological significance of this finding is unknown. IgG occurrence in transplants indicates a GN relapse (Fig. 12.2; [1058a]).



Fig. 11.9. Relative frequency of immunoglobulin and other protein findings in glomeruli of 367 unselected cases of different renal diseases. n = number of cases examined for the stated antigen

lg A

262

Fibrin

349

1gE

168

C'4

38

Fig. 11.10. Relative frequency of positive IF findings for different proteins in nonglomerulonephritic disease (*Non-GN*), glomerulonephritis including glomerular minimal change (*GN*) and in transplants. Sum = relative frequency of positive cases irrespective of the antigen

GN	IgG	IgM	IgA	C3	Fi
Endotheliomesangial GN (exudative, exudative proliferative stage)	+ + +	(+)	(+)	++++	+
Endotheliomesangial GN (proliferative sclerosing stage)	+ +	+ +	+	++	+
Membranoproliferative GN	+ + +	+ + +	+ +	+ + + +	+ +
Epimembranous GN	+ + + +	+ +	+ +	+ + +	+
IgA mesangial GN	+ + + +	+	+ + + +	+ + + +	+
Segmental focal proliferative GN	+ + +	+ + + +	+	+ + + +	+ +
Segmental focal sclerosing GN	(+)	+ + +	_	++	(+)
Transplants	(+)	+ + +	+	+ + +	+ +
Non GN	(+)	++	+	+ +	(+)

Table 11.2. Relative frequency of occurrence of various immunoglobulins, complement and fibrin(-ogen) (own and literature [1136, 1281, 1055, 231, 1092, 28, 1747] findings)

++++=75-100%, +++=50-75%, ++=25-50%, +=10-25%, (+)=<10% of cases.

IgM. The serum concentration of IgM (mol wt 900,000) is between 72 ± 23 mg/100 ml and its serum half-life is 5 days. IgM is the AB of the early immune response and it appears before adjustment to IgG synthesis. In the event of subthreshold immunization and with certain AG (pneumococcal polysaccharides, gram-negative bacteria) an IgM response may be the only humoral immune reaction.

Natural AB against bacteria, blood group substances and heterophilic AB belong to the IgM class. IgM is an effective complement activator via the classical pathway. But it appears that aggregated IgM has also the ability to unspecifically bind C3 [271, 752], a fact which would explain the frequent common occurrence of IgM and C3 in non-GN.

IgM is found in practically all forms of GN (Table 11.2). It favors the mesangial location but is also found in persisting BM immunocomplexes. It is especially characteristic for sclerosing FGN (see also [1136]) and - together with C3 – for transplant glomerulopathy where it exhibits a global, diffuse distribution (Figs. 11.10, 11.11).

Due to the relatively frequent occurrence of IgM (alone or in combination with C3) in non-GN nephropathies, the discriminating value of a positive IgM finding with respect to GN and non-GN is limited (Fig. 11.10), so the segmental occurrence of IgM alone rather indicates non-GN (Fig. 12.1).

IgA appears in the blood as a monomer, (mol wt 170,000) and has a blood concentration of 204 ± 85 mg/ 100 ml. Its half-life is 7 days. In secretions it appears as a dimer which is bound via a secretory piece (mol wt 390,000).

IgA can frequently be demonstrated as a superficial coating on distal tubular epithelial cells which may represent extrusion of secretory IgA into the tubular lumen. In the IgA class are found antiviral, antibacterial, and antitoxic AB. Monomeral IgA does not activate comple-



Fig. 11.11. Intrarenal and intraglomerular distribution of immunoglobulins (IgG, IgM, IgA) and C3 in nonglomerulonephritic disease (*Non-GN*), glomerulonephritis—including glomerular minimal change—(GN), and in transplants. n=number of times antigens demonstrated

ment, but aggregated IgA can activate C3 via the alternative pathway, a fact which may explain our demonstration of IgA in association with C3-but not with C4 or C1q [1052] in four out of four cases of IgA mesangial GN (Table 11.3).

Granular mesangial deposits of IgA together with IgG and C3 are typical but not pathognomonic for IgA mesangial GN [123, 951, 1002], since identical findings may be present in Schönlein-Henoch's purpura as well as more rarely in SLE. In IgA mesangial GN deposits are not always limited to the mesangium, but encroach frequently upon BM near the mesangium [951] as has been illustrated by several investigators [1052, 1136].

The diagnosis of IgA nephritis is only possible with IF, since the IF pattern of IgA nephritis has no constant LM equivalent [743, 1052, 1136]. In our own 15 cases under LM, we observed glomerular minimal change once, proliferative-sclerosing endotheliomesangial GN 10 times, and proliferative FGN 4 times.

Additionally, IgA can be demonstrated in practically all severe forms of GN, to be sure, in a small percent of the cases and with weak intensity (see Table 11.2).

The meaning of the rare occurrence of IgA in non-GN and in transplants is obscure. We have found no relationship to GN relapse in transplants (Fig. 11.10).

Table 11.3. Frequency of occurrence of complement factors in various nephropathies

Diagnosis	No. of Cases (n)	С3	C4	Clq	Only C3 positive
Glomerular minimal change	15	8 ⁺ /15 ^c	5/15	1/9	3
Exsudative stage of endotheliomesangial GN	1	1/1	0/1	_	1
Endotheliomesangial GN: proliferative sclerosing stage	11	10/11	3/11	1/5	6
Membranoprolifer- ative GN	3	3/3	1/3	-	2
Epimembranous GN	6	6/6	4/6	1/2	2
Proliferative FGN	11	11/11	8/11	1/1	2
Sclerosing FGN	4	1/4	0/4		1
IgA-GN	6	6/6	0/6	0/6	6
Transplants	10	6/10	2 ^x /10		4
Non-GN nephro- pathies ^a	10	7/10	2/10 ^b	_	5

^a Acute interstitial nephritis (n=3), Tubulopathy (n=2), Alport's disease (n=2), Arteriolosclerosis (n=2), Scleroderma (n=1).

^b Acute interstitial nephrits in rubella $(1 \times)$ and tubular disorder of unknown origin $(1 \times)$.

 $^{+}$ = No. of positive cases; 0 = No. of cases tested; x = GN-relapse.

IgE antibodies (mol wt 200,000) are also designated as reagines or atopical AB. They have a very low serum concentration (0.3 mg/100 ml) and a half-life of 2.3 days. In predisposed patients with atopical disease, their concentration may be increased 10-fold. IgE mediates its main biological action by sensitizing mast cells with attendant histamine release in the presence of AG, but it may also activate complement via the alternative pathway.

We demonstrated IgE intraglomerularly in 9/195 of our cases: four times in epimembranous GN, twice in endotheliomesangial GN, twice in proliferative FGN, and once in a transplant with GN relapse. In another series of cases, positive IgE findings were obtained in 30 of a total of 146, and especially in SLE-GN, IgA mesangial GN, extracapillary accentuated GN, chronic sclerosing GN and in exudative and focal proliferative GN [1065a].

In 30 cases of glomerular minimal change (see also [245, 651]) we did not succeed in demonstrating IgE (contra: [542]).

It is unknown whether or not the usually small amounts of glomerular IgE are of importance and in some way of etiologic significance [1065a].

In three cases with positive glomerular IgE findings, IgE serum concentration was increased [1065a] without, however, concomitant atopic disease. In three such cases of our own, one evidenced marked blood eosinophilia, one developed epimembranous GN following gold therapy, and one suffered from atopic disease, including hay fever.

IgD. The biological significance of IgD and its role in GN is unknown. No clear-cut AB activity can be attributed to this class of immunoglobulin at the time of writing. Its biological half-life in serum is 2.8 days and its serum concentration is 3 mg/100 ml. IgD probably does not have the ability to activate complement.

In our own material, we found IgD intraglomerularly in nine cases all of which had severe immunocomplex involvement. In these nine cases we found epimembranous GN, endotheliomesangial GN and proliferative FGN (three cases of each).

Other investigators have also reported on positive IgD deposits partly in granular, and partly in linear form [812, 797]. We have not, as also reported by other investigators [812], been able to get positive IgD findings in non-GN (contra: [1600]: diabetic glomerulosclerosis one in four, amyloidosis five in eight).

Complement [141] and Properdin System

The extremely complex complement and properdin systems play a key role for the understanding of the various forms of GN, of their pathogenesis and possibly of their



Fig. 11.12. Simplified scheme of activation and biological activities of the complement cascade

etiology. The complement system consists of nine enzymes designated as C1 to C9.

In classical complement activation (Fig. 11.12) activation of complement components—by immunocomplexes as well as other substances—occurs in the following sequence: C1, C4, C2, C3 and then C5–C9. Direct activation of C3 by an alternative pathway via the properdin system may occur independently of the presence of AG-AB complexes and with omission of the C1, C2 and C4 components [582].

Biologically important activators of the properdin system and, accordingly, of the alternative pathway, are aggregated immunoglobulins and endotoxin. The latter is also capable of producing a cytotoxic action on the RHS (endothelial and mesangial cells).

Activation of the complement system by the classical or alternative pathway leads to the generation of active complement components of inflammatory promoting potency, increased vascular permeability, chemotaxis, membrane and cell injury.

In most of the available IF studies, only the C3 component was determined which is present in almost all cases of GN but also in some non-GN lesions and in transplanted kidneys. From Figure 11.12 it is apparent that the pathway of complement activation is not determined by the simple demonstration of C3 but that the search for either C1q and C4 (classical pathway) or properdin (alternative pathway) is essential. But as is apparent in Table 11.3, there is no parallel positivity for C4 and C1q, therefore both complement factors must be tested in a given case to be sure which pathway is used for complement activation.

Currently available results from serologic and IF studies of individual complement components and of the properdin system [1379, 1724] have shown that membranoproliferative GN occupies a special position in the GN group of diseases. In this GN type, C3 and properdin are frequently demonstrable in the glomeruli, while the other components can only be shown so in a small percentage of the cases [1092, 1724] (see also Table 11.3). In serum, this finding corresponds to a decrease of C3 with maintenance of normal concentration of the first complement components (C1, C2 and C4).

It follows that in the majority of membranoproliferative GN cases the activation of complement is via the alternative pathway in which a so-called C3 nephritic factor [141, 1092, 1550, 1650] as well as other poorly defined serum factors are thought to play a significant role. In a minority of cases, complement activation follows primarily or in addition the classical pathway (Table 11.3).

The situation in exudative/proliferative endotheliomesangial GN (so-called acute poststreptococcal type of GN) is uncertain. In this form, immunologic study demonstrates only complement and properdin in some of the cases [1724] a finding which suggests that in some of these cases activation of complement possibly occurs via the alternative pathway. In our material C3 was in 6 out of 11 cases the only complement component demonstrated (Table 11.3).

It also appears very likely that alternative pathway activation of complement also plays the major role in IgA mesangial GN ([1052, 1668]; Table 11.3).

In all other forms of GN, the part played by the alternative pathway is obscure [1379, 1668].

IF demonstration of properdin and of the early and late-C1, C4, C2, C3-components in association with the determination of the respective components in blood (for blood concentrations see [245, 1397]) may be expected to provide increased insight into the various activation pathways in the various form of GN (Table 11.3) and other nephropathies. Such correlated studies may also contribute to refined differential diagnosis of membranoproliferative and the other forms of GN.

Fibrin

In addition to the well established mechanism of activating blood coagulation by tissue thromboplastin (extrinsic mechanism) and the Hageman factor via surface contact (intrinsic mechanism), other factors can lead to the formation of fibrin [1059]. Potentially the most important of these factors is the complement system which, subsequent to activation by AG-AB complexes [715, 800] or by the alternative pathway, e.g., via endotoxin, staphylococcoci, protein A or immunoaggregates, is capable of triggering the clotting system [1775].

IF study reveals four fibrin patterns—listed below—in the glomerulus (attention should be paid to artifacts which may arise by the squeezing of the cylinder or pinching of the renal vessels prior to biopsy):

- 1. In the capillary lumen in local or generalized intravasal coagulation as round or sausage-shaped forms.
- 2. As a diffuse insudation of the entire glomerular tuft or of individual lobules in capillary loop necroses or infarcts respectively (Fig. 11.13).
- 3. In the mesangium or along the peripheral BM in granular form in association with immunocomplexes (Fig. 11.10).
- 4. In non-GN disease (especially in hypertension, scleroderma, eclampsia, and transplants) as fine or coarse granules (Figs. 11.10, 11.14; see also p. 514).

It is difficult to determine the pathogenesis of a given pattern of fibrin deposits. Either systemic (intravasal coagulation) or local processes (necroses, endothelial injury, [1059]) may be involved. The significance of the coagulation-promoting action of AG-AB-complexes can hardly be proven in any given case. The demonstration of fibrin can, under certain circumstances, be indicative of an active inflammatory process. Thus, for example, extracapillary crescents (Fig. 11.13) are generally interpreted as a consequence of the activation of the fibrin system [282, 1068].

IF demonstration of glomerular fibrin is usually accompanied by urinary elimination of fibrin metabolites [986].

The frequent failure to detect fibrin by EM in biopsies positive by IF for glomerular fibrin may be explained by the fact that IF also detects fibrinogen and fibrin split products which have no periodicity with EM.

Additional Glomerular IF Findings (Fig. 11.15)

Obsolescent Glomeruli

Completely obsolescent glomeruli are generally IF negative. In early or partially obsolescence, however, coarse clumps of IgM and/or C3 deposits are often encountered in GN, non-GN (Fig. 11.17) as well as in transplants (Fig. 11.17). Other immunoglobulins, e.g., IgA or IgG, are extremely seldom demonstrable (about 5% of all cases in obsolescence (Fig. 11.17). In all cases, the depositions appear to result from prolonged local circulatory disorder and/or membrane alterations. Only early infarction is occassionally distinguished by diffuse insudation of the entire capillary loop convolute with fibrin(-ogen). IF findings in either completely or partially obsolescent glomeruli do not permit conclusions relating to the basic disease.

Capsular BM

In about 5% of cases, IgM and/or C3 can be demonstrated in capsular BM irrespective of the basic disease (Fig. 11.16). Involvement of the capillary loop in these cases may or may not be present.

Podocytes

In about 20% of the cases of GN, podocytes demonstrate protein droplets (Fig. 11.17) which usually contain IgG and IgM. All other immunoglobulins as well as fibrin (-ogen) and complement are demonstrable in less than 5% of the cases. In segmental focal sclerosing GN (Fig. 11.18), protein droplets in podocytes are especially frequent. However, they are not specific, and are also found in non-GN diseases e.g. diabetes mellitus (6%) and in transplants (4%).

In all our cases with podocytic resorption droplets, a clinically significant proteinuria is present. Podocytic protein droplets are the expression of an increased resorption of podocytes covering severely injured capillary loop segments.

Fig. 11.13. Extracapillary accentuated GN with diffuse insudation of the glomerulus with fibrin(-ogen). Fibrin(-ogen) is also present in the extracapillary crescent. Female, 70 years. IF $(\times 450)$

Fig. 11.14. Fine-granular peripheral and mesangial deposits of fibrin(-ogen) in glomerulus of 5-month-old transplant. Male, 56 years. IF (\times 450)

Fig. 11.15. IgM positive, by and large obsolescent glomerulus in a 2.5-year-old transplant. Male, 28 years. IF $(\times 380)$

Fig. 11.16. Fine-granular, confluent (pseudolinear) staining of the peripheral glomerular BM with C3 in extracapillary accentuated endotheliomesangial GN. Note the C3-positive granular deposits in the capsular BM. Same case as in Figure 11.13. Female, 70 years. IF (\times 380)



11.15 11.16



Fig. 11.17. Relative frequency of IF findings in various renal structures in nonglomerulonephritic disease (1), transplants (2), glomerulonephritis (3). Numbers in brackets underneath the various renal elements state number of examined cases. (n=nonglomerulonephritic disease, transplants and GN.) Sum=relative frequency of positive IF findings independent of the participating antigen. Protein droplets in endo- and epithelium refer to glomeruli only

Capillary Lumens

Clumpy, coarse masses of immunoglobulins deposited within the capillary lumen are very rare (< 5% of cases); their significance in a given case is often unknown (Fig. 11.17). Coarse clumps of protein thrombi are characteristic for cryoglobulinemia and they also are observed as part of other hyperviscosity syndromes e.g. in Waldenström's disease (see [1135]). Therefore, in the presence of cases of the above mentioned finding, a clinical examination for cryoglobulinemia should be undertaken. For intravasal coagulation, see p. 493.

IF Findings in Nonglomerular Structures

Tubules

A reliable and statistically highly significant—although not absolute—indication of proteinuria are resorption droplets in the epithelium of the proximal tubules (Fig. 11.19). These are the IF equivalent of hyaline (fibrinoid) droplet protein storage, and they are generally positive for IgG, IgM, C3, and, infrequently, for IgA and fibrin(-ogen). From our material, we were not able to demonstrate a characteristic diagnostic pattern for


Fig. 11.18. Podocytic protein reabsorption droplets positive for IgG in pyelonephritic contracted kidney associated with overload glomerulitis. Same case as in Figure 11.7. Male, 32 years. IF ($\times 600$)

Fig. 11.19. Global finely granular IgG deposits in the glomerular capillary loops in epimembranous GN. Massive protein droplets of IgG in the tubules. Female, 28 years. IF (\times 480)

the various GN or for selective and nonselective proteinuria respectively (Fig. 11.17).

Tubular casts (Fig. 11.20) are a very frequent finding in all nephropathies. In contrast to tubular resorption droplets, they are not correlated with proteinuria. Neither does their qualitative composition bear any relation to the kind of nephropathy or proteinuria, viz. selective or nonselective. Tubular casts generally contain IgG, IgM, C3, IgA—often especially strongly positive—and IgE, as well as fibrin(-ogen). The less common occurrence of fibrin(-ogen) in tubular casts and resorption droplets (Fig. 11.17) deserves special attention since fibrin split products are demonstrable in the urine of such cases [986].

The epithelial surface of distal tubules rarely exhibits a finely granular IgA-positive coating which is an expression of tubular IgA secretion (Fig. 11.20). With one exception, we have observed this finding exclusively in GN and transplants. In transplants, there was no relationship to the presence of an acute rejection; but in five out of nine of such transplant cases, we did encounter viral infections (HB-Ag three times, herpes simplex and cytomegaly each once). Among 11 GN patients demonstrating IgA-positive tubular surfaces, SLE and Schönlein Henoch's purpura were each present once and four cases demonstrated an acute respiratory infection. The diagnostic significance of this tubular IgA finding is unclear.

In both non-GN and GN diseases, the tubular BM demonstrates coarse granular or short linear staining reactions for IgM and C3 in 22% and 24% respectively (Figs. 11.17, 11.21) of the cases and in 40% of transplants. In all nephropathies (GN and non-GN) a significant correlation between the presence of positive IF findings and tubular atrophy under LM is present; this is not the case for transplants, in which we ascribe positive tubular IF findings to repeated acute rejection episodes.

Predominance of IgM and/or C3 findings in obsolescent glomeruli, in degeneratively changed BM of Bowman's capsule, in tubular BM, and probably also in arteries and arterioles (Fig. 11.17) indicates a common underly-



Fig. 11.20. IgA positive tubular cell surface in a renal transplant with cytomegalovirus infection. Male, 41 years. IF $(\times 300)$

ing pathogenetic principle as being operative for the occurrence of these immunoglobulins. Degenerative BM changes (thickening and fragmentation) and the resulting impairment of permeability in association with other insudation-promoting factors (e.g., circulatory disturbance, pressure increase) are the most probable explanation for the trapping of especially high molecular weight proteins, such as IgM. The concomitant occurrence of complement (C3) is possibly an expression of the nonspecific binding of complement to aggregated IgM.

We were able to demonstrate IgG (in granular or linear form) along tubular BM in only four cases: twice in transplants and once each in Moschkowitz's syndrome and epimembranous GN. Similar findings in SLE-GN and idiopathic hematuria [1035] as well as in transplants [27] are interpreted as binding of auto-antibodies on tubular AG [1035, 1181].

Blood Vessels

Arterioles are obviously structures of low resistance (Figs. 11.17, 11.21) [747] as evidenced by positive IF find-

Fig. 11.21. C3 positive, coarse deposits in the vas afferens in arteriolosclerosis due to hypertension. The neighboring tubular BM also evidences deposits. Female, 42 years. IF (\times 380)

ings in 80% of non-GN and in 53% of GN in which IgM is present in 67% and 33% respectively and C3 in 81% and 50%. In contrast, presence of IgG was—with one exception of malignant nephrosclerosis—restricted to GN.

Hypertension (blood pressure $\geq 160/100$ mm Hg) is present in 40–45% of mild cases of IF-positive arteriolopathy and in 65–70% of severe cases. In view of the fact that the procentual occurrence of hypertension is the same in GN and non-GN, it is a remarkable fact that there is an obvious difference in the frequency of IF arteriolopathy in the two kinds of lesions. The finding suggests that other insudation-promoting factors (e.g., ischemia, interstitial inflammation, diabetes mellitus, see p. 514) may also be involved in the evolution of circumscribed arteriolosclerosis. This is also suggested by the frequent positive IF findings of IgM and/or C3 in arterioles of transplants since in this group of patients, the percentage of hypertensives is very small.

The presence of fibrin(-ogen) in arterioles and small arteries is supposedly indicative of malignant hypertension in nontransplant patients and of an acute vascular rejection in patients with renal transplants. The occurrence of IgM and/or C3 arteriopathy in non-GN (8% of our cases) and in GN (4%) is relatively insignificant (Fig. 11.17). Hypertension was present in all of these cases. The infrequent presence of IgG in arteries and arterioles—usually in conjunction with GN—arouses suspicion of vasculitis which, however, we were unable to verify in the above-cited cases.

The frequently positive IF findings in the arteries of transplants (24%) are sufficiently accounted for by the transplantation vasculopathy. It is questionable, however, as to whether or not the demonstrated arterial and arteriolar immunoglobulins are the expression of a binding of cytotoxically preformed AB or merely of an unspecific insudation of immunoglobulins. Although we have been able to demonstrate a slightly significant relationship between the presence of preformed cytotoxic AB and the severity of transplant vasculopathy, we do not believe that the immunohistologic findings represent in all cases the IF correlate of fixation of cytotoxic AB since in the arteries and arterioles, only 5% of the immunoglobulins involved were of the IgG class while cytotoxic AB are said to belong predominantly to this class [1181]. In this situation too, one is probably dealing in some cases with a consequence of an unspecific insudation of IgM and/or complement.

Interstitium

In cellular infiltrates, immunoglobulin-producing plasma cells can be demonstrated. In 20 renal transplants of our own, IgM-producing plasma cells predominated in 75% of cases where IgG producing plasma cells were found only in 45%. Plasma cells with specificity for other Ig classes were absent. In contrast, in GN and in non-GN, IgG-, IgM-, IgA- and IgE-producing plasma cells were detected each in 5 of 10 cases.

Increased staining in the interstitium of immunoglobulins (especially IgG) and fibrin(-ogen) usually occurs during interstitial edema (Fig. 11.17). The higher incidence in transplants is explained on the basis of acute or chronic rejections. The presence of fibrin(-ogen) is usually associated with fibrin-split products in urine [986].

Cryoglobulins and Kidney

Cryoglobulins (see [95, 201, 592]; for cryofibrinogenemia: [1524]), better defined as cryoimmunoglobulins, are complexes of immunoglobulins composed of one or different classes of immunoglobulins which, depending on their serum concentration, precipitate reversibly between 5° C and 30° C.

Nosology

From the immunologic standpoint, three types of cryoglobulins can be differentiated [201]: (1) monoclonal cryoglobulins, (2) mixed cryoglobulins with a monoclonal component and (3) mixed polyclonal cryoglobulins.

Monoclonal cryoglobulins consist exclusively of one monoclonal immunoglobulin of which IgG and IgM cryoglobulin occur in about the same frequency and are much more frequent than IgA cryoglobulins [592].

In general, the serum concentration of monoclonal cryoglobulins is more than 1 mg/ml [201]. Mixed cryoglobulins with a monoclonal immunoglobulin component contain, beside the monoclonal immunoglobulin, a polyclonal immunoglobulin (usually IgG). These mixed cryoglobulins generally consist of IgG and IgM [201] or, less frequently, of IgG (polyclonal) and IgG (monoclonal) or IgG and IgA. Their serum concentration usual exceeds 1 mg/ml.

The mixed polyclonal cryoglobulins also consist predominantly of IgM and IgG, but their serum concentration is rarely more than 1 mg/ml [201]. These forms may also contain IgA, or lipoprotein, alpha-2-microglobulin and complement factors [15, 95, 956].

In addition to the frequent presence of rheumatic factor activity in mixed cryoglobulins [95, 592], they possess rarely—AB activity against nuclear factors [95, 201]. In a few instances, DNA was demonstrated in the cryoglobulin fraction [95]. There is much controversy as to whether other AB activity (for example against cytomegalovirus, bacteria, erythrocytes and complement) can or cannot be enriched in cryoglobulin fractions [95, 201].

From the clinical viewpoint, two groups of cryoglobulinemia may be differentiated: (1) essential (monoclonal or mixed) cryoglobulinemia (no known basic disease) and (2) secondary (monoclonal or mixed) cryoglobulinemia (known basic disease) [95, 201, 592].

So-called "essential" monoclonal cryoglobulinemias may be the first symptom of a plasmocytoma or of Waldenström's disease, which become clinically manifest years later [201, 592]. The essential mixed cryoglobulinemias may be the initial indication of an autoimmune disease, which likewise may become apparent after many years (see below). In a large series of cases with follow-up over many years [201] 29 out of 86 cases had to be classified as essential cryoglobulinemia; 22 out of 29 cryoglobulins were of the mixed polyclonal variety.

Secondary monoclonal cryoglobulinemias are especially found in plasmocytoma and Waldenström's disease and, less frequently, in malignant lymphoma [201]. Secondary mixed cryoglobulinemia of the poly- or monoclonal type is found in a variety of conditions such as Waldenström's disease, plasmocytoma, malignant lymphoma, periarteritis nodosa, SLE, rheumatoid arthritis Sjögren's syndrome, syphilis, kala-azar, lymphogranuloma venerum, infectious mononucleosis, cytomegaly, subacute bacterial endocarditis, sarcoidosis, chronic hepatitis and glomerulonephritis [201, 469, 592, 813, 1022, 1291].

Mixed cryoglobulins are found in considerable frequency, especially in proliferative (endotheliomesangial) glomerulonephritis (with or without crescents) as well as in post-streptococcal and membranoproliferative GN [6, 605, 1057, 1058]. Cryoglobulins appearing within the framework of infectious diseases, GN and in SLE are often transitory, and demonstrate low serum concentrations [201, 1057, 1058].

Although 50% of the monoclonal cryoglobulinemias and 15% of the mixed types can take an asymptomatical course [201], the clinical picture in the symptomatic cases is very similar. One encounters—in decreasing order of frequency—skin symptoms: especially purpura, acral necrosis, urticaria, acrocyanosis, Renaud's phenomenon, arthralgia, renal symptoms, polyneuropathy, lymphadenopathy and hepatosplenomegaly [201, 592, 1075].

Renal Changes

Two types of renal change may be recognized in cryoglobulinemia: those characterized by protein thrombi alone and those characterized by GN.

Protein Thrombi. In monoclonal and mixed cryoglobulinemias (with a monoclonal component), typically large protein thrombi, such as occur in plasmocytoma and Waldenström's disease, are present. The thrombi completely occlude the glomerular capillary loops and other renal vessels, show in IF the same immunoglobulin pattern as serum cryoglobulins [201, 1667], and can lead to acute renal failure. In later phases-and as a result of repeated episodes of intravasal protein thrombus formation-findings similar to chronic, nondestructive interstitial nephritis may develop, as illustrated by one of our cases of a 46-year-old female patient with a 10year history of essential, mixed (IgG, IgA) cryoglobulinemia. In this case, no glomerular protein thrombi were present, but there were nonoccluding protein thrombi in the intertubular capillaries. A similar finding in two cases of mixed cryoglobulinemia (IgG, IgM, IgA) has been described by other investigators [1517].

GN: LM and EM Findings. GN develops in about onefifth to one-third of all cases of cryoglobulinemia [201, 501]. GN is especially frequent in mixed cryoglobulinemia with a monoclonal component, but may also develop in mixed polyclonal cryoglobulinemia. Since it is not always possible to determine whether or not cryoglobulinemia is a cause or effect of GN or merely an insignificant epiphenomenon, the following discussion will consider only those cases of GN in essential cryoglobulinemia. In the presently available literature, there are 26 reports of GN to which we add two of our own [53, 201, 311, 501, 577, 859, 1014, 1128, 1138, 1254, 1517, 1595, 1667].

A very characteristic picture of GN in cryoglobulinemia has emerged from the above-cited observations. In all cases, proliferative GN, partly diffuse and partly of focally accentuated character, is present and is accompanied in about one-half of the cases by crescents. A modern nosologic classification cannot, unfortunately, be formulated on the basis of the descriptions given in the quoted literature. Membranoproliferative GN (Fig. 11.23) was present in five cases, two of which were our own [1128, 1138, 1517]. There was one case of mixed epimembranous and membranoproliferative GN with irregular mesangial proliferation and extra-capillary crescents [1138]. Glomerular capillary loop necrosis was mentioned once [1075]. In about one-third of the cases [53, 75, 201, 1014, 1075, 1138, 1595] there occurs an arteritis of a few small and larger renal vessels characterized by fibrinoid necrosis of the vascular wall, extravasation of erythrocytes and a perivascular inflammation of lymphocytes, plasma cells or polymorphonuclear leukocytes [53, 75, 201].

Perivascular granuloma may rarely be present [1138]. The renal vasculitis is usually accompanied by a similar cutaneous vasculitis (see also [201]).

A further characteristic, likewise observed in about onethird of the cases, are voluminous partially occlusive intravasal/intraglomerular protein deposits ('thrombi') (Fig. 11.23; [53, 201, 1075, 1138]). Similar thrombi have also been observed extrarenally [207, 947].

Fig. 11.22. Same case as in Figure 11.23. Coarse-granular subendothelial deposits (*D*) and osmiophylic spheres (*) in intraluminal monocyte (cell border of monocyte: \rightarrow), slight fusion of foot processes. Endothelial cell (*E*). Female, 64 years. EM (×9640)

Fig. 11.23. Membranoproliferative GN with 'hyaline' thrombi (giant deposits \rightarrow) in cryoglobulinemia. Female, 64 years. PAS (×600). Inset: 'hyaline' thrombus in peripheral glomerular loop, PAS (×1875)

Fig. 11.24. Slightly osmiophilic spheres (*) in the lumen of an intertubular vessel in a case of cryoglobulinemia. Female, 46 years. EM (\times 1740)

Fig. 11.25. Higher magnification of subendothelial deposit (seen in Fig. 11.22) with crystalloid (tubular) structure (*). Podocyte (*P*), lamina densa (*LD*). Female, 64 years. EM (\times 46,000)



11.23 11.24 11.25 These intravasal/intraglomerular protein thrombi appear in LM to be fundamentally extracellular, a finding we have confirmed in EM study for the thrombi in the intertubular capillaries (Fig. 11.24). In our two cases of cryoglobulinemia with GN, we have demonstrated large monocytoid cells containing voluminous protein inclusions in glomerular capillary loops (Fig. 11.22, see also [1128]).

Additionally, with EM, peculiar crystalloid structures can occassionally be demonstrated in extracellular deposits (Figs. 11.22, 11.25); these crystalloid structures are similar to those found in the in vitro cryoprecipitates ([311]; see also [158]).

IF Findings. Findings from 20 cases of essential cryoglobulinemia investigated with IF are available [53, 75, 201, 577, 1014, 1128, 1138, 1595] including one of our own cases. One case out of 20 was completely negative [311, 1014], i.e., no immunoglobulins were demonstrable, even in the renal eluate; while in the rest of the cases with 2 exceptions [1138, 1595]—an immunoglobulin pattern identical to the cryoglobulin composition as well as complement (C3) was demonstrated. Only once was it possible on the basis of rheumatic factor activity [53] to establish the identity of immunoglobulins deposited in the glomeruli with the cryoglobulin isolated from the serum.

Prognosis

The prognosis of GN in cryoglobulinemia appears, in general, to be extremely poor. Most afflicted patients die within a few weeks or months following diagnosis in uremia [53, 75, 577, 1014, 1075, 1517] (one case of our own). In our second case, the disease progressed with episodic attacks during a period of several years.

Etiology and Pathogenesis

The etiologic significance of cryoglobulins in GN as well as in renal and nonrenal vasculitis is established by the fact that in essential cryoglobulinemia, immunoglobulin patterns of cryoglobulins in the serum, glomerulum and skin vessels are identical [872].

A further proof is high rheumatic factor activity in glomerular immunocomplexes [53] as in cryoglobulins isolated from the serum. With EM, identical crystalloid structures have been demonstrated in glomerular deposits and in cryoprecipitates [311].

It is generally recognized today that cryoglobulins repre-

sent AG-AB complexes, a concept repeatedly confirmed by the demonstration of the rheumatic factor activity of mixed cryoglobulins [592]. The simultaneous deposition of immunoglobulins and complement in the glomerulus and the decrease of serum complement in essential cryoglobulinemia [53, 201, 577, 1014, 1595] both indicate complement activation by cryoglobulins, a concept confirmable by in vitro tests [1378]. Additionally, passive transfer of mixed cryoglobulins to guinea pigs produces vasculitis and GN [95, 328].

Despite the evidence cited, the pathogenesis of GN has not been fully explained, since at body temperature (37° C) cryoglobulin precipitates in serum are extremely rarely encountered, and then only in scant amounts [859, 1075, 1254]. Perhaps cryoprecipitation sets in at higher temperatures with increasing serum concentrations [592]. A fact militating against this concept is the finding that all data relating to essential cryoglobulinemia with GN report, with one exception [53] serum concentrations scarcely exceeding 1 mg/ml.

On the other hand, the low cryoglobulin serum concentrations could simply be the consequence of the deposition of the cryoglobulins in the glomeruli and skin as well as of the elimination of cryoglobulin complexes by RHS.

The etiologic, pathogenetic and prognostic significance of cryoglobulins occurring within the framework of secondary cryoglobulinemia such as in post-streptococcal GN, idiopathic GN, etc. awaits elucidation.

As noted previously, this finding may be merely the reflection of an insignificant epiphenomenon. This concept is supported by the lack of concordance between the immunoglobulin pattern of serum cryoglobulins and the IF-demonstrable immunoglobulins in the glomeruli [6, 1057, 1058] and by the lack of correlation between cryoglobulinemia on the one hand and on the other morphology, clinical activity of GN, and the reduction of the serum complement level respectively [1057, 1058]. However, the persistence of cryoglobulins in cases of GN may be associated with a chronic course [6, 1057, 1058]. This leaves little doubt as to their possible pathogenetic and prognostic significance in a given case.

In contrast to post-streptococcal GN, cryoglobulins assume greater significance within the framework of SLE in which lupus patients with cryoglobulins develop GN considerably more frequently than those without, and in which the clinical activity of the disease and the reduction of the serum complement level correlate significantly with the presence of cryoglobulins [272, 657, 872, 1560]. The etiologic and pathogenetic significance of cryoglobulins in SLE is further emphasized by their demonstration in glomeruli [872] as was possible in essential cryoglobulinemia [53].

12. General Differential Diagnosis Between Non-Glomerulonephritic Nephropathies and Glomerulonephritis

In order to obtain objective parameters for differential diagnosis between GN and non-GN nephropathies, more than 650 semiquantitatively evaluated biopsies of our material studied with EM and 400 with IF were examined, using stepwise discrimination analysis. The individual glomerular parameters selected are presented in the histograms in the previous chapters. The most important of the EM parameters can be also judged with LM.

The IF parameters suitable for discrimination analysis encompass the presence of immunoglobulins (IgG, IgM, IgA) as well as complement (C3) and fibrin(-ogen) in general, their intraglomerular distribution (segmental/ global) and their character (fine-granular/coarsely-granular). Discrimination analysis compared non-GN to GN (including glomerular minimal change) as well as GN (including glomerular minimal change) to transplants. The results are presented in Figs. 12.1, 12.2).

Extracapillary crescent formation as well as capillary loop necrosis were underestimated in the analysis of EM material insofar as their frequency of occurrence was small. The same is also true for IgA in IF-material since IgA was not tested in all cases.

Morphologic findings (the more pronounced, the more diagnostically substantiating) speaking for GN are listed below:

- 1. Mesangial change in general and mesangial cell increase in particular
- 2. Presence of deposits in general
- 3. Obsolescence of glomerular capillaries due to proliferation
- 4. Global fusion of foot processes
- 5. Presence of IgG and complement (C3).
- Findings which speak against the presence of GN are: 1. Glomerular collapse
- Lamellation of the lamina densa (this finding was overestimated since the material encompassed numerous cases of Alport's syndrome)
- 3. Presence of IgM in segmental distribution.

All the other morphologic EM and IF parameters examined are of lesser significance for the differential diagnosis between GN and non-GN. On the basis of discrimination analysis, i.e., from purely statistical data, it appears that idiopathic glomerular minimal change and sclerosing FGN do not belong to the group of GN. The morphologic parameters which are significant for the diagnosis of GN also reflect inflammatory activity. In general, the following morphologic parameters speak for inflammatory activity, (i.e., inflammation has not regressed but is progressing):

- 1. Hypercellularity of the glomerulus, especially mesangial cell increase (as associated with proliferative glomerular capillary loop obsolescence)
- 2. Subepithelial as well as subendothelial and mesangial deposits
- 3. Capillary loop necroses
- 4. Proliferative (fresh) crescents
- 5. Accompanying interstitial nephritis with numerous polymorphonuclear leukocytes and/or plasma cells
- 6. Presence of IgG and C3 intraglomerularly.

The following changes are not conclusive evidence for inflammatory activity and speak against rapid progression:

- 1. Fibrotic crescents and synechiae
- 2. Few and small intramembranous deposits
- 3. BM thickening (of l. densa and l. rara interna)
- 4. Interstitial fibrosis.

The results of the comparison between GN and transplants are of special diagnostic importance since diagnosis of GN recurrence in transplants may prove to be very difficult (Fig. 12.2). The demonstration of mesangial cell increase followed by deposits in general, and in the subepithelial position in particular as well as capillary loop obsolescence due to proliferation has proven to be of value in identifying relapsing GN in transplants, as has the IF demonstration of complement (C3) and IgG generally. Thus, the main diagnostic parameters for GN relapse in renal transplants are the same as for the differentiation between GN and non-GN. Subendothelial new formation of densa lamellae and the presence of pathologic capillary loop contents (polymorphonuclear leukocytes, monocytes, fibrin(-ogen)) must not be taken as the expression of GN relapse.

The data cited above, however, are subject to the restriction that in the discrimination analysis, GN in nontransplant kidneys were compared to transplant kidneys, so that the possible deviating glomerular reaction pattern of GN in transplant kidneys due to immunosuppression did not receive consideration.



Fig. 12.1. Results from stepwise discrimination analysis: significant EM and IF parameters and the relative discrimination value for the comparative delineation between GN and non-GN (Wilcoxen U-test, $P \ll 0.05$). +, presence of EM or IF parameters independent of further specification. See also text



Fig. 12.2. Results from stepwise discrimination analysis: significant EM and IF parameters and the relative discrimination value for the comparative delineation between GN and transplants (Wilcoxen U-test, $P \ll 0.05$). +, presence of EM or IF parameters independent of further specification. See also text Part II

Histopathology of Specific Renal Disease States

13. General Aspects of Glomerulonephritis

Etiologic classification represents the culminating objective of all the efforts devoted to the morphologic study of a given disease entity. No such classification is currently possible for many diseases such as GN. A more attainable goal would be a classification of GN from the pathogenetic point of view, but even this approach remains generally unsuccessful (e.g., systemic diseases such as SLE, Schönlein Henoch's purpura, vasculitis, etc.).

Accordingly, the old system of classification based on malformations, nephroses (an anatomical concept), inflammatory glomerular, interstitial and vascular diseases, and tumors is still in use. But even this gross model of classification poses problems with complexe lesions; such as renal transplantation, radiation nephropathy, nephronophthisis etc.

The order of topics presented and the amount of attention given them in this presentation have been chosen in view of their significance in needle biopsy evaluation. The group of lesions encompassing glomerular inflammatory diseases is, with respect to the above-mentioned criteria, by far the most important; it also presents the greatest difficulties when the multiplicity of etiologic and pathogenetic factors involved in GN is considered.

Nosology

In our nosology of GN (Table 13.1) we have formulated a broad classification based mainly on morphology (LM, EM, IF) completed by clinical information. This classification can be extended in a given case by including further morphologic parameters, e.g., severity of mesangial changes, stage of inflammation (exudative, proliferative, sclerosing), extent of crescent formation etc.

References to the time course (acute, subacute, chronic) of the disease formerly used by many investigators as a basis for classification were completely omitted.

The first part of our nosology (Table 13.1) comprises a systematic morphologic classification of all forms of diffuse and focally accentuated GN based mainly on LM (independent of but evolved from IF or EM findings) and independent of their possible association with systemic diseases. Morphologic guidelines for classificaTable 13.1. Classification of glomerulonephritis (GN)

A. Diffuse GN

- I. Diffuse endotheliomesangial GN (so-called post-streptococcal type) Addendum: extracapillary accentuated GN
- II. Membranoproliferative GN
- III. Intramembranous GN
- IV. Epimembranous GN
- V. Mixed forms (A I-IV)
- B. Focally accentuated GN
 - I. Embolic, purulent focal glomerulitis
 - II. Thrombotic GN
 - a) FGN in subacute bacterial endocarditis
 - (Thrombocapillaritis Löhlein)
 - b) GN following generalized intravasal coagulation
 - III. Segmental-focal (accentuated) proliferative GN
 - IV. Segmental-focal (accentuated) sclerosing GN
 - V. Secondary accompanying glomerulitis associated with non-GN diseases (amyloidosis, arteriolosclerosis and -necrosis, pyelonephritis)
- C. Non-classifiable GN

(especially in relation to contracted kidney)

- D. Special forms
 - Diffuse and segmental-focal (accentuated) GN in systemic disease (Schönlein-Henoch's purpura, Wegener's and Goodpasture's syndrome, systemic lupus erythematosus)
 - II. IgA mesangial GN (IgA-nephritis)
 - III. Congenital and early infantile GN

Glomerular Minimal Change

- A. Primary idiopathic form (=lipoid nephrosis =IF negative)
- B. Secondary symptomatic forms
 - I. Minimal endotheliomesangial GN
 - II. Minimal change plus segmental-focal sclerosing GN
 - III. Unspecific secondary reaction in non-GN renal disease such as Alport's disease, etc.

tion of GN are schematically summarized in Figure 13.1 taken from the histogram Figure 6.34. These parameters also parallel our pathogenetic concept outlined in Figure 13.7.



Fig. 13.1. Schematic presentation of the decisive morphologic guidelines for diagnosis of the different forms of GN. Black: LM parameters. Stippled: IF and EM parameters

The second part, "Special GN Forms" (Table 13.1) is devoted to disease entities—especially systemic diseases—which require, for diagnosis, more complete information, e.g., clinical and laboratory data, IF and EM results.

Glomerular minimal change constitutes a separate group due to the etiologic and pathogenetic problems involved in this disease, as well as to the multiplicity of methods required for exact classification. Since glomerular minimal change as seen by LM belongs partly to GN, they are considered along with GN.

An internationally accepted nosology of GN does not as yet exist and, accordingly, many classification systems have been proposed during the last decades which vary considerably from each other [13, 126, 161, 433, 620, 684, 846, 1325, 1395, 1713].

A detailed analysis of the most widely used classifications published since 1970 reveals, however, only minor semantic differences (Table 13.2). In diagnostic practice, there is said to be disagreement in 5-20% of cases (see discussion [277]) among pathologists; but, the more the number of investigation techniques used simultaneously (e.g., LM+IF+EM), the less the percentage of disagreement. If the relative frequencies of the different forms of GN are considered, the difference between lowest and highest incidence given in different published series varies by a factor of 2–3 in endotheliomesangial GN, extracapillary accentuated GN, intramembranous and epimembranous GN, and glomerular minimal change, increases to 5–15 in segmental-focal sclerosing GN, in membranoproliferative GN and in segmental-focal proliferative GN. The differences in frequency in the latter three forms of GN cannot, in our opinion, be explained only by regional or ethnic factors or from criteria used for selection of patients for biopsy. These data demonstrate which forms of GN require further discussion to achieve a semblance of uniformity.

Basic Morphologic Parameters of Glomerulonephritis

In the following, some basic morphologic parameters are discussed which serve as guides to a definitive classification as well as permitting further specification of the diagnosis in a given case i.e. severity of involvement of the kidney (diffuse/focal see p. 48), of the glomeruli (global/segmental see p. 48), of the mesangium, stage of inflammation, capillary loop (BM) involvement and localization of deposits, and finally extent of crescent formation.

Mesangial Changes

From the quantitative point of view, mesangial changes, as they are mainly to be judged in endotheliomesangial, membranoproliferative and intramembranous GN, can be grossly divided into three degrees of severity. We

	1						
Zollinger/ Mihatsch	Bohle [159a, 163a]	Thoenes [1611]	Habib [620, 624]	Hamburger [654]	Cameron [242 a]	Churg and Duffy [277]	Kincaid-Smith [840a]
Endothelio- mesangial GN (For further subdivisions see text)	Exudative GN — Endocapillary (acute) GN (post- streptococcal type) — Mesangio- proliferative GN — without crescents — with focal epithelial crescents	Exudative GN - Exudative or exudative and prolifer- ative GN (acute) - Mesangial (endocapillary) proliferative GN - Proliferative sclerosing GN - Intra- and extracapillary proliferative GN -	Pure mesangial proliferative GN with or without exudation (purely endo- capillary GN) Mesangial proliferative GN with focal crescents (endo- and extracapillary GN with focal crescents) 	Proliferative GN (endo-/inter- capillary prolifer- ation) —	Pro- liferative- exudative GN — Pro- liferative mesangial GN —	 Acute diffuse proliferative and exu-dative GN Incompletely resolved ("latent") GN (chronic early GN) (with crescents) - 	Endocapillary proliferative/ exudative GN — Endocapillary GN — Mesangial pro- liferative GN —
Membrano- proliferative GN	Membrano- proliferative GN – simple form – lobular variant	Membrano- proliferative and lobular GN	Membrano- proliferative GN – pure – lobular – with cres- cents	Membrano- prolifer- ative/ lobular GN	Pro- liferative mesangio- capillary GN	Chronic early mesangio- capillary/ lobular GN	Mesangio- capillary (membrano- prolifer- ative) GN
Intra- membranous GN				Dense deposit disease			Mesangio- capillary GN with dense de- posits in BM
Epi- membranous GN	Peri- (extra-/ epi-) membranous GN	(Peri-) membranous GN	Extra- membranous GN Membranous GN (late stage)	Extra- membranous deposit disease	Mem- branous (epimem- branous) nephro- pathy	Membranous nephropathy	Membranous GN
Extracapillary accentuated GN > 50% cres- cents	Mesangio- proliferative GN with diffuse epithelial crescents (rapid progress)	Intra- and extracapillary proliferative GN (rapidly progressing)	Mesangial proliferative GN with focal/diffuse crescents (endo- and extracapillary GN with focal/diffuse crescents)	Malignant GN	Proliferative GN with extensive crescents	Rapidly progressive (extracapil- lary) GN	Proliferative GN with epithelial crescents

Table 13.2. Comparison of classification of glomerulonephritis (for further synonymes see appropriate chapters)

14010 15:2 (601	(infacta)						
Zollinger/ Mihatsch	Bohle [159a, 163a]	Thoenes [1611]	Habib [620, 624]	Hamburger [654]	Cameron [242a]	Churg and Duffy [277]	Kincaid-Smith [840a]
Segmental focal (accentuated) proliferative GN	Focal GN Mesangio- proliferative GN with focal and segmental scarring	Focal and segmental proliferative GN	Focal- segmental GN	Focal GN	Focal pro- liferative GN	Focal pro- liferative GN	Segmental focal proliferative GN — Diffuse pro- liferative GN with focal/ segmental mes- angiocapillary changes
Segmental focal (accentuated) sclerosing GN	Minimal proliferative intercapillary GN and so- called focal sclerosis/ Focal scleros- ing GN	Focal segmental sclerosing GN	Focal scler- osing GN – segmental hyalinosis – global fibrosis		Focal glomerulo- sclerosis	Focal sclerosing GN	Segmental focal hyalinosis/ Segmental focal sclerosis
Glomerular minimal change – primary – secondary	Minimal proliferative intercapil- lary GN - without/ with nephrotic syndrome	Minimal change Minimal glom e rulitis	Minimal glomerular lesions (subtypes)	Minimal changes	Minimal change	Lipoid nephrosis (nil or minimal change dis- ease)	No/minor/mini- mal lesions by LM (subtypes 1.1-1.5)

Table 13.2 (continued)

designate the most severe change as panmesangial, the moderately severe as axial, and the mildest form as minimal.

In the panmesangial change (Figs. 13.2, 14.17; p. 181, 202) the entire glomerular mesangium is considerably widened as in membranoproliferative GN, in which it is often nodularly (lobularly) transformed. This form is always associated with narrowing of the capillary lumen in which mesangial and, presumedly, endothelial cells participate.

In the moderately severe axial form (Figs. 13.2, 14.12; p. 181, 199), the mesangium extends from the glomerular hilus in a finger-like fashion into the periphery. The capillary loops are - if at all - insignificantly narrowed.

The minimal change designates the mildest form (Figs. 13.2, 18.6, 18.7). It corresponds to "glomerular minimal change" and other analogous designations, which are encountered in the idiopathic nephrotic syndrome of childhood. Glomerular minimal change is characterized by a very discrete, insular, spotty and discontinuous mesangial enlargement usually seen as a singular mesangial field containing 3–5 nuclei per glomerulus.

Inflammatory Stage

Previous designations of acute and chronic have resulted in such great confusion between pathologists and clinicians that they had to be discarded in favor of the morphologically defined stages of inflammation, namely, exudative, proliferative, proliferative-sclerosing, and sclerosing (Fig. 13.3). An overview of the relative frequency of the morphologic stages and their correlation to disease duration is given in Figure 13.4.

The *exudative stage*, a designation also used by other investigators, provides the greatest difficulty, since it is characterized by a massive accumulation of neutrophilic leukocytes—and later, of monocytes—in the capillary loops. An actual cellular or fibrinous exudation as such is not a compulsory feature. Nevertheless, scattered erythrocytes are not infrequently found in the capsular space, whereas fibrin and leukocytes are rarely encountered. With reference to the designation of inflammatory stages used to describe changes in general pathology and in the absence of a better expression, we feel the term "exudative" to be appropriate. Alteration, i.e., capillary loop necrosis, can also be summarized under the term exudative stage (see also [13, 161, 1068, 1713]). The exudative stage of GN is usually encountered in cases of less than 10 weeks' duration.

The *proliferative* stage is present in those cases which demonstrate an increase of in situ cells (i.e., mesangial and endothelial cells) and which show signs of cellular activity in EM (see p. 100) such as nuclear swelling or increase in rough endoplasmatic reticulum, etc. (contra:

Mesangial change: Degrees of severity



Fig. 13.2. Schematic presentation of the different degrees of severity of mesangial involvement



[1611]). Proliferative stages are most frequently encountered in cases of less than 25 weeks' duration, but they are also now and again observed in cases of up to 6 years' duration (Fig. 13.4). It is noted, however, that the retrospective determination of disease onset is fraught with possible error. It is also pointed out that post-streptococcal GN may show the proliferative stage for quite a long time after clinical healing and it may even persist for years. Finally, a proliferative stage may develop during a relapse (exacerbation) of a decade-old disease.

The *proliferative-sclerosing* stage is basically differentiated from the purely proliferative stage by an increase in mesangial matrix which is clearly demonstrated in PASM stain. The capillary lumen is not displaced by endothelial proliferation in this stage but the cells can



Fig. 13.3. Schematic presentation of the various inflammatory stages observed in the course of GN

 $- \times -$: Mesangial matrix; ----: Endothelial cells; ----: Mesangial cells; ----: Polymorphonuclear leukocytes

Fig. 13.4. Relationship between the morphologic inflammatory stages of GN and duration of illness (glomerular minimal change and epimembranous GN are excluded) ($\rightarrow =$ median-value)

show signs of activity (see above). In general, the proliferative-sclerosing stage is encountered on average after a disease duration of about 50 weeks (Fig. 13.4) but, as with the proliferative stage, it may still be encountered many years after disease onset.

The *sclerosing* stage is, in part, difficult to differentiate from the proliferative-sclerosing stage. We always speak of a sclerosing stage, however, when the proportion of the mesangial matrix increase is greater than that of the cellular increase (Fig. 13.3). In segmental-focal sclerosing GN, however, the determination of stage is simple, since in this case, cellular increase is practically absent.

The sclerosing stage is usually observed in cases with a duration of disease between 2 and 4 years (Fig. 13.4).

The differentiation of these four inflammatory stages (exudative, proliferative, proliferative-sclerosing and sclerosing) does not imply that every case of GN necessary takes this morphogenetic course.

Indeed, the disease may heal—at least clinically—in any one of the four stages. It is also noted that the sclerosing stage in particular may develop without a prior exudative stage (sclerosing FGN, see p. 296). The practical value of the recognition of the four different stages of the inflammatory reaction (the same holds true for the different stages in epimembranous GN) is that especially in cases of GN representing chance findings—with appropriate reservation—indications as to real duration of the disease are possible. This permits, although rarely, the unmasking of possible etiologic factors.

Changes of the Peripheral Capillary Loop Wall (BM Changes, Localization of Deposits)

Changes associated with the peripheral capillary loop wall (BM changes) have been described extensively on p. 62). Their detailed analysis, especially of the precise localization of deposits, as well as mesangial interposition are of decisive diagnostic significance. There is no generally accepted rating scale (for IF see p. 155).

Extracapillary Crescents

Extracapillary crescents show segmental development (i.e., proliferation is restricted to a glomerular segment) or global development (the crescent surrounds the entire glomerular convolute). Since the presence of extracapillary crescents, which are found in 25% of all our GN excluding glomerular minimal change, has considerable prognostic significance independently of the basic type of GN involved, we feel that a differentiation of three groups is desirable: GN without crescents, GN with <50% crescents (*crescentic involvement*) and >50% crescents (*crescentic accentuation*) (Fig. 13.5). We for-

merly used a more extensive and subtle differentiation (no crescents, less than 10%, 10-25%, 25-50%, 50-75%, more than 75%) which proved to be unuseful (contra: [621]) since there was an excessive overlapping of survival rates within the groups with less or more than 50% crescents. This can be explained by the fact that biopsy is performed at different times of the disease course, so that early rebiopsy of a case initially showing only few extracapillary crescents will demonstrate their diffuse presence.

Based on the above discussion we formulate the diagnosis as follows, e.g., diffuse membranoproliferative GN, axial form, proliferative stage, 10% segmental crescents.

Special Clinical Courses of Glomerulonephritis

Clinically, different terms such as progression, latency, persistence, protraction, and defective healing are used to characterize special clinical courses of GN; they pose great problems for the pathologist. Since these terms are of considerable significance for clinicians, pathologists should give them due consideration. It must be borne in mind that the above-mentioned terms should not be used by the pathologist, since even serial biopsies do not allow-when only LM is used-prediction of the course of GN with certainty [484a]: in a series of 189 cases (excluding glomerular minimal change and necrotizing GN) 35% improved clinically but only 15% morphologically and 26% worsened clinically and 48% morphologically. A better correlation between clinical course and morphology can only be expected in studies combining different techniques (LM, IF, EM).

Progressive GN is characterized by a slow but irrevocable progression of the disease [1325].

Persistent GN [544] identical to latent GN as described by other investigators [911, 1541] was found in 69 out of 625 cases of proliferative GN [277]. It is reported to procede without hematuria or proteinuria [911]. In the clinically acute phase, it cannot be differentiated from the usual endotheliomesangial GN. In the late form (1-3)years after acute onset) irregular parietal loop thickening, an increase in mesangial cells, and local loop obliteration—which may be accompanied by synechiae—are encountered. EM study in this stage reveals, on occasion, small osmiophilic intramembranous deposits and a few fresh humps. IF shows peripheral granular deposits of IgG and complement. Since a few mesangial and subendothelial deposits have been reported [544], it appears to us that the reports are more indicative of membranoproliferative or proliferative FGN since the lesion is reported to develop into contracted kidney.

Other investigators [1158, 1325] characterize the term



Fig. 13.5. Survival rate from biopsy onwards in all GN forms in relation to the degree of extracapillary crescents (for further details, see text)

"latent" as referring to a very long-lasting stationary finding such as pronounced mesangial hypercellularity still present at least 1 year after clinically acute onset of GN. This definition coincides with that of "*unresolved* GN" [1068]. Still other investigators define "latent" as lipoid nephrosis in general [1272] or as intracapillary (membranoproliferative) GN [772].

The diagnosis of *defective healing* is neither possible clinically nor morphologically. Thus, in persistent GN, it is impossible to determine whether these changes are indicative of a potential for disease progression or in fact do represent defective healing [1325].

The *protracted form* [1325] refers to those cases which show clinically a retarded healing tendency (up to 3 years) and a very slow recovery of the glomerular filtration rate.

General Pathogenesis of Glomerulonephritis [544, 1083, 1200, 1257, 1643]

Corresponding to experimental animal models, two forms of GN can be differentiated: an immunocomplex type (serum nephritis type [384], Fig. 13.6) and an antiBM type (nephrotoxic serum nephritis, Masugi nephritis). It is being recognized more and more, however, that this simple pathogenetic scheme does not sufficiently explain the wide variety of human GN [654]. Very problematic in this respect are intramembranous GN and sclerosing FGN. A further possibility has emerged in that it has been shown that mesangially bound AG can be the target of circulating humoral AB and, as such, give rise to mesangial inflammation and proliferation [1028]. In addition, the discovery of the alternative pathway of complement activation has opened up new possibilities for explaining the origination of glomerular inflammatory changes [931, 1257]. Finally, it must always be borne in mind that not every IF demonstration of immunoglobulin-and especially of IgM and complement-represents immunocomplexes exclusively as it may indicate the probable presence of secondarily deposited biologically inert material (see p. 158). It is further noted that obviously genuine immunocomplexes are not irrevocably associated with inflammatory changes.

There is, however, general agreement that the nephritogenic action—in most cases—is due to antigen-antibody (AG-AB) reaction in the glomerulus either by binding of circulatory auto-AB (anti-BM type) or by immunocomplex deposits in the broadest sense. In both cases,



the morphologically recognizable inflammatory reaction is due to secondary mechanisms to which belong, above all, activation of the complement system with the release of vasoactive and chemotactic substances (surveys: [309, 931, 1396], and of the coagulation system: [1059, 1060, 1396, 1653, 1690]) which is chiefly associated with fibrosclerotic changes. Leukocytes do not appear to play a significant role in GN, since in cases of agranulocytosis, the same glomerular lesions occur [544]. It is noted, however, that following destruction of the endothelium there occurs a direct contact of polymorphonuclear leukocytes with the BM, a degranulation of leukocytic lysosomes and, in EM, dissolution of the BM [229, 683]; these changes are not found in the presence of agranulocytosis [668].

Fig. 13.6. Pathogenic factors in immunocomplex GN



Fig. 13.7. Significance of solubility of immunocomplexes (*IC*) in the pathogenesis of GN (modified from [544])

Immunocomplex Glomerulonephritis

This form of GN is due to deposition of circulating AG-AB complexes in the glomeruli. The various depositional patterns—and the thereby correlatable forms of nephritis—are determined by at least three groups of factors (Fig. 13.6).

- 1. AG-AB properties (Fig. 13.7)
- 2. RHS function, including the mesangial clearance function
- 3. Glomerular function.

AG-AB Properties. The size, solubility, and glomerular localization of the complex is considerably dependent

upon the AG-AB relationship. Three classes of immunocomplexes demonstrating different degrees of pathogenicity can be distinguished [544]. These are:

Class I. Small, soluble complexes (as a rule, under 1,000,000 Daltons) which form in the presence of a relative excess of AG. These complexes can pass through the BM and have been referred to as causing "transmembranous immunocomplex GN" [544]. Accordingly, these complexes are found subepithelially (epimembranous GN) and, typically, also in post-streptococcal type GN with formation of subepithelial humps as a self-limiting form [382].

There are, however, also rapidly progressive and persistent forms [544] whose pathogenesis must be affected by other factors. According to experimental findings following administration of a single dose of bovine serum albumin (acute serum sickness), the antigen is only demonstrable for a few days in the deposits while IgG and C3 remain and increase [1745], i.e., the AB accumulates more and more on the sessile complexes. Although complement and leukocytes are also present, the disease can heal without defect. In the persistent forms – and analogously to the experimental chronic serum sickness persistency of the AG must be assumed.

Class II. Complexes of this class arise in the presence of AG-AB equivalence, they are of intermediate size (over 1,000,000 Daltons) and are poorly soluble. Since complexes of this size cannot pass through normal BM, they are preferentially deposited in the subendothelial-mesangial space [544, 819, 1377] as, for example, in membranoproliferative and focally accentuated GN. Immunocomplexes deposited along the BM can, indeed, change the BM permeability in such a way as to permit entrance of high molecular weight substances such as ferritin and catalase [1442] and, accordingly, presumably also of larger immunocomplexes.

Class III. These complexes are large, insoluble and arise in the presence of AB excess. They are generally phagocytized by the RHS and are said to be not pathogenic for glomeruli. It has, however, been recently shown [520] that immunocomplexes of this size may possibly evoke inflammatory glomerular changes.

It can be assumed that the qualitative properties of the involved AG and AB may result in modification of the above formulated scheme. The AB class can influence the localization of deposits and especially so when high molecular weight IgM and polymers (IgA) participate.

Slight AB avidity [1532] and nonprecipitating AB [1270] probably enhance pathologic immunocomplex deposition (contra: [1746]). Molecular properties of the AG, e.g., molecular weight, number of AG determinants, also appear to influence immunocomplex deposition [544]. It is noted, however, that only a few nephritogenic AG have been identified up to now, and little is known of their properties (DNA, AG in streptococcal, malarial, syphilitic and virus hepatitis B infections). Experimental work on GN in chronic viral infection shows additionally that, as a rule, several AG-AB complex systems can affect the glomeruli simultaneously and may act additively or protectively [383].

RHS Function. The importance of the clearance function of the mesangium as part of the RHS is generally recognized [1476]. The elimination of potentially pathogenic immunocomplexes is, accordingly, dependent on the

function of the RHS in general and on that of the mesangium in particular [1026, 1027, 1028].

Normally, both high and low molecular weight substances (e.g., ferritin: [461]; peroxidase: [588]; catalase: [1660]), India ink: (own observation) are removed by way of the subendothelial space and via the mesangium, partly by phagocytosis and partly by drainage to the glomerular pole [1026, 1027, 1028]. Immunocomplexes use the same route chiefly when their size exceeds the permeability of the BM. The efficiency of mesangial clearance function is a factor determining whether, when, and to what extent accumulation of immunocomplexes occurs. It is to be expected, accordingly, that pre-existing mesangial injury can lead to an aggravation of immunocomplex glomerulopathy.

Glomerular Function. Glomerular excretion of immunocomplexes appears to be assured by the glomerular hydrostatic pressure which is four times greater than in other capillaries.

Accordingly, increased pressure in the afferent vessels (hypertension) or narrowing of the efferent vessels (interstitial processes) would enhance an increase of deposition. If the hydrostatic pressure is absent or significantly reduced such as in arterial stenosis [452] or hydronephrosis, no immunocomplex deposition occurs [544, 1237].

With the functional significance of the mesangial transport system in mind, it is seen that blockade by excess of circulating substances (overload glomerulitis, see p. 308), scar formation or other injury resulting in impaired drainage can lead to an accumulation of immunocomplexes in the subendothelio-mesangial space. This can cause secondary inflammatory reactions insofar as the immunocomplexes trigger complement activation.

IF demonstrable IgM and/or C3 deposits without inflammatory changes, which are observable in the most diverse kinds of renal disease [128, 193, 506, 651] arise, according to our opinion, in the same way, i.e., through impairment of mesangial clearance [1745].

Finally, it appears that injuries to the capillary loop enhance the deposition of the complexes. The role of vasoactive substances—chiefly of histamine—in facilitating the deposition of high molecular weight complexes has been reported [293]. Further factors which can alter permeability include hypoxia, toxic substances (endotoxins?) and structural defects, e.g., as occurring in Alport's syndrome (see p. 466).

Anti-BM Glomerulonephritis

This second form of GN is far more rare than the first type. It has been reported to occur in 1-5% of all IF-positive GN biopsies ([1035, 1512, 1744, 1747]; 2 out of 227 cases of GN: Z).

Circulating AG-AB complexes are absent. Animal experiments permit differentiation of a passive form (Masugi nephritis) and of an active or heterologous GN as demonstrated in sheep and goats [544]. In experimental animals (Rhesus monkeys) given ALG containing anti-BM-antibodies, linear deposition of horse immuno-globulin and complement as well as severe extracapillary accentuated endotheliomesangial GN could be produced. The same deposits are encountered in humans with renal transplants following ALG therapy but, however, without any signs of GN [1132].

The AG in this kind of GN is the capillary BM and especially that of the glomeruli themselves. AB and complement are presumed to be deposited diffusely on and in the lamina rara interna, i.e., subendothelially. Corresponding IF study demonstrates a nongranular (ultra-)linear subendothelial deposition which can also be occasionally seen with EM. In human serum of such cases, AB can often first be demonstrated after the ABbinding kidney has been removed [544, 955], and AB can persist in the serum for 6 months or longer [1747]. This condition must be differentiated from subendothelial immunocomplex deposition which can lead to the finding of pseudolinear immunofluorescence [128]. Anti-BM GN is chiefly associated with extracapillary accentuated GN as in Goodpasture's syndrome and the idiopathic form. Anti-BM GN has very rarely been described in malignant lymphomas [609], in penicillamin-induced GN [680, 1566a], as well as in SLE-GN [1408a]. It is interesting to note that only 2 out of 32 patients with linear BM-AB staining showed under LM extracapillary accentuated GN whereas in the majority a wide variety of GN forms were present including glomerular minimal change, focal proliferative or necrotizing GN and chronic GN [1814] (see also: [1512]).

The reason for the antigenic transformation of BM is obscure. A possible explanation is indicated by the crossreaction with streptococcal membranes which are said to contain the same low molecular weight glucoproteins as the BM [934, 1377, 1766], but also viral infections (influenza A_2) may be involved [1748]. A second hypothesis suggests a chemical alteration of the BM [934] as a cause for anti-BM-AB formation. In fact, hydrocarbon solvents are reported to lead to an anti-BM type GN by injury to pulmonary BM [107].

On the other hand, damage of the glomerular BM in a variety of nonimmunologic renal diseases and insufficient excretion of antigenic BM material may result in anti-BM-AB formation [1349]. Anti-BM-AB can also be demonstrated in the serum of patients with chronic aggressive hepatitis [954] who have circulating AB against smooth muscle cells but who do not necessarily have GN.

Table 13.3. Etiology of glomerulonephritis. Diseases present within 1 month prior to onset of GN in 673 patients

Prior disease	Frequency (in %)
In tonsils, pharynx, oral cavity	20.8
General infection including	6.6
Schönlein-Henoch's disease	
SLE	3.9
In bronchi, lungs	2.4
In skin	2.4
Malignant tumors	0.9
In nose, ethmoid sinuses	0.7
In ear	0.7
In heart	0.7
In gastrointestinal tract	0.6
In bones, joints	0.4
In other structures	0.3
No prior disease	60.7

Table 13.4. Etiology of glomerulonephritis. Assumed/assured antigens and systemic diseases in 265 patients with diseases within 1 month before onset of glomerulonephritis

Noxae	Frequency (in %).
Bacteria	9.9
Streptococci	7.5
(in scarlet fever)	(2.6)
Staphylococcus albus	0.8
Staphylococcus aureus, Pneumococci, C. diphtheria	0.4 each
(N.B. AST was increased in 19.9% of 517 patients)	
Virus	5.8
Hepatitis B	2.6
Mononucleosis	0.8
Mumps, influenza, measles, rubella,	
cytomegalovirus	0.4 each
Protozoa, parasites	0.8
Malaria	0.4
Helminthiasis	0.4
Drugs	1.5
Gold	1.1
Penicillamine	0.4
Malignant tumors	2.3
Lymphoma	1.1
Cervix, stomach, tongue carcinoma	0.4 each
Systemic Disease	10.9
SLE	9.8
Goodpasture's syndrome	1.1
No incriminable antigen	68.8
or systemic disease found	

General Etiology of Glomerulonephritis

Etiologically, GN does not represent a sharply delineated entity but rather a reaction to a wide variety of antigens, a minor part of which have been unequivocally identified within immunocomplexes in the kidney as of now [1217a]; see p. 155.

We will discuss etiologic details when dealing with the various forms of GN. At this point, only the following facts, evaluated from our own material, should be stressed: in 60% of our patients, no disease within 1 month prior to GN manifestation/detection was noted, and only half of the preceding diseases affected the oropharynx (Table 13.3). In 68% of patients with diseases within 1 month prior to GN, the antigen probably involved could not be determined, and streptococci represented the possible offending agent in only 7.5% (Table 13.4). Thus, in only 12% of all patients was a possible association with known antigens detected. This underlines how distant we still are from an etiologic classification of GN and, accordingly, from a causal therapy.

14. The Diffuse Forms of Glomerulonephritis

Diffuse Endotheliomesangial Glomerulonephritis

Definition

Endotheliomesangial GN is characterized initially by an endothelial and subsequently by a mesangial reaction. Additionally, the periphery of the capillary loop is neither thickened by diffuse subendothelial or subepithelial deposits nor by mesangial interposition.

Synonyms: Transmembranous GN [544], endothelial GN [1541].

Other synonyms are summarized in Table 13.2.

Nosology

From the purely morphologic point of view, four different inflammatory stages of the disease can be recognized: 1. Exudative

- 2. Proliferative
- 3. Proliferative-sclerosing
- 4. Sclerosing

In stages 3 and 4, mesangial changes can be differentiated into three degrees of severity: panmesangial, axial, and

minimal (discussed on p. 180) and crescents may be absent or present (in 0%-50% of glomeruli).

Incidence

The following incidence has been reported in total renal biopsy material: 1.8% [544], 3% [1312], 3.9% [655], 7.3% [163], 8.5% [277], and in pediatric material: 17% [620]. In clinical diagnosis of acute GN, 90% of the biopsies from these cases were diagnosed as endotheliomesangial GN (in children [1630]) and in 10-34% of patients with nephrotic syndrome [1484, 616, 621, 661, 671]. For relative frequency among all GN, see Table 14.1. The pediatric age group is significantly more frequently affected than the adult (Table 14.2, Fig. 14.1). In all age groups, males are affected about twice as frequently

age groups, males are affected about twice as frequently as females (Z:1.84:1, see also [72, 163, 1730]). Female children however, have about twice as many exacerbations [387]. In the second Red Lake Indian Reservation Epidemic (streptococcal pyoderma), all afflicted individuals were less than 10 years of age, and boys and girls were equally afflicted [803].

The frequency of the four stages in needle biopsy material of other investigators is difficult to evaluate, since most of them do not differentiate between them. Our own frequency distribution is given in Table 14.2. It is

Table 14.1. Relative frequency (%) of endotheliomesangial glomerulonephritis (EM-GN) and of extracapillary accentuated glomerulonephritis

Investigator	Total GN	E	Extracapillary	
	(without glomerular minimal change)	without crescents	with crescents < 50%	GN ^a
Hamburger et al. (1971) [654]	725 (573)	5.4 ((6.8)	4.3 (5.4)
Cameron (1973) [242b]	526 (373)	11.6 (1	8.1)	3.6 (5.6)
Morel-Maroger et al. (1973) [1137a]	476 (380)	12.8 (10	6.0)	6.5 (8.2)
Habib (1973) [621]	1193 (607)	7.2 (14.1)	10.1 (19.9)	2.3 (4.4)
Zollinger and Mihatsch	900 (689)	20.6 (26.8)	3.0 (3.9)	4.2 (5.5)
Bohle (1976) [163a]	2450 (1376)	23.8 (45.6)	2.2 (4.0)	2.0 (3.6)
Germuth and Rodriguez (1973) [544]	208 (141)	27.8 (4	1.1)	3.3 (4.9)
Churg and Duffy (1973) [277]	1042 (862)	39.4 (4	7.7)	4.9 (5.9)

^a More than 50% of glomeruli afflicted.

certain, however, that the purely exudative stage of endotheliomesangial GN is, in general, rarely observed in needle biopsy, since biopsy today is rarely undertaken early enough in clinically acute GN; the stage is occasionally found fortuitously in autopsy material.

Clinical Findings

(Tables 14.3, 14.4, 14.5, 14.6; Fig. 14.1)

Endotheliomesangial GN can begin either with typical symptoms of acute GN with hematuria, proteinuria and hypertension (with or without oligo-anuria, Table 14.5), or with only very mild symptoms. Clinically acute GN

Table 14.2. Frequency of the various disease stages in endotheliomesangial glomerulonephritis

Stage	Total	Pan- mesangial	Axial	Average duration of illness in weeks (range)
Exudative	7	_	_	5 (3-8)
Proliferative	43	7		9 (1-208)
Proliferative- sclerosing	128	6	122	50 (1-1750)
Sclerosing	10	1	9	100 (6-270)

(Table 14.5) need not necessarily be associated with endotheliomesangial GN as it does occur in the presence of other morphologic forms of GN. In a typical case, the disease becomes symptomatic 1 to 2 weeks (range: a few days to 4 weeks, and within 1 to 2 days in case of relapse) after acute infection which is usually located in the upper respiratory tract with, for example, betahemolytic streptococci. In our material, prior disease was present in 44% of the patients (Fig. 14.1) in whom, however, streptococcal infection could only rarely be demonstrated (Table 14.3). Manifestation of this GN in the course of systemic disease, e.g., SLE, Schönlein-Henoch's syndrome etc., is also possible. The most striking-but in no way obligatory-clinical symptoms we encountered at disease onset are macrohematuria (36%), edema (36%), and oligoanuria (22%) (Fig. 14.1). Oligoanuria was found to be considerably more frequent in a series restricted to pediatric cases (55 out of 86 children: [621]). Examination of the urine reveals proteinuria in over 50% of the cases and microhematuria (24%)and typically erythrocytic casts (Table 14.3, Fig. 14.1). These findings, however, may occasionally be completely missing or only demonstrable for a few days [879]. Initial

hypertension is also characteristic, but it was only mentioned in 15% of our cases (Fig. 14.1). Rarely, hypertension may dominate the clinical findings due to the presence of hypertensive encephalopathy with tonic, clonic cramps, and disorientation [415].



Fig. 14.1. Profile of symptoms and clinical findings in endotheliomesangial GN *White columns:* Relative frequency of symptom/

finding in all GN

Black columns: Relative frequency in

endotheliomesangial GN

Asterisks indicate characteristic findings for endotheliomesangial GN:

*: characteristic

- **: very characteristic
- ***: highly characteristic; DC: disease course (see also Tables 14.3 and 14.4)

No.	Clinical findings in GN	Relative	No. of	Age (y	ears) dist	ribution	at biops	sy (at dis	ease ons	set) in %	of cases	
	diseases	(%) in GN	$(n)^4$	< 5	< 10	<15	< 20	< 30 .	< 40	< 50	< 60	> 60
1	Endotheliomesangial GN Exudative stage	Î	8	0 (0)	12.5 (12.5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	12.5 (12.5)	12.5 (12.5)	50 (50)	12.5 (12.5)
2	Proliferative sclerosing stage without crescents	23.6	177	14.7 (17.5)	19.8 (19.2)	9.0 (9.0)	10.7 (13.5)	16.4 (15.3)	14.7 (11.3)	10.7 (10.2)	3.4 (3.4)	0.6 (0.6)
3	Proliferative sclerosing stage Crescents < 50%	Ļ	27	14.8 (18.5)	14.8 (11.1)	14.8 (18.5)	7.4 (7.4)	11.1 (11.1)	11.1 (7.4)	7.4 (11.1)	11.1 (7.4)	7.4 (7.4)
4	Extracapillary accentu- ated GN	4.2	38	0 (0)	10.5 (10.5)	5.3 (5.3)	18.5 (21.0)	18.5 (15.8)	13.2 (13.2)	10.5 (10.5)	10.5 (10.5)	13.2 (13.2)
5	Membranoproliferative GN	5.2	47	0 (2.5)	10 (12.5)	7.5 (5.0)	2.5 (10.0)	25 (25.0)	35 (27.5)	7.5 (5.0)	5.0 (10.0)	7.5 (2.5)
6	Intramembranous GN	0.6	5	0 (0)	0 (0)	20 (20)	0 (0)	20 (20)	40 (40)	0 (0)	0 (0)	20 (20)
7	Epimembranous GN	8.0	72	1.4 (2.8)	8.3 (8.3)	2.8 (1.4)	4.2 (6.9)	13.8 (12.5)	22.1 (20.8)	16.6 (18.1)	12.4 (15.3)	17.9 (13.9)
8	Segmental-focal prolifer- ative GN, no crescents	Î	74	8.1 (9.5)	18.9 (21.6)	9.5 (5.4)	8.1 (12.2)	17.6 (17.6)	16.2 (12.2)	6.8 (8.1)	5.4 (4.0)	9.5 (9.5)
9	Segmental focal prolifer- ative GN, crescents <50%	17.3 ↓	82	2.4 (2.4)	8.5 (9.8)	7.3 (7.3)	8.5 (14.6)	26.9 (24.4)	13.4 (9.8)	13.4 (14.6)	12.2 (12.2)	7.3 (4.9)
10	Segmental-focal scleros- ing GN	14.4	130	1.5 (8.5)	3.1 (2.3)	7.7 (6.2)	1.5 (10.0)	30.8 (26.8)	23.1 (18.5)	14.6 (13.0)	8.5 (8.5)	9.2 (6.2)
11	Glomerular minimal change	23.5	211	17.5 (30.8)	24.6 (16.6)	10.0 (7.6)	6.6 (8.5)	15.2 (12.3)	7.1 (7.6)	7.1 (6.6)	7.1 (5.7)	4.7 (4.3)
12	Schönlein-Henoch's syndrome	2.41	22	13.6 (13.6)	45.5 (50)	9.1 (4.5)	4.5 (9.1)	9.1 (4.5)	0 (0)	4.5 (4.5)	9.1 (9.1)	0 (0)
13	Systemic lupus erythem- atosus	2.91	26	0 (0)	11.5 (11.5)	7.7 (7.7)	11.5 (19.2)	42.3 (42.3)	15.4 (3.8)	3.8 (3.8)	7.7 (7.7)	0 (0)
14	Wegner's syndrome	0.8	7	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	14.3 (14.3)	14.3 (14.3)	0 (0)	14.3 (14.3)	57.1 (57.1)
15	IgA-nephritis		15	6.6 (6.6)	19.9 (39.9)	46.6 (26.7)	6.6 (6.6)	0 (13.2)	13.2 (6.6)	0 (0)	6.6 (0)	0 (0)
		0.4^{2} 2.0 ³										

Table 14.3. Clinical findings in glomerulonephritis (own cases)

¹Already considered in the systematics of GN.

² Mixed forms of GN.

³Unclassifiable GN.

- ⁴Note the occasional small case number when comparing the relative frequencies in %.
- ⁵ No hematuria = <3 erythrocytes/HPF (high power field). No proteinuria: <0.3 g/day/1.73 m² body surface area. ⁶ Proteinuria \ge 3.5 g/day/1.73 m² body surface area. ⁷ < 500 ml/day for adults; for children, depending on age.

- 8 > 3000 ml/day for adults, for children, depending on age.

⁹ Leukocyturia = > 5 leukocytes/HPF. Bacteriuria not quantitative.

¹⁰ Hypoproteinemia 6 g %, Hypalbuminemia 2.5 g %.

- ¹¹ β -lipoprotein > 600 mg %, cholesterol 250 mg %.
- ¹² All cases exceeding values given below: Serum-creatinine > 1.3 mg %, Serum-urea >45 mg %, Serum-urea-N > 25 mg %, Creatinine clearance $\leq 60 \text{ ml/min}$.
- ¹³ All cases exceeding values given below: Serum-creatinine $\geq 2 \text{ mg }\%$,
- Serum-urea > 70 mg %,
- Serum-urea-N > 40 mg %,

Creatinine-clearance < 35 ml/min.

Sex Familial ratio renal		Latency between	Acute	In % of	cases with	prior dise	ase ²⁴	Systemic d	iseases	(<i>n</i>)	
ratio ∛:₽	renal disease in % of cases {n}	between disease onset and biopsy in weeks, average (range)	prior disease in % of cases {n}	Un- specific URTI	Strepto- coccal infec- tions	Other bacterial infec- tions	Viral infec- tions	Schönlein- Henoch's purpura	SLE	IgA- GN	Good- pasture's syndrome
1.6:1	Î	5 (3-8)	100 {8}	100	0	0	0	Î	Î	Î	Î
1.78:1	3.5 {170}	120 (3-1750)	40 {140}	71.5	14.2	0	3.6	8	3	10	0
2.37:1		154 (4–1100)	47.6 {21}	60.0	20.0	0	0				
1.23:1	$0 \begin{array}{c} \downarrow \\ \{26\} \end{array}$	13 (3–52)	61.5 {26}	75	0	6.3	6.3	1	0	* 0	2
1.22:1	0 {35}	161 (3-450)	21.4 {28}	83.4	0	16.6	0	0	5	0	0
1:1.5	0 {5}	60 (16–150)	40 {5}	50	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2.4:1	1.7 {57}	82 (3–350)	13.8 {58}	62.5	0	0	0	0	4	0	0
1.76:1	↑ 2.5{120}	73 (4-425)	43.1 {58}	84	8	0	8	Î	Î	Î	Î
2.9:1		213 (2-800)	41 {61}	72	4	12	12	11	11	4	0
1.5:1	0 {90}	228 (3-1400)	31.6 {95}	76.7	3.3	3.3	6.6	+ 1	2	• 0	• 0
1.5:1	4.7{192}	131 (2-2000)	23.2{185}	65.1	14.0	0	9.3	1	0	1	0
1.33:1	4.5 {22}	37 (3–250)	55.5 {18}	66.6	33.3	0	0	_	_	-	_
1:4	4 {25}	66 (4–350)	0 {20}	0	0	0	0	_	_	_	
1:1.3	0 {7}	16 (9-40)	0 {6}	0	0	0	0	_	_	_	
4:1	6.5 {15}	194 (4–1100)	20 {15}	100	0	0	0		_	_	

Table 14.3 (continued)

 $^{14} \ge 160/100 \text{ mm Hg.}$ $^{15} \ge 250 \text{ Todd units.}$

- ¹⁶ Variable, dependent on the different normal values of various laboratories.
- ¹⁷Blood eosinophilia $\geq 8\%$.

¹⁸[335a].

¹⁹Results from a polling of attending physicians in Germany, Switzerland, and Italy and information from the death register.

²⁰Survival rates of a normal population (Switzerland) from 900 age- and sex-matched individuals as with the GN pool:

- ²¹Cure=complete remission=no proteinuria, no hematuria, normal blood pressure.
- 22 For children < 15 years.
- 23 For adults >15 years.
- ²⁴In the remaining unspecified cases, there was a wide variety of prior diseases (see Tables 13.4 and 13.5).
- Upper respiratory tract infection. URTI
- No reliable data of our own. nd
- Standard error (in %) calculated according to [335a]. SE

⁵ years = 98%; 10 years = 96%; 15 years = 94% (SE < 1%).

No.	Symptom Data fror	s at diseas n case his	se onset tories	in % o	of cases {n	ı}.		Disea Data	ise coi from	urse up case his	to biopsy tories	in % c	of cases $\{n\}$.	
	Macro- hema-	Micro- hema-	Pro- tein-	Ede- ma	Dys- uria	Oli uria	g- Hype a ten-	er- <12 week	s	No chang	Progres e deterio	ssive ration	Attack- like	No of attacks
	turia	turia	uria		Bacteri- uria Leuko- cyturia	uria	- sion a				No attacks	With attac	– course ks	(range)
1	0 {8}	37.5	50.0	100	12.5	37.5	37.5	100	{8}	0	0	0	0	0
2	34.7 {144}	24.3	61.8	37.5	7.6	21.5	15.3	28.0	143}	44.0	2.1	0.7	25.2	3.4 (1 -> 9)
3	60.0 {20}	15.0	65.0	30.0	5.0	20.0	10.0	36.3	{22}	18.2	4.5	9.1	31.8	3.7 (1->9)
4	32 {25}	24	52	60	12	40	24	50	{26}	0	50	0	0	0
5	8.1 {37}	29.7	67.6	45.9	8.1	13.5	29.7	0	{24}	16.7	24.9	41.7	16.7	1.6 (1-3)
6	0 {5}	60.0	80.0	40.0	0	0	20.0	0	{4 }	50	25	25	0	(5)
7	5.2 {57}	22.8	89.5	68.4	7.0	15.8	17.5	14.9	{47}	40.4	23.4	4.3	17.0	1.5 (1-3)
8	31.6 {60}	25.0	68.3	33.3	5.0	1.7	26.7	36.1	{61}	41.0	9.8	3.3	9.8	1.7 (1-5)
9	33.3 {60}	26.7	88.3	46.7	3.3	10.0	23.3	19.0	{60}	34.9	20.7	11.1	14.3	3.0 (1->9)
10	13.7 {95}	16.8	68.4	31.6	2.1	1.1	22.1	8.3	{84}	39.3	14.3	9.5	28.6	3.9 (1->9)
11	15.7 {198}	22.2	62.6	42.9	0.5	?	10.1	25.0	{196}	38.8	5.6	0	30.6	4.0 (1->9)
12	23.5 {17}	64.7	64.7	29.4	5.9	0	5.9	35.3	{17}	47.1	0	0	17.6	5.0 (2->9)
13	5.2 {19}	42.1	68.4	42.1	5.2	0	17.1	0 {	12}	33.3	0	66.7	0	3.0 (15)
14	0 {6]	0	0	16.6	0	83.4	0	83.4	{6}	0	16.6	0	0	0
15	80 {15	6.6	46.6	40.0	0	0	26.6	13.3	{15}	33.3	0	0	53.3	4.0 (2->9)
No.	Urinary f	indings at	the tim	e of bio	opsy in %	of cas	ses $\{n\}$	Further	urinar	y finding	gs in % c	of cases	<i>{n}</i>	
	No hema- turia or protein- uria ⁵	Isolated hema- turia (macro-	Iso- lated pro-) tein- uria	Iso- lated nephr syn- drom	Neph syndr rotic and hema e ⁶ turia (mac	rome a-	Protein- uria and hema- turia (macro-)	Erythro- cytic casts	Leu cyti cast	iko- ic ts	Oli- guria Anuria ⁷	Poly- uria ⁸	Episodio macro- hema- turia	c Leuko- cyt- uria Bacteri- uria ⁹
1	0 {8}	12.5 (0)	0	0	0	8	87.5	12.5 {8	} 0	{8}	0 {3}	} 0	{3} 0 {	8} 12.5 {8}
2	10.5 {143}	41.3 (3.	5) 17.5	2.8	3.5	(0.7)	24.5 (2.1)	9.7{133	} 2.2	2{133}	4.4 {67}	} 2.9 {	67} 12.6{14	3} 7.4 {149}
3	13.0 {23}	52.2(17.	4) 4.3	0	4.3	(0)	26.0 (4.3)	35 {20	} 5	{20}	9.1 {11}	} 0 {	11} 34.8 {2	3 19.0 {21}
4	0 {24}	4.2 (0)) 0	0	41.6	(0)	54.2 (0)	30 {20	} 15	{20}	62.5 {24	} 4.2 {	24 20.8 {24	4} 25 {24}
5	0 {36}	2.8 (0)) 2.8	2.8	50.0	(0)	41.7 (0)	13.8 {29	} 10.3	3 {29}	19.9 {15	} 6.6 {	$15\} 0 {3}$	$\{3,3,3,3,3\}$
6	0 {5]	0	0	0	40	(0)	60 (0)	25.0 {4	} 25.0) {4}	0 {4	} 0 } 0	$\{4\} = 0 = \{-1, -2, -2, -2, -2, -2, -2, -2, -2, -2, -2$	4} 0 {5}
7	10.9 {55}	3.6 (1.	.8) 14.5	47.3	10.9	(0)	12.7 (0)	1.9 {51	} 1.9	9 {51}	0 {20	}0 {	20} 1.9 {5	5} 1.9 {55}
8	8.2 {61]	13.1 (4.	.9) 8.2	4.9	13.1	(0)	52.5 (8.2)	13.7 {51	} 2.0	0 {51}	0 {28	}0 {	28} 11.5 {6	1 9.8 {61}
9	1.6 {64	12.5 (1.	.6) 6.3	3.1	26.6	(0)	50.0 (3.1)	12.5 {56	o} 5.4	4 {56}	8 {25	} 8 {	25} 9.3 {6	4} 15.6 {64}
10	11.0 {100	14.0 (2.	.0) 28.0	11.0	12.0	(0)	24.0 (2.0)	8.3 {84	} 1.2	2 {84}	4 {25	}0 {	25} 4 {10	0 12.4 {89}
11	27.5 {193	23.8 (0.	.5) 14.5	17.1	4.1	(0.5)	13.0 (0.5)	2.7{181	} 0.1	5{181}	nd	nd	2.6{19	3} 3.6{193}
12	0 {18	33.3 (5.	.6) 0	0	22.2	(5.6)	44.4 (0)	6.3 {16	o} 0	{16}	0 {16	} U {	10 5.5 {1	8 14.3 {14}
13	19.0 {21	9.5 (0)) 4.8	4.8	38.1	(0)	23.8 (0)	30 {20)} 5 	{20}	0 {5	} U	$\{5\} 0 \{2$	1 9.5 $\{21\}$
14	0 {6	33.3(16	.6) 0	0	0		66.6(16.6)	0 {5	0	{5}	66.6 {6) 0) 0	{0} 0 { (15) 22.2 (1	$\begin{array}{cccc} 0 \\ 5 \\ \end{array} & \begin{array}{cccc} 10.0 \\ \end{array} & \begin{array}{cccc} 0 \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array}$
15	6.6 {15	} 46.6 (6	.6) 0	0	13.2	(13.2)	33.3 (6.6)	6.6 {1:	o} 0	{15}	0 {15	•} U {	15} 33.3 {1	5} 0.0 {15}

Table 14.3 (continued)

Table 14.3 (continued)

INU.	Seru	11/010	ou m	umgs	at the	ume		psy m	70 01	cases	$\{n\}$											
	Hypo albui emia	0- min- 10	Hyp lipen	er- nia ¹¹	Urea creat nin 2	l/ ti- , 12	Urea creat nin /	/ i- / 13	Hype tensi	er- on ¹⁴	AST	15	C3 ¹⁶		Rhe mat fact	eu- ic or	Ant nuc AB	i- lear	LE- cells	6	Eosir philia	no- a ¹⁷
1	12.5	{8}	0	{8}	75	{8}	37.5	{8 }	50	{8}	66.6	{6}	100	{1}	25	{4 }	0	{6}	0	{6}	0	{8}
2	9.8	{142}	35.2	{108}	7.0	{158}	2.5	{158}	18.1	[149]	26.0	{100}	12.2	2 {49}	13.2	2{53}	4.3	3 {46}	1.6	{62}	7.2	{153}
3	15	{20}	42.9	{14}	39.1	{23}	21.7	{23}	13.0	{23}	13.3	{15}	50	{6}	18.2	2{11}	20	{10}	7.7	{13}	4.3	{23}
4	51.9	{27}	50	{18}	100	{28}	78.6	{28}	44.4	{27}	35.3	{17}	0	{5}	7.1	{14}	0	{13}	0	{14}	14.8	{27}
5	60	{35}	64	{25}	56.3	{32}	28.1	{32}	71.4	{35}	10.0	{33}	60.0	0{10}	20	{25}	20	{25}	4	{25}	17.2	{29}
6	60	{5}	40	{5}	40	{5}	40	{5}	60	{5}	0	{5}	50	{2}	66.6	5 {3}	0	{4 }	0	{4 }	50	{4 }
7	67.3	{55}	67.3	{55}	12.7	{55}	3.6	{55}	38.2	{55}	8.9	{45}	0	{10}	25	{32}	13.3	3 { 30 }	15	{33}	10.9	{55}
8	27.6	{58}	30	{39}	45.9	{61}	19.7	{61}	16.4	{61}	35.4	{48}	11.1	{27}	17.1	{35}	20.1	7 {29}	12.5	i{32}	13.1	{61}
9	36.6	{60}	53.2	{47}	51.6	{62}	24.2	{62}	44.6	{65}	15.6	{45}	14.3	8{14}	21.2	2{33}	18.3	8{32}	15.2	{33}	12.3	<i>{</i> 65 <i>}</i>
10	23.8	{80}	55.0	{60}	32.7	{98}	15.3	{98}	36.6	{101}	13.6	{59}	0	{10}	9.4	I {53}	2.2	2 {46}	2.0	(49)	10.0	{100}
11	21.5	{177}	40.3	{149}	5.2	{193}	1.0	{193}	8.8	{193}	15.4	{123}	nd		6.8	8{59}	1.	7{58}	0	{72}	11.4	{193}
12	22.2	{18}	33.3	{12}	22.7	{22}	4.5	{22}	21.0	{19}	64.3	{14}	11.1	{ 9 }	0	{7}	0	{7}	0	{8}	5.5	{18}
13	52.4	{21}	27.3	{11}	47.6	{21}	14.3	{21}	33.3	{21}	6.6	{15}	83.3	3 {6}	52.9	9{17}	84.2	2{19}	82.6	5{23}	4.7	{21}
14	16.6	{6 }	0	{4 }	83.3	{6}	66.6	{6}	16.6	{6}	0	{6 }	0	{3}	50	{6}	0	{6 }	0	{6}	16.6	{6}
15	13.2	{15}	60.0	{5}	13.2	{15}	6.6	{15}	13.2	{15}	9.1	{11}	10	{10}	0	{7}	0	{7}	0	{7}	0	{15}

No	Serum/bl	lood findi	nos at the	e time of	hionsy in	n % of	cases	[n]
1.0.	ber uni/ 01	loou mui	igo at tin	c unic or	olopsy n	1 /0 01	cases p	1111

No.	Survival rat	e in % $(SE)^{1}$	18, 19, 20				Follow-up	(> 12 mont	hs) ¹⁹	
	From diseas	se onset		From biops	sy.		Died	Died	Complete	Im-
	5 years	10 years	15 years	5 years	10 years	15 years		irom uremia	sion ^{19, 21}	ed
1	1	↑	1	1	† -	Ť	1	1	↑	1
2	95 (1.8)	88 (3.0)	81 (5.1)	95 (1.9)	84 (4.7)	84 (4.7)	8.6 {139}	3.6	29.5	13.7
3	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	↓	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	Ļ
4	25 (10.6)	nd	nd	25 (10.6)	nd	nd	76.2 {21}	76.2	4.8	14.3
5	70 (9.2)	40 (9.5)	nd	40 (11)	30 (12)	nd	46.6 {30}	40.0	3.0	20.0
6	3/5 Dead a 2/5 Alive a	after 0.5, 1, 2 after 3 and 5	years years							
7	75 (5.7)	60 (7.3)	37 (9.6)	76 (6.9)	57 (7.2)	28 (15.2)	42.2 {45}	26.6	17.4	2.2
8	84 (5.3)	58 (9.6)	nd	75 (6.9)	56 (10.5)	nd	29.2 {48}	20.8	18.7	14.6
9	67 (6.3)	36 (9.6)	33 (9.3)	54 (6.6)	31 (7.3)	nd	56.6 {60}	41.6	8.3	11.7
10	77 (4.3)	57 (5.7)	52 (6.0)	64 (5.5)	42 (6.9)	37 (7.3)	39.3 {89}	29.2	8.9	6.7
11	100 ²² 94 ²³ (2.4)	nd 88 (4.1)	nd 82 (5.5)	100 88 (3.7)	nd 80 (5.1)	nd 77 (6.1)	$\begin{array}{cc} 0 & \{44\} \\ 16.6 & \{78\} \end{array}$	0 2.5	15.9 26.9	15.9 14.1
12	100	nd	nd	100	nd	nd	0 {10}	0	40	60
13	66 (11.8)	nd	nd	62 (12)	nd	nd	46.6 {15}	26.6	nd	nd
14	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	66.6 {6}	66.6	_	33.3
15	100	nd	nd	100	nd	nd	0 {15}	0	nd	nd

Clinical findings	Disease onset < 15 years	Acute prior disease	Symptoms at disease onset			Symptoms at biopsy ^e			
Glomerulonephritis			Macro- hema- turia	Edema	Oligo- anuria	Hyper- tension	Attack- like course	No hema- turia or protein- uria	Episodic macro- hema- turia
All GN (own material)	30.2% 261ª/864 ^ъ	34.2% 244/713	22.4% 159/709	42.9% 304/709	13.7% 70/511	17.8% 126/709	27.4% 186/678	13.7% 103/752	7.2% 54/752
Endotheliomesangial GN (including crescents < 50%)	95/212	ァァ 74/169	アファ 62/172	68/172	アファ 38/172	27/172	46/165	18/174	ファフ 26/174
Extracapillary accentuated GN	√ 6/38	ァァ 16/26	8/25	15/25	777 10/25	6/25	√ √ 0/27	√ 0/24	ファ 5/24
Membranoproliferative GN	7/40	6/28	∡ 3/37	17/37	5/37	11/37	アファ 14/24	√ 0/36	0/36
Intramembranous GN°	ファア 94/152	ァァァ 79/162	39/188	nd	nd	34/142	nd	۲۲۲ 0/145	ファフ 50/148
Epimembranous GN	∠∠∠ 9/72	イイイ 8/58	۲۲ 3/57	ァァァ 39/57	9/57	10/57	10/47	6/55	1/55
Segmental-focal proliferative GN (including crescents < 50%)	42/156	ァ 50/119	ァ 39/130	48/120	✓ ✓ 7/120	≁ 30/120	∠ 24/124	6/125	13/125
Segmental-focal sclerosing GN	16/130	30/95	√ 13/95	30/95	√ √ √ 1/95	21/95	≁ 32/84	11/100	4/100
Glomerular minimal change	アファ 110/211	イイイ 43/185	۲۲ 31/198	85/198	nd	マママ 20/198	60/196	ファフ 53/193	۲ 5/193
IgA mesangial GN ^d	(↗↗↗) ^b	≁ 99/131	(/ / /)	nd	nd	nd	(↗)	nd	アファ 129/268

Table 14.4. Relative	frequency of clinic	al findings in glomerulo	nephritis and their	r differential diagno	ostic significance
----------------------	---------------------	--------------------------	---------------------	-----------------------	--------------------

^a Parameter present.

^b Parameter stated. Based on (own) cases only (see Table 14.3).

[°] Based on data from [35, 165, 231, 524, 631, 987, 1652].

^d Based on data from [354, 393, 950, 1043, 1513, 1720, 1778a]. ^{*} For definition see Table 14.3.

nd = No data.

Increase of the antistreptolysin titer and decrease of complement (C3) are very dependent on the stage of the disease. During the first month of the disease, serum complement is usually (always: [911]) decreased. In our own material, there was a decrease of only 18% when all stages of the disease were considered (Fig. 14.1).

In the exudative stage, the antistreptolysin is increased in about 60% of the cases (23 out of 39: [1332]; 4 out of 6: Z) but in the later stages only in about 25% (5 out of 23: [1332]; 28 out of 115: Z).

Not too infrequently, the disease courses with very few symptoms (see also [410]). In fact, during the second Red Lake Indian Reservation Epidemic, 50% of patients were subjectively and clinically asymptomatic in whom only routine urine examination revealed the presence of hematuria [803]. This explains why acute GN was only mentioned in some of the case histories of patients with proliferative, proliferative-sclerosing and sclerosing stages of the disease (8 out of 21: [620]; 2 out of 10: [1414]).

If the disease does not heal during the acute stage, it assumes either a stationary course, or one characterized by attacks with recurrent macrohematuria (Fig. 14.1).

At the time of bioptic diagnosis, the clinical picture of endotheliomesangial GN-with inclusion of all stageswas generally characterized by isolated hematuria (Fig. 14.1) which can, as is known, remain the only symptom for years and even decades [816]. Proteinuria and hematuria were present in about 25% of our cases (Fig. 14.1). Isolated nephrotic syndrome, nephrotic syndrome assocaited with hematuria or hypertension, and an increase in serum urea or creatinine do occur, but they are not characteristic (Fig. 14.1). Pathologic urine findings at the time of biopsy were absent in 10% of our cases (Fig. 14.1) even though GN was certainly present in the case histories. This is explained by sequence biopsies obtained after diffuse GN which have shown that precisely the later stages of endotheliomesangial GN can persist for a long time in the absence of clinical symptoms [1414]. Relapses of endotheliomesangial GN

Table 14.4 (continued)

Isolated hematuria	Isolated protein- uria	Isolated nephrotic syndrome	Nephrotic syndrome and hematuria	Protein- uria and hematuria	Oligo- anuria	Serum-creatinine/urea increase		Hyper- tension	AST	C3
						7	77		7	∠
22.2% 167/752	14.6% 110/752	11.2% 84/752	11% 83/752	27.3% 205/752	7.7% 25/322	25.4% 201/792	11.1% 89/792	27.2% 206/756	19.9% 103/517	13.8% 28/203
アファ 72/174	26/174	イント 4/174	インイ 6/174	48/174	3/81	26/175	∠ 12/175	۲ 34/180	32/121	10/56
√ 1/24	َدُ 0/24	0/24	///24	ァァ 13/24	アファ 15/24	ァァァ 28/28	22/28	ァ 12/27	6/17	0/15
۷ 1/36	∠ 1/36	1/36	ァファ 18/36	♪ 15/36	3/15	アファ 18/32	9/32	25/35	3/33	ァァァ 6/10
222 0/131	11/131	لا 5/131	ァァァ 90/131	26/131	nd	ァァァ 67/173	nd	ァァァ 70/118	12/87	ァァァ 42/54
2/55	8/55	26/55	6/55	√ 7/55	0/20	7/55	2/55	21/55	4/45	0/10
2 16/125	۲ 9/125	۲ 5/125	25/125	ァファ 64/125	2/53	ァァァ 60/123	27/123	39/126	24/93	5/41
∠ 14/100	ァァァ 28/100	11/100	12/100	24/100	1/25	32/98	15/98	≁ 37/101	8/59	0/10
46/193	28/193	スフ 33/193	8/193	25/193	۲۲ 1/100	222 10/193	2/193	222 17/193	19/123	nd
69/268	2 2 2 12/268	222 0/268	20/268	アフラ 152/268	nd	۲ 30/268	nd	⊻ ∠ 37/207	1/17	26/175

Table 14.5. Morphologic forms of GN in clinical (anamnestic) acute glomerulonephritis

GN form	Number of patients				
	without oligo-anuria	with oligo-anuria			
All GN	35	45			
Endotheliomesangial (including crescents: <50%)	5	13			
Extracapillary accentuated	_	9			
Membranoproliferative	3	3			
Epimembranous	_	1			
Segmental focal proliferative (including crescents: <50%)	16	13			
Segmental-focal sclerosing	3	1			
Glomerular minimal change	8	1			
Biopsy: average weeks after onset of disease (range)	102 (3-350)	24 (1-400)			
Prognosis from disease onset 5 year survival rate 10 year survival rate	92% 87%	82% 62%			

(Footnote to Table 14.4) Based on chi-square test:

p < 0.05 more frequent (\nearrow), rare (\checkmark) than in the sum of all other GN i.e. characteristic for this GN

p < 0.01 more frequent ($\nearrow \nearrow$), rare ($\checkmark \checkmark$) than in the sum of all other GN i.e. very characteristic for this GN

p < 0.001 more frequent $(\nearrow \nearrow \nearrow)$, rare $(\checkmark \checkmark \checkmark)$ than in the sum of all other GN i.e. highly characteristic for this GN

Table 14.6. 1F findings in endotheliomesangial glomerulonephritis (all stages except exudative stage) (n=62, neg. 15 times)

	IgG	IgM	IgA	C3	Fibrin(-ogen)
Cases tested Positive	37 20	37 27	27 10	37 28	34 8
Focal Diffuse	11 9	16 11	7 3	10 18	2 6
Segmental Global	11 9	16 11	10	15 13	5 3
Peripheral	11	10	3	5	2
Mesangial and peripheral	7	14	6	17	4
Mesangial	2	3	1	6	2

– Combinations see p. 201.

are apparently very rare (5 out of 23: [72]; 4 out of 38: [408]) and afflicts girls far more frequently than boys [387].

LM Findings

The earliest stage i.e. the *exudative stage* is dominated by overwhelming leukocytosis of the capillary loops (Figs. 14.2, 14.3, 14.4; see also [1312]) as well as by incipient hematuria which is recognizable by the presence of erythrocytes in the capsular space and by the occurrence of erythrocytic casts. In many cases, the designation, "capillary loop leukocytosis" would be more apt since fibrin exudation is often not demonstrable. Capillary loop thrombi (Fig. 14.5) and indications of loop necrosis are, according to our findings, extremely rare. Cases of this kind are usually limited to infants [1791]. Additionally, great caution must be used to avoid including cases of hemolytic-uremic syndrome in this category of disease.

Capillary loop leukocytosis is usually clearly evident up to 3 weeks after commencement of clinical symptoms and, 6 weeks thereafter, it has almost disappeared [1791], but may persist up to 8 weeks (Table 14.2). Besides polymorphonuclear leukocytes, an increasing number of mononuclear cellular elements with large oval nuclei – which EM study has shown to be monocytes – are found. Their differentiation from proliferating endothelial and mesangial cells is impossible with LM.

Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain or stained semithin sections may demonstrate fibrinoid deposits (Fig. 14.6) on the outer aspect of the BM which are clearly recognizable as humps with EM. With LM, these humps are rarely found, since they are often present in only small numbers and are randomly distributed over the glomeruli.

The proliferative stage emerges progressively from the purely exudative stage (Table 14.2, Fig. 14.7) and is present averagely after 9 weeks. In this stage, the number of polymorphonuclear leukocytes in the capillary lumens has clearly decreased and is hardly greater than that found under normal conditions (Figs. 14.8, 14.9). Due to the extensive proliferation and swelling of endothelial and mesangial cells there is nearly no blood in the capillary loops. The mesangial space is now considerably widened due to massive proliferation of mesangial cells (Figs. 14.11, 14.12). As evidenced in PASM stain, there is no increase of mesangial matrix (Fig. 14.10) as occurs in the subsequent proliferative-sclerosing phase. With decreasing endothelial and mesangial proliferation and swelling, the mesangial changes of various severity (axial and panmesangial) appear (Fig. 14.12).

A lessening of nuclear and matrix increase (Figs. 14.13, 14.14) as well as a few persisting deposits—chiefly intramembranous—are found at the resolution of this stage. Fig. 14.2. Exudative endotheliomesangial GN. All glomerular \triangleright capillary loops are full of polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Proliferative changes are not yet present. Autopsy specimen. Female, 51 years. HE (×400)

Fig. 14.3. Exudative endotheliomesangial GN. Even under highpower magnification, the polymorphonuclear leukocytic nature of the cells is only recognizable in a few instances. In general, the number of cells is considerably increased. Female, 54 years. PAS (\times 700)

Fig. 14.4. Peroxidase stain of exudative endotheliomesangial GN. In the glomeruli, multiple peroxidase-positive polymorphonuclear leukocytes can be seen. Male, 36 years. Frozen section $(\times 150)$

Fig. 14.5. Exudative endotheliomesangial GN (more advanced than in Fig. 14.3). Numerous polymorphonuclear leukocytes are present in the capsular space. Glomerular capillary loops are practically bloodless. Two loops contain fibrin clumps (\rightarrow). Note a leukocytic cast in a proximal tubule. The interstitium is edematous. Female, 3 months. PAS (\times 180)

Page 198

Fig. 14.6. Exudative endotheliomesangial GN (same case as in Fig. 14.3). A moderate number of polymorphonuclear leukocytes (*PL*) fill the glomerular capillary loops. Numerous humps are present subepithelially (\rightarrow) . Otherwise, the BM appears unchanged. Female, 54 years. Semi-thin section, toluidine blue (× 1000)

Fig. 14.7. Endotheliomesangial GN in the exudative-proliferative stage. The mesangial space has already increased; the glomerular capillary loops are generally severely narrowed. Male, 55 years. PAS (× 350)

Fig. 14.8. Proliferative stage of endotheliomesangial GN. There is considerable glomerular hypercellularity; mesangial matrix seems to be increased (compare with Fig. 14.10). Male, 28 years. PAS ($\times 220$)

Fig. 14.9. Proliferative endotheliomesangial GN with synechia (SY). Severe hypercellularity. The nature of the cells cannot be determined but, in any case, polymorphonuclear leukocytes have disappeared. HE (\times 480)

Page 199

Fig. 14.10. Same case as in Figure 14.8. PASM stain shows that no significant mesangial matrix increase is present. $(\times 380)$

Fig. 14.11. Proliferative stage of endotheliomesangial GN. Slight extracapillary proliferation: note the multilayered capsular epithelial cells. Male, 13 years. PAS (\times 500)

Fig. 14.12. Proliferative stage of endotheliomesangial GN with axial mesangial involvement. Cell proliferation is evident in enlarged mesangial areas as well as a beginning increase of mesangial matrix. Male, 14 years. Semi-thin section azure-eosin (\times 520)

Fig. 14.13. Endotheliomesangial GN 20 days after an acute attack in a 2-year-old girl. There is slight enlargement of the mesangium which extends into the periphery of the glomerular capillary loops. Erythrocytes in the capsular space (\rightarrow) . Small partial crescent (CR) is present. PAS (×150)









14.16

In surgical biopsy material, occasionally a more severe involvement of juxtamedullary glomeruli—in comparison with those of the outer cortical region—can be seen [1797]. The glomerular capsular space usually contains only a scanty amount of PAS-positive fluid as well as a few erythrocytes.

In the *proliferative-sclerosing* stage which develops slowly from the proliferative stage (Fig. 14.11), the changes are limited almost exclusively to the mesangium. We have seen this stage on average after 50 weeks of illness, but it may persist for a very long time. The capillary lumen is no longer displaced by proliferating endothelial cells but occasionally by those of the mesangium (Fig. 14.15). The peripheral BM is unchanged and humps are no longer seen with LM. In addition to mesangial cell proliferation, an increase and coarsening of varying severity of the mesangial matrix bars ensue (Fig. 14.16), best demonstrated in PASM stain.

In general, two degrees of severity can usually be recognized. The entire glomerular mesangium may be afflicted (panmesangial change, Fig. 14.15) which, as clearly seen in EM, is accompanied by obsolescence of the capillary loops; or the increase of the mesangial matrix and cells may be restricted to a few thin, fingerlike mesangial axes (axial change).

The sclerosing stage (PASM-stain) is different from the previous one essentially in that it demonstrates a predominance of mesangial matrix increase in comparison to that of cellular proliferation (Figs. 14.17, 14.18). The mesangial cell nuclei are now often small and exhibit dense chromatin.

Segmental or global crescents in up to 50% of glomeruli may be seen from the proliferative stage onwards (see p. 100). In the sclerosing stage only occasional synechiae are usually encountered.

Tubular changes—if present at all—are usually very discrete and are limited to only focal hyaline protein droplet storage and to a few foam cells which are usually found in the proliferative-sclerosing stage. Numerous hyaline and granular casts are almost always present.

No constant vascular changes are present in any of the stages.

In the exudative stage, the interstitium shows edema of varying intensity. In the proliferative stage, there is a usually moderate interstitial nephritis [1791] which demonstrates perivascularly accentuated infiltrates composed of lymphocytes, histiocytes, and plasma cells. Infiltrates occurring in the proliferative-sclerosing and sclerosing stages are usually scanty and consist predominantly of small lymphocytes.

IF Findings

Phasic disease development corresponding to that observed with LM is also seen in IF. In the exudative stage, a mixture of fine and coarsely granular deposits –

which occur almost exclusively along the peripheral glomerular BM—is the dominating finding. These deposits correspond to EM-demonstrable humps and they are rich in complement and, in lesser concentration, in IgG (see Fig. 6.38) or other immunoglobulins [544, 1139]. In three of our own cases, C3 alone was present in the first, C3 and IgG in the second, and in the third case IgG, IgM and IgA were present as well. If healing occurs in this stage, the humps disappear and all the IF findings can become negative [51, 128, 730].

The IF findings in the later stages (proliferative, proliferative-sclerosing, and sclerosing) are not uniform. At times, findings similar to those of the exudative stage with irregularly distributed deposits of various sizes are encountered (14 out of 33: [1139]) and at other times the IF findings are completely negative (14 out of 33: [1139]; see also Table 14.6). The negative cases in our material were found in equal frequency in the proliferative, proliferative-sclerosing and sclerosing stage.

In these later stages the mesangium stains positively more often for various immunoglobulins (IgG, IgM, IgA) as well as for C3 and fibrin(-ogen) (see also [544]; Table 14.6). Comparison between the proliferative and sclerosing stage in our own material shows that IgM in focal-segmental distribution is uncommon in the proliferative stage (2 out of 9: Z), whereas in the sclerosing stage it occurs in focal-segmental or global and diffuse distribution mesangially and peripherally in all cases (5 out of 5: Z). For the other immunoglobulins, no difference was encountered.

It is important to note that in our material comprising 62 cases, 10 evidenced findings typical of IgA nephritis, and in the remaining 27 cases in which IgA was tested, 10 demonstrated IgA in focal or diffuse but always segmental distribution (see Table 14.6). Other investigators have reported IgA to be present in 33% of their cases [743]. Since only C3 may be present in GN caused by staphylococci the possibility of complement activation by staphylotoxin has been suggested [1256].

Without consideration of IgA and fibrin(-ogen) the following immunoglobulin combinations were found:

Combinations: Ig(G, M) + C3: 13 times, IgM + C3: 8 times, IgG + C3: 3 times; Ig(G, M): 4 times, C3: 4 times, IgM: twice

Including: IgA: Ig(G, M, A)+C3 4 times, IgA+C3: 3 times; Ig(G, A)+C3: twice; Ig(G, M, A): once.

Ten cases of IgA-nephritis and 15 IF-negative cases are not considered in Table 14.6.

EM Findings

The dominating finding in the exudative stage (Figs. 14.19, 14.22) is that of numerous polymorphonuclear leukocytes present in the capillary loops. Additionally, many typical humps are seen on the outer aspect



of the BM (Figs. 14.21, 14.22). Not too in frequently, humps are also encountered on the mesangial BM which bridges adjacent capillary loops (mesengial taille). Leu-kocytes are reported to be frequently present in the region of the smaller subendothelial osmiophilic deposits [771] which is considered as an indication of the leukocytotaxic property of these deposits; we have not been able to find these leukocytes. Exit of leukocytes through the loops is taken as an expression of leukocytic enzymatic BM injury [229] (compare p. 60).

Monocytes (already recognizable in LM) are also seen (Fig. 14.20); their involvement was often underestimated [382, 1499] even though their presence has been demonstrated with EM for almost 10 years [1582]. Recently, their extensive participation in experimental Masugi nephritis [875] has been demonstrated. These cells have the ability to migrate into the mesangium and thereby to contribute to the widening of the mesangial space.

In addition to the cellular changes, large (up to $5 \mu m$) subepithelial humps are a striking feature of the exudative stage which, in its terminal period, also occasionally evidences small intramembranous deposits (Figs. 14.19, 14.22). The podocytes, which cover the humps in a domelike manner, frequently demonstrate an increase of osmiophilic substance under the cell membrane (Fig. 14.22); the significance of this substance is not yet fully understood (see p. 78).

In contrast to the relatively frequent positive IF findings, fibrin is very rarely seen in EM.

The reactions of the other local cellular elements are certainly apparent in the exudative stage, but they become more clearly evident in the *proliferative stage*. For EM findings see also Figures 6.9, 6.21, 6.34, 6.57, 6.64, 6.80, 6.88. In this stage, the glomerular capillary lumens are filled with large mononuclear cells (Figs. 14.23, 14.24) whose histogenetic analysis often presents difficulties. In general, these elements are thought to be swollen and proliferated endothelial and mesangial cells [454].

✓ Fig. 14.17. A 5-year-old boy presenting with isolated hematuria during the last 5 months. Sclerosing stage of endotheliomesangial GN with panmesangial involvement (compare with Fig. 14.18). PAS (×450)

Fig. 14.18. Same case as in Figure 14.17 but in PASM stain: note massive mesangial matrix increase. Male, 5 years. (× 500)

Fig. 14.19. Exudative stage of endotheliomesangial GN (same case as in Fig. 14.3). Numerous polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PL) are present in the capillary loops. Numerous humps (\rightarrow) between the edematous podocytes and the peripheral BM. Mesangial cells (M) are swollen and their nuclei activated. Female, 54 years. EM (\times 3370)

In any event, endothelial cells are involved, since endothelial mitoses can occasionally be seen [1797]. Extensive hypertrophy of endothelial cells with nuclear enlargement and formation of numerous arcades is also present (Fig. 14.23; see also [349]). We have observed endothelial detachment with necrobiosis only once on the seventh day after disease onset.

The mesangial space is now widened by mesangial cell proliferation, which may be very pronounced (Fig. 14.25). The mesangial cells are hypertrophic (Figs. 14.23, 14.25) exhibiting an increased number of organelles, and their nuclei are usually enlarged and sometimes polymorphic.

The increase in the strikingly loosened mesangial matrix (Fig. 14.26) which is said to commence 12 days after disease onset [772] is generally only slight. In addition to the previously mentioned increase of osmiophilic substance over the subepithelial humps, the podocytes also demonstrate edema or hypertrophy with nuclear swelling and notching, and frequently with proliferation of microvilli (Fig. 14.26).

Page 204

Fig. 14.20. Same case as in Figure 14.3. In addition to humps (\rightarrow) , the glomerular capillary loops contain numerous monocytoid cells (*MO*). Ballooned cell processes (*). Female, 54 years. EM (×3500)

Fig. 14.21. Same case as in Figure 14.3. Two humps (*H*) partially very sharply delimited by a membrane towards the covering podocyte containing increased osmiophilic substance. The boundaries towards the lamina densa are rather sharp. A subendothelial osmiophilic deposit is recognizable (\rightarrow). Podocyte (*P*), nucleus of an endothelial cell (*E*). Female, 54 years. EM (\times 19,700)

Page 205

Fig. 14.22. Exudative stage of endotheliomesangial GN. A hump (*H*) has been sectioned tangentially and therefore appears to have no contact with the BM. Marked accumulation of osmiophilic substance in the podocytes and their foot processes—which have more or less fused—is present in the vicinity of the hump. A few subendothelial and intramembranous deposits (\rightarrow) are recognizable, some of which show strong penetration of the lamina densa. Hypertrophied endothelium in the capillary lumen (*CL*). Male, 5 years. EM (\times 15,180)

Fig. 14.23. Proliferative stage of endotheliomesangial GN. Endothelial cells (*E*) are severely swollen and hypertrophied leading to almost complete occlusion of the glomerular capillary loop lumen. A nucleus of a mesangial cell (*M*) is enlarged and lobulated. Foot processes and peripheral BM are unchanged. Female, 6 years. EM (\times 4170)








Fig. 14.26. Proliferative-sclerosing stage of endotheliomesangial GN with axial mesangial involvement. Mesangial matrix bars are loosely arranged, thickened and increased. Mesangial cell nuclei are slightly enlarged and polymorphic. Male, 13.5 years. EM (\times 11,600)

⊲ Fig. 14.24. Same case as Figure 14.13, reportedly 20 days after an acute attack illustrates the proliferative phase of endotheliomesangial GN. One hump (*H*) is still present. The most striking feature, however, is the proliferation of mesangial cells (*M*) which show polymorphic nuclei. Mesangial matrix has already increased. Endothelial cells are still severely hypertrophied. Glomerular capillary loops are poor in blood, only one erythrocyte is seen (*). Female, 2 years. EM (× 5000)

Fig. 14.25. Endotheliomesangial GN of about 7 weeks clinical duration. Some humps (H) are present beside a circumscript intramembranous osmiophilic deposit (\rightarrow). Glomerular capillary loop lumens are patent. Endothelial cells (E), however, are still frankly swollen and exhibit nuclear polymorphy. Mesangium is severely enlarged and the mesangial cell nuclei (M) are enlarged and polymorphic. Mesangial matrix is already increased and accumulation of protein droplets (PD) within mesangial cells is present. Podocytes also evidence protein droplets, severe swelling, mild foot process fusion and microvilli (VI) formation. Male, 5.5 years. EM (\times 3530)

In addition to humps which we have found in 6 out of 18 cases of the proliferative stage with generally less than 8 weeks duration of disease (Figs. 14.26, 6.35, 6.38), we have also encountered intramembranous deposits (5 out of 18 cases Figs. 14.22, 14.32, 6.36) and subendothelial deposits (3 out of 18) and deposits along the mesangial BM (5 out of 18 cases). Mesangial matrix deposits (Fig. 14.27) have been observed in 4 out of 18 cases.

The glomerular BM is often focally thickened and especially so by a loose electron-translucent thickening of the lamina rara interna (Figs. 14.28, 14.29; see also [1582, 1797]) as has been demonstrated in animal experimentation [875]. At resolution, dissolved osmiophilic intramembranous deposits and focal BM thickening are occasionally observed (Fig. 14.29, 14.30).

The differences between the proliferative and the subsequent proliferative-sclerosing stage are not as evident in EM as they are in LM. In the *proliferative-sclerosing stage*, the increase in mesangial matrix becomes more apparent (Fig. 14.31) in addition to the signs of cellular (podocytic, endothelial and mesangial) hypertrophy or edema. The matrix bars are obviously thickened, increased and arranged irregularly; these changes may per-



sist for years [1272, 1582, 1801]. This increase in mesangial matrix is demonstrable in LM by PASM stain.

Humps are found in scarcely 10% of the cases (4 out of 48: Z) but deposits along the mesangial BM or matrix (9 out of 48: Z; Fig. 14.31) and occasional intramembranous (5 out of 48; Fig. 14.32) and subendothelial deposits (6 out of 48: Z) without accompanying mesangial interposition are observed more frequently. In addition to the humps, a few small subepithelial deposits (3 out of 48: Z) which are unsharply demarcated from the lamina densa are demonstrable. Varyingly severe focal thickening of the BM is present in three-fourths of the cases (36 out of 48: Z) while diffuse thickening is rare (4 out of 48: Z). A loosely electron-translucent thickening of the lamina rara interna is present in two-thirds of our cases.

Cases with extracapillary crescents (for EM see p. 224) differ mainly in one respect, i.e., there are slightly more frequent subendothelial deposits encountered (4 out of 13) but humps are not present.

In the sclerosing stage, the matrix is considerably increased (Fig. 6.83) but the nuclear increase is not as pronounced as in the previous stages. The nuclei show no signs of activation (Fig. 14.33), e.g., lobulation or notching. In all cases, we find peripheral BM damage in this stage in which the BM is irregular (Fig. 14.35) and, occasionally, very roughly split (Fig. 14.36). Remnants of deposits are now and again demonstrable (Figs. 14.37, 14.38). The BM is at times considerably thickened and shows translucent areas arising from dissolution of osmiophilic deposits (Fig. 14.39).

In disease relapses, concomitant occurrence of very old sclerosing mesangial changes and old BM lesions as well as fresh osmiophilic deposits are usually clearly demonstrable (Fig. 14.40). A clear-cut proof of relapse is the presence of humps (Fig. 14.34, 14.40).

⊲ Fig. 14.27. Proliferative-sclerosing stage endotheliomesangial GN after streptococcal angina and clinically acute GN 3.5 months prior to biopsy. Numerous osmiophilic deposits (*D*) are recognizable in the increased mesangial matrix. Subendothelially, the peripheral BM is severely loosened and sometimes evidences new formation of a thin densa layer (*LD*), glomerular capillary loop lumen (*CL*). Male, 16 years. EM (×13,800)

Fig. 14.28. Same case as in Figure 14.27. Thickening of lamina rara interna (\rightarrow) is clearly recognizable. Endothelial cells are severely hypertrophied and evidence swollen, polymorphic nuclei, e.g., activated. There is mild foot process fusion. Male, 16 years. EM (\times 17,500)

Differential Diagnosis

The differential diagnostic spectrum of GN forms which should be considered is dictated by the inflammatory stage of the endotheliomesangial GN encountered.

Generalized leukocytosis and myeloid leukemia exhibiting massive capillary loop leukocytosis can be mistaken for exudative endotheliomesangial GN. In these cases, demonstration of subepithelial humps (Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain) as well as appropriate evaluation of clinical findings will usually suffice for correct differentiation. The presence of capillary loop necroses and thrombi—which are very rare—requires exclusion of the hemolytic-uremic syndrome (see p. 499).

Page 210

Fig. 14.29. Acute poststreptococcal GN 3 weeks before biopsy: lamina rara interna is severely loosened and contains unclearly delimited subendothelial deposits (D) which appear to be undergoing dissolution. A likewise unclearly demarcated clear area (X) is to be seen in the outer lamina densa. Female, 9 years. $(\times 27,800)$

Fig. 14.30. Clinically, acute GN 4 years before biopsy: there is obvious thickening of the mesangium which contains numerous, osmiophilic deposits (D). No IgA was demonstrable by IF. There is extensive fusion of foot processes and loosening and thickening of the lamina rara interna (\rightarrow). Male, 10 years. EM (\times 10,400)

Fig. 14.31. Proliferative-sclerosing stage of endotheliomesangial GN with axial mesangial involvement. There is severe increase in the number of lobulated mesangial nuclei (M) and mesangial matrix. The endothelial nuclei are enlarged (E) as are the podocytes (P). Pronounced fusion of foot processes. Female, 3 years. EM (\times 3560)

Page 211

Fig. 14.32. Endotheliomesangial GN as seen 3.5 months after clinically acute poststreptococcal GN (same case as in Fig. 14.27). Extensive osmiophilic intramembranous deposits (D) along the mesangium are present. There is very slight focal thickening of the lamina rara interna (\rightarrow). Male, 16 years. EM (\times 14,200)

Fig. 14.33. Sclerosing stage of endotheliomesangial GN with panmesangial involvement. Massive increase of the mesangial matrix with disproportionately slight increase of mesangial cells (*M*). Numerous protein droplets (\rightarrow) are seen in the cytoplasm of the mesangial cells. Foot process fusion is slight. Male, 65 years. EM (\times 3000)







14.36 14.37



Fig. 14.38. Damage of glomerular capillary loop BM in the proliferating-sclerosing stage of endotheliomesangial GN with isolated hematuria for 5 months. Nodular thickening of lamina rara interna (\rightarrow), and focal loosening of lamina densa subendothelially (\rightarrow) are present. Severe foot process fusion is evident. Male, 5 years. EM ($\times 21,700$)

Fig. 14.39. Large translucent areas in the thickened peripheral BM where degradation products are occasionally seen. Questionable interposition of mesangial cell process (*). Female, 25 years. EM (\times 12,800)

✓ Fig. 14.34. Sclerosing stage of endotheliomesangial GN. Very extensive thickening and increase of the mesangial matrix and pronounced swelling of mesangial cells. Isolated subepithelial hump (→) indicates an acute relapse (clinically, 4 weeks prior to biopsy). Male, 13 years. EM (× 6020)

Fig. 14.35. Damage of glomerular capillary loop BM in endotheliomesangial GN. BM is varyingly thick. Lamina densa is partly thinned to a narrow residual strip (\rightarrow) lying directly under the lamina rara externa. Degradation granules (*). Female, 4 years. EM ($\times 27,500$)

Fig. 14.36. Same case as Figure 14.35, showing BM damage with longitudinal splitting of the BM as well as irregularity of the outer and inner aspect. Female, 4 years. EM $(\times 12,400)$

Fig. 14.37. Longitudinal lamellar splitting of peripheral glomerular capillary loop BM 1.5 years after clinically acute GN. Material seen between lamellae possibly represents deposit residues and degradation granules. Female, 12.5 years. EM ($\times 24,700$) Differentiation of endotheliomesangial GN from the membranoproliferative form – which can exhibit clinical findings of acute GN (Table 14.5; 5 out of 14: [1312]) - is especially important. In the exudative stage, this differentiation is greatly facilitated by staining the extensive subendothelial deposits (Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain) which are present in membranoproliferative but never (with LM) in endotheliomesangial GN. Distinction between these two forms may also be difficult in the proliferative stage in which, in addition to the abovementioned subendothelial deposits, the usually very extensive BM doubling by mesangial interposition will be helpful. It is also noted that mesangial change is seldom as massive, and is practically never lobular in the endotheliomesangial form as it is in membranoproliferative GN. Despite the differences cited, distinction between the two forms in some instances may prove impossible, and especially so in the presence of an acute relapse in membranoproliferative GN. If IF and EM findings



Fig. 14.40. Same case as in Figure 14.27, 3.5 months after clinically acute poststreptococcal GN. An acute attack is apparent by the presence of a hump (H) covered by a podocyte rich in osmiophilic substance. Lamina densa is split and contains osmiophilic deposits (D) in dissolution. Male, 16 years. EM (\times 20,300)

are available, however, the differentiation is usually easy.

The differentiation of endotheliomesangial GN from proliferative FGN is usually easy due to the different glomerular (segmental) and renal (focal) involvement as well as the presence of segmental focal mesangial interpositions (see p. 289). Findings from IF study permit unambiguous differentiation of IgA nephritis from endotheliomesangial GN. IgA nephritis can be suspected but not be proven when EM study reveals especially massive mesangial deposits or when such deposits are shown in Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain.

Differentiation of Alport's syndrome which, in LM, can yield the same findings as endotheliomesangial GN, is impossible. Indisputable diagnosis is only possible by the EM demonstration of the BM changes which are specific for Alport's syndrome (see p. 466).

Prognosis

The prognosis of all stages of endotheliomesangial GN is better in childhood than it is later. In relation to

cure, most data in the literature vary from 81% to 97% [410, 455, 512, 621, 1661]. Healing can, however, require 2 or even more years (see also p. 215; [262, 388, 1272, 1414]).

The prognosis of the disease is said to be poorer in adults with cure rates ranging from 20%-80% [407, 1630, 1661]. These statistics are not based in all cases on exact differentiation of the various forms of GN (i.e., membranoproliferative GN is often included) but if this is done, the prognosis of adult endotheliomesangial GN is also reported to be good [1272] (contra : [71a, 1429b]).

One group of authors reported less favorable results in a series of cases comprising adults and children in which 8% died during the first 6 months of the disease and 50% of the remaining cases later evidenced a reduction of glomerular filtration to less than 100 ml/min. Complete clinical healing was reported in 30–40% of the cases [72], (see also [772]).

Data of our own patients (belonging in 45% to the pediatric age group) confirm the generally favorable prognosis of this disease (Table 14.3, 14.7) especially if compared with an age-matched control population (see Table 14.3).

Prognosis	Survival rate in %				
	5 years	10 years	15 years		
From disease onset	95	88	81		
SE ^a	1.8	3.0	5.1		
From biopsy	95	84	84		
SE ^a	1.9	4.7	4.7		

Table 14.7. Prognosis and outcome of endotheliomesang	gial glo
merulonephritis (including cases with crescents of $< 50\%$	6)

^a SE: standard error in %.

Outcome (after minimal follow-up of 1 year)

Number of patients	139
Total mortality	8.6%
Death in uremia	3.6%
Complete remission	29.5%

The 10-year survival rate from onset or biopsy in our material is 88/84%, respectively. Only 29.5% were considered as cured after a follow-up time of 1 to 20 years (Table 14.7).

From a total of 12 deaths (none of which in the pediatric age group) only 5 were due to uremia (the others died from nonrenal causes). The 5- and 10-year survival rates of clinical acute GN corresponds to that of endothelio-mesangial GN (Table 14.5) but if an initial oligo-anuria is present the prognosis is considerably worse.

Therapy has been reported as being more successful in the presence of strong IF findings then when the findings are weak or absent [1091].

Sequencial biopsy has shown that severe cases of the exudative-proliferative stage of endotheliomesangial GN can heal [1582] a finding which is also valid in endotheliomesangial GN with crescents ([621]; see also p. 227). Non-healing (unresolved GN: [1068]; latent GN: [107a]) can lead to the axial sclerosing form, which can remain stationary for years and whose frequency is unknown.

After clinical cure, mesangial thickening can persist. It was observed in a considerable percentage of cases 1–3 years after acute GN (2 out of 10: [1414]; 19 out of 23: [1632]). This finding results in down-grading of the favorable prognosis for acute GN in childhood. Subsequent examination of 19 cases showed normalization in 16 and unambiguous progression in 3 in which IF positive findings remained constant ([1632]; 3 out of 21 of such cases evidenced uremia: [636]). The frequency of late renal disturbances in cases of asymptomatic morphologic residues following acute GN is unknown. Transition of endotheliomesangial GN into a sclerosing stage is said to occur in 0.9% of children [64] and in 2%-6% of adults [1047, 1630] (see also: [71 a, 1429 b]).

Relapses of the disease are associated with a poorer prognosis [45, 388, 1068]. Cure in these cases has been reported in 3 out of 6 cases after 2 to 5 years [1630].

In all these prognostic data, there is a considerable amount of uncertainty in that they rely upon clinically or bioptically demonstrated disease and do not include the unknown quantities of primarily very mild cases of acute GN—especially in childhood—which never receive medical scrutiny. However, since chronic GN and other nephropathies of later life may develop or be aggravated from these symptomless forms, the very good prognosis of acute GN in childhood is possibly reduced.

Recurrence after transplantation has been described [1478a] but seems to be an exception.

Pathogenesis and Etiology

Pathogenetically, endotheliomesangial GN is an immunocomplex GN brought about by small, highly soluble immunocomplexes which are formed in the presence of antigen excess and which can traverse the BM (transmembranous GN, class I immunocomplexes: [544]). Pathogenesis of IgA mesangial GN which cannot be differentiated in certain stages from the so-called poststreptococcal type is discussed on p. 353.

In recent years, understanding of the etiology of diffuse endotheliomesangial GN has been considerably expanded.

Streptococci (group A, types 4, 12, 25, 49) are still considered the predominant etiologic factor [1661]. Streptococcal infection has been demonstrated in half of the children with diffuse endotheliomesangial GN with acute onset [621]. Some investigators have claimed streptococci to be responsible for the disease in as many as 90% of all cases [909, 911, 1408]. In acute rheumatic fever 3 out of 22 cases developed a mild and 1 out of 22 severe endotheliomesangial GN without humps [598].

The occurrence of GN following scarlet fever (2.3%: Z) and with streptococcal infection of the upper respiratory tract, which is often unequivocally demonstrable anamnestically as well as in epidemic outbreaks of the disease in which streptococci have been demonstrated, e.g., the Red Lake Indian Reservation Epidemic [803], cannot be dismissed. In patients with endotheliomesangial GN, bacterial plasma membrane AG from hemolytic streptococci have been demonstrated [909, 911].

With EM and using ferritin labeled AG, the antigen of A-12 streptococci has been identified in pinocytotic vacuoles and in mesangial and endothelial hyaline droplets of patients afflicted with the disease [28], a finding which has not been confirmed by other investigators. A further argument strongly in favor of a streptococcal etiology is the demonstration of streptolysin-0, streptococcal hyaluronidase and streptokinase in the serum of 85–90% of patients with acute GN [1661].

The route of entry for the streptococci is usually the upper respiratory tract and far less frequently the middle ear; occasionally, skin infections may also be implicated,

GN	Malignancies					
	Own cases $(n=36)$	Galiano et al. $[521 a] (n=53)$				
Glomerular minimal change	<i>n</i> =7	n=19				
	Malignant lymphoma $6 \times$ Carcinoma of the cervix $1 \times$	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma Hodgkin's disease Leukemia Carcinoma	10.5% 84.2% 0% 5.3%			
Epimembranous GN	<i>n</i> =6	n=24				
	Malignant lymphoma $1 \times$ Lymphatic leukemia $2 \times$ Squamous carcinoma of tongue $1 \times$ Liver cell carcinoma $1 \times {}^{\circ}$ Colonic carcinoma $1 \times {}^{d}$	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma Hodgkin's disease Leukemia Carcinoma	8.3% 16.6% 4.2% 70.9%			
Membranoproliferative GN	<i>n</i> =3	n=4				
	Colonic, gastric carcinoma $1 \times$ each Liver cell carcinoma $1 \times$	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma Hodgkin's disease Leukemia Carcinoma	50% 25% 25% 0%			
Other proliferative GN ^b	n=20	n=6				
	Myeloic leukemia 1 × Squamous cell carcinoma (tongue, bronchus, esophagus) 8 × Gastric carcinoma 4 × Colonic, pancreatic, mammary supraadrenal carcinoma 1 × each Renal cell carcinoma 2 × Melanoma 1 × Astrocytoma 1 × B habdomyosarcoma 1 ×	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma Hodgkin's disease Leukemia Carcinoma	0% 50% 16.6% 33.4%			

Table 14.8. Glomerulonephritis in malignancies in our own autopsy cases^a, biopsy material and from the literature [521 a]

^a 26 malignancies with GN (0.3-5%) among 7300 autopsies with malignoma. Incidence of GN in our autopsies 0.65%.

^b 3 cases with multiple malignancies.

^e Hepatitis B surface antigen positive.

^d CEA (carcino-embryonic antigen) increased in serum.

as indicated by reports of epidemics from the southern U.S. and from South America. In retrospective studies, such as ours, the incidence of streptococcal infections is considerably lower (9.5%).

The above evidence must be weighed against the fact that no primary streptococcal infection is present in many cases of the disease which are often especially characterized by insidious onset. In these patients, staphylococci are occasionally found as in infected ventriculoatrial shunt [1561, 1700] and staphylococcal endocarditis [612, 1661] which apparently occurs with increased frequency among heroin addicts [1425].

The bulk of knowledge about viruses acting as antigens has considerably expanded [221, 222, 774, 1522, 1531]. We observed one peculiar autopsy case of diffuse endotheliomesangial GN in an infant with a severe, generalized cytomegalovirus infection and in another similar case, focal, necrotizing GN [326] was observed.

Furthermore, one of our cases of endotheliomesangial GN developed in association with viral hepatitis. Hepatitis B virus is a generally recognized antigen in GN [304, 424, 615, 1531] although usually associated with epimembranous or membranoproliferative GN and only rarely with endotheliomesangial GN (2 out of 9: [609]; [1233c], see p. 250).

In this respect, more or less reliable observations have implicated varicella [1107], influenza [1096], and Epstein-Barr [1531] viruses.

Further indication of the etiologic role of virus has been provided by experimental findings of choriomenengitis virus in newborn mice [221, 717], of encephalomyocarditis virus [717], of Coxsackie B_4 -virus in mice [221, 222, 1521] and of reovirus III [1238] which is usually related to immunocomplex GN [1760].

GN of endotheliomesangial type has also been noted in malaria [16, 28, 1689, 1730] as well as in the following conditions: secondary syphilis [148], congenital syphilis [801, 1589], toxoplasmosis [553], and sarcoidosis [1045]. The GN in sarcoidosis was reported as proliferative in 3 out of 6 of the cases, epimembranous in 1 out of 6 and sclerosing in 2 out of 6 and, as sarcoidosis itself, can be considered as an immunologic response to an unknown AG [1045].

Diffuse endotheliomesangial GN has also been reported in sickle cell disease [1387a]; see also [1233b] and following antilymphocytic globulin therapy in liver transplantats [334] but not in kidney transplants (see p. 610).

GN due to malignoma-associated antigens is well known [345, 972, 521a]. The published cases belong mainly to epimembranous and less often to membranoproliferative GN (see p. 277) but also other proliferative GN (endo-

theliomesangial GN or proliferative FGN) may be present as we saw in a nephrectomy specimen from a patient suffering from a triple malignoma: squamous cell carcinoma of the tongue, rhabdomyosarcoma of the lung, and renal cell carcinoma. A survey of GN in malignancies is presented in Table 14.8; it shows the majority of malignancy to be associated with the group of proliferative GN in our material. Since we never attempted identification of tumor-associated antigens in the kidney, the possibility of a nonrelated fortuitous finding of GN together with the tumor cannot be excluded. But it can be supposed—as based on findings of other investigators—that a causal relationship between endotheliomesangial GN and malignancies is also present in some cases [521 a, 1812].

The occurrence of endotheliomesangial GN associated with systemic disease was rarely encountered in our material: 1.7% in SLE, 4.7% in Schönlein-Henoch's purpura (in children in one-third of the cases: [1730]) and 16% of IgA-nephritis in IF investigated cases. This topic is discussed in greater detail in chapter 16.

Extracapillary Accentuated Glomerulonephritis

Definition

Extracapillary crescents may be present in any form of GN. From the prognostic point of view, we distinguish between two grades of severity, namely, cases with less than 50% crescents (crescentic involvement) and more than 50% crescents (crescentic accentuation).

Under the term "extracapillary accentuated GN", only endotheliomesangial GN and segmental-focal proliferative GN are discussed. Proliferative FGN is included since it cannot, in the advanced stages, readily be differentiated from endotheliomesangial GN. Special consideration of extracapillary accentuated GN is also merited since it can be associated with different pathogenetic mechanisms, i.e., immunocomplex GN or anti-BM GN. All other GN forms, e.g., membranoproliferative, intramembranous, epimembranous GN with crescents are not included nor are systemic diseases with a pathognomonic morphologic picture, e.g., Wegner's syndrome or hypersensitivity angitis which will be discussed in separate sections (survey: [1815]).

Synonyms: Subacute GN, rapidly progressive GN [684], peracute extracapillary GN [161], oliguric GN [1451] and malignant GN [654]. For other synonyms see Table 13.2.

Incidence

The severe form of the lesion (> 50% crescents) amounts to 4.2% of all our cases of GN. It is difficult to compare our statistics with those of the literature which often do not state the percentage of afflicted glomeruli or indicate the basic form of GN involved, e.g., endotheliomesangial, membranoproliferative, proliferative FGN, intramembranous GN, etc., as well as those associated with systemic diseases, e.g., Wegner's syndrome, etc. The relative frequency in GN-biopsy, which varies between 0.9% [134] and 6.5% is summarized in Table 14.1. Most investigators report a considerable predominance of males [1019, 163, 344, 1574] (male: female as 2.3:1.0 [1209]) and some of females [636]. In our own material, the male: female ratio is 1.23:1. Fundamentally, all age groups are afflicted [621, 1019] including the very aged [1797]. The pediatric age group comprises only 15.8% of these cases (Fig. 14.41). In one large series of cases [1209, 1211] the lesion was noted in the following conditions: 35 out of 59 cases in endotheliomesangial GN, 11 out of 59 in Goodpasture's syndrome, 8 out of 59 in hypersensitivity angitis (microform of periarteritis nodosa) and 5 out of 59 in SLE or Wegner's syndrome.

Clinical Findings

(Tables 14.3, 14.4, 14.5, Fig. 14.41)

Extracapillary accentuated GN usually exhibits a dramatic course. In more than 60% of the patients (Fig. 14.41) symptoms typical of acute GN usually set in after an acute febrile illness usually associated with upper respiratory tract infection (Table 14.3, Fig. 14.41; see also [1574]). In 40% of our cases, oliguria or, more rarely, anuria, was initially present, and macrohematuria in 30%, edema in 60%, and hypertension in 24% of the cases. Additionally, we encountered microhematuria, proteinuria and erythrocytic casts in the urine of 24% of our cases.

The disease usually shows a rapidly progressive course accompanied by repeated episodes of macrohematuria. Patients with oliguria usually develop complete anuria averagely after 40 days (range 5–100 days [344]). In our patients at the time of biopsy, oligo-anuria was present in 11 out of 24 cases and polyuria was noted in 2 out of 24 (Table 14.3).

At the time of biopsy (about 3 months after disease onset) the clinical picture (Fig. 14.41) was characterized in all cases by elevated serum urea and creatinine values which were accompanied by hypertension in 40% of our patients. The antstreptolysin titer was raised in one-third of the patients. Complement (C3) was always in the normal range (5 out of 5: Z; see also [243, 1574]).

Proteinuria and hematuria are almost always demonstrable. Fairly frequently, proteinuria may exceed 3.5 gm/day. Since leukocyturia, bacteruria, and leukocytic casts can also now and again be shown (Table 14.3) doubt can arise with respect to the diagnosis of GN. This is also true with sudden oligo-anuria subsequent to febrile disease which poses differential diagnostic problems with respect to acute interstitial nephritis.

LM Findings

The predominant finding in the proliferative stage is the massive cellular proliferation occurring in the capsular space, i.e., so-called crescent formation (Fig. 14.42, see p. 100). Global crescents extend from the glomerular vascular pole to encompass the entire convolute (Fig. 6.90), while in segmental crescents only those segments over damaged, often necrotic loops (Fig. 6.91), are implicated.

These crescents consist of fibroblast-like cells with oval, moderately chromatin-rich nuclei in between which an occasional polymorphonuclear leukocyte is observed (Figs. 14.43, 14.44; [780]). Fibrin stains reveal fibrin fibrils between the individual crescent cells in more than 50% of the cases whereas with IF, fibrin(-ogen) can be demonstrated in the proliferative stage in almost 100% of the cases. It has been reported that crescents can develop in a few days [833, 1484].



Fig. 14.41. Profile of symptoms and clinical findings in extracapillary accentuated GN

White columns: Relative frequency of symptom/finding in all GN

Black columns: Relative frequency in

extracapillary accentuated GN

Asterisks indicate characteristic findings for extracapillary accentuated GN:

- *: characteristic
- **: very characteristic
- ***: highly characteristic; DC: disease course (see also Tables 14.3 and 14.4)

With longer duration and nonresolution, the crescent cells flatten out more and more and assume the form of fibrocytes (sclerosing phase). Soon thereafter, fine PAS- and PASM-positive fibrillar material grows out of the capsular BM and insinuates itself between the crescent cells (Figs. 14.46, 14,47; [279]). Later, the so-called adenomatoid structures may arise (Fig. 14.56, p. 103) from the confluence of intercellular spaces. Capsular BM is not sharply delimited from the crescents, but it is clearly marked off from the surrounding fibrotically transformed periglomerular interstitium for a long time (Fig. 14.45). Later, it is splintered and replaced by connective tissue (Fig. 14.46). Ultimately, it partly disappears (see also [1069]).

Foreign body-type giant cells can occasionally be found in the capsular space [1069] (in all cases: [1209]). We have observed them only rarely, and then in the presence of loop necroses and in Goodpasture's syndrome (Fig. 17.36, see p. 337; Table 8.1).

Isolated capillary loop necroses (Figs. 14.44, 14.45) are present in about half of the cases [62, 149, 1069, 1209, 1302, 1451]; contra: [282]. These necroses have been reported to be particularly frequent in cases caused by streptococci [1489]. A few instances have been cited in which these necroses have been found in all cases of extracapillary accentuated GN [344]; the same is true for capillary loop defects [1209]. We have not been able to verify these findings but to be sure serial sections were not done. In general, mesangial proliferation is much less striking than it is in the absence of crescents: the more extensive the crescent formation, the less pronounced the proliferation. In fact, it has been reported that mesangial proliferation may be completely absent (44 out of 63: [1574], morphometry: [429]), especially so in those cases in which a streptococcal etiology can be excluded [654]. We have never encountered total absence of proliferation.

The simultaneous occurrence of very old sclerotic capillary changes and relatively fresh proliferative crescents – as encountered, for example, in contracted kidneys—is often striking.

Tubular changes do not deviate qualitatively from those encountered in the other forms of GN except—as seen in our cases—for the presence of more intratubular debris and occasional leukocytic casts. The accompanying interstitial nephritis has almost always been very pronounced (Fig. 14.42). Changes in the arteries and the arterioles are not present except in cases of systemic disease (e.g., in hypersensitivity angitis [620]; see also p. 536).

IF Findings

Fundamentally, two types of responses can be distinguished: a complex type (Fig. 14.48) and an anti-BM type with linear deposits (see also p. 157; Fig. 14.49).



14.42 14.43 The anti-BM type, which may be either idiopathic or associated with the Goodpasture's syndrome, comprises about 1%-5% of all GN ([1035, 1744, 1747]; see p. 337). In extracapillary accentuated GN, the results reported in the literature and summarized in Table 14.9, show that about 30% exhibit a linear pattern usually positive for IgG and in about two-thirds for C3 [1744, 1747] whereas the presence of other immunoglobulin is inconstant (see also [525, 1302, 1484, 1666, 1766]).

The immunocomplex-type comprises about 50% of the cases (Table 14.9). The predominating IF findings are C3 [525, 1136, 1212, 1302], IgG [134, 955, 1136, 1212] as well as fibrin(-ogen) in the damaged glomerular loops (27 out of 32: [1136]; 9 out of 15: [134]). Other immuno-globulins, e.g., IgA, IgM, etc., are far less frequently found [134, 1136, 1212].

It is also noteworthy that in a considerable percentage of cases (Table 14.9) the IF findings are entirely negative. This does not, in our opinion, suggest a nonimmunologic cause of injury but rather that the injury may more likely be the result of a rapid intraglomerular immunocomplex turnover.

In more than 70% of cases, glomerular crescents contain fibrin(-ogen) [128, 1103, 1136, 1212, 1747]. In fresh proliferative crescents this is nearly always the case, whereas in old crescents it may be lacking. Immunoglobulins are never found in crescents [128, 1103, 1136, 1212, 1747].

✓ Fig. 14.42. Endotheliomesangial GN with severe extracapillary involvement (90%). All four glomeruli depicted evidence global crescents (→). Interstitium is edematous and rather heavily infiltrated with inflammatory cells. Proximal tubules show severe flattening of the epithelium as in shock and isolated casts. Male, 25 years. HE (×90)

Fig. 14.43. Endotheliomesangial GN with 100% extracapillary involvement. Between proliferated capsular epithelium nests of polymorphonuclear leukocytes (\rightarrow). Highly collapsed glomerular capillary loops contain numerous polymorphonuclear leukocytes as well. Female, 70 years. HE (×420)

Fig. 14.44. Same case as in Figure 14.43. Glomerular capillary loop collapse is even more evident in the PAS stain as is the scanty -PAS positive -matrix between the cells of the crescent. Note severe interstitial inflammation. Female, 70 years. ($\times 250$)

Fig. 14.45. Same case as in Figure 14.43. In PASM stain, new formation of argyrophilic material within the crescent is clearly evident, as is glomerular capillary loop collapsc. (\times 390)

Table 14.9. IF findings in extracapillary accentuated glomerulonephritis (cases positive/tested)

Author	Deposition Character				
	Linear	Granular	Negative		
Bernard et al. (1974) [134]	0/15	13/15	2/15		
Dart et al. (1972) [344]	7/17	8/17	2/17		
Lewis et al. (1971) [955]	6/7	1/7	0/7		
Min et al. (1974) [1103]	4/8	3/8	1/8		
Morel-Maroger et al. (1973) [1137a]	3/33	18/33	12/33 (?)		
Olson et al. (1974) [1212]	6/26	14/26	6/26		
Striker et al. (1973) [1574]	2/10	0/10	8/10		
Thoenes (1976) [1607a]	11/16	5/16	0/16		
Zollinger and Mihatsch	2/7	5/7	0/7		
Total	41/139 =29,5%	67/139 =48.2%	31/139 =22,3%		

Page 222

Fig. 14.46. Extracapillary accentuated GN. Crescent has been considerably replaced by connective tissue and capsular BM has been largely destroyed. Glomerular capillary loops are completely collapsed. Autopsy specimen. PAS (\times 400)

Fig. 14.47. Same case as in Figure 14.46. Aging crescent with dense argyrophilic fibrils. Note focal interruption of the capsular BM. PASM ($\times 400$)

Fig. 14.48. Granular fibrin(-ogen) deposits in the mesangium and the capillary loop periphery as well as focally in (nonrecognizable) crescent (\rightarrow). Isolated podocytic resorption droplets are discernible. Female, 60 years. IF (\times 530)

Fig. 14.49. Typical IF findings in the anti-BM type of extracapillary accentuated GN. There is sharp linear global staining of IgG. Note: no fluorescence in the capsular space. Female, 70 years. IF (\times 420)

Page 223

Fig. 14.50. Survey of an extracapillary crescent. Glomerular capillary loops (\rightarrow) are completely collapsed. Capsular space is filled with proliferated capsular cells which are occasionally rich in protein droplets (*PD*). Isolated podocytes evidencing very pronounced cystoid widened organelles (*P*). Fibrin strands are found between capsular cells (\rightarrow). Capsular BM (*CBM*). Female, 60 years. EM (\times 744)

Fig. 14.51. Crescent in extracapillary accentuated GN following Schönlein-Henoch's purpura. Predominantly large and swollen capsular epithelial cells with varying increase in cell organelles and enlarged nuclei. Scattered podocytes (*P*) with cystoid organelles and very osmiophilic cytoplasm are interspersed. Scanty thin strands of BM-like material (\rightarrow) are already recognizable between capsular epithelial cells. Glomerular capillary loops (*G*) are largely obsolescent. Male, 7 years. EM (×3260)





EM Findings

Fresh crescents consist of highly swollen capsular epithelial cells of up to $32 \,\mu m$ in size (Fig. 14.50) which are rich in tonofibrils, glycogen and often phagolysosomes, but poor in other organelles (Fig. 14.51). Only the endoplasmatic reticulum is clearly visible. Mitoses and binucleated cells are also found and have been reported to arise from podocytes [780], a finding which we could not confirm (see p. 100). Between the proliferated capsular epithelial cells, at first only a few other cells are found which become somewhat larger and subsequently triangular; they have dark cytoplasm and usually a pronounced widening of the endoplasmatic reticulum (Figs. 14.51, 14.52, 6.92). Podocytes in situ evidence the same changes, so that the cells in question probably represent displaced and degenerated podocytes (see also [205, 780]). A third type of crescent cell is supposed to be a monocyte which, in any case, has been found in experimental Masugi nephritis [875]. We were not able to distinguish these cells in our own cases. Between these cells, fibrin strands (Figs. 14.53, 6.94) or at least fibrin-like material [134, 955, 1037, 1484, 1797] are found in very fresh cases and especially so in anti-BM type [1103].

A granular substance (Fig. 14.54) which presumably corresponds to the exudate in the capsular space in glomerular obsolescence (see p. 107) is found in later stages. It is also viewed as BM material [134]. Appearance of collagen fibers in the extracellular material (in LM: [279]) is demonstrable with EM [172] (Fig. 14.55). The BM-like strands sometimes appear to be in contact with the capsular BM, although we feel that they are formed in loco from both capsular epithelium and podocytes (Figs. 14.51; 6.95; p. 105).

The well-known adenomatoid formations arise from confluent openings between the proliferated capsular epithelium (Figs. 14.56, 14.60, 6.97). Later, the capsular BM is splintered and permeated by connective tissue elements (Fig. 14.57).

Ultrastructurally, the glomeruli evidence changes typical of endotheliomesangial GN which are, however, surprisingly little pronounced. In the relatively uncommon anti-BM type, diffuse thickening of the BM (2 out of 2: Z) and, very rarely, focal and tiny subendothelial (1 out of 2: Z) and/or intramembranous (1 out of 2: Z) (Fig. 14.59) as well as mesangial deposits (1 out of 2: Z) can be demonstrated.

In our patients, we encountered loop necrosis only once (Figs. 14.58, 6.14) but we repeatedly found interruptions of loop BM as also reported by other investigators: (8 out of 8 cases: [1103]; 12 out of 40 cases: [282]; see also [1144, 172]). Interruptions of the capsular BM are also characteristic and frequent [172].

In 7 other cases of our own, 5 with proven granular IF pattern, deposits in the following locations were en-

countered: subendothelial 5 out of 7; intramembranous 4 out of 7, along the mesangial BM 1 out of 7, mesangial matrix 4 out of 7 (10 out of 15: [282]). Subepithelial deposits were present in 2 out of 7 and humps only once (Fig. 14.61) (2 out of 8: [172]; see also [131, 1068]). Other investigators found no humps in any of their eases [62].

Unfortunately, in most EM descriptions of extracapillary accentuated GN, no differentiation is made between those with granular deposits with IF and those with linear ones, so that a reliable differentiation on the basis of EM findings is not yet possible.

Differential Diagnosis

Of primary importance is establishment of the basic type of GN. All cases of membranoproliferative, intramembranous, and epimembranous GN must be excluded. Although the exclusion of the GN mentioned above may be difficult in advanced forms using LM alone, it should usually be possible using the combined methods of LM, EM, and IF. If differentiation proves to be impossible especially after long term dialysis—we include such cases in the group of unclassified GN. The occurrence of crescents of various ages and, above all, the presence of relatively numerous partial crescents is strongly indicative of proliferative FGN, which suggests the presence of a systemic disease (see also: [1815]) (see p. 317). In the sclerotic stage, recognition of reactive crescents,

as they are encountered, for example, in chronic pyelonephritis, ischemic loop damage, amyloidosis, malignant nephrosclerosis, etc. is not easy, but in these diseases, extracapillary involvement of 20% or more is extremely unusual.

Fig. 14.52. Part of a glomerular crescent: the swollen capsular \triangleright epithelial cells (*CE*) are easily recognizable, as agtes (*P*) which in this case evidence only slight cystoid organelle transformation. Male, 70 years. EM (×4080)

Fig. 14.53. Massive fibrin strands (*) are seen between the proliferated capsular epithelial cell. Same case as in Figure 14.50. Female, 60 years. EM (\times 8300)

Fig. 14.54. Exudate between obsolescent glomerular capillary loops (\rightarrow) and capsular epithelial cells in extracapillary accentuated GN. Note the bulky degradation granules in the otherwise amorphous exudate. Same case as in Figure 14.43. Female, 70 years. EM (\times 12,8000)

Fig. 14.55. Same case as in Figure 14.54. In the exudate, collagen fibrils are clearly discernible. Female, 70 years. EM $(\times 27,340)$





Extension of BM-like material and collagen into the capsular BM, and the presence of a few fibrocytes in old crescent masses [282] may be helpful in the diagnosis of GN, since both findings are chiefly observed in GNcaused crescent formation.

The form of GN which has been described as "apparently rapidly progressive" [544] is supposedly characterized by the slight presence of IgG and complement; it is not thought to be caused by streptococci. This form of GN has been proposed on the basis of two cases only [544] which is not sufficient to permit its clear differentiation at the present time.

Prognosis

The extracapillary accentuated GN with involvement of more than 50% of glomeruli (see also [840a, 1212]) has an extremely bad prognosis. Prognostic data in our patients (Table 14.10) show a 5-year survival rate of 25% from disease onset/biopsy. More than 75% died from uremia. Five patients were still alive: one was considered to be healed (see below), three had improved, and one was in terminal renal insufficiency. The data from the literature confirm these results, although exact data about the percentage of glomeruli evidencing crescents are often lacking: 41 out of 63 cases died or were on dialysis [1103, 1484, 1574], 11 out of 15 had terminal renal insufficiency [134].

In children, mortality is around 90-100% when more than 80% of the glomeruli demonstrate crescents [620, 621]. If 50-80% of glomeruli demonstrate crescents, cure [620, 1484, 1791] or considerable improvement [1801] are possible. In mild cases (<50% crescent formation) cure has been reported in half of the patients [1489] although morphologic or functional defects do persist.

✓ Fig. 14.56. Adenomatoid structure in a glomerular crescent. Isolated fibrin fragments (→), and necrotic cells (N) as well as an erythrocyte (*) are present in the lumen. Capsular BM (CBM) is unchanged. Same case as in Figure 14.43. Female, 70 years. EM (×3260)

Fig. 14.57. Endotheliomesangial GN with 100% crescents. Same case as in Figure 14.43. Completely collapsed glomerular capillary loops (\rightarrow) with a synechia between the obsolescent loops and the periglomerular fibrous tissue are present. Capsule epithelial proliferation (*CE*); proliferated periglomerular fibrous tissue (*FC*). Female, 70 years. EM (×2850)

Table 14.10. Prognosis and outcome of extracapillary accentuated glomerulonephritis (with crescents of > 50%)

Prognosis	Survival rate in %			
	3 years	5 years	_	
From disease onset SE ^a From biopsy SE ^a	40 11.2 34 10.6	25 10.6 25 10.6		

^a SE: standard error in %.

<i>Outcome</i> (after minimal fol	low-up of 1	year)
-----------------------------------	-------------	-------

Number of patients	21
Total mortality	76.2%
Death in uremia	76.2%
Complete remission	4.8%
Improved	14.3%
Terminal renal	4.8%
insufficiency	

In contrast to our former opinion, it is now thought that crescents are by and large reversible [1211, 1489]. In one of our own cases with originally more than 75% crescents (Figs. 14.60, 14.61) only an axial change with BM injury and no crescents were present 1.5 years later (14.63); 10% of the glomeruli, however, were obsolescent (Figs. 14.62,). We recently experienced a similar case with a time interval of 13 months.

The presence or absence of capillary loop necrosis is of great prognostic significance. Thus, in 41 patients without necroses, 12 survived, but in 54 with the lesion, only 4 remained alive [1302].

There is a general consensus among investigators in the field that the complex type of the disease with humps and a significant mesangial cell proliferation caused by streptococci has a better prognosis than that type without these features or than the anti-BM type [1019, 1330, 1489]. Initial serum creatinine values of more than 5 mg % are reported to herald a hopeless prognosis [1019]. The extent to which exacerbations impair the prognosis is not fully known [1661] (see also: [1815]).

The damaging effect of permanent injury in the anti-BM type is self-evident since the BM-AB continue to act on their target structure, the glomerular BM. In these cases, relapse is especially frequent after transplantation [955]. In 13 patients with anti-BM-type GN, the transplant was LM unchanged in 9 cases although IF demonstrated linear immunoglobulin deposits sometimes without C3 and showed relapses of GN in 4 patients [323, 1330, 1574, 1209]. Therefore, bilateral nephrectomy is recommended and transplantation must not be undertaken until serum BM-antibodies have disappeared [1302]. Even after bilateral nephrectomy, pulmonary bleeding, and anti-BM-AB in serum can persist for quite



Fig. 14.58. Extensive capillary loop necroses in extracapillary accentuated GN. Loops are permeated with fibrin (\rightarrow). Fibrin is also found in the capsular space (\neg >, see inset). Numerous protin droplets (*PD*) are present in podocytes. Male, 47 years. EM (×1290)

some time [1512]. Extracapillary accentuated endotheliomesangial GN with linear immunodeposits had developed de novo in a transplant of a patient suffering primarily from sclerosing GN without immunodeposits [573].

Pathogenesis and Etiology

The pathogenesis of crescent formation is identical whenever it occurs. Very severe injury to the capillary loops, e.g., necroses, BM defects is necessary for fibrin exudation into the capsular space [1209, 1497a]. In this process, the immunocomplexes must also attain the capsular space, but immunoglobulins themselves have not been observed with IF therein. Therefore, they may be deposited transitorily and/or quickly removed possibly via phagocytosis and/or with the glomerular filtrate, if any.

Since, however, crescents arise in many glomerular diseases not associated with immunologic processes, fibrin assumes the main role in triggering the proliferation of the capsular epithelium [282, 1069] (see also p. 100). **Fig. 14.59.** Circumscribed, translucent subendothelial area with \triangleright osmiophilic fringes in a capillary loop. IF-proven anti-BM type GN. Female, 70 years. EM (×17,750)

Fig. 14.60. Extracapillary accentuated GN with crescents in 70% of glomeruli. Adenomatoid structure in a crescent (\rightarrow). Female, 11 years. PAS (×420)

Fig. 14.61. Same case as in Figure 14.60. Extensive, somewhat irregularly formed subepithelial deposits (\rightarrow) . EM (×10,900)

Fig. 14.62. Same case as in Figure 14.60. Rebiopsy 1.5 years after extracapillary accentuated GN; only axial mesangial enlargement is present besides scattered obsolescent glomeruli (\rightarrow) with perifocal inflammation. Female, 12.5 years. PAS (×320)





Fig. 14.63. Same case as in Figure 14.62. Mesangial enlargement with matrix and cell increase. Note pronounced edematous swelling of podocytes. Female, 12.5 years. EM (\times 2880)

The discussion of the pathogenesis and etiology of the GN demands a distinction between the immunocomplex and anti-BM type (the latter is discussed on p. 185).

The complex type of extracapillary accentuated GN, as defined in this context, is pathogenetically due to highly or less soluble immunocomplexes (immunocomplexes class I and II: [544]) and etiologically probably associated with streptococci or other etiologic factors [544, 893, 1330, 1484, 1489] considered on p. 215. From 3 out of 17 of our patients developing extracapillary accentuated GN, one was associated with viral hepatitis, one with staphylococcus albus otitis and one with Schönlein-Henoch's purpura. In 6 other patients from this group, a significant elevation of AST-titer was found suggesting a streptococcal etiology (see also [1451]).

Finally, it is again emphasized that a large number of cases of extracapillary accentuated GN must be allocated to segmental focal proliferative GN with or without systemic disease as indicated in reports from the literature (31 out of 33 cases: [1019]; 12 out of 22: [243]; 10 out of 30: [282]; see also: [1815]).

Membranoproliferative Glomerulonephritis

[635, 1721, 1802]

Definition

Membranoproliferative GN is characterized by the presence of peripheral capillary loop thickening caused by subendothelial immunodeposits and by mesangial interposition with new formation of subendothelial BM. In agreement with other investigators [126, 245, 246, 407, 544, 846, 1005, 1484, 1724, 1802] we also feel that so-called lobular GN does not represent a separate disease entity, but only a variety of membranoproliferative GN. Some investigators have formerly rigidly differentiated between membranoproliferative and lobular GN [13, 161, 655, 1713] while others have altered their views on such differentiation [620, 621, 636]. Additionally, we are not convinced that a so-called genuine lobular GN [159a] not belonging to the spectrum of membranoproliferative or intramembranous GN exists at all.

Membranoproliferative GN is also often falsely equated with persisting GN, a view which is certainly understandable on the basis of clinical but not of histopathologic findings.

Synonyms. Intracapillary GN [451, 1784], mixed membranous and proliferative GN [231, 985, 1484, 1541], parietoproliferative GN [899] and endomembranous GN [544]. For further synonyms, see Table 13.2.

Nosology

We recognize the same stages of inflammation and degrees of severity of mesangial involvement as we have done for endotheliomesangial GN (see p. 181). Crescents may be present in 0%-100%.

Incidence

The frequency of occurrence varies between 3.2% and 17.2% of all GN in needle biopsy material as can be seen from Table 14.11. In reports other than those summarized in Table 14.11 the incidences were: 1.1% [231], 2.2% [408], in children: 6.2% [1730].

Consideration of all published cases [634] shows that males and females are about equally afflicted (156:147). In some series, female patients predominate [165, 231, 635]. Especially afflicted are older children (>5 years: [635]) and young adults [231, 1484, 1730]. In our material, the sex ratio male:female was 1.2:1, and 80% of the patients were <40 years of age. A predominance for the pediatric age group in our material was not present (Fig. 14.64).

Table 14.11. Relative frequency (%) of membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis and intramembranous GN^a (without glomerular minimal change)

	Membrano- prolifer- ative GN	Intra- membra- nous GN	
Bohle (1976) [163a]	3.2 (5	j.7)	
Zollinger and Mihatsch	5.2 (6.8)	0.6 (0.7)	
Churg and Duffy (1973) [277]	0.2)		
Habib (1973) [621]	8.9 (17.4)		
Morel-Maroger et al. (1973) [1137a]	7.7 (9.7)	0.8 (1.1)	
Cameron (1973) [242b]	13.3 (20).7)	
Germuth and Rodriguez (1973) [544]	13.5 (19.8)	0.9 (1.4)	
Hamburger et al. (1971) [654]	17.2 (21.8)	1.8 (2.3)	

^a For the total number of cases in the series presented above see Table 14.1, p. 188.

Clinical Findings

(Tables 14.3, 14.4, 14.5; Fig. 14.64)

The disease usually begins insidiously [408, 899] as was already known in the case of intracapillary GN [1784]. Quite frequently [544, 1721, 1723], for example, in 6 out of 36 of our patients (Table 14.5) 30% [634, 635] respectively the clinical symptoms are those of acute GN. In 20% of our cases, acute infection—usually of the upper respiratory tract—preceded the disease (28%: [246]; 42% [634, 635]; see also [231]). There are only few reports which claim assured diagnosis of streptococci as the agent in prior infections [246, 90a]. Manifestation of the disease in the course of systemic diseases, e.g., Schönlein-Henoch's syndrome, is also possible (see p. 317).

None of the initial symptoms are indicative of the disease (Fig. 14.64). Although edema is initially present in half of the patients and proteinuria in 67.6%, it is recalled that both of these symptoms occur with about the same frequency in all forms of GN. Disease onset with macrohematuria is unusual.

The further course of disease is often characterized by frequent attacks (Fig. 14.64): 45% without remission and 30% with temporary remission [634, 635]. At the time of biopsy, patients manifest the following typical symptoms: proteinuria and hematuria are present in almost all patients [165, 231, 246, 634, 635, 1092] and full nephrotic syndrome in half (in 40%: [1091, 1721, 1723]; initially in 64%, later in 84%: [634, 635]). Isolated hematuria and uncharacteristic.

During the course of the disease, blood pressure fluctuates. Even at disease onset, temporary hypertension is relatively frequent (31%: [634, 635]; 29.7%: Z) and is occasionally accompanied by initial renal insufficiency. Both symptoms may disappear within 2 to 24 months



[634, 635, 1802], but during intermittent acute attacks, they may reappear. In the late disease phase, hypertension and renal insufficiency develop in parallel. In our patients, hypertension was present in 70% and about 60% exhibited raised serum urea and creatinine values as manifestations of the concomitant renal insufficiency. In this event, progression to terminal insufficiency [1721, 1723] is reported within 12–20 months.

Pronounced anemia—which is said to occur frequently in lobular GN (10 out of 26 cases: [634, 635])—cannot be simply attributed to renal insufficiency.

Of special diagnostic significance is the decrease in serum C3 which may persist for months and even years [1721, 1802] but which is not obligatory (39% [246]; 26.5%: [90a]; 6 out of 10: Z; see also [544, 1721, 1723]; Fig. 14.64).

However, since a decrease of serum complement also occurs in acute endotheliomesangial GN [909], the determination of several complement components (C1, C2, C3, C4) is especially important since the decrease of C3 alone is typical and an expression of complement activation via the alternative pathway [1721, 1723], whereas the simultaneous depression of the complement factors indicates activation via the classical pathway.

LM Findings

As already outlined under nosology, the same stages of the disease can be differentiated as in endotheliomesangial GN. Under low magnification, the proliferative stage appears similar to endotheliomesangial GN (Figs. 14.65, 1.1). In the sclerosing stage, however, the segmentally accentuated sclerosing changes in the capillary loops and the pronounced presence of interstitial inflammatory infiltrates are characteristic for membranoproliferative GN (Figs. 14.66, 6.98).

The LM characteristics seen under high power magnification which are common to almost all stages are mesangial circumferential interposition, newly formed subendothelial BM (tram-track picture), more or less extensive subendothelial deposits and accompanying interstitial nephritis. These changes are – in the most frequently found proliferative and proliferative-sclerosing stage—accompanied by a usually pronounced mesangial cell increase (Fig. 14.67). Exceptionally, mesangial cell proliferation is completely absent, so that glomerular findings are dominated by extensive subendothelial deposits and numerous polymorphonuclear leukocytes which characterize the exudative stage of the disease, a finding we saw only once at autopsy (Fig. 6.46).

Thickening of the peripheral capillary loop wall (Fig. 14.68) is due to mesangial interposition, new formation of BM and subendothelial deposits. It does not necessarily occur in all loops, nor are all loops equally severely changed. Doubling of the peripheral glomerular BM can be seen in PAS stain (Fig. 14.68) and even more clearly with PASM stain of semi-thin sections (Figs. 14.69, 6.18). This doubling leads to the typical



Fig. 14.65. Membranoproliferative GN in the exudative-proliferative stage with extensive interstitial inflammation (\rightarrow). Male, 13 years. PAS (\times 56)

tram-track picture (especially in more advanced cases) which arises by formation of cross bridges between the newly formed and the old BM (Fig. 14.70), between which the interposed mesangial cells with their oval nuclei can be recognized (Fig. 14.71).

The so-called fibrinoid—often coarse—deposits in the peripheral capillary loops and less frequently in the mesangium are best demonstrated with Masson's trichrome/ AFOG stain.

Polymorphonuclear leukocytes are often present in varying numbers in the region of fresh subendothelial deposits. This is also the case in later stages during fresh relapses (Figs. 14.72).

Changes in the mesangium occur in addition to those in the peripheral capillary loops. In the proliferative stage (Fig. 14.67) which may last for months [1723] and was noted in our material after an average duration of illness of 53 weeks (see Table 14.12), a proliferation of varying severity of mesangial cells, but not of matrix, is present. Since the changes in the peripheral capillary loops are often not fully developed in the beginning of the proliferative stages, there may be difficulties in differentiation from endotheliomesangial GN [231, 544, 1332, 1721].

Fig. 14.66. Membranoproliferative GN in the sclerosing stage of 11 years' duration. Tubules are occasionally atrophic with thickened BM. Interstitium evidences broad scars with scanty infiltrates (\rightarrow). Male, 38 years. PAS (\times 56)

The proliferative-sclerosing stage—as in endotheliomesangial GN—follows the proliferative one (Fig. 14.72), which is distinguished from the former mainly by the increase in mesangial matrix as demonstrable in PAS- and PASM stains (Fig. 14.69). The average duration of illness was about 2 years (Table 14.12).

Transition to the sclerosing stage (Fig. 14.73)—characterized by a decrease of the mesangial cells and their cellular and nuclear size and by an obvious increase in the PASM mesangial matrix—is gradual. The sclerosing stage was present after an average duration of illness of about 3 years (Table 14.12). In this stage, isolated obsolescent capillary loops rich in lipid deposits may be present. Complete capillary loop obsolescence is not uncommon, as in all other stages, and interstitial infiltrates are pronounced (Fig. 14.74).

Extracapillary crescents can be observed in each of the three stages (Table 14.12), especially over severely afflicted capillary loops (Fig. 14.75). In 10 out of 47 of our own cases (13%: [621]) extracapillary crescents, in which segmental crescents were far more frequent than global ones, were demonstrated. Synechiae are also encountered in the presence of extracapillary crescents.



14.67 14.68

Table 1	14.12.	Inflamr	natory	stage,	disease	durati	on ai	nd ex	traca-
pillary	invol	vement	in me	mbran	oprolife	rative	glom	erulo	neph-
ritis (n:	=47)								

Phase	Frequency [lobular variant]	Disease duration average	Frequency of extracapillary involvement	
		in weeks	< 50%	> 50%
Proliferative	6[1]	53 (3-150)	1	_
Proliferative- sclerosing	26[8]	121 (4-450)	5[3]	1
Sclerosing	15[8]	176 (12-400)	2[1]	1[1]

The entire lesion may assume the characteristics of segmental and, at times, also of focal accentuation in the presence of extracapillary crescents.

The lobular variant is not associated with a specific inflammatory stage (Table 14.12). It is characterized by an especially pronounced diffuse nodular or club-shaped thickening of the mesangium which is due to intense mesangial cell proliferation and/or matrix increase (Figs. 14.76, 14.77). The lobular variant has been reported in 25% (36% : Z) of all cases of membranoproliferative GN [621].

Protein droplet storage and lipid inclusions may be seen in the tubules. Lympho-histio-plasmocytic infiltrates which may be striking—are found in the interstitium. Furthermore, interstitial edema with transition to sclerosis may be present. Severe destructive inflammation (Fig. 14.78) of vessels is a very exceptional finding.

Membranoproliferative GN is probably far more frequently the cause of contracted kidney than was assumed

✓ Fig. 14.67. Membranoproliferative GN in the exudative-proliferative stage evidenced by pronounced, thickened glomerular capillary loops (→). Male, 13 years. PAS (× 360). Same case as in Figure 14.65 (case published [1802])

Fig. 14.68. Membranoproliferative GN. Thickening of glomerular capillary loops (\rightarrow) accompanied by mesangial enlargement. Male, 43 years. PAS (×650)

Fig. 14.69. Same case as in Figure 14.68. Thickening of peripheral glomerular capillary loop wall (\rightarrow) , doupling of peripheral BM with mesangial interposition (\rightarrow) as well as enlargement of the mesangium are very evident. Male, 43 years. PASM (×400)

Fig. 14.70. Membranoproliferative GN with extensive doubling of peripheral BM (tram-track picture). Female, 73 years. PASM ($\times 800$)

earlier [1779, 1784]. Of our cases of contracted kidney, 4 out of 20 were due to membranoproliferative GN although at this stage, diagnosis is very difficult due to the predominance of totally obsolescent glomeruli.

IF Findings

Typical is the occurrence of coarse, granular – occasionally also short or pseudolinear deposits in the peripheral capillary loops, which chiefly contain C3 (Fig. 14.78, Table 14.13) while IgG, IgM, IgA, are simultaneously present in decreasing frequency [105, 128, 231, 636, 743, 1092, 1278]. Membranoproliferative GN associated with ventriculo-atrial shunt is reported to be characterized by an exceptionally pronounced occurrence of IgM [1700]. Fibrin(-ogen) is present in about half the cases (Table 14.13; [1092, 1139, 1607a]; contra: [544, 1278]).

In some instances only C3 is present (40%: [636]; 11%: [1136]; 2 out of 12: Z; 13.3%: [81a]).

The deposits are said to be more pronounced in the early than in the late stages of the disease [1721], a finding we have not been able to substantiate.

Within the glomerulus, C3 and immunoglobulins may be deposited purely peripherally as seen in the majority of cases [81a] or peripherally and mesangially [356, 544, 81a, 1278].

In our material, the intraglomerular distributional pattern of immunoglobulins and C3 vary with the stage of the disease. Thus, in the purely proliferative stage, (two cases), immunoglobulins and C3 are only demonstrable along the peripheral glomerular BM. In the proliferative-sclerosing stage (seven cases), they occur chiefly peripherally and only slightly in the mesangium. In the sclerosing stage (two cases), mesangial deposits predominate.

Table 14.13. IF findings in membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis (n=12/ positive=12)

	IgG	IgM	IgA	C3	Fibrin(-ogen)
Cases tested	12	12	7	12	12
Positive	10	/	3	12	3
Focal	5	3	3	1	3
Diffuse	5	4 .	2	11	2
Segmental	3	1	3	1	3
Global	7	6	2	11	2
Purely peripheral	5	3	3	4	3
Mesangial and peripheral	5	4	2	8	1
Mesangial	~	-	—	-	1

Fig. 14.71. Same case as in Figure 14.70. BM doubling (\rightarrow) with circumferential mesangial interposition. Female, 73 years. Semithin section, PAS (×1050)

Fig. 14.72. Membranoproliferative GN of 3 years' duration with acute attack. Obliterated glomerular capillary loops and masses of polymorphonuclear leukocytes are present. Extensive subendothelial deposits were demonstrated under EM. Female, 10 years. PAS (\times 420)

Fig. 14.73. Sclerosing stage of membranoproliferative GN of 9 years' duration. One glomerulus is almost completely obsolescent (*); in the other glomerulus there is segmental obsolescence and a synechia (*SY*). Interstitium exhibits extensive inflammatory infiltrates. Male, 13 years. PAS ($\times 200$)



The occurrence of early complement components (C1, C2, C4) is not uniform suggesting a further subdivision of membranoproliferative GN on the basis of IF findings. Sometimes only C3, almost constantly accompanied by properdin, is found [81a, 1092, 1724]. Other times the early complement components (C1, C2, C4) as well as properdin were present [81a, 356]. The common occurrence of properdin and C3 without participation of early complement components indicates complement activation via the alternative pathway (see p. 162). The interpretation of cases in which early complement components are present as well is difficult. It may be assumed that either the complement cascade was activated via the classical pathway primarily, or that these cases represent examples of a hidden biphasic development of complement activation via the alternative as well as secondarily via the classical pathway [356]. Definite conclusions cannot as yet be drawn.

Finally, it must be borne in mind that in the reports cited, membranoproliferative and intramembranous GN are usually not differentiated, which probably confuses the IF pattern reported for membranoproliferative GN.

EM Findings

The characteristics as seen with EM are subendothelial deposits (Figs. 14.80, 14.81, 6.45), severe peripheral mesangial interposition (Figs. 14.80, 14.81), subendothelial new formation of BM and varyingly severe mesangial proliferation (Fig. 14.82) and/or sclerosis (Fig. 14.83). The mesangial changes may lead to a considerable narrowing of the capillary lumen which finally can become completely occluded.

Following their migration into the periphery of the capillary loop, the mesangial cells form a new, somewhat irregular BM between their cytoplasm and the endothelium (Figs. 14.80, 14.81, 6.33) which accounts for the splitting and doubling of the BM (tram-track picture) seen in LM.

The original BM frequently shows a collapse-like change in the region near the mesangium (Fig. 14.83). In the early stages, the original BM is either slightly thickened or not at all. In later stages, it may become considerably thickened due, in part, to incorporation of deposits. Now and again, findings suggestive of splitting of the original BM are observed which may be very reminiscent of a change seen in Alport's disease (Fig. 14.85).

Hypertrophy of endothelium and arcade formation can also be observed. Endothelial and mesangial foam cells are relatively frequent in advanced stages (Fig. 14.84). Podocytes are edematous or hypertrophied, and often show pronounced formation of microvilli as well as foot process fusion.

The coarse osmiophilic deposits are sickle- or coneshaped and push the endothelium strongly into the lumen (Fig. 14.86). If endothelial destruction occurs in the region of these deposits, leukocytes may come to lie directly on the BM [985]. In addition to subendothelial deposits, which were present in all our cases, more or less massive deposits were also found in the mesangium (6 out of 19: Z; Fig. 14.83), along the mesangial BM (8 out of 19: Z), the subepithelium (Fig. 14.83; 50%: [90a]; 6 out of 19: Z) and within the BM (Figs. 14.86, 14.87; 7 out of 19: Z; [231, 1802]).

Page 238

Fig. 14.74. Obsolescent glomerulus in membranoproliferative GN with very extensive periglomerular inflammatory infiltrate. Same case as in Figure 14.68. Male, 43 years. PASM (×240)

Fig. 14.75. Severe vascular affliction with cell increase and splitting of the media as well as narrowing of the lumen (\rightarrow) in a case of membranoproliferative GN with pronounced extracapillary involvement. Female, 40 years. HE ($\times 200$)

Fig. 14.76. Lobular variant of membranoproliferative GN. Lobular transformation of the mesangium is clearly evident as is the pronounced thickening and doubling of the peripheral glome-rular loop wall. An obsolescent glomerulus (*) with a fibrinoid (hyaline) giant deposit (\rightarrow). Interstitium is considerably thickened and evidences inflammatory infiltrates. Male, 44 years. PAS (× 320)

Fig. 14.77. Same case as in Figure 14.76. Lobular transformation of the pronouncedly enlarged and sclerosed mesangium and extensive BM doubling (\rightarrow) . Male, 44 years. PASM (×400)

Page 239

Fig. 14.78. Typical massive pseudolinear (coarse) peripheral deposits of C3 in membranoproliferative GN. Note typical lobular pattern. Female, 13 years. IF (\times 500)

Fig. 14.79. Severe endarteritis of an interlobular artery in a sclerosing stage of membranoproliferative GN. Male, 56 years. PAS $(\times 280)$

Fig. 14.80. Circumferential mesangial interposition with a thin newly formed basement membrane (BM). Only a very few isolated subendothelial deposits are present (\rightarrow) under the original BM showing slight wrinkling. Endothelial cell (E), glomerular capillary loop lumen (CL), osmiophilic deposit (D) in the mesangial matrix. Female, 9 years. EM (\times 9600)

Fig. 14.81. Same case as in Figure 14.80 of membranoproliferative GN. Under the wrinkled and thickened original BM numerous deposits are seen (\rightarrow) , and an interposed and activated mesangial cell is recognizable between the original BM and the newly formed, thinner lamina densa (\rightarrow) which is found lying under the activated endothelium (*E*). There is complete fusion of foot processes and slight increase of osmiophilic substance in podocytes (*P*). Female, 9 years. EM (×8438)






Subepithelial deposits are generally flatter, more spread out, and less high than humps (Fig. 14.82). Typical humps, however, unquestionably occur (1 out of 19: Z; 3 out of 12: [634, 1484]). We feel that subepithelial deposit formation is the expression of an acute attack. Very broad and isolated subepithelial deposits which, because of spike formation, are reminiscent of epimembranous GN (Fig. 14.88) are also observed [231, 365, 1802]. Such cases form a transition to the findings of the mixed forms (see p. 279). Cases with partly linear, strongly osmiophilic dense intramembranous material are considered by us as a unique disease entity (see p. 252) in contrast to other investigators [634] who consider them as a subform of membranoproliferative GN.

Degradation of the subendothelial deposits is often encountered and is manifested by unsharply demarcated translucent peripheral areas (Figs. 14.90, 6.47, 6.49), by intense vacuolization and occasionally, by formation of thread-like structures (Fig. 14.89). Furthermore, dissolution of the deposits is frequently accompanied by their clumpy desintegration and/or massive fatty transformation (Figs. 14.91, 6.49). In only one of our cases polymorphonuclear leukocytes and, in one other, monocytoid cells were observed participating directly in their destruction (Fig. 14.90).

Crescents show no special features (see p. 100). It noted that fresh proliferative crescents occur in association with very old loop changes, whereby fresh subepithelial deposits are sometimes found on the neighbouring loops.

Due to massive increase of mesangial cells and/or matrix, the mesangium is considerably thickened (Figs. 14.82, 14.83, 14.92). This is especially pronounced in the lobular form and is not necessarily associated with deposits (Figs. 14.93, 6.52). In the early disease stages, mesangial cell elements are often hypertrophic (Fig. 14.82; see also [635]).

✓ Fig. 14.82. Membranoproliferative GN with severe proliferation of mesangial cells showing enlarged, polymorphic, i.e., activated nuclei. Lumens of glomerular capillary loops have been almost completely displaced. Only two erythrocytes are recognizable (*). Flat subepithelial deposits (→) are the expression of an acute attack. Scanty subendothelial deposits. Male, 13 years. EM (× 3520). Same case as in Figure 14.67, published [1802]

Fig. 14.83. In contrast to Figure 14.82, this is a predominantly sclerosing stage with massive mesangial matrix increase. Mesangial cells are only slightly increased and still activated. Osmiophilic deposits are seen subendothelially (\rightarrow) and mesangially (\rightarrow) . Foot process fusion is complete. Capillary lumens are completely occluded. Female, 29 years. EM (\times 3960)

The tubular changes are similar to those in endotheliomesangial GN, foam cells, however, are more frequent (Fig. 14.94). In pure membranoproliferative GN, the thickened tubular BM (Figs. 8.25, 8.27) shows no unique characteristics in contrast to intramembranous GN. We have demonstrated a few irregular osmiophilic deposits in blood vessels which are occasionally considerably less electron-translucent than in conventional arteriolosclerosis (Fig. 14.95). The interstitial infiltrates correspond to those seen in LM (Fig. 9.10).

Repeated biopsies taken during the course of the disease [1801, 1802] have shown that the proliferation is by and large reversible. Nevertheless, considerable permanent damage remains and is worsened by each new attack. In one observation, moderately severe extracapilllary involvement (4 out of 16 glomeruli) was observed 3.5 weeks after clinical disease onset without the morphologic characteristics of membranoproliferative GN being present [1801].

After 16.5 months, mesangial thickening, isolated subendothelial deposits, diffuse BM thickening (1 synechia per 12 glomeruli) as well as fresh humps were present. The humps were still observable 22.5 months after disease onset but, 11 months thereafter, they had disappeared, while the number of synechiae increased to 2 per 9 glomeruli.

Page 242

Fig. 14.84. Extensive foam cell formation in obsolescent glomerular capillary loop in membranoproliferative GN. Masses of lipidcontaining vacuoles in probably endothelial cells. Another cell (*) is presumably of mesangial origin. Between podocytes (*P*) and basement membrane (*BM*) newly formed fibrillar material is present. Male, 27 years. EM (\times 6730)

Fig. 14.85. Peripheral BM injury with subepithelial loosening and formation of a new, thin densa layer (\rightarrow) in membranoproliferative GN. Male, 62 years. EM (\times 21,800)

Fig. 14.86. Extensive subendothelial deposits (D) in membranoproliferative GN. Isolated small deposits are also present intramembranously (\rightarrow) . Endothelial cells are highly activated showing an obvious increase of cell organelles, especially of the rough endoplasmatic reticulum. Complete foot process fusion is present. Female, 40 years. EM (\times 5460)

Page 243

Fig. 14.87. Membranoproliferative GN in the proliferative-sclerosing stage. Extensive intramembranous deposits (\rightarrow) . There are swelling and activation of the endothelial (*E*) and mesangial (*M*) cells. Male, 9 years. EM (×9760)

Fig. 14.88. Membranoproliferative GN with an acute attack. Extensive irregular subepithelial deposits (\rightarrow) somewhat reminiscent of epimembranous GN, and subendothelial deposits (\rightarrow) . Female, 17 years. EM (×11,200)







Differential Diagnosis

In advanced stages, the diagnosis of membranoproliferative GN is generally simple due to the presence of the characteristic combination of subendothelial deposits with mesangial interposition and new subendothelial BM formation (tram-track picture) as well as mesangial proliferation and/or sclerosis.

During the early stage of the disease, differential diagnosis with respect to endotheliomesangial GN can be difficult with LM (Fig. 14.96) since in some cases BM doubling may be restricted to a few loops and the deposits may be small. Even in this stage, however, the differentiation is possible with the demonstration of subendothelial deposits in almost all glomeruli with Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain, with IF and EM. In isolated cases, IF study alone may not be sufficient (Fig. 14.97) and the differentiation may prove exceptionally difficult with EM if only very small, isolated partly degraded deposits are present (Figs. 14.98, 14.99).

In relation to mesangial interposition, it should be noted that this change is not pathognomonic for membranoproliferative GN, since it is also encountered in other renal diseases, especially in segmental-focal accentuated GN and in non-GN lesions [835, 1802] such as intravasal coagulation [100] and silicon-nephropathy [1412].

Differentiation of membranoproliferative GN from proliferative FGN is usually not difficult, since the character in the latter is far more pronouncedly segmental and focal, and since subendothelial deposits and mesangial interposition are limited to a few glomeruli and capillary loops.

✓ Fig. 14.89. Membranoproliferative GN. Prominent subendothelial deposit with signs of dissolution at the edges as well as numerous lipid vacuoles. Isolated thread-like structures (→). Endothelium (E), podocyte (P) with completely fused foot processes and increased osmiophilic substance. Female, 32 years. EM (× 26,200)

Fig. 14.90. Removal of subendothelial deposits by monocytoid cells, which have partially phagocytized them. Female, 56 years. EM (\times 8600)

Fig. 14.91. Terminal stage of dissolution of a subendothelial deposit in membranoproliferative GN contracted kidney. Deposit (D), masses of lipid vacuoles and degradation products (*), basement membrane (BM). Male, 23 years. EM ($\times 22,300$)

Delimitation from epimembranous GN is not a problem, since in epimembranous GN mesangial proliferation is almost completely absent and since deposits can unequivocally be demonstrated to lie subepithelially with Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain. Although occasional subendothelial deposits are also found in the late stage of epimembranous GN, they are never as extensive as in membranoproliferative GN, and they seldom lead to formation of mesangial interposition.

A mixed form with the characteristics of membranoproliferative and epimembranous GN together is rare (see p. 279).

From the morphologic standpoint, we feel that idiopathic membranoproliferative GN cannot be differentiated from that in SLE unless hematoxylin bodies are present. Although especially large and extensive subendothelial deposits associated with usually scanty proliferation in the mesangium are observed in membranoproliferative GN in SLE, this combination does not suffice for unquestionable diagnosis.

Page 246

Fig. 14.92. Clearly evident enlargement of the mesangium with new formation of new coarse irregular matrix bars surrounding activated mesangial cells in membranoproliferative GN. Only a very few isolated subendothelial osmiophilic deposits are recognizable (\rightarrow) . Lumens of glomerular capillary loops (*CL*) are almost completely occluded by activated endothelial cells (*E*). Male, 37 years. EM (× 5480)

Fig. 14.93. Lobular variant of membranoproliferative GN. There are severe mesangial enlargement with cell increase and especially prominent coarse, irregular matrix increase. Peripheral glomerular capillary loop lumens are almost completely displaced. Capsule epithelium (*CE*). Male, 44 years. EM (\times 1550)

Page 247

Fig. 14.94. Tubular foam cells in membranoproliferative GN. Note connective tissue increase and infiltrates in the interstitium. Male, 60 years. EM (\times 3320)

Fig. 14.95. Arteriole in membranoproliferative GN. BM $(\rightarrow \leftarrow)$ is severely thickened and contains numerous clumps of elastin. A few, flat osmiophilic deposits (D) are present between the generally atrophic myocytes (MC) of the media and the BM. Numerous transformed myocytes are seen subendothelially (S). Pronounced inflammatory infiltrates and interstitial deposits (D₁) are present in the surroundings. Male, 60 years. EM (×2560)







Prognosis

The average yearly mortality rate is 6.4%, and the 50% survival rate is reached in the eleventh year of the disease [635]. The 5-year survival rate is 80%, the 10-year 50% [245, 246] or 60-70% [731]. In another series encompassing very advanced cases, the 5-year survival rate was only 20% and no patient with elevated serum creatinine survived more than 3 years [839]. In our own material (Table 14.14) the 10-year survival rate from biopsy was 30%, and from apparent disease onset 40%; these figures more or less correspond to those of others [245, 246, 634, 635]. Of our patients, 40% died from uremia (Table 14.14), 6.6% from nonrenal diseases. Membranoproliferative GN, in addition to extracapillary GN, is reported to be the most frequent cause of renal insufficiency in children [1721].

Prognostically unfavorable clinical findings are nephrotic syndrome, macrohematuria and initial hyperazotemia [245, 246, 635]. Spontaneous remission, which occurs in some cases of membranoproliferative GN [1802] generally promises a favorable disease course.

Extracapillary crescents are of special prognostic significance. Thus, all patients with membranoproliferative GN evidencing more than 30% of extracapillary crescents died within 4 years [635]. We have not been able to confirm this exceptionally unfavorable finding in our material (possibly due to the small case number of 10 patients).

On the basis of our findings, we suspect that the stages of the disease are of great prognostic importance. Thus, the 5-year survival rate of purely proliferative cases is 75%, of proliferative-sclerosing 45%, and in the pure sclerosing cases, none lived longer than 3 years. These values are not statistically significant due to the small number of cases (see Table 14.12, p. 235).

The lobular variety of membranoproliferative GN has no unique prognostic features (see also [635]).

✓ Fig. 14.96. Proliferative stage of membranoproliferative GN, clinically known for 1 month. There is a pronounced hypercellularity, mesangial enlargement and thickening of glomerular loop wall. Female, 13 years. PAS (×400)

Fig. 14.97. Same case as in Figure 14.96. Pseudolinear (coarse granular) C3 deposits along the loop BM. Female, 13 years. IF (\times 400)

Fig. 14.98. Same case as in Figure 14.96. Glomerular capillary loop lumens appear to be completely displaced by both monocytes (MO) and polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PL). As opposed to the IF findings (Fig. 14.97) only a very few isolated small deposits (\rightarrow) are recognizable subendothelially. Activated endothelial cell (E), mesangial cell (M). Podocytes are very swollen. Female, 13 years. (\times 3850)

Table 14.14. Prognosis and outcome of membrano-proliferative glomerulonephritis

Prognosis	Survival rate (%)		
	5 years	10 years	
From onset of disease	70	40	
SE ^a	9.2	9.5	
From biopsy	40	30	
SE ^a	11	12	

^a SE = standard error in %.

Outcome (after minimal follow-up of 1 year)

Number of patients	30	Death in uremia	40%
Total mortality	46.6%	Complete remission	3.3%

Clinically complete remission was reported in 5.7% of a series of children who were followed for 1-18 years [635]; for the lobular variety, the children's remission rate was 11.1% [620]. We have observed complete remission only once in 30 patients (Table 14.14).

However, no complete healing from the morphologic point of view has been reported. Even though "tramtrack pictures" may disappear [839, 1033], more or less extensive mesangial proliferation and/or sclerosis nevertheless remains. Relapse in transplants—even after a long post-transplant period—were repeatedly described (7 out of 16: [804, 1063, 1761]; [1461, 1484, 1778]; contra: 0 out of 7 [481]).

Pathogenesis

Membranoproliferative GN is to be considered as immunocomplex disease [90, 1033, 1092] in which relatively large and poorly soluble immunocomplexes [544] are repeatedly or continuously deposited for a long time. Poorly soluble immunocomplexes are formed in the presence of a moderate excess of AB against a relatively small antigen or with large antigens or antibodies of the IgM class [544]. On the other hand, clinical observations of acute GN possibly due to streptococcal infection suggest a close relationship to endotheliomesangial GN [1721] so that some investigators pose the question as to whether the disease is, in fact, a unique entity [1033, 1730].

The disease is also related to epimembranous GN as is shown in animal experimentation in which, for example 11 out of 15 rabbits given weekly injections of egg albumin and Freund's adjuvant developed membranoproliferative and 4 out of 15 epimembranous GN [889]. These experiments indicate, in our opinion, that membranoproliferative GN is the expression of a relatively rare, specifically individual immunologic reactivity to different antigens. The importance of properdin in activating the complement system has been recognized for quite some time [231, 1723]. The significance of the C3 nephritic factor as well as that of others which have not been clearly defined in the pathogenesis of membranoproliferative GN cannot, at this time, be reliably estimated (see p. 162 and [1092, 1550, 1650, 1721]; (for inherited C2 deficiency see: [1813]).

Etiology

The etiology of the disease is unknown and the significance of the various factors implicated as causative are controversial. This disagreement also holds with respect to the role of streptococci which is advocated by some investigators [544] and completely rejected by others [408, 1092].

In some of the cases, an elevation of the antistreptolysin titer has been observed (28%: [245]; 10%: Z; 11%: [631]; see also p. 231). It is also known that an acute attack of membranoproliferative GN can be engendered by an acute intercurrent respiratory tract infection [5].

The disease, however, occurs to a far greater extent in association with nonstreptococcal infections (32%): [631]), a finding which may be fortuitous.

It is interesting to note that 51 out of 64 cases of GN in malaria evidenced the typical membranoproliferative form ([1730]; see also [147, 679]). In malaria, however, an almost specific GN form, i.e., lacking mesangial proliferation, has been reported [1729] and also been confirmed by us. But we did not observe the numerous lacunae with osmiophilic material in the lamina densa which were described as characteristic [1729] (Figs. 14.100, 14.101).

Membranoproliferative GN is also encountered in heroin or other drug addictions in association with nephrotic syndrome and possibly hepatitis [1614a, 1631]. In these cases, it is not known whether the drugs themselves, or contaminants with bacteria, virus, or the solvent alone function as the antigen [423]. 65–75% demonstrated a considerable increase in serum IgM [335]. Other GN forms, e.g., glomerular minimal change, sclerosing FGN, have been observed among drug addicts [423, 597a].

Membranoproliferative GN has been noted in acute rheumatic fever [544], polyarthritis [1130b], ventriculoatrial shunt [893, 1700], Lyll's disease [886], Waldenström's disease (macroglobulinemia) associated with angitis and myositis due to the presence of cryoglobulins [962] as well as in two of our patients suffering from essential cryoglobulinemia.

Furthermore, de novo membranoproliferative GN has been noted in patients with liver transplants and ALG treatment, which is thought to be the cause of the lesion [334]. Finally, in three cases of sickle cell anemia, it was possible to demonstrate an analogous form with proximal tubular epithelial antigen [1244, 1572, 1233b], which was possibly released into the circulation by ischemia. Membranoproliferative GN occurs rarely in malignancies (see Table 14.8; [521 a]).

Furthermore, viruses as causative agents should be considered. In one observation [1531] 500–1000 Å-sized Epstein-Barr virus and hepatitis B-antigen (200–300 Å) were demonstrated by IF as well as by EM in a rather special form of the disease with newly formed subepithelial BM, a change which we have often observed in association with virus-like particles (see p. 99).

In 273 cases of chronic aggressive hepatitis from the literature, kidney involvement was present in 65 cases [197], GN similar to that in SLE in 10, membranoproliferative GN in 9 (see also [192]) and epimembranous GN in 10 cases (see also [9, 299, 423, 609, 862, 1531]). In 9 cases of hepatitis, 5 demonstrated epimembranous GN, 2 membranoproliferative, and 2 endotheliomesangial GN [609].

Anti-BM-AB were present in 12 out of 12 patients with chronic, active (aggressive) hepatitis [952]. In children with nephrotic syndrome caused by GN, 52% had hepatitis B-surface antigen within glomerular immunocomplexes [211]. GN associated with hepatitis B is reportedly characterized by an exceptionally protracted course [222, 615, 1531]. We have a total of 5 autopsy cases of hepatitis-associated GN of which 4 were membranoproliferative and 1 epimembranous GN.

The membranoproliferative-like GN occurring with liver cirrhosis not associated with hepatitis is supposed to be due to an autoallergic response either to the elevated serum IgA or to formation of immunoglobulins against antigens from the gastrointestinal tract [241].

Membranoproliferative GN in association with systemic diseases such as SLE—which was present in 5 of our patients—is treated in greater detail on p. 326.

Fig. 14.99. Membranoproliferative GN with coarse subendothelial deposits (D) which exhibit translucent edges. Between the activated endothelial cell and the interposed mesangial cell (M) a new thin densa lamella (\rightarrow) has formed. Female, 14 years. EM (×8160)

Fig. 14.100. Membranoproliferative GN associated with malaria. Between the swollen and activated endothelial cells (*E*) which contain some telolysosomes and the interposed mesangial cell (*M*) a new densa layer (\rightarrow) has developed. Mesangial cell borders on subendothelial osmiophilic deposits (*D*). Male, 43 years. EM (×10,800)

Fig. 14.101. Same case as in Figure 14.100. Generalized hypercellularity of glomerular capillary loops and increase of mesangial matrix are present. Glomerular capillary loop lumen has been largely displaced by proliferated endothelial or mesangial cells (\rightarrow) . Podocytes are compressed and evidence cystoid-widened organelles. Older exudate in capsular space (*), split capsular BM (*CBM*). Male, 43 years. EM (×1500)



In conclusion, membranoproliferative GN has no specific etiologic cause, but represents a special immunologic reaction to a wide variety of antigens, as it is the case in other forms of GN.

Intramembranous Glomerulonephritis

Definition

Intramembranous GN [524, 631] is characterized by a severe thickening of the glomerular BM caused by the deposition of linear band-like, highly osmiophilic (= dense material) and fibrinoid material in the lamina densa as well as in the BM of tubules, Bowman's capsules and arterioles.

Nosology

Although intramembranous GN with LM, EM, and IF shares many similarities with membranoproliferative GN, we consider intramembranous GN as a unique entity (contra: [35, 631]) because of the morphology of the intramembranous material and because of the lack of data indicating common etiology and pathogenesis for intramembranous and membranoproliferative GN.

Synonyms. Laminal GN [544], dense deposit disease [987], membranoproliferative GN with intramembranous deposits [631] and proliferating GN with dense intramembranous deposits [126]. The lesion has also been

referred to as one of electron-dense alteration of kidney ([524]; see also Table 13.2).

Incidence

The disease has been reported to occur in 0.6% [165], 1.5% [90a], 1.7% [35], 2.5% [524] (see also Table 14.11) of GN biopsies and in 14.7\% [231], 15% [1652] and 34% [631] of membranoproliferative GN.

The sex ratio male: female is 1.18:1 (i.e., 96:81) as summarized from published series [35, 165, 231, 524, 631, 987, 1652].

The disease usually becomes manifest before the age of 15 (see Fig. 14.102). The average age at disease onset is 12 years and less than 6% of cases become manifest beyond the age of 30 [35, 165, 231, 524, 631, 987, 1652].

Clinical Findings

(Tables 14.3, 14.4, Fig. 14.102)

Intramembranous GN often begins insidiously and is signaled by edema and proteinuria in more than 75% of the patients accompanied by microhematuria in more than 50% (Fig. 14.102). At disease onset, a full nephrotic syndrome is often already present. More rarely, the disease may be announced by macrohematuria or with the symptomatology of acute GN [1652]. Initial hypertension is seldom observed (Fig. 14.102). In almost half of the patients, the disease is preceded by prior illness—usually an infection of the upper respiratory tract [631, 1652] and less frequently scarlet fever [524]. In one-fourth of



Fig. 14.102. Profile of symptoms and clinical findings in intramembranous GN

White columns: Relative frequency of symptom/finding in all GN

Black columns: Relative frequency in intramembranous GN (data from the literature, see Table 14.3). The upper five findings (age of onset to hypertension) refer to disease onset. The remaining were noted at some point during the disease and are compared to our findings in all GN observed at time of biopsy

Asterisks indicate characteristic findings for intramembranous GN:

- *: characteristic
- **: very characteristic

***: highly characteristic

the cases, urinary abnormalities are discovered fortuitously [524, 631].

After onset, the disease may either become stationary (7 out of 34: [35]) demonstrate recurrent attacks (11 out of 31: [35]), or, more frequently, become progressive until terminal renal insufficiency ensues (15 out of 34: [35]; see also [631]). During the course of the disease, more than 30% of the patients evidence episodes of macrohematuria (Fig. 14.102).

At the time of bioptic diagnosis, clinical examination reveals nephrotic syndrome accompanied by hematuria in about 70% of the patients. Isolated nephrotic syndrome or isolated hematuria or the absence of both are rare and atypical. The pathologic urine findings are associated with hypertension in about 60% of the patients [1652]. More than one-third of the patients evidence an increase in serum urea and creatine.

Renal insufficiency may be already present at disease onset, disappears during the further course of the disease and then reappears and rapidly leads to terminal renal insufficiency [35, 631, 1652].

Decrease in the serum level of C3 is an especially significant finding which, in contrast to its transitory reduction in endotheliomesangial GN [911, 909] and its frequently fluctuating behavior in membranoproliferative GN, may remain depressed for years. However, in contradistinction to an earlier assumption [631], not every patient exhibits a decrease in serum C3 (11 out of 19: [1652]). Decrease of other complement components (C1, C4) is less frequent [631, 1652]. C3 nephritic factor is often demonstrable (13 out of 19: [1652]).

LM Findings

All the glomeruli are more or less similarly changed. They usually show severe thickening of the peripheral glomerular BM which appears to encircle the entire glomerular convolute; they also evidence mesangial cell proliferation and/or sclerosis of varying intensity (Fig. 14.103). The BM thickening is caused by band-like or short linear deposited material of variable thickness. After overstaining with PASM, the material is strongly argentophilic, otherwise it is completely negative. Furthermore it is luxol fast blue positive, but negative for Sudan black B, sometimes red in Masson's trichrome/ AFOG stain. HE and PAS stains bestow a hyaline-like refractile property to the BM (Fig. 14.104). In addition to the thickening of the original BM, focal-segmental distributed mesangial interposition (22 out of 44: [631]; 4 out of 6: Z) as well as new BM formation subendothelially have been found in some of the cases. The other findings are by and large similar to those encountered in membranoproliferative GN, i.e., cell and mesangial matrix increase which vary in extent from case to case, but which are quite frequently so pronounced as to present a lobular picture (7 out of 44: [631]; 2 out of 6: Z). Crescents are occasionally encountered (13 out of 44: [631]; 2 out of 6: Z).

The tubular BM is also thickened—even if only focally by the peculiar fibrinoid material (6 out of 6: Z; Fig. 14.105); this material is more rarely found in BM of Bowman's capsule (2 out of 6: Z) and more rarely still of small and large blood vessels (1 out of 6: Z; Fig. 14.111).

In our cases, which were all advanced, the interstitium evidenced pronounced lympho-histio-plasmocytic infiltration. On the other hand, constant interstitial changes are said to be absent in the early stages of the disease [245].

IF Findings

A summary of the IF findings is presented in Table 14.15. All immunoglobulins as well as fibrin(-ogen) are very inconstantly present, and, if present, usually in granular focal-segmental distribution. Only C3 is regularly demonstrated in a partly linear, partly coarse granular fashion along the peripheral glomerular BM and in the mesangium, as well as in the BM of tubules and Bowman's capsule [631, 1136, 81a]. The results for early complement components (C1, C2, C4) and for properdin, however, are not consistent, but the number of cases investigated is still too small to draw definite conclusions.

The presence of C3 only might indicate C3 activation via the alternative pathway. However, the fixation of anti-C3 on the dense material is considered by others to be an artifact [128].

Deposits are reported to feature spontaneous fluorescence [654]. We could not confirm this either for spontaneous fluorescence or fluorescence after thioflavin T staining.

EM Findings

The severe thickening of capillary loop BM (in our cases up to 16,000 Å) is caused by very extensive accumulation of compact, often linear or small-nodular dense material (Figs. 14.107, 14.108) which exhibits, under high magnification, a finely granular character (Fig. 14.106). Thus, we cannot confirm the homogeneous character reported by others [524].

In its massive occurrence, this dense material is absolutely characteristic for intramembranous GN. By its localisation in the lamina densa and strong osmiophilia (Fig. 14.109) it can be clearly distinguished from subendothelial deposits undergoing dissolution which are also occasionally observed in addition to the intramembranous material (1 out of 2: Z; 8 out of 14: [631]). Also observed are mesangial deposits (Fig. 14.107; 14 out of 14: [631]; 7 out of 19: [1652]; 1 out of 2: Z; rarely: [231], see also [524]), subendothelial deposits (2 out of



Investigator	Cases positive/total	IgG	IgM	IgA	Fibrin (-ogen)	C3	C1, C2, C4	Pro- perdin
Bariety et al. (1970) [90a]	5/5	0/5	3/5	0/5	2/5	5/5		
Zollinger and Mihatsch (1971)	1/2	0/2	0/2	0/1	0/2	1/2		
Burkholder et al. (1973) [231]	7/7	6/7	4/5	5/6	,	5/5	2/2	1/1
Germuth and Rodriguez (1973) [544]	2/2	1/2				2/2		
Mac Donald (1973) [987]	2/2	2/2	2/2	1/2	2/2	1/2		
Morel-Maroger et al. (1973) [1137a]	4/4	0/4	3/4	0/4	0/4	4/4		
Peters et al. (1973) [1258]	2/2	0/2	2/2	2/2		2/2	1/2	
Bohle et al. (1974) [165]	4/4	2/4	2/4	1/4		4/4		
Jenis et al. (1974) [769]	3/3	1/3	3/3	0/2	0/2	3/3	0/2	2/2
Habib et al. (1975) [631]	12/12	0/12	0/12	0/12	0/12	12/12	0/12	0/12
Barbino et al. (1976) [81a]	10/10	3/10	3/10	0/10	0/10	10/10		
Vargas et al. (1976) [1652]	12/12	0/12	3/12	0/12	8/12	10/12	0/9	
Davis and Cavallo (1976) [356]	3/3	3/3	3/3	0/3	0/3	3/3	3/3	_
Tota	al (n) 67/68 ~100%	18/68 ~26%	28/52 ~54%	9/63 ~14%	12/52 ~23%	62/66 ~94%	6/30 20%	3/15 20%

Table 14.15. Glomerular IF findings in intramembranous glomerulonephritis

14: [631]; 1 out of 2: Z; very rarely: [231]) and in the early disease stages subepithelial deposits as well as humps (2 out of 19: [1652]; 6 out of 14: [631, 769]). Dense material is also present in the BM of Bowman's capsules (Fig. 14.108) and tubules (Figs. 14.108, 14.110;

2 out of 2: Z). Subendothelially, the arterioles contain extensive homogenous dense material which is partly short-linear and partly nodular (Fig. 14.111). It is distinguishable from the heavy granular deposits observed in arteriolosclerosis.

Page 256

Fig. 14.107. Same case as in Figure 14.103. Linear deposits of a dense, highly osmiophilic material in peripheral BM with isolated interruptions (\rightarrow) . Numerous unclearly delimited, less osmiophilic deposits of dense material (D), a few of which demonstrate degradation granules (\rightarrow) , are present in the extraordinarily coarse-clumpy thickened mesangium. Only one glomerular capillary loop lumen—which contains an erythrocyte (*)—appears to be still patent. Podocytic foot processes are completely fused. No silver impregnation! Female, 31 years. EM (× 3730)

Fig. 14.108. Same case as in Figure 14.107. Intramembranous dense material appears in the glomerular capillary loops and in the capsular BM (\rightarrow) and is more abundant in the neighboring tubular BM (\rightarrow). Podocytes (*P*) exhibit vacuolization and the capsular epithelium (*CE*) is very swollen. EM (\times 1740)

Page 257

Fig. 14.109. Intramembranous GN. Dense material in glomerular BM exhibits signs of dissolution as shown by translucent areas surrounding centrally granular osmiophilic deposit residues as well as by the thread-like structures (\rightarrow). Podocytic foot processes are completely effaced. Female, 41 years. EM (×13,500)

Fig. 14.110. Same case as in Figure 14.109. Severe vacuolar degeneration of dense material deposited in tubular BM. Tubular cells have been destroyed and replaced by monocytoid elements. EM (\times 3500)

Fig. 14.103. Intramembranous GN. Glomerular capillary loop BM is much thickened, prominent, and appears to encircle the entire loop convolute. Material within the BM is argyrophilic. Mesangium is frankly enlarged; dense material therein is nonargyrophilic. Female, 41 years. PASM (×700)

Fig. 14.104. Same case as in Figure 14.103. Slight glomerular hypercellularity as well as severely thickend, compact hyaline BM are evident. Semi-thin section, toluidine blue (\times 950)

Fig. 14.105. Same case as in Figure 14.103. Extensive deposition of dense material (\rightarrow) in BM of a proximal tubule. There is pronounced accompanying interstitial inflammation. Semi-thin section, toluidine blue ($\times 850$)

Fig. 14.106. Same case as in Figure 14.103 illustrating the finegranular structure of the dense material in intramembranous GN. EM (\times 128,000)







Membranoproliferative GN presents the only differential diagnostic problem. But this is usually easily resolved by use of Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain, by the unusual staining characteristics in PASM stain, and by the hyaline shining and refractile property in HE and PAS-stain in intramembranous GN. The final proof is presented by EM demonstration of the band-like, linear dense material in the glomerular loop BM as well as the constant affliction of tubular BM and, at times, of Bowman's capsules and arterioles.

The smaller, finely granular deposits occasionally encountered in endotheliomesangial GN are clearly different from the dense material seen in intramembranous GN.

Nor should there be any problem in differentiating the short-linear deposits found in the early stages of epimembranous GN if the localization of the deposits and the qualitatively different IF finding in the intramembranous form are appropriately considered.

Alport's disease, in which we have observed massive intramembranous deposits very similar to those in intramembranous GN in one case (Fig. 14.112), may be difficult to differentiate. In Alport's disease, however, the deposits are not quite as massive and lamellation, reticulation and fragmentation of the lamina densa which are so typical for this entity—are not present in intramembranous GN.

✓ Fig. 14.111. Same case as in Figure 14.109. Arteriolar change in intramembranous GN. Extensive fine-granular dense osmiophilic material (D) is present in the severely degenerated media. Subendothelial BM (→) is unchanged. Female, 41 years. EM (×3640)

Fig. 14.112. Coarse intramembranous deposits, probably due to insudation into the peripheral glomerular capillary BM in unambiguously demonstrated Alport's syndrome in an 18-year-old female whose sister evidenced typical BM changes of the syndrome in EM. Note that deposits are bulkier, not as diffuse and less dense and osmiophilic than those occurring in intramembranous GN (Figs. 14.107, 14.108, 14.109). EM (\times 32,100)

Prognosis

The prognosis for intramembranous GN is reportedly not very different from that of membranoproliferative GN [621, 631]. The annual mortality rate is given as 6% [621], the 5-year survival rate varies between 72% and 83% [35, 524, 631] the 10-year survival rate between 38% and 58% [35, 524, 631]; 8 out of 19 patients presented with terminal renal insufficiency after an average of 33 months of disease ([1652]; see also [769, 987]). In our own material, 3 out of 5 patients with crescents died within 2 years, the others without crescents are still alive after 3 and 5 years respectively.

Recurrence of dense intramembranous material in renal transplants has been reported in 12 out of 14 patients, usually within the first year after transplantation [524, 1652]. In one patient, these deposits were already present 1 month after transplantation [524]. A significant intraglomerular proliferation was observed in 4 out of 12 patients and 3 out of 12 developed significant clinical symptoms [524, 1652]. As a rule, relapses of this GN occur within 1–3 years after transplantation [126, 99a, 231, 245, 523, 524, 631, 1625].

Pathogenesis

The pathogenesis of intramembranous GN is completely obscure, a fact which lends credibility to the argument that the lesion is a unique disease entity and not a variant of membranoproliferative GN (contra: [165, 621, 631]).

The assumption that intramembranous GN is a glomerulonephritis of the anti BM-AB type, as suggested by the occasional linear IF findings [987], has been discarded since anti-BM-AB have not been demonstrated in the serum [987].

Apart from this, the occurrence of positive IF findings in the majority of cases suggests an immunologic basis for the disease (Table 14.19). The fact that practically only C3 occurs might indicate C3 activation via the alternative pathway. This assumption of the immunologic role in the disease is further strengthened by the occurrence of a constantly low C3 serum value in the presence of a normal C4 level [631, 1652].

Against the assumption that the dense deposits encountered in the lesion consist of C3 is the fact that in simple membranoproliferative GN—which is occasionally only C3 positive—the morphology of findings is not that of dense deposits. Additionally, histochemical and chemical examinations have shown that the dense material does not consist of immunoglobulins or complement but of an abnormal glycoprotein [524, 527a]. Should the dense material prove to be a glycoprotein, its recurrence in renal transplants would indicate that

it arises from a substance circulating in the patient's

Intramembranous GN 259

blood which either induces formation of an abnormal glycoprotein, in the podocytes or becomes deposited in the BM itself.

The presence of dense deposits in the BM as early as 4 weeks following transplantation [524] is, we feel, evidence against podocytic induction. Otherwise extremely intense podocytic synthesizing activity which, however, cannot be identified morphologically, should be present. Therefore, we think that a substance circulating in the patient's serum is deposited in the BM even though the anticipated deposition of the substance in other organs has not been demonstrated. As of now, for example, no dense deposits in skin vessels have been identified [1652].

Furthermore, analysis of sequential transplant biopsies has shown that the dense material is first demonstrable near the vascular pole and the mesangial areas which is rather more indicative of deposition than of local synthesis [99a].

Etiology

In partial or total lipodystrophy, 20–60% of the patients from various series have shown nephropathies which rarely correspond to intramembranous GN [774a, 1482b]. However, 12 cases of intramembranous GN associated with lipodystrophy have been published [631, 656, 1312a, 1652, Z]. We consider this association to be of great significance since it may provide a key for the understanding of intramembranous GN. Whether the acute preceding infections [524, 631, 1652], e.g., scarlet fever, mycoplasma [401a] etc., are causally related to intramembranous GN is obscure (see also: [1811]).

Epimembranous Glomerulonephritis

Definition

Epimembranous GN [416, 1359] is characterized by thickening of the peripheral glomerular BM due to subepithelial deposits and by the new formation of BM substance without constant mesangial proliferation.

Synonyms. Idiopathic membranous GN [686], membranous glomerulopathy [278], nonproliferative GN with extramembranous deposits [620], extramembranous GN (stages I–III) and membranous GN (stage V) [621], extramembranous GN [90, 126], transmembranous glomerulopathy [544] (see also Table 13.2).

Nosology

Since there is no constant mesangial proliferation, the lesion is noncommittally described by many investigators as glomerulopathy [88, 89, 416, 544, 1484]. We allocate it, however, to the GN group of diseases, since epimembranous GN is an immunocomplex disease as are other forms of GN. Due to the subepithelial localization of the immunocomplexes in the lesion, no constant morphometrically demonstrable cell increase is present [1624b]; contra: [1705]. The designation "epimembranous" appears to us to be more appropriate than "membranous" which has been used for decades to designate various lesions.

Six different stages in the evolution of epimembranous GN can be recognized (see also [91, 416, 1359]):

- Stage 1. Subepithelial deposit formation
- Stage 2. Spike formation
- Stage 3. Incorporation
- Stage 4. Repair
- Stage 5. Progressive glomerular obsolescence
- Stage 6. Acute relapse.

Incidence

Statistics are difficult to compare, since cases of SLE are sometimes included or excluded. The overall frequency in all needle biopsies has been reported as 3.3% [408], 5.9% [654], 8% [163], and 14.5% including lupus cases [544]. For frequency among all forms of GN see Table 14.16. In cases of GN with nephrotic syndrome, the rate has been given as 39% [242] and in those with nephrotic syndrome in general between 9% (children: [636]) and 46% [1484]; see also [161, 616, 661, 671, 1484]. In adults, males are clearly more frequently afflicted than females: 5:4 [572]; 3:1 [445]; 1.5:1 [163]; 1.1:1 [278]; 1.5:1 [122]; 2.4:1 [Z]. Children are far less afflicted

Table 14.16. Relative frequency of epimembranous glomerulonephritis^a, () = without glomerular minimal change

Habib (1973) [621]	(9.9%)	5.0%
Cameron (1973) [242b]	(12.2%)	7.8%
Zollinger and Mihatsch	(10.4%)	8.0%
Hamburger et al. (1971) [654]	(10.3%)	8.1%
Bohle et al. (1976) [169a]	(14.8%)	8.4%
Morel-Maroger et al. (1973) [1137a]	(15.3%)	12.2%
Churg and Duffy (1973) [277]	(17.0%)	14.0%
Germuth and Rodriguez (1973) [544]	(22.0%)	14.9%

^a For number of cases in different series see Table 14.1.

than adults (23.4% of pediatric GN; Table 14.16) and male predominance is even more striking, 3.6:1 [636]; 4:1 [163].

The age range is very broad (1-92 years) with an average between 40 and 50 [3, 161, 278, 1359]. The mean age of our patients is 41 ± 19 years.

Clinical Findings

(Tables 14.3, 14.4, 14.5, Fig. 14.113)

The beginning of the disease is often so insidious that about half of the patients in large case series are discovered by chance [122, 633]. In the other cases, progressive edema (Fig. 14.113) exhibiting a frequency of almost 70% in our material, was the most important finding pointing to the disease. Very rarely, the disease may also commence like typical acute GN with macrohematuria and oligo-anuria ([1332]; Table 14.5). Manifestation in the course of SLE is also frequent (see p. 326).

The absence of acute prior illness is very characteristic for the disease (see Fig. 14.113; 9 out of 50 cases: upper respiratory tract infection, scarlet fever, pneumonia [633], see also [408]). Before definite bioptical diagnosis, the disease was stationary in 40% of our patients, recurrent in about 20%, and progressive in about 25%.

At the time of biopsy, in about 60% of the cases (Fig. 14.113), the clinical picture is dominated by a nephrotic syndrome (85%: [445, 1648]), whereas in the initial stages of the disease, it may be absent (42%: Z; 6%: [661]; 33%: [408]) and especially so in children [633]. Proteinuria, which demonstrates wide fluctuation from day to day, is unselective [1359]. Reports on the frequency of microhematuria evidence disparate findings. Thus, it has been reported present at disease onset in three-fourths of patients (39 out of 46: [633]) and in 50% [122], while in our material it was absent in three-fourths of patients at the beginning of the disease and at the time of biopsy (Fig. 14.113).

Data relating to hypertension also exhibit considerable variation (22% of patients: [408], 42%: [278], two-thirds



of patients: [1204], 37%: [122]; 38%: Z; see also [3, 1484]). In our material, hypertension was as frequently encountered in the early morphologic stages (1 and 2) as in later (3 and 5). With few exceptions (2 out of 17 cases: [572]; Fig. 14.113; see also [633]) hypocomplementemia was absent.

Deterioration of renal function is insidious. Its sudden occurrence should always arouse suspicion of secondary renal vein thrombosis [1281].

LM Findings

Stage I. Subepithelial Deposit Formation. An extremely early stage characterized by numerous polymorphonuclear leukocytes (three cases: [1332], and one: Z) is very rarely observed and may simulate endotheliomesangial GN. Later, changes typical of epimembranous GN will develop [1333].

In typical cases (HE and PAS stains) the glomeruli are with the exception of focal minimal mesangial change (Fig. 14.114)—by and large unaltered (Fig. 14.115). In some of these cases, Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain reveals flat, subepithelial deposits (Fig. 14.116), but in PASM stain, there is no evidence of spike formation (Fig. 14.115). Only the few protein droplets in tubular epithelial cells will usually indicate the presence of a glomerular lesion. Focal and segmental glomerular involvement [407, 633] are rarely observed, and when so,



***: highly characteristic; DC: disease course

they represent a very early stage (one of our own cases).

Accordingly, the LM diagnosis at this point of the disease may prove to be impossible [91, 1359, 1484] and the insufficient diagnosis of glomerular minimal change—which is always present—will be usually made. This finding alone can explain the supposition that epimembranous GN develops from the minimal change [712].

The interstitium is practically unaffected; we encountered findings indicative of interstitial nondestructive accompanying nephritis in only one case (rheumatoid arthritis treated with gold and penicillamine). Others have reported interstitial edema with scanty infiltrates [686]. Vessels and tubular BM are unchanged.

We wish to note at this point that we have never observed a statistically significant increase in vascular, tubular, or interstitial changes with respect to the various stages (I-IV) of the lesion.

The early stage may last for 2 years [278]. In our material the average duration of disease was 22 weeks (range: 10-50 weeks).

This stage is frequently observed in cases caused by drugs, e.g., penicillamine and gold, since their administration usually directs attention towards the side effects associated with their use (9 out of 10: [1628]).

Stage 11. Spike Formation. This stage has been reported to last as long as 4 years after its onset [278]. We saw



BM of a glomerulus in a case of epimembranous GN (stage I) demonstrated unequivocally with EM. There is no cell prolifer-

minimal irregularities on the outer surface at very few sites (\rightarrow) . Note lack of mesangial involvement. Cf. Figure 14.119. PASM

in this case of epimembranous GN (stage I) associated with gold therapy. Female, 21 years. PAS (×720)

it after an average duration of disease of 26 weeks with a range of 3–150 weeks (see also [416]).

All the glomeruli are slightly enlarged and the BM is defenitely homogeneously thickened (Fig. 14.117). In thin PAS-stained sections, a somewhat irregular outer contour is occassionally observed in the thickened peripheral BM. With Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain, extremely fine, flat, reddish granules are seen subepithelially. These granules are not stained with PASM; they are separated from each other by very fine PASM positive BM spikes (Fig. 14.118).

In some cases the BM itself is not yet obviously thickened, or appears merely suggestive of such thickening in PASM stain. The podocytes are slightly enlarged.

The impression gained is of a mild focal increase of cells and matrix in the mesangium [410, 1797] which we could not objectify in this stage morphometrically [1624b]; (contra: [1705]). We have not been able to demonstrate mesangial matrix deposits in this stage as has been reported by other investigators (10 out of 24: [633]).

The capsular epithelium is unchanged or only slightly swollen, and evidences scanty protein droplets. Protein droplets are always present in the tubules, and vacuoles are frequent. Vessels and interstitium are practically unaffected; interstitial infiltrates are very rare.

Stage III. Incorporation (Endomembranous) Stage. This stage may last 3–4 years or even longer [278, 572].

We found an average duration of illness of 76 weeks with a range of 10-250 weeks.

As seen in the PAS stain, the BM is much thickened (Fig. 14.119) and seems to be split into two thin layers. They are joined together by very fine cross connections which develop from the original spikes (Figs. 14.119, 14.120). Some spikes have been reported present even after 5 years [92]. The spaces between ladder rungs are often stained red with Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain. At this stage, a few isolated synechiae (Fig. 14.121) and capillary loop obliterations have rarely been observed.

The increase in the mesangial matrix is now usually evident and has been shown by morphometry to be statistically significant in comparison to stages I and II [416, 1359, 1624b, 1797]. Although mesangial cell increase is present in an occasional glomerulus, morphometrical analysis has shown that this increase is not statistically significant ([1624]; contra: [1750]; [1797]).

The tubules contain massive lipid vacuoles and protein droplets in their cytoplasm and numerous casts in their lumens. The interstitium shows patchy fibrosis but rarely diffuse sclerosis [686]. It also evidences sparse infiltrates of predominantly lymphocytic character and, occasionally, numerous foam cells (symptomatic lipoid nephrosis). *Stage IV. Repair Stage.* Knowledge of LM findings are incomplete and are based on only a few individual observations. Unquestionable diagnosis is surely difficult with respect to stage III [92, 278, 503, 532, 1372, 1593].

Stage V. Progressive Glomerular Obsolescence. We observed this stage in our material averagely after 93 weeks of illness with a range between 15 and 350 weeks. It is characterized by increase in the number (>10%) of globally or segmentally obsolescent glomeruli [416, 1068]. In our autopsy material, glomerular obsolescence is significantly more frequent statistically in the juxtamedullary than in the subcapsular zone. Interstitial changes featuring focal and diffuse fibrosis (4 out of 13: Z), (Figs. 14.122, 14.123), more or less extensive tubular atrophy and mild interstitial accompanying nephritis with only scanty interstitial infiltrates correspond to the number of destroyed glomeruli.

Mesangial matrix increase in the nonobsolescent glomeruli is clearly evident [1624b].

Segmental crescents, which we observed in 10% of all our cases, are mainly found in stage V; they are less frequent in stage III. In general, rarely more than 10% of glomeruli are involved (2 out of 7: Z; see also [1068]). However, crescents may—in occasional cases—involve nearly all glomeruli, so that in LM, extracapillary accentuated GN may be simulated [1131b, 1136].

Stage VI. Acute Relapse. Demonstration of an acute relapse is difficult with LM and can only be diagnosed with certainty in stages III–V. With LM and using Masson's trichrome/AFOG stained material, fresh, small, and partially short linear deposits or newly formed focal-segmental spikes can be seen on the already extensively thickened peripheral capillary loops.

Fig. 14.117. Epimembranous GN in stage II. Slight thickening \triangleright of peripheral glomerular BM without cell proliferation. Male, 33 years. PAS (\times 300)

Fig. 14.118. Same case as in Figure 14.117. Black-appearing spikes which lie on outer surface of glomerular BM are now very easily recognizable. Between the spikes, deposits can be assumed. Semi-thin section, PASM ($\times 1000$)

Fig. 14.119. Same case as in Figure 14.114, but 4 years later. Stage III of epimembranous GN is now present. Numerous clear lacunae are recognizable in the highly thickened peripheral BM, i.e., ladder-like configuration. Male, 37 years. PAS (\times 870)

Fig. 14.120. Same case as in Figure 14.119 but in PASM stain which permits clear presentation of the ladder configuration of the peripheral BM (\rightarrow) (×620)





IF Findings

Fine to coarsely granular deposits of IgG and C3 are found densely packed along the peripheral BM (Fig. 14.124). Our own findings are given in Table 14.17. The deposits correspond to the osmiophilic deposits seen in EM [91, 92, 1167, 1359] (for immuno-EM see: [354a]). Complement deposition is less coarse than it is in endotheliomesangial and membranoproliferative GN [127]. Due to their close arrangement to each other, the deposits occasionally appear to be linear (pseudolinear deposits: [410, 1168]). Genuine linear IF deposits in epimembranous GN are observed and in exceptional cases are supposed to arise by formation of AB against membrane components as a consequence of BM injury caused by subepithelial immunocomplexes [855].

In the early as well as late stages, the deposits are, in general, diffusely and globally distributed. Focal-segmental distribution is rarely observed (1 out of 20: Z; [633]) in the early stage. IF is usually negative in the healing or repair stage [89, 1168, 1359].

Table 14.17. IF findings in epimembranous glomerulonephritis (n=20)

	IgG	IgM	IgA	C3	Fibrin(-ogen)
Cases tested Positive	20 20	20 17	16 5	20 19	18 4
Diffuse Focal	19 1	14 3	5 0	17 2	4 0
Global Segmental	18 2	13 4	3 2	16 3	3 1
Peripheral	17	15	5	11	4
Mesangial 3 peripheral	1	-	3	-	
Mesangial	_	1	_	5	_

- ✓ Fig. 14.121. Epimembranous GN, stage III. Glomerular capillary loop BM is much thickened. A loop convolute is obliterated (→). Over this convolute a synechia with the capsule is present. Male, 48 years. PAS (× 320)
 - Fig. 14.122. Epimembranous GN stage V. Glomerular capillary loops are obsolescent and evidence synechiae, present in many glomeruli throughout the kidney. Male, 18 years. PAS $(\times 520)$

Fig. 14.123. Epimembranous GN in stage V. There is subtotal glomerular obsolescence with severe proliferation of capsular connective tissue and pronounced interstitial infiltrates. Male, 36 years. HE (\times 480)

Fig. 14.124. Heavy coarse-granular IgG deposits in the glomerular BM in epimembranous GN. Male, 34 years. IF $(\times 410)$

In the very early stage (I), C3 may even be lacking whereas later (stages II, III, V), it is usually present in a diffuse and global pattern. IgG (except in rare instances in the very early stage I) is nearly always diffusely and globally distributed as is IgM in the early stages. However, in stages III and V IgM more often demonstrates segmental patterns.

In stages I and II, the deposits were encountered only along the peripheral glomerular BM but, in the later stages, IgM and C3 were more often found in the mesangium alone or in the mesangium and periphery (see also [1284]). IgM and especially IgA and fibrin(-ogen) are less frequently demonstrable than IgG (IgM: 32%: [743, 1136]; IgA: 6%: [128]; 50%: [89]; Table 14.17). An obvious predominance of IgM or IgA for any of the different stages does not seem to exist [91, 89, 128, 1359]. Differences between idiopathic and symptomatic cases are not encountered.

EM Findings

Stage I. Subepithelial Deposit Formation. EM permits unequivocal diagnosis in contrast to LM. Small, usually flat subepithelial osmiophilic deposits which are often arranged in groups (Fig. 14.125) can be demonstrated. They are obviously more electron-dense than the lamina densa and they lie under the limiting membranes between the foot processes of the podocytes (Fig. 14.126; [1628]). The size of the deposits in our material is 3000 ± 1960 Å. The number of deposits can vary considerably from loop to loop. The subepithelial side of the nonthickened BM is still rather smooth in this stage, but the lamina rara externa is missing in the region of the deposits.

Deposits cannot be demonstrated in the mesangium. The matrix is finely structured and the cells are reported as being hypertrophied or shrunken [1284], findings which we have not been able to confirm.

In 3 out of 10 clinical cases of typical gold nephropathy (but unfortunately without IF findings) no ultrastructural changes have been described [1628].

Stage II. Spike Formation. In contrast to stage I, the osmiophilic deposits are increased in both number and size (Fig. 14.127) and now measure 8470 ± 4100 Å. The deposits are completely homogeneous and their delimitation from the lamina densa is sometimes vague (Fig. 14.127). In sections they are seen to be bordered forceps-like on both sides by radially arranged extensions of the lamina densa. These spikes (Figs. 14.127, 14.128, 6.30) are also called spicules [1484] and striae [89, 91, 92]. They are 350–4000 Å wide at the base (400–2500 Å: [1372]) and 0.3 to 1.0 µm long. In isolated instances, a tendency to complete encompassment of the deposits, i.e., new formation of subepithelial lamina densa and rara externa, is observed (Figs. 14.128, 14.



14.129). The total thickness of the BM (including the deposits) now amounts to $13,700 \pm 7000$ Å. In addition to the subepithelial deposits, finely structured deposits are now occasionally found in the original lamina densa (3 out of 11: Z).

The endothelium is swollen and partially hypertrophied (Fig. 14.127) and the fenestrations are occasionally absent. Virus-like formations, which have been described now and again (Fig. 14.129), are not obligatory for epimembranous GN [1045]. In contrast to stage I, the podocytic foot processes are now completely fused in the region of the deposits (Fig. 14.128) and their osmiophilic substance is considerably increased.

The mesangial matrix (8 out of 11: Z) (Fig. 14.130) and mesangial nuclei (7 out of 11: Z) are slightly to obviously increased. We were not able to demonstrate mesangial matrix deposits in this stage. A few deposits along the mesangial BM were observed in only 1 out of 11 cases (Z) which corresponds to the IF findings in this stage. Capsular epithelium and BM are unaffected.

Tubular, vascular and interstitial findings correspond to LM observations. Osmiophilic deposits are absent in tubules and vessels.

Stage III. Incorporation (Endomembranous) Stage.

The BM is much thickened (8000-30,000 Å: [1359]; 14,900 ± 5600 Å: Z). The densa layer covering all deposits in an arch-like manner, has now developed massively (Figs. 14.131, 14.132) forming a new, second subepithelial lamina densa. Thus, the outer BM surface has become severely coarsely arched.

✓ Fig. 14.125. Epimembranous GN in stage I following gold therapy. Numerous, somewhat irregularly formed epithelial osmiophilic deposits are discernible (→). Podocytic foot processes are completely fused. A polymorphonuclear leukocyte (*PL*) and two monocytoid cells (MO/M) can be seen in the capillary lumen. Same case as in Figure 14.116. Female, 21 years. EM (×6800)

Fig. 14.126. Same case as in Figure 14.125. Marked increase of osmiophilic substance (*) is seen in podocytes overlying subpithelial deposits (D). Endothelium (E). EM (\times 60,900) The deposits lie between the two LM recognizable densa layers (endomembranous position: [92]). They are demarcated from each other by wide, radial rungs of densa material (Fig. 14.132; [88, 91]). The size of the deposits $(11,400 \pm 3670 \text{ Å})$ is not significantly different from that occurring in stage II. The deposits themselves are progressively altered; they become coarsely granular, somewhat loose, and usually lie embedded in a translucent material. Total absence of osmiophilic deposits is rare, and in such cases, only empty lacunae remain (Fig. 14.133 "moth-eaten" appearance: [88, 89, 91, 1484]). It is questionable whether removal of the material takes place by auto-oxidation [1593, 1594, 1628a]. We do not believe that the empty lacunae in the BM seen in stage III are the result of destroyed podocytic cytoplasmic processes. Positive IF findings in this stage also point to immunodeposits in the process of dissolution. The above-mentioned lacunae as well as the coarsely granular deposits undergoing breakdown often contain large groups of oval, 800 Å-sized virus-like blebs (see p. 92) as well as elongated structures partially of a whorled thread-like character with a diameter of 200 Å. According to serial sections, the structures appear to

be membranous in nature and are said to have arisen by degradation of cellular and membranous material in the BM [87]. They have a periodicity of about 100 Å (Fig. 14.134). We found these structures in 11 out of 13 cases in stage III but only once in stage II.

Page 270

Fig. 14.127. Epimembranous GN in stage II. Massive spike formation is present between subepithelial deposits which lie very close to each other. Endothelium and mesangium are almost unchanged. Podocytes are severely swollen, activated, vacuolized and exhibit scanty protein and lipid droplets. Female, 70 years. EM ($\times 2630$)

Fig. 14.128. Same case as in Figure 14.127. There are clearly evident spikes (S) between the osmiophilic deposits. Osmiophilic substance in podocytes (P) is increased. Endothelial cell (E). Female, 70 years. EM (\times 37,100)

Page 271

Fig. 14.129. Same case as in Figure 14.127. A few spikes touch each other subepithelially by means of their roof-like spreading (\rightarrow) . Increased osmiophilic substance is present in podocytes (*P*). Textile-like structures in endothelial cell (*) besides vacuolar distention of organelles. Subendothelially, pronounced irregularity of BM, thickening of lamina rara interna and formation of a new uniformly thin densa layer (\rightarrow) are present. Female, 70 years. EM (\times 37,100)

Fig. 14.130. Epimembranous GN in stage II. Very pronounced mesangial matrix (M) increase but no obvious cell increase. Male, 48 years. EM (× 2560)







In stage III, primarily intramembranous deposits are more often observed (4 out of 13: Z). The mesangial proliferation (6 out of 13: Z) is not severe [92]; the mesangial matrix is increased with varying severity (9 out of 13: Z). Deposits in the mesangium and along the mesangial BM were each present in 3 out of 13 cases (Z).

The remaining elements—with the exception of the blood vessels—revealed no new aspects. In the arteries and arterioles, occasionally within the BM or outside of it, finely granular osmiophilic deposits of about 200 Å attributed to immunologic processes have been described [1176]. They are reported to be different from those occurring in hypertensive vasculopathy which are coarser (see also [122]). We have confirmed this finding in 1 out of 13 cases in which, however, severe hypertension was present and in which, accordingly, we attributed it to hypertension and not to immunologic processes.

Interstitium and tubules are only mildly changed as already described under LM.

Stage IV. Repair Stage. In this stage, osmiophilic deposits are absent; their electron translucent residues have migrated subendothelially in severely reduced numbers (Fig. 6.31). The outer structure of the BM has again become more or less smooth; the lamina densa is loose and irregular (Fig. 14.135).

The total thickness of the BM is very much increased with respect to the norm (Fig. 14.135; [88, 91, 503, 1372]) and its outer surface is still somewhat wavy.

Stage V. Progressive Glomerular Obsolescence. The EM findings are similar to those observed with LM. The glomerular BM shows changes as described in stages II to IV.

✓ Fig. 14.131. Same case as in Figure 14.117. Epimembranous GN in stage III. Under LM, stage II was assumed. Some of the osmiophilic granular deposits (D) are still clearly recognizable. They are covered by a thin densa and rara externa layer (→) which join the spike together. Additionally, numerous translucent lacunae (*), which are also covered by newly formed BM, and which still contain deposit residues, are also present. Whereas podocytes evidence complete fusion of foot processes, endothelium is practically unchanged. Male, 33 years. EM (×8400)

Fig. 14.132. Epimembranous GN in stage III, with roof-shaped new formation of lamina rara and a relatively thin densa layer (\rightarrow) . A polymorphonuclear leukocyte (*PL*) is seen in a glomerular capillary loop. Female, 60 years. EM ($\times 21,360$)

Stage VI. Acute Relapse. Fresh subepithelial deposits are not infrequently found in the late stages (Fig. 14.136) which demonstrate the same degree of osmiophilia as the deposits encountered in stage I (7 out of 13: Z; see also [633]).

Differential Diagnosis

In the early stage, differentiation from glomerular minimal change is difficult-or even impossible-with LM, but easy with EM and IF.

In stages II and III, only differentiation from membranoproliferative GN may sometimes be difficult with LM. The spikes demonstrable with PASM stain and the absence of substantial mesangial proliferation are clearly indicative for epimembranous GN, while massive subendothelial deposits, severe BM splitting with mesangial interposition and obvious mesangial proliferation with pronounced interstitial infiltrates point to membranoproliferative GN.

The combination of subendothelial and numerous subepithelial deposits with spikes in the presence of only scanty mesangial proliferation should direct initial suspicion to the membranoproliferative variety in SLE [1797]; see also p. 326 and secondly to the mixed form of epimembranous and membranoproliferative GN.

The stage of progressive glomerular obsolescence with transition to contracted kidney may present great difficulties; if spikes are not demonstrable, the diagnosis of GN contracted kidney—without more exact classification—is sometimes unavoidable, even with EM [1359]. Even diabetic glomerulosclerosis (Kimmelstiel-Wilson), can be difficult to distinguish from the stage of progressive glomerular obsolescence [416, 1167], if hyaline nodules, red in van Gieson's stain, are lacking. To be sure, in diabetic glomerulosclerosis, mesangial thickening is usually more extensive and arteriolosclerosis is always present.

Difficulties with respect to transplant glomerulopathy will hardly ever arise. Severe transplant glomerulopathy is already recognized in LM by the complete absence of spikes and the large cell-free interspace between the two completely separated BM layers.

In the symptomatic form of epimembranous GN (with known basic disease and etiology: 19 out of 69: [1167]) only the epimembranous variety of SLE-GN (8 out of 69: [1167]; see also [3, 91, 126, 416, 1539] and p. 326) can, although rarely, be diagnosed in the presence of hematoxylin bodies.

Furthermore, the symptomatic forms cannot be differentiated from the idiopathic [3, 416, 1539, 1628 E]. The unequivocal identification of gold-induced cases requires microradiography.

The numerous cases of combined renal vein thrombosis (see p. 503) and epimembranous GN (5 out of 125: [278];



l out of 72: Z) present an additional diagnostic problem. According to our experience, the presence of numerous leukocytes in the capillary loops as well as massive dilatation of the loops themselves help (at most in the early stage) in the diagnosis of associated renal vein thrombosis. Diffuse interstitial edema in the early stage and corresponding sclerosis in the late stage are slightly more reliable clues to the presence of thrombosis [1367].

Prognosis

The overall prognosis is not as bad as was previously assumed [1272, 1281]. This is especially true for symptomatic forms associated with syphilis, drugs, etc., which heal after appropriate treatment of the underlying disease or withdrawal of the noxious substance [94, 317]. The prognosis for children-especially those under 10 years of age-appears to be better than that for adults (20%)and 44% cure, and 40% and 33% death in uremia: [633, 1204]). The 5-year survival rate is reported to be between 45-100% [1281] and in our own material at 75% (Table 14.18; 80%: [572]; 69%: [503]; 45%: [661]; 60%: [417]; see also [3]). Within the first 10 years, survival was reported as 56% [503] and 60% (Table 14.18). The long-term outlook (15-year survival rate) is not good (37%), however, when one considers all stages together (see Table 14.18). The picture is different when early and late stages of the disease are considered separately. In this case, the 15-year survival rate from biopsy onwards is 85% in stages I and II in contrast to only 14% for the later stages (III, V).

The overall complete remission rate is reported to be 17% [407] as it is in our own material (Table 14.18).

✓ Fig. 14.133. Epimembranous GN in stage III. Formation of "ladder rungs" (→) through dissolution of osmiophilic deposits. Isolated endothelial cytoplasmic elements are present in BM (*). Thread-like structure within a dissolved deposit is discernible (→). Highly activated endothelial cell (E) with slight arcade formation is seen in the capillary lumen. Podocytic foot processes are somewhat coarse but not fused. Female, 49 years. EM (×10,400)

Fig. 14.134. Epimembranous GN in stage IV. In the somewhat tangentially sectioned BM, masses of clumpy, granular, and thread-like degradation particles are present in translucent areas previously containing deposits. Complete fusion of podocytic foot processes. Male, 51 years. (\times 19,200)

Inset: Higher magnification of thread-like structures which clearly evidence a bilamellar configuration as well cross striations. (\times 83,500)

Table 14.18. Prognosis and outcome of epimembranous glomerulonephritis

Prognosis	Survival rate (%)					
	5 years	10 years	15 years			
From disease onset	75	60	37			
SE ^a	5.7	7.3	9.6			
From biopsy	76	57	28			
SE ^a	6.9	7.2	15.2			
From biopsy	85	85	85			
Stages I and II, SE ^a	8.8	8.8	8.8			
From biopsy	70	43	14			
Stages III and V, SE ^a	8.5	9.5	12.8			

Outcome (after minimal follow-up of 1 year)

	Total	Stage I, II	Stage III, V
Patient number	45	20	25
Died (total)	42.2%	20%	60%
Died in uremia	26.6%	0%	48%
Complete remission	17.4%	30%	8%

* SE standard error in %.

In the remaining patients, the lesion remains stationary for years (20% : Z) or undergoes spontaneous remission (10% : Z; see also [3, 126, 407, 1272, 1359]). Progression of the disease is observed in over 40% [407] (33% : Z)of the patients and lasts for as long as 27 years: [503]. Isolated attacks with deterioration are not rare (25% in children: [636]; 33%: [1204]; 5%: Z).

If early and late stages are considered separately, in stages I and II 30% of patients were considered as cured and 15% as being improved clinically in our material, whereas in stages III and V 48% died from uremia and only 16 were considered as cured or improved. Similar results were reported by other investigators who demonstrated in rebiopsies recovery in stage I in 8 out of 14 patients and no morphologic impairment, whereas in later stages, only 3 out of 62 improved ([122]; see also [445]).

Death usually occurs in renal insufficiency or is due to infection (corticoid therapy!) or, in 15% of cases, to renal vein thrombosis [278] which is heralded by sudden, rapid deterioration of renal function.

Disappearance of positive IF findings and osmiophilic deposits is usually associated with reduction or even complete remission of proteinuria and is a favorable prognostic development while early appearance of hypertension is a poor prognostic sign [122, 1167, 1168].

Two reports of relapses in transplants 2 and 11 months respectively after transplantation [332] stand in contrast to 5 transplants without relapse [1290].


Pathogenesis

There is general agreement that the lesion is an immunocomplex glomerulopathy [1359] due to transient, protracted or recurring circulation of immunocomplexes [544, 1372].

In many cases, an autoimmune disease (SLE in 42% of all epimembranous GN: [544]; 6.7%: Z) is present or probably present [254, 1072] in which autoproteins (possibly cell elements) are denatured by drugs, etc., and become antigens (see below).

Experimentally, the lesion has been elicited by long-term administration of heterologous serum in association with faulty antibody formation (immunocomplexes class I: [544]) or in association with adequate antibody formation and blockade of the RHS in rabbits [381]. Following repeated injection of homologous kidney homogenate (renal mitochondrial protein) or egg albumin in Freund's adjuvant, the same result was obtained in rats and rabbits [693, 1712] although some of the animals developed membranoproliferative GN.

A few investigators maintain the view that epimembranous GN is a degenerative noninflammatory lesion [3, 1359, 1484]. Since it is an immunocomplex disease which, due to the localization of the deposits, does not lead to constant glomerular cell proliferation [1624b], we consider the assumption of the glomerulonephritic nature of the lesion to be justified.

Etiology

Etiology of the *idiopathic form* is, by definition, unknown [1167, 1359]. There is no relationship to streptococcal diseases. Unfortunately, the incidence of the idiopathic form in children is still very high (50 out of 69: [1167]; 50 out of 50: [633]) but it is nearly as high (78.5%) in our material (see Table 14.19) comprising mainly adults.

✓ Fig. 14.135. Same case as in Figure 14.134. Epimembranous GN in stage IV. Masses of granular (virus-like) particles (*) which are thought to be degradation granules are seen in the areas of former deposits. BM is still irregular and obviously thickened. Male, 51 years. EM (×14,150)

Fig. 14.136. Epimembranous GN in stage V with acute relapse (stage VI): massive, uniformly homogeneous enlargement of mesangium (*M*) with practically complete occlusion of peripheral glomerular capillary loop lumens (\rightarrow). Numerous fresh subepithelial deposits (\rightarrow) indicating acute attack. Female, 58 years. EM (×2520)

Table 14.19. Etiology of epimembranous glomerulonephritis (n = 60)

	· · · · · ·	
Viral hepatitis	8.3%	
SLE	6.7%	
Gold therapy	4.8%	
Penicillamin therapy	1.6%	
Malignant tumor	1.6%	
Idiopathic	78.5%	

The number of symptomatic cases increased during the last decade. The bulk of symptomatic cases consist of epimembranous GN in SLE (6.7%: Z; 42%: [544]). Although SLE is not clarified etiologically, its pathogenesis at least is understood.

Etiologically, unambiguous cases belonging to the *symptomatic form* are observed in association with drugs: especially gold therapy for polyarthritis [183, 811, 934, 1025, 1507, 1583, 1628, 1648, 1693; Table 14.19; experimental: [1176]). In our own three cases, gold was demonstrable histochemically in one of the cases and – using atomic absorption-analysis—in all three in considerably different amounts (relative amounts: 1:2:22). Others have demonstrated gold by EM in tubular epithelium and unequivocally confirmed its presence by electronprobe microanalysis [1693a].

Further cases are encountered associated with anticonvulsive therapy (children: [1613]) and with D-penicillamine therapy [760]. Mercury-containing agents [90, 247]—such as used by coloured people for skin bleaching [827] and as shown experimentally and empirically [1788] can also lead to epimembranous GN. We have observed one autopsy case each after arsenic and benzol trichlorethylene poisoning. Whether the drugs or toxic substances act as haptens [183, 1176] or by a toxically induced structural damage of tissue proteins [90] is not known. Gold is a confirmatory example for the second hypothesis since it is stored in cells and thus destroys mitochondria. Drug vehicles may play a role in causing the disease [417]. The disease has also been found associated with pregnancy in 8 cases [275a].

Further symptomatic cases have been noted during the course of long-lasting infections such as congenital syphilis [810], acquired syphilis [148, 190], malaria [16, 403a] and sarcoidosis [1045, 1415]. In acquired syphilis, treponemal antigens can be demonstrated in the deposits [526, 1217b]. Common to all these cases is the disappearance of deposits and normalization of BM following drug withdrawal or cure of the basic disease (contra: [1765]). A special form with hypocomplementemia but without malaria has been reported in the tropics [1140]. There are reports relating epimembranous GN to malignant tumors [521 a] (bronchus carcinoma: [52, 317, 544, 972]; cervix carcinoma: [544]; breast carcinoma: [972];

squamous cell carcinoma of the tongue and colonic carcinoma: [318]; malignant lymphoma: [345, 609, 822, 972]; see Table 14.8). It is thought that tumor-associated antigens lead to immunocomplex formation [822, 972] as is the case in colon and bronchial carcinoma in which the carcino-embryonic antigen has been demonstrated [317, 318, 322] within the immunocomplexes (see also: [345, 694a, 957a], for survey: [1812]).

Finally, viruses can be responsible for epimembranous GN and especially hepatitis B virus (1 out of 31: [544]; 5 out of 9 in chronic hepatitis B: [608]; children with persisting hepatitis: [151]; see also [9, 197, 299, 424, 617, 872a] and p. 250). In our own biopsy material, we encountered this association once following acute viral hepatitis B and once during the course of chronic, aggressive hepatitis B of 7 years' duration. In three further

cases there was anamnestic evidence of viral hepatitis (but hepatitis B surface AG determination was not done, Table 14.19). Hepatitis B surface antigen can be demonstrated in immunocomplexes within the kidney [211]. The clinicoserologic examination for viruses—especially hepatitis B virus in proven cases of epimembranous GN—is certainly indicated for the future.

Further support for a viral etiology is provided by the occasional EM demonstration of virus-like structures [822]. These particles are also found in NZB mice and in Aleutian mink [265, 682]. The renal disease observed in these two animal types are most probably caused by virus, and it is very similar to epimembranous GN. Some investigators, however, have interpreted the disease in mink as membranoproliferative GN [392]. For epimembranous GN and renal vein thrombosis, see p. 505.

Definition

This form is characterized by the combination of extensive subepithelial and subendothelial deposits and by a pronounced mesangial proliferation and mesangial interposition.

Synonyms: Acute poststreptococcal GN with failure to resolve [559], acute GN with mesangial proliferation and extramembranous deposits [531]; transitional forms [1593, 1709].

Incidence

The change is unquestionably rare and has been reported in 4 out of 1368 biopsies in clinical GN [624], in 0.2%

of biopsies, and 0.4% of biopsies in GN (Z) and in 9 out of 31 of membranoproliferative GN [231]. In studies relying exclusively on LM, the frequency may be underestimated, since confusion with membranoproliferative or epimembranous GN is possible.

Most patients are over 20 years of age. The disease predominantly affects women (see also [231]).

Clinical Findings

Acute onset in the form of poststreptococcal GN was reported twice [559] and the other patients in this series demonstrated an insidiously progressive nephrotic syndrome with hematuria. Isolated instances of hypertension occur and, according to one report [559], persisting hypocomplementemia. It is not possible to clinically separate this disease from other forms of GN [531].

In three of our own cases (women aged 15–38 years) the disease developed insidiously and edema, microhematuria and proteinuria were present upon clinical examination. Later, our patients evidenced nephrotic syn-



Fig. 14.137. Mixed form of membranoproliferative and epimembranous GN. Under LM, a diffuse segmentally accentuated membranoproliferative GN would be diagnosed. Male, 18 years. PAS ($\times 110$)

Fig. 14.138. Same case as in Figure 14.137. Membranoproliferative component with lobular transformation of glomerulus and pronounced periglomerular inflammation are evident. PAS $(\times 200)$



14.140

drome, hypalbuminemia, and hyperlipemia, and one had microhematuria, 1 out of 2 hypocomplementemia, and 1 out of 3 hypertension. One of the patients subsequently developed SLE. Another died after 1 year of observation from the consequences of diabetes mellitus that required varying doses of insulin which were very difficult to gauge. No insulin AB were found in this case.

LM Findings

One encounters either the findings of membranoproliferative or of lobular GN with or without isolated spikes or findings of epimembranous GN with severe mesangial cell and matrix increase (Figs. 14.137, 14.138; see also [531]) as well as subendothelial fibrinoid deposits. Partial crescents may be present as well [531]. The presence of a mixed form is only clearly apparent with EM.

IF Findings

In the only two known reports [231, 531], IgG and complement were found diffusely distributed in granular form, as were IgM and properdin [231].

EM Findings

The very numerous subepithelial deposits (Fig. 14.139) and nodular intramembranous [559] osmiophilic deposits (Fig. 14.140) are immediately apparent; they are unclearly delimited from the lamina densa throughout (see also [531]).

Obvious mesangial interposition is seen in the capillary loop periphery (Fig. 14.140). Furthermore, intense mesangial proliferation with nuclear increase occurs. In our cases (3 out of 3), there were subendothelial osmiophilic deposit formation and a few instances of mesangial interposition.

✓ Fig. 14.139. Same case as in Figure 14.137. Very extensive, completely irregular epimembranous deposits are sometimes covered by newly formed BM (→). Severe cystoid degeneration of podocyte (P) and microvilli formation are present. EM (× 5600)

Fig. 14.140. Same case as in Figure 14.137. In addition to very extensive subepithelial deposits, mesangial interposition (M) with new formation of a subendothelial (\rightarrow) BM is clearly recognizable. Male, 18 years. EM (×6530)

Differential Diagnosis

With respect to epimembranous GN, mesangial proliferation and enlargement are unusual findings. These findings are present in epimembranous GN, if at all, in late stages. Subendothelial deposits and mesangial interposition are always absent.

On the other hand, the presence of large numbers of subepithelial deposits is unusual for membranoproliferative GN as is their unclear delimitation from the lamina densa.

Prognosis

Our material has not provided observations of sufficiently long duration to permit a reliable judgement. In findings of another investigator, which must be viewed with caution due to the large number of cases presented, 23 out of 31 were cured and only one fatality was reported [531].

Pathogenesis and Etiology

It is thought that the size and solubility of the immunocomplexes determine the form of GN which ultimately develops. At present, it cannot be stated whether the so-called mixed form represents a unique disease entity, or whether it is merely a rare transitional form in a continuous spectrum of possible immune reactions. It should also be borne in mind, as our observations have shown, that other underlying diseases such as diabetes mellitus, which also involve the kidney, can modify the finding in GN in such a way that no typical GN form can be recognized.

15. Foccally Accentuated Glomerulonephritis

Embolic, Purulent Focal Glomerulitis, and Thrombotic-Induced Glomerulonephritis

The diagnostics of this group of diseases is difficult at autopsy, and even more so in needle biopsy in which the problem is further complicated by scanty material consisting predominantly of cortical tissue. It is noted that it is especially the focally accentuated GN forms (FGN) in which the changes are frequently—and predominantly in the early stage—restricted to the corticomedullary region and hence easily elude biopsy.

Despite the inherent difficulties, every effort should be made to thoroughly assess biopsy material since it is often possible to establish the diagnosis of the underlying disease purely on the basis of morphologic findings (e.g., FGN in subacute bacterial endocarditis, Goodpasture's syndrome, Wegener's syndrome, embolic purulent focal glomerulitis, SLE, etc.).

Definition

FGN afflict, as seen under LM, only a part of the glomeruli (focal as contrasted to diffuse) and in an individual glomerulus, only a part of the loops (segmental as contrasted to global in diffuse GN, see also [685]). Furthermore, many cases of FGN evidence a disease course characterized by repeated attacks [620, 1711, 1797]. On the basis of this definition, we wish to emphasize the following four points:

- The only GN which merits the designation of genuine focal GN is embolic purulent glomerulitis. All other forms are better designated as focally accentuated GN, since in addition to segmental focal changes under LM, diffuse lesions are often encountered in EM [1399] or in IF [620, 816, 1136]. The borderline between diffuse GN and FGN is, accordingly, ill defined. It is very probable that mild cases of diffuse GN lead to late focal and segmental changes [410, 654] as has been demonstrated experimentally in Masugi nephritis [1785] under LM.
- 2. Morphologic signs of repeated clinically acute attacks may be absent due to healing or due to sampling error.

- 3. With progression of the disease—as a consequence of many attacks—a diffuse and panglomerular affliction may be present as in FGN in subacute bacterial endocarditis, Goodpasture's syndrome, SLE, etc. [689, 791].
- 4. The number of severely afflicted glomeruli is of prognostic significance (multi-/pauciglomerular affliction: [1064]).

Embolic, Purulent Focal Glomerulitis

Definition

Hematogenous bacterial or mycotic metastases to the glomerulus (the first kidney filter).

Incidence

This form is rarely seen in needle biopsy, with the exception of acute pyelonephritis with hematogenous dissemination (see p. 426). We encountered it in 341 out of 25,000 autopsies, i.e., 1.4%, and in 0.09% of renal biopsies.

Clinical Findings

In severe dissemination, sepsis or pyemia dominate the clinical picture, whereas in milder instances, pyuria, bacteruria, mild proteinuria, and hematuria are the constant symptoms.

LM Findings

The glomeruli function as the primary intrarenal filter and are therefore afflicted in massive hematogenous bacterial dissemination of high virulence and/or in decreased resistance, (Fig. 15.1). In less severe cases only the intertubular vessels (second filter) are involved. In a few glomeruli, isolated loops are filled with bacterial or fungal emboli and fibrin (Fig. 15.2). Mesangium, capsular space, neighboring loops, and periglomerular interstitium contain masses of polymorphonuclear leukocytes.

The initially segmental lesion is rapidly transformed into a global one by extension of the inflammation. In protracted disease, small abscesses develop which extend into the surroundings.

IF Findings

The IF findings are insignificant; thus, in one of our cases, the glomeruli were completely negative. In another case, focal-segmental distributed C3 was present uniquely in the periphery; fibrin(-ogen) was not present.

EM Findings

Capillary loops, capsular spaces, and the surrounding are heavily infiltrated with polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Loop necroses and BM interruptions are very common. Otherwise, loop BM and other glomerular elements are unaltered with the exception of severe degenerative changes in tissue near necrotic foci. In one of our cases, we encountered *Candida albicans* in the capsular space (Fig. 15.2, 15.3).

Differential Diagnosis

Differentiation from acute pyelonephritis with direct intrarenal spreading is necessary even though between these disease entities only quantitative differences are present. In pyelonephritis, coalescence of purulent foci is more extensive than in embolic, purulent glomerulitis where abscessing foci tend to be restricted to the glomeruli and to their immediate vicinity. Care must be used in not confusing changes arising in vivo with post-mortem intravascular bacterial overgrowth (Fig. 15.4).

Prognosis

In the presence of sepsis and pyemia, the prognosis depends on the underlying disease; otherwise with scanty glomerular dissemination, scarification is probably the rule i.e. prognosis is favorable.

One might suspect in bacteremia that a few such glomerular foci occur more frequently than is usually imagined. Since the implicated glomeruli are secondarily globally afflicted, the scar will be global and not segmental. It is known that chronic lesions (pyelonephritis) develop only from the foci associated with the second renal filter, the vasa recta spuria, whereas always—present isolated glomerular foci (primary filter) heal by glomerular obsolescence [1791]. Isolated obsolescent glomeruli with periglomerular fibrosis and intact blood vessels in biopsy and autopsy material could be, among other possibilities, the consequence of discrete hematogenous dissemination.

Pathogenesis and Etiology

Embolic, purulent FGN is a consequence of the hematogenous dissemination of virulent microorganisms of which strepto- and staphylococci are the most common (*E. coli* less so). Today, fungi have become relatively more frequent (14 out of 341:Z; Fig. 15.3).

In our autopsy material, 69 out of 341 cases were due to endocarditis ulcerosa or ulceropolyposa; 41 out of 341 cases developed postoperatively and 16 out of 341 cases were ascribable to infections associated with agranulocytosis. In 151 cases, the disseminating foci were not identified. Finally, immunopathologic processes are said to be involved [520].

Segmental-Focal Glomerulonephritis in Subacute Bacterial Endocarditis

Definition

This condition is a nonpurulent form of GN occurring in subacute bacterial endocarditis (endocarditis lenta) in association with capillary loop thrombosis (thrombocapillaritis Löhlein).

Incidence

In our autopsy material comprising 27,570 cases, we found 160 cases of bacterial endocarditis of which only 11 were FGN, in contrast to 69 cases of embolic purulent glomerulitis. There has been no obvious change in the incidence of FGN in subacute bacterial endocarditis during the last 20 years. In untreated cases of bacterial endocarditis the incidence of FGN is suspected to be about 30%. We are not aware of data relating to biopsy material.

Clinical Findings

Microhematuria appears, at the earliest, 6 weeks after onset of endocarditis. Macrohematuria is indicative of infarction. Proteinuria occurs in three-fourths of the patients and uremia in one fifth for which cardiac insufficiency may be involved as a prerenal factor. Hypertension is rarely encountered.



In the absence of therapy, diffuse GN may result from a relapsing disease course which can only be correctly interpreted in the presence of fresh FGN [612, 658].

LM Findings

A variable number of glomeruli contain eosinophilic thrombotic fibrillar masses (Fig. 15.5) which are usually restricted to one loop, and often covered by segmental crescents.

The capillary loop wall is generally necrotic and the BM partially destroyed. Severe cellular proliferation of the mesangium with accompanying infiltration of monocytoid cells and a few polymorphonuclear leukocytes is present and may be also seen in neighboring loops.

Tangential sections may bypass the thrombus and only include mesangial cell proliferation but we have never encountered complete absence of thrombi (7 out of 9: [612]) in our autopsy material. Diffuse, endotheliomesangial GN (Fig. 15.6) has been reported in a few cases ([47, 179]; 1 out of 8:Z); experimentally by presensitization with streptococcus viridans: [47]). Segmental scars and synechiae with Bowman's capsules are typical of older lesions. We were struck by the pronounced wideness of the fibrosed segmental crescents (Fig. 15.7).

Interstitial vessels show no specific changes, but extensive accompanying lympho-plasmocytic interstitial infiltrates and a usually patchy protein droplet storage in the proximal tubules is encountered.

⊲ Fig. 15.1. Embolic purulent focal glomerulitis: three afflicted glomeruli are shown which have been completely destroyed by leukocytes surrounding massive colonies of bacteria (→). Note two unchanged glomeruli (G). Cresyl violet (×90)

Fig. 15.2. Embolic purulent focal glomerulitis in candida albicans (*) pyemia in a 5-year old renal transplant. Female, 47 years. PAS (× 200)

Fig. 15.3. Same case as in Figure 15.2. Phagocytized candida spores in a monocytoid cell located in the lumen of an intertubular blood vessel. Female, 47 years. EM $(\times 10,970)$

Fig. 15.4. Massive bacterial colonies in glomerular capillary loops probably grown post mortem in panmyelopathy. Male, 7 years. HE ($\times 85$)

IF Findings

Ten cases of GN associated with subacute bacterial endocarditis reported up to now [179, 612, 823] showed, with IF, granular deposits of gamma globulin or IgG respectively and C3 in eight patients whereas two cases of diffuse GN were entirely negative [179].

EM Findings

In one case, we observed segmental loop obliteration with isolated osmiophilic deposits (Fig. 15.8). The capsular BM bordering the crescents was enormously thickened and riddled with degenerative granules and vacuoles or, it was split and revealed cellular permeation as well as formation of collagen (Fig. 15.9).

It is stated in the only report known to us in the literature that subepithelial deposits as well as occasional humps have been observed in association with staphylococcal endocarditis. In cases associated with streptococci, deposits are supposed to lie more subendothelially and intramembranously [612].

Differential Diagnosis

Differentiation from generalized intravasal coagulation is easy due to the smaller number of loop thrombi and the more pronounced inflammatory glomerular reaction in FGN associated with subacute bacterial endocarditis.

FGN occurring in Wegener's and Goodpasture's syndrome is characterized by a significantly more pronounced glomerular destruction.

The rare diffuse form of GN encountered in subacute bacterial endocarditis cannot be distinguished from common endotheliomesangial GN with LM.

Prognosis

In the pre-antibiotic era, uremia was occasionally observed in the presence of progressive affliction of all glomeruli ("secondary" diffuse GN). Usually, however, the patients succumb from cardiac failure or from embolic complications. If antibiotic therapy is used early enough, the lesion tends to heal with focal-segmental scars.

Pathogenesis

The lesion may be viewed as analogous to fibrin-rich subacute bacterial endocarditis, i.e. local thrombus formation caused by microorganisms (thrombocapillaritis),



but the EM and IF findings suggest involvement of immunologic reactions as well. Whether or not FGN in subacute bacterial endocarditis is a special form of immunocomplex disease [612] must surely await further clarification. This is so, even if thrombus-free glomeruli show hypercellularity [685] and the findings in kidney eluates of specific antibodies against the bacteria which caused endocarditis [951], do point in this direction. In addition to endocarditis, infected pulmonary vein thrombus or sepsis from lung cavitation may, in rare cases, be the underlying disease [1791].

Etiology

Among causative organisms, *Streptococcus viridans* is the most important followed by staphylococci.

The rarity with which proliferative FGN is encountered in autopsy material may be due not only to better therapeutic management but also to the change in the spectrum of causative microorganisms in endocarditis: in 77 cases (identification of more than one bacterium in 23 cases) of our autopsy material we have encountered the following microorganisms: *Staphylococcus aureus* haemolyticus 50%; S. viridans 11%; Pseudomonas aeruginosa 8%; E. coli 6%; Candida albicans 6%; Pneumococci 4%; Proteus 4%, others 11%.

Segmental-Focal Glomerulonephritis Associated With Generalized Intravasal Coagulation

The finding of sclerosing FGN after a period of time following assured clinical or bioptic identification of intravasal coagulation (3 out of 16 autopsy cases: Z) suggests that a significant number of such cases may arise in association with this process (see also [1047, 1654]).

Insidious and/or relapsing intravasal coagulation (e.g., thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura, microangiopathy, hemolytic uremic syndrome) along with its thereby-caused fibrin insudation [1690] initiate an inflammatory reaction of the proliferative type not only in arterial vessels but also in the glomeruli (Figs. 15.10, 15.11, 15.12). These changes are described in more detail on p. 499.

✓ Fig. 15.5. FGN in subacute bacterial endocarditis. Some glomerular capillary loops are necrotic and filled by compact-appearing fibrin thrombi (→). Slight proliferation of capsular epithelium. HE (×300)

Fig. 15.6. FGN in subacute bacterial endocarditis with diffuse glomerular involvement. The findings are those of diffuse endotheliomesangial GN in the proliferating-sclerosing stage. The only striking feature are the two obsolescent glomerular capillary loops with adhesion to the capsule (\rightarrow) . HE (×290)

Fig. 15.7. Sclerosing stage of GN in subacute bacterial endocarditis without diffuse glomerular affliction. Note extensive synechiae over obsolescent glomerular capillary loops. Slight periglomerular inflammation. Female, 52 years. PAS (\times 300)

Fig. 15.8. Same case as in Figure 15.7. Obsolescent glomerular capillary loops are covered by a segmental crescent rich in fibrillar material (*). Female, 52 years. EM (\times 3580)

Page 288

Fig. 15.9. Same case as in Figure 15.7. Capsular BM in sclerosing stage (\rightarrow) and proliferative-sclerosing stage (\rightarrow) of FGN. PAS gen fibers are present in the thickened and split BM, as well as a cell process (*). Capsule epithelium (*CE*). Female, 52 years. EM (\times 8000)

Fig. 15.10. Acute intravasal coagulation in septicemia with E. coli. Fibrin thrombi are seen in two glomerular loops (\rightarrow) . Note proliferation of capsular epithelium (*CR*). Female 37 years. PAS (×430)

Fig. 15.11. Hemolytic-uremic syndrome in a 64-year-old male patient with antierythrocyte antibodies and bronchial carcinoma. Two glomeruli showing recurrent attacks: exudative-proliferative stage (\rightarrow) and proliferative-sclerosing stage (\rightarrow) of FGN. PAS ($\times 200$)

Fig. 15.12. Sclerosing stage of FGN 2.5 months after severe intravasal coagulation. Synechia (SY) is present over the obsolescent glomerular capillary loops. Male, 37 years. PAS (\times 500)



Segmental-Focal Proliferative and Sclerosing Glomerulonephritis Focal-Global Sclerosing Glomerulonephritis and Overload Glomerulitis

Segmental-Focal Proliferative Glomerulonephritis (Proliferative FGN)

Definition

In this group of lesions, all forms of segmental-focal FGN are considered which are not associated with purulent embolism or intravasal coagulation. It is noted that segmental-focal proliferative GN is essentially a diffuse GN which simulates in LM a segmental-focal lesion. The segmental glomerular lesions are characterized by subendothelial deposits and BM doubling with mesangial interposition and occasionally loop necrosis. The segmental glomerular lesions are often covered by segmental crescents. Focal means that the nonsegmentally changed glomeruli show no or minimal glomerular lesions [621].

In addition, we include in this group cases showing the above-mentioned segmental glomerular changes and, in the other glomeruli, more pronounced mesangial proliferation (GN with focal-segmental mesangiocapillary changes: [840a]; focal membranoproliferative GN: [621]). We felt entitled to enlarge this group of GN, since there are no differences with respect to the more restricted definition as far as intraglomerular deposit distribution and its major consequences are concerned. Further, after regression of diffuse proliferation, the morphologic picture will be that of segmental-focal GN in the stricter sense [163, 281, 595].

Nosology

Three different stages: exudative, proliferative, proliferative-sclerosing, different degrees of mesangial involvement, as well as forms without crescents and with less than 50% crescents can be differentiated. A sclerosing phase of this form cannot be differentiated with certainty from segmental-focal sclerosing FGN.

Incidence

The incidence of this GN varies considerably from investigator to investigator (see Table 15.1) between 3.3% and 32.1% of all GN. If "genuine focal GN" is considered alone, the series of one investigator group [163a] Table 15.1. Relative frequency of segmental-focal proliferative glomerulonephritis including systemic diseases, ()=without glomerular minimal changes^a

Cameron (1973) [242 b]	2.1%	(3.3%)
Churg and Duffy (1973) [277]	7.2%	(8.7%)
Habib (1973) [621]	8.3%	(16.3%)
Hamburger et al. (1971) [654]	8.4%	(10.6%)
Bohle et al. (1976) [163a] ^a	9.6%	(16.9%)
Zollinger and Mihatsch	17.3%	(22.6%)
Morel-Maroger et al. (1973) [1137a]	25.6%	(32.1%)
Germuth and Rodriguez (1973) [544]	31.3%	(46.0%)

^a For total number of cases in different series, see Table 14.1.

gave the incidence as 1.9% in all GN (also: 13%: [689]; 15.7%: [409]).

Male patients are far more frequently afflicted than females (2.2:1:Z; see also [621, 163A]; 1:1: [405]) and all age groups are equally involved [405].

Clinical Findings

(Tables 14.3, 14.5, Fig. 15.13)

The disease frequently begins as typical acute GN (Table 14.5). In more than 40% of the patients it follows an infection—usually situated in the upper respiratory tract—or manifests itself frequently in the course of systemic diseases, e.g., SLE, Schönlein-Henoch's purpura, etc. (24-42%: [621, 1309]). Initial macrohematuria is characteristic, even though other symptoms of acute GN are absent. On the other hand, oligo-anuria is rarely observed at disease onset. Proteinuria is present in about 75% of the patients, edema in 40%, and hypertension in 25% at the initial clinical examination.

The disease usually exhibits a stationary course (see also [620]; contra: [1722]). The leading symptoms at the time of diagnosis are proteinuria and hematuria which are present in more than 50% of the patients.

Also typical is the occurrence of a nephrotic syndrome associated with hematuria which is observed in about 20% of the patients. The high incidence of proteinuria and hematuria has been confirmed by others (82%: [621]) while nephrotic syndrome with hematuria was observed in only 10% of cases. An isolated nephrotic syndrome [621], isolated proteinuria or hematuria or the absence of any urine findings whatsoever are, however, uncharacteristic.

Hypertension is encountered in about 30% (children: 13%: [621]) of the patients and hyperazotemia in about 50%. Complement is rarely decreased (12%). The antistreptolysin titer is raised in about 25% of the cases. Respiratory infections are reported in the literature in 24–42% of the cases [621, 1309].



LM Findings

The overall phasic development of the glomerular changes is essentially the same as described in endotheliomesangial GN, but the segmental and – partly less so – focal character is clearly evident (Figs. 15.14, 15.15). Segmental-focal distributed loop necroses accompanied by focally increased polymorphonuclear leukocytes or frank increase of mesangial cells – and later also of the matrix – are found according to the stage of the change under investigation (Figs. 17.1, 17.15, 17.16). It is noted that in the proliferative and proliferative-sclerosing stages, BM doubling with mesangial interposition in the region of the subendothelial deposits is practically always demonstrable in the particularly severely changed loop segments. The other glomeruli show minimal mesangial changes.

In other cases, rather intense axial-mesangial proliferation in the nonsegmentally changed glomeruli is seen. We assign these cases also to proliferative FGN since they can develop into this form in the strict sense following regression of the diffuse proliferative changes (see also [163, 281, 595]). The purely proliferative stage was encountered usually after 12 weeks duration of illness (range: 1–250 weeks), the proliferative-sclerosing stage after 50 weeks (range:2–850 weeks).

Segmental (partial) crescents covering the most severely damaged loops are a very frequent finding which was present in our material in more than 50% of cases (Fig. Fig. 15.13. Profile of symptoms and clinical findings in proliferative FGN White columns: Relative frequency of symptom/finding in all GN Black columns: Relative frequency in proliferative FGN Asterisks indicate characteristic findings for proliferative FGN: *: characteristic **: very characteristic

***: highly characteristic; DC: disease course

9.99). Fibrosed crescents and proliferating crescents occurring side by side reflect an attack-like course (Fig. 15.16).

IF Findings

IgG, IgM, and C3 are found in about the same frequency, while fibrin(-ogen) or IgA occur less often (see Table 15.2). IgG shows a predominantly diffuse and global distribution, while IgM, C3, and fibrin(-ogen) can also evidence a focal-segmental distribution pattern. If systemic diseases and IgA nephritis are not considered, IgM and C3 are more frequently found than IgG; IgA and fibrin(-ogen) are found still less frequently.

For the most part, the granular deposits are distributed only peripherally or mesangially and peripherally. A similar involvement of the glomeruli with C3, occasionally in association with IgM, IgG and fibrin(-ogen) was reported in another series of cases [1136, 1139]. In 1 out of 3 of the cases from these series, IF findings were completely negative [1139]; we have not encountered IFnegative cases.

EM Findings

The findings are not essentially different from those encountered in the diffuse forms (Fig. 15.17). The glomeruli



					_
	IgG	IgM	IgA	C3	Fibrin- (-ogen)
Cases tested	33 (22)	33 (22)	24 (16)	33 (22)	33 (22)
Positive	25 (14)	30 (20)	13 (5)	32 (21)	12 (6)
Diffuse	16 (7)	12 (4)	7 (1)	18 (11)	7 (3)
Focal	9 (7)	18 (16)	6 (4)	14 (10)	5 (3)
Global	20 (11)	17 (9)	8 (1)	22 (14)	6 (3)
Segmental	5 (3)	13 (11)	5 (4)	10 (7)	6 (3)
Peripheral	13	14	6	14	6
	(8)	(11)	(4)	(11)	(3)
Peripheral and mesangial	11	14	6	12	4
	(5)	(7)	(1)	(5)	(2)
Mesangial	1 (1)	2 (2)	1	6 (5)	2 (1)

Table 15.2. IF findings in segmental-focal proliferative glomerulonephritis (n=33; positive=33)

() Without inclusion of IgA nephritis [4], Schönlein-Henoch's purpura [4] and SLE [3 cases].

Frequency of combination for the cases () without inclusion of IgA: Ig(G,M) + C3 = 8 times; Ig(G,M) + C3, fibrin(-ogen) = 5 times; IgM + C3 = 5 times; others 4 times.

show hypertrophy and swelling of the endothelium (Fig. 15.18) and usually swelling of the podocytes and a fusion of foot processes which is of varying severity. Mesangial cell proliferation and matrix increase — depending on the stage — are present in practically all cases in variable degree and are found in nonsegmentally changed glome-ruli as well as deposits in various locations (see below).

Glomeruli with segmental changes are characterized by an especially pronounced mesangial cell proliferation which is in the proliferative-sclerosing stage accompanied by a marked mesangial matrix increase. Furthermore, complete obliteration of the glomerular loops by proliferated mesangial cell elements is frequently present. In about three-fourths of our cases, we encountered mesangial interposition and new formation of BM subendothelially (Fig. 15.19) which were restricted to the segmentally changed glomeruli. Mesangial interposition occurs mainly in the region of the larger subendothelial deposits (38 out of 54:Z; Fig. 15.20). Additionally, deposits are also frequently found along mesangial BM (26 out of 54:Z), in mesangial matrix (22 out of 54:Z) and intramembranously (20 out of 54:Z). Subepithelial deposits (10 out of 54:Z) and humps (10 out of 54:Z) are considerably less frequent. Unspecific BM damage is usually encountered (Fig. 15.21)-also in nonsegmentally affected glomeruli. For further EM details see Figures 6.9, 6,22, 6.34, 6.57, 6.64, 6.80, 6.88.

The segmental crescents, which especially frequently develop over the severely afflicted loop segments, are identically to those described for the diffuse forms of GN (see p. 218).

Differential Diagnosis

In the presence of proliferative FGN, attention should be initially directed to systemic disease (e.g., Schönlein-Henoch's syndrome, SLE) or to IgA nephritis, the diagnosis of which depends on IF examination.

The diagnosis of proliferative FGN and its differentiation from diffuse forms of GN is generally easy. In proliferative FGN—and especially with low-power magnification—it is typically seen that only scattered, individual glomeruli are afflicted with segmental changes only, and that segmental crescents frequently lie over the afflicted loop segments.

However, in all cases in which proliferative changes are more pronounced in the other glomeruli and in which the picture of diffuse GN is simulated, demonstration of focal-segmental loop obliteration and subendothelial deposits (Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain) with mesangial interposition and BM doubling will permit diagnosis of proliferative FGN.

Occasionally, diffuse endotheliomesangial GN may simulate proliferative FGN when only a few glomeruli demonstrate extracapillary crescents. In such cases, however, global crescents predominate in endotheliomesangial GN as contrasted to proliferative FGN in which segmental crescents are dominant. Although subendothelial deposits are observed exceptionally in endotheliomesangial GN, mesangial interposition is not associated with them.

Decision is more difficult in cases in which diffuse extracapillary crescents are present. In these instances, diagnosis of primary FGN is often only possible by the EM demonstration of focal-segmental distribution of subendothelial deposits and mesangial interposition. But since this differentiation—especially in advanced cases is hardly ever possible using LM alone, we allocate this form with more than 50% of glomerular involvement to extracapillary accentuated GN.

Fig. 15.17. Proliferative FGN. In the glomerulus, only two capilary loops (\rightarrow) exhibit endothelial proliferation and an isolated polymorphonuclear leukocyte. No deposits are present. Male, 24 years. EM (×2100)

Fig. 15.18. Proliferative FGN: highly activated endothelial cells (E) in a glomerulus that is not segmentally afflicted, occasionally evidencing ballooning (*). Mesangial cells are likewise activated and swollen (M). Podocytes are edematous but without noteworthy foot process fusion. BM is unchanged. Male, 43 years. EM ($\times 6090$)





Differentiation with respect to diffuse membranoproliferative GN is usually not difficult (although the different morphologic parameters—subendothelial deposits, BM doubling with mesangial interposition—are identical) since in membranoproliferative GN, subendothelial deposits (under LM) and BM doubling with mesangial interposition are diffusely and globally distributed. Furthermore, mesangial interposition is more often circumferential in diffuse membranoproliferative GN than it is in proliferative FGN in which usually only a part of the loop is afflicted.

Differentiation of proliferative FGN from sclerosing FGN poses no problems since in the latter, proliferation that is always generally evident in proliferative FGN, is practically absent. On the other hand, the purely sclerosing stage of proliferative FGN cannot readily be differentiated, in our opinion, from sclerosing FGN although crescents are not an integral part of the latter disease.

No difficulty should be experienced in distinguishing FGN from epi- and intramembranous GN.

Prognosis

Prognosis varies considerably. The overall survival rate (Table 15.3) in our cases without crescents for 10 years is 58%, whereas for those with crescents (<50%) 36%. Claims for cure oscillate between 5.8% [409] and 28.9% (children: [620]). Cure was observed in our cases without crescents in 18.7% compared to only 8.7% in those with crescents (<50%). In the majority of cases (78.3%), the clinical symptoms and the morphologic picture (68.3%) persist [620]; (see also [407, 1068, 1309]). Death due to uremia was found in 20% of cases without and, in 41.6% with crescents (Table 15.3). Morphologic parameters closely related to the prognosis are crescents (see Table 15.3) and interstitial and tubular changes [405].

✓ Fig. 15.19. Proliferative-sclerosing FGN. There is obvious mesangial interposition in glomerular capillary loop periphery with formation of a new second BM subendothelially. These changes have given rise to massive thickening of glomerular capillary loop wall (→←). Activated mesangial cells. Edematous and hypertrophied podocytes. Male, 18 years. EM (×4140)

Fig. 15.20. Same case as in Figure 15.19. Extensive subendothelial deposits (*D*) with mesangial interposition and formation of a new second BM (\rightarrow). Fusion of podocytic foot processes (*FP*). Male, 18 years. EM (×13,100)

Fig. 15.21. Proliverative FGN. Considerable loosening of the lamina rara interna (\rightarrow) . The endothelium is highly activated and demonstrates arcade formation (\rightarrow) . Tubular structures are seen in the endothelial cytoplasm (*). Complete foot process fusion is present. Male, 63 years. EM (×16,600)

Table 15.3. Prognosis and outcome in segmental-focal proliferative glomerulonephritis

Prognosis	Survival rate (%)				
	5 years	10 years	15 years		
Without crescents		. <u></u>			
From disease onset	84	58	_		
SE ^a	5.3	9.6			
From biopsy	75	56	_		
SE ^a	6.9	10.5	—		
With crescents (<50%)					
From disease onset	67	36	33		
SE ^a	6.3	9.3	9.6		
From biopsy	54	31	_		
SE ^a	6.6	7.3			

^a SE = standard error in %.

Outcome (minimal follow up 1 year)

Patients	Without crescents	With crescents < 50%	
	n = 48	n = 60	
Death	29.2%	56.6%	
Death in uremia	20.8%	41.6%	
Complete remission	18.7%	8.3%	

Pathogenesis

In general, the lesion is considered as diffuse GN in which changes in LM are predominantly segmental and focal. The diffuseness of the IF findings in the majority of cases supports this point of view (see also [1186]; see Table 15.2). Pathogenetically, the following factors are involved: deposition of poorly soluble immunocomplexes (class 2 immunocomplexes = mesangiopathic type: [544]); duration and extent of immunocomplex deposition; local factors, e.g., mesangial transport and phagocytic capability.

The last two factors mentioned probably play an especially important role since even poorly soluble immunocomplexes can be completely taken up in the mesangium without coming to lie in the periphery if their deposition is of short duration and of low concentration. On the other hand, when such complexes are deposited in large amounts or over a long time, the mesangial transport and phagocytic capability can be exceeded (at least in some glomeruli) and the complexes come to lie in the subendothelial space where they give rise to mesangial proliferation into the capillary lumen and to BM doubling with mesangial interposition [544]. This could explain the segmental and focal character under LM.

Accordingly, in contrast to membranoproliferative GN in which poorly soluble immunocomplexes also play a role, it appears that mesangial clearance function is of greater significance. This is supported by the fact that, as opposed to membranoproliferative GN in which—in the early proliferative stage—immunocomplexes are exclusively found in the loop periphery, in proliferative FGN, immunocomplexes are already found within the mesangium even in the proliferative stage.

On the other hand, the more frequent occurrence of loop necrosis in proliferative FGN indicates qualitative differences among the immunocomplexes. Experimental findings indicate that insoluble immunocomplexes may also play a pathogenetic role in proliferative FGN ([520; contra: [544]). Finally, all questions relating to complement activation, participation of properdin, the role of the C3 nephritic factor and similar factors remain unanswered in proliferative FGN, so that a clear-cut distinction from diffuse membranoproliferative GN cannot yet be drawn (compare histogram Fig. 6.34).

Etiology

It seems that streptococcal infections rarely give rise to this form of FGN. A few cases have been described in association with acute rheumatic polyarthritis [598] and malaria (11 out of 77:[828]). Furthermore, the lesion has been reported in heroin addicts suffering from staphylococcal endocarditis [1425] and in association with

Table 15.4. Etiology of segmental-focal proliferative glomerulonephritis (n = 120)

Bacteria: 5%	 Scarlet fever Streptococcal and staphylococcal empyema Streptococcal erysipelas Staphylococcal abscess S. albus shunt nephritis Coli-endocarditis
Virus: 4.2%	 Mumps Mononucleosis infectiosa Cytomegalovirus Rubella Hongkong-virus influenza
Systemic disease: 18.3%	 Schönlein-Henoch's syndrome (11×) Lupus erythematodes disseminatus (11×)
16.6%	 IgA nephritis (based on IF investigates cases)
Etiology unknown $\approx 55\%$.	

subacute bacterial endocarditis [179]. The etiologic factors possibly operative in our cases are summarized in Table 15.4; they substantiate the commonly held view that the majority of cases with known etiology are due to systemic diseases or IgA nephritis (see Chap. 17). Of 120 patients, 22 suffered from systemic disease, e.g., SLE or Schönlein-Henoch's purpura (see also [544]). IgA nephritis comprises 16.6% of the IF-investigated cases. FGN is also frequently encountered in hypersensitivity angitis [794a]; see p. 536. Scattered cases developed after streptococcal, staphylococcal, and a variety of viral infections. In about half the cases, the possible etiology could not be determined.

Segmental-Focal Sclerosing Glomerulonephritis (Sclerosing FGN)

Definition

This form of FGN is essentially a diffuse GN [1401] simulating, in LM, a segmental-focal lesion with the predominant feature of segmental-focal sclerosis. We consider segmental-focal hyalinosis [620] with massive fibrinoid deposition in the loop periphery, which was previously distinguished from segmental-focal sclerosing GN, to be merely a variation of this sclerosing form (see also [741, 1401]) as is focal-global sclerosing GN (see also [630, 1055]).

Synonyms see Table 13.2.

Incidence

In overall biopsy material this form has been reported with an incidence of 4.5% [277], 2.2% [163, 1312, 1313], 3.3% [741] and of 6.2% (Z). In pediatric biopsies the incidence is given as 5.4% [621]. The incidence among GN in general varies between 5.1% and 18.6% (Table 15.5; 9.4% [43]).

Table 15.5. Relative incidence of segmental-focal sclerosing glomerulonephritis, ()=without glomerular minimal change^a

Bohle et al. (1976) [163a]	2,9%	(5.1%)
Cameron (1973) [242b]	6.4%	(10.1%)
Morel-Maroger et al. (1973) [1137a]	7.3%	(9.2%)
Habib (1973) [621]	8.2%	(16.1%)
Churg and Duffy (1973) [277]	8.6%	(10.4%)
Zollinger and Mihatsch (1975)	14.4%	(18.6%)

^a No data available from [544] and [654]. For total number of cases in different series, see Table 14.1.

Males are—according to some investigators—more afflicted than females; 2:1 [629], 1.3–1.5:1 [163, 558, 1102], 1.5:1 (Z). Other investigators report males and females to be equally affected [244] and still others a predominance of females [1732]. In children, the lesion appears in 63% of patients before the fifth year of life [621]; in our material, the pediatric age group was statistically less often affected than the adult. The highest incidence was found in young adults between 20 and 40 years (21 years: [770]); 54% of the patients were younger than 30 years (see Table 14.3).

Clinical Findings

(Tables 14.3, 14.4, 14.5, Fig. 15.22)

The first clinical symptom is proteinuria which is usually accompanied by microhematuria [244]. In children, fullscale NS—associated with hematuria in about 50% of the cases—is generally present at disease onset [630]. In our material, 70% of the patients evidence proteinuria and about 30% hematuria of which half is manifested as macrohematuria (10–20% macrohematuria: [244, 630, 1732]. Initial hypertension was noted in 22% of our cases (34%: [244]). The disease manifested itself in 29% of patients [630] following an infection usually in the upper respiratory tract (31%:Z). Rarely, the disease may begin with typical signs of acute GN (see Table 14.6; 3 out of 22: [1732]). The further course of the disease is variable. In addition to stationary and progressive courses, cases proceeding with attacks were characteristic (40%: Z; 38%: [630]). Attacks are rarely characterized by episodes of macrohematuria (4%: Z; 1 out of 34: [244]; 1 out of 22: [1732]). Far more typical are repeated attacks of nephrotic syndrome ([1732]; 20 out of 88: [630]).

At the time of (bioptical) diagnosis, about two-thirds of the patients evidence nephrotic syndrome which is usually accompanied by microhematuria [407, 630, 770, 1401, 1430, 1732]. The other patients have proteinuria and microhematuria. The nephrotic syndrome is said to be more frequent in children than in adults [1189b]. Isolated proteinuria or nephrotic syndrome are rare ([1732]; 10 out of 98: [630]). Contrary to these findings, we encountered proteinuria in only 65% of our patients in whom nephrotic syndrome was present in one-third. The proteinuria was accompanied by hematuria in onehalf of the cases (Fig. 15.22). Isolated hematuria occured in 14% but was rarely in the form of macrohematuria (Fig. 15.22). Hypertension increases in frequency during the course of the disease (36.6% : Z; 12 out of 22: [1732];7 out of 17: [558]; 5 out of 24: [1430]). Hyperazotemia, which is already present at disease onset in some patients (12 out of 88: [630]), becomes more frequent during the course of the disease (32.7%:Z, see also [630]). Acute irreversible renal failure has seldom been reported [1307 a]. In general, normocomplementemia is encountered (Fig. 15.22; see also [244, 630, 1732]).



Fig. 15.22. Profile of symptoms and clinical findings in sclerosing FGN

White columns: Relative frequency of symptom/finding in all GN

Black columns: Relative frequency in sclerosing FGN

Asterisks indicate characteristic findings for sclerosing FGN:

*: characteristic

**: very characteristic

***: highly characteristic; DC: disease course

completely unchanged. Male, 56 years. PAS (×310)



15.23 15.24 Familial occurrence of the disease has been repeatedly observed [630, 1430, 1469a].

LM Findings

The segmental-glomerular changes are mainly pronounced in the juxtamedullary zone (see also [770, 1055, 1068]) and have been reported in 11 out of 64 pediatric cases as occurring exclusively in this zone [630]. Since this lesion does not involve all glomeruli, we suggest serial sections to avoid erronous classification of these cases as glomerular minimal change and to provide more reliable quantitative data.

The most striking feature is either segmental sclerosis, which extends from the glomerular hilus (Figs. 15.23, 16.4), or hyalinosis (giant fibrinoid deposits, Fig. 15.24, see also [1659]) with segmental loop obsolescence and endothelial or mesangial foam cells (see also [407]).

Fat vacuoles are often recognizable in giant deposits. Synechiae are frequently encountered over the changed loops (Fig. 15.21). In cases with numerous giant deposits, we often find BM doubling with mesangial interposition [1140]. Even in the early disease stage, glomeruli with giant deposits do not show obvious mesangial cell increase greater then minimal insular mesangial hypercellularity (Fig. 15.24).

The rest of the glomeruli which, at first glance, may appear unaffected, often demonstrate a minimal, insular, mesangial hypercellularity and matrix increase upon closer examination (Fig. 15.25; see also [621, 741]). Completely obsolescent glomeruli are sometimes considerably disintegrated and show blurred contours (Fig. 15.26).

In the interstitium, we found isolated nests of foam cells and a constant—if patchy—but often disproportionally severe fibrosis with scanty lymphocytic infiltrates. In the presence of larger fibrinoid deposits, they were of a lympho-plasmocytic character. Patchy tubular atrophy with BM thickening is nearly always present (see also 1068).

IF Findings

Besides negative findings, deposits of IgM and/or C3 in focal-segmental distribution (Fig. 15.27), which are sometimes finely and sometimes coarsely granular and also comma-shaped, are frequently seen peripherally or peripherally and mesangially [179, 321, 630, 741, 1139, 1607] (see Table 15.6). Positive findings for IgG are rather rare (Table 15.6; 2 out of 10: [1139]; see also [1607, 1659]).

Frequent linear deposition of IgM, complement or IgG has also been reported [1607]. In heroin addicts, a partly linear staining pattern [1018] or massive granular deposition of IgM and C3 were observed [1554].

	IgG	IgM	IgA	C′3	Fibrin(-ogen)
Cases tested Positive	12 4	12 9	8 0	12 9	12 1
Diffuse Focal	2 2	3 6		4 5	1 0
Global Segmental	2 2	2 7		1 8	0 1
Peripheral	2	2		4	_
Mesangial and peripheral	1	5		4	1
Mesangial	1	2		1	-

Table 15.6. IF findings in segmental-focal sclerosing glomeru-

lonephritis (n = 12, positive = 11)

Page 300

Fig. 15.26. Sclerosing FGN. Completely obsolescent and partially destroyed glomerulus. Extensive inflammatory infiltration of the surroundings is characteristic for this lesion. Male, 48 years. PAS (\times 360)

Fig. 15.27. Pronounced segmental deposits of C3 in sclerosing FGN. Only a few deposits are also present in other segments (\rightarrow) . Male, 32 years. IF (×400)

Fig. 15.28. Sclerosing FGN. There is severe thickening of the BM in the region of the afflicted glomerular capillary loops. Isolated subendothelial deposits (\rightarrow) are present as well as considerable activation of mesangial cells (*M*) and edematous swelling of podocytes with foot process (*FP*) fusion. Male, 56 years. EM (\times 3320)

Page 301

Fig. 15.29. Segmental glomerular capillary loop collapse with severe wrinkling of the BM in sclerosing FGN. Female, 66 years. EM (\times 8680)

Fig. 15.30. Sclerosing FGN. These findings are the equivalent to those seen in Figure 15.24. Massive peripheral hyaline giant deposits (D) with synechia and extensive vacuolar degeneration containing lipids (*). Capsular basement membrane (CBM), capsular epithelium (CE), fibrillar-permeated capsular exudate (FI). Original glomerular capillary loop BM (\rightarrow). Male, 23 years. EM (\times 3500)

Fig. 15.31. Sclerosing FGN. Isolated subendothelial deposit (*D*) with a translucent halo due to resolution. Numerous total interruptions of glomerular capillary loop BM are present (\rightarrow). Massive thickening of lamina rara interna (\neg) and areas of splitting of the lamina densa (*) are seen. Male, 11 years. EM (\times 9460)





15.29 15.30



EM Findings

The podocytes evidence severe fusion of foot processes, vacuoles and hyaline droplets in the region of the changed loops (Figs. 15.28–15.30; see also [597]). Other investigators maintain that all loops exhibit these changes [1659], a finding which we could only confirm in half of our cases. Endothelial foam cells were present in 2 out of 20 of our cases and 3 out of 20 showed marked protein storage in addition to endothelial hypertrophy and arcade formation in about half the cases. In completely obsolescent glomerular segments (see also [741]) only isolated deposits can be encountered.

Obsolescence of individual loops only is very common, (Figs. 15.28, 6.50) and they sometimes exhibit typical secondary collapse changes (Fig. 15.29). Giant deposits lie subendothelially [770, 1189a] in the periphery of the loop (Fig. 15.30; 8 out of 20:Z). Intramembranous deposits (Fig. 15.31; [741]) were found in our material in 10 out of 20 cases, deposits along the mesangial BM in 5 out of 20, and in the mesangial matrix in 5 out of 20 [1189a]. Subepithelial deposits are always absent.

Lipid vacuoles are frequent in the center of giant subendothelial deposits (Fig. 15.30; see also [1401]). BM thickening and mesangial matrix increase (Fig. 15.32) are very pronounced in the afflicted loop segments [281, 846, 1177]. We found a slight mesangial cell increase-in neighboring loops-in 16 out of 20 cases, a finding not confirmed by others [1732]. BM doubling with mesangial interposition was seen in 10 out of 20 cases, whereas BM defects (Figs. 15.33, 15.34, 6.55) were rare. We noted focal thickening of the lamina rara interna in 13 out of 20 of our cases (Figs. 15.31, 15.33; see also [596]). Degradation granules are predominant in obsolescent loops, (Figs. 15.35, 15.36). Nonsegmentally affected glomeruli show minimal insular mesangial hypercellularity and matrix increase (Fig. 15.37; see also [1400, 1401]). Tubular and interstitial changes correspond to those described under LM.

✓ Fig. 15.32. Sclerosing FGN with isolated endothelial (?) foam cells (F). Between the podocytes and BM of obsolescent glomerular capillary loops, newly formed fibrillar material is present (*). In addition to mesangial deposits (→) isolated subendothelial deposits (→) are present. There is pronounced mesangial matrix increase and slight mesangial cell increase. Partly hypertrophied podocytes demonstrate dilated endoplasmatic reticulum, large vacuoles, and lipid droplets (near—▷). Male, 18 years. EM (×2010)

Differential Diagnosis

Consideration must be given to so-called overload glomerulitis (see p. 308) in pyelonephritis (Figs. 15.38–15.41), to segmental obsolescence in hypertension and sequelae of intravasal coagulation and to Alport's syndrome. In the latter, segmental glomerular sclerosis (Fig. 23.27) is a frequent finding in advanced stages, but only rarely in association with giant fibrinoid deposits. Finally, isolated glomeruli with segmental obsolescence are found in children without any renal dysfunction [872 b].

Thus, the morphologic picture of sclerosing FGN is not specific although the association of segmental glomerular sclerosis (obsolescence) and interstitial inflammation is characteristic. Accordingly, the diagnosis must be based on clinical data. To rule out other diseases, e.g. Alport's syndrome, EM investigation is urgently needed. EM investigation also allows exclusion of purely hypoxic damage which is suggested by collapse changes in the afflicted loop segments in sclerosing FGN. This exclusion is possible due to the absence of hypoxic changes in the nonsegmentally changed loops and the unaffected glomeruli. In our opinion, there are no reliable morphologic parameters for the delineation of the sclerosing stage of proliferative FGN from sclerosing FGN although the presence of numerous sclerosed crescents is indicative of the former. There are no problems in the differentiation of sclerosing FGN from other GN.

Prognosis

In general, prognosis is poor. Depending on the followup time, 25–50% (100%:1055) procede to renal insufficiency [43, 621, 629, 1102, 1659, 1732]. The progression is said to be more rapid in adults than in children [1189b]. The 10-year survival rate of our patients was 57% (see Table 15.7). Among our 89 patients followed for longer than 1 year, about 40% died, 30% of uremia, and only 8.9% are in complete remission.

Transition into focal-global sclerosis and ultimately to findings of end stage kidney appear to be typical on the basis of evidence from five sequential biopsies [741].

Prognosis seems to be all the poorer the more severely the interstitial changes are developed [782] and the more the glomeruli exhibit segmental sclerosis and hyalinosis [872 b]. Relapses in renal transplants are reported [720, 1020]; 2 out of 3: [1659]; contra: 0 out of 2: [321]).

Pathogenesis and Etiology

Some investigators view the lesion as a unique disease entity [621, 635, 558, 1055], e.g., as a noninflammatory



Fig. 15.33. Glomerular capillary loop periphery in sclerosing FGN. Mesangial interposition (*M*) with massive new formation of a second subendothelial basement membrane (*BM*) are present. Remnants of a very small subendothelial osmiophilic deposit can be recognized (\rightarrow). Numerous translucent areas (*) partly with degradation granules are present in the wrinkled BM. There is also endothelial (*E*) edema and almost complete fusion of podocytic foot processes. Male, 54 years. EM (×9460)

Fig. 15.34. Severe damage (\rightarrow) of the peripheral glomerular BM in sclerosing FGN. Note hypertrophy of endothelium (*E*) and complete fusion of podocytic foot processes as well as increased osmiophilic substance. Female, 36 years. EM (×18,000)

Table 15.7.	Prognosis an	d outcome in	ı segmental-	focal sc	lerosing
glomerulon	ephritis				

Prognosis	Survival rate (%)					
	5 years	10 years	15 years			
From disease onset SE ^a	77 4.3	57 5.7	52 6.0			
From biopsy SE ^a	64 5.5	42 6.9	37 7.3			
^a SE = standard error in 6 <i>Outcome</i> (minimal follow	%. y up 1 year)					
Patients	n=89					
Death Death in uremia Complete remission	39.3% 29.2% 8.9%					

Fig. 15.35. Obsolescent peripheral glomerular capillary loop in \triangleright sclerosing FGN. Lamina densa is obviously thickened and unclearly delimited on its inner aspect where masses of oval virus-like structures are present. Partial foot process fusion is present. Male, 54 years. EM (\times 30,000)

Fig. 15.36. An obsolescent peripheral glomerular capillary loop with a wrinkled and thickened basement membrane (*BM*). A loose newly formed fibrillar material is present between the BM and podocyte (*). Foam cells with numerous myelin structures and lipid vacuoles are seen in a foam cell in the original glomerular capillary loop lumen. Male, 32 years. EM (\times 7250)

Fig. 15.37. Sclerosing FGN: sectors appearing practically unchanged in LM show under EM an increase of the mesangial matrix and even more slightly of mesangial cells (*M*), i.e., glome-rular minimal change. A single subendothelial osmiophilic deposit near the mesangium (\rightarrow) is present. Capsular epithelial cells are scarcely changed. Podocytes are highly edematous without foot process fusion. Male, 53 years. EM (\times 2830)





loop collapse with obliteration [596, 1484] in which the subendothelial deposits are considered to arise from purely insudative processes [741] or as a primary podocyte change proceeding with degeneration and detachment from the BM [597]. Other investigators, however, hold that segmental-focal sclerosing FGN is an expression of prior diffuse GN which resolved with focal scarring [163, 281, 595]. Thus, sequential biopsies have shown that segmental sclerosis can develop from 6 months to 8 years after diffuse endotheliomesangial GN, as we have observed in one of our own cases (see also [621, 630]). Four of our patients with this lesion had a history of clinically acute GN (see Table 14.5; see also [409, 1791]).

Sclerosing FGN can arise with malaria (11 out of 27: [828]; 1 out of 73: [1732]; see also [1140]). It is also found associated with acute rheumatic fever ([130, 598, 1068, 1158; contra: [207]) and in heroin addicts (7 out of 11: [1554, 1018]; 20 out of 23: [579a]). Among our patients, sclerosing FGN was preceded once each by staphylococcal abscess, streptococcal angina, viral hepatitis, herpes virus infection, Schönlein-Henoch's purpura, and was encountered twice in SLE. But, in 92.6%, no etiologic factor could be found. On the other hand, observations of segmental-sclerosing changes following intravasal coagulation [1047], etc. show that other conditions besides immunocomplex GN can lead to this picture. Whether or not the lesion is progressive in these cases, however, is not known.

In our opinion, there is unequivocal evidence that some cases of segmental-focal sclerosing GN develop from diffuse or proliferative FGN. This is further substantiated by the fact that in some cases, IgG can be demonstrated intraglomerularly with IF. But the greater part may possibly be the result of metabolic or as yet other unknown factors injurious to the glomerulus. The main IF findings of IgM and C3 in these cases are possibly due to insudative processes and, as such, do not necessarily indicate an immunologic basis of the disease [1399, 1400, 1401]. The podocytic changes described are probably the result but not the cause of the disease [597]. The fact that relapses in renal transplants were observed (see p. 610) suggests the presence of a circulating humoral or cellular damaging factor.

The relationship between glomerular minimal change and segmental-focal sclerosing GN is not clear. It has repeatedly been observed in sequential biopsies that the first biopsy shows only glomerular minimal change whereas further biopsies exhibit segmental-focal sclerosing GN. This is no proof for the transition of the former into the latter even if serial sections are done, since segmental-focal sclerosing GN starts in the juxtamedullary zone, which is often not included in needle biopsy material, and even if it is, the initially rather scanty segmentally changed glomeruli could be missed (see also [630, 770]; contra: [596]; for literature: [621]). The hypothesis, that segmental-focal sclerosing GN develops after corticosteroid therapy of glomerular minimal change can probably also be discarded since there are more cases known without preceeding corticosteroid therapy than with [621].

Focal-Global Sclerosing Glomerulonephritis

✓ Fig. 15.38. Glomerular minimal change and incomplete glomerular obsolescence (→). Note periglomerular inflammation. Male, 6 years. PAS (×290)

Fig. 15.39. Hypertrophied glomerulus with a diameter of 320 μ m surrounded by considerably hypertrophied tubules in a case of pyelonephritic contracted kidney with overload glomerulitis. Female, 8.5 years. PAS (×290)

Fig. 15.40. Same case as in Figure 15.39. So-called overload glomerulitis. Mesangium is highly segmentally enlarged and evidences very slight nuclear increase. Synechia (SY). Female, 8.5 years. PAS (\times 290)

Fig. 15.41. Same case as in Figure 15.39. Overload glomerulitis in pyelonephritic contracted kidney. Segmental crescent (*CR*), and a large synechia (*SY*) are present as are a few peripheral glomerular capillary loops which evidence giant deposits (\rightarrow). PAS (\times 300)

Definition

The lesion is characterized by the presence of more than 10% of obsolescent glomeruli—predominantly in the juxtamedullary zone—without a determinable vascular or pyelonephritic cause. Many investigators—at least temporarily—differentiated this lesion from segmental-focal sclerosing GN [43, 621, 651, 888, 1399, 1400, 1401, 1732]. We do not consider focal-global sclerosing GN as a separate disease entity but as a stage in the development of segmental-focal sclerosing GN since serial sections often evidence—beside obsolescent glomeruli—those with segmental changes (see also [630, 827b, 1055]).

Synonym: Focal-global fibrosis ([621]; see also Table 13.2).

Incidence and Clinical Findings

The reported incidence is 1.7% [621, 635] which is the same in our GN biopsies and in 24% of those in pediatric focal nephritis [621]. The condition usually appears in children somewhat later than sclerosing FGN [1184b]. Boys are more frequently afflicted than girls (1.28:1. Z). The clinical findings do not differ significantly in our patients or those of others from segmental-focal sclerosing GN [630]. In another series, pure nephrotic syndrome predominates in focal-global sclerosing GN [1184b].

LM Findings

The pronounced affliction of the juxtamedullary zone is typical for this lesion [1055] in which an increased number of glomeruli show global sclerosis (fibrosis: [621]). The other glomeruli evidence findings of glomerular minimal change. Perifocal inflammation is rarely seen (Fig. 15.38).

The tubules are surprisingly severely atrophic in relation to the relatively mild glomerular changes. As in sclerosing FGN, focal interstitial fibrosis is quite severe.

IF Findings

According to the only reference in the literature [630] the findings—with the exception of unspecific deposition of IgM and complement—are negative. The same holds true for our 5 IF-investigated cases. EM findings are not available.

Differential Diagnosis

A few obsolescent glomeruli may be encountered in normal kidneys of all age groups. They predominate in the subcapsular region (see Table 6.1, p. 107). When the number of obsolescent glomeruli comprises more than 10% of all glomeruli and the juxtamedullary region is afflicted, the diagnosis of focal-global sclerosing GN is strongly suggested [621]. This diagnosis requires exclusion of significant vascular and pyelonephritic changes. In vascular or pyelonephritic diseases, however, the obsolescent glomeruli occur in groups, and predominantly in the outer cortex. In doubtful cases, clinical data will prove helpful in the differentiation. Congenital glomerulosclerosis [1791] never shows more than 10% of obsolescent glomeruli (see p. 28).

Finally, we wish to point out that obsolescent glomeruli associated with other significant glomerular changes such as sclerosing FGN, marked proliferation, etc., should not be classified as focal-global sclerosis.

Prognosis

The prognosis in focal-global glomerular sclerosis is said to be not as bad as for sclerosing FGN [630]. Thus, 17 patients with this lesion are still alive after 5 years, whereas 11 out of 35 patients with sclerosing FGN have died [630]. In 13 cases under our control, 3 died, 1 from uremia, 2 from unrelated causes. Other investigators [1184b] even found prognosis and responsiveness to corticosteroid therapy as good as in idiopathic glomerular minimal change with nephrotic syndrome.

Pathogenesis and Etiology

Initially, focal-global sclerosing GN was viewed as a consequence of glomerular minimal change [621]. This view was subsequently rejected by its proponents [630]. Segmental-focal sclerosing GN can develop into focal-global sclerosing GN as has been demonstrated by different investigators [621, 630, 1055]. Thus, pathogenesis and etiology of focal-global sclerosing GN should be identical to that of sclerosing FGN (see also [1047]).

Overload Glomerulitis [1791]

Definition

This lesion is a segmental-focal proliferative or sclerosing glomerular change associated with bilateral contracted kidney due almost exclusively to pyelonephritis.

Fig. 15.42. Overload glomerulitis in chronic pyelonephritis. One \triangleright glomerular capillary loop is completely obsolescent (*O*) and a second one is obviously narrowed (*). Extensive fibrillar BM layers surround the thickened and wrinkled glomerular capillary loop BM and are covered externally by podocytes. Female, 54 years. EM (×1460)

Fig. 15.43. Same case as in Figure 15.42. Glomerular capillary loops are occluded by osmiophilic giant deposits (D) which exhibit lipid vacuoles (*). Other changes correspond to those seen in Figure 15.42. Female 54 years, EM (\times 3800)

Fig. 15.44. Same case as in Figure 15.42. Peripheral glomerular capillary loops in overload glomerulitis. Note circumferential mesangial interposition (M) and new formation of a second subendothelial basement membrane (BM). Isolated, unclearly delimited osmiophilic deposits (*) are present in the considerably enlarged mesangium. Female, 54 years. EM (×4330)



Incidence and Clinical Findings

The incidence in autopsy material is 0.15% (39 out of 25,000: Z) in our biopsy material 0.8%. The symptoms of uremia completely obscure those of overload glomerulitis.

LM Findings

Numerous glomeruli are completely obsolescent. The intact glomeruli are greatly enlarged due to severe compensatory hypertrophy (Fig. 15.39). The other findings correspond to those of proliferative and, very commonly, of sclerosing FGN (Fig. 15.40). BM doubling with mesangial interposition, peripheral subendothelial deposits, and mesangial matrix increase (Fig. 15.41) as well as synechiae are frequently observed. Crescents are very rare.

IF Findings

In our single case examined with IF we found only focalsegmentally distributed deposits of IgM and C3.

EM Findings

In nearly obsolescent loops, some foam cells—presumably endothelial—were present (Fig. 15.42). The glomerular capillary loop lumens are often occluded by giant subendothelial deposits (Fig. 15.43). In addition, mesangial deposits and interposition (Fig. 15.44) may be found. BM thickening and new formation of a fibrillar layer between BM and podocytes are especially evident in progressive obsolescence.

Differential Diagnosis

The chief difficulty lies in distinguishing overload glomerulitis in pyelonephritis from contracted kidney in sclerosing FGN. In the former, the concomitant severely destructive pyelonephritis is of great importance. Clinical data are often essential for definite differentiation.

Pathogenesis

Some investigators stress the pathogenetic significance of ischemia [858, 1068]. We feel that there must be a relationship to the severe functional overload of the few remaining nephrons in the severely contracted kidney (see also [602]), since this change is absent even in contracted kidney as long as the contralateral kidney is functioning appropriately.

Furthermore, the lesion can be experimentally induced in rats by a five-sixths resection of their renal mass [677, 749, 1357a]. A similar lesion can be experimentally obtained by excessive protein feeding [426, 903, 1387] and by irradiation [426]; (see also p. 544). The lesion also occurs spontaneously in old rats [426].

Hypertension and old age can be excluded as the cause of the lesion arising experimentally after subtotal nephrectomy. The absence of analogous changes in chronic renal vein thrombosis excludes the assumption that the lesion is the consequence of loop dilatation [749].

We suppose that the lesion results from functional overload with concomitant impairment of mesangial function as well as from a decrease in resistance of hypertrophied glomeruli towards minimal bacterial dissemination, toxic influences, and immunologically induced lesions. Finally, it is conceivable that serum factors found after unilateral nephrectomy—which cause increased incorporation of thymidine and of uridine in nucleic acids, as shown in supravital renal slices [1295]—could be the cause of the proliferative inflammatory changes.

16. Glomerulonephritic Contracted Kidney (Nonclassifiable Glomerulonephritis, End-Stage Kidney)

Definition

GN contracted kidney in biopsy is defined as renal tissue with more than 75% of obsolescent glomeruli—in the absence of any indications for a vascular or interstitial cause of the process—associated with chronic renal insufficiency. When only weight at autopsy is considered, contracted kidney is not necessarily present. Weight of both kidneys in GN with chronic uremia is 180 ± 60 g and in pyelonephritic contracted kidney 125 ± 26 g as seen in our material.

Incidence

The incidence in biopsy material has been given as 2.1% (Z), 3.1% [277] and in children as 1.4% [621, 624]. Table 16.1 compares the relative frequency of GN forms, of deaths independent of cause and of deaths in uremia in a 10-year-period. It can be seen that among 100 deaths in uremia due to GN and glomerular minimal change, 34% (21% proliferative FGN, 13% sclerosing FGN) was accounted for by focally accentuated GN, 25% by membranoproliferative GN, 17% by extracapillary accentuated GN, 16% by epimembranous GN and less than 10% by the other forms. Comparison of the projected frequency with actual frequency in a series of 47 nephrectomies [1467a] prior to transplantation revealed good agreement with the exception of epimembranous GN.

Clinical Findings

Chronic insufficiency—usually accompanied by hypertension, hematuria and proteinuria—is predominant. Nephrotic syndrome is more rarely observed. Primary chronic GN with insidious clinical onset is reported to be especially frequent [485].

Table 16.1. Relative frequency of GN and glomerular minimal change, and calculated relative frequency of deaths independent of cause and due to uremia

No.		Relative frequency				
		of GN ^a	of deaths independent of cause ^b	of deaths due to uremia ^c	of GN forms in 47 nephrectomies prior to transplantation [1467a]	
1	Glomerular minimal change	33%	15%	2%	∫ 280/ (100/)d	
2	Endotheliomesangial GN	22%	10%	5%		
3	Proliferative FGN	11%	22%	21%	28% (including No. 5)	
4	Epimembranous GN	9%	14%	16%	4%	
5	Sclerosing FGN	7%	10%	13%	see No. 3	
6	Membranoproliferative GN	7%	18%	25%	25% (including No. 8)	
7	Extracapillary accentuated GN	3,5%	10%	17%	15%	
8	Intramembranous GN	1%	1 %	1%	see No. 6	
		100%	100%	100%	100%	

^a Summated from 8 different series comprising 7520 cases (see Table 14.1).

^b Deaths independent of cause in % of all deaths calculated on the basis of our own 10 year survival rates (from disease onset) presented in the corresponding chapters.

^e Deaths due to uremia in % of all deaths in uremia calculated on the basis of our own 10 year survival rates and follow-up data presented in the corresponding chapters.

^d Considering only patients with a reliable clinical history of GN.
Acute, reversible renal failure is seen in GN contracted kidney in association with interstitial nephritis due to drug allergy (furosemide, thiazide; [983]). In rare cases, acute renal failure may be due to superimposed pyelonephritis, systemic infection, and nephrotoxic antibiotics. The true state of affairs, however, is difficult to assess since renal biopsy is not usually done in the presence of chronic uremia.

The number of cases with nonclassifiable contracted kidney has perceptibly increased because of the progression of the changes during chronic hemodialysis and after transplantation.

LM Findings

Obsolescent glomeruli with obliterated capsular spaces and thickened Bowman's capsules (Figs. 16.1, 16.2; see p. 107) are the predominant findings. There are no indications of focal destruction of parenchyma. Principal attention must be directed to the glomeruli with a more or less preserved blood supply (Fig. 16.3) in which synechiae are frequent as are sclerosed or proliferative crescents which occasionally show adenomatoid structures (Fig. 16.3).

When PAS, PASM and Masson's trichrome/AFOG stains are used, the underlying form of GN can quite frequently be suspected, e.g., sclerosing FGN (Fig. 16.4) or membranoproliferative GN with obliterated lipid-filled loops (Fig. 16.5).

The still intact glomeruli are severely hypertrophic and usually a very severe increase of the mesangial matrix is demonstrable (see also [62]).

In addition to the glomerular changes, those ascribable to ischemia are always encountered (see also [1068] and Table 6.1, p. 107). Small subinfarcts are present in rare cases.

Tubules belonging to the obsolescent glomeruli are severely atrophic and show thickened BM. Tubules belonging to intact glomeruli show cystoid transformation due to compensatory hypertrophy (Fig. 16.6) especially in early childhood cases (see p. 358).

The interstitium is considerably fibrosed, and has scanty lymphocytic infiltrates. The intertubular capillaries are often obliterated. The consequences of hypertension are usually evident in the vessels.

The large arteries—especially in cases with a history of long dialysis—show severe adaptive intimal fibrosis (see p. 151) superimposed on hypertensive arteriosclerosis.

IF Findings

A comparative study comprising GN and non-GN endstage kidneys has shown that the IF findings in all kidneys are very much alike. IgM, IgG, IgA, and various complement factors can be demonstrated in end-stage kidneys of different etiology [544, 730, 1659a].

In 3 out of 5 of our own GN cases, we exclusively found coarsely clumped IgM and C3 in glomeruli undergoing obsolescence and in preserved glomeruli. In two of these 5 cases, IgG was seen in the mesangium and in the periphery as well. These deposits are probably mainly due to insudative processes.

Completely obsolescent glomeruli are usually IF negative.

Only in two forms of GN-IgA mesangial GN and anti-BM-type GN-does IF of the contracted kidney enable definite diagnosis [1659a] insofar as all glomeruli are not obsolescent.

EM Findings

In general, the findings are disappointing, i.e., only the picture of extensive glomerular obsolescence (Fig. 16.7) is seen (see p. 107). This renders the identification of the original form of GN exceedingly difficult. In fact, this is possible only in the region of intact loops (Fig. 16.8) where, according to our observations in 4 out of 19 cases, evidence reminiscent of primary membranoproliferative GN was found.

Often, extensive clearly delimited osmiophilic deposits in the subendothelial space are seen (Fig. 16.9) which are occasionally found in association with mesangial deposits (Fig. 16.10). Since osmiophilic deposits also occur however in blood vessels and in obsolescent glomeruli from other causes, we do not consider them as immunocomplexes but mainly as deposits arising from insudation.

Fig. 16.1. GN contracted kidney. Hypertrophied intact nephrons $\triangleright (\rightarrow \leftarrow)$ within scarred tissue. Majority of glomeruli are obsolescent. Male, 33 years. PAS (×100)

Fig. 16.2. GN contracted kidney. There is almost total atrophy of the tubules. Glomeruli evidence thickened and almost completely obsolescent capillary loops and occasionally evidence shunt vessels (\rightarrow). There are strikingly few proliferative changes in the region of glomerular capsule. Female, 45 years. PAS (\times 140)

Fig. 16.3. Same case as in Figure 16.2. There is practically complete proliferative obliteration of the glomerular capillary loops. In the capsular space are three adenomatoid structures—each surrounded by a BM (\rightarrow) . Capsular BM is partially split (*) and partially dissolved $(\neg b)$. Female, 45 years. PAS (× 320)

Fig. 16.4. GN contracted kidney after clinically acute GN 10 years prior to biopsy. The two glomeruli present in the preparation were the best preserved, and they evidence sclerosing FGN. Male, 38 years. PAS ($\times 210$)





16.5 16.6 We have never seen humps in contracted kidney (contra: [128]). Glomerular loop collapse is common (Fig. 16.11). Sometimes the interstitial infiltrates indicate florid inflammation (Fig. 16.12).

Differential Diagnosis

Differential diagnostic efforts consist of a two-step procedure: primarily, *differentiation from non-GN* disease and secondarily, the tentative diagnosis of the underlying form of GN whenever possible.

Differentiation of GN contracted kidney from that of pyelonephritis, diabetes mellitus, and chronic interstitial nondestructive nephritis can prove to be extraordinarily difficult even with LM, EM, and IF findings. After longterm hemodialysis, differentiation often becomes totally impossible.

Indicative for pyelonephritic contracted kidney in general is the presence of extensive tubular destruction, usually associated with considerable inflammatory interstitial infiltrates. Thyroid-like tubular changes are also indicative of—but not pathognomonic for—pyelonephritis. In pyelonephritic contracted kidney, the glomeruli frequently evidence findings of overload glomerulitis with extensive fibrinoid subendothelial deposits which are partly accompanied by pronounced mesangial proliferation and focal segmental mesangial interposition. In these cases, differentiation from GN contracted kidney (especially in FGN) may prove impossible. But a tentative diagnosis will often be realizable.

✓ Fig. 16.5. GN contracted kidney probably due to membranoproliferative GN. The completely obsolescent glomerulus shows extensive (PASM-negative) fibrinoid deposits (→←). Male, 23 years. PASM (× 580)

Fig. 16.6. GN contracted kidney. Tubules demonstrate cystoid transformation (*) with extremely flattened epithelium. One glomerulus (G) is completely obsolescent. Moderately extensive patchy infiltrates are present (\rightarrow). Majority of tubules are severely atrophic and evidence a much-thickened basement membrane (BM). Male, 22 years. HE (\times 190)

Fig. 16.7. GN contracted kidney. Glomerulus is nearly obsolescent and is broadly adherent to the capsule (\rightarrow) . Massive, probably mesangial, osmiophilic deposits and slight nuclear increase are recognizable. Capsule BM appears to be completely dissolved. Female, 54 years. EM (×1250)

Fig. 16.8. GN contracted kidney. Mesangial and endothelial proliferation predominate. When greater magnification is used, isolated instances of massive mesangial interposition and subendothelial deposits (undergoing dissolution) may be seen. It is striking that there are no signs of a capsular reaction whatsoever. Female, 40 years. EM ($\times 1500$) Special difficulties are also encountered in distinguishing contracted kidney in Kimmelstiel-Wilson's nodular glomerulosclerosis from lobular membranoproliferative GN. This differentiation will be possible if clinical data are appropriately evaluated, and if the characteristic findings of nodular glomerulosclerosis are demonstrable, i.e., van Gieson red spheres in the mesangium, so-called exudative changes: subendothelial fibrinoid deposits, and capsular droplets. It is noted that the so-called exudative changes may be completely absent after long-term hemodialysis. For differential diagnosis from ischemic contracted kidney, see p. 510.

Differentiation with respect to chronic interstitial nondestructive nephritis, however, is not associated with great difficulties, even in contracted kidney. In these cases the dominant findings are extensive interstitial fibrosis, tubular atrophy, degeneration with scanty interstitial infiltrates, and extensive BM collapse in obsolescent and nonobsolescent glomeruli alike.

The second differential diagnostic step concerns the GNform. On the basis of Table 16.1 the following GN forms are to be expected in decreasing frequency: (see also [544, 911, 1068, 1541]): focally accentuated GN>membranoproliferative GN > extracapillaryaccentuated GN > epimembranous GN > other forms. Precise data on the incidence of IgA mesangial GN in contracted kidney are not yet available. Anti-BM-type GN and IgA mesangial GN can, in most cases, be identified by IF [1659a]. Intramembranous GN can probably-even in the endstage kidney-easily be diagnosed, at least under EM, because of the unique character of the dense osmiophilic/ fibrinoid material in the BM. Differentiation of all the other forms depends on the presence of some fairly wellpreserved glomeruli but will, in any case, usually prove to be extremely difficult [1659a].

But despite the effort required, the time spent on the differential diagnosis of contracted kidney is justified in every case. This is especially true with regard to possible GN relapse in a transplant and to reliable evaluation of prognosis of the different forms of GN.

Pathogenesis

From the pathogenetic viewpoint, an immunologic stimulus of many years' duration [544, 1068] and repeated infections [1068, 1630] should be considered. On the other hand, the possibility of a self-perpetuating destructive (sclerosing) reaction after a single severe immunologic damage should also receive attention.

In concluding, it is noted that nonimmunologic factors can also promote the development of contracted endstage kidney, among which hypertension is probably the most important (see also [484a]), as well as other superimposed kidney disease (e.g., pyelonephritis; see p. 441).



17. Special Forms of Glomerulonephritis

Diffuse and Focally Accentuated Glomerulonephritis Associated With Systemic Disease

In this chapter we will discuss diffuse and focally accentuated GN occurring in systemic disease. We also include in this chapter IgA mesangial GN and early congenital childhood GN as further special forms.

Glomerular Disease in Schönlein-Henoch's Purpura [637, 1066, 1067]

Definition: Acute allergic purpura with kidney involvement.

✓ Fig. 16.9. GN contracted kidney. Numerous subendothelial deposits (D) are demonstrable, as are scanty mesangial deposits (D1), mesangial cell (M) (?) rich in protein droplets. Capsular BM has completely vanished. Interstitial fibrocyte (FC). Male, 22 years. EM (× 5900)

Fig. 16.10. GN contracted kidney. With IF, only IgG was present in large amounts especially in the mesangium and less pronouncedly in the periphery. Peripheral deposits are scanty and lie subendothelially, whereas mesangial deposits are massive. Female, 10 years. EM (\times 4760)

Fig. 16.11. GN contracted kidney. Glomerular loops show only signs of collapse, as evidenced by the wrinkled and thickened BM. Endothelium is activated. Male, 39 years. EM $(\times 3640)$

Fig. 16.12. Same case as in Figure 16.7. There are extensive, unspecific inflammatory interstitial infiltrates in this case of GN contracted kidney. Phagocyte (*PH*), small lymphocytes (*SL*), medium-sized lymphocytes (*AL*), probably plasma cell (*). Female, 54 years. EM (\times 3910)

Incidence

Renal involvement has been reported in 34% of 1458 cases from the literature [136], (60%: 1661]; 96%: [793]), 44% in the first and 85% in the second month of the disease [1067].

Schönlein-Henoch's nephritis has been diagnosed in needle biopsy in 6% of GN in children [621] and in 15% of children with nephrotic syndrome [637]. Its incidence in FGN is stated as 23% [688] and 50% [620]. We observed it in 0.7% of all our biopsies and in 1.6% of our GN biopsies.

Boys are more frequently afflicted than girls [637, 737, 1578] and their illness is more severe [1578]. Typically, the disease occurs between the first and fifteenth year of life with a peak incidence between the sixth and seventh year [1577]; adult cases, however, have been described ([76, 136, 618]; see also Table 17.1). Renal involvement is supposedly greater in adults than in children [1067].

Clinical Findings (Table 14.3)

(Table 14.3)

The disease is rather frequently initiated by an infection of the upper respiratory tract (85%: [136]) often with streptococci (41%: [1067]; 6 out of 18: Z). The serum complement level remains normal (8 out of 9 cases: Z) and IgA containing cryoglobulins are present in active disease and disappear upon healing [1831].

In addition to the typical skin lesion (purpura and edema), joint (75%) and abdominal disturbances (52%: [1578]) with melena, diarrhea, nausea, and ileus have been described. Thrombocytes and the general coagulatory mechanism remain unchanged.

In case of renal involvement, both hematuria and proteinuria are practically always present. These symptoms may occur either independently or together and they may be so slight that they can only be identifed by regular examination of the urine. Among our patients (Table 14.3) isolated microhematuria was present in 5 out of 18 and microhematuria and proteinuria in 8 out of 18. Full blown nephrotic syndrome has been reported in about half of the cases (4 out of 18: Z; [637, 685, 1067]. Cases with nephrotic syndrome are said to be

	Number of cases	Glomerular minimal change/ normal	Endothelio- mesangial GN without crescents	Endothelio- mesangial GN with crescents	Extra- capillary accentuated GN	Membrano- prolifera- tive GN	Focally accentuated GN
Hurley and Drummond (1972) [1577]	14 C	14.3		7.1			78.6
Habib (1973) [622]	60 C	1.7	5.0	43.3	6.7	3.3	40
Habib [1973) [621]	93 C		4.3	51.6	4.3	1.1	38.7
Meadow et al. (1973) [1067]	88 C	17.0	29.5	12.5	13.6		27.3
Bardare et al. (1975) [84]	10 C				20		80
Bernhard (1968) [136]	82 CA	7.3	⊢−−26.8−		?	1.2	65.8
Striker et al. (1973) [1578]	16 CA	12.5	J	·	-87.5		
Zollinger and Mihatsch	22 CA	4.5	36.4		4.5		54.5
Ballard et al. (1970) [76]	7 A	28.6		42.8			28.6
Kalowski and Kincaid-Smith (1973) [783]	17 A	5.9					94.1
Total	349	~8%	⊢_~37%-		~ 5%	< l %	~49%

Table 17.1. Relative	frequency (%) o	f different forms of	glomerulonephritis in	Schönlein-Henoch's	purpura
----------------------	-----------------	----------------------	-----------------------	--------------------	---------

C = children; A = adult.

associated with more than 50% crescents ([1066]; 2 out of 4: Z). Pathologic urine findings may persist for months and even for years. Occasionally, nephrotic syndrome appears after the extrarenal signs have subsided [737]. Extrarenal symptoms do not parallel the severity of GN. Renal insufficiency and hypertension are less frequent in children than in the adults [136].

An attack-like course (relapses) is reported in 18-60% of the cases [136, 205, 622, 1067, 1578, 1645]; 3 out of 17: Z).

Isolated instances of pulmonary bleeding occur simultaneously with the skin lesions [1803], a finding which led to the incorrect diagnosis of Goodpasture's syndrome in two of our cases.

LM Findings

The relative frequency of the different forms of GN in terms of modern classification is difficult to determine. Nevertheless, this was tentatively done and summarized in Table 17.1; the wide variation is partly due to the small number of cases. The overall picture of the different forms of GN does not differ from that as described in previous chapters.

The most frequent form in children and adults ([84, 136, 621, 783]; see also [685, 1102, 1484]) is *proliferative FGN* (Fig. 17.1) comprising about 50% of all cases.

Sequential biopsies have in some cases demonstrated a gradual transition from focal to diffuse glomerular involvement [866, 1645]. In some of our patients, it was striking to see a diffuse proliferation in all glomeruli and a specially pronounced accentuation in some glome-rular segments (see also [1645]).

The relative frequency of *endotheliomesangial GN* (Fig. 17.2) with crescents (<50%) and without crescents is about 37% (Table 17.1). There seem to be no obvious differences between children and adults.

Extracapillary accentuated GN (with crescents > 50%) (Fig. 17.3) is far more rare, comprising althogether only 5% of cases.

Membranoproliferative GN constitutes about only 1% of cases (see Table 17.1) but we believe that its true frequency is somewhat underestimated due to inclusion of these cases into the group of endotheliomesangial GN.

Fig. 17.1. Proliferative FGN (proliferative sclerosing stage) asso- \triangleright ciated with Schönlein-Henoch's purpura of 2 months duration clinically. Segmentally accentuated mesangial proliferation is present (*). Segmental crescent (*CR*). Male, 8 years. PAS (× 500)

Fig. 17.2. Diffuse endotheliomesangial GN with 10% extracapilary involvement in a case of Schönlein-Henoch's purpura with acute clinical onset 6 months prior to biopsy. All three glomeruli present in this section exhibit segmental crescents (\rightarrow). Female, 5.5 years. PAS (×130)

Fig. 17.3. Endotheliomesangial GN, with panmesangial involvement in the proliferative-sclerosing stage, in a case of Schönlein-Henoch's purpura. Segmental crescents are recognizable in all three glomeruli (\rightarrow) (cf. Fig. 17.4). Female, 9 years. PAS (×170)

Fig. 17.4. Same case as in Figure 17.3 as seen 13 months later in which the findings are that of proliferative FGN (\rightarrow). Note the delicate synechia (*SY*). A small artery is unchanged. A few scanty inflammatory interstitial infiltrates are still recognizable. Female, 10 years. PAS ($\times 250$) Glomerular minimal change and normal renal tissue respectively also occur in about 8% (Table 17.1).

Overall, however, the focal character of the glomerular affection is by far the predominating element (see also [685, 1102, 1484]).

We have observed FGN with a few synechiae as early as 7 weeks after disease onset (Figs. 17.1, 17.4). The mesangial deposits are sometimes so massive as to be easily demonstrable by LM and, by IF, can be shown to consist mainly of IgA (Figs. 17.5, 17.6, 17.7).

FGN may be accompanied by fibrinoid loop necroses (Fig. 17.8), a finding which is considered typical for Schönlein-Henoch's nephritis [205, 544, 866, 1661].

Glomerulonephritis with vasculitis and arteriolonecrosis, which were previously considered as typical for Schönlein-Henoch's nephritis, are no longer considered a part of this disease (see also [244]). It is possible that confusion with respect to hypersensitivity angitis (see p. 536) occurred in former studies. With the exception of 2 cases with unspecific arteriolosclerosis (5 out of 22: [783]) we have only once seen a slight arteriolitis in EM (see p. 322). In none of our cases were perivascular polymorphonuclear leukocytic cuffing (2 out of 22: [783]) or leukoclasia (contra: [50]) present which are practically always demonstrable in the skin lesions. The occurrence of hematoxylin bodies has been described only once [405].

IF Findings

All the glomeruli usually evidence granular IgG and C3 [125, 127, 486, 685, 1645, 1661, 621] as well as IgA [125, 127, 544, 637]; 83% of cases: [743]; linear: [50], IgM and fibrin(-ogen) [125, 127, 486, 637, 1577, 1644, 1645]; (see also Table 17.2). Properdin in combination with fibrin(-ogen) (6 out of 7: [84]) has also been reported [447] and it was suggested on the basis of IF studies of early and late complement factors that the complement activation follows the alternative pathway [452a].

IF findings are usually most pronounced in the mesangium [84, 128, 447, 544] and less so in the periphery but purely peripheral or mesangial deposits are also possible (see Table 17.2).

In the absence of clinical data, evaluation of the IF findings alone may very easily lead to misdiagnosis of IgA nephritis (2 our of 9: Z; see also [743]).

In one observation [128], IF was still positive 9 years after the disease. IF becomes negative following total remission of the glomerular lesion (15%: [621]). In two of our own IF negative cases, proteinuria of 0.5 g/day and microhematuria only were present.

No immunoglobulins were found in any of the blood vessels in our IF cases. This may explain the absence of vasculitis in the kidney in contrast to skin, where the vessels usually exhibit large amounts of IgA [452a].

	IgG	IgM	IgA	C3	Fibrin(-ogen)
Cases tested Positive	7 6	7 5	4 4	7 7	7 4
Focal Diffuse	0 6	0 5	1 3	2 5	1 3
Segmental Global	l 5	l 4	l 3	3 3	2 2
Peripheral	2	1	2	2	1
Mesangial and peripheral	4	3	2	4	2
Mesangial	_	1	_	1	1

EM Findings

No pathognomonic findings are seen with EM; the findings encountered correspond by and large to those of the underlying form of GN. Usually, however, the focally accentuated character of the lesion is evident. Thus, we observed segmental loop obliteration in half of our cases. The endothelium is hypertrophied and exhibits nuclear swelling and arcade formation. In all cases, podocytes show foot process fusion and a frequent increase of osmiophilic substance in the cytoplasm as well as formation of microvilli.

The most important changes affect the peripheral glomerular BM in a segmental fashion (15 out of 17: Z) which is characterized by focal, usually slight thickening of the total BM and by formation of osmiophilic deposits (Fig. 17.9). We saw these deposits subendothelially in 8 out of 17 cases (see also [205, 618, 866, 1645, 1819]) and subepithelially in 2 out of 17 but humps were always absent (contra: [618, 1819]; 4 out of 8 children: [621]). Additionally, we noted intramembranous deposits in 3 out of 17 cases (see also [1645]) and deposits along the mesangial BM in 6 out of 17. Finally, splitting of the lamina densa was present in 6 out of 17 cases, and BM interruption in 2 out of 17 (Fig. 17.10).

Fig. 17.5. Endotheliomesangial GN in Schönlein-Henoch's pur- \triangleright pura of 2 months duration with extensive mesangial deposits (\rightarrow). Male, 8 years. PAS (\times 910)

Fig. 17.6. Same case as in Figure 17.5. There are heavy granular IgA deposits in the mesangium and fewer in the glomerular capillary loop periphery. Male, 8 years. IF (\times 250)

Fig. 17.7. Same case as in Figure 17.5. Numerous mesangial deposits (\rightarrow) are present. There are swelling and activation of the endothelial cells besides three polymorphonuclear leukocytes (*PL*). Podocytes are slightly activated and foot process fusion is mild. Male, 8 years. EM (\times 5200)

Table 17.2. IF Findings in Schönlein-Henoch's purpura (n=9: 7 positive; 2 negative not considered in table)





A peculiar change was found in 6 out of 17 cases consisting of subepithelial doubling of the glomerular BM with formation of a new thin densa layer which frequently surrounded deposits (Figs. 17.11, 17.12, 6.28). We found this change in 14.7% of all our GN biopsies irrespective of systemic disease. Thus, it appears very characteristic but not pathognomonic—for Schönlein-Henoch's purpura.

The lamina rara interna was thickened in all of our cases. This was associated with formation of new lamina densa material in 8 out of 17 cases. Mesangial interposition was present in 2 out of 17 cases.

Virus-induced endothelial tubular structures were seen in 5 out of 17 cases (see also p. 96) and in 4 out of 17 cases, oval virus-like particles with a diameter of about 1200 Å were observed (Fig. 17.12).

Mesangial changes are chiefly characterized by the moderately severe increase of matrix (Fig. 17.13) associated with mild to moderate cell increase. The nuclei showed, in almost all of the cases, slight polymorphy accompanied by nuclear swelling in half of the cases. Mesangial matrix deposits were noted in 9 out of 17 of our cases (see also [621]).

In one observation, we noted proliferative arteriolitis with BM splitting along with an invasion of the media by histicytes and fibroblasts (Fig. 17.14).

Fig. 17.8. Proliferative FGN in Schönlein-Henoch's purpura of \triangleright 1 week's duration. Two glomerular capillary loops are aneurysmatically dilated (\rightarrow) and are filled with totally necrotic cells (glomerular capillary loop necroses?, mesangiolysis?). Male, 8 years. PASM (\times 400)

Fig. 17.9. Proliferative FGN in Schönlein-Henoch's purpura of 3 weeks' clinical duration. In addition to subendothelial deposits (D) massive new formation of subendothelial basement membrane (BM) is discernible. Virus-induced tubular structures are recognizable in the endothelium (*). Male, 12 years. EM ($\times 25,400$)

Fig. 17.10. Total interruption of BM $(\leftarrow \rightarrow)$ in proliferative FGN in the course of Schönlein-Henoch's purpura. Cytoplasm of the severely hypertrophied podocyte (*P*) is projecting into the glome-rular capillary loop (*). Endothelial cells are highly activated. Male, 7 years. EM (\times 7000)

Fig. 17.11. Same case as in Figure 17.5. There is severe, irregular thickening of lamina rara externa (*) which contains small, isolated osmiophilic deposits in dissolution (\rightarrow). Subepithelially, new formation of a delicate densa layer is present (\rightarrow). Glomerular capillary loop lumen (*CL*). Male, 8 years. EM (×11,100)

Differential Diagnosis

On the basis of morphology, Schönlein-Henoch's nephritis may sometimes be suspected (but not proven) in the presence of proliferative FGN with loop necroses and marked fluorescence for IgA, as well as (in EM) by the demonstration of subepithelial BM-doubling. The occurrence of arteriolonecrosis and severe vasculitis are rather indicative of hypersensitivity angitis (see p. 536 and [244, 783]).

The pronounced destructive character of glomerulitis in Goodpasture's syndrome is not seen to occur in Schönlein-Henoch's GN. This is important to note since an eventual episode of pulmonary bleeding (and subsequent hemosiderosis) may easily lead to the erroneous diagnosis of Goodpasture's disease ([1790a], see also [907]). The decisive method for differentiation of Schönlein-Henoch's purpura and Goodpasture's syndrome is IF, which demonstrates an ultralinear immunoglobulin pattern in the latter.

We feel that IgA mesangial GN cannot always be distinguished from that of Schönlein-Henoch's with LM, EM, and IF (see also [743]). Loop necroses, which hardly ever occur in IgA-mesangial GN, are indicative of Schönlein-Henoch's GN.

Page 324

Fig. 17.12. Same case as in Figure 17.5. Massive nodular thickening of lamina rara externa with new formation of BM (\rightarrow) is recognizable and, therein, unclearly delimited osmiophilic deposits which contain masses of round, virus-like particles (*). Lamina rara interna is also slightly thickened (\rightarrow) . Male, 8 years. EM (×30,200)

Fig. 17.13. Same case as in Figure 17.5. There is very pronounced enlargement of mesangium with matrix increase and vacuolar degeneration of mesangial cells. Isolated peripheral subendothelial and intramesangial deposits are recognizable (\rightarrow). There is considerable foot process fusion. Capsule epithelium (*CE*) is atrophic. Severe periglomerular fibrosis (*FC*). Male, 8 years. EM (×4900)

Page 325

Fig. 17.14. Unique finding of arteriolitis in Schönlein-Henoch's purpura of about 6 weeks duration. Three leukocytes (PL) and a monocytoid cell (MO) are present in vessel lumen. Endothelial cells (E) are swollen. Myocytes in the media are severely degenerated (MC) and are usually not recognizable at all. The surrounding fibrous tissue is split, and between the layers, longitudinal, spindly cells—thought to be fibroblasts—with very severe cystoid-widened endoplasmatic reticulum are seen (*). In the outer zone numerous phagocytes and fibroblasts are present. Male, 7 years. EM (\times 3400)







Prognosis

Prognosis appears to be all the better the younger the patient. As a rule, boys evidence more serious renal affliction than girls (contra: [1577]). In the long run, the overall mortality rate in children is reported as ranging from 5% [1661] to 21% [621], and in adults from 10% [1067] to 36% [136] (15%: [783]; 28.5%: [76]; 36%: [136]). In our opinion, the prognosis corresponds to the form of GN present. When extracapillary accentuated GN is present, the prognosis is unfavorable [76, 637], but exceptions to this rule are probably more frequent (complete or incomplete remissions 6 out of 12: [1067]) than in the idiopathic form of extracapillary accentuated GN, which is also demonstrated by our own observations. Thus, the initial biopsy of a 10-year-old girl revealed extracapillary accentuated GN. One year later, biopsy showed proliferative FGN and, clinically, microhematuria and proteinuria (1.5 g/day) were present. After a 3-year observation period, the only pathologic clinical finding was a proteinuria of 1.3 g/day. In another case (not included in the clinical series), initial biopsy of a 21-year-old male revealed diffuse crescent formation in more than 75% of the glomeruli; 2.5 years later, nephrotic syndrome and hypertension were present, but renal function had improved. Persistent damage is reported present in 6-38% of patients [637, 685, 1067, 1644] and is again more frequent in adults than in children [76, 136].

Pathogenesis

It is generally recognized that Schönlein-Henoch's purpura is an allergic process associated with generalized fibrinoid inflammation of the smaller blood vessels, especially in skin. It is presumed that poorly soluble immuncomplexes play the decisive role in the condition [520, 544, 1653]. It is possible that the alternative pathway of complement activation is involved. The variability of the morphological picture may be either an expression of repeated immunological insults and/or of the immunological reactivity of the host. The latter possibility is suggested by the fact that patients with congenital C2 deficiency are afflicted more frequently with Schönlein-Henoch's purpura [1589a].

Etiology

Agents considered as causative factors in the lesion include drugs (13 out of 14 cases: [76, 325, 685, 1645, 1661]), bacteria causing upper respiratory tract infection (85%: [136]; 42 out of 74: [1066]; 12 out of 18:Z), streptococcal infections (in 33 out of 88: [1066]; 6 out of 18:Z), food stuffs [685], and insect bites [685]. Glomerular Disease in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus [71b, 485a, 1157, 1683]

Definition

SLE is an autoimmune disease characterized by involvement of skin, joints, kidney, blood, etc. and the presence of antinuclear antibodies.

Incidence

The kidney is reported afflicted in 50–80% of cases of SLE [1157, 1280, 1449, 1511a]. Renal involvement is probably even more frequent since, even in cases without urinary symptoms, morphological glomerular abnormalities may be present [485a, 707a]. We found SLE with renal involvement in 24 out of 25,000 autopsies, in 1.2% of all our biopsies, and in 2.7% of all our GN biopsies (21.6%: [544]; in children: 2.1%: [621]).

SLE usually occurs between 15 and 40 years of age (average: 29 years) however, even cases in the newborn are known. Females are considerably more frequently affected than males with a sex ration of about 8:1 (20:5: Z); 51:5: [1511a]; 45:5: [1576]; 45:4: [485a]; 77:15: [716]).

Clinical Findings

The clinical picture of generalized lupus erythematosus is best portrayed with the criteria established by the American Rheumatism Association [296a] which clearly formulates the diversity of symptoms, i.e., butterflyshaped facial exanthema, photosensibility, lupus discoides, alopecia, Raynaud's syndrome, ulcers of the mucosa of the mouth and/or nasopharynx, nondeforming arthritis (chiefly of the hand and elbow joints), pleurisy with and without effusion, psychoses, convulsions, massive proteinuria and cell (leukocytes, erythrocytes) casts in the urine, hemolytic anemia, leukopenia, thrombopenia, falsely positive serologic tests for syphilis, antinuclear factors in the serum, and the LE cell phenomenon. When at least four of the above-instanced criteria are fulfilled, the diagnosis of SLE can be made.

The LE cell phenomenon, which is positive in 82% of the patients [1511a], as well as the demonstration of antinuclear AB in high titers—positive in 89% of the patients [1511a]—are the most important laboratory findings for the diagnosis of SLE. Some investigators maintain the opinion that SLE may be diagnosed when the antinuclear AB evidences a titer greater than 1:160 in the simultaneous presence of a positive LE cell phenomenon, even in the absence of all other symptoms [106, 544]. In one of our own cases, generalized lupus erythematosus with extremely severe skin manifestations developed 7 years after a single demonstration of a positive antinuclear AB titer and LE cell phenomenon. At that time, slight proteinuria and microhematuria associated with morphological findings of mild endotheliomesangial GN were already present.

Generally, a very high titer of antinuclear AB is especially characteristic. The antinuclear AB belong to the IgG or IgE class and, with IF examination, a peripheral nuclear fluorescence is typical. AB activity against native DNA and intense complement (C3) binding are further attributes of antinuclear AB in SLE [1367a]. Correspondingly, there is often a decrease of C3 in the serum. The frequent occurrence of cryoglobulins (see p. 169) is also noteworthy.

Renal symptomatology (Table 14.3 for own findings) is determined by the nature and extent of kidney involvement and comprises a large spectrum of symptoms ranging from isolated hematuria, proteinuria or nephrotic syndrome to a combination of these findings. Nephrotic syndrome is present in about 20% of the patients and is usually associated with diffuse proliferative (membranoproliferative) or epimembranous GN [1157, 1511a, 1683]. Morphologic renal involvement may even be present in the absence of urinary findings [485a, 707a]. Characteristic for SLE is the frequent absence or very tardy appearance of hyperlipemia within the framework, of nephrotic syndrome [1449]. Hypertension is usually present in cases evidencing a rapidly progressive course [1157]. Sudden occurrence of oligo-anuria is occasionally observed. Renal failure (6 out of 16 cases: [1576]; 19 out of 40 cases: [71b], CNS complications [1511a] and infections due to therapy (6 out of 7 cases: [485a]) are the commonest causes of death. (For mixed connective tissue disease, see [1822, 1823]).

LM Findings

Renal involvement reveals a large spectrum of lesions none of which, however—with the exception of hematoxylin bodies—are specific for SLE [1157, 1683]. Since the individual lesions of this spectrum (Table 17.3) differ considerably with respect to prognosis of the disease, their individual consideration is wholly merited [75, 840, 1280].

1. Normal glomerular findings are relatively rare (Table 17.3). If such glomeruli are examined with EM, however, osmiophilic deposits as well as a diffuse BM thickening are frequently found. IF studies occasionally reveal linear deposits of gamma-globulins along the glomerular BM or granular ones [485a, 869, 1449, 1511a].

2. Glomerular minimal change. This form is also relatively rare (Table 17.3). As in cases with normal glomeruli, EM and IF study usually demonstrate deposits [71 b, 485a, 544, 707a, 1280, 1484]. So-called mesangial lupus nephritis belongs in part to this group, to proliferative FGN and to endotheliomesangial GN without crescents [71 b, 485a].

Table 17.3. Relative frequency (%) of different forms of glomerulonephritis in SLE

	Number of cases	Normal	Glome- rular minimal change	Focally accen- tuated GN	Membrano- prolifer- ative GN	Endo- thelio- mesangial GN	Epi- membra- nous GN
Baldwin et al. (1970) [74]	52			26.9	← 46.2-	>	26.9
Dujovne et al. (1972) [401]	40	5.0	12.5		77.5-	>	5
Garancis et al. (1970) [530]	15			33.3	40.0	26.7	
Germuth and Rodriguez (1973) [544]	41		4.9	41.5	21.9		31.7
Ginzler et al. (1974) [554]	69		13.0	31.9	← 34.8-		20.3
Habib (1974) [624]	13			30.8	23.1	46.2	
Koffler et al. (1969) [869]	19	42.1			5.3		52.6
Mery et al. (1974) [1085]	28				25	75	
Morel-Maroger et al. (1973) [1139a]	54		37	29.6	25.9		7.4
Nanra and Kincaid-Smith (1973) [1184a]	72			4.2	63.9	23.6	8.3
Sinniagh and Feng (1976) [1511a]	56	3.6	17.8	5.4	33.9	26.8	12.5
Striker et al. (1973) [1576]	50			20	← 64	>	16
Zollinger and Mihatsch	47						
Autopsy				4.8	57.1	38.1	
Biopsy				50	19.2	11.5	15.4
Total n	556	12/556	46/556	108/516	122/345	74/345	82/556
		~1	0%	~20%	~35%	~20%	~15%

3. Proliferative (and sclerosing) FGN (Figs. 17.15–17.17) comprises about one fourth of the cases of SLE-GN (Table 17.3). In this form, subendothelial deposits are generally found, but they may be accompanied by sub-epithelial deposits (3 out of 46 children with FGN: [620]; 9%: [74]; see also [1484]). In the segmentally changed glomeruli polymorphonuclear leukocytes and mesangial cell proliferation are found. These findings are frequently associated with extensive capillary loop necroses with subsequent crescent formation [1671]. According to some investigators, focal GN is always present in the early disease stage [685].

4. Membranoproliferative GN (Figs. 17.18-17.20) is also seen in about one fourth of the cases of SLE (Table 17.3). It is characterized by particularly large subendothelial fibrinoid deposits [1068]. Initially, the lesion frequently demonstrates a segmental-focal character, but slowly progresses to a global and diffuse one. This form often terminates in uremia [1280, 1484]. Glomerular capillary loop necroses are occasionally observed.

5. Endotheliomesangial GN with or without crescents is observed in about one fifth of the cases of SLE-GN (Table 17.3). At disease onset, focal segmental accentuated glomerular affliction is also frequently noted as is subsequent slow development to a diffuse form with affliction of all glomeruli. In 9 out of 31 cases, sequential biopsy revealed initial focal mesangial changes and later diffuse glomerular affliction [554]. Accordingly, focal glomerular involvement appears to be only a transitory change. Crescent formation is found in 18% of endotheliomesangial and membranoproliferative GN [1511a]. So-called diffuse proliferative lupus GN comprises both membranoproliferative and endotheliomesangial GN.

6. Epimembranous GN. It is found in about 16% of all cases of SLE-GN [600, 1167, 1280, 1484, 1683]; Table 17.3). A few cases in which LM reveals normal glomeruli or those with only minimal changes would probably be included here following EM and IF examination.

In summarizing findings seen with LM, it is noted that in SLE, all forms of GN as well as glomerular minimal change and even normal glomeruli are encountered. A very characteristic feature of renal involvement is the frequently observed transition of FGN into diffuse GN or, under therapy, vice-versa. Even transition of diffuse or segmental-focal proliferative GN into epimembranous GN and vice-versa are reported, i.e., true mixed forms of (membranoproliferative and epimembranous) GN occur (see p. 279; 1 out of 26 cases: Z; Fig. 17.21; [71a, 74, 300, 485a, 554, 1086, 1280, 1820, 1830]).

Further LM characteristics, which may be found in different forms (3-6) of GN are fibrinoid (hyaline) thrombi which we observed in 5 out of 12 EM biopsy cases and in 14 out of 21 autopsy cases (Figs. 17.17, 17.19, 17.21) (contra: [74, 1068]).

The formerly used term "wire loops"—which were considered as typical for SLE-GN—, refers to a capillary wall thickening due to the extensive deposits in epimembranous and membranoproliferative GN [544, 599, 300, 1280, 1671].

The hematoxylin bodies (H-bodies, Figs. 17.22, 17.23) which are the only pathognomonic finding in SLE-GN [1460], are seen in EM to consist of aggregations of electron-opaque nuclear chromatin [454]. Large polymorphic phagolysosomes are found in the cytoplasm of H-body-containing cells [294]. The general view regarding these bodies is that they arise by injury to in situ cells by antinuclear-AB [73, 544]. Another suggestion is that the H-bodies are broken down leukocytic fragments which are phagocytized by mesangial cells [294]. The H-bodies are usually found in the glomeruli (4 out of 21 autopsy cases: Z) and less frequently in tubules [1460] and vessels [1791, 1460]. Unfortunately, the Hbodies are rarely demonstrable in biopsies (0 out of 26: Z; see also [300, 1068, 1280, 1484, 1671]) which is suggested to be due to the fact that H-bodies represent a post-mortem phenomenon [403a].

Lesion of the other renal tissue elements correspond to those of the type of GN involved. Interstitial lymphoplasmocytic infiltrates appear to be absent only in very slight forms and during stationary phases [1576]. It has been claimed that such infiltrates are not present in FGN as opposed to the diffuse form [1157]; we have not been able to substantitate this assertion.

Fig. 17.15. Proliferative FGN (proliferative stage) in SLE. In \triangleright addition to glomerular capillary loop synchia (*SY*), a few of the loop segments have been totally occluded by cell proliferation (\rightarrow) . Note that one glomerulus shows no obvious changes (*bot*-tom left); the others are segmentally changed. Male, 12 years. PAS (×140)

Fig. 17.16. Proliferative FGN in SLE. Pseudolinear subendothelial deposits (\rightarrow) are clearly recognizable in the glomerular capillary loop periphery. There is general mesangial hypercellularity. Note the artificially detached segmental crescent (*CR*). Female, 23 years. PAS ($\times 400$)

Fig. 17.17. Same case as in Figure 17.16. Numerous nuclear fragments (\rightarrow) and a massive fibrinoid deposit (D) are recognizable. Female, 23 years. HE (×640)

Fig. 17.18. Same case as in Figure 17.16. Membranoproliferative character of the GN is clearly evident: BM doubling with mesangial interposition (tram-track picture) (\rightarrow) in the peripheral glomerular capillary loop BM. There is severe enlargement and cell increase of the mesangium. Female, 23 years. PASM (\times 580)



17.15 17.16



Fig. 17.19. GN in SLE. Homogenous thickening of glomerular capillary loops is suggestive of epimembranous GN. However, the unequal capillary loop affliction, mesangial cell increase—especially in the less seriously afflicted loops (\rightarrow) —and large osmiophilic deposit (*) which appears to lie subendothelially, do not conform to epimembranous GN. There is rather severe inflammatory infiltration of the surrounding connective tissue. Cf. Figure 17.21. Female, 25 years. PAS (×400)

Fig. 17.20. Proliferative FGN in SLE with extensive glomerular capillary loop necroses (\rightarrow) . Female, 27 years. PASM (×340)

Fig. 17.21. Same case as in Figure 17.19. Clumpy deposits in glomerular capillary loop lumens (*) and coarse-clumpy fibrinoid subendothelial deposits in the peripheral BM can be recognized. Female, 15 years. Picro-Mallory (\times 890)



Interstitial edema and hyaline droplet storage or atrophy of the tubules are almost always present in severe cases of the disease. Focal fibrinoid vascular necrosis and inflammation (Fig. 17.24), frequently encountered in autopsy material (25–90%: [1791, 71 b]), are late-appearing lesions and are hardly ever mentioned in biopsy material (we have not encountered them in our own biopsies).

IF Findings

Summing up of the IF findings reported in the literature is difficult due to the wide variety of changes which may be present. Although under LM the kidney lesion often demonstrates the character of a primary—and often permanent—FGN, the IF findings (Table 17.4) are usually diffuse (Fig. 17.25; see [544, 620, 869]).

In cases with normal glomeruli or glomerular minimal changes, immunoglobulins, especially IgG, can usually be detected (17 out of 20: [1139a]. The deposition is often purely peripheral and in a smooth linear form (12 out of 17: [1139a]; see also [401, 869, 1280]). In other cases, granular mesangial IgG, IgM, and C3 deposits are found [485a, 707a, 1189a, 1511a]. Or, in still other cases, no immunoglobulins are present at all [1511a]. Apart from these smooth linear IF findings, ultralinear IgG deposition in SLE has rarely been reported to be associated with extracapillary accentuated GN [1408a]. In all other forms of GN, the immunoglobulin distribution pattern corresponds to that of the underlying form of GN. Among the immunoglobulins detected, IgG usually accompanied by C3 predominates [1139a, 1511a, 485a, 71b]. IgA and IgM, as well as IgE and IgD, are less frequently found (see Table 17.4; [127, 300, 544, 620, 1139a, 1511a]. Now and again, fibrin(-ogen), usually in trace amounts, only is seen especially in the subendothelial deposits [401, 620, 730, 743]; 60%: [1282; 43%: [485a]. Albumin and transferrin are also observed [1282], 1511a].

Nuclear IgG deposits in glomerular and tubular cells are characteristic of but not absolute proof for SLE [544], since nuclear fluorescence can also be found in other diseases in which antinuclear antibodies are present, e.g., chronic polyarthritis.

Nuclear fluorescence can exhibit different patterns, e.g., speckled, homogenous, membranous and nucleolar of which the membranous pattern is said to be most characteristic for SLE [1040, 1367a].

Recent reports described immunoglobulin deposition of IgG and/or C3 along intertubular capillaries, in the interstitium and along the tubular BM. These deposits are considered to be the cause of the accompanying interstitial nephritis [194]. In case of vasculitis, the vessels usually contain IgG and C3 [71b].

Proof of SLE lies in the detection of nuclear factors (DNA) as antigen within the immunocomplexes. We were able to demonstrate this only once (Fig. 11.1).

	IgG	IgM	IgA	С3	Fibrin(-ogen)
Cases tested	9	9	6	9	9
Positive	7	5	4	8	2
Focal	1	2	1	1	2
Diffuse	6	3	3	7	0
Segmental	0	0	0	1	2
Global	7	5	4	7	0
Peripheral	4	2	1	2	1
Mesangial and peripheral	3	3	3	4	-
Mesangial	-			2	1

^a Proliferative FGN $6 \times$; epimembranous GN $2 \times$; endotheliomesangial GN $1 \times$.

Page 332

Fig. 17.22. Numerous hematoxylin bodies (\rightarrow) in SLE in the glomerular loop segment (we are indebted to Dr. Schürch, Zürich, for this preparation). Autopsy specimen. HE (\times 800)

Fig. 17.23. Hematoxylin bodies in the tubular lumen and epithelium in SLE-GN (Preparation from Dr. Schürch, Zürich). Autopsy specimen. HE (\times 710)

Fig. 17.24. Arteritis with fibrinoid necrosis (N) and severe periarterial inflammation in SLE-GN. Note isolated hematoxylin bodies (\rightarrow) in a proliferatively thickened intima. Lumen (L). Autopsy specimen. HE (×110)

Fig. 17.25. Extensive coarse-granular and partly pseudolinear IgG deposits in the periphery of glomerular capillary loops in SLE-GN. Female, 23 years. IF ($\times 680$)

Page 333

Fig. 17.26. Endotheliomesangial GN (exudative-proliferative stage) in SLE. Glomerular capillary loop lumens are more or less occluded by activated and also possibly proliferated endothelial cells. Isolated polymorphonuclear leucocytes (*PL*). Osmiophilic deposits are not recognizable. Podocytes are highly swollen and occasionally demonstrate foot process fusion. Male, 12 years. EM (\times 3940)

Fig. 17.27. Mixed form of membranoproliferative and epimembranous GN in SLE. Extensive subepithelial deposits with spike formation (\rightarrow) as well as massive subendothelial deposits (\neg) are present. Podocytes (*P*) demonstrate considerable hypertrophy and vacuolization and complete fusion of foot processes. Female, 14 years. EM (×4230)

Table 17.4. If findings in SLE $(n=9)^a$



17.22 17.23



EM Findings

Apart from the characteristic changes of the individual GN forms already described in previous chapters (Figs. 17.26, 17.27), the topography and extent of osmiophilic deposits—which are recognizable in LM as "fibrinoid"—are noteworthy findings (Figs. 17.26–17.31). It is highly probable that these deposits are mainly immunocomplexes partly containing cell constituents, e.g., nuclear factors [454].

The subepithelial deposits usually have a broad base (Fig. 17.28) as in epimembranous GN. In addition, we found hump-like subepithelial deposits in 4 out of 13 of our cases (Fig. 17.31). They are reported to persist for quite some time [401]. This observation is supported by the finding of spike formation and the occurrence of thread-like structures within the deposits (Fig. 17.29). Long-lasting spikes and subepithelial deposits in the absence of subendothelial deposits are supposedly indicative of a good prognosis and must not be interpreted as signs of the activity of the process [300, 401, 1282].

It has been proposed that the subendothelial deposits may possibly arise by secondary insudation of plasma components [401, 1282]. We do not accept this view. They are usually extraordinarily massive, as indicated previously in the section on LM (Figs. 17.27, 17.28) and they demonstrate signs of breakdown (Figs. 17.29, 17.30). With successful therapy, they are supposed to disappear much more rapidly by endothelial resorption [300] than subepithelial deposits [401]. Mesangial deposits (7 out of 13: Z) are rarely absent in the presence of subepithelial (8 out of 13: Z) and/or subendothelial deposits (9 out of 13: Z; Figs. 17.27, 17.31).

Subendothelial deposits often contain inclusions of spherical lipoid bodies. Additionally, 100–150 Å-wide cross-striated thread-like structures (see p. 96 and Fig. 17.29; [601]) as well as fingerprint-like crystalloid formations [1541] have been demonstrated.

Sometimes, deposits are completely absent. In these instances, proliferative changes are also missing. Such cases are supposed to have a relatively good prognosis (1 out of 5: [300, 1086]). We found loop necroses in 2 out of 26 cases (Fig. 17.32).

A further EM particularity of the kidney in SLE is the frequent occurrence of cytoplasmic microtubuli (with a diameter of 200–220 Å) mainly in the endothelium of the glomerular loops (Fig. 17.33; [619]; 89%: [93]; 93%: [1511a]; 7 out of 13: Z; see also [529, 1541]) and rarely of intertubular capillaries (Fig. 17.34).

Although some investigators consider the microtubuli to be specific for SLE [590, 1683], others have shown that they also occur in scleroderma, rheumatoid arthritis, idiopathic GN, etc. [529, 614, 619, 1613]. Although their form is reminiscent of myxovirus, they are interpreted as being a reaction product of the endoplasmatic reticulum to viral infection [544, 852]. Osmiophilic deposits may also be found along the intertubular capillaries and tubular BM and in the interstitium (Figs. 17.34, 17.35; see also [194]) as also demonstrated by IF.

Differential Diagnosis

On the basis of LM or IF, the only diagnostic proof for SLE is the demonstration of hematoxylin bodies or nuclear factors (DNA) within immunocomplexes in the kidney. If both of these parameters are absent, which is usually the case in biopsies, the following morphologic characteristics are indicative of SLE: focally accentuated GN, mixed-form GN, extensive subendothelial deposits, fibrinoid (hyaline) thrombi (giant deposits), endothelial cytoplasmic microtubules in large amounts, deposits in the interstitium and along the BM of tubules and intertubular capillaries and demonstration of antinuclear antibodies with a membranous pattern under IF. But final proof for SLE is only possible in these cases through close cooperation with the clinician.

Prognosis

The overall survival rates vary considerably in different series, e.g., 5-year survival rate of 78% [1184a], 66% (Z); the average 10-year survival rate of 9 different series is 57% (range 38–86%) as reported in [485a].

The prognosis as related to patient age is reported all the poorer the younger the patient; this finding has not been substantiated by others [485a].

Fig. 17.28. Membranoproliferative GN in SLE: pronounced subendothelial deposits (*D*) with subendothelial BM new formation (\rightarrow). A few subepithelial deposits (\neg)-possibly the expression of an acute attack-are also present. Podocyte (*P*); endothelium (*E*). Female, 17 years. EM (\times 17,200)

Fig. 17.29. Subepithelial deposit with peculiar striping which is thought to be due to decomposition of deposits in SLE-GN. Female, 21 years. EM (\times 47,800)

Fig. 17.30. Same case as in Figure 17.28. Many subendothelial deposits surrounded by translucent areas as result of dissolution of deposits. Female, 17 years. EM (× 8230)

Fig. 17.31. Pronounced mesangial (D) and isolated intramembranous (*) deposits as well as a solitary hump (\rightarrow) in a case of membranoproliferative GN in SLE. Female, 36 years. EM (× 6600)



17.30 17.31



17.32

On the other hand, there is general agreement that the prognosis is intimately dependent on the form of GN present. The following 6-year survival rates for the individual GN forms are reported as follows [74, 1282]; see also [1511a]: normal glomeruli and glomerular minimal change without focal sclerosis: 90%, epimembranous GN 85%, proliferative FGN 60%, diffuse proliferative GN (including endotheliomesangial and membranoproliferative GN) 20%. In series from children and young adults, the correlation between morphology and survival rates is substantiated, i.e., epimembranous GN for 5 years: 100% [531a]; proliferative FGN for 5 years: 100% [531a], and for 10 years: 87% [485a]; mesangial lupus GN for 10 years: 100% [531a] and 10 years: 73% [485a].

In any event, adequate therapy can result in considerable improvement even in cases with diffuse GN [1085] which may regress into proliferative FGN [485a]. Under therapy a decrease of deposits is reported [360, 1163].

The relatively good prognosis of segmental-focal proliferative SLE-GN—even with up to 50% crescents (usually males: [1576])—is clouded by the quite frequent transition into the diffuse form (3 out of 7: [1085]; 29%: [554]). Additionally, a certain parallelness between the amount of subendothelial deposits and the activity of lupus GN is reported to be present ([401, 600, 601, 613, 1163, 1511 a, 1824; contra: [372]).

The prognosis is considerably better in drug-induced SLE-GN. In the majority of the patients, the renal findings are reported to return to normal after withdrawal of the incriminating drug [1068]. Renal vein thrombosis is a unique complication of epimembranous GN in SLE [39].

Pathogenesis

SLE is currently viewed as an autoimmune disease with formation of mainly antinuclear AB to native DNA. Immunocomplex formation occurs when cells disintegrate and thereby make the corresponding nuclear (and partially cytoplasmic) AG available to the AB. In this process, not only local H-bodies but also circulating, variously soluble complexes arise; it is this difference in solubility which explains the diversity of the glomerular reaction [544]. The particular affinity of glomerular BM and collagen for DNA indicates the possibility of glomerular fixation of liberated DNA with secondary deposition of antibodies [757a]. Denaturation of cellular components is decisive for triggering the autoimmune reaction.

Etiology

A virus has been considered as the main etiological factor because of findings obtained in animal diseases—NZB mice, Aleutian minks—characterized by an SLE-like syndrome in which not only RNA C-type viruses, but also antinuclear antibodies have been demonstrated [265, 392, 614, 682, 958]. In man, there were—until recently—only indirect indications of a viral etiology as evidenced by the presence of endothelial tubular structures which are also found in NZB mice and Aleutian minks [29]. Further evidence for a viral etiology has recently been provided by the demonstration of C-type RNA virus antigen in the human glomeruli from patients with SLE [1073a, 1237a].

Drugs have also been frequently implicated as causative agents [1732a]. Cases unquestionably caused by drugs and, in most instances, healed by their withdrawal, have been reported following administration of hydralazine (150 cases: [10]), isoniacid, procainamide and the anticonvulsants hydantoin and trimethadion ([917, 1732a]; see also [544, 1068, 1613]).

⊲ Fig. 17.32. Proliferative FGN in SLE: segmental glomerular capillary loop necrosis (N) and coarse subendothelial deposits (\rightarrow). Female, 23 years. EM (× 3590)

Fig. 17.33. Virus-induced tubular endothelial structures (\rightarrow) in SLE. Basement membrane (*BM*). Female, 28 years. EM (×97,040)

Fig. 17.34. Same case as in Figure 17.33. Virus-induced tubular structures in endothelium $(\rightarrow \leftarrow)$ of an intertubular capillary. Osmiophilic deposits (*D*) are present along the BM. Part of an interstitial phagocyte (*PH*). Female, 28 years. EM (×29,300)

Renal Changes in Goodpasture's Syndrome [685, 1293, 1300]

Definition

This disease is characterized by recurring pulmonary hemorrhage followed by a highly destructive focally accentuated GN with marked crescent formation and IF demonstration of linear IgG deposits in the glomeruli (and lungs).



Incidence

The lesion is rare. It has been reported in 4 out of 213 renal biopsies [544], 4 out of 1368 biopsies in children and in 2 out of 46 cases of focal nephritis in children [624], 4% of all needle biopsies with GN [1312], in 0.76% [904] and in our material in 3 out of 25,000 autopsies, 0.15% biopsies, and 0.3% biopsies of GN.

The disease occurs typically in younger adults between 15 and 35 years of age, but it also occurs in older patients [690] as well as in children [620]. Males are more frequently afflicted than females [1300].

Clinical Findings

The disease [54, 1300] begins either with coughing, dyspnea, and bloody sputum or with massive, recurring lung hemorrhage which is accompanied by incommensurate anemia. X-ray films of the lungs show patchy, occasionally confluent infiltrates. Renal symptoms can develop days or even months after disease onset, in a few cases, concomitantly with the pulmonary symptoms or even before them. Initial renal symptoms consist of micro- or macrohematuria accompanied by slight proteinuria corresponding to the morphologic picture of FGN [685], which develops into diffuse GN after some months (less frequently after weeks or years) and is accompanied by increasing proteinuria and rapidly progressive renal insufficiency and, terminally, by hypertension. In one case series, renal insufficiency developed within 6 months in 5 out of 6 patients, whereas spontaneous remission occurred in the other subject [54]. Anti-BM-AB are usually first demonstrable in patients' serum following bilateral nephrectomy ([544]; contra: [750]). Lung hemorrhage often ceases following nephrectomy. Serum complement levels are normal and antinuclear AB are not present.

✓ Fig. 17.35. Same case as in Figure 17.33. Intertubular capillary with numerous osmiophilic deposits (D) which lie exterior to the capillary BM. Interstitial phagocytes (PH) evidence intense activation. Female, 28 years. EM (× 5100)

Fig. 17.36. Proliferative FGN with severe extracapillary involvement in Goodpasture's syndrome. Glomerular capillary loops are completely compressed and can scarcely be evaluated. Crescent formation (*) and two podocytic giant cells (\rightarrow) are present in the capsular space. Female, 70 years. PAS (\times 720)

Fig. 17.37. Same case as in Figure 17.36 as seen 5 weeks later. There are now extensive synechiae. A podocytic giant cell (\rightarrow) . General hypercellularity with loop obliteration due to cell proliferation $(\neg \triangleright)$. No significant periglomerular inflammation is present. Female, 70 years. HE (\times 500)

LM Findings

In the early stage of the disease, a severe, focally accentuated GN is present (Figs. 17.36, 17.37)---usually with considerable crescent formation (Fig. 6.91) [344, 750, 904, 954, 1353, 1484]. A particular highly characteristic feature is the occurrence of syncytial giant cells in the capsular space (Figs. 17.36, 17.37; 2 out of 3: Z; see also [904]). They are commonly associated with loop necrosis. They are not, however, pathognomonic, since they are, rarely, observed in amyloidosis [1715], extracapillary GN [1209, 1211] and in other types of focally accentuated GN associated with loop necroses (see Table 8.1). According to our observations, these giant cells are of podocytic origin (histiocytes: [904]). Fibrinoid loop necroses are relatively frequent and we found them already present during the early stage of the disease whereas other investigators encountered them only during the terminal attack [883]. The BM is often pronouncedly split and evidences mesangial interposition but without subendothelial deposit formation.

In the later stages, the glomeruli are often diffusely afflicted but segmental changes and various inflammatory stages of the lesions can still be identified side by side. We did not find arteritis as has been described by other investigators [954, 1068].

If Findings

The IF findings are those of anti-BM-AB type GN with ultralinear deposition of IgG and more rarely C3 [1747]—which involves all glomeruli—also those which appear unchanged under LM ([620]; Fig. 11.3; see also [54, 344, 983, 544, 1101, 1293, 1484] and for granular deposits: [1211, 1825]). Other immunoglobulins are more seldom present (IgA: [620]). The absence of C3 within glomerular deposits, in some cases, can be explained by the fact that the glomerularly bound IgG₄ does not fix complement [954]. Furthermore, 2–5% of the glomerular show coarse fibrin(-ogen) deposition peripherally [1197].

The same IF type is found now and again in lung biopsies along alveolar capillary BM [54, 883].

EM Findings

In the late stage, the lesion is strongly reminiscent of membranoproliferative GN; massive deposits, however, are absent (Fig. 17.38; see also [1293, 1300, 1353]). Interposition and, above all, BM doubling are especially obvious (Fig. 17.39). Loop BM is focally considerably thickened, irregular and evidences cytoplasmic inclusions (Fig. 17.40); it may even be ruptured [544]. We were able to demonstrate very thin subendothelial osmiophilic deposits (Fig. 17.41) in a relatively fresh case (see also



17.38



Page 340

Fig. 17.38. Same case as in Figure 17.36. Goodpasture's GN: new formation of mesangial matrix, extensive activation of mesangial cells and occasionally mesangial interposition with new formation of a second, thin densa layer are present. Female, 70 years. EM (\times 4450)

Fig. 17.39. Same case as in Figure 17.36. Peripheral glomerular capillary loops demonstrate severe mesangial interposition and new formation of subendothelial BM (\rightarrow) . Massive ballooning of podocytes (*P*) is due to poor fixation. Female, 70 years. EM (× 8750)

Fig. 17.40. Same case as in Figure 17.36. Severe degeneration of peripheral BM with mesangial interposition (M). Endothelial cells (E) are highly hypertrophied. There is complete fusion of podocytic foot processes and osmiophilic material is considerably increased. Female, 70 years. EM (\times 18640)

Fig. 17.41. Same case as in Figure 17.36. Peripheral BM in Goodpasture's GN: considerable thickening of the lamina rara interna and new formation of a thin densa layer (\rightarrow) which is separated from the endothelium (*E*) by a new, uniformly narrow l. rara interna. Degradation particles are embedded in the BM. There is also subepithelial loosening (*) of the BM. EM (×26,400)

Fig. 17.42. Same case as in Figure 17.36. Extensive deposition of iron granules in mesangial and endothelial cells in Goodpasture's GN. Female, 70 years. EM $(\times 17,340)$



[750]) which were no longer present in a biopsy 3 years later, but which still showed frank mesangial interposition and considerable fine-granular thickening of the lamina rara interna as is the case in experimental anti-BM-GN [38, 1197]. Deposition of iron granules in and under podocytes and in the endothelium of the intertubular vessels (Fig. 17.42) can be shown in a few cases [1353]. The remaining findings correspond to those of proliferative FGN with severe extracapillary involvement. The fibrin content of capsular spaces filled with crescents as well as the (fibrinoid) loop necroses are especially pronounced.

Differential Diagnosis

In the presence of lung hemorrhage and a progressive kidney disease, several possibilities must be considered. Above all, attention must be directed to Schönlein-Henoch's purpura ([1803]; 3 out of 25,000 autopsies: Z; 2 out of 22 biopsies of Schönlein-Henoch's purpura) in which, however, the recurring character of the lung hemorrhage typical of Goodpasture's syndrome is very rare.

Lung hemorrhage is also occasionally encountered in hypersensitivity angitis [1068] and in SLE [544] as well as in Wegener's syndrome, apart from chance association of pulmonary hemorrhage and renal symptoms.

Idiopathic pulmonary hemosiderosis of children is not accompanied by renal involvement and its prognosis is good [1068, 1526].

Because of these differential diagnostic problems, renal biopsy is of primary importance for diagnosis, especially so with IF investigation. When IF investigation is not done, segmental-focal proliferative GN with marked crescent formation, capillary loop necroses, numerous podocytic giant cells, and the absence of EM-demonstrable osmiophilic deposits are indicative of but not proof for Goodpasture's syndrome.

Prognosis

The prognosis is very poor. Among 100 patients reported in the literature, 90 succumbed after an average of 10 months following diagnosis (36 from pulmonary changes and 54 in uremia: [1562]). There are only a few cases described where healing (with defects) has occurred [685, 1682]. The efficacy of treatment with immunosuppressives and corticosteroids is questionable [1505].

Transplantation is usually successful ([1197, 1505]; contra: [422]) after bilateral nephrectomy and complete disappearance of serum anti-BM-AB, otherwise, a relapse of the GN in transplant must be expected [1293]. The favorable, usually immediate effect of bilateral nephrectomy on lung hemorrhage is not yet completely understood.

Pathogenesis and Etiology

Goodpasture's syndrome represents the prototype of anti-BM-AB GN (experimental findings: [641]). The chain of events leading to anti-BM-AB formation is poorly understood.

Both a cross-reaction against streptococcal membranes (see p. 183; [544]) and a viral infection (influenza- A_2 virus: [1748]) have been proposed as causative.

A further etiologic factor is supposed to be hydrocarbon solvent poisoning which is injurious to lung BM [107].

Recently, it has been demonstrated that the glomerularly bound IgG corresponds to IgG_4 which does not fix complement. Thus, it has been suggested that the glomerular lesions are due to a cell-mediated immune response [954].

Renal Changes in Wegener's Syndrome [130, 714, 1697, 1791]

Definition

This lesion is characterized by a pronouncedly destructive FGN with proliferative periglomerulitis and vasculitis associated with chronic, granulomatous inflammation of the respiratory tract, and coarse, nodular granuloma in other organs as well.

Incidence

We found this rare disease in 6 out of 25,000 autopsies and in 0.35% of our biopsies (0.7% of GN biopsies). Males are afflicted slightly more frequently than females. The onset of disease is usually during the fourth to fifth decades of life (see also Table 14.3).

Clinical Findings

The disease (Table 14.3) usually begins with ozena and/ or rhinitis, otitis media, sinusitis, or pneumonia. Biopsy provides the characteristic findings, i.e., chronic inflammation of the mucosa with severely proliferative and occasionally necrotizing vasculitis. Eye symptoms (uveitis, keratoconjunctivitis, exophthalmus) are also described [984]. An interesting laboratory finding is an increase in serum IgE [301 a].

In one of our own cases, purpura initially occurred and led to the diagnosis of Schönlein-Henoch's syndrome [824]. Disease onset may be so insidious that diagnosis is first achieved during the subsequent phase of massive granuloma formation, chiefly in the lung. Lung biopsy reveals destructive tuberculoid granulomas [256, 824], which are often misinterpreted as tuberculosis, metastases, or fungal pneumonia. In one of our own cases, granulomas were restricted to the breast and led to the wrong diagnosis of lipophagic granuloma. Observation of the severe vasculitis in this case would have permitted the correct diagnosis which was then achieved with subsequent renal biopsy.

In general, significant renal symptoms already occur in the early disease stage. Renal involvement is usually attack-like. Lack of renal involvement has also been reported [256]. The existence of this "limited form of angitis and granulomatosis of Wegener's type" [255] has been challenged [714]. Renal affliction is generally associated with proteinuria in 88% and hematuria in 81% of the cases ([1687]; see also Table 14.3). Not infrequently, patients present with oligo-anuria (5 out of 6: Z) unaccompanied by any indications of the underlying disease. Diagnosis was made in 3 out of 6 of our cases by renal biopsy (extrarenal manifestations were first demonstrated later).

The disease may last for months or even years. Death is due to renal insufficiency in 80% of the lethal cases and to lung and vascular involvement in the other 20%. In 24% of the patients, hypertension occurs terminally.

If therapy with steroids and cytostatics is commenced in the early disease stage, the course of the illness is reported to be considerably protracted [984].

LM Findings

Strikingly severe destructive GN (Fig. 17.44) with very pronounced *periglomerulitis* is present (Fig. 17.43) which is best demonstrated with PASM stain (Figs. 17.45, 17.46). The focal character of the lesion is immediately apparent in autopsy material, but may be difficult to recognize in biopsies even though relatively numerous glomeruli are present. The various inflammatory stages of the process in the different glomeruli are always clearly evident and emphasize the attack-like course of the disease (Figs. 17.43, 17.44, 17.47).

In freshly afflicted glomeruli, capillary loop necroses and thrombi (Fig. 17.46) are frequently seen [781]. Peculiar holes of up to 0.2 µm in size in tangential BM sections may represent residues of dissolved immunodeposits [714]; see also [1628a]). Fibrinoid glomerular and vascular deposits are present in about one third of the cases [714]. Furthermore, pronounced mesangiolysis which may lead to the finding of ballooned loops has been described [1498]. In addition, intense capsular epithelial proliferation occurs with formation of segmental or global crescents. In the early stages, the latter contain numerous polymorphonuclear and scattered eosinophilic leukocytes (Fig. 17.47), is rich in fibrin, as in Goodpasture's syndrome, and finally contains completely destroyed glomerular loops (Figs. 17.46, 17.47). Destruction of Bowman's capsule by cells of the periglomerular

granuloma and development of severe periglomerulitis (5 out of 6: Z), which spreads considerably into the surroundings, are typical for the lesion (contra: [65]) even though not pathognomonic (Fig. 17.43; [1791]). This capsular proliferation with inclusion of loop residues and pronounced destruction of capsular BM (Fig. 17.43) are the characteristics we encountered in 5 out of 6 of our cases. Collapse glomeruli are also observed when the vessels are severely afflicted.

In the interstitium, there is always a very severe, predominantly plasmocytic inflammation (Fig. 17.48) with a variable number of eosinophilic leukocytes. Wegener's granulomas themselves are rarely observed in the kidney (1 out of 6 autopsies; 0 out of 6 biopsies: Z).

Page 344

Fig. 17.43. GN in Wegener's syndrome. Two glomeruli (G) have been completely destroyed and replaced by granulation tissue which extends far into the surroundings. There is a massive perifocal lympho plasmocytic infiltration. Males, 62 years. HE $(\times 150)$

Fig. 17.44. Wegener's syndrome: severe destruction of a glomerulus (\rightarrow) and arteriolitis with extensive fibrinoid necroses (\neg). Female, 63 years. HE ($\times 250$)

Fig. 17.45. Severe mantle-like periglomerulitis $(\rightarrow \leftarrow)$ in Wegener's GN. The glomeruli (G) themselves are partly destroyed. Female, 45 years. PASM ($\times 85$)

Fig. 17.46. Wegener's glomerulitis and periglomerulitis. Glomerulus depicted is only identifiable on the basis of the BM fragments (\rightarrow) which are surrounded by extensive periglomerulitis. Female, 64 years. PASM (\times 190)

Page 345

Fig. 17.47. Same case as in Figure 17.43 showing pronounced segmentally accentuated GN with segmental crescent (*CR*). Striking extension of the inflammation to the interstitium is again present. Male, 62 years. HE (\times 390)

Fig. 17.48. Same case as in Figure 17.43. Severe accompanying interstitial nephritis in Wegener's syndrome. Male, 62 years. HE $(\times 95)$

Fig. 17.49. Severe fibrinoid necrotizing arteritis in Wegener's syndrome, a finding corresponding to that encountered in hypersensitivity angitis. Male, 35 years. PAS (\times 70)

Fig. 17.50. Same case as in Figure 17.43. Scarified arteritis is seen with pronouncedly sector-like vessel involvement. Glome-rulus depicted is unchanged. HE (\times 110)





A severe destructive-proliferative arteriolitis was present in 6 out of 6 of our own autopsies and 4 out of 6 biopsies (Figs. 17.49, 17.50). The vascular changes cannot be differentiated from hypersensitivity angitis [685, 789].

IF Findings

Currently, the available data are scanty. In one report, IgA, IgM, IgG, and C3 were observed in focal-segmental distribution in glomeruli and in arterioles [743]. In two of our own cases, we observed IgG and IgM in focal-segmental distribution in the mesangium and along the peripheral glomerular BM as well as C3 in the same intraglomerular but diffuse intrarenal distribution and in periglomerular granulomas (Fig. 17.51). In a third case, only complement was present in focal-segmental mesangial distribution. Fibrin(-ogen) was negative in arterioles. In one case only, C3 was found in a small artery.

EM Findings

Severe obsolescence of glomerular capillary loops was the predominant feature in three of our own EM cases. In one instance, numerous leukocytes were demonstrable in the capillary lumen. Hypertrophy of the endothelium was always present. Except for slight fusion of foot processes, no significant epithelial cell lesions were noted (Fig. 17.52). The BM of a few isolated loops was focally thickened and, in 2 out of 3 cases, deposits were located subendothelially (Fig. 17.53) and 1 out of 3 also subepithelially (Fig. 17.52). In 1 out of 3 cases, we noted humps (2 out of 7: [714]). With the exception of slight, focal increase of the mesangial matrix, there were no further constant BM or mesangial changes. In all our cases, we found severe focal segmental crescent formation. Massive fibrin deposits were not only present in the glomeruli (Fig. 17.53) but also in the capsular space in

the walls of the intertubular blood vessels and, very massively, in the interstitium (Fig. 17.54).

The interstitial infiltrates were predominantly composed of plasma cells (Fig. 17.55). Finally, necroses of myocytes, a severe histiocytic and a slight polymorphonuclear leukocytic infiltration as well as fibrin deposition are reported in afflicted vessels [781].

Differential Diagnosis

Differentiation from Goodpasture's FGN, except in IF, may be difficult, but according to our observations, Goodpasture's FGN is not as destructive and does not exhibit massive periglomerulitis. All the other forms of GN can be excluded on the basis of the same criteria. We consider genuine granulomatous periglomerulitis to be specific for Wegener's FGN (contra: [65]). Allergic granulomatous arteritis does not cause such severe destructive glomerulitis (contra: [1068]) and the lung granulomas observed thereby are much smaller (see p. 538).

Prognosis

Formerly, prognosis was extremely poor. Good results have been reported recently with cytostatic therapy which is supposed to cause the glomerular changes to undergo sclerosis [714, 984].

Among our patients (Table 14.3) at the time of biopsy, 5 out of 6 were already on hemodialysis, four of whom later either died or became permanently dialysed.

In one patient following hemodialysis of 1 month, administration of azathioprine and prednisone led to striking improvement of creatinine clearance, which, after 1 year's observation, has been now stabilized at 27 ml/ min. In yet another patient, clearance improved with these two drugs from 62 to 108 ml/min. In both cases, extrarenal affliction in bronchial and nasal mucosa has been demonstrated.

Transplants in patients with complete remission after bilateral nephrectomy showed no relapses 10–28 months after transplantation [466].

Fig. 17.51. Same case as in Figure 17.43. Wegener's glomerulitis. \triangleright Fine-granular IgM deposits, which are scanty in the glomerulus, are massively present in the periglomerular ganuloma (\rightarrow). Male, 62 years. IF (\times 350)

Fig. 17.52. Same case as in Figure 17.43 of Wegener's glomerulitis. Three humps (*H*) are recognizable, one of which has been tangentially sectioned and therefore does not appear to be continuous with the BM. Male, 62 years. EM ($\times 6030$)

Fig. 17.53. Same case as in Figure 17.46. Peripheral glomerular capillary loop in Wegener's syndrome demonstrating subendothelial deposits (D) and massive intraluminal fibrin deposits (D I). Fibrin deposits (*) are present in the periglomerular interstitium which is considerably broadened by connective tissue. Female, 64 years. EM (\times 4580)




Pathogenesis and Etiology

Pathogenesis and etiology are unknown. Pathogenetically, it may be assumed that an immunocomplex mechanism is involved ([1500]; contra: [389a]). On the other hand, a cell-mediated immune deficiency is suggested due to delayed hypersensitivity skin reaction and reduced lymphocyte transformation by different antigens [1500]. Simultaneous formation of AB (against smooth muscle demonstrated in 4 out of 10: [1500]; in 3 out of 6 rheumatic factor, and in 1 out of 1 antimitochondrial AB: Z) possibly represents a reaction secondary to tissue breakdown. Finally, a combination of a humoral (vascular fibrinoid necroses) with a cellular immune reaction (epitheloid granulomas and giant cells) has been assumed [698]. Unambiguous demonstration of a causative agent has not been possible in either autopsy or biopsy material [256]. Wegener's syndrome is closely related to allergic, granulomatous arteritis and hypersensitivity angitis (see also [284]).

Glomerulonephritis in Hypersensitivity Angitis (Microform of Periarteritis Nodosa)

GN occurs in about one-third of the cases of hypersensitivity angitis [130, 199, 794a, 1151, 1791]. It is characterized by extensive microthrombi and severe fibrinoid loop necrosis and is usually of diffuse extracapillary accentuated or proliferative FGN type ([130, 624, 794a]; see p. 536 for detailed discussion).

✓ Fig. 17.54. Same case as in Figure 17.46. Interstitial change in Wegener's GN with pronounced fibrin deposits (*) and macrophages with protein droplets (*PD*). Female, 64 years. EM (× 3680)

Fig. 17.55. Same case as in Figure 17.46. Exclusively plasmocytic infiltrates in the interstitium in Wegener's GN. Rough endoplasmatic reticulum of plasma cell is cystoidally widened. Female, 64 years. EM (\times 3360)

Fig. 17.56. IgA nephritis after clinically acute GN 18 years prior to biopsy. Proliferative FGN restricted to a single glomerular capillary loop (\rightarrow). Glomerular minimal change is present in the mesangium (\rightarrow). In IF, only mesangial IgA deposits were observed. Male, 36 years. PAS (\times 500)

Fig. 17.57. IgA nephritis: proliferative-sclerosing stage of endotheliomesangial GN with axial mesangial involvement. IF revealed typical mesangial deposits chiefly of IgA. Male, 12 years. PAS ($\times 400$)

IgA Mesangial Glomerulonephritis

[1826, 1827]

Definition

IgA nephritis is characterized by the constant presence of predominantly mesangial IgA deposits. With LM/EM, it is seen to be associated with different forms of GN as well as glomerular minimal change [123, 743].

Synonym: Mesangiopathic GN [544], IgA-nephritis, IgA-IgG nephropathy [1821], IgA-nephropathy [1827].

Incidence

It has been reported in 3.8% (Z); 4% [1513]; 4.3% [1043]; 5.6% [654]; 7.7% [1139] of all biopsies, and in 7.7\% [654]; 10% [974]; 10.8% (Z); 19.3% [1139a]; 22% [393] of GN biopsies.

Summarizing the data from the literature, the male:female ratio in 268 cases is 3.5:1 [354, 393, 950, 1043, 1513, 1720, 1778a].

The age of onset of the disease is difficult to evaluate since the history of renal disease is quite often longer than 5 years (32%: [1720]) and may even last for decades [123, 1720]. This is best illustrated by one of our own patients with a 22-year history of 28 relapses of macrohematuria. The age of presentation with renal disease is usually that of the young adult (19 years: [1043]; 28 years: [1778a]; 20 years: [354]; 28 years: [1513]; 33 years: [393]) but it is also observed in children between 3–8 years of age [950].

Clinical Findings (Tables 14.3, 14.4, Fig. 17.58)

IgA nephritis is frequently discovered fortuitously when routine urine examination reveals microhematuria and/ or proteinuria of slight degree [393, 1511b, 1720]. In other cases, the disease manifests itself in the form of macrohematuria which often lasts only for a few hours or days and then decreases to microhematuria or vanishes completely (Fig. 17.58).

In about 43% of the cases, respiratory infection [1052] precedes disease onset (Table 17.5). In other cases, extreme physical stress or immunization [1720] may immediately precede disease manifestation. Typically, hematuria is observed after only a few hours (at the most, 1-2 days) following infection or stress [544, 950, 1720]. In rare cases, the disease sets in as typical acute GN ([393]; 2 out of 15: Z).

After disease onset, the illness exhibits an attack-like course ([1720]; see also Fig. 17.58). Individual attacks are again also characterized by micro- or even macrohematuria. Single or multiple episodes of macrohematuria have been noted in 48% of patients (Fig. 17.58). Complete remission is frequently observed between the attacks (14 out of 36: [950]; 22 out of 96: [1720]). At the time of bioptical diagnosis (Fig. 17.58), patients usually present the following findings: proteinuria and hematuria are present in more than 50% of the cases. Proteinuria is usually only slight. A nephrotic syndrome is present in less than 10% of the patients. One-fourth of the subjects evidence isolated hematuria. Isolated proteinuria as well as isolated nephrotic syndrome are highly unusual. Despite a disease course which may span years or even decades, hypertension (17.8%) and hyperazotemia (11%) are infrequent. Decrease of complement (C3) is rare (14.8%) and usually of low grade. Increase of antistreptolysin titer is also seldom.

The frequent—but not constant—increase of the serum IgA level is a striking feature of the lesion [354, 483, 974, 1720, 1778a] as is the pronounced incidence of familial cases (5 out of 25: [1513]; 9 out of 96: [1720]; 2 out of 18: [1778a]; 1 out of 15: Z).

LM Findings

LM findings in IgA nephritis are not essentially different from those observed in idiopathic GN forms. Table 17.6 presents their relative frequency. The only striking feature in IgA nephritis is the often-noted discrepancy between the staining results with PASM and PAS stain. In PAS stain, there appears to be an obvious increase of mesangial matrix which cannot be demonstrated with the PASM stain [1052]. This is explained by the fact that the PAS stain also colors the LM-demonstrable deposits (Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain). It is noted, however, that the deposits cannot be demonstrated with LM in all cases (41 out of 96: [1720]). Normal glomeruli under LM are rarely observed. Those with glomerular minimal change (16.4%) are more frequently encountered (Fig. 17.56). In endotheliomesangial GN, axial enlargement of the mesangium is usually present (Fig. 17.57).

Table 17.5. Relative frequency of different forms of glomerulonephritis in 200 cases of IgA-mesangial GN from the literature [393, 950, 1139] including our own cases

	THE R. LEWIS CO., LANSING MICH.	
Normal glomeruli	1%	
Glomerular minimal change	16.4%	
Endotheliomesangial GN	26.9%	
Proliferative FGN	54.2%	
Unclassified	1.5%	

Fig. 17.58. Profile of symptoms and clinical findings in IgA-mesangial GN

White columns: Relative frequency of symptom/finding in all GN

Black columns: Relative frequency in IgA-mesangial GN (data collected from the literature; see Table 14.3) Asterisks indicate characteristic findings for IgA mesangial GN:

*: characteristic

**: very characteristic

***: highly characteristic

Mesangial IgA nephritis manifests itself in more than half the cases in LM as a proliferative FGN (Table 17.5, Figs. 17.56, 17.58, 17.59). But the relative frequency of this form varies considerably in individual series: 17 out of 36 [950], 11 out of 20 [1043], 85 out of 89 [1139] and in one it is not a characteristic finding: 3 out of 52 [393] (see also [123, 128, 654]). We found proliferative FGN in 4 out of 15 cases.

The number of obsolescent glomeruli is reported as increased (7 out of 15: [974]) which we cannot confirm (0 out of 15: Z). Crescents are rare (8 out of 96: [1720]; 3 out of 15: [974]; 3 out of 15 (in less than 10% of the glomeruli): Z). Glomerular capillary loop necroses with fibrin deposition have been described exceptionally [128].

IF Findings

The predominant feature is massive IgA deposition. IgA is mainly located in the mesangium but may occasionally extend to the peripheral BM (Fig. 17.61; [1052, 950, 1139]) as we encountered in half of our cases (see Table 17.6). The deposits also contain IgG and C3 [128, 393, 1002, 1052, 1139, 1513]. The absence of mesangial IgM deposits has been especially emphasized by some investigators [1052, 1139]; contra: [1513]). In our own material (Table 17.6), we encountered IgM in 8 out of 12 cases, half of which in focal-segmental distribution. Fibrin(ogen) is rarely present (see also [1139]).

The early complement components (Clq and C4) were not, as yet, demonstrable in our material as in the series of others [1043, 1513], a finding which suggests possible C3 activation via the alternative pathway supported by the almost constant presence of properdin [1043]. In further series, C3 and C4 were found almost constantly, while Clq was always absent [452a].

In our cases, IgA was not found in renal vessels, but recent reports indicate that, as in Schönlein-Henoch's



Table 17.6. IF findings in IgA nephritis (n=12; positive=12)

	lgG	IgM	IgA	C3	Fibrin(-ogen)
Cases tested Positive	12 10	12 8	12 12	12 12	12 1
Focal Diffuse	3 7	4 4	0 12	1	0
Segmental Global	3 7	4 4	0 12	2 10	1 0
Peripheral	_	÷ •			
Mesangial and peripheral	5	7	6	6	1
Mesangial	5	1	6	6	_

purpura, massive IgA deposits are present in skin vessels [452a].

EM Findings

Segmental obliteration of glomerular loops was observed in 3 out of 14 of our cases. Furthermore, there was only slight endothelial and podocytic hypertro0hy or edema with formation of microvilli and arcades (Fig. 17.62). A usually insignificant foot process fusion was present in all cases as was an increase of osmiophilic substance in podocytes in 4 out of 14 (see also [950]). Very dense osmiophilic deposits were present along the

very dense osmophilic deposits were present along the mesangial BM and in the mesangial matrix in 10 out of 14 of our cases (Figs. 17.62, 17.68) and in 4 out of 14 cases, they were present exclusively along the mesangial BM. Furthermore, osmiophilic deposits—occasionally undergoing dissolution—were found in the peripheral glomerular BM in 7 out of 14 cases (see also [393]; Fig. 17.64).

to the peripheral BM and on the epithelial surface of several

tubular cells (\rightarrow). Female, 14 years. IF (\times 350)



17.61

In 5 out of 14 cases we noted a few isolated subendothelial deposits (10 out of 19: [950]; see also [354, 393]). Subepithelial deposits and humps were seen each in 1 out of 14 (see also [950]). We observed intramembranous deposits in 4 out of 14. In a further biopsy, osmiophilic deposits could be demonstrated exclusively in the periphery with EM, but not in the region of the mesangium in the presence of otherwise typical IF findings.

The BM was focally thickened in 9 out of 14 of our cases; this was predominantly caused by thickening of the lamina rara interna (Fig. 17.64). In three patients there occurred a slight splitting of the lamina densa and thickening of the lamina rara externa with formation of new BM which, in one case, was associated with the occurrence of a virus-like particles. Segmental mesangial interposition was noted in 3 out of 14 cases.

With the exception of the previously mentioned deposits, the findings in the region of the mesangium were restricted to a generally slight cell increase and hypertrophy in 12 out of 14 cases (8 out of 19: [950]) as well as to moderately severe to severe matrix increase.

Differential Diagnosis

The diagnosis of IgA nephritis is based on IF findings showing dominant IgA affliction of the mesangium. They are not conclusive proof of the disease, since identical IF patterns are also observed in Schönlein-Henoch's syndrome and SLE (see also [354]) or liver cirrhosis [241]. LM and EM diagnosis of the disease can at best be suspected by the demonstration of extensive fibrinoid Masson's trichrome/AFOG positive and osmiophilic mesangial deposits but not on the basis of the presence of segmental-focal GN alone since typical IgA nephritis may appear in different forms of GN as well as in glomerular minimal change in LM (see also [393, 950]; Table 17.5). Recent findings of IgA deposits in skin vessels [452a] in IgA nephritis may be helpful retrospectively in all cases with predominant mesangial deposits in LM or EM when no IF investigation was done, but further substantiating evidence is needed.

Prognosis

The disease appears to run a very protracted course and the duration of illness before biopsy may be one of years or even decades [123]. Complete remission for many years also appears to be typical [393, 950, 974, 1052, 1720]. Furthermore, serial biopsies have shown no essential progression of the lesion [128, 1052]. Terminal renal insufficiency is extremely rare and only reported in isolated instances [129, 1513, 651].

Patients with glomerular minimal change were reported to have complete disease remission in 8 out of 12 cases between the attacks of macrohematuria, those with proliferative FGN in only 5 out of 17 cases, while in those with other GN forms, intermittent or constant microhematuria and/or proteinuria were present [950]. In our own material, 6 out of 7 patients with permanent proteinuria of > 1 g/day revealed findings of diffuse endotheliomesangial GN as was shown by 5 out of 6 patients with a decrease of creatinine clearance (<90 ml/min) and by the only hypertensive patient. Our IgA-nephritis patients with glomerular minimal change or FGN respectively showed only hematuria and, at the most, minimal proteinuria.

Recurrence was observed in four cases after transplantation [651].

Etiology and Pathogenesis

Etiology and pathogenesis of IgA nephritis are unknown. Three possibilities must be considered to explain the deposition of IgA in the mesangium:

- 1. The deposits represent filtered, aggregated IgA
- 2. The IgA represents the antigen of an immunocomplex
- 3. The IgA is the antibody of an immunocomplex.

The first possibility-excessive filtration of aggregated IgA—has been proposed [974]. In favor of this assumption is the fact that it has been shown experimentally that aggregated globulin can be deposited in the mesangium [1026, 1027]. In the case of IgA nephritis, it must be assumed that IgA is either altered physicochemically as to aggregate, or that aggregation occurs spontaneously as a result of the increased serum IgA levels which have been observed in numerous patients [483, 974, 1720, 1778a]. Further support is lent by the fact that IgA may be the only immunoglobulin present in the glomerulus [974, 1043, 1720, 1778a]. The often simultaneous presence of C3 may be interpreted as C3-binding by aggregated IgA [582]. Nevertheless, we feel that the concomitant occurrence of IgA in skin vessels [452a] and the frequent prescence of other immunoglobulins in the mesangium, like IgG and IgM, are insufficiently explained by this hypothesis.

The second possibility, i.e., that the mesangial IgA is the antigen, is hardly probable, at least for secretory IgA. Thus, various investigators have shown that only minute amounts of secretory IgA—or none at all—are present in the mesangium [974, 1043, 1720].

The most likely hypothesis, accordingly, is that IgA is the antibody component of an immunocomplex. In this case, either the mesangial matrix acts as the antigen or one unknown, e.g., virus, bacterium or toxin. The possibility that the mesangial matrix may be acting as antigen is indicated by the as yet unconfirmed finding that eluted IgA binds specifically to the mesangium of control kidneys [974].



The common occurrence of IgA in the mesangium in such different lesions as Schönlein-Henoch's purpura [1720, 1778 a], "hepatic glomerulosclerosis" [241], familial thrombopenia [1778 a] and in IgA-nephritis, in all of which serum IgA may be increased, may indicate a shared pathogenetic pathway and etiology. Etiology and pathogenesis await further clarification as well as the increased incidence of familial cases of IgA-nephritis, [1513, 1720, 1778 a]. The increased incidence of familial IgA-nephritis could be an indication of genetic disturbance. It is interesting to note in this context that patients with congenital C2 deficiency are more prone to suffer from Schönlein-Henoch's purpura [1589a].

One investigator group [483] proposed that all GN with IgA, independent of type and localization of deposits, should be classified as IgA nephritis. On clinical and prognostic reasons, we do not recommend such an extension of the definition of IgA nephritis at the present time.

✓ Fig. 17.62. IgA-nephritis. There is moderately severe enlargement of the mesangium with numerous mesangial osmiophilic deposits (→). Activation of the endothelium-which contains isolated protein droplets-is also present as is swelling of podocytes. There is no significant foot process fusion. Male, 22 years. EM (× 3770)

Fig. 17.63. Same case as in Figure 17.59 showing the mesangial deposits (D). There is intense activation of endothelial cells with arcade formation (E). Foot process fusion is scarcely recognizable (\rightarrow) . Mesangial nuclei (M) are activated. Female, 14 years. EM (×9100)

Fig. 17.64. IgA nephritis. Peripheral BM damage with isolated intramembranous deposits (\rightarrow) and loosening of the lamina rara interna. There are numerous intraluminal endothelial balloons. Slight foot process fusion is present. Male, 20 years. EM (\times 14,370)

Early Infantile Glomerulonephritic Contracted Kidney, Congenital (Infantile) Nephrotic Syndrome

Early Infantile Glomerulonephritic Contracted Kidney (So-Called Oligonephronia) [1146, 1393]

Definition

Diffuse GN during the first year of life and its subsequent development into contracted kidney.

Synonyms: Oligonephronia [628, 1393] and oligomeganephronia [428, 1146].

Incidence

The disease is very rare. Only 40 cases have been described in the world literature. Boys are considerably more often afflicted than girls (male: female, 16:5 [1393]).

Clinical Findings

Symptoms of renal disease are rarely present at birth (6 out of 21: [1393]). They usually develop between the first and twenty-fourth months of life (7 out of 21: [1393]) or between the second and twelfth years of life [1393]. The symptoms consist of slight proteinuria in the absence of hematuria, leukocyturia and hypertension.

Decrease of creatinine clearance is observed very early. In 15 out of 21 cases, chronic renal insufficiency developed which evidenced a stable course for a considerable period of time without concomitant hypertension [1393]. The terminal phase is characterized by progressive uremia. The disease is not familial. Acral growth retardation may occur [428]. Only isolated reports of associated malformations are present [1393, 593].

LM Findings

Glomerular findings differ from those in diffuse GN acquired in later life. Glomerular obsolescence in infancy is usually followed by dissolution of the obsolescent glomeruli. This process is far more pronounced in infants than in older children. At the end of the process, only $30-60 \mu$ m-sized, spider-like coils of PAS-positive membranes (spider scars) are found in place of the obsolescent glomeruli (Fig. 17.65). The spider scars are easily overlooked unless attention is specifically directed to their identification (Fig. 17.66). Thus, there is a strong tempta-

tion to assume a numerical glomerular deficiency and, accordingly, of the entire nephron, i.e., an oligonephronia [628].

In material kindly placed at our disposal by Mrs Habib (Paris), we found a large number of such glomerular residues ([1797]: Fig. 24 and Fig. 11; see also [636]).

The number of glomeruli per 1 mm^2 of tissue was increased and not decreased with respect to the norm, a finding reflecting parenchymal shrinkage (contra: 11 glomeruli instead of 56.7: [1393]).

In general, a pronounced mesangial-sclerosing from of GN appears to predominate in the still more or less intact glomeruli [1791]. Intact or only slightly afflicted glomeruli are enlarged up to $320 \,\mu\text{m}$ due to compensatory hypertrophy. Microdissection has shown the nephrons to be reduced in number but considerably enlarged in size [593]. This is not surprising since obsolescent glomeruli and atrophic tubules can no longer be isolated by microdissection.

A further prominent difference from the usual findings of GN contracted kidney is the presence of very severe cystoidal widening of the intact straight parts of the proximal tubules (Fig. 17.67) referred to as "microcystic dysplasia" [477, 1206]. We interpret this finding as a secondary reaction to the overload of the few nephrons which are still functioning [412, 1791, 1797]. We have observed the same changes in rabbits in whom pyelonephritic destruction was produced in the immediate postnatal period [8].

The interstitium is severely sclerosed and exhibits lympho-plasmocytic infiltrates. Destructive tubular and vascular changes which differ from those of ordinary GN are not present.—We are unaware of any IF findings.

EM Findings

According to published microphotographs [1146] collapse glomeruli appear to occur very frequently. The intact glomeruli show a significant mesangial thickening with cell increase and an irregularly formed BM without, however, either lamellation or osmiophilic deposits. In addition, fusion of foot processes with slight increase of osmiophilic material in podocytes was noted.

Differential Diagnosis

The form of renal inflammation under discussion is relatively easy to distinguish from early childhood pyelonephritis (see p. 437)—which is also designated as segmental renal hypoplasia [1393]—since it is not sector-like but diffuse, demonstrates no thyroid-like foci, and evidences no destruction of tubules but only their severe atrophy in addition to hyperplasia of intact nephrons. Hypertension, which is typical for early childhood pyelonephritis (see also [1393]), is lacking and interstitial



Fig. 17.65. Early infantile GN, so-called oligonephronia. PAS positive spider scar of a glomerulus=fetal and early infantile type of glomerular obsolescence (\rightarrow). Surrounding stroma is infiltrated with loosely distributed lymphocytes. We thank Mrs. R. Habib, Paris, for this preparation. PAS (\times 310)

inflammation is far less extensive than in pyelonephritis.

Glomerular changes can be clearly differentiated from those in nephronophthisis in which only glomerular collapse is present. Spider scars and symptom—free interval between birth and disease onset are absent in nephronophthisis ([1433]; contra [1393]).

Prognosis

Prognosis appears to be poor in the presence of contracted kidney. In one case series, 11 out of 21 patients succumbed [1393].

Pathogenesis and Etiology

Pathogenesis and etiology are obscure.

A few investigators assume a malformation [477, 1206] or an oligonephronia [636, 1393] or an oligomeganephronia [1146] respectively.



Fig. 17.66. Same case as in Figure 17.65. Severe atrophy as well as cystoid widening of the tubules, side by side, are striking. Careful inspection of the section is necessary for identification of the numerous very small obsolescent glomeruli (\rightarrow) . There are only slight inflammatory infiltrates in the interstitium. PAS $(\times 28)$

Others propose progressive mesangial sclerosis [428] as also suggested previously [625]. We believe [1592, 1759, 1791, 1797] that the disease represents glomerular inflammation acquired early in life – possibly before birth – which causes subtotal destruction of glomeruli as we encounter in pyelonephritis of early childhood.

Three cases in the literature demonstrated agenesis of the contralateral kidney so that the observed glomerular changes in the kidney present were interpreted as overload glomerulitis [593].

Congenital (Infantile) Nephrotic Syndrome [539, 645, 646, 625, 1759, 1779]

Definition

Nephrotic syndrome (NS) which is present at birth or which develops during the first year of life (up to 3 months of age: [412]).

Nosology

Several morphologic types of congenital NS can be distinguished:

- 1. Finnish type, ("microcystic renal disease") [625, 645]
- 2. Infantile diffuse mesangial sclerosis [621, 625, 646]
- 3. Glomerular minimal change [625, 1728]
- 4. Segmental-focal sclerosing GN [625, 1430, 1734]
- 5. Epimembranous and possibly other forms of GN [625]
- 6. Others: syphilis, Hg-poisoning, cytomegalovirus infection, renal vein thrombosis, etc. [645].

The types 1–4 are often familial [625, 645, 646, 1126, 1430, 1728].

The Finnish type and that of infantile diffuse mesangial sclerosis merit separate discussion (all other forms do not essentially differ from those seen in older age groups: [1430]).

Incidence

The Finnish type has a far greater incidence in Finland (85 out of 137 cases: [219]) than elsewhere. It accounts for 30% of congenital nephrotics outside of Finland [625] and for 55% of congenital familial nephrotic syndrome [1728]. Boys are nearly as often afflicted as girls [645].

The infantile diffuse mesangial sclerosis type is also very rare and has been reported in 16% of congenital nephrotic syndrome [625] and in 0.7% of glomerular nephropathies in children [625]. Boys are more often afflicted than girls.

In our material, cases of congenital nephrotic syndrome comprise 0.32% of all GN.

Clinical Findings

The Finnish type of congenital nephrotic syndrome [645, 646] is frequently familial and shows autosomal recessive inheritance [646, 719]. Diagnosis of the Finnish type is now possible before birth by the demonstration of alpha fetoproteins which are highly increased in maternal serum and in the amniotic fluid [1482a].

The apparent intrauterine disease onset is typical for the Finnish type. The placenta is abnormally enlarged and the children are usually born prematurely (underweight). The newborn usually appear clinically healthy, but the symptoms of steroid-resistant NS become manifest shortly after birth, usually within the first 3 months of life [625, 645]. In the further course of development, disturbances in ossification (especially of the skull), and occasionally aminoaciduria and glycosuria [646] become apparent. Of these children, 81% die from infections or other complications during the first year of life. Infantile diffuse mesangial sclerosis also frequently occurs familially [625]. Nephrotic syndrome becomes manifest during the initial months of life (4 out of 6 after the fourth month: [625]) and progression to renal insufficiency procedes slower than in the Finnish type, so that the children first demonstrate terminal renal insufficiency at the age of 3–4 years [625]. Hematuria is only rarely encountered (1 out of 6: [625]).

LM Findings

In the *Finnish type* [645, 646], the "microcystic" transformation of the straight parts of the proximal tubules is immediately apparent. They are as wide as 400 μ m, irregularly formed, and contain varying amounts of protein (Fig. 17.67). Frozen sections stained with Sudan demonstrate rich amounts of neutral fats and lipoids in the tubular epithelium.

Between the hypertrophic tubules, careful examination also reveals the presence of severely atrophic and often completely solid tubular cords. Microdissection shows cystoidal widening of the proximal convoluted tubules and, in 14 out of 20 of the cases, a narrow neck segment [1234]. Slight dilatation of a few distal tubules was also noted [1234]. The interstitium is edematous, and scantily infiltrated with lymphocytes and histiocytes. Immaturelooking glomeruli with a collapsed tuft have a widened capsule space. The mature glomeruli exhibit mesangial hypercellularity and mesangial matrix increase. The latter becomes more pronounced with progression of the disease and is accompanied by a simultaneous decrease of mesangial cells. In advanced stages, some small segmental crescents and synechiae may also be present [645, 6461.

Fig. 17.67. Congenital GN in a 20-day-old boy: Entire cortex \triangleright is clotted with numerous irregularly formed and pronouncedly cystoid widened tubules. Obsolescent glomeruli (\rightarrow) are scanty. Note almost complete absence of interstitial changes. PAS (\times 27)

Fig. 17.68. Congenital GN in a 13-day-old girl. Proliferation and cell increase with almost complete occlusion of glomerular capillary loops. No polymorphonuclear leukocytes are present. Podocytes are swollen. HE (\times 800)

Fig. 17.69. Congenital nephrotic syndrome: diffuse endotheliomesangial GN with axial mesangial involvement in the proliferative-sclerosing stage is present. Note small segmental crescent (\rightarrow) . Male, 6 months. PAS (×370)

Fig. 17.70. Same case as in Figure 17.67. Congenital nephrotic syndrome with mesangial enlargement and cell proliferation. Male, 20 days. PAS (\times 430)



In the *infantile diffuse mesangial sclerosis* type, a microcystic transformation of the proximal tubules is also observed but is less pronounced than in the Finnish type [625]. Severe increase of PASM positive mesangial matrix without significant cell increase in the shrunken glomeruli is reported to be characteristic for the lesion [625].

All glomeruli are equally afflicted. In advanced cases, the glomerular tuft is completely sclerosed and covered by swollen podocytes forming an epithelial halo. No specific changes are noted in the interstitium or blood vessels.

In six patients of our own, we have found the glomeruli to fundamentally demonstrate the same picture as is observed in endotheliomesangial GN in later age. The mesangium shows severe enlargement due to intense cell increase in both early and later stages (Fig. 17.68). The mesangial cell increase is accompanied by a mesangial PASM positive matrix increase of variable extent (Figs. 17.69, 17.70) which may finally be the dominating feature (Figs. 17.71, 17.72; see also [719]). Segmental crescents are pronouncedly rare (Fig. 17.69).

In the terminal stage, very small 'hyaline' spheres which appear to lie free in the capsular space—represent the dominant finding (Fig. 17.73). Large podocytes form a halo around the more or less obsolescent glomeruli. A few investigators describe a late-occurring focal and segmental sclerosis and hyalinosis [219, 719, 1126] which was present in one of our cases—besides a diffuse proliferative sclerosing change in the other glomeruli. We did not encounter spider scars in our cases as are present in the contracted kidney of early childhood. Loop thrombi are extremely rare (Fig. 17.74).

The number of fetal-like (immature) glomeruli is supposed to be increased [719].

The interstitium shows no significant changes—only a very slight interstitial fibrosis with a few scattered lymphocytes. A microcystic transformation of tubules of variable but usually slight degree is seen in all but one of our cases (Fig. 17.67).

IF Findings

In the *Finnish type*, contrary to earlier reports [645, 913], the IF studies were entirely negative in 10 patients [646]. In another report [719] of three cases of congenital NS, at least one of the Finnish type, the initial biopsies were negative except for slight deposits of IgM and once for IgG in the mesangium, whereas at the time of nephrectomy, IgG, IgM, and C3 were segmentally distributed in the mesangium.

In *infantile diffuse mesangial sclerosis*, only one report is known to us describing IgM and C3 in granular form mesangially and subendothelially [1478].

Fig. 17.71. Same case as in Figure 17.67. Endotheliomesangial \triangleright GN with obvious axial enlargement of the mesangium. Note tubular polymorphism and cystoid distention. Male, 20 days. PASM (×120)

Fig. 17.72. A 6-month-old boy with congenital nephrotic syndrome showing sclerosing stage of endotheliomesangial GN. There is severe nodular enlargement of the mesangium. PASM $(\times 410)$

Fig. 17.73. Congenital GN in a 26-day-old boy. There is complete obsolescence of four glomeruli the capsular spaces of which however, are unaffected apart from one synechia (\rightarrow). PAS (\times 220)

Fig. 17.74. Same case as in Figure 17.67 illustrating a fresh attack in a case of congenital GN. Extensive fibrinoid thrombi are present in the glomerulus. The other glomerular segments show intense cell proliferation. Male, 20 days. HE (\times 610)

Page 362

Fig. 17.75. Endotheliomesangial GN (proliferative stage) in congenital nephrotic syndrome. The findings are similar to those in the corresponding GN in adults. There is intense, general cell proliferation and activation of mesangium and endothelium. Intense podocytic microvilli formation (*) and complete fusion of foot processes. Male, 4 months. EM ($\times 2250$)

Fig. 17.76. Severe mesangial enlargement without significant cellular increase in congenital nephrotic syndrome since birth. Glomerular capillary loop BM is slightly thickened and somewhat loosened in the region of lamina rara interna. Crown-like arrangement of podocytes is indicated (\rightarrow). Male, 2.5 years. EM ($\times 2360$)

Page 363

Fig. 17.77. Congenital GN in a 20-day-old boy (same case as in Figure 17.67). Peripheral BM is unchanged (\rightarrow). Massive mesangial enlargement by very coarse mesangial bars and by pronounced mesangial cell increase are the dominant findings. Autopsy material. Formalin fixation EM (\times 2210)

Fig. 17.78. Same case as in Figure 17.76 with predominant mesangial sclerosis. Subepithelial deposits (D) are fairly numerous. Lamina densa (LD) is irregular and thinned. Rara interna is very irregularly widened (*). Osmiophilic substance is increased in podocytic foot processes. Male, 2.5 years. EM (\times 33,300)

Fig. 17.79. Same case as in Figure 17.76 now evidencing extensive subendothelial deposits (D) and very pronounced widening of lamina rara interna. Endothelium is highly activated. Podocytes show slight foot process fusion. Male, 2.5 years. EM (×9460)







17.77

In our cases, one was entirely negative. Another showed slight granular deposits of IgM and C3 peripherally and, mesangially, of C3 only. The third case demonstrated slight peripheral granular deposits of IgG, C3, and fibrin (-ogen).

EM Findings

EM reports – which are entirely lacking in the *infantile diffuse mesangial sclerosis type*—are scanty in the *Finnish* type. In addition to the morphologic changes seen by LM, the BM shows, under EM, a slightly diffuse, uneven BM thickening, especially of the lamina rara interna [645]. Osmiophilic deposits are not mentioned by this author nor evidenced in the EM micrographs [645]. In our six cases studied with EM, we noted findings of endotheliomesangial GN in various stages. The GN was either predominantly proliferative (Fig. 17.75) or, at a later period, sclerosing, characterized by a very severe increase of the mesangial matrix (Fig. 17.76) which was the outstanding feature in a boy only 20 days old (Fig. 17.77). In 3 out of 6 cases, deposits were present in the region of the peripheral glomerular BM, in 2 out of 6, they were found subepithelially (Fig. 17.78) and in only 1 out of 6 subendothelially (Fig. 17.79). Overall, deposits were extraordinarily rare. Humps and mesangial deposits were not present.

Virus-induced endothelial tubules (Fig. 6.76) were found in large numbers in 3 out of 6 of our cases (see also [346]). In a further case of an 8-month-old boy, round, usually osmiophilic, solid, virus-like particles with a diameter of 200–500 Å were found subepithelially (Figs. 17.80, 17.81) and also, at times, subendothelially next to 800-1200 Å-sized vesicular particles (Fig. 17.81). In 3 out of 6 cases, a severe, diffuse thickening of the peripheral glomerular BM, upon which podocytes lay crownlike, was present (Fig. 17.76). In 1 out of 6 cases, an irregularity of the inner aspect of the BM-partly with nodular thickening of the lamina rara interna and new formation of a thin densa lamella (Fig. 17.82)-was observed. Finally, in a 4-month-old child, there was extensive new formation of a densa lamella, a finding suggestive of BM splitting and reminiscent of Alport's syndrome (Fig. 17.83). The original lamina densa, however, has maintained its continuity, but is obviously thinned (Fig. 17.83). The endothelium was frequently activated and hypertrophied and evidenced numerous arcades. Podocytic foot processes were usually completely fused.

Differential Diagnosis

Demonstration of microcystic tubules is unspecific and does not prove the presence of idiopathic congenital nephrotic syndrome since they may also occur in other renal diseases of early childhood. Differentiation between the Finnish and infantile diffuse mesangial sclerosis types is said to be possible in view of the massive increase in PASM positive mesangial matrix without cell proliferation [625] in the latter. A more essential difference, in our opinion, is the later onset and the longer disease course in diffuse infantile mesangial sclerosis as well as the more frequent uremia [625] which is said never to occur in the Finnish type [645]. Our own experience has led us to believe that morphologically, a differentiation between these two forms of congenital (infantile) NS is not possible and that the infantile diffuse mesangial sclerosis type represents a late stage of evolution of a nephropathy which is fairly identical to endotheliomesangial GN of later age. Thus, the main attention must be directed to excluding other glomerular nephropathies as summarized under Nosology, p. 358. Exclusion of epimembranous GN-which can also occasionally occur during the first year of life [625] – is important and may prove very difficult. Early infantile (congenital) epimembranous GN in congenital syphilis [810, 1217b] may exhibit a more pronounced mesangial matrix and cell increase. Synechiae and crescents are present more often than in later life. Accordingly, the LM picture can easily be mistaken for endotheliomesangial GN. Under EM, a peculiar, coarse-granular, bulb-like and vesicular desintegration of subepithelial deposits is seen after penicillin treatment of congenital syphilis [810]. The glomerular deposits contain T. pallidum AG in congenital syphilis as demonstrated by IF [1217b]. Further, differentiation of glomerular minimal change, sclerosing FGN [625, 1126, 1728] as well as cytomegalovirus infection (own case: Z; [645]) and renal vein thrombosis [606] should not present difficulties.

Fig. 17.80. Congenital nephrotic syndrome: same case as in Fig- \triangleright ure 17.69. There is irregular thickening of the lamina rara externa which contains numerous round virus-like particles (\rightarrow). Lamina densa is split and lamina rara interna is irregularly thickened. Endothelium evidences obvious arcade formation. Male, 6 months. EM ($\times 25,300$)

Fig. 17.81. Same case as in Figure 17.69. Masses of virus-like structures are present in the tangential section of peripheral BM in which original lamina densa is not visible; only newly formed densa is seen (\rightarrow) in broadened lamina rara interna. Podocytes are again rich in osmiophilic material. Male, 6 months. EM $(\times 26,150)$

Fig. 17.82. Same case as in Figure 17.56. Injury of peripheral glomerular BM. Lamina rara interna is very irregularly thickened. Monocytoid cell in capillary lumen (MO). Male, 2.5 years. EM ($\times 11,020$)

Fig. 17.83. Congenital nephrotic syndrome. There is pronounced splitting of peripheral BM of glomerular capillary loops. Total foot process fusion is present. Male, 5 months. EM $(\times 23,200)$



Prognosis

Finnish Type. The prognosis is hopeless. The children die after a few weeks or months, usually within the first year of life [621, 645, 646], of infections, electrolyte disturbances, or other complications but never, as it is stated, of uremia [645, 646].

Infantile Diffuse Mesangial Sclerosis. In one report all patients developed uremia during the third year of life [625] and in another report on this form [539], 4 out of 6 patients survived.

No relapse was noted in three transplant cases of congenital nephrotic syndrome at least one of which was of the Finnish type [719].

Pathogenesis and Etiology

The Finnish type congenital nephrotic syndrome shows autosomal recessive inheritance whose pathogenesis is unclear. The various immunopathogenetic theories which have been proposed, such as a disturbance in the cellular immune response (as suggested by the accelerated rejection of maternal skin transplants by the afflicted child) or a humoral reaction (i.e., AB against placental tissue and renal tissue of children), have been rejected [645, 646, 1371]. The observation of complete remission of nephrotic syndrome (probably of the Finnish type: [719]) following renal transplantation could as is the case in Alport's syndrome—indicate a genetic disturbance of the BM structure and its formation (see also [646]). The increased excretion of glomerular BM fragments in the urine would be in agreement with this concept [646].

We consider our own cases of congenital nephrotic syndrome described in this chapter as endotheliomesangial GN in which we also include *diffuse mesangial sclerosis* ([625]; see also [1478]) as the end stage. In favor of this assumption is the demonstration of deposits and the occasionally positive IF findings as well as the virusinduced endothelial tubules and virus-like particles (see also [346]). The possibility of a viral etiology has been alluded to previously [1205]. Toxoplasmosis has also been proposed as an etiologic agent. Recently, toxoplasmosis AG has been demonstrated in the kidney [553, 1485]. Due to the many questions which remain to be answered, a definitive formulation of pathogenesis and etiology of congenital nephrotic syndrome in question is currently not possible.

18. Glomerular Minimal Change

Definition

Our definition is based primarily on morphology, e.g., glomerular minimal change is a discrete insular mesangial glomerular lesion (see below) associated with proteinuria and/or hematuria. It constitutes a syndrome rather than a unique disease entity. Any other definition which is based on pathogenesis, etiology, or clinical findings is, in our opinion, at the present time unsatisfactory. A few investigators have denied that the change exsists at all [273].

Synonyms: Genuine lipoid nephrosis, acute membranous GN [161, 1703]. No change nephrotic syndrome, nil disease, foot process disease [538a], minimal change GN [403a]. For further synonyms, see Table 13.2.

Nosology

This primarily morphologic concept of glomerular minimal change encompasses various diseases of diverse pathogenesis and prognosis such as Alport's disease, epimembranous GN, IgA nephritis, and the idiopathic form of glomerular minimal change (see Table 18.1).

Table 18.1. Nosology of glomerular minimal change

A.	Famil	ial	' forms
----	-------	-----	---------

- 1. Alport's disease (including sporadic cases)
- 2. Benign (essential) hematuria (including sporadic cases)
- 3. Familial nephrotic syndrome
- B. Non-familial forms
 - 1. Idiopathic (IF negative)
 - 2. Symptomatic (predominantly IF positive)
 - a) Endotheliomesangial GN
 - b) Epimembranous GN
 - c) IgA mesangial GN
 - d) In systemic diseases such as SLE, Schönlein-Henoch's syndrome
 - e) In focal lesions (when these are not found in biopsy material)
 - f) Unspecific accompanying phenomenon in amyloidosis, arteriolosclerosis, etc.

Differentiation of the various forms of glomerular minimal change, which is often not unequivocally possible clinically and with LM alone, requires EM and IF investigation. Attentive study of complete sequential sections of the biopsy material is helpful in avoiding classification of focally accentuated GN as glomerular minimal change. But even then, such false classification of a few cases of focally accentuated GN evidencing very discrete renal involvement and the absence of juxtamedullary zones in biopsy material cannot be avoided.

We suggest classification of only those forms of the disease as idiopathic glomerular minimal change which are IF negative, have no EM-demonstrable deposits, and which evidence no specific glomerular changes, e.g., BM changes in Alport's syndrome. On the basis of these criteria, 95 cases of glomerular minimal change under LM and with a complete set of information (clinical data, EM, IF) could be classified into the subgroups as presented in Table 18.2. Only 23 out of 95 cases belong to the group of idiopathic glomerular minimal change.

Table 18.2. Reclassification of glomerular minimal change under LM using IF, EM and a complete set of clinical data $(n=95)^a$

No. of cases	Disease entity
	Familial forms
15	Alport's syndrome
4	Benign hematuria
0	Familial nephrotic syndrome
	Non-familial forms
23	Idiopathic (IF negative)
36	Endotheliomesangial GN
18	- IF: IgM/C'3
18	- IF: IgG, etc. (without IgA mesangial GN)
8	Epimembranous GN (stage I)
8	IgA mesangial GN
0	In systemic disease
1	Unspecific accompanying phenomenon in amyloidosis (other disease not considered)

^a Including many recent cases not referred to in further discussion. The urinary findings in these cases were: proteinuria (nephrotic syndrome) and/or hematuria.

On the basis of IF findings, 36 cases (Table 18.2) are summarized tentatively under the heading of endotheliomesangial GN.

Whether it is justified to ascribe glomerular minimal changes positive for IgM and/or C3 only to endotheliomesangial GN or whether these cases should constitute a group of its own cannot as yet be decided with certainty. In any of these three groups—IF negative, IF positive with IgM/C3; with IgG, etc.—patients exhibiting clinically pure proteinuria (nephrotic syndrome), only hematuria or hematuria and proteinuria (nephrotic syndrome), were present in the same frequency. Because of this finding, we reject a classification of glomerular minimal change based on LM and clinical data only.

In most series of other investigators, the diagnosis of glomerular minimal change has been based exclusively on LM study so that it is quite conceivable that these series as well as our own LM series of 211 patients (Table 14.3) contain cases which should be classifed elsewhere. "The main interest of the finding of minimal glomerular lesion is that it excludes other types of glomerular lesions" [621] which can be identified under LM with certainty. In the following discussion, we refer to our crude LM series, from which all those cases are excluded in which EM or IF investigation disclosed Alport's syndrome, benign hematuria, epimembranous GN or amyloidosis, so that the bulk of cases belongs to the idiopathic or endotheliomesangial group of glomerular minimal change.

The concept of *lipoid nephrosis* is, in our opinion, outdated. It was used to describe a large pale-yellow smooth kidney demonstrating microscopically massive lipoid deposition which is more pronounced in the proximal than in the distal tubules. Additionally, clusters of lipoidcontaining cells are found in the interstitium and lipoid can also be demonstrated within rejected tubular cells and in casts. The lipoid nature of the fatty substances can be shown by demonstrating their birefrigence. In all of our own cases, we found a few nephrons that were fat-free.

It has long been known that lipoid nephrosis is a syndrome—and not a unique disease entity [1788, 1791] which may arise in conjunction with inflammatory, toxic, dysorotic (amyloidosis, etc.) and anoxic processes. Since, as indicated above, the concept of lipoid nephrosis has been used to include the most diverse kinds of disease, we suggest that the term be discarded.

Incidence

The change is found very frequently in needle biopsy material and especially so in association with nephrotic syndrome in childhood.

In biopsies of children, the incidence varies between 22% and 65% (see Table 18.3). The incidence in children with

Table 18.3. Relative frequency of glomerular minimal change

Pediatric GN biopsies		Total C	N biopsies
22%	Bohle et al. (1974) [163]	17.3%	Churg and Duffy (1973) [277]
42%	Zollinger and Mihatsch	20.9%	Hamburger et al. (1971) [654]
44%	Churg and Duffy (1973) [277]	22.1%	Morel-Maroger et al. (1973) [1137a]
49.1%	Habib (1973) [621]	23.5%	Zollinger and Mihatsch (1975)
56%	Cameron (1968) [242]	32.8%	Germuth and Rodri- guez (1973) [544]
65%	Seymour et al. (1971) [1484]	35.5%	Seymour et al. (1971) [1484]
		35.9%	Cameron (1973) [242b]
		42.9%	Bohle et al. (1976) [163a]

nephrotic syndrome has been given as 53.6% [621] and 76.5% [1731]. On the other hand, in 10–43% of all patients with nephrotic syndrome, glomerular minimal change is found [168, 616, 661, 671, 1484]. In biopsy material including that from adults, the overall frequencies vary between 17.3% and 42.9% (see Table 18.3). Boys are more frequently afflicted than girls (1.5:1: Z; [163, 1544, 1731]). The maximum age at which the disease is manifested is between 3 and 5 years [1731].

In our material, the pediatric age group is significantly more frequently affected (Fig. 18.1) but isolated cases may be encountered at any age (Table 14.3; see also [658]).

Clinical Findings

(Tables 14.3, 14.4, 14.5; Fig. 18.1)

Often, nothing is known anamnestically about these patients in whom urinary symptoms are found fortuitously [1511b]. In a large series of cases, the disease manifested itself subsequent to pharyngitis in 31% of the patients, and after immunization in 6% [632].

In 23.2% of our patients (Fig. 18.1), acute prior disease was present in two-thirds of whom as an infection of the upper respiratory tract. Typical acute GN is rarely present in the case history (Table 14.5; 4.5% of our cases). In another series consisting of 34 cases of acute GN, later biopsy revealed glomerular minimal change in nine patients [658].

The further course of the disease is often strikingly attack-like ([916]; 30%: Z).

Highly selective proteinuria is usually the predominant clinical finding. It occurs in 70–90% of the patients [163, 621, 1731] and is generally so pronounced as to constitute



Fig. 18.1. Profile of symptoms and clinical findings in glomerular minimal change

White columns: Relative frequency of symptom/finding in all GN

Black columns: Relative frequency in

glomerular minimal change

Asterisks indicate

characteristic findings

for glomerular minimal change:

*: characteristic

**: very characteristic

***: highly characteristic; DC: disease course

an nephrotic syndrome which occurs in 73% of pediatric cases [621]. Proteinuria was present in 76.2% of our patients and led to nephrotic syndrome in 46.4% which, at the time of biopsy, had undergone remission in 27.5%.

Hematuria is reported in 31.2% [620] and in 41% [163] of the patients. In our patients, proteinuria was accompanied by hematuria in 17.1%. Of our cases 23.8% evidenced isolated hematuria (see also [1544]). Hematuria may be the only persisting symptom following remission of nephrotic syndrome. Initial (15.7%; Table 14.3, 14.4) or episodically occurring macrohematuria (2.6%; Table 18.4) is an uncharacteristic finding as is hypertension (3.5%: [620]; 9%: [1731]; 8.8%: Z; contra: 30%: [163]).

Increase in urea and creatinine (19%: [1731]; 5.2%: Z) or reduction of creatinine clearance (4%: [1731]) are also infrequently encountered. Acute renal failure is extremely rare and occurs chiefly in elderly patients. We observed an increase of the antistreptolysin titer in only 15.9% of our cases.

The duration of the disease varies between a few months to 50 years.

Page 370

Fig. 18.2. A solitary foam cell is seen in the distal tubule (\rightarrow) in a case of glomerular minimal change. Male, 3 years. PAS (×920)

Fig. 18.3. Groups of foam cells in glomerular minimal change. Tubular nature of foam cells can be recognized from the tubular BM which is partially visible (\rightarrow) . Female, 10 years. PAS (×420)

Fig. 18.4. Secondary focal lipoid storage in severe arteriolosclerosis. There is extensive lipoid deposition in the slightly atrophic proximal tubules. Severe narrowing of the lumen and fatty change of the arterioles is seen (\rightarrow) . Autopsy specimen. Sudan $(\times 110)$

Fig. 18.5. Glomerular minimal change with nephrotic syndrome following acute poststreptococcal GN 4 months prior to this biopsy. There is an insular mesangial enlargement and minimal cell increase. BM of tubules and glomerular capillary loops are entirely unchanged. Male, 6.5 years. PAS (\times 110)







Fig. 18.6. Glomerular minimal change with nephrotic syndrome. Obvious but slight mesangial matrix increase, less so of cells. Male, 8 years. PASM (\times 110)

Fig. 18.7. Glomerular minimal change with hematuria. Four mesangial areas are slightly enlarged and contain increased number of cells (\rightarrow). Male, 7 years. PAS ($\times 400$)

Fig. 18.8. Glomerular minimal change in all but one glomerulus in a kidney biopsy 1 year after acute poststreptococcal GN. Two glomerular capillary loops adhering to each other (\rightarrow) show a synechia with the capsule. Mesangial regions of afflicted loops evidence a cell increase. Male, 31 years. PAS (×600)

LM Findings

At low power magnification, the kidney often shows no changes at all [672], especially in isolated hematuria, or, in nephrotic syndrome, only foam cells. The foam cells are found singly (Fig. 18.2) or in groups (Fig. 18.3) in the interstitium and tubules. They may be scanty or even entirely lacking in a biopsy due to their focal distribution (Fig. 18.4).

However, if one compares the glomeruli in cases with glomerular minimal change with those from age-matched controls, the former show insular mesangial thickening (Figs. 18.5, 18.6) and occasionally 4-5 nuclei (Figs. 18.7, 18.8) per mesangial area. In general, we have encountered this mesangial change in less than 10% of the glomeruli in normal kidneys and in more than 10% (but rarely as much as 50%) in cases with glomerular minimal change. The mesangial changes do not demonstrate the finger-like (axial) configuration, but rather the insular one [777, 1791]. Qualitatively, similar changes have been described earlier by other investigators, but usually in only a small percentage of the cases, e.g., mesangial thickening in 9.2% and cellular increase in 5% [636], and 3 out of 40 cases [766] and cell and matrix increase in 50% of cases with EM [596]. Morphometric evaluation of our cases of glomerular minimal change revealed no statistically significant mesangial matrix and cell increase in comparison to controls of similar age ([1624b]; contra: [658, 1705]). This discrepency between qualitative and quantitative findings may be explained by the limitations imposed by morphometric technique.

It is also important to note that the juxtamedullary glomeruli are generally more severely afflicted than those of the outer cortex [1329, 1395, 1484, 1795, 1796]. We found a few (<10%) isolated obsolescent glomeruli in 16 out of 211 cases. The presence of more than 10% of obsolescent glomeruli as well as the finding of segmental glomerular sclerosis do not belong to glomerular minimal change, and are discussed on p. 296).

IF Findings

Our IF findings in 80 cases are summarized in Table 18.4 of which 35 were entirely negative. Among the remaining 45 cases, IgA mesangial GN was present once. In the other 44 cases, C3 was most frequently observed (33 out of 44), partially accompanied by IgM in 21 out of 44 cases and IgG in 20 out of 44 cases (see Table 18.4). A focal and segmental distribution of slight amounts of immunoglobulins and C3 predominated. A comparison of these findings with those of other investigators is not possible since these investigators obviously use a different system for classifying IF positive cases, or consider weakly positive cases as virtually negative, apart from one investigator summarizing these cases in a group with doubtful lesions [840a].

We consider IF positive cases tentatively as probably belonging to the symptomatic forms. (For IgE see p. 162.)

Table 18.4. IF findings in glomerular minimal change $(n=80; 35 \text{ negative})^{a}$

	IgG	IgM	IgA	C3	Fibrin(-ogen)
Cases tested Positive	44 20	44 21	29 6	44 33	44 2
Focal Diffuse	10 10	9 12	6 0	20 13	0 2
Segmental Global	13 7	16 5	6 0	17 16	2 0
Peripheral	11	10	4	12	2
Mesangial and peripheral	6	4	2	13	0
Mesangial	3	7	0	8	0

^a 1 case of IgA nephritis is not considered.

Without consideration of fibrin(-ogen), the following combinations—listed in decreasing order of frequency—were found:

Excluding l	ΙgΑ	Including IgA
C3	12	IgG, A, C3 3
IgG, C3	7	IgG, M, A, C3 1
IgM, C3	7	IgG, M, A 1
IgG, M, C3	6	IgM, A 1
IgG, M	4	-
IgG	3	
IgM	4	

Fig. 18.9. Same case as in Figure 18.5. Enlarged mesangial areas \triangleright (*M*) are clearly recognizable. There is intense activation and swelling of podocytes which evidence numerous microvilli (*VI*). Endothelial cells are slightly activated and demonstrate numerous ballooned processes (\rightarrow). Pronounced foot process fusion is present. Male, 6.5 years. EM ($\times 29,000$)

Fig. 18.10. Glomerular minimal change. Increase of mesangial cells (M) is far more obvious than in Figure 18.9. There is only moderately severe increase of matrix bars. Foot process fusion is slight. Podocyte activation, however, is again intense. Male, 6 years. EM (\times 5940)



EM Findings

In the histograms (Fig. 6.9, etc). cases of idiopathic glomerular minimal change (in EM and IF, no demonstrable deposits) are contrasted to 24 probably symptomatic cases (IF positive or EM deposits). The comparison shows that no significant differences exist between the two forms with the exception of deposits which are always-by definition-absent in the idiopathic form.

Slight insular mesangial matrix increase associated with scanty cellular increase is demonstrable in all the abovementioned 41 cases (Figs. 18.9, 18.10). The matrix is pronouncedly coarse and the bars are irregularly shaped (Fig. 18.11). In the symptomatic cases, the cell increase was occassionally (3 out of 24 cases) more intense than in the idiopathic form. It is again pointed out that the mesangial changes—especially in EM—were not present in each glomerulus nor in each glomerular section. A comparison of idiopathic glomerular minimal change with proteinuria/nephrotic syndrome or hematuria or a combination of both, disclosed, semiquantitatively, no significant morphological differences except for a milder foot process fusion in cases with pure hematuria.

The endothelium is usually slightly hypertrophied and shows arcade formation. The pronounced fusion of foot processes—which was taken as pathognomonic for glomerular minimal change in the early days of EM study [460]—is currently viewed as the consequence and not the cause of proteinuria. The presence of foot process fusion is not a reliable criterion since it may be absent in complete remission of urinary findings (contra: [1484]). Equally questionable is the hypothesis that foot process fusion, viewed teleologically, is supposed to hinder proteinuria [1592].

In almost every case, small or large numbers of circumscribed thickenings, mainly of the lamina rara interna, and to a lesser extent of the lamina densa of the BM of the capillary loops, can be recognized with EM (Fig. 18.12; see also p. 64). A focal thickening of all BM layers has been reported by others [460, 596, 1582, 1647]. Slight irregularities (Fig. 18.13) with thinning and loosening of the lamina densa [387] or splitting (Fig. 18.14) are far more rare. A direct relationship between duration of proteinuria and thickness of BM has been proposed [1592], a finding we have not been able to confirm. Very typical, however, is thickening and unclear delimitation of the BM along the mesangium (Fig. 18.13).

Deposits, which are always absent in the idiopathic form (under EM and IF) can even be lacking in true symptomatic cases. This can be explained by the extensive ability of podocytes, among other structures, to remove the deposits [111].

In a few cases, however, deposits have been reported in the BM and subendothelially [1484] as we have observed them in our symptomatic cases (3 out of 24 subendothelially; 4 out of 24 intramembranously, 7 out of 24 along the mesangial BM; 2 out of 24 humps, and 3 out of 24 in the mesangial matrix: Z). Rarely, subtotal interruptions of the BM with deposit remnants (Fig. 18.15), loop obliteration (Fig. 18.16) and periglomerular infiltrates (Fig. 18.17) are found. These latter findings are especially frequent in cases with a clinical history of GN. Thus, they should be considered as symptomatic cases even in the absence of positive IF findings. A surprising but very questionable communication in relation to glomerular minimal change has reported fibrin deposition in 100% of the cases, platelet aggregation in 80%, and subendothelial deposits in 90% [399].

Differential Diagnosis

The differential diagnosis can be directly derived from the nosology (see p. 367). There is scarcely a glomerular change which is more dependent on the availability of meticulous clinical data and on LM, EM, and IF technical prowess than glomerular minimal change.

Among the familial forms, differentiation of Alport's disease-especially in sporadic cases-from benign recurrent hematuria and from the familial nephrotic syndrome is possible with EM alone, which demonstrates in Alport's disease the specific BM changes (see p. 475). In nonfamilial cases, study with LM alone (even using semi-thin sections) may result in confusing epimembranous GN in stage I with idiopathic glomerular minimal change (see also [160]). In this situation, as in differentiation of other symptomatic forms such as endotheliomesangial GN and IgA mesangial GN, only IF may prove to be of further help. If facilities are not available for IF and/or EM study, rebiopsy after several months of disease latency in therapy-resistant cases with nephrotic syndrome may be tried as a last resort for clarification. If necessary, EM study may be attempted on formalinfixed material embedded in paraffin or paraplast.

Fig. 18.11. Glomerular minimal change with nephrotic syn- \triangleright drome. Patient had acute poststreptococcal GN 5 years prior to this biopsy. There is intense activation of the two mesangial nuclei and cytoplasm appears to be strikingly rich in organelles. Glomerular BM is loosened along inner side of mesangium (\rightarrow). Mesangial matrix is increased. Female, 10 years. EM (×8140)

Fig. 18.12. Glomerular minimal change with nephrotic syndrome in complete remission. There is focal loosening of lamina rara interna in a peripheral glomerular capillary loop (\rightarrow) . No foot process fusion is present. Female, 5 years. EM (\times 27,900)

Fig. 18.13. Same case as in Figure 18.12 in which, however, loosening of lamina densa is recognizable. Female, 5 years. EM $(\times 16,730)$





18.14 18.15



Fig. 18.17. Thickening of glomerular capsular BM and periglomerular infiltrates consisting of small lymphocytes and phagocytes. Male, 6 years. EM (×3960)

✓ Fig. 18.14. Peripheral BM injury in glomerular minimal change. Irregular thickening of lamina rara externa with new formation of a thin densa lamella subepithelially. Male, 11 years. EM (×26,000)

Fig. 18.15. Indentation of peripheral BM with thread-like structures (\rightarrow) which are suggestive of dissolved osmiophilic deposits. Male, 36 years. EM (\times 39,460)

Fig. 18.16. Segmental glomerular loop obsolescence in glomerular minimal change. There is total foot process fusion over obsolescent loops. The severely wrinkled and partially loosened BM is thickened. Male, 11 years. EM (\times 9750)

Demonstration of synechiae is indicative of a post-GN form of change (Fig. 18.8; see p. 188) and such biopsies should not be included in the group of glomerular minimal change.

A further difficulty lies in the differention from sclerosing FGN which is viewed by many investigators as a special form of minimal change (see p. 296). Since, in sclerosing FGN, the most severe changes occur chiefly in the region of the juxtamedullary glomeruli—which are almost the only ones developed prenatally and in the very early postnatal period—the decisive changes may not be in tissue obtained at biopsy. However, if they are present, they are decisive for the diagnosis of sclerosing FGN (see p. 296).

Finally, it is often impossible to differentiate glomerular minimal change from the different forms of glomerulosclerosis or glomerulonephrosis, at least in the beginning (see p. 382). In our material, there was one case classified as glomerular minimal change by LM, which turned out, with EM, to be one of very slight amyloidosis.

Prognosis

With respect to survival, prognosis today is not bad as such, which represents considerable improvement over past decades. In some instances, improvement is attributable to antibiotic therapy since death was due earlier to a complicating infection of which pneumococcal peritonitis was especially prominent and later, in others, to corticosteroid administration. Cure probability in conjunction with corticosteroid therapy has been reported as being 50-90% [45, 636], 77% in adults and 90% in children [242, 248, 896]. In our series (Table 18.5), none of the patients less than 15 years of age died, but it was astonishing to see that only 16% were considered as cured, whereas in the majority, the disease course was considered as uncertain. On the other hand, among adults the 15-year survival rate was 82% from the onset of disease and 77% from biopsy onwards. But only 2 out of 78 patients with complete follow-up died from uremia. Reviewing the slides of both patients, no indications for sclerosing FGN-which is known to procede to uremia more frequently [595, 1484, 1731]; (see p. 296) were present.

Disease onset in earliest childhood or familial cases indicate a considerably worse prognosis [1126]. In three cases which required transplants, proteinuria recurred within hours after operation [651].

Table 18.5. Prognosis and outcome in glomerular minimal change

Prognosis		Survival rate (%)					
		5 y	/ears	10 years	15 years		
	Age:	<15 years	>15 years	>15 years	>15 years		
From dise onset SE ^a	ase	100	94	88 4.1	82 5.5		
From biop SE ^a	osy	100	88 3.7	80 5.1	77 6.1		

* Standard error in %.

Outcome (after minimal follow-up of 1 year)

	Age < 15 years	>15 years	
Case number	44	78	
Died	0%	16.6%	
Died in uremia	0%	2.5%	
Cure	15.9%	26.9%	

Pathogenesis and Etiology

In discussing the pathogenesis of glomerular minimal change, differentiation must be done between cases with predominant proteinuria (nephrotic syndrome) and those with pure hematuria.

Idiopathic glomerular minimal change with predominant proteinuria is, in our opinion, a unique disease entity about which practically nothing is known regarding its pathogenesis. Four observations merit special consideration (see for survey: [1829].

- 1. Manifestation of glomerular minimal change in diseases associated with disturbance of T-lymphocytes. Thus, the remission of nephrotic syndrome during measle virus infection, the increased incidence of pneumococcal peritonitis and the response of the nephrotic syndrome to therapy with prednisone and cyclophosphamide all suggest an abnormality in Tlymphocyte function [1486]. This is further supported by an obviously deficient conversion of IgM-AB synthesis to IgG-AB synthesis after antigen stimulation [550a]. Furthermore, the relatively high incidence (see Table 14.8) of malignant lymphoma of Hodgkin's type associated with idiopathic glomerular minimal change lends further support to the hypothesis of disturbed T-lymphocyte function [52, 317, 1131]. The injury to the glomerular BM is said to be mediated via (abnormal) lymphokines [1216] (see also [1828]).
- 2. Immediate relapse following transplantation may indicate the absence of a permeability-regulating factor or the presence of a permeability-enhancing agent in the serum of afflicted patients [651].
- 3. It is a remarkable fact that among patients with familial nephrotic syndrome there occurs a large number of bioptically confirmed cases of glomerular minimal change (20 out of 50: [1728]; 4 out of 15 familial cases: [1126]; see also [625] and Table 14.3). In 5 of our own patients with familial nephrotic syndrome, 4 demonstrated glomerular minimal change of which 3 corresponded to the idiopathic from as revealed by EM study. The relatively frequent familial occurrence may either suggest a genetic determination of one of the above-mentioned pathogenetic factors or indicate structural impairement of the BM, which cannot be demonstrated with current techniques.
- 4. It must not be forgotten, however, that even the most severe endotheliomesangial GN may heal with the most discrete residual structural changes [1582] and become IF negative (see also [1389, 651]). Whether these disease residues may be the structural basis for the clinical symptoms is not known with certainty, although this concept is lately being shared by other investigators [163, 164, 1312, 1806]. In this respect it is also profitable to note that in some cases, diseases which may also lead to GN do cause glomerular minimal change, e.g., in malaria (17 out of 77 cases [828],

1.6%	Streptococcal angina
1.6%	Scarlet fever
1.1%	Viral hepatitis
0.5%	Infectious mononucleosis
0.5%	Chicken pox
0.5%	Schönlein-Henoch's syndrome
1.3%	IgA-nephritis (of IF investigated cases)
93.4%	Unknown

Table 18.6. Etiology of glomerular minimal change (predominant proteinuria and/or [isolated] hematuria) (n = 185)

5 out of 63 cases [1728]), in Hodgkin's disease and malignant lymphoma in general [52, 317], in systemic disease: SLE [613, 401, 1484]; Schönlein-Henoch's disease [205, 637] (see Tables 18.6, 17.1, 17.3). Finally, there is experimental evidence that an immunocomplex GN may be present without demonstrable immunocomplexes in the glomeruli [1649a].

It is too early to give preference to any of the abovementioned pathogenetic factors of glomerular minimal change with predominant proteinuria.

Even less is known about the pathogenesis of idiopathic glomerular minimal change associated with isolated hematuria. To what extent these cases represent only sporadic cases of familial idiopathic benign hematuria (see p. 476) or residual changes following subclinical GN (see Table 18.6) is not clear (see also [1544] and p. 188). Beyond that, there are transitions between both groups of idiopathic glomerular minimal change. One of our cases presented at first with pure nephrotic syndrome after whose complete remission persistent microhematuria developed.

The pathogenesis of the symptomatic forms is presented in the corresponding chapters.

Wether it is justified to include glomerular minimal change with IgM and/or C3 alone in the symptomatic group is not established since this IF pattern is unspecific and may be either the result of immunocomplex deposition or merely of insudation. The main reason for this tentative classification is to establish morphologically defined groups.

We cannot, in common with other investigators [816], support the assumption that glomerular minimal change is a form of focal nephritis. We do not include here the so-called minimal change with focal sclerosis (sclerosing FGN), since every focally accentuated GN shows glomerular injury in the sense of minimal change (at least when studied with EM).

Minimal glomerular change of the type described above can unquestionably occur as an unspecific secondary reaction to other renal diseases such as chronic mercury poisoning, renal vein thrombosis, amyloidosis, Alport's disease, Fabry's disease, hydronephrosis, anoxia, vascular disease, etc. The most meticulous judgement is required to avoid inclusion of these cases into the group of idiopathic glomerular minimal change.

19. Glomerulonephrosis and Glomerulosclerosis

[1357a]

Definition

Operatively, we define glomerulonephrosis (GNo) [1624] as a glomerular change not caused by inflammation or anoxia (contra: [1065]), characterized by intra- or extracellular deposition of material which is quantitatively or qualitatively pathologic. The chronic form of GNo may be designated as glomerulosclerosis (GS: glomerulonephrosis, sclerosing form).

For purposes of simplification, we allocate enzymopathies—which partially belong to GNo and GS—to a separate group. GNo and GS are not recognized as entities by numerous other investigators since, among other elements, secondarily proliferative changes, and changes often interpreted as primarily inflammatory, are not too infrequently observed in GNo and especially in GS (e.g., amyloidosis).

Nosology

The following subclassification of GNo and GS has proven useful in histopathology:

Unspecific GNo and GS

- 1. Idiopathic, unspecific GNo/GS also designated infectious, toxic [1791, 1065] GNo/GS.
- 2. Symptomatic, unspecific GNo and GS with known basic disease, e.g., plasmocytoma, diabetes mellitus, eclampsia, hyperthyroidism without [373] and with perchlorate therapy [936], chronic carbon disulfide poisoning [753], massive corticoid therapy [1791], and mercury poisoning without allergy [1788].

Specific GNo and GS

- 1. Specific GNo and GS due to pathologic extracellular deposition resulting in glomerular impairment (disturbances at the capillary interface) e.g. amyloidosis, diabetes mellitus, and foreign substances such as polyvinyl pyrrolidon [497, 1624].
- 2. Specific GNo and GS due to pathologic intracellular deposition, e.g., foreign substances such as silver, etc. [1771].

Idiopathic Unspecific Glomerulonephrosis and Glomerulosclerosis

Clinical Findings

The clinical findings in 16 of our own cases of idiopathic unspecific GNo were, by and large, insignificant: proteinuria of less than 1 g/day in one case and microhematuria in another. In two patients with GS resulting from carbon disulfide exposure, one evidenced proteinuria of less than 1 g/day and one a blood pressure of 150/115 mm Hg (the only case of hypertension encountered).

LM Findings

Widening of the mesangial space, in GNo chiefly caused by swelling of mesangial cells (Fig. 19.1) and in GS by increase of the mesangial matrix (Fig. 19.2) is common to both forms. Although mesangial cellular increase does not belong to the basic picture of GNo and GS, it can occur as a reaction in GS as shown morphometrically [1624].

Fig. 19.1. Unspecific glomerulonephrosis associated with sepsis. \triangleright Glomerular tuft appears to be enlarged. No hypercellularity present. PAS (\times 500)

Fig. 19.2. Unspecific diffuse diabetic glomerulosclerosis. Obvious mesangial matrix increase without accompanying cell increase. Glomerular capillary loops are not narrowed. Male, 73 years. PAS ($\times 625$)

Fig. 19.3. Unspecific glomerulosclerosis, possibly caused by ischemia. Mesangium is clearly broadened and demonstrates coarse mesangial matrix bars (MM) but no cell increase. Mild thickening of lamina rara interna, no foot process fusion or activation of endothelium. Female, 45 years. EM (×4700)

IF Findings

Examination of three cases of idiopathic unspecific GS from our material revealed a diffuse, global mesangial fluorescence of slight intensity for C3 in one case, and a diffuse, global mesangial and peripheral distribution of IgM and C3-along with focal-segmental mesangial and peripheral IgG distribution—in another case. The third case showed a diffuse, ultralinear BM staining with IgG of slight intensity along with granular mesangial and peripheral focal-segmental distribution of IgM.

EM Findings

In addition to swelling of mesangial cells and nuclei in GNo, which is partially accompanied by nuclear polymorphy in GS, there also occurs a thickening and increase of the mesangial matrix (Fig. 19.3) and, more rarely, a slight cell increase. The endothelium demonstrates slight edema or hypertrophy with arcade formation and nuclear swelling. Podocytes are also edematous and often demonstrate nuclear swelling. An insignifiant fusion of foot processes and formation of microvilli sometimes occur. Segmental thickening of the BM with participation of the lamina densa and thickening of the lamina rara interna are more frequently observed [373, 1800], see also Figures 6.9, 6.21, 6.34, 6.57, 6.65, 6.79, 6.88.

Prognosis

The prognosis of idiopathic unspecific GNo/GS is good and the lesions probably regress if the inducing condition can be eliminated [753, 936, 1791]. In 10 of our patients with a follow-up of 1–6 years, only 1 female patient, long addicted to phenacetin, has a clinically demonstrable nephropathy. In 2 cases with chronic carbon disulfide exposure, no kidney changes are present after follow-up lasting 6 and 8 years respectively, while hypertension in one patient remains at 150/100 mm Hg.

Differential Diagnosis

Differential diagnosis is, practically, of significance only in relation to the idiopathic unspecific form. It is of prime importance to exclude diffuse endotheliomesangial GN in axial and possibly minimal proliferative or sclerosing stage. Of help is the qualitatively nonobvious mesangial cell increase (a slight cell increase is, to be sure, usually only demonstrable by morphometry) as well as the absence of synechiae with LM.

Inflammatory glomerular disease is more or less improbable if IF findings are negative and if no osmiophilic deposits can be found with EM. If, however, positive IF findings or EM demonstrable deposits are encountered in the mesangium or along the mesangial BM, correct interpretation may be almost impossible on purely morphologic grounds as is the case for the differentiation from resolving GN. Differentiation from ischemic glomerulopathy is easy with EM, but may be difficult in LM since the needle biopsy may not contain the corresponding vascular lesions; or if they are present, they may be misinterpreted.

Amyloid Nephrosis [112, 565, 785a, 1484, 1694, 1832]

Nosology

Amyloidosis can be classified into three basic forms: (1) idiopathic (no known underlying disease) with relatively seldom renal involvement, (2) a rare familial form [12], and (3) an acquired form with known underlying disease which demonstrates frequent renal involvement. Of little importance for renal histopathology is the amyloid occuring in the aged and in its tumor form. The idiopathic form is by and large identical to paramyloidosis, although one may also occasionally encounter an atypical staining pattern in the acquired form, and especially in plasmocytoma [60] since, among other factors, old amyloid responds similarly as collagen [939].

A further classification of amyloidosis according to histologic findings recognizes a perireticular (better : BM) and a pericollagenous (better : vascular) form [1111]. The acquired perireticular form develops in conjunction with chronic inflammation, rheumatoid arthritis, and neoplasia, and the acquired pericollagenous form in conjunction with SLE (often both forms), plasmocytoma and Waldenström's disease [296]. These two forms cannot, however, readily be differentiated in the kidney. A recent tentative classification is based on the immunochemical composition of amyloid fibrils [785a, 1832]: AL = amyloid of light chain origin, AA = amyloid of unknown origin.

This classification shows a certain parallelness to the histologic one i.e. AL is found in plasmocytoma and in pulmonary tumor form and the AA in familial Mediterranean fever and in secondary amyloidosis due to chronic infections.

Tinctorial distinction is provided by the potassium permanganate Congo red stain [1833].

Incidence

The frequency of amyloid nephrosis in autopsy has been variously reported: Z: 1.9% = 49 out of 25,000; 4.5%:



[1683]. In our biopsies, we encountered it in 1.25% of 2080 cases. The disease is most frequent in the middle and older age groups (70% between 30 and 60 years [1694]; see also Table 19.1). In children, the lesion has only been reported in 9 out of 1368 biopsies [624]. The sex ratio of males:females is 3:1 [1694]; 1.4:1 (Z).

Clinical Findings

The predominant features of the clinical findings—as studied essentially on the basis of acquired amyloidosis occurring in conjunction with familial Mediterranean fever [1527]—consist of persistent proteinuria of as long as 10 years' duration and often of a nephrotic syndrome which has been reported as occurring in 18.2–83.3% [112]; (3 out of 4: [1694]; 11 out of 14: [1013]; 10 out of 20: Z), partly accompanied by microhematuria and leukocyturia (Table 19.1).

Various incidences have been reported for progressive renal insufficiency, e.g., 11 out of 49 autopsies and 9 out of 20 biopsies (Z), and in 10% [1013, 1683] of a series of cases.

Polyuria or true diabetes insipidus [82, 253] from amyloidosis of BM in the region of collecting ducts and the vasa recta are rare (1 in 26: Z) but may be the initial symptoms.

Oliguria – if it occurs at all – is a terminal symptom. Hypertension is said to occur in 36-50% of the severe cases [112, 1683] and in 21% of all cases of amyloid nephrosis [1694], 2 out of 17: Z; Table 19.1. We found unequivocal renal hypertension only in association with amyloid-contracted kidneys (3 out of 49 autopsies: Z).

Biopsy of rectal mucosa is often positive for amyloid in the vessels (25% of cases: [643a]). Serum gamma globulins are increased. The Congo red test is positive in generalized amyloidosis (loss of over 40% of the dye from the serum after 1 h) but can be negative in the early stage of the disease (4 out of 8: Z).

In a considerable number of cases (even in nonplasmocytoma patients), Bence Jones protein occurs in the urine [1228]. The disease course is usually slow, i.e., lasting years, rarely months.

LM Findings

The simplest demonstration of amyloid is by means of the Congo red stain which, under polarized light, shows a brilliant green colour (Fig. 19.4; [308a]; for false positive results see [857]). Metachromasy is obtainable with the methyl violet stain. Intense fluorescence with the thioflavin stain [1756] (for phlorwhite BBU, see [1817, 1832]) and EM demonstration of fine fibrils are very sensitive methods for demonstrating amyloid. In very mild cases of the disease, annular, oval, or spindle-shaped homogenous deposit which in HE stain pale pink and yellowish in van Gieson stain, are demonstrable peripherally or mesangially in scattered glomeruli. Amyloid deposits are weakly PAS positive and lie between endothelium and BM and also occasionally entirely within the mesangium. With PASM stain, the deposits appear as cut-out spaces. In the region of BM amyloid

Table 19.1. Clinical findings in amyloid nephrosis in 26 biopsy cases

1. Sex ratio ♂:♀ 1	1.4:1
--------------------	-------

2. Age at Biopsy

Age Group	Incidence	
< 40 years	4	
40–60 years	14	
>60 years	4	

3. Duration of disease at time of biopsy

Duration	Incidence	
<1 years	7	
1–2 years	3	
>2 years	6	

4. Increase of serum urea/creatinin in 9 out of 20 patients

5. Total serum protein

Protein	Incidence	
>6 g %	2	
5-6 g %	5	
< 5 g %	10	

6. Hyperlipidemia: 10 out of 15 patients

7. Proteinuria

g/day	Incidence	
0	1	
< 1	1	
1 3.5	8	
> 3.5	10	

8. Microhematuria: 6 out of 18 patients

- 9. Leukocyturia: 9 out of 18 patients
- 10. Blood pressure $\geq 160/100$ mm Hg:2 out of 17 patients
- 11. Clinical diagnosis

Diagnosis	Incidence	
GN	4/20	
Amyloidosis	16/20	


deposits, the BM is difficult to demonstrate (Fig. 19.5). In the AFOG stain, some of the amyloid stains red.

Relatively severe concomitant involvement of large blood vessels indicates idiopathic amyloidosis. However, histologic study of biopsy material does not permit differentiation between the idiopathic and acquired forms. With slight disease, the tubules usually demonstrate minimal protein droplet change whereas the interstitium is unaffected.

In the advanced cases, numerous, seemingly obsolescent glomeruli—which, however, are yellow with the van Gieson stain—are present.

In the more or less intact glomeruli, a considerable narrowing of capillary loop lumens is caused by amyloid deposits (Fig. 19.6). In the center of cross-section of glomerular capillary loops with large amyloid deposits, a crown of endothelial cells may be recognized (Fig. 19.7) even in loops without discernable lumen.

The pronounced lack of cells in the homogenous masses is always a good indication for the diagnosis. Here and there, local capsular epithelial proliferation (segmental crescents) over more or less obliterated capillary loops may be present. We have observed overload glomerulitis (see p. 308) in glomeruli free of amyloid in only one case of amyloid contracted kidney.

Amyloid deposition in the afferent glomerular vessels and in the arteries is usually always present in advanced stages. Proximal tubules of severely damaged glomeruli often show storage of neutral fats and lipoids (secondary

✓ Fig. 19.4. Amyloid glomerulonephrosis as seen with the thioflavin T stain under ultraviolet light. There are extensive lightappearing amyloid masses in the mesangium which occasionally extend towards the glomerular capillary loop periphery. Male, 61 years. (×800)

Fig. 19.5. Amyloid glomerulonephrosis. BM in the region of the amyloid infiltration is either not argyrophilic or only poorly so (\rightarrow) . Old sclerosed segmental crescent (*). Female, 62 years. PASM (×600)

Fig. 19.6. Severe amyloidosis of the kidney with uremia. Extensive occlusion of glomerular capillary loop lumens by amyloid. Tubules evidence atrophy and BM thickening. Accompanying interstitial nephritis is present. Autopsy specimen. PAS (×187)

Fig. 19.7. Same case as in Figure 19.6. Only a few glomerular capillary loop lumens are still patent. Except for some endothelial cells, all other have disappeared. Extensive synechiae with capsular BM are present. Autopsy specimen. PAS (\times 500)

lipoid nephrosis). Tubular and vascular BM—especially in the medulla—are thickened and infiltrated with amyloid in about 50% of the cases.

The numerous hyaline casts occasionally yield positive reactions to amyloid stains. Tubular atrophy is frequent when the glomeruli are severely damaged. In the absence of plasmocytoma, impacted medullary casts surrounded by syncytial giant cells and inflammatory cells are extremely rare. We have very seldomly seen amyloid deposits free in the interstitium [1503] but we have encountered them in the walls of intertubular capillaries. Interstitial groups of foam cells are commonly observed (Fig. 19.8).

IF Findings

In general, immunoglobulins and complement (C3) with mesangial and peripheral distribution are found in the glomeruli in both idiopathic and acquired amyloidosis [228, 1074, 1651]. More rarely, complement alone may occur in the amyloid deposits [895].

We have found IgM and C3 and, less pronouncedly, IgG and IgA in the mesangial and peripheral amyloid deposits. Additionally, IgM and C3 could be demonstrated in afflicted vessels.

EM Findings

Fundamentally, amyloid consists of two components: (1) 30–35 Å-wide fibrils demonstrable with EM (Fig. 19.9) and (2) collagen-like rods with a periodicity which cannot be demonstrated in biopsy material [112]. Deposition of fibrillar amyloid masses is said to start in close contact with BM [767]. The amyloid is initially deposited along the BM in the mesangium (Fig. 19.10) and later subendothelially [1694]. Later on, the amyloid more or less spills out of the mesangium along-and sometimes within-the BM (Fig. 19.11) into the periphery and can finally come to lie subepithelially. The BM itself is usually well preserved for a considerable period of time; it is, however, thickened, and, at first, mainly the lamina rara interna and externa are permeated with amyloid fibrils while the lamina densa is thinned (Fig. 19.12). In a few cases, the amyloid fibrils form spike-like bundles subepithelially (Fig. 19.13).

We have never found fibrils intracellularly, nor could we confirm their emergence into the capsular space [767]. In very severe cases, capillary loop destruction occurs. Capsular BM is often thickened and fragmented, but, in our experience, was never found to contain amyloid.

Amyloid fibrils can often be demonstrated in peritubular BM and vessels as well as between interstitial cells (Figs. 19.14, 19.15). Massive amyloid deposits occur in the BM of collecting ducts.



Differential Diagnosis

Concerning differential diagnosis, attention to staining characteristics, chiefly with respect to the yellow staining of amyloid masses with the routine van Gieson stain, permits unequivacal diagnosis. Confusion between small amyloid deposits and fibrin or fibrinoid capillary loop thrombi in the early disease stage is possible, but it is recalled that both types of thrombi stain far more intensively red with HE and that fibrin thrombi are fibrillar. In cases of doubt, Congo red staining and thioflavin T fluorescence provide unequivocal proof. The lobular form of membranoproliferative GN (see p. 235) as well as nodular diabetic GS are easily differentiable from (PASM negative) amyloid by their strongly increased PASM stainable matrix.

Complications

Secondary renal vein thrombosis (see p. 503) is an infrequent but typical complication which is said to result from polyuric dehydration [82, 1013].

Prognosis

In the long run, the prognosis is not good. Cases of regression following elimination of the basic disease [643a, 785a, 976, 1694] are rare. One of our own patients with acquired amyloidosis due to osteomyelitis of the femur showed partial remission of clinical symptoms following amputation. Follow-up in 20 of our patients showed that 6 out of 20 lived 5 years and longer; 12 out of 20, however, died within a year after biopsy. In 7 out of 12 cases, death was due to uremia. The average survival time after appearance of the nephrotic syndrome is 3 years [1527]. Two transplants functioned for 5 and 12 months respectively without signs of recurrence of amyloidosis [296] as was the case in 5 out of 6 in another series in which 1 case of recurrence of amyloidosis was found 6 months after transplantation [785a].

✓ Fig. 19.8. Same case as in Figure 19.5. Tubular foam cells in severe amyloidosis (→). Crescent formation (*) in severely afflicted glomerulus. Male, 62 years. Congo red (×280)

Fig. 19.9. Amyloid fibrils. Female, 29 years. EM (×113,000)

Fig. 19.10. Massive mesangial amyloid deposits (*). Slight edema of podocytes and foot process fusion (\rightarrow). Female, 42 years. EM (× 5200)

Pathogenesis

The pathogenesis of the disease still awaits satisfactory explanation. A classic antigen-antibody reaction is no longer thought to be involved. Current interest is mainly focused on the theory [1602] that amyloidosis results from a derangement of the humoral antibody-forming system. This is further substantiated by biochemical studies of amyloid fibrils in plasmocytoma [785a] which have shown them to consist of proteins closely related to the light chains of the immunoglobulins (AL, see p. 382) [660], and to be arranged in form of a β -pleated sheet ([1832]; see also 186, 295, 308a, 1756]). Thus, the amino acid sequence of amyloid fibrils in 2 cases was identical to that of the kappa Bence-Jones protein [566].

The occurrence of amyloidosis in plasmocytoma possibly depends on the relationship of the kappa/lamda chains in that a predominance of the lamda chains is reported to favor the development of amyloidosis [1267]. Amyloid obtained from cases with secondary amyloidosis and Mediterranean fever do not consist of light chains only but mainly of a protein of unknown cellular origin (Aprotein) a precursor of which is found in the serum (SAA-protein) ([785a, 1832]; see also [420]). But it is not yet completely understood how the soluble precursors are transformed into amyloid fibrils. Cells with proteolytic activity, e.g., mesangial cells, podocytes (possibly) and endothelial cells (possibly) could play a significant role in the formation of the amyloid fibrils [186, 565, 767, 1503, 1715, 1832].

Page 388

Fig. 19.11. Amyloidosis of a glomerular capillary loop. Amyloid fibrils permeating the BM $(\rightarrow \leftarrow)$ which appears thickened. Podocyte (*P*), endothelium (*E*). Female, 56 years. EM (×28,000)

Fig. 19.12. Glomerular BM in amyloidosis. Original lamina densa (*LD*) is severely narrowed and occasionally permeated by amyloid fibrils. There are massive deposits of amyloid fibrils in the lamina rara interna (*). Two subepithelial spike-like accumulations of amyloid fibrils are present (\rightarrow). Same case as in Figure 19.9. Female, 29 years. EM (\times 29,000)

Page 389

Fig. 19.13. Same case as in Figure 19.12. BM of a peripheral glomerular capillary loop permeated with amyloid fibrils with spike-like accumulation of fibrils (\rightarrow) covered by severely hypertrophied podocytes. Lamina densa is still partially discernable. An amyloid mass (*) is invading the capillary loop and compresses an endothelial nucleus. Female, 29 years. EM (×7000)

Fig. 19.14. Massive amyloid deposits (*) in the media and intima of an arteriole. The same case as in Figure 19.5. Male, 62 years. EM (\times 4200)







Etiologically (Table 19.2), the most frequent cause of amyloidosis is chronic inflammation (>50% of our cases) which is less often demonstrable today than in the past. Typical chronic infections are pulmonary tuberculosis, rheumatoid arthritis, chronic osteomyelitis, infected bronchiectases, colon diverticulosis, Crohn's disease, syphilis (stage III) and Mediterranean fever (regionally one of the major etiologic factors: 28%: [1527, 1683]. The percentage of cases associated with rheumatoid arthritis varies [130, 546, 643 a] considerably (17%: [1694]; 60% of autopsies and 10-14% of biopsies: [1158]; 14%: Z). It is not known whether these variations in frequency can be explained by the far more extensive use of corticosteroids in rheumatoid arthritis in USA. Amyloidosis complicates Bechterew's disease in 3.5% of cases [546]. Further important etiologic factors are malignancies: medullary plasmocytoma (5-10%: [1683]; 2-15%: [1624]; 7%: Z), Waldenström's disease (3 out of 16 cases: [1135]), as well as Hodgkin's disease (2 out of 49: Z), and carcinomas (12%: Z) among which renal cell carcinoma is said to be the most frequent [369]. Renal symptoms are not rarely the first sign of amyloidosis and thus of an occult basic disease which, accordingly, requires appropriate clinical clarification.

Despite all efforts, a basic disease cannot be demonstrated in one-quarter to one-third (30%: Z) of patients.

✓ Fig. 19.15. Amyloid deposits (*) in renal interstitium. Same case as in Figure 19.5. Male, 62 years. EM (× 36,000)

Fig. 19.16. Extensive unspecific diabetic glomerulosclerosis. Mesangium is enlarged by matrix increase only. Glomerular capillary loop BM appears delicate but capsular BM evidences incipient splitting and thickening. Male, 45 years. PAS (\times 500)

Fig. 19.17. Armanni-Ebstein cells, appearing similar to cells of a lilac pith (\rightarrow) , in straight parts of proximal tubules in diabetes mellitus. Autopsy specimen. HE (\times 350)

Diabetic Glomerulosclerosis 391

Basic disease	Frequency	Frequency in autopsy material
	biopsy material (n=20)	(several basic diseases possible) (n=49)
Unknown	4	17
rheumatoid arthritis	4	6
Osteomyelitis	4	2
Chronic pulmonary tuberculosis	3	11
Crohn's disease	1	
Colon diverticulosis	0	3
Bronchiectasis	0	5
Mediterranean fever	1	_
Plasmocytoma	1	4
Carcinoma Hodgkin's disease	${}^{2}_{0}^{2}$	$\binom{6}{2}{8}$

Diabetic Glomerulosclerosis

[1484, 1791]

Definition

cases

Diabetic glomerulosclerosis (GS) is either an unspecific diffuse GS or a specific nodular GS (Kimmelstiel-Wilson).

Incidence

The nodular form occurs in 5.6% of all autopsies and in 14.2% of those of diabetics [1791] (17–25.8%: [1624]). It has been reported in 34.5% of 764 needle biopsies obtained from diabetics [375] and in 12–25% in another series [276]. The diffuse form appeared in 44.4% [375] and 60% [276] respectively of needle biopsies from diabetics. Diabetic GS is rarely seen in children (2 out of 1368 cases: [624]).

It has been reported that with EM study, practically 100% of the needle biopsies from diabetics evidence damaged glomeruli [276]. It is not easy to give exact data on the frequency of diffuse diabetic GS since it is difficult to draw a line from mesangial changes attributable to age; and in a large percentage of cases reviewed, other renal lesions are also present which in turn can give rise to similar changes (Table 19.3). Data on the relative frequency of severe diffuse diabetic GS and the nodular form only make sense by considering diabetics not requiring drug treatment, those requiring drug therapy, and those dependent on insulin each separately. We have handled our material in this fashion (Ta-

	Biopsy diagnosis			
Therapy	Diabetic glomerulo- sclerosis (diffuse and nodular)	Pyelo- nephritis	Glome- rulo- nephritis	Others
Insulin $(n=18)$	77.8%	_	16.7%	5.5%
Oral antidiabetics $(n=15)$	13.3%	20.0%	26.7%	40%
Latent diabetes treated with diet (n=62)	6.4%	29.0%	48.3%	16.3%

Table 19.3. Biopsy diagnosis and therapy in diabetes mellitus as related to therapy

Table 19.4. Clinical findings in diabetic glomerulosclerosis from 10 of our biopsied patients

 Age at time of biopsy (in 	years)
---	--------

Age	Incidence	
< 30	3	
30–50	2	
> 50	5	

- Duration of diabetes mellitus at time of biopsy (average and range in years)
 20.3 (13-41)
- Duration of nephropathy at time of biopsy (average and range in years)
 9.7 (1-34)
- 4. Anamnestically diabetic coma: 5 out of 10 patients
- 5. Proteinuria

Hypertension (mm Hg)

g/day	Frequency	mm Hg	Frequency	
> 3.5	5 out of 10	≧160/100	10 out of 10	
< 3.5	5 out of 10			

6. Cause of death (several factors possible for each patient)

Cause	Frequency	
Uremia	4	
Miliary tuberculosis	2	
Gangrene (leg)	2	
Acute pyelonephritis	2	
Heart infarct	2	

ble 19.3) and have obtained an increase from 6.4% in patients treated with diet alone to 77.8% in those receiving insulin therapy.

Diabetic nephropathy has progressively increased since the advent of insulin therapy. Thus, from 1937 to 1943, it was demonstrated in 12.3% of young insulin-dependent diabetics and from 1950 to 1953 in 63% [1006a]. The lesion probably depends not only on the severity and long duration of the disease (13–41 years in our cases: Table 19.4) in insulin-treated diabetics but also on the quality of insulin adjustment. It is more frequent—even after a shorter duration of the disease—the less successfully the diabetes is brought unter control [817a]. This is also reflected in our material in which half of our patients experienced one or more episodes of diabetic coma due to inadequate insulin scheduling.

Clinical Findings

Proteinuria is always present as evidenced by our findings (Table 19.4). Slight to moderately severe proteinuria is encountered in the diffuse form of the disease, while severe proteinuria is usually observed in the nodular form which is accompanied by the nephrotic syndrome in about 30% of the cases. With demonstrated BM thickening, the incidence of the nephrotic syndrome may be as high as 50% [1707]. Renal hypertension is present in almost 100% of young diabetics with nodular GS (Table 19.4) and in approximately 30% in older subjects [276, 832]. The severity of retinopathy usually parallels that of the renal changes.

LM Findings

In diffuse diabetic GS, only two changes are noted in thin paraffin sections: (1) unspecific enlargement of the mesangium (Fig. 19.16) as determined morphometrically [816, 1624, 1705]; see also [1230, 1231] and (2) thickening of the BM, usually first demonstrable 2–5 years after disease onset (43 out of 80: [1214, 1707, 1708]).

Occasionally, a few isolated endothelial foam cells are observed; they are rarely observed in large numbers, and then in association with severe hyperlipemia [1061]. Glomerular capsular BM is unchanged, but ischemic glomerular loop injury is now and again encountered and is due to severe arteriolosclerosis.

In general, the tubules are not significantly changed. Hyaline (protein) droplets and casts are rarely present. In extremely rare cases, swollen cells, so-called Armanni-Ebstein cells reminiscent of lilac pith and optically almost empty and sharply delimited, can be found mainly in the straight parts of proximal tubules from the deepest cortical and outer medullary regions (Fig. 19.17). They are stuffed with glycogen granules as can be demonstrated by staining after tissue fixation in abolute alcohol. According to findings we have obtained from autopsy material, these cells are found only in cases in which blood glucose levels exceeded 500 mg/100 ml.

In nodular GS, in addition to changes already described, there occurs a severe nodular transformation of the mesangium giving rise to another designation for the lesion, namely intercapillary glomerulosclerosis. The lively red nodules (in van Gieson stain) appear lamellated—especially with PAS and PASM stains (Figs. 19.18, 19.19). They push the glomerular capillary loops, much in the form of a string of beads, towards the glomerular periphery.

The nodules contain lipids and are rich in mucopolysaccharides. The loops are simultaneously constricted, such that peripheral aneurysms of loops (Figs. 19.20, 6.3) develop which, however, bear no relation to the wellknown retinal aneurysms [832]. The number of cells of the nodules is pronouncedly increased in the early phase of the disease and decreased in the late phase.

A further typical but not pathognomonic change is the van Gieson yellow fibrinoid "loop cap" (Figs. 6.19, 19.21) which is also designated as hyaline or exudative change [276, 1159]. They always lie peripherally in the glomerulus and appear to be covered by podocytes with LM; with EM, their subendothelial position can clearly be demonstrated.

We have not been able to confirm the presence of epimembranous GN as has been diagnosed exclusively with LM in 9 out of 80 biopsies from diabetics [1707].

Van Gieson-yellow, clumpy, spindly distensions of capsular BM [832], also called "capsular drops" (Fig. 19.22; [716]), are highly characteristic for diabetic GS. They are ultimately collagenized. In very severe cases, small segmental crescents as well as synechiae may be present over occluded loop segments (compare: [429]).

In the advanced nodular form, the tubules are focally severely atrophic and often evidence numerous foam cells (secondary lipoid nephrosis) and considerable BM thickening. This thickening may be present in the absence of tubular atrophy and interstitial change, a condition apparently only occurring in diabetics. The interstitium is usually slightly widened and shows a scanty infiltration with lymphocytes.

Arteriolosclerosis is present in over 70% of the cases [375] (Fig. 19.22) and is especially pronounced in juvenile diabetes mellitus. It is important to note that the change is also observed on occasion in nonhypertensive diabetics [276, 491, 832]. Involvement of the vasa efferentia is typical for the nodular form [832]. The larger arteries are consistently arteriosclerotic and, in the most severe nephropathies, they demonstrate adaptive intimal fibrosis.

Our experience has shown that the diagnosis of diabetic contracted kidney is extremely difficult after long-lasting dialysis when no van Gieson-red glomerular nodules are present (Fig. 19.23).

IF Findings

The findings vary considerably. Mesangial deposits of immunoglobulins and complement are most frequently mentioned [1624]; spontaneous diabetic mice: [1711]. Complement and γ -globulin have been found in the fibrinoid loop caps and arterioles [375]. Isolated findings of subendothelial linear deposits of the same composition have been reported [525], [1624, 1711] and fibrinogen was mentioned once [355]. Most probably, however, IF findings arise from an insudative and not from an immunopathologic process [355].

Page 394

Fig. 19.18. Typical nodular diabetic glomerulosclerosis (Kimmelstiel-Wilson). Slightly layered (van Gieson red) spheres (*) are easily differentiable from the uniformly homogeneous appearing peripheral glomerular capillary loop caps (\rightarrow). Peripheral loops are severely narrowed in the region of the spheres. Capsular thickening and synechiae are recognizable. Autopsy specimen. PAS ($\times 250$)

Fig. 19.19. Nodular diabetic glomerulosclerosis (Kimmelstiel-Wilson). Peripheral glomerular capillary loop BM is intact. It is readily seen that the lamellated nodules are lying in the mesangium which, in other places, shows unspecific glomerulosclerosis. There are again very abvious thickening and splitting of the capsular BM. Autopsy specimen. PASM ($\times 625$)

Fig. 19.20. Pronounced aneurysm-like distention of a few glomerular capillary loops in diabetic glomerlosclerosis. There is severe atrophy of the tubules, the BM is thickened. Male, 65 years. PASM (\times 500)

Fig. 19.21. Diabetic glomerulosclerosis (Kimmelstiel-Wilson) with massive so-called exudative lesion; capillary loop cap (*); hyaline nodule (\rightarrow); arteriolosclerosis (\neg). Autopsy specimen. HE (× 250)

Page 395

Fig. 19.22. Diabetic glomerulosclerosis. Note hyaline drop in capsular BM (\rightarrow), and nuclear increase in glomerular tuft. Note severe arteriolosclerosis (\rightarrow). HE (\times 540)

Fig. 19.23. Contracted kidney in diabetic glomerulosclerosis (Kimmelstiel-Wilson) after many years of hemodialysis. Glomeruli are completely obsolescent. There are very few hypertrophic cyst-like tubules filled with hyaline casts. Bilateral nephrectomy was performed (kidneys weighed 100 g and 60 g respectively). Female, 42 years. PAS (\times 32)

Fig. 19.24. Diabetic glomerulosclerosis (Kimmelstiel-Wilson). Compare severely thickened glomerular capillary loop BM with normal BM which is shown in the inset. Male, 46 years. EM $(\times 4400)$ for both preparations







19.25



Fig. 19.27. Fifty-nine-year-old male with a 2-year history of diabetes mellitus and nodular glomerulosclerosis. Mesangial matrix (MM) shows severe nodular increase without concomitant increase of cells. Peripheral BM is highly thickened. Podocytes are intensely activated. There are typical exudative lesions in the form of capsular drops (X)

EM Findings

BM thickening of greater than 7000 Å with involvement of the lamina densa and lamina rara interna only is a very characteristic finding (Figs. 19.24, 19.25; [832, 1413]). The thickening is, however, inconstant, appears only after long duration of diabetes (2–5 years: [1214, 1707, 1708]) and bears no quantitative relationship to mesangial widening ([276, 832, 1229, 1231], contra: [491]). We have clearly observed BM thickening in one case of latent diabetes.

✓ Fig. 19.25. Same case as in Figure 19.24. Severe enlargement of mesangium due to matrix increase without significant nuclear increase. Note pronounced thickening of glomerular capillary loop BM. Podocytes are edematously swollen but rarely hypertrophied. Male, 46 years. EM (×1500)

Fig. 19.26. Nodular diabetic glomerulosclerosis (Kimmelstiel-Wilson). Massive mesangial enlargement with very coarse matrix bars, cells are not significantly increased. Osmiophilic deposits (D). Male, 46 years. EM (×1200)

Loop caps are found in 47% of cases with the nodular form with EM [716]. They represent subendothelial deposits containing 35–70 Å-sized granules [276, 1413]. Analogous—but smaller—deposits have been reported subepithelially and intramembranously [1413]. In diffuse as well as nodular glomerular sclerosis (which develops from the former), the mesangial matrix is considerably increased (Figs. 19.25, 19.26, 19.27a). Mesangial cell drops containing a fibrillar BM-like material as described in the rat [34] have not been observed by us in man. The "capsular drops" (Fig. 19.26a) lie on the inner aspect of the BM and are reportedly demonstrable under EM in 60% of all biopsies [716].

The tubules are often atrophic and dedifferentiated. The basal labyrinth disappears and the BM is strongly thickened and often lamellated [276]. Armanni-Ebstein cells, usually not present in biopsy tissue, are stuffed with glycogen which lies freely in the cytoplasm [377]. After glycogen removal from fixation, these cells appear empty (Fig. 19.28).

Except for a clear-cut thickening of the BM [1222], the arteries show no other deviations than those of typical arteriosclerosis [1413].

Complications

A very frequent complication (ca. one-third of cases) is pyelonephritis (Table 19.3) often accompanied by papillary necrosis. The occurrence of complicating diffuse GN [564, 1707] (Table 19.3) is probably a random finding.

Differential Diagnosis

The simultaneous presence of mesangial van Gieson-red nodules, loop caps, capsular drops, and arteriolosclerosis of the vas efferens is practically proof for the presence of diabetic GS. It is noted that extremely rarely, cases evidencing all the above-instanced findings are clinically completely negative with respect to manifest or latent diabetes [177]. We have also studied such atypical cases. These rare cases may be due to the almost unheard-of occurrence of nodular GS in plasmocytoma [1455] or in carbon disulfide poisoning [1640, 1225] of which we saw one case each.

Morphologic findings in diffuse diabetic GS are completely unspecific. In biopsies, the nodular form is occasionally not diagnosed since mesangial nodules are initially present in only a few glomeruli. Thus, in one case 6 months prior to autopsy which revealed the nodular form, we diagnosed the diffuse form in biopsy material. In an other similar case, the biopsy-to-autopsy interval was 6 years.

One cannot always rely on mesangial cell increase to differentiate nodular GS from lobular (membranoproliferative) GN since the mesangium may be very poor in cells in the late stage of lobular GN. EM demonstration of extensive BM doubling and the presence of considerable subendothelial and mesangial deposits speak for membranoproliferative (lobular) GN. In general, however, mesangial widening in membranoproliferative (lobular) and endotheliomesangial GN is considerably more cellular than in nodular GS. In these cases, the EM demonstration of a homogeneous global thickening of the peripheral BM—characteristic for diabetes mellitus—may be helpful.

Prognosis

The prognosis for the nodular form in young patients is very bad; it is somewhat better in the older. We found death due to uremia in 6% and to hypertension in 65% of our autopsy cases (see also Table 19.4). The prognosis can be considerably improved by appropriate antihypertensive medication and proper management of the diabetes. A further decrease in mortality due to uremia has been brought about by dialysis and renal transplantation of which the latter is more favorable [1834]. As far as we know, there have been no reports of recurrence in transplants—34 cases without recurrence, except for vascular lesions [1835], have been described [854]. Even after 5 years, there was no evidence of diabetic renal changes in one of our cases.

Pathogenesis

The central pathogenetic role is thought to be played by an increase of structural carbohydrates (insulin deficiency) which leads to glomerular BM thickening and mesangial matrix increase [834]. It thus belongs within the framework of diabetic angiopathies [1231]. Structural carbohydrates (mucopolysaccharides, muco- and glycoproteins) provide the ground substance in which scleroproteins (collagen) are embedded [276]. The same disturbance is proposed for the very early appearence of tubular BM thickening. A genetic defect of the BM is unlikely. It is still not clear whether BM and mesangial changes are due to decreased turnover or increased production. Another concept associates the BM and matrix changes to an increased serum level of glycoproteins [1624]. Finally, it has been conjectured that the glomerular lesions are a reflexion of immunological injury caused by insulin AB [1704] perhaps in association with further injury from metabolic disturbances. This thesis appears improbable to us since the lesion also occurs in the absence of insulin therapy [1208, 1214] and is independent of the presence of insulin AB [1325].

The loop caps as well as the deposits demonstrable with IF and EM are probably the consequence of increased insudation of plasma components due to impaired endothelial permeability [1413].

Fig. 19.28. Armanni-Ebstein cells (poorly fixed) in diabetes mel- \triangleright litus. Male, 21 years. HE (×978)

Fig. 19.29. Experimental hepatic glomerulosclerosis caused by carbon tetrachloride administration in the rat. Isolated, finegranular, relatively loosely organized subendothelial and intramembranous (*) osmiophilic deposits. EM ($\times 46,000$)



Hepatic Glomerulosclerosis [490, 1409, 1410]

Definition

Hepatic glomerulosclerosis (HG) is defined as the non inflammatory glomerular lesion occurring in association with liver diseases of various etiology. HG must not be confused with or considered equivalent to the socalled hepatorenal syndrome [1238a] or GN.

Incidence

HG, usually mild, can be found with LM in 6.5% of severe liver cirrhosis [1624]. Evaluation of this series is rendered difficult by the concomitant presence of diabetes mellitus in 27% of the cases. HG is the rarest renal lesion—as noted in biopsy material—occurring with liver disease (0.29% of biopsies: Z; Table 19.5). Another investigator [1409] found 8 severe and 44 mild cases of HG in 85 patients suffering from liver cirrhosis. In children, the lesion has been reported as being more frequent [1201].

Clinical Findings

Clinically, HG, in common with cholemic nephrosis, is (with exception of a minimal proteinuria) usually insignificant. In severe cases, pronounced proteinuria, slight hematuria, granular casts and decreased urine sodium may be observed [1240]. Glomerular filtration is reduced, and plasma renin level increased in some cases of chronic liver disease [440, 1452].

Acute renal insufficiency (so-called hepatorenal syndrome) occasionally occurring in (decompensated) liver cirrhosis, inflammatory bile duct lesions and, more rarely, following hemihepatectomy, is in no way related to HG but is probably attributable uniquely to circulatory factors [440, 1240, 1452]. Needle biopsy in such cases reveals the finding of shock kidney.

Table 19.5. Diagnosis from renal biopsies in 77 patients with bioptically and clinically verified liver diseases

Biopsy diagnosis	Incidence (%)	_
GN	50.7	
Pyelonephritis	20.8	
HG	7.7	
Others	11.7	
\pm Normal	9.1	

LM Findings

Some glomeruli are normal in size and some are enlarged (especially in alcoholic liver cirrhosis) due to overload [1706]. In mild cases, the mesangium is widened in about 10% of the glomeruli, and in severe forms in over 40% [269, 1624], in which either no morphometrically demonstrable mesangial cell increase is present [1624, 1706] or, if so, of slight character (Fig. 19.30; [1624]). Peripheral glomerular BM shows slight, partial thickening in severe cases only. When jaundice is present, greenish bilirubin-containing casts (HE stain) are present in the tubules. The epithelial cells of the convoluted

parts of the proximal tubules may contain bile droplets. The interstitium and vessels are generally unchanged. The JGA may be enlarged in some cases.

IF Findings

The currently available literature is scanty and does not permit definitive conclusions. Gamma globulin, in granular or linear arrangement, has been reported to be present along the peripheral glomerular BM [1410]. There have been no reports of positive findings for complement or fibrin(-ogen).

EM Findings

The morphologic differentiation of different degrees of severity of the lesion is the key for the understanding of its evolution [1410]. In acute liver disease, loose, amorphic deposits are initially formed subendothelially along the peripheral BM (Fig. 19.29). Occasionally, intensely osmiophilic particles (35–100 Å large)—some of which are reminiscent of ferritin [1410, 490]—are present. They can sometimes be demonstrated intramembranously. Dark particles, with a diameter of about 1000 Å, can be found subendothelially but chiefly mesangially. At this stage, osmiophilic deposits may also be demonstrated in small amounts in the mesangium.

The second stage of the disease is mainly characterized by a considerable increase of the mesangial matrix and by the merging of the amorphic mesangial deposits with it.

The third stage is marked by changes of peripheral BM which shows irregular, usually focal thickenings of 3000-9000 Å [490]. The subepithelial side of the BM is irregular and evidences focal invaginations which are filled in with evaginations of podocytes.

Splitting of the lamina densa is observed only in severe cases [490]. The podocytes are considerably hypertrophied, and sometimes focal fusion of foot processes or their destruction is observed, so that peripheral BM is denuded of a podocytic cover [1410]. Large lamellated bodies, with a diameter of 3000-8000 Å, are occasionally found within the mesangial matrix.

Differential Diagnosis

With LM, the changes are unspecific and cannot be differentiated from diffuse diabetic GS. This is of importance in view of the frequent combination of liver cirrhosis and diabetes mellitus.

With EM, the full picture of HG with its various deposits and particles, which is said to be very characteristic, will probably scarcely give rise to confusion regarding other glomerulopathies. Nevertheless, HG must be carefully distinguished from membranoproliferative and epimembranous GN, both of which may arise as a sequel to viral hepatitis (see p. 250).

Pathogenesis

Despite much experimental and clinical study, the pathogenesis of HG has eluded clarification. Causative factors most frequently mentioned include dysproteinemia [1624], immunologic mechanisms (experimental findings: [990, 1113]) and ischemia [1624]. Among the factors considered, most investigators in the field tend to regard renal ischemia as the most important pathogenetic mechanism as evidenced by decreased glomerular filtration and plasma flow, increased plasma renin levels and evident ischemia as demonstrated by the xenon wash-out technique [440, 826, 1240, 1452, 1492].

The possible pathogenetic significance of a functional disturbance is illustrated in an interesting observation from our material on the course of the disease. The patient, a 33-year-old female, suffered from biopsy-proven primary biliary cirrhosis for 11 years. In the urine, a few erythrocytes, leukocytes, granular casts, and protein traces could be demonstrated during periods of jaundice. During these episodes, glomerular filtration decreased to a C_{cr} of 40 ml/min, whereas during remissions, glomerular filtration was a C_{cr} of 85/ml/min. Following transplantation of kidneys with HG, glomerular changes can disappear [878], a finding which speaks for a primary functional disturbance. Despite these arguments in favor of renal ischemia, the exact mechanism is still to be elucidated.

Glomerulopathy of Pregnancy (GP) [20, 1273, 1484, 1494]

Definition

Glomerulopathy of pregnancy is herein operatively defined as noninflammatory glomerular changes occurring in pregnancy associated with the EPH syndrome (edema, proteinuria and hypertension). Pyelonephritis frequently observed during pregnancy, idiopathic postpartal renal failure (see p. 499) as well as lesions present prior to pregnancy, do not belong to GP.

Synonym: Glomeruloendotheliosis [1541, 1501].

Incidence

Morphologically, the incidence of GP is not known but its functional counterpart, the EPH syndrome, is encountered in 6-7% of all pregnancies [20]. Nevertheless, in one biopsy series encompassing 100 EPH patients, the full picture of GP was present in 45 of the cases [1603].

Clinical Findings

Three degrees of severity are recognized [1340]: (1) simple gestosis (uncomplicated by symptoms of the central nervous system) with edema and/or proteinuria and/or hypertension, (2) pre-eclampsia with headache, dizziness, nausea, occular symptoms, and vomiting, (along with EPH), and (3) eclampsia with unconsciousness and/or cramps (15% cerebral hemorrhage [1060]) in addition to the above-mentioned symptoms).

It is very questionable as to whether or not significant histologically recognizable renal changes are already present in simple gestosis. Findings from renal needle biopsy do not permit differentiation between pre-eclampsia and eclampsia [478].

Additionally, primary GP is differentiated clinically from secondary GP, i.e., GP instigated and concomitantly caused by pre-existing renal disease which was found in 17% of cases [1603]. Biopsy is often performed in an attempt to determine pre-existing renal disease. In our material, the ratio between secondary and primary (EPH) gestoses was 4:1 (Table 19.6).

Table 19.6. Renal biopsy diagnosis in 53 patients with clinical history of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia after a mean latency period of 230 weeks (range 2–850 weeks)

	Renal diagnosis	No. of patients	%
Possibly secondary gestosis (81.1%)	Glomerulonephritis Chronic pyelonephritis Hypertensive vasculopathy (arteriolosclerosis)	27 11 5	51.0 20.7 9.4
Possibly primary gestosis (18.9%)	Status after eclampsia <u>+</u> normal normal	5 5	18.9



19.30 19.31 Even cursory study of a slide from the early stage reveals the striking lack of blood in the noncollapsed and frankly enlarged glomeruli (Fig. 19.31). The loop wall, as seen in HE, is thickened. The BM (PAS/PASM stain), however, is delicate. The capillary loop lumen appears to be occluded or narrowed by the endothelium, although the cellular elements are, in general, not increased. In a very few instances, there occurs slight widening of the matrix and increase of mesangial nuclei [1273, 1614].

Endothelial cells are markedly swollen, hence the designation "endotheliosis" for GP. The severity of swelling has been reported to parallel the severity of clinical symptoms [1068]. It is thought that the cellular swelling is due to the phagocytosis of fibrin [1690].

Occasionally, intraglomerular foam cells and aneurysms of capillary loops are encountered [1494].

The number of granulated juxtaglomerular cells is often obviously increased [20, 1279, 1509]. We have not been able to confirm reported atrophy of the macula densa [20].

The maximum of renal changes is observed a few days postpartum [478]. Capillary loop thrombi, given such importance in earlier studies [1614], belong, as such, not to GP but to conditions with intravasal coagulation. Ischemic glomerular changes in the sense of glomerular collapse as occurs in pre-existing hypertensive vasculopathy [1273] are not obligatory.

✓ Fig. 19.30. Hepatic glomerulosclerosis associated with liver cirrhosis in a 1.5-year-old boy. Peripheral glomerular BM is delicate. There is intense fibrillar enlargement (matrix bars) of the mesangium. PAS (×1000)

Fig. 19.31. Typical glomerular changes in nephropathy of pregnancy. Glomerular capillary loops appear narrowed and their walls thickened but they do not evidence hypercellularity. Autopsy specimen. PAS (\times 345)

Fig. 19.32. Glomerulosclerosis associated with medullary plasmocytoma. Mesangium is slightly segmentally enlarged due to matrix increase. Concomitant cell increase is not present. BM of glomerular capillary loops and capsules is delicate. Male, 64 years. Semi-thin section. PASM (\times 550)

Fig. 19.33. Massive hyaline casts in tubules which are partly distended and evidence atrophic epithelium in a case of medulary plasmocytoma. Tubular giant cells as reaction to the casts (\rightarrow) . Autopsy specimen. HE (×80)

Tubules and interstitium are generally unchanged. Intertubular capillaries may undergo thrombosis in pronounced intravasal coagulation and possibly give rise to tubulonecrosis and findings of acute, nondestructive interstitial nephritis. Casts are present in about 25% of our cases and partly contain chromoprotein. The vessels themselves are usually unchanged. It has been reported that secondary collagen formation in vessels may occur from fibrin insudation [842]. A pronounced contraction of the vas afferens [20] could not be confirmed in our cases.

IF Findings

The few findings available from IF study are unspecific. It is not at all surprising—in view of the frequent occurrence of intravasal coagulation in the EPH syndrome that fibrin is present [478, 1263, 1273, 1509]. The finding is certainly more frequent than observed with LM, it is not, however, obligatory (contra: [1060]). Complement and immunoglobulins were not always found [1273]. According to other investigators [1263] C3 was present in glomeruli in all severe cases and consistently present in the vas afferens and efferens.

EM Findings

Intense cellular swelling, especially of endothelial cells, is immediately apparent (endothelial edema: [1079]). Cells identified with LM as foam cells are, with EM, apparently endothelial elements [454]. Mitosis in endothelial cells was noted once [764].

The BM, with exception of a few focal thickenings of the lamina rara interna, is unchanged. We ascribe these thickenings to anoxia, but other investigators feel that they are due to deposits of fibrin [842]. Subendothelial osmiophilic deposits are found rather frequently [1273, 1484] and are said to be quickly reversible [1484]. A few of these deposits sometimes contain material suggestive of fibrin fibrils [1614].

In massive intravasal coagulation, thrombi are present in the capillary loop lumen. These thrombi are surrounded by proliferating endothelial and mesangial cells [454].

Podocytes are considerably activated and evidence microvilli formation [1273] without accompanying foot process fusion. The mesangial matrix is slightly widened and shows a slight increase in cellularity [20, 1263, 1614]; contra: morphometrically [1494].

Mesangial cellular swelling is basically caused by edema and is reversible [275]—often first after 2 years [1031]. Protein droplets and, rarely, fibrin fibers are demonstrable in both endothelial and mesangial cells [1275]. A peculiar, often-reported finding is that of mesangial interposition which is possibly simulated, however, by cellular swelling [1273] or by protusions of mesangial cells [20, 764]. This finding has been reported to persist for months [1273] or even for years [764].

Collagen formation within obsolescent loops indicates previous intravasal coagulation [842].

Differential Diagnosis

With the exception of unspecific toxic glomerulonephrosis in infants and children, we know of no other lesion besides GP which demonstrates such severe swelling of endothelial cells.

The main task of the pathologist is the demonstration or exclusion of pre-existing renal disease (secondary GP) and especially of chronic pyelonephritis (Table 19.6). Pre-existing GN (Table 19.6; 7 out of 100: [1603]; 21 out of 169: [764]) and arteriolosclerosis, etc., are further well known causes of secondary GP. In cases of difficulty in delineation of GP from GN, the predominance of fibrin(-ogen)—without or with only rather scanty accompanying immunoglobulin deposit—speaks in favor of GP.

GP does not occur as a consequence of acute fatty liver degeneration in pregnancy complicated by uremia. In such cases, uremia is thought to be purely due to intravasal coagulation [110].

Prognosis

The prognosis as such is good, although some of the changes may persist for quite some time (see above). Extensive fibrin deposits may lead to an inflammatory reaction (cf. p. 287). As a rule, irreversible injury is not to be expected.

A small percentage of patients develop chronic hypertension, which is possibly a consequence of hypertensive vascular injury arising in the course of GP [1273]. It is noted in this connection, however, that the presence of or disposition to hypertension prior to GP may not have been adequately considered. Nevertheless, the decisive element for prognosis is the behavior of the blood pressure [1158].

Cases with endothelial swelling and BM thickening lasting for years, as well as with synechia, have been described [478]. These cases, however, arouse suspicion of the presence of independent GN or severe intravascular coagulation. A report detailing normalization of renal function of only 10 out of 15 cases [944] strongly implies secondary GP.

Complications

Pyelonephritis appears to occur frequently after GP, although the relationship between GP and urinary tract infection is controversial. Thus, it is not clear whether repeated urinary tract infections dispose to GP, or whether a chronic nephropathy (i.e., pyelonephritis) is the cause of repeated urinary tract infections on the one hand and GP on the other. It is not known whether or not GP alone can cause hypertension (the hypertension or disposition to hypertension was most probably present before GP in most cases). Pre-existing GN (45 cases) is clearly worsened by GP; lupus GN is the least affected (12 out of 14: [453]). In one of our cases of epimembranous GN, complete remission of clinical symptoms occurred during pregnancy.

In 3 of our own 10 patients with possible primary gestosis who were biopsied 5-13 months after birth, blood pressure was normalized and remained so during a 6-12year follow-up period. Hypertension is still present in 7 out of 10 patients 14-15 years subsequent to GP. Familial hypertensive stigmata were demonstrated in 3 of the patients. In 2 patients (2 and 4 years respectively postpartum) a renal artery stenosis, or nephroptosis of the nonbiopsied kidney was operated on unsuccessfully.

Pathogenesis

The most attractive hypothesis for GP is that of release of pressor substances from the ischemic uterus with subsequent sodium retention, hypertension and cellular edema [1273]. It is agreed that vasospasm is decisively involved in the process [1494] as it is in triggering intravasal coagulation [1060]. Increased activation of pressor amines has also been proposed as a causative factor. Electrolyte and water retention have been ascribed to increased aldosterone production [1509].

Intravasal coagulation, assumedly caused by release of thromboplastin from the placental attachment area, is currently viewed by many investigators as the chief and integrating factor in the pathogenesis of GP [842, 1060, 1690, 1691]. The glomerular changes assumedly arise by insudation of plasma elements especially of fibrin(ogen)—into the capillary loop wall (see also [1158, 1690]).

Finally, immunological processes have been proposed as causative in that a fetus, showing intolerance to maternal tissue, transfers antibodies against maternal HLA antigens to the mother [1263].

Kidney in Plasmocytoma

[60, 379, 510, 1116, 1624, 1454a, 1454b]; for rare paraproteinemias see also [60]

Definition

Glomerular, interstitial and tubular changes typically associated with multiple medullary plasmocytoma (multiple myeloma, Kahler's disease).

Incidence

Plasmocytoma GS was found in severe and mild form in 7 out of 30 autopsy cases each [1624]. The full picture of renal changes in plasmocytoma with impacted casts has been reported in two-third [1012], one-third [1457] and 11 out of 92 [747] cases. The overall incidence in our biopsies was 0.38%. We have the impression that the lesion has become less frequent due to improved therapy.

Clinical Findings

Proteinuria, chiefly of prerenal origin and often severe, is present in 77% of the cases [1012, 1791]. If it is absent, no significant GS, interstitial or tubular changes are present. A nephrotic syndrome is very rare [379, 510] (2 out of 8 cases: Z). Acute circulatory failure is frequently a terminal event [1457].

Pyelonephritic symptoms are not infrequent. Occassionally, a secondary De Toni-Debré-Fanconi syndrome is observed which is thought to arise as a consequence of excessive protein overload of tubules with immunoglobulins and their fragments (possibly tubular toxicity) [1683]. Oliguria and anuria with rapidly progressive renal failure were much more frequent previously as they are today due to better therapeutical control of extracellular fluid volume (see also [1454b]).

Hypertension was present in 13% of our autopsy cases [1791] and was found in 1 out of 8 of our biopsied patients; it does not appear to be more frequent than in control series.

Individual serum globulins corresponding to the plasmocytoma type are considerably increased as is serum sedimentation rate. The latter may be nearly normal when there is a predominance of light chains. Bence Jones's protein is nearly always present in urine (8 out of 8 cases: Z).

LM Findings

GS occurring with plasmocytoma has no specific characteristics (Fig. 19.32). In the presence of severe disease, the morphometrically demonstrable mesangial widening (without significant cell increase) [1624] leads to a typical, finger-like enlargement of the mesangium. Very rarely, nodular transformation of the mesangium may occur and it cannot be differentiated from the nodular GS of Kimmelstiel-Wilson (one case of our own; see also [1455]; in IgE gammopathy: [232]).

Interstitial fibrosis in 65% (71% [1454a]) with focal lympho-plasmocytic infiltrates in 82% of cases [1012] occurs almost exclusively in the corticomedullary region. Accordingly, it is frequently missing in needle biopsies which usually contain only cortical tissue. The typical picture of the kidney at autopsy in plasmocytoma is characterized by massive casts which are often fragmented transversely, they are sometimes surrounded by granulation tissue rich in foreign-body giant cells (Fig. 19.33; 45% of a biopsy series: [1012]; 39%: [1454a]).

A usually moderately pronounced accumulation of hyaline (protein) droplets in the proximal tubules is present in all cases with severe proteinuria but only in 30% of all cases [1454a], whereas hyaline droplets in podocytes are comparatively rare (7%: [1454a]). In about one-third of autopsy cases, neither GS nor interstitial tubular changes are present [1457]. Tumor cell infiltrates are rarely observed (10% of cases: [1454a]).

IF Findings

Glomerular findings may be completely negative [948] or, in a few cases, positive in granular form: 7 out of 14: IgG; and 2 out of 14: IgA [1667].

Casts have been shown to be positive for IgG, fibrin and albumin [948]. κ -light-chains have been demonstrated in glomerular capillary loops subendothelially and in tubular BM deposits as in vascular walls and the interstitium [37]. In one of our own cases of an IgG plasmocytoma with lambda-chain paraproteinemia, IF revealed a severe, diffuse global granular deposition of C3 in the mesangium without IgG or lambda chains in the glomeruli. But the latter were positive in tubular casts and tubular protein droplets (compare: [948]). There is good agreement between the type of urinary paraproteins (kappa, lambda) and IF findings [948].

EM Findings

The BM may be focally thickened up to 12,500 Å [1, 1207, 1360]. In the thickened foci, either abnormal osmiophilic areas [379] or massive osmiophilic subendothelial deposits [1360, 1667] are demonstrable in a few instances. The subendothelial deposits contain up to 500 Å-large granules [1]. Now and again subepithelial deposits are present [510].

With the exception of widening caused by an increase in matrix and the presence of a few foam cells [1360], the mesangium evidences no particularities. Long-spacing mesangial collagen has been demonstrated in the presence of nodular mesangial transformation [1455].

Podocytes are usually hypertrophic in the presence of proteinuria and, rarely, show a slight fusion of the foot processes [1207] or protein droplets [1454a].

The presence of a few microcrystals has been described in endothelium [1667], podocytes [1454a], tubular cells [379] (6% tubular crystals: [1454a]) as well as in tubular lumens [1454a]; for animal experimentation [518].

The glomerular capsule is usually unchanged, but the connective tissue component may be thickened in very

severe GS with capillary loop obsolescence. With the exception of the unspecific signs of protein storage, the tubules remain unaffected. Osmiophilic deposits in tubular BM were described [37].

Complications

The chief complications consist of pyelonephritis, usually acute with impacted casts (30%: [1012], severe in 8%: [1457]) and of secondary amyloidosis (2-15%: [1624]; 8%: [1454a]; 1 out of 84 autopsies and 1 out of 8 biopsies: Z).

Amyloidosis possibly begins in the proximal tubules where lysosomes transform resorbed light chains into amyloid fibrils [784]. Amyloidosis of old age does not appear to be increased [961].

A further complication of the basic disease is the frequent but slight metastatic nephrocalcinosis associated with massive bone destruction (46%: [1454a; 1683, 1791]). In 5 out of 84 autopsy cases we found nephrolithiasis. A formerly more frequent complication was that of acute renal failure due to intravenous pyelography [1255a] or resulting from circulatory collapse and/or massive cast formation and consecutive tubular obstruction in association with generalized dehydration [1207].

Differential Diagnosis

The glomerular findings are unspecific (see p. 382). On the other hand, the tubulo-interstitial change with foreign body giant cell granulomas and massive occurrence of strongly stained hyaline casts are apparently pathognomonic. This change is absent in Waldenström's disease as well as in other paraproteinemia [747, 1135], but it has been reported in two cases of malignant lymphoma [227a].

Prognosis

Prognosis in plasmocytoma patients depends less on the severity of plasmocytoma kidney, if not complicated by amyloidosis or pyelonephritis, than on acute renal failure which is present morphologically in 60% of autopsy cases [1454b]. Improved therapeutic control of extracellular body water volume reduced uremia as a cause of death—formerly reported in one-third of cases [1791]—in recent years (1971–1973) to only 12% [1454b].

Pathogenesis

Unspecific GS as well as the complex of impacted casts are the consequence of the paraproteinemia. Glomerular subendothelial deposits are viewed as pure insudation of pathologic globulins and lipoproteins [1360] without participation of any immunologic process. Glomerulosclerosis in Waldenström's Disease [60, 1038, 1457, 1780, 1791]

Synonyms: Macroglobulinemia, IgM-gammopathy [1667].

Clinical Findings

In general, this rare disease occurs in and after the sixth decade of life [1038]. Proteinuria occurs late in the disease and is reported in 20–30% of the cases [41]. Other investigators have reported renal symptoms in 30–60% of the cases [1457]. Bence Jones's protein is rarely demonstrable in the urine (3 out of 41: [1228a]). Macrohematuria and acute renal failure are also infrequent [41]. Chronic renal insufficiency is reported in variable frequency (5 out of 16: [1135]; 3 out of 10: [1457]; 8 out of 8: [1789]).

Serum findings are characterized by a marked increase of IgM globulins occasionally accompanied by monoclonal cryoglobulinemia [201] and now and again by a hyperviscosity syndrome [1038]. Pathologically increased lymphoid cellular elements are demonstrable in bone marrow and in other tissue.

LM, IF, and EM Findings

The essential finding is that of unspecific GS. A few isolated PAS-positive loop protein thrombi as well as partly massive PAS-positive, osmiophilic subendothelial deposits (12 out of 17 [40; 1135, 1141, 1667]) can be present as result of plasma hyperviscosity and/or cryo-globulinemia.

If the deposits are massive, they are accompanied by endothelial mesangial proliferation (contra: [1141]). With IF, they are shown to often contain IgM [1135, 1141]. Also with IF, similar deposits can be found in benign monoclonal gammopathy as well as in essential cryoglobulinemia [1667] (see p. 169).

There is one report of an unusual finding of giant cells in the capsular space [40]. These cells are otherwise found in significant numbers in Goodpasture's syndrome (Table 8.1, p. 337).

The blood vessels are unchanged. Interstitial and tubular changes are similar to those encountered in plasmocytoma without, to be sure, the granulomas observed in plasmocytoma. At autopsy, the morphologic substrate of acute renal failure may be observed as well.

Complications, Pathogenesis

Secondary amyloidosis is frequent: 3 out of 16 [1135]; 3 out of 17 [1667].

Pathogenetically, the observations made for plasmocytoma are valid for Waldenström's disease. It appears that immunologic processes are not involved.

20. Inflammatory Interstitial Renal Lesions

[687a, 1333a, 1791]

Nosology

Nondestructive, usually abacterial interstitial nephritis (IN), i.e., interstitial nephritis in the narrower sense, is to be differentiated from destructive, bacterial IN, which is better designated as pyelonephritis. In the larger framework, specific granulomatous lesions may be classified under pyelonephritis.

Acute, Nondestructive Interstitial Nephritis (IN) [1793, 1780b]

Definition

This entity (IN) is characterized by lympho-plasmohistiocytic interstitial inflammation without direct parenchymal injury from inflammatory processes. The primary form is a distinct disease. The secondary form ("accompanying nephritis") is associated with other distinct renal lesions where it usually occurs focally with perivascular predominance.

Incidence

Apart from corresponding transplant changes which will not be discussed here (see p. 569), we have found severe acute IN in 431 out of 25,000 autopsies (biopsies: 1.2%) and chronic IN in 63 out of 25,000 autopsies (biopsies: 0.48%). The above figures are based on consideration of only essential and diffuse findings. It follows from these data that acute IN rarely becomes chronic. We found no difference in disease distribution with relation to sex or age.

Clinical Findings

The symptomatology of acute IN is often completely determined by the symptoms of the underlying disease (see p. 408). A listing of clinical symptoms encountered

in our material—in which the symptomatology of mainly shock-free cases is apparent [1780b]-is detailed in Table 20.1. The clinical picture is often completely dominated by oligo- and anuria which may occur from one instant to the other and which we have observed associated with 73 out of 431 autopsy cases and with 18 out of 22 biopsies (see also [185]). Oliguria or anuria are also frequently the initial symptoms of the disease (13 out of 21: Z; Table 20.1). They can however be missing in so-called nonoliguric renal failure as especially encountered in cases due to nephrotoxic antibiotics which only become apparent by progressive increase in serum creatinin or in polyuric renal failure which we observed in 4 out of 21 cases. Tubular acidosis is nowadays very rare; it was formerly found after use of tetracycline whose date of use had expired.

Skin rash, especially in cases of allergic etiology, may initially be present [687a, 1215]. We have observed transitory hypertension in 7 out of 22 biopsies.

Urinary findings are ambiguous. Microhematuria, leukocyturia and usually mild proteinuria are relatively frequent. Leukocytic casts, erythrocytic casts, bacteruria, as well as massive proteinuria are rare, but this wide spectrum of urinary findings may be misleading in regard to the underlying disease. Thus, in more than half the cases, pyelonephritis, glomerulonephritis or other renal lesions were clinically diagnosed (see Table 20.1).

LM Findings

The interstitium at the corticomedullary region-and less so in the cortex-is diffusely edematous (connective tissue stain!), widened, and often infiltrated with coalescing foci of lymphocytes, plasma cells, and histiocytes (Figs. 20.1, 20.2) and a few eosinophilic leukocytes which may be very frequent in cases of drug allergy. These especially evident infiltrates are perivascularly (Fig. 20.3). Tubulolymphatic and tubulovenous shunts are filled with small PAS-positive casts (see p. 134). The epithelium of the proximal convoluted tubule is frankly flattened, even in the absence of clinical shock [171]. The cortex shows a considerable decrease in the filling of interstitial capillaries with blood but the glomerular capillary loops are, surprisingly, rarely collapsed. In autopsy material, the papillary capillaries are dilated and Table 20.1. Clinical findings in acute interstitial nephritis from22 of our own biopsy cases

1.	Symptoms at disease onset ^a	Freque	ncy ^b	
	Oliguria/anuria	13/21		
	Polyuria	4/21		
	Fever	7/21		
	Hematuria	5/21		
	Renal pain	3/21		
2.	Oliguria/anuria during the disease course	18/22		
3.	Clinical findings at the time of biopsy ^a	Freque	Frequency	
	Shock	4/22		
	Microhematuria	14/22		
	Leukocyturia	14/22		
	Proteinuria (0.5–12 g/day)	9/19		
	Bacteriuria	5/19		
	Erythrocytic casts	3/19		
	Leukocytic casts	2/19		
	Blood pressure $\geq 160/100 \text{ mm Hg}$	7/22		
4.	Etiology	Freque	ency	
	Uncharacteristic "influenza-like" prior disease	7/22		
	No definite prior disease determined	2/22		
	Infections	5/22		
	O-fever	- ,	1/22	
	Streptococcal tonsillitis		2/22	
	Rubella		1/22	
	Acute pulmonary tuberculosis		1/22	
	Poisoning	3/22	1	
	CCL	-,	1/22	
	Wood alcohol		1/22	
	Formic acid		1/22	
	Hemorrhage	2/22	, = -	
	Possible causes	3/22		
	Novalgin [®] allergy	,	1/22	
	Tetracycline allergy		1/22	
	Postmyocardial infarction syndrome		1/22	

^a Several possibilities.

^b No. of cases in which finding was present/stated.

they frequently contain myelogenous cells, e.g., myelocytes, megacaryocytes, etc. (Fig. 20.4; [1319]; see also p. 490).

We speak of serous IN when there is quantitative predominance of edema (Fig. 20.4) and of cellular IN when cellular infiltrates predominate.

Acute eosinophilic nondestructive IN is very rare (3 out of 25,000 autopsies: [1791]). It is extremely rich in eosinophilic leukocytes. We encountered it once each in ascaridiasis, drug allergy and Duhring's herpetiform dermatitis.

IF Findings

Of our own cases, 6 of 10 yielded positive findings. In one of these cases there were diffuse ultralinear deposits of slight intensity for IgG which were accompanied by granular deposits peripherally and mesangially of IgM, IgA and C3 with focal-segmental distribution. In the other 5 cases, we found C3 only or IgM and C3 with mesangial and peripheral, focal-segmental distribution. In 3 of the 10 cases, the interstitium stained diffusely for immunoglobulins and fibrin(-ogen). Linear deposits in the tubular BM of IgG or other Ig were not present in our material. They were described in drug-induced cases with antitubular BM antibodies [176a, 1086a].

EM Findings

No characteristic glomerular lesions are present (see Figs. 6.9, 6.21, 6.34, 6.57, 6.64, 6.80, 6.88). In a few cases, the peripheral glomerular BM is focally somewhat thickened—especially the lamina rara interna.

Podocytes are edematous and their nuclei swollen. Occassionally, lipid and protein droplets are found in the podocytes. A slight, patchy fusion of foot processes is infrequently observed.

Fig. 20.1. Acute interstitial nephritis following exanthema from \triangleright arsenic ingestion. Edema and lympho-plasmocytic infiltrates are present in the interstitium. There are tubular dilatation and atrophy of the epithelium (as seen in so-called shock kidney). Glomeruli are unchanged. Female, 53 years. Autopsy specimen. HE (×220)

Fig.20.2. Acute interstitial nephritis. Angina was present 3 weeks prior to biopsy and anuria for 2 weeks. Interstitial infiltrate present consists predominantly of plasma cells and lymphocytes. Male, 18 years. Giemsa (\times 720)

Fig. 20.3. Same case as in Figure 20.2. Perivenous accumulation of interstitial infiltrates. Male, 18 years. HE (\times 120)

Fig. 20.4. Predominantly acute serous interstitial nephritis 10 days after burn injury. Intertubular vessels are filled with immature white blood cells (\rightarrow) . Male, 38 years. HE (×680)





Endothelium and mesangium do not demonstrate any significant changes. A low power view of the interstitium permits easy identification of the infiltrates (Fig. 20.5). Exact differentiation of the various cell types requires higher magnification however (Fig. 20.6). The predominant cells of the early phase are activated lymphocytes and immunoblasts. Plasma cells are not found till the seventh day of the disease, and in increasing numbers thereafter. Histiocytes and small lymphocytes are also present (Fig. 9.2); eosinophilic leukocytes are generally absent or very scanty but may be present in large numbers in cases of allergy (see above). With EM, passage of lymphocytes and, occasionally, of plasmoblasts through the vessel walls (Fig. 20.7) is often observed. Also frequently recognizable are activated lymphocytes lying between the endothelium and BM of the intertubular vessels (Fig. 20.8). The interstitium itself is variably edematous (Fig. 20.5) and often contains cellular detritus (Fig. 20.9), a finding which is indicative of severe destruction of interstitial cells. Occasionally, fibrin can be demonstrated in the interstitium (Fig. 20.10).

We have found chromoprotein casts (hemoglobin/myoglobin: [1786]) in the collecting ducts in about one-third of our autopsy cases (Fig. 20.11). This finding is more rarely demonstrable in proximal tubules and Henle's loops (structures more readily accessible to needle biopsy). Its demonstration is significant since it indicates possible hemolysis from transfusion, etc. or myolysis lysis from electrical injury, toxicosis or acute polymyositis. Isolated intratubular oxalate crystals of $4-20 \,\mu\text{m}$ are present in almost every case (for secondary oxalosis see p. 462). The blood vessels are unchanged.

For differential diagnosis, see p. 415.

\triangleleft Fig. 20.5. Typical cell composition in acute interstitial nephritis with anuria of unknown cause. Plasma cells, histiocytes and mostly activated lymphocytes are present in approximately the same numbers in the frankly edematous stroma. Female, 59 years. (\times 1780)

Fig. 20.6. Infiltrate in acute interstitial nephritis in rubella with concomitant anuria. Activated (large) lymphocytes (AL), non-activated (small) lymphocytes (SL). Rubella antigen could be identified with IF in glomerular BM and mesangium, tubular epithelial cells and a few interstitial cells. Male, 18 years. EM (× 8300)

Chronic Interstitial Nephritis

For the incidence of chronic IN, see p. 407.

Clinical Findings

The clinical course is markedly insidious and is characterized by headache, anemia, tiredness, bone pain and spontaneous fractures (ribs, pubis, etc.). There occurs a grey-brown skin discoloration in cases of phenacetin addiction (38 out of 65: [1791]) which is, however, by no means either obligatory or pathognomonic. Urinary findings are insignificant except for frequent polyuria – a consequence of insufficiency of urine concentration – as well as for metabolic acidosis. Proteinuria of less than 1 g/ day, and slight leukocytosis without accompanying leukocyturia are observed. Loss of urine concentration and metabolic acidosis are often of high degree in comparison to renal excretory insufficiency.

Hematuria is indicative of papillary necrosis or accompanying tumors of the urinary tract. Papillary necrosis is pronouncedly frequent—especially in analgesic addiction—but not obligatory. Sequester elimination under renal colic may be the first symptom. Finally, hypertension may develop (48 out of 63: Z). The course is slow but progressively uremic.

Page 412

Fig. 20.7. Plasmoblast (*PS*) seen penetrating through a vascular wall in acute interstitial nephritis following tetracycline therapy for sinusitis. Endothelial cell (*E*), basement membrane (*BM*) of a blood vessel, capillary lumen (*CL*). Male, 29 years. EM (\times 12,100)

Fig. 20.8. Same case as Figure 20.7 showing an intertubular vessel in acute interstitial nephritis. Two activated lymphocytes (*AL*) between the endothelium and vascular BM. Capillary lumen (*CL*), endothelium (*E*), basement membrane (*BM*). Male, 29 years. EM (\times 6300)

Page 413

Fig. 20.9. Extensive cellular detritus in the edematous interstitium in acute interstitial nephritis in conjunction with anuria at the time of biopsy. Male, 60 years. EM (\times 14,900)

Fig. 20.10. Same case as in Figure 20.9. Acute interstitial nephritis showing extensive fibrin deposition (\rightarrow) in the interstitium. Male, 60 years. EM (×6100)







LM Findings

LM study (Fig. 5.14) reveals sclerosis of connective tissue—which is widened and increased—instead of edema (Fig. 20.12) in acute interstitial nondestructive nephritis. This condition is especially pronounced in the medulla (Fig. 20.13). The interstitium demonstrates scattered lympho-plasmo-histiocytic infiltrates (Fig. 20.14). No scar tissue replacement of destroyed parenchyma is present as is clearly illustrated by PASM stain (Fig. 20.15). Late in the course of the disease, glomeruli show collapse (Fig. 6.111). The glomerular capsule is considerably thickened by connective tissue. The capsular epithelium remains intact for a considerable period.

The tubules are frankly atrophic and often demonstrate dedifferentiated clear cells with a thickened BM rich in lipids—as demonstrated by the sudan stain—a finding especially pronounced in the papilla in cases of phenacetin addiction. A few calcium oxalate crystals in the tubular lumen are often found. In cases of phenacetin addiction, the epithelium of the proximal convoluted tubules is said to contain a finely granular brown pigment (lipofuscin) more frequently than in other cases, a finding which we have not been able to confirm (see p. 440). The vessels exhibit slight and exclusively secondary changes (adaptive intimal fibrosis, hypertensive vasculopathy). In careful examination of autopsy material, papillary necroses of various age can be found in 90% of the cases regardless of etiology.

✓ Fig. 20.11. Clumps of chromoprotein (hemoglobin) are present in the lumen of Henle's loops in acute interstitial nephritis. Anuria at the time of biopsy. Male, 41 years. EM (× 3900)

Fig. 20.12. Chronic interstitial, nondestructive nephritis in severe phenacetin addiction. Tubules are not destroyed but highly atrophic. Epithelium of the proximal tubules is flattened. Interstitium is diffusely broadened and sclerosed and evidences very scanty infiltrates (\rightarrow). Glomeruli are unchanged. Male, 60 years. HE (\times 110)

Fig. 20.13. Same case as in Figure 20.12 showing typical sclerosis in the renal medulla in chronic interstitial nephritis. There is striking homogeneous broadening of the interstitium without cell increase. Infiltrates have almost completely disappeared. Tubules are atrophic and exhibit thickened BM. Male, 60 years. PAS ($\times 200$)

EM Findings

Among the interstitial infiltrates, small and sometimes activated lymphocytes predominate and are accompanied by moderately numerous phagocytes and, rarely, by fibroblasts. It is also clearly recognizable that the individual collagen fibers (fibril bundles) are pronouncedly coarse (Fig. 20.16) and that tubular atrophy and BM thickening are also very marked (Fig. 20.17). Tubular atrophy can lead to extensive cellular dedifferentiation (Fig. 20.18).

Differential Diagnosis

Of initial importance is exclusion of IN accompanying a primarily noninterstitial renal disease. Acute IN may be present in diffuse and segmental-focal accentuated GN as well as in the periphery of acute infarcts. In chronic IN, among other entities, GN, primary oxalosis and periarteritis nodosa, must be taken into consideration.

Page 416

Fig. 20.14. Chronic interstitial nephritis showing the corticomedullary zone in a case of severe phenacetin addiction. Scanty, almost purely lymphocytic interstitial infiltrates (\rightarrow) in the diffusely broadened and sclerosed stroma. Female, 68 years. HE (\times 160)

Fig. 20.15. Same case of chronic, nondestructive interstitial nephritis presented in Figure 20.12. Interstitium is broadened. Tubular BM is thickened but nowhere eroded. Male, 60 years. PASM $(\times 230)$

Fig. 20.16. Composition of the infiltrate encountered in chronic, nondestructive interstitial nephritis of unknown cause. Infiltrate in the coarsely sclerosed stroma consists predominantly of small and middle-sized lymphocytes between which are isolated phagocytes (*PH*). Female, 42 years. EM (\times 3260)

Page 417

Fig. 20.17. Same case of chronic nondestructive interstitial nephritis as in Figure 20.16. There is severe tubular atrophy in the corticomedullary zone. Tubular BM is thickened (\rightarrow) . Coarse fibers and a few scattered infiltrates are present in the interstitium. Female, 42 years. EM (×1500)

Fig. 20.18. Same case of chronic, nondestructive interstitial nephritis as in Figure 20.16. A proximal tubule (1) and possibly a distal tubule (2) with signs of considerable dedifferentiation are seen. Female, 42 years. EM ($\times 8500$)



20.16



Small, circumscribed lymphocytic infiltrates in the immediate vicinity of obsolescent glomeruli and atrophic tubuli are found quite frequently in otherwise normal biopsy and autopsy tissue. The cause for such foci cannot usually be determined (possibly microemboli, possibly focal nephritis, possibly pyelonephritis or resorptive inflammatory reaction). If accompanying IN is excluded, differentiation from destructive interstitial nephritis (pyelonephritis) is important: pyelonephritis is radially arranged and not as diffusely, a finding which may not be apparent in needle biopsy. The presence of numerous neutrophilic leukocytes and the erosion of tubules, glomeruli and vessels is categorically indicative of pyelonephritis in the acute phase. In the chronic phase, foci of erosion have been replaced by scar tissue. In biopsies with a combination of pyelonephritis and nondestructive IN, it is usually impossible to determine which of the two lesions arose first.

Prognosis

The prognosis for acute IN is good if the time for appropriate dialysis is not missed. Usually, renal function normalizes completely within months or up to a year or even longer [23,500] (for children: [1841]). In our material, 13 out of 14 cases had completely normal renal function after an average follow-up time of 3.3 years (0.5–12 years). In one case presenting with a contralateral contracted kidney, there was no worsening of renal function following recovery from acute IN. We observed remnant hypertension in one case only. On the other hand, frequent secondary urinary tract infections following IN in 59 out of 70 cases—in which 15 out of 59 lead to chronic pyelonephritis—have been reported [516].

If the causative noxious factors persist [1084, 1791] or recurrences occur [162, 1780b] or if serve injury to the tubular BM is present [458], chronic, progressive IN can develop.

In chronic interstitial nephritis, prognosis is bad. However, sufficient numbers of bioptically controlled cases are still lacking for confirmation of this assessment.

Etiology and Pathogenesis

Current concepts relating to the genesis of acute IN take into consideration three factors occurring independently or in combination: shock, immunologic reactions and infection. The common end result of the three factors is destruction of body proteins e.g. hemolysis, myolysis, which may be enhanced by administered exogenous substances [1793].

In our own autopsy material, we observed pyemia without pyemic renal foci and shock each in one-third of our cases. In 198 out of 431 autopsy cases, chromoprotein casts were present in the tubules, a finding indicative of hemolysis or myolysis [1786, 1791]. These were attributable to transfusion reactions, traumatic causes of hemolysis or myolysis such as polytrauma, electric accidents, burns [1786], to inherent disease processes such as polymyositis [880] and hemolytic anemia [787] and to heroin and alcohol poisoning [868a].

In shock kidney, in which acute IN is usually present from the third day on [1791, 1792], myelogenous cells in the vasa recta (see p. 490) are one of the typical findings. It is not known whether shock leads to IN via tubular ischemia alone or whether other factors are involved (see p. 419). Toxic processes can arouse the same response, e.g., anaesthesia with methoxyflurane [274] or halothane [320a], in which calcium oxalate crystal formation may be partially responsible for the epithelial injury (see also [57]).

Today, immunoreactions to drugs [687a], e.g., to penicillin, methicillin, gentamicin ([73, 176a, 1765a, 1843, 1844], even with granuloma formation [1032a]), phenindion [1068, 1215], ampicillin [1398, 1418], dilanthin, hydantoin [1158], furosemid [983] as well as hemolysis from rifampicin therapy [1114] are receiving more and more attention [185]. In some of the cases, the drug behaves as a hapten, and has, together with gamma globulin, been demonstrated as being attached to tubular BM [73]. The slight secondary damage to tubules is thought to be due rather to chemical mediators than to the direct destructive action of the inflammatory cells [353a]. In a case of acute IN subsequent to streptococcal angina, properdin and C3 were demonstrated in the glomerulipossibly representing alternative pathway activation of complement due to penicillin and/or streptococcal antigen [1686].

The fact that acute IN was found rather more frequently in the pre-antibiotic era [1780b] than today suggests to us that a certain overestimation of the role of drugs is present in the current literature.

In most cases, however, the question regarding etiology and pathogenesis of acute IN remains by and large unanswered. The significance of infections such as mononucleosis [1757 a], brucellosis and leptospirosis is difficult to assess retrospectively (one case of subacute IN following smallpox vaccination (Fig. 20.19) was made available to us by Prof. Uehlinger, University of Zurich).

In general, the cause of *chronic IN* remains obscure. Experimentally, it has been produced in the rat by N-3,5dichlorophenylsuccinimide [1586] and we have observed it in a case of nocturnal hemoglobinuria (Marchiafava-Micheli disease) of many years duration (see also [1084]). It has also been reported after heat stroke [826] and after many years of drug poisoning [687a]. Usually, a prior acute stage is not observed. It appears possible, however, that acute IN—in rare cases—does not heal but procedes on to chronic IN [1780b, 1791]. Some of our cases developed after years of analgesic (phenacetin) addiction, a finding by no means specific for phenacetin abuse (see p. 440). Today, it is generally accepted that the chronic IN associated with phenacetin addiction arises in connection with primary papillary necrosis [233, 570, 837, 1846]. Nevertheless, it must be borne in mind that unequivocal cases of chronic IN due to phenacetin addiction without papillary necrosis do occur (5 out of 63 autopsies: Z). The relationship between papillary scarification or necrosis and chronic IN is illustrated by the occasional observation of circumscript, chronic IN occurring proximally over a noninfected renal cyst with concomitant medullary compression.

The cause of endemic chronic IN in Finland is unknown [900]. Balkan nephritis appears to be rather a blandcoursing pyelonephritis than a nondestructive IN (see p. 440). The reported case of a 6-year-old boy with familial chronic IN and antitubular BM antibody must be regarded as unique [129].

Polyuria, acidosis, and loss of concentration ability are explained as being due to anoxia of the distal tubules arising from compression of interstitial capillaries by edema, sclerosis, and tubular BM thickening and to the increased diffusion distance between capillaries and tubular epithelium. Transient, early hypertension in acute IN can be a consequence of hyperhydration or of decreased renal blood flow [1781]. Late hypertension appears to occur only if there is severe reduction of glomerular blood flow arising from intertubular sclerosis.

Pathogenesis of Acute Reversible Renal Failure

As formulated previously, many primary diseases may give rise to acute renal insufficiency to which the reader is referred (shock kidney, p. 490; toxic tubulonephrosis, p. 487; acute IN, p. 408). For literature see [187, 274, 502, 1156, 1786, 1791].

With reference to the clinical course, two phases may be recognized in acute reversible renal failure; an initial phase usually characterized by oligo-anuria and a second phase characterized by persisting oligo-anuria (up to several weeks) or more often by polyuria.

A common terminal pathogenetic pathway of the multiplicity of etiologic factors is recognizable in relation to the first oligo-anuric phase: the tubules are injured by ischemia and/or by toxic products. This injury is reflected functionally by insufficient resorption—chiefly of sodium—in the proximal tubules and in the ascending limb of Henle's loop. This means that an increased amount of sodium is reaching the macula densa which, as shown in animal experimentation, leads to occlusion of the proximal tubules by cellular swelling due to contraction of the vas afferens subsequent to activation of the reninangiotensin system [171, 1616a]. Although this mechanism explains the initiation of acute renal failure, it is not known with certainty whether it suffices to explain its maintenance [1616a]. In addition, it has been shown that animals can be protected against acute renal failure by diuresis in spite of elevated intrarenal renin concentrations [1604a].

In addition to decreased blood supply, increased tubular permeability and tubular obstruction from casts are repeatedly proposed as causes for oligo-anuria. The pathophysiologic significance of increased tubular permeability has not, as yet, been clarified. Some experimental models indicate that increased tubular permeability is not a relevant pathogenetic factor for oligo-anuria [1209, 1605].

On the contrary, in some experimental models of acute renal failure, obstruction does appear to be of pathogenetic significance since intratubular pressure in the proximal tubules increases and the lumens of the proximal convoluted tubules widen. The pressure increase may be caused by epithelial swelling, especially in the straight segments of the proximal tubules which are most sensitive to ischemia. Further factors may include a change in the viscosity of the tubular content and precipitation of casts in the distal tubules or collecting ducts [726, 1598, 1625, 1627].

Morphometric examinations on human biopsies have, however, revealed no evidence in favor of an increase in intratubular pressure since the inner tubular diameter of the proximal convoluted tubules remains unchanged [761, 167]. Accordingly, the regularly observed casts in acute renal failure in humans are not the cause but a consequence of oligo-anuria. Acute IN is first observed 3 days after clinical onset of acute renal failure. Accordingly, in the acute phase, IN does not play a decisive role in triggering oligo-anuria [1453, 1780b, 1786]. In summarizing, it may be said that the pathogenesis of the initial phase of acute renal failure—in experimental animals and probably also in man-is determined by different factors (vasomotor changes, back-flow of urine, tubular obstruction and probably others [1202a]). A combination of these factors results in variation between the clinical response of individual patients as well as that between different animal models.

In the second phase of acute renal failure (persisting oligo-anuria or polyuria), acute nondestructive IN—either in the form of the intertubular serous type or the perivascular cellular type—regularly occurs [1780b, 1786]. The maximal inflammatory response is located at the corticomedullary region and, accordingly, may be absent in biopsy tissue. Kidney enlargement is especially pronounced at the time of the maximal inflammatory reaction (days 4–9). The enlargement is independent of the phase of acute renal failure present at the time of death, i.e., oliguric or polyuric [167, 1786]. The functional significance of IN is evidenced by the presence of transient hypertension [1786] and of elevated serum
renin and angiotensin values attendant on kidney enlargement [874, 1198, 1250]. These findings support the fact that glomerular filtration rate is consistently depressed. As noted previously, it is thought that widening of the interstitium in acute IN leads to compression of the intertubular capillaries and to an increase in the diffusion distance between capillaries and tubules. These changes would explain the persistent ischemic injury of tubular epithelium and, accordingly, the polyuria appearing upon resumption of filtration [171, 1604].

Weil's Jaundice. The Kidney in Leptospirosis Ictero-Hemorrhagica Infection [199, 1800]

Definition

Renal changes associated with leptospira ictero-hemorrhagica infection.

Incidence

Weil's jaundice is a rare disease occurring in significant numbers in endemic regions only [199]. Most patients are males who have been bitten by rats or who have had contact with rat excrement. Analogous changes in seven individuals working with pigs (*Leptospira pomona*) are reported in the literature [68].

Clinical Findings

Onset with high fever, headache, vomiting, diarrhea, as well as muscle pain in the calf, back, and abdomen are characteristic for Weil's disease. Later, jaundice and renal symptoms with proteinuria, hematuria, and casts become manifest. Rarely, oligo-anuria, purpura or exanthema develop. Since the agglutination titer may remain negative until the ninth day after clinical disease onset, the diagnosis may be suspected from the combination of the following symptoms: jaundice, hypofibrinogenemia, thrombocytopenia, normal Quick test, and only slightly raised transaminases. Liver biopsy assures the definitive diagnosis. Death may occur in anuria, but the renal changes usually appear to be less significant than the severe cardiovascular collapse [1438, 1514].

LM and EM Findings

Acute IN of the serous type is clearly dominating. The findings reach their maximum on days 7–8 and are still clearly discernable on day 17 (Fig. 20.20).

Fig. 20.19. Subacute, nondestructive interstitial nephritis in a \triangleright 9-month-old girl who was immunized against smallpox 7 weeks prior to biopsy. Newly formed interstitial connective tissue is loosely organized and evidences mild lympho-plasmocytic infiltrates which are especially pronounced at the corticomedullary junction. There is no destruction of tubules whatsoever. (By courtesy of Prof. Uehlinger, Zürich). PAS (×150)

Fig. 20.20. Acute interstitial (predominately serous) nephritis in Weil's jaundice (*Leptospira ictero-hemorrhagica*) as seen on the seventeenth day of the disease. Only slight damage to the tubular epithelium—which is flattened—is seen. Slight interstitial infiltrates in the edematously widened interstitium are present. Clinically polyuria, slight proteinuria and increased serum creatinine values were noticed. Male, 51 years. HE (\times 320)

Fig. 20.21. Same case as in Figure 20.20. 17 days after disease onset. Edema and an interstitial infiltrate, consisting chiefly of phagocytes, activated lymphocytes and a few fibroblasts, are clearly evident. Slight vacuolar degeneration of proximal tubule (\rightarrow) . Male, 51 years. EM (×2700)

Page 422

Fig. 20.22. Same case as in Figure 20.20. 3 weeks after disease onset. There is now severe tubular injury with necrobiosis (N) and cell debris in the lumen (\rightarrow) . Remaining tubular cells are dedifferentiated. Male, 51 years. EM ($\times 2800$)

Fig. 20.23. Same case in Figure 20.22. 3 weeks after disease onset. A distal tubule is filled with cell debris and vital, dedifferentiated cells. Male, 51 years. EM ($\times 2000$)

Page 423

Fig. 20.24. Same case as in Figure 20.22 after 3 weeks of Weil's jaundice showing loosening and thickening of lamina rara interna which includes cytoplasmic elements. Podocyte foot processes (*FP*); endothelial processes (*E*). Male, 51 years. EM (\times 43,700)

Fig. 20.25. Same case as in Figure 20.22. 4.5 months after Weil's jaundice showing glomerular residual damage with slight irregularity and thickening of the lamina rara interna as well as slight swelling and protein droplet storage of the endothelium. Clinically normal urinary findings and creatinine clearance. Male, 51 years. EM (\times 7700)

Fig. 20.26. Same case as in Figure 20.22. 4.5 months after disease onset. Minimal interstitial fibrosis is present. Male, 51 years. EM (\times 3700)

Fig. 20.27. Severe, acute nonobstructive pyelonephritis. Masses of polymorphonuclear leukocytes in the edematous interstitium are assembled around the tubules. Five-month-old transplant. Male, 47 years. PAS (\times 1207)







20.26 20.27 The infiltrate consists of small and activated lymphocytes, immunoblasts, histiocytes as well as a few plasma cells which can be observed up to day 10 (Fig. 20.21). Tubular injuries are disproportionately severe (Figs. 20.22, 20.23). In one of our own cases-and with EM only-we observed, from day 17 onwards pronounced, very fine-granular thickening of the lamina rara interna of the capillary loops (Fig. 20.24) as well as degenerative and reparative changes of loop and intertubular capillary endothelium (see also [68]). As is well known, endothelial cells are the most important target for leptospirae.

The BM change can probably be explained as a consequence of disturbed permeability arising from endothelial injury; it can be demonstrated as long as 4.5 months after complete endothelial regeneration (Fig. 20.25; [1800]). In our case, the interstitium was only slightly fibrosed (Fig. 20.26) and the tubular changes were completely restituted. In one report [68], frank interstitial fibrosis was still present 6 months after infection with L. pomona.

Pyelonephritis (Destructive Interstitial Nephritis) [138, 569, 1781]

Definition

Pyelonephritis (PN) is a disease characterized in the acute phase by polymorphonuclear leukocytic inflammation and in the chronic phase by the replacement of destroyed parenchymal elements by scar tissue. Both phases are primarily interstitial and the causative agents are almost always bacteria.

Nosology

Nosologically, acute and chronic as well as relapsing forms can be recognized and pathogenetically, obstructive and nonobstructive forms distinguished.

Incidence

In our autopsy material, 8.6% of all cases showed moderate to severe pyelonephritic changes of which 2.1% were acute. In our biopsy material 19.3% of all cases demonstrated PN (Table 20.2).

We confirmed 75% of clinically diagnosed PN in needle and open biopsies (between: 4 out of 13–73 out of 78 cases [195]). Other investigators have reported 60% PN in the presence of normal creatinine clearance and 100% Table 20.2. Pyelonephritis in our biopsy material (n = 400 = 19.3% of all biopsies reviewed)

Form of PN	Incidence in %
Acute pyelonephritis	15
Small pyelonephritic scars	20.5
Chronic pyelonephritis without acute attack	44.5
Chronic pyelonephritis with acute attack	9.5
Chronic PN with overload glomerulitis	4.5
Special forms	6.0

PN in cases with decreased clearance values in needle biopsies [208].

In our autopsy material, the occurrence of PN is about the same for males and females but distribution according to age and cause is different. Nonobstructive PN is more frequent in females (female: male=105:62) where it occurs at a younger age than in males [1791]. In autopsy material, obstructive cases are, of course, predominant in association with prostate hyperplasia and cancer of the bladder, uterus, prostate, colon, and ureter. In our biopsy material of 245 PN cases, 115 were obstructive and 130 were nonobstructive. In the latter group, phenacetin addiction was present in 44 out of 130. The sex ratio of all biopsy cases was female: male=1.3:1; the mean age was 41.4 years (in contrast: GN 29.4 years).

In early childhood, acute PN is a frequent disease and is predominantly found in girls [555, 1791]. The majority of these show anatomical or functional abnormalities of the urinary tract-especially reflux.

We have found PN contracted kidneys in 1.4% of all autopsies, bilateral in 34% and unilateral in 66% (accounting for one third of all unilateral contracted kidneys in our material).

Clinical Findings

The classic picture of acute PN is characterized by fever, flank pain, pyuria, dysuria, and pollakisuria. But acute PN may also be asymptomatic if only small segments of the kidney are involved. In our cases (Table 20.3), only one-fifth of the patients evidenced classic acute PN whereas the others showed minor clinical symptoms so that about 20% were discovered accidentally.

Acute oligo-anuria is, in nonobstructive cases, rarely observed. Chronic PN—without acute episodes—often remains asymptomatic for years (18% of all cases had no urinary findings at the time of biopsy) or lumbar pain, dysuria, and subfebrile temperatures may be present. Proteinuria is very frequently absent or slight ($\sim 1 \text{ g/}$ day), nephrotic syndrome occurs only exceptionally [691a].

During infection-free intervals, urinary findings often exhibit slight leukocyturia, granular casts, and microhematuria, whereas acute relapses are manifested by bacteriuria, massive leukocyturia and leukocytic casts (Table 20.2). Insidiously developing uremia with anemia, acidosis, polyuria and, frequently, hypertension, occur later [138, 702, 1781, 1791]. After an average of 3–5 years' duration of illness, 65% of the patients are hypertensive (50% of all cases: Z; Table 20.3) as compared to 15% in a control group of the same age [115]. Bacteriuria of over 100,000 bacteria/ml is only found in acute infection and indicates the need for antibiotic therapy. Repeating episodes of urinary tract infections in the past history are suspicious of chronic PN but neither necessary for nor proof of its presence.

Signs of papillary necrosis (14.5% of our PN autopsy cases) are colic with elimination of sequesters, hematuria and the typical pyelogram findings. Contracted kidneys as well as large scars are demonstrable by pyelography [701, 702] as are scars with secondary widening and distortion of calyces (hydrokalikosis: [1404]).

Table 20.3. Nonobstructive pyelonephritis in our biopsies. (No data on possible vesicouretral reflux)^a

Parameter		Without phenacetin addiction (n=53)	With phenacetin addiction (n=36)
Age distribution	< 20	3.8 [9.4%]	_
years at hionsy	. 20	15 0 [20 20/]	2 00/ [0 20/]
-at biopsy	< 30	13.0 [26.376]	2.870 [8.370] 12.99/ [26.09/]
[at disease	< 40	18.9 [20.3%]	13.870 [30.070]
onset	< 50	20.7 [16.9%]	50.0% [24.9%]
	< 60	28.2 [13.2%]	22.2 (22.2%]
	> 60	13.2 [5.6%]	11.1 [8.3%]
Latency between disease onset and biopsy: average in weeks (range)		340 (1–1959)	280 (4–1850)
Sex distribution 3	 :♀	1.2:1	1.1:25
Symptoms at disea onset (in%)	ise	n = 50	n=30
-Dysuria/Pollakis	suria	6	13.3
—Pyuria		16	26.6
-Macrohematuria	ı	8	13.3
-Microhematuria		8	13.3
-Proteinuria		26	13.3
—Edema		12	6.6
-Oliguria/anuria		4	6.6
-Hypertension		30	20.0
-Fever		22	20.0
–Flank pain		38	56.6

Disease course until biopsy	n=47	n=28
(III /0 01 Cases)	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
Less than 3 months duration	19.1	10.7
Stationary	19.1	7.1
Progressive without attacks	23.3	32.1
Progressive with attacks	12.7	28.6
In attacks	4.2	7.1
Average No. of attacks (range)	4 (3–5)	3.7 (2–9)
Chance discovery	21.3	14.3
Clinical findings at time of biopsy (in% of cases)	n = 53	n=36
No urinary findings	18.8	16.6
Hematuria	37.6	30.5
Leukocyturia	35.7	55.4
Bacteriuria	94	16.6
Proteinuria	30.1	77.7
Leukocytic casts	3.8	0
Granular casts	43.3	21.9
Hypertension	41.4	60.9
S-urea/S-creatinine Z	50.8	60.9
S-urea/S-creatinine ↗ ↗	33.8	30.1
Accompanying predis-	16.9	16.6
-Diabetes mellitus (n)	4	3
-Gout(n)	2	1
-Laxative addiction (n)	0	2
-Chronicliverdisease(n) 5	3
Follow-up (≥ 1 year) in % of cases	n=44	n = 30
Patients died	50	70
-Death in uremia	47.7	70
Complete remission	15.9	3.3
Clinical improvement	6.8	6.6
Clinically unchanged	15.9	13.3
Survival rate (%) [335a]		
from biopsy onwards		
 5years 	52.5	43
-10 years	40.7	31

^a See for Definitions etc. Table 14.3, p. 193.

In children, especially girls, remissions are frequent (41%), 27% of the cases, however, are asymptomatic and in 51% of relapses, the bacterial flora was different from that observed during the first attack [555]. It was possible to demonstrate bacteria in two-thirds of the cases in a series of needle biopsies [569].

LM Findings

Typical for *acute PN* are leukocytic, often coalescing, destructive foci in the cortex and medulla (Figs. 20.27, 5.8) which later contain variable numbers of histiocytes and, after a few days, also a few lymphocytes and plasma cells. Tubules and vessels are eroded and destroyed by the inflammation as is best seen in PAS or PASM stains (Figs. 20.28, 20.29). Glomeruli are also destroyed centripetally (Fig. 20.30).

In other cases, embolic purulent glomerular foci with capillary loop and total glomerular destruction occur (Figs. 5.7, 20.31). In children, glomeruli may almost completely disappear (see p. 437). Bacteria can be demonstrated histologically only in the very acute phase.

In chronic PN, there occurs a mosaic of histologic changes which, especially in small needle biopsies, may prove difficult to interpret. Usually, the focal radiate character of the lesion can be recognized if needle biopsy does not accidentally contain scar tissue only (Figs. 20.32, 20.33). Preserved and severely changed nephrons are clearly demarcated from each other (Fig. 20.32).

The typical, chronic PN scar is characterized by the patchy destruction of renal structures (tubules, glomeruli and vessels) which are replaced by coarse-fibered scar tissue demonstrating a few lymphocytic infiltrates (Figs. 5.9, 20.33). Now and again-especially in children's chronic PN-lymph follicles can be observed in the interstitium (Figs. 9.10, 9.11, 9.13, 20.34). Fibrosis of interstitial tissue and tubular atrophy with BM thickening are present in the region surrounding the PN foci. Completely intact nephrons may be hypertrophic (Fig. 20.35) indicating the functional overload imposed by advanced renal destruction (i.e., contracted kidney). Thyroid-like foci (Fig. 20.35), i.e., groups of tubules with highly flattened epithelial cells and strongly PAS-positive colloid-like masses in the lumen (thickened urinary mucoid) are a typical consequence of extensive medullary scars with secondary tubular stasis. They are especially pronounced in early childhood PN (see below).

Glomeruli demonstrate at least four different changes:

- 1. In pure destruction following early childhood PN, only small stellate collections of PAS-positive BM and mesangial remnants—which are difficult to recognize—are present (Figs. 20.36, 20.37; see p. 437). In adults, total glomerular destruction is extremely rare; partial destruction with capillary loop obsolescence is somewhat more frequent.
- 2. The vast majority of the changed glomeruli demonstrate the well-known picture of collapse (Figs. 6.114, 20.38) with a wrinkled BM and a capsular space filled with exudate in which collagenous fibers subsequently develop. The cause of collapse formation is thought to be due to impairment of blood flow by destruction

Fig. 20.28. Acute pyelonephritis with destruction of tubular BM \triangleright and epithelium by polymorphonuclear leukocytes. PAS (\times 500)

Fig. 20.29. Loosening and partial destruction of an arteriolar wall (A) following acute pyelonephritis. Small lymphocytes are predominant. Male, 36 years. PAS (\times 500)

Fig. 20.30. Same case as in Figure 20.27. Extension of acute pyelonephritis from interstitium to glomerulus. Male, 47 years. PAS (× 375)

Fig. 20.31. Leukocytic destruction of a glomerulus in pyelonephritis arising from bacterial emboli (\rightarrow). Numerous polymorphonuclear leukocytes fill the capsular space. Note periglomerular inflammation. HE (\times 500)

Page 428

Fig. 20.32. Chronic pyelonephritis. Subcapsular pyelonephritic focus (capsule: \rightarrow) is sharply delimited from the intact renal parenchyma. Tubules in region of focus are completely destroyed and two glomeruli are obsolescent. A third evidences loop collapse. Female, 9 years. PAS (×150)

Fig. 20.33. Pyelonephritic cortical scar. Renal capsule (\rightarrow) . Scar is wedge-shaped and evidences scanty infiltrates and a rather coarse-fibered network. Tubules are completely destroyed in the region of the scar. BM is thickened in zone bordering the scar. Male, 79 years. PASM (×100)

Fig. 20.34. Lymph follicle formation with a germinal center (GC) in chronic pyelonephritis. There is a well preserved glomerulus side-by-side with a completely obsolescent one. Male, 3 years. PAS ($\times 100$)

Fig. 20.35. Pyelonephritic contracted kidney in phenacetin addiction. Note hypertrophic cystic widened tubules with severely flattened epithelium and hyaline casts representing a transition to a thyroid-like tubular change. Synechia in highly injured glomerulus is present. Male, 43 years. HE (\times 140)

Page 429

Fig. 20.36. Star-shaped glomerular spider-scar in early childhood pyelonephritis. Glomerulus is still relatively easily recognizable. PAS (×440)

Fig. 20.37. Extensive glomerular destruction in chronic pyelonephritis due to ureteral stone obstruction. Glomerular capillary loops are completely collapsed (\rightarrow) , and surrounded by an unclearly delimited exudate. Female, 2.75 years. PAS (×440)

Fig. 20.38. Chronic pyelonephritis. All glomeruli demonstrate collapse type and not pyelonephritic type of obsolescence. Tubules are almost completely destroyed. Female, 66 years. PAS $(\times 160)$

Fig. 20.39. Vascular changes in chronic pyelonephritis. Arteriolar and arterial adaptive intimal fibrosis (\rightarrow) . Female, 58 years. PAS (×180)



20.30 20.31





and compression of the postglomerular interstitial capillary network by scars, and also possibly by destruction and scar transformation of the vasa afferentia and efferentia. Additionally, hypertensive vasculopathy may also be involved.

- 3. In severe hypertensive vasculopathy, corresponding glomerular changes may appear.
- 4. So-called overload glomerulitis (see p. 308) is a classic complication of severe PN contracted kidney.

The variety of vascular changes (Fig. 20.39) has already been illustrated by the discussion on glomeruli (Fig. 20.38). In contracted kidney—especially after longterm dialysis—extensive adaptive intimal fibrosis also occurs.

In relapse, changes of acute PN overlap those just described.

In addition to PN scar, an *active chronic* PN can also be recognized, indicating a progressive lesion. It is still controversial whether or not vital bacteria are present in the progressive form; we believe not. Needle biopsy from active chronic PN shows, in addition to the described changes, foci with very densly packed infiltrates strikingly rich in plasma cells and lymphocytes mixed with scattered neutrophilic leukocytes. The acute relapse must be differentiated from this form insofar as it consists of scar tissue besides foci of neutrophilic leukocytes.

Special Forms of Pyelonephritis

Xanthomatous PN is characterized by extensive foci of destruction bordered by lipid and, at times, PAS-positive material containing foam cells (Figs. 5.10, 20.40, 20.41) and giant cells. This form is mainly observed in infections with E. coli or staphylococci [32, 1791, 1781]. This lesion may sometimes be misinterpreted as tuberculosis. Synonym: xanthogranulomatous PN

Emphysematous PN is an acute PN with great numbers of large, oval lacunae (gas bubbles) in the tissue. Diabetes mellitus and gas-producing bacteria are usually present in this condition [1432].

Hydrocalicosis is a special form of a PN scar in which cortical tissue is greatly narrowed and the associated calyx widened similarly as in hydronephrosis (Fig. 5.11; see p. 51 [1404]).

Tuberculoid PN is a form we have observed following administration of cortisone in high doses as well as after thiazole medication [1780b].

Large Cell PN (Malakoplakia), previously considered to be a special form of nondestructive IN [1780b], is now believed to be a form of PN. In this entity, very severe tubular destruction and strands and whorls of cells strongly eosinophilic histiocytes (van Hansemann histiocytes)—are found (Figs. 20.42, 20.44). These cells evidence practically no sudanophilic substances. Lymphocytes, plasma cells, and a few, small leukocytic clusters are present. Many investigators suggest that large cell PN is the renal form of malakoplakia. However, Michaelis-Guttmann bodies, which are thought to be calcified giant phagolysosomes [971], are rarely present.

Another special feature of this form of PN is the extraordinarily severe tubular destruction which is assumed to be due to coliform bacteria [971, 1311]. The peculiar accumulation of phagocytes is attributed to digestive disturbances within their phagolysosomes resulting from deficient acidification. Drugs may also be involved in this process [1615].

IF Findings

In 24 of our own cases (3 acute PN, 21 chronic PN) 15 demonstrated positive findings. IgM occurred alone in 5 cases, C3 alone in 2, and IgM and C3 together in 2 in a focal-segmental distribution pattern in the mesangium and/or peripherally. In the remaining 6 cases, a combination of IgM, C3 and IgA (IgA only peripherally) was found in 2 and a combination of IgG, IgM, IgA and C3 in 4 cases in which IgG and IgA occurred intraglomerularly, always segmentally, and purely peripherally, and in the kidney, focally or diffusely [51, 121, 865, 1010].

All investigators have emphasized the focal-segmental character of the immunoglobulin and complement deposition. In chronic PN, there have been various demonstrations of immunoglobulins, complement and bacterial AG in the interstitium, the tubular epithelium and the vessels [39, 319, 912]. In our own material, cell-bound immunoglobulins (IgG, IgM, IgA, IgE) were found in 5 cases, and fibrin was found free twice in the interstitium.

Fig. 20.40. Xanthomatous pyelonephritis in nephrolithiasis. Liver \triangleright cell-like strands of phagocytes and a few polymorphonuclear leukocytes are seen. Female, 69 years. HE (\times 350)

Fig. 20.41. Same case as in Figure 20.40. Histiocytic foam cells are now clearly evident. HE ($\times 170$)

Fig. 20.42. So-called large cell pyelonephritis (possibly malakoplakia). Distended and often spherical phagocytes contain masses of argyrophilic granules but no sudanophilic material. Female, 69 years. PASM (\times 532)

Fig. 20.43. Same case as in Figure 20.44, demonstrating phagocytosis of a polymorphonuclear leukocyte. Male, 56 years. EM $(\times 7300)$



20.40 20.41



EM Findings

In acute PN, the interstitium is dominated by extensive infiltrates of polymorphonuclear leukocytes and a few phagocytes as well as by severe stasis of intertubular capillaries which sometimes undergo rupture with attendant interstitial hemorrhage (Fig. 20.44). Tubules also contain polymorphonuclear leukocytes in addition to phagocytes (Fig. 20.44). The interstitial phagocytes contain a few ingested leukocytes (Fig. 20.43). A large number of leukocytes can be seen in the dilated periglomerular lymphatic spaces (Fig. 20.45).

In the region of the foci, the glomeruli often evidence a pronounced increase of polymorphonuclear leukocytes in the capillary loops (Figs. 20.45, 20.46). Endothelial cells and podocytes are either edematous or hypertrophic (Figs. 20.45, 20.46).

With chronic PN, there is a striking accumulation of periglomerular infiltrates as is present in the acute form (Fig. 20.47). Within infiltrates, the tubules and their membranes have completely disappeared. The infiltrates consist predominantly of small lymphocytes along with a moderate number of phagocytes (Fig. 20.47).

In the xanthomatous form (see p. 430) these phagocytes are especially numerous and contain many leukocytes and bacteria and are particularly rich in phagolysosomes [1294].

Segmental glomerular capillary loop collapse (for glomerular findings see Figs. 6.9, 6.22, 6.34, 6.57, 6.64, 6.80, 6.88) is present in about half of the cases and signs of segmental loop obsolescence in one-third of our cases (Fig. 20.48). Endothelial cells are, at times, edematous or hypertrophied and they form arcades frequently.

⊲ Fig. 20.44. Acute pyelonephritis. There is blood stasis in the intertubular capillaries (*CL*) which are occasionally ruptured resulting in interstitial hemorrhage (*). In the tubules, polymorphonuclear leukocytes and, sometimes, phagocytes (*PH*) can be identified. In the severely edematous intersitium, phagocytes are the predominant cell type in addition to somewhat scantily present polymorphonuclear leukocytes. No tubular destruction is recognizable. Male, 56 years. EM (×1200)

Fig. 20.45. Same case as in Figure 20.44. Edematously enlarged periglomerular space is strikingly rich in infiltrates consisting of polymorphonuclear leukocytes as well as phagocytes, erythrocytes and some fibrin strands. There is slight activation of glome-rular capillary loop endothelium and of podocytes as well as an increased number of polymorphonuclear leukocytes in the glomerular capillary loop lumens. Capsular space is almost empty; there is no destruction of capsular BM. Male, 56 years. EM (\times 1300)

Glomerular BM is rarely completely unchanged; it demonstrates segmental thickening in about one-sixth and diffuse thickening in half of our cases. Thickening of the lamina rara interna is not infrequent. In about onefourth of our cases, a few deposits can be identified within the BM. On the other hand, subendothelial deposits or deposits along the mesangial BM are rarely encountered. BM doubling occurs in a few cases accompanied by mesangial interposition in isolated loops. Podocytes are often edematous and microvilli are frequently formed on their surface.

Fusion of foot processes—occasionally extensive—is observed in about three-fourths of our cases. While the epithelium of Bowman's capsule rarely shows proliferation or synechiae (Fig. 20.49). The capsular BM is frequently considerably thickened and fragmented (Fig. 20.47) but rarely contains osmiophilic deposits.

Page 434

Fig. 20.46. Same case as in Figure 20.44 showing leukocytosis of glomerular capillary loops and hypertrophy of the endothelium (*E*). Male, 56 years. EM (\times 3300)

Fig. 20.47. Chronic pyelonephritis. Small and activated (large) lymphocytes as well as phagocytes represent the predominant cells. Splitting of glomerular capsular BM and connective tissue proliferation (\rightarrow) are seen. Complete obsolescence of glomerular capillary loops (G) is present. Male, 77 years. EM (×1400)

Page 435

Fig. 20.48. Chronic pyelonephritis evidencing peripheral glomerular capillary loop collapse and incipient obsolescence. Male, 59 years. EM (\times 7300)

Fig. 20.49. Crescent formation caused by proliferation of capsular epithelium in chronic pyelonephritis in a 3-year-old boy with myeloid leukemia. Most of the proliferated cells are from the capsular epithelium between which isolated, dark podocytes (P) can be identified. Outermost layer of the split and partially dissolved capsular BM (*CBM*); compressed glomerular capillary loops (*). EM (×1700)





Tubules are severly atrophic and frequently dedifferentiated (Figs. 8.12, 8.14; see p. 124). Their BM is thickened and often fragmented (Figs. 8.10, 20.50) which may be viewed as a sequel of acute erosion.

Blood vessels show the same changes as observed with LM.

Differential Diagnosis

In acute PN, no diagnostic problems are to be expected.

In this connection it is noted that there is no fundamental difference in findings between acute embolic purulent focal nephritis and acute PN, i.e., the PN can develop out of embolic, purulent focal nephritis evidencing highly virulent bacteria (see p. 282) or by ureteral ascension. Differentiation from acute interstitial transplant rejection has never really caused problems since in transplants, large numbers of polymorphonuclear leukocytes and erosive destruction of tubules are both absent.

Chronic PN is differentiated from subinfarction (see p. 508) by the presence of the destructive tubular foci and inflammatory widening of the interstitium in the former. Tubular dedifferentiation and glomerular capillary loop collapse are present in both conditions. Chronic PN is differentiated from chronic IN and GN by its radial scars or focal spreading. Additionally, the changes in the more or less intact glomeruli characteristic for chronic GN are usually not subject to misinterpretation. Nevertheless, overload glomerulitis must be considered in the presence of obvious focal-segmental glomerular involvement (see p. 308). If the needle biopsy contains scar tissue, only two features will assure the diagnosis of chronic PN: (1) the destructive vascular, glomerular and tubular changes present, and (2) the occurrence of replacement scar tissue rich in fibroblasts instead of the interstitial sclerosis present in chronic IN. In advanced contracted kidney, however, differentiation between chronic PN, GN, and interstial nephritis may be impossible.

Prognosis

Hypertensive vasculopathy is frequently encountered as are tubular adenomas in contracted kidneys. In very severely contracted kidney, overload glomerulitis is occassionally found (see p. 308). The vascular changes described can lead to small subinfarcts which considerably complicate interpretation.

Complications

PN lesions can heal with scar formation and, except for hypertension—which is not obligatory—may not have any clinically significant sequelae. The greatest dan-

ger is relapse resulting, ultimately, in uremia. The course of PN, however, is unpredictable. Even in advanced renal insufficiency, renal function may become stationary for many years, but be followed by a rapid decline resulting in terminal uremia. Relapse of acute PN or exogenous factors such as phenacetin addiction are not, in all cases, responsible for changes in progression of the disease.

The reported follow-up results show that 13.6% of the patients died, 13.8% demonstrated persisting disease, 18.1% had remaining clinical damage, and that 54.4% were cured completely [138, 1099]. The prognosis in our material—chiefly comprising advanced stages of the disease—(Table 20.3) was bad, with 10-year survival rates for patients without phenacetin addiction of 40%, and for those with of 31%. Complete remission occurred only in 15.9% of patients without and in 3.3% of patients with phenacetin addiction.

If the first clinical attack occurs in children before the end of the second year of life, the mortality is 28% and if it occurs thereafter 14% [1568]. In infants with PN associated with vesico-ureteral or pyelo-renal reflux chronic PN often develops from acute PN (13 out of 17: [1355]; 22%: [555]).

Hypertension occurring with unilateral PN contracted kidney can sometimes be healed by surgery (3 out of 7: Z) or improved (4 out of 7: Z; [431]; see also p. 541.

Pathogenesis

Acute PN may arise hematogenously or by direct (ascending) spreading of bacteria [1791]. Prior infection of the lower urinary tract is very frequent. The urethra appears to be an important reservoir for bacteria [324]. The greater incidence of acute PN in female infants wearing diapers is ascribed to the shortness of the urethra in the female.

Animal experimentation indicates that bacteria chiefly gain access to the bloodstream from the mucosa of the bladder, i.e., reach the kidney hematogenously. Urinary stasis is a powerful contributor to local infection and subsequent PN. In males, stasis is of significance in 58% of our patients (see Table 22.1) and in only 21% in females: 11% lithiasis; 6% cervix carcinoma; 3% urethral stricture; 1% bladder carcinoma. Further contributory factors which predispose for PN are hypercalcemia, hyperuricemia, diabetes mellitus, chronic hypokalemia, analgesic addiction, and hypercalciuria. In 70-75% of infantile PN, the infection is thought to arise from urinary stasis associated with vesico-uretral or pyelo-renal reflux [687a, 703]. Additionally malformations of the urinary tract play an important role in the development of PN in childhood [144].

We attribute the frequent development of collapse glomeruli and subinfarcts to the obsolescence of postglomerular intertubular vessels (see also [1068]).

Etiology

In a large survey of the literature [138], the following bacteria and their incidence were found:

Bacterium	Frequency (% of cases)	
E. coli	13.8–63.5	
Aerobacter aerogenes	3.2-18.0	
Klebsiella	0.2-11.0	
Proteus	3.2-18.4	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	3.6-18.0	
Enterococci	1.8-27.5	
Staphylococci	3.2-46.0	
Others	0 -15.7	

Relapse is often caused by a bacterium different from the one producing the disease initially [555].

The possibility of PN arising from mycoplasms (800-5000 Å-large structures without cellular walls) has been proposed since these agents have been demonstrated in 10-17% of abacterial diseases of the urogenital tract [1406].

Cases of chronic, active PN with negative bacterial findings and the absence of urinary tract infection [39] point to the possibility of a nonbacterial etiology (12 out of 20 cases of active chronic, nonobstructive PN: [33, 687a]; see also Table 20.3). Nevertheless, the previously mentioned IF findings indicate prior bacterial infection with bacterial AG still present in renal parenchyma [39].

Pyelonephritic Contracted Kidney of Early Childhood [1791]

Definition

Usually unilateral, partial or total contracted kidney with morphologic characteristics of chronic PN developing in early childhood.

Synonyms: Segmental hypoplasia [626, 628]; Ask-Upmark-kidney [55].

Incidence

In our autopsy material, we found $1.1^{0}/_{00}$ of such cases, chiefly in young women of all ages [362, 1791].

Clinical Findings

In young patients, nephrectomy is usually done because of hypertension and/or because of intolerable flank pain engendered by PN attacks. In autopsy cases, we have noted the presence of hypertension in 21 out of 31 of the subjects (75% in females, 100% in males: [113]; 71.5% of all cases: [1391]; 57% of all cases: [1262, 1392]).

Patients subjected to the disease frequently show retarded growth at an early age [1392]. Arteriography combined with pyelography shows a total or partially contrast-free corticomedullary zone [1535]. Early childhood PN is, however, rarely elicited in the case history [1791].

LM Findings

The changes may be sector-like (Fig. 5.11) and, as such, not unconditionally recognizable in needle biopsy. Histologically, chronic, almost always inactive (scar form) PN with the following special characteristics is seen:

- 1. Thyroid-like foci are markedly frequent and extensive (Figs. 5.11, 20.51)
- 2. At first glance, the number of glomeruli in scar foci appears to be considerably reduced. However, with higher magnification, rather numerous PAS-positive membrane stars (spider scars)—representing residues of destroyed glomeruli (Fig. 20.52)—can be recognized (Fig. 20.53). Complete glomerular destruction is far more frequent in acute PN of childhood than in later life.

Completely obsolescent glomeruli are also recognizable as is noted by investigators favouring the segmental hypolasia theory [1392]. The JGA is occasionally considerably hypertrophied [1071].

3. Adaptive intimal fibrosis is usually exceedingly marked ("endarteritis sclero-elastica chronica" [626, 628, 1392], p. 151).

In remnant parenchyma, severe hypertrophy of intact renal elements (glomeruli, tubules) may be present in rare cases of severe, bilateral disease [1679].

Prognosis

With the exception of complicating hypertension, the prognosis is good. This is illustrated by the frequent occurrence of early childhood contracted kidney in old and very old subjects coming to autopsy. The hypertension is often curable by partial or total nephrectomy (75%: [626, 628]; 2 out of 2: [1155]; 14 out of 14 cases: [1262]; see also [1791], and p. 541).





Fig. 20.53. Complete glomerular destruction in subacute pyelonephritis of early childhood associated with ureteral stenosis. Residues of the glomerular capillary loop BM are no longer recognizable. Male, 1.75 years. PAS (\times 420)

Fig. 20.54. Contracted kidney which weighed 70 g in a case of so-called Montaldo pyelonephritis. Only isolated nephrons with hypertrophied tubules are still preserved. Glomeruli are especially striking because of their severely widened capsular space (\rightarrow) . Male, 67 years. PAS ($\times 29$)

Pathogenesis

In our opinion, this type of segmental or total contracted kidney is the consequence of PN (see also [24]). The extensive destruction of glomeruli with their occasional dissolution is typical for acute early childhood PN (see above; [1791]). Tubular changes are viewed as acquired malformations. It has been possible to produce them experimentally [8].

Other investigators consider the lesion to be segmental hypoplasia [113, 362, 626, 628, 923, 1071, 1155, 1262, 1392, 1535]. They support their view by pointing to the small number of well-recognizable glomeruli in the damaged zones. We reject this theory not only because of the special type of the glomerular destruction mentioned above, but also because of the usual absence of hypogenetic foci.

In only 2 out of 29 surgical specimens of early childhood PN contracted kidney were we able to demonstrate a few cartilagenous foci. As is known, early childhood

✓ Fig. 20.50. Tubular atrophy in pyelonephritic contracted kidney. Tubular BM is highly thickened (*), disintegrated into clumps, and permeated with fibrocytes (*FC*). Male, 52 years. EM (× 3420)

Fig. 20.51. Thyroid-like focus in the renal cortex in chronic pyelonephritis associated with nephrolithiasis. Female, 61 years. PAS (\times 50)

Fig. 20.52. Active early childhood pyelonephritis associated with stenosis of the ureteral ostium and hydronephrosis with numerous glomerular residues still provided with vital cells (\rightarrow) . Tubules are almost completely destroyed and extensive inflammatory infiltrates are present in the widened interstitium. Male, 4 years. PAS ($\times 210$)

PN is especially prone to develop in partially malformed kidneys. A typical finding – which is relatively frequent – is ureter fissus or duplex (8 out of 41 cases: [1791]). In ureter duplex, that renal tissue is usually implicated which is associated with the heterotopic draining ureter. Extensive adaptive intimal fibrosis also points to scarification processes since it is absent in genuine hypoplastic and dysplastic kidneys; the same consideration is valid for thyroid-like foci. Finally, a further argument for our theory is that even proponents of the malformation theory have found vesico-ureteral reflux associated with early childhood PN, a well-known causative factor in the pathogenesis of PN in childhood as pointed out previously [923, 1392]. Infection of the urinary tract, which is not infrequently found in such patients, is considered by these investigators to be secondary [923, 1155].

Montaldo's Pyelonephritis

This special form of PN, named after the first investigator [1130a] is characterized by the occurrence of small glomerular cysts located directly under the kidney capsule. The cysts are partially filled with proteinaceous fluid. The glomerular capillary loops are severely collapsed (Fig. 20.54). Since an analogous picture is very characteristic for the renal changes associated with chronic renal vein thrombosis (see p. 503), it is reasonable to assume that impairment of renal blood flow and maintenance of venous return by capsular veins are factors common to both lesions.

Balkan Nephropathy [540, 561, 562, 563]

Definition

Balkan nephropathy may be defined as a renal lesion endemic in the Balkans associated with increased incidence of urothelial tumors (transitional epithelial tumors).

Clinical Findings

The disease attacks young women much more frequently than men. It begins in early childhood and manifests itself by lumbar pain, intermittent hematuria, in rare cases by proteinuria, and by constant bacteriuria. Hypertension is rare. Nephrolithiasis is present in about onethird of the cases and anemia almost always.

LM and EM Findings

The entity is usually described as blandly coursing chronic PN. After study of numerous cases, we also tend to this point of view. We have not been able to accept the notion [563] that the lesion represents a primary nondestructive nephritis with optional secondary PN. With EM, unspecific changes have been observed [790, 791]. Only amorphic osmiophilic corpuscles (diameter: $0.1-0.5 \,\mu\text{m}$) in tubular cytoplasm constitute a unique feature, but they elude explanation as is the case for 300-350 Å large virus-like particles [540, 39a].

Pathogenesis and Etiology

In our opinion, pathogenesis and etiology of the nephropathy is not clear, although it is said to be due to PN acquired in childhood from ingestion of water contaminated with coli bacteria [563].

No evidence has been submitted indicating primary toxic tubular injury [1447] or causal significance of silicates [1008].

The association of the disease with urothelial tumors (48% of cases) arising secondarily remains completely unexplained [561, 905]. A similar situation is only known for phenacetin addiction (see p. 440) which, in Balkan nephropathy, can be excluded. In our opinion, factors other than simple coli infection must be involved, since otherwise, urothelial tumors should be found more frequently in PN caused by coli infections outside the Balkans. Recent findings of virus particles, possibly corona-virus, offer a better explanation [39a].

Renal Changes in Phenacetin Addiction [1094, 1184, 1259, 1606a, 1792]

Following recognition of the relationship between addiction to phenacetin and renal changes [1551, 1787] the only relevant finding was an increase of chronic IN with papillary necrosis. The much more frequent occurrence of pyelonephritis as a consequence of phenacetin abuse was realized later [1792].

Other drugs, such as aspirin have subsequently been implicated [534, 1366]. New evidence, however, appears to contradict this contention [989].

We do not believe that phenacetin causes specific renal lesions and information from case histories is often inadequate to allow reliable analysis of autopsy material. Clinico-epidemiologic surveys [395] including psychiatric institutions [830] show that 25% of phenacetin addicts in mental institutions and 70% of those undergoing outpatient or inpatient treatment in Swiss hospitals have

	Group I Total	Group II (amount <10 kg)	Group III (amount >10 kg)
Duration of addiction $(mean \pm SD)$ in years	_	7.1 ± 3.4	20.6 ± 9.6
Phenacetin amount in kg $(mean \pm SD)^a$	_	3.9 ± 2.5	15.6 ± 5.3
No. of patients (n)	95 ^b	31	42
Nephropathy (without relation to phenacetin, e.g. GN)	25.3%	32.2%	14.2%
No. significant pathologic changes	10.5%	22.6%	2.3%
Small PN scars	12.6%	22.6%	7.1%
Chronic PN	42.1%	22.6%	59.8%
PN contracted kidney	6.3%	-	11.9%
Chronic IN	3.1%	_	4.7%

Table 20.4. Renal findings from biopsy material in phenacetin addiction (n=95)

^a Estimated form amount of phenacetin $(g/day) \times (duration of addiction in years).$

^b 22 patients included with incomplete information on duration and amount of phenacetin addiction.

clinically demonstrable renal lesions (131 out of 161: [395]).

Our findings based on renal biopsy are summarized in Table 20.4, demonstrating that the longer the duration of phenacetin addiction and the higher the total amount of phenacetin intake, the more severe the renal lesions (compare groups II and III).

Of patients with PCP, 20–30% are reported to suffer from a chronic renal lesion as a consequence of phenace-tin abuse [130].

The incidence of renal pelvic carcinoma (occasional ureteral or bladder carcinoma) has been shown to be statistically significantly related to phenacetin addiction [112a, 938]. Therefore, patients with known phenacetin addiction should undergo regular urinary cytologic examination for detection of tumors of the urinary tract.

LM Findings

There are no specific findings. Chronic IN or chronic PN may be present. Marked increase of papillary necrosis or merely increased widening of medullary and papillary connective tissue are striking [286, 534, 570], as of strong sudanophilia of the interstitial tissue and the thickened BM of papillary tubules and vessels [1624a].

Prognosis

The prognosis depends on the type of renal lesion (for prognosis of chronic PN, see Table 20.3). Complete drug withdrawal appears to at least stabilize the disease or prevent its further progression [1192].

Pathogenesis

The pathogenesis remains unclear and attempts at clarification by experimental study have been unrewarding [1626]. In part, tubular changes have been demonstrated [1259, 1366] which, however, were due to reduced food intake, i.e. tubular changes corresponded to those seen in starvation [1626].

Current views are focused on a primarily drug-induced papillary necrosis with secondary cortical atrophy and sclerosis [570, 1184, 1068, 1624a] and possible tertiary PN [233]. Papillary necrosis is attributed to the especially high concentration of the metabolite para-aminophenol in the papillae and the injury caused thereby to the vasa rectae [155].

Various investigators have produced papillary necrosis in rats by overfeeding them with phenacetin [845] but it must be noted that phenacetin metabolism is different in rodents than in man [59]. There are, however, many negative experimental findings [1626]. Additionally, unequivocal cases of phenacetin addiction with severe renal lesions and without papillary necrosis speak against the role of the drug in directly causing the lesion.

An allergic reaction to phenacetin or phenetidin [1304] has also been suggested. Accordingly, the increased frequency of PN is explained as a superimposed infection of a kidney previously injured by allergy. The increased incidence of renal pelvic tumors is explained as the direct action of the metabolites phenetidin and 2-hydroxyphenitidin sulfate.

It can only be said with certainty that chronic analgesic abuse—especially of phenacetin—injures the kidney in such a way that it becomes increasingly susceptible to infections, including tuberculosis [1791].

Combination of Pyelonephritis and Glomerulonephritis

The combination of two acquired nephropathies is not rare and has been reported to occur in 10% of a series of autopsy cases [1779]. The combination of an acquired nephropathy with chronic pyelonephritis was present in 3% of a biopsy series [1271a] and in 5.2% of our own biopsy material.

Morphologic diagnosis		Leuko- cyturia, bacteri- uria	Leuko- cytic casts	Radio- logic PN findings	Morpho- logic PN
Total GN	n° % +	718 8.2	670 3.4	554 10.8ª	805 6.1
Endothelio- mesangial GN	n°	178	161	138	209
(including crescents < 50%)	% +	8.9	2.6	9.4	5.7
Extracapillary	n°	24 ††	20 11	10	33
GN (> 50% crescents)	°⁄0 +	25	15	10	3
Epimembra- nous GN	n° %+	55 1.8	51 2.0	46 8.7	70 8.6
Membrano- proliferative GN	n° %+	33 3.3	29 10.3	20 10	42 7.1
Segmental-	n°	125	107	91 ↑	129
ferative GN (including crescents < 50%)	°⁄0 +	12.8	3.7	16.5	7.7
Segmental-	n°	89	84	59 ↑↑	101
sclerosing GN	°⁄0 +	12.4	1.2.	22	10.0
Glomerular minimal	n°	193 ↓↓	181 ↓↓	154	221
change	% +	3.6	0.5	8.5	4.1

Table 20.5. Combination of PN and GN in our biopsy material

Chi-square-Test: significantly more frequent (\nearrow) more rare (\downarrow) than in the sum of all other GN (see also Table 14.4).

(°) finding stated, (⁺) finding present in %

a n = 60.

10% : Nephrolithiasis

18.3%: Hydronephrosis

79.9%: Distortion of renal pelvis/calyces

18.3%: Obstruction of urinary tract.

Incidence of several findings in one case possible. Consideration of radiological findings for both kidneys. The diagnosis of combined renal lesions is especially difficult—if not impossible—in the advanced stages of disease due to overlapping of morphologic characteristics. This is especially valid for the diagnosis of chronic PN since, in the advanced stage, morphologic differentiation of overload glomerulitis accompanying PN with respect to primary GN with accompanying PN may prove to be well-nigh impossible (see p. 308).

The diagnosis of acute PN, on the other hand, rarely presents difficulties if it is recalled that a few tubular leukocytes and leukocytic casts also occur in GN and especially in the presence of capillary loop necrosis (see p. 218).

Data in the literature relating to the frequency of occurrence of the combination of GN with chronic PN show large variation (autopsy material 17%: [411]; 3.6%: [1779]; biopsy material 10.8%: [1183 a]; clinical material 7.4%: [1606 a]; bacteriuria in all GN: 21.6% [1183 a]. In morphologically demonstrated combination of GN and chronic PN, bacteriuria was reported in 31% of the cases [1183 a].

Among 805 of our GN biopsies (Table 20.5) certain or probable PN was present in 6.1%; clinical indication of PN—based on leukocyturia and bacteriuria—in 8.2% and based on leukocytic casts in 3.4%. There was no statistically significant correlation between the morphological incidence of PN and different GN forms.

Clinically, bacteriuria and leukocyturia were especially frequent in extracapillary accentuated GN and proliferative FGN, and radiologic indications for PN were found more frequently in proliferative and sclerosing FGN than in the total material.

The frequency of chronic PN with GN (6.1%) does not statistically differ from the frequency of chronic PN in large autopsy series (5.6% : [1304a]; 7.4% : [1791]). This is further emphasized by the fact that we were not able to discover a significant increase of PN in relation to clinical duration of GN (<1 year, versus > 1 year). This leads us to the conclusion that an increased susceptibility of a GN kidney for (chronic) PN does not exist.

21. Kidney Tuberculosis and Rare Kidney Infections

[1791]

Renal Tuberculosis

In renal biopsy procedures, tuberculosis is fortuitous finding.

Nosology

We differentiate the following forms: miliary tuberculosis or miliary dissemination, productive-nodular tuberculosis, caseous-cavernous tuberculosis and, as the terminal form, the putty kidney.

Miliary Tuberculosis

This form is characterized by numerous 1–2 mm-sized epitheloid-cell nodules with scanty Langhans giant cells surrounded by a narrow border of lymphocytes. Centrally, the nodules are usually necrotic (for differential diagnosis of giant cells see Table 8.1, p. 129).

Classically, the nodules are free of vessels, but since they arise hematogenously, remnants of vessels and glomeruli can often be demonstrated. In the very early phase, there is glomerular necrosis with incipient periglomerular granuloma formation (Fig. 21.1). If the miliary tubercles are productive and arranged in groups (Fig. 21.2), suspicion of perifocal extension of a cavernous renal tuberculosis, i.e., of organ disease without evidence of acute hematogenous dissemination, is aroused.

Productive Nodular Renal Tuberculosis

This form is extremely rare. It consists of large, predominantly proliferative aggregates of granulomas.

Cavernous Renal Tuberculosis

This form is relatively frequent. The lumen of the cavern is covered with caseous masses which often contain large numbers of tubercle bacilli as demonstrated by special stains. Peripheral to the cavern, there follows a zone of typical tubercular granulation tissue (see above) which is surrounded by a broad sclerosed and hyalinized scar wall. Small groups of miliary productive tubercles frequently disseminate lymphogenously into the surrounding area (Figs. 21.4, 5.12, see above).

Putty Kidney

If the elimination of caseous masses is prevented by obstruction of the ureter, the necrotic masses are calcified and appear chalk-like (the putty kidney). Chronic PN develops almost regularly in the proximal renal tissue where thyroid-like foci are formed now and again (Fig. 5.11, see p. 50)! Patty kidney is occassionally associated with hypertension and can be cured surgically [1466].

Brucellosis

Brucellosis (Bang's disease) must be considered above all in the presence of morphologic findings of exudative tuberculosis and, if doubt exists, appropriate clinical examinations should be undertaken [402, 818]. In brucellosis, giant cells are more bizarre than in tuberculosis, the boundaries of the granulomas are blurred, and the large numbers of plasma cells and leukocytes speak against tuberculosis.

Echinococcus

Tuberculoid granulomas also occur around ecchinococcal cysts (Fig. 21.3, [363]) whose characteristic chitin membrane is easily overlooked in HE stain. In needle biopsy, they even may be absent. The nontubercular nature of the disease is usually indicated by the large number of eosinophilic leukocytes and plasma cells and—in late phases—by the presence of calcified chitin membranes [681].



Fig. 21.1. Fresh glomerular foci in miliary tuberculosis. Glomeruli are completely destroyed (\rightarrow) and surrounded by a crown of epitheloid cells. Male, 1.75 years. PAS (\times 200)

Fig. 21.2. Perifocal tubercular nodules (so-called "string of pearls" configuration) in cavitary renal tuberculosis. HE (\times 140)

Sarcoidosis

Sometimes tuberculosis cannot be differentiated from sarcoidosis which causes renal complications in 6.8–28% of cases [736, 1791]. In 2% of the cases, renal insufficiency develops which, however, is reversible with steroid therapy [173]. Sarcoid granulomas are far more rare (1% in biopsies, 13.2% in autopsies: [292]) than nephrocalcinosis. Hypercalcemia is present in 8% of the cases and nephrolithiasis in 3.6% [873].

Suspicion of sarcoidosis is aroused by the presence of pure productive granulomas composed of giant and epitheloid cells with a lymphocytic border and a loose connective tissue envelope which extends slightly into the nodule.

Schaumann and asteroid bodies (Fig. 21.4) are extremely rare in the giant cells and their presence is not, moreover, confirmatory. Isolated disseminated lymphogenous foci in cavernous renal tuberculosis can appear exactly like sarcoid granulomas, so that the diagnosis of sarcoidosis is dependent on the clinical picture, a negative tuberculin as well as a positive Kveim test. **Fig. 21.3.** Echinococcal renal cyst showing folded chitin membranes (\rightarrow). Entire lesion is surrounded by a fringe of epitheloid cells (*) which, in turn, is surrounded by fibrous tissue (*FC*). Male, 57 years. HE (\times 70)

Fig. 21.4. Multinuclear giant cell with an asteroid body (\rightarrow) as the only biopsy finding in sarcoidosis in addition to nondestructive interstitial nephritis. Female, 57 years. PAS (×260)

Fig. 21.5. Tuberculoid granuloma. Analogous granulomas were found in biopsies from the thyroid and a salivary gland. Clinically, no indication of sarcoidosis, tuberculosis or toxoplasmosis. Female, 56 years. PAS (×270)

Fig. 21.6. Tuberculoid granuloma in the renal cortex with clinical suspicion of toxoplasmosis which was not demonstrable under LM or EM. A few unambiguous epitheloid cells are present (*). Male, 30 years. EM (\times 1420)





Fig. 21.7. Renal cytomegalovirus infection. Some tubular cells are greatly enlarged and evidence strikingly large intranuclear inclusion bodies (\rightarrow) in addition to coarse cytoplasmic granules. There is a severe interstitial inflammatory reaction. HE (×600)

There is an increased incidence of GN in sarcoidosis, which courses progressively, as noted in sequential biopsies; immunocomplexes are demonstrable with IF ([1045], see p. 217). This is explained by the fact that both sarcoidosis and diffuse GN represent immunore-sponses to a disseminated unknown AG.

Tuberculoid Granuloma of Uncertain Etiology

Occasionally (10 out of 2080 biopsy cases: Z) tuberculoid granulomas are encountered in needle biopsy, the etiology and pathogenesis of which defy explanation (Fig. 21.5). Two of our cases are of particular interest. In one case, we found toxoplasmosis as a possible basic disease (Fig. 21.6) but we could not demonstrate *toxoplasma* within the granulomas. There is an analogous case described in the literature [1485] with congenital toxoplasmosis and a nephrotic syndrome in which the

Fig. 21.8. Segmental-focal accentuated necrotizing GN in cytomegalovirus infection. Cytomegalic cells are present (\rightarrow) . The patient suffered from pure alymphocytosis. Female, 4.5 years. HE (×250)

antigen-together with IgM-was demonstrated in the glomeruli. A further case of ours was particularly intriguing: bioptically, tuberculoid granulomas could be demonstrated in lymph nodes, thyroid, parotid gland, and kidney. At autopsy 1 year later, neither granulomas nor disease residues were found. Clinically, both sarcoidosis and tuberculosis had been excluded as far as possible.

Once in a while, we have encountered tuberculoid granulomas in the region of a genuine cholesteatoma (squamous epithelial transformation of the urothelium) as well as at the edge of a cyst, demonstrating signs of prior bleeding and an inflammatory reaction to the blood and cholesterol masses.

Recently, attention has been drawn to tuberculoid granulomas accompanying interstitial nephritis due to adverse drug reactions (methicillin: [1032a]). Finally, the tuberculoid-appearing form of PN following diazol therapy or high doses of cortisone must be distinguished from tuberculous granulomas [1791]. It is also important to differentiate such granulomas from allergic granulomatous angitis (see p. 538). For xanthomatous PN, see p. 430.

Actinomycosis

Actinomycosis is also reminiscent of tuberculous granulation tissue in which, however, the actinomycosis grains can scarcely be overlooked. In addition, there are numerous histiocytes (foam cells) and neutrophilic leukocytes.

Aspergillosis

The hyphae can be clearly demonstrated with the PAS stain. On occassion, it is impossible to differentiate the granulation tissue in this disease from that of tuberculosis.

Cytomegalovirus Infection [391]

The increase in renal transplantation with attendant immunosuppression has resulted in a considerable increase of cytomegalovirus infection which previously was rarely encountered in the kidney. It is thought that immunosuppression activates latent virus infections.

In our 131 cases of needle and surgical biopsies, nephrectomy specimen, and autopsy material from renal transplantats, we were able to demonstrate cytomegalovirus histologically only once, even though the virus had been demonstrated in the urine of three patients.

Great care must be exercised in trying to demonstrate the virus-induced cell giants histologically (high magnification, control of suspicious cells with oil immersion) since usually only a very small number of cells is infected. The infected cells are enlarged and usually project into the tubular lumen. They contain up to 15 μ m large acidophilic inclusion bodies in cytoplasm and nuclei (Fig. 21.7).

A perifocal lymphoplasmocytic infiltrate may be absent. The DNA virus can be demonstrated unequivocally in the kidney with EM [791, 796] and cytomegalovirusinfected cells can also be found in the urine with JF.

In a newborn with severe cytomegalovirus infection, we found segmental-focal necrotizing GN. Podocytes and endothelial cells had undergone extensive transformation into giant cells (Fig. 21.8).

22. Hydronephrosis and Nephrohydrosis

Definitions

Hydronephrosis refers to a widening of the renal pelvis due to impairment of urinary flow in the urinary tract. Nephrohydrosis means tubular dilatation due to impairment of urinary flow.

Incidence

We have found the conditions present in 4% of our autopsy material (see Table 22.1). There is no preference for laterality or sex.

LM Findings

In nephrohydrosis (Fig. 22.1), all tubular segments may be dilated, while the tubular morphology in hydronephrosis—also without concomitant inflammation (pyelonephritis)—is not uniform. Nephrons, especially in the cortex, may be unchanged, collapsed or dilated. The latter are lined by an atrophic epithelium (Fig. 22.2).

The hydronephrotic "sac" kidney consists almost exclusively of these atrophic nephrons in addition to sclerotic connective tissue. The collecting ducts are already dilated in the early stages of impaired urinary flow (Fig. 22.3).



Fig. 22.1. Nephrohydrosis associated with compression of the ureter by an aberrant vessel. All the tubules are dilated. Female, 34 years. PAS $(\times 30)$

Fig. 22.2. Hydronephrosis associated with renal pelvic stone. Tubules show unequally distributed luminal dilatation. Female, 36 years. PAS (\times 170)



Even in fairly advanced cases, glomeruli show no essential changes. Glomeruli undergo obsolescence in the terminal phase of the disease only.

The interstitium shows spotty sclerosis which, in severe parenchymal atrophy, becomes diffuse. The sclerosis is probably the consequence of edema which occurs in the acute phase of hydronephrosis.

The arteries do not demonstrate any characteristic changes. The veins are regularly dilated. The lymphatic vessels are also frequently dilated and lymphatic casts—surrounded by plasmo-lymphocytic infiltrates—are encountered now and again (Figs. 8.36, 8.37, 8.38, 8.39, 8.40, 22.5).

Dilated collecting ducts are especially prominent in the renal medulla and lined by an epithelium with normal internuclear distance. Accordingly, tubular cell proliferation must have occurred (Fig. 22.4). With increasing severity of hydronephrosis, at first atrophy of the papillae and medulla, and, lateron of the cortex, develops.

The histologic findings in animal experiments show the same characteristic morphologic variability [196, 704, 727, 1493].

EM Findings

The epithelium of the dilated tubule is flattened. The proximal tubules evidence extensive loss of the brush border (Fig. 22.6). The basal labyrinth of proximal tubules (convoluted and straight parts) is sometimes absent. The cell organelles (mitochondria, lysosomes, microbodies, etc) show no special features. On the cell base of the proximal tubules, some finely fibrillar bundles within the cytoplasm are regularly encountered which, according to findings from animal experiments, probably correspond to actomyosin fibrils [378, 1374].

Tubular epithelial cells with cytologic signs of regeneration, i.e., large, irregular nuclei, numerous ribosomes but few other cytoplasmic organelles are also frequently observed (Fig. 22.7) (for findings in animal experiments see [378, 379]).

Differential Diagnosis

LM findings, which are variable, are not sufficiently characteristic to permit diagnosis from biopsy material (see [704]). If only the features of nephrohydrosis are present in needle biopsy, the possibility of a so-called shock kidney must also be considered. Differentiation between these two conditions on the basis of tubular morphology is not possible with either LM or EM, and especially not in the clinically important acute phase i.e. tubular dilatation, epithelial flattening and dedifferentiation are common to both conditions. Neither do glomerular, interstitial or vascular changes permit differentiation in the acute phase (interstitial edema is present in both conditions). The only possiblity of differentiation is the chance finding of lymphatic casts which, unfortunately, are nearly always absent in the acute phase. Hydrocalicosis may prove difficult to differentiate from hydronephrosis. It can only be diagnosed with reliability in open surgical biopsies as only a very small part of the parenchyma—which exhibits extensive atrophy and secondary widening of the calyx lying underneath (Fig. 5.11) bordered by unchanged renal tissue—is affected.

Prognosis

The prognosis depends by and large on the extent of interstitial fibrosis and architectural destruction. Total obstruction lasting up to 3 weeks may resolve with nearly complete recovery of renal function [143, 406]. Even after years of disease, functional improvement is still possible.

It has been shown experimentally that functional improvement is inversely proportional to the extent of irreversible parenchymal atrophy which itself is directly dependent on the duration of impaired urinary flow. The reversibly injured nephrons show progressive functional improvement following removal of the obstruction [725, 726].

Fig. 22.6. Proximal tubule as seen in acute urine retention due \triangleright to renal pelvic stones. There is shortening and partial loss of brush border of proximal tubules which also show masses of lysosomes containing protein and lipid. Female, 36 years. EM (×3730)

Fig. 22.7. Regenerative tubular epithelium following acute urinary stasis. There are only a few organelles in the epithelial cell, the brush border of which is considerably reduced. Nucleus is lobulated and ribosomes are increased. Basal labyrinth is absent. Note numerous hetero-(phago-)lysosomes with chromoprotein (fortuitous finding). Male, 36 years. EM ($\times 10,300$)



Etiology	Total		With uremia
	n	%	(n = 136 = 100%) %
Malignant tumors of the urinary tract or others with obstruction of the ureter	479	43.1	51.5
Lithiasis	180	16.2	18.4
Myoglandular prostatic hyperplasia	142	12.9	13.5
Aberrant vessels with kinking of ureter	53	4.8	_
Malformations of urinary tract	45	4.0	4.3
Radiation injury	39	3.5	1.2
Ventil stenosis of ureter	33	3.0	_
Prolapse or fibro- leiomyoma of uterus	27	2.4	1.8
Cystic ureteritis	11	1.0	0.6
Miscellaneous (operation injury, parasites, etc.)	11	1.0	3.0
Unknown	90	8.1	_
Total	1.110	100%	

Table 22.1. Frequency and etiology of hydronephrosis based on 27,570 autopsies with 1110 cases of hydronephrosis (4%) of which 136 (12%) with uremia

Pathogenesis

Several pathogenetic factors are implicated in the parenchymal atrophy and limited functional capability. Experimentation has revealed a decrease of glomerular filtration pressure 24 h after occlusion of the ureter which is comparable to that occurring in increase of preglomerular resistance. In long-lasting occlusion, total renal blood flow decreases [759, 1165, 1178, 1587]. Histochemical and biochemical studies indicate that ischemia plays an essential role in parenchymal atrophy in that the parenchyma shows a decrease in oxydative metabolism [1436, 1628].

A further pathogenetic factor is the stretching of renal tissue which is a consequence of the progressive filling of the renal pelvis with urine. For this process, filtering glomeruli must still be present and the pressure in the renal pelvis must not exceed the filtration pressure of these nephrons [196].

Indirect confirmation of continuing filtration is resorption of urine from the renal pelvis in the presence of complete ureteral occlusion, as demonstrated experimentally.

Etiology

The most frequent cause of hydronephrosis (Table 22.1) is stenosis of the urinary tract by tumors, lithiasis and prostatic hyperplasia (>70%) which also represent the major causes in cases with uremia (>80%). All other causes are considerably less frequent. The occlusion is generally incomplete [196, 1791].

A rare cause of hydronephrosis is inadvertent ureteral ligature during abdominal surgery, reported to occur in 2% of emergency gynecologic operations [143]. Since the exact time of uretral occlusion is known, the regenerative capacity of the kidney can be evaluated with exceptional reliability in such cases.

23. Enzymopathic and Metabolic Renal Diseases

In this chapter, all diseases will be discussed which are proven to be or are probably due to enzymopathies which involve the kidney primarily or secondarily. From the nosologic standpoint, systemic enzymopathies and purely renal entities may be distinguished. Among the many diseases encompassed under the term enzymopathies, only those have been selected for discussion which are significant for renal biopsy and which lead to progressive renal injury. All other related diseases are synoptically summarized in Table 23.1.

Fabry's Disease [298, 395, 884, 1235, 1375]

Definition

Renal lesions in Fabry's disease (ceramide storage disease).

Synonym: Angiokeratoma corporis diffusum.

Clinical Findings

Fabry's disease is a rare familial lesion, inherited via the x-chromosome, leading to renal death chiefly in men in their forties. Subcutaneously, numerous dark red to blackish nodules—already present in childhood—are found mainly between the knees and navel. These nodules correspond to phlebectases (angiokeratomas). Corneal opacity may be the initial symptom presenting in childhood [298]. Patients complain of pain in the hands and feet and of a reduction in sweating [298]. Isolated hematuria is occasionally encountered. Later—and especially in men—massive renal symptoms appear (edema, anemia, hypertension, azotemia).

The demonstration of the characteristic foam cells is possible in urine [395] as well as in biopsy material from the rectum, i.e., Meissner's plexus [395] and epithelial cells [66]; liver and spleen [1621], lungs [66] and from bone marrow [298].

LM Findings

In the early phases of the disease, i.e., before the beginning of renal insufficiency, the histologic findings are highly characteristic. In addition to unspecific glomerulonephrosis, many cells are transformed into foam cells throughout the kidney, e.g., podocytes, parietal epithelium (Fig. 23.6), distal tubular epithelium and epithelium of Henle's loop, and also in the endothelium of glomeruli, intertubular capillaries and large vessels, in the smooth muscle cells of arteries [297] and in the interstitium [1235].

The stored material is slightly sudanophilic, birefringent, PAS-positive and luxol-fast-blue positive [395, 1004].

In the late phase of the disease, secondary reactive changes—analogous to Alport's disease, primary oxalosis, etc.—occur. They chiefly affect the glomeruli and lead to synechia formation (Fig. 23.7), segmental capillary loop and later to global glomerular obsolescence. The interstitium is severely widened and loosely infiltrated with lymphocytes which, in severe contracted kidney, may be completely absent (own observation, see also [217]).

We are not aware of any reports on IF findings.

EM Findings

Foam cells are the only specific findings which apart from localizations described with LM—are also found in the straight part of the proximal tubules and in the glomerular capsular space [1004]. They contain irregular, lamellated osmiophilic inclusions as well as irregular granules [1235] and fibrils with a periodicity of 50–60 Å [66, 395, 1004]. In general, these inclusions of ceramide trihexose are surrounded by a triple membrane.

Differential Diagnosis

The clinical picture and histochemistry (in the case that part of the biopsy material was fixed in nonlipid-soluble fixatives) are highly characteristic, but allow only a conditional differentiation between the Fabry, Gaucher and Niemann-Pick diseases. Ultimate diagnosis should always be based on the biochemical demonstration of the enzyme deficiency.

Fable 23.1. Enzymopathic renal disease					
Disease	Enzyme defect	Stored material/ pathologically increased serum metabolites	Renal findings		
			Clinical	Morphologic	
Ochronosis alcaptonuria	Homogentisic acid oxidase deficiency	Homogentisic acid polymers Ochronosis pigment	Homogentisinuria Dark urine	Pigment deposition in convoluted and straight segments of proximal tubules; collecting ducts, interstitial cells, blackish- brown casts, accompanying IN [1236, 1791]	
Homocystinuria	Deficiency in synthesis of cystathionine	Homocystinemia Hypermethioninemia	Homocystinuria	PN, frequent thrombo- embolic complications [252a]	
Glycogenosis type I (hepatorenal glycogenosis) – van Gierke type	Glucose-6-phosphatase deficiency	Normal glycogen	Secondary Fanconi syndrome [906a]	Glycogen storage (Figs. 23.3, 23.4, 23.5) in glomeruli, proximal and distal tubules, vascular endothelium, smooth muscle [252, 906 a]	
Glycogenosis type II (generalized glyco- genosis) – Pompe type	α-1,4 glucosidase deficiency	Normal glycogen		Lysosomal glycogen storage (Figs. 23.3, 23.4, 23.5) in proximal and distal tubules, glomeruli (endothelium, epithelium, mesangium) and in inter- stitium [209, 528, 692, 724]	
Mucopolysaccharidosis types I–III	?	Dermatan-heperan sulfate	Aminoaciduria [1446]	Podocytic foam cells, storage vacuoles with membrane-like content in distal tubules and collecting ducts [692, 864, 1322, 1684, 1755]	
Gaucher's disease	Glucocerebrosidase deficiency	Glucocerebroside	_	Gaucher's cells in glomeruli, mesangial storage cells [198, 492, 692, 1369]	
Metachromatic leuko- dystrophy	Sulphatase, β lactosidase	Sulfatides Gangliosides Sulphated mucopolysaccharides	_	Storage vacuoles with metachromatic contents in distal tubules and Henle's loops [692, 1322]	
Niemann-Pick's disease	Sphingomyelinase deficiency	Sphingomyelin Cholesterol	Proteinuria [1780a]	Foam cells of glomerular endothelium, tubules, capillary endothelium, interstitial cells [329]	
Wolman's disease	Acid esterase defciency (acid lipases)	Triglycerides Cholesterol (among others)	_	Glomerular endothelial foam cells, interstitial foam cells [692, 1303]	
Plasma cholesterol deficiency	Lecithin, cholesterol- acyltransferase deficiency	Hyperlipemia Lecithinemia Glycerinemia	Proteinuria Erythrocyturia Uremia possible	Glomerular endothelial foam cells [557a]	
Refsum's disease	Phytanic acid hydro- xylase deficiency	Phytanic acid	Lipiduria [1334] Aminoaciduria [54a	Chemically demonstrated] [792]	

Table 23.1. Enzymopathic renal disease

Disease	Enzyme defect	Stored material/	Renal findings		
		pathologically increased serum metabolites	Clinical	Morphologic	
Mucolipidosis type II (<i>I</i> -cell disease)	Decrease of acid hydrolases	Mucopolysaccharides	_	Podocytic foam cells, vacuolized interstitial fibroblasts [692, 1621]	
Mucosulfatidosis	_	Mucopolysaccharides Sulfatides	_	Storage vacuoles in distal tubules and interstitital cells [692, 1322]	
Fucosidosis	α-fucosidase deficiency	Fucose-containing lipids and glycoproteins	_	Podocytic foam cells occasionally with weakly PAS-positive contents [692, 405a]	
GM ₁ -gangliosidosis types I and II	β -galactosidase deficiency	GM ₁ -ganglioside and asialo derivatives keratan-sulphate- similar mucopolysaccharides	Aminoaciduria glucosuria [1097]	Foam cell: podocyte (Figs. 23.1, 23.2) endothelium, mesangial cells, smooth muscle of the arterioles, proxi- mal tubules [692, 1097]	
GM ₂ -gangliosidosis type II (Sandhoff's disease)	Hexosaminidase deficiency	Trihexosylceramid GM2-ganglioside Globoside (among other		Storage vacuoles in tubules [692]	

Table 23.1 (continued)

Prognosis

The prognosis is poor for men. Renal failure is the most frequent cause of death. In one of our cases, there was no relapse of disease 16.5 months following renal transplantation (see also [217]). In the literature [604, 1261], 4 out of 10 transplant cases are reported to be surviving without disease relapse and with great improvement of the overall disease. The primarily absent enzyme (see below) is said to reappear in the serum (see also [284a]), but this claim has been disputed [1605a].

Pathogenesis

The glycolipid, ceramide (trihexoside- and digalactosyl ceramide), cannot be split from the trihexose because of congenital absence of ceramide trihexosidase [66, 1261]. The content of tri- and dihexoses is more than 10-fold greater in the diseased kidney than in the normal [1235]. Glomerular foam cells as well as arterial and arteriolar occlusion by foam cells gradually lead to glomerular collapse and progressive obsolescence.

Cystinosis [1444]

Definition

Cystinosis is an inherited disease characterized by impairment of cystine metabolism with storage of cystine crystals in the RHS and kidney.

Synonym: Lignac-de Toni-Fanconi-Debré syndrome.

Clinical Findings

Cystinosis is a rare, recessively inherited disease whose severity varies from case to case. Three forms can be recognized on the basis of the cystine content of leukocytes [1444].

1. Severe form: The severe form leads to death in uremia within the first decade of life. The leukocytes contain 80–100 times more cystine than normal.

2. Moderately severe form: Patients survive up to the second and third decades of life. The cystine content of the leukocytes is 30–50 times greater than normal.


3. Mild form: This form is less frequent. There are no renal cystine crystals and the cystine content of leuko-cytes is only about 5-6 times greater than normal.

In severe cases, the Fanconi syndrome with aminoaciduria, phosphaturia, glucosuria and, usually, with impaired potassium and bicarbonate and rarely uric acid reabsorption, is generally already manifest in the first year of life. The first clinical symptoms are polyuria and polydipsia. Rickets accompanied by retarded growth, metabolic acidosis and photophobia are also present.

The clinical diagnosis in the severe form is easy since slit-lamp eye examination quickly identifies the reflecting crystalline deposits in the conjunctiva, iris and cornea. The right-angled or hexagonal cystine crystals are also demonstrable in biopsy material from bone marrow, gastrointestinal tract, lymph nodes and kidney. Since the cystine crystals are water soluble, tissue must be fixed in alcohol.

LM and EM Findings

The pathology of cystine storage disease has received repeated and extensive attention ([61, 622a]; EM: [758, 968, 1384, 1459]; 16 original autopsy cases: [1791]).

In the early stages of the disease, the glomeruli—with the exception of a few but inconstantly present multinuclear podocytic giant cells and several strikingly small fetal glomeruli—are unchanged. The tubuli are normal (Figs. 23.8, 23.9). The interstitium is slightly fibrosed, somewhat loosened by edema and contains a few cystine crystals surrounded by lympho-histiocytic infiltrates.

With increasing severity of the disease, there occurs a slight thickening of the mesangium without cellular increase, as well as slight loop collapse in the glomeruli [758]. Finally, focal-segmental glomerular obsolescence, scattered segmental crescents over collapsed capillary loop segments, and completely obsolescent glomeruli develop (see also [662a]).

✓ Fig. 23.1. GM-1 gangliosidosis. There are predominantly mesangial (*M*), and podocytic (*P*) and, less frequently, endothelial (*E*) foam cells. Male, 2 years. EM (× 3100)

Fig. 23.2. GM-1 gangliosidosis. Numerous podocytic foam cells (\rightarrow) . Mesangium and capsule are unchanged. Male, 2 years. CAB (\times 730)

Fig. 23.3. Glycogenosis, Pompe type. Massive glycogen storage in tubular cells and capsular epithelium. Male, 3 years. Best's glycogen ($\times 200$)

In later stages, tubular and interstitial changes tend to be more pronounced than those of the glomeruli. The tubules-especially the proximal and distal convolutesare partially markedly widened and lined by a flattened epithelium. The tubular nuclei are sometimes strikingly polymorphic, and tubular multinuclear giant cells are frequently encountered. These swan neck-like changes of the proximal tubules (Fig. 23.8; [287]) are not to be interpreted as the cause but as the consequence of the renal changes; they occur with increasing frequency as the disease becomes more severe. Necroses and mitoses are rarely encountered in the dilated tubular sections (own observation; [758]). We have found vacuolization of tubular epithelium in contracted kidneys only. Such vacuolization is probably the consequence of the attendant hypokalemia. Atrophic tubules with thickened BM are also found [758].

Page 458

Fig. 23.4. Same case as in Figure 22.3, showing straight parts of proximal tubules in glycogen storage disease. Note the lilac pith-like cells. Male, 3 years. HE (1550)

Fig. 23.5. Contracted kidney in glycogenosis, type II. Female, 16 years. Van Gieson (\times 280) (published [1563])

Fig. 23.6. Contracted kidney in Fabry's disease. With the exception of capsular epithelium, glomerular cells are intensely swollen, and evidence extremely fine foaminess. Scanty lymphocytic interstitial infiltrates and obvious tubular atrophy are present. Male, 27 years. HE (\times 280)

Fig. 23.7. Same case as in Figure 23.6, showing extensive glome-rular obsolescence. No Fabry cells are recognizable. PAS ($\times 100$)

Page 459

Fig. 23.8. So-called swan-neck-like proximal tubule in cystine storage disease. Note focal narrowing (\rightarrow) of otherwise cystoid distended proximal tubule lined by flattened epithelium. Male, 27 years. HE (×250)

Fig. 23.9. Same case as in Figure 23.8, showing deposits of cystine crystals with partial birefringence in renal interstitium. Male, 27 years. HE (\times 800)

Fig. 23.10. Contracted kidney in primary oxalosis in 22-year-old son of the patient presented in Figure 23.12. Massive thickening of tubular BM without recognizable oxalate deposits. HE (\times 550)

Fig. 23.11. Extensive deposits of calcium oxalate crystals in renal medulla in primary oxalosis. Female, 5.5 years. HE (\times 100)





In the late stages of the disease, the picture is completely dominated by severe interstitial fibrosis which contains focal infiltrates of lymphocytes and histiocytes and, rarely, plasma cells. Additionally, groups of cystine crystals which, as shown in EM examination, lie in unidentifiable interstitial cells, are also found [758]. Cystine crystals in glomerular and tubular epithelial cells are very rarely present (own observation).

Prognosis

The prognosis is hopeless in all forms of cystinosis which involve the kidney. Removal of cystine from the diet appears to promote the development of children. In renal transplants performed in patients with cystinosis (13 cases so far described), a few interstitial cystine deposits have been demonstrated [649, 930, 977, 1000].

Pathogenesis

The pathogenesis of cystinosis is still unknown. EM study of various tissues indicates that the crystal formation takes place primarily in the lysosomes in the absence of any demonstrable lysosomal enzyme deficiency [1458]. Accordingly, attention is currently focused on a primary membrane disturbance or on a transmembranous transport impairment of cystine as a possible causes of the disease.

The pathogenesis of the renal symptoms (Fanconi's syndrome) has also eluded clarification. A cystine-caused inhibition of sulfhydryl-group containing enzymes as a result of an increase in cystoplasmic cystine concentration would offer a plausible mechanism [1444].

Renal Oxalosis [1337, 1741]

Definition

Renal oxalosis is a disease characterized by the deposition of calcium oxalate crystals due to either a congenital enzyme deficiency or endo- or exogenous poisoning.

Nosology

Primary hyperoxaluria (types I and II), and secondary hyperoxaluria in uremia (with severe acidosis), and in poisoning—among other causes—may be recognized.

Clinical Findings

Primary Hyperoxaluria, Type I. We have encountered this form only rarely in our biopsy material (0.19% of 2080 biopsies). In 3 out of 4 cases, clinical diagnosis preceded bioptic confirmation. The incidence of type I is about the same in both sexes; it follows an autosomal-recessive inheritance pattern [1741]. Usually, the first unspecific renal symptoms appear in childhood and the patients generally die after a 10-year duration of the disease which occurs to 80% of the patients before the age of 20.

In addition to slight proteinuria, microhematuria is usually observed. Uremia can develop so very insidiously that patients first come to medical attention in terminal renal insufficiency. The disease rarely manifests itself with extrarenal symptoms such as total AV-block which we observed in one of our own cases [724a].

In about 50% of the patients, urolithiasis (calcium oxalate) occurring in youth points to the underlying disease. The disease rarely demonstrates a favorable course with renal symptoms first appearing after the age of 40.

In advanced renal changes, crystal deposition is recognizable radiologically by the presence of a fine, dense renal opacity [724a]. Hyperoxaluria may be the only sign of disease uncovered during examination of family members. At autopsy, calcium oxalate deposits in the form of crystals are found in numerous organs [1791, 724a].

Type II. Only a few cases of this form are known [1741]. The mode of inheritance is also probably autosomal recessive.

The clinical picture is dominated by nephrolithiasis and microhematuria. Renal insufficiency apparently does not develop. We are not aware of any published morphologic data.

Fig. 23.12. Oxalate crystals seen in birefringence (cf. Fig. 23.10). \triangleright Female, 59years. HE (×100)

Fig. 23.13. Same case as in Figure 23.10, in which masses of calcium oxalate are seen in arterial wall in primary oxalosis. Male, 22 years. PAS (\times 400)

Fig. 23.14. Massive deposits of calcium oxalate crystals in the capsular space, in a glomerular mesangium and in tubules (*) in a 10-year-old boy with primary oxalosis. Stroma shows intense inflammatory infiltration, and tubules are more or less destroyed. HE (\times 350)

Fig. 23.15. Isolated calcium oxalate crystals in distal tubule. Patient presented with abscessing cholangitis, anuria, and severe acidosis. Female, 63 years. HE (\times 700)



Secondary Form. Isolated calcium oxalate crystals are found in about 70% of the autopsy cases with uremia. They are more numerous in the presence of acidosis (Fig. 23.15). There are a few reports of extrarenal crystal deposits [79]; however, we feel that the presence of a primary form in these cases has not been unequivocally excluded.

A very severe secondary oxalosis (125–500 crystals/cm²) has been reported following methoxyflurane [57, 274] or halothane [320a] anesthesia. Following ingestion of ethylene glycol (antifreeze), severe oxalosis of the kidney and a coarse vacuolar epithelial change—chiefly of the proximal tubules—have been observed ([1769, 1791]; see p. 125). It appears that crystal deposition is less injurious to the kidney than are the ethylene glycol metabolites which lead to edema and decreased intrarenal blood flow [1247]. Renal changes and insufficiency improve with dialysis but irreversible damage is usually present [611]. Other causes of secondary oxalosis are pyridoxin deficiency and resection of small intestine [332a]. In the latter case, oxalic acid stone formation is the predominant symptom [332a].

LM Findings

In the primary form (type I), the biopsy usually reveals severe collapse obsolescence of the glomeruli with severe focal tubular atrophy, striking thickening of tubular BM (Fig. 23.10) and marked increase of interstitial connective tissue infiltrated with lymphocytes (Fig. 23.11) and a few histiocytes. The deposited crystals may be overlooked in the PAS stain, but they are easily recognizable with the HE stain (Fig. 23.11). Their enormous number becomes apparent under polarized light due to their birefringence (Fig. 23.12).

The often slightly PAS-positive crystals are one-fifth to one-half the size of normal glomeruli. They are coarse and demonstrate dense, radial bands. They occur in interstitium and in tubules where they usually replace destroyed epithelial cells.

Relatively well-preserved epithelial cells contain a few very fine crystals demonstrable by their birefrigence [1769]. In glomeruli which are more or less intact, there occurs an unspecific glomerulosclerosis with mesangial thickening but without significant cellular increase. Glomeruli which are more severly changed show collapse as well as occasional massive crystal deposits in the capsular space (Fig. 23.14).

A few calcium oxalate crystals are found in the peripheral arteries present in the needle biopsy (Fig. 23.13). Additionally, marked adaptive intimal fibrosis may be observed in the region of the arcuate and interlobular arteries. In three-fourths of our hypertensive cases, there was no hypertensive vasculopathy. Moreover, arterioles in the neighborhood of crystal granulomas were inflammatorily split and fibrosed. In secondary oxalosis, oval calcium oxalate crystals are present in straight parts of proximal tubules; they are not accompanied by an inflammatory reaction (Fig. 23.15).

EM Findings

The glomerular BM is often clearly thickened and demonstrates small crystal deposits. Capsular epithelial cells are edematous (Fig. 23.16) as are podocytes which also exhibit degenerative changes. The mesangium is thickened and has an increased matrix (Fig. 23.16; experimental findings: [352, 522]). With scanning EM, the massive interstitial crystals appear as fine sheaf-like crystal aggregates [1143]. The much-thickened and multiplysplit tubular BM is strikingly perforated [1337]. With careful preparation, fine groups of calcium oxalate crystals can be demonstrated in the perforations (Fig. 23.17) as well as large multilayered structures with light centers [1337]. On one occasion, we found numerous crystals in the myocytes of an artery (Fig. 23.18).

Differential Diagnosis

Under polarized light, there are no diagnostic problems (see above for differentiation between primary and secondary forms). Urate crystals in gout are much finer, more sheaf-like, larger and, above all, water soluble.

Fig. 23.16. Same case as in Figure 23.10. Capsular BM (*CBM*) \triangleright is highly thickened and split, and demonstrates a crystalline inclusion (\rightarrow) and numerous lacunae indicating where crystals were torn out during tissue preparation. Highly swollen capsular epithelial cells (*CE*). Glomerular capillary loops are fairly well preserved. Mesangial matrix (*MM*) is increased. Male, 22 years. EM (\times 3600)

Fig. 23.17. Same case as in Figure 23.10, showing calcium oxalate crystals in tubular BM. Male, 22 years. EM $(\times 24,000)$

Fig. 23.18. Calcium oxalate deposits (\rightarrow) seen in myocytes of a small renal artery. Female, 15 years. EM (×1500)



23.16

Prognosis

In primary oxalosis (type I), prognosis is hopeless. Transplants show relapse (10 out of 10 [1420]). Accordingly, primary oxalosis (type I) is considered as a contraindication for renal transplantation [366, 481, 647].

Prognosis in secondary oxalosis depends on the causative factor.

Glycol lesions recover well with dialysis, but these patients, nevertheless, develop an interstitial fibrosis with chronic impairment of renal function [611].

Pathogenesis

The primary form of oxalosis is due to an enzyme deficiency: type I is caused by a deficiency of alpha-ketoglutarate-glycoxylate carboligase [867] and the hyperoxaluric type II, by a deficiency of D-glycerate dehydrogenase [1741].

In type I, increased amounts of oxalic, glyoxylic and glycolic acid are excreted in the urine and in type II, oxalic and glyceric acid.

Crystal deposition (calcium oxalate monohydrate whewellite) begins in the epithelium of the straight part of the proximal tubules by reabsorption [176, 1791] and by binding to mucopolysaccharides. The epithelium is displaced and destroyed by appositional crystal growth resulting in interstitial scarring. There finally occurs anoxia of tubular epithelium due to interstitial capillary obliteration in sclerotic regions.

Glomerular obsolescence is, we believe, chiefly the consequence of the severe pre- and postglomerular vascular changes recognizable in collapse glomeruli. Glomerulonephrosis hardly appears to play a role. We found glomerular crystals exclusively in glomeruli evidencing from a high degree of insufficient perfusion.

Pathogenesis in secondary oxalosis depends on the causative factors.

Kidney in Gout [1799, 1809]

Definition

Renal changes in primary and secondary gout.

Nosology

Primary gout is the classic, idiopathic form of the disease, and secondary gout is the term used to encompass all forms of the disease occurring in the presence of a basic disease entity such as renal insufficiency, leukemia and the Lesch-Nyhan syndrome. Table 23.2. Renal biopsy findings in clinically diagnosed gout (n=18)

Bioptic diagnosis	Incidence	
Gouty kidney	1	
Unspecific GS	4	
Pyelonephritis	5	
Glomerulonephritis	8	

Incidence

Incidence of gout at autopsy varies considerably with region and life standard (60 out of 23 300 autopsies: Z). Since gouty tophi occur almost exclusively in the renal medulla, their presence in needle biopsy is almost incidental (1 out of 2080 biopsies: Z). The renal biopsy findings in patients suffering from gout are given in Table 23.2.

Clinical Findings

Clinically, gout was unknown but later confirmed in our unique biopsy case and in 32 out of 60 autopsy cases with renal tophi. This is easily explained by the fact that acute attacks, joint involvement, and bursal tophi may be absent. Renal function is impaired in 10% of the patients [898]. Concomitant PN symptoms and hypertension are frequent (31 out of 60: Z). Nephrolithiasis occurs significantly more often than in control groups (13% of cases: [1799]; 28% of cases: [898]; 41% of cases: [1809]).

In the secondary form of gout, the symptomatology of the basic disease, e.g., leukemia, predominates. The Lesch-Nyhan syndrome [820] is characterized by developmental disturbances, athetosis, self-mutilation, and, terminally, by the consequences of renal gout.

Fig. 23.19. Small gout granuloma encountered fortuitously in \triangleright a renal biopsy undertaken because of chronic pyelonephritis. Granuloma is seen surrounding amorphous sodium urate. Van Gieson (×120)

Fig. 23.20. Typical gout tophus in kidney of a patient who succumbed from uremia due to chronic pyelonephritis. Sodium urate crystals have dissolved, and their remaining lacunae are surrounded by foreign body giant cells (\rightarrow). There are numerous interstitial lymphocytes and phagocytes; sclerosis of surrounding connective tissue is present. Male, 64 years. HE (\times 120)

Fig. 23.21. Unspecific glomerulosclerosis associated with gout. Mesangial matrix is clearly increased without accompanying cell increase. Podocytes and endothelial cells are slightly swollen or hypertrophied; BM is unchanged. Note the two artificial punch nuclei (*). Female, 48 years. EM (\times 4100)



LM and EM Findings

Of our autopsy gout cases, 23 out of 60 did not have gouty renal changes. Tophi (57% of autopsy cases: [1799]; 37% of autopsy cases: [581]) are pathognomonic for gout. They are only present exceptionally in cortical tissue, but usually in the medulla. They may demonstrate, in the beginning, a center of finely granular amorphic material (Fig. 23.19) or, in more advanced cases, aggregates of thin crystal-shaped lacunae (Fig. 23.20) since sodium urate is usually completely washed out in aqueous fixatives. Therefore, we recommend the Schultz stain (carmine methylene blue: [610]) on alcohol-fixed material in suspected cases. The lacunae arising from the dissolved crystals are surrounded by foreign body giant cells (Fig. 23.20) which, in turn, are surrounded peripherally by numerous histiocytes. These cells surround the amorphic urate masses in the form of a crown so that confusion with epithelial cells is possible. Unspecific granulation tissue follows in the periphery of the cellular wall which, around old tophi, is transformed into scar tissue.

Tubules are interrupted by fairly large granulomas. We encountered nephrohydrosis, however, in only 3 out of 60 cases. Cortical atrophy is always found proximal to large tophi. In 8 out of 60 autopsy cases and in 5 out of 18 biopsies, we found clear-cut evidence of unspecific glomerulosclerosis (Fig. 23.21; 57% [581]).

The mesangium is widened, there is no increase in cells, but an obvious increase of matrix (contra: [1243]). With LM, glomerular BM thickening is discernable which, with EM, is shown to be mainly due to a thickening of the lamina rara interna.

In 40% of our autopsy cases and 4 out of 18 biopsies (24%: [581]) chronic PN was present. This is five-fold the incidence of an age-matched control group [1799].

In secondary gout, e.g., leukemia, numerous tubular ammonium urate crystals without reaction of tubular and interstitial cells were our only finding (Fig. 23.24).

Pathogenesis and Etiology

In primary gout, renal crystal formation primarily occurs either in the medullary interstitium, where sodium urate concentration is highest [1809, 1678, 799] or in the lumen and epithelial cells of the collecting ducts [435].

We have found an increased incidence of hypertension exclusively in cases with severe secondary PN. A direct triggering of hypertension by metabolic disturbances appears highly unlikely. We attribute the increased incidence of PN to impairment of tubular flow by interstitial tophi.

Symptomatic attacks of gout in the presence of polycythemia, treated myeloid leukemia, renal insufficiency etc. are not to be considered as primary metabolic disturbances. Acute renal insufficiency occurring in symptomatic hyperuricemia (uric acid serum concentration > 20 mg/100 ml) associated with malignant lymphoma and leukemia—which is more frequent after therapy—has been occassionally described [853]. The lesion appears to be caused by intratubular crystal formation and not by ureteral obstruction. There are no biopsy findings reported on this condition. The lesion is always reversible with appropriate therapy [853].

The Lesch-Nyhan syndrome is caused by a congenital enzyme deficiency of hypoxanthine-guanine-phosphoriboxyl transferase [1475].

Alport's Syndrome [521, 757, 1422, 1496]

Definition

Alport's syndrome is an inherited progressive renal disease usually associated with nerve deafness [18].

Synonym: Hereditary nephritis, a term which also encompasses other diseases.

Incidence

Exact data for the overall incidence are unknown. This familial disease is certainly rare, but more frequent than formerly believed. When pedigree studies are made in a given case (Fig. 23.22), it becomes evident that the disease is often overlooked clinically and misinterpreted at autopsy [521].

In our needle biopsy material, we have observed a total of 36 cases; 23 studied with LM and 13 with LM and EM (1.73% of all biopsies) from 19 families.

It must be noted, that since EM allows a definite diagnosis, frequency increased in our biopsy material from 1.2%, in biopsies investigated by LM only, to 4% in biopsies studied with EM.

Clinical Findings

The disease follows on autosomal-dominant inheritance pattern and is more frequent in boys than girls. Sporadically occurring cases are rare. The majority of afflicted males die between the ages of 10 and 40 (Fig. 23.23) and women not rarely live to the age of 60. In a series of cases, 1 out of 7 women died postpartum [268]. In our own material encompassing information on 19 families, we encountered one postpartal death due to eclampsia (see also [521]).

The disease begins in childhood, usually with microhematuria (11 out of 36: Z) or macrohematuria (19 out of 36: Z) and often in the wake of acute upper respiratory tract infection (11 out of 36: Z). Proteinuria and edema are more rarely present at disease onset (12 out of 36: Z). In women, the first sign of the disease may appear during pregnancy as proteinuria (6 out of 19 families: Z).

A nephrotic syndrome may appear lateron in the disease course (5 out of 15: [474]; 7 out of 10: [697]; 4 out of 36: Z). Renal insufficiency sets in with increasing duration of illness. Hypertension is rare (1 out of 36: Z).

Nerve deafness and eye symptoms occur in varying frequency in different families. In 19 families examined, nerve deafness were present in 9 and eye symptoms in 2-in one as fundus albipunctatus [1422]—and in the other as severe anterior lenticonus.

There are a few reports of hyperprolinemia [877, 1048, 1106], hyperhydroxyprolinuria [1106] and of hyperprolinuria [877].





Family 1



Fig. 23.23. Age and sex of patients dying of renal failure from 19 families with Alport's syndrome (published [521])

LM Findings

The LM findings are unspecific. At autopsy, the disease was described diversely as GN, PN or nondestructive IN [77, 145, 264, 351, 586, 684, 894, 1325, 1422, 1791].

At autopsy, the glomeruli are extensively obsolescent and the interstitium is widened, fibrotic, and loosely infiltrated with lymphocytes. Massive occurrence of interstitial and tubular foam cells (Fig. 23.27) reported in 40% of a series of cases [521]—which we have also rarely found in glomeruli (see also [338, 145])—are viewed by us as characteristic of the disease. They are not, however, either obligatory or pathognomonic. They are usually of tubular epithelial and, occassionally, of histiocytic origin [1352, 1545]. The tubules are severely atrophic. We have never observed pyelonephritic destruction. The arteries are severely changed in the sense of adaptive intimal fibrosis. Some investigators [338] have also reported arterial foam cells which we have never observed.

A completely different picture may emerge upon examination of early cases without renal insufficiency or those before the stage of terminal renal insufficiency. In such cases, the glomeruli show minimal and axial mesangial matrix increase (Fig. 23.26) with or without segmental sclerosis (Fig. 23.25; [1545]). Glomerular BM is moderately or severely thickened in less than one fourth of the cases (8 out of 38: Z). The interstitium usually shows only scanty infiltrates of inflammatory cells. The vessels are unchanged. Interstitial foam cells are less frequent than those in the tubules (8 out of 36: Z; 5 out of 8: [1545]).

We have encountered fetal glomeruli, $30-120 \mu m$ large with cubic to prismatic podocytes and scarcely recognizable loop lumens (Fig. 6.1), in 10 out of 36 biopsies exclusively in patients under 10 years of age [36, 145, 915]. LM findings in 101 cases ([521] plus additional cases of our own) prior to terminal renal insufficiency are summarized in Table 23.3.

Table 23.3. LM findings in 101 cases of Alport's syndrome prior to terminal renal insufficiency ([521] plus additional own cases)

Finding	Frequency (%)
Mesangial matrix increase	84
BM thickening	80
Mesangial cell increase	67
Interstitial fibrosis	67
Patchy tubular atrophy	58
Obsolescent glomeruli	40
Segmental glomerulosclerosis	50
Interstitial foam cells	40
Interstitial infiltrates	40
Synechiae	35
Segmental crescents	35



23.24 23.25

IF Findings

The findings are often negative (8 out of 19: Z; 38 out of 40: [814]; 4 out of 5: [697]). However, in 5 out of 19, we found IgM alone (Fig. 23.28), in 2 out of 19 in combination with C3 (see also [521]); in 4 out of 19 IgG was simultaneously present in focal-segmental distribution along the glomerular BM, and in one case IgA and in another fibrin was also demonstrable.

Other investigators have reported similar findings: IgG and complement in 2 out of 40 cases [814], complement alone in 1 out of 5 [697], complement in 5 out of 5; and in 1 out of 5 IgM and in 2 out of 5 cases fibrin [1546] were present.

EM Findings

The characteristic EM findings [697, 1545] consist of a longitudinal splitting (lamellation) and of a fragmentation and reticulation of lamina densa (Figs. 6.24, 23.29, 23.30; 13 out of 13: Z) as well as thinning of BM (12 out of 13: Z). For glomerular findings see also Figs. 6.9, 6.21, 6.34, 6.57, 6.64, 6.80, 6.88.

In the youngest patients—who usually are the least afflicted—the glomerular changes are still focal and limited to a few capillary loops above which fusion of podocytic foot processes is observed. Later, more and more loops are afflicted and the BM is totally thickened with sharp but wave-like subepithelial demarcation (Fig. 23.29).

✓ Fig. 23.24. Secondary urate deposition chiefly in distal tubules after intensive treatment of myeloid leukemia. Schultz (×140)

Fig. 23.25. Glomerular segmental sclerosis in clinically and EMdignosed Alport's syndrome representing a later stage than in Figure 23.26. Incipient renal insufficiency. Male, 9 years. PAS $(\times 160)$

Fig. 23.26. Glomerulus is shown with partially thickened glomerular capillary loop (\rightarrow) in patient with familial hematuria. Since intramembranous (although not highly osmiophilic) deposits were found with EM, diagnosis of intramembranous GN was made. Subsequent renal biopsy of patient's 16-year-old sister revealed Alport's syndrome with EM.

Reexamination of the brother's biopsy resulted in revised diagnosis of Alport's syndrome with secondary deposits (cf. Fig. 23.29). Male, 18 years. PAS (\times 500)

Fig. 23.27. Renal biopsy from a patient with typical clinical symptoms of Alport's syndrome which was confirmed with EM. Majority of tubules are not significantly altered. A few clusters of foam cells (\rightarrow) and a large, unspecific interstitial infiltrate (*) are present. Male, 17 years. PAS (×200)



Fig. 23.28. Alport's syndrome with IgM deposits which are massive at vascular pole but only slight in the loop periphery and vas afferens. Male, 5 years. IF (\times 500)

The densa lamellae are 300–1000 Å thick, usually arranged in parallel or net-like (reticulation). Between these densa lamellae, two types of particles are found: 200–300 Å round and compact; 500–700 Å round and bulb-like (Fig. 23.31; see also [697, 283]). These BM changes were intimated in earlier publications [351, 438, 814, 915]. BM thinning nearly always accompanies the above described BM changes (12 out of 13:Z; [1401 a]) but is usually more clearly recognizable in early disease stages where a thinning of isolated loops of the otherwise unaffected BM may be present.

BM thickening and splitting of the glomerular capsule (5 out of 13: Z) and of the tubules (3 out of 13: Z; [268]) have been observed, but they are nonspecific.

Scanty (8 out of 13: Z) or numerous (1 out of 13: Z) finely granular osmiophilic deposits have been observed within the lamina densa in severely changed BM segments (Figs. 23.25, 23.26, 23.27). A few of the deposits are surrounded by a light area as is seen with immunode-posits undergoing degradation.



While we have observed these absolutely characteristic BM changes (EM only) in all of our Alport cases, other investigators have reported cases of hereditary nephritis without these BM changes [283, 697]. Further study will reveal whether those cases without BM changes belong to Alport's syndrome or benign familial hematuria (see p. 476) or even to other not yet clearly delimited forms of hereditary nephritis. Other investigators challenge the pathognomic significance of the described BM changes in general [695].

It has not been possible to follow the secondary proliferative reaction, assumedly arising from capillary loop injury, with EM in serial biopsies. In 10 out of 13 of our cases studied with EM, we found slight (Fig. 23.33) to very severe (Fig. 23.34) mesangial thickening with hypercellularity and increased matrix (Fig. 23.35); 8 out of 13 demonstrated endothelial hypertrophy, podocytic edema or hypertrophy and foot process fusion was present in all 13 (Fig. 23.32). Podocytes and endothelial cells are especially hypertrophied in the region of the considerably thickened BM [268]. In 4 out of 13 cases, capillary loop obsolescence was seen.

Differential Diagnosis

LM differentiation of Alport's syndrome from glomerular minimal change, endotheliomesangial GN and sclerosing or proliferative FGN is impossible in the absence of adequate clinical data. Table 23.5 summarizes different morphologic parameters for elucidation of this differential diagnosis. Among LM parameters, only foam cells

✓ Fig. 23.29. Same case as in Figure 23.26. Peripheral glomerular capillary loop BM is thickened. There are irregularities of the lamina rara interna and externa. Osmiophilic intramembranous (→) and mesangial (→) deposits are present besides severe mesangial matrix increase. Male, 18 years. EM (×8400)

Fig. 23.30. Typical lamellation, reticulation and fragmentation of peripheral BM. Outer aspect of BM is irregular and there are foci of BM thinning (\rightarrow) . Osmiophilic substance in podocytes is increased. Initial clinical diagnosis was GN. Subsequent to biopsy, familial nature of the renal disease was proven. Male, 8 years. EM (×18,000)

and fetal glomeruli are of limited help, but they are not present in all cases of Alport's syndrome. IF investigation is not contributory, whereas the EM parameters are of great importance: BM splitting is present in all cases of Alport's syndrome and BM thinning in more than 80%. Retrospectively, EM study of the original paraffin-embedded material permits clear recognition of these typical BM changes; this is also true for advanced cases reminiscent of membranoproliferative GN [1799]. Not all types of BM splitting indicate Alport's syndrome (Table 23.4; see also [872b]) for which there is only one specific type, as demonstrated in Fig. 23.36. In GN, there is usually a coarse lamellar splitting with large lucid BM defects, the outer and inner continuity of the densa lamellae is far better preserved than in Alport's syndrome, and at least one densa lamella is of normal thickness. In non-GN the densa lamellae are usually long, lamellated and slightly reticulated, while in Alport's syndrome the densa lamellae are short, fragmented, lamellated and reticulated.

Prognosis

The prognosis is hopeless without transplantation. Men usually die earlier (between 10 and 40 years) than women (30-60 years), although the progression of the disease varies considerably in different families. We consider the appearance of segmental glomerular sclerosis as a prognostically significant morphologic change [697]. Between the beginning of the disease and the appearance of segmental glomerulosclerosis, there is a latent period averaging 13 years for men and 26 years for women.

Page 472

Fig. 23.31. Peripheral glomerular BM change in Alport's syndrome. Lamina densa predominantly shows reticulation with some loose osmiophilic deposits and degradation granules and thread-like structures. Irregularity of outer aspect of BM and isolated BM thinning (\rightarrow) are present. Male, 3 years. EM $(\times 32,300)$

Fig. 23.32. Reticulated and irregularly thickened peripheral glomerular BM in Alport's syndrome. Small osmiophilic intramembranous deposits (\rightarrow) and slight fusion of podocytic foot processes (*) are present. Male, 6 years. EM ($\times 23,800$)

Page 473

Fig. 23.33. Alport's syndrome in a 36-year-old woman. Obsolesccnt glomerular capillary loop and severe hypertrophy of podocytes. EM (\times 5430)

Fig. 23.34. Alport's syndrome with advanced mesangial sclerosis and intense cell increase and hypertrophy (poor fixation). Male, 6.5 years. EM (\times 3480)







Fig. 23.35. Mesangial sclerosis in Alport's syndrome. Coarse and loosened matrix bars with masses of degradation granules. Male, 23 years. EM (\times 22,800)

Morphologic parameter		LM		IF	EM basement membrane	
		Foam cells	Fetal glomeruli	IF negative	Splitting	Thinning
Alport's ow syndrome	own cases ^a	n=40 25%	n=40 25%	n=20 15%	n = 20 100%	n = 20 95%
	total cases from literature [521, 695, 1401a]	n = 114 35.9%	^b n = 57 38.5%	n = 75 73%	^b n=64 100%	^b n=49 83.6%
Glomerul (own case	onephritis s)	n=200 5.6%	Unknown beyond 6 months of age except in congenital nephrotic syndrome	n=196 28.6%	n = 340 14.4%	n = 340 2.9%
Non-GN nephropathies (own cases)		n=1100 0.2%	Unknown beyond 6 months of age except in cystinosis	n=76 55%	n = 145 4.8%	n = 145 0%

Table 23.4. Differential diagnostic significance of morphologic parameters in Alport's syndrome with respect to GN and non-GN

^a Including recent cases not referred to in text.

^b Significantly more frequent than in GN or non-GN (chi-square-test: p<0.001).

n Number of cases. % Percent of cases in which parameter present.

A decrease in creatinine clearance was found in cases with segmental glomerular sclerosis in 7 of 12 of our patients and in only 4 out of 24 without the change. Proteinuria is also more frequent in the group with segmental sclerosis (see also [521]). We observed a nephrotic syndrome exclusively in the group with segmental glomerular sclerosis as occurred in our only case with hypertension. Our concept of the morphogenesis and significance of morphologic findings is presented in Figure 23.37 (see also: [1837].).

Pathogenesis

The primary injury lies, morphologically, in the glomerular BM; it is not known how it occurs. We suppose that the underlying cause is to be found in a congenital enzyme deficiency—most likely of the podocytes—leading to formation of abnormal BM substance which is first discernable as a structural lamina densa change during the course of childhood.

The previously mentioned, and certainly inconstant disturbance in proline metabolism (see p. 467), could support this otherwise unproven supposition as could the finding that the BM is incapable of binding antiglomerular BM antiserum reacting with the BM in non-Alport patients [1044]. Seven cases of transplants—including one of our own—without relapse after months and years currently known also reinforce the above contention [268].

The BM change is implicated in hematuria as well as in other functional changes which, as in Fabry's disease, for example, trigger a proliferative and sclerosing reaction which cannot be qualitatively differentiated from



Fig. 23.36. Selection of the varying types of BM splitting in non-GN and GN kidney diseases and Alport's syndrome. Drawings—only of lamina densa of BM of the peripheral glomerular capillary loops—obtained by tracing lamina densa lamellae from electron micrographs from a group of 75 cases. Subdivision in the three groups indicated was done in single-blind fashion uniquely on the basis of their common configuration (i.e., without knowledge of the underlying disease, by persons without medical training). Unspecific BM splitting is found mainly in non-GN, whereas BM splitting in the presence of intramembranous deposits was chiefly encountered in GN

GN. We believe that the osmiophilic deposits quite frequently seen are due to insudation arising from BM permeability disturbances. They may play an essential role in progression of the disease (Fig. 23.37).

The origin of foam cells is the same as that which is operative in so called lipoid nephrosis, e.g., GN, glomerular minimal change, etc., whereby blood lipoproteins, reaching the renal filtrate due to glomerular injury are reabsorbed in the tubules and stored as cholesterol esters and given off to the interstitium. Such afflicted kidneys may contain 3.5–40 times the normal amount of renal cholesterol esters [1189].

Hereditary macrothrombocytopathia (with deafness and renal changes) is thought to be closely related to Alport's syndrome, but in this disease, girls are more afflicted than boys. Focal GN has been described in association with the disease. In EM, however, the typical BM changes are absent [438].

Idiopathic and Benign Familial Hematuria

Definition

The entity *idiopathic (essential) hematuria* is a disease in which morphologic (LM, EM and IF) findings are negative [655]. The same consideration is valid for *benign familial hematuria* in which, however, EM examination may show slight BM changes. Furthermore, EM is required for exclusion of Alport's disease which cannot be determined with LM alone.

Incidence

The incidence of both entities is not well known. Among 29 cases of isolated hematuria studied with LM, only 10 out of 29 were idiopathic and 9 out of these familial [655].

Clinical Findings

Microhematuria is relapsing and often occurs subsequent to respiratory tract infection [685, 995]. Hearing impairment or serum complement changes do not occur [909, 1039]. Familial stigmata must, of course, be especially sought in cases of microhematuria [1039].

LM and IF Findings

In keeping with the definition, the findings are completely negative in benign familial and in idiopathic (essential) hematuria (LM: [1484, 1009, 1039]; IF: [1009]).

EM Findings

In benign familial hematuria, a partially focal, partially diffuse BM thinning (Fig. 6.56) of up to 1040 Å [695, 1351], as well as the presence of numerous erythrocytes in the capsular space, are supposedly indicative of the disease. Perforations and other injuries to the BM have also been described [1351].

The description of BM splitting [695]—not confirmed by photographic evidence—arouses strong suspicion of Alport's syndrome whose inheritance pattern, moreover, appears to be the same as that of familial hematuria [1351].

Differential Diagnosis

Differential diagnosis must be undertaken with great caution. As mentioned previously, LM, IF and EM findings are supposed to be negative. Additionally, a sufficient number of glomeruli must be present for study. Examination of a large series of biopsies of purported idiopathic hematuria have almost always revealed the clear-cut pathologic findings of other diseases such as proliferative FGN [678, 995, 1242, 1544]. This suggests that idiopathic and familial hematuria are rare diseases. Some cases with negative morphologic findings may be diagnosed as idiopathic hematuria for years and, in the long run be shown to have been the consequence of a hemangioma, of a subpelvic cyst [973], or, of course, of a pyelonephritically induced fornix bleeding or even of a renal (pelvc) tumor. Formerly (without EM and IF), there was probably broad overlapping with IgA-GN.

Prognosis

The prognosis of genuine idiopathic and familial hematuria appears to be absolutely benign. A few cases reported ending in uremia [995] were probably falsely diagnosed.

Pathogenesis

The pathogenesis is obscure. The familial benign form may possibly be related to Alport's syndrome [1393].

Nail-Patella Syndrome

The nail-patella syndrome is a very rare familial disease—apparently closely related to Alport's syndrome characterized by nail dysplasia and osseous abnormalities (osteo-chondro-dystrophy: [421]) of the knee, elbow and ilium (iliac horns).



Fig. 23.37. Morphogenesis of contracted kidney in Alport's syndrome based on an analysis of our own cases. There is a progressive involvement—as seen under EM—of glomerular capillary loop BM within single glomerulus (and different glomeruli) which proceedes more rapidly in the male than in the female, and which results in segmental glomerular sclerosis—on average at age 20 in the male and 40 in the female. Thereafter, development of contracted kidney probably proceedes very rapidly since death occurs in males on average at age 27 and in females at 45 years. Thus, we consider segmental glomerular sclerosis as an indication of a more rapid decrease of renal function during the following decade



Fig. 23.38. Nephronophthis in a 9-year-old girl. There are numerous small cysts at the corticomedullary junction. Dark foci represent inflammatory interstitial infiltrates. Tubules are severely atrophic, but a few demonstrate compensatory hypertrophy. Some of the glomeruli are completely obsolescent (\rightarrow). HE (×15)

Fig. 23.39. Same case as in Figure 23.38. At the corticomedullary junction, most of the tubules are severely atrophic and show thickened BM; a few tubules evidence compensatory hypertrophy but are otherwise unchanged (\rightarrow). Interstitium shows inflammatory infiltrates and sclerosis. Female, 9 years. HE (\times 180)

In one series of cases [117] 36 out of 72 patients showed renal symptoms: 17 proteinuria, 12 pathologic urinary sediment with erythrocytes, leukocytes and casts, 7 decreased concentration of urine, and 5 decreased creatinine clearance. Of the patients with the disease, 27% die due to renal impairment [117].

LM and IF findings are unspecific and similar to those described for Alport's syndrome. Podocytic giant cells may be present in EM. All family members demonstrating osseous lesions—also those without clinical renal involvement—show a deposition of collagenous material in the BM as well as irregular BM thickening (12 cases: [117]), with mothhole-like defects. These BM changes appear to be highly specific and may be even pathognomonic.

As a cause of the disease, a disturbance of structural carbohydrates or pathologic collagen formation have been proposed. A renal transplant in an 11 year old boy has remained free of relapse [421]—as in Alport's syndrome—which points to local cellular disturbance of the host kidney. In one case, nail-patella syndrome was complicated by Goodpasture's syndrome [1847].

Primary Tubulopathy [545, 1474, 1555]

LM, EM, histochemical studies as well as microdissections have, as yet, not revealed any pathognomonic findings in primary tubulopathy (Table 23.5) nor have they contributed to a better understanding of the disease. In phosphate diabetes and renal tubular acidosis, the described morphologic changes appear to be more related to the secondarily developing nephrocalcinosis than to the basic disease. Currently available publications or morphologic examinations are summarized in Table 23.5.

Table 23.5. Primary tubulopathies

Disease entity	Literature
Renal glucodiabetes	[1121, 1122, 1123, 1124, 1326]
(=glucosuria)	[940, 1276, 507]
Renal diabetes insipidus	[120, 249, 342, 850, 988, 1696]
Phosphate diabetes	[1190, 1251, 1276, 1724]
(=vitamin D-resistant	
rickets)	
Renal tubular acidosis	[1], 69, 583, 1423, 1762]
(=Butler-Albright-	
Lightwood syndrome)	
Hartnup syndrome	[347, 699, 711]
Lowe syndrome	[1218, 1390, 1405, 1645, 1754]
Primary congenital	[306, 316, 376, 735, 887, 1185,
complete and incomplete	1584, 1725, 1749, 590a, 1050]
Fanconi syndrome	(Fig. 4.25)

Secondary Fanconi Syndrome

The secondary Fanconi syndrome has been described up to now in the following conditions: subsequent to heavy metal poisoning (many cases), in Wilson's disease, plasmocytoma, galactosemia, tyrosinosis, tetracycline poisoning and in relation to poisoning with numerous aromatic compounds [1474].

Nephronophthisis [655, 924]

Definition

Nephronophthisis is a familial disease with autosomalrecessive inheritance (occasionally dominant: [146, 691]) which is not primarily a vascular or glomerular renal affliction. The entity leads to contracted kidney in childhood and is thought to be identical with medullary cystic disease of the kidney (see below).

Incidence

The disease is very rare (2 out of 25,000 autopsies and 3 out of 2080 biopsies: Z; 69 cases: [457, 924]).

Clinical Findings

82% of the cases are familial and usually of the autosomal-recessive inheritance type [924]. Boys and girls are equally afflicted in about the fourth year of life [1395]. The symptoms are: decreasing concentrating ability of the kidney, polyuria and polydipsia, anemia, and later, azotemia, salt loss, and imino-acid disturbances [118, 830a]. Other urinary findings are reported to be practically normal [457]. Hypertension is usually not present, or only terminally [456]. Renal X-ray abnormalities are frequent in the form of ectatic tubules and papillary blush [830a].

Retinal dystrophy may be present as well as cerebellar ataxia and skeletal hyperplasia [146] and, rarely, liver fibrosis [1299]. Death usually occurs between the fourth and 25th years of life (average: 11.2 years [551]). In the Senior-Loken syndrome, inflammatory tapetoretinal degeneration is present [479, 26a]. Allied diseases are probably the recessively inherited renal-retinal dysplasia [57a] and less-defined forms of familial interstitial nephritis [296b].



Fig. 23.40. By and large obsolescent glomerulus (collapse type) in nephronophthisis. Male, 5 years. EM (\times 2370)

LM Findings

At autopsy, small, uniformly contracted kidneys are found, each weighing 20–40 g [551]. At this advanced stage of the disease, the findings are scarcely decipherable. Nevertheless, an important finding is the presence of cysts of up to 10 mm in the outer medulla (Figs. 5.15, 23.38) which we have observed in 2 out of 5 of our autopsy cases (6 out of 15 cases: [924, 1395]) and which are usually not found in biopsies (0 out of 3 cases: Z). The cysts may also occur in the cortex [575, 691, 1350] and are said to arise from collecting ducts [691, 1495].

The high degree of parenchymal atrophy is considerably more extensive in the cortex than in the medulla. The glomeruli are mostly obsolescent (collapse type) and demonstrate thickening of Bowman's capsule [1358, 340] from which obsolescence is thought to procede [638]. Severe periglomerular fibrosis is also encountered [551, 1129, 1495].

Tubular BM is greatly thickened and the tubuli themselves are focally severely atrophic (Fig. 23.39; [638, 691, 755, 966, 1358]. Distal tubules are supposedly injured before the proximal ones [638, 1480]; contra: [551].

Thyroid-like foci have been occassionally described and illustrated [575, 638]. Unchanged or hypertrophic nephrons occur side by side with atrophic ones (Fig. 23.39; [146, 924]; 5 out of 5: Z). Microdissection has revealed tubular diverticulae [1495] and especially so in the descending branch of Henle's loop (15% of a series of cases: [476]). This finding is not specific.

The interstitium exhibits severe increase in connective tissue and almost always contains numerous lymphocytes (Fig. 5.15; [1480]) and occassionally plasma cells [638, 655, 1358], whose occurrence, however, has been denied [457]. The vessels are unchanged.

IF Findings

The IF findings are negative (3 out of 3: Z; [1350]).

EM Findings

Three of our biopsies demonstrated numerous collapse glomeruli in various stages of obsolescence (Figs. 23.40, 23.41). We have not uncovered evidence of a primary glomerular lesion. Severe atrophy of some of the tubules with extensive thickening of their BM (Fig. 23.42)—which is now and again split and vacuolized—(Fig. 23.43) are typical findings.

Thyroid-like tubules rarely occur and are always isolated (never in groups). In varying degrees, the epithelium is secondarily degeneratively changed (Fig. 23.44). Initially, vacuolization and foam cells are present followed by epithelial necrobiosis, detachment and total necrosis. In our cases, we found no deviation from the usual picture of tubular atrophy. We did not find changes in the tubules—which were still well preserved—indicative of a primary tubular lesion.

In all cases, the interstitium is severely broadened by very coarse bundles of collagenous fibrils (Fig. 23.42) between which relatively few phagocytes, a moderate number of small lymphocytes, and a very small number of plasma cells are found. Neither tubules, glomeruli, nor vascular adventitia evidence signs of inflammatory destruction. It is striking that the intertubular capillaries remain practically unchanged despite the presence of interstitial sclerosis (Fig. 23.42).

According to other investigators [1350], healthy family members of afflicted patients supposedly have focally laminar thickened tubular BM and sack-like evaginations.

Differential Diagnosis

Decisive for the diagnosis is the demonstration of a large number of cysts in the medulla. This demonstration is, unfortunately, difficult, since the cysts are rarely present in needle biopsy material.

The absence of destructive interstitial inflammatory foci justifies the exclusion of pyelonephritis. The hypertrophic tubuli encountered in PN—and especially in the early childhood form—must not be confused with cysts. In late disease stages, this differentiation may prove exceedingly difficult.

Fig. 23.41. Same case as in Figure 23.40, illustrating a slight \triangleright collapse change of glomerular capillary loop BM in nephronophthisis. BM is wrinkled and partially somewhat loosened. Foot processes are fused. Male, 5 years. EM (×23,100)

Fig. 23.42. Same case as in Figure 23.40, showing renal interstitium and tubules in nephronophthisis. Tubular atrophy with epithelial dedifferentiation and BM thickening predominate. Note isolated, unspecific foam cell formation (\rightarrow). Interstitium is highly sclerosed and evidences loosely arranged infiltrates consisting of phagocytes, fibrocytes, and a few small lymphocytes. Intertubular capillaries are unchanged. Male, 5 years. EM (×1300)





GN is often not easy to exclude. However, the type of glomerular obsolescence does not correspond to the GN type but to the collapse type.

We have not succeeded in differentiating nephronophthisis from nondestructive interstitial nephritis. It should always be borne in mind that cysts can develop secondarily in all forms of contracted kidney.

The medullary (papillary) sponge kidney does not exhibit severe cortical lesions. It can be unilateral, frequently lead to stone formation and, occasionally, to secondary pyelonephritis [239, 904, 1301, 1308].

Prognosis

The prognosis is practically hopeless unless transplantation is carried i.e. no relapse of the disease occur in the transplant [691].

Pathogenesis

In the first publication [456], the reporting pathologist considered the disease to be a chronic glomerulo-tubulonephrosis with interstitial nephritis, while the discoverer of the disease [456] viewed it as primary tubular destruction and the interstitial nephritis component as a secondary phenomenon. In general, Fanconi's view has prevailed [691, 1480]. Tubular damage is supposedly due to a familial metabolic disturbance (unknown nephrotoxic substance: [691, 1129]). In a later publication [457] Fanconi spoke of a developmental disturbance of the entire nephron.

The thickening of the tubular BM is thought to be due to injury to the tubular epithelium which, in turn, leads to impairment of permeability [1480].

We are not convinced that a primary tubular defect is the basic disease lesion, especially since completely unchanged nephrons are frequently found side by side

✓ Fig. 23.43. Same case of nephronophthisis as in Figure 23.40. Tubular BM is severely thickened and occasionally split; tubular epithelium is dedifferentiated and atrophic. Tubules are surrounded by proliferated fibroblasts and interstitium is sclerosed. Male, 5 years. EM (× 5440)

Fig. 23.44. Same case as in Figure 23.40. Tubular changes in nephronophthisis. Tubular atrophy, dedifferentiation of epithelial cells, and masses of lysosomes are seen. A slight homogeneous BM thickening is present. Male, 5 years. EM (\times 3840)

with those evidencing severe changes. The extent to which medullary cysts due to impairment of urine flow may be responsible for the development of chronic interstitial nephritis—such as is possible in papillary necrosis—awaits further clarification.

In agreement with the majority of investigators, we are of the opinion that the *medullary cystic kidney* and *neph-ronphthisis* are one and the same disease entity [557, 684, 924, 1129, 1253, 1571].

With respect to this statement, it must be firmly realized that there are differences between *benign medullary* (better: *papillary*) *sponge kidney*—with involvement of, above all, the papilla—and *medullary cystic kidney* which are not always appreciated [425, 579, 1149, 1495]. The medullary (papillary) sponge kidney can be unilateral, frequently leads to stone formation and, occasionally, to secondary pyelonephritis [239, 904, 1301, 1308].

It is not known whether the autosomal dominantly inherited cystic kidney afflicting the corticomedullary zonewhich appears during the fourth to fifth decades of life without concomitant anemia or salt loss [1761]-is or is not a mild form of the disease. In any event, the medullary (papillary) sponge kidney is also familial in 50% of the cases. This disease shows, in the majority of cases, an autosomal-recessive inheritance pattern and occurs-above all with anemia-around the twentieth year of life [924]. Diagnosis is usually made in two-thirds of the cases between the third and sixth decades of life. Clinically, differentiation between medullary cystic kidney and medullary (papillary) sponge kidney is not always easy [830a], but usually in the latter disease state radially arranged cysts can be demonstrated radiologically [602a].

Nephrocalcinosis [263, 439, 655, 674, 967, 1791]

Definition

Nephrocalcinosis, either metastatic or dystrophic, is a condition characterized by the deposition of calcium salts intracellularly and extracellularly in the kidney. Extracellularly, the salts occur as calcium casts in the tubular lumen and as calcium depositions in the BM and ground substance of the interstitial connective tissue.

Incidence

A slight deposition of calcium salts in the papillary interstitium is found in 20–100% of autopsies [439, 642, 1717]. Marked nephrocalcinosis is considerably more rare (18 out of 2080 biopsies=0.87%: Z).

Clinical Findings

In the early stages of nephrocalcinosis, the symptoms of the underlying disease which lead to calcium deposition predominate. In the dystrophic form of the disease which follows tubular necrosis, acute renal failure is the main symptom. The early stage of the metastatic form occurring in hypercalcemia is characterized by an insufficiency in urine concentration. In the chronic state, this form can lead to progressive renal insufficiency occasionally accompanied by hypertension [674].

LM Findings

Smaller, granular calcium deposits are very difficult to discern with the PAS stain (Fig. 23.45), so that thorough scanning of the HE-stained slides is extremely important.

In dystrophic calcification, the necrotic, calcified tubular epithelial cells are shed into the lumen (Fig. 23.46). It is sometimes possible to recognize the tubular origin of the epithelial cells from the form of the calcium deposits.

In metastatic calcification, intratubular calcium casts have a clumpy, stratified structure (Fig. 23.47). In this form too, it is sometimes possible to see the primary calcium deposits in the epithelial cells. Polysaccharide can often be demonstrated along with calcium salts in PAS-stains (possibly glycocalyx: [220, 1003]). In addition to amorphic calcium deposits, crystalline deposits are also observed (calcium oxalate, see p. 460).

With LM, intracellular calcium deposits cannot usually be unequivocally identified since they are limited to mitochondria or lysosomes (see below).

Interstitial calcium deposits are observed in the region of the collagen fibers or in the PAS-positive ground substance. Very rarely, calcification of tubular and glomerular BM occurs, but it may be excessive (Figs. 23.45, 23.48; [1356, 1370]).

EM Findings

Since sufficient data for the different forms of nephrocalcinosis in humans are not available, the following discussion, accordingly includes data from animal experiments which should be viewed with appropriate reservation. In metastatic calcification, calcium deposition starts, for example, following parathormone or vitamin D administration in probably previously injured mitochondria. This injury must not be massive however, since calcium accumulation is an active function of the mitochondria. Deposition occurs in the form of apatite crystals [258, 400, 543, 1428].

In the presence of magnesium deficiency, calcium is taken up in the lysosomes (Fig. 23.49; [220]).

Extracellular deposition on BM (Fig. 23.50) and on interstitial collagen fibers (Fig. 23.50) usually takes place in the form of amorphic masses of calcium carbonate [1370, 1356, 1501, 1717]. Calcium salts are primarily deposited in mitochondria—also in the dystrophic form of calcification—before the cells become necrotic and are shed (see p. 486).

Prognosis

The prognosis usually depends on that of the underlying disease which leads to nephrocalcinosis. Accordingly, it is very poor for the extensive dystrophic calcification in cortical necrosis or in toxic tubulonecrosis, e.g., following mercury bichloride (sublimate) poisoning, because of the irreversible renal parenchymal injury (see p. 487).

If the cause of the hypercalcemia which leads to metastatic calcification is eliminated in time, no irreversible renal injury will occur. The associated concentrating insufficiency is reversible. When the hypercalcemia is of longer duration, however, the complications mentioned below can lead to a decrease of renal function and possibly even to hypertension. A recipient of a kidney transplant from a patient with idiopathic hypercalciuria did not show any disturbances of calcium metabolism [744].

Complications

Calcium casts can cause nephrohydrosis, which in turn enhances the occurrence of PN. It is thought that extensive interstitial calcium deposits lead to fibrosis [642, 1717].

Fig. 23.45. Nephrocalcinosis in acute lymphatic leukemia. The \triangleright rather massive calcium deposits (*) are poorly recognizable in this PAS stain, as are the focal tubular BM calcifications (\rightarrow). Male, 3 years. (\times 550)

Fig. 23.46. Dystrophic calcification of necrotic tubular epithelium with cast formation (\rightarrow). Biopsy was taken 7 days after a suicide attempt with mercuric chloride. Mild, nondestructive acute interstitial nephritis is present. There is severe flattening of proximal tubular epithelium. HE (\times 140)

Fig. 23.47. Nephrocalcinosis in idiopathic hypercalcemia. Massive clumps of calcium appear to be lying in the interstitium (*) and are surrounded by foreign body giant cells (\rightarrow). Stroma is highly fibrosed and loosely infiltrated with inflammatory cells. Male, 2.5 years. HE (×270)

Fig. 23.48. Contracted kidney in nephrocalcinosis. There are massive calcium deposits in tubular BM. A wide mucoid layer has developed between tubular BM and epithelium. Male, 36 years. PAS (\times 90)





Fig. 23.49. Same case as in Figure 23.45. In proximal tubular cells, massive calcium deposits are present which are at least partly lying in mitochondria. Male, 3 years. EM $(\times 12,340)$

Fig. 23.50. Same case as in Figure 23.48 with massive calcium deposits in severely split tubular BM. EM $(\times 6670)$

Etiology and Pathogenesis

In dystrophic calcification, calcium precipitation is enhanced by alkalinization of the tissue. A condition for the origination of nephrocalcinosis is the uninterrupted supply of calcium to the tissues from the blood. Therefore, calcification starts on the fringes of infarcted tissue and the central region (deprived of a blood supply) remains free of calcification for a considerable period of time [1315, 1501].

Metastatic calcification, which does not depend on tubulonecrosis, may be either associated with hypercalcemia or normocalcemia (Table 23.6; [674, 1739]). In the latter, it may be due to impaired proximal tubular calcium reabsorption or increased intestinal calcium absorption such as in idiopathic hypercalciuria [1192a].

Metastatic calcium deposition occurs predominantly in the renal medulla. This is explained by the fact that the medullary concentration of calcium is higher than in the cortex, even under physiologic conditions [1717]. A higher incidence of nephrocalcinosis in female animals obtained in experiments is due to their higher concentration of estrogen.

Nephrocalcinosis is also observed in primary or secondary oxalosis, in magnesium deficiency and in hypochloremia [220, 1419, 1591, 1791].

There is also evidence for sex differences in humans since men excrete more calcium under controlled calcium loading than women. Perhaps calcium resorption is more effective in women than in men [361, 537, 1142].

Predominantly experimental data are available relating to the renal zone for primary calcium deposition. Deposition may occur in the lumen (chloride deficiency: [1419]), intracellularly in mitochondria or lysosomes (vitamin D poisoning, parathormone poisoning, magnesium deficinency; calcium gluconate poisoning: [220, 258, 400, 1428]), in BM and in the interstitium [1356, 1370, 1717]. Precipitation occurs in contact with the mucoproteins or collagenous fibers of the ground substance. Chemical analysis of the calcium salts has shown the presence of hexosamines which correspond to those found in bone [537].

Hypercalciuria associated with hypercalcemia	Hypercalciuria associated with normocalcemia
Primary hyperparathyroidism Malignant tumors Osteogenic tumors, skeletal metastasis of nonosseous tumors, following sex- hormone therapy Plasmocytoma Hyperthyreosis Vitamin D poisoning Sarcoidosis Paget's disease of the bone Immobilization Fractures Progressive osteoporosis Idiopathic hypercalcemia of childhood Milk-alkali syndrome	Renal tubular acidosis Fanconi's syndrome Interstitial nephritis Pyelonephritis Cushing's disease Cortisone therapy Osteoporosis (acute attack) Diuretics (furosemide, ethacrynic acid) Idiopathic hypercalciuria Primary oxalosis Magnesium deficiency

Table 23.6. Causes of hypercalciuria (modified from [674])

Toxic and Metabolic Tubulonephrosis [1094, 1448, 1791]

Definition

Toxic tubulonephrosis results from direct injury to the tubular epithelium by exogenous or endogenous poisons. This does not include hypersensitivity responses which may be associated with acute, nondestructive interstitial nephritis (see p. 407).

Incidence

There are no exact data from biopsy or autopsy material; the entity is rare.

Clinical Findings

Renal involvement is usually manifested as acute renal failure. The symptoms of a secondary Fanconi syndrome are infrequently encountered [1091, 1448].

LM Findings

The various morphologic forms of tubular injury observed are the result of the kind and amount of the causative noxious substance [1094].

Fine Vacuolar Degeneration. This form, the so-called carbohydrate-storage kidney or osmotic nephrosis occurs following administration of various plasma expanders.

In these situations, the kidney has usually undergone prior injury from impaired blood flow so that the transepithelial transport of the expanders is disturbed i.e. no longer possible (Figs. 8.16, 8.17, 8.18; see p. 126).

Coarse Vacuolar Degeneration. This form afflicts the epithelium of the proximal tubules and occurs chiefly after glycol poisoning. It is also characteristically observed in hypokalemia as is noted following overdosage of diuretics or after therapy with amphotericin or neomycin (Fig. 8.21).

Diffuse Lipid Deposition. A diffuse deposition of neutral fat—above all at the base of the proximal tubular cells—occurs simultaneously or consecutively with liver dystrophy following hepatitis, phosphorus or mushroom poisoning (Figs. 8.19, 8.20).

Nuclear Inclusion Bodies. These are seen following lead or bismuth poisoning [585, 1084].

Diffuse Tubulonecrosis. This is the most severe form of tubular injury. It is a characteristic finding in acute heavy metal poisoning (e.g., mercury). It is also observed in poisoning with organic solvents (e.g., carbon tetrachloride; Fig. 8.8) and following antibiotic therapy (e.g., viomycin, bacitracin, cephalothin, gentamicin: [1275a, 1765a, 1843, 1844]; Fig. 8.6). Following vitamin D overdosage, there occurs extensive calcification of necrotic tubular epithelium.

Intratubular Precipitate. Precipitation of filtered or secreted substances is another form of tubular injury in which the distal nephrons are most affected.

After administration of poorly soluble sulfonamides which are especially easily precipitable in an acid environment—a granulomatous inflammation develops around the precipitated crystals.

In the renal failure following methoxyflurane anesthesia, oxalate crystals (Fig. 23.15) are precipitated in the tubular lumen in addition to tubular injury caused by the released fluorine [274].

EM Findings

There are only few reports in humans. In general, biopsy material is not available from the early phase of the disease, so that no information relating to the initial injury can be given [274, 480, 1094, 1763].

Experimentally, acute heavy metal poisoning has been best investigated. Following mercury poisoning, the earliest recognizable change is mitochondrial swelling, which is associated with a decrease in ATP synthesis, and acute transport insufficiency in the proximal tubules [708, 860, 1296, 1534]. Other investigators, giving higher doses of mercury, have found loss of the brush border and vacuolization of the endoplasmic reticulum to be the primary changes [527].

When administered to humans in the usual therapeutic doses (5 mg/kg/day), gentamicin leads to myelin figures and autolysosomes in the proximal tubules as well as to massive enzymuria [1719, 1843].

For EM findings in other toxic tubulonephroses, see p. 118.

Differential Diagnosis

No reliable conclusions concerning the etiology of the changes can be drawn from the morphology of the tubules. Ischemic tubulonecrosis in the early stage can hardly be differentiated from that caused by poisons.

The localization of the injury in the nephron allows only conditional conclusions. Experimentally, both ischemia and poisons lead to necrosis, chiefly in the straight parts of the proximal tubules.

Prognosis

Acute renal failure in cases of tubular necrosis currently enjoys a favorable prognosis due to the beneficial effects of dialysis. The Fanconi syndrome also undergoes remission following elimination of the poisons (for details and complications see p. 419).

Etiology and Pathogenesis

Accidental poisoning is the most important cause of tubular necrosis e.g., poisoning with heavy metals, organic solvents, glycol, phosphorus, mushrooms and, formerly, diuretics.

Various antibiotics are also considered tubulotoxic [881, 1094, 1160]. Antibiotics are often given because of severe general infection which itself can lead to tubular injury and impairment of renal function [1275a]. The above statement indicates the difficulty encountered in attempting clarification of the pathogenesis of tubular injury. The direct tubulotoxicity of antibiotics, heavy metals and organic solvents has been proven in animal experiments [881, 1534, 1580].

Clinically, severe general illness is present, which is sometimes accompanied by acute liver insufficiency or shock, indicating that the pathogenesis of acute renal failure has a multifactorial basis. Impaired perfusion of the renal cortex apparently plays a significant role in the disease [19, 56, 709, 1275a].

24. Renal Changes Caused by Impairment of the Circulatory System

Anoxic Glomerular Lesions

Unequivocal capillary loop necrosis (Fig. 24.1) occurs chiefly in arteriolonecrosis of the kidney or at the edge of infarcts.

Collapse glomeruli are far more frequent (Fig. 6.4; see p. 113). Massive fibrinoid deposits in capillary loops, which can even lead to their complete occlusion, are also often encountered (Fig. 24.3).

Under EM, the focal, translucent thickening of the lamina rara interna is characteristic of anoxic injury; it is, however, also seen in nonanoxic endothelial damage occurring with secondary plasma insudation (see p. 64). We have discussed the more severe changes on p. 113.

Hemorrhage

Glomerular bleeding is observed in severe hypertension (Fig. 24.2) and especially so when anticoagulants are used. It is also observed in periarteritis nodosa, arteriolonecrosis and GN. Sickle cell anemia is often accompanied by occlusion of capillary loops with attendant necrosis and glomerular bleeding.



Fig. 24.1. Incipient anoxic glomerular capillary loop necrosis (\rightarrow) in the outer zone of a fresh infarct. Male, 44 years. HE $(\times 320)$

Fig. 24.2. Glomerular hemorrhage associated with hypertension of 350/170 mm Hg. Capsular space is filled with erythrocytes which can also be seen in the tubules (*). Male, 45 years. HE ($\times 250$)

Very massive parenchymal bleeding with rupture of the renal capsule (so-called spontaneous rupture of the kidney) is observed in transplants (see p. 610), in the macroform of periarteritis nodosa, other vascular diseases [1051, 1622] and occasionally in renal adenoma in the presence of anticoagulant therapy (own observation; see also [1716]).

The decisive initial factor in all these forms appears to be parenchymal necrosis with consecutive hemorrhage.

Fat Emboli

These are, of course, rarely encountered in needle biopsy and they are very difficult to diagnose since the fat droplets are dissolved during the routine embedding procedure. Completely round, widened lumens of capillary loops which appear totally empty (Fig. 24.4) alone call attention to the possibility of fat emboli.

Kidney in Shock

Definition

The "shock kidney" is characterized by extensive widening of the tubular lumen (especially of the proximal tubules), by flattening of the epithelium, and by a more or less pronounced interstitial edema with or without lympho-plasmocytic infiltrates.

Incidence

Shock kidney is encountered in 4-17% of autopsy material [226, 1453]. It is far more rarely observed in biopsy. This is explained by the fact that at autopsy, those cases are also included in which shock kidney develops in progressive terminal cardiac insufficiency. It is also recalled that acute renal insufficiency in cardiovascular shock is not an indication for renal biopsy.

Clinical Findings

Due to the frequent overlapping of different etiologic factors, the clinical findings are presented on p. 407.

LM Findings

The characteristic sign in shock kidney is diffuse tubular dilatation with an increase of the outer and inner diame-

ter and flattening of the epithelium (Fig. 24.5) which is partially dedifferentiated and shows cytoplasmic basophilia and loss of brush border. Tubulonecroses are rarely encountered and are restricted to small numbers of tubular cells.

Carbohydrate storage kidney is often observed (Fig. 24.6; see p. 125), It is caused by resorption of plasma expanders which, due to tubular transport insufficiency, can no longer be eliminated from the cells. The uptake of these materials (e.g., glucose, dextran, etc.) in the phagosomes with the subsequent inflow of water results in a fine, vacuolar transformation of the cytoplasm [313, 1213, 1791].

In the tubular lumens, especially in the distal parts, casts are regularly encountered which often consist of chromoprotein (Fig. 24.10) released, for example, by hemolysis attendant on shock in septicemia. More rarely, cell-casts of necrotic tubular epithelium are observed (Fig. 24.7).

The interstitium of the corticomedullary zone is widened by patchy edema and shows inflammatory infiltrates of lymphocytes, plasma cells, histiocytes and eosinophils, especially around veins (acute nondestructive IN, see p. 407; Fig. 24.8). A frequent finding in the bundles of dilated medullary vasa rectae is the accumulation of myeloid cells released from the bone marrow in shock (Fig. 20.4).

The glomeruli show no characteristic changes; capillary loop collapse is not obligatory. For intravasal coagulation, see p. 493.

Fig. 24.3. Anoxic glomerular capillary loop damage with fibri- \triangleright noid deposits in anoxia associated with arteriolosclerosis. Male, 74 years. PAS (×840)

Fig. 24.4. Fat emboli in post-traumatic anuria. Diagnosis can be made on the basis of scattered, severely dilated, optically empty (fat has been dissolved out) glomerular capillary loops (\rightarrow) . Male, 23 years. PAS (\times 500)

Fig. 24.5. Typical finding of so-called shock kidney as seen in biopsy 6 days after burn injury with anuria. Lumens of proximal tubules appear highly dilated due to severe flattening of proximal tubular epithelium due to ischemia. Outer tubular diameter is normal. Glomeruli are unchanged. Material was obtained at autopsy at which kidney weight was found to be 200 g. Male, 28 years. PAS (\times 50)

Fig. 24.6. "Overlapping" of tubular atrophy and swelling in shock kidney. Swelling of proximal tubular epithelium is due to carbohydrate storage; note delicate vacuolization (\rightarrow) . Coarse vacuoles of a few proximal tubular cells (X) are indicating hypokalemia. Patient suffered from severe shock following poisoning with formic acid. Female, 68 years. HE ($\times 255$)




IF Findings

We are unaware of any reports concerning shock kidney. In one own observation, there was a diffuse smooth linear staining of glomerular BM for IgG along with focal segmental granular deposits of IgM and C3.

EM Findings

The main findings concern tubules and interstitium. Epithelial cells of the proximal tubules show cytologic characteristics of regeneration with increased polyribosomes and rough endoplasmatic and a decrease in the number of other organelles (especially mitochondria). The brush border and basal labyrinth are sometimes missing (Fig. 24.9). In the tubular casts, cellular organelles and granular, electron-opaque material corresponding to chromprotein are frequently recognized (Fig. 24.10). Interstitial changes are described under LM. With EM, glomerular collapse may be observed. The glomeruli often contain scattered fibrin thrombi and show focal endothelial defects [291].

Differential Diagnosis

The LM findings are so typical that the diagnosis is usually made without difficulty. Similar findings do occur in acute nephrohydrosis due to impairment of urinary flow, but lymph vessel casts—although rarely found in needle biopsy—are usually present in this condition. The early change in renal artery occlusion is characterized by severe blood stasis in intertubular capillaries and glomerular capillary loops. Difficulty may arise in acute vascular transplant rejection (see p. 573; [1804]).

✓ Fig. 24.7. Same case as in Figure 24.6. Distal tubules in medulla are filled with necrotic tubular cells. Female, 68 years. HE (×255)

Fig. 24.8. Shock kidney in colitis ulcerosa with hemorrhage and perforation of colon. Tubular epithelium is much flattened. There is nondestructive interstitial inflammation. Female, 63 years. HE ($\times 100$)

Fig. 24.9. Regenerating dedifferentiated cells of proximal tubule following shock-induced tubulonecrosis due to serious traffic accident 11 days prior to biopsy. Brush border and basal laby-rinth are practically absent. Endoplasmatic reticulum is slightly dilated. Male, 33 years. EM (\times 11,600)

Prognosis

In general, the acute renal failure attendant on shock is completely reversible; remnant damage may heal even after 1 year [23, 644, 953, 1845]. Some investigators have reported permanent reduction of the glomerular filtration rate to low normal values. Additionally, permanent concentrating insufficiency of urine has been observed in about 30% of patients [274, 953].

Interstitial fibrosis and nondestructive interstitial nephritis have been reported as the morphologic basis of irreversible functional impairment (see p. 418; [23, 953, 1791]). Acute renal failure is reported to enhance the occurrence of pyelonephritis which in turn can lead to permanent functional impairment [516].

Etiology and Pathogenesis

Fundamentally, renal changes are due to ischemia which arise from decreased blood flow. The ischemia is a direct consequence of cardiovascular shock which results in a decrease of blood pressure in the renal artery. Additionally, constriction of the afferent vessels following activation of the intrarenal renin system can occur. Further factors which may promote decreased renal blood flow in shock are intravasal coagulation or sludging of erythrocytes [171, 403, 502, 687, 1453, 1528, 1691, 1791]. Finally, (subtotal) occlusion of the renal artery may play a role.

Disseminated Intravasal Coagulation Including Cortical Necrosis

[191, 746, 1023]

1. Acute Disseminated Intravasal Coagulation

Acute disseminated intravasal coagulation — in its discrete form as occuring in shock and its massive form as seen in gram-negative speticemia (Sanarelli-Shwartzman phenomenon)—are discussed. Cortical necrosis and chronic forms of intravasal coagulation are presented on p. 499.

Incidence

According to the latest clinical findings, acute disseminated intravasal coagulation is far more frequent than previously realized. It is thought to be an important co-factor in numerous renal diseases such as nephropathies in pregnancy, etc. [1060, 1690].



At autopsy, the usually sparse microthrombi can easily be overlooked or were already dissolved beforehand.

In any event, because of its filtering function and large blood supply, the kidney is especially implicated in intravasal coagulation ([191]; 15 out of 22: [1343]). In 100 consecutive autopsies during which microthrombi with fibrin and thrombocytes were especially sought for, 45 were positive of which the kidney was afflicted nine times, e.g., 1 microthrombus/2.3 cm² of renal tissue [1515, 1516]. Microthrombi without corresponding clinical symptoms were found in 12% of 500 consecutive autopsies. They were, accordingly, considered to represent a terminal event [1173]. In 700 EM-examined biopsies, we found only 2 cases of clear-cut intravasal coagulation without concomitant renal insufficiency (110 out of 1368: [624]).

Diffuse cortical necrosis is extremely rare (12 out of 25,000 autopsies: Z). It sometimes occurs in children following massive loss of fluid from diarrhea or vomiting [1758].

Clinical Findings

In addition to the basic disease (endotoxin or traumatic shock, nephropathy of pregnancy, etc.) consumption coagulopathy is present and is characterized by a reduction of serum fibrinogen, platelets and different clotting factors. Fibrin degradation products can be demonstrated in blood and urine.

In about 25% of cases, a discrete purpura is present. The mild form of the disease, however, is often inapparent or compensated [191]. Slight accompanying hemolysis with fragmentocytes in the blood smear are very often encountered [1060].

⊲ Fig. 24.10. Sectors of highly flattened tubular epithelium (→) without brush border and with vacuolar changes (regeneration or migration of neighboring epithelium for covering denuded BM) associated with tubular necrosis caused by carbon tetrachloride poisoning. Fine-granular chromoprotein masses are present in the tubular lumens. Wall of an arteriole (A). Female, 26 years. EM (× 3260)

Fig. 24.11. A glomerulus in intravasal coagulation. Fibrin thrombi (\rightarrow) are present in glomerular loops. There is still no reaction of the glomerulus or surrounding tissue. Male, 30 years. Picro-Mallory (\times 510)

Fig. 24.12. Not completely fresh intravasal coagulation of unknown etiology. There are three fibrillar glomerular capillary loop thrombi, two of which show fibrinoid transformation (\rightarrow) , and one of which evidences a cellular reaction (*). Female, 58 years. HE (\times 800)

In the severe form of the disease, hypertension, anuria or oliguria and hematuria are usually present. Convulsions occur and occasionally vomiting, diarrhea, cyanosis, and finally, coma [1060].

In acute cortical necrosis, complete anuria and occasionally lumbar pain—in addition to the above-mentioned symptoms—are present.

LM and EM Findings

The small thrombi consist of fibrin and platelets. They occur preferentially in the glomerular capillary loops (Figs 24.11, 24.12) and less frequently in the afferent vessels or larger arteries. Pure platelet thrombi (Fig. 24.13) are recognizable in the loops only during the earliest phases of the disease; they are rapidly replaced by fibrin thrombi (Fig. 24.14) and are transformed later into fibrinoid (hyaline) microthrombi which, in the HE stain, appear strongly eosinophilic and more or less compact (Fig. 24.12). With Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain, the thrombi are bright red (Fig. 24.11); they should not be confused with subendothelial deposits. The thrombi measure 2-40 µm. Under EM, they consist of an irregular dense network of fibrin strands with occasional periodicity (Fig. 24.14; [1516]). Circumscript necroses of the thrombosed capillary are observed in the subacute stage and severe forms [1515] but are mostly lacking in mild intravasal coagulation.

The above-mentioned and, to our knowledge, unique EM observation [1516] can be substantiated by experimental findings [1221, 1655]. Following thrombin infusion in rabbits, the thrombocytes clump and develop fine processes. Then their granules are released, the processes become coarse, and fibrin fibrils appear (Fig. 24.15). At this point, the thrombocytic processes become detached and remain as large, empty vesicles in the vascular lumen. Additionally the endothelium becomes hypertrophic or destroyed (Fig. 24.15).

The fibrin massively picks up intravenously administered India ink particles. It is thought that this is also true for plasma proteins which can lead to their limited local deposits [390].

In cortical necrosis, the LM finding is that of a typical infarct, i.e., of ischemic necrosis (Fig. 24.16). Now and again—especially in the early stages—massive bleeding and severely widened glomerular capillary loops with clumped erythrocytes are observed. Intravasal thrombi in the arteries and arterioles occur. Proximal tubular necrosis is seen under LM after 8 h. Glomerular necrosis is first clearly discernable after 48 h. Injury to the proximal tubules can be seen with EM as early as 5 h after onset. These changes consist of apical edema, loss of brush border, and vesicular transformation of organelles (rough endoplasmatic reticulum, lysosomes, Golgi apparatus, mitochondria) and basal labyrinth [1223]. Since in unilateral blood flow impairment cortical necrosis manifests itself only in the contralateral kidney, considerable difficulties can arise in interpreting needle biopsy [1456].

Differential Diagnosis

Acute, generalized intravasal coagulation is so specific that it can hardly be confused with any other disease. In biopsy material, cortical necrosis can only be clearly differentiated from an infarct following thrombotic or embolic occlusion of the main renal artery or its chief branches when intravasal coagulation is present in the sections (Fig. 24.16).

Old cortical necrosis (associated with long-term dialysis) may evidence extensive calcification (Fig. 24.17).

Prognosis

In acute disseminated intravasal coagulation, the prognosis depends completely on the underlying disease.

In the late stage of the disease (3 out of 25,000 autopsies: Z) we once observed (after 1 month) a severe inflammatory reaction of the glomeruli which was strongly reminiscent of membranoproliferative GN. This patient died of uremia, and small thrombi were still demonstrable. In a second case, a focal-segmental proliferative-sclerosing change was observed 2.5 months after onset of the disease. In LM, the glomerular changes could not be differentiated from those of proliferative FGN (Figs. 24.18, 24.19). We also observed a sclerosing stage of FGN 4 years after intravasal coagulation following heart surgery.

It is, accordingly conceivable—in at least some of these cases—that acute intravasal coagulation is the cause of the segmental-focal proliferative or sclerosing GN (see also [1047] and p. 287). Similar findings have been described in sickle cell anemia [430].

Bilateral cortical necrosis terminates fatally within some hours to 15 days without dialysis. After long-term dialysis, contracted kidney with severe calcification ensues [1791].

Etiology and Pathogenesis

[1023, 1059]

Intravasal coagulation may result from the massive release of coagulation-promoting factors into the circulation such as occurs in association with retroplacental hematoma, amniotic-fluid emboli, fat emboli, heat stroke, massive hemolysis, snake venom, gram-negative, or, more rarely, other forms of septicemia. Functional impairment of the RHS by excessive storage of any material and/or anoxia (e.g., during shock) are significant cofactors, especially for the severe form.

In hematological diseases, such as acute leukemia, mismatched transfusions, sickle cell anemia, etc., as well as in shock, it is thought that the endothelial lesion and the thereby caused reduction of fibrinolysis are pathogenetically decisive factors [1690]. Immunologic triggering of the disease by medication (e.g., pyrazolone: [97]) has also been considered as a causative factor.

In one of our own cases, liver dystrophy with severe disseminated intravasal coagulation followed halothane anesthesia. In another case, an anti-erythrocyte AB was demonstrable (Figs. 24.18, 24.19). The entity is occasionally observed in association with malignancies (see also [1068]). In two of our own cases, generalized Hodgkin's disease was present.

In cortical necrosis in children, extreme dehydration is, as previously mentioned, a predominating factor. Broncho-pneumonia attendant on circulatory disturbances is sufficient to bring about milder forms of the disease [1515]. The discrepancy between the number of thrombi, which is often not large, and the extensively developed cortical necrosis shows that vasospasms are a contributory factor. Vasospasm is thought to be caused by bradykinin released during platelet destruction.

Fig. 24.13. Fresh platelet thrombus (\rightarrow) associated with fresh, \triangleright generalized coagulation in colitis ulcerosa. Frozen section. Female, 55 years. HE (×800)

Fig. 24.14. Same case as in Figure 24.12. There is considerable distention of the glomerular capillary loops occluded by platelet thrombi (*). Female, 58 years. PASM (\times 620)

Fig. 24.15. Acute intravasal coagulation of unknown cause. Endothelium is by and large destroyed and numerous fibrin strands (*) are present in the plasma covering the damaged endothelium. Basement membrane (*BM*). Male, 36 years. EM (\times 20,800)

Fig. 24.16. Four-month-old renal cortical necrosis following rubella associated with severe shock. A small artery is occluded by an organized thrombus (\rightarrow) . There are numerous obsolescent glomeruli (*). Some of the tubules are still preserved. Female, 31 years. PAS (×150)



24.13 24.14



2. Subacute and Chronic (Relapsing) Disseminated Intravasal Coagulation [1021, 1484, 1797]

The common basic phenomenon in these forms is the generalized intravasal coagulation which leads to proliferative inflammatory reactions in the glomeruli. The overall picture differs from that encountered in consumption coagulopathy in that there are several attacks of the disease over a considerable length of time.

The number of investigators who consider or tend to consider microangiopathy and the hemolytic-uremic syndrome as variations of one and the same disease, namely, of disseminated intravasal coagulation, is progressively increasing [191, 444, 1021, 1070, 1484, 1672, 1791].

3. The Hemolytic-Uremic Syndrome [550, 959, 1292, 1509a]

Definition

This syndrome is defined as intravasal coagulation associated with hemolytic anemia, hemorrhagic diathesis and renal insufficiency.

Synonym: Gasser's syndrome [533].

Incidence

This is a rare syndrome (2 out of 25,000 autopsies: Z) which occurs more frequently in South America [550]. It usually appears before the fourth year of life and afflicts girls and boys equally ([444]; contra: female: male: 28 out of 13 [1021]). The disease usually develops in summer [1046]. Small epidemics have been reported [888].

→ Fig. 24.17. Same case as in Figure 24.15. Old cortical necrosis
is almost completely calcified (*). Male, 36 years. PAS (×180)

Fig. 24.18. Biopsy obtained 2.5 months after clinically-proven acute intravasal coagulation in a patient with anti-erythrocyte antibodies. An older glomerular focus (\rightarrow) is seen with segmental proliferation and synechia. Male, 64 years. PAS (\times 500)

Fig. 24.19. Same case as in Figure 24.18. Dark-stained thrombi (\rightarrow) in the proliferatively changed glomerulus are still recognizable. Male, 64 years. PAS (\times 500)

Fig. 24.20. Thrombocytopenic microangiopathy in an acute attack. Almost all glomerular capillary loops are severely distended and filled with fresh thrombi as is a small artery (\rightarrow) . HE (×280)

Clinical Findings

Characteristically, from a few days up to 2 weeks following an infection of the upper respiratory tract or gastroenteritis, hemolytic anemia with slight jaundice, purpura, oliguria, and even unconsciousness and cramps [444] occur abruptly. The Coombs test is negative and serum complement level normal [888]. Of the patients, 85% evidence increased bleeding tendencies and melena is present in 65% [550].

Thrombocytopenia is always present. Serum fibrinogen level as well as clotting factors V and VIII are reduced. Fragmentocytes are a typical finding in the blood smear (see below). Frequently, oliguria or anuria occur in the acute attack (92% of cases: [444, 550]).

Hematuria is found in all cases. In the late stages, uremia develops insidiously and often with hypertension (50% of cases: [444]). Subacute and chronic cases with bilateral cortical necrosis have been reported (9 out of 31: [550]). Acute death has been observed in 10–50% of a series of cases [1292].

Morphologic particulars are described in the next section on microangiopathy.

4. Thrombotic Microangiopathy [1588]

Definition

Microangiopathy is defined as usually recurrent generalized intravasal coagulation with endovascular thrombus organization.

Synonyms: Idiopathic postpartal renal failure [1588], Moschkowitz's syndrome [1150].

Incidence

In general, the condition is very rare. The lesion, first described by Moschkowitz in 1925 [1150], afflicts women between 10 and 40 years of age much more frequently than men and, in this respect, it differs from the hemolytic-uremic syndrome.

Clinical Findings

Psychiatric and neurologic symptoms (unconsciousness, cramps, hemiplegia) dominate the clinical picture in addition to fever, nausea, abdominal pain, headache, myalgia and purpura. In women, the disease develops sometimes immediately after giving birth, or weeks or months thereafter [920, 1736]. Epidemics are unknown. The disease can lead to renal insufficiency [1552]. In one of our own cases, it developed shortly after acute tonsillitis and smallpox vaccination. This patient showed a precipitous fall of thrombocyte number to $3000/\text{mm}^3$, a decrease of fibrinogen to 140 mg%, hemolysis, jaundice (bilirubin 10.4 mg%), purpura, hematuria, and hemoglobin casts. The serum creatinine rose to a maximal value of 2.6 mg% and this patient finally died in generalized cramps.

Postpartum hemolytic anemia is typically associated with oliguria or anuria, often hypertension, and terminal cardiac failure [1736]. With careful clinical examination, hemolysis can often be demonstrated [1060]. Other symptoms are similar to those encountered in the hemolyticuremic syndrome. We feel that the morphologic changes of the two entities are identical. Both evidence erythrocytic anomalies in smears: pointed burr cells, fragmentocytes, schizocytes [888, 994] respectively, cellules en casque [191] as well as thrombocytopenia. In both conditions, fibrin-split products are demonstrable in the urine [1553].

LM Findings

The early changes are scarcely distinguishable from those encountered in ordinary intravasal coagulation (see p. 493). The outstanding finding is the occurrence of extensive partially focal, partially diffuse glomerular capillar loop thrombi (Fig. 24.20; see p. 60) which disappear in about 30 days [550]. They are usually accompanied by local necroses of the afflicted loop wall. In postpartal cases, they may be absent due to increased fibrinolysis [922]. Thrombi often extend from the afferent arteriole to the glomerular capillary loops [1070]. Numerous polymorphonuclear leukocytes are found in the vicinity of such glomeruli. Small segmental crescents and collapse glomeruli may be seen. Other loops may be aneurysmatically distended and the nuclei poorly defined (so-called glomerular infarct: [1068]).

Frequently, small infarcts which can lead to total cortical necrosis are seen (80% of postpartal fatalities in a series of cases [1672]). Thrombi in arterioles are usually accompanied by inflammation. In arteries, thrombi are much more scanty and only partially obstructing. Occasionally, only a subendothelial fibrin layer can be demonstrated.

Late changes are found after 2 to 6 weeks. In this phase, capillary loop thrombi are considerably less predominant and either segmental-focal glomerular proliferation with segmental crescents [1588] or — especially in children — affliction of all glomeruli are found (Fig. 24.22). The inflammatory nature of these glomerular changes is rarely doubted [1361]. We have seen similar changes after ordinary intravasal coagulation (Fig. 24.24; see p. 287).

In addition to fresh thrombi, subacute phases are also present and characterized by severely deforming capillary loop inflammation which is usually focal-segmental (Fig. 24.22) and accompanied by fibrinoid degeneration of the loop wall. In the chronic phase, hyaline, segmental-focal scars can be demonstrated (Fig. 24.21); [262, 1701, 1791]) and interposition of mesangial cells—as in membranoproliferative GN—may occasionally develop [100]. Some of the glomerular loops are aneurysmatically widened with thickened, fibrin-impregnated walls (Fig. 24.23).

In the vessels, the thrombi are frequently recovered with endothelium. Subendothelial fibrin is replaced by connective tissue (Fig. 24.25) which appears mucoid [1070, 1588, 1736].

In the late phases of the condition, these changes lead to severe intimal proliferation which can appear very similar to that encountered in malignant nephrosclerosis [1068].

Granulomas around the especially frequently afflicted afferent arteriole are designated as glomeruloid structures [1642]. Occasionally, intramural thrombi have been described [471].

As a consequence of renal hypertension, arteriolosclerosis may develop in addition [1484]. In some cases, only the kidney is implicated; in others, there is generalized involvement of the vascular system [1021]. General involvement is often termed thrombotic-thrombocytopenic microangiopathy and involvement limited to the kidney as hemolytic uremic syndrome.

Fig. 24.21. Same case as in Figure 24.22. Old microangiopathy \triangleright (hemolytic—uremic syndrome) at autopsy. In one glomerulus, capillary loops are distended and proliferatively changed. Changes due to repair are very evident in three small arteries and arterioles respectively (\rightarrow). Male, 8 years. PAS (\times 480)

Fig. 24.22. Hemolytic – uremic syndrome. One glomerulus (1) is collapsed, and the second (2) evidences a rather fresh attack with glomerular capillary loop thrombi, fresh proliferation and synechia. Third glomerulus (3) shows only proliferative changes and a small synechia. Frozen section. Male, 8 years. HE (\times 310)

Fig. 24.23. Same case as in Figure 24.22. Obvious thickening and splitting of glomerular BM in distended loops are seen. Upper glomerulus from Figure 24.21. Male, 8 years, PAS (\times 420)

Fig. 24.24. Findings 1 month after acute intravasal coagulation associated with severe shock. Renal biopsy was performed because of persistent anuria. In addition to an organized glomerular capillary loop thrombus (\rightarrow) , an obliterating, proliferative change of the vas afferens (*) is also present. Male, 28 years. PASM (×600)



IF Findings

Granular deposits in the glomerulus of IgA, IgG, IgM, complement, and fibrin(-ogen) [1021, 471] or IgG respectively only in 4 out of 9 cases without complement [444] have been reported. In one of our own cases, we found granular deposits of IgG, IgM, C3, and fibrin(-ogen) in the mesangium. Fibrin(-ogen) was demonstrable in arteries, arterioles and in the capsular space (see also [2]). In the vessels, fibrin and IgG have been reported to be strongly positive subendothelially from 7 weeks to 14 months after an acute attack [471].

EM Findings

Afflicted glomerular loops contain granular or fibrillar material which, however often does not demonstrate the typical periodicity of fibrin [1672]. IF demonstration of fibrin(-ogen)—without electron microscopical correlates—are considered to consist entirely of fibrinogen [640]. In general, only a few platelets are demonstrable [285, 1021] since they are quickly destroyed [202].

As early as the seventh day of the disease, a few endothelial or mesangial foam cells are found which are thought to originate from resorption of platelet lipids [1361].

The endothelium under the thrombi is partially absent [504] or shows frank proliferation [1021]. The erythrocytes in the loops are polyhedric [1021], a finding which is thought to be analogous to the fragmentocytes seen in blood smears.

The BM is thickened [96]—usually due to a thickening of the lamina rara interna [482, 1736]; experimental findings: [1654]. In our case, the BM was unchanged. We doubt that the described lamina rara interna change is the consequence of immunocomplex deposition [920, 1021]; we feel, on the contrary, that it is the result of plasma protein insudation arising in the presence of endothelial injury.

Oval particles in the lamina densa have been interpreted as suggestive of virus particles [627], we feel, rather, that they are degradation granules. Both the mesangial cells and matrix are slightly increased [1736]. The matrix is permeated by a proteinaceous and a fibrin-like material similar to that found in glomerular loops [1497b]. In cases of severe mesangial affliction, segmental tuft necrosis may ensue [1497b].

The segmental crescents, which could be shown to overlay BM interruptions [1497b], as well as the mesangial and podocytic changes do not deviate from those occurring in GN.

Differential Diagnosis

In the presence of fresh thrombi, the differential diagnosis is not difficult. Actually, only FGN in subacute bacterial endocarditis must be considered. In this disease, however, severe involvement of blood vessels is never seen. If the thrombi have disappeared and if the clinical data are not conclusive, an accurate diagnosis may be difficult.

In these cases, delineation from rapidly progressing scleroderma [929] as well as malignant nephrosclerosis may be impossible although, in less advanced cases, the lack or only minimal presence of thrombi will hinder misinterpretation with the before-mentioned diseases. Hypersensitivity angitis primarily shows a pronounced inflammation and necrosis of the vascular wall with secondary nonobligatory thrombosis. The glomerular changes are not of a thrombotic nature. Hemolysis is also usually absent [1552].

The very acute, severe membranoproliferative GN with extensive subendothelial fibrinoid deposits may cause difficulties since these deposits give positive results with Masson's trichrome/AFOG stain (Fig. 6.15; see p. 63). However, the arteries and arterioles in acute GN are practically unchanged.

Prognosis

The prognosis is better in the hemolytic-uremic syndrome of childhood (40% mortality, 10% persistence of renal symptoms) than it is in the generalized microangiopathy of adulthood (75% mortality within the first 3 months: [444]; 100% mortality: [1046]). It is noted that there was a mortality of only 6.25% (50% persisting renal symptoms) in 678 cases reported from Argentina [550].

Children usually die from uremia [1701, 1841] and adults predominantly from cerebral injury.

Long-term survivors in childhood occasionally develop a contracted kidney, which in the late phase, hardly allows etiologic classification [1047]. After removal of the host kidney, the disease does not appear to recur in the transplant [261, 419]. Cure has been described following anticoagulative therapy [994] and biopsies have shown endovascular scarring [1283] as result of successful organization of the thrombi.

Pathogenesis

It is not yet known for certain whether intravasal coagulation or endothelial injury is primary or if both conditions occur simultaneously. We believe that the endothelial injury [504] may be the consequence of primary vasculitis [1642] due to immunocomplex deposition.

In many cases, there is substantial evidence of toxic/anoxic endothelial injury (possibly bacterial or viral neuramidase: [1292]) which could be caused by anti-endothelial AB [1690]. Injury to the endothelium, leads to reduction of its fibrinolytic activity [1690] as well as to direct exposure of collagen of the vascular wall to platelets. Both of these factors trigger consumption coagulopathy (see also [922]) whereby fibrin, by formation of "inflammatory spikes" [182]) at the vascular surface, causes vascular narrowing [182, 1130] which leads, in turn, to mechanical destruction of erythrocytes and thrombocytes [203]. Thus, hemolysis is a secondary phenomenon [171, 1690].

The earlier assumption of primary hemolysis, whereby intravasal coagulation was thought to be triggered by the thromboplastic activity of the erythrocytic stroma and by RHS blockage (see also [1701]), appears to be outdated.

Etiology

The epidemic occurrence of the disease reported from Argentina [549, 550] points to the possibility of an infectious origin, e.g., viral [444, 550, 1642]. Actually, different viruses were isolated in 11 out of 25 patients [1046]. In one, rickettsiae were demonstrated which were transmitted by ticks. The rickettsiae have been reported to produce a similar disease in monkeys [1088]. It must be noted that the condition has also been observed in 12% of cases in typhoid fever. Endotoxin of *S. typhi* is thought to act as the trigger mechanism for intravasal coagulation [70].

The following factors have also been considered as causative: drug allergy (e.g., penicillamine: [142; 1797]), metastatic carcinoma (mucus-forming gastric carcinoma [178]); prostate and bronchus carcinoma [1233]); pregnancy, and contraceptive drugs ([203, 929, 1842] (see also p. 503); 3 out of 18 cases: [156]), antilymphocytic globulin therapy [334].

Presumably, microangiopathy is a specific reaction which can be elicited by numerous, completely unspecific noxious substances.

Renal Vein Thrombosis [1367]

Definition

We define renal vein thrombosis (RVT) as primary in the absence of any prior renal disease and as secondary in its presence.

Acute means a few days old and chronic at least several weeks old. Contracted kidney is defined on p. 526.

Incidence

Acute RVT with severe bilateral parenchymal damage and uremia usually occurs in young children and chiefly

in infants (6 children and 4 adults out of 28,000 autopsies : Z; [46]).

We observed the lesion as a terminal event (without parenchymal injury) in 22 out of 25,000 autopsies.

Chronic RVT is found almost exclusively in adults (9 out of 25,000 autopsies: Z). It clearly shows increased incidence in the presence of prior nephrotic syndrome. We observed venothrombotic contracted kidney in 4 out of 25,000 autopsies.

Clinical Findings

Characteristically, renal vein thrombosis manifests itself clinically with severe flank pain, hematuria, proteinuria and, frequently, pulmonary emboli. In the event of bilateral affliction, precipitous oliguria and uremia occur.

In stepwise occlusion of the renal vein, a venous collateral circulation may develop along the ureter which is demonstrable by angiography.

If adequate collateral circulation is present, massive proteinuria or even a nephrotic syndrome may develop (experimental evidence: [1006, 1357]), which is often the case in unilateral, chronic renal vein thrombosis (9 out of 11 cases: [1131]).

Hypertension is usally absent except in the extremely rare cases of venothrombotic contracted kidney [1791].

LM Findings

In acute RVT, the glomeruli are relatively large and show very prominent dilatation of capillary loops which demonstrate numerous polymorphonuclear leukocytes (Fig. 24.26). The interstitium is strikingly widened, due to edema, but without significant inflammatory infiltrates.

The discrepancy between the extensive widening of the interstitium and the slight or absent inflammatory infiltrates is highly characteristic for acute RVT.

After some time, the tubules demonstrate a slight atrophy. Full scale lipoid nephrosis may develop. Rarely, and only in infants after massive dehydration, instead of typical RVT changes, hemorrhagic necrosis may be seen.

In chronic RVT, glomerular changes as found in the acute stage—but without polymorphonuclear leukocyte margination—are still present. The mesangium is somewhat enlarged, but without cellular increase. The glome-rular BM appears unchanged (Fig. 24.27).

Numerous other investigators have reported massive glomerular changes such as in amyloidosis, diabetic glomerulosclerosis, plasmocytoma [493] and epimembranous GN [1468]. We feel that cause and effect in these instances have been confused [see p. 261).



24.27 24.28 In the rare venothrombotic contracted kidney, the glomeruli are strikingly well preserved, but the capsular spaces are considerably widened (Fig. 24.28). Severe interstitial fibrosis is present and the tubules have nearly disappeared.

IF Findings

In chronic RVT without GN, the finding is either negative, or only fibrin [398] or gamma globulin [665] are found.

In primary GN, the entire picture is dominated by the IF mosaic of the underlying basic disease [1468].

EM Findings

In primary chronic RVT, there are no inflammatory changes or osmiophilic deposits. The BM is thickened (experimental findings: [665]; see also [1367, 398]) or irregularly shaped [398], whereas in acute RVT, BM thickness appears to be normal [775].

Severe foot process fusion is already present during the early stages of the disease. Mesangial matrix is clearly increased. Focal sclerosing GN was encountered once in a biopsy 2 weeks after an otherwise typical acute RVT biopsy finding [398]. It is not known whether organized capillary loop thrombi, which we have never observed, or overload glomerulitis (see p. 308), which we saw in 3 out of 39 rats with experimental RVT and contralateral nephrectomy [1006], are responsible for the condition.

✓ Fig. 24.25. Same case as in Figure 24.24. Organized thrombi in an artery and two arterioles (→) are clearly discernible. Vascular lumens are almost completely occluded. The process in the artery appears to be considerably older. Thrombus masses, appearing dark, are still present in the arterioles. Male, 28 years. PAS (× 280)

Fig. 24.26. Fresh renal vein thrombosis associated with thrombosis of the inferior vena cava. Glomerular capillary loops are obviously distended and contain numerous polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Female, 62 years. PAS (× 580)

Fig. 24.27. Old renal vein thrombosis with nephrotic syndrome. There is no evidence, however, for epimembranous GN. The mesangium is delicate. Female, 56 years. PAS (\times 500)

Fig. 24.28. Venothrombotic contracted kidney. Surgically removed kidney weighed 35 g. Blood pressure preoperatively 240/130 mm Hg decreased to 135/85 mm Hg after nephrectomy. Glomeruli are strikingly well preserved. Capsular spaces are severely distended and occasionally contain exudate. Tubules have completely disappeared. Interstitium is sclerotic. Female, 47 years. PAS (\times 125)

Differential Diagnosis

In needle biopsy, it is very difficult to differentiate the early phase of a subinfarct from an infarct due to acute RVT. In the early phase of infarcts, interstitial bleeding is usually already present which is not encountered in RVT.

In chronic RVT, the considerably widened sclerosed interstitium contains far fewer infiltrates than are found in chronic interstitial nephritis. Since destructive changes are absent, pyelonephritis can be excluded.

Venothrombotic contracted kidney cannot be differentiated from contracted kidney caused by central arterial stenosis unless large thrombosed veins and, in addition, cystoid widened glomerular spaces are present in the biopsy.

RVT is easily differentiated from Montaldo's pyelonephritis in which a chronic interstitial destruction is present (see p. 440).

Etiology

Renal vein thrombosis arises by impaired venous flow as in renal cell carcinoma, tumors in retroperitoneal lymph nodes, right cardiac insufficiency, and, more rarely, following abdominal trauma, surgical procedures, and thrombophlebitis. During childhood, RVT usually develops in association with dehydration.

The simultaneous occurrence of epimembranous GN and RVT has given rise to controversy (2 out of 8 cases: [1770]; 1 out of 69 cases: [1167]). Although some investigators — mainly from the US—see RVT as primary and epimembranous GN as its consequence [1131, 1233a], we feel that there is more evidence against than for this concept. As far as we know, there is only one experimental finding (guinea pig with cardiopathy and severe, chronic venous stasis) showing BM thickening, loosening of the matrix and a few isolated subepithelial deposits [251]. In all other experimental findings of which we are aware, there are no reports of RVT—induced epimembranous GN [493, 1006, 1357, 1484]. The IF demonstration of fibrin deposits in biopsy is probably attributable to pure insudation arising from severe venous stasis.

It has, however, been known for quite some time that secondary RVT occurs with increased frequency in the presence of a long-lasting nephrotic syndrome (amyloidosis, etc.) and especially so with epimembranous GN. It is noted further that chronic RVT is unilateral and epimembranous GN bilateral [278]. It has been suggested [815a] that the low antithrombin III level-typical for nephrotic syndrome-enhances secondary RVT. Furthermore, in experimental Heymann nephritis, RVT occurs in 20% of the cases [856]. In acute RVT of children-arising through dehydration-no change reminiscent of epimembranous GN is observable with EM. A proposed mechanism whereby renal tubular antigen—set free by thrombosis—induces antibody formation and circulates thereafter as immunocomplex and, as such, damages the kidney [1131, 1233a] is suggested by the demonstration of renal tubular antigen in the immunodeposits of epimembranous GN.

Nevertheless, we believe that RVT is, in the overwhelming majority of cases, a complication of the chronic nephrotic syndrome in association, amongst other lesions, with primary epimembranous GN (see also [39b, 88, 89, 195, 398, 918a, 1131, 1359, 1468, 1612, 1770]).

Prognosis

Acute RVT, usually encountered in infants after massive dehydration, is usually a fatal complication.

In chronic RVT, prognosis depends, in the secondary form, usually on that of the underlying disease (e.g., GN, etc.). In the primary form, prognosis is usually good, as long as thrombosis does not progress into the vena cava and result in fatal embolic complications. In the venothrombotic contracted kidney, hypertension can develop and which determines prognosis. Hypertension can be cured by nephrectomy [1791].

Pathogenesis

Capillary loop dilatation is ascribable to the severe venous stasis. We consider the BM and mesangial changes observed in primary chronic RVT to be a consequence of anoxia (see also [729, 1367]). The peculiar cystoid glomeruli (found only in venothrombotic contracted kidney and Montaldo's PN—see p. 440) are possibly the expression of venous flow still functioning via renal capsular veins which are usually patent in RVT. This is apparently only rarely so in chronic PN, but, if present, the picture of Montaldo's PN arises.

Kidney Infarct

Definition

Kidney infarct is an ischemic necrosis caused by arterial obstruction. Hemorrhagic necrosis (so-called hemorrhagic infarction) is seen almost exclusively in infants with venous thrombosis, and it plays no role in biopsy.

Incidence

We have observed renal infarcts in about 4% of our autopsy material [1791]. Predominant pathogenetic

causes in our material are myocardial infarction (19%), endocarditis (19%) and cardiac insufficiency with endocardial thrombi (29%).

With the exception of transplants, renal infarct does not play a significant role in biopsy (0.46%: Z). In one case, an infarct arose from prior needle biopsy which resulted in thrombosis of a large renal artery. In another case, there was embolic occlusion of the renal artery in a patient with unilateral renal agenesis.

The other infarcts were the consequence of traumatic kidney rupture or repeated surgery for congenital malformations of the urinary tract.

In the transplant biopsies, renal infarcts are strikingly frequent (11.5% of 131 biopsies: Z) and are chiefly due to transplantation vasculopathy (see p. 596).

Clinical Findings

Flank pain is present in the majority of cases, fever in 30-70%, proteinuria in 50% and micro-or macrohematuria in 30-80% [1758, 1791]. In large infarcts, transitory hypertension is sometimes observed after 4 to 8 days [1758]. In case of persistent hypertension, nephrectomy will result in cure [1118]. Acute anuria occurs with infarction in individuals with only one kidney and in the event of bilateral arterial occlusion.

Fig. 24.29. Bordering zone of a fresh cortical infarct. Glomeruli \triangleright even more clearly recognizable, intertubular capillaries—from which some extravasation occurs—are filled with blood. Proximal tubules are fully necrotic. A few distal tubules are preserved (\rightarrow). HE (\times 150)

Fig. 24.30. Partial glomerular capillary loop necrosis (\rightarrow) with sludging and homogenization of erythrocytes in a fresh infarct. Disintegrated erythrocytes and some fibrin are present in the capsular space. Female, 62 years. PAS (×480)

Fig. 24.31. Bordering zone of a not completely fresh infarct. Isolated necrotic tubules (N) are present. A glomerulus with capillary loop collapse and reactive crescent formation can be seen. Autopsy specimen. HE ($\times 250$)

Fig. 24.32. An old renal cortical infarct with the bordering zone. Glomeruli are fully obsolescent and completely fill the unchanged capsular spaces. Stroma is broadened, homogenous and almost free of nuclei. PAS ($\times 100$)



LM Findings

In infarcts of a few hours up to a few days old, the glomeruli are enlarged and the loops filled up with clumped erythrocytes (Fig. 24.29).

Corresponding to the topography of the nephrons, necrosis with jigsaw puzzle-like borders are found (Fig. 5.2; p. 47) and intensely eosinophilic tubules with vanishing nuclei are present. The distal tubules and the glomeruli are longer preserved (Fig. 24.29) than the other parts of the nephron. Necrotic areas are sharply demarcated from the intact parenchyma. In this phase, the interstitium is slightly edematous and often permeated with blood (Fig. 24.29).

As in other organs, renal infarct a few days old exhibits a cockade pattern. Therefore, if the biopsy needle penetrates the infarct area tangentially, difficulties in interpretation may arise.

In the center of the infarct, the tubules and some of the glomeruli are completely necrotic. A few betterpreserved glomeruli show partial capillary loop necroses which are flooded with blood (Fig. 24.30). This central part of the cockade is followed by a usually small, dense fringe of leukocytes which, in turn, is surrounded by a hyperemic zone with rapidly emerging fibroblasts.

Exterior to hyperemic zone, the sensitive proximal tubules evidence necrobiotic injury while the glomeruli usually show no changes except for hyperemia. In other cases, the glomeruli in the fringe zone are strikingly large with dilated capillary loops full of erythrocytes and have no-or very few-nuclei. This finding is explained by the presence of minimally maintained (possibly restored) blood flow. As a rule, the arteries in the region of an infarct are contracted. They almost never contain thrombi.

An infarct scar (Fig. 5.3; p. 48) is characterized by a necrotic, very lipid-rich center in which the original structures—especially the glomeruli—can still be recognized as shadows (Figs. 6.113, 24.32). The glomeruli appear as hyaline spheres (van Gieson stain: yellow) without any capsular reaction (see also [1068]). This form of obsolescence is a consequence of abruptly—occurring ischemia, blood stasis and necrosis. In the region bordering the infarct, a few more or less old crescents in glomeruli can be seen (Fig. 24.31). The interstitial stroma is fibrosed.

EM Findings

The glomeruli evidence either complete collapse or severe loop dilatation with clumped erythrocytes in their lumen, and endothelial necrosis and detachment (Fig. 30.38; see p. 585). The tubules show beginning or completely developed necrosis (Fig. 24.33). The interstitium is usually somewhat edematous and often contains numerous erythrocytes.

Differential Diagnosis

The differentiation between an infarct and cortical necrosis caused by intravasal coagulation is of decisive significance. In cortical necrosis, parietal fibrin thrombi are found in the peripheral vessels and in glomeruli to a degree not present in infarcts.

Etiology

It is scarcely possible to reach etiologic conclusions on the basis of needle biopsy findings. Biopsy material obtained by surgery permits identification of thrombotic or embolic occlusion of larger arteries. Special attention should be given to identifying atheromatous emboli which are recognizable by their whetstone-shaped hollows arising by dissolution of cholesterol crystals (Fig. 24.34). These crystals are usually surrounded by a granulation tissue containing foreign body giant cells (8 out of 755 biopsies: [785]; 6 out of 690 biopsies: [744]).

Subinfarct [1808]

Definition

The subinfarct is a characteristic renal parenchymal atrophy associated with subtotal arterial obstruction. We arbitrarily designate parenchymal areas larger than 3 cm as subinfarcts and those smaller as arteriosclerotic cortical scars.

Synonyms: Ischemic contracted kidney, incomplete renal infarct, central arterial contracted kidney.

Incidence

In 25,000 autopsies, we encountered small subinfarcts (larger than 3 cm) in 92 cases of which 18 were associated with hypertension, 148 middle-sized subinfarcts (at least one-third of the kidney) of which 104 were associated with hypertension, 293 subtotal subinfarcts, 228 of which were associated with hypertension. Contracted kidney caused by central artery stenosis was found in 64 cases (54 out of 64 with hypertension).

The subinfarct plays a minor role in biopsy (0.67%; Z). There are no reliable data relating to age distribution. Since vascular lesions become manifest predominantly in the aged, it is probable that subinfarcts usually occur among the older age groups. The incidence between males and females is about the same.





Fig. 24.33. Very acute infarct predominantly evidencing swelling of interstitial cells—chiefly phagocytes—and extravasation of erythrocytes. Proximal tubules appear to be still vital but they do show severe swelling of their organelles. Twelve-day-old transplant associated with arterial thrombosis at site of suture. Male, 35 years. EM (\times 1500)

Fig. 24.34. Cholesterol crystal emboli in a small renal artery due to massive ulcerative aortic arteriosclerosis. Renal biopsy, performed because of persistent hematuria, demonstrated a large infarct. Female, 56 years. PAS (\times 500)

Clinical Findings

The case history is silent with the exception of complaints related to hypertension which we found present in 84% of cases evidencing central arterial contracted kidney. This incidence is three times greater than that of essential hypertension occurring in a control group of the same age [1808].

On the other hand, renal artery stenosis has been reported to be the cause of hypertension in 5-15% of a group of hypertensive patients (literature relating to clinical findings: [320]). It is not known why hypertension is absent in a small number of cases with severe stenosis of the renal artery (see also [320, 1137]); perhaps functional adrenal insufficiency, cardiac insufficiency or ischemic—induced impairment of renin formation may be involved. In some cases with severe hypertension, proteinuria is present (12 out of 33: [1137]) but rarely a nephrotic syndrome which then can be eliminated with antihypertensive therapy [131].

In central arterial contracted kidney a unilateral small "silent" kidney is present. There are no clinical data reporting on the frequency of hypertension in the presence of small and middle-sized subinfarcts [1239].

LM Findings

Affected cortical sectors are highly atrophic (Fig. 5.5; p. 46). There is a marked discrepancy between the relatively well-preserved glomeruli and the severely atrophic tubules (Figs. 8.9, 24.35). The glomeruli are very close to each other. Whereas there are normally 2.5 glomerular sections per mm², in subinfarcts there are 6 [1808]. Collapse glomeruli are found in various numbers. Completely obsolescent glomeruli are quite rare.

The number of nuclei, mesangial volume and mesangial nuclear volume are slightly increased [1808]. The juxtaglomerular apparatus is clearly hypertrophic in 50% of the glomeruli. Morphometrically, the tubular volume is considerably decreased. In LM, it is seen that the tubular outer diameter is severely decreased, the lumen narrowed or partially or entirely absent (Figs. 24.35, 24.36, 24.37).

In the region of the proximal tubules, the epithelium is abnormally clear and dedifferentiated (Fig. 24.36). The tubular BM is usually considerably thickened (Figs. 24.36, 24.37), occasionally thinned or completely absent (Fig. 24.37).

The cortical interstitium is focally slightly thickened and sclerosed while that of the medulla is diffusely and severely so. There is a scanty sprinkling of lymphocytes and phagocytes in the interstitium but no destruction of tubules, glomeruli or blood vessels due to inflammation or to scar tissue arising from inflammation is present. Blood vessels in the subinfarct are characterized by severe adaptive intimal fibrosis (Fig. 24.37).

EM Findings

Slight glomerular collapse is far more frequently encountered than with LM [1808]. Dedifferentiation of tubular cells with attendant decrease in the number of organelles is very marked (Figs. 24.38, 24.39).

The tubular BM is either thickened and split (Fig. 24.39) or clearly thinned (Fig. 24.38). It is occasionally penetrated by dedifferentiated tubular cells which come to lie free in the interstitium (Fig. 24.39; [1808]).

Differential Diagnosis

In infarct scars, the structural elements (e.g., glomeruli, etc.) are discernible for months or years as shadows. A zone of a subinfarct may border an infarct scar. In the case of infarct, however, the interstitium shows more extensive fibrosis in the bordering zone as a result of perifocal inflammatory response than is ever seen in pure subinfarcts.

Glomerular atrophy—often accompanied by periglomerular fibrosis—is much more extensive in pyelonephritic scars, as are fibrotic changes and inflammatory infiltrates. Signs of destruction of tubules, glomeruli and small vessels are always present in chronic pyelonephritis.

Hypogenetic foci (see p. 547) are easy to differentiate from subinfarct in which the normally structured parenchyma is recognizable and fetal tubules, cartilagenous elements, etc., are never seen.

Prognosis

Prognosis is exclusively dependent on secondary hypertension which can be eliminated by resection of the afflicted renal tissue or by total nephrectomy and, in many cases, by arterioplasty (25 out of 29: [1147]). The success of surgical procedures is dictated chiefly by the presence of arteriolosclerosis (hypertensive vasculopathy) of the contralateral kidney. If severe arteriolosclerosis is present and serum creatinine elevated as result of contralateral renal damage, no success can be expected.

Bilateral pre-or intraoperative renal biopsy has not proven to be of great value for predicting postoperative success in reducing hypertension, although quantitative bilateral JGA evaluation does allow such a prediction with some degree of reliability [330, 448]. Semiquantitative evaluation of bilateral renal biopsy shows no correla-







Fig. 24.35. So-called central arterial contracted kidney (due to stenosis of renal artery) associated with hypertension. Glomeruli appear unchanged but are closely packed together. Tubules are severely diminished in size and are dedifferentiated, i.e., appear clear. Their lumens have completely disappeared. The interstitium is unchanged. Male, 50 years. PAS (×170)

Fig. 24.36. Same case as in Figure 24.35. Dedifferentiation of the tubules (note clear cytoplasm) is now very obvious. Tubular BM is at times delicate and at times very severely thickened. These findings correspond to the so-called endocrine kidney. Male, 50 years. PAS (\times 600)

Fig. 24.37. So-called central arterial contracted kidney (due to stenosis of renal artery with kidney weight of 21 g) associated with severe hypertension. One glomerulus evidences collapse obsolescence; vessels show adaptive intimal fibrosis. Artery (1) with adaptive intimal fibrosis, arteriole (2) also with adaptive intimal fibrosis in which lumen appears to be completely occluded. Here and there, dedifferentiated tubules can be recognized. Male, 43 years. PAS (×180)



tion relating to the prediction of operative success as does evaluation of nephrectomy material [81]. The disadvantages and problems of preoperative bioptic methods can be overcome by renin estimation in both renal veins and arteries as well as in the peripheral blood [1656a] which is said to allow prediction of surgical success or failure in all cases [1656a].

Pathogenesis

Renal changes are the consequence of reduction of blood flow to a minimum allowing preservation of structure but not of excretory function. Renin formation (incretory function) is increased, so that renal hypertension may ensue.

Cases healed operatively have confirmed the renal origin of the blood pressure increase (see p. 541). In this connection, it must be emphasized that hypertension is directly dependent on the degree of renal blood flow impairment. This means that even in cases with minor or no subinfarct changes, hypertension may be present. Therefore, even discrete subinfarct changes in needle biopsy can be of significance.

Etiology

In almost all cases, impairment of renal blood flow is the consequence of severe arteriosclerotic stenosis which is not infrequently accompanied by thrombosis. Patients with aberrant renal pole vessels are especially frequently afflicted [1345, 1791].

A totally obstructing embolus does not lead to subinfarct as does one causing partial obstruction, which after a while, cannot be differentiated from a thrombus.

Other vascular lesions are extremely rare causes of subin-farcts.

✓ Fig. 24.38. Same case as in Figure 24.35. Dedifferentiated tubule is seen with increase in lysosomes whereas the number of other cell organelles is reduced. Tubular BM is partly thinned and partly dissolved. Male, 50 years. EM (×4900)

Fig. 24.39. Same case as in Figure 24.35. Partial thickening and splitting or thinning of the tubular BM are now far more evident. Occasionally, cells with the characteristics of tubular cells (*) are recognizable free in the interstitium. A few scattered large lymphocytes are present. Male, 50 years: EM (\times 3900)

25. Renal Changes Caused by Vascular Disease

Renal vascular changes are strikingly common. Very often they arise secondarily in association with other renal diseases and lead to further parenchymal damage so that very complex findings are generated.

Accordingly, knowledge of the various vascular lesions and their consequences is of great importance. Arteriosclerosis will not be discussed.

Arteriolosclerosis [552, 1509a]

Definition

Arteriolosclerosis is a lesion in which fibrinoid (hyaline) deposits occur between the endothelium and media of arterioles without significant media change.

Incidence

A few arteriolosclerotic vessels are frequently found in needle biopsies of older patients. In older patients with hypertension of long duration, almost all the arterioles are more or less severely afflicted (see Fig. 25.1).

Arteriolosclerotic contracted kidney (=red granular atrophy or benign nephrosclerosis) is rare (0.12% of a series of autopsies: [1791]). The incidence is the same for men and women.

Clinical Findings

In cases of extensive arteriolosclerosis, hypertension is the predominant finding. Although clinical data on hypertension may be absent at autopsy, the autopsy findings themselves usually give ample evidence of hypertensive disease.

Proteinuria is usually slight, about 1–2 gm/day [1239, 1325]. In moderately severe to severe arteriolosclerosis, 71.4% of our biopsy cases evidence hypertension of $\geq 160/100$ mm Hg. In mild arteriolosclerosis, 41.2% of biopsy cases have a history of hypertension. The absence of arteriolosclerosis in needle biopsy (30% of our own

cases with hypertension) does not exclude hypertension (Fig. 25.1). A similar and almost equally good correlation is also present for the IF-demonstrated arteriolar insudation with IgM and/or complement (Fig. 25.1).

LM Findings

The cortical tissue, especially that lying immediately subcapsularly, demonstrates fine, radial strip-shaped subinfarcts (Fig. 5.6) which, depending on the area included in biopsy material, may or may not be present. Complete obsolescence of the glomeruli (collapse type) is more frequent in these regions than it is in large subinfarcts.

The arteriolar change in needle biopsy is readily discernable with Masson's trichrome/AFOG and PAS stain (see also [1530]). We give special attention to the afferent vessels and to the arterioles at the point where they issue from interlobular arteries (Fig. 25.2). Severe involvement of the efferent vessels indicates diabetes mellitus.

In transverse sections, an annular, strongly eosinophilic homogenous fibrinoid deposition lies between the endo-thelium and media (Fig. 25.3).

The deposits are sudanophilic, yellow in van Gieson's stain, strongly PAS positive, red in Masson's trichrome/ AFOG stain, and PASM negative.

The elastic lamina of prearterioles lies outside of the deposits (Fig. 25.4). It is only fragmented or absent in severe cases in which the fibrinoid deposits lead to severe stenosis of the arteriolar lumen. In this condition, the media is frankly atrophic and, especially in severe hypertension and in relatively young patients, it can also demonstrate a slight fibrinoid muscle cell necrosis ([1791]; see also p. 521). The focal character of the lesion is best discernible (Fig. 25.5) in longitudinal sections. The arteries may, but need not, demonstrate arteriosclerosis.

The tubules associated with the changed arterioles—occasionally of only one nephron—often exhibit hyaline casts, severe atrophy and lipid deposition with slight birefringence in lipid stains, but we have never observed thyroid-like tubules. The interstitial changes correspond to those encountered in subinfarcts.

In the glomeruli, there occurs a slight increase of the mesangial matrix [75] as well as anoxic injury, i.e., collapse with a few severely thickened capillary loops which



Fig. 25.1a-e. LM and IF arteriolar findings as related to hypertension (BP $\geq 160/100$ mm Hg). (a) Relationship between arteriolosclerosis as identified by LM and IF. Note: Arteriolosclerosis is more often found by IF than by LM, even if the LM material is serially sectioned. In cases of arteriolosclerosis identified by LM, IF is nearly always positive. (b) Relative frequency of hypertension in cases with and without arteriolosclerosis under LM. Note: even in the absence of arteriolosclerosis with LM (left column), nearly 30% of cases disclose hypertension. Percentage increases in cases with severe (right column) arteriolosclerosis with LM to more than 70%. (c) Relative frequency of hypertension in IF arteriolar findings. Note: 35% of patients negative in IF (left column) disclose hypertension. Percentage increases in marked IF positivity to 70% (right column). (d) Relative frequency of IF arteriolar findings in non-GN and GN. Note: 80% of patients with non-GN have positive arteriolar findings, vs. only 55% with GN. Percentage of hypertension in both groups of renal disease is nearly the same. (e) Relative frequency of immunoglobulins in 105 cases with positive arteriolar findings in IF

may demonstrate fibrinoid masses. The changes slowly develop into segmental loop obsolescence (Fig. 25.6) with synechiae and striking thickening and splitting of the glomerular capsule (Figs. 6.112; 25.6). Complete glomerular obsolescence finally occurs.

The above-described parenchymal changes may be completely absent in mild arteriolosclerosis, even though hypertension is present. Accordingly, the arteriolar changes are the significant ones and not those of the parenchyma (see also [81]).

JGA changes are described on p. 116.

IF Findings

A statistically significant correlation exists between IF findings of plasma protein insudation of the arteriolar wall (Fig. 25.1) and the LM finding of arteriolosclerosis. This can be only demonstrated when all arterioles in serial sections are very carefully examined with LM (Fig. 25.1). The focal character of arteriolosclerosis in the beginning explains the discrepancy between LM and IF findings (Fig. 25.1). Among 105 positive IF findings in arterioles, we found complement (C3) in 97%, IgM



in 72%, IgG in 5% (mainly in GN) and fibrin in 2%. All other immunoglobulins were always negative.

In 5 out of 11 of our cases, the glomeruli demonstrated deposits of IgM and/or C3 in focal or diffuse but always in segmental distribution in the mesangium and/or in the periphery (Figs. 11.8, 11.21, 25.7). In 10% of the cases with arteriolar changes, a slight focal insudation in the walls of the arteries (positive for IgM, C3 or IgG) was present. IgG, however, was demonstrated only in the presence of attendant GN.

EM Findings

In EM, arteriolosclerosis differs from arteriolonecrosis more quantitatively than qualitatively in that in arteriolosclerosis, ground substance formation predominates (due to myocytic transformation) and in arteriolonecrosis, myocytolysis [783]. Overlapping of both findings can be observed (Fig. 25.15; see p. 524; see also [576]).

In arteriolosclerosis, endothelial necrosis and widening of the normally slit-shaped cell junctions between the endothelial cells are frequent. The subendothelial space is enormously widened and filled with a finely granular osmiophilic mass with a cloudy, patchy arrangement (LM: fibrinoid=eosinophilic noncellular subendothelial hyaline: [1274a]; Figs. 25.8, 25.9). In this condition, the BM and elastica are split and partially impregnated with osmiophilic masses (Figs. 25.8, 25.10).

✓ Fig. 25.2. Arteriolosclerosis due to severe hypertension. Homogeneous fibrinoid masses are present between the endothelium and media (→). Glomerulus depicted demonstrates obvious collapse. Arteriolosclerosis is also present in the vas afferens. Female, 62 years. HE (×250)

Fig. 25.3. Same case as in Figure 25.2. Elastica of an arteriole is still recognizable (\rightarrow) . Endothelium is also preserved. Between I. elastica and endothelium homogenous masses are present which are occasionally slightly lamellated. Female, 62 years. Van Gieson elastin (\times 540)

Fig. 25.4. Arteriolosclerosis in pyelonephritis and hypertension. Fibrinoid homogeneous masses are clearly focally deposited in the subendothelial space. Media overlying the deposits is atrophic. Male, 72 years. Van Gieson elastin (\times 540)

Fig. 25.5. Segmental obsolescence of glomerular capillary loops with fibrinoid (giant) deposits containing lipid vacuoles (\rightarrow) . There are obvious synechiae in the region of occluded glomerular capillary loops. BM of the other capillary loops shows slight wrinkling, e.g., collapse. A case of severe renal arteriolosclerosis associated with hypertension. Female, 71 years. PAS (×600)

In arteriolosclerosis, there is no significant intermyocytic separation caused by osmiophilic material (i.e., no permeation of the media). A few scattered elastic aggregates frequently lie in the immediate vicinity of the myocytes. The myocytes may show a spider-shaped transformation and an increase in organelles (mesenchymally transformed myocytes, "moth-hole cells" [1591c]) or they may be rounded, thickened and vacuolized, i.e., early degeneration of myocytes leading to myocytolysis (Figs. 25.8, 25.9). The myocytic injury continues and procedes centrifugally from the lumen. There remains cellular detritus-with minimal mineral depositionwhich demonstrates vesicular structure. The latter-described myocytic changes already indicate arteriolonecrosis (for histograms on glomerular EM findings see Figs. 6.9, 6.22, 6.34, 6.57, 6.64, 6.80, 6.88).

Page 518

Fig. 25.6. Same case as in Figure 25.5. Ischemic injury is far more advanced. In addition to capsular thickening, segmental glomerular sclerosis is present. Female, 71 years. PAS ($\times 280$)

Fig. 25.7. Immunofluorescent findings in arteriolosclerosis due to hypertension. IgM deposits—which are narrowing the lumen of the arteriole –are present. There is also segmental, granular deposition in the mesangium and glomerular loops. Female, 52 years. IF ($\times 600$)

Fig. 25.8. Slight arteriolosclerosis in chronic pyelonephritis. Finegrained osmiophilic masses (*) are present in the highly thickened BM and lamina elastica interna. Endothelium shows only slight vacuolar changes. Massive vacuoles are present in myocytes. Adventitia is unchanged. Female, 58 years. EM (\times 5460)

Page 519

Fig. 25.9. Severe arteriolosclerosis in a 29-year-old woman. Contralateral kidney was removed and diagnosed as early childhood pyelonephritic contracted kidney and weighed 30 g. Preoperative hypertension was cured by nephrectomy. In contrast to Figure 25.8, extensive osmiophilic deposits in cloud-like and clumpy form are present in the subendothelial space. A few myocytes have been destroyed and removed. EM (\times 3600)

Fig. 25.10. Same case as in Figure 25.9. Part of the wall of a renal arteriole shows only slight sclerosis. BM is highly thickened and split and contains a fine-granular osmiophilic deposit (D) with a few thread-like structures (\rightarrow) as is also found in older glomerular immunodeposits (see p. 96). Endothelium (E), myocyte (MC) with a large vacuole (*). Female, 29 years. EM $(\times 24,800)$





Differential Diagnosis

The absence of significant necrosis and inflammatory reaction allow exclusion of arteriolonecrosis. This is even more valid for allergic vasculitis which is characterized by inflammatory infiltrates.

Prognosis

The prognosis is decisively dependent on the degree of hypertension. If hypertension is eliminated through medication or surgery, the arteriolar changes can undergo remission as we have noted in sequential lymph node biopsies (experimental findings: [17]). Subendothelially, new elastic material is formed and the fibrinoid transudate is replaced by a fibromuscular tissue which contains elastic fibers. Untreated patients usually die from hypertension (only 2% from uremia).

Pathogenesis

Fibrinoid deposition is a consequence of insudation of plasma elements and especially of C3 and IgM (experimental findings with India ink as label: [552]).

Most investigators consider hypertension-irrespective of etiology-in the peripheral circulatory system to be the cause of insudation, especially so in the presence of severe and generalized arteriolosclerosis ([1790]; literature with opposing views: [1239]). In this process, spasms of the larger arteries appear to play a significant role [65a, 1064, 1591c]. Despite normal general blood pressure, a considerable pressure increase may occur in the kidneys (see also [552, 1758]). This finding explains, in some cases, the presence of severe arteriolosclerosis in the absence of generalized hypertension (Fig. 25.1). Edema of the vascular wall caused by hypernatremia may possibly play an additional role [536]. Other insudation-enhancing factors, such as ischemia and metabolic disturbances (e.g. diabetes mellitus) should also be recognized as factors in causing slight – and usually circumscript-arteriolosclerosis. Thus, in our case material of non-GN renal diseases examined with IF (acute and chronic PN, hydronephrosis, unspecific GNo etc.), we found insudation of IgM and/or complement in 80% of the cases, but in GN in only 55%. In both disease groups, hypertension was present in about 50% of the cases (Fig. 25.1, see also [1068]). Despite this finding, these cases do not play a significant role in needle biopsy interpretation if the quantitative relationships are borne in mind, since the presence of one arteriolosclerotic vessel must not be interpreted as proof for hypertensive vasculopathy.

Generalized arteriolosclerosis, on the other hand, is almost always the consequence of hypertension and, by impairment of blood flow in normal renal tissue, further increases the severity of the hypertension. Needle biopsy of the non-affected kidney in the presence of unilateral renal disease can often clarify the extent of arteriolosclerotically-induced blood flow impairment. Recently, association of hypertension and arteriolosclerosis with ovulation inhibitors has been reported [556].

Arteriolonecrosis [1791, 1509a]

Definition

Arteriolonecrosis is characterized by severe fibrinoid insudates of the arterioles with media necrosis accompanied by unspecific inflammatory reaction. The *symptomatic form* (secondary form: [166]) is the consequence of chronic renal or extrarenal hypertension. In the *idiopathic form* (primary form: [166]) hypertension is absent or only very mild.

Synonyms: Malignant nephrosclerosis, malignant hypertension, musculomucoid intimal hyperplasia [1275].

Incidence

In 0.33% of our autopsy material, we found arteriolonecrosis without primary, diffuse renal disease. Biopsy is rarely used (0.91% of 2080 biopsies: Z; for a contrary opinion, see [843]) because of danger of hemorrhage. Of patients with essential hypertension, 1% [843] to 8% [1239] are said to finally develop renal arteriolonecrosis. In this group, young patients are more frequently observed than they are in arteriolosclerosis (maximum age: 30–50 years).

In our autopsy material, the average age was 43 for women and 47 for males; in our biopsy material 38.5 years (23-41 years). The ratio of men to women was 5:4.

In the very rare idiopathic form which occurs without hypertension (2 out of 25,000 autopsy cases: Z), the incidence is considerably greater for women.

The average duration of hypertension at the time of biopsy was 7.8 years. At autopsy, we have never encountered arteriolosclerosis in children, but we have encountered severe arteriolonecrosis in a few cases.

Clinical Findings

The term "malignant hypertension" is not equivalent to arteriolonecrosis. It encompasses massive generalized arteriolonecrosis (17% of patients with malignant hypertension: [676]) as well as the closely related form of severe arteriolosclerosis (83% of cases). Arteriolonecrosis seems to be rather infrequent in blacks with malignant hypertension [1274a].

Clinical symptoms include optic papillary edema, rapidly progressive renal insufficiency, and cardiac and CNS symptoms [1239]. Diastolic blood pressure lies between 110 and 170 mm Hg, while systolic values are not essentially higher than those encountered in benign essential hypertension [843]. In our biopsied patients, the average systolic pressure was 230 ± 25 mm Hg and the diastolic 143 ± 25 mm Hg. A few cases which were not hypertensive have been reported (idiopathic form: [157, 1239, 1677]).

In 50% of cases reported in the literature, death occurs within one year. Of these deaths, 50% are due to uremia, which accounts for the designation, "malignant nephrosclerosis". Occasionally, renal insufficiency may emerge in the form of an acute attack [1552]—especially in the idiopathic form—and may be accompanied by signs of hemolysis and intravasal coagulation [166, 515, 1024, 1158, 1483, 1552].

The remaining clinical symptoms include proteinuria, often more than 2 gm/day (0.5–5.4 gm/day in 6 out of 13 biopsies: Z), polyuria and isosthenuria. Urinary findings often suggest the presence of a primary glomerular disease [1325]. Plasma renin values are massively increased.

LM Findings

The small-strip, radial subinfarcts may be similar to those seen in arteriolosclerosis; in arteriolonecrosis, however, the boundaries of the anoxic regions are far less sharply demarcated and less pronounced. The arteriolar lesion also afflicts the glomeruli more severely (Fig. 25.11). A few glomerular loops or – even entire glomeruli—can be necrotic ("alterative glomerulitis": [1068]) and sometimes show slight partial capsular epithelial proliferation (Fig. 25.12). Collapse glomeruli are frequent (Fig. 25.16).

Arterioles (see also [1462]) are difficult to identify since their media is strongly split and permeated with cells and fibrinoid masses (Fig. 25.11). The fibrinoid masses stain similar to those in arteriolosclerosis, but they are less strongly sudanophilic and more granular (Fig. 25.13). The masses often contain cellular detritus (Fig. 25.13). They occasionally extend not only to the media but also to the adventitia and can reach the surrounding stroma, in which case they are surrounded granuloma-like by lymphocytes, histiocytes, and plasma cells (Fig. 25.14). Splitting of the vessel wall is more clearly demonstrable with the PASM stain (Fig. 25.12) than it is in the HE stain (Fig. 25.13). A few investigators

describe these findings as "proliferative arteriolitis" [843, 1239].

A pad-like granuloma formation is frequently found around the especially afflicted afferent vessels (Fig. 25.11). Erythrocytes may occasionally be found within the vascular wall. The lumen in the region of endothelial necrosis may be entirely occluded. Endothelial proliferation at the site of intact lumens is frequent, a finding supposedly very pronounced in the idiopathic form and especially so in the afferent vessels [166].

The wall of the interlobular arteries is split onion bulblike and thickened by myxoid material (Fig. 25.16; see also [1274a]). Media necroses are extremely rare and the lumen is greatly narrowed. This change is also described as "proliferative endarteritis" [166, 1068]. Subendothelially, concentrically arranged increased connective tissue and deposition of myxoid or mucoid substances are found.

The elastica interna is usually split.

Arteriosclerosis of the larger vessels is not obligatory. Adaptive intimal fibrosis can develop with long-term dialysis.

The interstitium is far more fibrosed than in arteriolosclerosis; it is often edematous and contains extensive lympho-plasmocytic infiltrates. Tubular atrophy is less pronounced than it is in arteriolosclerosis, and JGA changes are analogous to those found in arteriolosclerosis.

IF Findings

Fibrin(-ogen) is said to be always present, a finding thought to indicate secondary intravasal coagulation [1552]. We see this rather as an expression of plasma insudation, since ferritin and IgG can be demonstrated as well [489]. In two of our own cases we found C3 and IgM in glomeruli and arterioles, but not fibrin(-ogen).

EM Findings

In addition to arteriolosclerotic changes, the arterioles demonstrate severe permeation of the media with osmophilic masses which may spill out into the surroundings (Figs. 25.15, 25.17) where an inflammatory reaction is usually present.

Subintimal myocytes are severely damaged and may even show necrosis. In less severe injury, progressive myocytolysis leads to a transformation of all the media myocytes in the larger vessels (see also [1275]) which, in turn, gives rise to an onion peel-like sclerosis of the entire vascular wall (see above and Fig. 25.16).

Ischemic injury is present in the glomeruli. Finely granular osmiophilic deposits can be demonstrated in the subendothelial space, the mesangium and sometimes in the capsular BM (experimental findings: [109]).



In the idiopathic form, fresh thrombi and those undergoing organization—chiefly in the interlobular arteries, more rarely in the arterioles, and in very isolated cases in the glomerular loops—appear to be very characteristic. These thrombi may occur as a result of concomitant intravasal coagulation.

"Accelerated obsolescence" is described as being by and large characteristic for renal arteriolonecrosis [783] in which a new (second) BM is supposed to be formed without interposition of mesangial cells within the very severely thickened lamina rara interna. This finding corresponds considerably to that occurring in scleroderma (see p. 528). We have not encountered this change in our scanty case material on arteriolonecrosis. In a few instances, however, we have seen unspecific new formation of lamina densa-like material subepithelially (Fig. 25.18).

Differential Diagnosis

Differentiation from arteriolosclerosis has been discussed on p. 520. It must be pointed out that both lesions can occur side by side on the same slide (Fig. 25.19). The differentiation between arteriolonecrosis caused by essential hypertension and that by hypertension due to focal renal lesions often cannot be discerned on the basis of needle biopsy findings described above.

✓ Fig. 25.11. Arteriolonecrosis in malignant nephrosclerosis. Arterioles, especially the vasa afferentia (→) exhibit severe fibrinoid necrosis with an obvious pole granuloma (→). Tubular epithelium is flattened due to ischemia. Female, 20 years. HE (×160)

Fig. 25.12. Arteriolonecrosis with splitting of a small arterial/arteriolar wall which is permeated with fibrinoid. Glomerular capillary loops evidence similar changes and synechiae. Male, 44 years. PASM (\times 300)

Fig. 25.13. Arteriolonecrosis. Arteriolar wall shows fibrinoid necrosis with numerous nuclear fragments. Adventitia is edematous and demonstrates slight cell proliferation. Female, 58 years. Van Gieson ($\times 400$)

Fig. 25.14. Same case of renal arteriolonecrosis as in Figure 25.11. A pole granuloma is shown. Vas afferens (VA) is considerably narrowed and exhibits fibrinoid permeation (*) which, in turn, is surrounded by a granuloma. Frozen section. Female, 20 years. HE (\times 380)

Difficulty may also be experienced in differentiating forms caused by essential hypertension from secondary arteriolonecrosis occurring in diffuse renal lesions. This is especially true if numerous capillary loop necroses tend to obscure the findings of GN. Knowledge of the quantitative distribution and extent of changed elements (vessels, glomeruli) is usually helpful in the final diagnosis.

Without knowledge of the clinical findings, differential diagnosis from kidney in scleroderma may be very difficult and even impossible (see p. 528).

Page 524

Fig. 25.15. Incipient arteriolonecrosis associated with contralateral pyelonephritic contracted kidney. There are unclearly delimited osmiophilic masses in the highly thickened BM (*). These masses occasionally penetrate between the myocytes (\rightarrow), which are severely atrophic or occasionally which have even disappeared. Female, 58 years. EM (× 3260)

Fig. 25.16. Onion bulb-like splitting of an interlobular artery in malignant nephrosclerosis. Arterial lumen is severely narrowed. Collapse changes are present in the glomerulus. PAS $(\times 250)$

Fig. 25.17. Same case as in Figure 25.15. In this preparation there is an accumulation of osmiophilic masses, especially in the adventitia (*). Subendothelial space is broadened and loosened. Note degeneration and transformation of myocytes. Female, 58 years. EM (\times 2710)

Page 525

Fig. 25.18. Glomerular capillary loop changes in arteriolonecrosis. Fine-granular, only slightly dense masses (\rightarrow) are deposited between a podocyte (*P*) and lamina densa of BM. Masses are sharply delimited from the podocyte. There is typical collapse change of BM present. Endothelial nucleus (*E*). Male, 43 years. EM (×9200)

Fig. 25.19. Simultaneous occurrence of arteriolosclerosis (1) and arteriolonecrosis (2). PAS (\times 530)

Fig. 25.20. Idiopathic form of malignant nephrosclerosis associated with hemolysis. There is severe widening of the cell-poor subintimal space of a small artery. Residual lumen is highly narrowed. (This case was kindly provided by Dr. Wegmann, Liestal, Switzerland.) Female, 22 years. HE (\times 140)

Fig. 25.21. Same case as in Figure 25.20. Note analogous arteriolar (\rightarrow) and glomerular capillary loop (*) changes associated with thrombotic masses undergoing organization. Female, 22 years. HE (×140)





25.20 25.21

Differentiation from radiation injury and from the hypersensitivity angitis is not difficult when the changes in other renal elements (tubules, glomeruli etc.) and the distributional type and the severity of necrotic injury are given appropriate attention (see also [1068]).

The so-called idiopathic form of malignant nephrosclerosis, which may also be accompanied by hemolysis [166], cannot be morphologically differentiated from adult hemolytic-uremic syndrome, as we have confirmed in one of our own cases (Figs. 25.20, 25.25; [166, 1068, 1842], see p. 502).

Prognosis

In general, the prognosis is poor. In 13 of our cases followed catamnestically, 8 died within 12 months, 7 of whom in uremia; 5 are still alive with an average survival period of 7.6 years (2.5-12). When antihypertensive therapy is pursued (medication, bilateral nephrectomy and transplantation) life expectancy may be increased considerably.

Total reversibility of the vascular changes following normalization of blood pressure is improbable because of the severe injury to the vascular wall and the frequently accompanying inflammatory changes. We are not, however, aware of objective data relating to this problem. In one of our autopsy cases, we encountered malignant nephrosclerosis in which unilateral thrombosis of the renal artery developed secondarily. In this kidney, fibrinoid necrosis of the arterioles had been totally replaced by scar tissue (Figs. 25.22, 25.23).

Pathogenesis and Etiology

Numerous arguments point to insudation of the arteriolar wall with plasma elements—e.g., in arteriolonecrosis—as the basic pathogenetic disturbance which occurs under the influence of elevated blood pressure and vasospasm (see p. 520; [1790]). This is confirmed by the fact that unilateral reduction of blood flow protects the kidney from vascular lesions [452, 765, 1034]. Thus, in eight subinfarcts, we have never encountered arteriolonecrosis despite extensive arteriolonecrosis in remnant parenchyma.

In a large series encompassing 124 cases, essential hypertension was present in 41.9%, GN in 15.3% and in 21.8%, another cause for hypertension was observed [843]. In 25 of our biopsy cases, essential hypertension was present in 19, pyelonephritis in 4 and GN in 2.

The pathogenesis of the disease process in those rare patients with idiopathic renal arteriolonecrosis without prior severe hypertension remains unexplained. Five postpartal cases with arteriolonecrosis limited to the kidney [515, 1677, 1840] and 6 in association with ovulation inhibitors [157, 555a, 1842] have been described (see p. 503). Hormonal factors acting in association with an activated coagulatory system have been implicated. Immediate normalization of blood pressure following bilateral nephrectomy has been reported [157].

In our case of a 22-year-old female, the typical disease pattern accompanied by severe hemolysis developed 2 years after spontaneous abortion and subsequent use of ovulation inhibitors (we thank Dr. Wegmann, Liestal, Switzerland, for referring this case to us). Idiopathic arteriolonecrosis was described in three siblings and a cousin 24–31 years of age [603]. In all four, proteinuria without hypertension had been present for years.

A biopsy from one of these patients in this phase showed C3, IgG and subepithelial deposits in the glomeruli. Bilateral nephrectomy in three patients resulted in cure. Pathogenetically, it was assumed that the presence of primary renal disease led secondarily to hemolysis and intravasal coagulation [603]. Other investigators attribute the disease to intravasal coagulation with secondary permeability disturbance of the vessels [166] or to a primary acute vascular disease with secondary, local coagulation [515]. We consider the endothelial lesion to be responsible for the hemolysis.

Fibroelastosis [1336]

This very common arterial disease occurs almost exclusively in the kidney. It chiefly afflicts the renal artery, but also its branches as far as the arcuate arteries. Accordingly, it can occasionally be seen in needle or open surgical biopsy.

The lesion consists of a mildly nodular and lamellar thickening of the media. In the affected region, there occurs a decrease of muscle cells with attendant increase of collagen and elastin (Fig. 25.24). The elastica interna shows a few isolated defects. The intima is slightly fibrosed and fills in the wavy depressions between the individual nodular thickenings.

Apparently, the pathologic change is attributable to abnormal attrition and to consecutive degeneration of the myocytes, the cause of which is not clear (possibly shock, spasms, stress). These effects lead to degeneration of the myocytes which become either necrotic or undergo a functional change whereby they produce more ground substance, collagen, and elastin. The change begins in both sexes in the second decade of life and constantly increases in severity with age. Dissecting aneurysm is the only complication of the disease; its occurrence is extremely rare. The lesion is apparently not identical with fibromuscular dysplasia [666] which will not be discussed since it is only found in the renal artery and as such is not accessible to needle biopsy. Adaptive intimal fibrosis is described on p. 151.





Fig. 25.22. Healing of arteriolonecrosis associated with secondary arterial thrombosis in this kidney (see text for details). Arterioles have become very thin-walled (\rightarrow) . Only one arteriole, which apparently has a fully occluded lumen, has not healed (*). Female, 63 years. PAS ($\times 290$)

Fig. 25.23. Same case as in Figure 25.22. Arterioles in contralateral kidney—which is not protected from arterial thrombosis—shows severe arterilonecrotic changes. Female, 63 years. PAS ($\times 290$)

Fig. 25.24. Degenerative fibroelastosis of a renal artery. There are numerous lumpy elastin fragments in the media (*). Lamina elastica externa is more or less intact, but the interna exhibits numerous interruptions (\rightarrow). Larger foci of degeneration without elastic fibers are present in the media (0). Intima exhibits severe fibrotic thickening. Surgical biopsy. Female, 48 years. Van Gieson elastin (\times 40)
Scleroderma [31, 1683, 1509a]

Definition

Scleroderma is a systemic disease characterized by fibrotic interstitial changes afflicting various organs.

Synonym: Systemic sclerosis.

Incidence

Scleroderma is a rare disease (39 out of 25,000 autopsies: Z; 2 out of 2080 biopsies (0.19%)). The incidence has been reported to be 2.5 times greater in women than in men [31]. It is possible, however, that the disease is more frequent in that there are many patients with predominant visceral involvement (lung, stomach, intestine, esophagus, heart, kidney) and no or minimal skin changes.

In assured scleroderma, the kidneys have been reported to be involved clinically in 2.6% [1252] to 36% [250] and at autopsy, in 27 out of 39 (Z) respectively in 90% of cases [250].

Clinical Findings

Typical scleroderma is characterized at onset by Raynaud's phenomenon or symmetrical swelling and stiffness of fingers. Later, skin changes as well as gastrointestinal symptoms, polyarthritis, muscle atrophy, dyspnea, arrhythmia, heart insufficiency and renal symptoms may develop (for various clinical forms see [1751]).

Hypertension is not obligatory (2 out of 5 cases: [903]; 2 out of 8 cases: [1241]; 6 out of 15 cases: [31]; 2 out of 7: Z; 24% of cases: [250]). In a series of patients [250] 7% suffered from malignant hypertension with hyperazotemia, a symptom which appears to occur more frequently following intensive corticoid therapy [1791].

Proteinuria is very frequent; uremia, however, is uncommon despite the severity of renal disease (15 out of 38: [31]; 4 out of 27 autopsy cases: Z). Antinuclear factors can be demonstrated in serum (renal tissue: [1053]) in more than half of the cases and rheumatic factor in about one fourth.

LM Findings

At autopsy, the parenchyma of kidneys severely afflicted with the disease appears seeded with foci of subinfarcts as well as of fresh and older infarcts. These foci occur in areas supplied by the interlobular arteries or their branches. Capillaries are reported to be more frequently obstructed than arterioles and arteries least of all [1195]. We found the main lesions in the interlobular arteries and their branches. This change, referred to as the so-called onionbulb interlobular artery, is characterized by marked thickening of the wall and severe narrowing of the lumen which occasionally becomes completely occluded (Figs. 25.25, 25.26, 25.27).

The wall thickening is characteristically due to splitting and proliferation of muscular and, chiefly, of connective tissue elements and of the elastica interna (Fig. 10.11, 25.26). Furthermore, the affected vessels are permeated with acid mucopolysaccharides which show a strongly positive reaction to the alcian blue stain (Fig. 25.25), especially in the subendothelial space.

The media is more or less atrophic (Fig. 25.26), whereas the adventitia is unchanged. The endothelium occasionally is slightly proliferated. The changes are as frequent in nonhypertensive cases as in hypertensive ones. Infarcts distal from completeley occluded arteries are frequent.

Of our autopsy cases without hypertension, 8 out of 27 showed arteriolonecrosis (Fig. 25.27) with segmental involvement of the glomeruli and 3 out of 27 mild arteriolosclerosis. In the presence of hypertension, arteriolonecrosis is extremely severe and more frequent than in nonhypertensive cases in which, however, it can also occur (8 out of 15: [31]; [903]). In a very few cases, the necrosis also involves the branches of the interlobular arteries.

The glomerular capillary loop walls are slightly thickened and coarsely wrinkled in about one-third of our cases (Fig. 25.28). Signs of capillary loop necrosis are said to be present [1068], a finding which we have not been able to confirm as is true for wire loops reported by others in 32% of their cases [31].

Fig. 25.25. Middle-sized renal artery in scleroderma. A very \triangleright loosely organized tissue – appearing blue in this stain – is present inside the elastica interna (\rightarrow). Lumen of the vessel is almost totally occluded. Female, 62 years. Alcian blue (×420)

Fig. 25.26. Same vessel as in Figure 25.25. There is frank splitting of lamina elastica interna but there are no elastic fibers in thickened intima. Adventitia is normal and media is atrophic. Female, 62 years. Van Gieson elastin ($\times 420$)

Fig. 25.27. Same case as in Figure 25.25. Arterioles in scleroderma: arteriolar walls are highly split and thickened onion peel-like and occasionally exhibit embedded fibrinoid masses (\rightarrow) and necrosis. Female, 62 years. PAS ($\times 280$)

Fig. 25.28. Same case as in Figure 25.25. Capillary loops of glomerulus depicted are thickened (cf. Fig. 25.31). Female, 62 years. PAS (\times 580)



We encountered loop thrombi only in cases in which glomeruli were damaged by severe ischemia. The JGA is greatly enlarged in a few cases [1569]. The interstitium and tubules demonstrate ischemic changes due to circulatory disturbances in the form of subinfarct or infarct.

IF Findings

In one of our cases, all antiserea tested—IgG, IgM, IgA, IgE, C3, fibrin(-ogen) and nuclear factors—were negative. Other investigators, however, have described in 2 out of 2 cases, granular deposits of IgG, IgA, most predominantly IgM and some complement, and in 7 out of 7 other cases IgM, Clq, C4, and C3 respectively [1053]; see also [541, 1041]). In 7 patients, IF of the blood vessels was positive for IgM, Clq, C4, and C3 in all [1045a].

EM Findings

In our case, the BM of the glomerular capillary loops was sometimes moderately wrinkled, i.e., collapsed (Figs. 6.27, 25.31, 25.32). The unchanged endothelium was, nevertheless, stretched, and the widened subendo-thelial spaces were filled in by a loose, coarsely granular material (Fig. 6.27, 25.32) which contained a few isolated collagenous fibrils (compare: [1509a]).

An analogous glomerular change has been described in renal arteriolonecrosis and designated as "accelerated obsolescence" [783]. This peculiar glomerular lesion has also been reported in nonhypertensive cases by other investigators who have suspected the granular material to consist of ferritin [1241], a finding which we cannot confirm. Similar deposits have been described in vessels of skeletal muscle [1195, 1194]. We found them in renal vessels (Figs. 25.29, 25.30).

Except for slight mesangial thickening without cellular increase and very mild fusion of foot processes, no significant glomerular changes occur. It is noted, however, that the number of EM investigated cases is still insufficient to permit firm conclusions on this subject. The changes of the blood vessels are said [1509a] to be indistinguishable from those of malignant hypertension.

Differential Diagnosis

Great difficulty is encountered in differentiating sclerodermic renal changes from symptomatic and especially idiopathic, arteriolonecrosis (malignant nephrosclerosis, see p. 523). It may prove almost impossible in biopsy and even in autopsy material [903, 1068, 1241]. We have found the alcian blue stain to be of great help in resolving this problem. With this stain, the interspaces of the onion-bulb interlobular arteries are much larger and stain more intensively blue in scleroderma than in arteriolonecrosis. In nonhypertensive cases, the discrepancy between the slight arteriolar lesions and the severity of the advanced arterial changes (onion-bulb interlobular arteries) speaks in favor of scleroderma. Both of these parameters, however, are only quantitative in nature and often cannot be relied upon when dealing with the idiopathic form of arteriolonecrosis. Accordingly, the clinical findings alone will, in some cases, allow a definite decision.

The subendothelial "deposits" in vessels and glomeruli, when present sufficiently for evaluation, are characteristic—even though not specific—of scleroderma. In any event, they are fundamentally different from the very dense finely granular and highly osmophilic IF positive deposits found in arteriolosclerosis and arteriolonecrosis.

Prognosis

The average survival time after diagnosis is 6 years. After appearence of significant clinical renal symptoms, and, especially, of hypertension [250], it is reduced to a few months. In another series of cases [31], the average survival time following diagnosis was 13 months (46 months after appearence of symptoms). In some cases, the disease recurs in the kidney transplant [1045a, 1836].

Pathogenesis and Etiology

Both pathogenesis and etiology of the disease remain unclear. For the development of secondary arteriolonecrosis, other factors must be considered besides hypertension, since the necrosis also occurs in nonhypertensive cases. It arises most likely as the consequence of especially serious anoxic injury due to severe impairment of blood flow to the region supplied by the onion-bulb interlobular arteries. The peculiar glomerular and arteriolar subendothelial deposits may be viewed as occurring analogously, i.e., as the consequence of anoxia.

Fig. 25.29. Same case as in Figure 25.25, showing arteriolar \triangleright changes in scleroderma. Lumen (L) is slit-shaped. Isolated extravasated erythrocytes (*) are seen in the severely fine-granular thickened intima in addition to phagocytes. Lamina elastica interna is thickened, wavy and fragmented (\rightarrow). Myocytes are not obviously changed. Female, 62 years. EM (× 1630)

Fig. 25.30. Same case as in Figure 25.29. Part of intima in an arteriole in scleroderma. Intima consists of a fine-granular and partly fibrillar material in which vacuolized processes can occasionally be recognized. Endothelium (E), myocyte (MC). Female, 62 years. EM (×13,400)



25.30



We interpret the scattered positive IF findings as the result of insudation rather than as the expression of immunocomplex disease (contra: [1053, 1045, 1041, 541]). It is not known whether or not a genetic defect is basically responsible for scleroderma [1751].

Arterial Intimal Proliferation Associated With Female Hormones

Severe arterial intimal proliferation without obvious inflammation can develop in response to the action of female hormones originating from ingestion of ovulation inhibitors or arising in pregnancy. The proliferation is occassionally associated with thrombi and can, rarely, lead to uremia [751].

Neurofibromatosis [181, 1087]

Involvement of renal vessels in generalized neurofibromatosis (von Recklinghausen's disease) is extremely rare, and only 30 cases have been described in the literature [1087]. Nevertheless, in the presence of hypertension in children without renal symptoms, the possibility of neurofibromatosis should be considered and appropriate attention should be directed to pathologic pigmentation and, of course, to neurofibromatosis of the skin.

The average age at which neurofibromatic renal hypertension was discovered was 15; the youngest known case was diagnosed in an infant 9 months old.

LM Findings

The arteries (especially the interlobulars) demonstrate a peculiar intimal proliferation with formation of cellrich pads and of a mild, loosely organized fibrosis of the subendothelial tissue. No reactive inflammation is present (Fig. 25.33; [1324, 181]). Cell proliferation has also been found occasionally in the media and has been interpreted as being neurofibromatic tissue (see also [1520]).

⊲ Fig. 25.31. Same case as in Figure 25.29. This preparation shows a glomerulus in scleroderma. There is wrinkling of peripheral capillary loop BM. Resultant troughs in BM are filled in with a fine-granular material (→). Female, 62 years. EM (\times 3070)

Fig. 25.32. Same case as in Figure 25.29. Part of a peripheral capillary loop. Lamina rara interna is highly thickened, loosely granular and contains two erythrocytes. There is total foot process fusion. Endothelium (E), original basement membrane (BM). Female, 62 years. EM ($\times 17,700$)

However, even with LM it can be seen that these medial elements were strikingly similar to muscle cells (Fig. 25.34) and with EM, it was shown that the elements in question did consist unquestionably of myocytes [591]. In two of our own cases, there was a striking thickening of the periadventitial mesenchyma.

Pathogenetically, neurofibromatic transformation of vascular neural tissue [1098] or dysplasia of smooth muscule [591] are discussed in the literature.

Analysis of tissue and cells will prevent misinterpretation with respect to malignant mesenchymal tissue.

Inflammatory Vascular Diseases [225, 1791]

Definition

Inflammatory vascular diseases of the kidney are – in contrast to arteriolonecrosis, etc. – primary inflammatory lesions.

Transplant vasculopathy is discussed separately on p. 596.

1. Unspecific Arteritis

Inflammatory arterial disease not arising in conjunction with systemic disease is extremely rare in the kidney. According to our experience, it occurs almost exclusively in pyelonephritis, especially when abscesses are present, or as a consequence of massive bacterial dissemination.

2. Periarteritis Nodosa

Definition

Periarteritis nodosa is a chronically relapsing necrotizing granulomatous inflammation of the middle-sized arteries. It should be differentiated from hypersensitivity angitis (see p. 536).

Synonyms: Panarteritis nodosa, polyarteritis nodosa, periarteritis nodosa: macroform, macropolyarteritis [403a].

Incidence

According to the criteria of our definition, we have found a frequency of 0.57% for the disease in our autopsy



25.33 25.34 material; we have never seen it in biopsy. Patients demonstrating the disease are usually between 20 and 50 years of age [789]. Periarteritis nodosa is extremely rare in children (20 cases: [1344]).

Renal involvement has been reported in 75–87% for adults [130, 1791], in 34 out of 56 cases [1151] and in 11 out of 20 cases respectively in children [1344]. Males are afflicted 4–5 times more frequently than females [789].

Clinical Findings

Repeated attacks of fever and other signs of inflammation such as leukocytosis (often with eosinophilia), markedly raised sedimentation rate, etc., are usually present for weeks, months or even for years. Polyneuritis or better: mononeuritis multiplex (bioptically demonstrable), weight loss, and anemia, as well as myalgia, skin involvement and pleurisy, coronary heart disease and gastrointestinal symptoms are frequently encountered. Proteinuria and/or hematuria occur in more than 50% of the patients as well as uremia. Acute oligoanuric renal failure is a rare complication. Hypertension emerges chiefly after long-term corticoid therapy and renal involvement; its appearence may herald a new attack [1310]. About 15% of cases are reported to manifest changes in skin, a biopsy of which permits the diagnosis [1310]. In children, the disease manifets itself as erythema or uticaria, conjunctivitis, symptoms relating to the central nervous system and/or respiratory system, as well as cardiac insufficiency arising from very severe involvement of the coronary arteries [1344].

✓ Fig. 25.33. Neurofibromatosis of von Recklinghausen. A clearcell tissue has caused nodular distention of two small renal arteries (→). Female 5.5 years. Van Gieson elastin (×130)

Fig. 25.34. Same case of neurofibromatosis as in Figure 25.33. In the artery shown, a cellular cover has developed between strikingly loose media and endothelium. Constituents of this intra-arterial cell cover are suggestive of undifferentiated myocytes. Female, 5.5 years. HE (\times 500)

Fig. 25.35. Periarteritis nodosa associated with hepatitis-B virus infection. Note the sector-shaped fibrinoid necrosis of the vascular wall (N). In this region, a severe inflammatory proliferation has developed which is leading to intense narrowing of vessel lumen. Media (\rightarrow) is highly atrophic. Female, 48 years. HE $(\times 37)$

Fig. 25.36. Fresh attack of periarteritis nodosa in an artery previously afflicted. Arterial layers are fibrotic, split, and permeated with inflammatory elements; a sector of the vessel wall exhibits fibrinoid necrosis (N). HE ($\times 150$)

LM Findings

The interlobular arteries exhibit focal and circular fibrinoid necrosis, while those of the middle-sized arteries are affected sector-like or circularly; there is, in any case, accompanying granuloma formation (Figs. 25.35, 25.36). Points of vessel branching are predominantly involved. In acute attacks, the vessel wall may be completely necrotic and the lumen narrowed by parietal thrombi. Later, the necroses are replaced by unspecific granulation tissue which consists of lymphocytes, plasma cells, histiocytes, and fibroblasts. In our material, eosinophilic leukocytes are not increased. In resolving foci, granulation tissue rich in fibrocytes and poor in histiocytes replaces the entire vascular wall, and goes on to finally develop into sclerotic scar tissue poor in cells (Fig. 25.37). In this phase, the elastica is mostly destroyed. Aneurysms may develop and the parietal thrombi undergo organization.

The concomitant occurrence of fresh and older scarifying foci in the vessels is characteristic of periarteritis nodosa, but is encountered in needle biopsy only exceptionally. Foci undergoing organization as well as scared vessels are more frequently found after intensive corticoid therapy.

Parenchyma nourished by afflicted vessels show, as a rule, infarcts of various age at autopsy. Additionally, anoxic tubular changes, collapse glomeruli, and moderately pronounced nondestructive interstitial nephritis are also present which may be quite distant from the vascular lesions. We have only once observed periarteritis nodosa combined with membranoproliferative GN in a case of hepatitis B. All other cases showed no inflammatory glomerular changes (see also [1054, 794a]).

IF Findings

IgG, fibrin and complement have been reported to be present in blood vessels ([1246]; see also [794a]).

Differential Diagnosis

The chronic relapsing course with the simultaneous occurrence of various phases of the disease, the larger size of the vessels afflicted, and the absence of pulmonary symptoms, involvement of the veins in periarteritis nodosa and especially the absence of glomerular involvement differentiate it from hypersensitivity angitis (contra: overlapping of both forms: [403 a]; see also: [1855]. These differentiating factors are not always demonstrable in needle biopsy due to the few blood vessels (see also [1068]) contained therein.

Giant cells, which occur in allergic granulomatous angitis, are absent (see p. 538). Necroses are rarely seen in Buerger's disease, in Takayasu's arteritis and arteritis associated with SLE.

Prognosis

The prognosis is very poor and rarely exceeds a 20% 5-years survival rate in untreated patients. Corticoid therapy slows disease progression considerably. Renal hypertension usually develops when the vascular lesions are already highly advanced at the time of therapy begin.

Complications

According to the literature, the most important complication appears to be FGN. We feel, however, that this complication is not involved with the macroform of periarteritis nodosa but with hypersensitivity angitis. In any event, it was not present in any of our 140 autopsy cases (see also [794a]).

Renal parenchymal injury combined with massive bleeding can lead to spontaneous kidney rupture [1619].

Pathogenesis

Periarteritis nodosa is probably an immunocomplex disease [955, 1848, 1849] caused by poorly soluble complexes [544]. Drugs are chiefly thought to be the source of AG in addition to bacteria and virus (e.g., hepatitis B antigen: [1016, 1848, 1849]—two cases of our own). Nevertheless, antigen demonstration is exceptional.

Clinical Findings

Symptoms involving the lungs (pleurisy and hemorrhage: [1306]), gastrointestinal tract (hemorrhage and pain), heart (pericarditis and myocarditis) and skin purpura are frequently present. Renal involvement is reported in 50% of cases and uremia in 25% [103]. Blood eosinophilia may be present but it is not obligatory, and when present, it is not as pronounced as in allergic granulomatous arteritis. Neutrophilic leukocytes are often fragmented. The disease has been reported to be triggered by corticoid therapy in lupus erythematosus disseminatus [103] or in PCP [1151].

LM Findings

The walls of the smaller arteries, arterioles and, on occasion, of the capillaries and veins, are destroyed and replaced by a circularly arranged granulation tissue featuring numerous eosinophilic leukocytes and fibrin strands (Fig. 25.38). This change often occupies large areas of the afflicted vessel. Massive fibrinoid necroses are rare (Fig. 25.39). All foci are of about the same age. The glomeruli are frequently implicated in the inflammatory process in the form of focally accentuated GN often accompanied by extracapillary crescents (Fig. 25.40; see also [794a]).

We are not aware of any EM investigations.

3. Hypersensitivity Angitis [103, 1306]

Definition

Hypersensitivity angitis is an allergic inflammation of the small arteries with a rapid, fatal course, and frequent involvement of the lungs, kidneys, and heart [1772, 1773].

Synonym: Periarteritis nodosa, microform; micropolyarteritis [403a].

Incidence

This generalized vascular disease is rare. It constituted 0.32% of the cases in an autopsy series and 6 out of 56 biopsies of renal arteritis [1151]. The disease shows no preference for age. Women are less afflicted than men (6:15: [509]; contra: [789]).

Fig. 25.37. Old (scarred) periarteritis nodosa. Vascular lumen \triangleright is nearly occluded by scar tissue between media (\rightarrow) and endothelium. One sector (*) of media has been completely destroyed and replaced by scar tissue. Periarterial inflammatory infiltration is present. HE (\times 80)

Fig. 25.38. Hypersensitivity angitis of unknown etiology: analogous vascular changes are present in practically all of the inner organs. Only the most internal vascular layer is partly intact; all others are replaced by a radially arranged granulation tissue in which fibrinoid necroses are also occasionally encountered (\rightarrow) . Female, 72 years. PAS (×150)

Fig. 25.39. Same case of hypersensitivity angitis as in Figure 25.38. Fibrinoid necrosis is the predominant finding in this small artery. Lumen is almost completely occluded. Female, 72 years. HE (\times 290)

Fig. 25.40. Segmental-focal glomerulonephritis in same case of hypersensitivity angitis as in Figure 25.38. Necrotizing segmental glomerulitis with extracapillary involvement is present. Fibrin is seen in one glomerular capillary loop (\rightarrow). Female, 72 years. Masson's trichrome (\times 500)



IF Findings

In one case [128], only fibrin was found, and in another [1246] complement and gamma globulins were also present. In another series, IgG was present in 3 out of 5 cases, C3 in 2 out of 5 and fibrin(-ogen) in all cases [794a].

Complications

Glomerulitis, usually necrotizing and focally accentuated, occurs relatively frequently [103, 358, 509, 685, 794a, 1306, 1772]; see also p. 349. In 3 out of 7 of our cases we found extracapillary and usually proliferative FGN. Capillary loop necroses (Fig. 25.40; [1068]) were present in only 2 of our cases.

Differential Diagnosis

Difficulty is mainly encountered in relation to the FGN which often accompanies this disease. Severe destructive glomerulitis with periglomerulitis is indicative of Wegener's syndrome, whereas the vascular changes in Wegener's syndrome are considered by some investigators as belonging to hypersensitivity angitis [103, 1772, 1855]. Pronounced hypertensive vasculopathy (arteriolonecrosis) in children can appear very similar to hypersensitivity angitis. It is noted, however, that inflammatory changes in arteriolonecrosis are much more discrete, and that this disease features frank hypertrophy of the media of unaffected vessels. The clinical course of the two diseases is also different.

Schönlein-Henoch's purpura is said to cause vascular changes similar to those in hypersensitivity angitis [325, 1855], a finding which we cannot confirm (p. 320). Hypersensitivity angitis usually afflicts smaller vessels than is the case in SLE and hematoxylin bodies are not found.

Pulmonary bleeding can occasionally direct attention to Goodpasture's syndrome in which, however, the glomerular changes are far more destructive, the periglomerulitis far more pronounced, the vascular changes far less pronounced, and in which anti-BM AB can be demonstrated in serum and kidney. For periarteritis nodosa, see p. 533.

Prognosis

The prognosis appears to be very poor, even with corticoid therapy [103].

The disease usually leads to death within a few days or, at most, in a few months. One group of investigators, however, reported 11 out of 21 survivors [509] which possibly included patients with periarteritis nodosa (macroform).

Pathogenesis and Etiology

In general, the disease is thought to result from an abnormal immunologic response to bacteria, drugs (sulfonamides: [1306]; Madribon[®]=sulfadimethoxine: [325]) and possibly to virus e.g. hepatitis B antigen [1848]. Poorly soluble immunocomplexes can cause the vascular lesions [544] which are also typically observed in serum sickness.

Finally, it has been observed that massive corticoid therapy for other diseases, e.g., SLE or rheumatoid arthritis, appears to trigger hypersensitivity angitis [103, 1151].

4. Other Inflammatory Diseases of the Renal Arteries

Allergic Granulomatous Arteritis (Churg and Strauss)

This is a very rare disease (Z: 3 out of 25,000 autopsies: [284]). It runs a chronic course lasting many months with acute episodes of fever, bronchial asthma, severe blood eosinophilia and occasionally with eosinophilic pulmonary infiltrates and an increase in serum IgE [301 a].

Extensive granulomas in arteries and veins [574] are found in many organs including the kidneys. The granulomas are in various stages of development and consist of eosinophilic leukocytes, epitheloid and giant cells (Figs. 25.41, 25.42). Tuberculoid arteritis [1791] belongs to this disease which has many similarities to Wegener's granulomatosis except for the characteristic glomerular lesions noted in the latter ([1773]; contra: [1054]).

Rheumatic Arteritis

Rheumatic arteritis [103] rarely occurs in acute rheumatic joint disease (2 out of 25,000 autopsies: Z). It manifests itself in the middle-sized and small arteries in the form of a granulomatous, periarteritic, unspecific inflammation [210] or in the form of Aschoff's granulomas (Fig. 25.43; [863, 1773]).

Later in the course of the disease, fibrinoid medial necrosis and microabscesses can develop [673]. This form of the arteritis is reported to be morphologically very similar to that occurring in SLE which is further substantiated by the presence of antinuclear antibodies (specific, however, only for native DNA) and rheumatoid factors in the serum [1068]. When corticoid is administered in high doses, extensive necrosis in the center of the granulomas may develop [705a].

Thrombendangitis (Buerger-Winiwater Disease) [946, 1791]

This disease is rarely observed in renal arteries and it can, in rare cases, even afflict the arcuate arteries. Patients with this disease are usually men under 40 years of age who suffer from occluding arterio- and venopathy. Hypertension is frequently encountered when the renal arteries are involved.

LM study demonstrates cell-rich intimal pads with giant cells and, occasionally, with fibrinoid necrosis and tuberculoid granulomas in arteries as well as veins(!) with secondary thrombosis.

The thrombi are unusually rich in cells and considerably vascularized. In contrast to other arteritic diseases, thrombendangitis is characterized by the very slight lymphocytic infiltration of the media and adventitia. In the late phase of the disease, the tissue becomes sclerosed and may show secondary lipoid deposition. Differential diagnosis with respect to arteriosclerosis is only possible in the acute phase and when sufficient clinical data are available.

Giant Cell Arteritis (Horton's Temporal Arteritis)

This disease, in rare cases, assumes a generalized form in which the kidneys may also be implicated and which can lead to uremia [707]. The disease usually attacks elderly people of either sex.

Prodromal symptoms, such as rheumatic complaints, headache, and visual disturbances, may last for a considerable period of time. The temporal artery is painful on pressure and the tissue surrounding the artery is reddish. Corticoid therapy prevents threatening blindness. It appears that allergic degeneration of the elastica interna (no further clarification currently available) is present. The media undergoes secondary replacement by granuloma tissue consisting of lymphocytes, histiocytes, plasma cells, neutrophilic leukocytes, and giant cells containing elastin fragments.

EM study [350] suggests that the myocytes are primarily affected (possibly disturbance of synthesizing ability). They show decreased numbers of myofibrils and fuse to form giant cells.



26. Unilateral Contracted Kidney and Renal Hypertension

[1262, 1487, 1791]

Definition

We define unilateral contracted kidney as a kidney weighing less than 90 g and showing a weight difference from the contralateral kidney of at least 50 g in adults. Hypertension is defined as a blood pressure of $\geq 160/100$ mm Hg. For differentiation from hypoplasia see p. 547.

Incidence

Using the above-mentioned criteria, the frequency of unilateral contracted kidney at autopsy has been reported as 1.72% [1072] from which only 8.1% were present in patients under 50 years of age. In material obtained by surgery, the age of patients is, of course, much lower, and children are included.

As shown in our own autopsy material, the incidence of hypertension in patients with unilateral contracted kidney is much greater than in a corresponding agematched control group (42%: 29%). The various forms of unilateral contracted kidney with respect to pathogenesis demonstrate the following incidence of hypertension: ischemic contracted kidney: 84% [1808], pyelonephritic unilateral contracted kidney: 33.3% [1791], 64.6% (Z); 16% [1262]; early childhood form of PN contracted kidney: 65% (Z); hydronephrotic contracted kidney 41% (Z); tuberculous putty kidney: 3–4% [908, 1466, 1783]; all other diseases leading to unilateral contracted kidney are rare. Thus, unilateral contracted kidney frequently, but not necessarily leads to hypertension, apparently via the renin mechanism [919].

Biopsy Findings

The unilateral contracted kidney itself is rarely biopsied in contrast to the contralateral kidney in which the presence or absence of any diffuse or focal renal disease is of interest, as is the degree of hypertensive vasculopathy which more or less determines the prognosis relating to successful operative antihypertensive treatment. The possibility of vasculopathy arising from essential hypertension cannot, of course, be excluded.

Hypertrophy of the JGA can be observed in all forms of contracted kidney. We found this hypertrophy to be

diffuse in central arterial ischemic contracted kidney and focal in PN contracted kidney with predominance in the scarred areas. In cases of extensive parenchymal damage, reliable evaluation of the JGA is no longer possible (4 out of 40: Z).

Prognosis

The prognosis, as related to operative antihypertensive therapy, is said to be all the better the shorter the duration of the hypertension, the lower the blood pressure, and the younger the patient [908].

Table 26.1. Course of hypertension in relation to various statistically significant⁺ parameters in hypertensive unilateral contracted kidney ($\geq 160/100 \text{ mm Hg}$)

Parameter	Total No. of cases	Follow-up ^a		
		Normali- zation without therapy	Im- proved	Un- changed
Postoperative blood pressure				
Normalization within 2–14 days postoperatively without therapy	40	15	3	3
No normalization		6	4	9
Arteriolosclerosis			_	-
0-+	39	17	5	5
+ +-+ + + (semiquantitative)		3	2	/
Enlargement of JGA				
0-+	36	4	3	8
+ + - + + +		14	5	2
(semiquantitative)				
Diagnosis of contracted				
kidney Ischemic (central	40			
arterial stenosis)		9	5	1
Pyelonephritic		10	3	7
Hydronephrotic		1	0	4

^a Follow-up time: mean 5.7 years (range 1-15 years).

+ $m \times n$ test: p < 0.05.

A favorable prognosis is associated with a large difference between the renin values of the two kidneys as demonstrated by bilateral renal vein blood examination [1669], especially when venous renin concentration of the contralateral kidney is lower than in peripheral blood.

Statistical evaluation of 40 of our own cases of unilateral contracted kidney revealed no significant relationship between postoperative blood pressure and age, sex, preoperative blood pressure, duration of hypertension, preoperative renal function and kidney weight.

A statistically significant correlation was found, however, in relation to immediate postoperative blood pressure behavior and to the extent of arteriolosclerosis and JGA hypertrophy in the diseased kidney as ascertained by semiquantitative analysis (Table 26.1, contra: [81]; see also [215a]).

Diagnostic methods for establishing indication for operation are intravenous pyelogram (with early X-rays), arteriography and separate determination of renal vein, artery and peripheral blood renin ([1656a]; see p. 541). The latter technique is said to enable 100% prediction of success or failure [1656a]. Less frequently used nowadays are renal function tests done separately for each kidney and the angiotensin test (see also [320, 1487]). Various values for cure and improvement of hypertension in unilateral contracted kidney are reported. Thus, cure has been reported as 50% [908], 38% cure and 12% improvement [979], 75% cure and improvement in 9% [1262]. Cure or improvement in another series was 36% [1487] and 15 out of 42 [1676]. In our series of nephrectomies, 20 out of 40 were cured and 8 out of 40 were improved (Table 26.1).

Cases of ischemic contracted kidney appear to have a fairly favorable prognosis as indicated by 9 out of 15 cured and 5 out of 15 improved (Table 26.1; 56.7% cured, 30% improved [1424]; and 86.2% cured [1147]; 66% cured, 19% improved [215a]).

The following data are available on PN contracted kidney: 8 out of 14 cured [1676] and 10 out of 20 cured, 3 out of 20 improved (Table 26.1).

Nephrectomy has the least effect in hydronephrotic contracted kidney: only 1 out of 5 cases was cured (Table 26.1). Favorable results are also obtained with nephrectomy in the rare hypertensive unilateral tuberculous putty kidney (see p. 443).

In bilateral contracted kidney, increase of fluid volume with inadequate excretion of salt and water is, in the majority of cases, the cause of hypertension. Only a small group of these patients (8 out of 43: [1669]) were hypertensive due to the renin mechanism.

27. The Kidney in Radiation Injury

[981, 1152, 1791]

Definition

Renal changes resulting from exposure of the kidney to ionizing irradiation.

Nosology and Clinical Findings

Data relating to the frequency of radiation injury are not available.

Basically, six clinical conditions are recognizable [981]:

- Acute radiation nephritis (better designated as radiation nephropathy). It occurs about 6 months after exposure in adults and 3-9 months in children [44]. The lesion manifests istself as proteinuria and edema, anemia and, rather frequently, as hypertension.
- Secondary, chronic radiation nephropathy, which develops from the acute condition. Clinically, the lesion is characterized by proteinuria, anemia, hypostenuria, hypertension and intermittent impairment of excretory function.
- Primary chronic radiation nephropathy, which first demonstrates clinical symptoms years after exposure without the occurrence of the acute condition. Symptoms are the same as in the secondary chronic form.
- 4. Asymptomatic proteinuria, which occurs on average 17 years after exposure.
- 5. Benign hypertension, which appears 6-8 months after exposure.
- 6. Late malignant hypertension, which occurs in onefourth of all patients who have suffered irradiation injury to the kidney. Hypertension is the only symptom which is frequently encountered in cases of thorotrast storage in the kidney. Hypertension has also been produced experimentally by exogenous irradiation [1791].
 - In general, the latent period between exposure and manifestation of symptoms is highly variable and is not uniquely dependent on the radiation dosage. It is possible that pre-existing inflammatory changes which increase the sensitivity of the tissue to irradiation—could play a significant role.

LM Findings

In the acute phase, endothelial swelling [817] and scattered capillary loop necroses followed by capsular

epithelial proliferation are seen. Splitting of the glomerular capillary wall—reminiscent of membranoproliferative GN—frequently occurs [817]. Capsular BM is thickened. Somewhat later, a pronounced cellular swelling develops, especially of the proximal tubules as well as the characteristic nuclear polymorphism (Fig. 27.1; p. 129) which is also present, but less marked, in podocytes.

The number of glomerular cells decreases progressively. Widening of the capillary loops (aneurysms) are frequent (Fig. 27.2). The mesangium demonstrates a very considerable increase of a strikingly finely fibrillar mesangial matrix with reduction in the number of nuclei (Figs. 27.2,



Fig. 27.1. Tubular cell giants with giant nuclei in a kidney irradiated with 2800 rads 3 years prior to biopsy. Male, 12 years. HE (\times 500)

27.3). The JGA, at least in acute experiments [965], shows reduction of granules in the irradiated kidney and an increase in the contralateral (nonirradiated) kidney [488]. Besides the above-instanced nuclear changes, the tubules are frankly atrophic (Fig. 27.3). Experimentally, tubular necrosis evidencing increased lipofuscin granules can be produced [993]. The very marked interstitial fibrosis with coarse fibers and very scanty nuclei (Fig. 27.3) is striking in both humans and animals.

The arterioles usually do not demonstrate the typical findings of massive radiation vasculopathy [1798], namely, endothelial injury followed by insudation of fibrinoid material, and inflammatory reaction with transition to sclerosis. Teleangiectasis of capillaries and veins is rare, while subendothelial foam cells are very frequent. Capillary changes may appear years after exposure if additional injury (e.g., PN, etc.) afflicts the already damaged cells [1798]. Thus, renal radiation vasculopathy is quantitatively considerably less prominent than corresponding changes in the skin.

In thorotrast-damaged kidneys, groups of large phagocytes occur arranged predominantly perivascularly, in addition to the changes described above. These phagocytes contain numerous strongly refractile thorotrast particles staining red with the glycogen stain (Best's carmine) (Fig. 27.4).

We are unaware of any IF findings.

EM Findings

The early changes (of a few weeks) consist of the known consequences of cellular membrane injury which manifest themselves in cystoidal widening of the basal labyrinth (Fig. 27.5) as well as in cystoid transformation of other organelles (Figs. 27.6, 27.8). Additionally, endothelial edema and necrosis as well as detachment of cytoplasmic elements in the form of balloons typically occur (Fig. 27.7). The same swelling is also manifested by the mitochondria and the cystoid-widened podocytic endoplasmic reticulum. Simultaneous thickening of the lamina rara interna of capillary loop BM is also present. Mesangial cells show signs of hypertrophy [1362].

Late changes, among others, are reported to consist, of splitting and lamellation of the glomerular capillary loop BM [1362, 1269]. The BM is often described as being wrinkled [992, 993] as a result of collapse. This is not at all surprising in view of the vascular injury.

Endothelial detachment, along with decrease of cytoplasmic organelles in this phase [993, 1363] as well as deposits [993], have been described. The mesangial matrix has been reported as being considerably thickened [1269]. The mesangial cells demonstrate increased residual bodies, myelin figures and other signs of degeneration, i.e., progressive atrophy [1362].

Prognosis

In a series of 22 cases of acute radiation nephropathy, 12 died chiefly of hypertension and, more rarely, of uremia [981]. Of 13 patients with primary chronic radiation nephropathy, 7 died as a direct result of the radiation.

Pathogenesis

Radiation nephropathy follows therapeutic abdominal irradiation for such conditions as metastases of seminoma, cancer of the ovary or kidney or neighbouring structures such as tumors of the vertebral column, etc. It is thought that a radiation dosage of 1200 rads is sufficient to produce irradiation nephropathy, which may be enhanced by increased cellular activity as is associated with inflammation at the time of irradiation.

More than 2300 rads are necessary to produce primary chronic radiation nephropathy [981].

Endothelial injury is the most significant change from the pathogenetic viewpoint [1152, 991]. This must be recognized for irradiation injury in general [1791]. The tubuli are injured directly as well as indirectly by blood vessel damage.

In addition, direct nuclear injury occurs which manifests itself in the form of nuclear polymorphy in the tubules and gradual cell decrease in the glomeruli. In any event, the term nephritis should not be used in describing the condition but, rather, nephrosis or nephropathy [1152]. The lesion appears to be worsened upon administration of actinomycine D (complex formation with DNA) and vincristine (impairment of regeneration: [44]).

Fig. 27.2. Aneurysm-like distention of a glomerular capillary \triangleright loop (\rightarrow). Biopsy was carried out 1 year after irradiation of kidney with 3000 rad. Male, 47 years. PAS (\times 290)

Fig. 27.3. Same case as in Figure 27.2. In two glomeruli, mesangium is seen to be obviously enlarged but does not exhibit a significant cell increase. Interstitium evidences fibrosis with only a very few inflammatory cells. Tubules are atrophic. Male, 47 years. Autopsy, PAS (\times 140)

Fig. 27.4. Thorotrast storage in renal phagocytes. Note severe arteriolar necrosis (published [1791]). HE (\times 340)

Fig. 27.5. Acute radiation renal lesions 4 weeks after tumor irradiation of kidney with 4500 rad because of renal carcinoma. Basal labyrinth of proximal tubular epithelium is distended as is endoplasmatic reticulum. Mitochondria are seen to be slightly swollen. Brush border (*BB*). Female, 65 years. EM (\times 10,300)





28. Malformations of the Kidney

In contrast to the relatively frequent occurrence of renal malformation at autopsy (e.g., cysts) analogous findings are rare in biopsy. When they are present, however, they can give rise to great diagnostic difficulty.

Primary Hypoplasia

Primary (genuine) hypoplasia which is manifested by a reduction of the number of papillae cannot, of course, be diagnosed in biopsy. It is extremely rare.

Secondary Hypoplasia

Secondary hypoplasia, also considered as arrest of kidney development in early childhood PN, was present radiologically in 4% of 800 children suffering from infection of the urinary bladder [982] which was present three times more frequently in girls than in boys.

We are of the opinion that these kidneys always show PN changes and demonstrate a few hypogenetic—or at least underdeveloped—fetal nephrons. The change can also be produced experimentally [8].

✓ Fig. 27.6. Same case as in Figure 27.5. Completely dedifferentiated distal tubular epithelium shows severe cystoid widening of basal labyrinth (*) and highly swollen cytoplasm. Female, 65 years. EM (×7800)

Fig. 27.7. Same case as in Figure 25.5. There is extensive podocytic foot process fusion (\rightarrow) as well as swelling and occasional ballooning (*) of endothelium. Female, 65 years. EM (×11,600)

Fig. 27.8. Same case as in Figure 25.5. There is severe swelling of mitochondria – with occasional loss of cristae and matrix – in podocytes and endothelium (\rightarrow). Podocytic vacuolar degeneration is also present (*). Female, 65 years. EM (×13,000)

Dysplasia

In dysplasia, which arises by faulty inductive action of the ureter on metanephrogenic tissue, primitive glandular tubules with a prismatic epithelial lining are surrounded by a concentrically layered connective tissue interspersed with smooth muscle cells. These changes are termed "ureteral buds". They were present in 0.15% of general autopsies and in 3.7% of children's autopsies up to the age of 3 months [1298].

Three forms of dysplasia are recognized:

- 1. The total compact form, consisting of a malformed dwarf-like kidney weighing only a few grams, which is probably never encountered in biopsy.
- 2. The total cystic form, in which the tubules are highly cystically widened. It can be differentiated from other cystic kidneys by the occurrence of foci with the typical circular arrangement of connective tissue elements with interspersed smooth muscle cells (Figs. 28.1, 28.2).
- 3. The partial form, in which dysplastic foci are usually arranged in sectors with or without cyst formation (Fig. 5.13).

Dysplasia is of significance in that secondary pyelonephritis arises relatively frequently. Moreover, the contralateral kidney is also dysplastic in 3% of the cases and even agenic in 16% [1298].

Hypertension occurs only when dysplasia is complicated by severe pyelonephritis [1298, 1791]. It is also important to note that 57% of children with dysplasia evidence other malformations of ureteral ostia, bladder, colliculus seminalis or urethra [1298].

Dysplastic foci contain cartilage in one-third to onefourth of the cases (Fig. 28.3). We have never encountered foci of cartilage in completely unchanged kidneys (contra: [1601]).

Kidney Cysts and Cystic Kidneys [139, 1224, 1791]

Although needle biopsy is hardly ever used in the presence of diagnosed cystic renal disease, it now and again



is a chance finding which may result in considerable difficulties in interpretation.

Nosology

Our nosology for cystic renal changes is listed below:

- 1. Bilateral polycystic renal change.
 - a) Adult form
 - b) Childhood form: very rarely developing from 1.c [1393]; often with congenital cystic liver fibrosis with ascites, splenomegaly, and esophageal varices [139, 1547).
 - c) Neonatal form (not to be confused with 4.a or 4.b).
- 2. Cystic dysplasia, partial or total (see p. 547).
- Bilateral, multicystic kidneys (benign cystic nephroma: [139]; cystadenoma: [1547]). Also observed in tuberous brain sclerosis (Fig. 28.4; [1393, 389]). In our opinion, this entity is identical to cystic dysplasia.
- 4. Medullary cystic kidney.
 - a) Pure medullary (papillary) cystic kidney = papillary sponge kidney [239] (Fig. 28.5) may be accompanied by leiomyomatosis and focal-sclerosing glomerulopathy [949].
 - b) Multiple cysts of the corticomedullary junction = medullary cystic kidney=cystic degeneration of medullary-cortical junction=nephronophthisis (see p. 478).
- 5. Solitary or multiple renal cysts in an otherwise unchanged kidney.
- 6. Solitary or multiple (acquired) kidney cysts.
 - a) Adult form: in severely contracted kidneys.
 - b) Childhood form: subcapsular cysts as a consequence of urethral obstruction.
- 7. Dermoid cysts.
- ✓ Fig. 28.1. Dysplastic focus in renal cortex (associated with pyelonephritis). Fetal tubules evidence a cylindrical epithelium, poor in cytoplasm, which is surrounded by a ring of myocytes. Male, 8 years. HE (×150)

Fig. 28.2. Part of a cyst in cystic dysplasia. Epithelium is very much flattened and poor in cytoplasm. Under the epithelium, a mesenchymal tissue is found rich in cells and intercellular substance which appears clear in the preparation. Male, 4 months. HE ($\times 290$)

Fig. 28.3. Isolated focus of hyaline cartilage (a sign of dysplasia) in kidney of a 4-year-old boy with pyelonephritis. PAS $(\times 316)$

Fig. 28.4. Renal cyst in tuberous sclerosis. Note strikingly tall cylindrical epithelium lining the cyst. There are no muscle cells surrounding the cyst; this is a diagnostic criterion against dysplasia. Newborn male. HE (\times 100)

Clinical Findings and Incidence

Bilateral polycystic kidney disease was present in 2.3% of our autopsy series.

In 40% of the cases, bilateral polycystic renal changes are manifested by lumbar or abdominal pain and by frequently relapsing hematuria [655]. Of our cases, 52% died in uremia, and hypertension was present in 50% (8.4%: [655]; see also [1791]).

Page 550

Fig. 28.5. Papillary sponge kidney associated with nephrolithiasis. Renal cortex and outer medulla are normal. Masses of densely packed cysts are present in papilla. Male, 46 years. HE $(\times 6)$

Fig. 28.6. Cystic kidney with acute interstitial nephritis (*). Tubular epithelium is flattened. A large cyst (\rightarrow) is seen filled with phagocytes and lymphocytes. Stroma evidences fibroblastic proliferation. HE (×110)

Fig. 28.7. Kidney cyst with a highly sclerosed wall (\rightarrow) under which a loosely organized granulation tissue with numerous hemosiderin-containing phagocytes (\rightarrow) can be recognized. Center of cyst is occupied by thin crystal lacunae (\rightarrow) and a giant cell-containing granulation tissue as the result of hemorrhage into cyst. Female, 63 years. HE (\times 140)

Fig. 28.8. Cholesteatoma of the kidney. Patient underwent surgery because of suspicion of tumor. Dermoid cyst is lined with keratinizing squamous epithelium. Female, 32 years. HE ($\times 150$)

Page 551

Fig. 28.9. Renal cyst, probably secondary in a case of chronic pyelonephritis. Cyst contains granular material (*) and epithelial lining of cyst is very much flattened. A dense, inflammatory infiltrate is present in surrounding area. Remnants of a disintegrated tubule (\rightarrow). Male 37 years. EM (×1850)

Fig. 28.10. Secondary formation of concrements in adult-type of congenital cystic kidney with uremia. Autopsy case (published [1791]). Female, 58 years. HE (\times 28)

Fig. 28.11. Multilocular unilateral cystic kidney. Epithelium lining cyst is usually missing (possibly due to inappropriate handling of nephrectomy specimen). Stroma consists of mesenchymal tissue. Female, 45 years. HE ($\times 150$)

Fig. 28.12. Thick fibrous wall (*) of a renal cyst thought to be of congenital origin. Overlying renal tissue is extremely atrophic and evidences glomerular obsolescence (G) and almost complete obliteration of its arteries and arterioles (A). Note circular strips (\rightarrow) consisting of smooth muscle. Inflammatory infiltrates are present in interstitium. Male, 34 years. HE (×150)





Microscopic Findings

A severe chronic pyelonephritis and pyonephrosis were present in only 1 out of 79 of our cases, whereas scattered, small pyelonephritic foci and chronic nondestructive interstitial nephritis of varying severity were a common finding. Acute renal failure, which was present in about one-sixth of our cases, was usually attributable to acute nondestructive interstitial nephritis (Fig. 28.6; [1791]). In some cases, post-traumatic bleeding in cystic kidneys can lead to acute renal insufficiency [655, 1791]. Bleeding into individual cysts may occur in the polycystic variety as well as in all other types of renal cysts. The breakdown of the blood masses leads to formation of cholesterol crystals, calcifications, and often to formation of a slight pad of granulation tissue (Fig. 28.7). This picture may cause unresolvable confusion with respect to dermoid cysts clothed with squamous epithelium, socalled cholesteatomas (Fig. 28.8). With EM, we always found secondary cysts (acquired during life) to be rich in debris (Fig. 28.9); which was always absent in primary cvsts (congenital).

Lithiasis has been reported in 4% of bilateral cystic renal changes [655]. Concrements in individual cysts are, on the other hand, rarely encountered (Fig. 28.10; [1791]).

Malignancies do not appear to occur more frequently in kidneys with cystic disease than in those without [655, 1791]. In one case in our series of bilateral polycystic kidney disease, we saw cavitary tuberculosis associated with renal cell carcinoma.

Differential Diagnosis

Diagnosis of dysplasia is possible due to the presence of poorly differentiated mesenchyma around the cystic spaces and the occurrence of undifferentiated epithelial cells (Fig. 28.11).

Severe atrophy of parenchyma surrounding large cysts is frequently encountered which occasionally cannot be differentiated from hydronephrotic atrophy in needle biopsy if cystic elements are absent. Demonstration of smooth muscle strands is not helpful since they may occur in both conditions (Fig. 28.12).

We feel that it is not possible to differentiate primary solitary cysts from those arising secondarily in severely contracted kidneys.

29. Kidney Tumors

[920a, 1791]

Although needle biopsy is hardly ever used in the presence of kidney tumors or when such tumors are strongly suspected, renal tumors nevertheless turn up now and again as a chance finding in renal biopsy material (0.25% of biopsies: Z).

Nosology: see Table 29.1.

Mesenchymal Tumors

1. Benign and of Questionable Malignancy

Medullary Fibroma

This tumor is always benign and very sharply delimited. Due to its location in the papilla, it is hardly to be expected in needle biopsy material. This tumor is occasionally designated as renomedullary "interstitial cell tumor". Due to its content of lipid droplets, it is thought to arise from interstitial cells which secrete prostaglandin [942, 943], a substance suspected of reducing blood pressure [1583a].

Lymphangioma and Hemangioma

The morphology of these two tumors is the same in the kidney as in other organs and, accordingly, presents no diagnostic difficulties.

Hemangiopericytoma

This is a rare tumor [978] characterized by its richness in blood vessels and by the mantle-like, perivascular arrangement of small, polymorphic stellate cells.

It strongly tends to local recurrence and is, therefore, to be considered as a tumor of questionable malignancy [978]. Some investigators even consider this neoplasm as belonging to the sarcomas [465].

The clinical manifestation of hypoglycemia [978], which can lead to death in hypoglycemic coma [465], has been reported as a consequence of this tumor.

The absence of leiomyomatous cells and of lipocytes permits differentiation from periarterial hamartoma. Differential diagnosis with respect to the renin-secreting JGA-cell tumor is possible not only from the clinical picture, but also from the microscopic one by the absence of intracellular granules and mast cells as well as from the more pronouncedly developed cytoplasm and the stellate cell form evidenced in hemangiopericytoma.

Renin-Secreting JGA-Cell Tumor

This is an extremely rare tumor (7 cases in the literature: [203]) described in 13–37 year old subjects. It is accompanied by hypertension, increased sodium excretion, and decreased serum potassium [302].

In LM, the tumor cells appear compact and reminiscent of myocytes; in EM, they are seen to contain oval or rhomboid granules [302, 1265, 1346] in which renin can

Table 29.1

- I. Mesenchymal Tumors
- a) Benign and of Questionable Malignancy Medullary Fibroma Lymphangioma, Hemangioma Hemangiopericytoma Renin-Secreting JGA Cell Tumor Para-arterial Corticomedullary Hamartoma (Leiomyoangiolipoma)
 b) Malignant Tumors (Sarcomas)
 - b) Malignant Tumors (Sarcomas) Addendum: Renal Capsule Sarcoma
- II. Epithelial Tumors
 - a) Benign and of Questionable Malignancy Adenoma
 Benign Grawitz Tumor
 Genuine Hypernephroma
 - b) MalignantCarcinomasAddendum: Renal Pelvic Carcinoma
- III. Mixed Tumors
- IV. Metastasis of the Kidney

be demonstrated with IF [302, 1346]. Marked infiltration of the tumor with mast cells is supposed to be a characteristic feature.

The tumor is not identical with hemangiopericytoma. The growth is benign and can, morphologically, be differentiated from other tumors such as oat-cell bronchial carcinoma with paraneoplastic renin secretion [669].

Para-Arterial Corticomedullary Hamartoma (Leiomyoangiolipoma)

This tumor may pose great diagnostic difficulties, even when dealing with material obtained from surgery. It cannot be fundamentally differentiated from leiomyoangiolipoma or from renal tumors associated with tuberous brain sclerosis [1049].

When even the smallest of these tumors are considered, they occur in about 5% of our autopsy material of which 80% are in women. It is difficult to estimate the associated incidence of tuberous brain sclerosis in these cases since it appears that even by careful clinical examination, only rudimentary signs of tuberous sclerosis may be present [788].

The tumors are usually solitary and unilateral, but may occur multiply and bilaterally [464]. As noticed in two of our own cases, the tumor may manifest itself clinically by acute, vigorous bleeding [26, 643, 1670].

Histologically, these tumors are characterized by spindleshaped cells, arranged irregularly and sometimes in whorls, which often reveal the presence of more or less mature leiomyocytes. Furthermore, nests of mature lipocytes and extremely numerous capillaries and, above all, capillary buds (Fig. 29.1) are found.

In serial sections, the immediate vicinity of the tumor to arteries can almost always be demonstrated. The entire picture is relatively polymorphic. Nuclear polymorphism is clearly present; mitoses, however, are absent. Nor is there any perifocal inflammation even though the tumor tissue is not sharply demarcated.

Despite the rather alarming overall picture, the tumor is benign; malignant degeneration has been reported as extremely rare [920a] and may, in fact, be due to faulty interpretation (see also [1049]). However, there is no doubt that the tumor does demonstrate local infiltrative growth and a tendency to recurrence.

2. Malignant Tumors (Sarcomas)

Kidney sarcomas are extremely rare and constitute only 1.1% of all renal tumors [465]. The prognosis for all forms is very poor.

Liposarcoma can easily be distinguished from clear-cell renal carcinoma by its nonepithelial structure and by the presence of numerous lipoblasts with densely packed small lipid droplets (so-called morula cells).

The relatively frequent leiomyosarcoma is thought to originate from renal vessels or from the pelvic wall [98]. On the other hand, the extremely rare rhadomyosarcoma and the liposarcoma are suspected of being of dysontogenetic origin [465].

Locally originating malignant lymphomas are usually reticulum cell sarcomas [1443, 1506].

Plasmocytoma [462, 920a, 1260, 1791] is extremely rare.

3. Renal Capsule Sarcoma

Since localization in needle biopsy is usually difficult, sarcomas of the renal capsule must also be considered in the presence of malignant mesenchymal tissue. Such tumors do not differ from other soft-tissue tumors [1791].

Epithelial Tumors

1. Benign and of Questionable Malignancy

Adenoma

Adenoma is by far the most frequent in the group of benign epithelial tumors. Adenomas occur with increased incidence in the aged and chiefly in the region of scars. As demonstrated experimentally in the rat [1786a], this tumor arises from the tubules.

They show a papillary, cystoid (Fig. 29.2), tubular or trabecular structure. They usually consist of small cubic to low cylindrical cells (poor in cytoplasm) with uniform nuclei which are quite rich in chromatin (so-called basophilic adenoma; Figs. 29.2, 29.3). Entire tumors, parts thereof or individual tumor cells may evidence oncocytic differentiation, exhibiting a starkly granular and pronouncedly eosinophilic cytoplasm in LM (Fig. 29.4). In EM, their high content of very large mitochondria with plump matrix inclusions is typical [153, 310]. Impairment of phosphorilization is thought to be the cause of oncocytic transformation [153].

Adenoma cells tend to fatty degeneration, but actual tumor foam cells are rare; however, subepithelial clusters of histiocytic foam cells are frequently encountered. Epithelial cells are always surrounded by a BM which is absent around the histiocytic foam cells [310]. Occasionally the cells demonstrate considerable iron storage [1317].





Fig. 29.1. Para-arterial hamartoma in renal cortex. Spindly tumor cells are assembled around two arteries (A) whose walls they occasionally infiltrate. Fatty tissue (FT). HE ($\times 100$)

Fig. 29.2. Basophilic, partially papillary adenoma of renal cortex which has penetrated its own capsule $(\rightarrow \leftarrow)$. Tumor-adjacent tubules are not destroyed, but only replaced. Nuclear polymorphism of tumor cells is not present. Male, 77 years. HE (×100)

Fig. 29.3. Part of a $16 \times 13 \times 13$ -cm-large papillary adenoma of renal cortex. Nuclei are, in general, uniform but do show slight variations in size. Isolated oncocytes (\rightarrow) with abundant cytoplasm, are present. Female, 67 years. HE ($\times 450$)

In rare cases, adenomas become very large (head-sized) and cause clinical symptoms due to pressure [153]. In one patient with such a large tumor who was receiving anticoagulantia, we saw massive bleeding with rupture of the kidney and kidney capsule. Calcification and psammoma body formation only develop in very large adenomas.

The most important diagnostic problem of renal adenoma is related to its tendency to infiltrate into the surroundings (small tumors) without destruction of parenchyma and into the tumor capsule (large tumors: Fig. 29.2).

Since nuclear polymorphism – thought to be of degenerative character – is not rare, attention must be given to rule out malignant transformation. It is noted that the foam cells cited should not be confused with cells of a clear-cell renal carcinoma. Numerous mitoses (including pathologic types), multilayered cell clusters in tubular structured areas (possibly missed in flat sections) as well as destructive peripheral growth accompanied by perifocal inflammation are clearly indicative of malignant transformation (Fig. 29.5). In those cases in which the malignant or benign status of the tumor cannot be ascertained, we use the term "questionable benign adenoma" [920a].

Malignant transformation to granular cell renal carcinoma is rare despite the basically precancerous papillary structure which is more frequent in small than in large tumors. Classification of all adenomas as differentiated carcinomas [119] is not acceptable—nor is it for large adenomas—due to their biological behavior. We have never encountered transformation into genuine clear-cell renal carcinoma.

Benign Grawitz Tumor (Clear Cell Adenoma)

The so-called benign Grawitz tumor is not well known and, moreover, highly controversial. The tumor is 1-2 cm large and consists exclusively of clear cells containing much glycogen and lipid.

It is differentiated from clear-cell renal carcinoma by the uniformity of its tissue and cells, the intactness of its capsule, and the absence of perifocal inflammation. It is agreed that the benign Grawitz tumor is closely related to clear-cell renal carcinoma of which it appears to represent a precursor.

Genuine Hypernephroma

The genuine hypernephroma, which is very similar to the Grawitz tumor, is extremely rare. At autopsy, it is seen, now and again, that the tumor appears to originate from subscapsular embryonic adrenal tissue. Genuine hypernephroma may be benign or malignant [920a]. Hypercorticism (eventually associated with Cushing's syndrome) is typical and essential for the diagnosis. The clinical symptomatology can be confirmed by biological examination of the tumor for hormones [1032].

The differential diagnosis with respect to the benign Grawitz tumor and clear-cell renal carcinoma is only possible with EM in which the decisive features, as in adrenal tumors, are the presence of extensive smooth endoplasmic reticulum and of mitochondria with tubular cristae [1597] which are typical for steroid-producing cells.

2. Renal Cell Carcinoma

Cancer of the kidney is present in about 1% of all our autopsies (Z). It constitutes 4.2% of all cancers [496]. In about 25% of the patients, the survival time is 5 years [1307] and in 15–20%, 10 years [119].

Renal cancer is twice as frequent in males as it is in females. Individuals between 55 and 85 years are mainly afflicted, but this malignancy also attacks children and even infants [48].

Malignant epithelial tumors may rarely produce erythropoietin—leading to polycythemia—and possibly gonadotropin [578]. The tumor may also cause hyperpyrexia and amyloidosis and hypercalcemia. The leading symptom is hematuria.

Secondary calcification of tumor necroses are of radiologic significance (4% of cases: [339]). Calcification is demonstrable histologically in 10–20% of cases [1153]. In 15 out of 15 cases, serum AB against fetorenal antigen was demonstrated [852a].

Fig. 29.4. Partly papillary oncocytoma of the renal cortex. Tumor \triangleright cells have abundant, somewhat granular cytoplasm and are, like their nuclei, of uniform size. HE (\times 300)

Fig. 29.5. Periphery of a papilloma with malignant transformation of renal cortex in which cell and nuclear polymorphism are evident. Two multinuclear cells (\rightarrow) are present in bloodcontaining tubular lumens. Note typical pycnomitosis $(\neg b)$ and perifocal inflammation (*). Female, 67 years. HE (×620)

Fig. 29.6. Part of a renal clear-cell carcinoma (1) showing completely uniform nuclei and trabecular arrangement of the cells. Another part of tumor (2) consists of polymorphic cells and nuclei with somewhat dense, granular cytoplasm. Both parts of tumor are richly supplied with capillaries. HE (\times 95)

Fig. 29.7. Part of a renal clear-cell carcinoma. Capillaries (\rightarrow) are very clearly recognizable between trabecularly and tubularly arranged cells which evidence little polymorphism. Cytoplasm is mostly completely clear and cell membranes are very distinct. Nuclei are uniform in size and shape. There is practically no accompanying inflammation. Female, 20 years. HE (× 220)





Clear-cell carcinoma (hypernephroid renal carcinoma) and granular cell carcinoma (tubular renal carcinoma) are no longer considered as different entities. The concomitant occurrence of clear cells and granular cells in the same tumor, and the absence of corresponding prestages of the tumor among the young, speak against the view of a dysontogenetic origin of the tumor as well as against differentiation between clear and granular cell types (the rare benign Grawitz tumor described occurs in older subjects). Today it is very clear that both forms demonstrate characteristics of renal tubules as seen in EM ([1597]; see below).

In LM, the cells of renal carcinoma appear solid, alveolar, trabecular (Fig. 29.6), tubular, cystic and, on occasion, slightly papillary. The cells themselves are usually cubic or polygonal and, in rare cases, cylindrical. The clear cells (Figs. 29.6, 29.7) are quite large, contain glycogen and lipids, and tend to multinucleate or mononucleate (Fig. 29.6) giant cell formation. The granular cells are strongly eosinophilic; they contain large amounts of mitochondria of various size and thereby correspond to the oncocytes occurring in adenomas (compare to Fig. 29.4).

Here and there, nests of small, polymorphic cells with scanty cytoplasm—which we consider to be dedifferentiated elements—can be recognized. They are closely related to so-called sarcomatoid, fusiform and polymorphic cells (Fig. 29.8; [463]) which we have found in 14% of our renal carcinomas [920a]. These sarcomatoid cell groups, when present in metastases or biopsy material exclusively, may present great diagnostic problems, since similar structures may be found in dedifferentiated renal pelvic carcinomas or sarcomas. Under EM, however, these sarcomatoid structures are seen to consist of epithelial elements only [1597].

All cell types may occur simultaneously. In EM, clear and granular cells evidence microvilli or remnants of brush border and glycogen granules and fat droplets (Figs. 29.10, 29.11). In clear cells, the particulate glycogen, in the form of granules measuring around 300 Å, is distributed in nests or diffusely (Fig. 29.12). Infoldings

✓ Fig. 29.8. Renal clear-cell carcinoma (1) with sarcomatoid transformation (2). Gradual transition from (1) to (2) is clearly evident. Male, 91 years. HE (×85)

Fig. 29.9. Infiltration (\rightarrow) of a tumor cell (*) into a capillary lumen (*CL*). Endothelium (*E*), a probable fibrocyte (*FC*), basement membrane (*BM*). Male, 52 years. EM (×9000)

Fig. 29.10. Renal clear-cell carcinoma. Tumor cell depicted is reminiscent of a proximal tubular cell with its brush border (*BB*) (probably a bowl-shaped cell). Cell is free of lipids and contains only a small amount of extremely fine glycogen granules. Isolated desmosomes (\rightarrow) are clearly recognizable. Male, 52 years. EM (\times 12,300)

reminiscent of basal labyrinth are very typical while a high content of mitochondria is characteristic of granular cells [1331, 1597]. The ultrastructural findings by and large also confirm the proximal tubular origin of these tumors (for other opinions [1597]).

Renal cell carcinoma is very rich in vessels, and especially in capillaries. In LM, by careful search, intravascular (and especially intracapillary) tumor plugs can be found in almost every case (Fig. 29.9). The tumor tends to undergo central necrosis with extensive bleeding and secondary fibrosis or myxomatous degeneration. On occassion—and chiefly in sarcomatoid regions—osteoid formation is observed [463].

It has often been recommended that grading of renal cell carcinoma should include consideration of tubular and papillary formations (differentiation); the presence of clear and granular cells, the regularity, form and size of nuclei as well as of mitoses with the specific admonition that only the most malignant tissue should be considered [1331]. In common with other investigators [1153] we do not subscribe to these recommendations whose realization would require serial sections through the whole tumor. In biopsy and in its evaluation, the recommendations can hardly be applied. If needle biopsy reveals renal cell carcinoma, massive postbiopsy irradiation in the region of the biopsy canal is mandatory due to the possibility of having inoculated metastases.

Page 560

Fig. 29.11. Masses of lipid vacuoles in cells of a renal clear-cell carcinoma. Note newly formed BM (\rightarrow) . Female, 19 years. EM $(\times 1660)$

Fig. 29.12. Renal clear-cell carcinoma in which cells contain chiefly fine-granular glycogen in large amounts besides sparse lipid vacuoles. Note severe polymorphism and increase in size of nuclei. Female, 19 years. EM (\times 5100)

Page 561

Fig. 29.13. Undifferentiated carcinoma of renal pelvis. Structures seen in this preparation are very reminiscent of sarcoma. There is a high degree of nuclear polymorphism and mitoses are abundant. Male, 65 years. HE ($\times 210$)

Fig. 29.14. Same tumor as in Figure 29.13 with typical perivascular epithelial arrangement of tumor cells. HE ($\times 210$)

Fig. 29.15. Same tumor as in Figure 29.13 with obvious urothelial differentiation in a peripheral tumor strand. HE (\times 210)

Fig. 29.16. Nephroblastoma. Two undifferentiated tubules are surrounded by a completely undifferentiated mesenchyma. Inset: a striated muscle fiber (a relatively rare finding). HE (\times 210); inset (\times 900)









Fig. 29.17. In this case, renal biopsy was done because of clinically unclear kidney disease in a 53-year-old woman. Histology revealed myeloid leukemia. In this EM preparation, masses of proliferated white blood cells are seen. These cells have little cytoplasm, enlarged nuclei and exhibit severe nuclear polymorphism. EM ($\times 1620$)

Fig. 29.18. Glomerular metastasis $(\rightarrow \leftarrow)$ of an oat cell carcinoma of the right bronchus. Male, 63 years. HE (\times 700)

29.17

3. Renal Pelvic Carcinoma

Renal pelvic carcinoma must be mentioned here since, even in the early stage of its existence, the undifferentiated forms in particular (Fig. 29.13) may extensively infiltrate the renal parenchyma and thus become recognizable in biopsy.

The tumor has become far more frequent in women, a fact which is statistically shown to be related to the increase in long-term addiction to phenacetin [938]. In one-third of the cases with severe phenacetin addiction, urothelial tumors at different sites have been reported [776]. Renal pelvic carcinoma constitutes 6–14% of all malignancies of the kidney [920a].

The highly differentiated urothelial carcinomas usually demonstrate a papillary structure. They show weak infiltrative growth into the surrounding renal parenchyma. Squamous cell carcinomas, however, show marked infiltration; these tumors appear to arise very often by metaplasia and in association with nephrolithiasis [1791].

The purely mucous-forming adenocarcinoma is extremely rare, although isolated adenomatous structures may occur in squamous or urothelial cell carcinoma.

The entirely undifferentiated renal pelvic carcinoma consists of oval or spindle-shaped cells (Figs. 29.13, 29.14) and only careful scanning of entire sections permits identification of a few differentiated cellular strands (Fig. 29.15) or typical perivascular arrangement which are indicative of urothelial origin (Fig. 29.14). The prognosis of all forms is bad [776a]. For Thorotrast induced pelvic carcinomas, see: [1838, 1839].

Mixed Tumor: Nephroblastoma

Nephroblastoma (Wilms-Birch-Hirschfeld tumor) is a very characteristic mixed tumor. It is the most frequently occurring kidney tumor in childhood, but is very rare in adults [463]. The congenital occurrence of this neoplasm has been described, but these tumors appear not only to have a structure different from the other nephroblastomas, i.e., presence of much smooth muscle, absence of striated muscle and fetal tubules, and occurrence of very cell-dense mesenchymal areas, but also to evidence a much better prognosis than those arising in later life [696]. Perhaps this congenital neoplasm is, indeed, a form different from nephroblastoma (fetal hamartoma: [1733]).

Nephroblastoma arises from the metanephros. It accounts for 6-8% of all malignant kidney tumors [718,

1331]. It consists of two tissue elements as also shown with EM (Fig. 29.16; [1385, 1597]). One tissue element is composed of more or less dense, undifferentiated small mesenchymal tumor cells with scanty cytoplasm, polymorphic nuclei, and numerous mitoses. The second tissue element consists of fetal tubules formed by tall cylindrical cells which are poor in cytoplasm and usually arranged in one layer. The tubular cell origin can be ascertained by EM [1597].

In the mesenchyma, there are many reticulin but few collagen fibers. In some but not all cases, fetal muscle fibers with cross-striations can also be identified (Fig. 29.16).

The tubular structures sometimes appear to arise within foci of extremely small-celled mesenchyma. The occurrence of squamous epithelium, mucous glands, and argentaffine cells is rare [718].

Glomeruloid structures repeatedly reported in the literature—which we cannot confirm in our cases (see also [1597])—are said to consist, under EM, only of BM material and podocytes with no endothelial or mesangial cells discernible [754, 1385].

Due to early diagnosis, extensive surgery, and combined radiation and cytostatic therapy, the prognosis has improved considerably.

Metastases

Metastases may be found quite unexpectedly in renal biopsy tissue. In our own material, we found extensive infiltration of chronic myeloid leukemia in a 53-year-old female (Fig. 29.17) and of acute lymphatic leukemia in a 3.5-year-old girl. The infiltrates of lymphatic leukemia are considerably more sharply delimited and cellularly uniform than those of myeloid leukemia. The myeloid form may give rise to diagnostic difficulties with respect to pyelonephritis (see also [1471]).

Metastases to the kidney often occur in malignant lymphoma (50% of our cases) but only lead to renal insufficiency in extremely few cases [434, 1015, 1791].

Metastases of other primary tumors should present no difficulties if sufficient material is available for examination—which is rarely the case in renal biopsy.

Glomerular metastasis may be seen in renal needle biopsy, but such a finding is very rare (Fig. 29.18).

Parenthetically, it is noted that endometriosis has been seen in the kidney. The typical endometrial structure and evidence of recurrent bleeding, along with the age of the subject, should cause no difficulty in diagnosis in relation to nephroblastoma.
30. Kidney Transplantation

[27, 63, 189, 238, 315, 653, 698a, 733, 851, 1189a, 1264, 1266, 1287, 1309a, 1805]

The increase in renal transplantation has not only brought about an increase in renal biopsies for determining basic disease and, thereby, the indication for transplantation, but also an increase in transplant renal biopsies which are necessary for adequate therapeutic management.

Even the general pathologist is being called on more and more to interpret transplant biopsies which often exhibit a very complex picture of changes due to rejection as well as recurrence of the basic disease or to other complications. The following discussion is based on our own material from 76 transplant patients comprising 85 needle biopsies from allo-transplants, 16 surgical biopsies and 30 nephrectomies. The average age of our transplant recipients was 39. Since the time of working up our material, it has increased to 137 biopsies and 40 nephrectomies. To enhance the understanding of those who may not be too familiar with the terminology relating to immunogenetic principles underlying organ transplantation, a brief discussion of these topics is given below.

Nosology

Four transplantation systems based on the genetic relationship between the donor and recipient are differentiated:

- 1. Autologous transplant (Synonyms: Autogenic transplant, autograft). The transplant donor and recipient are identical.
- 2. Isologous transplant (Synonyms: Isogeneic or syngeneic transplant, isograft). The transplant donor and recipient are different individuals with an identical genetic constitution, e.g., identical (monoval) twins.
- 3. Homologous transplant (Synonyms: Allogeneic transplant, allografts resp. homografts). Donor and recipient are of the same species but are genetically different individuals.
- 4. Heterologous transplant (Synonyms: Xenogeneic transplant, heterograft or xenograft). The donor is from a different species than the recipient.

No immunologically induced transplant rejection is to be expected with the auto- and isograft. However, since most kidney transplants are of the homologous (allogeneic) type, they bear the risk of histoincompatibility leading to transplant rejection.

Immunogenetics [1309a]

A specific chromosomal region consisting of a few directly neighbouring gene loci appears to be chiefly responsible for rejection in all species.

This entire chromosomal region (independent of species) is designated as the major histocompatibility complex (MHC). According to the latest knowledge, and in keeping with the newly agreed upon international nomenclature of 1975 [1189a], the entire human MHC is now termed the HLA (originally meaning human lymphocytic antigen). Currently, four different gene loci of the HLA are known:

1. *A*-*Locus*. Genetically determines the presence of one of over 20 currently known antigens on the membranes of almost all body cells. These antigens may be tested in vitro by using sera of monospecific cytotoxic antibodies. The A-locus is identical to the earlier designation 1 (sub) locus of the LA-series.

2. B-Locus. Genetically determines the presence of one or the other of a group of over 20 antigenes comparable to the A-locus. The B-locus is identical to the earlier designation 2 (sub) locus or FOUR series. These antigens can also be tested with monospecific cytotoxic antisera. 3. C-Locus. The C-locus is identical to the long suspected and sought for 3 (sub)locus. Currently, only five antigens are known which are determined by the C-locus. Since monospecific cytotoxic sera for demonstration of these antigens are currently available to only a few laboratories for scientific investigations, the antigens of the C-locus cannot yet be routinely tested.

4. *D*-*Locus.* Is identical with the so-called mixed lymphocytic response (MLR) or mixed lymphocytic culture (MLC) locus. At the present time, only six different D-antigens are known. As in the case of the C-locus, only a few laboratories have cytotoxic sera for testing the D-antigens. Thus, serologic testing of the D-locus antigens is not yet possible for routine clinical work.

Nevertheless, using the MLC reaction, in vitro studies can determine whether or not two different individuals have identical D-antigens.

Lymphocytes from both individuals exposed to each other in a culture, mutually stimulate themselves to transform into so-called immunoblasts in the case of different D-antigens (positive MLC test). In the case of identity of D-antigens, no stimulation occurs (negative MLC test).

The term haplotype refers to the phenotype of the HLA constellation which is inherited from parental chromosomes. Since the chromosome pair is formed by one chromosome from the father and one from the mother, each individual possesses two haplotypes which, with the exception of crossing-over, are inherited as a gene block.

It is possible that other HLA loci will be discovered in the future. In man, a fifth locus may be present in the immediate neighbourhood of the D-locus. In this region, antigens are determined which are only demonstrable on B-lymphocytes. This region has long been known in the mouse as the Ia-Region (immune response region-associated antigens).

The HLA B-locus appears to predispose some individuals to specific diseases (e.g., Bechterew's disease from HLA-B-27). Other such predisposition in man appears to be determined by the supposed and little defined fifth locus (e.g., possibly multiple sclerosis, ragweed sensitivity, etc.).

The D-locus is probably the most important with respect to transplant rejection. The only two HLA loci which can be tested quickly today, the A and B locus, are of variable significance with respect to the survival prospects of a renal transplant.

Good compatibility of the A and B locus between donor and host appears to be especially important for a second transplant (following rejection of the first) and for recipients with preformed circulating anti-HLA-antibodies. If two siblings have identical A and B loci, there is a high probability (except in crossing-over) that all the other HLA-loci will also be identical. This is not patently true for two nonrelated individuals demonstrating identical A- and B-locus genes. This explains why the currently possible tests of A- and B-loci have chiefly shown an excellent correlation to survival probability of transplants between siblings and less so in the case of cadaver kidneys (see also [1850]).

ABO blood group antigens are present in almost all the somatic cells including the kidney. They are independent of the HLA antigens. ABO incompatibility leads to hyperacute transplant rejection [1510, 1559].

Pre-existing circulating cytotoxic recipient AB against donor HLA antigens are a hazard which can lead to hyperacute transplant rejection. Therefore, the so-called cross-match (recipient serum with donor lymphocytes in vitro) must be carried out to demonstrate the presence or absence of the above mentioned AB before transplantation. Cytotoxic AB may arise following multiple blood transfusions, previous transplantation, pregnancy, and probably after infections.

A positive cross-match test and ABO incompatibility are absolute contraindications for transplantation. Demonstration of cytotoxic AB giving a negative crossmatch test (i.e., the circulating cytotoxic anti-HLA-antibodies have no specificity towards donor HLA antigens) is not a contraindication. Their presence, however, worsens the prognosis of transplants if the HLA-A and HLA-B donor/recipient compatibility is poor, as has been shown by experience.

Previously, HLA compatibility was evaluated by means of the A-F classification [933] or the Rank classification [1309a]. Today, evaluation is achieved simply by noting the number of compatible and incompatible antigens between donor and host (e.g., three identical antigens, one incompatible).

Since only two loci (A and B) can be routinely tested, and since both of these two loci may demonstrate a determination different on the paternal than on the maternal chromosome (heterozygote), maximally four antigens per individual are typified.

Despite great care in selection of allogeneic donor kidneys, antigen incompatibilities in cadaver kidney transplants can never be totally eliminated. Accordingly, immunopathologic changes must be expected to be present in every transplant since they cannot be totally suppressed by immunosuppression.

In the pathogenesis of transplantat rejection, cellular and humoral immune defense mechanismus play an important role (see p. 607).

Indications for Biopsy

Biopsy is indicated in transplant patients [1100] under the following situations:

- 1. Postoperative anuria of longer than 2 weeks duration.
- 2. Following clinical rejection episodes which do not respond to increased immunosuppressive therapy.
- 3. Slowly deteriorating renal function.
- 4. Increase in proteinuria and/or hematuria.
- 5. Control following transplantation. This is done at most transplant centers [653] initially in 0.5-1 year intervals and later in 1 to several year intervals.

Acutely Imminent Renal Injury (So-Called Conservation Injury)

Acutely imminent injury is practically limited to cadaver kidneys. Preservation of cadaver kidneys depends on a multiplicity of factors including the basic disease, cause of death of the donor, time elapsed between cardiorespiratory arrest and nephrectomy, as well as the duration of the warm and cold ischemic periods [653]. Renal biopsy is occasionally called for when, due to poor general condition of the donor kidney, a lengthy postoperative anuric phase ensues.

In acutely imminent renal injury, morphologic changes are predominantly manifested by the tubules.

LM Findings

The tubular cells are swollen. Necrobioses, necroses and, in later stages, signs of regeneration with mitoses are present. The tubular lumens are plugged up with a homogenous, PAS-positive material which is also occasionally found in the edematously widened interstitium. A few scattered polymorphonuclear leukocytes are present in the tubular lumen and in the interstitium.

EM Findings

Pronounced lysosomal and mitochondrial swelling (Fig. 8.3), protein (hyaline) droplet storage and marked distention of the basal labyrinth (Fig. 30.1) are also found even in subsequently well-functioning transplants. Necrobiotic tubular cells are rarely observed (Fig. 8.3). All glomerular cells are edematous. The mesangial matrix in the early phases of the condition is occasionally loosened by edema. The larger blood vessels are usually unchanged but the arterioles may demonstrate considerable injury (Fig. 30.2).

Renal injury due to conservation must be differentiated from that attributable to prior disease present in the donor kidney which, by appropriate selection, should be very rare. The most frequent changes in donor kidneys are those attributable to shock.

IF Findings

Granular deposits of IgM were present alone in 1 out of 3 and IgM and C3 in 2 out of 3 of our own cases biopsied a few minutes after revascularization and perfusion. In 2 out of 3 cases, IgM and C3 were present in the arterioles and also in 2 out of 3, fluorescence (severe and diffuse) was demonstrated interstitially for various immunoglobulins and once for fibrin(-ogen) as a result of interstitial edema.

Peracute (Hyperacute) Transplant Rejection

This form of rejection usually already develops during surgery [238, 1557] and is reflected in biopsy by massive leukocytosis of the capillary loops. In a few instances, peracute rejection occurs after a few weeks. The presence of four or more leukocytes per glomerulus 0.5 h after transplantation is reported to be associated with a poor prognosis [844, 1100]. Additionally, platelet agglutination with fibrin formation resulting from reduction in fibrinolysis due to endothelial injury as well as the fullscale development of thrombosis [1690] are noted in the glomerular capillary loops and sometimes in arterioles and smaller arteries (Fig. 30.3; [655, 1491]). Arteriolonecroses are frequent [1386] and high-grade capillary loop widening with stasis of erythrocytes also develops (Fig. 20.27; see p. 423). In most cases, corresponding parenchymal necroses develop [159, 315, 1402] which are demonstrable after 24 h [655]. These necroses may coalesce and give rise to acute hemorrhagic cortical necroses.

A similar but possibly not unequivocally identical condition is triggered by diffuse intravasal coagulation [1556] in which, however, the leukocytic phase is missed. This complication develops somewhat tardily. No intravasal coagulation is usually observed in so-called second-set rejection ([1271]; contra: [1170]).

Acute Transplant Rejection

Incidence

Acute rejection was present in 26.7% of our 131 transplant biopsies. Clinical findings can appear as early as between the third and seventh, usually the fourth, posttransplant days [78] but may do so even weeks, months or years thereafter (Fig. 30.38).

In our material, 78% of all acute rejections occurred within the first 8 post-transplant weeks (Fig. 30.39). After the fourth post-transplant month, chronic transplant rejection is by far the most prominent form.

Fig. 30.1. Biopsy 1 h after transplantation. There are rather severe lesions caused by conservation of the proximal tubules including severe distention of the basal labyrinth (\rightarrow) and masses of enlarged lysosomes some containing protein (*). Distal convoluted tubules (*DC*) are practically unchanged. Interstitium is slightly edematous. This transplant functioned well thereafter. EM (× 3520)

Fig. 30.2. A small renal artery after 20 min of homologous blood perfusion. There is a giant vacuole in the endothelium (\rightarrow) . A few erythrocytes (*) are present between the highly degeneratively changed myocytes of the media. EM (×4320)





Clinical Findings

The following clinical symptoms singly or in combination are present: reduction of urine volume, reduction of sodium urine concentration, body weight and/or blood pressure increase, fever, impairment of renal function, sensation of pressure and tension at the site of renal transplant as well as palpable swelling and induration of the kidney, increase of small lymphocytes and pyroninophilic, activated lymphocytes in urine and increase in eosinophilic leukocytes in blood. Clinical symptoms do not allow reliable conclusions concerning the morphologic form of rejection. If impairment of renal function is accompanied by fever and thrombopenia, vascular rejection may be assumed. A kidney antibody independent of lymphocytotoxic antibody and HLA-antigen in a high titer in the serum is said to enable prediction of rejection with great accuracy [435a].

1. Acute Interstitial Transplant Rejection

Two forms of acute transplant rejection are differentiated, the acute interstitial and the vascular, of which the former will be presented first (Fig. 30.40).

⊲ Fig. 30.3. Very acute transplant rejection on the 4th post-transplant day. Arteries (1), arterioles (2) and glomerular capillary loops (3) are filled with clumped erythrocytes, thrombocytes and fibrin. Nephrectomy. Masson's trichrome (×140)

Fig. 30.4. Acute interstitial rejection with a slight vascular component (\rightarrow) in a 35-day-old transplant. There are extensive inflammatory infiltrates in the surroundings of the dilated veins. HE (\times 26)

Fig. 30.5. Interstitial infiltrate in acute interstitial transplant rejection on the 7th post-transplant day. Cells in infiltrate demonstrate mitoses (\rightarrow). Note tubulonecrosis with nuclear disintegration (N). HE (\times 520)

Fig. 30.6. Masses of predominantly immature white blood cells in the dilated intertubular capillaries in acute interstitial transplant rejection in which symptoms became manifest 7 days before biopsy. Three-months-old transplant. HE (\times 500)

LM Findings

The decisive changes in this type of rejection consist of a diffusely distributed, focally accentuated interstitial inflammatory infiltration (Fig. 30.4) with discrete hemorrhage and interstitial edema (see Table 30.1). Interstitial infiltration is initially predominant at the corticomedullary junction. The infiltrates consist of small and large lymphocytes, immunoblasts, plasma cells and histiocytes (Fig. 30.5). Mitoses are not infrequently observed (Fig. 30.5; [315, 1286]).

The cells constituting the interstitial infiltrate can be observed migrating from the congested intertubular capillaries (Fig. 30.6) into the interstitium. From the interstitium they move to a position underneath the tubular epithelium (Fig. 30.11) and may give rise there to patchy tubular cell necroses (see Fig. 8.4; [315, 1373, 1402]). The tubular cell necroses are usually not very extensive and are limited to individual tubules which are subsequently repaired by regeneration.

Glomerular changes may be absent in LM or only a slight mesangial enlargement due to cellular swelling may be present (glomerulonephrosis). Mesangial cell increase does not occur. A swelling of the wall of the capillary loops (Fig. 30.7) caused by endothelial and podocytic edema can be seen [1805]. The vascular changes are usually mild (see Table 30.1).

EM Findings

Cells constituting interstitial infiltrates cannot be differentiated qualitatively from those in acute nondestructive interstitial nephritis (see Fig. 9.8, p. 144). These cells usually consist of activated lymphocytes with increased cytoplasm and of immunoblasts (Fig. 30.9) with massive numbers of ribosomes, a very pronounced Golgi apparatus but with a very small amount of rough endoplasmatic reticulum (Fig. 30.8). Mitoses are frequent (Fig. 30.10). Plasmoblasts and plasmocytes are also found (Fig. 30.8) and histiocytes and phagocytes (Fig. 30.8) are always present. Transformation of histiocytes into lipid-containing foam cells occurs from about the seventh post-transplant day onwards (Figs. 30.10, 30.11).

The intertubular capillaries, which are lined by a severely damaged endothelium, contain large numbers of activated lymphocytes which are rich in cytoplasm, as well as a few foam cells of probable monocytic origin (Fig. 30.11). Lymphocytes can be seen migrating from interstitial capillaries into interstitial tissue (Fig. 30.11). Sometimes these cells can be found between tubular epithelium and BM (Fig. 30.12), or inbetween epithelial cells. They do not necessarily cause epithelial damage [500]. **Fig. 30.7.** Acute interstitial rejection in a 3-month-old transplant. There is severe cellular swelling of the glomerular capillary loops with attendant complete occlusion of the lumens. Interstitium is edematous and evidences scanty infiltrates. HE ($\times 280$)

Fig. 30.8. Interstitial infiltrate in acute transplant rejection on the 7th post-transplant day. Infiltrate in edematous interstitium consists of plasma cells (*PS*), plasmoblasts (*PB*) and phagocytes (*PH*) as well as scattered slightly activated lymphocytes (*AL*) and a few polymorphonuclear leukocytes (*PL*). EM (\times 3250)

Page 571

Fig. 30.9. Same case as in Fig. 30.8. Infiltrate consisting of numerous immunoblasts rich in polyribosomes and plasma cells (PS). EM (\times 7420)

Fig. 30.10. Interstitial transplant rejection on the 14th post-transplant day. Immunoblasts, a cell undergoing mitosis (\rightarrow) and two lipid-containing phagocytes—foam cells (F)—are recognizable. EM (× 5280)







Parameter	Acutely imminent	Peracute transplant	Acute transplant rejection			
	transplant injury	rejection	Interstitial type	Vascular type		
Time interval between trans- plantation and biopsy	<1 month	Minutes – hours	<8 weeks, later rarer	> 14 days, later more frequent		
Etiology/ pathogenesis	Conservation injury	Humoral immune reaction	Cellular immune reaction	Humoral/cellular immune reaction		
Morphology 1. Glomeruli	Edema of the mesangial matrix, mesangial cells, podocytes, endothelium	Leukocytosis of loops (+++) Stasis of erythrocytes (+++) Thrombocytes, fibrin and thrombi (+++) Loop necroses (+-++)	Edema of mesangial cells $(+)$ endothelium $(+-++)$ podocytes $(+-++)$ LM swelling of capillary loops $(+-++)$ Foot process fusion (+-++) Loop leukocytosis (0-+) Fibrin and thrombocyte thrombi $(0-+)$	As in interstitial type plus blood stasis (++-++) Glomerular necroses (+-++)		
2. Tubules	Cellular swelling (+-++) Tubular necroses (+-++) Tubular lumen contains homogenous PAS- positive material Polymorphonuclear leukocytes (0-+) Later appearing mitoses (+)	Focal→diffuse tubular necroses (+ + - + + +) Hemorrhage (+ - + +)	Tubular invasion by interstitial infiltrates (+-++) Tubular necroses $(0-+)$ Mitoses $(0-+)$ Shock tubules (rare)	Tubular necroses (+-++) Hemorrhage (+-++) "Shock tubules" (+-++)		
3. Vessels	± Unchanged	Blood stasis (++-++) Leukocytes $(++-+++)$ Endothelial necroses (++-++) Arterial wall necroses (++-++) Leukocytic media wall infiltrates and fibrin $(++-+++)$ Dilatation and blood stasis $(++-+++)$: especially arterioles, small arteries, veins, intratubular capillaries	Endothelial swelling (+-++) Endothelial detachment and lymphoid infiltrates (0-+) Endothelial proliferation (0-+)	Endothelial: swelling $(+-++)$ detachment (++-++) Subendothelial prolifera- tion $(++-+++)$ infiltrates (++-+++) Media edema $(+-+++)$ necroses $(0-++)$ Parietal thrombi and fibrin insudation $(0-+)$ Subtotal arterial occlusion especially at points of branching Dilatation and blood stasis $(++-+++)$ in intertubular capillaries		

Table 30.1.	Differential	diagnosis in acutel	v imminent	transplant	injury	in peracute and	acute	transplant	rejection
			,			F			

Parameter	Acutely imminent	Peracute transplant	Acute transplant rejection			
	transplant injury	rejection	Interstitial type	Vascular type		
4. Interstitium	Focal diffuse edema $(+-++)$ Polymorphonuclear leukocytes $(0-+)$	Hemorrhage, edema (+-++) Polymorphonuclear leuko- cytes $(+-+)$	Edema $(+-++)$ Infiltrates $(++-++)$ Small lymphocytes, plasma cells, his- tiocytes and erythrocytes $(0-+)$	Edema $(+-++)$ Bleeding $(+-++)$ Lymphoidal infiltrates (0-+)		
Prognosis	Favorable	Hopeless	Therapeutically manageable	Poor		
Miscellaneous	Overlapping with prior renal disease such as arteriolosclerosis, shock kidney glomerulonephrosis, glomerulosclerosis pyelonephritis	Overlapping with diffuse intravasal coagulation	In early cases, overlapping In advanced cases, combin chronic rejection Overlapping with pyelonephritis acute interstitial nephritis (sensu strictu)	possible ation of acute and In biopsy sometimes difficult to differentiate from thrombosis of renal artery (technical reason), ureteral obstruction, (genuine) shock		

Table 30.1 (continued)

In glomeruli, an increase in thrombocytes (Fig. 30.13) and the presence of fibrin have repeatedly been reported [238, 838, 964]. We could confirm these findings in only 2 out of 36 cases of acute transplant rejection (Fig. 30.15). The glomerular endothelium is strongly edematous or hypertrophied (Fig. 30.16) and demonstrates arcade formation (Fig. 30.15). Occasionally, an increase in lysosomes (Fig. 30.16) - in addition to scattered foam cells. which sometimes contain thrombocytes (Fig. 30.14)-are encountered. Endothelial mitoses, genuine endothelial proliferation, and the presence of numerous monocytes in the lumen (Fig. 30.17) are very characteristic findings. The podocytes are very edematous or hypertrophied and demonstrate pronounced formation of microvilli (Fig. 30.17). (For glomerular findings compare also Figs. 6.9, 6.22, 6.34, 6.57, 6.64, 6.80, 6.88). The tubules evidence epithelial degeneration, and sometimes a few fibrin fibrils occur in their lumens (Fig. 30.18).

2. Acute Vascular Transplant Rejection

LM Findings

Vascular changes are by far the most striking feature in this form of rejection (see Table 30.1). Endovasculitis, thrombi and arterio- and arteriolonecrosis are present in advanced stages, but we feel that endovasculitis is

of primary significance (see also [1327]). Endovasculitis may be morphologically subdivided into two main phases: alterative-proliferative phase (acute transplant vasculopathy); and sclerosing phase (chronic vasculopathy). Since both main phases are often simultaneously present, subdivision is somewhat arbitrary. Initially, the endothelium of the small and middle-sized arteries is partly swollen and detached from the BM in an arcadelike fashion, but does not, as such seem significantly altered. The subendothelial space is soon filled with mononuclear cell infiltrates (Figs. 30.19, 30.20) composed of small and activated lymphocytes, monocytes, and, rarely, plasma cells, and the endothelium proliferates somewhat later (Fig. 30.22). Subendothelial foam cells, which are present in two-thirds of cases, may be seen as early as the twelfth day after transplantation (Fig. 30.23). Soon after subendothelial mononuclear cell infiltration, proliferation of (myo-)fibroblasts sets in. This proliferation is the most important factor in intimal thickening, and, consequently, in irreversible injury. In rare cases, veins, especially of greater size [78], show the same changes as seen in arteries in which endovasculitis is usually most pronounced at branching points. Subendothelial deposits discernible by LM are seen only in one-fourth of cases.

In less than 20% of cases, the media is also involved as recognized by fragmentation of the internal elastic lamina in the area of focal medial necrosis accompanied by polymorphonuclear leukocytic infiltrates. The media necroses rarely involve the entire thickness of the vessel wall, but if so, a pronounced perivascular mononuclear



infiltrate may be present which is usually limited to the inner third of the vessel wall.

As a consequence of endothelial and medial injury, we have seen secondary occluding thrombi in only 20% of cases in acute rejection. These were reported to be more frequent formerly but are now more rare with improved immunosuppression (33 out of 41: [238]; 4%: [1286, 838]).

Arteriolonecrosis, frequently mentioned in the literature and said to occur 3–4 weeks after acute rejection [337, 838, 964], was very rare in our cases of acute rejection (2 out of 38: Z; see p. 599).

It should be borne in mind that in early stages of acute vascular rejection, all vessels are by no means similarily affected, so that, especially in needle biopsies, the vascular changes may be missed (see p. 587).

Extensive parenchymal (tubular) necroses are the consequence of the severe vascular changes. The necrotic and/ or dilated tubules (Figs. 30,24, 30.25) are sometimes extensively permeated by blood. In contrast to the interstitial type, extensive hemorrhage is also present in the interstitium loosened by edema. The interstitial capillaries are strongly dilated and evidence severe blood stasis (Fig. 30.24). Endothelium of the intertubular capillaries is not severely damaged. Immunoblasts are not all-too-rare in these capillaries, but the lymphoidal interstitial infiltrates are usually scanty.

In preserved parenchymal regions, the glomeruli show the same changes as are present in the interstitial type of rejection. At first, the glomerular cells are highly swollen (Figs. 30.26, 30.27). In some cases, the number of cells is strikingly increased (Fig. 30.80) simulating the picture of proliferative FGN. In later stages, the glomeruli show necroses—usually with severe loop dilatation and blood stasis (Fig. 30.28). In advanced stages, the glomeruli and vessels are filled with fibrin (Fig. 30.29).

✓ Fig. 30.11. Same case of interstitial transplant rejection as in Figure 30.10. Intertubular capillary (*CL*) contains numerous immunoblasts, one of which is seen passing through the capillary wall (→). Another cell, probably a monocytic or endothelial foam cell (*E*) in the lumen and a foam cell of histiocytic origin (*PH*) in the edematous interstitium are also shown. EM (× 3420)

Fig. 30.12. Acute interstitial transplant rejection in a 2-year-old transplant. The lumen of a severely dilated intertubular capillary (CL) with immunoblasts is seen. An activated lymphocyte (\rightarrow) is shown between proximal tubular epithelium and tubular BM. A small (non-activated) lymphocyte (SL) is present inbetween the tubular epithelial cells. EM (×3360)

Fig. 30.13. A glomerular capillary loop with numerous degranulated thrombocytes (*left*) in its lumen. Basement membrane (*BM*) of the loop. There is complete fusion of the foot processes (\rightarrow). Acute interstitial rejection 6 weeks after transplantation. EM (×12,500)

Page 576

Fig. 30.14. A 4-month-old renal transplant. Endothelial foam cell in a glomerular capillary loop lumen with phagocytized thrombocytes. EM (\times 6100)

Fig. 30.15. A 66-day-old renal transplant. A leukocyte (*PL*) is seen in the lumen of a glomerular capillary loop as well as numerous fibrin strands (\rightarrow). An endothelial cell (*E*) is hypertrophied. Endothelial lining of the BM is partly destroyed (*). There is minimal partial thickening of the lamina rara interna (\rightarrow). BM is otherwise unaffected. Severe foot process fusion is present. EM (\times 9880)

Page 577

Fig. 30.16. An 11-day-old renal transplant with acute interstitial rejection. Numerous auto- and heterolysosomes (*) are present in the hypertrophied endothelium of a glomerular capillary loop. EM (\times 97,000)

Fig. 30.17. A 2.25-year-old renal transplant with acute interstitial rejection. Mitosis of an endothelial cell (*) in the distended glomerular capillary loop which also evidences numerous monocytoid cells (*MO*). Lamina rara interna is diffusely thickened (\rightarrow). Podocytes demonstrate extensive microvilli formation (*VI*) and foot process fusion. EM (×4080)

Page 578

Fig. 30.18. A 4.66-year-old renal transplant with acute interstitial rejection. There are numerous fibrin strands in the tubular lumen. Note severe vacuolar transformation of endoplasmatic reticulum. BM is slightly thickened. EM ($\times 2850$)

Fig. 30.19. An 8-day-old renal transplant with predominantly vascular rejection. Arterial intima is detached by an extensive cellular infiltrate consisting mainly of immunoblasts. HE (\times 95)

Fig. 30.20. A 6.5-month-old renal transplant evidencing acute (alterative-proliferative) vascular rejection. Endothelium of a small artery (\rightarrow) is extensively detached from the media by an infiltrate with abundant immunoblasts and a few activated lymphocytes. There are numerous immunoblasts also present in lumen. Perivascular infiltrate (*). HE (×140)

Fig. 30.21. An 8-day-old transplant evidencing acute vascular rejection. Wall of a vein shows an endothelium (E) which is highly detached from media by a dense infiltrate consisting of phagocytes, plasma cells and, above all, of activated lymphocytes. Semi-thin section. Giemsa (\times 700)









Fig. 30.22. A 12-day-old renal transplant evidencing a predominantly vascular acute rejection reaction. A cushion of proliferation is seen in a small artery (\rightarrow) . Lumen of one arteriole is highly narrowed by proliferative processes (->). Only very scanty infiltrates are present in the edematous interstitium. There are numerous hyaline casts in the severely injured tubules. PAS

Fig. 30.23. Same case as in Figure 30.22. Subintimal pads severely narrowing the vessel lumen (L). Pads consist of proliferated (myo-)fibroblasts, foam cells and a few small lymphocytes. Lamina elastica is intact. Van Gieson-elastin (×320)

Fig. 30.24. A 13-day-old renal transplant with acute vascular rejection showing beginning infarction of the medulla. Some tubules are necrotic. Note extensive interstitial bleeding $(\rightarrow \leftarrow)$.



Fig. 30.25. Same case as in Figure 30.24. Extensive necrosis of tubular epithelium with clumpy disintegration and detachment. Interstitial vessels are full of laked erythrocytes (\rightarrow) which are also permeating the interstitium (*). HE (×400)

Fig. 30.26. Same renal transplant (with incipient infarction) as in Figure 30.24. Obvious swelling but no increase of glomerular cells with slight narrowing of the capillary loop lumens. PAS $(\times 240)$

Fig. 30.27. Same renal transplant as in Figure 30.24. In PASM stain the mesangium and BM are unchanged and not afflicted by swelling of glomerular cells depicted in Figure 30.26. (\times 240)

Fig. 30.28. A 7-week-old renal transplant with thrombosis of the renal artery. Severe blood stasis in glomerular capillary loops and intertubular capillaries. Glomerulus shows incipient necrosis. HE (\times 200)



EM Findings

The severely injured endothelium of arteries as well as veins is usually detached from the BM (Fig. 30.33) and is occasionally necrobiotic. In other cases, severe swelling of endothelial cells results in almost total occlusion of the vascular lumen (Fig. 30.34). Rarely, activated lymphocytes in the vessel lumen are in immediate contact with the injured endothelium.

The subendothelial infiltrates are composed of small and activated lymphocytes, immunoblasts, plasmoblasts, and histiocytes (Fig. 30.33). Rarely, scanty polymorphonuclear leukocytes and erythrocytes are present. Foam cells may develop from monocytes from the blood stream as well as from myofibroblasts.

Depending on the severity of the lesion, the internal elastic lamina and media may be unchanged or severely damaged (see above and for further details p. 596).

Severe blood stasis with accumulation of thrombocytes is present in the intertubular capillaries (Fig. 30.35) as well as a few edematous cells which possibly represent lymphoid elements (Fig. 30.36).

In general, the tubules are severely but unspecifically damaged (Fig. 30.36). The tubular lumens contain fibrin strands which correlate with the excretion of fibrin-split products in urine (Fig. 30.18). Extravasation of blood into the interstitium and tubules is nearly always present.

The glomerular capillaries evidence blood stasis, which is severe, and contain edematously swollen lymphoid elements (Fig. 30.37). Stasis is followed by necrosis, which is accompanied by extensive fibrin deposition (Fig. 30.38) and thrombus formation (Figs. 30.38, 30.42). Glomeruli not exhibiting blood stasis consistently show endothelial swelling and degeneration (Fig. 30.41).

Recently, we have noted an inconstant glomerular change consisting of severe endothelial swelling together with an accumulation of monocytic elements (possibly immunoblasts) (Fig. 30.80; p. 608), which is sometimes present at the very beginning of acute vascular rejection. This change can easily be mistaken under LM for focal GN. We call this lesion "pseudo-glomerulitis".

IF Findings

In comparison to chronic rejection processes, the acute rejection crisis is said to be accompanied by very marked IF findings [470, 653]. From the seventh day on, the glomeruli, in 75% of the cases, contain granular deposits of IgG, IgM, complement and/or fibrin(-ogen). According to other investigators, granular deposits of IgG, IgM, and C3 were found in 50–70% of cases of acute and in 18% of chronic rejection [653]. In our own material, the IF findings were not very impressive. In 17 cases of acute rejection within the first two months after trans-

Page 582

Fig. 30.29. A 54-day-old renal transplant evidencing acute vascular rejection. Glomerular cells have almost completely vanished. There is severe thickening of glomerular BM by fibrin deposition. Artery and arteriole (A) are lined by coarse fibrin rings. Interstitium is edematous and demonstrates relatively scanty inflammatory infiltrates. Some of the tubular cells are necrotic and detached. PAS ($\times 280$)

Fig. 30.30. Segmental distribution of fibrin(-ogen) deposits along peripheral glomerular BM in a case of acute transplant rejection. IF (\times 400)

Fig. 30.31. Abundant fibrin(-ogen) is present in the capsular space and in proximal convoluted tubule (fibrinuria) in a case of acute transplant rejection. IF (\times 300)

Fig. 30.32. Diffuse permeation of a small artery with fibrin(-ogen) in late stage of acute vascular rejection. IF $(\times 300)$

Page 583

Fig. 30.33. Interstitial venule in a 66-day-old renal transplant with acute vascular rejection. Masses of fibrin strands and activated lymphocytes are present in the vessel's lumen. Endothelium is detached for a considerable distance by edema (\rightarrow) or by subendothelial infiltrates $(\rightarrow \leftarrow)$. Interstitial infiltrates composed of (*) histiocytes, small and activated lymphocytes are present, as is edema. EM (×1600)

Fig. 30.34. A 3.5-month-old renal transplant. Arteriole with severe swelling and proliferation of endothelium which is in intimate contact with an activated lymphocyte. This vascular change appears to be very acute. Myocytes (MC) are occasionally obviously contracted (so-called corkscrew nuclei). Lumen of vessel (L) is much narrowed. EM (\times 5440)

Page 584

Fig. 30.35. An 18-day-old renal transplant evidencing acute vascular rejection. Severe stasis of erythrocytes in intertubular capillaries (*) and extravasation of erythrocytes (\rightarrow) in highly edematous interstitium. Plasma cell (*PS*) with distended rough endoplasmatic reticulum. In general, these findings are similar to those seen in Figure 30.25. EM (×3100)

Fig. 30.36. A 12-day-old renal transplant evidencing acute vascular rejection. There is severe cystoid degeneration of tubular epithelium (*). Interstitial edema with a few erythrocytes and severely edematous phagocytes (*PH*) is present. Monocytoid cells (*MO*) can be seen in the considerably dilated bloodless interstitial capillaries (*CL*). Cf. Figure 30.37. EM (\times 2260)

Page 585

Fig. 30.37. Same case as in Figure 30.36. Severe blood stasis in glomerular capillary loops which also contain numerous monocytoid cells. Podocytes are highly edematous. EM (\times 1180)

Fig. 30.38. A 7-week-old transplant in which thrombotic occlusion of the renal artery at the site of suture occurred. There is severe anoxic injury of the glomeruli with complete endothelial necrosis. The glomerular capillary loops are distended and clearly evidence stasis of erythrocytes. Coarse fibrin clumps are present in the loop lumens (\rightarrow) and are occasionally seen adhering to their walls. Note severely edematous podocytes with microvilli. EM (×3870)









plantation in the absence of severe transplant glomerulopathy, the glomeruli were IF negative in 7 out of 17 cases, and 3 out of 10 cases showed granular deposits of IgM and C3, IgM alone, or fibrin alone (Fig. 30.30). In 7 out of 10 cases ultralinear deposits were present which stained positive for C3, IgG, IgM, IgA, and fibrin(-ogen) (compare Table 11.1). Re-biopsy of two patients 4–5 weeks after demonstration of the ultralinear IgG deposits revealed that the deposits were no longer present, a finding which we interpret as the expression of endothelial injury in the first biopsy.

IgG, fibrin and complement are frequently found in parenchymal necroses of vascular origin [238] and probably arise by secondary insudation.



Fig. 30.39. Time elapsed between kidney transplantation and renal biopsy as related to rejection responses

Fibrin in vessels has been frequently reported to be present in acute rejection (Fig. 30.31). In our material, 9 out of 14 cases with small arteries in the biopsy were IF negative; in the other cases, IgM (Fig. 30.32) and C3 were present three times, and fibrin(-ogen) was always present. In 10 out of 13 of our cases, the interstitium was positive for fibrin(-ogen) deposits and in 6 out of 13 cases for other immunoglobulins.

The prognosis in acute rejection is not related to these IF findings [238].

3. Differential Diagnosis of Peracute and Acute Transplant Rejection

The essential findings for the differential diagnosis are summarized in Table 30.1 (compare also Figs. 30.39, 30.40).

Peracute rejection may be differentiated from acute intravascular coagulation by the presence of numerous intraglomerular polymorphonuclear leukocytes, extensive anoxic parenchymal injury and by the occasional interstitial hemorrhage occurring in peracute rejection. It is possible that cases considered as peracute rejection occurring relatively late after transplantation really represent acute intravasal coagulation.

The differentiation between acute interstitial transplant rejection and acute interstitial nondestructive nephritis is scarcely possible unless eosinophilic leukocytes predominate, a finding which indicates acute interstitial nephritis. Dense accumulation of infiltrates speaks rather



Fig. 30.40. Comparison of various semiquantitatively evaluated morphologic parameters in acute (----) and chronic (\cdots) renal transplant rejection. Numbers 0 to 3 on the abscissa refer to semiquantitative rating of the parameter

for transplant rejection; EM is not helpful in this differential diagnostic problem, nor is the quantitative differentiation of the infiltrate (see Fig. 9.2).

The vascular changes as such are so typical that they can hardly lead to differential diagnostic difficulties. At most, microangiopathy—which can also occur acutely after transplantation [994]—may prove troublesome.

In microangiopathy however, the intimal pads are—in the acute phase—rich in fibrin, while typical granulation tissue characterizes the chronic phase. The granulation tissue is more loosely structured than that of the inflammatory response and of the subsequently occurring scar tissue of transplant vasculopathy. We have encountered extensive arteriolonecrosis in humans (as opposed to experimental findings in the rat) only in the concomitant presence of hypertension.

The so-called pseudo-glomerulitis (p. 581), as occurs in acute vascular rejection, must not be falsely interpreted as genuine proliferative FGN.

Our main differential diagnostic problem encountered in 20 needle biopsies from patients with the clinical picture of acute transplant rejection from the first and second post-transplant weeks was that of so-called shock kidney characterized by greatly flattened proximal tubular epithelium and dilated proximal tubules. A retrospective study of the case histories of these patients has shown that in 4 patients, genuine circulatory/septic-toxic shock was etiologically responsible for the renal changes [1804]. Later biopsies—and occasionally nephrectomies—from the remaining 16 showed subtotal occluding arterial thrombosis at the suture twice (Fig. 30.43), a peripheral transplant vasculopathy mostly of severe degree, 6 times, and 3 instances of ureteral obstruction due to ureteral necroses. In 5 other transplants, function recovered completely, a finding which led us to consider "camouflaged" rejection as the cause of shock kidney. Relating to differential diagnosis, it is noted that the presence of a usually severe interstitial and, more rarely, glomerular blood stasis and marked tubular necrosis are in favour of vascular rejection or thrombosis of the renal artery. Lymph vessel casts, which were present in ureteral obstruction, were lacking in the other groups [1804].

From the above-instanced findings, it must be concluded that different etiologic factors, which cannot always be determined by morphologic investigations alone, can lead to a picture identical to that encountered in genuine circulatory shock. Pathogenetically, hypoperfusion may be the operative etiologic factor as it is in genuine shock [473, 1804]. The morphologic finding of so-called shock kidney in transplants must be considered as an indication for arteriography as well as pyelography. In a clinical study [1854], the following causes of oligo-anuria occurring within 10 days after transplantation were stated (in % of cadaver grafts/related living donor grafts): acute tubular necrosis 24%/0%; rejection 9%/3.2%; arterial thrombosis 0%/1.6%; venous thrombosis 4%/ 1.6%; ure teral obstruction 1.0%/3.2%; renal compression 2.1%/3.2%.

Prognosis

In most cases, acute interstitial rejection can be clinically suppressed by increased immunosuppressive therapy. If no such therapy is introduced or, if it is started too late, the transplant will undergo irreversible injury from impairment of blood flow due to the severe vascular and/or interstitial changes. Acute vascular rejection appears to respond poorly to immunosuppressive therapy. The more severe the endothelial damage, the poorer the prognosis [1479]. It is noted that endothelial swelling alone apparently does not lead to functionally complete vascular occlusion for which vasoconstriction seems to be necessary [861 a, 881, 1373, 1591 c].

In our experience, subsequent to treated acute rejection, a certain degree of irreversible injury in vessels, glomeruli, and interstitium is present in every case studied. In all our biopsies with a history of acute rejection, we found, at least with EM, mild vasculo- and glomerulopathy or patchy interstitial sclerosis/fibrosis. There is probably a correlation between the severity and duration of the acute rejection to the severity of the residual changes. Therefore, each rejection episode worsens the prognosis of a transplant [983a].

Chronic Transplant Rejection

Incidence

Of our renal transplants, 30% give evidence of a chronic transplant rejection which starts 2 months after transplantation to reach a maximum after 2.5 years (Figs. 30.39, 30.40).

Clinical Findings

Chronic rejection usually does not cause subjective complaints, but it is characterized by a slowly progressive or stepwise deterioration in renal function. Often, in crease in proteinuria and blood pressure are present.

Comparison of LM Findings in Chronic and Acute Rejection. In chronic changes, all four renal elements, i.e., glomeruli, vessels, tubules, and interstitium, may be changed to a varying extent. The comparison in Figure 30.40 shows that the glomerular changes are more pronounced in chronic than in acute transplant rejection.



30.42

In relation to vasculopathy, however, there are no significant quantitative differences, since vascular changes can be as extensive in acute as in chronic vascular transplant rejection. Narrowing of the lumen in acute vasculopathy is due to endovasculitis; in the chronic form, it is due to intimal fibrosis. Extensive interstitial inflammatory infiltrates are considerably less frequent in the chronic than in the acute form in which they are frequently quite dense. Interstitial fibrosis/sclerosis is not usually of great significance.

1. Chronic Transplant Glomerulopathy [1805]

LM Findings

Mesangial thickening without increase in cells and a peculiar, blurred thickening of the peripheral capillary loop wall in the PAS stain (Fig. 30.44)—which at first can be confused with epimembranous GN—characterize chronic glomerulopathy.

The glomeruli are afflicted to varying degrees. In one of our needle biopsies, one glomerulus was severely

⊲ Fig. 30.41. An 8-month-old renal transplant evidencing acute vascular rejection. In a peripheral glomerular capillary loop there is an obvious interposition of a mesangial cell (M) with new formation of a thin, subendothelial BM (\rightarrow). Note swollen endothelial cell (E) with signs of severe degeneration (lysosomes). Lamina rara interna is partially loosened and widened (*). Glomerular capillary loop lumen (CL). EM (×17,480)

Fig. 30.42. A 7-week-old renal transplant evidencing acute vascular rejection. Considerable destruction and detachment of podocytic foot processes in the peripheral glomerular capillary loop. Basement membrane (BM) appears unchanged, but subendothelially—and occasionally also between the endothelial cells (E)—numerous coarse fibrin clumps can be seen. Note monocytoid cell (MO) in the lumen. EM (×9960)

Fig. 30.43. A 14-day-old transplant. Preparation shows acute medial necrosis (N) of wall of renal artery at the site of suture. Intima shows proliferation (*) covered by a thrombus (\rightarrow) . HE $(\times 70)$

Fig. 30.44. A 19-month-old well-functioning transplant. Note peculiar swelling of mesangium without cell increase. PAS $(\times 680)$

Table 30.2. Relationship between severity of glomerulopathy, and age of transplant

Degree of glomerulo- pathy	No. of cases									
III	_	1	1	1	1	1	3			
II		1	4	1	3	4	4			
Ι	5	9	6	10	9	14	8			
0	26	3	_	_		-	_			
weeks	4	8	-16	-32	-64	-128	256			

changed, while nine others were more or less undamaged. In mild injury, the BM appears thickened in PASM stain; in moderate to severe injury it is doubled (!), and evidences optically empty interspaces (Fig. 30.45). In extremely severe damage, so-called pseudoaneurysms are present. The outer diameter of the afflicted loops is enlarged as much as ten times the normal value and the lumen appears to be empty (Figs. 30.46, 30.47) – with the exception of one to three nuclei which usually lie excentrically. Therein, scattered fibrin fibers are rarely seen in the fibrin stain, but a granular material is always present in which a few erythrocytes occur (Fig. 30.47). Centrally in the loop, a greatly narrowed lumen can occasionally be identified under high-power magnification, a finding which excludes true aneurysm. This is the result of a maximally thickened lamina rara interna, as made obvious in EM (see below). We believe the above-described change to be pathognomonic for transplant glomerulopathy.

Mesangial cell increase does not belong to the findings in transplant glomerulopathy but is always indicative of glomerulonephritis (see p. 173). Progression to obliteration of a few glomerular loops is rare but more frequent than total glomerular obsolescence. Although a severe glomerulopathy may be present as early as 40 days after transplantation, nevertheless, a significant correlation between the severity of the glomerulopathy and the age of the transplant is present (Figs. 30.39, 30.40). It is pointed out that transplant glomerulopathy does not always progress to the most severe stage (Table 30.2). Additonally, there is, in our material, a positive correlation between the degree of vasculopathy and of glomerulopathy [1097a].

IF Findings

In analysing our findings, we differentiated between patients treated with antilymphocytic globulin (ALG) and those not treated with ALG.



Formerly, after ALG-therapy, linear deposition of horse gamma globulin was found (Figs. 30.48, 30.49) since the ALG, which is obtained from the horse, used to contain anti-BM-antibodies ([1805]; contra: [1158]). In the presence of immunosuppression, the IF findings usually correspond to a heterologous (Figs. 30.50, 30.51) or, exceptionally, to an autologous phase of anti-BM GN without corresponding structural LM or EM glomerular changes [1606]. In Rhesus monkeys without immunosuppression however, ALG induces severe extracapillary GN [1132]. No relationship exists between IF findings of ALG nephropathy and the severity of transplant glomerulopathy.

In patients without ALG-therapy, findings from 38 transplant biopsies are summarized in Table 30.3. In 34 out of 38 of these patients, a positive glomerular finding is present for which granular deposits of IgM and C3 are most frequent (see also [27, 1805]). In two-thirds of the cases, afflicted glomeruli in mild cases of transplant glomerulopathy evidence focal and segmental distribution for the cited immunoglobulins (Fig. 30.52) and in the other one-third a diffuse and global pattern. In moderately severe to severe forms, diffuse and global affliction of the glomeruli predominate in half the cases.

✓ Fig. 30.45. A 3-year-old renal transplant. There is a pronounced doubling of peripheral BM (→) in capillary loops with incipient narrowing of their lumens. Ladder configuration, which is typical for membranoproliferative GN is, however, absent. A similar BM change is present in the vas efferens (*). Semi-thin section. PASM (× 840)

Fig. 30.46. Same case as in Figure 30.45. Inner layer of BM investing the mesangial plug (M) is no longer easily recognizable but the outer layer is clearly discernable (\rightarrow). The abundantly present erythrocytes between the two BM layers may give rise to confusion with genuine aneurysm. BM thickening and doubling is also recognizable in neighboring glomerular capillary loops. Semi-thin section. PASM (\times 610)

Fig. 30.47. Same case as in Figure 30.45. Erythrocytes are now far more easily recognizable in the loop wall (pseudo-aneurysm). The supposed mesangial border is irregularly structured (cf. neighboring loops). Mesangium is rather severely enlarged without cell increase. Toluidine blue (\times 690)

Fig. 30.48. Linear deposition of horse gamma globulin (*ALG*) in the glomerulus after ALG therapy without LM indications of de novo glomerulonephritis. IF ($\times 600$)

Table 30.3. IF findings (without ALG-therapy) in relation to the severity of glomerulopathy

IF findings	Severity of transplant glomerulopathy				
	Mild	Moderate to severe			
Case number	24	14			
Number of positive cases	22	12			
IgGª	8/22	7/12			
IgM ^a	20/24	9/14			
IgA ^a	0/15	2/8			
C3 ^a	14/24	8/14			
Fibrin(-ogen) ^a	5/24	3/14			
Immunoglobulin pattern:	·	,			
IgM and/or C3 alone	12/12	4/12			
Other Ig combinations	10/12	8/12			

^a Number of cases positive/tested.

Page 592

Fig. 30.49. Same patient as in Figure 36.48, but 41 months after the last administration of ALG. There is a delicate, linear deposition of horse gamma globulin (ALG) in the glomerular BM. Transplant is still functioning well. IF (\times 500)

Fig. 30.50. Granular deposits of horse gamma globulin (ALG) in the glomerular BM in a transplant without LM indications of de novo glomerulonephritis. IF ($\times 400$)

Fig. 30.51. Fine-granular, predominantly peripheral IgM deposits in transplant glomerulopathy. IF $(\times 450)$

Fig. 30.52. Moderately severe mesangial and peripheral finegranular C3 deposits which are most pronounced in the vas afferens in a 3-year-old renal transplant. IF ($\times 400$)

Page 593

Fig. 30.53. A 15-month-old renal transplant evidencing moderately severe transplant glomerulopathy. There is massive thickening of the lamina rara interna (*) which contains numerous cell processes. Subendothelially, a newly formed thin lamina densa layer is present (\rightarrow). Endothelium appears to be severely injured. Podocytic foot processes are pronouncedly fused. EM (× 8790)

Fig. 30.54. Maximal glomerulopathy in a 1-year-old transplant. Highly thickened lamina rara interna (*) contains endothelial cell processes as well as several layers of newly formed densa lamellae. Lumen is considerably narrowed and there is a moderately severe fusion of foot processes. EM (\times 7700)







30.55



Fig. 30.57. A 19-day-old renal transplant evidencing acute vascular rejection. Because of anoxia, transplant glomerulopathy has been considerably accelerated. There is severe circular thickening of the lamina rara interna in the glomerular capillary loops (*) as well as hypertrophy and activation of the endothelium. Severe foot process fusion and podocytic hypertrophy are present. EM (\times 5100)

In mild cases, the immunoglobulins can be equally demonstrated either peripherally only, mesangially and peripherally or purely mesangially. In moderately severe to severe disease, simultaneous mesangial and peripheral involvement were dominant in two-thirds of the cases. Despite the differences cited, such as the somewhat more frequent occurrence of IgG and IgA in moderately severe to severe disease, there is no statistically significant correlation between the severity of glomerulopathy and IF findings.

✓ Fig. 30.55. Same case as in Figure 30.54. Thickening of the lamina rara interna has resulted in almost complete vascular occlusion. Residue of an endothelial cell (E). Original lamina densa is unchanged. There is obvious fusion of foot processes. EM (×4950)

Fig. 30.56. Peculiar shell-like osmiophilic structures in the thickened lamina rara interna in glomerulopathy from a 6-year-old transplant. EM $(\times 42,730)$

EM Findings

The earliest change noted in the glomerular BM is partial electron-translucent thickening of the lamina rara interna which contains very fine osmophilic granules [1805]. (For glomerular findings see also histograms Figs. 6.9, 6.22, 6.34, 6.57, 6.64, 6.80, 6.88.)

These thickened regions coalesce such that the periphery of the entire capillary loop becomes affected (Fig. 30.53). The lamina rara interna increases in thickness until pseudoaneurysms, described under LM, arise (Figs. 30.54–30.57). Thus, total BM reaches a maximal thickness of 80 μ m. Finally, scattered cell organelles, cell fragments, and a few intact cells are found therein (Fig. 30.54).

Only in 5 out of 95 needle biopsies did we find a few coarse osmiophilic fibrils, presumably corresponding to changed fibrin fibrils. A delicate lamella of lamina densa material—but much thinner than the genuine lamina densa—is often encountered under the endothelium (Fig. 30.53). This lamina densa lamella is probably

formed by the endothelium and separated therefrom by a translucent lamina rara interna. A network of strands of lamina densa-like material is occasionally found in the thickened lamina rara interna (Fig. 30.54). In formalin-fixed material, the subendothelial electron-translucent masses of lamina rara interna often appear as coarse osmiophilic structures (Fig. 30.56). The lumen of the capillary loops ultimately disappears completely (Fig. 30.55).

The described changes of the BM are qualitatively very similar to lamina rara interna thickening in hypoxia. There is no doubt that transplant glomerulopathy is strongly accelerated in the presence of hypoxia in which it may be already extensively developed 40 days after transplantation (Fig. 30.57). The positive correlation which we found in our material between glomerulopathy and vasculopathy stresses the significance of hypoxia in the pathogenesis of transplant glomerulopathy [1097a].

The presence of virus particles is not a feature of this glomerulopathy. In studying four sequential biopsies obtained from one patient, we observed severe irregularity of the BM with the formation of a new subendothelial densa layer as well as membranoproliferative GN (Fig. 30.85; see p. 612). Nests of 200–300 Å (occasionally 600–1000 Å)-sized "vesicles", which sometimes demonstrated a central core, were found between the new densa layer and the original lamina densa (Fig. 6.75; see p. 94). These structures were also demonstrated in groups within the lamina densa and lamina rara interna. The larger elements were identified by IF as Epstein-Barr virus and the smaller as hepatitis B-antigen [1531]. Herpes capsides were described in 5 out of 18 cases by others [238].

In transplant glomerulopathy, very small osmiophilic deposits usually occur with moderate frequency (15 out of 95 cases) in the glomeruli: 11 out of 15 subendothelially, 8 out of 15 along the mesangial BM (Fig. 30.58) 1 out of 15 intramembranously (Fig. 30.59) and subepithelially, and 5 out of 55 in the capsular BM. Even though these deposits may represent immunocomplexes, there is no relationship to the basic disease or to ALG therapy [1805].

Endothelial cell hypertrophy with arcade formation is frequently seen in chronic transplant glomerulopathy. Foam cells of endothelial/mesangial origin are also occasionally observed (Fig. 30.60). The endothelial cells have been reported to evidence virus-like tubular structures in a high percentage of cases (33%: [85]); we have not been able to confirm this finding (0 out of 95 cases: Z; see p. 92).

Fusion of foot processes, usually only focal, is the most constant podocytic finding (Fig. 30.53) and it is generally accompanied by edema and microvillus formation. Lipid and protein droplets are found now and again in the podocytes. The mesangial matrix is usually only slightly increased, whereas mesangial cell increase is absent (Fig. 6.79), while the presence of collagen fibrils is an exceptional finding (Fig. 6.82). Mesangial foam cells are a rarity, but mesangial hyaline droplets and degradation particles are quite common. The capsular BM may be thickened and capsular epithelium occasionally exhibits hyaline droplets but rarely myelin figures.

The presence of a few capillary loops undergoing obsolescence is not a rare finding, and foam cells are especially evident in this case.

2. Chronic Transplant Vasculopathy

This lesion is of considerably greater importance for transplant survival than glomerulopathy; 16 out of 40 of our cases with total transplant failure suffered from severe vasculopathy (7 out of 18 cases: [238]). The extent of vasculopathy is highly variable, nevertheless, there is a significant relationship between its severity and the age of the transplant (Table 30.4). There is no clear-cut dividing line between acute and chronic vasculopathy and, quite frequently, acute changes are superimposed on chronic ones.

Table 30.4. Relationship between severity of vasculopathy and age of transplant

Degree of vasculo- pathy	No. of cases							
+++	0	3	2	2	2	3	3	
++	2	0	4	2	4	0	2	
+	3	5	0	2	4	5	5	
0	20	6	5	6	4	10	7	
weeks	-4	-8	-16	-32	-64	-128	≧256	

Fig. 30.58. A 3.5-year-old renal transplant. Along the mesangial \triangleright BM, there are extensive osmiophilic deposits (*D*). Mesangial cell is hypertrophied. EM (× 9600)

Fig. 30.59. A 3.66-year-old renal transplant. A small, loosely organized osmiophilic deposit (*D*), possibly in dissolution, is seen in the lamina rara interna along the mesangium. There is suggestive new formation of a second densa layer (\rightarrow). In the BM, there are isolated cytoplasmic elements (*). Slight fusion of foot processes is present. EM (\times 36,900)





LM Findings

In the inactive sclerosing phase, the arteries often evidence an extremely thickened intima brought about by a fibrotic tissue, poor in cells, in which infiltrates are usually absent.

The media is occasionally atrophic and focally scarred and fibrosed (Fig. 30.61). The lamina elastica is frequently doubled or multilayered and sometimes interrupted (Fig. 30.62). The presence of extensive infiltrates and cellular proliferation indicate an acute attack (Fig. 30.63). The infiltrates are, as in the acute phase, composed of immunoblasts, plasma cells, and large as well as small lymphocytes. If small lymphocytes predominate, there is usually also a proliferation of (myo-)fibroblasts. The presence of large groups of lipid-containing foam cells (Fig. 30.65) is rare in chronic vasculopathy [652].

In contrast to acute vasculopathy, arterial changes in the chronic form show no predilection for certain segments of the vascular tree. Morphometric findings have shown renal vasculopathy to be as severely marked in the kidney as it is in the ureter; arteries of different diameter are also similarly afflicted [1097a]. Vasculopathy ceases almost abruptly at the point of anastomosis of the renal artery (Fig. 30.64).

In pre-existing arteriosclerosis, transplant vasculopathy develops between the endothelium and the arteriosclerotic patch. Old arterial changes, due to transplant vasculopathy, can still be differentiated from arteriosclerotic changes by the regular circular arrangement of delicate fibers in the thickened intima in the former [436].

✓ Fig. 30.60. A 40-day-old transplant undergoing subacute rejection evidencing extensive foam cell formation (F) in the glomerular capillary loops. It is thought that the foam cells are predominantly of mesangial origin. Mitotic figure (*). Podocytes are swollen and demonstrate isolated loss of foot processes (→). Masses of microvilli are present. EM (× 3600)

Fig. 30.61. A 14-month-old transplant evidencing severe interstitial sclerosis after multiple acute rejection episodes. Moderate to severe sclerosing vasculopathy is also present (*). Two glomeruli (\rightarrow) exhibit pronounced loop collapse. (\times 90)

Fig. 30.62. A 6.5-month-old renal transplant with slight interstitial rejection and massive chronic vascular rejection with an acute attack. The lamina elastica interna of the arcuate artery is partially split (*) and partially evidences complete destruction (\rightarrow) . Vascular lumen is totally occluded by a tissue which is sclerotic externally and which is very abundant in inflammatory cells internally. Weigert elastic fiber (\times 70)

According to our experience, secondary small arterial thrombi are rare. In 16 cases of chronic vasculopathy, we found thrombosis at the site of suture of renal artery 4 times; (4 out of 16 cases of transplant rejection: [1599]; see also [237]). Venous thrombosis without arterial occlusion is rare in transplants (5 out of 40: Z; [49]). Such venous thromboses do, however, occur with greater frequency in the ureter even without arterial occlusion. We did not find intramural aneurysms of the larger vessels as has been reported [1726].

Fibrosis is chiefly caused by inflammatory reaction of the intima (endovaculitis) in the acute phase, but it is not a simple organization of thrombi [238].

Changes in the region of the arterioles are much more difficult to interpret. Arteriolitis [652] is a chance finding. Scarified, obliterated arterioles are somewhat more frequent and may be the cause of solitary collapse glomeruli. We found arteriolonecroses in 6 out of 45 patients with transplants over 1 year old. All 6 patients were hypertensive, indicating secondary hypertensive vasculopathy to be the cause of the change.

IF Findings

IgG, IgM, and C3 have been found in arteries and arterioles (Fig. 30.66) in one half of the cases [653].

We found positive IF results in arteries in 24% of 90 cases, in which IgM was present in 17%, complement in 14%, fibrinogen in 7% and IgG in 5%. Fibrin(-ogen) was found only in acute vascular transplant rejection, whereas IgG was present in chronic vasculopathy as well.

Arterioles evidenced positive IF findings in 60% of the cases, in which complement was present in 57%, IgM in 46%, IgG in 5%, and fibrin(-ogen)-during acute rejection episodes only — in 2%. The arteriolar IF transplant findings are practically the same as those occurring in GN and non-GN nephropathies, the arteries, however, are more frequently IF-positive than in GN (4%) and in non-GN (8%). With the exception of positive fibrin(-ogen) findings, there are no significant qualitative differences.

EM Findings

After the acute phase of the lesion with subendothelial infiltrates, the intima becomes much thickened, chiefly from proliferated (myo-)fibroblasts (Fig. 30.67), among which phagocytes as well as occasional activated lymphocytes are present. In this phase, the elastica interna and media are often unchanged (Fig. 30.67) but often the boundary between the elastica interna and media is blurred, and lumpy phagocytes appear at the juncture. The elastica interna is split, thickened, desintegrated,


and becomes doubled or multilayered. The endothelium may be completely unaffected, but is not infrequently damaged and may even show necrosis (Fig. 30.68), which predominates in the acute phase. As a consequence, the myocytes of the media respond vigorously in the form of stepwise transformation which finally results in myocytolysis (Fig. 30.68). This transformation corresponds to dedifferentiation in which myocytes assume a mesenchymal state and produce contractile proteins, mucopolysaccharides, collagen and elastin [65a, 861a, 1336]. The myocytes detach from their tissue organization and wander into the subendothelial space (Fig. 30.69) where they produce collagenous fibrils (Fig. 30.70).

The above descriptions, which are chiefly related to proliferative-sclerotic processes, correspond to findings occurring in reactions where defensive mechanisms predominate. However, when aggressive factors are dominant, severe destruction, possibly leading to total myolysis, may ensue (Fig. 30.71). Isolated myocytic necroses, accompanied by deposition of degradation products in the surroundings is viewed as an intermediate phase of the process (Fig. 30.72). Immunocomplexes have been supposed to be responsible for the necroses [1594a]. We believe, however, that the necroses arise via secondary insudation of plasma constituents subsequent to primary immunologic endothelial damage.

In transplant arteriopathy, intimal thickening is, therefore, a consequence of three factors: migration of phagocytes, proliferation of in situ fibroblasts, and migration of myocytes (see also [8a, 65a, 666a, 791b, 1594a]). Immunohistochemical and EM study have proven that the majority of the proliferating cells in the thickened intima are vascular myocytes [861a] besides host-cell infiltrates.

✓ Fig. 30.63. A 6.5-month-old renal transplant evidencing relapsing severe transplant vasculopathy. Vascular lumen (L) is severely narrowed by a tissue rich in proliferated (myo-)fibroblasts and lymphoid cells. In the outer zone, there is incipient sclerosis. Media appears to be mostly intact except for a small necrotic area (*right*). Numerous lymphoid cells in the lumen. PAS (×110)

Fig. 30.64. Site of suture of the artery in a 51-day-old renal transplant. Renal artery of the donor kidney (1), iliac artery of the recipient (2). A cushion of connective tissue has developed in the donor artery which is artificially detached (*), and is seen to be very slightly extending to the recipient artery. Van Gieson-elastin ($\times 20$)

Fig. 30.65. A 2-months-old renal transplant. Endothelium of a small artery (\rightarrow) has been detached from media by a massive collection of foam cells. Media is unchanged. PAS (×150)

Fig. 30.66. Coarse, clumpy IgM deposits in a small renal artery in chronic transplant vasculopathy. IF $(\times 310)$

Page 602

Fig. 30.67. Part of a small artery in a 1-year-old renal transplant with subacute transplant vasculopathy. Severe cellular proliferation is occurring in the intima. (Myo-)fibroblasts (FC), phagocytes (PH), activated lymphocytes (AL). Medial myocytes (MC), fibrous tissue (AD) in the adventitia. EM (\times 2900)

Fig. 30.68. Chronic transplant vasculopathy in a 1-year-old renal transplant. Note isolated necrotic endothelial cells (*N*). There is rather pronounced lamellar thickening and doubling of elastica interna and BM ($\rightarrow \leftarrow$). Subendothelial space is widened and myocytes are degeneratively changed as indicated by their rounding off, loss of myofibrils and occasional disintegration (*). EM (\times 3640)

Page 603

Fig. 30.69. Slight vasculopathy in a 3-month-old renal transplant. Endothelium evidences a mushroom-like evagination into the lumen (*) due to cellular swelling. BM shows irregular lamellar thickening. Three transformed (myo-)fibroblasts (MC) are present in the subendothelial space. Medial myocytes are irregularly shaped and show spike-like projections (\rightarrow) and a caterpillar-like nucleus. EM ($\times 2700$)

Fig. 30.70. Progressive transformation of myocytes (myofibrocytes). An artery from a 37-day-old renal transplant. Peculiar-shaped cell bodies and nuclei, massive increase of basement membrane-like material and fibrils are present. EM (\times 3300)

Fig. 30.71. Severe transplant arteriopathy in a 4-year-old renal transplant. Endothelium (*E*) is intensely swollen and activated. Elastica interna and BM show severe lamellar thickening (*BM*). Extensive wall necrosis (*N*) is present. Only one intact myocyte (*MC*) is recognizable. This preparation illustrates the most severe degree of medial involvement in transplant vasculopathy. Lumen (*L*). EM (\times 2640)

Fig. 30.72. A 3-year-old renal transplant evidencing severe transplant vasculopathy showing the boundary between the media and a highly lamellated BM (BM). Transformed, rounded-off, damaged myocyte (MC_1) which appears to be producing ground substance (\rightarrow) . A necrobiotic myocyte (MC_2) with shrunken osmiophilic cytoplasm. Cellular detritus (*). EM (×8400)







Fig. 30.73. A 3-year-old renal transplant evidencing chronic transplant vasculopathy. Myocytes of the media (MC_1) are loosely arranged and show fine vacuoles. There are numerous transformed myofibrocytes with multiple extensions (MC_2) present in the subendothelial space. There is severe subendothelial sclerosis (*). Endothelial cells (E) are clearly swollen. Tangential section. EM (×1470)

The resulting terminal picture of chronic transplant vasculopathy corresponds to severe intimal thickening caused by deposition of coarse collagenous bundles, between which a few transformed myocytes and some phagocytes are always present (Fig. 30.73).

The intertubular capillaries in old transplants-with the exception of mild splitting and thickening of the BMare often unchanged. However, in a few cases, endothelial vacuoles, abnormally dense cytoplasm, swelling of organelles and/or detachment of a few cytoplasmic processes can be observed (Fig. 30.33; experimental data: [514]). Scattered endothelial mitoses indicate the regenerative capability of the endothelium. Very rarely, subendothelial loosening, which structurally corresponds to the glomerular lamina rara interna change, is found. Monocytes and lymphocytes are frequently present in the lumen, even in those cases without acute rejection. The migration of lymphoid and monocytic elements from the intertubular vessels into the tubules, which is seen with LM, can also be confirmed with EM (Figs. 30.11, 30.33).

3. Interstitial and Tubular Changes

In periods following rejection episodes, the interstitium is either unchanged or sclerosed to varying degrees (Fig. 30.61). There is no significant correlation between the extent of interstitial changes and the age of the transplant. In LM, the interstitium is strikingly dense, hyalinized and usually very poor in cells (Fig. 30.61). The fibers are coarse and an increase in ground substance is present.

The overall picture corresponds to that of inveterated edema, i.e., to sclerosis as in nondestructive, chronic IN and not to that of a scar as in PN. When no transplant rejection occurs, a few small lymphocytes and histiocytes are the most that is found in the interstitium whereas during chronic rejection, small and large lymphocytes, immunoblasts, plasma cells, and histiocytes occur in about the same frequency. An acute rejection episode, on the other hand, is characterized by the obvious predominance of immunoblasts and large lymphocytes over small lymphocytes and plasma cells. Interstitial foam cells are rarely seen during inactive phases.

Tubular changes are unspecific. Those tubules associated with severe collapse glomeruli are atrophic and their BM is thickened. Multinucleated proximal tubular giant cells indicate regeneration after previous damage (Fig. 30.75). Individual or groups of tubular cell necroses, which arise as a consequence of anoxia even in the absence of acute rejection processes, are sometimes encountered (Fig. 30.76).

We have never observed papillary necroses in our total of 40 nephrectomies (10 out of 12 cases: [519]). In transplant biopsies, the JGA is often found to be enlarged (Fig. 30.74)—usually only slightly—and especially in cases with chronic vasculopathy, renal artery stenosis or hypertension. JGA enlargement in cases without hypertension is possibly a reaction to excessive sodium loss.

IF Findings

The interstitium of transplants demonstrates positive findings in 40% of cases. This is considerably more frequent than in other nephropathies (13%). In 17%, interstitial immunoglobulin-containing plasma cells are found; in 16% there is diffuse staining of the interstitium for immunoglobulins, and in 22% for fibrin(-ogen). Fibrin(-ogen) is twice as frequent in acute as in chronic rejection.

Tubular BM is IF positive in 38% of the cases. In 30% complement (usually in short linear form), in 22% IgM, and in 3% IgG, are demonstrable along the tubular BM.

We could not find a correlation between positive tubular IF findings and the extent of interstitial fibroses, inflammatory infiltrates, and tubular atrophy in our material. Tubular BM deposits are probably the consequence of relapsing acute interstitial rejection episodes.

Prognosis

Glomerulopathy does not appear to influence the prognosis. Vasculopathy, however, is decisive as it can lead to parenchymal damage, renal hypertension and, finally, to transplant failure. Accordingly, in severe vasculopathy the prognosis is poor. Following withdrawal of immunosuppressive therapy, the course of vasculopathy is rapidly progressive [238]; it can, however, in rare cases, remain stationary for years. It is thought that interstitial sclerosis is of lesser prognostic significance.

Forty nephrectomies from 38 patients, of whom 17 subsequently died, demonstrated transplant insufficiency due to acute interstitial rejection in 4, to acute vascular rejection in 3, and to chronic vascular rejection in 16 cases; from the latter, 4 had thrombosis and 1 necrosis of the renal artery. Thrombosis at the site of suture of the renal artery was present 5 times, twice associated with renal artery necrosis. Isolated venous thrombosis was encountered 5 times and resulted in spontaneous rupture of the transplant once. Circulatory or septictoxic shock was the cause for transplant failure 5 times, once due to massive hemorrhage from the renal pelvis. Severe acute pyelonephritis was the cause for nephrectomy once.

4. Differential Diagnosis of Chronic Transplant Rejection

Differential diagnostic problems in chronic transplant rejection are minor. Mild chronic transplant glomerulopathy cannot be distinguished from unspecific glomerulonephrosis in LM or even in EM except in the presence of a very pronounced lamina rara interna thickening. Severe transplant glomerulopathy can be differentiated from epimembranous GN due to the absence of spikes and deposits and the presence of membrane doubling as demonstrated with PASM in the former. Differentiation of transplant glomerulopathy from membranoproliferative GN is achieved by demonstrating with LM, and even more clearly with EM, the presence of BM doubling due to interposition of mesangial cells, a condition which hardly ever occurs in transplant glomerulopathy. For differentiation of the severe form of transplant glomerulopathy from genuine loop aneurysm see p. 56. Pure glomerular ischemia may lead to collapse glomeruli which are frequently found in transplants, but never to changes similar in extent to those in transplant glomerulopathy.

In chronic transplant vasculopathy with typical concentrically layered intimal fibrosis, scarring of defects of the lamina elastica interna as well as of the media, the presence of foam cells and absence of cholesterol crystals easily allow differentiation from arteriosclerosis.

Healed periarteritis nodosa can be excluded since it demonstrates typical transmural scarring. Scleroderma and malignant nephrosclerosis can be eliminated due to the occurrence of onion-bulb splitting of the vascular wall which does not occur in chronic transplant vasculopathy. In adaptive intimal fibrosis (see p. 151), the connective tissue is much more loosely arranged and richer in amorphic intercellular substance, and there are no medial defects.

Interstitial sclerosis in transplants demonstrates an extreme paucity of nuclei and a basically preserved parenchymal structure, and as such is differentiable from scars arising from destructive inflammation. Such striking interstitial sclerosis, almost devoid of inflammatory infiltrates, is not observed in nondestructive chronic interstitial nephritis.



30.76 30.77

Pathogenesis of Transplant Rejection

[238, 733, 964, 732, 768, 653, 1601a, 1805, 1287, 1386a]

In the pathogenesis of transplant rejection, cellular and humoral immune-defence mechanisms play an important role. In the absence of antigenetic identity (probably of the HLA-D antigens), specific recognition of the foreign antigen is realized by the T-lymphocytes of the recipient (recognition phase). Stimulation of these antigen-reacting T-lymphocytes sets off a series of effector mechanisms of the T and B cell systems which can lead to destruction of the transplant (effector phase).

Via stimulation of T-lymphocytes, so-called killer lymphocytes are formed which can destroy transplant cells by direct contact and, possibly, by means of a hypothetic lymphotoxin. Although initially stimulated by HLA-D-incompatibility, it appears that the killer lymphocytes attack only cells with HLA-A and HLA-B (possibly HLA-C) incompatibility.

Attraction and activation of macrophages also occur via T-lymphocytic factors. The macrophages become cytotoxic for transplant cells.

B-cells, which are probably activated by T-helper cells, can influence rejection by direct contact or by release of antibody. The humoral immune response (circulating AB) is mediated by activated T-lymphocytes in the regional lymph-nodes. Antibody production in these lymph-nodes can be detected as early as 48 h after transplantation. The antibodies are directed against donor lymphocytes as well as kidney cells. The antibodies may lead to either transplant rejection or to its enhancement.

⊲ Fig. 30.74. A 20-month-old renal transplant with moderate subacute to chonic, predominantly interstitial rejection. Juxtaglomerular apparatus is enlarged (*). Interstitial infiltrates, tubular atrophy, and slight arteriolopathy (→) are present. PAS (×400)

Fig. 30.75. The numerous tubular multinuclear giant cells in this 11-month-old renal transplant are signs of regeneration. HE (\times 110)

Fig. 30.76. Chronic vascular transplant rejection in an 8-monthold transplant. There is a high degree of vacuolar change in the tubular epithelium, the mitochondria of which are severely swollen. For the most part, epithelium has been detached from BM. Phagocyte with heterolysosomes (*PH*). EM ($\times 2560$)

Fig. 30.77. A 50-day-old renal transplant with acute functional impairment but no clinical evidence of shock. Typical picture of so-called shock kidney. Tubular lumens distended due to severe atrophy of tubular epithelium (see also inset). Endothelial-like appearence of flattened epithelium is especially conspicuous in the inset. PAS (\times 80); inset (\times 350)

Preexisting antibodies directed towards ABO or HLA antigens, are of special importance since they may result in cases of positive cross-match (see p. 564) in peracute transplant rejection. In our material, we found a positive correlation between the degree of vasculopathy and the presence of preexisting cytotoxic AB (negative cross-match).

In the various *morphologic rejection forms*, either the humoral or cellular immune-defence mechanism consistently plays the dominant role.

Peracute transplant rejection is, as mentioned above, brought about by preexisting AB directed against ABO or HLA antigens which bind directly on renal tissue cells.

Acute interstitial rejection arises by cell-mediated immune responses. Vascular and glomerular rejection is said to result from humoral immune responses [732, 768, 1287]. But, in addition to the predominantly cell-mediated immune response in acute interstitial rejection, the presence of plasma cells, especially in the late stage, indicates participation of a humoral immune response as well. Vice versa, in acute vascular transplant rejection, the dense lymphocytic infiltration of the vascular wall as well as the loose interstitial lymphocytic infiltration point, in our opinion, to a participation of cell-mediated defence mechanisms. The cellular reaction in vascular rejection is, we feel, of importance for the progression of the vascular lesion. In chronic rejection, which can procede subclinically, i.e., without acute rejection episodes, humoral and cellular immune responses are operating of which the humoral may be predominant.

The *target structure* for the immunologic reaction in the different morphological rejection forms is probably the endothelium. In peracute rejection, binding of antibodies on the endothelium results in its injury, in aggregation and degranulation of thrombocytes, in intravascular coagulation and, by activation of the complement cascade, in leukocytosis. The end result is a hemorrhagic kidney necrosis [99, 364, 1059, 1690].

In interstitial rejection, the endothelial lesion of the intertubular capillaries is prominent and brought about by direct action of lymphocytes. This lesion allows migration of immunoblasts and effusion of plasma into the interstitium. Interstitial sclerosis can, in part, be viewed as a response to relapsing interstitial edema which occurs in multiple acute rejection episodes of slight intensity.

In glomerulopathy, endothelial injury due to circulating antibodies leads to insudation of various plasma components (IgM > IgG > IgA and C3, see p. 591) which come to rest in the region of the lamina rara interna. Fibrin is certainly also present as a consequence of decreased fibrinolysis and increased coagulation due to endothelial injury [1059, 1690]. A few investigators [841] even maintain that fibrin plays the decisive role in this condition. Changes analogous to those in transplants, however, occur in Weil's disease and in radiation kidney, in both of which glomerular changes are due to a primary endothelial lesion [1805].

In vasculopathy, the arterial endothelial lesion is brought about by circulating antibodies followed by severe invasion of the vascular wall by host immunoblasts [159], insudation of plasma proteins (IgM > IgG and C3 see p. 591) and by deposition of fibrin which result in endarteritis [1097a]. Although intimal fibrosis in vasculopathy can be reduced by heparinization, and even possibly prevented on occasion [289], morphological findings strongly suggest that there is no significant participation—at least at onset—of thrombotic processes with secondary organization (contra: [238]).

Local vasospasms accompanying acute rejection are a further factor which plays a significant role [159, 1323, 1264, 365, 710]. Thus, we found 20 cases of so-called shock kidney with severely flattened tubular epithelium, interstitial edema, lympho-plasmocytic infiltrates (10 out of 55 cases: [937]; Fig. 30.77; see also p. 586) and interstitial blood stasis. Among the etiological factors in these cases, we found camouflaged rejection as well as genuine circulatory shock and peripheral transplant vasculopathy (missed in the biopsy), partial renal artery thrombosis (Fig. 30.78) and ureteral obstruction. The significance of local vasospasm is especially marked in cases of camouflaged rejection in which hypoperfusion, as in other etiological groups, probably assumes the major role. Even if the discussion above indicates the importance of cellular and humoral immunodefense mechanisms, the prognosis of the transplant-especially in cadaver grafts-depends not only on the aggressive immunological factors but also on the effectiveness of immuno suppression. Accordingly, the morphological end result is the same for favorable histocompatibility and inadequate immunosuppression as it is for poor histocompatibility and very effective immunosuppression.

Complications

Basically, seven groups of complications can be recognized:

1. Glomerulonephritis [734, 1065b, 1805, 1853]

Recurrence of host GN is especially frequent in isotransplants without immunosuppression (11 out 17 cases: [1082, 560]).

In allografts, GN relapses also occur and predominantly so in anti-BM-type GN, membranoproliferative (Fig. 30.79) and intramembranous GN (see Table 30.5). The frequency of recurrent GN reported in the literature varies between 5–18% [1065b].

Formerly, we believed that we were dealing with a peculiar case of an acute attack of FGN in a donor kidney which showed old glomerular lesions surely present before transplantation. Upon reappraisal, however, this case proved to be one of transplant pseudoglomerulitis (see p. 587; Fig. 30.80).

In two of our cases, in which needle biopsy was performed 1 h after transplantation, glomeruli showed slight mesangial enlargement and cell proliferation, a finding suggestive of GN. Nevertheless, progressive renal disease did not develop and the lesion was stationary in subsequent biopsies 4.5 months and 1 year after transplantation (compare: [209a]).

In addition to the two above-mentioned possibilities – relapse of host disease or progression of preexisting donor disease – we have observed de novo occurrence of membranoproliferative GN or proliferative FGN in 4 out of 76 of our cases (Figs. 30.81–30.83). One of these cases was very probably caused by virus (Figs. 30.84, 30.85, 6.75; see p. 94); de novo disease was reported in 1 out of 109 cases in another series [1020].

Fig. 30.78. A 21-day-old renal transplant which required removal \triangleright because of numerous infarcts. There are very fresh thrombi in small and large arteries, the lumens of which are considerably narrowed by the thrombotic masses which are separated from the media by a fringe of inflammatory cells (\rightarrow). Thus, thrombosis is due to acute vascular rejection. In renal biopsy done previously, the picture of so-called shock-kidney was present. HE (\times 50)

Fig. 30.79. Relapse of a membranoproliferative GN with severe extracapillary involvement in a 2.5-year-old renal transplant. $(\times 250)$

Fig. 30.80. So-called pseudoglomerulitis in a 27-day-old renal transplant. Lumens of the glomerular capillary loops are practically completely occluded by the severre swelling and activation of endothelial and mesangial cells. In a residual lumen (*CL*) an erythrocyte can be recognized. Large, swollen cells which appear to be lying freely in the lumen are probably monocytes (*below left*). There is podocytic hypertrophy. BM is more or less unchanged. Osmiophilic deposits were not demonstrable. EM (\times 2760)



2. Recurrence of Renal Damage in Metabolic Disease

Recurrence of metabolic disease is an unusual finding (Table 30.5), except in primary oxalosis, where it is always present, and in cystinosis in which cystine crystals may appear, which, however, do not lead to functional impairment of the transplant. The kidney from a patient with idiopathic hypercalciuria [484] or those from patients with hepatic glomerulosclerosis [878] are of special

Table 30.5. Recurrence of host renal disease in transplants

Disease	No. of recurrence/ patients/ transplants [*from 1750]	Further literature
Alport's syndrome	0/73/83*	[268]
Amyloidosis	1/21/22*	[296, 784a]
Cystinosis	1/24/27*	[649, 930, 977, 1000]
Diabetes mellitus	0/104/114*	[854]
Fabry's disease	0/9/11*	[217, 284a 604, 1261, 1650a]
Familial nephritis	0/55/66*	
Gout	0/19/20*	
Medullary cystic disease = nephro- nophthisis	0/70/84*	[691]
Nail-patella syndrome		[421]
Primary oxalosis	10/10/14*	[366, 481, 647, 1420]
Scleroderma		[1836]
Glomerulonephritis	Recurrence	[734, 1065b, 1805, 1853]
- endotheliomesangial	extremely rare	[1478a]
 extracapillary accentuated 	frequent	[323, 385, 1209, 1330, 1574]
 membranopro- liferative 	frequent	[481, 804, 1063, 1461, 1484, 1761, 1778]
- intramembranous	probably always	[99a, 126, 231, 245, 523, 524, 651, 1652]
- epimembranous	rare	[332, 1290]
 segmental-focal sclerosing 	moderately frequent	[321, 720, 1020, 1659]
– IgA	moderately frequent	[651, 1020]
 systemic diseases and special forms 	rare	[422, 466, 719, 1197, 1293, 1505, 1750]
Glomerular minimal change	rare	[651]

interest since, after their transplantation, they showed no functional defect.

3. Spontaneous Transplant Rupture

The pathogenesis of this condition is not completely understood [495, 547]. We have observed one case of spontaneous rupture due to renal vein thrombosis (6 out of 100 cases: [1104]); the overall frequency is reported as 3-6% [25a].

It is possible, at least in some cases, that anticoagulation may play a role [980]. It appears to us that the concomitant occurrence of kidney swelling, increased bleeding tendency, and parenchymal necroses are decisive with respect to pathogenesis. Our point of view is supported by the fact that spontaneous kidney rupture following anticoagulation also occurs in nontransplanted kidneys, but only if there is preexisting parenchymal damage [1716]. Thus, in 35 cases from the literature, transplant rejection was present in 17. Other causative factors are ischemia or acute tubular necroses as well as abnormal flexion of the body [25a]. Concomitant ureteral insufficiency as a possible etiologic factor has also been discussed [495]. Suturing may be successful in saving spontaneously ruptured kidneys [1104].

4. Changes of Renal Artery Anastomosis

Changes at the site of renal artery anastomosis can lead not only to transplant insufficiency and necrosis but also to considerable difficulties in interpreting biopsies since, in the absence of transplant vasculopathy in biopsy material, the cause of pre-infarct or infarct, which may be present, cannot be determined.

Fig. 30.81. De novo proliferative FGN in a 2.25-year-old renal \triangleright transplant. Circumferential interposition of mesangial cells (*M*) with new formation of a second subendothelial densa layer (\rightarrow) are present in the periphery of the glomerular capillary loop. Vacuolized (*) endothelial cells are irregularly shaped and exhibit numerous processes projecting into the lumen. There is complete fusion of foot processes. EM (\times 5620)

Fig. 30.82. Proliferative FGN ($\rightarrow \leftarrow$) in a 3.5-year-old renal transplant. Masson's trichrome (×450)

Fig. 30.83. Same glomerulus as in Figure 30.82. Slight increase of the mesangial matrix is obvious in the afflicted glomerular capillary loop convolute ($\rightarrow \leftarrow$). PASM (×450)

Fig. 30.84. Relapse of membranoproliferative GN in a 3.5-yearold renal transplant. Epstein-Barr and hepatitis-B virus were identified by EM and IF (cf. Fig. 30.85). (Case published [1531]). PAS (\times 500)



30.82 30.83 30.84



Altogether, we have observed five cases of arterial thrombosis between post-transplant days 7 and 21. In one of our cases, there was total kidney infarct subsequent to thrombosis of the renal artery at the site of the anastomosis. In three cases, there was transmural necrosis of the donor renal artery at the site of anastomosis.

Stenosis of the donor renal artery 1–1.5 cm distal to the anastomosis may be caused by scar tissue. It appears 5–6 months after operation and leads to hypertension. It may be due to intraoperative arterial injury occurring during removal of the donor kidney [1743]. In another series, 8 out of 50 cases developed renal artery stenosis due to arterial trauma during nephrectomy or transplant preservation [1429a]. Slowly increasing hypertension may also be engendered by especially severe transplant vasculopathy at the site of the anastomosis; we have also observed this in one case (see also [63a]).

5. Nephrocalcinosis

In old transplants, nephrocalcinosis with calcification of the vessels along with severe clinical hypercalcemia is encountered. This condition is thought to be caused by incomplete functional normalization of hyperplastic parathyroid glands [1017, 1467].

6. Infection

Infections are the consequence of immunosuppressive therapy and must frequently be considered as the result of the weakening of defense mechanisms and of gastrointestinal injury which may serve as their portal of entry.

✓ Fig. 30.85. Same case as in Figure 30.84. Membranoproliferative GN in a 3.5-year-old renal transplant in which Epstein-Barr and hepatitis-B virus were identified (see Fig. 6.75, p. 94). There are extensive subendothelial osmiophilic deposits which have severely narrowed the glomerular capillary loop lumen. Moderately severe foot process fusion and edema of podocytes are present. EM (×2960)

Fig. 30.86. Interstitial infiltrate in a 5-month-old renal transplant with chronic pyelonephritis. Infiltrate consists predominantly of small, nonactivated lymphocytes, phagocytes (*PH*), and scanty polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Interstitial fibrosis is present (*FI*). Note the few deformed extravasated erythrocytes. EM $(\times 3470)$

On must be on the alert for changes in biopsy brought about by gram-negative bacteria or by fungi, as in pyemia [1339, 1599], by protozoa (Pneumocystis carinii; 3 out of 9 cases: [1599]) as well as by viruses (125 out of 610 cases: [1162]). In another series of cases, 87% of isolated viruses belonged to the herpes group of which 77% were cytomegalovirus [969]. These infections may lead to rejection. Particles of 300–600 Å in size are frequently encountered in transplant biopsies, but it is not known whether they represent virus, degradation products, protein deposits, or cellular remnants. Most particles 700–2000 Å in size are interpreted as arising from desintegrated tissue [1210]. We have indicated previously that particles of various size groups could be virus as has, on occasion, been proven [1531] (see p.94).

According to our experience, cytomegalovirus must be diligently sought for in transplant nephrectomy and autopsy material, while it is demonstrated with ease in the newborn. In any event, it is exceedingly rare in needle biopsy (1 out of 33 cases: [1338]) whereas serologic evidence of cytomegalovirus infection is frequently found (73% of cases: [327]; 91%: [25]). In 1 out of 3 of our cases evidencing positive urinary findings for cytomegalovirus, we were able to demonstrate affliction of the tubular epithelium with LM. Recently, more attention has been directed to demonstrating hepatitis B-AG in transplants [1601a; see p. 92).

Pyelonephritis plays a surprisingly insignificant role in transplants although urinary tract infection is quite frequent (females: 83%; males 43%: [655a]). In 131 transplant biopsies, including nephrectomies, we observed pyelonephritis only twice: 1 case with hematogenous medullary foci of unknown origin and 1 case of ascending infection due to ureteral necrosis (Figs. 30.86, 8.38); for malakoplakia, see: [1851]). The cause of death (Fig. 30.87) in 34 transplant patients was due to infections 21 times: acute and chronic viral hepatitis, abscesses (abdominal wall with pertonitis, upper leg), miliary tuberculosis, pneumonia, and 9 instances of septicemia. The causes of death in the remaining 13 patients were hypertensive cardiac failure in five cases, hemorrhage in four (pancytopenia twice, anticoagulation twice) and acute gastroduodenal ulceration in four. Infections not related to death were frequent: acute and chronic viral hepatitis B six times and cytomegalovirus infection eight times.

7. Malignant Tumors

The development of usually undifferentiated malignant tumors in various organs [1018a, 1255, 1699, 1852] as well as proliferation of donor tumor cells in graft from patients suffering from malignant tumors is due to immunosuppressive therapy [1316]. Antilymphocytic serum leads to increased tumor development in experimental



Fig. 30.87. Cause of death and additional autopsy findings in 34 autopsied transplant recipients. Anticoagulation (AC), pneumonia (Pn). For details, see text

animals [33, 235]. "Reticulum cell sarcoma" of the brain, which is otherwise extremely rare, is relatively common [1441]; recent studies indicate that the tumor is more probably a B-lymphocytoma (immunoblastoma) [1564]. In immunosuppressed transplant patients, malignant lymphoma was 35 times and "reticulum cell sarcoma" 350 times more frequent than in nontransplant patients [712, 1018a].

Kaposi sarcoma-interpreted by some investigators as a "reticulum cell tumor"-has been reported 5 times [1570].

We have encountered undifferentiated liver cell carcinoma, "reticulum cell sarcoma" of the brain, and an adenocarcinoma in colitis once each.

Complete disruption or severe impairment of the immunologic defense system against mutations in the host's somatic cells has been suggested as the cause for the increased occurrence of malignancies in these patients. Chronic stimulation of the immune system, on the other hand, could lead to a pathologic reaction which may be implicated in cerebral "reticulum cell sarcoma" [1018a].

References

- Abrahams, C., Pirani, C.L., Pollak, V.E.: Ultrastructure of the kidney in a patient with multiple myeloma. J. Path. Bact. 92, 220 (1966)
- [2] Abramonsky, C.R., McCoy, R.C.: Immunofluorescent localization of immunoglobulins in the hemolytic uremic syndrome. Amer. J. Path. 74, 12a (1974)
- [3] Abrams, E., Forland, M., Spargo, B.H.: Clinical-pathologic correlations in idiopathic nephrotic syndrome with glomerular membranous change. Lab. Invest. 18, 317 (1968)
- [4] Acker, J. van, Brande, J. van den, Vincke, H.: Membranous-proliferative glomerulonephritis. Helv. paed. Acta 25, 204 (1970)
- [5] Acker, J. van, Vincke, H., Quatacker, J., Senesael, I., Brande, J. van den: Congenital oligonephronic renal hypoplasia with hypertrophy of nephrons (oligonephronia). Arch. Dis. Child. 46, 321 (1972)
- [6] Adam, Ch., Morel-Maroger, L., Richet, G.: Cryoglobulins in glomerulonephritis not related to systemic disease. Kidney Internat. 3, 334 (1973)
- [7] Adams, D.A., Gordon, A., Maxwell, M.H.: Imuran treatment of glomerulonephritis, nephrotic syndrome, and systemic lupus erythematosus. In: Acute Glomerulonephritis. Metcalf, J. (ed.), p. 179. London: Churchill, 1967
- [8] Adler, C.P., Zollinger, H.U.: Differenzierungsstörungen (sekundäre Mißbildungen) bei der prä- und postnatalen Pyelonephritis von Mensch und Kaninchen. Frankf. Z. Path. 76, 127 (1967)
- [8a] Aikawa, M., Koletsky, S.: Arteriosclerosis of the mesenteric arteries of rats with renal hypertension. Amer. J. Path. 61, 293 (1970)
- [9] Ainsworth, S.K., Brackett, N.C., Jr., Hennigbar, G.R., Givens, L.B.: Glomerulonephritis with deposition of Australia antigen-antibody complexes in the glomerular basement membrane. Lab. Invest. **30**, 369 (1974)
- [10] Alarcon-Segovia, D.: Drug-induced lupus syndromes. Mayo Clin. Proc. 44, 664 (1969)
- [10a] Albert, E.N.: Developing elastic tissue. An electron microscopic study. Amer. J. Path. 69, 89 (1972)
- [11] Albright, F., Burnett, C.H., Parson, W., Reifenstein, E.C., Roos, A.: Osteomalacia and late rickets. Medecine 25, 399 (1946)
- [12] Alexander, F., Atkins, E.L.: Familial renal amyloidosis. Amer. J. Med. 59, 121 (1975)
- [13] Allen, A.C.: The Kidney, 2nd. ed. New York and London: Grune and Stratton, 1962
- [14] Allen, A.C.: Glomerulonephritis: Some debatable structures, lesions and functions of glomeruli and tubules. In: The Kidney. Mostofi, F.K., Smith, D.E. (eds.). Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins, 1966, p. 144

- [15] Allen, J.C.: Studies on two component cryoprecipitation. Fed. Proc. 25, 726 (1966)
- [16] Allison, A.C., Houba, V., Hendrickse, R.G., Petrio, S. de, Edington, G.M., Adeniji, A.: Immune complexes in the nephrotic syndrome of African children. Lancet 1969/ I, 1231
- [17] Allison, P.R., Bleehan, N., Brown, W., Pickering, G.W., Robb-Smith, A.H., Russell, R.P.: The production and resolution of hypertensive vascular lesions in the rabbit. Clin. Sci. 33, 39 (1967)
- [18] Alport, A.C.: Hereditary familial congenital haemolytic nephritis. Brit. med. J. 1927/I, 504
- [19] Alston, W.C.: Hepatic and renal complications arising from accidental carbon tetrachloride poisoning in the human subject. J. clin. Path. 23, 249 (1970)
- [20] Altcheck, A., Albright, N., Sommers, S.C.: Renal biopsies in toxemia of pregnancy. In: Abstr. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966, p. 149
- [21] Altcheck, A., Albright, N.L., Sommers, S.C.: The renal pathology of toxemia of pregnancy. Obst. Gynec. 31, 595 (1968)
- [22] Alwall, N.: Aspiration biopsy of the kidney including a report of a case of amyloidosis diagnosed through aspiration biopsy of the kidney in 1944 and investigated at an autopsy in 1950. Acta med. scand. 143, 430 (1952)
- [23] Amerio, A., Vercellone, A., Benedictis, G. de, Linari, F., Piccoli, G., Coratelli, P., Vacha, G., Ragni, R., Mastrangelo, F., Pastore, G.: Long-term prognosis in acute renal failure of primarily tubular origin. Min. nefrol. 19, 7 (1972)
- [24] Andersen, H.J., Jacobsson, B., Larsson, H., Winberg, J.: Hypertension, asymmetric renal parenchymal defect, sterile urine, and high E. coli antibody titre. Brit. med. J. 1973/II, 14
- [25] Andersen, H.K., Spencer, E.S.: Cytomegalovirus infection among renal allograft recipients. Acta med. scand. 186, 7 (1969)
- [25a] Anderson, B., Sampson, C., Callender, C.O.: Spontaneous renal allograft rupture without rejection: a case report. J. Urol. 115, 745 (1976)
- [26] Anderson, D., Tannen, R.L.: Tuberous sclerosis and chronic renal failure. Amer. J. Med. 47, 163 (1969)
- [26a] André, J.-L., Afflals, G., Duprez, A., Kiefer, B., Neimann, N.: Néphropathie tubulo-interstitielle chronique et dégénérence tapéto-rétienne. Semaine Hôp. 51, 2971 (1975)
- [27] Andres, G.A., Accinni, L., Hsu, K.C., Penn, I., Porter, K.A., Randall, J.M., Seegal, B.C., Starzl., T.E.: Human renal transplants. III. Immunopathologic studies. Lab. Invest. 22, 588 (1970)

- [28] Andres, G.A., Accinni, L., Hsu, K.C., Zabriski, J.B., Seegal, B.C.: Electron microscopic studies of human glomerulonephritis with ferritin-conjugated antibody. J. exp. Med. 123, 399 (1966)
- [29] Andres, G.A., Spiele, H., McCluskey, R.T.: Virus-like structures in systemic lupus erythematosus. In: Progress in Clinical Immunology. Schwartz, R.S. (ed.). New York and London: Grune and Stratton, 1972, p. 23
- [30] Angell, M.E., Relman, A.S., Robbins, S.L.: "Active" chronic pyelonephritis without evidence of bacterial infection. New Engl. J. Med. 278, 1303 (1968)
- [31] D'Angelo, W.A., Fries, J.F., Masi, A.T., Shulman, L.E.: Pathologic observations in systemic sclerosis (scleroderma). A study of fifty-eight autopsy cases and fifty-eight matched controls. Amer. J. Med. 46, 428 (1969)
- [32] Anhalt, M.A., Cawood, C.D., Scott, R.: Xanthogranulomatous pyelonephritis: a comprehensive review with report of 4 additional cases. J. Urol. 105, 10 (1971)
- [33] Anigstein, L., Anigstein, D.M., Unterharnscheidt, F.J.: Mouse transplantable tumor induced by human spinal meningioma implant in mice inoculated with human thymus antiserum. Texas Rep. Biol. Med. 27, 341 (1969)
- [34] Anjo, A., Couturier, E.: Mesangial changes of the renal glomerulus in long-term diabetic rats. Path. europ. 10, 21 (1975)
- [35] Antoine, B., Faye, C.: The clinical course associated with dense deposits in the kidney basement membranes. Kidney internat. 1, 420 (1972)
- [36] Antonovych, T.T., Deasy, P.F., Tina, L.U., D'Albora, J.B., Hollermann, C.E., Calcagno, P.L.: Hereditary nephritis: Early clinical, functional and morphological studies. Pediat. Res. 3, 545 (1969)
- [37] Antonovych, T.T., Lin, R.C., Mostofi, F.K.: Multiple myeloma: Ultrastructural and immuno-fluorescent findings in the kidney. Lab. Invest. 30, 370 (1974) (Abstr.)
- [38] Antonovych, T.T., Mostofi, F.K.: Ultrastructural glomerular changes in Goodpasture's syndrome. Lab. Invest. 22, 490 (1970)
- [39] Aoki, S., Imamura, S., Aoki, M., McCabe, W.R.: "Abacterial" and bacterial pyelonephritis. Immunofluorescent localization of bacterial antigen. New Engl. J. Med. 281, 1375 (1969)
- [39a] Apostolov, K., Spasic, K.P.: Viral aetiology in endemic (Balkan) nephropathy. Lancet 1975/II, 1271
- [39b] Appel, G.B., Williams, G.S., Meltzer, J.I., Pirani, C.L.: Renal vein thrombosis, nephrotic syndrome, and systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann. Int. Med. 85, 310 (1976)
- [40] Arakawa, M., Kimmelstiel, P.: Circumferential mesangial interposition. Lab. Invest. 21, 276 (1969)
- [41] Argani, S., Kipkie, G.F.: Macroglobulinemic nephropathy. Acute renal failure in macroglobulinemia of Waldenström. Amer. J. Med. 36, 151 (1964)
- [42] Arhelger, R.B., Davis, J.T., Evers, C.G., Henson, E.C., Hardy, J.D.: Experimental cholemia in dogs. Electron microscopy of glomerular lesions. Arch. Path. 89, 355 (1970)
- [43] Arneil, G.C.: The nephrotic syndrome. Ped. Clin. N. Amer. 18, 547 (1971)
- [44] Arneil, G.C., Emmanuel, I.G., Flatman, G.E., Harris, F., Young, D.G., Zachary, R.B.: Nephritis in two chil-

dren after irradiation and chemotherapy for nephroblastoma. Lancet 1974/I, 960

- [45] Arneil, G.C., Lam, C.N.: Long-term results of intensive steroid therapy of childhood nephrosis. In: Proc. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology Washington 1966. Basel and New York: Karger, 1967, p. 95
- [46] Arneil, G.C., MacDonald, A.M., Murphy, A.V., Sweet, E.M.: Renal venous thrombosis. Clin. Nephrol. 1, 119 (1973)
- [47] Arnold, S.B., Valone, J.A., Askenase, P.W., Kashgarian, M., Freedman, L.R.: Diffuse glomerulonephritis in rabbits with streptococcus viridans endocarditis. Lab. Invest. 32, 681 (1975)
- [48] Aron, B.S., Gross, M.: Renal adenocarcinoma in infancy and childhood: Evaluation of therapy and prognosis. J. Urol. 102, 497 (1968)
- [49] Arruda, J.A., Gutierrez, L.F., Jonasson, G., Pillay, V.K., Kurtzman, N.A.: Renal-vein thrombosis in kidney allografts. Lancet 1973/II, 585
- [50] Asamer, H.: Das Schönlein-Henoch-Syndrom beim Erwachsenen. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 99, 1658 (1974)
- [51] Asamer, H., Dittrich, P., Lederer, B.: Die Bedeutung immunhistologischer Befunde für die nephrologische Diagnostik. Klin. Wschr. 47, 759 (1969)
- [52] Asamer, H., Stühlinger, W., Dittrich, P.: Das paraneoplastische nephrotische Syndrom. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 99, 573 (1974)
- [53] Asamer, H., Weiser, G., Michlmayr, G.: Essentielle gemischte Kryoglobulinaemie mit Nierenbeteiligung. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 105, 1057 (1975)
- [54] Asamer, H., Weiser, G., Stühlinger, W., Dittrich, P.: Klinische Immunologie des Goodpasture-Syndroms. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 100, 513 (1975)
- [54a] Ashenhurst, E., Millar, J., Milliken, T.: Refsum's syndrome affecting a brother and two sisters. Brit. Med. J. 1958/II, 415-417
- [55] Ask-Upmark, E.: Über juvenile maligne Nephrosklerose und ihr Verhältnis zu Störungen in der Nierenentwicklung. Acta path. microbiol. scand. 6, 383 (1929)
- [56] Assauer, E., Goethe, H.: Tetrachlorkohlenstoffvergiftung mit Lebernekrose und akuter tubulärer Niereninsuffizienz. Med. Welt 20, 102 (1969)
- [57] Aufderheide, A.C.: Renal tubular calcium oxalate crystal deposition. Arch. Path. 92, 162 (1971)
- [57a] Avasthi, P.S., Erickson, D.G., Gardner, K.D.: Hereditary renal-retinal dysplasia and the medullary cystic disease-nephronophthisis complex. Ann. Intern. Med. 84, 157 (1976)
- [58] Avrameas, S.: Coupling of enzymes to proteins with glutaraldehyde. Use of the conjugates for the detection of antigens and antibody. Immunochemistry 6, 43 (1969)
- [59] Axelsen, R.A.: The induction of renal papillary necrosis in Gunn rats by analgesics and analgesic mixtures. Brit. J. exp. Path. 56, 92 (1975)
- [60] Azar, H.A.: Pathology of multiple myeloma and related growths. In: Multiple Myeloma. Azar, H.A., Potter, M. (eds.). New York and London: Harper and Row, 1973, p. 1
- [61] Baar, H.S., Bickel, H.: Morbid anatomy, histology and pathogenesis of Lignac-Fanconi disease. Acta paed. 42, Suppl. 90, 191 (1952)

- [62] Bacani, R.A., Velasquez, E., Kanter, A., Pirani, C.L., Pollak, V.E.: Rapidly progressive (non-streptococcal) glomerulonephritis. Ann. int. Med. 69, 463 (1968)
- [63] Bach, F.H.: The immunogenetics of histocompatibility with special reference to the HL-A locus: General anthropological considerations. Transplant. Proc. 5, 23 (1973)
- [63a] Bachy, C., Alexandre, G.P., Ypersele de Strihou, C. van: Hypertension after renal transplantation. Brit. Med. J. 1976/II, 1287
- [64] Bächtold, H.: Katamnestische Untersuchungen von akuter hämorrhagischer Nephritis im Kindesalter. Inaug. Diss., Zürich (1956)
- [65] Bäcker, F.: Zur Pathologie der Periglomerulitis granulomatosa. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. Path. 45, 326 (1961)
- [65a] Backwinkel, K.P., Schmitt, G., Themann, H., Hauss, W.H.: Elektronenmikroskopische Untersuchungen über Frühveränderungen der Koronararterien bei experimenteller Hypertonie. Beitr. Path. 141, 374 (1970)
- [66] Bagdade, J.D., Parker, F., Ways, P.O., Morgan, T.E., Lagunoff, D., Eidelman, S.: Fabry's disease. A correlative clinical, morphologic, and biochemical study. Lab. Invest. 18, 681 (1968)
- [67] Bahlmann, J., Otto, P.: Percutane Nierenbiopsie mit Ultraschallokalisation. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 97, 840 (1972)
- [68] Bain, B.J., Ribush, N.T., Nicoll, P., Whitsed, H.M., Morgan, T.O.: Renal failure and transient paraproteinemia due to Leptospira pomona. Case report and literature review. Arch. int. Med. 131, 740 (1973)
- [69] Baines, G.H., Barclay, J.A., Cooke, W.T.: Nephrocalcinosis associated with hyperchloremia and low plasma bicarbonate. Quart. J. Med. 14, 113 (1945)
- [70] Baker, N.M., Mills, A.E., Rachman, I., Thomas, J.E.: Haemolytic-uraemic syndrome in typhoid fever. Brit. med. J. 1974/II, 84
- [71] Balbonian, M.B., Schnetzler, D.E., Kaloyanides, G.J.: Nephrotic syndrome, renal vein thrombosis and renal failure. Amer. J. Med. 54, 768 (1973)
- [71 a] Baldwin, D.S.: Poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis. A progressive disease? Amer. J. Med. 62, 1 (1977)
- [71b] Baldwin, D.S., Gluck, M.C., Lowenstein, J., Gallo, G.R.: Lupus nephritis. Clinical course as related to morphologic forms and their transitions. Amer. J. Med. 62, 12 (1977)
- [72] Baldwin, D.S., Gluck, M.C., Schacht, R.G., Mousalli, A., Gallo, G.R.: Long-term follow-up of poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York and London: John Wiley, 1973, p. 327
- [73] Baldwin, D.S., Levine, B.B., McCluskey, R.T., Gallo, G.R.: Renal failure and interstitital nephritis due to penicillin and methicillin. New Engl. J. Med. 279, 1245 (1968)
- [74] Baldwin, D.S., Lowenstein, J., Rothschild, N.F., Gallo, G., McCluskey, R.T.: The clinical course of the proliferative and membranous forms of lupus nephritis. Ann. int. Med. 73, 929 (1970)
- [75] Baldwin, D.S., McCluskey, R.T.: Renal involvement in systemic lupus erythematodes, periarteritis nodosa, scleroderma, and cryoglobulinemia. In: Structural Basis of Renal Disease. Becker, E.L. (ed.). New York and London: Harper and Row, 1968, p. 446
- [75a] Balinat, A., Veress, B., Nagy, Z., Jellinek, H.: Role

of lipophages in the development of rat atheroma. Atherosclerosis 15, 7 (1972)

- [76] Ballard, H.S., Eisinger, R.P., Gallo, G. Renal manifestations of the Henoch-Schoenlein syndrome in adults. Amer. J. Med. 49, 328 (1970)
- [77] Balogh, K., Jr., Gloor, F.: Nierenveränderungen bei der erblichen Nephropathie mit Innenohrschwerhörigkeit. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. Path. 49, 200 (1965)
- [78] Baltzan, M.A., Baltzan, R.B., Pastershank, S., Cunningham, T.: Early acute rejection of renal homografts: a characteristic clinical syndrome. Canad. med. Ass. J. 109, 101 (1973)
- [79] Bankl, H., Regele, H.: Zur Frage der sekundären Oxalose. Virchows Arch. A 342, 97 (1967)
- [80] Barajas, L.: The innervation of the juxtaglomerular apparatus. Lab. Invest. 13, 916 (1967)
- [81] Barajas, L., Lynn, A.N., Kaufman, J.J., Lappa, H., Maxwell, M.H.: The value of the renal biopsy in unilateral renovascular hypertension. Nephron 4, 231 (1967)
- [81 a] Barbino di Belgiojoso, G., Tarantino, A., Bazzi, C., Colosanti, G., Guerra, L., Durante, A.: Immunofluorescence patterns in chronic membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis (MPGN). Clin. Nephrol. 6, 303 (1976)
- [82] Barclay, G.P., Cameron, H. Mac D., Loughridge, L.W.: Amyloid disease of the kidney and renal vein thrombosis. Quart. J. Med. N.S. 29, 137 (1960)
- [83] Bardana, E.J., Porter, G.A., Pirofsky, B., Gourley, R.T., Bayrakci, C.: Azathioprine in steroid-insensitive nephropathy. Amer. J. Med. 49, 789 (1970)
- [84] Bardare, M., Gaboardi, F., Barbiano de Belgioioso, G.: Die Glomerulonephritis beim Schoenlein-Henoch-Syndrom im Kindesalter. Helv. paed. Acta 30, 297 (1975)
- [85] Bariety, J., Appay, M.D., Callard, P., Grossetete, J.: Extracellular roughly granular material (ERGM) in human glomerular tufts. Virchows Arch. A 358, 137 (1973)
- [86] Bariety, J., Callard, P.: Round "virus-like" extracellular particles in glomerular tufts. Virchows Arch. A 357, 125 (1972)
- [87] Bariety, J., Callard, P.: Striated membranous structures in renal glomerular tufts. An electron microscopy study of 340 human renal biopsies. Lab. Invest. 32, 636 (1975)
- [88] Bariety, J., Duret, Ph., Lagrue, G.: Les glomérulopathies "extra-membraneuses". Presse méd. 77, 1457 (1969)
- [89] Bariety, J., Druet, Ph., Lagrue, G., Milliez, P.: Biopsy studies during the evolution of glomerulonephritis with extramembranous deposits (including sequential studies in 4 who healed). In: Abstr. 4th Internat. Congr., Nephrology, Stockholm 1969, p. 179
- [90] Bariety, J., Druet, Ph., Laliberte, F., Sapri, C.: Glomerulonephritis with γ - and β lc-globulin deposits induced in rats by mercury chloride. Amer. J. Path. **65**, 293 (1971)
- [90a] Bariety, J., Druet, P., Loirat, P., Lagrue, G.: Les glomérulonéphrites parieto-prolifératives: Etude histopathologique en microscopie optique, électronique et en immunohistochimie de 49 cas: Path. Biol. (Paris) 19, 259 (1970)
- [91] Bariety, J., Druet, Ph., Samarcq, P., Lagrue, G.: Histogenèse des glomérulopathies "extra-membraneuses". J. Urol. Néphrol. 75, 627 (1969)
- [92] Bariety, J., Lagrue, G., Fritel, D., Samarcq, P., Milliez, P.: Les divers aspects ultra-structuraux des glomérulopa-

thies dites "extra-membraneuses". J. Urol. Néphrol. 74, 1002 (1968)

- [93] Bariety, J., Richer, D., Appay, M.D., Grossetete, J., Callard, P.: Frequency of intraendothelial "virus-like" particles: An electron microscopy study of 376 human renal biopsies. J. clin. Path. 26, 21 (1973)
- [94] Bariety, J., Samarcq, P., Lagrue, G., Fritel, D., Milliez, P.: Evolution ultrastructurale favorable de deux cas de glomérulopathies primitives à dépots extra-membraneux diffus. Presse méd. 76, 2179 (1968)
- [95] Barnett, E.V.: Cryoglobulinemia and disease. Ann. int. Med. 73, 95 (1970)
- [96] Bartman, J., Jacques, M., Dustin, P., Jr.: Anémie hémolytique, purpura thrombocytopénique et néphropathie aiguë chez un nourisson: Etude au microscope électronique des lésions rénales. Rev. belge Path. 30, 5 (1964)
- [97] Baumgartner, H., Scheitlin, W., Rechenberg, H.K. v.: Beidseitige Nierenrindennekrose nach Pyrazolonbehandlung. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 92, 1075 (1967)
- [98] Bazaz-Malik, G., Gupta, D.N.: Leiomyosarcoma of the kidney: report of a case and review of the literature. J. Urol. 95, 754 (1966)
- [99] Beathard, G.A.: Renal transplantation and rejection: A review. Texas Report Biol. Med. 27, 715 (1969)
- [99a] Beaufils, H., Gubler, M.C., Karam, J., Gluckman, J.C., Legrain, M., Küss, R.: Dense deposit disease: long term follow-up of three cases of recurrence after transplantation. Clin. Nephrol. 7, 31 (1977)
- [100] Becher-Carstens, P.H., Karalakulasingam, R.: Late changes of irreversible post-partum renal failure. Virchows Arch. A 367, 171 (1975)
- [101] Becker, C.G.: Demonstration of actomyosin in mesangial cells of the renal glomerulus. Amer. J. Path. 66, 97 (1972)
- [102] Becker, C.G., Becker, E.L., Maher, J.F., Schreiner, G.E.: Nephrotic syndrome after contact with mercury. Arch. int. Med. 110, 178 (1962)
- [103] Becker, E.L. (ed.): Structural Basis of Renal Disease. New York and London: Hoeber Medical Div., Harper and Row, 1968
- [104] Becker, H.: Automatic processing of surgical biopsy reports. Beitr. Path. 146, 301 (1972)
- [105] Behnke, O.: Mikrotubuli und Mikrofilamente. Triangel, Basel 13, 7 (1974)
- [106] Beickert, A.: Lupoide Nephritis. Zugleich das Postulat einer autoimmunen primär-chronischen Glomerulonephritis. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 90, 1381 (1965)
- [107] Beirne, G.J., Brennan, J.T.: Glomerulonephritis associated with hydrocarbon solvents: mediated by antiglomerular basement membrane antibody. Arch. Environ. Health 25, 365 (1972)
- [107a] Bell, R.D., Keyl, M.J., Shrader, F.R., Jones, E.W., Henry, L.P.: Renal lymphatics: the internal distribution. Nephron 5, 454 (1968)
- [108] Belzer, F.O., Perkins, H.A., Fortmann, J.L., Kountz, S.L., Salvatierra, O., Cochrum, K.C., Payne, R.: Is HL-A typing of clinical significance in cadaver renal transplantation? Lancet 1974/1, 774
- [109] Ben-Ishay, Z., Spiro, D., Wiener, J.: The cellular pathology of experimental hypertension. III. Glomerular alterations. Amer. J. Path. 49, 773 (1966)
- [110] Bencosme, S.A., Kipkie, G.F., Valberg, L.S., Handa,

S.P., Morrin, P.A., Wyllie, J.C.: The ultrastructural lesions in the kidney of a patient who survived 14 days of complete anuria due to acute fatty liver of pregnancy. Lab. Invest. **16**, 637 (1967)

- [111] Bencosme, S.A., Morrin, P.A.: Ultrastructural patholgy of the glomerulus. In: Ultrastructure of the Kidney. Dalton, A.J., Hagenau, F. (eds.). New York and London: Academic Press, 1967, p. 143
- [112] Beneke, G.: Pathologie der Amyloidose insbesondere der Nierenamyloidose. In: Niere und Stoffwechselkrankheiten. Sarre, J., Holtmeier, H.J. (eds.). Stuttgart: Thieme, 1973, p. 132
- [112a] Bengtsson, U., Angervall, L., Ekman, H., Lehmann, L.: Transitional cell tumors of the renal pelvis in analgesic abusers. Scand. J. Urol. Nephrol. 2, 145 (1968)
- Bengtsson, C., Falkheden, T., Hansson, L., Hood, B.: Renal hypoplasia. Clinical features and survival. J. Urol. Nephrol. 4, 117 (1970)
- [114] Bengtsson, U.: Analgesic nephropathy-chronic pyelonephritis. In: Abstr. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966, p. 90
- [115] Bengtsson, U., Högdahl, A.M., Hood, B.: Chronic nonobstructive pyelonephritis and hypertension: a long-term study. Quart. J. Med. N.S. 37, 361 (1968)
- [116] Benkelaer, M.M. de, Schreiber, M.H., Dodge, W.F., Travis, L.B.: Intrarenal arteriovenous fistulas following needle biopsy of the kidney. J. Pediat. 78, 266 (1971)
- [117] Bennett, W.M., Musgrave, J.E., Campbell, R.A., Elliot, D., Cox, R., Brooks, R.E., Lowrien, E.W., Beals, R.K., Porter, G.A.: The nephropathy of the nail-patella syndrome. Clinicopathologic analysis of 11 kindreds. Amer. J. Med. 54, 304 (1973)
- [118] Bennett, W.M., Simon, N.M., Krill, A.E., Weinstein, R.E., Carone, F.A.: Cystic disease of the renal medulla associated with retinitis pigmentosa and amino acid abnormalities. Clin. Nephrol. 4, 25 (1975)
- [119] Bennington, J.L., Kradjian, R.M.: Renal Carcinoma. Philadelphia: Saunders, 1967
- [120] Bensel, R.W. ten, Peter, E.R.: Progressive hydronephrosis, hydroureter, and dilatation of the bladder in siblings with congenital nephrogenic diabetes insipidus. J. Pediat. 77, 439 (1970)
- [121] Beregi, E., Homvas, A., Renyi-Vamos, F.: Immunohistological studies in chronic pyelonephritis. Clin. Nephrol. 2, 113 (1974)
- [122] Beregi, E., Varga, I.: Analysis of 260 cases of membranous glomerulonephritis in renal biopsy material. Clin. Nephrol. 2, 215 (1974)
- [123] Berger, J.: IgA glomerular deposits in renal disease. Transplant. Proc. 1, 939 (1969)
- [124] Berger, J., Galle, P.: Dépôts denses au sein des membranes basales du rein. Presse méd. 71, 2351 (1963)
- [125] Berger, J., Habib, R.: Spécifité immunohistochimique de la néphrite des purpura rheumatoïdes. Europ. Ges. Path., Zürich, 1969 (personal communication)
- [126] Berger, J., Montera, H. de, Hinglais, N.: Classification des glomérulonéphrites en pratique biopsique. In: Abstr. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966, p. 28
- [127] Berger, J., Yaneva, H., Hinglais, N.: Immunohistochemical analysis of immunoglobulin deposits in the human

glomerulus. In: Abstr. 4th Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Stockholm 1969, p. 279

- [128] Berger, J., Yaneva, H., Hinglais, N.: Immunology of glomerulonephritis. In: Advances in Nephrology. From the Necker Hospital. Yearbook 1. Hamburger, J., Crosnier, J., Maxwell, M.H. (eds.). Chicago: Med. Publ., 1971, p. 11
- [129] Bergstein, J., Sitzman, N.: Interstitial nephritis with antitubular basement membrane antibody. New Engl. J. Med. 292, 875 (1975)
- [130] Berlyne, G.M.: Renal involvement in the collagen diseases. In: Renal Disease. Black, D. (ed.). Oxford: Blackwell, 1972, p. 559
- [131] Berlyne, G.M., Tavill, A.S., Baker, S.B. de: Renal artery stenosis and the nephrotic syndrome. Quart. J. Med. 33, 325 (1964)
- [132] Berman, L.B., Misra, R.P.: Molecular nephrology. Amer. J. Med. 53, 701 (1972)
- [133] Berman, L.B., Schreiner, G.E.: Clinical and histologic spectrum of the nephrotic syndrome. Amer. J. Med. 24, 249 (1958)
- [134] Bernard, D., Bariety, J., Druet, P., Balafrej, L., Hirbec, G., Lagrue, G.: Les glomérulonéphrites prolifératives intracapillaires. Sem. Hôp. 50, 539 (1974)
- [135] Berneis, K., Studer, A.: Vermehrung von Lipofuscin in der Leber als Folge von Phenacetinabusus. Virchows Arch. 343, 75 (1967)
- [136] Bernhardt, J.P.: La néphropathie du syndrome de Schoenlein-Henoch chez l'adulte. Praxis 57, 70 (1968)
- [137] Bernik, M.B.: Contractile activity of human glomeruli in culture. Nephron 6, 1 (1969)
- Berning, H., Thiele, K.G.: Pyelonephritis und chronische interstitielle Nephritis. In: Handbuch der Inneren Medizin, 5th ed. Mohr, L., Staehelin, R., Schwiegk, H. (eds.). Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer, 1968, Vol. III/2, p. 680
- [139] Bernstein, J.: The classification of renal cysts. Nephron 11, 91 (1973)
- [140] Bertel, O., Mihatsch, M., Ehrsam, A., Torhorst, J.: Lichtmikroskopisch-morphometrische Untersuchungen an menschlichen Nieren mit glomerulären Minimalveränderungen. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. Path. 58, 478 (1974)
- [141] Berthoux, F.G., Carpenter, C.B., Freyria, A.M., Traeger, J., Merrill, J.P.: Human glomerulonephritis and the C'3 nephritic factor (C'3NeF). Clin. Nephrol. 5, 93 (1976)
- [142] Bettendorf, U., Pötters, R.: Moschcowitz-Syndrom nach D-Penizillamin-Medikation. Med. Welt 26, 291 (1975)
- [143] Better, O.S., Arieff, A.I., Massry, S.G., Kleeman, C.R., Maxwell, M.H.: Studies on renal function after relief of complete unilateral ureteral obstruction of three months' duration in man. Amer. J. Med. 54, 234 (1973)
- [144] Bettex, M.: Missbildungen der Harnwege und Pyelonephritis. Pädiat. Fortbildungskurse 28, 91 (Basel, New York: Karger, 1970)
- [145] Bettex, P., Babai, F.: Lésions rénales du syndrome d'Alport. Ann. Anat. path. 13, 277 (1968)
- [146] Betts, P.R., Forrest-Hay, I.: Juvenile nephronophthisis. Lancet 1973/II, 475
- [147] Bhamarapravati, N., Boonpucknavig, S., Boonpucknavig, B., Yaemboonruang, C.: Glomerular changes in acute

plasmodium falciparum infection. Arch. Path. 96, 289 (1973)

- [148] Bhorade, M.S., Carag, H.B., Lee, H.J., Potter, E.V., Dunea, G.: Nephropathy of secondary syphilis. J. Amer. med. Ass. 216, 1159 (1971)
- [149] Bialestock, D., Tange, J.D.: Acute necrotizing glomerulitis. The clinical features and pathology of nine cases. Austr. Ann. Med. 8, 281 (1959)
- [149a] Biava, C., West, M.: Lipofuscin-like granules in vascular smooth muscle and juxtaglomerular cells of human kidneys. Amer. J. Path. 47, 287 (1965)
- [150] Bläker, F., Hellwege, H.H., Henningsen, B., Maintz, J.: Immunologische Aspekte glomerulärer Nierenerkrankungen unter besonderer Berücksichtigung immunhistologischer Befunde. Urologe A 11, 1 (1972)
- [151] Bläker, F., Hellwege, H.H., Kramer, U., Thoenes, W.: Perimembranöse Glomerulonephritis bei chronischer Hepatitis mit persistierendem Hepatitis-B-Antigen. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 100, 790 (1975)
- [152] Blau, E.B., Haas, J.E.: Glomerular sialic acid and proteinuria in human renal disease. Lab. Invest. 28, 477 (1973)
- [153] Blessing, M.H., Wienert, G.: Onkozytom der Niere. Zbl. Path. 117, 227 (1973)
- [154] Bloodworth, J.M.B., Jr., Douglass, M.: Formation of glomerular basement membrane in fetal life and disease states. Lab. Invest. 18, 320 (1968)
- [155] Bluemle, L.W., Jr., Goldberg, M.: Mechanism of papillary necrosis in nephropathy of analgesic abuse. In: Abstr. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966, p. 160
- [156] Blumberg, A., Studer, U., Briner, J.: Hämolytisch-urämisches Syndrom bei einer jungen Frau nach Einnahme von Ovulationshemmern. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 105, 1324 (1975)
- [157] Bock, K.D., Bohle, A.: Perakut verlaufene primär maligne Nephrosklerose mit irreversiblem Nierenversagen und maligner Hypertonie nach Ovulationshemmern. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 98, 757 (1973)
- [158] Bogaars, H.A., Calderon, A.E., Cummings, F.J., Kaplan, S., Melniccoff, J., Park, C., Diamond, J., Calabresi, P.: Human IgG cryoglobulin with tubular crystal structure. Nature 245, 117 (1973)
- [159] Bohle, A.: Morphologie der transplantierten Niere. In: VIII. Symp. Ges. Nephrol. Aachen 1971. Heintz, R., Holzhueter, H. (eds.). Aachen. Published by the Editors, 1972, p. 183
- [159a] Bohle, A.: Pathologische Anatomie der Glomerulonephritiden. In: Nierenkrankheiten, 4th ed. Sarre, H. (ed.). Stuttgart: Thieme, 1976, p. 239
- [160] Bohle, A., Buchborn, E., Edel, H.H.: Morphologischklinischer Beitrag zum Verlauf einer akuten membranösen Glomerulonephritis (sog. Lipoidnephrose). Virchows Arch. A 347, 316 (1969)
- [161] Bohle, A., Buchborn, E., Edel, H.H., Renner, E., Wehner, H.: Zur pathologischen Anatomie und Klinik der Glomerulonephritis. I. Die akuten und perakuten Glomerulonephritiden. Klin. Wschr. 47, 733 (1969)
- [162] Bohle, A., Edel, H.H., Fischbach, H., Helmchen, U., Meyer, U., Reifferscheid, P.: Über Beziehungen zwischen Struktur und Funktion der Niere bei akutem Nierenversa-

gen. In: Intensivtherapie bei akutem Nierenversagen. Buchborn, E., Heidenreich, O. (eds.). Anaesthesiol. Wiederbeleb. **49**, 19 (1970)

- [163] Bohle, A., Eichenseher, N., Fischbach, H., Kronenberg, K.H., Wehner, H.: Glomerulonephritis in children and adults. Analysis of 2520 renal biopsies. In: Proc. 5th Int. Congr. Nephrol., Mexico 1972. Basel and New York: Karger, 1974, Vol. 1, p. 44
- [163a] Bohle, A., Eichenseher, N., Fischbach, H., Neild, G.H., Wehner, H., Edel, H.H., Losse, H., Renner, E., Reichel, W., Schuetterle, G.: The different forms of glomerulonephritis. Morphological and clinical aspects analyzed in 2500 patients. Klin. Wschr. 54, 59 (1976)
- [164] Bohle, A., Fischbach, H., Wehner, H., Woerz, U., Edel, H.H., Kluthe, R., Scheler, F.: Minimal change lesion with nephrotic syndrome and focal glomerular sclerosis (variations of minimal proliferative intercapillary glomerulonephritis with the nephrotic syndrome). Clin. Nephrol. 2, 52 (1974)
- [165] Bohle, A., Gaertner, H.V., Fischbach, H., Bock, K.D., Edel, H.H., Froetscher, U., Kluthe, R., Moenninghoff, W., Scheler, F.: The morphological and clinical features of membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis in adults. Virchows Arch. A 363, 213 (1974)
- [165a] Bohle, A., Grund, K.E., Mackensen, S., Tolon, M.: Correlation between renal interstitium and level of serum creatinine. Morphometric investigations of biopsies in perimembranous glomerulonephritis. Virchows Arch. 373, 15 (1977)
- [166] Bohle, A., Helmchen, U., Meyer, D., Bock, K.D., Braeuning, L., Edel, H.H., Heimsoth, V., Scheler, F.: Über die primäre und sekundäre maligne Nephrosklerose. Klin. Wschr. 51, 841 (1973)
- [167] Bohle, A., Jahnecke, J., Rauscher, A.: Vergleichende histometrische Untersuchungen an bioptisch und autoptisch gewonnenem Nierengewebe mit normaler Funktion und beim akuten Nierenversagen. Klin. Wschr. 42, 1 (1964)
- [168] Bohle, A., Kluthe, R., Sarre, H., Wehner, H.: Beitrag der Nierenbiopsie zum nephrotischen Syndrom. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 34, 1673 (1969)
- [169] Bohle, A., Scholl, A.: Beitrag zur pathologischen Anatomie der Niere. In: Klinisch-radiologisches Seminar. Frommhold, W., Gerhardt, P., Herns, H.J. (eds.). Stuttgart: Thieme, 1972, Vol. I
- [170] Bohle, A., Schubert, G.E. (eds.): Fortschritte der Nephrologie. VII. Symp. Ges. Nephrol. Tübingen 1970. Stuttgart-New York: Schattauer, 1971, p. 439
- [171] Bohle, A., Thurau, K.: Funktion und Morphologie der Niere im akuten Nierenversagen. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. inn. Med. 80, 565 (1974)
- [172] Bohman, S.O., Olsen, S., Posborg-Petersen, V.: Glomerular ultrastructure in extracapillary glomerulonephritis. Acta path. microbiol. scand. Suppl. 249, 29 (1974)
- [173] Boltan, W.K., Aluk, N.O., Rametta, C., Sturgil, B.C., Spargo, B.H.: Reversible renal failure from isolated granulomatous renal sarcoidosis. Clin. Nephrol. 5, 88 (1976)
- [174] Bonomini, V., Mioli, V., Albertazzi, A., Vangelista, A., Bortolotti, G.C.: Clinical significance of juxtaglomerular cell changes in kidney disease. Min. Nefrol. 19, 18 (1972)
- [175] Booth, L.J., Aber, G.M.: Immunosuppressive therapy in

adults with proliferative glomerulonephritis. Controlled trial. Lancet **1970/II**, 1010

- [176] Boquist, L., Lindqvist, B., Ostberg, Y., Steen, L.: Primary oxalosis. Amer. J. Med. 54, 673 (1973)
- [176a] Border, W.A., Lehman, D.H., Egan, J.D., Sass, H.J., Glode, J.E., Wilson, C.B.: Antitubular basement membrane antibodies in methicillin-associated interstitial nephritis. N. Engl. J. Med. 291, 381 (1974)
- [177] Börner, E., Meissner, H.P., Staedtler, F., Weinges, K., Kruch, F.: ,,Diabetische Glomerulosklerose" ohne Diabetes mellitus. Klin. Wschr. 49, 1267 (1971)
- [178] Boulard, U., Fabre, J., Bierme, R., Pris, J., Goldberger, E., Delsol, G.: Anémie hémolytique micro-angiopathique et coagulation intravasculaire disséminée au cours des cancers métastatiques. Presse méd. 79, 1347 (1971)
- [179] Boulton-Jones, J.M., Sissons, J.G., Evans, D.J., Peters, D.K.: Renal lesions of subacute infective endocarditis. Brit. med. J. 1974/II, 11
- [180] Bourdeau, J.E., Carone, F.A.: Protein handling by the renal tubule. Nephron 13, 22 (1974)
- [181] Bourke, E., Gatenby, P.B.: Renal artery dysplasia with hypertension in neurofibromatosis. Brit. med. J. 1971/III, 681
- [182] Brain, M.C.: Microangiopathic hemolytic anemia. Ann. Rev. Med. 21, 133 (1970)
- [183] Brass, H., Lapp, H.: Nephropathie durch Goldtherapie, klinische und elektronenoptische Untersuchungen. Arch. klin. Med. 216, 371 (1969)
- [184] Brass, H., Lapp, H., Heintz, R.: Die Langzeittherapie der chronischen Glomerulonephritis, klinische und nierenbioptische Ergebnisse. Arch. klin. Med. 216, 303 (1969)
- [185] Brass, H., Lapp, H., Heintz, R.: Akute interstitielle Nephritis – mögliche Ursache eines akuten Nierenversagens. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 99, 2335 (1974)
- [186] Braun, H.J.: Eigenschaften und Vorstellungen über die Pathogenese des Amyloids. Med. Klin. 67, 1267 (1972)
- [187] Oraun, L.: Das akute Nierenversagen. Stuttgart: F. Enke, 1968
- [188] Braun, W.E., Merrill, J.P.: Urine fibrinogen fragments in human renal allografts. A possible mechanism of renal injury. New Engl. J. Med. 278, 1366 (1968)
- [189] Braun, W.E., Murphy, J.J.: HL-A antigens of the human renal glomerulus. 3rd Internat. Congr. Transplantation Society, Den Hague 1970. Transplant. Proc. 3, 137 (1971)
- [190] Braunstein, G.D., Lewis, E.J., Galvanek, E.G., Hamilton, A., Bell, W.R.: The nephrotic syndrome associated with secondary syphilis. Amer. J. Med. 48, 643 (1970)
- [191] Breaud, Ph., Favre, H.: Importance clinique de la coagulopathie intravasculaire disséminée et de ses répercussions rénales. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 101, 1855 and 1898 (1971)
- [192] Brenner, E.J., Gourley, R.T., Cooper, R.A., Benson, J.A.: Chronic active hepatitis with lupus nephritis. Ann. int. Med. 68, 405 (1968)
- [193] Brentjens, J.R.H., Feltkamp-Vroom, Ph.M., Tiddeus, H.A.W.M., Kuyten, R.H.: Localization of plasma proteins in kidneys of children with diffuse nephropathies, studies by an indirect immunofluorescent technique. Acta paed. scand. 58, 374 (1969)
- [194] Brentjens, J.R., Sepulveda, U., Baliah, T., Bentzel, C., Erlanger, B.F., Elwood, C., Montes, M., Hsu, K.C.,

Andres, G.A.: Interstitial immune complex nephritis in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Kidney Internat. **7**, 342 (1975)

- [195] Brewer, D.B.: Renal Biopsy. London: Arnold, 1964
- [196] Bricker, N.S., Klahr, S.: Obstructive nephropathy. In: Diseases of the Kidney. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971, Vol. II, p. 997
- [197] Bridi, G.S., Falcon, P.W., Brackett, N.C., Still, W.J., Sporn, I.N.: Glomerulonephritis and renal tubular acidosis in a case of chronic active hepatitis with hyperimmunoglobulinemia. Amer. J. Med. 52, 267 (1972)
- [198] Brito, T. de, Gomes-Dos Reis, V., Penna, D.O., Camargo, M.F.: Glomerular involvement in Gaucher's disease. Arch. Path. 95, 1 (1973)
- [199] Brito, T. de, Penna, D.O., Pereira, V.C., Hoshino, S.: Kidney biopsies in human leptospirosis: a biochemical and electron microscopy study. Virchows Arch. A 343, 124 (1967)
- [200] Brito, T. de, Tirila, A., Godoy, C.V., Penna, D.O., Jordano, F.M.: Glomerular response in human and experimental rickettsial disease (Rocky Mountain spotted fever group). Path. Microbiol. **31**, 365 (1968)
- [201] Brouet, J.C., Clauvel, J.P., Danon, F., Klein, M., Seligmann, M.: Biologic and clinical significance of cryoglobulins. A report of 86 cases. Amer. J. Med. 57, 775 (1974)
- [202] Brown, C.B., Clarkson, A.R., Robson, J.S., Cameron, J.S., Thomson, D., Ogg, C.S.: Haemolytic uraemic syndrome in women taking oral contraceptives. Lancet 1973/ I, 1479
- [203] Brown, J.J., Fraser, R., Lever, A.F., Morton, J.J., Robertson, J.I., Free, M., Bell, P.R., Davidson, J.K., Ruthren, I.S.: Hypertension and secondary hyperaldosteronism associated with a renin-secreting renal juxtaglomerular cell tumour. Lancet 1973/II, 1228
- [204] Bruchhausen, F. v., Merker, H.J.: Morphologischer und chemischer Aufbau isolierter Basalmembranen aus der Nierenrinde der Ratte. Histochemie 8, 90 (1967)
- [205] Brun, C., Bryld, C., Fenger, L., Jørgensen, F.: Glomerular lesions in adults with the Schoenlein-Henoch syndrome. Acta path. microbiol. scand. A 79, 569 (1971)
- [206] Brun, C., Gormsen, H., Hilden, T., Iversen, P., Raaschou, F.: Kiney biopsy in acute glomerulonephritis. Acta med. scand. 160, 155 (1958)
- [207] Brun, C., Olsen, T.S., Raaschou, F., Sørensen, A.W.: Renal biopsy in rheumatoid arthritis. Nephron 2, 65 (1965)
- [208] Brun, C., Raaschou, F.: Percutaneous renal biopsy in pyelonephritis. In: CIBA Foundation Symposium on Renal Biopsy. Wolstenholme, G.E.W., Cameron, M.P.(eds.). London: Churchill, 1961, p. 245
- [209] Bruni, C.B., Paluello, F.M.: A biochemical and ultrastructural study of liver, muscle, heart and kidney in type II glycogenosis. Virchows Arch. B 4, 196 (1970)
- [209a] Brutel de la Riviere, G., Putte, L.B. van de: Preexisting glomerulonephritis in allografted kidneys. Arch. Path. Lab. Med. 100, 196 (1976)
- [210] Brütsch, W.L.: Rheumatic nephrosclerosis. With special reference to rheumatic endarteritis. Circulation 31, 805 (1965)
- [211] Brzosko, W.J., Krawczynski, K., Nasarewicz, T., Morzycka, M., Nowoslawski, A.: Glomerulonephritis asso-

ciated with hepatitis-B surface antigen immune complexes in children. Lancet **1974/II**, 477

- [212] Bucci, T.J., Nakane, P.K., Pierce, G.B.: Slow turnover of mouse glomerular basement membrane (GBM) components: Immunocytochemical and ultrastructural evidence. Lab. Invest. 34, 310 (1976)
- [213] Bucher, N.L.R., Malt, R.A.: Regeneration of Liver and Kidney. Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971
- [214] Bucher, O.: Cytologie, Histologie und mikroskopische Anatomie des Menschen. 7th ed. Bern: Huber, 1970, p. 443
- [215] Bucher, O.: Zum Problem der Amitose. In: Handbuch der allgemeinen Pathologie: Die Zelle II: Der Zellkern. I. Altmann, H.W., Büchner, F., Cottier, H., Grundmann, E., Holle, G., Letterer, E., Masshoff, W., Meesen, H., Roulet, F., Seifert, G., Siebert, G. (eds.). Berlin, Heidelberg and New York: Springer, 1971
- [215a] Buda, J.A., Baer, L., Parra-Carrillo, J.Z., Kashef, M.M., McAllister, F.F., Voorhees, A.B., Pirani, C.L.: Predictability of surgical response in renovascular hypertension. Arch. Surg. 111, 1243 (1976)
- [216] Buess, H.J.: Morphologische Differentialdiagnose glomerulärer Narben in Schrumpfnieren. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 100, 1352 (1970)
- [217] Bühler, F.R., Thiel, G., Dubach, U.C., Enderlin, F., Gloor, F., Thoelen, H.: Kidney transplantation in Fabry's disease. Brit. med. J. 1973/III, 28
- [218] Bulger, R.E., Tisher, C.C., Myers, C.H., Trump, B.F.: Human renal ultrastructure. II. The thin limb of Henle's loop and the interstitium in healthy individuals. Lab. Invest. 16, 124 (1967)
- [219] Bulla, M., Seifarth, J., Krüger, G., Götte, R.: Kongenitales nephrotisches Syndrom. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 99, 1256 (1974)
- [220] Bunce, G.E., Li, B.W., Price, N.O., Greenstreet, R.: Distribution of calcium and magnesium in rat kidney homogenate fractions accompanying magnesium deficiency induced nephrocalcinosis. Exp. molec. Path. 21, 16 (1974)
- [221] Burch, G., Harb, J., Hiramoto, Y.: Coxsackie B₁ viral infection of the human kidney. J. Urol. **112**, 714 (1974)
- [222] Burch, G.E., Sun, S.C.: Viral nephritis. Amer. Heart J. 75, 1 (1968)
- [223] Burch, G.E., Tsui, C.Y., Harb, J.M.: The early renal lesions of mice infected with encephalomyocarditis virus. Lab. Invest. 26, 163 (1972)
- [224] Burck, H.Ch.: Chronologie des akuten Nierenversagens. Virchows Arch. 340, 276 (1966)
- [225] Burck, H.Ch.: Panarteriitis nodosa und ihre Sonderformen. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 94, 912 (1969)
- [226] Burck, H.Ch.: Häufigkeit und Bedeutung der klinischen und patho-anatomischen Diagnose eines akuten Nierenversagens bei 1000 verstorbenen und obduzierten Kranken. Med. Klin. 64, 21 (1969)
- [227] Buri, J.F.: L'oxalose. Présentation clinique d'une observation avec revue de la litérature et discussion diagnostique. Recherches biochimiques et métaboliques. Helv. paed. Acta 17, Suppl. 11, 3 (1962)
- [227a] Burke, J.F., Flis, R., Lasker, N., Simenhoff, M.: Malignant lymphoma with "myeloma kidney" acute renal failure. Amer. J. Med. 60, 1055 (1976)
- [228] Burkholder, P.M.: Immunology and immuno-histopa-

thology of renal disease. In: Structural Basis of Renal Disease. Becker, L. (ed.). New York, London: Hoeber Medical Div., Harper and Row, 1968, p. 197

- [229] Burkholder, P.M.: Ultrastructural demonstration of injury and perforation of glomerular capillary basement membrane in acute proliferative glomerulonephritis. Amer. J. Path. 56, 251 (1969)
- [230] Burkholder, P.M., Hyman, L.R., Barber, T.A.: Extracellular clusters of spherical microparticles in glomeruli in human renal glomerular disease. Lab. Invest. 28, 415 (1973)
- [231] Burkholder, P.M., Hyman, L.R., Krueger, R.P.: Characterization of mixed membranous and proliferative glomerulonephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 557
- [232] Burns, W.A., Antonovych, T.T., Mostofi, F.K.: Glomerulonephritis associated with Penicillin therapy. Lab. Invest. 30, 395 (1974)
- [233] Burry, A.F.: The evolution of analgesic nephropathy Nephron 5, 185 (1967)
- [234] Burry, A.F.: Extreme dysplasia in renal epithelium of a young woman dying from hepatocarcinoma. J. Path. 113, 147 (1974)
- [235] Burstein, N.A., Allison, A.C.: Effect of antilymphocytic serum on the appearance of reticular neoplasms in SJL/J mice. Nature 225, 1139 (1970)
- [236] Busch, G.J., Braun, W.J., Glassock, R.J., Dammin, G.J.: Immunofluorescent patterns in human renal allografts. Lab. Invest. 18, 321 (1968)
- [237] Busch, G.J., Galvanek, E.G., Reynolds, E.S.: Human renal allografts. Analysis of lesions in long-term survivors. Human Path. 2, 253 (1971)
- [238] Busch, G.J., Reynolds, E.S., Galvanek, E.G., Braun, W.E., Dammin, G.J.: Human renal allografts. The role of vascular injury in early graftfailure. Medicine 50, 29 (1971)
- [239] Cacchi, R., Ricci, V.: Sur une rare maladie cystique multiple des pyramides rénales, le "rein en éponge". J. d'Urol. 55, 497 (1949)
- [240] Cain, H., Kraus, B., Streicher, E.: Der juxtaglomeruläre Apparat der Niere bei maligner Hypertonie und terminaler Niereninsuffizienz. Vergleich mikromorphologischer Befunde mit klinischen Beobachtungen vor und nach Bephrektomie. Klin. Wschr. 50, 915 (1972)
- [241] Callard, P., Feldmann, G., Prandi, D., Belair, M.F., Mandet, C., Weiss, Y., Druet, Ph., Benhamou, J.P., Bariety, J.: Immune complex type glomerulonephritis in cirrhosis of the liver. Amer. J. Path. 80, 329 (1975)
- [242] Cameron, J.S.: Histology, protein clearances, and response to treatment in the nephrotic syndrome. Brit. med. J. 1968/II, 352
- [242a] Cameron, J.S.: The natural history of glomerulonephritis. In: Renal Disease, 3rd ed. Black, D. (ed.). Oxford: Blackwell Sci. Publ., 1972, p. 295
- [242b] Cameron, J.S.: A clinican's view of the classification of glomerulonephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Covell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 63
- [243] Cameron, J.S., Ogg, C.S.: Rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis with extensive crescents. In: Glomeruloneph-

ritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 735

- [244] Cameron, J.S., Ogg, C.S., Turner, D.R., Weller, R.O.: Focal glomerulosclerosis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 248
- [245] Cameron, J.S., Ogg, C.S., Turner, D.R., Weller, R.O., White, R.H., Glasgow, E.F., Peters, D.K., Martin, A.: Mesangiocapillary glomerulonephritis and persistent hypocomplementemia. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 541
- [246] Cameron, J.S., Ogg, C.S., White, R.H.R., Glasgow, E.F.: The clinical features and prognosis of patients with normocomplementemic mesangiocapillary glomerulonephritis. Clin. Nephrol. 1, 8 (1973)
- [247] Cameron, J.S., Trounce, J.R., jr.: Membranous glomerulonephritis and the nephrotic syndrome appearing during mersalyl therapy. Guy Hosp. Rep. 114, 101 (1965)
- [248] Cameron, J.S., Turner, D.R., Ogg, C.S., Sharpstone, P., Brown, C.B.: The nephrotic syndrome in adults with minimal change glomeruloar lesions. Quart. J. Med. 43, 461 (1964)
- [249] Cannon, J.F.: Diabetes insipidus. Arch. int. Med. 96, 215 (1955)
- [250] Cannon, P.J., Hassar, M., Case, J.C., Casarella, W.J., Sommers, S.C., Le Roy, E.C.: The relationship of hypertension and renal failure in scleroderma (progressive systemic sclerosis) to structural and functional abnormalities of the renal cortical circulation. Medicine 53, 1 (1974)
- [251] Cantin, M., Forthomme, D., Bajusz, E.: Renal glomerulus in experimental congestive heart failure: ultrastructural and functional study. In: Cardiomyopathies. Bajusz, E., Rona, G. (eds.). München: Urban und Schwarzenberg, 1974, p. 467
- [252] Cardiff, R.D., Wellings, S.R.: An electron microscopic study of Pompe's disease. Lab. Invest. 14, 599 (1965)
- [252a] Carey, M.C., Donovan, D.E., Fitzgerald, O., McAuley, F.D.: Homocystinuria I. A clinical and pathological study of nine subjects in six families. Amer. J. Med. 45, 7 (1968)
- [253] Carone, F.A., Epstein, F.H.: Nephrogenic diabetes insipidus caused by amyloid disease. Amer. J. Med. 29, 539 (1960)
- [254] Carpenter, D.F., Steinberg, A.D., Schur, P.A., Talal, N.: The pathogenesis of autoimmunity in New Zealand mice.
 II. Acceleration of glomerulonephritis by polyinosinicpolycytidylic acid. Lab. Invest. 23, 628 (1970)
- [255] Carrington, C.B., Liebow, A.: Limited forms of angitis and granulomatosis of Wegener's type. Amer. J. Med. 41, 497 (1966)
- [256] Cassan, S.M., Coles, D.T., Harrison, E.G., jr.: The concept of limited forms of Wegener's granulomatosis. Amer. J. Med. 49, 366 (1970)
- [257] Castleman, B., Smithwick, R.H.: The relation of vascular disease to the hypertensive state. J. Amer. Med. Ass. 121, 1256 (1943)
- [258] Caulfield, J.B., Schrag, P.E.: Electron microscopic study of renal calcification. Amer. J. Path. 44, 365 (1964)
- [259] Caulfild, J.P., Farquhar, M.G.: The permeability of glomerular capillaries to graded dextrans. J. Cell Biol. 63, 883 (1974)

- [260] Cepellini, R.: Old and new facts and speculations about transplantation antigens of man. In: Progress in Immunology. 1st Internat. Congr. of Immunology. Amos, B. (ed.). New York, London: Academic Press, 1971, p. 973
- [261] Cerilli, G.J., Nelsen, C., Dorfman, L.: Successful renal transplantation in an infant with the hemolytic uremic syndrome. Ohio State Med. J. 67, 1097 (1971)
- [262] Chaptal, J., Jean, R., Habib, R., Bonnet, H., Pages, A., Dumas, R.: Glomérulo-néphrite post-infectieuse de l'enfant. Confrontations anatomo-cliniques au cours de l'évolution. Arch. franç. Péd. 24, 907 (1967)
- [263] Chatelanat, F., Simon, G.T.: Ultrastructural pathology of the tubules and interstitial tissue. In: The Kidney. Morphology, Biochemistry, Physiology. Rouiller, C., Muller, A.F. (eds.). New York and London: Academic Press, 1969, p. 449
- [264] Chazan, J.A., Zacks, J., Cohen, J.J., Garella, S.: Hereditary nephritis. Amer. J. Med. 50, 764 (1970)
- [265] Cheema, A., Henson, J.B., Gorham, J.R.: Aleutic disease of mink. Amer. J. Path. 66, 543 (1972)
- [266] Cheigh, J.S., Stenzel, K.H., Susin, M., Rubin, A.L., Riggio, R.R., Whitsell, J.C.: Kidney transplant nephrotic syndrome. Amer. J. Med. 57, 730 (1974)
- [267] Chirawong, P., Singh Naura, R., Kincaid-Smith, P.: Fibrin degradation products and the role of coagulation in "persistent" glomerulonephritis. Ann. int. Med. 74, 853 (1971)
- [268] Chiricosta, A., Jindal, S.L., Metuzals, J., Koch, B.: Hereditary nephropathy with hematuria (Alport's syndrome). Canad. med. Ass. J. 102, 396 (1970)
- [269] Chon, B.: Lichtmikroskopische Nierenglomerulaveränderungen bei Leberzirrhose. Morphometrische Untersuchungen beim Menschen. Inaug. Dissertation, Basel (1976)
- [270] Christensen, J.A., Bader, H., Bohle, A., Meyer, D.S.: The structure of the juxtaglomerular apparatus in Addison's disease, Bartter's syndrome and in Conn's syndrome. A comparative morphometric light microscopic study on serial sections. Virchows Arch. A 370, 103 (1976)
- [271] Christian, C.L.: Studies of aggregated gammaglobulin. II. Effect in vivo. J. Immunol. 84, 117 (1960)
- [272] Christian, C.L., Hatfield, W.B., Chase, P.H.: Systemic lupus erythematosus. Cryoprecipitation of serum. J. clin. Invest. 42, 823 (1963)
- [273] Chuaqui, J.B., Bozzo, F., Pino, H. del: Histopathologie des nephrotischen Syndroms beim Kinde (dargestellt anhand percutaner Biopsien). Virchows Arch. A 346, 54 (1969)
- [274] Churchill, D., Knaack, J., Clairito, F., Barre, P., Cole, C., Muehrcke, R., Gault, M.H.: Persisting renal insufficiency after Methoxy-flurane anesthesia. Amer. J. Med. 56, 575 (1974)
- [275] Churg, J.: Electron microscopic aspects of renal pathology. In: Structural Basis of Renal Diseases. Becker, E.L. (ed.). New York: Hoeber, 1968, p. 132
- [275a] Churg, J.: 1975 Personal communication
- [276] Churg, J., Dolger, H.: Diabetic renal disease. In: Diseases of the Kidney, 2nd ed. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971, p. 873
- [277] Churg, J., Duffy, J.L.: Classification of glomerulonephritis based on morphology. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kin-

caid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 43

- [278] Churg, J., Ehrenreich, T.: Membranous nephropathy. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 443
- [279] Churg, J., Grishman, E.: Subacute glomerulonephritis. Amer. J. Path. 35, 25 (1959)
- [280] Churg, J., Grishman, E.: Ultrastructure of immune deposits in renal glomeruli. Ann. int. Med. 76, 479 (1972)
- [281] Churg, J., Habib, R., White, R.H.: Pathology of the nephrotic syndrome in children. A report of the international study of kidney disease in children. Lancet 1970/I, 1299
- [282] Churg, J., Morita, T., Suzuki, Y.: Glomerulonephritis with fibrin and crescent formation. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, B., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 677
- [283] Churg, J., Sherman, R.L.: Pathologic characteristics of hereditary nephritis. Arch. Path. 95, 374 (1973)
- [284] Churg, J., Strauss, L.: Allergic granulomatosis, allergic angitis and periarteritis nodosa. Amer. J. Path. 27, 277 (1951)
- [284a] Clarke, I.T.R., Guttmann, R.D., Wolfe, L.S., Beaudoin, J.G., Morehouse, D.D.: Enzyme replacement therapy by renal allotransplantation in Fabry's disease. New. Engl. J. Med. 287, 1215 (1972)
- [285] Clarkson, A.R., MacDonald, M.K., Fuster, V., Cash, J.D., Robson, J.S.: Glomerular coagulation in acute ischaemic renal failure. Quart. J. Med. **39**, 585 (1970)
- [286] Clausen, E., Jensen, K.: Renal biopsies on patients with a large abuse of analgetics. A histological and bacteriological investigation. In: Abstr. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966, p. 171
- [287] Clay, R.D., Darmady, E.M., Hawkins, M.: The nature of the renal lesion in the Fanconi syndrome. J. Path. Bact. 65, 551 (1953)
- [288] Clyne, D.H., Brendstrup, L., First, M.R., Pesce, A.J., Finkel, P.N., Pollak, V.E., Pirani, C.L.: Renal effects of intraperitoneal kappa chain injection. Induction of crystals in renal tubular cells. Lab. Invest. 31, 131 (1974)
- [289] Clyne, D.H., Kincaid-Smith, P., Marshall, V.C., Morris, P.J.: Anticoagulants in the treatment of patients with renal allografts; modification of the vascular lesions of rejection. In: Abstr. 4th Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Stockholm 1969, p. 328
- [290] Clyne, D.H., Norris, S.H., Modesto, R.R., Pesce, A.J., Pollak, V.E.: Antibody enzyme conjugates. The preparation of intermolecular conjugates of horseradish-peroxidase and antibody and their use in immunohistology of renal cortex. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 21, 233 (1973)
- [291] Coalson, J.J., Hinshaw, L.B., Guenter, C.A., Berrell, E.L., Greenfield, L.J.: Pathophysiologic responses of the subhuman primate in experimental septic shock. Lab. Invest. 32, 561 (1975)
- [292] Coburn, J.W., Hobbs, C., Johnston, G.S., Richert, J.H., Shinaberger, S.H., Rosen, S.: Granulomatous sarcoid nephritis. Amer. J. Med. 42, 273 (1967)
- [293] Cochrane, C.G.: Mechanisms involved in the deposition of immune complexes in tissue. J. exp. Med. 134, 75 s (1971)

- [294] Cohen, A.H., Zamboni, L.: Glomerular hematoxylin bodies: Ultrastructual identification and a proposal for morphogenesis. Lab. Invest. 34, 311 (1976)
- [295] Cohen, A.S.: Preliminary chemical analysis of partially purified amyloid fibrils. Lab. Invest. 15, 66 (1966)
- [296] Cohen, A.S., Bicetti, A.B., Harvinton, J.T., Mannick, J.A.: Renal transplantation in two cases of amyloidosis. Lancet 1971/II, 513
- [296a] Cohen, A.S., Reynolds, W.E., Franklin, E.C.: Preliminary criteria for the classification of systemic lupus erythematosus. Bull. Rheum. Dis. 21, 643 (1971)
- [296 b] Coles, G.A., Branch, R.A.: Familial interstitial nephritis. Clin. Nephrol. 6, 513 (1976)
- [297] Colley, J.R., Miller, D.L., Hutt, M.S., Wallace, H.J., Wardener, H.E. de: The renal lesion in angiokeratoma corporis diffusum. Brit. med. J. 1958/I, 1266
- [298] Colombi, A., Kostyal, A., Bracher, R., Gloor, F., Mazzi, R., Thoelen, H.: Angiokeratoma corporis diffusum-Fabry's disease. Helv. med. Acta 34, 67 (1967)
- [299] Combes, B., Stastny, P., Shorey, J., Eigenbrodt, E.H., Barrera, A., Hull, A.R.: Glomerulonephritis with deposition of Australia antigen-antibody complexes in glomerular basement membrane. Lancet 1971/II, 234
- [300] Comerford, E.R., Cohen, A.S.: The nephropathy of systemic lupus erythematosus. Medicine **46**, 425 (1967)
- [301] Comerford, E.R., Cohen, A.S., Desai, R.G.: The evolution of the glomerular lesion in NZB mice. Lab. Invest. 19, 643 (1968)
- [301a] Conn, E.L., McDuffey, F.C., Holley, K.E., Schroeter, A.L.: Immunologic mechanisms in systemic vasculitis. Mayo Clin. Proc. 51, 511 (1976)
- [302] Conn, J.W., Cohen, E.L., McDonald, W.J., Blough, W.M., Lucas, C.P., Mayer, G.H., Cleveland, W.C., Bockstein, J.J., Lapides, J.: The syndrome of hypertension, hyperreninemia and secondary aldosteronism associated with renal juxtaglomerular cell tumor (primary reninism). J. Urol. **109**, 349 (1973)
- [303] Conolly, M.E., Wrong, O.M., Jones, N.F.: Reversible renal failure in idiopathic nephrotic syndrome with minimal glomerular changes. Lancet 1968/I, 665
- [304] Conrad, E.E., Jr., Schwartz, E.D., Young, A.A.: Infectious hepatitis—a generalized disease. A study of renal, gastrointestinal and hematologic abnormalities. Amer. J. Med. 37, 789 (1964)
- [305] Cook, W.F.: Juxtaglomerular cells, the storage site of kidney renin. In: Proc. 4th Internat. Nephrology, Stockholm 1969. Basel and New York: Karger, 1970, p. 12
- [306] Cooke, W.T., Barclay, J.A., Govon, A.D.T., Nugley, L.: Osteoporosis associated with low serum phosphorus and renal glycosuria. Arch. int. Med. 80, 147 (1947)
- [307] Coombs, B., Stastny, P., Shorey, J., Eigenbrodt, E.H., Barrera, A., Hull, A.R., Carter, N.W.: Glomerulonephritis with deposition of Australian antigen antibody complexes in glomerular basement membrane. Lancet 1971/II, 234
- [308] Cooper, J.H.: An evaluation of current methods for the diagnostic histochemistry of amyloid. J. clin. Path. 22, 410 (1969)
- [308a] Cooper, J.H.: Selective amyloid staining as a function of amyloid composition and structure. Lab. Invest. 31, 232 (1974)

- [309] Cooper, N.R., Cochrane, C.G.: The participation of complement in renal disease as assessed by model animal systems. Transplant. Proc. 6, 51 (1974)
- [310] Cooper, P.H., Waisman, J.: Tubular differentiation and basement membrane production in a renal adenoma: ultrastructural features. J. Path. 109, 113 (1973)
- [311] Cordonner, D., Martin, H., Groslambert, P., Micouin, P., Chenais, F., Stoebner, P.: Mixed IgG-IgM cryoglobulinemia with glomerulonephritis. Amer. J. Med. 59, 867 (1975)
- [312] Cornoz, J.L., Rawson, A.J., Karp, L.A., Arvan, D.A.: Immunofluorescent and ultrastructural study of the renal glomerulus in renal vein thrombosis. Lab. Invest. 22, 101 (1970)
- [313] Cornu, P., Caulin, C., Marsan, C., Ertel, M., Manicacci, M., Sonigo, R., Lamotte, M.: La néphropathie osmotique. Sem. Hôp. 49, 1429 (1973)
- [314] Corrin, B.: Glomerular size in polycythaemia. J. Path. Bact. 82, 534 (1961)
- [315] Corson, J.M.: The pathologist and the kidney transplant. In: Pathology Annual. Sommers, S.C. (ed.). New York: Meredith Corp., 1972, vol. VII, p. 251
- [316] Corvilain, J., Gepts, W., Beghin, P., Vis, H., Verbanck, M., Verniory, A.: Exploration rénale fonctionelle et histoenzymologique d'un cas de syndrome de Toni-Debre-Fanconi. J. Urol. Néphrol. 71, 354 (1965)
- [317] Costa, C.R.M. Da, Dupont, E., Hamers, R., Hooghe, R., Dupuis, F., Potviege, P.: Nephrotic syndrome in bronchogenic carcinoma. Report of two cases with immunochemical studies. Clin. Nephrol. 2, 245 (1974)
- [318] Costanza, M.E., Pinn, V., Schwartz, R.S., Nathanson, L.: Carcinoembryonic antigen-antibody complexes in patients with colonic carcinoma and nephrotic syndrome. New Engl. J. Med. 289, 520 (1973)
- [319] Cotran, R.S.: The renal lesion in chronic pyelonephritis; immunofluorescent and ultrastructural studies. J. infect. Dis. 120, 109 (1969)
- [320] Cottier, P., Montandon, A.: Zur Diagnose der renovasculären Hypertonie. Bibl. gastroent. 8, 185 (1965)
- [320a] Cotton, J.R., Schwartz, M.M., Lindley, J.D., Hunsieker, L.G.: Acute renal failure following halothane anesthesia. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. 100, 628 (1976)
- [321] Couser, W.G., Idelson, B.A., Stilmant, M.M., Migdal, S.D., Paris, R.C.: Successful renal transplantation in focal glomerular sclerosis. Report of two cases. Clin. Nephrol. 4, 62 (1975)
- [322] Couser, W.G., Wagenfeld, J.B., Spargo, B.H., Lewis, E.J.: Glomerular deposition of tumor antigen in membranous nephropathy associated with colonic carcinoma. Amer. J. Med. 57, 962 (1974)
- [323] Couser, W.G., Wallace, A., Monaco, A.P., Lewis, E.J.: Successful renal transplantation in patients with circulating antibody to glomerular basement membrane: Report of two cases. Clin. Nephrol. 1, 381 (1973)
- [324] Cox, E., Lacy, S.S., Hinman, F., jr.: The urethra and its relationship to urinary tract infection. II. The urethral flora of the female with recurrent urinary infection. J. Urol. 99, 632 (1968)
- [325] Cox, J.N., Moerloose, J.L. de, Humbert, J.R., Paunier, L.: Fatal necrotizing angiitis after sufadimethoxine therapy presenting as anaphylactoid purpura. Virchows Arch. A 359, 97 (1973)

- [326] Cozzutto, C., Felici, N.: Unusual glomerular change in cytomegalic inclusion disease. Virchows Arch. A 264, 365 (1974)
- [327] Craighead, J.E., Hanshaw, J.B., Carpenter, C.B.: Cytomegalovirus infection after renal allotransplantation. J. Amer. med. Ass. 201, 725 (1967)
- [328] Cream, J.J.: Cryoglobulins in vasculitis. Clin. exp. Immunol. 10, 117 (1972)
- [329] Crocker, A.C., Fahr, S.: Niemann-Pick disease: A review of eighteen patients. Medicine 37, 1 (1958)
- [330] Crocker, D.W.: Bilateral juxtaglomerular cell counts in renal hypertension. Arch. Path. 93, 103 (1972)
- [331] Crosson, J.T., Wathen, R.L., Raij, L., Andersen, R.C., Andersen, W.R.: Recurrence of idiopathic membranous nephropathy in a renal allograft. Arch. Int. Med. 135, 1101 (1975)
- [332] Crosson, J.T., Wathen, R.L., Raij, L., Andersen, R.C., Andersen, W.R., Shapiro, F.L., Hitchcock, C.R.: Recurrence of idiopathic membranous nephropathy in a renal allograft. Lab. Invest. **30**, 397 (1974)
- [332a] Cryer, P.E., Garbler, A.J., Hofstein, P., Lucas, B., Wise, L.: Renal failure after small intestinal bypass for obesity. Arch. Int. Med. 35, 1610 (1975)
- [333] Csapo, Z., Bartok, I., Kahan, I.L., Ormos, J.: Malakoplakia of the kidney. A light microscopic, fine structural and chromatographic study. Beitr. Path. 148, 407 (1973)
- [334] Cubilla, A.L., Pertschule, L.J., Erlandson, R.A., Sternberg, S.S., Fortner, J.G.: Glomerulopathy in recipients of liver transplants after administration of antilymphocyte globulin. Amer. J. clin. Path. 61, 753 (1974)
- [335] Cushman, P., Grieco, M.H.: Hyperimmunoglobulinemia associated with narcotic addiction. Effects of Methadone maintenance treatment. Amer. J. Med. 54, 320 (1973)
- [335a] Cutler, S.J., Ederer, F.: Maximum utilization of the life table method in analyzing survival. J. Chron. Dis. 8, 699 (1958)
- [336] Dalton, A.J., Hagenau, F.: Ultrastructure of animal viruses and bacteriophages. In: Ultrastructure in Biological Systems. Dalton, A.J., Hagenau, F. (eds.). New York and London: Academic Press, 1973, Vol V
- [337] Dammin, G.J., Merrill, J.P.: Transplantation, tissue rejection, and the kidney. In: Structural Basis of Renal Disease. Becker, E.L. (ed.). New York and London: Hoeber Medical Div., Harper and Row, 1968, p. 657
- [338] Daneels, R., Kuipers, F.C., Trimbos, J.B.M.J.: The Alport syndrome (hereditary nephritis with deafness). Ned. T. Geneesk. 3, 1870 (1967)
- [339] Daniel, W.W., Jr., Hartman, G.W., Witten, D.M., Farrow, G.M., Kelais, P.P.: Calcified renal masses. A review of ten years experience of the Mayo Clinic. Radiology 103, 503 (1972)
- [340] Darmady, E.M.: The renal changes in some metabolic diseases. In: The Kidney. Mostofi, F.K., Smith, D.E. (eds.). Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins, 1966, p. 253
- [341] Darmady, E.M., Offer, J., Woodhouse, M.A.: The parameters of the ageing kidney. J. Path. 109, 195 (1973)
- [342] Darmady, E., Prince, J., Stranack, F.: The proximal convoluted tubule in the renal handling of water. Lancet 1964/II, 1254
- [343] Darmady, E.M., Stranack, F.: Microdissection of the nephron in disease. Brit. med. Bull. 13, 21 (1957)

- [344] Dart, R.A., Deodhar, S.D., McCormack, L.J., Vidt, D.G.: Clinical immunopathologic studies in rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis (17 cases). Lab. Invest. 26, 490 (1972)
- [345] Dathan, J.R., Hayworth, M.F., Maciver, A.G.: Nephrotic syndrome in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Brit. med. J. 1974/II, 655
- [346] Datsis, A.G.: Endothelial inclusions in congenital infantile nephrosis. Virchows Arch. A 359, 105 (1973)
- [347] Dauth, K.H., Dietel, K., Erbert, W.: Das Hartnupsyndrom. Bericht über einen tödlichen Krankheitsverlauf. Z. Kinderheilk. 95, 103 (1966)
- [348] Davey, F.R., Busch, G.J.: Immunohistochemistry of glomerulonephritis using horseradish peroxidase and fluorescin-labeled antibody: a comparison of two techniques. Amer. J. clin. Path. 53, 531 (1970)
- [349] David, H.: Elektronenmikroskopische Organpathologie. Berlin: Verlag Volk und Gesundheit, 1967
- [350] David, H., Goder, G.: Elektronenmikroskopische Befunde bei der Arteriitis temporalis. Verh. Ges. exp. Med. DDR 18, 217 (1968)
- [351] David, H., Grossmann, P., Marx, I., Natusch, R.: Elektronenmikroskopische Befunde an der Niere beim Alport-Syndrom. Frankf. Z. Path. 76, 12 (1966)
- [352] David, H., Uerlings, I.: Feinmikroskopische Strukturveränderungen der Niere nach chronischer Applikation von Natriumoxalat. Beitr. path. Anat. 136, 284 (1968)
- [353] Davidson, A.M., Thomson, O., MacDonald, M.K., Uttley, W.S., Rolson, J.S.: The role of the mesangial cell in proliferative glomerulonephritis. J. clin. Path. 26, 198 (1973)
- [353a] Davies, D.J., Conway, M.S.: Local renal graft-versushost reaction: sequential ultrastructural study. Pathology 7, 273 (1975)
- [354] Davies, D.R., Tighe, J.R., Jones, N.F., Brown, G.W.: Recurrent haematuria and mesangial IgA-deposition. J. clin. Path. 26, 672 (1973)
- [354a] Davies, D.R., Tighe, J.R., Wing, A.J., Jones, N.F.: Immunoglobulin deposition in membranous glomerulonephritis: Immunofluorescence and immunoelectron microscopy findings. Histopathology 1, 39 (1977)
- [355] Davies, M.J., Woolf, N., Carstairs, K.C.: Immunohistochemical studies in diabetic glomerulosclerosis. J. Path. Bact. 92, 441 (1966)
- [356] Davis, B.K., Cavallo, T.: Deposition of early complement components in membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis (MPGN). Lab. Invest. 34, 311 (1976)
- [357] Davis, J.S., Lie, J.T.: Extracellular glomerular microparticles in nephrotic syndrome of heroin abusers. Arch. Path. 99, 278 (1975)
- [358] Dawson, D.L.: Acute periarteritis nodosa with chronic glomerulonephritis. Arch. Path. 68, 651 (1959)
- [359] Dayan, A.D., Stokes, M.J.: Immune complexes and visceral deposits of measles antigens in subacute sclerosing panencephalitis. Brit. med. J. 1972/II, 374
- [359a] DeBeukelaer, M.M., Schreiber, M.H., Dodge, W.F., Travis, L.B.: Intrarenal arteriovenous fistulas following needle biopsy of the kidney. J. Pediat. 78, 266 (1971)
- [360] Deegan, M.J., Gikas, P.W.: Renal immunofluorescent and ultrastructural patterns in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients receiving long term corticosteroid therapy. Lab. Invest. 34, 312 (1976)

- [361] Deimling, O. v.: Nephrocalcinose und alkalische Nierenphosphatase. Klin. Wschr. 46, 1116 (1968)
- [362] Dein, R.W., Walker, D., Hackett, R.L.: The Ask Upmark kidney. Arch. Path. 96, 10 (1973)
- [363] Deliveliotis, A., Kehayas, P., Warkarakis, M.: The diagnostic problem of the hydatid disease of the kidney. J. Urol. 99, 139 (1968)
- [364] Dempster, W.J.: The nature of experimental second-set kidney transplant rejection. 4. The disturbed haemodynamics and the general significance of failure to perfuse the outer cortical glomeruli in acute renal failure. Brit. J. exp. Path. 52, 415 (1971)
- [365] Dempster, W.J., Brown, D.L.: The nature of experimental second-set kidney transplant rejection. 3. The role of complement. Brit. J. exp. Path. 52, 280 (1971)
- [365a] Denk, H., Syre, G., Weirich, E.: Immunomorphologic methods in routine pathology. Application of immunofluorescence and the unlabeled antibody-enzyme (peroxidase-antiperoxidase) technique to formalin fixed paraffin embedded kidney biopsies Beitr. Path. 160, 187 (1977).
- [366] Deodhar, S.D., Tung, K.S., Zuehlke, V., Nakamoto, S.: Renal homotransplantation in a patient with primary familial oxalosis. Arch. Path. 87, 118 (1969)
- [367] Deutsch, E., Geyer, G.: Laboratoriumsdiagnostik. Normalwerte und Interpretation. Berlin: August Steinkopf, 1969
- [368] Devenyi, I., Dauda, G., Szabo, J.: Juxtaglomerular index and activity of the renin-angiotensin system. Path. europ. 6, 19 (1971)
- [369] Deyhle, P.: Zur Frage paraneoplastischer Amyloidose bei hypernephroidem Nierenkarzinom. Zbl. Path. 113, 10 (1970)
- [370] Diaz-Buseo, J.A., Donadio, J.V.: Complications of percutaneous renal biopsy: an analysis of 1000 consecutive biopsies. Clin. Nephrol. 4, 223 (1975)
- [371] Diener, K.: Zum histologischen Bild postmortal entstandener Nierenveränderungen. Zbl. Path. 98, 369 (1958)
- [372] Dillard, M.G., Tillman, R.L., Sampson, C.C.: Lupus nephritis: Correlation between the clinical course and presence of electron dense deposits. Lab. Invest. 32, 261 (1975)
- [373] Di Scala, V.A., Salomon, M., Grishman, E., Churg, J.: Renal structure in myxedema. Arch. Path. 84, 474 (1967)
- [374] Ditscherlein, G.: Morphologische Folgen der Nierenpunktion. Tierexperimentelle und humanpathologische Befunde. In: Experimentelle Medizin, Pathologie und Klinik. Hegglin, R., Leuthardt, F., Schoen, R., Schwiegk, H., Studer, A., Zollinger, H.U. (eds.). Berlin, Heidelberg and New York: Springer, 1969, Vol XII
- [375] Ditscherlein, G.: Nierenveränderungen bei Diabetikern. Jena: Gustav Fischer 1969
- [376] Ditscherlein, G., Grossmann, P., Natusch, R., Marx, I.: Submikroskopische Befunde beim idiopathischen De Toni-Debre-Fanconi-Syndrom. Paed. Grenzgeb. 7, 155 (1968)
- [377] Ditscherlein, G., Marx, I.: Feinstruktur der Armanni-Ebstein-Zellen. Z. mikr.-anat. Forsch. 80, 485 (1969)
- [378] Ditscherlein, G., Marx, I.: Submikroskopische Befunde bei akuter mechanischer Nephrohydrose am Kaninchen. Zbl. Path. 115, 272 (1972)

- [379] Ditscherlein, G., Scholz, D., Marx, I.: Ultrastruktur einer schweren Speicherungsnephrose (Plasmozytomniere) mit kristallinen Eiweissablagerungen. Zbl. Path. 116, 305 (1972)
- [380] Dittrich, P. v., Reindell, H., Wurm, K., Zintz, R.: Zum Krankheitsbild der generalisierten Riesenzellarteriitis. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 85, 1842 (1960)
- [381] Dixon, F.J.: The pathogenesis of immunologically induced nephritis. In: Proc. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966. Basel and New York: Karger 1967 Vol. II, p. 97
- [382] Dixon, F.J.: The pathogenesis of glomerulonephritis. Amer. J. Med. 44, 493 (1968)
- [383] Dixon, F.J., Adstone, M.B.A., Tonietti, G.: Pathogenesis of immune complex glomerulonephritis of New Zealand mice. J. exp. Med. 134, 65 s (1971)
- [384] Dixon, F.J., Feldman, J.D., Vazquez, J.: Experimental glomerulonephritis. The pathogenesis of a laboratory model resembling the spectrum of human glomerulonephritis. J. exp. Med. **113**, 899 (1961)
- [385] Dixon, F.J., McPhaul, J.J., jr., Lerner, R.: Recurrence of glomerulonephritis in the transplanted kidney. Arch. int. Med. 123, 554 (1969)
- [386] Dobrin, R.S., Day, N.K., Quie, P.G., Moore, H.L., Vernier, R.L., Michael, A.F., Fish, A.J.: The role of complement, immunoglobulin and bacterial antigen in coagulasenegative staphylococcal shunt nephritis. Amer. J. Med. 59, 660 (1975)
- [387] Dodge, W.F., Spargo, B.H., Bass, J.A., Travis, L.B.: The relationship between the clinical and pathologic features of poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis. A study of the early natural history. Medicine **47**, 227 (1968)
- [388] Dodge, W.F., Spargo, B.H., Travis, L.B., Srivastava, R.N., Carvajal, H.F., Benkelaer, M.B. De, Longley, M.P., Menchaca, J.A.: Poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis. A prospective study in children. New Engl. J. Med. 286, 273 (1972)
- [389] Dolder, E.: Niereninsuffizienz bei tuberöser Sklerose (Morbus Bonneville). Schweiz. med. Wschr. 105, 406 (1975)
- [389a] Donald, K.J., Edwards, R.L., McEvoy, J.D.: An ultrastructural study of the pathogenesis of tissue injury in limited Wegener's granulomatosis. Pathology 8, 161 (1976)
- [390] Donald, K.J., Whitaker, A.N., Bunce, I.H.: The mechanism of renal glomerular capillary retention of carbon in disseminated intravascular coagulation. Amer. J. Path. 70, 245 (1973)
- [391] Donnellan, W.L., Chantra-Umporn, S., Kidd, J.M.: The cytomegalic inclusion cell. Arch. Path. 82, 336 (1966)
- [392] Drommer, W., Trautwein, G.: Studies on the pathogenesis of Aleutian disease of mink. IV. Ultrastructure of glomerular lesions. Beitr. Path. 139, 321 (1969)
- [393] Druet, Ph., Bariety, J., Bernard, D., Lagrue, G.: Les glomérulopathies primitives à dépôts mésangiaux d'IgA et d'IgG. Etude clinique et morphologique de 52 cas. Presse méd. 78, 583 (1970)
- [394] Dubach, U.C., Gloor, F.: Fabry-Krankheit (Angiokeratoma corporis diffusum universale). Dtsch. med. Wschr. 91, 241 (1966)
- [395] Dubach, U.C., Gsell, H.O.: Analgetikakonsum: Sozial-

medizinische Studie in schweizerischen Uhrenbetrieben (1965). Z. Präventivmed. 14, 243 (1969)

- [396] Ducrot, H., Tsomi, C., Jungers, P., Montera, H. de, Hinglais, N., Giromini, M.: Etude anatomo-clinique des glomérulo-néphrites extramembraneuses. J. Urol. Néphrol. 75, 636 (1969)
- [397] Duffy, J.L., Cinque, Th., Grishman, E., Churg, J.: Intraglomerular fibrin, platelet aggregation, and subendothelial deposits in lipoid nephrosis. J. clin. Invest. 49, 251 (1970)
- [398] Duffy, J.L., Letteri, J., Cinque, T., Hsu, P.P., Molho, L., Churg, J.: Renal vein thrombosis and the nephrotic syndrome. Report of two cases with successful treatment in one. Amer. J. Med. 54, 663 (1973)
- [399] Duffy, J.L., Lin, J.H., Churg, J.: Mesangiocapillary glomerulonephritis. Lab. Invest. 34, 314 (1970)
- [400] Duffy, J.L., Suzuki, Y., Churg, J.: Acute calcium nephropathy. Arch. Path. 91, 340 (1971)
- [401] Dujovne, I., Pollak, V.E., Pirani, C.L., Dillard, M.G.: The distribution and character of glomerular deposits in systemic lupus erythematosus. Kidney Internat. 2, 33 (1972)
- [401 a] Dumas, R., Bascoul, Baldet, P., Serre, A., Rouse, J., Jean, R.: Glomerulonéphrite membrano-proliférative et maladie mycoplasmique. Arch. Franç. Ped. 33, 783 (1976)
- [402] Dunea, G., Kark, R.M., Lannigan, R., D'Alessio, D., Muehrcke, R.C.: Brucella nephritis. Ann. int. Med. 70, 783 (1969)
- [403] Dunnill, M.S.: A review of the pathology and pathogenesis of acute renal failure due to acute tubular necrosis. J. clin. Path. 27, 2 (1974)
- [403a] Dunnill, M.S.: Pathological Basis of Renal Disease. London, Philadelphia, Toronto: W.B. Saunders Company Ltd., 1976
- [404] Dunnill, M.S., Halley, W.: Some observations on the quantitative anatomy of the kidney. J. Path. 110, 113 (1973)
- [405] Dunnill, M.S., Millard, P.R.: Segmental glomerulonephritis. J. clin. Path. 28, 167 (1975)
- [405a] Durand, P., Borrone, C., Della Cella, G.: Fucosidosis.J. Pediat. 75, 665 (1969)
- [406] Earlam, R.J.: Recovery of renal function after prolonged ureteric obstruction. Brit. J. Urol. 39, 58 (1967)
- [407] Earle, D.P.: Glomerulonephritis in the adult populations. In: Cornell Seminars in Nephrology. Becker, E.L. (ed.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 73
- [408] Earle, D.P.: Introduction to symposium on glomerulonephritis. In: Proc. 5th Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Mexico 1972. Basel and New York: Karger, 1974, Vol. I, p. 30
- [409] Earle, D.P., Jennings, R.B.: Focal glomerular lesions. Transact. Amer. Clin. Ass. 72, 24 (1960)
- [410] Earle, D.P., Jennings, R.B.: Glomerulonephritis. In: Proc. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrol., Washington 1966.
 Basel and New York: Karger, 1967, Vol. III, p. 51
- [411] Eckert, H.: Über die Häufigkeit der Kombination von Glomerulonephritis und Pyelonephritis. Zbl. Path. 116, 10 (1972)
- [412] Edelmann, C.M., jr., Barnett, H.L.: Pediatric nephrology. In: Diseases of the Kidney, 2nd ed. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971, p. 1349

- [413] Edelmann, C.M., Greifer, I.: A modified technique for percutaneous needle biopsy of the kidney. J. Pediat. 70, 81 (1967)
- [414] Edelmann, C.M., Greifer, I., Barnettä, H.L.: The nature of kidney disease in children who fail to recover from apparent acute glomerulonephritis. J. Pedit. 64, 879 (1964)
- [415] Egli, F., Zollinger, H.U., Geering, J.M., Stalder, G.: Hypertensive Encephalopathie bei akuter Glomerulonephritis mit minimalem Urinbefund. Helv. paed. Acta 27, 381 (1972)
- [416] Ehrenreich, T., Churg, J.: Pathology of membranous nephropathy. In: Pathology Annual. Sommers, S.C. (ed.). New York: Appleton Century Crofts, 1968, Vol. III, p. 145
- [417] Ehrenreich, T., Yunis, S.L., Churg, J.: Membranous nephropathy following exposure to volatile hydrocarbons. Lab. Invest. **30**, 373 (1974)
- [418] Ehrsam, A.: Morphometrische Untersuchungen zur Entwicklung der Nierenrinde beim Menschen. Inaug. Diss., Basel (1974)
- [419] Eigler, J., Finke, K., Gröschel, G., Held, F., Eigler, F.W., Engelking, K., Bohle, A.: Nierentransplantation bei hämolytisch-urämischem Syndrom. Klin. Wschr. 50, 648 (1972)
- [420] Ein, D., Kimura, S., Glenner, G.G.: An amyloid fibril protein of unknown origin: partial amino-acid sequence analysis. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm. 46, 498 (1972)
- [421] Eisenberg, K.S., Potter, D.E., Bovilli, E.B.: Osteochondrodystrophy. A case report. J. Bone Joint Surg. 54 A, 1301 (1972)
- [422] Eisinger, A.J.: Goodpasture's syndrome: Failure of nephrectomy to cure pulmonary hemorrhage. Amer. J. Med. 55, 565 (1973)
- [423] Eknoyan, G., Györkey, F., Dichoso, C., Györkey, P.: Nephropathy in patients with drug addiction. Virchows Arch. A 365, 1 (1975)
- [424] Eknoyan, G., Györkey, F., Dichoso, C., Martinez-Valdonado, M., Györkey, P.: Renal morphological and immunological changes associated with acute viral hepatitis. Kidney Internat. 1, 413 (1972)
- [425] Ekström, T., Engfeldt, B., Lagergren, C., Lundvall, N.: Medullary sponge kidney. In: Proc. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology Washington 1966. Basel, New York: Karger, 1967, Vol. II, p. 54
- [426] Elema, J.D., Koudstaal, J., Lamberts, H.B., Arends, A.: Spontaneous glomerulosclerosis in the rat. Arch. Path. 91, 418 (1971)
- [427] Elfenbein, I.B., Baluarte, H.J., Cubillo-Rajas, M., Gruskin, A.B., Cote, M., Cornfeld, D.: Quantitative morphometry of glomerulonephritis with crescents. Diagnostic and predictive value. Lab. Invest. 32, 56 (1975)
- [428] Elfenbein, I.B., Baluarte, H.J., Gruskin, A.B.: Renal hypoplasia with oligomeganephronia. Arch. Path. 97, 143 (1974)
- [429] Elfenbein, I.B., Reyes, J.W.: Crescents in diabetic glomerulopathy. Incidence and clinical significance. Lab. Invest. 33, 687 (1975)
- [430] Elfenbein, I.B., Schwartz, W., Weinstein, A., Patchefsky, A.: The glomerulus in sickle cell anemia with and without nephrosis. Lab. Invest. **30**, 374 (1974)
- [431] Eliahou, H.E., Boner, G., Rakowczick, M.: Effect of

nephrectomy on hypertension in unilateral non-vascular renal disease: Report of 7 patients. J. Urol. **91**, 379 (1968)

- [432] Elias, H., Hennig, A.: Stereology of the human renal glomerulus. In: Quantitative Methoden der Morphologie. Weibel, E.R., Elias, H. (eds.). Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer, 1967, p. 130
- [433] Ellis, A.: Natural history of Bright's disease. Lancet 1942/ I, 1
- [434] Ellman, G., Davis, J., Lichtenstein, N.S.: Uremia due to occult lymphomatous infiltration of the kidneys. Cancer 33, 203 (1974)
- [435] Emmerson, B.T., Row, P.G.: An evaluation of the pathogenesis of the gout kidney. Kidney Internat. 8, 65 (1975)
- [435a] Ende, N., Orsi, E.V., Britten, T.L., Batoray, M.Z., Genova, T.F.: Anti-kidney cytotoxic anti-bodies in human renal allographs. Amer. J. Clin. Path. 66, 395 (1976)
- [436] Ende, N.: Course of transplanted cadaver donor kidneys with previously existing pathology. Amer. J. Path. 75, 543 (1974)
- [436a] Endes, P., Simarszky, J.: Die Veränderungen der juxtaglomerulären granulierten Zellen in der menschlichen Schockniere. Virch. Arch. Path. Anat. 336, 33 (1962)
- [437] Engberg, A., Ericsson, J.L.: Effects of dextran 40 on the ultrastructure and function of the proximal renal tubule: An experimental study in the rat. In: Abstr. 4th Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Stockholm 1969, p. 276
- [438] Epstein, C.J., Sahud, M.A., Piel, C.F., Goodman, J.R., Bernfield, M.R., Kushner, J.H., Ablin, A.R.: Hereditary macrothrombocytopathia, nephritis and deafness. Amer. J. Med. 52, 299 (1972)
- [439] Epstein, F.H.: Calcium nephropathy. In: Diseases of the Kidney. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971, p. 903
- [440] Epstein, M., Berk, D.P., Hollenberg, N.K., Adams, D.F., Chalmers, T.C., Abrams, H.L., Merrill, J.P.: Renal failure in the patient with cirrhosis. The role of active vasoconstriction. Amer. J. Med. 49, 175 (1970)
- [441] Epstein, M., Oster, J.R., Velasco, R.E. de: Hepatorenal syndrome following hemihepatectomy. Clin. Nephrol. 5, 128 (1976)
- [442] Ericsson, J.L.E.: Electron microscopy of renal tubule degeneration. Methods Achievm. exp. Path. 4, 171 (1969)
- [443] Ericsson, J.L.E., Bergstrand, A., Andres, G., Bucht, H., Cinotti, G.: Morphology of the renal tubular epithelium in young, healthy humans. Acta path. microbiol. scand. 63, 361 (1965)
- [444] Erslev, A.J., Shapiro, S.S.: Hematologic aspects of renal failure. In: Diseases of the Kidney. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.) Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971, p. 273
- [445] Erwin, D.T., Donadio, J.V., Holley, K.E.: The clinical course of idiopathic membranous nephropathy. Mayo Clin. Proc. 48, 697 (1973)
- [446] Essner, E., Oliver, C., Haimes, H.: Fate of exogenous peroxidase in renal lysosomes of mice with Chediak-Higashi-syndrome. Amer. J. Path. 77, 407 (1974)
- [446a] Estes, P.C., Cheville, N.F.: The ultrastructure of vascular lesions in equine viral arteritis. Amer. J. Path. 58, 235 (1970)
- [447] Evans, D.J., Williams, D.G., Peters, D.K., Sissions, J.G., Boulton-Jones, J.M., Ogg, C.S., Cameron, J.S., Hoffbrand, B.I.: Glomerular deposition of properdin in He-

noch-Schoenlein syndrome and idiopathic focal nephritis. Brit. med. J. **1973/III**, 326

- [448] Faarup, P.: Morphological aspects of the renin-angiotensin system. Bogtrykkeriet Forum, Copenhagen, 1971
- [449] Faarup, P., Nielsen, I., Jensen, G., Clausen, E., Kemp, F.: Renin location in contracted human kidneys. Acta path. microbiol. scand. A 78, 674 (1970)
- [450] Fabre, J., Chatélanat, F., Simon, G., Rudhardt, M., Vuagnat, P.: Corrélation entre l'expression semi-quantitative des lésions ultrastructurales et les données cliniques au cas de glomérulopathies. J. Urol. Néphrol. 75, 993 (1969)
- [451] Fahr, T.: Pathologische Anatomie des Morbus Brightii. In: Handbuch der speziellen Pathologie. Henke-Lubarsch (ed.). Berlin, Heidelberg and New York: Springer, 1925, Vol. VI
- [452] Fahr, T.: Die Funktionsbehinderung der Niere als hemmendes Moment bei der Entwicklung von Glomerulonephritis und maligner Nephrosklerose. Dtsch. Arch. klin. Med. 191, 52 (1943)
- [452a] Faille-Kuyper, E.H., Kater, L., Kuijten, R.H., Kooiker, C.J., Wagenaar, S.S., Zouwen, P. v. d., Mees, E.J.D.: Occurrence of vascular IgA deposits in clinically normal skin of patients with renal disease. Kidney Internat. 9, 424 (1976)
- [453] Fairley, K.F., Whitworth, J.A., Kincaid-Smith, P.: Glomerulonephritis and pregnancy. In: Glomerulonephritis. In: Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 997
- [454] Faith, G.C., Trump, B.F.: The glomerular capillary wall in human kidney disease: Acute glomerulonephritis, systemic lupus erythematodes, and preeclampsia-eclampsia. Lab. Invest. 15, 1682 (1966)
- [454a] Fallon, J.T., Stehbens, W.E.: The endothelium of experimental saccular aneurysms of the abdominal aorta in rabbits. Brit. J. exp. Path. 54, 13 (1973)
- [455] Fanconi, A., Gfeller, J.: Klinik und Prognose der akuten Glomerulonephritis. P\u00e4d. Fortbild. 28, 48 (1970)
- [456] Fanconi, G., Hanhart, E., Albertini, A. v., Uehlinger, E., Doliva, G., Prader, A.: Die familiäre juvenile Nephronophthise. Helv. paed. Acta 6, 1 (1951)
- [457] Fanconi, G., Illig, R.: Das familiäre Vorkommen der Lipoidnephrose und der Nephronophthise. Mod. Probl. Paed. 6, 298 (1960)
- [458] Farebrother, D.A., Hatfield, P., Simmonds, H.A., Cameron, J.S., Jones, A.S., Cadenhead, A.: Experimental crystal nephropathy (one year study in the pig). Clin. Nephrol. 4, 243 (1975)
- [459] Farquhar, M.G. (Round table): Morphological basis of glomerular ultrafiltration. In: Proc. 1st Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Genève-Evian. Basel and New York: Karger, 1960, 394
- [459a] Farquhar, M.G.: The primary glomerular filtration barrier-basement membrane or epithelial slits? Kidney Internat. 8, 197 (1975)
- [460] Farquhar, M.G., Vernier, R.L., Good, R.A.: The application of electron microscopy in pathology: Study of renal biopsy tissue. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 87, 501 (1957)
- [461] Farquhar, M.G., Wissig, S.L., Palade, G.E.: Glomerular permeability. J. exp. Med. 47, 113 (1961)
- [462] Farrow, G.M., Harrison, E.G., Utz, D.C.: Sarcomas and

sarcomatoid and mixed malignant tumors of the kidney in adults, II. Cancer 22, 551 (1968)

- [463] Farrow, G.M., Harrison, E.G., Utz, D.C.: Sarcomas and sarcomatoid and mixed malignant tumors of the kidney in adults, III. Cancer 22, 556 (1968)
- [464] Farrow, G.M., Harrison, E.G., Utz, D.C., Jones, D.R.: Renal angiomyolipoma. A clinicopathologic study of 32 cases. Cancer 22, 564 (1968)
- [465] Farrow, G.M., Harrison, E.G., Utz, D.C., ReMine, W.H.: Sarcomas and sarcomatoid and mixed malignant tumors of the kidney in adults, I. Cancer 22, 545 (1968)
- [466] Fauci, A.S., Balow, J.E., Brown, R., Chazan, J., Steinmann, T., Sahyoun, A.I., Monoaco, A.P., Solff, S.M.: Successful renal transplantation in Wegener's granulomatosis. Amer. J. Med. 60, 437 (1976)
- [467] Favre, H., Giromini, M., Gerster, J.C., Savoy, X.: Anurie associée à l'administration de dextran de faible poids moléculaire. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 98, 1982 (1968)
- [468] Fedeli, S., Florio, J.: Sul quadro istologico del rene in un caso di diabete renale. Boll. Soc. med. chir. Pavia 68, 1 (1954)
- [469] Feinzi, T., Gitlin, N.: Immune complex disease of the kidney associated with chronic hepatitis and cryoglobulinemia. Lancet 1969/II, 873.
- [470] Feldman, J.D., Lee, S.: Renal homotransplantation in rats. I. Allogeneic recipients. J. exp. Med. 120, 783 (1967)
- [471] Feldman, J.D., Mardiney, M.R., Shuler, S.E.: Immunology and morphology of acute poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis. Lab. Invest. 15, 283 (1966)
- [472] Feldman, J.D., Mardiney, M.R., Unanue, E.R., Culling, H.: The vascular pathology of thrombotic-thrombocytopenic purpura: A immunohistochemical and ultrastructural study. Lab. Invest. 15, 927 (1966)
- [473] Fellner, S.K.: Reversible acute renal failure complicating transplant rejection. Kidney Internat. 8, 496 (1975)
- [474] Felts, J.H.: Hereditary nephritis with the nephrotic syndrome. Arch. int. Med. 125, 459 (1970)
- [475] Ferner, H., Zaki, C.: Mikroskopische Anatomie der Niere. In: Handbuch der Urologie. Alken, C.E., Dix, V.W., Goodwin, W.E., Wildbolz, E. (eds.). Berlin, Heidelberg and New York: Springer, 1969, Vol. I, p. 172
- [476] Fetterman, G.H., Fabrizio, N.S., Studnicki, F.M.: The study by microdissection of structural tubular defects in certain examples of the hereditary nephropathies. In: Proc. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966. Basel and New York: Karger, 1967, Vol. II, p. 235
- [477] Fetterman, G.H., Feldman, J.D.: Congenital anomalies of renal tubules in a case of "infantile nephrosis". Studies by microdissection and electron microscopy. Amer. J. Dis. Child. **100**, 319 (1960)
- [478] Fiaschi, E., Naccarato, R.: The histopathology of the kidney in toxaemia. Serial renal biopsies during pregnancy, puerperium and several years post partum. Virchows Arch. A 345, 299 (1968)
- [479] Fillastre, J.P., Guenel, J., Riberi, P., Marx, P., Whitworth, J.A., Kunh, J.M.: Senior-Loken syndrome (nephronophthisis and tapeto-retinal degeneration): A study of 8 cases from 5 families. Clin. Nephrol. 5, 14 (1976)
- [480] Fillastre, J.P., Laumonier, R., Humbert, G., Dubois, D., Metayer, M., Delpech, A., Leroy, L., Robert, M.: Acute renal failure after administration of cephalotin and genta-

micin. Renal histology under the light and electron microscopes. J. Urol. Néphrol. **79**, 383 (1973)

- [481] Fine, R.N., Grushkin, C.M.: Hemodialysis and renal transplantation in children. Clin. Nephrol. 1, 243 (1973)
- [482] Finkelstein, F.O., Kashgarian, M., Hayslett, J.P.: Clinical spectrum of postpartum renal failure. Amer. J. Med. 57, 649 (1974)
- [483] Finlayson, G., Alexander, R., Juncos, L., Schlein, E., Teague, P., Waldman, R., Cade, R.: Immunoglobulin-A glomerulonephritis. Lab. Invest. 32, 140 (1975)
- [484] Finn, W.F., Cerilli, G.J., Ferris, T.F.: Transplantation of a kidney from a patient with idiopathic hypercalciuria. New Engl. J. Med. 283, 1450 (1970)
- [484a] Fischbach, H.: The morphologic course of different glomerulonephritides (examination of repeated biopsies in 264 patients). In: Current Topics in Pathology: Vol. 61 Glomerulonephritis. Grundmann, E., Kirsten, W.H. (eds.). Berlin, Heidelberg and New York: Springer, 1976, pp. 154-201
- [485] Fischer, R., Ahrens, H.P., Selberg, W., Berning, H.: Über die symptomarme Glomerulonephritis. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 95, 802 (1970)
- [485a] Fish, A.J., Blau, E.B., Westberg, N.G., Burke, B.A., Vernier, R.L., Michael, A.F.: Systemic lupus erythematosus within the first two decades of life. Amer. J. Med. 62, 99 (1977)
- [486] Fish, A.J., Michael, A.F., Good, R.A.: Pathogenesis of glomerulonephritis. In: Diseases of the Kidney. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971, p. 373
- [487] Fisher, E.R.: Ultrastructural changes in renal arterioles and juxtaglomerular cells in hypertension. Amer. Heart J. 81, 125 (1971)
- [488] Fisher, E.R., Hellstrom, H.R.: Pathogenesis of hypertension and pathologic changes in experimental renal irradiation. Lab. Invest. 19, 530 (1968)
- [489] Fisher, E.R., Perez-Stable, E.C.: Comparative renal ultrastructural study in essential and renal artery hypertension in man. In: Proc. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966. Basel, New York: Karger, 1967, p. 190
- [490] Fisher, E.R., Perez-Stable, E.: Cirrhotic (hepatic) lobular glomerulonephritis. Amer. J. Path. 52, 869 (1968)
- [491] Fisher, E.R., Perez-Stable, E., Amidi, M., Sarver, M.E., Dunowski, T.S.: Ultrastructural renal changes in juvenile diabetes. J. Amer. med. Ass. 202, 291 (1967)
- [492] Fisher, E.R., Reidborn, H.: Gaucher's disease: Pathogenetic considerations based on electron microscopic and histochemical observations. Amer. J. Path. 41, 679 (1962)
- [493] Fisher, E.R., Sharkey, D., Pardo, V., Vuzevski, V.: Experimental renal vein thrombosis. Its relation to renal lesions observed in human renal vein thrombosis and the nephrotic syndrome. Lab. Invest. 18, 689 (1968)
- [494] Fishman, J.A., Ryan, G.B., Karnovsky, M.J.: Endothelial regeneration in the rat carotid artery and the significance of endothelial denudation in the pathogenesis of myointimal thickening. Lab. Invest. 32, 333 (1975)
- [495] Fjeldborg, O., Kein, C.H.: Spontaneous rupture of renal transplant. Scand. J. Urol. Nephrol. 8, 31 (1974)
- [496] Flückiger, H.: Das hypernephroide Nierenkarzinom im Autopsiegut des Pathologischen Institutes der Universität Basel 1944–1963. Inaug.-Diss. Basel (1966)

- [497] Fonck-Cussac, Y., Aublet-Envelier, J.L., Fonck, J.: Aspect ultrastructural de l'infiltration rénale par la polyvinylpyrrolidone. Ann. Anat. path. 15, 461 (1970)
- [498] Fonck-Cussac, Y., Aublet-Envelier, J.L., Fonck, J.: Inclusions virales et lupus érythémateux. Etude ultrastructurale. Ann. Anat. path. 17, 461 (1972)
- [499] Fordham, C.C., Epstein, F.H., Huffines, W.D., Harrington, J.T.: Polyarteritis and acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis. Ann. int. Med. 61, 89 (1964)
- [500] Fox, M.: Progressive renal fibrosis following acute tubular necrosis: An experimental study. J. Urol. 97, 196 (1967)
- [501] Franklin, E.C.: Cryoglobulinemia. Amer. J. med. Sci. 262, 50 (1971)
- [502] Franklin, S.S., Maxwell, M.H.: Acute renal failure. In: Clinical Disorders of Fluid and Electrolyte Metabolism, 2nd ed. Maxwell, M.H., Kleeman, C.R. (eds.). New York, Düsseldorf, London: McGraw-Hill, 1972, p. 727
- [503] Franklin, W.A., Jennings, R.B., Earle, D.P.: Membranous glomerulonephritis: Long-term serial observations on clinical course and morphology. Kidney Internat. 4, 36 (1973)
- [504] Franklin, W.A., Simon, N.M., Potter, E.W., Krumlovsky, F.A.: The hemolytic-uremic syndrome. Arch. Path. 94, 230 (1972)
- [505] Fraser, R.A., Leary, F.J.: Uretrocutaneous fistula following percutaneous renal biopsy. J. Urol. 109, 931 (1973)
- [506] Freedman, P., Peters, J.H., Kark, R.M.: Localization of gammaglobulin in the diseased kidney. Arch. int. Med. 105, 524 (1960)
- [507] Freeman, J.A., Roberts, K.E.: A fine structural study of renal glycosuria. Exp. molec. Path. 2, 83 (1963)
- [508] Friedli, B.: Le glomérule du nouveau né. Biol. neonat. 10, 359 (1966)
- [509] Friedman, A., Kincaid-Smith, P.: Arteritis with impaired renal function. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 1047
- [510] Fries, D., Bausillon, V., Brunat, N., Moline, C., Traeger, J.: Ultrastructure des lésions glomérulaires dans un cas de myélome avec syndrome néphrotique. J. Urol. Néphrol. 73, 839 (1967)
- [511] Fries, D., Blanc-Brunat, N., Traeger, J.: Pathology of renal allografts in patients receiving long-term antilymphocyte globulin therapy. Transplant. 10, 20 (1970)
- [512] Frisk, A., Klackenberg, G.: A study of the onset and prognosis of nephritis in children. Acta paed. 33, 349 (1945)
- [513] Froom, D.W., Franklin, W.K., Hano, J.E., Potter, E.V.: Immune deposits in Hodgkin's disease with nephrotic syndrome. Arch. Path. 94, 547 (1972)
- [514] Frost, J.L., Wyllie, R.G., Shaker, I.J., Anderson, N.D.: Endothelial lesions in unmodified kidney graft rejection. Lab. Invest. 30, 374 (1974)
- [515] Frotscher, U., Thelen, M., Fuchs, H.J., Jenett, G., Kleber, U., Richter, G., Wilbrandt, R.: Primäre maligne Nephrosklerose. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 100, 601 (1975)
- [516] Fuchs, H.J., Thelen, M., Wilbrandt, R.: Die Nierenfunktion nach akutem Nierenversagen. Eine Langzeitstudie an 70 Patienten. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 99, 1641 (1974)
- [517] Fuchs, T.: Pyelonephritis. Diagnostik und Therapie. Mannheim: Boehringer, 1969

- [517a] Fuchs, U., Scharnweber, W.: Elektronenmikroskopische Untersuchungen an Skelettmuskelkapillaren des Menschen bei Arteriosklerose und Diabetes mellitus. Virchows Arch. 343, 276 (1968)
- [518] Fujibayashi, T., Tonaka, K.: Intracytoplasmic inclusion bodies in the myeloma kidney. J. Electron Microsc. (Tokyo) 18, 190 (1969)
- [519] Fuller, T., Tarrant, D.I., Juncos, L.: Papillary necrosis—a complication of renal transplantation. Kidney Internat.
 8, 497 (1975)
- [520] Gabbiani, G., Badonnel, M.C., Vassalli, P.: Experimental focal glomerular lesions elicited by insoluble immune complexes. Lab. Invest. 32, 33 (1975)
- [520a] Gabbiani, G., Hirschel, B.J., Ryan, G.B., Statkov, P.R., Majno, G.: Granulation tissue as a contractile organ. J. exp. Med. 135, 719 (1972)
- [521] G'aboardi, F., Edefonti, A., Imbasciati, E., Tarantino, A., Mihatsch, M.J., Zollinger, H.U.: Alport's syndrome (progressive hereditary nephritis). Clin. Nephrol. 2, 143 (1974)
- [521 a] Gagliano, R.G., Constanzi, J.J., Beathard, G.A., Sarles, H.E., Bell, J.D.: The nephrotic syndrome associated with neoplasia: an unusal paraneoplastic syndrome. Amer. J. of Med. 60, 1026 (1976)
- [522] Galle, P.: Oxalose rénale expérimentale. Etude au microscope électronique et par spectrographie des rayons X. Nephron 1, 158 (1964)
- [523] Galle, P., Hinglais, N., Crosnier, J.: Recurrence of an original glomerular lesion in three allografts. Transplant. Proc. 3, 368 (1971)
- [524] Galle, P., Mahieu, P.: Electron dense alteration of kidney basement membrane. A renal lesion specific of a systemic disease. Amer. J. Med. 58, 749 (1975)
- [525] Gallo, G.R.: Elution studies in kidneys with linear deposition of immunoglobulin in glomeruli. Amer. J. Path. 61, 377 (1970)
- [526] Gamble, C.N., Reardan, J.B.: Immunopathogenesis of syphilitic glomerulonephritis. New Engl. J. Med. 292, 449 (1975)
- [527] Ganote, C.E., Reimer, K.A., Jennings, R.B.: Acute mercury chloride nephrotoxicity. An electron microscopic and metabolic study. Lab. Invest. 31, 633 (1974)
- [527a] Ganter, P., Berger, J.: Néphropathies associantes une glomérulite proliférante et des dépôts au sein des basales. Etude histochimique de trois cas. J. Urol. Nephrol. 69, 96 (1963)
- [528] Garancis, J.C.: Type II glycogenosis. Amer. J. Med. 44, 289 (1968)
- [529] Garancis, J.C., Komorowski, R.A., Bernhard, G.C., Straumfjord, J.V.: Significance of cytoplasmic microtubules in lupus nephritis. Amer. J. Path. 64, 1 (1971)
- [530] Garancis, J.C., Komorowski, R.A., Kuzman, J.F.: Imuran effect on lupus nephritis. Amer. J. Path. 62, 57 a (1970)
- [531] Garcia-Torres, R., Hinglais, N., Chaignon, J., Kleinknecht, D.: Les glomérolonéphrites aiguës avec prolifération mésangiale et dépôts extra-membraneux. Etude anatomo-clinique de 35 cas. Path. Biol. 21, 731 (1973)
- [531a] Garin, E.H., Donelly, W.H., Fennell, R.S., Richard, G.A.: Nephritis in systemic lupus erythematosus in children. J. Pediat. 89, 366 (1976)

- [532] Gärtner, H.V., Fischbach, H., Wehner, H., Bohle, A., Edel, H.H., Kluthe, R., Scheler, F., Schmülling, R.M.: Comparison of clinical and morphological features of peri- (epi-intra) membranous glomerulonephritis. Nephron 13, 288 (1974)
- [533] Gasser, C., Gautier, E., Steck, A., Siebenmann, R.E., Oederlein, R.: Hämolytisch-urämisches Syndrom: Bilaterale Nierenrindennekrose bei akuter erworbener hämolytischer Anämie. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 85, 905 (1955)
- [534] Gault, M.H., Blennerhassett, J., Muehrcke, R.C.: Analgesic nephropathy. Amer. J. Med. 51, 740 (1971)
- [535] Gauthier, E., Habib, R.: Das nephrotische Syndrom. In: Handbuch der Kinderheilkunde. Opitz, H., Schmid, F. (eds.). Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer, 1966, Vol. VII, p. 1102
- [536] Gavras, H., Brunner, H.R.: Renin und Natrium und die Entstehung vaskulärer Läsionen bei Hypertonie. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 104, 1301 (1974)
- [537] Geary, C.P., Cousins, F.B.: An oestrogen-linked nephrocalcinosis in rats. Brit. J. exp. Path. 50, 507 (1969)
- [538] Geigy, J.R., Basel, A.G. (eds.): Wissenschaftliche Tabellen. Documenta Geigy, 7th ed. Basel: Geigy, 1968
- [539] George, C.R., Hideman, R.O., Striker, G.E.: Infantile nephrotic syndrome. Clin. Nephrol. 5, 20 (1976)
- [540] Georgescu, L., Litvac-Manescu, N., Petrovici, A., Schwartzkopf, A., Zosin, C.: Particules virales dans le rein de la néphropathie endémique balkanique. Sem. Hôp. 46, 3526 (1970)
- [541] Gerber, M.A.: Immunohistochemical findings in the renal vascular lesions of progressive systemic sclerosis. Human Path. 6, 343 (1975)
- [542] Gerber, M.A., Paronetto, F.: IgE in glomeruli of patients with nephrotic syndrome. Lancet 1971/I, 1097
- [543] Gerlach, U., Themann, H.: Elektronenmikroskopische Untersuchungen der metastatischen Kalzifizierung. Klin. Wschr. 43, 1262 (1965)
- [544] Germuth, F.G., Rodriguez, E.: Immunopathology of the renal glomerulus. Immune complex deposits and antibasement membrane disease. Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1973
- [545] Gerok, W.: Primäre Tubulopathien. In: Biochemie und Klinik. Weitzel, G., Zöllner, N. (eds.). Stuttgart: Thieme 1968
- [545a] Gerrity, R.G., Cliff, W.J.: The aortic tunica intima in young and aging rats. Exp. molec. Path. 16, 382 (1972)
- [546] Gessler, H.: Nephropathie bei rheumatischen und pararheumatischen Erkrankungen. Med. Welt 23, 1640 (1972)
- [547] Ghose, M.K., Krest, L.M., Cohen, S.M., Roza, O., Berman, L.B., Lidsky, I., Teitelbaum, S., Galvin, J.B.: Spontaneous rupture of renal allotransplants. J. Urol. 109, 790 (1973)
- [548] Ghosh, L.R., Muehrcke, R.C.: The nephrotic syndrome: A prodrome to lymphoma. Ann. int. Med, 72, 379 (1970)
- [549] Gianantonio, C.A., Vitacco, M., Mendilaharzu, F.: The hemolytic-uremic syndrome. In: Proc. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966. Basel, New York: Karger, 1967, Vol. III, p. 24
- [550] Gianantonio, C.A., Vitacco, M., Mendilaharzu, F., Gallo, G.E., Sojo, E.T.: The hemolytic-uremic syndrome. Nephron 11, 174 (1973)
- [550a] Giangiacomo, J., Cleary, T.G., Cole, B.R., Hoffsten,

P., Robson, A.M.: Serum immunoglobulins in nephrotic syndrome: possible cause of minimal change nephrotic syndrome. N. Engl. J. Med. **293**, 8 (1976)

- [551] Gibson, A.A., Arnell, G.C.: Nephronophthisis. Report of 8 cases from Britain. Arch. Dis. Child. 47, 84 (1972)
- [552] Giese, J.: The pathogenesis of hypertensive vascular disease. Copenhagen: Munksgaard, 1966
- [553] Ginsburg, B.E., Wasserman, J., Huldt, G., Bergstrand, A.: Case of glomerulonephritis associated with acute toxoplasmosis. Brit. med. J. 1974/II, 664
- [554] Ginzler, E.M., Nicastri, A.D., Chen, C.K., Friedman, E.A., Diamond, H.S., Kaplan, K.: Progression of mesangial and focal to diffuse lupus nephritis. New Engl. J. Med. 291, 693 (1974)
- [555] Girardet, P., Frutiger, P., Callaghan, K.: Langzeitbeobachtungen bei 100 Kindern mit Harnwegsinfektion. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 101, 1731 (1971)
- [555a] Girndt, J., Kramer, P., Quellhorst, E., Held, K., Bohle, A., Scheler, F.: Ovulationshemmer, Hypertonie und Nephrosklerose. Dtsch. Med. Wschr. 101, 1246 (1976)
- [556] Girndt, J., Kramer, P., Scheler, F.: Schwere Hypertonie mit Herzinsuffizienz und Nephrosklerose nach Einnahme oraler Antikonzeptiva. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 99, 404 (1974)
- [557] Giselson, N., Heinegard, D., Holmberg, C.G., Lindberg, L.G., Lindstedt, G., Schersten, B.: Renal medullary cystic disease or familial juvenile nephronophthisis: A renal tubular disease. Amer. J. Med. 48, 174 (1970)
- [557a] Gjone, E., Norum, K.R.: Familial serum-cholesteral ester deficiency: A clinical study of a patient with a new syndrome. Acta Med. Scand. 183, 107 (1968)
- [558] Glasgow, E.F., White, R.H.R.: "Not so minimal". Nephron 8, 403 (1971)
- [559] Glasgow, E.F., White, R.H.: Acute, poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis with failure to resolve. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 345
- [560] Glassock, R.J., Feldman, D., Reynolds, E.S., Dammin, G.J., Merrill, J.P.: Human renal isografts: A clinical and pathologic analysis. Medicine 47, 411 (1968)
- [561] Glawtschew, P.: Über das Wesen der sog. Balkan-Nephropathie. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 100, 653 (1970)
- [562] Glawtschew, P.: Zur Frage der pathologischen Anatomie, der Pathomorphose und Pathogenese der Balkan-Nephropathie. Zschr. Urol. 66, 655 (1973)
- [563] Glawtschew, P.: Die Balkan-Nephropathie, eine Sonderform der interstitiellen Nephritis. Med. Klin. 70, 328 (1975)
- [564] Gleason, I.O., Rosen, V.J., Rubini, M.: Mixed glomerulonephropathy: Subacute glomerulonephritis and diabetic glomerulosclerosis. Lab. Invest. 15, 1133 (1966)
- [565] Glenner, G.G.: The pathogenetic and therapeutic implications of the discovery of the immunoglobulin origin of amyloid fibrils. Human Path. **3**, 157 (1972)
- [566] Glenner, G.G., Ein, D., Eanes, Bladen, H.A., Terry, W., Page, D.: The creation of amyloid fibrils from Bence Jones proteins in vitro. Science 174, 712 (1971)
- [567] Glenner, G.G., Terry, W., Harada, M., Isersky, C., Page, D.: Amyloid fibril proteins: proof of homology with immunoglobulin light chains by sequence analysis. Science 171, 1150 (1971)
- [568] Gloor, B.: Tierexperimentelle Untersuchungen über Mor-

phologie, Pathogenese und funktionelle Bedeutung der Zuckerspeicherniere. Z. ges. exp. Med. 139, 37 (1965)

- [569] Gloor, F.: Pathologische Anatomie der Pyelonephritis. In: Die Pyelonephritis. Losse, H., Kienitz, M. (eds.). Stuttgart: Thieme, 1966, p. 56
- [570] Gloor, F.: Unsere heutigen Vorstellungen über die Morphologie und Pathogenese der Analgetika-Nephropathie. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 104, 785 (1974)
- [571] Gloor, F., Neiditsch-Halff, L.A.: Die interstitiellen Zellen des Nierenmarks der Ratte. Z. Zellforsch. 66, 488 (1965)
- [572] Gluck, M.C., Gallo, G., Lowenstein, J., Baldwin, D.S.: Membranous glomerulonephritis. Ann. int. Med. 78, 1 (1973)
- [573] Gluckman, J.C., Beaufils, H., Berger, J., Hinglais, N., Legrain, M., Kuss, R.: Rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis with linear fluorescence in a kidney transplant. Clin. Nephrol. 1, 40 (1973)
- [574] Godeau, P., Wechsler, B., Bletry, O., Louvel, A., Fanjoux, J.: Syndrome de Churg et Strauss. Place nosologique. Sem. Hôp. Paris 51, 2407 (1975)
- [575] Goebel, H.H., Baethke, R.: Familiäre juvenile Nephropathie mit Zysten. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 94, 176 (1969)
- [576] Goldby, F.S., Beilin, L.J.: The evolution and healing of arteriolar damage in renal-clip hypertension in the rat. An electron microscope study. J. Path. 114, 139 (1974)
- [577] Golde, D., Epstein, W.: Mixed cryoglobulins and glomerulonephritis. Ann. int. Med. 69, 1221 (1968)
- [578] Golde, D.W., Schambelan, M., Weintraub, B.D., Rosen, S.W.: Gonadotropin-secreting renal carcinoma. Cancer 33, 1048 (1974)
- [579] Goldman, S.H., Walker, S.R., Merigan, T.C., Gardner, K.D., Bull, J.M.: Hereditary occurrence of cystic disease of the renal medulla. New Engl. J. Med. 274, 984 (1966)
- [580] Goldmann, M.: Fluorescent Antibody Methods. New York and London: Academic Press, 1968
- [581] Gonick, H.C., Rubini, M.E., Gleason, I.O., Sommers, S.C.: Renal lesion in gout. Ann. int. Med. 62, 667 (1965)
- [582] Götze, O., Müller-Eberhard, H.J.: The C3 activator system: An alternate pathway of complement activation. J. exp. Med. 134, 90 (1971)
- [583] Govan, A.D.T.: Nephrocalcinosis associated with hyperchloremia and low plasma bicarbonate. Quart. J. Med. 19, 277 (1950)
- [584] Goyer, R.A., Rhyne, B.C.: Pathological effects of lead. Int. Rev. exp. Path. 12, 2 (1973)
- [585] Goyer, R.A., Wilson, M.H.: Lead-induced inclusion bodies. Results of ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid treatment. Lab. Invest. 32, 149 (1975)
- [586] Grace, S.G., Suki, W.N., Spjut, H.J., Eknoyan, G., Martinez-Maldonado, M.: Hereditary nephritis in the negro. Arch. int. Med. 125, 451 (1970)
- [587] Graeme, B.R., Leventhal, M., Karnovsky, M.: A freezefracture study of the junctions between glomerular epithelial cells in aminonucleosid nephrosis. Lab. Invest. 32, 397 (1975)
- [588] Graham, R.C., Karnovsky, M.J.: The early stages of absorption of injected horseradish peroxidase in the proximal tubules of mouse kidney: Ultrastructural cytochemistry by a new technique. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 14, 291 (1966)
- [589] Graham, R.C., Karnovsky, M.J.: Glomerular permeabil-

ity. Ultrastructural cytochemical studies using peroxidases as protein tracers. J. exp. Med. 124, 1123 (1966)

- [590] Grausz, H., Earley, L.E., Stephens, B.G., Lee, J.C., Hopper, J.: Diagnostic importance of virus-like particles in the glomerular endothelium of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. New Engl. J. Med. 283, 506 (1970)
- [590a] Graziani, G., Vecchi, A. de, Ambroso, G., Rainoldi, G., Guerra, L., Imbasciati, E., Mihatsch, M.J.: Lesioni glomerulari ed aspetti genetici della sindrome di de Toni-Debré-Fanconi. Minerva Nephrologica 23, 213 (1976)
- [591] Greene, J.F., Jr., Fitzwater, J.E., Burgess, J.: Arterial lesions associated with neurofibromatosis. Amer. J. clin. Path. 62, 481 (1974)
- [592] Grey, H.M., Kohler, P.F.: Cryoimmunoglobulins. Seminars Hemat. 10, 87 (1973)
- [593] Griffel, B., Pewzner, S., Berandt, M.: Unilateral "oligoméganéphronie" with agenesis of the contralateral kidney, studied by microdissection. Virchows Arch. A 357, 179 (1972)
- [594] Grim, E.C., Mullins, M.F., Nilson, J.P., Ross, G.: Unilateral PAGE kidney hypertension in man. J. Amer. med. Ass. 231, 42 (1975)
- [595] Grishman, E., Churg, J.: Pathology of "progressive" lipoid nephrosis. Lab. Invest. 22, 499 (1970)
- [596] Grishman, E., Churg, J.: Pathology of nephrotic syndrome with minimal or minor glomerular changes. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, L. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 165
- [597] Grishman, E., Churg, J.: Focal glomerular sclerosis in nephrotic patients. An electron microscopic study of glomerular podocytes. Kidney Internat. 7, 111 (1975)
- [597a] Grishman, E., Churg, J., Porush, J.G.: Glomerular morphology in nephrotic heroin addicts. Lab. Invest. 35, 415 (1976)
- [598] Grishman, E., Cohen, S., Salomon, M.I., Churg, J.: Renal lesions in acute rheumatic fever. Amer. J. Path. 51, 1045 (1967)
- [599] Grishman, E., Porush, J.G., Lee, S.L.: Renal biopsies in lupus nephritis: Correlation of electron microscopic findings with clinical course. Amer. J. Path. 66, 60a (1970)
- [600] Grishman, E., Porush, J.G., Lee, S.L., Churg, J.: Renal biopsies in lupus nephritis. Correlation of electron microscopic findings with clinical course. Nephron 10, 25 (1973)
- [601] Grishman, E., Porush, J.G., Rosen, S.M., Churg, J.: Lupus nephritis with organized deposits in the kidneys. Lab. Invest. 16, 717 (1967)
- [601a] Gross, F.: Kidney and hypertension. Klin. Wschr. 50, 621-635 (1972)
- [602] Gross, P., Morningstar, W.: Focal glomerulonephritis in elderly patients. Amer. J. Path. **19**, 333 (1943)
- [602a] Grossman, H., Winchester, P.H., Chisari, F.V.: Roentgenographic classification of renal cystic disease. Am. J. Roentgen. Rad. Ther. Nucl. Med. 104, 319 (1968)
- [603] Grøttum, K.A., Flatmark, A., Myhre, E., Jansen, H., Teisberg, P., Øystese, B., Husby, G., Hovig, T.: Immunological hereditary nephropathy. Acta med. scand. Suppl. 571, 1 (1974)
- [604] Grünfeld, J.P., Le Porrier, M., Droz, D., Bensande, I., Hinglais, N., Crosnier, J.: La transplantation rénale chez

les sujets atteints de maladie de Fabry. Nouv. Presse méd. 4, 2081 (1975)

- [605] Grupe, W.E.: IgG B1C cryoglobulins in acute glomerulonephritis. Pediatrics 42, 474 (1968)
- [606] Grupe, W.E., Cuppage, F.E., Heymann, W.: Congenital nephrotic syndrome with interstitial nephritis. Amer. J. Dis. Child. 111, 482 (1966)
- [607] Gsell, O.: Nephropathie durch Analgetica. Papillennekrosen und chronische interstitielle Nephritis durch Mißbrauch phenacetinhaltiger Analgetica. Ergebn. inn. Med. Kinderheilk. 35, 68 (1974)
- [608] Guardia, J., Pedreira, J.D., Martinez-Vazquez, J.M., Vidal, M.T., Vilardell, M., Caralps, A., Ferrer, E., Bacardi, R.: Glomérulonéphrites chroniques avec antigène Hb. Nouv. Presse méd. 4, 2923 (1975)
- [608a] Gueller, R., Dubach, U.C.: Tumoren der Harnwege nach regelmäßiger Einnahme phenacetinhaltiger Analgetika? Helv. med. Acta 36, 247 (1971)
- [609] Gupta, R.K.: Immunohistochemical study of glomerular lesions in retroperitoneal lymphomas. Amer. J. Path. 71, 427 (1973)
- [610] Gurr, E.: Staining Animal Tissues. London: L. Hill, 1962
- [611] Gutman, R.A., Hamon, C.B., Striker, G.E.: Recovery after prolonged oliguria. Arch. int. Med. 126, 914 (1970)
- [612] Gutman, R.A., Striker, G.E., Gilliland, B.C., Cutler, R.E.: The immune complex glomerulonephritis of bacterial endocarditis. Medicine 51, 1 (1972)
- [613] Györkey, F., Györkey, P.: Systemic lupus erythematosus. Amer. J. Path. 62, 56 (1971)
- [614] Györkey, F., Linkovics, J.G., Min, K.W., Györkey, P.: A morphologic study on the occurrence and distribution of structures resembling viral nucleocapsids in collagen disease. Amer. J. Med. 53, 148 (1972)
- [615] Györkey, F., Min, K.W., Györkey, P.: Renal changes in hepatitis-associated antigenemia with hematuria. Immunofluorescent and electronmicroscopic study. Amer. J. Path. 66, 59 (1972)
- [616] Györkey, F., Min, K.W., Györkey, P.: Idiopathic nephrotic syndrome in adults: Immunohistochemical and electron microscopic study. Lab. Invest. 28, 385 (1973)
- [617] Györkey, F., Min, K.W., Krisko, I., Györkey, P., Eknoyan, G.: Membranous glomerulonephritis in chronic aggressive hepatitis. Lab. Invest. 32, 448 (1975)
- [618] Györkey, F., Min, K., O'Neal, R.M., Györkey, P.: The glomeruli in nephritis of Schönlein-Henoch syndrome. Ultrastructural observations in adult patients. Lab. Invest. 18, 324 (1968)
- [619] Haas, J.E., Yunis, E.J.: Tubular inclusions of systemic lupus erythematosus. Ultrastructural observations regarding their possible viral nature. Exp. molec. Path. 12, 257 (1970)
- [620] Habib, R.: Classification anatomique des néphropathies glomérulaires. Päd. Fortbild. 28, 3 (1970)
- [621] Habib, R.: Classification of glomerulonephritis based on morphology. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, 17
- [622] Habib, R.: Discussion on Schönlein-Henoch-Nephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 1133

- [624] Habib, R.: Focal glomerular sclerosis. Kidney Internat.4, 355 (1973)
- [623] Habib, R.: Histologic classification of glomerular lesions. In: Proc. 5th Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Mexico 1972. Basel/New York: Karger, 1974, Vol 1, p. 37
- [625] Habib, R., Bois, E.: Hétérogénéité des syndromes néphrotiques à début précoce du nourrisson (syndrome néphrotique "infantile"). Helv. paed. Acta 28, 91 (1973)
- [626] Habib, R., Courtecuisse, V., Ehrensperger, J., Royer, P.: Hypoplasie segmentaire du rein avec hypertension artérielle. Sem. Hôp. 41, 954 (1965)
- [627] Habib, R., Courtecuisse, V., Leclerc, F., Mathieu, H., Royer, P.: Etude anatomo-pathologique de 35 observations de syndrome hémolytique et urémique de l'enfant. Arch. franç. Péd. 26, 391 (1969)
- [628] Habib, R., Courtecuisse, V., Mathieu, H., Royer, P.: Un type anatomo-clinique particulier d'insuffisance rénale chronique de l'enfant: l'hypoplasie oligonéphronique congénitale bilaterale. J. Urol. Néphrol. 68, 139 (1962)
- [629] Habib, R., Guler, M.C.: Les lésions glomerulaires focales des syndromes néphrotiques idiopathiques de l'enfant. Nephron 8, 382 (1971)
- [630] Habib, R., Gubler, M.C.: Focal sclerosing glomerulonephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 263
- [631] Habib, R., Gubler, M.C., Loirat, C., Maiz, H.B., Levy, M.: Dense deposit disease: a variant of membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis. Kidney Internat. 7, 204 (1975)
- [632] Habib, R., Kleinkecht, C.: The primary nephrotic syndrome of childhood. Path. Ann. 6, 417 (1971)
- [633] Habib, R., Kleinknecht, C., Gubler, M.C.: Extramembranous glomerulonephritis in children: Report of 50 cases.
 J. Pediat. 82, 754 (1973)
- [634] Habib, R., Kleinknecht, C., Gubler, M.C., Levy, M.: Idiopathic membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis in children. Report of 105 cases. Clin. Nephrol. 1, 194 (1973)
- [635] Habib, R., Kleinknecht, C., Gubler, M.C., Maiz, H.B.: Idiopathic membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 491
- [636] Habib, R., Kleinknecht, C., Royer, P.: Le syndrome néphrotique primitif de l'enfant. Arch. franç. Péd. 28, 277 (1971)
- [637] Habib, R., Levy, M.: Les néphropathies de purpura rheumatoide chez l'enfant. Arch. franç. Péd. 29, 305 (1972)
- [638] Hackzell, G., Lendmark, C.: Familial juvenile nephronophthisis. Acta paed. 47, 428 (1958)
- [639] Haddad, M.J.K., Mani, M.R.L.: Percutaneous renal biopsy. An improved method using television monitoring and high-dose infusion pyelography. Arch. int. Med. 119, 157 (1967)
- [640] Hadley, W.K., Rosenau, W.: Study of human renal disease by immunofluorescent methods. Arch. Path. 83, 342 (1967)
- [641] Hagadorn, J.E., Vazquez, J.J., Kinney, T.R.: Immunopathologic studies of an experimental model resembling Goodpasture's syndrome. Amer. J. Path. 57, 17 (1969)
- [642] Haggitt, R.C., Pitcock, J.A.: Renal medullary calcifica-

tions: a light and electron microscopic study. J. Urol. **106**, 342 (1971)

- [643] Hajdu, S.I., Foote, F.W.: Angiomyolipoma of the kidney: report of 27 cases and review of the literature. J. Urol. 10, 396 (1969)
- [643a] Hajzok, O., Tomzik, F., Hajzokovla, M.: Amyloidosis in rheumatoid arthritis. A study of 48 histologically confirmed cases. J. Rheumatol. 35, 356 (1976)
- [644] Hall, J.W., Johnson, W.J., Maher, F.T., Hunt, J.C.: Immediate and long-term prognosis in acute renal failure. Ann. int. Med. 73, 515 (1970)
- [645] Hallman, N., Novio, R., Kouselainen, K., Vilska, J., Kojo, H.: Das kongenitale nephrotische Syndrom. Ergebn. inn. Med. Kinderheilk. N.F. 30, 3 (1970)
- [646] Hallman, N., Novio, R., Rapola, J.: Congenital nephrotic syndrome. Nephron 11, 101 (1973)
- [647] Halverstedt, D.B., Wenzl, J.E.: Primary hyperoxaluria and renal transplantation. J. Urol. 111, 398 (1974)
- [648] Ham, K.N., Tange, J.D.: Silver deposition in rat glomerular basement membrane. Austr. J. exp. Biol. med. Sci. 50, 423 (1972)
- [649] Hambidge, K.M., Goodman, S.J., Walravens, P.A., Mauer, S.M., Brettschneider, L., Penn, J., Starzl, T.E.: Accumulation of cystine following renal homotransplantation for cystinosis. Pediat. Res. 3, 364 (1969) (Abstr.)
- [650] Hamburger, J.: Renal transplantation. In: Organ Transplantation Today. Mitchinson, N.A., Greep, J.M., Hattinger-Verschure, J.C. (eds.). Amsterdam: Excerpta Med. Found., 1969, p. 276
- [651] Hamburger, J., Berger, J., Hinglais, N., Descamps, B.: New insights into the pathogenesis of glomerulonephritis afforded by the study of renal allografts. Clin. Nephrol. 1, 3 (1973)
- [652] Hamburger, J., Crosnier, J., Dormont, J.: La transplantation rénale. In: Proc. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966. Basel-New York: Karger, 1967, Vol. III, p. 365
- [653] Hamburger, J., Crosnier, J., Dormont, J., Bach, J.F.: Renal Transplantation. Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins, 1972
- [654] Hamburger, J., Hinglais, N., Montera, H. de: Renal biopsy in 1000 cases of chronic glomerular disease. In: Nephrology. Cornell Seminars. Lovell-Becker, E., Heinemann, H.O., Sherman, K.L. (eds.). Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins, 1971, p. 63
- [655] Hamburger, J., Richet, G., Crosnier, J., Funk-Brentano, J.L., Antoine, B., Ducrot, H., Mery, J.P., Montera, H. de: Nephrology. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders, 1968, Vol. I and II
- [655a] Hamshepre, R.J., Grisholm, G.D., Shackman, R.: Late urinary tract infection after renal transplantation. Lancet 1974/II, 793
- [656] Hamza, M., Levy, M., Broyer, M., Habib, R.: Deux cas de glomérulonéphrite membranoproliférative avec lipodystrophie partielle de type facio-tronculaire. J. Urol. Néphrol. 56, 1032 (1970)
- [657] Hanauer, L.B., Christian, C.L.: Studies of cryoproteins in systemic lupus erythematosus. J. clin. Invest. 46, 400 (1967)
- [658] Hara, M.: Persistent glomerular changes after acute glo-

merulonephritis: a histometrical study of 34 autopsy cases. Beitr. Path. 147, 133 (1972)

- [659] Hara, M., Meyer, D., Bohle, A.: The glomerular mesangium in hypertension. A morphometrical comparison of nephrosclerosis with mesangioproliferative glomerulonephritis on renal biopsies. Virchows Arch. A 368, 275 (1975)
- [660] Harada, M., Jsersky, C., Cuatrecasas, P., Page, D., Bladen, H.A., Eanes, E.D., Keiser, H.R., Glenner, G.G.: Human amyloid protein: chemical variability and homogeneity. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 19, 1 (1971)
- [661] Hardwicke, J., Blainey, J.D., Brewer, D.B., Soothill, J.F.: The nephrotic syndrome. In: Abstr. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966, p. 103
- [662] Harman, J.W., Hogan, J.M.: Multinucleated epithelial cells in the human kidney. Arch. Path. 47, 29 (1949)
- [662a] Hauglustaine, D., Corbeel, L., Damme, B. van, Serrus, M., Michielsen, P.: Glomerulonephritis in late-onset cystinosis. Report of two cases and review of the literature. Clin. Nephrol. 6, 529 (1976)
- [663] Harper, J.T., Puchtler, H., Meloan, S.N., Terry, M.S.: Histochemical study of basement membrane cristae in human kidneys. Lab. Invest. 22, 500 (1970)
- [664] Harris, H.: Genetic aspects of renal disease. In: Renal Disease, 3rd ed. Black, D. (ed.). Oxford: Blackwell, 1973, p. 781
- [665] Harris, J.D., Ehrenfeld, W.K., Lee, J.C., Wylie, E.J.: Experimental renal vein occlusion. Surg. Gynec. Obstet. 126, 1 (1968)
- [666] Harrison, E.G., Jr., Hunt, J.C., Bernatz, P.E.: Morphology of fibromuscular dysplasia of the renal artery in renovascular hypertension. Amer. J. Med. 43, 97 (1967)
- [666a] Hassler, O.: Cell renewal in aortic necrosis following orthostatic collapse. Virchows Arch. A. 358, 259 (1973)
- [667a] Hauss, W.H.: Über die Rolle des Mesenchyms in der Genese der Arteriosklerose. Virchows Arch. A. 359, 135 (1973)
- [667] Hauptmann, A.: Zum Problem der Überlastungsglomerulitis in hochgradigen pyelonephritischen Schrumpfnieren. Virchows Arch. 339, 206 (1965)
- [668] Hawkins, D., Cochrane, C.G.: Glomerular basement membrane damage in immunological glomerulonephritis. Immunology 14, 665 (1968)
- [669] Hayduk, K.: Renin-sezernierende Tumoren. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 98, 1874 (1973)
- [670] Hayslett, J.P., Beusch, K.G., Kashgarian, M., Rosenberg, L.E.: Focal glomerulonephritis due to penicillamine. Lab. Invest. 19, 376 (1968)
- [671] Hayslett, J.P., Kashgarian, M., Beusch, K.G., Spargo, B.H., Freedman, L.R., Epstein, F.H.: Clinico-pathological correlations in the nephrotic syndrome due to primary renal disease. Medicine 52, 93 (1973)
- [672] Hayslett, J.P., Krassner, S., Beusch, K.G., Kashgarian, M., Epstein, F.H.: Progression of "lipoid nephrosis" to renal insufficiency. New Engl. J. Med. 281, 181 (1969)
- [673] Heggtveit, H.A., Hennigar, G.R., Morrione, T.G.: Panarteritis. Amer. J. Path. 42, 151 (1963)
- [674] Heidbreder, E., Hennemann, H., Heidland, A.: Hypercalciurie-Nephrocalcinose-Nephrolithiasis der Niere. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 99, 586 (1974)

- [675] Heimgartner, S.: Morphometrische Untersuchung zur Entwicklung der Basalmembranoberfläche von Nierenglomerula beim Menschen während des Lebens. Inaug. Diss., Basel (1974)
- [676] Heintz, R.: Renale Hypertonie. In: Arterielle Hypertonie. Heintz, R., Losse, H. (eds.). Stuttgart: Thieme, 1969, p. 203
- [677] Heitz, P.: 1973 Persönliche Mitteilung
- [678] Hendler, E.D., Kashgarian, M., Hayslett, J.P.: Clinicopathological correlations of primary haematuria. Lancet 1972/I, 458
- [679] Hendrickse, R.G., Glasgow, E.F., Adeniyi, A., White, R.H., Edington, G.M., Houba, V.: Quartan malarial nephrotic syndrome. Lancet 1972/I, 1143
- [680] Henningsen, B., Maintz, J., Basedow, M., Harders, H.: Nephrotisches Syndrom durch Penicillamin. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 98, 1768 (1973)
- [681] Henry, J.D., Utz, D.C., Halen, R.G., Thompson, J.H., Jr., Stilwell, G.G.: Echinococcal disease of the kidney: report of case. J. Urol. 96, 431 (1966)
- [682] Henson, J.B., Groham, J.R., Padgett, G.A., Davis, W.C.: Pathogenesis of the glomerular lesions in Aleutian disease of mink. Arch. Path. 87, 21 (1969)
- [683] Henson, P.M.: Interaction of cells with immune complexes: adherence, release of constituent, and tissue injury. J. exp. Med. 134, 1145 (1971)
- [684] Heptinstall, R.H.: Pathology of the Kidney. London: Churchill, 1966
- [685] Heptinstall, R.H.: Focal glomerulonephritis. In: Diseases of the Kidney, 2nd ed. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971, p. 463
- [686] Heptinstall, R.H.: Pathology of membranous glomerulonephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 415
- [687] Heptinstall, R.H.: Acute renal failure and the renal lesion. In: Cornell Seminars in Nephrology. Becker, E.L. (ed.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 119
- [687a] Heptinstall, R.H.: Interstitial nephritis. Amer. J. Path. 83, 213 (1976)
- [688] Heptinstall, R.H., Joekes, A.M.: Focal glomerulonephritis. A study based on renal biopsies. Quart. J. Med. N.S. 28, 329 (1959)
- [689] Heptinstall, R.H., Joekes, A.M.: Focal glomerulonephritis. In: Diseases of the Kidney. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1963, p. 306
- [690] Heptinstall, R.H., Salmon, M.V.: Pulmonary haemorrhage with extensive glomerular disease of the kidney. J. clin. Path. 12, 272 (1959)
- [691] Herdman, R.C., Good, R.A., Vernier, R.L.: Medullary cystic disease in two siblings. Amer. J. Med. 43, 335 (1967)
- [691 a] Hernandez, G.V., King, A.S., Needle, M.A.: Nephrosis and papillary necrosis after pyelonephritis. N. Engl. J. Med. 293, 1347 (1975)
- [692] Hers, H.G., Hoof, F. van (eds.): Lysosomes and Storage Diseases. New York: Academic Press, 1973
- [693] Heymann, W., Grupe, W.E., Hunter, J.L., Camma, A., Hachel, D.B., Cuppage, F.E., Weinberg, A.G.: Production of autoimmune nephrosis in rats by heterologous tissues. Nephron 7, 363 (1970)

- [694] Higgins, C.B., Braunwald, E.: The prostaglandins. Amer. J. Med. 53, 92 (1972)
- [694a] Higgins, M.R., Randall, R.E., Still, W.J.S.: Nephrotic syndrome with oat-cell carcinoma. Brit. Med. J. 1974/III, 450
- [695] Hill, G.S., Jenis, E.H., Goodloe, S.: The nonspecificity of the ultrastructural alteration in hereditary nephritis. Lab. Invest. 31, 516 (1974)
- [696] Hilton, C., Keeling, J.W.: Neonatal renal tumours. Brit. J. Urol. 46, 157 (1973)
- [697] Hinglais, N., Grünfeld, J.P., Bois, E.: Characteristic ultrastructural lesion of the glomerular basement membrane in progressive hereditary nephritis (Alport's syndrome). Lab. Invest. 27, 473 (1972)
- [698] Hirbec, G., Robin, M., Gouygou, C., Lagrue, G., Fournier, A.: Syndrom de Wegener avec atteinte rénale. Considerations histologiques, thérapeutiques et immunopathologiques. Sem. Hôp. 50, 531 (1974)
- [698a] Histocompatibility testing international. Nature 256, 696 (1975)
- [699] Hjelt, L., Paatela, M., Visakorpi, J.K.: Autopsy findings in Hartnup disease. In: Proc. 13th Northern Pediat. Congress, Copenhagen 1961
- [700] Hodson, C.J.: The kidney in hypertension. Proc. Roy. Soc. Med. 55, 583 (1962)
- [701] Hodson, C.J.: Coarse pyelonephritis scarring or "atrophic pyelonephritis". Proc. Roy. Soc. Med. 58, 785 (1965)
- [702] Hodson, C.J.: Radiological diagnosis of chronic pyelonephritis. In: Modern Trends in Urology. Riches, E. (ed.). London: Butterworth, 1970, Vol III, p. 18
- [703] Hodson, C.J.: Chronic pyelonephritis. Progr. Pediat. Radiol. 3, 231 (Basel and New York: Karger, 1970)
- [704] Hodson, C.J., Craven, J.D., Lewis, D.G., Matz, L.R., Clarke, R.J., Ross, E.J.: Experimental obstructive nephropathy in the pig. Brit. J. Urol. 41, Suppl. 6 (1969)
- [704a] Hoff, H.F., Gottlob, R.: Studies of the pathogenesis of the atherosclerosis with experimental model systems. I. An electron microscopy study of the effect of artificial fat-emulsion injections into the lumen of doubly-ligated rabbit carotid arteries. Virchows Arch. A. 347, 1 (1969)
- [704b] Hoff, H.F., Gottlob, R.: Studies on the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis with experimental model systems. II. An electron microscopy study on the upstake of egg lipoproteins by endothelial and smooth muscle cells of the doubly-ligated rabbit carotid artery. Virchows Arch. A. 348, 77 (1969)
- [705] Höffler, D., Fiegel, P.: Indikationen zur perkutanen Nierenbiopsie. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 97, 1558 (1972)
- [705a] Hofschneider, P.H., Zollinger, H.U.: Ein außergewöhnlicher, tödlich verlaufender Fall primär-chronischer Polyarthritis mit rheumatischer Cardiovaskulitis. Ztschr. Rheumaforsch. 17, 121 (1958)
- [706] Høgman, C.F.: Blood group antigens A and B determined by means of mixed agglutination on cultures cells of human fetal kidney, liver, spleen, lung, heart and skin. Vox sang. 4, 319 (1959)
- [707] Hoigne, R., Latscha, U., Mumenthaler, M., Niesel, P., Laissue, J.: Arteriitis temporalis oder Riesenzellarteriitis. Schweiz. med. Wsch. 99, 392 (1969)
- [707a] Hollcraft, R.M., Dubois, E.L., Lundberg, G.D., Chandor, S.B., Gilbert, S.B., Quismorio, F.P., Barbour, B.H.,
Friou, G.J.: Renal damage in systemic lupus erythematosus with normal renal function. J. Rheumatol. **3**, 251 (1976)

- [708] Holgersen, O., Gloor, F., Rohr, H.P., Torhorst, U.: Frühveränderungen an der proximalen Tubuluszelle der Rattenniere nach Sublimatvergiftung. Virchows Arch. B 3, 324 (1969)
- [709] Hollenberg, N.K., Adams, D.F., Oken, D.E., Abrams, H.L., Merrill, J.P.: Acute renal failure due to nephrotoxins. Renal hemodynamic and angiographic studies in man. New Engl. J. Med. 282, 1329 (1970)
- [710] Hollenberg, N.K., Retik, E.B., Rosen, S.M., Murray, J.E., Merrill, J.P.: The role of vaso-constriction in the ischemia of renal allograft rejection. Transplant. 6, 59 (1968)
- [711] Hooft, C., Laeg, P. de, Timmermans, J., Snoeck, J.: La maladie de Hartnup. Acta paed. belg. 16, 281 (1962)
- [712] Hoover, R., Fraumeni, J.F.: Risk of cancer in renal transplant recipients. Lancet 1973/II, 55
- [713] Hopper, J., Jr., Ryan, P., Lee, J.C., Rosenau, W.: Lipoid nephrosis in 31 adult patients; renal biopsy study by light, electron, and fluorescence microscopy with experience in treatment. Medicine 49, 321 (1970)
- [714] Horn, R.G., Fauci, A.S., Rosenthal, A.S., Wolff, S.H.: Renal biopsy pathology in Wegener's granulomatosis. Amer. J. Path. 74, 423 (1974)
- [715] Horowitz, H.J., Prez, R.M. Des, Hook, E.W.: Activation of platelet factor III activity in vivo and in vitro. J. exp. Med. 116, 619 (1962)
- [716] Horsfield, G.I., Lannigan, R.: Exsudative lesions in diabetes mellitus. J. clin. Path. 18, 47 (1965)
- [717] Hotchin, J., Collins, D.N.: Glomerulonephritis and late onset disease of mice following neonatal virus infection. Nature 203, 1357 (1964)
- [718] Hou, L.T., Azzopardi, J.G.: Mucoepidermoid metaplasia and argentaffine cells in nephroblastoma. J. Path. Bact. 93, 477 (1967)
- [719] Hoyer, J.R., Mauer, S.M., Kjellstrand, C.M., Buselmeier, T.J., Simmons, R.L., Michael, A.F., Najarian, J.S., Vernier, R.L.: Successful renal transplantation in 3 children with congenital nephrotic syndrome. Lancet 1973/I, 1410
- [720] Hoyer, J.R., Raij, L., Vernier, R.L., Simmons, R.L., Najarian, J.S., Michael, A.F.: Recurrence of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome after renal transplantation. Lancet 1972/11, 343
- [721] Hsu, C.H., Preuss, H.G., Argy, W.P., Schreiner, G.E.: Prolonged tubular malfunction following acute oliguric renal failure. Nephron 13, 342 (1974)
- [722] Huang, S.N., Millman, I., O'Connell, A., Aronoff, A., Gault, H., Blumberg, B.S.: Virus-like particles in Australia antigen-associated hepatitis. Amer. J. Path. 67, 453 (1972)
- [722a] Huang, S.N., Minassian, H., More, J.D.: Application of immunofluorescent staining on paraffin sections improved by trypsin digestion. Lab. Invest. 35, 383 (1976)
- [723] Huang, T.W., Lagunoff, D., Benditt, H.E.P.: Non aggregative adherence of platelets to basal lamina in vitro. Lab. Invest. 31, 156 (1974)
- [723a] Huettner, I., Jellinek, H., Kerenyi, T.: Fibrin formations in vascular fibrinoid change in experimental hyperten-

sions: An electron microscopic study. Exp. molec. Path. 9, 309 (1968)

- [724] Hug, G., Schubert, W.R.: Glycogenosis type II. Arch. Path. 84, 141 (1967)
- [724a] Hug, J., Mihatsch, M.J.: Die primäre Oxalosis. Fortschr. Röntgenstr. 123, 153 (1975)
- [725] Huguenin, M.: Etude de la régénération de la fonction rénale après occlusion de l'urétère chez le rat. Rev. suisse Zool. 79, 775 (1972)
- [726] Huguenin, M., Thiel, G., Brunner, F., Torhorst, J., Birbaumer, A., Schmidt, U.: Tubular obstruction in the pathogenesis of folic acid induced acute renal failure: proximal passage times and intratubular pressures. Kidney Internat. 3, 274 (1973)
- [727] Huguenin, M.E., Thiel, G., Brunner, F.P., Torhorst, J., Flueckiger, E.W., Wirz, H.: Regeneration du rein après levée d'une occlusion de l'urétère chez le rat. Kidney Internat. 5, 221 (1974)
- [728] Hugues, J., Mahieu, P.: Platelet aggregation induced by basement membranes. Thromb. Diath. Haemorrh. 24, 395 (1970)
- [729] Humair, L.: Thromboses des veines rénales. Ann. Anat. path. 7, 5 (1962)
- [730] Humair, L.: Bases immunologiques des néphropathies glomérulaires. Helv. med. Acta 36, Suppl. 52, 1 (1972)
- [731] Humair, L.: Formes évolutives et prognostiques des glomérulonéphrites. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 105, 1758 (1975)
- [732] Hume, D.M.: Prospects of kidney transplantation. In: Organ Transplantation. Mitchison, N.A., Greep, J.M., Haltinga-Verschure, J.C. (eds.). Amsterdam: Excerpta Med. Found. 1969, p. 311
- [733] Hume, D.M.: Organ transplants and immunity. In: Immunobiology. Good, R.A., Fisher, D.W. (eds.). Stanford: Sinauer Ass. 1971, p. 185
- [734] Hume, D.M., Sterling, S.W., Weysmouth, R.J., Siebel, H.R., Madge, G.E., Lee, H.M.: Glomerulonephritis in human renal homotransplants. Transplant. Proc. 2, 361 (1970)
- [735] Hunt, D.D., Stearns, G., McKinley, J.B., Froning, E., Hicks, P., Bonfiglio, M.: Long-term study of family with Fanconi syndrome without cystinosis (de Toni-Debre-Fanconi syndrome). Amer. J. Med. 40, 492 (1966)
- [736] Huriet, C., Rauber, G., Royer, J., Larcan, A.: Néphrocalcinose et granulomatose rénale. Manifestations de la maladie de Besnier-Boeck-Schaumann. Presse méd. 75, 129 (1967)
- [737] Hurley, R.M., Drummond, K.N.: Anaphylactoid purpura nephritis: clinicopathological correlations. J. Pediat. 81, 904 (1972)
- [738] Hurley, R.M., Drummond, K.N.: Glomerular enlargement in primary renal disease. A quantitative study. Arch. Path. 97, 389 (1974)
- [739] Huth, F.: Beiträge zur Orthologie und Pathologie der Lymphgefäße der Niere. Beitr. Path. 136, 341 (1968)
- [740] Huth, F., MacClure, E.: Morphologische Veränderungen der Nieren von Kaninchen nach Injektion von Schlangengift (Bothrops jararaca). Frankf. Z. Path. 74, 91 (1964)
- [741] Hyman, L.R., Burkholder, P.M.: Focal sclerosing glomerulonephropathy with segmental hyalinosis. A clinicopathologic analysis. Lab. Invest. 28, 533 (1973)

- [742] Hyman, L.R., Burkholder, P.M.: Focal sclerosing glomerulopathy with hyalinosis. J. Pediat. 84, 217 (1974)
- [743] Hyman, L.R., Wagnild, J.P., Beirne, G.J., Burkholder, P.M.: Immunoglobulin-A distribution in glomerular disease: analysis of immunofluorescence localization and pathogenetic significance. Kidney Internat. 3, 397 (1973)
- [744] Ianhez, L.E., Borelli, A., Ribeiro Leite, M.O., Sabbaga, E.: Kidney transplant from a patient with idiopathic hypercalciuria. Urol. int. 31, 198 (1976)
- [744a] Iannaccone, P., Jones, D.B.: Atheromatous emboli in renal biopsies. Lab. Invest. **30**, 377 (1974)
- [745] Iidaka, K., Meloy, J., Kimmelstiel, P.: The glomerular mesangium, a quantitative analysis. Lab. Invest. 19, 573 (1968)
- [746] Illig, L.: Das Sanarelli-Shwartzman-Phänomen im Lichte moderner Forschung. Hautarzt 18, 241 (1967)
- [747] Imahori, S.: Kidney lesions in multiple myeloma. Lab. Invest. 26, 479 (1972)
- [748] Imhof, P., Howald, H., Schumann, G., Wagner, J., Sulc, M., Blatter, K.: Die Bedeutung der Zylindrurie bei körperlichen Anstrengungen. Schweiz. Z. Sportmed. 20, 81 (1972)
- [749] Inglis, J.A., Halliday, J.W.: Renal damage after subtotal nephrectomy. Pathology 1, 177 (1969)
- [750] Intorp, H.W., Moenninghoff, W., Loew, H.H., Losse, H.: Klinische und elektronenmikroskopische Befunde beim Goodpasture-Syndrom. Niere und Hochdruckkrankh. 3, XVI (1974)
- [751] Irey, N.S., Norris, H.J.: Intimal vascular lesions associated with female reproductive steroids. Arch. Path. 96, 227 (1973)
- [752] Ishizaka, T., Ishizaka, K., Salomon, S., Fudenberg, H.: Biological activities of aggregated gammaglobulin.
 VIII. Aggregated immunoglobulins of different classes.
 J. Immunol. 99, 82 (1967)
- [753] Isler, U.M.: Die Nierenveränderungen bei der chronischen Schwefelkohlenstoffvergiftung der Ratte. Z. ges. exp. Med. 128, 314 (1957)
- [754] Ito, J., Johnson, W.W.: Ultrastructure of Wilm's tumor.I. Epithelial cell. J. Nat. Cancer Inst. 42, 77 (1969)
- [755] Ivemark, B.I., Ljungqvist, A., Barry, A.: Juvenile nephronophthisis. II. A histologic and microangiographic study. Acta paed. 49, 480 (1960)
- [756] Iversen, P., Brun, C.: Aspiration biopsy of the kidney. Amer. J. Med. 11, 324 (1951)
- [757] Iversen, U.M.: Hereditary nephropathy with hearing loss. Alport's syndrome. Acta paed. scand. Suppl. 245 (1974)
- [757a] Izui, S., Lambert, P.-H., Miescher, P.A.: In vitro demonstration of particular affinity of glomerular basement membrane and collagen for DNA. J. Expr. Med. 144, 428 (1976)
- [758] Jackson, D.J., Smith, F.G., Litman, N.N., Yuile, C.L., Latta, H.: The Fanconi syndrome with cystinosis. Amer. J. Med. 33, 893 (1962)
- [759] Jaenike, J.R.: The renal response to ureteral obstruction. A model for the study of factors which influence glomerular filtration pressure. J. Lab. clin. Med. 76, 373 (1970)
- [760] Jaffe, I.A., Freser, G., Suzuki, Y., Ehrenreich, T.: Nephropathy induced by D-Penicillamine. Ann. int. Med. 69, 549 (1968)
- [761] Jahnecke, J., Bohle, A., Brun, C.: Über vergleichende

Untersuchungen an Nierenpunktionszylindern bei normaler Nierenfunktion und bei akutem Nierenversagen. Klin. Wschr. 41, 371 (1963)

- [762] Jahnecke, J., Kommerell, B., Bohle, A.: Beitrag zur Struktur des Nephron. Vergleichende Untersuchungen an autoptisch und bioptisch gewonnenem Nierengewebe. Klin. Wschr. 40, 227 (1962)
- [763] Jamieson, R.L.: Intrarenal heterogeneity. The case for two functionally dissimilar populations of nephrons in the mammalian kidney. Amer. J. Med. 54, 281 (1973)
- [764] Janisch, H.: Die Nierenveränderungen bei Schwangerschaftsintoxikation. Wien. klin. Wschr. 81, 749 (1969)
- [765] Jansen, H.H.: Segmentär ausgebreitete maligne Nephrosklerose bei akzessorischer Nierenarterie. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 93, 1097 (1963)
- [766] Jao, W., Lewy, P., Norris, S.H., Pollak, V.E., Pirani, C.L.: Lipoid nephrosis: a reassessment. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 183
- [767] Jao, W., Pirani, C.L.: Ranal amyloidosis: electron microscopic observations. Acta path. microbiol. scand A 80, Suppl. 233, 217 (1972)
- [768] Jeannet, M., Pinn, V.W., Flax, M.H., Winn, H.J., Russell, P.S.: Humoral antibodies in renal allotransplantation in man. New Engl. J. Med. 282, 111 (1970)
- [769] Jenis, E.H., Sandler, P., Hill, G.S., Knieser, U.R., Jensen, G.E., Roskes, S.D.: Glomerulonephritis with basement membrane dense deposits. Arch. Path. 97, 84 (1974)
- [770] Jenis, E.H., Teichman, S., Briggs, W.A., Sandler, P., Hollerman, C.E., Calcagno, P.L., Knieser, M.R., Jensen, G.E., Valeski, J.E.: Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. Amer. J. Med. 57, 695 (1974)
- [771] Jennings, R.: Pathology and natural history of acute glomerulonephritis. In: Acute Glomerulonephritis. Metcalf, J. (ed.). London: Churchill, 1967, p. 101
- [772] Jennings, R.B., Earle, D.P.: Post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis: histopathologic and clinical studies of the acute, subsiding acute and early chronic latent phase. J. clin. Invest. 40, 1525 (1961)
- [773] Jensen, E.: On the pathology of angiokeratoma corporis diffusum (Fabry). Acta path. microbiol. scand. 68, 313 (1966)
- [774] Jensen, M.M.: Viruses and kidney disease. Amer. J. Med. 43, 897 (1967)
- [774a] Jeune, M., Freycon, M.-T., Hermier, M., Lamit, J., Abboud, N., Brunat, N.: Les néphropathies dans la lipodystrophie progressive ou maladie de Barraquer-Simons. Semaine des Hôp. 41, 2869 (1965)
- [775] Johannessen, J.V.: Renal venous thrombosis. Arch. Path. 97, 272 (1974)
- [776] Johansson, S., Angervall, L., Bengtsson, U., Wahlqvist, L.: Uroepithelial tumors of the renal pelvis associated with abuse of phenacetin-containing analgesics. Cancer 33, 743 (1974)
- [776a] Johansson, S., Angervall, L., Bengtsson, U., Wahlqvist, L.: A clinicopathologic and prognostic study of epithelial tumors of the renal pelvis. Cancer 37, 1376 (1976)
- [777] Jones, D.B.: Glomerulonephritis. Amer. J. Path. 29, 33 (1953)
- [778] Jones, D.B.: Nephrotic glomerulonephritis. Amer. J. Path. 33, 313 (1957)

- [779] Jones, D.B.: The nature of scar tissue in glomerulonephritis. Amer. J. Path. 42, 185 (1963)
- [780] Jones, D.B.: Formation and healing of glomerular epithelial crescents. Lab. Invest. 18, 326 (1968)
- [781] Jones, D.B.: Wegener's granulomatosis, a light and electron microscopic study of renal biopsies of three cases. Lab. Invest. 24, 435 (1971)
- [782] Jones, D.B.: Focal glomerulonephritis in renal biopsies. Lab. Invest. 26, 480 (1972)
- [783] Jones, D.B.: Arterial and glomerular lesions associated with severe hypertension. Lab. Invest. 31, 303 (1974)
- [784] Jones, D.B.: Myeloma nephropathy, a light chain storage disease. Amer. J. Path. 78, 49 a (1975)
- [785] Jones, D.B., Iannaccone, P.M.: Atheromatous emboli in renal biopsies. Amer. J. Path. 78, 261 (1975)
- [785a] Jones, N.F.: Renal amyloidosis: pathogenesis and therapy. Clin. Nephrol. 6, 459 (1976)
- [786] Jones, W.P., Burns, W.A., Reagan, K.M.: Electron microscopy in the diagnosis of Fabry's disease. Lab. Invest. 30, 378 (1974)
- [786a] Jongsma, A.P., Higmans, W., Ploem, J.S.: Quantitative immunofluorescence. Standardization and calibration in microfluorometry. Histochemie 25, 329 (1971)
- [787] Joppich, R., Anders, D., Eife, R., Lampert, F.: Interstitial nephritis in autoimmune hemolytic anemia. Z. Kinderheilk. 119, 161 (1975)
- [788] Jörg, H.: Nierenhamartome bei tuberöser Sklerose. Fortschr. Röntgenstr. 114, 381 (1971)
- [788a] Joris, I., Majno, G., Ryan, G.B.: Endothelial contraction in vivo: a study of the rat mesentery. Virchows Arch. B 12, 73 (1972)
- [788b] Joseph, T.J., Vogt, P.J.: Disseminated herpes with hepatorenal necrosis in an adult. Am. J. Med. 56, 735 (1974)
- [789] Juchems, R.: Neuere Gesichtspunkte zur Periarteriitis nodosa. Münch. med. Wschr. 109, 1113 (1967)
- [790] Jurukowa, Z., Dimitrov, Z.: Electron microscopic study of renal biopsy specimens obtained from children of families with endemic nephritis. In: 2nd Symp. on Endemic Nephropathy. Sofia: Union Med. Scient. Ass. Bulgaria, 1972, p. 35
- [791] Jurukowa, Z., Dinev, I.: Ultrastructural pattern of the kidney in endemic nephropathy. In: 2nd Symp. on Endemic Nephropathy. Sofia: Union Med. Scient. Ass. Bulgaria, 1972, p. 33
- [791a] Kadar, A., Gardner, D.L., Bush, V.: The relation between the fine structure of smooth muscle cells and elastogenesis in chick-embryo-aorta. J. Path. 104, 253 (1971)
- [791b] Kadar, A., Veress, B., Jellinek, H.: Ultrastructural elements in experimental intimal thickening. II. Study of the development of elastic elements in intimal proliferation. Exp. molec. Path. 11, 212 (1969)
- [792] Kahlke, W., Richterich, R.: Refsum's disease (Heredopathia atactica polyneuritiformis). Amer. J. Med. 39, 237 (1965)
- [793] Kalowski, S., Kincaid-Smith, P.: Glomerulonephritis in Henoch-Schoenlein syndrome. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 1123
- [794] Kämpfen, P., Hodler, J.: Die Behandlung der chronischen Glomerulonephritis mit Imuran. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 100, 2093 (1970)

- [794a] Kanfer, A., Sraer, J.-D., Feintuch, M.-J., Morel-Maroger, L., Baufils, Ph., Richet, G.: Insuffisance renale aiguë au cours de la périartérite nodeuse. Nouv. Presse Méd. 5, 1883 (1976)
- [795] Kanich, R.E., Craighead, J.E.: Cytomegalovirus infection and cytomegalic inclusion disease in renal homotransplant recipients. Amer. J. Med. 40, 874 (1966)
- [796] Kanich, R.E., Craighead, J.E.: Human cytomegalovirus infection of cultured fibroblasts. I. Cytopathologic effects induced by an adapted and a wild strain. Lab. Invest. 27, 263 (1972)
- [797] Kantor, G., Herle, A.J. van, Barnett, E.V.: Autoantibodies of the IgD class. Clin. exp. Immunol. 6, 851 (1970)
- [798] Kantrowitz, A.R.: Granulomatous inflammation of the kidneys. J. Mount Sinai Hosp. 24, 945 (1957)
- [799] Kanwar, Y.S., Manaligod, J.R.: Leukemic urate nephropathy. Arch. Path. 99, 467 (1975)
- [800] Kaplan, A.P., Gigli, I., Austen, K.F.: Immunologic activation of Hageman factor and its relationship to fibrinolysis, bradykinin generation and complement. J. clin. Invest. 50, 51a (1971)
- [801] Kaplan, B.S., Wigglesworth, F.W., Marks, M.I., Drummond, K.N.: The glomerulopathy of congenital syphilis, an immune deposit disease. Pediatrics 81, 1154 (1972)
- [802] Kaplan, C., Pasternak, B., Shah, H., Gallo, G.: Age related incidence of sclerotic glomeruli in human kidneys. Amer. J. Path. 80, 227 (1975)
- [803] Kaplan, E.L., Anthony, B.F., Chapman, S.S., Wannamaker, L.W.: Epidemic acute glomerulonephritis associated with type 49 streptococcal pyoderma. I. Clinical and laboratory findings. Amer. J. Med. 48, 9 (1970)
- [804] Kapur, S., Vanichayakornkul, S., Burns, W.A.: Morphologic progression of membranoproliferative (lobular) glomerulonephritis and its recurrence in a renal allograft: A study by serial biopsies. Lab. Invest. 30, 400 (1974)
- [805] Kark, R.M.: Renal biopsy and prognosis. Ann. Rev. Med. 18, 269 (1967)
- [806] Kark, R.M.: Renal biopsy. J. Amer. med. Ass. 205, 220 (1968)
- [807] Kark, R.M., Buenger, R.E.: Television monitored fluoroscopy in percutaneous renal biopsy. Lancet 1966/I, 904
- [808] Kark, R.M., Pirani, C.L., Pollak, V.E., Muehrcke, R.C., Blainey, J.D.: The nephrotic syndrome in adults: A common disorder with many causes. Ann. int. Med. 49, 751 (1958)
- [809] Karnovsky, M.J., Ainsworth, S.K.: The structural basis of glomerular filtration. Adv. Nephrol. from the Necker Hospital. Year Book Med. Publ., Chicago 2, 35 (1972)
- [810] Kaschula, R.O., Uys, C.J., Kuijten, R.H., Dale, J.R., Wiggelinkhuizen, J.: Nephrotic syndrome of congenital syphilis. Arch. Path. 97, 289 (1974)
- [811] Katz, A., Little, A.H.: Gold nephropathy. Arch. Path. 96, 133 (1973)
- [812] Katz, A., Pruzanski, W.: IgD deposition in glomerulonephritis. Amer. J. clin. Path. 63, 291 (1975)
- [813] Kaufman, D.B., McIntosh, R.: The pathogenesis of the renal lesion in a patient with streptococcal disease, infected ventriculoatrial shunt, cryoglobulinemia and nephritis. Amer. J. Med. 50, 262 (1971)
- [814] Kaufman, D.B., McIntosh, R.M., Smith, F.G., Jr., Ver-

nier, R.L.: Diffuse familial nephropathy. A clinicopathological study. J. Pediat. 77, 37 (1970)

- [815] Kaufman, J.J., Goodwin, W.E.: Renal lymphatics. III. Clinical implications and experiments of nature. Ann. int. Med. 49, 109 (1958)
- [815a] Kaufmann, R.H., De Graeff, J., De La Riviere, G.B., Van Es, L.A.: Unilateral renal vein thrombosis and nephrotic syndrome. Report of a case with protein selectivity and antithrombin III clearance studies. Amer. J. Med. 60, 1048 (1976)
- [816] Kawano, K., Apakawa, M., McCoy, J., Porch, J., Kimmelstiel, P.: Quantitative study of glomeruli. Focal glomerulonephritis and diabetic glomerulonephrosis. Lab. Invest. 21, 269 (1969)
- [817] Keane, W.F., Crosson, J.T., Staley, N.A., Anderson, W.R., Shapiro, F.L.: Radiation-induced renal disease. Amer. J. Med. 60, 127 (1976)
- [817a] Keiding, N.R., Root, H.F., Marble, A.: Importance of control of diabetes in prevention of vascular complications. J. Amer. med. Ass. 150, 964 (1952)
- [818] Kelalis, P.P., Greene, L.F., Weed, L.A.: Brucellosis of the urogenital tract: a mimic of tuberculosis. J. Urol. 88, 347 (1962)
- [819] Kelley, V.E., Cotran, R.S.: Mesangial and subepithelial localization of ferritin immune complexes in mouse glomerulus. Lab. Invest. 27, 144 (1972)
- [820] Kelley, W.N., Wyngaarden, J.B.: The Lesch-Nyhan syndrome. In: The Metabolic Basis of Inherited Disease. Stanburg, J.B., Wyngaarden, J.B., Fredrickson, D.S. (eds.). New York: McGraw Hill, 1972, p. 969
- [821] Kellow, W.F., Cotsonas, N.J., Chomet, B., Zimmerman, H.T.: Evaluation of the adequacy of needle-biopsy specimens of the kidney. Arch. int. Med. 104, 353 (1959)
- [822] Kerkhoven, P., Briner, J., Blumberg, A.: Nephrotisches Syndrom als Erstmanifestation maligner Lymphome. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 103, 1706 (1973)
- [823] Keslin, M.H., Messner, R.P., Williams, R.C., Jr.: Glomerulonephritis with subacute bacterial endocarditis. Immunofluorescent studies. Arch. int. Med. 132, 578 (1973)
- [824] Kesselring, F., Zollinger, H.U.: Die Wegener'sche Granulomatose. Ergebn. inn. Med. Kinderheilk. NF 16, 41 (1961)
- [825] Kew, M.C., Abrahams, C., Seftel, H.C.: Chronic interstitital nephritis as a consequence of heatstroke. Quart. J. Med. N.S. 39, 189 (1970)
- [826] Kew, M.C., Brunt, P.W., Varma, R.R., Hourigan, K.J., Williams, H.S., Sherlock, S.: Renal and intrarenal bloodflow in cirrhosis of the liver. Lancet 1971/II, 504
- [827] Kibukamusake, J.W., Davies, D.R., Hutt, M.S.: Membranous nephropathy due to skin-lightening cream. Brit. med. J. 1974/I, 646
- [828] Kibukamusake, J.W., Hutt, M.S.: Histopathological features of the nephrotic syndrome associated with quartan malaria. J. clin. Path. 20, 117 (1967)
- [829] Kief, H., Engelbart, K., Arnold, G., Bähr, H.: Vacuoläre Rückresorption von nativer und abgebauter Gelatine (sog. osmotische Nephrose). Virchows Arch. B 1, 240 (1968)
- [830] Kielholz, P.: Gesamtschweizerische Enquête über die Häufigkeit des Medikamentenabusus. Şchweiz. Ärztezeitung 49, 1077 (1968)

- [830a] Kliger, A.S., Scheer, R.L.: Familial disease of renal medulla. Ann. Intern. Med. 85, 190 (1976)
- [831] Kilcoyne, M., Daly, J.J., Gocke, D.J., Thomson, G.E., Meltzer, J.J., Hsu, K.C., Tannenbaum, M.: Nephrotic syndrome in heroin addicts. Lancet 1972/I, 17
- [832] Kimmelstiel, P.: Diabetic nephropathy. In: The Kidney. Internat. Acad. Path. Monographs 6. Mostofi, F.K., Smith, E. (eds.). Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins, 1966, p. 226
- [833] Kimmelstiel, P.: Some glomerular lesions by electron microscopy. In: Abstr. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966, p. 13
- [834] Kimmelstiel, P., Kim, O.J., Beres, J.: Studies on renal biopsy specimens with the aid of the electron microscope. I. Glomeruli in diabetes. Amer. J. clin. Path. 38, 270 (1962)
- [835] Kimmelstiel, P., Osawa, G., Beres, J.: Glomerular basement membrane in diabetes. Amer. J. clin. Path. 45, 21 (1966)
- [836] Kimmelstiel, P., Wilson, C.: Inflammatory lesions in the glomeruli in pyelonephritis in relation to hypertension and renal insufficiency. Amer. J. Path. 12, 99 (1936)
- [837] Kincaid-Smith, P.: Pathogenesis of the renal lesion associated with the abuse of analgesics. Lancet 1967/I, 859
- [838] Kincaid-Smith, P.: Histological diagnosis of rejection of renal homografts in man. Lancet 1967/II, 849
- [839] Kincaid-Smith, P.: The natural history and treatment of mesangiocapillary glomerulonephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 591
- [840] Kincaid-Smith, P.: Discussion of lupusnephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 1223
- [840a] Kincaid-Smith, P., Hobbs, J.B.: Glomerulonephritis. A classification based on morphology with comments on the significance of vessel lesions. Med. J. Austral. 2, 1397 (1972)
- [841] Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathews, D.C.: The role of coagulation in the obliteration of glomerular capillaries. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Bccker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 871
- [842] Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathews, D.C.: The similarity of lesions and underlying mechanism in preeclamptic toxemia and postpartum renal failure. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 1013
- [843] Kincaid-Smith, P., McMichael, J., Murphy, E.A.: The clinical course and pathology of hypertension with papilloedema (malignant hypertension). Quart. J. Med. 27, 117 (1958)
- [844] Kincaid-Smith, P., Morris, P.J., Saker, B.M., Ting, A., Marshall, V.C.: Immediate renal-graft biopsy and subsequent rejection. Lancet 1968/II, 748
- [845] Kincaid-Smith, P., Saker, B.M., McKenzie, I.F.: Lesion in the vasa recta in experimental analgesic nephropathy. Lancet 1968/I, 24
- [846] Kinoshita, Y., Kosokabe, K., Yokoyama, Y., Morita, T.: Relationship between histologic findings and effects of glucocorticoid therapy on the nephrotic syndrome. Acta med. Biol. (jap.) 13, 79 (1966)

- [847] Kinoshita, Y., Osawa, G., Morita, T., Kobayashi, N., Wada, J., Ebe, T., Watanabe, M., Murohashi, K., Murayama, M.: Hereditary chronic nephritis (Alport) complicated by nephrotic syndrome. Acta med. biol. (jap.) 17, 101 (1969)
- [848] Kinoshita, Y., Yamada, A., Fujisaki, S., Hirasawa, Y., Watabe, Y., Osawa, G., Mikami, A., Takahashi, G., Morita, T.: New classification of diffuse glomerulonephritis based on prognosis, especially new proposal of subchronic glomerulonephritis. Acta med. biol. (jap.) 14, 35 (1966)
- [849] Kipnis, G.S., Jackson, G.G., Dallenbach, F.D., Schoenenberger, J.A.: Renal biopsy in pyelonephritis. Arch. int. Med. 95, 445 (1955)
- [850] Kirman, B.H., Black, J.A., Wilkinson, R.M., Evans, P.R.: Familial pitressin-resistant diabetes insipidus with mental defect. Arch. Dis. Child. 31, 59 (1956)
- [851] Kissmeyer-Nielsen, F., Thorsby, E.: Human transplantation antigens. Transpl. Rev. 4, 11 (1970)
- [852] Kistler, G.S., Grosscurth, P.: Intrazisternale Tubuluskomplexe in Zellen menschlicher Keimlinge mit Röteln-Embryopathie. Virchows Arch. B 14, 77 (1973)
- [852a] Kistler, G.S., Sonnabend, W.: Antikörper gegen ein fetorenales Antigen in Hepatitis B-Patienten, Trägern von Nierentumoren und gesunden Individuen. Schweiz. Med. Wschr. 104, 485 (1974)
- [853] Kjellstrand, C.M., Campbell, D.C., Hartitzsch, B. v., Buselmeier, T.J.: Hyperuricemic acute renal failure. Arch. int. Med. 133, 349 (1974)
- [854] Kjellstrand, C.M., Suimas, R.L., Goetz, F.C., Buselmeier, T.J., Shideman, J.R., Hartitzsch, B. v., Najarian, J.S.: Renal transplantation in patients with insulin-dependent diabetes. Lancet 1973/II, 4
- [855] Klassen, J., Elswood, C., Grossberg, A.L., Milgrom, F., Montes, M., Sepulveda, M., Andres, G.A.: Evolution of membranous nephropathy into antiglomerular basement membrane glomerulonephritis. New Engl. J. Med. 290, 1340 (1974)
- [856] Klassen, J., Sugisaki, T., Milgrom, F., McCluskey, R.T.: Studies on multiple renal lesions in Heymann nephritis. Lab. Invest. 25, 577 (1971)
- [857] Klatskin, G.: Nonspecific green birefringence in Congored-stained tissues. Amer. J. Path. 56, 1 (1969)
- [858] Kleeman, C.R., Hewitt, N.L., Guze, L.B.: Pyelonephritis. Medicine 39, 3 (1960)
- [859] Klein, F., Rood, J.J. van, Furth, R. van, Radema, H.: IgM-IgG cryoglobulinemia with IgM paraprotein component. Clin. exp. Immunol. 3, 703 (1968)
- [860] Klein, R., Herman, S.P., Bullock, B.C., Talley, F.A.: Methyl mercury intoxication in rat kidneys. Functional and pathological changes. Arch. Path. 96, 83 (1973)
- [861] Kleinknecht, D., Deloux, J., Hornberg, J.C.: Acute renal failure after intravenous urography: detection of antibodies against contrast media. Clin. Nephrol. 2, 116 (1974)
- [861a] Knieriem, H.J.: Immunhistochemische Untersuchungen zur Bedeutung der glatten Muskelzellen für die Pathohistogenese der Arteriosklerose des Menschen. Beitr. Path. 141, 4 (1970)
- [862] Knieser, M.R., Jenis, E.H., Lowenthal, D.T., Bancroft, W.H., Burros, Shalhoub, R.: Pathogenesis of renal disease associated with viral hepatitis. Arch. Path. 97, 193 (1971)

- [863] Knowles, H.C., Zeek, P.M., Blankenhorn, M.A.: Studies on necrotizing angiitis. IV. Periarteriitis and hypersensitivity angiitis. Arch. int. Med. 92, 789 (1953)
- [864] Kobayashi, N.: Acid mucopolysaccharide granules in the glomerular epithelium in gargoylism. Amer. J. Path. 35, 591 (1959)
- [865] Kobayashi, N.: An immunohistochemical study on renal biopsies in children. Arch. Dis. Child. 41, 477 (1966)
- [866] Kobayashi, O., Wada, H., Kanasawa, M., Kamiyama, T.: The anaphylactoid purpura-nephritis in childhood. Acta med. biol. (jap.) 13, 181 (1965)
- [867] Koch, J., Stokstad, E.L.R., Wiliams, H.E., Smith, L.H.: Deficiency of 2-oxo-glutarate: glyoxylat carboligase activity in primary hyperoxaluria. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 57, 1123 (1967)
- [868] Kochem, H.G.: Nachweis komplement-bindender Antigen-Antikörper-Komplexe bei subakuter Glomerulonephritis. Frankf. Z. Path. 72, 75 (1966)
- [868a] Koffler, A., Friedler, R.M., Massry, S.G.: Acute renal failure due to non traumatic rhabdomyolysis. Ann. Intern. Med. 85, 23 (1976)
- [869] Koffler, D., Agnello, V., Carr, I., Kunkel, H.G.: Variable patterns of immunoglobulin and complement deposition in the kidneys of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Amer. J. Path. 56, 305 (1969)
- [870] Koffler, D., Agnello, V., Thoburn, R., Kunkel, H.G.: Systemic lupus erythematosus-prototype of immune complex nephritis in man. J. exp. Med. 134, 169 (1971)
- [871] Koffler, D., Paronetto, F.: Immunofluorescent localization of immunoglobulins, complement and fibrinogen in human disease. II. Acute, subacute and chronic glomerulonephritis. J. Clin. Invest. 44, 1665 (1965)
- [872] Koffler, D., Paronetto, F., Miescher, P.A.: Cryoglobulinemia. In: Textbook of Immunopathology. Miescher, P.A., Mueller-Eberhard, H.J. (eds.). New York and London: Grune and Stratton, 1969, p. 435
- [872a] Kohler, P.F., Cronin, R.E., Hammond, W.S., Olin, D., Carr, R.I.: Chronic membranous glomerulonephritis caused by hepatitis B antigen-antibody immune complexes. Ann. intern. Med. 81, 448 (1974)
- [872b] Kohaut, E.C., Singer, D.B., Hill, L.L.: The significance of focal glomerular sclerosis in children who have nephrotic syndrome. Amer. J. Clin. Path. 66, 545 (1976)
- [873] Kohout, J.: Sarkoidose der Niere. Med. Klin. 70, 332 (1975)
- [873a] Kojimahara, M., Sekiya, K., Ooneda, G.: Studies on the healing of arterial lesions in experimental hypertension. I. An electron microscopy study on the healing process of intimal fibrinoid degeneration in hypertensive rats. Virchows Arch. A. 354, 150 (1971)
- [873b] Kojimahara, M., Sekiya, K., Ooneda, G.: Studies on the healing of arterial lesions in experimental hypertension. II. An electron microscopy study on the origin of intimal smooth muscle cells in the intima with marked dysoria. Virchows Arch. A. 354, 161 (1971)
- [874] Kokot, F., Kuska, J.: Plasma renin activity in acute renal insufficiency. Nephron 6, 115 (1969)
- [875] Kondo, Y., Shigematsu, H.: Cellular aspects of rabbit Masugi nephritis. I. Cell kinetics in recoverable glomerulonephritis. Virchows Arch. B 10, 40 (1972)
- [876] Kondo, Y., Shigematsu, H., Kobayashi, Y.: Cellular as-

pects of rabbit Masugi nephritis. II. Progressive glomerular injuries with crescent formation. Lab. Invest. 27, 620 (1972)

- [877] Kopelman, H., Asatoor, A.M., Milne, M.D.: Hyperprolinaemia and hereditary nephritis. Lancet 1964/II, 1075
- [878] Koppel, M.H., Coburn, J.W., Mims, M.M.: Transplantation of cadaveric kidneys from patients with hepatorenal syndrome. Evidence for the functional nature of renal failure in advanced liver disease. New Engl. J. Med. 280, 1367 (1969)
- 879] Kornerup, H.J.: Acute poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis without proteinuria. Scand. J. Urol. Nephrol. 7, 90 (1973)
- [880] Korz, R., Volz-Boers, U.: Akutes Nierenversagen nach massiver Myolyse bei pseudomyopathischer Polymyositis. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 99, 1084 (1974)
- [881] Kosek, J.C., Mazze, R.I., Cousins, M.J.: Nephrotoxicity of gentamicin. Lab. Invest. 30, 48 (1974)
- [882] Kraehenbuehl, J.P., Galardy, R.D., Jamieson, J.D.: Preparation and characterization of an immunoelectron microscope tracer consisting of a hemeoctapeptide coupled to Fab. J. exp. Med. 139, 208 (1974)
- [883] Krauss, J., Redenbacher, M., Streicher, E.: Das Goodpasture-Syndrom. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 94, 1826 (1969)
- [884] Kremer, G., Atzpochen, J.: Das Angiokeratoma diffusum Fabry. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 100, 432 (1975)
- [885] Kriz, W., Dietrich, H.J.: Das Lymphgefäßsystem der Niere bei einigen Säugetieren. Licht- und elektronenmikroskopische Untersuchung. Z. Anat. Entwickl. Gesch. 131, 111 (1970)
- [886] Krumlovsky, F.A., Greco, F. del, Herdson, P.B., Lazar, P.: Renal disease associated with toxic epidermal necrolysis (Lyell's disease). Amer. J. Med. 57, 817 (1974)
- [887] Kudo, Z., Oono, T., Miyazawa, H., Takuhashi, J., Chikuoka, H.: An infantile case of the de Toni-Debre-Fanconi's syndrome. Probably due to renal immaturity. Tohoku J. exp. Med. 78, 122 (1962)
- [888] Kuijten, R.H., Tiddeus, H.A.: Glomeruläre Erkrankungen im Kindesalter. Aktuelle Urol. 3, 175 (1972)
- [889] Kuriyama, T.: Chronic glomerulonephritis induced by prolonged immunization in the rabbit. Lab. Invest. 28, 224 (1973)
- [890] Kushner, D.G., Armstrong, S.H., Dubin, A., Szanto, P.B., Markowitz, A., Maduros, B.P., Levine, J.M., Rivier, G.L., Gynn, T.N., Pendras, J.P.: Acute glomerulonephritis in the adult. Medicine 40, 203 (1961)
- [891] Kussmaul, A., Maier, R.: Über eine bisher nicht beschriebene eigentümliche Arterienerkrankung (Periarteriitis nodosa), die mit Morbus Brightii und rapid fortschreitender allgemeiner Muskellähmung einhergeht. Dtsch. Arch. klin. Med. 1, 484 (1866)
- [892] Labovitz, E.D., Steinmüller, S.R., Henderson, L.W., McCurdy, D.K., Goldberg, M.: "Benign" hematuria with focal glomerulitis in adults. Ann. int. Med. 77, 723 (1972)
- [893] Labrune, B., Levy, M., Bauby, C., Gubler, M.C., Mallet, R.: Les glomerulonéphrites secondaires aux dérivations ventriculo-atriales ("shunt nephritis"). A propos de deux observations personnelles. Arch. franç. péd. 30, 793 (1973)
- [894] Lachhein, L., Kemnitz, P., Büttner, H., Thal, W., Witkowski, W.: Erbliche Nephritis mit Innenohrschwerhörig-

keit (Alport-Syndrom). Dtsch. med. Wschr. 93, 1891 (1968)

- [895] Lachmann, P.J., Müller-Eberhard, H.J., Kunkel, H.G., Paronetto, F.: The localization of in vivo bound complement in tissue sections. J. exp. Med. 115, 63 (1962)
- [896] Lagrue, G., Bariety, J.: Primäre Glomerulopathie Therapie mit Kortikoiden und Zytostatika (Immunsuppressiva). Münch. med. Wschr. 112, 515 (1970)
- [897] Lagrue, G., Halpern, B.N., Milliez, P., Bronneke, A.: Rôle du rein dans le mécanisme de la perturbation lipidique des syndromes néphrotiques. Compt. Rend. Soc. Biol. Paris 151, 1839 (1957)
- [898] Lagrue, G., Menard, J.: Rein et hyperuricémie. Presse méd. 79, 845 (1971)
- [899] Lagrue, G., Sobel, A., Bariety, J., Hirbeck, G., Druet, P.: Les glomérulonéphrites pariétoprolifératives hypocomplémentaires. 28 observations. Nouv. Presse méd. 2, 2253 (1973)
- [900] Lähdevirta, J.: Nephropathia epidemica in Finland. Ann. Clin. Res. 3, Suppl. 8, 1 (1971)
- [901] Laliberte, F., Sapin, C., Druet, P., Bariety, J.: Ultrastructural study by immunoperoxydase of a rat membranous glomerulonephritis. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 50, 150 (1975)
- [901a] Lalich, J.J., Allen, J.R., Paik, W.C.W.: Myocardial fibrosis and smooth muscle cell hyperplasia in coronary arteries of allylamine-fed rats. Amer. J. Path. 66, 225 (1972)
- [902] Lalich, J., Faith, G.C., Harding, G.E.: Protein-overload nephropathy in rats subjected to unilateral nephrectomy. Arch. Path. 89, 548 (1970)
- [903] Lalive D'Epinay, P.: Fünf Fälle von Sklerodermie. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 96, 787 (1966)
- [904] Lalli, A.F.: Medullary sponge kidney disease. Radiology 92, 92 (1969)
- [905] Lambrev, S., Athanassov, N., Petrinska, S.: Sur la néphropathie endémique. J. Urol. Néphrol. 76, 231 (1970)
- [906] Lamotte, M., Roujeau, J., Segrestaa, J.M., Caulin, C., Melman, S.: Un cas d'anurie par néphropathie osmotique après perfusions de dextrane à faible poids moléculaire. Sem. Hôp. 44, 187 (1968)
- [906a] Lampert, F., Mayer, H.: Glykogenose der Leber mit Galaktoseverwertungsstörung und schwerem Fanconi-Syndrom. Z. Kinderheilk. 98, 133 (1967)
- [907] Lange, H.P., Röttger, P.: Die "Goodpasture-Glomerulonephritis", eine Herdnephritis mit erkennbarer Spezifität. Virchows Arch. A 358, 69 (1973)
- [908] Lange, J., Lange, D., Etcheverry, M.: Néphropathies urologiques et hypertension artérielle. Analyse de 50 observations ayant subi une intervention urologique. J. Urol. Néphrol. 73, 291 (1967)
- [909] Lange, K.: The pathogenetic mechanisms of acute poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis. In: Cornell Seminars in Nephrology. Becker, E.L. (ed.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 135
- [910] Lange, K., Treser, G.: Zur Pathogenese der akuten Glomerulonephritis. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 95, 799 (1970)
- [911] Lange, K., Treser, G.: Acute poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis. Mechanism and sequelae – attempts at a unifying concept. Clin. Nephrol. 1, 55 (1973)
- [912] Lange, K., Treser, G., Ty, A., Ehrenreich, T.: Immunohistology of pyelonephritis. Amer. J. Path. 50, 50 a (1967)

- [913] Lange, K., Wachstein, M., Wasserman, E., Alptekin, F., Slobody, L.B.: The congenital nephrotic syndrome. Amer. J. Dis. Child. 105, 338 (1963)
- [914] Langer, K.H.: Niereninterstitium Feinstruktur und Kapillarpermeabilität. Cytobiol. 10, 169 (1975)
- [915] Langer, K.H., Thoenes, W.: Alport-Syndrom. Licht- und elektronenmikroskopische Nierenbefunde im Frühstadium. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. Path. 55, 497 (1971)
- [916] Lannigan, R., Insley, J.: Light and electron microscope appearances in renal biopsy material from cases of recurrent haematuria in children. J. clin. Path. 18, 178 (1965)
- [917] Lant, A.F.: Renal excretion and nephrotoxicity of drugs. In: Renal Disease. Black, D. (ed.). Oxford: Blackwell, 1972, p. 591
- [918] Lapp, H.: Experimentelle Untersuchungen zum Problem der sogenannten osmotischen Nephrose. In: Pathogenese und Klinik des akuten Nierenversagens. Gessler, U., Schroeder, K., Weidinger, H. (eds.). Stuttgart: Thieme, 1971, p. 245
- [918a] Lach, F., Arieff, A.I., Massry, S.G.: Renal vein thrombosis and nephrotic syndrome. A prospective study of 36 adult patients. Ann. intern. Med. 83, 8 (1975)
- [919] Laragh, J.H., Sealey, J.E., Bühler, F.R., Vaughan, E.D., Bremer, H.R., Gavras, H., Baer, L.: The renin axis and vasoconstriction. Volumen analysis for understanding and treating renovascular and renal hypertension. Amer. J. Med. 58, 4 (1975)
- [920] Larcan, A., Rauber, G., Laprevote, M.C., Lambert, H., Andre, J.L.: Le syndrome urémo-hémolytique du postpartum. Presse méd. 3, 1529 (1974)
- [920a] Largiader, F.: Morphologie, Histogenese und Klassifikation der Nierentumoren. Urol. int. 6, 273 (1958)
- [921] Laroche, C., Merillon, H., Morel-Maroger, L., Turpin, G., Uro, J., Parrain, E.: Syndrome néphrotique avec glomérulonéphrite extra-membraneuse associé à une sarcoidose. J. Urol. Néphrol. 74, 995 (1968)
- [922] Lasch, H.G., Huth, K., Heene, D.L., Müller-Berghaus, G., Hörder, M.H., Janzarik, H., Mittermayer, C., Sandritter, W.: Die Klinik der Verbrauchskoagulopathie. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 96, 715 (1971)
- [923] Lasfargues, G., Boulesteix, J., Brueziere, J., Fontaine, J.L., Bocconi-Gibod, L., Roy, C., Grimbaud, P., Laplane, R.: Les petits reins unilatéraux. Sem. Hôp. 46, 1399 (1970)
- [924] Lasfargues, G., Vincens, A., Roy, C., Fontaine, J.L., Begue, P., Laplane, A.: Néphronophthise et maladie kystique médullaire. Presse méd. 1, 781 (1972)
- [925] Latta, H.: The glomerular capillary wall. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 32, 526 (1970)
- [926] Latta, H., Maunsbach, A.B., Madden, S.C.: The centrolobular region of the glomerulus studied by electron microscopy. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 4, 455 (1960)
- [927] Latta, H., Maunsbach, A.B., Osvaldo, L.: The fine structure of renal tubules in cortex and medulla. In: Ultrastructure of the Kidney. Dalton, A.J., Haguenau, F. (eds.). New York and London: Academic Press, 1967, p. 2
- [928] Laube, H., Norris, H.T., Robbins, S.L.: The nephromegaly of chronic alcoholics with liver disease. Arch. Path. 84, 290 (1967)
- [929] Lawrence, J.R., Meadows, R.: The relationship between postpartum renal failure and the hemolytic uremic syn-

drome. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 1057

- [930] Lawson, R.K., Talwalkar, Y.B., Hodges, C.V.: Renal transplantation in cystinosis. J. Urol. 113, 552 (1975)
- [931] Leber, P.D., McCluskey, R.T.: Complement and the immunohistology of renal disease. Transplant. Proc. 6, 67 (1974)
- [932] Lee, H.A., Davidson, A.R., Burston, J.: Analgesic nephropathy in Wessex: a clinicopathological survey. Clin. Nephrol. 2, 197 (1974)
- [933] Lee, H.M., Hume, D.M., Vredevoe, D.L., Mickey, M.R., Terasaki, P.I.: Serotyping for homotransplantation: IX. Evaluation of leukocyte antigen matching with the clinical course and rejection types. Transplantation 5, 1040 (1967)
- [934] Lee, J.C., Dushkin, E.J., Eyring, E.J., Engleman, E., Hopper, J.: Renal lesions associated with gold therapy-light and electron microscopic studies. Arthritis, Rheum. 8, 1 (1965)
- [935] Lee, J.C., Yamauchi, H., Hopper, J.: The association of cancer and the nephrotic syndrome. Ann. int. Med. 64, 41 (1966)
- [936] Lee, R.E., Vernier, R.L., Uhlstrom, R.A.: The nephrotic syndrome as a complication of perchlorate treatment of thyrotoxicosis. New Engl. J. Med. 264, 1221 (1961)
- [937] Legrain, M., Gluckmann, J.C.: Akute Niereninsuffizienz und Nierentransplantation. In: Pathogenese und Klinik des akuten Nierenversagens. Gessler, U., Schroeder, K., Weidinger, H. (eds.). Stuttgart: Thieme, 1971, p. 174
- [938] Leistenschneider, W., Ehmann, R.: Nierenbeckenkarzinom nach Phenacetinabusus. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 103, 433 (1973)
- [939] Lendrum, A.C., Slidders, W., Fraser, D.S.: Renal hyalin.
 J. Clin. Path. 25, 373 (1972)
- [940] Leonardi, P., Rud, A., Munari, R.: Morphologic aspects of renal glycosuria. Amer. J. med. Sci. 239, 721 (1960)
- [941] Lerman, R.I., Pitcock, J.A., Muirhead, E.E.: Interstitial cell tumor of the kidney. (Formerly renal medullary fibroma). Amer. J. Path. 66, 95 a (1972)
- [942] Lerman, R.J., Pitcock, J.A., Stephenson, P., Muirhead, E.E.: Renomedullary interstitial cell tumor (formerly fibroma of renal medulla). Human Path. 3, 559 (1972)
- [943] Lerner, R.A., Glassock, R.J., Dixon, F.J.: The role of anti-glomerular basement membrane antibody in the pathogenesis of human glomerulonephritis. J. exp. Med. 126, 989 (1967)
- [944] Leroux, C., Morel-Maroger, R.L., Arneil, C., Meyrier, A., Sraer, J.D., Richet, G.: La biopsie rénale tardive au cours des néphropathies découvertes lors d'une grossesse. Presse méd. 1, 3181 (1972)
- [945] Lesslauer, W.: Erfahrungen mit der Immun-Peroxydase-Methode an Nierenpunktaten. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. Path. 59, 542 (1975)
- [946] Leu, H.J., Brunner, U.: Zur pathologisch-anatomischen Abgrenzung der Thrombangiitis obliterans von der Arteriosklerose. Dtsch. med. WSchr. 98, 158 (1973)
- [947] Lever, W.F.: Histopathology of the Skin, 4th ed. London: Pitman Med. Publ. and Philadelphia: Lippincott Co., 1968
- [948] Levi, D.F., Williams, R.C., Lindstrom, F.D.: Immunofluorescent studies of the myeloma kidney with special

reference to light chain disease. Amer. J. Med. 44, 922 (1968)

- [949] Levitt, M.H., McCoy, R.C., Fetter, B.F.: Glomerulopathy in medullary sponge kidney: case representation and review of the literature. J. Urol. 112, 710 (1974)
- [950] Levy, M., Beaufils, Gubler, M.C., Habib, R.: Idiopathic recurrent macroscopic hematuria and mesangial IgA-IgG deposits in children (Berger's disease). Clin. Nephrol. 1, 63 (1973)
- [951] Levy, R.L., Hong, R.: The immune nature of subacute bacterial endocarditis (SBE) nephritis. Amer. J. Med. 54, 645 (1973)
- [952] Levy, R.L., Hong, R.: Anti-glomerular antibody in chronic active and chronic persistent hepatitis. J. Pediat. 85, 155 (1974)
- [953] Lewers, D.T., Mathew, T.H., Maher, J.F., Schreiner, G.E.: Long-term follow-up of renal function and histology after acute tubular necrosis. Ann. int. Med. 73, 523 (1970)
- [954] Lewis, E.J.: Goodpasture's Syndrome. In: Proc. 5th Internat. Congr. Nephrol., Mexico 1972. Basel and New York: Karger, 1974, Vol. II, p. 166
- [955] Lewis, E.J., Cavallo, T., Harrington, J.T., Cotran, R.S.: An immunopathologic study of rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis in the adult. Human Path. 2, 185 (1971)
- [956] Lewis, L.A., Ommen, R.A. van, Page, J.M.: Association of cold precipitability with β lipoprotein and cryoglobulin. Amer. J. Med. **40**, 785 (1966)
- [957] Lewis, L.A., Zuehlke, V., Nakamoto, S., Kolff, W.J., Page, I.H.: Renal regulation of serum α -lipoproteins. Decrease of α -lipoproteins in the absence of renal function. New Engl. J. Med. **275**, 1097 (1966)
- [957a] Lewis, M.G., Loughridge, L.W., Phillips, T.M.: Immunological studies in nephrotic syndrome associated with extrarenal malignant disease. Lancet 1971/II, 134
- [958] Lewis, R.M.: Animal model of human disease: Systemic lupus erythematosus. Amer. J. Path. 69, 537 (1972)
- [959] Liebermann, E.: Hemolytic uremic syndrome. J. Pediat. 80, 1 (1972)
- [960] Like, A.A., Lavine, R.L., Poffenbarger, P.L., Chick, W.L.: Studies in the diabetic mutant mouse. VI. Evolution of glomerular lesions and associated proteinuria. Amer. J. Path. 66, 193 (1972)
- [960a] Limas, C., Limas, C.L., Gesell, M.S.: Effects of indomethacin on renomedullary interstitial cells: Lab. Invest. 34, 522 (1976)
- [961] Limas, C., Wright, J.R., Matsuzaki, M., Calkins, E.: Amyloidosis and multiple myeloma. A reevaluation using a control population. Amer. J. Med. 54, 166 (1973)
- [962] Lin, J.H., Orofino, D., Sherock, J., Letteri, J., Duffy, J.L.: Waldenstroem's macroglobulinemia, mesangiocapillary glomerulonephritis, angiitis and myositis. Nephron 10, 262 (1973)
- [963] Lindquist, R.R., Guttmann, R.D., Mahabu, R.N.: Fibrin deposition as a pathogenetic mechanism producing glomerulopathy in long surviving renal allografts. Transplantation 9, 65 (1970)
- [964] Lindquist, R.R., Guttmann, R.D., Merrill, J.P., Dammin, G.J.: Human renal allografts. Amer. J. Path. 58, 851 (1968)

- [965] Ljungqvist, A., Unge, G., Lagergren, C., Nolter, G.: The intrarenal vascular alterations in radiation nephritis and their relationship to the development of hypertension. Acta path. microbiol. scand. A **79**, 629 (1971)
- [966] Ljungqvist, A., Victorin, L., Winberg, J.: Atypical nephronophthisis. A clinico-pathologic study of juvenile patients without hypertonic polyuria. Acta paed. scand. 56, 164 (1967)
- [967] Longley, J.B.: Histochemistry of the kidney. In: The Kidney. Morphology, Biochemistry, Physiology. Rouiller, C., Mueller, A.F. (eds.). New York and London: Academic Press, 1969, Vol. I, p. 158
- [968] Looser, R.: Ein Fall von Cystinspeicherung mit renalem Zwergwuchs und Rachitis. Ann. Paed. 163, 251 (1944)
- [969] Lopez, C., Simmons, R.L., Mauer, S.M., Najarian, J.S., Good, R.A., Gentry, S.: Association of renal allograft rejection with virus infections. Amer. J. Med. 56, 280 (1974)
- [970] Lou, T.Y., Teplitz, C.: Ultrastructural morphogenesis of malakoplakia and so-called Michaelis-Gutmann bodies. Lab. Invest. 28, 390 (1973)
- [971] Lou, T.Y., Teplitz, C.: Malakoplakia: pathogenesis and ultrastructural morphogenesis. A problem of altered macrophage (phagolysosome) response. Human Path. 5, 191 (1974)
- [972] Loughridge, L., Lewis, M.G.: Nephrotic syndrome in malignant disease of non-renal origin. Lancet 1971/I, 256 Lovell-Becker see Becker
- [973] Low, A., Matz, L.R.: Haematuria and renal fornical lesions. Brit. J. Urol. 44, 681 (1972)
- [974] Lowance, D.C., Mullins, J.D., McPhaul, J.J.: Immunoglobulin A (IgA) associated glomerulonephritis. Kidney Internat. 3, 167 (1973)
- [975] Löwenstein, J.: Renin assay in hypertensive disease. Ann. Rev. Med. 23, 333 (1972)
- [976] Löwenstein, J., Gallo, G.: Remission of the nephrotic syndrome in renal amyloidosis. New Engl. J. Med. 282, 128 (1970)
- [979] Lucas, Z.J., Kempson, R.L., Palmer, J., Korn, D., Cohen, R.B.: Renal allotransplantation in man. II. Transplantation in cystinosis, a metabolic disease. Amer. J. Surg. 118, 158 (1969)
- [978] Ludwig, G., Nuri, M., Peters, H.J., Muenzenmeier, R.: Das Hämangioperizytom der Niere. Urologe A 13, 284 (1974)
- [979] Luke, R.G., Kennedy, A.C., Briggs, J.D., Struthers, N.W., Barr-Stirling, W.: Results of nephrectomy in hypertension associated with unilateral renal disease. Brit. med. J. 1968/III, 764
- [980] Luna, I., Leadbetter, R.L., Gilbert, D.R.: Spontaneous rupture of the kidney: a complication of anticoagulation. Report of 2 cases. J. Urol. 109, 788 (1973)
- [981] Luxton, R.W.: Effects of irradiation on the kidney. In: Diseases of the Kidney. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971, p. 1049
- [982] Lyon, R.P.: Renal arrest. J. Urol. 109, 707 (1973)
- [983] Lyons, H., Pinn, V.W., Cortell, S., Cohen, J.J., Harrington, J.T.: Allergic interstitial nephritis causing reversible renal failure in four patients with idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. New Engl. J. Med. 288, 124 (1973)
- [983a] Lytton, B., Finkenstein, F.O., Schiff, M., jr., Black,

H.R.: Influence of rejection on graft survival after renal transplantation. J. Urol. **116**, 300 (1976)

- [984] Maas, D., Hamann, W., Noetzel, H., Künzel, G., Schubothe, H.: Wegener'sche Granulomatosc. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 101, 141 (1971)
- [985] Macadam, R.F.: Glomerular fine structure in mixed membranous and proliferative glomerulonephritis. J. clin. Path. 23, 613 (1970)
- [986] MacDonald, M.K.: Electron microscopy in the classification of glomerulonephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 111
- [987] MacDonald, M.K.: Dense deposit disease. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 515
- [988] MacDonald, W.B.: Congenital pitressin-resistant diabetes insipidus of renal origin. Pediatrics 15, 298 (1955)
- [989] Macklon, A.F., Craft, A.W., Thompson, M., Kerr, D.N.: Aspirin and analgesic nephropathy. Brit. med. J. 1974/1, 597
- [990] MacLachlan, M.J., Rodman, G.P., Cooper, W.M., Fennell, R.H.: Chronic active ("lupoid") hepatitis. A clinical, serological and pathological study of 20 patients. Ann. int. Med. 62, 425 (1965)
- [991] Madrazo, A., Schwarz, G., Churg, J.: Radiation nephritis: a review. J. Urol. 114, 822 (1975)
- [992] Madrazo, A., Suzuki, Y., Churg, J.: Radiation nephritis. Acute changes following high doses of radiation. Amer. J. Med. 54, 507 (1969)
- [993] Madrazo, A., Suzuki, Y., Churg, J.: Radiation nephritis-chronic changes following high doses of radiation. Amer. J. Path. 59, 63a (1970)
- [994] Magalhaes, R.L., Braun, W.E., Straffon, R.A., Hoffman, G.C., Scheinoff, J.R., Osborne, G., Deodhar, S.D.: Microangiopathic hemolytic anemia in renal allotransplantation. Report of a successfully treated case and review of the literature. Amer. J. Med. 58, 862 (1975)
- [995] Maherezi, M.: Hématurie idiopathique récidivante chez l'enfant. Helv. paed. Acta **29**, 383 (1974)
- [996] Mahieu, P.: Biochemical structure of glomerular bascment membrane in chronic glomerulonephritis. I. Lobular and membrano-proliferative glomerulonephritis. Kidney Internat. 1, 115 (1972)
- [997] Mahieu, P., Dardenne, M., Bach, J.F.: Detection of humoral and ccll-mediated immunity to kidney basement membranes in human renal disease. Amer. J. Med. 53, 185 (1972)
- [998] Mahieu, P., Monnens, L., Haclst, U.v.: Chemical properties of glomerular bascment membrane in congenital nephrotic syndrome. Clin. Nephrol. 5, 134 (1976)
- [999] Mahieu, P., Winand, R.J.: Chemical structure of tubular and glomerular basement membranes of human kidney. Europ. J. Biochem. 12, 410 (1970)
- [1000] Mahoney, C.P., Striker, G.E., Hickman, R.O., Manning, G.B., Marchioro, T.L.: Renal transplantation for childhood cystinosis. New Engl. J. Med. 283, 397 (1970)
- [1001] Mailloux, L., Swartz, C.D., Capizri, R., Kein, K.E., Onesti, G., Ramirez, O., Brest, A.N.: Acute renal failure after administration of low molecular-weight dextran. New Engl. J. Med. 277, 1113 (1967)
- [1002] Maintz, J., Elema, J.D., Henningsen, B., Bläker, F., Buen-

ger, P.: Eine Sonderform der chronischen Glomerulonephritis: IgA-IgG-Nephropathie. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 97, 1527 (1972)

- [1003] Malek, R.S., Boyce, W.H.: Intranephronic calculosis: Its significance and relationship to matrix in nephrolithiasis. J. Urol. 109, 551 (1973)
- [1004] Malmqvist, E., Ivemark, B.I., Lindsten, J., Maunsbach, A.B., Martensson, E.: Pathologic lysosomes and increased urinary glycosylceramide excretion in Fabry's disease. Lab. Invest. 25, 1 (1971)
- [1005] Mandalenakis, N., Mendoza, N., Pirani, C.L., Pollak, V.E.: Lobular glomerulonephritis. In: Abstr. 4th Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Stockholm 1969, p. 183
- [1006] Mann, M.: Morphologische Spätveränderungen und nephrotisches Syndrom nach einseitiger Nierenvenendrosselung bei der Ratte. Z. ges. exp. Med. 133, 270 (1960)
- [1006a] Marble, A.: Diabetic nephropathy. J. clin. Endocrinol. 15, 499 (1955)
- [1007] Marie, J., Leveque, B., Lyon, G., Bebe, P., Watchi, J.M.: Acro-ostéolyse interstitielle compliquée d'insuffisance rénalc d'évolution fatale. Presse méd. 71, 249 (1963)
- [1008] Markovic, B.: Endemic nephritis and urinary tract cancer in Yugoslavia, Bulgaria and Rumania. J. Urol. 107, 212 (1972)
- [1009] Marks, M.I., Drummond, K.N.: Benign familial hematuria. Pediatrics 44, 590 (1969)
- [1010] Marosvari, J., Beregi, E., Szepeshazi, K., Romon, H.: Gammaglobulin and complement in the pyelonephritis kidney. Intern. Urol. Nephrol. 3, 429 (1971)
- [1010a] Marquart, K.H.: Frühe Ultrastrukturveränderungen an den Skelettmuskelkapillaren der Ratte nach lokaler Röntgenbestrahlung. Virchows Arch. B. 10, 4 (1972)
- [1011] Martin, A.M., Kurtz, S.M.: Cytomegalic inclusion disease. An electron microscopic histochemical study of the virus at necropsy. Arch. Path. 82, 27 (1966)
- [1012] Martin, H.: Die Plasmozytomniere. Vergleichende histologische und klinische Untersuchungen. Zbl. Path. 115, 307 (1972)
- [1013] Martin, J.H., Brown, A.L., jr., Daugherty, G.W.: Renal amyloidosis: A biopsy study. Amer. J. med. Sci. 251, 129 (1966)
- [1014] Martinez, J.S., Kohler, P.F.: Variant "Goodpasture's syndrome"? Ann. int. Med. 75, 67 (1971)
- [1015] Martinez-Maldonado, M., Ramirez de Arellano, G.A.: Renal involvement in malignant lymphomas: A survey of 49 cases. J. Urol. 95, 485 (1966)
- [1016] Martini, G.A., Strohmeyer, G., Sodomann, C.P.: Die Penarteriitis nodosa bei chronischer Hepatitis mit Australia-Antigen-Nachweis. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 97, 642 (1972)
- [1017] Massry, S.G., Gordon, A., Coburn, J.W., Kaplan, L., Franklin, S.S., Maxwell, M.H., Kleeman, C.R.: Vascular calcification and peripheral necrosis in a renal transplant recipient. Amer. J. Med. 49, 416 (1970)
- [1018] Matalon, R., Katz, L., Gall, G., Waldo, E., Cabaluna, C., Eisinger, R.P.: Glomerular sclcrosis in adults with ncphrotic syndrome. Ann. int. Med. 80, 488 (1974)
- [1018a] Matas, A.J., Hertel, B.F., Rosai, J., Simmen, R.L., Najarian, J.S.: Post-transplant malignant lymphoma. Amer. J. Med. 61, 716 (1976)
- [1019] Mathew, T.H., Kincaid-Smith, P.: Severe fibrin and crescent glomerulonephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kin-

caid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 727

- [1020] Mathew, T.H., Mathews, D.C., Hobbs, J.B., Kincaid-Smith, P.: Glomerular lesions after renal transplantation. Amer. J. Med. 59, 177 (1975)
- [1021] Mathieu, H., Leclerc, F., Habib, R., Royer, P.: Etude clinique et biologique de 37 observations de syndrome hémolytique et urémique. Arch. franç. Pédiat. 26, 369 (1969)
- [1022] Mathison, D.A., Condemi, J.J., Leddy, J.P., Pauner, M.L., Vaughan, J.H.: Purpura, arthralgia and IgM-IgG eryoglobulinemia with rheumatoid factor activity. Ann. int. Med. 74, 383 (1971)
- [1023] Matlin, R.A., Gary, N.E.: Acute cortical necrosis. Case report and review of the literature. Amer. J. Med. 56, 110 (1976)
- [1024] Mattern, W.D., Sommers, S.C., Kassirer, J.P.: Oliguric acute renal failure in malignant hypertension. Amer. J. Med. 52, 187 (1972)
- [1025] Mattson, J.C.: Glomerular disease as a complication of gold therapy. Lab. Invest. 30, 383 (1974)
- [1026] Mauer, S.M., Fish, A.J., Blau, E.B., Michael, A.F.: The glomerular mesangium. I. Kinetic studies of macromolecular uptake in normal and nephrotic rats. J. clin. Invest. 51, 1092 (1972)
- [1027] Mauer, S.M., Fish, A.J., Day, N.K., Michael, A.F.: The glomerular mesangium. II. Studies of macromolecular uptake in nephrotoxic nephritis in rats. J. clin. Invest. 53, 431 (1974)
- [1028] Mauer, S.M., Sutherland, D.E.R., Howard, R.J., Fish, A.J., Najarian, J.S., Michael, A.F.: The glomerular mesangium. III. Acute immune mesangial injury: A new model of glomerulonephritis. J. exp. Med. 137, 553 (1973)
- [1029] Maunsbach, A.B.: The influence of different fixatives and fixation methods on the ultrastructure of rat kidney proximal tubule cells. I. Comparison of different perfusion fixation methods and of glutaraldehyde, formaldehyde, and osmium tetroxide fixatives. J. Ultrastr. Res. 15, 242 (1966)
- [1030] Maunsbach, A.B.: Functions of lysosomes in kidney cells.
 In: Lysosomes in Biology and Pathology. Dingle, J.T., Fell, H.B. (eds.). Amsterdam: North Holland Publ. Comp., 1969, p. 115
- [1031] Mauntner, W., Churg, J., Grishman, E., Dachs, S.: Preeclamptic nephropathy: An electron microscopic study. Lab. Invest. 11, 518 (1962)
- [1032] Maurer, H.J., Jensen, T., Maurer, B.: Heterotoper Nebennierenrindentumor (echtes Hypernephrom?) mit Cushing-Syndrom. Fortschr. Röntgenstr. 118, 273 (1973)
- [1032a] Mayaud, C., Kanfer, A., Kourilsky, O., Sraer, J.D.: Interstitial nephritis after methicillin. N. Engl. J. Med. 292, 1132 (1976)
- [1033] McAdams, A.J., McEmery, P.T., West, C.D.: Mesangiocapillary glomerulonephritis: Changes in glomerular morphology with long-term alternate-day prednisone therapy. J. Pediat. 86, 23 (1975)
- [1034] McAllister, R.G., jr., Michelakis, A.M., Oates, J.A., Foster, J.H.: Malignant hypertension due to renal artery stenosis. Greater renin release from the nonstenotic kidney. JAMA 221, 865 (1972)
- [1035] McCluskey, R.T.: The value of immunofluorescence in

the study of human renal disease. J. exp. Med. 134, 242 (1971)

- [1036] McCluskey, R.T., Vassalli, P., Gallo, G., Baldwin, D.S.: An immunofluorescent study of pathogenetic mechanisms in glomerular disease. New Engl. J. Med. 274, 695 (1966)
- [1037] McCluskey, R.T., Vassalli, P., Gallo, G., Baldwin, D.S.: Pathogenic role of the coagulation process in experimental and human glomerulonephritis. In: Acute Glomerulonephritis. Metcalf, J. (ed.). London: Churchill, 1967, p. 145
- [1038] McCollister, B.D., Bayrel, E.D., Harrison, G.E., McGuckin, W.F.: Primary macroglobulinemia. Amer. J. Med. 43, 394 (1967)
- [1039] McConville, J.M., West, C.D., McAdams, A.J.: Familial and nonfamilial benign hematuria. J. Pediat. 69, 207 (1966)
- [1040] McCoy, R.C.: Nuclear localization of immunoglobulins in renal biopsies of patients with lupus nephritis. Amer. J. Path. 68, 469 (1972)
- [1041] McCoy, R.C.: Scleroderma kidney: Light, immunofluorescence, and electron microscopy. Lab. Invest. 32, 430 (1975)
- [1042] McCoy, R.C., Abramowsky, C.R., Krueger, R.: The hemolytic uremic syndrome, with positive immunofluorescence studies. J. Pediat. 85, 170 (1974)
- [1043] McCoy, R.C., Abramowsky, C.R., Tisher, C.C.: IgA nephropathy. Amer. J. Path. 76, 123 (1974)
- [1044] McCoy, R.C., Johnson, H.K., Stone, W.J., Wilson, C.B.: Variation in glomerular basement membrane antigens in hereditary nephritis. Lab. Invest. 34, 325 (1976)
- [1045] McCoy, R.C., Tisher, C.C.: Glomerulonephritis associated with sarcoidosis. Amer. J. Path. 68, 339 (1972)
- [1045a] McCoy, R.C., Tisher, C.C., Pepe, P.F., Cleveland, L.A.: The kidney in progressive systemic sclerosis. Lab. Invest. 35, 124 (1976)
- [1046] McCredie, D.A., Dixon, S.R.: The hemolytic-uremic syndrome. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 1069
- [1047] McCrory, W.W.: A new cause for an old disease chronic nephritis. J. Pediat. 72, 912 (1968)
- [1048] McCrory, W.W., Shibuya, M., Worthen, H.G.: Hereditary renal glomerular disease in infancy and childhood. Advanc. Pediat. 14, 253 (1966)
- [1049] McCullough, D.L., Scott, R., Seybold, H.M.: Renal angiomyolipoma (hamartoma): Review of the literature and report of 7 cases. J. Urol. 105, 32 (1971)
- [1050] McCune, D.J., Mason, H.H., Closke, H.T.: Intractable hypophosphatemic rickets with renal glycosuria and acidosis (Fanconi syndrome). Amer. J. Dis. Child. 65, 81 (1943)
- [1051] McDougal, W.S., Kursh, F.D., Persky, L.: Spontaneous rupture of kidney with perirenal hematoma. J. Urol. 114, 181 (1975)
- [1052] McEmery, P.T., McAdams, A.J., West, C.D.: Glomerular morphology, natural history and treatment of children with IgA-IgG mesangial nephropathy. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 305
- [1053] McGiven, A.R., De Boer, W.G., Barnett, A.J.: Renal immune deposits in scleroderma. Pathology 3, 145 (1971)

- [1054] McGovern, V.J.: Glomerulonephritis. In: Sommers, S.C. (ed.). Pathology Annuals. London: Butterworth, 1967, Vol. II/1
- [1055] McGovern, V.J., Lauer, C.S.: Focal sclerosing glomerulonephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 223
- [1056] McGregor, M.: Pyelonephritis lenta. Consideration of childhood primary infection as a forerunner of renal insufficiency in later life. Arch. Dis. Child. 45, 159 (1970)
- [1057] McIntosh, R.M.: Cryoprotein in poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis. Ann. int. Med. 73, 857 (1970)
- [1058] McIntosh, R.M., Kaufmann, D.B., Kulvinskas, C., Grossman, B.J.: Cryoglobulins. Studies on the nature, incidence and clinical significance of serum cryoproteins in glomerulonephritis. J. Lab. clin. Med. 75, 566 (1970)
- [1058a] McIntosh, R.M., Tinglof, B., Kaufmann, D., Dornfeld, L., Gonick, H., Smith, F.G., Vernier, R.L.: Immunohistology in renal disease. Quart. J. Med. 159, 385 (1971)
- [1059] McKay, D.G.: Blood coagulation and renal disease. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 771
- [1060] McKay, D.G.: Blood coagulation and toxemia of pregnancy. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 963
- [1061] McKenzie, J.F.C., Kincaid-Smith, P.: Foam cells in the renal glomerulus. J. Path. 97, 151 (1968)
- [1062] McKenzie, J.K., McQueen, E.G.: Immunofluorescent localization of Tamm-Horsfall mucoprotein in human kidney. J. clin. Path. 22, 334 (1969)
- [1063] McLean, R.H., Geiger, H., Burke, B., Simmons, R., Najarian, J., Vernier, R.L., Michael, A.F.: Recurrence of membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis following kidney transplants. Amer. J. Med. 60, 60 (1976)
- [1064] McManus, J.F., Lupton, C.H.: Ischemic obsolescence of renal glomeruli. Lab. Invest. 9, 413 (1960)
- [1065] McManus, J.F., Lupton, Ch.H.: Patterns of glomerular reaction. In: The Kidney. Mostofi, F.K., Smith, D.E. (eds.). Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins, 1966, p. 95
- [1065a] McPhaul, J.J., Newcomb, R.W., Mullins, J.D., Thompson, A.L., Lordon, R.E., Rogers, P.W.: Participation of immunoglobulin (IgE) in immunemediated glomerulonephritis. Kidney Internat. 5, 292 (1974)
- [1065 b] McPhaul, jr., J.J., Lordon, R.E., Thompson, A.L., Mullins, J.D.: Nephritogenic immunopathologic mechanisms and human renal transplants: The problem of recurrent glomerulonephritis. Kidney Internat. 10, 135 (1976)
- [1066] Meadow, S.R., Glasgow, E.F., White, R.H.R., Moncrieff, M.W., Cameron, J.S., Ogg, C.S.: Schönlein-Henoch nephritis. Quart. J. Med. N.S. 163, 241 (1972)
- [1067] Meadow, S.R., Glasgow, E.F., White, R.H., Moncrieff, M.W., Cameron, J.S., Ogg, C.S.: Schönlein-Henoch nephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 1089
- [1068] Meadows, R.: Renal Histopathology. London: Oxford University Press, 1973
- [1069] Meadows, R.: Glomerulonephritis with fibrin and crescent formation. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith,

P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 695

- [1070] Meadows, R., Lawrence, J.R.: Postpartum renal failure and the hemolytic uremic syndrome. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 1061
- [1071] Meares, E.M., Gross, D.M.: Hypertension owing to unilateral renal hypoplasia. J. Urol. 108, 197 (1972)
- [1072] Meine, J.L.: Die einseitige Schrumpfniere: Häufigkeit, Nosologie und Beziehungen zur Hypertonie (statistische Untersuchungen an 10000 Sektionen). Schweiz. med. Wschr. 95, 799 (1965)
- [1073] Mellors, R.C.: Glomerulonephritis in man and experimental animals: Immunologic mechanisms of renal injury. In: The Kidney. Mostofi, F.K., Smith, D.E. (eds.). Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins, 1966, p. 387
- [1073a] Mellors, R.C., Mellors, J.W.: Antigen related to mammalian type C RNA viral p 30 proteins located in renal glomeruli in human systemic lupus erythematosus. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 73, 233 (1976)
- [1074] Mellors, R.C., Ortega, L.G.: Analytical pathology. III. New observations on the pathogenesis of glomerulonephritis, lipid nephrosis, periarteritis nodosa and secondary amyloidosis in man. Amer. J. Path. 32, 455 (1956)
- [1075] Meltzer, M., Franklin, E.C., Elias, K., McCluskey, R.T., Cooper, N.: Cryoglobulinemia-a chemical and laboratory study. Amer. J. Med. 40, 837 (1966)
- [1076] Meltzer, U.I., Tannenbaum, M., Seegal, B.C., Sommers, S.C.: Immunopathologic study of four consecutive patients with renal vein thrombosis and the nephrotic syndrome. In: Abstr. 4th Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Stockholm 1969, p. 251
- [1077] Menefee, M.G., Mueller, B.C.: Some morphological considerations of transport in the glomerulus. In: Ultrastructure of the Kidney. Dalton, A.J., Haguenau, F. (eds.). New York and London: Academic Press, 1967, p. 73
- [1078] Menefee, M.G., Mueller, C.B., Bell, A.L., Myers, J.K.: Transport of globin by the renal glomerulus. J. exp. Med. 120, 1129 (1964)
- [1079] Meriel, P., Guilhem, P., Moreau, G., Suc, J., Pontonnier, G., Putois, J.: Structure et ultrastructure du glomérule dans les néphropathies gravidiques. J. Urol. Néphrol. 69, 57 (1963)
- [1080] Meriel, P., Moreau, G., Suc, J.M., Putois, J., Conte, J.: Le tissu intercapillaire. J. Urol. Néphrol. 71, 254 (1965)
- [1081] Meriel, P., Suc, J.M., Putois, J.: La membrane basale glomérulaire et le pronostic des néphropathies glomérulaires. Rev. Rhum. 30, 16 (1963)
- [1082] Merril, J.P.: Glomerulonephritis in renal transplants. Transpl. Proc. 1, 994 (1969)
- [1083] Merril, J.P.: Glomerulonephritis (first of three parts). New Engl. J. Med. 290, 257 (1974)
- [1084] Mertz, K.P., Schubothe, H., Wegner, G., Zollinger, H.U.: Paroxysmale nächtliche Hämoglobinurie mit terminaler Niereninsuffizienz und Erlöschen der spezifischen Krankheitssymptome (Langzeitverlauf und pathologisch-anatomische Befunde). Klin. Wschr. 48, 1357 (1970)
- [1085] Méry, J.P., Boelaert, J., Morel-Maroger, L.: Serial histology and immunofluorescence in lupus nephritis. In: Proc. 5th Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Mexico 1972. Basel and New York: Karger, 1974, Vol. I, p. 181

- [1086] Méry, J.P., Kreis, H., De Montera, H., Morel-Maroger, L.: Remarquable régression des lésions histologiques dans une forme très grave de glomérulonéphrite lupique. J. Urol. Néphrol. 74, 1028 (1968)
- [1086a] Méry, J.P., Morel-Maroger, L.: Acute interstitial nephritis: A hypersensitivity reaction to drugs. In: Proc. 6th Int. Congr. Nephrol. 1975. Basel and New York: Karger, 1976, p. 524
- [1087] Messerli, F.H., Funk, H.U., Schürch, W.: Renovaskuläre Hypertonie bei Neurofibromatose. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 103, 372 (1973)
- [1088] Mettler, N.E.: Isolation of a microtatobiote from patients with hemolytic-uremic syndrome and thrombotic-thrombocytopenie purpura and from mites in the United States. New Engl. J. Med. 281, 1023 (1969)
- [1089] Meyer, D.: Morphometrische Untersuchungen am juxtaglomerulären Apparat menschlicher Nieren. In: Veröffentl. morphol. Pathologie, Heft 90. Stuttgart: Fischer, 1972
- [1090] Meyer, D., Helmchen, U., Bohle, A.: Hypertensive glomeruläre Schäden. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. Path. 57, 392 (1973)
- [1091] Michael, A.: Immunosuppressive therapy of glomerulonephritis. In: Acute Glomerulonephritis. Metcoff, J. (ed.). London: Churchill, 1967, p. 391
- [1092] Michael, A.F., Westberg, N.G., Fisch, A.J., Vernier, R.L.: Studies on chronic membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis with hypocomplementemia. J. exp. Med. 134, 208 s (1971)
- [1093] Michielsen, P., Creemers, J.: The structure and function of the glomerular mesangium. In: Ultrastructure of the Kidney. Dalton, A.J., Haguenau, F. (eds.). New York-London: Academic Press, 1967, p. 57
- [1094] Michielsen, P., De Schepper, P.J., De Broe, M., Valkenlorgh, G., Tricot, J.P.: Renal diseases due to drugs. In: Drug-Induced Diseases. Meyler, L., Peck, H.M. (eds.). Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica, 1972, Vol. IV, p. 261
- [1095] Michielsen, P., Verberckmoes, R., Desmet, V., Hermerijckx, W.: Evolution histologique des glomérulonéphrites prolifératives diffuses traitées par l'indométhacine. J. Urol. Néphrol. 75, 315 (1969)
- [1096] Michon, P., Larcan, A., Streiff, F., Huriet, C., Berilhier, X.: Les néphrites virales. Presse méd. 68, 309 (1960)
- [1097] Mihatsch, M.J., Ohnacker, H., Riede, U.N., Remagen, W., Bassewitz, D.B. von, Schuppler, J., Meier-Ruge, W.: GM₁-Gangliosidose. II. Morphological aspects and review of the literature. Helv. paed. Acta 28, 521 (1973)
- [1097a] Mihatsch, M.J., Zollinger, H.U., Gudat, F., Schuppler, J., Riede, U.N., Thiel, G., Brunner, F., Enderlin, F.: Transplantation arteriopathy. Path. Microbiol. 43, 219 (1975)
- [1098] Mikuz, G., Probst, A.: Über vaskuläre Neurofibromatose. Virchows Arch. A. 356, 173 (1972)
- [1099] Mildenberger, H., Fendel, H., Marget, W.: Das Spätschicksal der Kinder mit Harnwegsinfektionen. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 91, 1293 (1966)
- [1100] Millard, P.R., Herbertson, B.M., Evans, D.B.: Renal biopsy in clinical management of renal transplantation. A light-microscopic study. Lancet 1970/1, 113
- [1101] Min, K.W., Györkey, F., Györkey, P.: The morphogenesis of the glomerular crescent: immunohistochemistry and electron microscopy. Lab. Invest. 26, 485 (1972)

- [1102] Min, K.W., Györkey, F., Györkey, P.: Focal sclerosing glomerular lesions associated with idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. Lab. Invest. 28, 407 (1973)
- [1103] Min, K.W., Györkey, F., Györkey, P., Yium, J.J., Eknoyan, G.: The morphogenesis of glomerular crescents in rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis. Kidney Internat. 5, 47 (1974)
- [1104] Minale, C., Linder, E., Largiader, F.: Spontanruptur von Nierentransplantaten. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 97, 459 (1972)
- [1105] Minder, F.C., Dubach, U.C., Antener, I.: Hereditäre Nephropathie und Schwerhörigkeit (mit Aminosäurenund Fettstoffwechselstörungen in einer Familie aus der Schweiz). Z. klin. Med. 158, 601 (1965)
- [1106] Minder, F.C., Dubach, U.C., Antener, J.: Familial nephropathy and deafness: First observation of a family and close relatives in Switzerland. Helv. med. Acta 32, 404 (1965)
- [1107] Minkowitz, S., Wenk, R., Friedman, E., Yuceoglu, A., Berkovich, S.: Acute glomerulonephritis associated with varicella infection. Amer. J. Med. 44, 489 (1968)
- [1108] Misra, R.P.: Structure of the glomerular basement membrane. In: Pathobiology Annual. London: Butterworth, 1971, Vol. I, p. 325
- [1109] Misra, R.P.: The glomerular basement membrane. In: Renal Disease. Black, D. (ed.). Oxford: Blackwell, 1972, p. 187
- [1110] Misra, R.P., Berman, L.B.: Studies on glomerular basement membrane. II. Isolation and chemical analysis of diseased glomerular basement membrane. Lab. Invest. 18, 131 (1968)
- [1111] Missmahl, H.P.: Amyloidosis. In: Textbook of Immunopathology. Miescher, P.A., Mueller-Eberhard, H.J. (eds.). New York-London: Grune and Stratton, 1969, Vol. II, p. 421
- [1112] Missmahl, H.P.: Pathogenese und Einteilung der Amyloidosen. In: Niere und Stoffwechselkrankheiten. Sarre, H., Holtmeier, H.J. (eds.). Stuttgart: Thieme, 1973, p. 151
- [1113] Mizuta, M., Kuwamura, S., Harada, T.: Renal changes in hepatic lesions: An immunological consideration on the mechanism of its development. Bull. Yamaguchi med. School 14, 269 (1967)
- [1114] Moehring, K., Asbach, H.W., Schubothe, H., Weber, S.: Hämolytische Krise mit akutem Nierenversagen unter Rifampicin-Behandlung. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 99, 1458 (1974)
- [1115] Moeller, F., Monga, G., Canese, M.G.: Endothelial glomerular cell mitosis in human glomerulonephritis: an electron microscopical observation. Virchows Arch. B. 11, 198 (1972)
- [1116] Moeller, J.: Die Niere bei Tumoren, Blutkrankheiten und Paraproteinämien. In: Handbuch für Innere Medizin. Schwiegk, H. (ed.). Berlin-Heidelberg-New York: Springer, 1968, Vol. VIII/3, p. 118
- [1117] Moenninghoff, W., Diekmann, L., Manitz, G., Themann, H.: Ultrastructural findings in the nephrotic syndrome of children. Z. Kinderheilk. 111, 252 (1971)
- [1118] Mogg, R.A.: Renal infarction and its relationship to hypertension. Brit. J. Urol. 29, 374 (1957)
- [1119] Mohos, S.C., Skoza, L.: Histochemical demonstration and localization of sialoproteins in the glomerulus. Exp. mol. Path. 12, 316 (1970)

- [1120] Mollo, F., Monga, G., Canese, M.G.: Endothelial glomerular cell mitosis in human glomerulonephritis: an electron microscopical observation. Virchows Arch. B 11, 198 (1972)
- [1121] Monasterio, F.: Histologischer und physiopathologischer Beitrag zur Pathogenese des Diabetes renalis. Klin. Wschr. 18, 558 (1939)
- [1122] Monasterio, G., Gigli, G., Giovanetti, S., Donato, L.: Il diabete renale. Arch. Stud. Fisiopat. Ricambio 16, 163 (1952)
- [1123] Monasterio, G., Gigli, G., Pardelli, G.: Reperti biopsici del rene nella tubulo-displasia glicosemica. Arch. ital. Anat. Istol. Patol. 27, 1 (1953)
- [1124] Monasterio, G., Ovlier, J., Muiesan, G., Pardelli, G., Morinozzi, V., MacDowell, M.: Renal diabetes as a congenital tubular dysplasia. Amer. J. Med. 37, 44 (1964)
- [1125] Moncrieff, M.W., Chance, G.W.: Nephrotoxic effect of vitamin D-therapy in vitamin D refractory rickets. Arch. Dis. Child. 114, 571 (1969)
- [1126] Moncrieff, M.W., White, R.H., Glasgow, E.F., Winterborn, J.H., Cameron, J.S., Ogg, C.S.: The familial nephrotic syndrome: II. A clinicopathological study. Clin. Nephrol. 1, 220 (1973)
- [1127] Monga, G., Canese, M.C., Mazzucco, G., Mollo, F.: Morphogenesis of the glomerular obsolescence: an electron microscopical investigation. Acta Nephrol. (Budapest) Suppl. 14, 106 (1973)
- [1128] Monga, G., Mazzucco, G., Coppo, R., Piccoli, G., Coda, R.: Glomerular findings in mixed IgG-IgM cryoglobulinemia. Virchows Arch. B 20, 185 (1976)
- [1129] Mongeau, J.G., Morthen, H.G.: Nephronophthisis and medullary cystic disease. Amer. J. Med. 43, 345 (1967)
- [1130] Monroe, W.M., Strauss, A.F.: Intravascular hemolysis: a morphologic study of schistocytes in thrombotic purpura and other diseases. Southern med. J. 46, 837 (1953)
- [1130a] Montaldo, G.: Die senile Randatrophie der Niere. Virchows Arch. 305, 340 (1940)
- [1130b] Monks, M., Andres, G.A., Elwood, C.M., Sepulveda, M.R., De Coteau, W.E.: Membrano-proliferative glomerulonephritis with polyarteritis: a case report. Human Path. 6, 391 (1976)
- [1131] Moore, H.L., Katz, R., McIntosh, R., Smith, F., Michael, A.F., Vernier, R.L.: Unilateral renal vein thrombosis and the nephrotic syndrome. Pediatrics 50, 598 (1972)
- [1131a] Moore, S., Lough, J.: Lipid accumulation in renal arterioles due to platelet aggregate embolism. Amer. J. Path. 58, 283 (1970)
- [1131b] Moorthy, A.V., Zimmerman, S.W., Burkholder, P.M., Harrington, A.R.: Association of crescentic glomerulonephritis with membranous glomerulopathy: a report of three cases. Clin. Nephrol. 6, 319 (1976)
- [1131c] Moorthy, A.V., Zimmerman, S.W., Burkholder, P.M.: Nephrotic syndrome in Hodgkin's disease. Evidence for pathogenesis alternative for immune complex deposition. Amer. J. Med. 61, 471 (1976)
- [1132] Moppert, J., Buehler, F., Thiel, G., Weber, H., Vischer, T., Zollinger, H.U.: Glomeruläre Fixation einer ALG-Komponente in menschlichen Nieren-Transplantaten. Verh. dtsch. Ges. Path. 54, 159 (1970)
- [1133] More, R.H., Duff, G.L.: The renal arterial vasculature in man. Amer. J. Path. 27, 95 (1951)

- [1134] Morel, F., De Rouffignac, C.: Kidney. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 35, 17 (1973)
- [1135] Morel-Maroger, L., Basch, A., Danon, F., Verroust, P., Richet, G.: Pathology of the kidney in Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. New Engl. J. Med. 283, 123 (1970)
- [1136] Morcl-Maroger, L., Leathem, A., Richet, G.: Glomerular abnormalities in nonsystematic diseases. Relationship between findings by light microscopy and immunofluorescence in 433 renal biopsy specimens. Amer. J. Med. 53, 170 (1972)
- [1137] Morel-Maroger, L., Leroux-Robert, C., Amiel, C., Richet, G.: Etude histologique de 33 cas de protéinurie isolée. Fréquence des dépôts hyalins et fibrinoides dans les artérioles rénales. Nephron 4, 13 (1967)
- [1137a] Morcl-Maroger, L., Adam, C., Richet, G.: The value of immunofluorescence in the diagnosis of glomerulonephritis not related to systemic diseases. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: J. Wiley, 1973, p. 81
- [1138] Morel-Maroger, L., Mery, J.P.: Renal lesions in mixed IgG-IgM essential cryoglobulinemia. In: Proc. 5th Internat. Congress Nephrology, Mexico 1972. Basel and New York: Karger, 1974, Vol. I, p. 173
- [1139] Morcl-Maroger, L., Mery, J.P., Leroux-Robert, C., Richet, G.: Mesangial IgA deposits. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 301
- [1139a] Morel-Maroger, L., Mery, J.Ph., Richet, G.: Lupus ncphritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, Vol. II, p. 1183
- [1140] Morel-Maroger, L., Saimot, A.G., Sloper, J.C., Woodrow, D.F., Adam, C., Niang, I., Payet, M.: "Tropical ncphropathy" and "tropical extramembranous glomerulonephritis" of unknown etiology in Senegal. Brit. med. J. 1975/1, 541
- [1141] Morel-Maroger, L., Verroust, P.: Glomerular lesions in dysproteinemias. Kidney Internat. 5, 249 (1974)
- [1142] Morgan, B., Robertson, W.G.: The urinary excretion of calcium. An analysis of the distribution of values in relation to sex, agc, and calcium deprivation. Clin. Orthopaed. 101, 254 (1974)
- [1143] Morgenroth, K., jr., Backmann, R., Blaschke, R.: Über die Formen der Calciumoxalatablagerungen in der menschlichen Niere bei Oxalose. Beitr. path. Anat. 136, 454 (1968)
- [1144] Morita, T., Suzuki, Y., Churg, J.: Structure and development of the glomerular crescent. Amer. J. Path. 72, 349 (1973)
- [1145] Morita, T., Wenzl, J.E., Kimmelstiel, P.: The relationship of neutrophilic and eosinophilic leucocytes to the glomerular capillary basement membrane in acute proliferative glomcrulonephritis. Lab. Invest. 25, 445 (1971)
- [1146] Morita, T., Wenzl, J., McCoy, J., Porch, J., Kimmelstiel, P.: Bilateral hypoplasia with oligomeganephronia. Quantitative and electron microscopic study. Amer. J. clin. Path. 59, 104 (1973)
- [1147] Mornex, R., Perrin, J., Bryon, P.A., Servonnat, P., Gliere, R., Bomel, J., Fauriel, N.: Les hyperaldostéronismes majeurs secondaires à une néphropathie unilatérale et curables chirurgicalement. Sem. Hôp. Paris 48, 253 (1972)

- [1148] Morris, J.F., Gerin, H.E., Thompson, D.: Unilateral renal vein thrombosis associated with the nephrotic syndrome. Amer. J. Med. 54, 867 (1963)
- [1149] Morris, R.C., Yamauchi, H., Palubiskas, A.J., Howenstine, J.: Medullary sponge kidney. Amer. J. Med. 38, 883 (1965)
- [1150] Moschcowitz, E.: An acute febrile pleiochromic anemia with hyaline thrombosis of terminal arterioles and capillaries: An undescribed disease. Arch. int. Med. 36, 89 (1925)
- [1151] Moskowitz, R.W., Slocumb, C.H.: Histopathologic classification of periarteritis nodosa. Proc. Staff Meet. Mayo Clin. 38, 345 (1963)
- [1152] Mostofi, F.K.: Radiation effects on the kidney. In: The Kidney. Mostofi, F.K., Smith, D.E. (eds.). Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins, 1966, p. 338
- [1153] Mostofi, F.K.: Pathology and spread of renal cell carcinoma. In: Renal Neoplasia. King, J.S., jr. (ed.). London: Churchill, 1967, p. 41
- [1154] Mostofi, F.K., Antonovych, T.T., Limas, E.: Patterns of glomerular reaction to injury. Human Path. 2, 233 (1971)
- [1155] Mozziconacci, P., Attal, C., Boise, J., Cham-Hun-Trung, M.T., Guy-Grand, D., Duvanel, C.: Hypoplasie segmentaire du rein avec hypertension artérielle. Sem. Hôp. Paris 44, 1405 (1968)
- [1156] Muehrcke, R.C.: Acute Renal Failure: Diagnosis and Management. St. Louis: Mosby, 1969
- [1157] Muehrcke, R.C., Kark, R.M., Pirani, C.L., Pollak, V.E.: Lupus nephritis: a clinical and pathologic study based on renal biopsies. Medicine 36, 2 (1957)
- [1158] Muehrcke, R.C., Pirani, C.L.: Renal biopsy: an adjunct in the study of kidney disease. In: Renal Disease, 3rd ed. Black, D. (ed.). Oxford: Blackwell, 1972, p. 110
- [1159] Muirhead, E.E., Montgomery, P.O.B., Booth, E.: The glomerular lesions of diabetes mellitus: cellular hyaline and acellular hyaline lesions of "intercapillary glomerulosclerosis" as depicted by histochemical studies. Arch. int. Med. 98, 146 (1956)
- [1160] Müller, S., Wiesendanger, V., Wegmann, W., Scheitlin, W., Moccetti, T.: Akutes Nierenversagen durch Cephalotin? Schweiz. med. Wschr. 103, 889 (1973)
- [1161] Müller-Stamou, A., Senn, H.J., Ernödy, G.: Die Bedeutung der Zytomegaliekrankheit bei erwachsenen internmedizinischen Patienten. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 103, 985 (1973)
- [1162] Munk, K., Runnebaum, H.: Virusinfektionen nach Organtransplantationen bei immunsuppressiver Therapie. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 95, 2252 (1970)
- [1163] Munthe, E., Brodwall, E.K., Øyri, A., Natvig, J.B.: Immunopathological changes during immunosuppressive treatment of glomerulonephritis in systemic lupus erythematosus. Acta med. scand. 196, 291 (1974)
- [1164] Murdough, H.U., Fetterman, G.H.: Small kidneys, polyuria, growth retardation and renal failure. J. Pediat. 79, 858 (1971)
- [1165] Murphy, G.P., Scott, W.W.: The renal hemodynamic response to acute and chronic ureteral occlusion. J. Urol. 95, 636 (1966)
- [1166] Murphy, J.J., Myint, M.K., Rattner, W.H., Klaus, R., Shallow, J.: The lymphatic system of the kidney. J. Urol. 80, 1 (1958)

- [1167] Murphy, W.M., Deodhar, S.D., McCormack, L.J.: Immunopathologic studies in membranous glomerulopathy (69 cases). Lab. Invest. 26, 486 (1972)
- [1168] Murphy, W.M., Deodhar, S.D., McCormack, L.J., Osborne, D.G.: Immunopathologic studies in glomerular disease with membranous lesions. Amer. J. clin. Path. 60, 364 (1973)
- [1169] Muylder, C. de: Tissu Nerveux et Pathologie Rénale. Paris: Masson, 1950
- [1170] Myburgh, J.A., Cohen, I., Gecelter, L., Meyers, A.M., Abrahams, C., Furman, K.I., Goldberg, B., Blerk, P.J.P. van: Hyperacute rejection in human kidney allografts-Shwartzman or Arthus reaction? New Engl. J. Med. 281, 131 (1969)
- [1171] Myers, B.D., Griffel, B., Naveh, D., Jankielowitz, T., Klajman, A.: Membrano-proliferative glomerulonephritis associated with persistent viral hepatitis. Amer. J. clin. Path. 60, 222 (1973)
- [1172] Myers, C.E., Bulger, R.E., Tisher, C.C., Trump, B.F.: Human renal ultrastructure. IV. Collecting duct of healthy individuals. Lab. Invest. 15, 1921 (1966)
- [1173] Myhre-Jensen, O., Hansen, E.S., Buitrago, B.: Renal microthrombosis. Incidence in 500 consecutive autopsies. Clinico-pathological relations. Acta path. microbiol. scand A 80, 403 (1973)
- [1174] Naber, K.G., Madsen, P.O.: Renal function during acute total ureteral occlusion and the role of the lymphatics: an experimental study in dogs. J. Urol. 109, 330 (1973)
- [1175] Naeye, R.L.: Early glomerular changes with cardiac malformations. Biol. neonat. 6, 297 (1964)
- [1176] Nagi, A.H., Alexander, F., Barabas, A.Z.: Gold nephropathy in rats. Light and electron microscopic studies. Exp. molec. Path. 15, 354 (1971)
- [1177] Nagi, A.H., Alexander, F., Lannigan, R.: Light and electron microscopical studies of focal glomerular sclerosis. J. clin. Path. 24, 846 (1971)
- [1178] Nagle, RB., Bulger, R.E., Cutler, R.E., Jervis, H.R., Benditt, E.P.: Unilateral obstructive nephropathy in the rabbit. I. Early morphologic, physiologic, and histochemical changes. Lab. Invest. 28, 456 (1973)
- [1179] Nagle, R.B., Kohnen, P.W., Bulger, G.E., Striker, G.E., Benditt, E.P.: Ultrastructure of human renal obsolescent glomeruli. Lab. Invest. 21, 519 (1969)
- [1180] Nairn, R.: Fluorescent Protein Tracing. Edinburgh: Livingstone, 1969
- [1181] Nakamura, R.M., Tucker, E.S.: Immunologic human renal diseases. In: Immunopathology. Clinical Laboratory Concepts and Methods. Nakamura, R.M. (ed.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1974
- [1182] Nakane, P.K., Kawari, A.: Peroxidase-labeled antibody. A new method of conjugation. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 22, 1084 (1974)
- [1183] Nakane, P.K., Pierce, G.B.: Enzyme-labeled antibodies for the light- and electron microscopic localization of tissue antigens. J. Cell Biol. 33, 307 (1967)
- [1183a] Natusch, R., Ditscherlein, G.: Nierenbiopsie. In: Abhandlungen moderner Medizin. Leipzig: Johann Ambrosius Barth, Vol. VI
- [1184] Nanra, R.S., Kincaid-Smith, P.: Chronic effect of analgesics on the kidney. In: Drugs Affecting Kidney Function

and Metabolism. Edwards, K.D. (ed.). Proc. biochem. pharmacol. 7, 285 (1972)

- [1184a] Nanra, R.S., Kincaid-Smith, P.: Lupus nephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, Vol. II, p. 1193
- [1184b] Nash, M.A., Greifer, I., Olbing, H., Bernstein, J., Bennett, B., Spitzer, A.: The significance of focal sclerotic lesions of glomeruli in children. J. Pediatrics 88, 806 (1976)
- [1185] Neimann, N., Pierson, M., Marchal, C., Rauber, G., Grignon, G.: Familial glomerulo tubular nephropathy with the de Toni-Debré-Fanconi syndrome. Arch. franç. pédiat. 25, 43 (1968)
- [1186] Netter, F.A., Black, D.A.K.: Focal glomerulonephritis. In: The CIBA Collection of Med. Illustrations: Kidneys, Ureters, and Urinary bladder. Netter, F.A., Shapter, R.K., Yonkerman, F.F. (eds.). Summit, New Jersey: CIBA Ed., 1973, Vol. VI, p. 139
- [1187] Netter, F.A., Churg, J., Goldstein, M., Grishman, E.: Glomerulonephritis. In: The CIBA Collection of Med. Illustrations: Kidneys, Ureters, and Urinary bladder. Netter, F.A., Shapter, R.K., Yonkerman, F.F. (eds.). Summit, New Jersey: CIBA Ed., 1973, Vol. VI, p. 131
- [1188] Netter, F.A., McCluskey, R.T.: Immunological mechanisms in glomerular diseases (essential hypersensitivity glomerular disease). In: The CIBA Collection of Med. Illustrations: Kidneys, Ureters, and Urinary bladder. Netter, F.A., Shapter, R.K., Yonkerman, R.F. (eds.). Summit, New Jersey: CIBA Ed., 1973, Vol. VI, p. 127
- [1189] Neustein, H.B., O'Brien, J.S., Rosser, R.J., Fillerup, D.L.: Chronic nephritis and renal foam cells. Cholesterol ester storage. Arch. Path. 93, 503 (1972)
- [1189a] New nomenclature for the HLA system. J. Immunol. 116, 573 (1976)
- [1189b] Newman, W.J., Tisher, C.C., McCoy, R.C., Gunnells, J.C., Krueger, R.P., Clapp, J.R., Robinson, R.R.: Focal glomerular sclerosis: Contrasting clinical patterns in children and adults. Medicine 55, 67 (1976)
- [1190] Nigrin, G., Cochrane, W.A., Jannigan, D., Ernst, A.: Results of calcium infusion and renal biopsy studies in refractory rickets. Amer. J. Dis. Child. 104, 478 (1962)
- [1191] Nissen, H.U.: On lipid droplets in renal interstitial cells.
 I. A histochemical study. Z. Zellforsch. 83, 76 (1967)
- [1192] Nitzschke, T., Bock, K.D.: Verlaufsbeobachtungen bei Kranken mit Nephropathie nach Analgetika-Abusus. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 95, 927 (1970)
- [1192a] Nordin, B.E.C., Peacock, M., Wilkinson, R.: Hypercalciuria and calcium stone disease. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 1, 169, 1972
- [1193] Norkin, S., Wiener, J.: Henoch-Schoenlein syndrome. Amer. J. clin. Path. 33, 55 (1960)
- [1194] Norton, W.L.: Comparison of the microangiopathy of systemic lupus erythematosus, dermatomyositis, scleroderma, and diabetes mellitus. Lab. Invest. 22, 301 (1970)
- [1195] Norton, W.L., Nardo, J.M.: Vascular disease in progressive systemic sclerosis (scleroderma). Ann. int. Med. 73, 317 (1970)
- [1196] Notkins, A.L., Koprowsky, H.: How the immune response to a virus can cause disease. Scientif. Amer. Jan, 1973, p. 22

- [1197] Nowakowski, A., Grove, R.B., King, L.H., Antonovych, T.T., Fortner, R.W., Knieser, M.R., Carter, C.B., Knepschild, J.H.: Goodpasture's syndrome: recovery from severe pulmonary hemorrhage after bilateral nephrectomy. Ann. int. Med. 75, 243 (1971)
- [1198] Ochoa, E., Finkielman, S., Agrest, A.: Angiotensin blood levels during the evolution of acute renal failure. Clin. Sci. 38, 225 (1970)
- [1199] O'Conor, V.J., jr., Bergan, J.J.: Surgical repair in a solitary kidney of a large intrarenal arteriovenous fistula resulting from needle biopsy. J. Urol. 109, 934 (1973)
- [1200] Okabayashi, A., Kondo, Y., Shigematsu, H.: Cellular and histopathologic consequences of immunologically induced experimental glomerulonephritis. Current topics in Pathology 61, 1 (1976)
- [1201] O'Kell, R.F.: Renal lesions associated with cirrhosis of the liver in infancy and childhood. Amer. J. Dis. Child. 116, 13 (1968)
- [1202] Oken, D.E.: On the passive back flow theory of acute renal failure. Amer. J. Med. 58, 77 (1975)
- [1202a] Oken, D.E.: Local mechanisms in the pathogenesis of acute renal failure. Kidney Int. 10, Suppl. 6, 94 (1976)
- [1203] Olbing, H.: Harnwegsinfektion und Harnbefund bei Kindern. Stuttgart: Thieme, 1969
- [1204] Olbing, H., Greifer, I., Bennett, B.P., Bernstein, J., Spitzer, A.: Idiopathic membranous nephropathy in children. Kidney Internat. 3, 381 (1973)
- [1205] Oldstone, M.B., Dixon, F.J.: Immune complex disease in chronic viral infections. J. exp. Med. 134, 32s (1971)
- [1206] Oliver, J.: Microcystic renal disease and its relation to infantile nephrosis. Amer. J. Dis. Child 100, 312 (1960)
- [1207] Olmer, M., Lafon, J.: L'insuffisance rénale dans la maladie de Kahler. Presse méd. 77, 41 (1969)
- [1208] Olsen, S.: Pathologie der diabetogenen Nephropathie. In: Nieren und Stoffwechselkrankheiten. Sarre, H., Holtmeier, H.J. (eds.). Stuttgart: Thieme, 1973, p. 2
- [1209] Olsen, S.: Extracapillary glomerulonephritis: A semiquantitative light microscopical study of 59 patients. Acta path. microbiol. scand. Suppl. 249, 7 (1974)
- [1210] Olsen, S., Bohman, S.O., Petersen, V.P.: Ultrastructure of the glomerular basement membrane in long-term renal allografts with transplant glomerular disease. Lab. Invest. 30, 176 (1974)
- [1211] Olsen, S., Petersen, V.P.: Extracapillary (crescenteric) glomerulonephritis. Acta med. scand. 198, 145 (1975)
- [1212] Olsen, S., Petersen, V.P., Sommer-Hansen, E.: Immunofluorescence studies of extracapillary glomerulonephritis. Acta path. microbiol. scand. Suppl. 249, 20 (1974)
- [1213] Olsen, T.S.: Ultrastructure of the renal tubules in acute renal insufficiency. Acta path. microbiol. scand. 71, 203 (1967)
- [1214] Olsen, T.S.: Struktur und Ultrastruktur des Glomerulum beim humanen und experimentellen Diabetes. In: Fortschritte der Nephrologie: Niere und Stoffwechsel. Juxtaglomerulärer Apparat. Bohle, A., Schubart, G.E. (eds.). Stuttgart: Schattauer, 1971, p. 83
- [1215] Ooi, B.S., Jao, W., First, M.R., Mancilla, P., Pollak, V.E.: Acute interstitial nephritis. Amer. J. Med. 59, 614 (1975)
- [1216] Ooi, B.S., Orlina, A.R., Masaitis, L.: Lymphocytotoxin in primary renal disease. Lancet 1974/II, 1348

- [1217] Oparil, S., Haber, E.: The renin-angiotensin system. New Engl. J. Med. 291, 389 (1974)
- [1217a] O'Regan, S., Smith, M., Drummond, K.N.: Antigens in human immune complex nephritis. Clin. Nephrol. 6, 417 (1976)
- [1217b] O'Regan, S., Fong, J.S., Chadarevian, J.-P. de, Rishikof, J.R., Drummond, K.N.: Treponemal antigens in congenital and acquired syphilitic nephritis. Ann. Intern. Med. 85, 325 (1976)
- [1218] Ores, R.O.: Renal changes in oculo-cerebro-renal syndrome of Lowe. Arch. Path. 89, 221 (1970)
- [1219] Orestano, F., Stelzig, H.H.: Funktionelle und morphologische Untersuchungen der Nieren nach Lymphgefäßdurchtrennung. Urologe A 9, 89 (1970)
- [1220] Orloff, J., Burg, M.: Kidney. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 33, 83 (1971)
- [1221] Ormos, J., Biliczki, F., Csapo, Z.: Beitrag zur Ultrastruktur der disseminierten intravasculären Coagulation in der Rattenniere nach Liquoid. Virchows Arch. B 10, 152 (1972)
- [1222] Ormos, J., Solbach, H.G.: Beitrag zur Morphologie der Niere bei Diabetes mellitus. Frankf. Z. Path. 72, 379 (1963)
- [1223] Ormos, J., Viragh, S.: Das elektronenmikroskopische Bild der experimentellen Nierenrindennekrose. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. Path. 49, 146 (1971)
- [1224] Osathanondh, V., Potter, E.L.: Pathogenesis of polycystic kidneys. Arch. Path. 77, 459 (1964)
- [1225] Osawa, G., Kainuma, T., Murohashi, K., Wada, J., Kinoshita, Y.: Glomerular nodular lesions in chronic carbon disulphide poisoning. Light-, electron- and immunofluorescent studies of renal biopsy tissue. Acta med. biol. (Japan) 23, 34 (1975)
- [1226] Oshima, K., Hatano, M., Maeyama, Y., Shugino, N., Takeuchi, T.: Electron microscopy of the glomerular basement membrane of the rat kidney. In: Abstr. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966, p. 11
- [1227] Osserman, E.F.: The plasmocytic dyscrasias. Plasma cell myeloma and primary macroglobulinemia. Amer. J. Med. 31, 671 (1961)
- [1228] Osserman, E.F.: Amyloidosis and plasma cell dyscrasia. In: Immunopathology. Grabar, P., Miescher, P.A. (eds.). Basel: Schwabe, 1966 Vol IV, p. 283
- [1228a] Ossermann, E.F., Takatsuki, K., Talal, N.: The pathogenesis of amyloidosis. Seminars in Hematology 1, 1 (1964)
- [1229] Østerby, R.: A quantitative study of the glomerular basement membrane in early juvenile diabetes mellitus. In: Abstr. 4th Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Stockholm 1969, p. 282
- [1230] Østerby, R.: A quantitative electron microscopic study of mesangial regions in glomeruli from patients with short-term juvenile diabetes mellitus. Lab. Invest. 29, 99 (1973)
- [1231] Østerby, R.: Early phases in the development of diabetic glomerulopathy. Acta med. scand. Suppl. 574, 1 (1974)
- [1232] Osvaldo, L., Latta, H.: Interstitial cells of the renal medulla. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 15, 589 (1966)
- [1233] Owen, C.A., Bowie, E.J.W.: Chronic intravascular coagulation syndromes. Mayo Clin. Proc. 49, 673 (1974)
- [1233a] Ozawa, T., Boedecker, E.A., Schorr, W., Guggenheim,

S., McIntosh, R.M.: Immune-complex disease with unilateral renal vein thrombosis. Arch. Path. Lab. Med. 100, 279 (1976)

- [1233b] Ozawa, T., Mars, M.F., Guggenheim, S., Strauss, J., McIntosh, R.M.: Autologous immune complex nephritis associated with sickle cell trait: diagnosis of the haemoglobinopathy after renal structural and immunological studies. Brit. Med. J. 1976/I, 369–371
- [1233c] Ozawa, T., Levisolin, P., Orsini, E., McIntosh, R.M.: Acute immune complex disease associated with hepatitis. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. 100, 484 (1976)
- [1234] Paatela, M.: Renal microdissection studies in congenital nephrotic syndrome. Ann. paed. fenn. 7, 155 (1961)
- [1235] Pabico, R.C., Atanacio, B.C., McKenna, B.A., Pamukcoglu, T., Yodaiken, R.: Renal pathologic lesions and functional alterations in a man with Fabry's disease. Amer. J. Med. 55, 415 (1973)
- [1236] Pageant, G., Guidet, M., Carbillet, J.B., Paquette, J.P., Oppermann, A.: Anatomie pathologique de l'ochronose. Rev. Rhumat. 38, 277 (1971)
- [1237] Palmer, J.M., Eversole, S.L., Stamey, T.A.: Unilateral glomerulonephritis. Virtual absence of nephritis in a kidney with partial occlusion of the main renal artery. Amer. J. Med. 40, 816 (1966)
- [1237a] Panern, S., Ordonez, N.G., Kirstein, W.H., Katz, A.J., Spargo, B.H.: C-type virus expression in systemic lupus erythematosus. New Engl. J. Med. 295, 470 (1976)
- [1238] Papadimitriou, J.M.: Renal damage in murine infection with reovirus 3: An ultrastructural study. Pathology 1, 35 (1969)
- [1238a] Papper, S.: The hepatorenal syndrome. Clin. Nephrol. 4, 41 (1976)
- [1239] Papper, S., Vaamonde, C.A.: Nephrosclerosis. In: Diseases of the Kidney. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971, p. 735
- [1240] Papper, S., Vaamonde, C.A.: The kidney in liver disease. In: Diseases of the Kidney. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971, p. 1139
- [1241] Pardo, V., Fisher, E.R., Perez-Stable, E., Rodnan, G.P.: Ultrastructural studies in hypertension. II. Renal vascular damage in progressive systemic sclerosis. Lab. Invest. 15, 1434 (1966)
- [1242] Pardo, V., Levi, D., Sanchez, L., Strauss, J.: Renal changes in idiopathic hematuria: clinico-pathologic study of forty patients. Amer. J. Path. 78, 50a (1975)
- [1243] Pardo, V., Perez-Stable, E., Fisher, E.R.: Ultrastructural studies in hypertension. III. Gouty nephropathy. Lab. Invest. 18, 143 (1968)
- [1243a] Pardo, V., Perez-Stable, E., Alzamora, D.B., Cleveland, W.W.: Incidence and signification of muscle capillary basal lamina thickness in juvenile diabetes. Amer. J. Path. 68, 67 (1972)
- [1244] Pardo, V., Strauss, J., Kramer, H., Ozawa, T., McIntosh, R.M.: Nephropathy associated with sickle cell anemia: An autotlogous immune complex disease. Amer. J. Med. 59, 650 (1975)
- [1245] Parker, R.A.: Distribution of the changes in the juxtaglomerular apparatus in human renal artery stenosis. Nephron 4, 315 (1967)
- [1246] Paronetto, F.: Systemic nonsuppurative necrotizing angiitis. In: Textbook of Immunopathology. Miescher,

P.A., Müller-Eberhard, H.J. (eds.). New York and London: Grune and Stratton, 1969, Vol II, p. 722

- [1247] Parry, M.F., Wallach, R.: Ethylene glycol poisoning. Amer. J. Med. 57, 143 (1974)
- [1248] Passarge, E., Wendel, U., Wöhler, W., Rüdiger, H.W.: Krankheiten infolge genetischer Defekte im lysosomalen Mucopolysaccharid-Abbau. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 99, 144 (1974)
- [1249] Patel, R., Terasaki, P.I.: Significance of the positive crossmatch test in kidney transplantation. New Engl. J. Med. 280, 735 (1969)
- [1250] Paton, A.M., Lever, A.F., Oliver, N.W.J., Medina, A., Briggs, J.D., Morton, J.J., Brown, J.J., Robertson, J.I.S., Fraser, R., Tree, M., Gavras, H.: Plasma angiotensin II, renin, reninsubstrate and aldosterone concentrations in acute renal failure in man. Clin. Nephrol. 3, 18 (1975)
- [1251] Paunier, L., Conen, P., Gibson, A.A.M., Fraser, D.: Renal function and histology after long-term vitamin D therapy of vitamin D refractory rickets. J. Pediat. 73, 833 (1968)
- [1252] Pearl, M.A., Carvajal, E., McCracken, M.H.: The renal aspects of the collagen diseases. Amer. J. med. Sci. 246, 84 (1963)
- [1253] Pedreira, F.A., Marmer, E.L., Bergstrom, W.H.: Familial juvenile nephronophthisis and medullary cystic disease. J. Pediat. 73, 77 (1968)
- [1254] Peetoom, F., Logheim-Langereis, E. v.: IgM-IgG (β_2 M-7s γ) cryoglobulinemia. An autoimmune phenomenon. Vox sang. **10**, 281 (1965)
- [1255] Penn, I., Halgrimson, C.G., Starzl, T.E.: De novo malignant tumours in organ transplant recipients. Transplant. Proc. 3, 773 (1971)
- [1255a] Perillie, P.E., Conn, H.O.: Acute renal failure after intravenous pyelography in plasma cell myeloma. JAMA 167, 18 (1958)
- [1256] Pertschuk, L.P., Woda, B.A., Vulctisi, J.C., Brigati, D.J., Soriano, C.B., Nicastri, A.: Glomerulonephritis due to staphylococcus aureus antigen. Amer. J. clin. Path. 65, 301 (1976)
- [1257] Peters, D.K.: The immunological basis of glomerulonephritis. Proc. Roy. Soc. Med. 67, 557 (1974)
- [1258] Peters, D.K., Williams, D.G., Charlesworth, J.A., Boulton-Jones, J.M., Sissons, J.G.P., Evans, D.J., Kourilsky, O., Morel-Maroger, L.: Mesangiocapillary nephritis, partial lipodystrophy, and hypocomplementaemia. Lancet 1973/II, 535
- [1259] Peters, G., Baechtold-Fowler, N., Bonjour, J.P., Chomety-Diezi, F., Filloux, B., Guidoux, R., Guinard, J.P., Peters-Haefeli, L., Roch-Ramel, F., Schelling, J.L., Hedinger, C., Weber, E.: General and renal toxicity of phenacetin, paracetamol, and some anti-mitotic agents in the rat. Arch. Toxicol. 28, 225 (1972)
- [1260] Peters, H.J., Nuri, M., Muenzenmaier, R.: Hemangioendothelioma of the kidney: A case report and review of the literature. J. Urol. 112, 723 (1974)
- [1261] Peters, P.C., Leeber, D., Hall, A.R., Philippart, M.: Renal transplantation in Fabry's disease. J. Urol. 109, 548 (1973)
- [1262] Pctkovic, S., Sumarac, Z.: L'hypertension artérielle avant ct après néphrectomie pour maladies urologiques. J. Urol. Néphrol. 75, 474 (1969)

- [1263] Petrucco, O.M., Thomson, N.M., Lawrence, J.R., Weldon, M.W.: Immunofluorescent studies in renal biopsies in pre-eclampsia. Brit. med. J. 1974/I, 473
- [1264] Pfeiffer, E.F., Federlin, K., Wahlig, F.: Die Immunologie der Nephropathie und Nierentransplantation. In: Handbuch der innerern Medizin. Mohr, L., Staehelin, R., Schwiegk, H. (eds.). Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer, 1968, Vol VIII/1, p. 1035
- [1265] Phillips, G., Mukherjee, T.M.: A juxtaglomerular cell tumour: light and electron microscopic studies of a reninsecreting kidney tumour containing both juxtamedullar cells and mast cells. Pathology 4, 193 (1972)
- [1266] Pichlmayr, R.: Organtransplantation Grundlagen. Klin. Wschr. 47, 593 (1969)
- [1267] Pick, A.J., Ossermann, E.F.: Amyloidosis associated with plasma cell dyscrasias. In: Amyloidosis. Mandema, E., Ruinen, L., Scholten, J.H., Cohen, A.S. (eds.). Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica, 1968
- [1268] Pierce, G.B., Middgley, A.R., Ram, J.S.: The histogenesis of basement membranes. J. exp. Med. 117, 339 (1963)
- [1269] Pierce, G.B., Nakane, P.K.: Basement membranes. Synthesis and deposition in response to cellular injury. Lab. Invest. 21, 27 (1969)
- [1270] Pincus, T., Haberkern, R., Christian, C.L.: Experimental chronic glomerulitis. J. exp. Med. 127, 819 (1968)
- [1271] Pineo, G.F., Regoeczi, E., Dempster, W.J.: The nature of experimental second-set kidney transplant rejection.
 I. The role of coagulation in hyperacute (second-set) renal allo-transplant rejection in dogs. Brit. J. exp. Path. 51, 547 (1970)
- [1271a] Pirani, C.L.: Suspected and unsuspected pyelonephritis in renal biopsy. In: Biology of Pyelonephritis. Quinn, E.L., Kass, E.H. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1960, p. 241
- [1272] Pirani, C.L., Pollak, V.E.: Longitudinal studies of renal biopsies. In: Proc. 5rd Internat. Congress Nephrol. Washington 1966. Basel: Karger, 1967, Vol. II, p. 212
- [1273] Pirani, C.L., Pollak, V.E.: Renal involvement in toxemia of pregnancy. In: Structural Basis of Renal Disease. Becker, E.L. (ed.). New York: Harper and Row, Hoeber, Med. Div., 1968, p. 401
- [1274] Pirani, C.L., Pollak, V.E., Schwartz, F.D.: The reproducibility of semiquantitative analyses of renal histology. Nephron 1, 230 (1964)
- [1274a] Pitcock, J.A., Johnson, J.G., Hatch, F.E., Acchiardo, S., Muirhead, E.E., Brown, P.S.: Malignant hypertension in blacks. Human Pathol. 7, 333 (1976)
- [1275] Pitcock, J.A., Johnson, J.G., Share, L., Hatch, F.E., Acchiardo, S.R., Black, W.D., Muirhead, E.E.: Malignant hypertension due to musculo-mucoid intimal hyperplasia of intrarcnal arteries. Circulation Res. 36/37, Suppl. I, 133 (1975)
- [1275a] Plager, J.E.: Association of renal injury with combined cephalothin-gentamycin therapy among patients severely ill with malignant disease. Cancer 37, 1937 (1976)
- [1276] Pollak, V.E., Bonting, S.L., Muehrcke, R.C., Kark, R.M.: Quantitative histochemistry of the nephron. IV. Alkaline phosphatase and lactic dehydrogenase activities in renal tubular disease. J. clin. Invest. **39**, 1386 (1960)
- [1277] Pollak, V.E., Kark, R.M., Pirani, C.L., Schafter, H.A.,

Muehrcke, R.C.: Renal vein thrombosis and the nephrotic syndrome. Amer. J. Med. 21, 496 (1956)

- [1278] Pollak, V.E., Mendoza, N., Pirani, C.L.: Immunohistological observations in mesangioproliferative glomerulonephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 633
- [1279] Pollak, V.E., Nettles, J.B.: The kidney in toxemia of pregnancy: a clinical and pathologic study based on renal biopsies. Medicinc 39, 469 (1960)
- [1280] Pollak, V.E., Pirani, C.L.: Renal histologic findings in systemic lupus erythematosus. Mayo Clin. Proc. 44, 630 (1969)
- [1281] Pollak, V.E., Pirani, C.L., Clinc, D.H.: The natural history of membranous glomerulopathy. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 429
- [1282] Pollak, V.E., Pirani, C.L., Dujovne, I., Dillard, M.G.: The clinical course of lupus nephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 1167
- [1283] Ponticelli, C., Imbasciati, E., Tarantino, A., Graziani, G., Redaelli, B.: Postpartum renal failure with microangiopathic haemolytic anaemia. Nephron 9, 27 (1972)
- [1284] Porch, P.A., Williams, G.: Mesangial cells in membranous glomerulonephritis. J. clin. Path. 26, 660 (1973)
- [1285] Porry, M.F., Wallach, R.: Ethylene glycol poisoning. Amer. J. Med. 57, 143 (1974)
- [1286] Porter, K.A.: Renal transplantation. In: Pathology of the Kidney. Heptinstall, R.H. (ed.). London: Churchill, 1966, p. 601
- [1287] Porter, K.A.: Clinical renal transplantation. In: International Review of Exp. Pathology 11: 73 (1972). Richter, G.W., Epstein, M.A. (eds.). New York, London: Academic Press, 1972
- [1288] Porter, K.A., Andres, G.A., Calder, M.W., Dossetor, J.B., Hsu, K.C., Rendall, J.M., Seegal, B.C., Starzl, T.E.: Human renal transplants. II. Immunofluorescent and immunoferritin studies. Lab. Invest. 18, 159 (1968)
- [1289] Porter, K.A., Calne, R.Y., Zukoski, C.F.: Vascular and other changes in 200 canine renal homotransplants treated with immunosuppressive drugs. Lab. Invest. 13, 809 (1964)
- [1290] Porter, K.A., Dossetor, J.B., Marchioro, T.L., Peart, W.S., Rendall, J.M., Starzl, T.E., Terasaki, P.I.: Human renal transplants. I. Glomerular changes. Lab. Invest. 16, 153 (1967)
- [1291] Porush, J.G., Grishman, E., Alter, A.A., Mandelbaum, H., Churg, J.: Paraproteinemia and cryoglobulinemia associated with atypical glomerulonephritis and the nephrotic syndrome. Amer. J. Med. 47, 957 (1969)
- [1292] Poschmann, A., Fischer, K.: Hämolytisch-urämisches Syndrom. Med. Klin. 69, 1821 (1974)
- [1293] Poskitt, T.R.: Immunologic and electron microscopic studies in Goodpasture's syndrome. Amer. J. Med. 49, 250 (1970)
- [1294] Povysil, C.: Ultrastructure of experimental xanthogranulomatous pyeloncphritis. Virchows Arch. B 20, 155 (1976)
- [1295] Preuss, H.G., Terryi, E.F., Keeler, A.I.: Renotropic factor(s) in plasma from uninephrectomized rats. Nephron 7, 459 (1970)

- [1296] Preuss, H.G., Tourkantonis, A., Su. C.H., Shim, P.S., Barzyk, P., Tio, F., Schreiner, G.E.: Early events in various forms of experimental acute tubular necrosis in rats. Lab. Invest. 32, 286 (1975)
- [1297] Price, J.D., Palmer, R.A.: A functional and morphological follow-up of acute renal failure. Arch. int. Med. 105, 114 (1960)
- [1298] Probst, P.: Häufigkeit, Komplikationen und Prognose der Nierendysplasie. Z. Kinderheilk. 113, 215 (1972)
- [1299] Proesmans, W., Damme, B. van, Macken, J.: Nephronophthisis and tapetoretinal degeneration associated with liver fibrosis. Clin. Nephrol. 3, 160 (1975)
- [1300] Proskey, A.J., Weatherbee, L., Easterling, R.E., Greene, J.A., Weller, J.M.: Goodpasture's syndrome. Amer. J. Med. 48, 162 (1970)
- [1301] Pyrak, L.N.: Medullary sponge kidney. J. Urol. 95, 274 (1966)
- [1302] Quellhorst, E., Scheler, F.: Indikationen zur bilateralen Nephrektomie bei perakuter Glomerulonephritis, insbesondere bei Goodpasture-Syndrom. Arbeitsgem. klin. Nephrol. BDR 1, 122 (1972)
- [1303] Raafat, F., Hasemian, M.P., Abrishami, M.A.: Wolman's disease: report of two new cases with a review of the literature. Amer. J. clin. Path. 59, 490 (1973)
- [1304] Raaflaub, J., Dubach, U.C.: Zur Frage der Pathogenese der chronisch-interstitiellen Nephritis nach protrahiertem Schmerzmittelabusus. Klin. Wschr. 55, 489 (1972)
- [1304a] Raaschoo, F.: Studies of Chronic Pyelonephritis. Kopenhagen: Munksgaard 1948
- [1305] Raffii, P., Dutz, W.: Hydatid cysts of the kidney. J. Urol. 97, 815 (1967)
- [1306] Rafii, M.R.: Mikroskopische Form der Panarteriitis nodosa mit Lungenblutungen und Herdnephritis. Zbl. Path. 113, 55 (1970)
- [1307] Rafla, S.: Renal cell carcinoma. Natural history and results of treatment. Cancer 25, 26 (1970)
- [1307a] Raij, L., Keane, W.-F., Leonard, A., Shapiro, F.L.: Irreversible acute renal failure in idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. Amer. J. Med. 61, 207 (1976)
- [1308] Ram, M.D., Chisholm, G.D.: Cystic disease of renal pyramids (medullary sponge kidney). Brit. J. Urol. 41, 280 (1969)
- [1309] Rapaport, A., Davidson, D.A., Deveber, G.A., Ranking, G.N., McLean, C.R.: Idiopathic focal proliferative nephritis associated with hematuria and normal renal function. Ann. int. Med. 73, 921 (1970)
- [1309a] Rapaport, F.T., Dausset, J.: Ranks of donor-recipient histocompatibility for human transplantation. Science 167, 1260 (1970)
- [1310] Rasenack, U., Wuensch, P.H.: Klinik und Morphologie der akuten renalen Hypertonie bei Panarteriitis nodosa. Med. Klin. 69, 1839 (1974)
- [1311] Ravel, R.: Megalocytic interstitial nephritis: An entity probably related to malakoplakia. Amer. J. clin. Path. 47, 781 (1967)
- [1311a] Reale, E., Ruska, H.: Die Feinstruktur der Gefäßwände. Angiologica 2, 314 (1968)
- [1312] Reichel, W., Bohlc, A., Scheler, F.: Beitrag zur Klinik der Glomerulonephritis. Nieren- und Hochdruckkrankheiten 2, 209 (1973)
- [1312a] Reichel, W., Koebberling, J., Fischbach, H., Schcler,

F.: Membrano-proliferative glomerulonephritis with partial lipodystrophy. Klin. Wo. 54, 75 (1976)

- [1313] Reichel, W., Fischbach, H., Quellhorst, E., Scheler, F.: Spontanremission einer rapid progressiven Glomerulonephritis. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 99, 523 (1974)
- [1314] Reidbord, H.E.: Metaplasia of the parietal layer of Bowman's capsule. Amer. J. clin. Path. 50, 240 (1968)
- [1315] Reif, W., Lange, H.P.: Vergleichende morphologische und chemische Untersuchungen zur dystrophischen Verkalkung und Mineralisation der Kaninchenniere beim Infarkt und während der Regeneration der postischämischen Nephrose. Beitr. Path. 145, 221 (1972)
- [1326] Reis, H.E.: Die Bedeutung der Immunsuppression für die Entstehung und das Wachstum maligner Geschwülste. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 96, 170 (1971)
- [1317] Remmele, W., Abtaki, H.: Beitrag zur Kenntnis siderophiler Nierentumoren. Virchows Arch. A 356, 275 (1972)
- [1318] Remmele, W., Hinrichs, A.: Renal siderosis. Morphology, etiology, pathogenesis and differential diagnosis (with special reference to traumatic hemolytic anemia). Current topics in Pathology 51, 97 (1970)
- [1319] Remmele, W., Leder, L.D., Graul, W.: Herkunft und Bedeutung der intravasalen Zellansammlungen in der sog. Schockniere. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. Path. 48, 179 (1964)
- [1320] Rennie, J.D.: Proteinuria. Med. Clin. North Amer. 55, 213 (1971)
- [1321] Resibois, A.: Electron microscopic studies of metachromatic leucodystrophy. IV. Liver and kidney alterations. Path. europ. 6, 278 (1971)
- [1322] Resibois, A., Tondeur, M., Mockel, S., Dustin, P.: Lysosomes and storage diseases. Internat. Rev. exp. Path. 9, 93 (1970)
- [1323] Retik, A.B., Rosen, S.M., Merrill, J.P., Murray, J.E.: Cortical ischemia in renal allograft rejection. Surg. Gynec. Obstet. 124, 989 (1967)
- [1324] Reubi, F.: Neurofibromatosis et lésions vasculaires. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 75, 463 (1945)
- [1325] Reubi, F.: Nierenkrankheiten. Bern: Huber, 1970
- [1326] Reubi, F.C., Cottier, H.: Un nouveau cas de diabète renale avec contrôle histologique par ponction biopsie. J. Urol. Néphrol. 65, 243 (1959)
- [1327] Reynolds, E.S., Galvanek, E.G., Busch, G.J., Dammin, G.J.: Transplantation of the kidney: Immunofluorescent and ultrastructural rejection patterns. In: 7th Internat. Congr. Int. Acad. Path., Milan 1968, p. 71
- [1328] Rich, A.R.: The role of hypersensitivity in periarteritis nodosa. Bull. Johns Hopk. Hosp. 71, 123 (1942)
- [1329] Rich, A.R.: A hitherto undescribed vulnerability of the juxtamedullary glomeruli in lipoid nephrosis. Bull. Johns Hopk. Hosp. 100, 173 (1957)
- [1330] Richardson, J.A., Rosenau, W., Lee, J.C., Hopper, J., jr.: Kidney transplantation for rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis. Lancet 1970/II, 180
- [1331] Riches, E.: Tumours of the kidney and ureter. In: Handbuch der Urologie. Alken, C.E., Dix, V.W., Weyrauch, H.M., Wildbolz, E. (eds.). Berlin, Heidelberg and Ncw York: Springer 1967, Vol. XI/1, p. 1
- [1332] Richet, G., Chcvet, D., Morel-Maroger, L.: Serial biopsies in diffuse proliferative glomerulonephritis in adults. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Ma-

thew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 363

- [1333] Richet, G., Fillastre, J.P., Morel-Maroger, L., Bariety, J.: Change from diffuse proliferative to membranous glomerulonephritis. Serial biopsies in four cases. Kidney Internat. 5, 57 (1974)
- [1333a] Richet, G., Fillastre, J.P., Ulmann, A.: Néphropathies interstitielles. In: Nephrologie. Paris: Flammarion, 1976, Vol. V/2, p. 1005
- [1334] Richterich, R., Kahlke, W., Mechelen, P. von, Rossi, E.: Refsum's Syndrom. Klin. Wschr. 41, 800 (1963)
- [1335] Riede, U.N., Torhorst, J., Rohr, H.P.: Focal proliferation of the smooth endoplasmic reticulum in the cells of the straight part of the proximal kidney tubule. Path. europ. 8, 211 (1973)
- [1336] Riede, U.N., Zollinger, H.U.: Idiopathische Fibro-Elastose der Nierenarterien und ihre Beziehungen zur fibromuskulären Dysplasie. Virchows Arch. A 351, 99 (1970)
- [1337] Riede, U.N., Zollinger, H.U., Mihatsch, M.J., Colombi, A., Villiger, W.: Case report of a familial oxalosis. Ultrastructure study on the pathogenesis of kidney changes. Beitr. Path. 149, 90 (1973)
- [1338] Rifkind, D., Goodman, N., Hill, R.B., jr.: The clinical significance of cytomegalovirus infection in renal transplant recipients. Ann. int. Med. 66, 1116 (1967)
- [1339] Rifkind, D., Marchioro, T.L., Schneck, S.A., Hill, R.B.: Systemic fungal infections complicating renal transplantation and immunosuppressive therapy. Amer. J. Med. 43, 28 (1967)
- [1340] Rippmann, E.T.: Classification and scoring of late gestosis of pregnancy. Proc. Internat. Fed. Gynaec. Obstet. 6, 34 (1968)
- [1341] Risdon, R.A.: Quantitation of histological changes in the glomeruli in renal biopsy specimens from children: total and differential glomerular cell counts. J. Path. 114, 185 (1974)
- [1342] Risdon, R.A., Sloper, J.C., Wardener, H.E. de: Relationship between renal function and histological changes found in renal biopsy specimens from patients with persistent glomerular nephritis. Lancet 1968/II, 363
- [1343] Robboy, S.J., Colman, R.W., Minna, J.D.: Pathology of disseminated intravascular coagulation. Analysis of 26 cases. Human Path. 3, 327 (1972)
- [1344] Roberts, F.B., Fetterman, G.H.: Polyarteritis nodosa in infancy. J. Pediat. 63, 519 (1963)
- [1345] Robertson, P.W., Hull, D.H., Klidjian, A., Dyson, M.L.: Renal artery anomalies and hypertension. Amer. Heart J. 73, 296 (1967)
- [1346] Robertson, P.W., Klidjian, A., Harding, L.K., Walters, G.: Hypertension due to a renin-secreting renal tumour. Amer. J. Med. 43, 963 (1967)
- [1347] Robson, J.S.: The nephrotic syndrome. In: Renal Diseases, 3rd ed. Black, D.A. (ed.). Oxford, London, Edinburgh, Melbourne: Blackwell 1972
- [1348] Robson, J.S., Martin, A.M., Rudeley, V.A., McDonald, M.K.: Irreversible post-partum renal failure: A new syndrome. Quart. J. Med. 37, 423 (1968)
- [1349] Rocklin, R.E., Lewis, E.J., David, J.R.: In-vitro evidence for cellular hypersensitivity to glomerular-basementmembrane antigens in human glomerulonephritis. New Engl. J. Med. 283, 497 (1970)

- [1350] Rodin, A.E., Travis, L.B., Beathard, G.A.: Morphologic observations in familial juvenile nephronophthisis. Lab. Invest. 22, 508 (1970) (Abstr.)
- [1351] Rogers, P.W., Kurtzman, N.A., Bunn, S.M., White, M.G.: Familial benign essential hematuria. Arch. int. Med. 131, 257 (1973)
- [1352] Rohr, H.P., Zollinger, H.U.: Die sogenannte "Zuckerspeicherniere" unter besonderer Berücksichtigung elektronenoptisch-autoradiographischer Untersuchungen mit ¹⁴C-Saccharose. Virchows Arch. 341, 115 (1966)
- [1353] Rohr, H.P., Zollinger, H.U., Mueller, P., Schmid, M.: Bioptische licht- und elektronenmikroskopische Untersuchung eines Falles von idiopathischer Lungenblutung mit Herdglomerulitis (Goodpasture-Syndrom). Klin. Wschr. 44, 952 (1966)
- [1354] Rojo-Ortega, J.M., Yeghiayan, E., Genest, J.: Lymphatic capillaries in the renal cortex of the rat. Lab. Invest. 29, 336 (1973)
- [1355] Rolleston, G.L., Shannon, F.T., Utley, W.L.F.: Relationship of infantile vesicoureteric reflux to renal damage. Brit. med. J. 1970/I, 460
- [1356] Romen, W.: Basalmembranverkalkungen in der Niere. Virchows Arch. A 350, 240 (1970)
- [1357] Romen, W.: Die experimentelle Nierenvenenthrombose der Ratte und ihre Beziehungen zum nephrotischen Syndrom. Virchows Arch. A 352, 141 (1971)
- [1357a] Romen, W.: On the pathogenesis of the glomerulosclerosis. Progr. in Path. 102, 1 (1976)
- [1358] Roschlau, G., Justus, J.: Morphologische Befunde bei drei an familiärer juveniler Nephronophthise erkrankten Geschwistern. Frankf. Z. Path. 74, 371 (1965)
- [1358a] Rose, J.G., Gillenwater, J.Y.: Pathophysiology of ureteral obstruction. Amer. J. Physiol. 225, 830–837 (1973)
- [1359] Rosen, S.: Membranous glomerulonephritis: Current status. Human path. 2, 209 (1971)
- [1360] Rosen, S., Cortell, S., Achner, M.M., Papadopoulos, N.M., Barry, K.G.: Multiple myeloma and the nephrotic syndrome. Amer. J. clin. Path. 47, 567 (1967)
- [1361] Rosen, S., Schein, P.: Hemolytic-uremic syndrome in an adult: light and electron microscopic observations. Amer. J. clin. Path. 54, 33 (1970)
- [1362] Rosen, V.J., Cole, L.J.: Radiation induced renal lesions in the rodent. In: Methods and Achievement in Experimental Pathology. Bajusz, E., Jasmin, G. (eds.). Basel: Karger 1969, Vol. IV, p. 214
- [1363] Rosen, V.J., Cole, L.J., Wachtel, L.W., Doggett, R.S.: Ultrastructural studies of x-ray induced glomerular disease in rats subjected to uninephrectomy and food restriction. Lab. Invest. 18, 260 (1968)
- [1364] Rosenau, W., Lee, J.C., Najarian, J.S.: A light, fluorescence, and electron microscopic study of functioning human renal transplants. Surg. Gynec. Obstet. 128, 62 (1969)
- [1365] Rosenmann, E., Aviram, A.: Glomerular involvement in storage diseases. J. Path. 111, 61 (1973)
- [1366] Rosenmann, E., Dishon, T., Boss, J.H.: Urinary excretion of kidney antigens in rats consuming analgesics. Path. europ. 7, 161 (1972)
- [1367] Rosenmann, E., Pollak, V.E., Pirani, C.L.: Renal vein thrombosis in the adult: a clinical and pathologic study based on renal biopsies. Medicine 47, 269 (1968)
- [1367a] Rosenthal, M., Stojan, B., Mueller, W.: Differenzierung

der antinukleären Antikörper. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 101, 379 (1976)

- [1368] Ross, E.J.: Effect of long-term steroid therapy in adults. In: Proc. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966. Basel: Karger 1967, Vol. III, p. 108
- [1369] Ross, L.: Gaucher's cells in kidney glomeruli. Arch. Path. 87, 164 (1969)
- [1370] Ross, L., Chin, W.: Metastatic calcification of renal glomerular basement membrane. J. Path. 101, 69 (1970)
- [1371] Rossenbeck, H.G.: Zur kausalen Pathogenese des infantilen nephrotischen Syndroms bei kongenitaler Glomerulonephritis. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 91, 363 (1966)
- [1372] Rossmann, P., Jirka, J., Hradcova, L.: Extramembranous deposits and "membranous" glomerulonephritis. Virchows Arch. A 356, 293 (1972)
- [1373] Rossmann, P., Jirka, J., Reneltova, I., Malek, P., Hepial, J.: Tubuläre Schädigungen allotransplantierter Nieren beim Menschen. Zbl. Path. 115, 341 (1972)
- [1374] Rostgaard, J.: Die Identifizierung eines Filamentsystems im basalen Teil von Tubuluszellen mit Haevy-Meromyosin. Z. Zellforsch. 132, 497 (1972)
- [1375] Roth, J., Schulze, E., Raabe, G., Waldmann, G.: Analytische Studie des Morbus Fabry. Virchows Arch. A 363, 287 (1974)
- [1376] Rothbard, S., Watson, R.F.: Demonstration by immunofluorescence of the fixation of perfused antibody to human collagen in human kidney. J. exp. Med. 125, 595 (1967)
- [1377] Rother, K.: Glomerulonephritis. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 91, 551 (1966)
- [1378] Rother, U., Rother, K., Flad, H.D., Miescher, P.A.: Bithermic activation of complement in cryoglobulinemic sera. Europ. J. clin. Invest. 2, 59 (1972)
- [1379] Rothfield, N., Ross, A., Minta, J.A., Lepow, J.H.: Glomerular and dermal deposition of properdin in systemic lupus erythematodes. New Engl. J. Med. 287, 681 (1972)
- [1380] Rotter, W.: Harnsystem. In: Spezielle Pathologie. Büchner, F., Grundmann, E. (eds.). München: Urban und Schwarzenberg 1975, Vol II, p. 477
- [1381] Röttger, P., Reul, H., Klein, J., Sunkel, H.: Die vollautomatische Dokumentation und statistische Auswertung pathologisch anatomischer Befundberichte. Methods Int. Med. 8, 19 (1969)
- [1382] Rouiller, C.: General anatomy and histology of the kidney. In: The Kidney. Rouiller, C., Mueller, A.F. (eds.). New York: Academic Press 1969, Vol. I, p. 61
- [1383] Rouiller, C., Orci, L.: The structure of the juxtaglomerular complex. In: The Kidney. Rouiller, C., Mueller, A.F. (eds.). New York-London: Academic Press 1971, Vol. IV, p. 1
- [1384] Roulet, F.: Das anatomische Bild der Cystinkrankheit mit Zwergwuchs. Ann. Pediat. 156, 283 (1941)
- [1385] Rousseau, M.F., Nabarra, B.: Tumeurs embryonnaires du rein. Ultrastructure du néphroblastome. Virchows Arch. A. 363, 149 (1974)
- [1386] Rowlands, D.T., Bossen, E.H.: Immunological mechanisms of allograft rejection. Arch. int. Med. 123, 491 (1969)
- [1386a] Rowlands, D.T., Hill, G.S., Zmijewski, C.M.: The pathology of renal homograft rejection. Amer. J. Path. 85, 774 (1976)

- [1387] Roy, L.R., Vernicr, R.L., Michael, A.F.: Effect of protein-load proteinuria on glomerular polyanions. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. Med. 141, 870 (1972)
- [1387a] Roy, S., Murphy, W.M., Pitcock, J., Rimer, R.L.: Sickle-cell disease and poststreptococcal acute glomerulonephritis. Amer. J. Clin. Path. 66, 988 (1976)
- [1388] Roy, S., Wall, H.P., Etteldorf, J.N.: Second attacks of acute glomerulonephritis. J. Pediat. 75, 758 (1969)
- [1389] Royer, J.R., Raij, L., Vernier, R.L., Simmons, R.L., Najarian, J.S., Michael, A.F.: Recurrence of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome after renal transplantation. Lancet 1972/II, 343
- [1390] Royer, P.: The Lowe Syndrome. In: Erbliche Stoffwechselkrankheiten. Linneweh, F. (ed.). München: Urban und Schwarzenberg, 1962, p. 165
- [1391] Royer, P.: L'hypertension artérielle rénovasculaire chez l'enfant. In: Pädiat. Fortbildungskurse. Basel: Karger, 1970, p. 63
- [1392] Royer, P., Habib, R., Broyer, M., Nouaille, Y.: Segmental hypoplasia of the kidney in children. In: Advances in Nephrology. From the Necker Hospital. Hamburger, J., Crosnier, J., Maxwell, M.H. (eds.). Chicago: Year Book Med. Publ. 1971, Vol. I, p. 145
- [1393] Royer, P., Habib, R., Courtecuisse, V., Leclerc, F.: L'hypoplasie rénale bilatérale avec oligonéphronie. Arch. franç. Pédiat. 24, 249 (1967)
- [1394] Royer, P., Habib, R., Mathieu, M., Courtecuisse, V.: L'hypoplasie rénale bilatérale congénitale avec reduction du nombre et hypertrophie des néphrons chez l'enfant. Ann. pédiat. 38, 753 (1962)
- [1395] Royer, P., Habib, R., Mathieu, H.: Nephrologie im Kindesalter. Stuttgart: Thieme, 1963
- [1396] Ruddy, S.: Chemistry and biologic activity of the complement system. Transplant. Proc. 6, 1 (1974)
- [1397] Ruddy, S., Gigli, J., Austen, K.F.: The complement system of man. New Engl. J. Med. 287, 489 (1972)
- [1398] Ruley, E.J., Lisi, L.M.: Interstitial nephritis and renal failure due to amphicilline. J. Pediat. 84, 878 (1974)
- [1399] Rumpelt, H.J., Thoenes, W.: Fokal-sklerosierende Glomerulopathie (Glomerulonephritis)-ein diffuser Prozeß. Klin. Wschr. 50, 1143 (1972)
- [1400] Rumpelt, H.J., Thoenes, W.: Intraglomerular (immune) deposits in focal and segmental sclerosing glomerulopathy (-nephritis) (focal sclerotic lesion, hyalinose segmentaire et focale). Clin. Nephrol. 1, 367 (1973)
- [1401] Rumpelt, H.J., Thoenes, W.: Focal and segmental sclerosing glomerulopathy (-nephritis). Virchows Arch. A 362, 265 (1974)
- [1401 a] Rumpelt, H.J., Langer, K.H., Schaerer, K., Straub, E., Thoenes, W.: Split and extremely thin glomerular basement membranes in hereditary nephropathy (Alport's syndrome). Virch. Arch. A Path. and Histol. 364, 225 (1974)
- [1402] Russell, P.S.: Kidney transplantation. Amer. J. Med. 44, 776 (1968)
- [1403] Rutecki, G.J., Goldsmith, C., Schreiner, G.E.: Characterization of proteins in urinary casts. New Engl. J. Med. 284, 1049 (1971)
- [1404] Rutishauser, G., Zollinger, H.U.: Multiple Kelchektasien durch frühkindliche pyelonephritische Narben. Z. Urol. 64, 607 (1971)

- [1405] Rutsaert, J., Segers-Cadranel, A., Potvliege, P.: Lowe's syndrome. Pathological studies of four cases. Path. europ. 7, 249 (1972)
- [1406] Sachdev, R.S., Flamm, H.: Mykoplasma-Infektionen beim Menschen. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 94, 794 (1969)
- [1407] Sagar, S.J., Kaye, M.B.: Systemic infection following needle biopsy of the kidney. J. Urol. 109, 930 (1973)
- [1408] Sagel, I., Treser, G., Ty, A., Yoshizawa, N., Kleinberger, H., Yuceoglu, M., Wasserman, E., Lange, K.: Occurrence and nature of glomerular lesions after group A streptococci infections. Ann. int. Med. **79**, 492 (1973)
- [1408a] Saint-Hillier, Y., Mahieu, P., Flesch, M., Dupont, I.L., Pageaut, G., Perol, C.: Lupus extracapillary (crescentic) glomerulonephritis with linear IgG-deposits. Report of a case with anuria. Kidney internat. 10, 87 (1976)
- [1409] Sakaguchi, H.: Hepatic glomerulosclerosis-light microscopic study of autopsy cases. Acta path. jap. 18, 407 (1968)
- [1410] Sakaguchi, H., Dachs, S., Grishman, E., Paronetto, F., Salomon, M., Churg, J.: Hepatic glomerulosclerosis. An electron microscopic study of renal biopsies in liver disease. Lab. Invest. 14, 533 (1965)
- [1411] Saladino, A.J., Stone, W.J., Macken, D.L., Knepshield, J.H.: Tubular alterations in human acute renal failure. Amer. J. Path. 66, 63a (1972)
- [1412] Saldanka, L.F., Rosen, V.J., Gonick, H.C.: Silicon nephropathy. Amer. J. Med. 59, 95 (1975)
- [1413] Salinas-Madrigal, L., Pirani, C.L., Pollak, V.E.: Glomerular and vascular "insudative" lesions of diabetic nephropathy. Electron microscopic observations. Amer. J. Path. 59, 361 (1970)
- [1414] Salle, B., Mamelle, J.C., Ladreyt, J.P.: Etude évolutive des lésions histologiques au cours des glomérulonéphrites aiguës postinfectieuses de l'enfant. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 98, 917 (1968)
- [1415] Salomon, M.I., Pui Poon, T., Hsu, K.C., King, E.J., Teherthoff, V.: Membranous glomerulopathy in a patient with sarcoidosis. Arch. Path. 99, 479 (1975)
- [1416] Salyer, W.R., Kerren, D.: Oxalosis as a complication of chronic renal failure. Kidney Internat. 4, 61 (1973)
- [1417] Salzmann, E., Sudorman, A., Moeller, J.: Symptomarme Glomerulonephritiden. Med. Klin. 69, 135 (1974)
- [1418] Sanjad, S.A., Haddad, G.G., Nassar, V.H.: Nephropathy, an underestimated complication of methicillin therapy. Ped. Pharm. Therapeut. 84, 873 (1974)
- [1419] Sarkar, K., Tolnai, G., Levine, D.Z.: Nephrocalcinosis in chloride depleted rats. An ultrastructural study. Calc. Tissue Res. 12, 1 (1973)
- [1420] Sarre, H.: Probleme der Autosensibilisierung bei der Glomerulonephritis. Internist 6, 129 (1965)
- [1421] Sarre, H., Kluthe, R., Jesdinsky, H.J., Baum, P., Buchborn, E., Duerr, F., Edel, H., Fritz, K.W., Heidland, A., Heintz, R., Jutzler, G.A., Kortge, P., Krecke, H.J., Lange, W., Nieth, H., Oberwittler, J., Oechslen, D., Portwich, P., Schirmeister, J., Schoeppe, W., Schuetterle, G., Sieberth, H.G., Wetzels, E.: Nephrotisches Syndrom des Erwachsenenalters. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 96, 225 (1971)
- [1422] Sarre, H., Rother, K., Schmitt, C., Unger, H.H., Beickert, P., Baitsch, H.: Neue Befunde zur hereditären chronischen Ncphritis (Alport-Syndrom). Arch. klin. Med. 212, 1 (1966)

- [1423] Sato, S., Ikoma, F.: Nephrocalcinosis due to renal acidosis. Acta med. biol. 4, 113 (1956)
- [1424] Säuberli, H., Schrieber, K., Meier, W.F., Senning, A.: Nierenarterienstenose. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 102, 1397 (1972)
- [1425] Savin, V., Siegel, L., Schreiner, G.E.: Nephropathy in heroin addicts with staphylococcal septicemia. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 397
- [1426] Saxon, A., Busch, G.J., Merrill, J.P., Franco, V., Watson, R.E.: Renal transplantation in primary hyperoxaluria. Arch. int. Med. 133, 464 (1974)
- [1427] Scandia transplant report: HL-A matching and kidney graft survival. Lancet 1975/I, 240
- [1428] Scarpelli, D.G.: Experimental nephrocalcinosis. A biochemical and morphologic study. Lab. Invest. 14, 123 (1965)
- [1429] Schachenmayr, W., Heymer, B., Haferkamp, O.: Persisting streptococcal cell-wall components in murine chronic pyogenic nephritis. Virchows Arch. A 355, 220 (1972)
- [1429a] Schacht, R.A., Martin, D.G., Karalakulasingan, R., Wheeler, O.S., Lansing, A.M.: Renal artery stenosis after renal transplantation. Amer. J. Surg. 131, 653 (1976)
- [1429 b] Schacht, R.G., Gluck, M.C., Gallo, G.R., Baldwin, D.S.: Progression to uremia after remission of acute poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis. New Engl. J. Med. 295, 977 (1976)
- [1430] Schaerer, K., Habib, R., Seelig, H.P.: Fokal-segmentäre Hyalinose (Sklerose) der Glomerula im Kindesalter. Niere und Hochdruckkrh. 3: XVI (1974)
- [1431] Schaff, Z., Barry, D.W., Grimley, P.M.: Cytochemistry of tubuloreticular structures in lymphocytes from patients with systemic lupus erythematodes and in cultured human lymphoid cells. Lab. Invest. 29, 577 (1973)
- [1432] Schainuck, L.I., Fouty, R., Cutler, R.E.: Emphysematous pyelonephritis. Amer. J. Med. 44, 134 (1968)
- [1433] Scheinman, J.I., Abelson, H.T.: Bilateral renal hypoplasia with oligonephronia. J. Pediat. 76, 369 (1970)
- [1434] Scheinman, J.I., Fish, A.J., Michael, A.F.: The immunohistopathology of glomerular antigens: The glomerular basement membrane, collagen and actomyosin antigens in normal and diseased kidneys. J. clin. Invest. 54, 1144 (1974)
- [1434a] Scheinman, J.I., Fish, A.J., Brown, D.M., Michael, A.J.: Human glomerular smooth muscle (mesangial) cells in culture. Lab. Invest. 34, 150 (1976)
- [1435] Schettler, G.: Lipids and Lipidoses. Heidelberg-New York: Springer, 1967
- [1436] Schirmer, H.K.A., Marshall, R.E.: Metabolism of atrophic renal tissue following removal of complete ureteral obstruction. J. Urol. 100, 596 (1968)
- [1436a] Schlaepfer, W.W.: Sequential study of endothelial changes in acute cadmium intoxication. Lab. Invest. 25, 556 (1971)
- [1437] Schmidt, D., Hammersen, G., Karsunky, K.P., Taugner, R.: Reninfreisetzung aus isolierten Glomerula und Sekretgranula der Schweineniere. In: VII. Symp. Ges. Nephrol. Tübingen 1970. Stuttgart: Schattauer, 1971, p. 429
- [1438] Schmidt, J., Dardesa, A., Bahlmann, J.: Über die Klinik und formale Pathogenese der Weilschen Erkrankung. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 95, 1649 (1970)

- [1439] Schmidt, U., Guder, W., Schmidt, H., Funk, B., Paris, K., Dubach, U.C.: Metabolism of various portions of the nephron. In: Nephron Physiology. Paris: INSERM 1974, Vol. XXX, p. 81
- [1440] Schnabel, R.: Histochemische und biochemische Untersuchungen beim Gargoylismus (Pfaundler-Hurler-Syndrom). Virchows Arch. 334, 379 (1961)
- [1441] Schneck, S.A., Penn, I.: De novo brain tumours in renal transplant recipients. Lancet **1971/I**, 983
- [1442] Schneeberger, E.E.: Glomerular permeability to protein molecules—its possible structural basis. Nephron 13, 7 (1974)
- [1443] Schneeberger, W., Heidenreich, W., Loew, H.: Lymphosarkom der Nieren. Urologe B 14, 13 (1974)
- [1444] Schneider, J.A., Seegmiller, J.E.: Cystinosis and the Fanconi syndrome. In: Metabolic Basis of Inherited Disease, 3rd ed. Stanbury, J.B., Wyngaarden, J.B., Fredrickson, D.S. (eds.). New York: McGraw-Hill, 1972, p. 1581
- [1445] Schoen, E.J., Young, G.: Lowe's syndrome-abnormalities in renal tubular function in combination with other congenital defects. Amer. J. Med. 27, 781 (1959)
- [1446] Schoenenberg, H.: Papierchromatographische Untersuchungen bei der Pfaundler-Hurlerschen Krankheit. Monatsschr. Kinderheilk. 102, 404 (1954)
- [1447] Schourup, K.: Structural tubular changes in endemic nephropathy. In: The Balkan Nephropathy. Wolstenholme, G.E., Knight, J. (eds.). London: Churchill, 1967, p. 100
- [1448] Schreiner, G.E.: Toxic nephropathy. In: Structural Basis of Renal Disease. Becker, E.L. (ed.). New York and London: Harper and Row, 1968, p. 703
- [1449] Schreiner, G.E.: Renal biopsy. In: Diseases of the Kidney. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co. 1971, Vol. I, p. 197
- [1450] Schreiner, G.E., Berman, L.B.: Experience with 150 consecutive renal biopsies. South. med. J. 50, 733 (1957)
- [1451] Schreiner, G.E., Rokowski, T.A., Argy, W.P., Marcaurele, J., Maher, J.F., Bauer, H.: Natural history of oliguric glomerulonephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 711
- [1452] Schroeder, E.T., Eich, R.H., Smulyan, H., Gould, A.B., Gabuzda, G.J.: Plasma renin level in hepatic cirrhosis. Relation to functional renal failure. Amer. J. Med. 49, 186 (1970)
- [1453] Schubert, G.E.: Die pathologische Anatomie des akuten Nierenversagens. Ergebn. Path. 49, 1 (1968)
- [1454] Schubert, G.E.: Morphologie der Niere beim Plasmozytom. In: Fortschritte der Nephrologie. Niere und Stoffwechsel. Juxtaglomerulärer Apparat. Bohle, A., Schubert, G.E. (eds.). Stuttgart: Schattauer, 1971, p. 215
- [1454a] Schubert, G.E.: Die Plasmozytomniere. I. Häufigkeit pathologisch anatomischer Veränderungen. Klin. Wschr. 52, 763 (1974)
- [1454b] Schubert, G.E.: Die Plasmozytomniere. II. Vergleich von Struktur und Funktion unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des akuten Nierenversagens. Klin. Wschr. 52, 771 (1974)
- [1455] Schubert, G.E., Adam, A.: Glomerular nodules and longspacing collagen in kidneys of patients with multiple myeloma. Clin. Path. 27, 800 (1974)

- [1456] Schubert, G.E., Lüders, K.: Einseitige Nierenrindennekrosen mit seitenverschiedenen intravasalen Fibrinpräcipitaten bei akutem Nierenversagen. Virchows Arch. A 350, 36 (1970)
- [1457] Schubert, G.E., Veigel, J., Lennert, K.: Structure and function of the kidney in multiple myeloma. Virchows Arch. A 355, 135 (1972)
- [1458] Schulman, J.D., Wong, V., Olson, W.H., Seegmiller, J.E.: Lysosomal site of crystalline deposits in cystinosis as shown by ferritin uptake. Arch. Path. 90, 259 (1970)
- [1459] Schümmelfeder, N.: Cystinspeicherungskrankheit. Verh. Dtsch. Path. Ges. 34, 343 (1950)
- [1460] Schürch, W.: Morphologie und Lokalisation der Hämatoxylinkörperchen bei Lupusnephritis. Virchows Arch. A 359, 331 (1973)
- [1461] Schürch, W., Leski, M., Hinglais, N.: Evolution of recurrent lobular glomerulonephritis in a human kidney allotransplant. Virchows Arch. A 355, 66 (1972)
- [1462] Schürmann, P., MacMahon, H.: Die maligne Nephrosklerose, zugleich ein Beitrag zur Bedeutung der Blutgewebsschranke. Virchows Arch. 291, 47 (1933)
- [1463] Schuurmans-Stekoven, J.H., Haelst, U.J. v.: Matrixreiche Riesenmitochondrien in den Zellen der proximalen Nierentubuli. Beobachtungen bei 4 Patienten mit einem Nierenleiden. Virchows Arch. B 5, 105 (1970)
- [1464] Schuurmans-Stekhoven, J.H., Haelst, U.J. v.: Puzzling structures in the renal glomeruli of 13 patients. An electron microscopical study. Virchows Arch. B 12, 290 (1973)
- [1465] Schwalew, W.N.: Innervation des Nephrons. Z. mikrosk. anat. Forsch. 70, 517 (1963)
- [1466] Schwartz, D.T., Lattimer, J.K.: Incidence of arterial hypertension in 540 patients with renal tuberculosis. J. Urol. 98, 651 (1968)
- [1467] Schwartz, G.H., David, D.S., Riggio, R.R., Saville, P.D., Whitsell, J.C., Stenzel, K.H., Rubin, A.L.: Hypercalcemia after renal transplantation. Amer. J. Med. 49, 42 (1970)
- [1467a] Schwartz, M.M., Cotran, R.S.: Primary renal disease in transplant recipients. Human Path. 7, 455 (1976)
- [1468] Schwartz, M.M., Lewi, E.J.: Immunopathology of nephrotic syndrome associated with renal vein thrombosis. Amer. J. Med. 54, 528 (1973)
- [1469] Schwarz, L.: Weitere Beiträge zur Kenntnis der anatomischen Nierenveränderungen der Neugeborenen und Säuglinge. Virchows Arch. 267, 654 (1928)
- [1469a] Schwarz, R., Stoegmann, W., Fischbach, H.: Familiäres nephrotisches Syndrom mit fokaler Glomerulosklerose. Wiener Klin. Wschr. 88, 548 (1976)
- [1470] Schwarz, W., Wolff, J.: Veränderungen am Hauptstück und peritubulären Kapillaren der Rattenniere nach Hypophysektomie. Elektronenmikroskopische Beobachtung. Z. Zellforsch. 71, 441 (1966)
- [1471] Schwarzl, E.W.: Pathoanatomical features of the kidney in myelomonocytic and chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Virchows Arch. A 368, 243 (1975)
- [1472] Seegal, D., Lyttle, J., Loeb, E., Jost, E., Davis, G.: On the exacerbation in chronic glomerulonephritis. J. clin. Invest. 19, 569 (1940)
- [1473] Seegmiller, J.E.: Summary: Pathology and pathologic physiology. Fed. Proc. 27, 1042 (1968)
- [1474] Seegmiller, J.E.: Cystinosis. In: Lysosomes and Storage

Disease. Hers, H.G., Hoof, F. van (eds.). New York-London: Academic Press, 1973, p. 486

- [1475] Seegmiller, J.E., Rosenbloom, F.M., Kelley, W.N.: An enzyme defect associated with a sex-linked human neurological disorder and excessive purine synthesis. Sience 155, 1682 (1967)
- [1476] Seelig, H.P., Seelig, R.: Das glomeruläre Mesangium: Einige immunpathologische Aspekte. Dtsch. med. Wschr.
 99, 1262 (1974)
- [1477] Seelig, H.P., Seelig, R., Drescher, M.: Der Einfluß der Autolyse auf die immunhistologische Darstellbarkeit gewebegebundener Immunglobuline in der Niere. Virchows Arch. A 365, 151 (1975)
- [1478] Seelig, H.P., Seelig, R., Schaerer, K.: Immunhistologische Untersuchungen bei der diffusen mesangialen Sklerose mit nephrotischem Syndrom im Säuglinsalter. Z. Kinderheilk. 120, 111 (1975)
- [1478a] Seibel, H.R., Weymouth, R.J., Craig, S.S., Sterling, W.H.: Recurrent glomerulonephritis in human renal homografts. Virch. Arch. A Path. Ant. and Histol. 371, 5 (1976)
- [1479] Seibel, H.R., Weymouth, R.J., Hume, D.M., Lee, H.M., Sterling, W.A.: Ultrastructural examination of homograft human renal biopsies from anastomosis to nephrectomy. Invest. Urol. 9, 411 (1972)
- [1480] Seifert, K., Gruettner, R., Lenz, W.: Über die sogenannte familiäre juvenile Nephronophthise. Frankf. Z. Path. 70, 536 (1960)
- [1481] Seiler, M.W., Venkatachalam, M.A., Cotran, R.S.: Polyanion induced "fusion" of glomerular epithelial foot processes. J. Cell Biol. 63, 308 a (1974)
- [1482] Seligman, A.M., Karnovsky, M.J., Wasserkrug, H.L., Hanker, J.S.: Nondroplet ultrastructural demonstration of cytochrome oxidase activity with a polymerizing osmiophilic reagent, diaminobenzidine (DAB). J. Cell Biol. 38, 1 (1968)
- [1482a] Seppälä, M., Aula, P., Rapola, J., Karajalainen, O., Huttunen, N.-P., Ruoslahti, E.: Congenital nephrotic syndrome: Prenatal diagnosis and genetic counselling by estimation of amniotic-fluid and maternal serum alphafetoprotein. Lancet 1976/XI, 123
- [1482b] Senior, B., Gellis, S.S.: The syndromes of total lipodystrophy and of partial lipodystrophy. Pediatrics 33, 593 (1964)
- [1483] Sevitt, L.H., Evans, D.J., Wrong, O.M.: Acute oliguric renal failure due to accelerated (malignant) hypertension. Quart. J. Med. N.S. 40, 127 (1971)
- [1484] Seymour, A.E., Spargo, B.H., Penksa, R.: Contribution of renal biopsy studies to the understanding of disease. Amer. J. Path. 65, 55 (1971)
- [1485] Shahin, B., Papadopoulon, Z.L., Jenis, E.H.: Congenital nephrotic syndrome associated with congenital toxoplasmosis. J. Pediat. 85, 366 (1974)
- [1486] Shalhoub, R.J.: Pathogenesis of lipoid nephrosis: A disorder of T-cell function. Lancet 1974/II, 556
- [1487] Shapiro, A.P., Perez-Stable, E., Scheib, E.T., Bron, K., Montos, S.E., Berg, G., Misage, J.R.: Renal artery stenosis and hypertension. Amer. J. Med. 47, 175 (1969)
- [1488] Share, L., Claybaugh, J.R.: Regulation of body fluids. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 34, 235 (1972)
- [1489] Sharma, H.M., Anand, S.K., Trygstad, C.W.: Rapidly

progressive glomerulonephritis in children. Lab. Invest. 28, 396 (1973)

- [1490] Sharma, H.M., Hurtubise, P.E., Stevenson, T.D.: The nephrotic syndrome in Hodgkin's disease. Lab. Invest. 30, 404 (1974)
- [1491] Sharma, H.M., Rosensweig, J., Chatterjee, S., Moore, S., Champlain, M.L. de: Platelets in hyperacute rejection of heterotopic cardiac allografts in presensitized dogs. Amer. J. Path. 70, 155 (1973)
- [1492] Shear, L., Kleinermann, J., Gabuzda, G.J.: Renal failure in patients with cirrhosis of the liver. I. Clinical and pathologic characteristics. Amer. J. Med. 39, 184 (1965)
- [1493] Sheehan, H.L., Davis, J.C.: Experimental hydronephrosis. Arch. Path. 68, 185 (1959)
- [1494] Sheehan, H.L., Lynch, J.B.: Pathology of Toxemia of Pregnancy. Edinburgh: Churchill and Livingstone 1973
- [1495] Sherman, F.E., Studnicki, F.M., Fetterman, G.H.: Renal lesions of familial juvenile nephronophthisis examined by microdissection. Amer. J. clin. Path. 55, 391 (1971)
- [1496] Sherman, R.L., Churg, J., Yudis, A.: Hereditary nephritis with a characteristic renal lesion. Amer. J. Med. 56, 44 (1974)
- [1497] Sherman, R.L., Susin, M., Weksler, M.E., Becker, E.L.: Lipoid nephrosis in Hodgkin's disease. Amer. J. Med. 52, 699 (1972)
- [1497a] Shigematsu, H., Kobayashi, Y.: Accelerated serum sickness in rabbits. II. Glomerular ultrastructural lesions in transient proliferative and progressive disorganizing glomerulonephritis. Virchows Arch. A 369, 269 (1976)
- [1497b] Shigematsu, H., Dikman, S.H., Churg, J., Grishman, E., Duffy, J.L.: Mesangial involvement in hemolytic-uremic syndrome. Amer. J. Path. 85, 349 (1976)
- [1498] Shigematsu, H., Ohtsu, H., Matsuba, M.: Segmental disorganizing glomerulonephritis in a Wegener's granulomatosis. Virchows Arch. A 363, 359 (1974)
- [1499] Shigematsu, H., Shishido, H., Kuhara, K., Tsuchida, H., Susuki, H., Hirose, K., Tojo, S.: Participation of monocytes in transient glomerular hypercellularity in poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis. Virchows Arch. B 12, 367 (1973)
- [1500] Shillitoe, E.J., Lehner, T., Lessof, M.H., Harrison, D.F.: Immunological feature of Wegener's granulomatosis. Lancet 1974/I, 281
- [1501] Shimamura, T., Aogaichi, M., Lu, C.Y.: Drug-induced renal medullary necrosis: II. Mode of calcification in the kidney. Exp. Molec. Path. 20, 109 (1974)
- [1502] Shimamura, T., Kissane, J.M., Györkey, F.: Experimental hydronephrosis. Nephron dissection and electron microscopy of the kidney following obstruction of the ureter and in recovery from obstruction. Lab. Invest. 15, 629 (1966)
- [1503] Shirahama, T., Cohen, A.S.: Fine structure of the glomerulus in human and experimental renal amyloidosis. Amer. J. Path. 51, 869 (1967)
- [1504] Shurteff, D.B., Sparkes, R.S., Clawson, D.K., Gunthroth, W.G., Mottet, N.K.: Hereditary osteolysis with hypertension and nephropathy. J. Amer. Med. Ass. 188, 363 (1964)
- [1505] Siegel, R.R.: The basis of pulmonary disease resolution after nephrectomy in Goodpasture's syndrome. Amer. J. Med. Sci. 259, 201 (1970)

- [1506] Silber, S.J., Yang Chang, Ch.: Primary lymphoma of kidney. J. Urol. 110, 282 (1973)
- [1507] Silverberg, D.S., Kidd, E.G., Shnitka, T.H., Ulan, R.A.: Gold nephropathy. A clinical and pathologic study. Arthrit. Rheum. 13, 812 (1970)
- [1508] Simon, G.T., Chatelanat, F.: Ultrastructure of the normal and pathological glomerulus. In: The Kidney. Rouiller, Ch., Mueller, A.F. (eds.). New York and London: Academic Press, 1969, Vol. I, p. 261
- [1509] Sims, E.A.H.: The kidney in pregnancy. In: Diseases of the Kidney. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971, p. 1155
- [1509a] Sinclair, R.A., Antonovych, T.-T., Mostofi, F.K.: Renal proliferative arteriopathies and associated glomerular changes. Human Path. 7, 565 (1976)
- [1510] Singal, D.P., Mickey, M.R., Terasaki, P.J.: Serotyping for homotransplantation. XXIII: Analysis of kidney transplants from parental versus sibling donors. Transplant. 7, 246 (1969)
- [1511] Singh, R., Jackson, B., Saher, B.M., Kincaid-Smith, P.: Experimental papillary necrosis due to analgesic drugs. In: Abstr. 4th Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Stockholm, 1969, p. 272
- [1511a] Sinniah, R., Feng, P.H.: Lupus nephritis: correlation between light, electron microscopic and immunofluorescent findings and renal function. Clin. Nephrol. 6, 340 (1976)
- [1511 b] Sinniah, R., Law, C.H., Pwee, H.S.: Glomerular lesions in patients with asymptomatic persistent and orthostatic proteinuria discovered on routine medical examination. Clin. Nephrol. 7, 1 (1977)
- [1512] Sissons, J.G., Evans, D.J., Peters, D.K., Eisinger, A.J., Boulton-Jones, J.M., Simpson, T.J., Macatrovic, M.: Glomerulonephritis associated with antibody to glomerular basement membrane. Brit. med. J. 1974/II, 11
- [1513] Sissons, J.G., Woodrow, D.F., Curtis, J.R., Evans, D.J., Gosver, P.E., Slopper, J.C.: Isolated glomerulonephritis with mesangial IgA deposits. Brit. med. J. 1975/II, 611
- [1514] Sitprija, V., Evans, H.: The kidney in human leptospirosis. Amer. J. Med. 49, 780 (1970)
- [1515] Skjørten, F.: Generalized Shwartzman reaction. Acta path. microbiol. scand. 68, 517 (1966)
- [1516] Skjørten, F.: Hyaline microthrombi in an autopsy material. Acta path. microbiol. scand. 76, 361 (1969)
- [1517] Skrifvars, B., Tallqvist, G., Törnroth, T.: Renal involvement in essential cryoglobulinaemia. Acta med. scand. 194, 229 (1973)
- [1518] Sladovnik, P.: Lichtmikroskopische morphometrische Untersuchungen von Nierenglomerula in verschiedenen Rindenzonen beim Menschen. Inaug. Diss., Basel (1972)
- [1519] Slotkin, E.A., Madsen, P.O.: Complications of renal biopsy: Incidence in 5000 reported cases. J. Urol. 87, 13 (1962)
- [1520] Smith, C.J., Hatch, F.E., Johnson, J.G., Kelly, B.J.: Renal artery dysplasia as a cause of hypertension in neurofibromatosis. Arch. int. Med. 125, 1022 (1970)
- [1521] Smith, R.D.: Mouse cytomegalovirus glomerulonephritis: An experimental model. Lab. Invest. 26, 479 (1972)
- [1522] Smith, R.D., Aquino, J.: Viruses and the kidney. Med. Clin. North Amer. 55, 89 (1971)
- [1523] Smith, R.D., Northrop, R.L.: Paramyxovirus-like struc-

tures in the nephrotic syndrome. Amer. J. clin. Path. 56, 97 (1971)

- [1524] Smith, S.B., Arkin, C.: Cryofibrinogenemia: incidence, clinical correlations and a review of the literature. Amer. J. clin. Path. 58, 524 (1972)
- [1525] Sneider, T.W., Shore, M.L.: Synthesis and utilization of plasma phospholipid by the isolated perfused dog kidney. Lab. Invest. 19, 181 (1968)
- [1526] Soergel, K.H., Sommers, S.C.: Idiopathic pulmonary hemosiderosis and related syndromes. Amer. J. Med. 32, 499 (1962)
- [1527] Sohar, E., Gafui, J., Bras, M., Heller, H.: Familial mediterranean fever: A survey of 470 cases and review of the literature. Amer. J. Med. 43, 227 (1967)
- [1528] Solez, K., Kramer, E.C., Fox, J.A., Heptinstall, R.H.: Medullary plasma flow and intravascular leukocyte accumulation in acute renal failure. Kidney Internat. 6, 24 (1974)
- [1529] Sommers, S.C.: Hypertension and kidney disease. Progr. Cardiovasc. Dis. 8, 210 (1965)
- [1530] Sommers, S.C., Relman, A.S., Smithwick, R.H.: Histologic studies of kidney biopsy specimens from patients with hypertension. Amer. J. Path. 34, 685 (1958)
- [1531] Sonnabend, W., Kistler, G.S., Thiel, G., Zollinger, H.U., Bianchi, L., Enderlin, F., Gudat, F., Krech, U.: Chronische Herdglomerulitis und chronisch-persistierende Hepatitis nach Nierentransplantation: Nachweis von Hepatitis B- und Epstein-Barr-Virus-Antigen. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 104, 1205 (1974)
- [1532] Soothill, J.F., Steward, M.W.: Immunopathological significance of the heterogeneity of antibody affinity. Clinical exp. Immunol. 9, 193 (1971)
- [1533] Sørensen, F.H.: Quantitative studies of the renal corpuscles. I. Intraglomerular, interglomerular and interfocal variation in the normal kidney. Acta path. microbiol. scand. A 80, 115 (1972)
- [1534] Southard, J., Nitisewojo, P., Green, D.E.: Mercurial toxicity and the perturbation of the mitochondrial control system. Fed. Proc. 33, 2147 (1974)
- [1535] Spach, M.O., Imbs, J.L., Schwartz, J.: Hypertension artérielle de l'adulte par hyperplasie segmentaire aglomérulaire. Presse méd. 78, 1879 (1970)
- [1536] Spargo, B.: Structure of the kidney. In: Internat. Acad. Path. Monographs: The Kidney. Mostofi, F.K., Smith, D.E. (eds.). Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins, 1966, p. 17
- [1537] Spargo, B.H.: Renal changes with potassium depletion. In: Structural Basis of Renal Disease. Becker, E.L. (ed.). New York and London: Harper and Row, 1968, p. 565
- [1538] Spargo, B.H., Abrams, E.: Altered immune states involving the kidney. In: Concepts of Disease. Brunson, J.G., Gall, E.A. (eds.). New York: Mac Millan, 1971, p. 706
- [1539] Spargo, B., Arnold, J.D.: Glomerular extrinsic membranous deposits with the nephrotic syndrome. Ann. New York Acad. Sci. 86, 1043 (1960)
- [1540] Spargo, B., McCartney, C.P., Winemiller, R.: Glomerular capillary endotheliosis in toxemia of pregnancy. Arch. Path. 68, 593 (1959)
- [1541] Spargo, B.H., Seymour, A.E.: The value of electron microscopy in the study of glomerular disease. In: Renal Disease. Black, D. (ed.). Oxford: Blackwell, 1972, p. 155
- [1542] Spear, G.S.: The glomerulus in cyanotic congenital heart

disease and primary pulmonary hypertension. Nephron 1, 238 (1964)

- [1543] Spear, G.S.: Alport's syndrome versus benign hematuria of childhood. Lab. Invest. 28, 398 (1973)
- [1544] Spear, G.S., Roskes, S.D., Slusser, R.J., Alsruhe, J.P.: Idiopathic hematuria of childhood. Pathologic findings in the kidney in six patients. Human Path. 4, 349 (1973)
- [1545] Spear, G.S., Slusser, R.J.: Alport's syndrome. Amer. J. Path. 69, 213 (1972)
- [1546] Spear, G.S., Whitworth, J.M., Konigsmark, B.W.: Hereditary nephritis with nerve deafness: Immunofluorescent studies on the kidney. In: Abstr. 4th Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Stockholm, 1969, p. 173
- [1547] Spence, H.M., Singleton, R.: What is sponge kidney disease and where does it fit in the spectrum of cystic disorders? J. Urol. 107, 176 (1972)
- [1548] Spicer, S.S., Garvin, A.J., Wohltmann, J.H., Simson, J.A.: The ultrastructure of the skin in patients with mucopolysaccharidoses. Lab. Invest. 31, 488 (1974)
- [1549] Spiegelberg, H.L.: Biological activities of immunoglobulins of different classes and subclasses. In: Advances in Immunology. Dixon, F.J., Kunkel, H.G. (eds.). New York and London: Academic Press, 1974, Vol. XIX, p. 159
- [1549a] Spiro, D., Lattes, R.G., Wiener, J.: The cellular pathology of experimental hypertension. I. Hyperplastic arteriolosclerosis. Amer. J. Path. 47, 19 (1965)
- [1550] Spitzer, R.E., Valloton, E.H., Forristal, J., Sudora, E., Stitzel, A., Davis, N.C., West, C.D.: Serum C3 lytic system in patients with glomerulonephritis. Science 164, 436 (1969)
- [1551] Spühler, O., Zollinger, H.U.: Die chronisch-interstitielle Nephritis. Z. klin. Med. 151, 1 (1953)
- [1552] Sraer, J.D., Beaufils, P., Morel-Maroger, L., Richet, G.: Vascular nephropathies with acute renal failure. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 1035
- [1553] Sraer, J.D., Boelaert, J., Mimoune, O., Morel-Maroger, L., Hornych, H.: Quantitative assessment of fibrinolysis on isolated glomeruli. Kidney Internat. 4, 350 (1973)
- [1554] Sreepada, T.K., Nicastri, A.D., Friedman, E.A.: Natural history of heroin-associated nephropathy. New Engl. J. Med. 290, 19 (1974)
- [1555] Stanbury, J.B., Wyngaarden, J.B., Fredrickson, D.S.: The Metabolic Basis of Inherited Disease. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1972
- [1556] Starzl, T.E., Boehring, H.J., Amemiya, H., Wilson, C.B., Dixon, F.J., Giles, G.R., Simpson, K.M., Halgreinson, C.G.: Clotting changes, including disseminated intravascular coagulation during rapid renal-homograft rejection. New Engl. J. Med. 283, 383 (1970)
- [1557] Starzl, T.E., Lerner, R.A., Dixon, F.J., Groth, C.G., Brettschneider, L., Jeraski, P.I.: Shwartzman reaction after human renal homotransplantation. New Engl. J. Med. 278, 642 (1968)
- [1558] Starzl, T.E., Porter, K.A., Iwasaki, Y., Marchioro, T.L., Kashiwagi, N.: The use of heterologous antilymphocyte globulin in human renal homotransplantation. In: Antilymphocytic Serum. CIBA Foundation Study Group,

Nr. 22. Wolstenholme, G.E., O'Connor, M. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1967, p. 4

- [1559] Starzl, T.E., Putnam, C.W., Halgrimson, C.G., Groth, C.E., Booth, A.S., jr., Penn, I.: Renal transplantation under cyclophosphamide. Transplant. Proc. 4, 461 (1972)
- [1560] Stasny, P., Ziff, M.: Cold-insoluble complexes and complement levels in systemic lupus erythematosus. New Engl. J. Med. 280, 1376 (1969)
- [1561] Stauffer, U.G., Csomor, C., Pluess, H.J., Hitzig, W.H.: Diffuse Glomerulonephritis infolge infizierten ventrikuloatrialen Shunts. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 100, 1288 (1970)
- [1562] Steiger, R.P.: Das Goodpasture-Syndrom. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 92, 312 (1962)
- [1563] Steim, H., Zollinger, H.U.: Tödliche Schrumpfniere bei Glykogenspeicherkrankheit Typ van Gierke. Klin. Wschr. 45, 295 (1967)
- [1564] Stein, H., Kaiserling, E., Lennert, K.: Evidence for B-cell origin of reticulum cell sarcoma. Virchows Arch. A 364, 51 (1974)
- [1564a] Stein, O., Stein, Y.: Lipid synthesis and transport in the normal and atherosclerotic aorta. Lab. Invest. 23, 556 (1970)
- [1565] Stejskal, J., Pirani, C.L., Okada, M., Mandelanakis, N., Pollak, V.E.: Discontinuities (gaps) of the glomerular capillary wall and basement membrane in renal disease. Lab. Invest. 28, 149 (1973)
- [1565a] Stemerman, M.B., Ross, R.: Experimental arteriosclerosis. I. Fibrous plaque formation in primates, an electron microscope study. J. exp. Med. 136, 769 (1972)
- [1566] Sternberger, L.A.: Immunocytochemistry. Foundation of Immunology Series. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice Hall Inc., 1974
- [1566a] Sternlieb, I., Bennett, B., Scheinberg, I.H.: D-Penicillamine induced Goodpasture's syndrome in Wilson's disease. Ann. intern. Med. 82, 673 (1975)
- [1567] Stiehm, E.R.: Immunoglobulins and antibodies. In: Immunologic Disorders in Infants and Children. Stiehm, E.R., Fulginiti, V.A. (eds.). Philadelphia: Saunders, 1973, p. 42
- [1568] Stiele, R.E., Leadbetter, G.W., Crawford, J.H.: Prognosis of childhood urinary tract infections. New Engl. J. Med. 269, 883 (1963)
- [1568a] Still, W.J.S.: Hyperlipemia and the arterial intima of the hypertensive rats. Arch. Path. 89, 392 (1970)
- [1568b] Still, W.J.S.: The effect of triton WR 1339 on the arterial intima of the rat. Lab. Invest. 24, 373 (1971)
- [1568c] Still, W.J.S., Possner, P.R.: The reaction of the aortic endothelium to lipid and colloidal thorium. J. Atheroscler. Res. 4, 517 (1964)
- [1569] Stone, R.A., Tisher, C.C., Hankins, H.K., Robinson, R.R.: Juxtaglomerular hyperplasia and hyperreninemia in progressive systemic sclerosis complicated by acute renal failure. Amer. J. Med. 56, 119 (1974)
- [1570] Straehley, C.J., Santos, J.I., Downey, D.M., Lewin, K.J.: Kaposi sarcoma in a renal transplant recipient. Arch. Path. 99, 611 (1975)
- [1571] Strauss, M.B.: Microcystic disease of the renal medulla.
 In: Disease of the Kidney. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971, p. 1259
- [1571a] Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Diseases of the Kidney. Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971

- [1572] Strauss, J., Pardo, V., Koss, M.N., Griswald, W., McIntosh, R.M.: Nephropathy associated with sickle cell anemia: An autologous immune complex nephritis. Amer. J. Med. 58, 382 (1975)
- [1573] Strietzel, G.: Beitrag zur Cystinspeicherungskrankheit. Zbl. Path. 96, 353 (1957)
- [1574] Striker, G.E., Cutler, R.E., Huang, T.W., Benditt, E.P.: Renal failure, glomerulonephritis and glomerular epithelial cell hyperplasia. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 657
- [1575] Striker, G.E., Huang, T.W., Quadracci, L.J., Benditt, E.P.: The normal human glomerulus. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 3
- [1576] Striker, G.E., Kelly, M.R., Quadracci, L.J., Scribner, B.H.: The course of lupus nephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 1141
- [1577] Striker, G.E., Nagle, R.B., Kohnen, P.W., Smuckler, E.A.: Ultrastructural studies on the synthesis of glomerular basement membrane. Amer. J. Path. 55, 18a (1969)
- [1578] Striker, G.E., Quadracci, L.J., Larter, W., Hickman, R.O., Kelley, M.R., Schaller, J.: The nephritis of Henoch-Schönlein purpura. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 1105
- [1579] Striker, G.E., Shainuck, L.I., Cutler, R.E., Benditt, E.P.: Structural-functional correlations in renal disease. Part.
 I. A method for assaying and classifying histopathologic changes in renal disease. Human Path. 1, 615 (1970)
- [1580] Striker, G.E., Smuckler, E.A., Kohnen, P.W., Nagle, R.B.: Structural and functional changes in rat kidney during CCl₄ intoxication. Amer. J. Path. **534**, 768 (1968)
- [1581] Strober, W., Waldmann, T.A.: The role of the kidney in the metabolism of plasma proteins. Nephron 13, 35 (1974)
- [1582] Strunk, S.W., Hammond, W.S., Benditt, E.P.: The resolution of acute glomerulonephritis. An electron microscopic study of four sequential biopsies. Lab. Invest. 13, 401 (1964)
- [1583] Strunk, S.W., Ziff, M.: Ultrastructural studies of the passage of gold thiomalate across the renal glomerular capillary wall. Arthritis Rheum. 13, 39 (1970)
- [1583a] Stuart, R., Salyer, W.R., Salyer, D.C., Heptinstall, R.H.: Renomedullary interstitial cell lesions and hypertension. Human Pathol. 7, 327 (1976)
- [1584] Sturzenegger, H.: Zur pathologischen Anatomie des frühinfantilen nephrotisch-glykosurischen Zwergwuchses mit hyperphosphatämischer Rachitis (Fanconi). Ann. Paed. 153, 1 (1939)
- [1585] Stuve, J., Galle, P.: Role of mitochondria in the handling of gold by the kidney. J. Cell Biol. 44, 667 (1970)
- [1586] Sugihara, S., Shinohara, Y., Miyata, Y., Inoue, K., Ito, N.: Pathologic analysis of chemical nephritis in rats induced by N-(3,5-dichlorophenyl) succinimide. Lab. Invest. 33, 219 (1975)
- [1587] Suki, W.N., Guthrie, A.G., Martinez-Maldonado, M., Eknoyan, G.: Effects of ureteral pressure elevation on renal hemodynamics and urine concentration. Amer. J. Physiol. 220, 38 (1971)

- [1588] Sun, N.C., Johnson, W.J., Sung, D.T., Woods, J.E.: Idiopathic postpartum renal failure. Mayo Clin. Proc. 50, 395 (1975)
- [1589] Suskind, R., Winkelstein, J.A., Spear, G.A.: Nephrotic syndrome in congenital nephritis. Arch. Dis. Child. 48, 237 (1973)
- [1589a] Sussmann, M., Jones, J.H., Almeida, J.D., Lachmann, P.J.: Deficiency of the second component of complement associated with anaphylactoid purpura and presence of mycoplasma in the serum. Clin. Exp. Immunology 14, 531 (1973)
- [1590] Sutherland, J.C., Vann-Markham, R., Mardiney, M.R.: Subclinical immune complexes in the glomeruli of kidneys postmortem. Amer. J. Med. 57, 536 (1974)
- [1591] Sutton, R.A., Watson, L.: Urinary magnesium and renal stones. Lancet 1968/II, 633
- [1591a] Suzuki, K., Ooneda, G.: Cerebral arterial lesions in experimental hypertensive rats: Electron microscopic study of middle cerebral arteries. Exp. molec. Path. 16, 341 (1972)
- [1591b] Suzuki, K., Ookawara, S., Ooneda, G.: Increased permeability of the arteries in hypertensive rats. An electron microscopic study. Exp. molec. Path. 15, 198 (1971)
- [1591 c] Takebayashi, S., Backwinkel, K.P., Themann, H., Lie, T.S., Nagel, K., Bechtelsheimer, H.: Ultrastrukturelle Aspekte bei Aortenhomotransplantaten. Aufbau der Neointima und das Verhalten der glatten Muskelzellen des Transplantates. Beitr. Path. 144, 166 (1971)
- [1592] Takebayashi, S., Giese, W., Manitz, G., Bassewitz, D.B. v., Themann, H.: Feinstrukturelle Aspekte der menschlichen Glomerulonephritis. II. Proliferative Glomerulonephritis bei Kindern. Virchows Arch. A 353, 157 (1971)
- [1593] Takebayashi, S., Giese, W., Manitz, G., Hatta, O., Bassewitz, D.B. v., Themann, H.: Feinstrukturelle Aspekte der membranösen Glomerulonephritis bei nephrotischem Syndrom. Virchows Arch. A 353, 248 (1971)
- [1594] Takebayashi, S., Giese, W., Manitz, G., Moenninghoff, W., Themann, H.: Feinstrukturelle Aspekte der menschlichen Glomerulonephritis. I. Proliferative Glomerulonephritis bei Erwachsenen. Virchows Arch. A 353, 141 (1971)
- [1594a] Takebayashi, S., Themann, H., Manitz, G., Giese, W., Backwinkel, K.P.: Ultrastructural study of arteriolar lesions in human kidney: concerning the histogenesis of hyaline necrosis and other media-alterations. Beitr. Path. 144, 1 (1971)
- [1595] Talal, N., Zisman, E., Schur, P.H.: Renal tubular acidosis, glomerulonephritis and immunologic factors in Sjögren's syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 11, 774 (1968)
- [1595a] Tallqvist, G., Pasternack, A., Toernroth, T.: Indentations of the glomerular basement membrane in renal disease. A light and electron microscopic study of ultrathin serial sections. Lab. Invest. 35, 327 (1976)
- [1596] Den Tandt, W.R., Schaberg, A.: Mucopolysaccharide storage diseases and lysosomal hydrolases in cultured fibroblasts. Path. europ. 8, 3 (1973)
- [1597] Tannenbaum, M.: Ultrastructural pathology of human renal cell tumors. In: Pathology Annuals. Sommers, S.C. (ed.). London: Butterworths, 1971, Vol. VI, p. 249
- [1598] Tanner, G.A., Sloan, K.L., Sophasan, S.: Effects of renal

artery occlusion on kidney function in the rat. Kidney Internat. 4, 377 (1973)

- [1599] Tapia, H.R., Holley, K.E., Woods, J.E., Johnson, W.J.: Causes of death after renal transplantation. Arch. int. Med. 131, 204 (1973)
- [1600] Tarantino, A., Imbasciati, E., Limido, D.: Deposits of IgD in renal disease. Immunohistological study of 180 renal biopsies. Europ. J. clin. Invest. 4, 175 (1974)
- [1601] Taxy, J.B., Feliner, R.B.: Metaplastic cartilage in nondysplastic kidneys. Arch. Path. 99, 101 (1975)
- [1601a] Taylor, H.E.: Pathology of organ transplantation in man. In: Pathology Annuals. Sommers, S.C. (ed.). New York: Meredith Corp., 1972, Vol. VII, p. 173
- [1602] Teilum, G.: Pathogenesis of amyloidosis. The two-phase theory of local secretion. Acta path. et microbiol. scand.61, 21 (1964)
- [1602a] Ten Cate, A.R.: Morphological studies of fibrocytes in connective tissue undergoing rapid remodelling. J. Anat. 112, 401 (1972)
- [1602b] Terry, B.E., Jones, D.B., Mueller, C.B.: Experimental ischemic renal arterial necrosis with resolution. Amer. J. Path. 58, 69 (1970)
- [1603] Thaler, H.: Nierenveränderungen bei Schwangerschaft. Wien. klin. Wschr. 82, 421 (1970)
- [1604] Thiel, G.: Diagnose und Pathophysiologie der akuten oligo-anurischen Niereninsuffizienz. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 102, 917 (1972)
- [1604a] Thiel, G., Brunner, F., Wunderlich, P., Huguenin, M., Bienko, B., Torhorst, J., Peters-Haefeli, L., Kirchertz, E.J., Peters, G.: Protection of rat kidneys against HgCl₂-induced renal failure of high urine flow without renin suppression. Kidney Internat. 10, Suppl. 6, 191 (1976)
- [1605] Thiel, G., Huguenin, M., Brunner, F., Peters, L., Peters, G., Eckert, H., Torhorst, J., Rohr, H.P.: Etude du méchanisme de l'insuffisance rénale aiguë à HgCl₂ chez le rat. J. Urol. Néphrol. **79**, 967 (1973)
- [1606] Thiel, G., Moppert, J., Mahlich, J., Buehler, F., Vischer, T., Enderlin, F., Weber, H., Zollinger, H.U.: Glomeruläre Veränderungen nach intravenöser Injektion von antilymphozytärem Globulin bei Mensch und Rhesusaffen. Transplant. Proc. 3, 741 (1971)
- [1606a] Thiel, G., Spühler, O., Uehlinger, E.: Destruierende und sklerosierende chronische interstitielle Nephritis und Phenacetinabusus. Dtsch. Arch. klin. Med. 209, 537 (1964)
- [1607] Thoenes, G.H.: Immunhistologische Befunde bei Minimalveränderungen mit fokal sklerosierender Glomerulopathie mit nephrotischem Syndrom. Klin. Wschr. 52, 371 (1974)
- [1607a] Thoenes, G.H.: The immunohistology of glomerulonephritis-distinctive marks and variability. Current Topics in Pathology 61, 61 (1976)
- [1608] Thoenes, W.: Feinstrukturen des normalen und des funktionsgestörten Nephron. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. Path. 49, 14 (1965)
- [1609] Thoenes, W.: Über matrixreiche Riesenmitochondrien. Elektronenmikroskopische Beobachtungen am Tubulusepithel der menschlichen Nieren bei nephrotischem Syndrom. Z. Zellforsch. 75, 422 (1966)
- [1610] Thoenes, W.: Endoplasmatisches Retikulum und "Se-

kretkörper" in Glomerulum-Epithel der Säugerniere. Z. Zellforsch. 78, 561 (1967)

- [1611] Thoenes, W.: Pathohistologische Systematik der Glomerulonephritis – unter Berücksichtigung klinischer Aspekte. Nieren- und Hochdruckkrank. 5, 199 (1973)
- [1612] Thoenes, W., Anders, D., Gekle, D.: Glomerulonephritis, nephrotisches Syndrom, Nierenvenenthrombose. Zum Kausalzusammenhang zwischen nephrotischem Syndrom und chronischer Nierenvenenthrombose. Klin. Wschr. 49, 1323 (1971)
- [1613] Thoenes, W., Thoenes, G., Ansorge, R.: Drogen-induzierte Lupus-nephritis. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. Path. 56, 346 (1972)
- [1614] Thomson, D., Paterson, W.G., Smart, G.E., McDonald, M.D., Robson, J.S.: The renal lesions of toxaemia and abruptio placentae studied by light and electron microscopy. J. Obstet. Gynaec. Brit. 79, 311 (1972)
- [1614a] Thompson, A.M., Antonovych, T., Lin, R., Wilson, R., Raposo, C., Venkatesan, R., Guha, A., Kramer, N., Parrish, A.E.: Focal membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis (MPGN) in heroin users. Washington: Amer. Soc. Nephr., 1973, p. 105
- [1615] Thorning, D., Vracko, R.: Malakoplakia. Defect in digestion of phagocytized material due to impaired vacuolar acidification? Arch. Path. 99, 456 (1975)
- [1616] Thurau, K.: Intrarenal action of angiotensin. In: Handbuch der experimentellen Pharmakologie, N.S. Page, I.H., Bumpus, F.M. (eds.). Berlin, Heidelberg, and New York: Springer, 1974, p. 475
- [1616a] Thurau, K., Boylan, J.W.: Acute renal success. The unexpected logic of oliguria in acute renal failure. Amer. J. Med. 61, 308 (1976)
- [1617] Tisher, C.C., Bulger, R.E., Trump, B.F.: Human renal ultrastructure. I. Proximal tubule of healthy individuals. Lab. Invest. 15, 1357 (1966)
- [1618] Tisher, C.C., Bulger, R.E., Trump, B.F.: Human renal ultrastructure. III. The distal tubule in healthy individuals. Lab. Invest. 18, 655 (1968)
- [1619] Tocci, P.E., Lankford, R.W., Lynne, C.M.: Spontaneous rupture of the kidney secondary to polyarteritis nodosa. J. Urol. 113, 860 (1975)
- [1620] Tokuyasu, K., Madden, S.C., Zeldis, L.J.: Fine structural alterations of interphase nuclei of lymphocytes stimulated to growth activity in vitro. J. Cell Biol. 39, 630 (1968)
- [1621] Tondeur, M., Resibois, A.: Fabry's disease in children. Virchows Arch. B 2, 239 (1969)
- [1622] Tønjum, S., Aardal, N.P., Hartveit, F.: Atraumatic rupture of the kidney. Brit. J. Urol. 47, 145 (1975)
- [1623] Torhorst, J.: Licht- und elektronenmikroskopische Untersuchungen zur Glycogenspeicherung des Rattennephron beim experimentellen Diabetes. In: Fortschritte der Nephrologie. Bohle, A., Schubert, G.E. (eds.). Stuttgart: Schattauer, 1971, p. 115
- [1624] Torhorst, J.: Studies on the pathogenesis and morphogenesis of glomerulonephrosis. Current topics in pathology 59, 1 (1974)
- [1624a] Torhorst, J.: Nierenschädigung durch Analgetika. Pathologische Anatomie und Pathogenese. Nephrologie in Klinik und Praxis 3, 134 (1976)
- [1624b] Torhorst, J., Bertel, O., Mihatsch, M.J.: Quantitative morphometric analysis of glomerular diseases in kidney

biopsies. In: Abstr. 7th Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Florence 1975, p. 315

- [1625] Torhorst, J., Debros, F., Huguenin, M., Schmidt, U.: Frühveränderungen der Rattenniere nach Folsäuregabe.
 In: Proc. 8th Symp. Ges. Nephrology, Aachen, 1971. Heintz, R., Holzhueter, H. (eds.). p. 489
- [1626] Torhorst, J., Rohr, H.P., Zollinger, H.U., Studer, A., Tranzer, J.P.: Ultrastrukturelle Veränderungen der proximalen Tubuluszelle von Rattennieren nach Phenacetinüberlastung. Virchows Arch. 342, 70 (1967)
- [1627] Torhorst, J., Schmidt, U., Dubach, U.C.: Veränderungen des Rattennephron nach Folsäure. Kombinierte lichtmikroskopische, ultrastrukturelle und funktionelle Untersuchungen. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. Path. 54, 570 (1970)
- [1628] Tørnroth, T., Skrifvars, B.: Gold nephropathy, prototype of membranous glomerulonephritis. Amer. J. Path. 75, 573 (1974)
- [1628a] Toernroth, T.: The fate of subepithelial deposits in acute poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis. Lab. Invest. 35, 461 (1976)
- [1629] Torsvik, H., Gione, E., Norum, K.R.: Familial plasma cholesterol ester deficiency. Clinical study of a family. Acta med. scand. 183, 387 (1968)
- [1630] Travis, L.B., Dodge, W.F., Beathard, G.A., Spargo, B.H., Lorentz, W.B., Carvajal, H.F., Berger, M.: Acute glomerulonephritis in children. A review of the maternal history with emphasis on prognosis. Clin. Nephrol. 1, 168 (1973)
- [1631] Treser, G., Cherubin, C., Lonergan, E.T., Yoshizawa, N., Viswanathan, V., Tannenberg, A.M., Pompa, D., Lange, K.: Renal lesions in narcotic addicts. Amer. J. Med. 57, 687 (1974)
- [1632] Treser, G., Ehrenreich, T., Ores, R., Sagel, I., Wasserman, E., Lange, K.: Natural history of "apparently healthy" acute streptococcal glomerulonephritis in children. Pediatrics 43, 1005 (1964)
- [1633] Trump, B.F., Benditt, E.P.: Electron microscopic studies of human renal disease: observations of normal visceral glomerular epithelium and its modification in disease. Lab. Invest. 11, 753 (1962)
- [1634] Trump, B.F., Bulger, R.E.: Morphology of the kidney.
 In: Structural Basis of Renal Diseases. Lovell-Becker,
 E. (eds.). New York and London: Hoeber Medical Div.,
 Harper and Row, 1968, p. 1
- [1635] Trump, B.F., Ginn, F.L.: The pathogenesis of subcellular reaction to lethal injury. In: Methods in Achievement of Experimental Pathology. Bajusz, E., Jasmin, G. (eds.). Basel: Karger, 1969, Vol. IV, p. 1
- [1636] Trump, B.F., Laiho, K.A., Mergner, W.J., Arstila, A.U.: Studies on the subcellular pathophysiology of acute lethal cell injury. Beitr. Path. 152, 243 (1974)
- [1637] Trump, B.F., Strum, J.M., Bulger, R.E.: Studies on the pathogenesis of ischemic cell injury. I. Relation between ion and water shifts and cell ultrastructure in rat kidney slices during swelling at 0-4°C. Virchows Arch. B 16, 1 (1974)
- [1638] Truss, F.: Stoffwechseluntersuchungen zur Pathogenese der Hydronephrose. Med. Welt N.F. 18, 704 (1967)
- [1638a] Ts'ao, Ch., Glagov, S.: Basal endothelial attachment. Tenacity at cytoplasmic dense zones in rabbit aorta. Lab. Invest. 23, 510 (1970)
- [1638b] Turner, D.E., Cameron, J.G., Bewick, M., Sharpstone,

P., Melcher, D., Ogg, Ch.S., Evans, D.J., Trafford, A.J., Leibowith, S.: Transplant in mesangiocapillary glomerulonephritis with intramembranous dense "deposits": Recurrence of disease. Kidney Internat. **9**, 439 (1976)

- [1639] Tyson, G.E., Bulger, R.E.: Vinblastine-induced aggregates of smooth endoplasmic reticulum in proximal tubular cells of rat kidney. Amer. J. Anat. 140, 261 (1974)
- [1640] Uehlinger, E.: Über die Schwefel-Kohlenstoff-Glomerulosklerose. Schweiz. Z. Path. Bakt. 15, 217 (1952)
- [1641] Umlas, J.: Glomeruloid structures in thrombohemolytic thrombocytopenic purpura, glomerulonephritis, and disseminated intravascular coagulation. Human Path. 3, 437 (1972)
- [1642] Umlas, J., Kaiser, J.: Thrombohemolytic thrombocytopenic purpura. Amer. J. Med. 49, 723 (1970)
- [1643] Unanue, E.R., Dixon, F.J.: Experimental glomerulonephritis: Immunological events and pathogenetic mechanisms. Advanc. Immunol. 6, 1 (1967)
- [1644] Urizar, R.E., Herdman, R.D.: Anaphylactoid purpura. III. Early morphologic glomerular changes. Amer. J. clin. Path. 53, 258 (1970)
- [1645] Urizar, R.E., Michael, A., Sisson, S., Vernier, R.L.: Anaphylactoid purpura. II. Immunofluorescent and electron microscopic studies of the glomerular lesion. Lab. Invest. 19, 437 (1968)
- [1646] Urizar, R.E., Schwartz, A., Vernier, R.L.: Immunofluorescence microscopy and ultrastructural changes of kidney in experimental anaphylactoid purpura. Lab. Invest. 21, 77 (1969)
- [1647] Urizar, R.E., Tringlof, B.O., Smith, F.G., McIntosh, R.M.: Persistent asymptomatic proteinuria in children. Amer. J. clin. Path. 62, 461 (1974)
- [1648] Vaamonde, C.A., Hunt, F.R.: The nephrotic syndrome as a complication of gold therapy. Arthritis Rheum. 13, 826 (1970)
- [1649] Vaes, G.: Digestive capacity of lysosomes. In: Lysosomes and Storage Diseases. Hers, H.G., Hoof, F. van (eds.). New York and London: Academic Press, 1973, p. 43
- [1649a] Valdez, A.J., Germuth, F.G., Rodriguez, E.: Fetal immune complex glomerulonephritis without deposits. Fed. Proc. 34, 878 (1975)
- [1650] Vallota, E.H., Forristal, J., Spitzer, R.E., Davis, N.C., West, C.D.: Continuing C3 breakdown after bilateral nephrectomy in patients with membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis. J. clin. Invest. 50, 552 (1971)
- [1650a] Van den Bergh, F.A.J.T.M., Rietra, P.J.G.M., Kolk-Vegter, A.J., Bosch, E., Tager, J.M.: Therapeutic implications of renal transplantation in a patient with Fabry's disease. Acta Med. Scand. 200, 249 (1976)
- [1651] Vaquez, J.J., Dixon, F.J.: Immunohistochemical analysis of amyloid by fluorescence technique. J. exp. Med. 104, 727 (1962)
- [1652] Vargas, R., Thomson, K.J., Wilson, D., Cameron, J.S., Turner, D.R., Gill, D., Chantler, C., Ogg, C.S.: Mesangiocapillary glomerulonephritis with dense "deposits" in the basement membranes of the kidney. Clin. Nephrol. 5, 71 (1976)
- [1653] Vassalli, P., McCluskey, R.T.: The pathogenetic role of the coagulation process in glomerular diseases of immunologic origin. In: Advances in Nephrology. From the Necker Hospital. Hamburger, J., Crosnier, J., Max-

well, M.H. (eds.). Chicago: Year Book Med. Publ., 1971, p. 47

- [1654] Vassalli, P., Simon, G., Rouiller, Ch.: Electron microscopic study of glomerular lesions resulting from intravascular fibrin formation. Amer. J. Path. 43, 579 (1963)
- [1655] Vassalli, P., Simon, G., Rouiller, Ch.: Ultrastructural study of platelet changes initiated in vivo by thrombin. J. Ultrastruct. Res. 11, 374 (1964)
- [1656] Vassar, P.S., Culling, C.F.A.: Fluorescent stains with special reference to amyloid and connective tissue. Arch. Path. 68, 487 (1959)
- [1657] Vaughan, E.D., Buehler, F.R., Laragh, J.H., Sealey, J.E., Gavras, H., Baer, L.: Hypertension and unilateral parenchymal renal disease. Evidence for abnormal vasoconstriction-volume interaction. J. Amer. Med. Ass. 233, 1177 (1975)
- [1658] Velican, D., Velican, C.: Structural heterogenicity of kidney basement membranes. Nature 226, 1259 (1970)
- [1659] Velosa, J.A., Donadio, J.V., Holley, K.E.: Focal sclerosing glomerulopathy. A clinicopathologic study. Mayo Clin. Proc. 50, 121 (1975)
- [1659a] Velosa, J., Miller, K., Michael, A.F.: Immunopathology of the end-stage kidney. Amer. J. Path. 84, 149 (1976)
- [1660] Venkatachalau, M.A., Karnovsky, M.J., Fahimi, H.D., Cotran, R.S.: An ultrastructural study of glomerular permeability using catalase and peroxidase as tracer molecules. J. exp. Med. 132, 1153 (1970)
- [1661] Vernier, R.L.: Glomerulonephritis. In: Textbook of Immunology. Miescher, P.A., Mueller-Eberhard, H.J. (eds.). New York and London: Grune and Stratton, 1968, Vol. I, p. 365
- [1662] Vernier, R., Birch-Andersen, A.: Studies on human fetal kidney. Development of the glomerulus. J. Pediat. 60, 754 (1962)
- [1663] Vernier, R.L., Birch-Andersen, A.: Studies of the human fetal kidney. II. Permeability characteristics of the developing glomerulus. J. Ultrastruc. Res. 8, 66 (1963)
- [1664] Vernier, R.L., Farquhar, M.G., Brunson, J.G., Good, R.A.: Chronic renal disease in children. J. Dis. Child. 96, 306 (1958)
- [1665] Vernier, R.L., Mauer, S.M., Fish, A.J., Michael, A.F.: The mesangial cell in glomerulonephritis. In: Advances in Nephrology. From the Necker Hospital. Hamburger, J., Crosnier, J., Maxwell, M.H. (eds.). Chicago: Year Book Med. Publ., 1971, p. 31
- [1666] Vernier, R.L., Tringlof, B., Urizar, R., Litman, N., Smith, F., jr.: Immunofluorescence studies in renal disease. In: Proc. 3rd Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Washington 1966. Basel and New York: Karger, 1967, Vol. III, p. 83
- [1667] Verroust, P., Mery, J.M., Morel-Maroger, L., Clauvel, J.P., Richet, G., Bouteille, A.M., Fumagalli, N.: Glomerular lesions in monoclonal gammopathies and mixed essential cryoglobulinemias IgG-IgM. In: Advances in Nephrology. From the Necker Hospital. Hamburger, J., Crosnier, J., Maxwell, M.H. (eds.). Chicago: Year Book Med. Publ., 1971, p. 161
- [1668] Verroust, P.J., Wilson, C.B., Cooper, N.R., Edgington, T.S., Dixon, F.J.: Glomerular complement components in human glomerulonephritis. J. clin. Invest. 53, 77 (1974)
- [1669] Vertes, V.: Renovascular hypertension. In: Cornell Semi-

nars in Nephrology. Lovell-Becker, E. (ed.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 207

- [1670] Vilits, P., Fladerer, H.: Angiolipome beider Nieren mit spontaner Massenblutung. Zschr. Urol. 68, 125 (1975)
- [1671] Vinijchaikal, K., Blackburn, W.R.: Takayasu's arteriopathy. Internat. Path. 10, 3 (1969)
- [1672] Vitsky, B.H., Suzuki, Y., Strauss, L., Churg, J.: The hemolytic-uremic syndrome. Amer. J. Med. 57, 627 (1969)
- [1672a] Vladatiu, A.O., Kohli, R.K., Prezyna, A.P.: Monoclonal IgE with renal failure. Amer. J. Med. 61, 957 (1976)
- [1673] Vogt, W., Haussmann, P., Bohle, A.: Über die lymphoepithelialen Beziehungen in menschlichen Nierentransplantaten. Klin. Wschr. 48, 1327 (1970)
- [1674] Vracko, R.: Basal lamina scaffold. Anatomy and significance for maintenance of orderly tissue structure. A review. Amer. J. Path. 77, 313 (1974)
- [1675] Vracko, R., Benditt, E.P.: Capillary basal lamina thickening: Its relationship to endothelial cell death and replacement, J. Cell Biol. 47, 281 (1970)
- [1675a] Vracko, R., Benditt, E.P.: Basal lamina: the scaffold for orderly cell replacement observations on regeneration of injured skeletal muscle fibers and capillaries. J. Cell Biol. 55, 406 (1972)
- [1676] Wagner, W., Boeminghaus, F.: Nephrektomie bei einseitig renal bedingter Hypertonie im höheren Lebensalter. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 100, 355 (1975)
- [1677] Wagoner, R.D., Holley, K.E., Johnson, W.J.: Accelerated nephrosclerosis and postpartum acute renal failure in normontensive patients. Ann. int. Med. 69, 237 (1968)
- [1678] Waisman, J., Mwasi, L.M., Bluestone, R., Klinenberg, J.R.: Acute hyperuricemic nephropathy in rats. Amer. J. Path. 81, 367 (1975)
- [1679] Waldherr, R., Mall, G., Rossner, J.A., Schaerer, K.: Bilaterale Nierenhypoplasie mit Oligonephronie. Virchows Arch. A 368, 73 (1975)
- [1680] Walker, F.: The deposition of silver in glomerular basement membrane. Virchows Arch. 11, 90 (1972)
- [1681] Walker, F.: The origin, turnover, and removal of glomerular basement membrane. J. Path. 110, 233 (1973)
- [1682] Walker, J.M., Joekes, A.M.: Survival after haemoptysis and nephritis. Lancet **1963/II**, 1199
- [1683] Walker, W.G., McGehee Harvey, A., Yardley, J.H.: Renal involvement in myeloma, amyloidosis, systemic lupus erythematosus, and other disorders of connective tissue. In: Diseases of the Kidney. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971, p. 825
- [1684] Wallace, B.J., Kaplan, K., Adacki, M., Schneck, L., Volk, B.W.: Mucopolysaccharidosis type III. Arch. Path. 82, 462 (1966)
- [1685] Waller, U. von: Riesenkerne nach Mylerantherapie und Milzbestrahlung bei chronischer myeloischer Leukaemie. Path. microbiol. 23, 283 (1960)
- [1686] Walter, L., Rosen, S., Schur, P.H.: Allergic interstitial nephritis. Report of a case with activation of complement by the alternate pathway. Clin. Nephrol. 3, 153 (1975)
- [1687] Walton, E.W.: Giant-cell granuloma of the respiratory tract (Wegener's granulomatosis). Brit. med. J. 1958/II, 265
- [1688] Ward, P.A.: Evidence for soluble immune complexes in the pathogenesis of the glomerulonephritis of quartan malaria. Lancet 1969/1, 283

- [1690] Wardle, E.N.: Fibrin in renal disease: Functional considerations. Clin. Nephrol. 2, 85 (1974)
- [1691] Wardle, E.N.: Endotoxin and acute renal failure. A review. Nephron 14, 321 (1975)
- [1692] Waring, A.J., Laslo, K., Tappan, V.: A congenital defect of water metabolism. Amer. J. Dis. Child. 69, 323 (1945)
- [1693] Watanabe, I., Cuppage, F.A., Moore, J., Whittier, F.C., jr.: Gold nephroopathy: Ultrastructural, fluorescent, and microanalytic study of two human cases. Lab. Invest. 30, 392 (1974)
- [1693a] Watanabe, I., Whittier, F.C., Moore, J., Cuppage, F.E.: Gold nephropathy. Arch. Path. Lab. Med. 100, 632 (1976)
- [1694] Watanabe, T., Saniter, T.: Morphological and clinical features of renal amyloidosis. Virchows Arch. A 366, 125 (1975)
- [1695] Watson, J.I., Dixon, F.J., Feldman, J.D.: The effect of complete Freund's adjuvant on rat kidney. Lab. Invest. 14, 559 (1965)
- [1696] Wattiez, P.R., Loeb, H., Bellens, R., Geffel, R. von: Diabète insipide pitresso-résistant. Helv. paed. Acta 12, 643 (1957)
- [1697] Wegener, F.: Die pneumogene allergische Granulomatose – sog. Wegenersche Granulomatose. In: Lehrbuch der speziellen pathologischen Anatomie. Kaufmann, E., Staemmler, M. (eds.). Berlin and New York: De Gruyter, 1967, Vol I, p. 225
- [1698] Wegmann, W.: Der juxtaglomeruläre Apparat der Niere bei primärem und sekundärem Hyperaldosteronismus. Virchows Arch. A 349, 21 (1970)
- [1699] Wegmann, W., Largiader, F., Binswanger, U.: Maligne Geschwülste und Nierentransplantation. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 104, 809 (1974)
- [1700] Wegmann, W., Leumann, E.P.: Glomerulonephritis associated with (infected) ventriculo-atrial shunt. Virchows Arch. A 359, 185 (1973)
- [1701] Wehinger, H., Zollinger, H.U., Schenk, W., Kuenzer, W.: Hämolytisch-urämisches Syndrom (Gasser). Klin. Wschr. 46, 874 (1968)
- [1702] Wehner, H.: Stereologische Untersuchungen am Mesangium normaler menschlicher Nieren. Virchows Arch. A 344, 286 (1968)
- [1703] Wehner, H.: Zur Frage der glomerulären Zellproliferation bei akuter membranöser Glomerulonephritis. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. Path. 52, 288 (1968)
- [1704] Wehner, H.: Experimentelle Untersuchungen zur diabetischen Glomerulosklerose. In: Niere und Stoffwechselkrankheiten. Sarre, H., Holtmeier, H.J. (eds.). Stuttgart: Thieme, 1973, p. 10
- [1705] Wehner, H.: Quantitative Pathomorphologie des Glomerulum der menschlichen Niere. Stuttgart: G. Fischer 1974
- [1706] Wehner, H., Andler, B.: Über die intracapilläre Glomerulosclerose bei Lebercirrhose. Virchows Arch. A 360, 265 (1973)
- [1707] Wehner, H., Bohle, A.: Perimembranöse Glomerulonephritis bei Diabetes mellitus. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. Path. 57, 396 (1973)
- [1708] Wehner, H., Bohle, A.: The structure of the glomerular capillary basement membrane in diabetes mellitus with and without nephrotic syndrome. Virchows Arch. A 364, 303 (1974)
- [1709] Wehner, H., Duchatschek, H.: Zur Frage der glomerulä-

ren Zellproliferation bei der chronisch membranösen (perimembranösen) Glomerulonephritis. In: Proc. VI Symp. Ges. Nephrol. Wien: Wien. Med. Akad., 1969, p. 393

- [1710] Wehner, H., Feurer, F., Wehner, I.: Histometrical glomerular studies on the kidneys in multiple myeloma and in acute membranous glomerulonephritis (lipoid nephrosis). Path. europ. 6, 422 (1971)
- [1711] Wehner, H., Hoehn, D., Faix-Schade, U., Huber, H., Walser, P.: Glomerular changes in mice with spontaneous hereditary diabetes. Lab. Invest. 27, 331 (1972)
- [1712] Wehner, H., Huber, H., Kronenberg, K.: Histologische und morphometrische Untersuchungen bei der experimentellen perimembranösen Glomerulonephritis. In: Proc. Symp. Ges. Nephrol. Heintz, R., Holzhueter, H. (eds.). Aachen: 1972, p. 527
- [1713] Wehner, H., Renner, E., Edel, H.H., Buchborn, E., Bohle, A.: Zur pathologischen Anatomie und Klinik der Glomerulonephritiden. II. Die postakuten und chronischen Glomerulonephritiden. Klin. Wschr. 47, 742 (1969)
- [1713a] Weibel, E.R., Palade, G.E.: New cytoplasmic components in arterial endothelia. J. Cell Biol. 23, 101 (1964)
- [1714] Weir, D.M. (ed.): Handbook of Experimental Immunology. Philadelphia: Davis, 1967
- [1715] Weiss, S.W., Page, D.L.: Amyloid nephropathy of Ostertag with special reference to renal glomerular giant cells. Amer. J. Path. 72, 447 (1973)
- [1716] Weissbach, L., Bruehl, P., Huenermann, B., Schneider, H., Kozuschek, W.: Nierenspontanrupturen als renale Komplikation der Cumarintherapie. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 99, 1135 (1974)
- [1717] Weller, R.O., Nester, B., Cooke, S.A.R.: Calcification in the human renal papilla: an electron microscope study. J. Path. 107, 211 (1972)
- [1718] Weller, T.H.: The cytomegaloviruses: ubiquitous agents with protean clinical manifestations. New Engl. J. Med. 285, 267 (1971)
- [1718a] Wellmann, K.F., Volk, B.W.: Experimental atherosclerosis in normal and subdiabetic rabbits. Arch. Path. 90, 206 (1970)
- [1719] Wellwood, J.M., Lovell, D., Thompson, A.E., Tighe, J.R.: Renal damage caused by gentamicin: a study of the effects on renal morphology and urinary enzyme excretion. J. Path. 118, 171 (1976)
- [1720] Werra, P. de, Morel-Maroger, L., Leroux-Robert, C., Richet, G.: Glomérulite à dépôts d'IgA diffus dans le mesangium. Etude de 96 cas chez l'adulte. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 103, 761 (1973)
- [1721] West, C.D.: Membranoproliferative hypocomplementemic glomerulonephritis. Nephron 11, 134 (1973)
- [1722] West, C.D., McAdams, A.J., Northway, J.D.: Focal glomerulonephritis in children. J. Pediat. 73, 184 (1968)
- [1723] West, C.D., Ruley, E.J., Spitzer, R.E., Davis, N.C.: The natural history of membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 531
- [1724] Wetsberg, H.E., Naff, G.B., Boyer, J.T., Michael, A.F.: Glomerular deposition of properdin in acute and chronic glomerulonephritis with hypocomplementemia. J. clin. Invest. 50, 642 (1971)

- [1725] Wetzels, E., Amelung, D., Deupmann, F.J.: Glucose-Phosphat-Amonisäure-Diabetes (De Toni-Debré-Fanconi-Syndrom) beim Erwachsenen. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 42, 1847 (1965)
- [1726] Whimster, W.F., Beswick, I.P.: Aneurysmas in human renal homografts. Brit. J. Urol. 45, 281 (1973)
- [1727] White, J.E., Binforel, C.C., Robinson, R.R., Blackard, W.G.: Familial hypophosphatemia. Clinical course and necropsy. Arch. int. Med. 111, 460 (1963)
- [1728] White, R.H.: The familial nephrotic syndrome. I. European survey. Clin. Nephrol. 1, 215 (1973)
- [1729] White, R.H.: Quartan malaria nephrotic syndrome. Nephron 11, 147 (1973)
- [1730] White, R.H.: Mesangial proliferative glomerulonephritis in childhood. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 383
- [1731] White, R.H., Glasgow, E.F., Mills, R.J.: Clinicopathological study of nephrotic syndrome in childhood. Lancet 1971/I, 1353
- 1732] White, R.H.R., Glasgow, E.F., Mills, R.J.: Focal glomerulosclerosis in childhood. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 231
- [1732a] Whittle, T.S., Anisworth, S.K.: Procaniamide-induced systemic lupus erythematosus. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. 100, 469 (1976)
- [1733] Wigger, H.J.: Fetal hamartoma of kidney. A benign, symptomatic, congenital tumor, not a form of Wilms' tumor. Amer. J. clin. Path. 51, 323 (1969)
- [1734] Williams, A.: Familial nephrotic syndrome. In: Glomerulonephritis. Kincaid-Smith, P., Mathew, T.H., Lovell-Becker, E. (eds.). New York: John Wiley, 1973, p. 217
- [1735] Williams, C.A., Chase, M.W. (eds.): Methods in Immunology and Immunochemistry. New York: Academic Press, Vol I, 1967; Vol II, 1968; Vol III, 1971
- [1736] Williams, G., Hughes, M.: Post-partum renal failure. J. Path. 114, 149 (1974)
- [1737] Williams, G.M., Hume, D.M., Herdson, R.P., Morris, P.J., Kano, K., Milgram, F.: Hyperacute renal-homograft rejection in man. New Engl. J. Med. 279, 611 (1968)
- [1738] Williams, G.M., Hume, D.M., Kano, K., Milgram, F.: Transplantation antibodies in human recipients of renal homografts. J. Amer. Med. Ass. 204, 119 (1968)
- [1739] Williams, H.E.: Nephrolithiasis. New Engl. J. Med. 290, 33 (1974)
- [1740] Williams, H.E., Smith, L.H.: L-glyceric aciduria. A new genetic variant of primary hyperoxaluria. New Engl. J. Med. 278, 233 (1968)
- [1741] Williams, H.E., Smith, L.H.: Primary hyperoxaluria. In: The metabolic Basis of Inherited Disease. Stanbury, J.B., Wyngaarden, J.B., Fredrickson, D.S. (eds.). New York: McGraw-Hill, 1972, p. 196
- [1742] Williams, T.F.: Renal cortical necrosis, renal infarction, and hypertension due to renal vascular disease. In: Diseases of the Kidney. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1963, p. 526
- [1743] Wilms, H., Halbfass, H.J., Heinze, V., Mittermayer, C.: Die postanastomotische Nierenarterienstenose nach Nierentransplantation. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 100, 1376 (1975)

- [1744] Wilson, C.B.: Immunological mechanisms of glomerulonephritis. Calif. Med. 116, 47 (1972)
- [1745] Wilson, C.B.: Immune complex glomerulonephritis. In: Proc. 5th Internat. Congr. Nephrology, Mexico 1972. Basel and New York: Karger, 1974, Vol. I, p. 68
- [1746] Wilson, C.B., Dixon, F.J.: Quantitation of acute and chronic serum sickness in the rabbit. J. exp. Med. 134, 7 s (1971)
- [1747] Wilson, C.B., Dixon, F.J.: Diagnosis of immunopathologic renal disease. Kidney Internat. 5, 381 (1974)
- [1748] Wilson, C.B., Smith, R.C.: Goodpasture's syndrome associated with influenza A₂ virus infection. Ann. int. Med. 76, 91 (1972)
- [1749] Wilson, D.R., Yendt, E.R.: Treatment of the adult Fanconi syndrome with oral phosphate supplements and alkali. Amer. J. Med. 35, 487 (1963)
- [1750] Wilson, R.E.: Transplantation in patients with unusual causes of renal failure. Clin. Nephrol. 5, 51 (1976)
- [1751] Winkelmann, R.K.: Classification and pathogenesis of scleroderma. Mayo Clin. Proc. 46, 83 (1971)
- [1752] Wirz, H., Spinelli, F. (eds.): Internat. Symp. on renal handling of sodium Munich, 1971. Recent Advanc. in renal physiol. Basel and New York: Karger, 1972
- [1752a] Wissler, R.W.: The arterial medial cell, smooth muscle or multifunctional mesenchyme? Circulation 36, 1 (1967)
- [1753] Witzleben, C.L.: Renal cortical tubular glycogen localization in glycogenosis type II (Pompe's disease). Lab. Invest. 20, 424 (1969)
- [1754] Witzleben, C.L., Schoen, E.J., Tu, W.H., McDonald, L.W.: Progressive morphologic renal changes in the oculo-cerebro-renal syndrome of Lowe. Amer. J. Med. 44, 319 (1968)
- [1755] Wolfe, H.J., Blennerhasset, J.B., Young, G.F., Cohen, R.B.: Hurler's syndrome. A histochemical study. New technique for localization of very water-soluble acid mucopolysaccharides. Amer. J. Path. 45, 1007 (1964)
- [1756] Wolman, M.: Amyloid, its nature and molecular structure. Lab. Invest. 25, 104 (1971)
- [1757] Wood, C.: Phospholipid composition of two types of organized extracellular deposits in glomerular disease. Lab. Invest. 30, 410 (1974)
- [1757a] Woodroffe, A.J., Row, P.G., Meadows, R., Lawrence, J.R.: Nephritis in infectious mononucleosis. Quarterly J. Med. 43, 451 (1974)
- [1758] Woods, J.W., Williams, T.F.: Hypertension due to renal vascular disease, renal infarction, and cortical necrosis.
 In: Diseases of the Kidney. Strauss, M.B., Welt, L.G. (eds.). Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1971, Vol II, p. 769
- [1759] Worthen, H.G.: Renal diseases in children and hereditary renal diseases. In: Structural Basis of Renal Diseases. Lovell-Becker, E. (ed.). New York: Hoeber Medical Div., Harper and Row, 1968, p. 238
- [1760] Wright, N.G., Morrison, W.I., Thompson, H., Cornwell, H.J.: Experimental adenovirus immune complex glomerulonephritis. Brit. J. exp. Path. 4, 628 (1973)
- [1761] Wrigley, K.A., Sherman, R.L., Ennis, F.A., Lovell-Becker, E.: Progressive hereditary nephropathy. A variant of medullary cystic disease? Arch. int. Med. 131, 240 (1973)
- [1762] Yaffe, S.J., Craig, J.M., Fellers, F.X.: Studies on renal

enzymes in a patient with renal tubular acidosis. Amer. J. Med. **29**, 168 (1960)

- [1763] Yarom, R., Stein, H., Peters, P.D., Slavin, S., Hall, T.A.: Nephrotoxic effect of parenteral and intraarticular gold. Ultrastructure and electron microprobe examinations of clinical and experimental material. Arch. Path. 99, 36 (1975)
- [1764] Yoshizawa, N., Treser, G., Sagel, I., Ty, A., Ahmed, U., Lange, K.: Demonstration of antigenic sites in glomeruli of patients with acute poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis by immunofluorescein and immunoferritin techniques. Amer. J. Path. 70, 131 (1973)
- [1765] Yuceoglu, A.M.: Syphilitic nephrosis in congenital syphilis. In: Structural Basis of Renal Disease. Lovell-Becker, E. (ed.). New York: Hoeber, Medical Div. Harper and Row 1968, p. 188
- [1765a] Yver, L., Becq-Giraudon, B., Pourrat, O., Sudre, Y.: La néphrotoxicité de l'association méthicilline gentamycine. Semaine des Hôpitaux 52, 1903 (1976)
- [1766] Zabriskie, J.B.: The role of streptococci in human glomerulonephritis. J. exp. Med. 134, 1801 (1971)
- [1767] Zabriskie, J.B., Utermoblen, V., Read, S.E., Fischetti, V.A.: Streptococcus-related glomerulonephritis. Kidney Internat. 3, 100 (1973)
- [1768] Zbinden, G.: Experimental renal toxicity. In: The Kidney. Morphology, Biochemistry, Physiology. Rouiller, C., Mueller, A.F. (eds.). New York and London: Academic Press 1969, Vol II, p. 401
- [1769] Zech, P., Bernard, M., Cohen, S., Blanc-Brunat, N., Berthoux, F., Michelan, G., Treager, J.: Oxalose rénale au cours d'une tubulopathie aiguë anurique par intoxication accidentelle méconnue à l'éthylène glycol. Nouv. Presse méd. 3, 1009 (1974)
- [1770] Zech, P., Blanc-Brunat, B., Pinet, A., Colon, S., Bernheim, J.L., Berthoux, F., Traeger, J.: Les thromboses veineuses rénales de l'adulte. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 105, 398 (1975)
- [1771] Zech, P., Colon, S., Labeeuw, R., Blanc-Brunat, W., Richard, P., Perol, M.: Syndrome néphrotique avec dépôt d'argent dans les membranes basales glomérulaires au cours d'une argyrie. Nouv. Presse méd. 2, 161 (1973)
- [1772] Zeek, P.M.: Periarteritis nodosa: a critical review. Amer. J. clin. Path. 22, 777 (1952)
- [1773] Zeek, P.M., Smith, C.C., Weeter, J.C.: Studies on periarteritis nodosa. III. Differentiation between the vascular lesions of periarteritis nodosa and of hypersensitivity. Amer. J. Path. 24, 889 (1948)
- [1774] Zellweger, H., Zollinger, H.U.: Über einen sporadischen Fall konstitutioneller, infantiler Panmyelopathie "Fanconi". Helv. paed. Acta 1, 382 (1946)
- [1775] Zimmerman, T.S., Mueller-Eberhard, H.J.: Blood coagulation initiation by a complement mediated pathway. J. exp. Med. 134, 1601 (1971)
- [1776] Zimmermann, H.D., Boseck, S.: Myofilamentäre Strukturen in Glomerulus- und Tubulusepithelien in der frühfetalen Nachniere des Menschen. Virchows Arch. A 357, 53 (1972)
- [1777] Zimmermann, H.D., Boseck, S.: Licht-, elektronenmikroskopische und beugungsanalytische Untersuchungen an intraepithelialen Filamentbündeln in der Niere des erwachsenen Menschen. Virchows Arch. A 366, 27 (1975)

- [1777a] Zimmermann, H.D., Boseck, S., Hachmeister, U.: Intraepitheliale Filamente in der Niere des Menschen. Verh. Dtsch. Ges. Path. 57, 394 (1973)
- [1778] Zimmermann, S.W., Hyman, L.R., Uehling, D.T., Burkholder, P.M.: Recurrent membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis with glomerular properdin deposition in allografts. Ann. int. Med. 80, 169 (1974)
- [1778a] Zimmermann, S.W., Burkholder, P.M.: Immunoglobulin-A nephropathy. Arch. Intern. Med. 135, 1217 (1975)
- [1779] Zingg, E.: Vergleichende pathologisch-anatomische und klinische Untersuchungen an 100 Fällen von diffuser Glomerulonephritis. Virchows Arch. 333, 294 (1960)
- [1780] Zlotwick, A., Rosenmann, E.: Renal pathologic findings associated with monoclonal gammopathies. Arch. int. Med. 135, 40 (1975)
- [1780a] Zoepffel, H.: Eine Niemann-Picksche Krankheit unter dem Bild der Lipoidnephrose. Arch. Kinderheilk. 171, 271 (1964)
- [1780b] Zollinger, H.U.: Die interstitielle Nephritis. Basel and New York: Karger 1945
- [1781] Zollinger, H.U.: Pathologische Anatomie und Pathogenese der Pyelonephritis (destruktive, bakterielle, interstitielle Nephritis). In: Handbuch der Urologie. Alken, Dix, Weyrauch, Wildbolz (eds.). Berlin, Göttingen, Heidelberg: Springer 1964, Vol IX/1, p. 21
- [1782] Zollinger, H.U.: Die Dysorosen. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 75, 777 (1945)
- [1783] Zollinger, H.U.: Hypertonie bei tuberkulöser Kittniere. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 79, 1095 (1949)
- [1784] Zollinger, H.U.: Die diffuse chronische Glomerulonephritis mit Vorherrschen des nephrotischen Einschlages (intrakapilläre Form). Schweiz. med. Wschr. 80, 300 (1950)
- [1785] Zollinger, H.U.: Die pathologische Anatomie der Nephritiden. Helv. med. Acta 18, 269 (1951)
- [1786] Zollinger, H.U.: Anurie bei Chromoproteinurie. Stuttgart: Thieme 1952
- [1786a] Zollinger, H.U.: Durch chronische Bleivergiftung erzeugte Nierenadenome und -carcinome bei Ratten und ihre Beziehungen zu den entsprechenden Neubildungen des Menschen. Virchows Arch. 323, 694 (1953)
- [1787] Zollinger, H.U.: Chronische interstitielle Nephritis bei Abusus von phenacetinhaltigen Analgetica (Saridon etc.). Schweiz. med. Wschr. 85, 746 (1955)
- [1788] Zollinger, H.U.: Autoptische und experimentelle Untersuchungen über Lipoidnephrose, hervorgerufen durch chronische Quecksilbervergiftung. Schweiz. Z. Path. Bakt. 18, 155 (1955)
- [1789] Zollinger, H.U.: Die pathologische Anatomie der Makroglobulinämie Waldenström. Helv. med. Acta 25, 153 (1958)
- [1790] Zollinger, H.U.: Die hypertensive Arteriolopathie. Schweiz. Z. Path. Bakt. 22, 262 (1959)
- [1790a] Zollinger, H.U.: Zwei Beobachtungen von alter, inaktiver idiopathischer Lungenhaemosiderose. Path. microbiol. 23, 212 (1960)
- [1791] Zollinger, H.U.: Niere und ableitende Harnwege. In: Spezielle pathologische Anatomie. Doerr, W., Uehlinger, E. (eds.). Berlin, Heidelberg and New York: Springer 1966, Vol III
- [1792] Zollinger, H.U.: Chronic abuse of phenacetin and kidney

lesions. In: The Kidney. Mostofi, F.K., Smith, D.E. (eds.). Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins 1966, p. 523

- [1793] Zollinger, H.U.: Interstitial nephritis. In: The Kidney. Mostofi, F.K., Smith, D.E. (eds.). Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins 1966, p. 269
- [1794] Zollinger, H.U.: Adaptive Intimafibrose der Arterien. Virchows Arch. 342, 154 (1967)
- [1795] Zollinger, H.U.: The pathological anatomy of the nephrotic syndrome. Postgrad. med. J. 45, 701 (1969)
- [1796] Zollinger, H.U.: Die pathologische Anatomie glomerulärer Erkrankungen im Kindesalter. Mschr. Kinderheilk.
 117, 311 (1969)
- [1797] Zollinger, H.U.: Entzündliche Glomerulumerkrankungen. Ergebnisse licht- und elektronenmikroskopischer Untersuchungen. Path. europ. 5, 2 (1970)
- [1798] Zollinger, H.U.: Die Strahlenvasculopathie. Path. europ. 5, 145 (1970)
- [1799] Zollinger, H.U.: Pathologie der Gichtniere. In: Niere und Stoffwechselkrankheiten. Sarre, H., Holtmeier, H.J. (eds.). Stuttgart: Thieme 1973, p. 100
- [1800] Zollinger, H.U., Colombi, A., Schiltknecht, J.: New clinical and ultrastructural aspects in leptospirosis ictero-haemorrhagica (Weil's disease). Virchows Arch. A 354, 336 (1971)
- [1801] Zollinger, H.U., Gaboardi, F.: Verzögerte Heilung einer diffusen intra- und extracapillären Glomerulonephritis mit IgA-Depots. Virchows Arch. A 354, 349 (1971)
- [1802] Zollinger, H.U., Gaboardi, F., Edefonti, E., Bardare, M.: Membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis: a clinicopathologic study. Beitr. Path. 149, 249 (1973)
- [1803] Zollinger, H.U., Hegglin, R.: Die idiopathische Lungenhämosiderose als pulmonale Form der Purpura Schönlein-Henoch. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 88, 439 (1958)
- [1804] Zollinger, H.U., Mihatsch, M.J., Gudat, F., Thiel, G., Brunner, F., Enderlin, F.: Etiological and prognostic significance of isolated acute renal hypoxic change (so-called tubular necrosis or shock kidney) in kidney transplants. Clin. Nephrol. 6, 483 (1976)
- [1805] Zollinger, H.U., Moppert, J., Thiel, G., Rohr, H.P.: Morphology and pathogenesis of glomerulopathy in cadaver kidney allografts treated with antilymphocyte globulin. Current topics in Path. 57, 1 (1973)
- [1806] Zollinger, H.U., Rohr, H.P.: Glomeruläre Narben und nephrotisches Syndrom. In: Proc. VI. Symp. Ges. Nephrol. Wien. Wien: Wien. Med. Akad. 1969, p. 429
- [1807] Zollinger, H.U., Rohr, H.P.: Struktur und Bedeutung der renalen Schaumzellen. Virchows Arch. A 348, 205 (1969)
- [1808] Zollinger, H.U., Torhorst, J., Riede, U.N., Geering, B., Toenges, V. von: Der inkomplette oder Subinfarkt der Niere (einseitige zentral-arterielle Schrumpfniere). Pathologisch-anatomische, morphometrische und elektronenmikroskopische Untersuchung. Beitr. Path. 148, 15 (1973)
- [1809] Zöllner, N.: Die Gichtniere. In: Handbuch der inneren Medizin, 5th ed. Mohr, L., Staehelin, R., Schwiegk, H. (eds.). Berlin, Heidelberg and New York: Springer 1968, Vol VIII/3, p.77
- [1810] Zuellig, A., Zollinger, H.U.: Ergebnisse der Nierenpunktion. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 93, 977 (1963)

Addendum [August 1977]

- [1811] Bennet, W.M., Bardana, E.J., Wuepper, K., Houghton, D., Border, W.A., Götze, O., Schreiber, R.: Partial lipodystrophy, C 3 nephritic factor and clinically inapparent mesangiocapillary glomerulonephritis. Amer. J. Med. 62, 757 (1977)
- [1812] Eagen, J.W., Lewis, E.J.: Glomerulopathies of neoplasia. Kidney Int. 11, 297 (1977)
- [1813] Kim, Y., Friend, P.S., Dresner, J.G., Yunis, E.J., Michael, A.F.: Inherited deficiency of the second component of complement (C2) with membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis. Amer. J. Med. 62, 765 (1977)
- [1814] McPhaul, J.J., Mullins, J.D.: Glomerulonephritis mediated by antibody to glomerular basement membrane. J. Clin. Invest. 57, 351 (1977)
- [1815] Spargo, B.H., Ordonez, N.G.: The differential diagnosis of crescentic glomerulonephritis. Human Path. 8, 187 (1977)
- [1816] Huang, T.W., Wiegenstein, L.M.: Mesangiolytic glomerulonephritis in an infant with immune deficiency and Echovirus infection. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. 101, 125 (1977)
- [1817] Waldrop, F.S., Puchtler, H., Valentine, L.S.: Fluorescence microscopy of amyloid. Arch. Pathol. 95, 37 (1972)
- [1818] Zamboni, L.: Preparation of percutaneous kidney biopsies for high resolution light microscopy. Human Path. 3, 127 (1972)
- [1819] Heaton, J.M., Turner, D.R., Cameron, J.S.: Localization of glomerular deposits in Henoch-Schoenlein nephritis. Histopathology 1, 93-104 (1977)
- [1820] Kallen, R.J., Lee, S.K., Aronson, A.J., Spargo, B.H.: Idiopathic membranous glomerulopathy preceding the emergence of systemic lupus erythematosus in two children. J. Pediat. 90, 72 (1977)
- [1821] Joshua, H., Sharon, Z., Gutglas, E., Rosenfeld, J., Ben-Bassat, M.: IgA-IgG Nephropathy. Amer. J. Clin. Path. 67, 289 (1977)
- [1822] Cheng, C.T., Zuckner, J., Giangiacomo, J., Baldessare, A., Auclair, R., Weiss, T.: Renal Involvement in Mixed Connective Tissue Disease (MCTD). Lab. Invest. 36, 351 (1977)
- [1823] Fuller, T.J., Richman, A.V., Auerbach, D., Alexander, R.W., Lottenberg, R., Zongley, S.: Immune-complex glomerulonephritis in a patient with mixed connective tissue disease. Amer. J. Med. 62, 761 (1977)
- [1824] Hecht, B., Siegel, N., Adler, M., Kashgarian, M., Hayslett, J.P.: Prognostic indices in lupus nephritis. Medicine (Baltimore) 55, 163 (1976)
- [1825] Agodoa, L.C.Y., Striker, G.E., George, C.R.P., Glassock, R., Quadracci, L.J.: The appearance of nonlinear deposits of immunoglobulins in Goodpasture's syndrome. Amer. J. Med. 61, 407 (1976)
- [1826] Lowance, D.C., Mullins, J.D., McPhaul, jr. J.J.: IgAassociated glomerulonephritis. Internat. Rev. exp. Path. 17, 143 (1977)
- [1827] Alexander, F., Barabas, A.Z., Jack, R.G.J.: IgA nephropathy. Human Path. 8, 173 (1977)
- [1828] Schulte-Wissermann, H., Lemmel, E.M., Reitz, M., Beck, J., Straub, E.: Nephrotic syndrome of childhood and

disorder of T cell function. Europ. J. Pediat. 124, 121 (1977)

- [1829] Mallick, N.P.: The pathogenesis of minimal change nephropathy. Clin. Nephrol. 7, 87 (1977)
- [1830] Cavallo, T., Cameron, W.R., Lapenas, D.: Immunopathology of early and clinically silent lupus nephropathy. Amer. J. Path. 87, 1 (1977)
- [1831] Garcia-Fuentes, M., Williams, D.G., Chantler, C.: Cryoglobulins in Henoch-Schönlein purpura. Kidney Int., Abstract (1977) (in press)
- [1832] Glenner, G.G., Page, D.L.: Amyloid, amyloidosis, amyloidogenesis. Int. Rev. Exper. Path. 15, 1 (1976)
- [1833] Wright, J.R., Calkins, E., Humphrey, R.L.: Potassium permanganate reation in amyloidosis. Lab. Invest. 36, 274 (1977)
- [1834] Mitchell, J.C.: End-stage renal failure in juvenile diabetes mellitus: a 5-year follow-up of treatment. Mayo-Clin. Proc. 52, 281 (1977)
- [1835] Mauer, S.M., Barbosa, J., Vernier, R.L.: Development of diabetic vascular lesions in normal kidneys transplanted into patients with diabetes mellitus. N. Eng. J. Med. 295, 916 (1976)
- [1836] Merino, G.E., Sutherland, D.E., Kjellstrand, C.M., Simmons, R.L., Najarian, J.S.: Renal transplantation for progressive systemic sclerosis with renal failure. Case report and review of previous experience. Amer. J. Surg. 133, 745 (1977)
- [1837] Beathard, G.A., Granholm, N.A.: Development of the characteristic ultrastructural lesion of hereditary nephritis during the course of the disease. Amer. J. med. 62, 751 (1977)
- [1838] Verhaak, R.L.O.M., Harmsen, A.E., Unnik, A.J.M., van: On the frequency of tumour induction in a thorotrast kidney. Cancer 34, 2061 (1974)
- [1839] Griffiths, M.H., Thomas, D.P., Xipell, J.M., Hope, R.N.: Thorotrast-induced bilateral carcinoma of the kidney. Path. 9, 43 (1977)
- [1840] Beller, F.K., Intorp, H.W., Losse, H., Loew, H., Moenninghoff, W., Schmidt, E.H., Grundmann, E.: Malignant nephrosclerosis during pregnancy and in the postpartum period (the uremic hemolytic syndrome). Amer. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 125, 633 (1976)
- [1841] Diekmann, L., Pössnecker, J.: Das akute Nierenversagen im Kindesalter. Mschr. Kinderheilk. 124, 772 (1976)
- [1842] Brass, H., Lapp, H.: Renale thrombotische Mikroangiopathie mit benigner Hypertonie und Urämie nach kontrazeptiver Hormontherapie. Med. Klin. 71, 1617 (1976)
- [1843] Cuppage, F.E., Setter, K., Sullivan, L.P., Reitzes, E.J., Melnykovych, A.O.: Gentamicin Nephrotoxicity. II. Physiological, biochemical and morphological effects of prolonged administration to rats. Virch. Arch. B Cell Path. 24, 121 (1977)
- [1844] Jungers, P., Ganeval, D., Kleinknecht, D.: Néphrotoxicité de la gentamicine. Règles d'emploi de cet antibiotique chez le sujet âgé et chez l'insuffisant rénal. Nouv. Presse méd. 6, 923 (1977)
- [1845] Minuth, A.N., Terrell, J.B., Jr., Suki, W.N.: Acute renal failure: a study of the course and prognosis of 104 patients and of the role of furosemide. Amer. J. Med. Sciences 271, 317 (1976)
- [1846] Murray, T., Goldberg, M.: Aetiologische Faktoren bei

der chronischen interstitiellen Nephritis. Ann. intern. Med. 82, 453 (1975)

- [1847] Curtis, J.J., Bhathena, D., Leach, R.P., Galla, J.H., Lucas, B.A., Luke, R.G.: Goodpasture's Syndrome in a patient with the Nail-Patella syndrome. Amer. J. Med. 61, 401 (1976)
- [1848] Sergent, J.S., Lockshin, M.D., Christian, Ch.L., Gocke, D.J.: Vasculitis with hepatitis B antigenemia: long-term observations in nine patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 55, 1 (1976)
- [1849] Fye, K.H., Becker, M.J., Theofilopoulos, A.N., Moutsopoulos, H., Feldman, J.-L., Talal, N.: Immune complexes in hepatitis B antigen-associated periarteritis nodosa. Detection by antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity and the Raji cell assay. Amer. J. Med. 62, 783 (1977)
- [1850] Simmons, R.L., Thompson, E.J., Yunis, E.J., Noreen, H., Kjellstrand, C.M., Fryd, D.S., Condie, R.M., Mauer,

S.M., Buselmeier, T.J., Najarian, J.S.: 115 Patients with first cadaver kidney transplants followed two to seven and a half Years. A multifactorial analysis. Amer. J. Med. **62**, 234 (1977)

- [1851] Osborn, D.E., Castro, J.E., Ansell, I.D.: Malakoplakia in a cadaver renal allograft: a case study. Human Path. 8, 341 (1977)
- [1852] Jacobsson, S., Linell, F., Rausing, A.: Florid keratoacanthomas in a kidney transplant recipient. Case report. Scand. J. Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 8, 243 (1974)
- [1853] Cameron, J.S., Turner, D.R.: Recurrent glomerulonephritis in allografted kidneys. Clin. Nephrol. 7, 47 (1977)
- [1854] Flanigan, W.J., Ardon, L.F., Brewer, T.E., Caldwell, F.T.: Etiology and diagnosis of early post-transplantation oliguria. Amer. J. Surg. 132, 808 (1976)
- [1855] Gilliam, J.N., Smiley, J.D.: Cutaneous necrotizing vasculitis and related disorders. Ann. Allergy 37, 328 (1976)

Subject Index

 $AB \rightarrow Antibody$ Abdominal pain 499 ABO blood group antigens 565, 606 Abscess 283 Abuse, analgetics \rightarrow phenacetin Accentuation, crescentic \rightarrow Crescents Acidosis, renal tubular 478 Actinomycine 544 Actinomycosis 447 Activity, inflammatory 173 Actomyosin 25, 44, 78 Acute renal failure → renal failure, acute Adaptive intimal fibrosis 151, 430, 437, 467, 510, 521,605 Addiction \rightarrow drugs Addison's disease 117 Adenocarcinoma, mucousforming 563 Adenoma, kidney 490, 554 -, -, basophilic 554 -, -, clear cell 556 -, -, questionable benign 556 — —, rupture 490 -, -, tubular 436 Adenomatoid structure 312 Adenomyosarcoma → nephroblastoma Adrenal tissue, subcapsular 556 Adventitia 41 Aerobacter aerogenes 437 Actiology of renal lesions \rightarrow individual disease, text Afferent vessels, constriction 493 AFOG → Stain Age distribution of renal lesions \rightarrow individual disease text Agenesis 357, 547 Agent, permeability-enhancing 378 Agranulocytosis 184, 283 Albumin 69

Alcian blue → stain Alcaptonuria 454 Alcohol intoxication 54, 408, 418 Aldosterone 404, \rightarrow renin Aldosteronism 117 Aleutian mink 278, 337 ALG → Anti-lymphocytic globulin Alkalinization 486 Allergic granulomatous angitis 538 Allergy 326, 442 Allograft 564 Alopecia 326 Alport's syndrome 64, 73, 185, 214, 259, 303, 367, 466 -, recurrence in transplant 471, 610 Alteration → glomerular capillary loop necrosis Aminoaciduria 358, 454, 457 Ammonium urate 466 Amniotic fluid emboli 496 Ampicillin 418 Ampulla glomeruli 28 Amyloidosis 11, 62, 98, 100, 142, 382, 406, 505, 556 -, recurrence in transplant 387, 610 -, renal vein thhrombosis 503 Analgetic → phenacetin Anaphylactoid purpura → Schönlein Henoch's purpura Anastomosis \rightarrow artery, renal , tubulo-lymphatic 134, 450 -, tubulovenous 138 Anemia 232, 418, 483 -, hemolytic 326 Aneurysm, dissecting 149, 526 -, glomerular loop 56, 403, 500, 543 -, intramural 599 Angina, streptococcal 307,

418

Angiography 503 Angiokeratoma corporis diffusum 453 Angiopathy, diabetic 398 Angiotension → renin Angitis, hypersensitivity 151, 152, 218, 296, 320, 322, 349, 526, 536 Anoxia 489, 530 Antibiotic therapy 487 Antibiotics, nephrotoxic 378, 407, \rightarrow drugs Antibodies, anti-BM 73, 155, 157, 250, 339, 591 -, -, type GN \rightarrow Glomerulonephritis -, anti DNA 16, 540 -, anti-endothelial 502 -, anti-erythrocyte 490 -, anti-HB_s 16 -, anti-HLA 565 -, anti-insulin 281, 398 -, anti-kidney 569 -, anti-mitochondrial 349 -, anti-nuclear 192, 326, 328, 337, 419, 528, 540 -, anti-placental 366 -, anti-tubular BM 419 -, anti-smooth muscle 186, 349 -, cytotoxic 169, 565, 606 -, excess 185, 249 -, preexisting 606 -, auto → autoimmune disease Antibody, classes 184 Anticoagulation 490, 502, 556, 610, 613 Anticonvulsiv 277 Antidiabetic 392 Antigen, AB0 blood group 565, 606 antibody complexes, circulating 184 -, -, properties 184 -, carcino-embryonic 278 -, classes 184 -, excess 184, 215 $-, HB_{s}$ 16 - incompatibility 565

-, mesangial matrix 353 - rubella 155 -, streptococcal 186, 418 -, toxoplasmosis 217, 366, 446 -, T. pallidum 364 -, tubular 250, 506 -, tumor-associated 278 -, thyreoglobulin 155 Antigens, identical 565 Anti-lymphocytic globulin 155, 157, 160, 186, 217, 250, 503, 589, 591, 613 Antisera 15 Antistreptolysin 71, 192, 194, 230, 250, 289, 350, 369 Antithrombin 505 Anuria \rightarrow individual disease, text Apatite crystals 484 Appearance, moth-eaten 269 Arcade formation 90, 203, 237 Argyrophilia 44, 253 Armanni-Ebstein cells 125, 392, 397 Aromatic compounds 478 Arsenic 277 Arteriography 542 Arteriolae rectae verae 107 Arteriole 30, 39, 152, 158, 419 -, endothelial necrosis 517 -, immofluorescence 168 -, lesion of 152 -, obliterated 599 -, scar 535 Arteriolitis 152, 320, 322, 599 -, destructive-proliferative 346 -, proliferative 521 Arteriolonecrosis 56, 113, 142, 152, 168, 320, 331, 520, 528, 599, 573, 575, 605 -, healing 526 -, idiopathic 152, 520, 530 -, protection from 526 -, transplant 566, 587
Arteriolopathy, hypertensive \rightarrow arteriolosclerosis etc. Arteriolosclerosis 56, 73, 113, 152, 393, 514, 520, 528 -, circumscribed 168 -, contra-lateral kidney 510 - without hypertension 520 -, remission 520 Arteriosclerosis 149 -, pre-existing, transplant 599 Arteritis 151, 170, 339 $- \rightarrow$ Periarteritis -, allergic granulomatous 346, 538 -, Horton's 151, 540 -, hypersensitivity \rightarrow Angitis, hypersensitivity -, nonspecific 533 -, rheumatic 538 -, tuberculoid 538 Artery, arcuate 147 -, interlobular 152, 528 -, -, -, onion bulb like 152, 500, 521, 528 -, -, thrombosis 521 -, intimal proliferation, female hormones 533 -, - thickening 599 -, intramural aneurysm, transplant 599 -, normal 39 -, obstruction, subtotal 508 -, renal, necrosis 605, 613 -, -, anastomosis, thrombosis 605 -, -, thrombosis 56, 120, 151, 493, 500, 599, 608, 613 -, spasms 520 - stenosis 113, 117, 120, 151, 185, 510, 613 -, subendothelial fibrosis 533 -, temporal 151, 540 Arthritis 326 Artifacts 44, 60, 103, 131, 253 -, crushing 45 –, cytoplasm, eosinophilic 44 -, drying 45 -, fixation, inadequate 45 -, squeezing 45 Aschoff's granuloma 538 Ask-Upmark-kidney 437 Aspergillosis 447 Aspirin 440 Asteroid bodies 444

Ataxia, cerebellar 478 Atheroma 149 Athetosis 464 Atomic absorption-analysis 277 Atopia 162 ATP synthesis 487 Atrophy, tubular 118, 120 Attack \rightarrow Relapse -, glomerulonephritis 191, 231, 241, 275, 282, 297 -, periarteritis nodosa 535 Australia antigen \rightarrow Hepatitis B antigen Autograft 564 Autoimmune disease 96, 168, 169, 250, 277, 326, 337 Autologous transplant 564 Autolysosomes 33, 90, 127, 132, 488 Autoradiography 23, 125, 310 Axial/panmesangial/minimal 178, 180, 196 Bacitracin 487 Back flow theory 419 Bacteremia 283 Bacteria, aerobacter acrogenes 437 -, actinomyces 447 -, brucella abortus 418, 443 -, coliform 430 -, E. coli 283, 437, 440 -, enterococcus 437 -, gas-producing 430 -, gram-negative 161, 613 -, leptospira ictero hemorrhagica 420 -, - pomona 420, 424 -, mycoplasma 437 -, pneumococcus 287, 378 -, proteus 287, 437 -, pseudomonas 287, 437 -, pyelonephritis 437 -, S. typhi 503 -, spirochaeta pallida 169, 277, 358, 364, 391 -, staphylococcus 155, 164, 216, 217, 230, 287, 307, 430, 437 -, streptococcus \rightarrow Streptococci Bacteruria, pyelonephritis 425 Bacteriuria, glomerulonephritis 190 Balkan nephropathy 419, 440 Balloons 60, 90, 118, 544

Bang's disease 418, 443 Barr-Epstein virus 92 Bartter's syndrome 117 Basal labyrinth 118, 125, 131, 450, 493, 544, 576 Basement membrane, blood vessels 147 -, capillaries, interstitial 441 - -, capsular 103, 164 - -, deposits 103, 253, 255 - -, destruction 343 - -, glomerular \rightarrow Glomerulonephritis -, -, areas, translucent 241 - -, -, chemical structure 21 - --, --, degradation granules 151 - -, -, doubling 62, 64, 289, 322, 589 - -, -, fundamental changes 62 - -, -, holes 343, 478 — _, _, hyaline-like 253 - -, -, interruptions 75, 219, 224, 283, 339, 374 — —, —, lamellation 67, 468 - -, -, like strands 224 — —, —, normal 21 - -, -, refractile 253 - -, -, reticulation 64, 468 -, -, splitting 209, 237, 264, 469 -, -, subendothelial new formation 237, 253, 292 -, -, thickening 62, 69, 174, 209, 237, 253, 264, 269, 320, 364, 382, 397, 400, 468 -, -, thinning 75, 469, 476 - -, -, tram-track 69, 100, 232, 237, 249 -, -, turnover 22 - -, -, wrinkling 113, 530 — —, pulmonary 157, 186 -, tubular 37, 120, 130, 139, 167, 241, 253, 385, 411, 441, 462, 510 -, -, deposits 253, 405,408, 605 Bechterew's disease 391, 565 Bence Jones protein 383, 387, 405, 406 Benzol trichlorethylene 277 Berger's glomerulonephritis-→ glomerulonephritis, IgA mesangial

Best's carmine-stain 544 Bile duct lesions 400 Bilirubin 134 Biopsy, complications 4 -, contraindications 2 -, evaluation 46 -, indications 2 -, -, transplantat 565 -, mortality 4 -, needle 2, 3 -, -, infarct 506 -, pulmonary 342 -, reliability 4 -, sequential 215 -, surgical 2, 3, 4, 45, 54, 60 -, technique 1 Birch-Hirschfeld tumor 563 Birefrigence 368, 453, 462 Bismuth 129, 487 Bladder carcinoma 424, 436, 441 Bleeding \rightarrow hemorrhage -, pulmonary 227, 318, 322, 538 tendency 499 Blood coagulation \rightarrow Coagulation - flow, renal 452 - -, -, decreased 117, 151, 401, 419, 513, 530 – pressure → Hypertension - stasis 493, 575, 581, 587 transfusion 418, 496, 565 - vessels 39, 147, 168, 514 - -, aberrant 452, 515 - -, arteriole etc., elastic lamina, myocytes -, postglomerular 436 $BM \rightarrow Basement membrane$ Bodies, multivesicular 33, 96 -, residual 33 Boeck's disease \rightarrow Sarcoidosis Bouin's solution 10 Bowman's capsule 44, 100, 164, \rightarrow Capsular -, adenomatoid structure 312 -, basement membrane deposits 103, 253, 255 - - - destruction 343 - -, - -, drops 103, 393, 397 -, epithelium, proliferation \rightarrow crescents - -, normal 28, 100 — —, splitting 515 Brain sclerosis, tuberous 549, 554 tumor 614

Bronchial asthma 538 Bronchiectases 391 Brucellosis 418, 443 Brush border 33, 120, 131, 450, 493 - -, loss of 488, 490, 495 Buerger-Winiwater's disease 151, **540** Burns 418 Burr cells 500 Busulfane 129 Butler-Albright syndrome 478 C3 nephritic factor 163, 250, 253, 296 Cadaver kidneys 565 Calcium, absorption, intestinal 486 - carbonate 484 - deposition 483, 484, 486 — —, adenoma 556 – , cortical necrosis 496 - -, tumor necrosis 556 - gluconate poisoning 486 - oxalate \rightarrow Oxalate Calyx 425, 450 Cancer \rightarrow carcinoma; tumors; individual organs Candida albicans 283 Capillaries, intertubular 39, 331 -, -, osmiophilic deposits 334 -, -, stasis of 433 -, -, thrombosis 403 -, -, transplant 569 Capillary loop, basement membrane → Basement membrane -, aneurysm 56, 403, 500, 543 -, ballooned 343, \rightarrow Balloons - -, collapse \rightarrow Glomerulus, collapse - -, cap 62, 393, 397 - -, content 56, **58**, 166 -, deposits \rightarrow deposits; basement membrane deposits -, dilatation 490, 503, 508, 566 -, leukocytes, marginal 503 -, leukocytosis 196, 209, 275, 566 - -, lipid 312 - -, lumen 56 — —, narrowing 56, 237 — — necrosis 56, 109, 164,

170, 174, 180, 209, 218, 219, 224, 227, 283, 285, 289, 291, 320, 322, 334, 339, 349, 426, 489, 508, 528, 538, 543 -, obsolescence \rightarrow Glomerulus, obsolescence - -, thrombocytes 56, 573 - -, thrombosis 103, 283, 285, 343, 406 - — wall thickening 589 - - -, splitting 543 - - -, widening 62 - protuberance 27 Capsular, basement membrane → basement membrane drops 103, 393, 397 - epithelium 28; \rightarrow crescents - space 100, 103 - -, erythrocytes 196 - , giant cells 339 Capsule, glomerular \rightarrow Bowman's capsule, capsular Carbohydrate-storage kidney 125, 487, 490 Carbohydrates, structural 398 Carbon disulfide 380, 382 - tetrachloride 408, 487 Carcino-embryonic → Antigen Carcinoma, bladder 424, 436, 441 -. colon 424 -, renal cell 391, 505, 556, 559 -, - pelvis 441, 563 Cardiac failure 490, 505, 506, 535, 613 Cartilage, dysplasia 440, 547 Casts 134, 167, 419, 454 -, bilirubin 400 -, calcium 134, 484 -, chromoprotein 134, 411, 418 -, crystalline 134 -, erythrocyte 134, 189, 192, 196, 218, 326 -, fragmented 405 -, hyaline 134 -, leukocyte 134, 192, 326, 442 -, lymphatic 134, 450 -, medullary 385 --, necrotic tubular epithelium 490 -, plasmocytoma 134, 406 Catalase 185

Cell giants 129, 447

- intercapillary 25, \rightarrow Mesangium - junctions 517 -, light 37 - membrane, apical 131 - proliferation, endothelial 90 regeneration tubules 120, _ 131 -, sarcomatoid 559 -, stellate 25 -, steroid-producing 556 Cells argentaffine 563 -, dark 37, 100 -, epitheloid 30, 100 -, myelogenous, intracapillary 407, 418 Cellules en Casque 500 Cephalothin 487 Ceramide trihexose 453 Cervical carcinoma 436 Chediak-Higashi syndrome 125 Chicken pox 379 Childhood, early, pyelonephritis 436, 437, 440 Children, hypertensive vasculopathy 538 –, periarteritis nodosa 535 Chloroform, poisoning 125 Cholesteatoma 446, 552 Cholesterol → individual disease, text Chromoprotein 403, 490, 493 Churg und Strauss arteritis 538 Circulation, insufficient 400, 406, 420 Cirrhosis, liver, biliary $401 \rightarrow also hepatitis; glo$ merulosclerosis, hepatic Classification \rightarrow nosology Clear cell adenoma 556 - - carcinoma 559 - cells 559 Clearance, mesangial 184, 185 Clinician, tissue processing by 5 Clotting factors 499 Clq etc. \rightarrow Complement CNS symptoms 327, 521 Coagulation, intravascular 60, 152, 163, 164, 245, 285, 303, 307, 403, 404, 493, 495, 499, 503, 526, 566, 607 - - promoting factors 496 - system 184, 526 Collagen 48, 56, 75, 100,

130, 149, 224, 298, 403, 404, 415, 530 - -like fibers \rightarrow Thread like structures long-spacing 405 Collagenase 131 Collaps \rightarrow Glomerulus; Circulation; Tubules Collecting ducts 383 - -, dilatation 448 Coma, hypoglycemic 553 Complement 15, 69, 98, 157, 162, 194, 317, 499 \rightarrow glomerulonephritis $- \rightarrow$ immunofluorescence - activation 160, 163 - C2, deficiency, congenital 326 - cascade 160, 163, 607 - decrease in serum 232, 253, 277, 279, 327 - factors, frequency of occurrence 162, 192 - fractions 19 -, increase in serum 259 -, pathway, alternative 162, 183, 232, 237, 320, 326, 351 -, -, - properdin 162, 237, 250, 253, 320, 351, 418 -, -, classical 167 Complexes→Immunocomplexes Concentrating insufficiency 493 Congo red test 383 Conn's syndrome 117 Consumption coagulopathy \rightarrow coagulation, intravascular Contraceptive drugs 503, 526, 532 Contracted kidney \rightarrow kidney, contracted Contraindication \rightarrow biopsy Convulsions 184, 326, 495, 499 Coombs test 499 Cooperation, pathoclinical 46 Corneal opacity 453 Coronary heart disease 535 Cortical necrosis 493, 499, 500, 566 Corticomedullary junction 405, 407, 437, 483, 490, 549 Corticosteroid therapy 275, 307, 378, 380, 391, 430, 446, 528, 535, 536, 538, 540

Coxsackie virus 217 Creatinine, blood, GN 192 Crescent 100, 107, 164, 174, 182, 201, 209, 218, 224, 231, 233, 235, 253, 264, 289, 292, 312, 318, 328, 339, 343, 346, 358, 536 -, fibrotic 174, 285 -, prognostic significance 182, 218, 227, 249 -, segmental 224, 285, 289, 291, 457, 500 Crohn's disease 391 Cross-reactions 18, 186, 342 Cross-specificity 157 Crossmatch 565, 606 Crushing 45 Cryoglobulinemia 62, 73, 152, 166, 169, 172, 250, 327, 406 Crystals, apatite 484 -, cholesterol 508, 552 -, cystine \rightarrow Cystine -, endothelial 405 -, oxalate \rightarrow Oxalate -, sulfonamides 487 -, tubular 405 -, urate 142 $Cure \rightarrow Healing$ Cushing's syndrome 556 Cyclophosphamide 378 Cyst, dermoid 549, 552 – glomerular 440, 506 - medullary 480, 483 -, renal 50, 446, 549 -, -, hemorrhage 552 - subpelvic 476 Cystadenoma 549 Cystathionine 454 Cystic dysplasia of kidney 549 kidney 547, 549 -, medullary \rightarrow nephronophthisis Cystine 134, 142, 457 Cystinosis 54, 129, 455 -, recurrence in transplant 460, 610 Cystitis 547 Cytofolds → Endothelium, arcades Cytologic examination, urinary 441 Cytolysosomes 33, 90, 127, 132, 488 Cytomegalo-virus 129, 167, 170, 216, 358, 364, 447, 613 Cytopempsis 25 Cytoplasm, tubular, changes 120, 125 Cytostatics 129

Dane particles 92 Data processing 20 De Toni-Debré-Fanconi syndrome → Fanconi syndrome Deafness, nerve 467 Debris, vesiculo-tubular osmiophilic 149 Dedifferentiation, tubular epithelium 120, 131, 415, 450, 490, 510 Defects, capillary loop 219 Definition \rightarrow special diseases etc. Definitions, histopathologic 48 -, immunohistiopathologic 155 Degeneration, myxoide, vascular 559 tubular epithelium, vacuolar 118 Degradation granules 94, 151, 303, 400, 405, 502 Dehydration 496, 505 Deposit remnants 374 Deposits, along mesangial BM 207 -, band-like 253 -, color of 69 -, crystalloid 30, 73, 172, 334 -, degradation 160, 209, 241 -, fibrin in 403, 500 -, fibrinoid 152, 196, 233, 514 -, fingerprint-like 73, 96, 334 , flat subepithelial 241, 267 -, giant 62, 69, 299, 303 -, granular 158 -, incorporation 71 -, insudation 71 -, interstitial 142 -, intramembranous 73, 203, 207 -, linear 157, 186, 215, 253, 267, 299, 331, 337, 493, 591 -, lipid 233 -, mesangial 155 -, osmiophilic 69, 149, 342 -, osmiophilic in blood vessels 241 -, tubular BM 131 -, pseudolinear 155, 186, 235, 267 -, subendothelial 69, 71, 73, 203, 207, 232, 237, 289

, translucent 64, 269 -, ultralinear 322, 339, 586 Dermoid cyst 549, 552 Destruction, kidney tissue 426 Development, arrest 547 Dextran 28, 490 Diabetes insipidus 383, 478 - mellitus 22, 41, 56, 73, 90, 98, 103, 149, 152, 164, 281, 380, 400, 425, 430, 436 -, glomerulosclerosis 62, 157, 162, 273, 391 -, -, recurrence in transplant 610 -, phosphate 478 Dialysis 430, 488, 496, 521 Diazol therapy 446 Diethylene glycol 125 Differential diagnosis → special diseases, text - , nonglomerulonephritis, glomerulonephritis 173 Diffuse, definition 48, 155 Dilantin 318 Dilatation, tubular 120 Disease, atopical 162 -, intrauterine 358 Discrimination analysis 173 Diuretics 118, 488 Diverticulae, tubular 37, 125 Diverticulosis, colon 391 DNA 158, 169, 327, 331, 337 -antibodies 16, 540 complex with actinomycine 544 Donor-cell infiltrates 601, 606 tumor cells 613 Doubling → basement membrane Droplets, hyaline 33, 77, 90, 92, 125, 164, 166, 202, 264 , lipid 92, 98, 132, 164 Drug 186, 277, 326, 330, 430 Drug, abuse, addiction \rightarrow special drugs -, actino mycine 544 -, allergy 312, 407, 408, 418, 446, 503, 536 –, anticonvulsiva 277 -, antidiabetica 392 -, aspirin 440 bacitracin 487 -, busulfane 129 -, cephalothine 487 -, contraceptive 503, 526, 532

-, cyclophosphamide 378 -, cytostatics 129, 346 -, dextrane 28, 487, 490 -, diazol 446 -, dilantin 318 -, diuretics 118, 418, 488 -, furosemide 418 -, gentamicine 418, 488 -, halothane 418, 462, 496 -, heroin \rightarrow heroin addicts -, hydantoin 334, 418 -, hydralazine 337 -, hydroxyphenitidine 442 -, isoniacid 337 -, madribon 538 -, methicillin 418 -, methoxyflurane 418, 462, 487 -, novalgin 408 -, paraaminophenol 442 -, penicillamin 186, 262, 277, 503 -, penicillin 364, 418 - perchlorate 380 -, phenacetin 127, 132, 411, 418, 424, 436, 440, 563 -, phenetidin 442 -, phenindion 418, 442 -, procainamide 337 -, pyrazolone 496 -, rifampycine 418 -, sulfonamides 137, 487, 538 , tetrazycline 407, 478 -, thiazol 430 -, trimethadione 337 -, vincristin 544 -, viomycine 487 Drying $45 \rightarrow \text{artifacts}$ Dubosq-Brazil 8 Ducts, collecting, normal 37 Duhring's herpetiform dermatitis 408 Dwarf-like kidney 547 Dysontogenesis 554 Dysplasia 50, 356, 547, 549 Dysproteinemia 401 Dysuria, glomerulonephritis 191 Ear symptoms 215, 230, 342, 467 Echinococcus 443 Eclampsia 90, 117, 155, 164, 380, 401, 403, 495 Edema in Glomerulonephritis 191 -, interstitial 45, 139, 169, 275, 607 Efferent vessels, arteriolosclerosis 391, 514

Egg albumin 249, 277, Elastic lamina 41, 149, 526, 540, 573, 599 Elastosis 149 Electrical injury 411, 418 Electronmicroscopy, embedding, 12 -, immunohistology 18 -, procedures 12 -, tissue processing 5 Electronprobe microanalysis 277 Eluates, glomerular 158, 287, 353 $EM \rightarrow electronmicroscopy$ Embolus, atheromatous 508 -, bacterial 282 -, fungal 283 Emphysematous pyelonephritis 430 Encephalomyocarditis virus 217 Encephalopathy, hypertensive 189 Endarteritis, proliferative 521, 573, 599 → arteritis, arteriolitis Endocarditis, staphylococcal 216, 285, 296 , subacute bacterial 170, 282, 283, 296, 506 ulcerosa 283 Endometriosis 563 Endophlebitis 573 Endoplasmatic reticulum 21, 23, 33, 77, 96, 100, 131, 132, 488, 556 Endotheliosis 90, 155, 164, 380, 401, 403 Endothelium, arcades 90, 203, 237 -, edema 90, 403, 573 -, fenestrae 25 -, glomerular 25, 90 -, hypertrophy 90 -, injury 164, 502, 586, 601, 607 -, mitoses 573 -, necrosis 203, 493, 495, 601 -, permeability 149 -, swelling 403, 543, 581 -, tubular structures \rightarrow Viruslike tubular structures -, vascular **39**, 147, 581 End stage kidney \rightarrow kidney, contracted Endotoxin 163, 164, 185 Enterococci 437

Enzymopathy 453,→individ-

ual diseases

-, recurrence in transplant 315, 608 Enzymuria 488 Eosinophilia, blood 192, 535, 536, 538, 569 -, tumor cells 559 EPH syndrom $401 \rightarrow$ eclampsia Epithelium, glomerular parie $tal \rightarrow Bowman's capsule,$ epithelium parietal $-, -, visceral \rightarrow podocytes$ Epitheloid cell 538 — —, nodules 443 Epon 13 Epstein-Barr virus 92, 216, 250, 596 Ervthema 535 Erythropoietin 556 Estrogen 486 Escherichia coli 283, 437, 440 Ethylene glycol 125, 462, 488 Evaluation, semiquantitative 173 Exacerbation \rightarrow individual disease, relapse Exanthema 326, 420 Extracapillary accentuated glomerulonephritis \rightarrow glomerulonephritis Exudation 48, 113, 180, 181 Eye symptoms 342, 393, 453, 457, 467, 478, 521, 535 -, papillary edema Fabry's disease 453, 455 - -, recurrence in transplant 610 Factor, nephritic C $3 \rightarrow C 3$ nephritic factor permeability-regulating 378 Factors antinuclear \rightarrow antibodies, antinuclear -, nuclear 16, 169, 334 Failure, acute renal \rightarrow renal failure Familial diseases 297, 350, 355, 358, 366, 367, 382, 404, 453, 460, 466, 476, 478, 483, 526 Fanconi syndrome 120, 405, 454, 457, 478, 487, 488 Fat embolism 62, 490, 496 -. neutral 487 Female hormones 533 Ferritin 28, 92, 185, 400 Fetoprotein, alpha 358 Fever, acute rheumatic 215, 538

segmental focal Fibers, argyrophilic 139 Fibrils, amyloid 385 Fibrin 56, 60, 69, 92, 100, 149, 155, 164, 167, 168, 169, 203, 218, 228, 287, 339, 343, 346, 374, 403, 420, 493, 495, 499, 500, 502, 573, 589, 595, 605, 607 - in blood vessels 586 degradation products, urine 495 in immunofluorescence 158, 163 - metabolites 164 – thrombi 495 Fibrinogen \rightarrow fibrin Fibrinoid 48, 56, 62, 69, 113, 166, 252, 296, 299, 326, 334, 339, 343, 349, 517 -, definition 48, \rightarrow deposits, \rightarrow necrosis, fibrinoid Fibrinolysis 25, 500, 607 -, reduction 496, 566 Fibroblasts 151, 455 Fibrocytes 149, 151, 219 Fibroelastosis 149, 526 Fibroma, medullary 553 Fibromuscular dysplasia 526 Fibrosis, adaptive intimal \rightarrow adaptive intimal fibrosis -, focal-global \rightarrow glomerulonephritis, focal-global sclerosing , interstitial \rightarrow interstitium, fibrosis , mesangial, definition 48 , periglomerular 109, 113 Filtration rate, glomerular 493 Fingerprint pattern 73, 96, 334 Finnish type, congenital nephrotic syndrome 358 FITC-immuno-fluorescence 14, 16 Fixation, electronmicroscopy 12 -, inadequate 45 -, light microscopy 7, 8, 9 -, osmium 13 Flank pain 503, 506 Fluorescein-iso-thiocyanate- \rightarrow FITC Fluorescence → Immunofluorescence , spontaneous 253 Foam cells 73, 77, 90, 98,

 $FGN \rightarrow glomerulonephritis,$

100, 125, 201, 237, 241, 264, 303, 310, 368, 372, 430, 453, 454, 455, 467, 474, 476, 544, 599 -, glomerular 73, 77, 90, 98, 100, 403, 453, 454, 455, 502, 544, 596 -, histiocytic 447, 554, 569 - interstitial 142, 453, 480 - -, mesangium 405 — —, monocytic 569, 580 - -, thrombocytes 502, 573 - -, tubular 125, 453, 455, 467 — —, tumor 554 - -, urine 453 - -, vessels 453, 455, 544, 573, 581, 599 Focal, definition 48, 155 Foci, thyroid-like 50, 437, 480 Foot processes \rightarrow podocytes, foot processes Formalin sublimate 8 Fractures, spontaneous 411 Fragmentocytes 495, 499, 502 Fucosidosis 455 Fundus albipunctatus 467 Fungi 283, 613 Furosemid 418 Galactosemia 478 Galactosidase deficiency 455 Gammopathy, IgE 405 Gangliosidoses 77, 98, 455 Gasser syndrome \rightarrow hemolytic-uremic syndrome Gastrointestinal symptoms 528, 535, 536 Gaucher's disease 454 Gene loci, HLA 564 Gentamicin 418, 488 Germinocytes 142 Gestosis → eclampsia Giant cell arteritis 151, 540 Giant cells \rightarrow cell giants -, 219, 385, 538, 540, 605 -, brucellosis 443 -, capsular space 406 -, foreign-body 405, 466, 508 -, glomerular 129, 406, 447, 457, 478 -, inclusion bodies, nuclear 129 -, Langhans 443 -, multinucleate, tumor 559

Giant cells, syncytial 339 —, tubular multinuclear 457 v. Gierke's disease 125 v. Gieson \rightarrow stain Global, definition 48, 155 Globulin, anti-lympho $cytic \rightarrow anti-lymphocytic$ globulin Glomerular minimal change 54, 98, 139, 155, 158, 162, 173, 177, 180, 262, 273, 307, 358, 367 - - -, pyelonephritis 442 — — —, recurrence in transplant 378 — — —, relapse 368 - - -, remission 374 — — —, Schönlein-Henoch 320 - - -, systemic disease 317 Glomerulitis, alterative 521 -, embolic, purulent focal 50, 282, 283, 436 -, overload 185, 308, 315, 357, 430, 505 Glomeruloendotheliosis 401 Glomeruloid structures 500, 563 Glomerulonephritis $177 \rightarrow$ glomerulitis -, acute 195, 368 -, age distribution 190 -, anti-BM-type 73, 155, 183, 185, 186, 203, 218, 219, 224, 227, 315, 339, 591, 608 -, attack 191, 231, 241, 275, 282, 297 -, clinical findings 190 -, crescents, prognosis 227 -, cryoglobulinemia 170 -, differential diagnostis, clinical types of glomerulonephritis 194 -, duration of illness stage 180 -, early infantile 356 -, endocarditis 56, 60, 283, 285 -, -, relapse 285 -, endomembranous \rightarrow glomerulonephritis, membranoproliferative _, endotheliomesangial 188, 285, 364, 366 —, —, glomerular minimal change 367 -, -, healing of 378

-, -, pyelonephritis 442

-, epimembranous 67, 184, 261, 358 -, -, contracted kidney 315 -, -, early infantile 364 -, -, glomerular minimal change 367 -, -, healing 277 -, -, pyelonephritis 442 -, -, recurrence in transplant 275 -, -, relapse 264, 273 -, -, remission 275 -, -, renal vein thrombosis 503, 505 -, -, repair 264, 273 -, exacerbation 181, 188 -, extracapillary accentuated 73, 157, 186, 218, 326 -, -, - , contracted kidney 315 -, - -, pyelonephritis 442 -, -, -, remission 326 -, extramembranous \rightarrow glomerulonephritis, epimembranous -, familial 190 -, focal-global sclerosing 161, 303, 307 focally accentuated 56, 282, 339, 536 -, - -, contracted kidney 315 -, - necrotizing 447 -, frequency of various forms 190 -, healing 182, 183 -, hypersensitivity angitis 349 -, IgA mesangial 100, 155, 162, 163, 190, 201, 214, 217, 296, 350, 351, 379 -, -, -, relapse 350 -, - -, remission 350, 353 -, -, -, skin vessels 351 -, - -, thrombocytopenia 355 -, immunocomplex 184, 218 -, infantile 356 -, intracapillary \rightarrow glomerulonephritis, membranoproliferative -, intramembranous 131, 252 —, —, recurrence in transplant 259 -, intravasal coagulation 287, 496 -, laminal \rightarrow glomerulonephritis, intramembranous

-, latent 182, 215 -, lobular 231, 235 -, lupus erythematodes 326 -, malignant tumors 216, 217-, membranoproliferative 73, 231, 339 -, -, complement 163 -, - contracted kidney 315 -, -, focal 289 -, -, healing 249 -, -, pyelonephritis 442 —, —, recurrence in transplant 249 -, -, remission 231 -, membranous \rightarrow glomerulonephritis, epimembranous -, mesangial-sclerosing 356 -, mesangiocapillary → glomerulonephritis, membranoproliferative -, mesangiopathic 350 -, mixed form 231, 241, 279, 328 -, nonclassifiable 311 -, nonproliferative \rightarrow glomerulonephritis epimembranous -, nosology 177, 179 -, oliguric 218 -, parietoproliferative $231 \rightarrow$ glomerulonephritis, membranoproliferative -, pathogenesis 183 -, penicillamin-induced 186 -, periarteritis nodosa 536 -, persistent 182 -, post-streptococcal 181, 184, 279 -, prognosis \rightarrow special forms, text -, progressive 182 -, pyelonephritis 442 , rapidly progressive 218, 227 -, recurrence in transplants 315, 608 -, relapse 160, 209, 215 --, residues 378 -, resolution 196, 207 -, Schönlein Henoch's purpura→Schönlein-Henoch's purpura -, segmental focal 289 -, - - accentuated, necrotizing 538 -, - -, accentuated in transplant 303, 307 -, - -, extracapillary accentuated 349

-, -, -, destructive 342

-, -, proliferative 289, 318, 337, 349 -, - -, proliferative, healing 295 -, - -, relapse 303 -, - sclerosing 164, 173, 287, 289, 296, 358, 364, 377, 442, 549 -, - - sclerosing, remission 297 -, serum nephritis 71, 183, 185, 538 -, sex-ratio 190 -, special clinical courses 182 -, stages 60, 178, 180 -, subacute → glomerulonephritis, extracapillary accentuated —, subclinical 379 –, synonymes 179 -, systemic disease 191, 317 -, thrombotic-induced 282 -, transitional forms \rightarrow glomerulonephritis, mixed forms -, transmembranous \rightarrow glomerulonephritis, epimembranous -, transplants 174, 608 -, tropical 277 -, unresolved 183, 215 -, Wegener's syndrome \rightarrow Wegener's syndrome Glomerulonephrosis 98, 377, 380, 453 -, hepatic 73, 98, 355, 400 -, sclerosing form \rightarrow glomerulosclerosis , transplant 569 Glomerulo pathy \rightarrow transplant glomerulopathy , membranous \rightarrow glomerulonephritis, epimembranous pregnancy \rightarrow eclampsia Glomerulosclerosis 98, 377, 380 -, congenital 308 -, diabetic → diabetes mellitus, glomerulosclerosis in -, hepatic 73, 98, 355, 400, 610 -, -, transplantation 401 -, intercapillary \rightarrow Diabetes, glomerulosclerosis in -, nodular \rightarrow Diabetes, glomerulosclerosis

- -, unspecific 462, 466
- –, Waldenström's disease 406

Glomerulus → basement mem-

brane; endothelium; podocytes; Capsular space; Bowman's Capsule; capillary loop

- -, anoxic lesions 489
- -, blood stasis 575, 581
- -, collagen \rightarrow collagen
- -, Collapse 56, 90, 103, 107, 113, 173, 303, 315, 356, 411, 426, 433, 489, 500
- -, contraction 23, 28
- -, cystoid 440, 506
- -, destruction 115, 437
- -, disappearance 426
- -, endothelium → endothelium, glomerulus
- -, enlarged 400, 403
- -, fetal 54, 360, 467, 474 -, fibrin thrombi 406, 493, 500
- -, function 185, 493
- --, hyaline → glomerulus obsolescence
- -, hypertrophic 312 -, infarct 500
- -, ischemic injury 521
- -, infundibulum 28
- , juxtamedullar 201, 372, 377
 , metastasis in 563
- -, -, purulent 426
- -, normal **21**
- -, obsolescence, accelerated 67, 113, 523, 530
- -, -, pyelonephritis 113 -, obsolescent 28, 29, 50, 62, 90, 103, 107, 113, 164, 173, 201, 233, 264, 273, 283, 299, 303, 308, 311, 312, 320, 346, 351, 356, 389, 433, 453, 457, 508, 515, 574, 596 -, proliferation, lack of 261 -, -, reversibility 241 -, sclerosis, segmental 457, 471 -, size of 54 -, spider scar 113, 356, 426, 437 -, synechia \rightarrow synechia

Glucocerebroside 454 Glucose 490 Glucose-6-phosphatase 454 Glucosidase 454

Glutarate-glycoxylate carboligase 464 Glycerate dehydrogenase 464

Glycerinemia 455

Glycocalyx 23, 33, 484

Glycogen 125, 392 Glycogenosis 454 Glycol, ethylene 125, 462, 488 Glycoprotein 186, 259, 398 Glucosuria 4, 78, 358 $GN \rightarrow glomerulonephritis$ Gold nephropathy 94, 186, 262, 267, 277 Gonadotropin 556 Goodpasture's syndrome 56, 73, 103, 115, 152, 157, 186, 190, 218, 282, 318, 322, 337 -, transplantation 342 Goormaghtigh's cell group 30 Gout, kidney in 425, 464 -, recurrence in transplant 610 Gout after therapy 466 Granula, renin 117 Granular cell carcinoma 559 - deposits 155 Granules, iron 342 -, lipofuscin 30 -, osmiophilic 595 -, rhomboid 553 Granuloma 129, 418 -, arteriole 521, 535 -, foreign body giant cell 406 -, periglomerular 343, 443 -, tuberculoid 342, 443, 444, 446, 540 -, vascular 170, 535, 538 Granulomatosis 129 Grawitz tumor, benign 556 Ground substance 41, 486 Growth retardation, acral 356, 437 H-bodies → Hematoxylin bodies Habu snake poison 96 Halo, epithelial 360 Halothane 418, 462, 496 Hamartoma, fetal 563 -, para-arterial 554 Hansemann, van, histiocytes 430 Haplotype 565 Hapten 418 Hartnup disease 478 $HB-Ag \rightarrow Hepatitis B antigen$ $HE \rightarrow stain$ Healing → corresponding diseases Heat stroke 418, 496 Heavy metal poisoning 487

Helly's solution 8

273, 320, 328 Hematuria → individual disease, text -, benign, familial 168, 367, 379, 471, 476 -, essential 476 Hemihepatectomy 400 Hemiplegia 499 Hemochromatosis 127 Hemodialysis → dialysis Hemodynamics, regulation of 30 Hemoglobin 11 -, casts \rightarrow casts, chromoprotein Hemoglobinuria, nocturnal 418 Hemolysis 411, 418, 490, 495, 496, 503, 526 Hemolytic anemia 499 - -, postpartum 500 - - uremic syndrome 151, 168, 209, 287, 499, 526, 587 - -, epidemic 503 - -, transplantation in 502 Hemorrhage 147, 552, 556 -, cerebral 401 -, glomerular 489 -, interstitial 489, 575 -, leiomyoangiolipoma 554 -, pulmonary 318, 337, 339, 342 -, renal pelvis 605 -, transplant 613 Hemosiderin 127 Hemosiderosis, pulmonary 322, 342 Henle's loop, normal 37 Hepatitis B, antigen 92, 96, 158, 167, 186, 250, 536, 596 -, -, transplants 613 -, chronic 170, 186, 250, 278 -, virus 92, 155, 216, 278 Hepatoma 129 Hepatorenal syndrome 400 Hereditary nephritis → Alport's syndrome Heroin addicts 94, 216, 296, 299, 307, 418 Herpes virus 167, 307, 596, 613

Helminths 186

496

Hemangioma 476, 553

Hemangiopericytoma 553

Hematoma, retroplacental

Hematoxylin bodies 245,

Heterolysosome \rightarrow droplet, hyaline, phagolysosome Heterolysosome; phagolysosome 33, 90, 98, 125, 224, 328, 433 Heymann nephritis 505 Hexosamine 486 Hexosaminidase deficiency 455 Histamine 185 Histiocytes 139 → macrophages -, eosinophilic 430 Histocompatibility 564 Histology, renal, normal 21 Histometry \rightarrow morphometry HLA 404, 564, 606 Hodgkin's disease→Lymphoma, malignant, Hodgkin Homocystinuria 454 Homogenate, kidney 277 Homogentisinuria 454 Homotransplantation \rightarrow Transplantation Hormones, corticosteroids 151, 275, 307, 378, 380, 391, 430, 444, 446, 528, 535, 536, 538, 540 -, estrogen 486 -, female 533 -, gonadotropin 556 -, medullin 44 -, ovulation inhibitors 520, 526, 533 -, parathormone 486 -, prostaglandin 44, 553 Horse gamma globulin 160, 157, 591 Horton's temporal arteritis 151, 540 Humps 71, 182, 184, 196, 201, 203, 209, 224, 241, 285, 292, 320, 334, 346, 374 Hyalin, definition 48 Hyaline \rightarrow thrombi; droplets; deposits Hyalinosis 299 Hyaluronidase 215 Hydantoin 337, 418 Hydralazine 337 Hydrocalicosis 425, 430, 450 Hydrocarbon solvents 186, 342 Hydrolases, acid 455 Hydronephrosis 44, 125, 134, 158, 185, 448 Hydropic change, tubule 125, 487, 490 Hydroxyphenetidin 442 Hyperacotemia \rightarrow individual disease, text

Hyperaldosteronism 117 Hypercalcemia 436, 444, 484, 487, 556, 614 Hypercalciuria, idiopathic 484 -, -, transplant 610 Hypercellularity 48, 54, 60, 174, 287, 299, 499 Hypercomplementemia 259 Hypercorticism 556 Hyperglycemia 125 Hyperhydroxyprolinuria 467 Hyperlipidemia 132, 327 Hypernatremia 520 Hypernephroma \rightarrow renal cell carcinoma -, genuine 556 Hyperoxaluria 460 Hyperplasia, intimal musculomucoid 520 Hyperprolinemia 467 Hyperprolinuria 467 Hyperpyrexia 556 Hypersensitivity angitis \rightarrow periarteritis nodosa, microform -, skin, delayed 349 Hypertension 41, 152, 168, 169, 191, 192, 303, 404, 437 \rightarrow individual disease, text -, benign, radiation 543 -, curable 437, 506, 510, 526, 542 -, essential 526 -, familial 404 -, JGA-cell tumor 553 -, malignant \rightarrow arteriolonecrosis -, -, radiation 543 -, pulmonary 54 -, renal, juxtaglomerular apparatus 116 -, -, transplant 605, 613 —, —, tumor 553 -, renovascular 541 -, therapy 526 -, transitory 407, 419, 506 -, unilateral contracted kidney 541 Hyperthyroidism 380, 487 Hypertrophy, compensatory 310 -, renal elements 437 -, tubular 120 Hyperuricemia 436 Hyperviscosity syndrome 406 Hypervolemia 117 Hyphae 447 Hypochloremia 486

Hypocomplementemia \rightarrow Complement, decrease in serum Hypofibrinogenemia 420 Hypoglycemia 553 Hypokalemia 125, 131, 436 Hypoperfusion 587, 608 Hypoplasia, kidney 547 -, renal, segmental 356, 437, 439 -, secondary 547 Hypoxanthine-guanine-phosphoriboxyl transferase 466 Hypoxia 60, 90, 113, 139, 185, 303, 596 IgA 161, 350, 351 -, nephritis 350 → glomerulonephritis, IgA mesangial -, secretory 161 IgD 162 IgE 162, 342, 538 gammopathia 405 IgG 160 IgM 161, 173, 250 IgM-gammopathy \rightarrow Waldenström's disease Iliac horns 476 Immune defense mechanisms 606 deficiency, cell-mediated 349 electron microscopy 158 - response 160, 161, 606 Immunization 350, 368 Immunoblast 139, 408, 424, 564, 569, 575, 599, 607, 608, 614 Immunoblastoma 614 Immunocomplexes 149, 155, 184, 185, 215, 249, 295, 326, 536 -, classes 184, 230, 277 -, degraded 90 - immunofluorescence 219 Immunodeposits → Deposits Immunofluorescence → Deposits; individual diseases, text -, artifacts 17 -, diagnostic significance of 155 -. FITC 16 -, linear depositions 157 -, nuclear 327 -, pathology 155 -, peroxidase 18, 28, 134, 185 -, photography 17 -, pseudolinear 186, 235, 267

-, quantification 156 -, smooth linear 331 , specificity 16 -, technique 6, 15 -, ultralinear 331 -, undesired 17 Immunoglobulin deposits \rightarrow deposits, 142 Immunoglobulins 69, 98, \rightarrow Ig -, cell-bound, interstitial 430 --, light chains 387, 405 -, significance 160 Immunohistology → immunofluorescence Immunology, cross-match 565 -, cross-reaction 18, 186, 342 -, cross-specificity 157 -, mixed lymphocyte culture 564 Immunosuppression 157, 447, 575, 587, 591, 605, 608, 613, Incidence of renal lesions \rightarrow individual disease, text Inclusion bodies, nuclear 129, 447, 487 -, crystalloid 41 Inclusions, osmiophilic lamellated 453 -, protein 172 -, vesicular 131 India ink 185, 495, 520 Indications → biopsy Infantile nephrotic syndrome \rightarrow nephrotic syndrome, congenital Infarct 44, 48, 56, 139, 164, 506, 613 -, incomplete \rightarrow subinfarct -, nephrosclerosis, malignant 103 -, scar 48, 508 Infection → bacteria -, transplant 613 -, urinary tract 436 Inflammation, dormant 142 -, granulomatous 139 -, immunologic 142 Influenza, 186, 216, 342 Inheritance → familial disease Inhibitors 533 Insect bites 326 Insudation 71, 73, 107, 149, 164, 168, 169, 307, 312, 334, 404, 406, 476, 502, 520, 533, 586, 607, 608 -, arterioles 514, 526

Insulin, AB 398 -, deficiency 398 -, therapy 392 Interdigitation 139 Interposition, mesangial 62, 64, 67, 100, 232, 237, 245, 253, 281, 289, 292, 404, 500 Interstitial infiltration -> nephritis, interstitial Interstitium, edema 607 -, fibrin 346, 605 -, fibrosis 139, 174, 299, 544 -, immunoglobulins 166, 169, 331, 605 -, lymph vessels, normal 44 -, sclerosis, 139, 275, 415, 450, 604, 607 Intimal fibrosis, adaptive 467, 510, 521, 589, 605 Intoxication, alcohol 54, 408, 418 -, benzol trichlor ethylene 277 -, bismuth 129, 487 -, calciumgluconate 486 -, carbondisulfide 380, 382 -, carbontetrachloride 408, 487 -, chloroform 125 -, diethylenglycol 125 -, ethylene glycol 462, 488 -, formic acid 408 -, heavy metals 120, 478 , lead 129, 487 -, mercury 277, 358, 380, 487 -, mushroom 488 -, organic solvents 342, 487, 488 -, phosphorus 487 Intussusception → interposition Iron storage 554 Irradiation 56, 129, 310, 452, 526, **543**, 555 Ischemia 113, 120, 131, 132, 312, 401, 419, 452, 493 Isograft 564 Isoniacid 337 Isotransplants 608 JGA → Juxtaglomerular apparatus Junction, corticomedullary 50,→juxtamedullary zone Juxtaglomerular apparatus 28, 30, 44, 117, 400, 403, 510, 530, 541, 544 -, cell tumor 553

- -, enlargement 605 — —, histopathology 116 — —, hypertrophy 437, 542 — —, macula densa 30, 37 Juxtamedullary zone 28, 264, 282, 299, 307, 308, 367, 372 Kahler's disease \rightarrow Plasmocytoma Kala-azar 170 Kapillarhöcker 27 Kaposi's sarcoma 614 Karyolysis 132 Karyomegaly 129 Karyorrhexis 132 Kidney, contracted 53, 54, 235, 310 -, -, arteriolosclerotic 514 -, -, central arterial 107, 139, 508, 541 -, -, glomerulonephritic 107, 113, 311, 315 -, -, glomerulonephritic, early infantile 356 -, -, hydronephrotic 541 -, -, pyelonephritic 107, 424, 436, 541 , pyelonephritic, early childhood 424, 437, 478 -, -, spontaneous 490, 605 -, -, unilateral 424, 437, 541 -, -, venothrombotic 503 -, contralateral 541, 544, 547 - cyst \rightarrow cyst; cystic kidney -, cystic, medullary \rightarrow cystic kidnev elements → elements (e.g. glomerulus, endothelium etc) -, end stage \rightarrow kidney, contracted -, endocrine 120 - rupture 506, 610 -, silent 510 -, weight 311 Kimmelstiel-Wison → diabetes, glomerulosclerosis Klebsiella 437 Kveim test 444 Laboratory values 19 Labyrinth, basal 33 Lamellation \rightarrow basement membrane Lamina densa, dense deposits 253

-, erosion of 75

-, fragmentation 64

philic material 250 - -, lamellation 64, 173 \rightarrow basement membrane - -, new formation 64, 73, 109, 113, 117, 267, 269, 369, 523, 595, 596 — —, normal 21 - -, splitting 64, 374, 400 - -, thickening 62 - -, thinning 385 - -, translucent areas 71, 75, 269 elastica 581, 599 - rara externa, normal 21 — — —, thickening 64 – , interna, new formation of densa lamella \rightarrow lamina densa, new formation — — —, normal 21 - - -, thickening of 64, 209, 303, 364, 374, 489, 502, 589, 595, 596 - - - , - \rightarrow space, subendothelial Large cell pyelonephritis 430 Laxative addiction 425 LE-cells 192, 326 Lead 129, 487 citrate 13 Lecithinemia 455 Leiomyoangiolipoma 554 Leiomyomatosis 549 Leiomyosarcoma 554 Lenticonus, anterior $467 \rightarrow eye symptoms$ Leptospira pomona 420, 424 Leptospirosis Ictero-Hemorrhagica 64, 418, 420 Lesch-Nyhan syndrome 464, 466 Leukemia 60, 216, 464, 466, 496 -, lymphatic 96, 216, 563 -, myeloid 209, 216, 563 Leukoclasia 320 Leukocytes 237 -, cystine in 455 - eosinophilic 151, 343, 407, 408, 443, 536 -, polymorphonuclear 60, 139, 184, 201, 233, 241, 262, 283, 430, 536 Leukocytic casts 134, 192, 326, 442 Leukocytosis, definition 48 -, generalized 60, 209 Leukocyturia 191 Leukodystrophy, metachromatic 454 Leukopenia 326

- -, lacunae with osmio-

Light chains, immunoglobulins 387, 405 Light microscopy, embedding 8, 9 - -, tissue processing \rightarrow tissue processing -, polarized 383 Lightwood-Albright syndrome 478 Lignac-de Toni-Fanconi-Debré syndrome 455 Linear deposits \rightarrow deposits, linear Lipid droplets $90 \rightarrow droplets$, lipid; heterolysosomes vacuoles 113 -, vasodepressive 44 Lipoblasts 554 Lipodystrophy, partial 260 Lipofuscin 33, 41, 127, 132, 415, 544 Lipoid bodies, spherical 334 nephrosis 54, 125, 264, 367, 368, 393, 503, 514 -, genuine \rightarrow glomerular minimal change Lipoprotein 41, 69, 169 Liposarcoma 554 Lithiasis 436, 452, 460, 552 Liver biopsy 420 - cirrhosis 117, 129, 250, 400 disease 425 - dystrophy 487, 488, 496 - fibrosis 478 - transplant 217, 250 – tumors 100 Loci in HLA \rightarrow gene loci; HLA Löhlein's nephritis 283 Loop → capillary loop, glomerular Lowe syndrome 478 Lues \rightarrow syphilis Lung cavitation 287 -, destructive tuberculoid granuloma 342 - hemorrhage 318, 337, 339, 342 Lupus discoides 326 - ervthematosus \rightarrow SLE Luxol-fast-blue 453 Lyll's disease 250 Lymph flow, retrograde 138 - follicles 142, 426 - vessels, casts 134, 493, 587 Lymphangioma 553 Lymphatic spaces, periglomerular 433

Leukotaxine 60

Lymphnodes, regional 606 Lymphocytes 44, 139, 378, 564, 569, 599, 604, 606 -, activated 408, 415, 424, 573 — in urine 569 -, killer 606 -, small 139, 411, 415 -, transformation 349 Lymphocytoma 614 Lymphogranuloma venerum 170 Lymphokines 378 Lymphoma, malignant 169, 186, 216, 278, 378, 466, 554, 563, 614 -, -, histiocytic 554, 614 -, -, Hodgkin 216, 378, 391, 496 -, -, non-Hodgkin 216 Lymphotoxin 606 Lymphvessels 44 Lysosomes 33, 41, 125, 132, 406, 484, 486, 566 Macroglobulinemia → Waldenström's disease Macrohematuria → individual disease, text Macrothrombocytopathia, hereditary 476 Macula densa, normal 30, 37 Madribon 538 Magnesium deficiency 484, 486 Malakoplakia 430 Malaria 155, 186, 217, 250, 277, 296, 307, 378 Malformations, acquired 439 -, cardiovascular 54 -, renal 356, 357, 547 Malignancy, Glomerulonephritis \rightarrow Glomerulonephritis, tumor, malignant -, questionable 553, 556 Marchiafava-Micheli disease 418 Masson → stain Mast cells 162, 554 Masugi nephritis → glomerulonephritis, anti-BM type Measles 155, 378 Medial necrosis 151, 538, 573 Mediterranean fever 383, 387, 391 Mediators, chemical 418 Medulla 44, 466, 486 \rightarrow cysts; sponge kidney Medullin 44

Megakaryocytes 62, 407 Melena 499 Membranous change \rightarrow basement membrane Mercury 277, 358, 380, 487 Mesangiolysis 96, 343 Mesangium, cell activation 27 -, - hypertrophy 98, 203 -, - increase 174, 400 -, - number 28 -, - proliferation 96 -, changes of 96 -, enlargement \rightarrow glomerulonephrosis; glomerulosclerosis; glomerulonephritis -, -, -, degree of 96, 180 -, foam cells 405 -, function 28, 310 -, matrix 21, 98, 196, 207 -, -, finely fibrillar 543 -, -, loosening 98-, -, normal 21-, -, PASM-positive 364 -, -, PASM-positive, increase of 360 – normal **25** nodular 405 sclerosis 96 -, -, infantile diffuse 358 -, -, -, recurrence in transplant 366 -, -, progressive 357 ---, thickening 372, 589 – transport 295 Metabolic disease, recurrence in transplant 610 diseases $453 \rightarrow individual$ disease, text Metachromasy 383 Metanephros 547, 563 Metaplasia, papillary 100 Metastasis, bacterial 282 -, glomerular 563 -, mycotic 282 -, tumor 563 Methicillin 418, 446 Methoxy-fluran 418, 462, 487 Methylmetacrylate 8, 9, 12 Michaelis-Guttmann bodies 430 Microangiopathy, thrombotic 151, 209, 226, 287, 499, 587 Microcystic dysplasia 356 Microdissection 37, 120, 125, 356, 358, 478, 480 Microfibrils, endothelial 41 Microfilaments 27, 41 Microform, periarteritis no-

 $dosa \rightarrow angitis$, hypersensitivity Microhematuria → individual disease, text Microradiography 273 Microthrombi 349, 495 Microtubuli, cytoplasmic- \rightarrow tubular structures Microvilli 37, 77, 203, 237 Milk-alkali syndrome 487 Minimal change, glomerular-→ glomerular minimal change Mitochondria 132, 277 -, calcium deposition 486 -, cristae 33, 556 -, giant 132, 554 -, injured 484 -, swelling 45, 487, 566 Mitosis 92, 120, 203, 224, 559, 569, 604 Mixed lymphocytic culture 564 Monocytes 60, 90, 98, 100, 180, 196, 203, 224, 241, 573, 604 Mononeuritis multiplex 535 Mononucleosis 170, 186, 379, 418 Montaldo's pyelonephritis 103, 440 Morphometry 19, 28, 30, 261, 264, 372, 380, 400, 419 Morula cells 554 Moschkowitz's syndrome- \rightarrow hemolytic uremic syndrome Mucoid change 152, 500, 521, 528 , urinary 120, 426 Mucolipidosis 455 Mucopolysaccharides 398, 455, 528 Mucopolysaccharidosis 454 Mucoproteins 134, 486 Mucosulfatidosis 455 Multiple sclerosis 565 Mumps 92 Muscle fibers, fetal 563 - pain 420 Mushroom 487 Myalgia 499, 535 Mycoplasms 437 Myelin figures 71, 90, 488, 544 Myelocytes 407 Myeloid cells, vasa rectae 490 Myeloma → plasmocytoma Myocardial infarction 506

Myocarditis 536 Myocyte, regeneration 149 Myocytes 30, 517, 526, 540, 533, 601 -, moth-hole 517 -, necrosis 514, 521 -, normal 41 -, periadventitial 533 -, transformation 149 Myofibrils 23, 28, 41, 149 Myofibroblasts 573, 599 Myolysis 411, 418, 517, 521, 601 Myxovirus 92, 96 Nail-Patella syndrome 129, **476**, 478 — — recurrence in transplant 610 Necrobiosis 90, 118, 566 Necrosis, arteriole 151 -, capillary loop →capillary loop, necrosis -, cortical 493, 499, 500, 566 -, fibrinoid 151, 152, 170, 520, 536, 540 -, glomerular loop→capillary loop, necrosis -, hemorrhagic 503 —, tubular → tubules, necrosis Neoplasm, congenital 563 Nephrectomy, bilateral 227, 339, 346, 526 -, unilateral 310 Nephritic factor, C3 163, 250, 253, 296 Nephritis, embolic → glomerulitis, embolic, purulent; pyelonephritis, acute -, focal, embolic \rightarrow glomerulitis, embolic, purulent; pyelonephritis, acute -, interstitial 50, 312, 407, 493 -, -, accompanying 142, 174, 219, 232, 331, 407, 418 -, -, acute 138, 158, 407, 490, 569 -, -, chronic 139, 169, **411**, 483, 552, 605 -, -, -, -, endemic 419 -, -, -, familial 419 -, -, definition 407 -, -, destructive \rightarrow pyelonephritis -, -, eosinophilic 408 - nephrotoxic serum \rightarrow glomerulonephritis, anti-BM type

Nephroblastoma 563 Nephrocalcinosis 406, 444, 478, 483, 613 Nephrohydrosis 131, 134, 448, 466, 484 Nephrolithiasis 406, 440, 444, 464 Nephroma, benign, cystic 549 Nephron, fetal 547 -, hypogenetic 547 -, juxtamedullary 33 Nephronophthisis 50, 449, 478, 483, 549 -, recurrence in transplant 483, 610 Nephronucleomegalia 129 Nephrosclerosis, benign →arteriolosclerosis -, malignant 56, 113, 142, 152, 168, 320, 520, 528, 573, 575, 599, 605 $-, - \rightarrow$ arteriolonecrosis Nephrosis → glomerulonephrosis -, osmotic 125, 487, 490 Nephrotic syndrome \rightarrow individual diseases, text -, congenital 356 - -, congenital, Finnish type 358 — —, familial 367 - -, infantile 356 - -, remission 378 Nerves, renal 30, 44 Neurofibromatosis 533 Newborn 27, 358, 447 Newformation → elements Niemann-Pick's disease 454 Normocalcemia, nephrocalcinosis 487 Novalgin 408 Obsolescence \rightarrow glomerulus, obsolescence Obstruction, tubular 125, 134, 406, 419 ureteral 54, 138, 587, 608 Ochronosis 454 Oliga-anuria →individual disease, text Oligomeganephronia 54, 125, 356, 357 Oligonephronia 125, 356, 357 Oliguria \rightarrow individual disease, text Oncocytes 554, 559 Onion bulb-like arteries \rightarrow artery, interlobular, onion bulb like

Organelles, cystoid transformation 495, 544 Organic solvents 342, 487. 488 Ormond's retroperitoneal fibrosis 138 Osmium 13 Osmoreceptors 27 Osmotic nephrosis 125, 487, 490 Ossification, disturbance 358 Osteo-chondro-dystrophy 476 Osteoid 559 Osteomyelitis 391 Otitis media 215, 230, 342 Overload glomerulitis → glomerulitis, overload Ovulation inhibitors 520, 526, 533 Oxalate 125, 134, 411, 415, 418, 460, 462, 487 Oxalosis 460, 486 -, recurrence in transplant 464, 610 , secondary in uremia 462 Ozena 342 Paget's disease of bone 487 Panarteritis nodosa → periarteritis nodosa Panmesangial 180 Plasmocytoma 98, 129, 169, 380, 382, 387, 398, 404, 478, 554 Papilla, necrosis 398, 411, 418, 425, 441, 605 Para-aminophenol 442 Paramyloidosis 382 → amyloidosis Paramyxovirus 96 Paraplast 9, 28 Paraproteinemia 405 Parathormone, poisoning 486 Parathyroid glands, hyperplasia 613 Particles, virus-like → viruslike particles $PAS \rightarrow stain$ PASM → stain Pathogenesis, renal lesions \rightarrow individual disease, text Pathway, complement activation \rightarrow Complement, pathway $PCP \rightarrow polyarthritis, rhema$ toid Penicillamine 186, 262, 277, 503 Penicillin 364, 418

Perchlorate therapy 380 Periarteritis nodosa 151, 169, 533, 605 -, glomerulonephritis 535 -, macroform 533 -, microform \rightarrow angitis, hypersensitivity 536 Pericarditis 536 Pericytes \rightarrow podocytes Periglomerulitis 115, 343 Periodicity 96, 385, 495 Peritonitis, pneumococcal 378 Peroxidase 18, 28, 185 test (benzidine reaction) 134 Phagocytes \rightarrow macrophages; histiocytes Phagocytosis 41, 185, 295 Phagolysosomes 33, 90, 98, 125, 224, 328, 433→Heterolysosomes calcified, giant 430 Phagosomes 33, 90, 98, 125, 224, 328, 433 → Autolysosomes Phanerosis, lipid 132 Phenacetin addiction 127, 132, 411, 418, 424, 436, 440, 563 Phenetidin 442 Phenindion 418 Phlebectasis 453 Phosphate diabetes 478 Phosphaturia 457 Phosphorus 125, 488 –, poisoning 487 Photophobia 457 Photosensibility 326 Phytanic acid 455 Pigmentation, skin 533 Pigments 125 Pinocytosis 41 Plasma cells 139, 169, 346, 411, 424, 599, 605, 607 -, cholesterol deficiency 455 -- expanders 28, 487, 490 flow, decreased 117, 151, 401, 419, 513, 530 Plasmoblasts 569 Plasmocytoma, renal vein thrombosis 503 Platelet → thrombocytes Pleurisy 326, 535, 536 Pneumococci 161, 287, 378 Pneumocystis carinii 613 Podocytes 21, 77, 224, 259 -, cubic 113 -, enzyme deficiency 475 -, fibrils 23, 78

-, foot process, fusion 22, 71, 77, 237, 374 -, -, -, destruction of 400 -, immunofluorescence 164 -, normal 22 -, slit pores 22, 23, 71, 77 -, textile-like structures 96 Poisoning \rightarrow intoxication Polyarteritis nodosa → periarteritis nodosa -, rheumatoid 169, 250, 262, 269, 277, 391, 441, 528 Polycystic kidney 547 Polycythemia vera 51, 466, 556 Polymorphism, nuclear 544, 556 Polymyositis 411, 418 Polyneuritis 535 Polyribosomes 132 Polytrauma 418 Polyuria → individual disease, text Polyvinyl pyrrolidon 132, 380 Postpartum renal failure, idiopathic 499 Potassium → individual diseases, text Potocytosis 45 Pre-eclampsia → eclampsia Pregnancy 56, 277, 401, 467, 503, 533, 565 → postpartum; eclampsia Pressor amines 404 Pressure, glomerular, hydrostatic 185 -, intratubular 125, 419 Procainamide 337 Prognosis of renal lesions → individual disease, text Proliferation → Glomerulonephritis, stages -, definition 48 Proline 475 Properdin 162, 237, 250, 253, 320, 351, 418 Prostaglandin 44, 553 Prostate gland, cancer 424 -, hyperplasia 452 Protein droplets \rightarrow droplets, hyaline -, feeding 310 -, storage 125 Proteinuria → individual disease, text -, immunofluorescence 166 -, selective 368 Proteoglycane 41 Proteus mirabilis 287, 437 Protozoa, malaria 155, 186,

217, 250, 277, 296, 307, 378 -, pneumocystis carinii 613 -, toxoplasmosis 217, 366, 446 Psammoma body 556 Pseudoaneurysm 56, 589, 595 Pseudoglomerulitis 575, 581, 608 Pseudolinear \rightarrow deposits Pseudomonas aeruginosa 287, 437 Pseudostruma → thyroid-like Pseudotubuli 107 Pseudovilli 77 Psychosis 326 Pulmonary hemorrhage 227, 318, 322, 538 hemosiderosis 322 - infiltrate, eosinophilic 538 - tuberculosis 408 — vein 287 Purpura 287, 317, 342, 495, 499, 536 → Schönlein-Henoch's purpura Putty kidney 443, 541 Pyelography, intravenous 406, 542 Pyelonephritis 50, 56, 113, 310, 398, 406, 424, 533 -, acute 50, 60, 283, 424, 605 -, chronic 50, 404, 424, 466 -, -, active 430 -, contracted, unilateral 436 -, early childhood 115, 541, 547 eclampsia 404 -, emphysematous 430 -, glomerulonephritis 442 -, infantile 113 -, Montaldo's 103, 440 -, relapse 430, 436, 437 -, tuberculoid 430 -, xanthomatous 142, 430 Pyemia 282, 283, 418 Pyrazolone 496 Pyridoxin deficiency 462 Q-fever 408

Radiation \rightarrow irradiation Ragweed sensitivity 565 Rank classification 565 Raynaud's syndrome 326, 528 Rays, medullary 33 Reaction, allergic 326, 442 \rightarrow allergy Recklinghausen's disease 533 Rectal mucosa, biopsy 383 Red lake indian reservation epidemic 188, 194, 215 Reflux 424, 436, 440 Refsum's disease 455 Regeneration → myocytes; tubules etc. Region, juxtamedullary 282, 308, 367, 372 subcapsular 308 Rejection \rightarrow transplant Relapse \rightarrow individual disease; transplant, recurrence Remission \rightarrow individual disease Renal \rightarrow elements - artery \rightarrow artery, renal - blood flow \rightarrow blood flow - capsular veins 506 – capsule, sarcoma 554 - cell carcinoma 391, 505, 556, 559 - colic 411 - cortical necrosis 493, 499, 500, 566 - infarct \rightarrow infarct -, incomplete \rightarrow subinfarkt $cyst \rightarrow cysts$; cystic disease disease, enzymopathic 453 -, familial → familial disease -, metabolic 453 failure, acute 120, 125, 169, $407 \rightarrow$ individual diseases, text -, -, reversible 312, 419 , nonoliguric 407 pelvic carcinoma 441, 563 Renin 30, 117, 401, 419, 493, 510, 513, 521, 542, 553 Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system 117, 419 Reovirus 217 Residual bodies 33, 41, 132, 544 Respiratory tract infection 189, 215, 218, 317, 326, 350, 368, 499 Reticulation \rightarrow basement membrane, glomerular Reticulin 152 Reticulo-histiocytic system 163, 184, 185, 277 - -, impairment 496 Reticulum cell sarcoma 554, 614 -, endoplasmatic 21, 23, 33,

77, 96, 100, 131, 132, 488, 556 Retina, aneurysm 393 -, dystrophy 478 Retroperitoneal fibrosis 138 Rhabdomyosarcoma 554 Rheumatic factor 169, 172, 192, 528, 540 - fever 250, 307 Rhinitis 342 $RHS \rightarrow reticulo-histiocytic sy$ stem Ribosomes 569 Rickets 457, 478 Rickettsia 503 Rifampicin 418 Rubella 155, 408 Rupture, kidney \rightarrow kidney rupture Sac kidney 448 Salmonella typhi 503 Sanarelli-Shwartzman phenomenon 493 Sarcoidosis 170, 217, 277, 444, 487 Sarcoma 554 Scar, arteriosclerotic 50, 508 -, infarct 48, 508 - tissue 307, 426 -, vascular \rightarrow subinfarct Scarlet fever 215, 379 Schaumann bodies 444 Schizocytes 500 Schönlein-Henoch's purpura 67, 152, 162, 167, 189, 190, 217, 230, 231, 296, 307, 317, 342, 367, 378, 379 - -, glomerulonephritis, relapse 318 — — lung hemorrhage 342 Scleroderma 64, 113, 152, 502, 528, 605 -, transplantation in, 530 Scleroproteins 398 Sclerosis 139, 181 → mesangium -, focal-global \rightarrow glomerulonephritis, focal-global -, glomerular, definition 48 -, infantile mesangial 98, 356 -, interstitial 39, 275, 415, 450, 604, 607 -, segmental focal \rightarrow glomerulonephritis, segmental focal Secretion granules 30 Sections, semi-thin 13, 33, 71, 232

-, ultra-thin 13 Segmental, definition 48, 155 Self-mutilation 464 Senior-Loken syndrome 478 Septicemia 282, 283, 490, 496, 613 -, gram-negative 151, 493 -, thrombus 287 Serum, alpha fetoproteins 358 - complement \rightarrow complement fibrinogen → fibrin -, findings \rightarrow special diseases, text -, immunoglobulins \rightarrow IgA etc. nephritis 71, 183, 185, 538 potassium → individual disease, text sickness 71, 183, 185, 538 Sex ratio, renal lesions → individual disease, text Shock 62, 117, 118, 132, 134, 139, 151, 418, 488, 493, 495, 526, 605, 608 -- kidney 158, 418, 490, 587,608 Shunt, tubulo-lymphatic 407 -, tubulo-vascular 407 -, ventriculo-atrial 216, 235, 250 vessels 107, 113 Sickle cell anemia 217, 250, 496 Silicon-nephropathy 245 Sinusitis 342 Silver-stain → stain Sjögren's syndrome 169 Skeletal hyperplasia 478 Skin bleaching 277 - infections 215 - rash 407, 535 - vessels, IgA deposits 351 SLE 16, 56, 62, 73, 96, 152, 157, 158, 162, 167, 168, 169, 186, 189, 217, 218, 245, 250, 273, 277, 281, 282, 296, 307, 326, 536 -, cryoglobulin 172 -, drug-induced 337 -, glomerulonephritis diffuse to focal 337 slit pores 22, 23, 71, 77 Small intestine, resection, oxalosis 462 Smooth muscle cell \rightarrow myocyte — —, AB against 186, 349

Sodium excretion, increased 553 - urate 466 Solvent poisoning 342, 487, 488 Space, subendothelial 28, 41, 147, 185 Spasm 526 Spicules \rightarrow spikes Spiders scars, glomerular 113, 356, 426, 437 Spikes 67, 71, 262, 267, 334 Sphingomyelinase deficiency 454 Sponge kidney, papillary 483, 549 Squeezing 45 Stain, AFOG 1, 10, 69, 233, 245, 259, 262, 264, 292, 514 , alcian-blue 152, 528, 530 -, azure methlene blue 13 -, Best's carmine 544 -, Bowie's 8, 11 -, colloidal iron 90 -, cresyl violet 11 -, van Gieson 256, 273, 393 -, van Gieson-elastin 147 , hemalaun-eosin 3, 12, 462, 484 -, Lepehne's 11 -, luxol-fast-blue 453 -, Masson's trichrome 4, 8, 10, 259, 262, 514 -, methyl violet 383 -, PAS 5, 8, 12, 56, 96, 350, 514 -, PASM 6, 7, 10, 12, 96, 100, 232, 259, 262, 264, 350, 393 -, phlorwhite 11 -, Schultz 466 -, silver methenamine-→ Stain, PASM -, thioflavin T 11, 383 Staining, electron microscopy 13 Stalk, glomerular → mesangium Staphylococcus albus 230 - aureus 155, 164, 216, 283, 287, 307, 430, 437 Staphylotoxin 201 Stellate cell 533 Stereocilia 62, 90 Stereology \rightarrow morphometry Steroids 151, 444 Stone, oxalic acid 462 Storage diseases 90, 98, 125, $132 \rightarrow$ diseases individual Streptococcus 155, 187, 189,

-, atrophic 50

190, 215, 219, 227, 231, 250, 283, 285, 287, 317, 326, 342, 379, 408 -, antigen 186, 418 - viridans 285, 287 Streptokinase 215 Streptolysin 215 Striae → spikes Striated membranes → structures, threadlike Structures, adenomatoid 103, 219, 224 -, crystalloid \rightarrow deposit, cystalloid -, endothelial tubular 322, 334, 337, 596 -, glomeruloid 152 -, thread-like 71, 96, 241, 269, 334 , virus-like → virus-like particles Subinfarct 50, 139, 152, 312, 508, 514, 521, 528 Sublimate → mercury Substance, osmiophilic 23, 77, 203, 269 Sugar storage 125, 487, 490 Sulfonamides 134, 487, 538 Survival rate \rightarrow individual diseases, text Swan neck changes 120, 457 Syndrome, nephrotic → individual disease text -, -, congenital 54, 357 Synechia 100, 107, 174, 201, 235, 241, 285, 299, 312, 358, 377, 393, 453, 515 Syphilis 169, 277, 358, 391 -, congenital 217, 277, 364 Systemic diseases 186, 224, 289, 292, 296 \rightarrow specific diseases lupus erythematodes →SLE sclerosis → scleroderma T-helper cells 606 T-lymphocytes, disturbance $378 \rightarrow$ lymphocytes Takayashu's disease 151 Tapetoretinal degneration 478 Teleangiectasis 544 Telolysosomes 33, 41, 132, 544 Tetracyline 407, 478 Thiazole 430 Thorotrast 28, 543, 544 Thread-like-structures 71,

96, 241, 269, 334 Thrombangitis 151, 540 Thrombocapillaritis 56, 60, 283, 285 Thrombocytes 60, 90, 495, 607 -, agglutination 566 -, degranulation 607 -, foam cells 502, 573 , glomerulus 56, 573 -, lipids 502 -. thrombi 495 Thrombocytopathia → Macrothrombocytopathia Thrombocytopenia 326, 355, 420, 499 -, familial 355 Thrombophlebitis 505 Thromboplastin 163, 404 Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura 499 Thrombosis, capillary loop- \rightarrow capillary loop, thrombosis Thrombus 25, $60 \rightarrow coagula$ tion, intraversal , endocardial 506 -, fibrinoid 151, 328 -, hyaline 56, 73, 166, 169 -, subacute 500 Thyroid-like tubules 50, 120, 134, 315, 426, 437, 443, 480 de Toni-Fanconi-Debré syndrome 455 Tonofibrils 224 Tophi, gout 464 Toxemia of pregnancy \rightarrow eclampsia Toxoplasmosis 217, 366, 446 Tram-track basement membrane 69, 100, 232, 237, 249 Transfusion reactions 418, 496, 565 Transmembranous → glomerulonephritis, endotheliomesangial and epimembranous Transplantation 22, 41, 53, 90, 138, 139, 155, 164, 174, 186, 455, 478, 564 -, artery, anastomosis 599, 610 -, -, stenosis, donor 613 -, -, thrombosis 566, 587, 599, 613 -. complications 608 -, conservation injury 565 -, cytomegalovirus infection 447 -, glomerulopathy 56, 64,

98, 161, 273, 589

-, homologous 564 -, heterologous 564 -, hypercalcemia 613 -, immunofluorescence 169 -, immunogenetics 564 -, isologous 564 -, isogeneic 564 -, kidney failure 596, 605 -, kidney infarct 613 -, malignant tumors 613 -, mixed lymphocytic culture 564 -, pyelonephritis 613 -, rank classification 565 , recurrence of basic disease 315, 608 \rightarrow individual diseases text -, rejection 130, 134, 139, 152 -, -, camouflaged 587, 608 —, —, chronic **587** -, -, differential diagnosis 586 -, -, hyperacute 565, **566**, 606 -, -, interstitial, acute 158, 566, 569 , interstitial, acute, hy--, pertension 569 -, -, pathogenesis 606 -, -, peracute \rightarrow hyperacute , -, vascular, acute 168, 573 -, -, vascular, thrombopenia 569 -, rupture, spontaneous 610 -, second 565 -, second-set rejection 566 -, skin 364 -, syngeneic 564 -, tubular necrosis 566, 569, 610 -, vasculopathy 151, 169, 587, **596** -, vein, thrombosis 599. 605 Trihexoside ceramide 455 Trimethadion 337 Tropical glomerulonephritis 277 Tubercles, lymphogenous spread 443 Tuberculosis, miliary 443, 613 , renal 50, 442, 443, 541 Tuberculin 444 Tubular structures, virus-induced → virus-induced tubular structure Tubules \rightarrow droplets hyaline, li-

pid

, basement membrane \rightarrow basement membrane -, brush-border 33, 120, 131, 450, 488, 490, 493, 495 -, calcium reabsorption 486 -, cell giants 129, 447 -, collapse 45, 118 , content, viscosity 419 -, dark cells 37, 100 -, dedifferentiation 120, 131, 415, 450, 490, 510 -, degeneration, fatty 125, 554 -, -, vacuolar 45, 118, 120, 125, 454, 462, 487, 490 -, destruction 139, 483 -. dilatation 120, 448, 490 -, distal, normal 37 -, diverticulae 37, 125, 480 -, ducts, collecting 37 ..., edema, apical 495 -, epithelium, crystals 462 -, -, clear 510 -, -, flattening 407, 450, 490 -, -, regeneration 48, 118, 120, 129, 131, 450, 569 -, fetal 563 -, giant cells $457 \rightarrow$ giant cells -, Henle's loop 37 -, histopathology 118 ---, hypertrophy 312, 480 -, immunofluorescence 166 -, injury, toxic 118 -, lipid deposition 487 -, necrosis 118, 120, 131, 134, 424, 487, 490, 495, 506, 508, 569, 575, 610 -, -, transplant rejection 566, 569, 610 -, nuclei, changes 129, 132 -, -, polymorphy 543 -, obstruction 125, 134, 406, 419 -, permeability 419 --, pigment 125, 454 -, proximal, fibrillar bundles 450 -, -, microcystic transformation 358 -, -, normal 33 , regeneration 48, 118, 120, 129, 131, 450, 569 -, swan-neck changes 120, 457 thyroid-like, changes 50, 120, 134, 315, 426, 437, 443, 480

Tubules, transformation, cystoid 312, 547 -, transport insufficiency 490 -, ultrastructural changes 131 -, vacuoles 45, 118, 120, 125, 454, 462, 487, 490 -, widened 312, 356, 490, 547 Tubulonecrosis \rightarrow tubules, necrosis Tubulonephrosis 487 Tubulopathy, primary 478 Tubulotoxicity 488 Tumor, malignant 186, 250, 277, 391 -, -, glomerulonephritis → glomerulonephritis, malignant tumor -, -, transplant 613 -, renal 553 \rightarrow adenoma, carcinoma -, -, blood pressure 553 -, -, interstitial cell 553 -, -, mixed 563 —, —, paraarterial 554 -, - pelvis 476 -, -, urothelial 440, 563 -, renin-secreting 553 Tyrosinosis 478 Ulcer, gastroduodenal 613 Ultralinear immunoglobulin pattern 322, 369, 586 Uranyl acetate 13 Urate 466 Urea, blood \rightarrow individual disease, text Uremia \rightarrow individual disease text -, calcium oxalate crystals 462 Ureter, buds 547 -, carcinoma 411, 424, 441, 452 - duplex 440 — fissus 440 -, heterotopic 440

-, insufficiency 610

-, ligation 44, 452 -, necrosis 138 -, obstruction 54, 438, 587, 608 -, stenosis, valve 452 -, vasculopathy 599 Ureteritis, cystic 452 Urethra 436 Uric acid 134, 466 Urinary bladder, carcinoma 336, 411, 424, 441, 452 - edema 139, 448 — findings → individual disease, text - stasis 139, 436 - tract, infection 436 - -, malformations 452, 547 -, tumors 336, 411, 424, 440, 441, 452, 563 Urine, basement membrane fragments in 366 -, cytology 441 -, cytomegalovirus infection 613 -, dark 454 -, fibrin-split products 581 -, foam cells 453 -, lymphocytes 569 Urothelial tumors \rightarrow Urinary tract. tumors Uterus, cancer 424 -, fibroleiomyoma 452 Urticaria 535 Vaccination, smallpox 418, 500 Vacuoles, endoplasmatic reticulum 132 -, fat 299, 303 \rightarrow lipid; tubules, degeneration, vacuolar Varicella 216 Vas efferens 30, 39, 158, 393, 419, 514 \rightarrow arteriole Vasa rectae 283, 391, 418,

442

-, myeloid cells 490

-, kinking of 452

Vascular diseases 149, 514, $533 \rightarrow$ individual diseases necrosis, fibrinoid → arteriolonecrosis Vasculitis 235, 320, 331, 533 -, cutaneous 170 Vasculopathy, hypertensive 152, 273, 430, 436, $538 \rightarrow arteriolonecrosis;$ arteriolosclerosis Vasculitis, necrotizing 342 Vasculopathy, hypertensive, children 538 Vasospasm 404, 496, 608 Vein, renal, granuloma 540 -, -, involvement 535 -, -, normal 39 -, -, -, thrombosis 58, 130, 139, 273, 358, 364, 387, 503, 505, 610 -, -, -, chronic unilateral 503 -, -, -, epimembranous glomerulonephritis 505 -, -, -, transplant 599, 605 Ventriculo-atrial shunt 216, 235, 250 Vesicles, pinocytotic 41, 90 Vessel \rightarrow blood vessel; artery etc. Vincristine 544 Viomvcin 487 Viral hepatitis 216, 307, $613 \rightarrow$ Hepatitis Virulence, bacterial 282 Virus 185, 186, 190, 216, 250, 278, 296, 334, 342, 358, 366, 378, 502, 503, 536, 596, 613 -, Barr-Epstein 92, 216, 250, 596 -, choriomeningitis 216 -, corona 440 -, coxsackie 215 -, cytomegalovirus 129, 167, 170, 216, 358, 364, 447, 613 -, encephalomyocarditis 217

-, hepatitis B 92, 155, 216, 278 -, herpes 167, 307, 613 – -induced tubular structures 96, 322, 334, 337, 364, 596 -, infection, latent 447 -, influence A 186, 342 - like particles 67, 90, 151, 250, 269, 278, 322, 364, 440, 502, 596, 613 -, measles 155, 378 -, mumps 92 -, myxovirus 92, 96 -, paramyxovirus 96 -, Reo 217 -, RNA-C type 337 -, varicella 216 Vitamin D 484, 487 Vitamin D-resistant rickets 478 Waldenström's disease 62, 166, 169, 250, 382, 391, 406 -, bone destruction 406 Wegener's syndrome 56, 103, 115, 142, 151, 152, 218, 342 -, glomerulonephritis, relapse 343 -, transplantation 346 Weil's disease 64, 418, 420 Whewellite 464 Wilms-tumor 563 Wilson's disease 478 Winiwater-Buerger thrombangitis 151, 540 Wire loops 328 Wolman's disease 454 Xanthomatous pylonephritis 142, 430 Xenogeneic transplant 564 Xenograft 564 Xenon wash-out technique 401

Zone, juxtamedullary 28, 50, 264, 282, 299, 307, 308, 367, 372

Glomerulonephritis

Editor: E. Grundmann 108 figures, 9 plates. 25 tables. VI, 226 pages. 1976 (Current Topics in Pathology, Vol.61) ISBN 3-540-07442-2

P. DEETJEN, J.W. BOYLAN, K. KRAMER

Physiology of the Kidney and of Water Balance

Translator: R.V. Coxon 63 figures. IX, 141 pages. 1975 (Springer Study Edition) ISBN 3-540-90048-9

Hypertension and the Kidney

Proceedings of a Symposium on 'Hypertension and the Kidney', Milan, Italy, September 28–29, 1974 Guest Editors: P.Kincaid-Snith, M.N.Maxwell 26 tables, I, 140 pages. 1975 (Kidney International Supplementa 5) Recuded price for subscribers to "Kidney International" ISBN 3-540-90146-9

W.M.MANGER, R.W.GIFFORD

Pheochromocytoma

132 figures, 28 color-plates, 40 tables. Approx. 370 pages. 1977 ISBN 3-540-90217-1

H.J. DE VOOGT, P. RATHERT, M.E. BEYER-BOON

Urinary Cytology

Phase-contrast Microscopy and Analysis of Stained Smears Foreword by L.G.Koss 321 figures, mostly in color, 12 tables. Approx. 200 pages. 1977 In preparation. ISBN 3-540-08042-2

Urinary Tract Infection

Proceedings of a Symposium on "Urinary Tract Infection", London, England, September 23–24, 1974 Guest Editors: A.W. Asscher, W.Brumfitt. 1975. III, 149 pages. (Kidney International Supplementa 4) Recuded price for subscribers to "Kidney International" ISBN 3-540-90147-7



Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York



Official Journal of the International Society of Nephrology

Editor Roscoe R. Robinson, Durham

Assistant Editors Claude Amiel, Paris C. Craig Tisher, Durham

The Editorial Board is staffed by an international group of specialists.

Kidney International serves as the respected spokesman for the broadest possible range of interest within international nephrology. Multidisciplinary in scope, the journal plays an important role as a source of continuing education for the clinician and investigator alike. It collates much of the best kidney-oriented research into a single journal.

The content consists mainly of original laboratory and clinical research derived from various disciplines – physiology, biochemistry, pathology, immunology, and morphology.

Symposia Proceedings directed toward clinical as well as basic research problems are included, often in special issues or as supplements.

Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York

For subscription information and request for sample copies please address: Springer-Verlag, P.O.B. 105280 D-6900 Heidelberg

